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PREFACE.
T'W^yk UR history of Bourbon, Scott, Harrison and Nicholas Counties, after months of arduous toil, is now completed.

^^1, Every important field of research has been minutely scanned by those engaged in its preparation ; no. subject of

universal public value has been omitted, save where protracted effort failed to secure trustworthy results.

We are well aware ofour inability to furnish a perfect history from meager public documents, inaccurate private correspond-

ence and numberless conflicting traditions, but claim to have prepared a work fully up to the standard of our promises.

Through the courtesy and the generous assistance met with everywhere, we have been enabled to rescue from oblivion

the greater portion of important events that have transpired in Bourbon, Scott, Harrison and Nicholas Counties in past

years. We feel assured that all thoughtful people in the counties, at present and in future, will recognize and appreciate

the importance of the undertaking, and the great public benefit that has been accomplished.

It will be observed that a dry statement of facts has been avoided ; and that the rich romance of border incident

has been woven in with statistical details, thus forming an attractive and graphic narrative, and lending beauty to the

mechanical execution of the volume, and additional value to it as a work for perusal.

To those who have assisted our corps of writers in gathering material or furnished us data of historical value, we

acknowledge our indebtedness ; and to Dr. Robert Peter, of Lexington ; Mr. F. L. McChesney, of Paris
; Mr. S. F. Gano,

of G-eorgetown ; Mr. L. G. Marshall, of Cynthiana and Mr. J. A. Chappell, of Carlisle, our thanks, for able contributions,

are specially due.
THE PUBLISHERS.
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SYNOPSIS OF THE BLUE GRASS REGION,*

ORIGIN OF THE BLUE GRASS— ITS AGRICULTURAL EXCELLENCE— NOURISHING PROPERTIES OVER OTHER GRASSES

-

SOILS OF THE BLUE GRASS REGION—WHY THE BLUE GRASS SOIL IS FERTILE—THE

EXTENT OF THE BLUE GRASS REGION BV COUNTIES.

" The verdant hills

Are covered o'er with growing grain,

And white men till the soil

Where once the red man used to reign."

WE are told by our early historians that the first

pioneers in (Jentral Kentucky were astonished at

its very great fertility; not as shown in luxuriant blue

grass, which now characterizes this region, but in the tall

canebrakes which covered it, unbroken, except by the

buffalo trails which traversed them, and in the mighty

forest growth and great abundance of game.

It was the favorite hunting-ground of many savage

tribes, but the exclusive property of no single one. And,

probably, because of its productiveness of game, it was

also "the dark and bloody ground" of the savages who

contended for its rich spoils.

The introduction of live stock by the white settlers

caused the gradual extermination of the cane, which was

almost the only undergrowth on the rich land, and its

place was soon monopolized, all over the region, by

what has now a world-wide reputation as "Kentucky

blue grass." So that, at this time, the cane is found

growing only in spots, which are inaccessible to grazing

animals, which are very fond of its leaves and young

shoots—a forage said to be very nourishing and fatten-

ing to them.

But whence came the blue grass ? The late Dr. John

Torrey, of New York, one of the most learned and ex-

perienced botanists of our country, stated his belief that

this grass had been introduced into this country from En-

gland (See "Natural History of New York"); and this

*In considering the history of the four counties to which this volume is devoted,

a sketch, from a scientific standpoint, of the famous and world-renowned Blue Grass

BegiOD, of which these counties form a part, is highly appropriate, and we give it as

the opening chapter of our work. This sketch was written at our request by Dr.

Eobert Petet, of Lexington, Chemist to the State Geological Survey, and one of the

ablest scientists of Kentucky. It is well worthy of a careful perusal.

—

Ed.

seemed to be quite a prevalent belief with our farmers

and the early settlers; strengthened by the fact that this

blue grass, from time immemorial, had been recognized as

the "smooth-stalked meadow-grass," or "spear grass," of

England, known to botanists as the Poa pratensis.

In corroboration of this belief. Dr. Samuel Martin,

of Clark County, Ky., published a statement in the

agricultural part of the report of the United States

Commissioner of Patents, for 1854 (p. 190), to the effect

that the seed of this grass was brought from England

by a family which accompanied Daniel Boone to Boonee-

boro and sowed in a garden at that place. But, spreading

in a troublesome manner, it was dug up and thrown over

the fence, and, from this spot, spread all over the State.

The venerable Dr. Martin, more recently, in 1867,

gave a more detailed account of this legend, to the

Farmers' Club, at Lexington (See Farmers^ Home Jour-

nal), as follows: "In the party accompanying Boone

to Kentuckj, in 1769, was an Englishman, whose wife

had tied up in the comer of her handkerchief, some seeds

she had brought from England. These she sowed in

her garden at Boonesboro. The grass increased so rap-

idly that she pulled it up, and threw it into an adjoin-

ing lot. Here it took root and flourished, and next year.

Dr. Martin's father bought from the woman a bushel of

the seed for |2.25; and in this way was it introduced

into this country."

Oral traditions are, proverbially, unreliable. One of

the English names for this grass is "green meadow

grass;'' a name which is quite appropriate, for its color

is a delicate and handsome green, and never, at any time

of its growth, is it blue, and the present writer thinks it

is possible that the grass seed sown at Boonsborough was

of "orchard grass (Dactylis glomerata), which is the

•^ <5" ^
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bluest of oiir grasses, and not the seed of what is now

known as blue grass. Seed of this orchard grass, brought

from Virginia, and sown about the beginning of the pres-

ent century, on the lawn of the farm of the late Col.

Samuel Meredith—where the writer now resides—pro-

duced a vigorous growth, and has maintained its suprem-

acy through all the varying seasons which have inter-

vened, even against the encroachments of the blue grass,

which, although it would soon displace it in the open

pasture ground subject to grazing, cannot master it in the

shade of trees or shrubbery. It seems probable to the

writer that the name, " blue grass," which is quite appro-

priate as applied to the orchard grass, but not at all

suitable to the smooth-stalked Poa, was really firet given

to the former grass ; and that the blue grass of Dr. Mar-

tin's legend was orchard grass, and not the green meadow

grass of our present rich pastures.

This last-named grass seems to be as persistent and

valuable, in favorable localities in England, as it is in

Kentucky. In the elaborate work on "British Hus-

bandry," published in 1834, in the Library of Useful

Knowledge, "Poa pratensis, or smooth-stalked poa," is

said to be " one of the most useful of grasses, for it vege-

tates in the driest soils " (never very dry in England),

" supports its verdure during winter, and in the spring

throws out numerous shoots for early pasture." But,

by the reports of English agricultural chemists and of

farmers, it does not appear to be more nourishing in En-

gland than some other species of Poa, and, but for its

winter-growing property, is not distinguished as a supe-

rior pasture grass, as it is in Kentucky. It seems to re-

quire the abundant phosphates, alkalies, lime, etc., of the

blue limestone soil of Kentucky, to fully develop its

superior excellence.

Whether or not this grass was ever introduced from

England, it is a fact, established by the pioneer explorers

of Alaska, and other of our Northern regions, that it is

found growing wild there. Prof. Asa Gray, of Harvard,

now one of our oldest and most learned botanists, states

that it is indigenous in the mountain regions, from

Pennsylvania northward. Indeed, it is to be found

almost everywhere north of 40° north latitude, and far-

ther south, in suitable situations. It is the June grass

of New York and the New England States ; spreading over

the whole Northern Hemisphere, no doubt, wherever it

meets with suitable conditions; sometimes flourishing in

a luxuriant sod, where these are favorable, and dwindling

into an inconspicuous, weedy growth, where circum-

stances are not congenial.

Long droughts and extreme heat are unfavorable to

it. It cannot thrive, generally, in the Southern States,

and Prof. E. W. Hilgard, of the University of California,

tells us that it is unsuited to the dry climate of that State,

and only to be kept alive, with great difficulty, in lawns,

by assiduous irrigation. The present season in Ken-

tucky (1881), remarkable for its high temperature in

July and August (the thermometer, on many days, show-

ing more than 100° Fahrenheit in the shade, and 140°

in the sun), together with its continued drought during

these two months, severely tried its powers of endur-

ance. The whole plant—leaves, stems, roots and running

root-stocks, seemed entirely dead and was completely dried

up at the latter end of August; so that the usually beau-

tiful and green blue grass pastures of the early summer

presented the browned and sunburnt aspect of the arid

plains of Colorado, and the trampling of the animals of

the farm raised a cloud of dust, just as on a dry sum-

mer road.

But, although much of it was killed which was in the

open sunshine, the great recuperative powers of this

grass responded to the autumn rains, especially under

the shade of trees. Moderate showers, which fell on Sep-

tember 1, 4 and 7, speedily changed the dreary aspect of

the fields, and, from the matted sod, which seemed to be

utterly dead, green spires of grass appeared throughout

the surface, which needed only continued moisttu'e to re-

new the verdant carpet of the pastures.

Blue grass not only spreads rapidly, by means of

its creeping, superficial root-stocks, which cover the

ground in a dense mat or sod, and protect the soil from

washing, but its abundant seeds iire ever ready to ger-

minate. Indeed, over all the open ground, in the so-

called blue grass region of Kentucky, this grass spreads,

uncared for, in a brief space of time. Thus it is prop-

agated, without cultivation, overcoming all but the most

robust and persistent of the weeds of the pasture.

It begins to make a new or increased growth early in

spring, ripens its seeds in June, then rests and remains

comparatively dormant during the usually hot and dry

weather of July and August. Starting anew, after the

autumn rains have moistened and cooled the soil, it makes
a quick and vigorous growth during the milder and
moister fall season. It preserves its verdure, withstands

the severest cold of winter, and even grows during the

whole of that season, except when the ground is frozen

hard, and one of its greatest benefits to the farmer of

this region is, that it generally supplies such abundant
and nutritive winter pasture, especially when it has been

5 Vy"
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preserved for that purpose, that in ordinary mild seasons,

on the sheltered soil of the thinned-out native forest,

which has been sown with this grass, called woods or

woodland pastures, the animals of the farm are frequently

wintered on this alone, without any other protection

than that of the trees, and with no fodder nor corn only

diuring deep snows or prolonged hard frosts; thus, sav-

ing a great expense in labor and provender.

Stock are all quite fond of it, and many bullocks

and sheep are raised and fattened on this alone. Even

the hogs of Kentucky require no other food until they

are ready for the fattening pen.

Testimony as to the remarkable nourishing, develop-

ing and fattening power of the blue grass and other

vegetable products of Central Kentucky is abundant.

Indeed, the vigor and luxuriance of the vegetable growth,

and the superior development of the animals of the farm,

are now acknowledged by the world at large. Even man
himself seems to take on a higher development in this

favored region. The native Kentuckian has, from early

times, been noted for his size and strength, and this

traditional opinion was fully sustained, during the late

civil war, in the actual measurement of United States Vol-

unteers of different nationalities.

In an interesting pamphlet, published in 1876, by

Prof. N. S. Shaler, giving "A General Account of the

Commonwealth of Kentucky,'' prepared for the Centen-

nial Exhibition at Philadelphia, is a table (p. 23) giving

the results of the official measurements of more than a

million white men, volunteers to the United States Army,

compiled from the report of the Sanitary Commission

by B. A. Gould, in which it is shown that the men from

Kentucky and Tennessee, of whom 50,333 were measured,

exceeded those from other States of the Union, as well

as those from Canada and the British Provinces, and

from England, Scotland, Ireland, Germany and Scan-

dinavia, in average height, weight, and in their pro-

portion of tall men, and their weight to the cubic inch;

while they also excelled all others, except the Scandi-

navians, in circumference of the skull and chest.

As to the favorable influences of the blue grass region

on the live stock of the farm, much testimony could be

presented. The late Dr. D. D. Owen, in Vol. 2, of his

Reports of the Geological Survey of Kentucky (p. 30),

speaking of the remarkable development of stock pastured

on the Blue Limestone Region generally, adds: "For the

most part, they are almost a year in advance in bulk,

weight and form, to the stock raised on the soils derived

from the carboniferous group;" that is, on the coal fields.

In the annual report, for 1880, of the Kentucky Com-

missioner of Agriculture, Mr. C. E. Bowman, a gentleman

of great experience and extensive information in Ken-

tucky farming, we find the following paragraphs (p. 21),

viz.:

Live Stock.—''As a stock-raising district, Kentucky

has not its equal in the world. Her horses, mules, cattle,

sheep and hogs are produced in their most perfect form

and development. * * * The South and West

look to its great annual sales of short-horns for their

supplies of breeding animals, and the East to its annual

horse sales for their supplies of fast trotters and fleet-

footed coursers. Many of her best bloods have found

the way across the ocean, with a view to improving the

studs and herds of Great Britain."

These remarks, which apply particularly to the Blue

Grass Region, are corroborated by the observations of a

well-informed English traveler in America, who repub-

lished, in the present year (1881), his views and experi-

ences, in No. 196 of Harper's Franklin Square Library,

under the title of " To-day in America," by Joseph

Hatton, Esq., etc., etc. On page 14 of this interesting

work, after remarking in terms of admiration on the

superior qualities of Dr. Herr's celebrated horse, "Mam-

brino King," he adds: "We saw many good horses of

the trotting family in Kentucky. Indeed, here we saw

the best of the trotters that we met anywhere in the

country, and we noticed them carefully wherever we went.

* * * \Y^e visited a number of breeding stables

about Lexington and Frankfort, both of trotters and race

horses, and we saw a great many fine horses here, and

also about Louisville. There is much blood in the State,

and a great number of fine horses; more than we found

in the same area in the country through which we passed."

Indeed, the fame of Kentucky fine horses is world-wide.

The horse, recently proved to be the swiftest in the world

—Maud S.—was raised in the Blue Grass Region.

In this relation, we quote from the Second Annual

Report of the Kentucky Commissioner of Agriculture,W
G. Davie, Esq., in 1879, from an article on the " Thorough-

bred Horse in Kentucky," by Mr. B. G. Bruce, the able

editor of the Kentucky Live Stock Record, published in

Lexington, who is good and reliable authority on this

subject: "If you examine the thoroughbred horse, you

will, on investigation, find a superior animal organization

—his bones are more solid, his tendons stronger and bet-

ter defined, his muscles more firm and elastic—in fact,

as his form and quality are so much superior, it results

that he is much more active, much more fleet and much
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more powerful, than any other variety of the horse tribe.

* * * A square inch of bone from a thoroughbred

horse is much heavier than a square inch from a cart

horse, the latter being more porous and calcareous, re-

sembling pumice stone, while the thoroughbred is solid,

partaking more of the close-grained nature of ivory.

The same will apply to the tendons and muscles. *

* * Kentucky has, for years, bred more first-class

blood horses than all the States combined. The State

breeds them in greater numbers, and has a climate, soil

and provender better adapted to the production of the

higher types of animals than any section of America."

The author goes on to show what experience has

fully demonstrated; that blood alone, if not maintained

by favorable external conditions, is not sufficient to main-

tain the greatest perfection of animal development, and

to hint at the probable influence of soil and geological

formations. " If you take Kentucky horses," he adds,

" or cattle, to Pennsylvania and the Eastern States, their

posterity begin to undergo a change in the first genera-

tion; in the second, it is still greater; and, in the tenth

or twelfth remove, they are no longer the same breed of

animals. * * * Animal formation is modified

by the vegetable formations of which it is the result,

and the vegetable formations are modified by the ele-

ments of the soil from which they derive their nour-

ishment. Not only the forms of animals, but their phy-

sical systems, their secretions and excretions, are affected

by the different geological formations from which they

derive, through its vegetation, the elements of their or-

ganization."

Experience on the turf and" the road seems to demon-

strate that there are, in the peculiar soil and underlying

rock strata of Central Kentucky, or especially in the

Blue Grass Region, influences and agencies which give

greater hardness and solidity to the bone, strength to

the muscle, power to the nerve and capacity to the lungs

not generally found associated in other regions.

Causes of the peculiar agricultural excellence of the

Blue Grass Region.—The peculiar excellence of the ani-

mal products of this region is evidently not due to the

blue grass or other provender, per se ; but is to be attrib-

uted to agencies which make the vegetable food more

than usually rich and nourishing.

Blue grass grows abundantly in other localities, and

corn, and oats, and other provender; but they do not show

that superior developing power over animal life which

they exhibit in this favored region. Farmers of other

parts of the country have eagerly sought the seed of the

" true Kentucky blue grass," but they have found that,

unless their soils and other local conditions are congenial

to the highest development of this grass, they fail to ob-

tain the results which it gives in the Blue Limestone

Region of Kentucky. The climate and all the meteoro-

logical conditions may be the same as in its home in

Kentucky, but the soil and the rock substratum may not

possess the store of mineral fertilizers which enrich those

of Central Kentucky.

Experience of nearly a century of cultivation of this

rich soil, without the use of artificial fertilizers, has dem-

onstrated in it a very extraordinary durability of pro-

ductiveness. Fortunately, we have a pretty reliable record

for comparison, in a publication made on September 16,

1797, in the columns of the old Kentucky Gazette, by the

Lexington Emigration Society, in which -they made a

statement of the average produce of an acre of their new
rich land, at that early period, as follows : "Wheat, on

corn ground, 25 bushels; wheat, on fallow, 35 bushels;

corn, 60 bushels; potatoes, 250 bushels; hemp, 800 pounds;

tobacco, 2,000 pounds; hay, 6,000 pounds.

These figm-es were probably as favorable as could

honestly be presented at that time, and, it is interesting

to see that the eighty-four years of cultivation of our

soil, without the use of any manures or fertilizers, have

not reduced our products lower than we now obtain

them. Time and the long-continued cultivation have re-

moved most of that deep vegetable mold; the remains of

ages of previous vegetable growth and decay, which
covered the ground in those early days, to a considerable

depth, with a black vegetable mold, like that of the sur-

face of a well-manured garden, and contributed much
soluble food for plants; and our old fields are now of a

brownish color; yet they still yield, in good seasons, crops

which are not so greatly below those above quoted, as

might have been expected, and rest in fallow, or in a clover

rotation, or in pasture grass, wonderfully renews their

productiveness. Our farmers, in good seasons, yet ob-

tain their fifty to sixty bushels of corn to the acre, and
their twenty-five or more bushels of wheat, and, on
plowed-up pasture land, secure much more than 800
pounds of hemp.

There was a time when the black vegetable mold, com-
monly called Humus, was believed to be the essential fer-

tilizing principle of the soil. The French chemist,
Grandeau, as his matiere noire, still attaches great im-
portance to this ingredient of the soil, but since the
time of Carl Sprengel, who first pointed out the indis-
pensable necessity of some of the mineral ingredients

—
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of the soil to plant and animal nourishment, and the

popular writings of Liebig have commended the mineral

theory to the agriculturists of the world, they now look

to the soil and to the rocks, out of which it has been

produced by disintegration, for many of the essential

elements of fertility.

The late Prof. Agassiz, more wisely than he thought,

perhaps, told the farmers of Massachusetts, "that the

question, fundamental to all others in the stock business,

is the rock question."

Soils of Blue Grass Region.—All soils are pro-

duced by the decay or disintegration of rocks. Those

of Kentucky have mostly been formed, in the course

of long geological epochs, under the action of the

atmospheric agencies, out of the rock strata on which

they at present lie, and hence they partake greatly

of the character of those rocks. Soils of such an ori-

gin are called Sedentary soils, and are not usually deep,

or of frequent occurrence on the globe. They are

hardly known over the broad expanse of our continent

north and west of Kentucky, or over the northern portion

of Europe and Asia, the most of that extensive area

being covered by a mixed deposit of clay, sand, gravel

and bowlders, called the "Drift,'' made up of the debris

of Northern rock strata which have been broken or ground

up, and carried, during long periods of refrigeration, by

the action of immense glaciers, which covered the North

-

era Hemisphere, and by the floods of water which

poured from them.

This mixed deposit, made up, largely, of coarse and

hard silicious materials, which so generally covers the

country of the great Northwest, that scientific observers

of that region have asserted, that the soil is not affected

by its underlying rock stratum, does not seem to have

crossed the valley of the Ohio to enter Kentucky. Thus,

the rich soil which had been produced from our ancient

limestone and other rocks in the long periods during

which they have been raised above the ocean level, has

remained undisturbed and unburied up to the present day.

The rock strata, out of which the soil of the Blue

Grass Region was produced, belong to an exceedingly

ancient geological formation, which was, evidently, at

first laid down as a calcareous mud, hardening gradually

into rock in the coiu-se of a long period, under the deep

waters of a warm ocean which swarmed with the lower

forms of marine animal life.

Dr. D. D. Owen, in the first volume of his Reports

of the Geological Survey of Kentucky, thus describes our

blue, shelly limestone: "So prolific, indeed, is the blue

limestone in fossil remains, that continuous beds may be

traced, in which the imbedded shells and corals are so

closely cemented, that it would be difficult to place the

finger on a spot without touching some of these organic

relics. The contemplation of these must fill the mind
of the observer with the profoundest reflections. Here is

spread before his eyes more than 500 feet of solid rock,

deposited at the bottom of a primeval ocean, far more

ancient than the coal formation that furnishes our fossil

fuel; the age of which can, in fact, be traced through

nine vast (overlying) geological formations, each many
hxmdred feet in thickness, each the sepulcher of myriads

of extinct races, that peopled the earth in succession.

* * * In the fossiliferous strata of the blue lime-

stone of Kentucky, we behold, indeed, one of the oldest

and deepest-seated of the stratified sedimentary forma-

tions, over which many miles (in thickness) of sedimen-

tary particles subsided, during a long cycle of geological

events; yet here, in the heart of Kentucky, do we find it

reaching the surface, filled with exuviae of the earliest

organized marine existences, whose elements now con-

tribute, in connection with the mineral matter of which

it is composed, to eliminate a soil, fertile and prolific, on

which now wave the luxuriant harvests of an enterpris-

ing people."

In a spirit of prophecy, he predicted (Vol. 2, of same

work, p. 43) that " the time will ' come, as our means of

transportation shall be more extended and cheap, when
many of the inferior sandy soils, and stiff, cold tenaceous

clay lands of Kentucky will be manured with these fossil-

iferous limestones." And this he believed before the

great richness of some of the limestone layers, in phos-

phates, had been fully ascertained.

Although the general reader is supposed to know little

of the significance of the several chemical elements of

soils, we will here, by placing side by side the constit-

uents of two Kentucky soils, analyzed by the writer, try

to enable him to judge of the peculiar excellency, in com-

position of our Central Kentucky soils.

Composition of two Kentucky soils.—One, No. 681, of

Kentucky Geological Reports: A very rich and fertile soil

from the Blue Grass Region; the other. No. 644, of same

reports: A poor, exhausted soil from a less favored geo-

logical formation:
No. 681. No. 644.

COMPOSITION IN 100 PAKTS. Rich Soil, Poor Soil.

Organic and volatile matters (liumus, etc.) 10.365 3.309

Alumina (the earth of clay) 5.395 1.745

Oxide of iron 7.110 1.430

Oxide of manganese, 630 .040

Carbonate of lime 1.995 .097

. -
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Magnesia 1.334 .191

Phosphoric acid (P3 05) 333 .078

Sulphm-ic acid (S 03) 093 .021

Potash 763 .075

Soda 106 .080

Sand and insoluble silicates 72.035 93.495

By comparing the relative proportions of the more
essential ingredients of these two soils, viz., the phos-

phoric acid, potash, lime and magnesia, as well as their

very different proportions of inert " sand and insoluble

silicates,'' the reader can easily judge of their relative

value.

It may be remarked that very few soils on the surface

of the globe excel or equal No. 681 in richness of com-

position. These facts may enable us to understand one

reason:

Why our blue grass soil is so fertile.—But many other

indispensable conditions aid, which will be briefly stated:

1. Favorable climatic and meteorological ones. The pres-

ent exceedingly dry and hot summer season (of 1881)

fully demonstrates that, without the usual forty-four to

forty-five inches of annual rainfall, properly distributed

throughout the season of growth, the native richness of

our soil and blue grass could not be developed. 2. Our
soil, derived from the slow solution and wasting of a lime-

stone, which had, evidently, been deposited under the

water of a deep ocean at a distance from any shore, is full

of organic remains, and is wholly made up of materials

in the very finest state of division. In the greater num-
ber of these soils, analyzed by the present writer, that

silicious portion, usually stated as " sand and insolu-

ble silicates," will pass easily through the finest bolting

, cloth.*

It is so very fine, indeed, that the popular opinion is

that the soil of the Blue Grass Region, contains no sand,

and sand for building purposes must be hauled from a

distance. It is so fine that it presents some of the plas-

tic properties of claj, but yet is so permeable that water

penetrates it with great rapidity, and excess of surface

water readily escapes. This state of very fine division of

the soil is a very great aid to fertility, causing it to be
eminently absorptive and retentive of moisture, and of

the fertilizing gases and vapors of the atmosphere, as well

as of the rich remains of decomposing organic bodies. By
the greater surface which its fine particles present to the

rootlets of plants, it greatly aids in the supply of their

nourishment, while the development and penetration of

these essential organs is facilitated. 3. Much of our blue

grass soil is naturally under-drained, by numerous clefts

*It passed through a wire seive having 1,600 meahes to the centimetre square.

and caverns in the underlying limestone, through many
of which underground streams-constantly flow, and, in the

bottoms of some of the sink-holes, along the course of

these cavern-channels, cool springs boil up. 4. The sub-

soil and under-clays of the blue grass soils are found to be

very rich in the mineral elements of plant food, and

although, when brought up to the surface in quantity,

they may not benefit it, until they have been exposed for

a considerable time to the atmosphere and have acquired

humus, yet they furnish to deep-rooted plants, such as

clover, and to trees, much moisture and fertilizing ele-

ments. 5. But the most influential condition of all is

the underlying blue limestone, of the Lower Silurian for-

mation, which, from its soft and decomposable beds and

marls, constantly supplies the superincumbent soil with

essential fertilizing elements.

As early as 1848, the attention of the present vreiter

was attracted to this limestone as a probable cause of

the great and durable productiveness, without manures,

of onr blue grass soil, from which there was, annually, an

immense exportation of animal and vegetable products,

without a corresponding exhaustion of the soil. Some of

his analyses of limestone, from the liard grey crystalline

layers, obtained, in blasting a well in Lexington, and
from nearer the surface, gave him, to his great surprise,

from one-third of 1 per cent up to as much as 3 per cent

of phosphoric acid. These results, with some remarks
on the importance of this fact, to our agriculture, and the

continued productiveness of our soil, were published by
him in the Albany Cultivator, for April, 1849.

More recently, by analyzing some of the softer and
more porous layers of this limestone, in the vicinity of

Lexington, in a considerable number of samples, he has
found the presence in them all of phosphoric acid, vary-

ing in proportions from those above mentioned, up to

as much as 30 per cent in one unique sample. In eleven
samples, the analyses of which are given in Vol. 5 (new
series), of Kentucky Geological Reports, in his Chemical
Report, under Fayette County, the percentage of phos-
phoric acid was found by him to vary from a little more
than 5 per cent up to nearly 22 per cent. No doubt,
these rich phosphatic layers, if to be found in suffi-

cient extent, might be utilized as fertilizers on poorer soils,

in accordance with the prediction of the late Dr. Owen.
It is probable that more extensive investigation will
show that this indispensable ingredient of the bones of
animals, of the seeds of plants, indeed, of all vegetable
and animal tissues, will be found more abundant and
generally diffused, throughout the decomposable layers of

r^
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the blue Silurian limestone, or even those of the Upper

Silurian limestone, than is now generally suspected.

The necessity of phosphates to all plant nourishment

makes them indispensable in artificial fertilizers. They

are generally obtained from animal bones, guano, or fossil

phosphates, which are usually ground up and treated with

sulphuric acid, to render them more soluble. The present

price of mineral phosphoric acid is about 3 cents per

pound; a limestone containing 20 per cent of this acid,

then, would be worth about $12 a ton, where transporta-

tion is not too costly. Hitherto, however, while this

valuable acid is found generally diffused throughout our

limestone layers, very rich ones have not been discovered

of sufi&cient extent for commercial purposes.

How the blue limestone substratum fertilizes the soil of

the Blue Grass Region.—We hope, without the use of

technical terms, to make this plain to the intelligent

reader. The atmospheric water, falling as rain, etc.,

always brings with it, in solution, a certain quantity of

carbonic acid, which exists in the atmosphere in small

proportion; this gas being a constant product of all ani-

mal respiration, as well as of all decaying organic sub-

stances, animal or vegetable.

Penetrating the soil, which always contains decaying

organic substances, it meets with more of this gas, and

acquires other acids from these substances; so that the

water in the soil always contains a notable quantity of

dissolved acids. Coming in contact with the limestone

rock, this acidulated watery solution continually dissolves

out, not only the carbonate of lime, which forms the

greater weight of the rock, but also carbonate of magnesia

and phosphate and sulphate of lime, and small propor-

tions of the alkalies—potash and soda—which it always

contains. Hence, this water, when it comes again to the

surface, in springs, or collects in wells, is always what is

called "hard water," because it contains lime and mag-

nesian salts, which curdle a soap solution. When this

hard water is boiled, the gaseous solvent of these earthy

salts, the carbonic acid, is driven ofi^ by the heat, and a

crust or earthy deposit is formed, these salts being" insol-

uble in the water free from carbonic acid. Even free

exposure to the air, by permitting the escape of this gas-

eous acid, causes the deposit of these earthy salts, and

the formation of icicle-like stalactites in caves, and in-

crustations and petrifactions of various kinds.

By this continued action of the carbonated water, our

beds of limestone are gradually dissolved and washed

away, possibly to aid in the formation of new rocks at

lower levels, or to furnish materials for coral reefs or ma-

rine shells, in the Gulf of Mexico; while the earthy and

silicious insoluble residue of the dissolved limestone

layers remains, forming the present soil.

We need only examine an old limestone fence or wall,

which has been exposed for some years to the weather,

to witness the effects of the solvent action of the atmos-

pheric waters, which action is much more rapid under

the soil ; and when we calculate the quantity of limestone

which is thus annually carried away in solution, we can

understand that, in the untold ages since the blue lime-

stone strata were first raised above the level of the prim-

eval ocean, jjrobably hundreds of feet of thickness of the

solid limestone, thus partly dissolved and removed by

atmospheric waters, may have contributed to form, by

its undissolved residue, the rich blue grass soil, which

now covers the remaining rock in considerable thickness.

,, One thousand parts of clear spring water, taken in

the dry season,, from the " Big Spring," which boils up

at the bottom of a deep sinkhole on the writer's farm,

six and a half miles from Lexington, gave on analysis,

more than a fourth of one part of solid saline matters

(0.2733 to the 1,000), consisting of the ingredients of the

dissolved limestone, including some of its phosphates and

a little common salt, potash, etc.

Water of this character, and probably richer in saline

matters, especially in dry seasons, continually moistens

the blue grass soil, conveying to the growing vegetation

on the surface, in solution, several of the indispensable

elements of plant nourishment, taken from the limestone

substrata, such as phosphoric and sulphuric acids, potash,

soda, lime, magnesia, iron and silica. As fast as pure

water escapes, by evaporation from the green surfaces

of the plants, leaving the* saline matters behind in their

tissues, more of the soil water penetrates through the

rootlets, to keep up the supply and increase the amount

of solid saline matters. " Mr. Lawes, of England, found,

in the moist climate of that country, common farm plants,

such as wheat, barley, beans, peas and clover, exhaled,

during five months of growth, more than two hundred

times their (dry) weight of water."

This evaporation of the pure water from the soil

solution which enters the tissue of plants, is greater in

om- warmer and drier climate than in England; but, cal-

culating on this basis, the production of a ton of hay, if

grown only in five months, would require the exhalation

of 400,000 pounds of water, which, if taken from soil

water alone, of the degree of hardness of our spring

water, would leave more than 108 pounds of ash ingredi-

ents, which is nearly as much as the hay would leave

•^ a
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after being burnt. So that very little demand for mineral

ingredients need be made, by special root action, on the

soil, the productiveness being greatly maintained by the

soil water supplied, measurably, from the rock, without

soil exhaustion. Thus does our rich blue limestone con-

tinually renovate the soil which lies on it, and hence it

is that manures have been greatly neglected in the Blue

Grass Region, and phosphatic fertilizers and lime, espe-

cially, are found to exert little influence on our best new
lands.

Why the Kentucky blue grass is so nourishing.—It was

at one time believed, by vegetable physiologists and chem-

ists, that vegetables exerted a selected power over the

mineral ingredients of the soil in which they grew, to

such an extent, at least, that the ash left after the burning

of their combustible matters, although different in com-

position in different species, would be found to be always

similar, or nearly so, for the same species, whatever may
have been the nature of the soil on which it grew. And
the manufacturers of fertilizers still base their formulae

of ingredients, for the several farm crops to be manured,

generally, upon the ash analyses of those crops. But it

is now kaovm, that, although different vegetables show
preferences as to the mineral ingredients of their food,

and as to their quantity, so that, when grosvn on the same
soil and under the same conditions, different plants, grow-

ing side by side, will give ashes quite various in relative

quantity and composition; yet, they are all under the in-

fluence of physical and chemical conditions, which may
introduce—as was partly explained above, in relation to

hard limestone water—various mineral ingredients in

more than the usual or normal proportions, and, often in

much greater quantities than may be essential to their

healthy development. The plants, acting by capillary at-

traction on the soil water, like a sponge, and the water

of the absorbed solution being evaporated from the leaves

and green parts, deposits in the vegetable tissues a quan-

tity of the dissolved saline matters, which bears a pro-

portion to the amount of soil water absorbed.

The writer has verified this fact in some marked in-

stances: 1. In the ash analyses of thirty different sam-

ples of leaf tobacco, grown on different soils in Kentucky,

in Cuba and in Florida (See appendix to his Chemical

Report, in Vol. -1, old series, of Reports of Kentucky Geo-

logical Survey). In these different samples the total ash

contents varied from 13.16 per cent, in the Simpson
County leaf, to 17.79 per cent in that of Daviess County.

The potash varied from 20.50 per cent, in Mason County,

to 35.38 per cent in Bracken County; the lime varied

from 16.70 per cent, in Owen County, to 35.18 per cent

in Mason County; the phosphoric acid varied from 1.74

per cent, in Larue County, to 6.14 per cent in Barren

County; the sulphuric acid varied from 1.26 per cent,

in Barren County, to 6.69 per cent in Owen County.

Other ingredients showed similar variations in pro-

portions, proving that the amount and composition of the

mineral ingredients varied greatly, according to the local

conditions of soil, water, etc., etc.

Another verification was obtained by the writer, in

the comparative ash analyses of entire hemp plants,

grown, severally, in the very dry season of 1874, and in

the very moist season of 1873; both on the same soil.

(See Vol. II, of Reports of Kentucky Geological Survey,

new series, p. 137.) Both samples were collected, roots,

leaves and all, in the month of September, when the

plants were at their maturity and ready for cutting. Sam-
ple A, grown in the very dry season, was not more than

six to seven feet in height. Sample B, grovm in the very

moist season, was about twelve feet high. The percent-

age* of ash, tU the air-dried plants, in Sample A, was
4.223; in Sample B, only 2.563, carbonic acid being

deducted in both cases.

The chemical composition, as calculated into 100 parts

of the ash of these two samples also varied. The ash of

B, grown in the moist season, contained smaller proportions

of lime, magnesia, sulphuric acid and silica, and larger pro-

portions of potash, soda and phosphoric acid than that of

Sample A, grown in the dry season.

.

But the signification of these differences of proportions

can better be seen when a comparison is made of the

relative quantities of these several ash ingredients to

100 parts of the dried hemp plants, as follows:

A. B.

Lime 1.634 0.802
Magnesia 361 .154
Potash 1.582 1.121
Soda 016 .037
Phosphoric acid (P3 05) 366 .363

Sulphuric acid (S 03) .096 .042
CWorine 041 .013
Silica 134 .031

Per cent of ash to dried plants 4.223 2.563

This table shows the effects of the greater transpira-

tion of the hard soil water in the dry season than in the
moist; for, while there was a smaller proportion of ash
ingredients in the hemp which had a luxuriant growth,
because of the regular supply of pure atmospheric water
in the moist season, which, measurably, kept down, or di-

luted, the soil water, the difference in weight of the ash

^V



tiL

HISTORY OP THE BLUE GRASS REGION. 19

was mainly occasioned by greater quantities of lime, mag-

nesia and silica, in the plant of the dry season, and not

by any material variations in the proportions of the alka-

lies or phosphoric acid; and this variation was evidently

caused by the greater exhalation of water and carbonic

acid from the larger quantity of soil solution, which en-

tered the plant and left these insoluble materials, in ex-

cess, in its tissues, during the dry season. But these

very materials, which seem to be in excess, in the plant

grown in the dry season, perform their functions as min-

eral fertilizers, when sufficient moisture, and other neces-

sary conditions, are present, as is fully shown in the lux-

uriant growth on the same soil, of the plants of the moist

season. No doubt these mineral ingredients, in the soil

water, and the water of our springs, derived from the

limestone rock substratum, are mainly instrumental in

giving to the blue grass soil its great and durable pro-

ductiveness, and these substances are indispensable, not

only to vegetable growth, but also to animal growth and

development.

It is probable, therefore, from the foregoing facts, that

the ashes of the rich Kentucky blue grass would be found,

on analysis, to contain more of these essential elements

of vegetable and animal nourishment than those of the

same grass grown under less favorable conditions.

In another comparative examination, of two samples of

Indian corn, similar results were obtained by the writer.

(See Vol. 4, Kentucky Geological Survey, old series, p.

315.) Sample No. 1 was from an exhausted field, based

on sandstone rock, in Breckinridge County, Ky., which

yielded about eight to twelve bushels per acre. Sample

No. 2 was from a field in the Blue Grass Region of Ken-

tucky, which yielded about seventy-five bushels to the acre;

both in a rather unfavorable season. The percentage

of ash in the dried corn was: In Sample No. 1, only

0.980; in Sample No. 2 it was 1.412. The percentage

of earthy phosphates, in Sample No. 1, was 0.2077; in

Sample No. 2, it was 0.3723.

Evidently, when fed in equal weights, to animals,

the corn of the rich field would be more nourishing to

bone and muscle, than that of the poor field. On exam-

ination, there was also found to be a larger proportion of

oil, in the product of the rich field, and the larger quan-

tity of earthy phosphates, no doubt, corresponded with

a greater proportion of nitrogenous or flesh-forming prin-

ciples in that.

Calculating the quantities of mineral fertilizers fur-

nished to the two crops by the soils, we find that the twelve

bushels of the poor field obtained only about eleven

pounds and three-quarters; while the seventy-five bushels

received from the rich field as much as nearly 106 pounds.

The abundance of these mineral fertilizers, supplied to

the soil of the Blue Grass Region, as above described, is,

evidently, a principal cause of the great productiveness

of the blue grass soil, as well as of the high nutritive

qua] ity of its vegetable products. The beneficial influence

of hard limestone water, in the nutrition of animals of the

farm, where the ordinary food did not supply quite enough

of the earthy salts for the needs of the animal economy,

in the formation of bone, muscles, etc., was fully proved

many years ago by the celebrated agricultural chemist,

Boussingault. The ash of the ordinary Indian corn is

generally deficient in lime, as food for animals, according

to his experience, and, he found by actual comparative

weighings, that those animals which used the hard water

with such food, thrived better and grew faster than others

supplied with purer water.

It will be seen in the foregoing facts and conclusions,

that the peculiar richness of our blue grass pastures, is

not in the blue grass per se, but is dependent on the soil,

which is abundantly supplied with the indispensable

mineral elements of vegetable and animal nutrition, de-

rived from the decomposable layers of the underlying

blue limestone, which contain an inexhaustible supply

of these materials, and which constantly yield them to

the soil, by the agency of the carbonated waters of the

atmosphere, giving a soil water, or rock solution, which

makes the blue grass farmer measurably independent

of ordinary commercial fertilizers, so far as the phos-

phates and other fixed ingredients of plant food are

concerned. Experiments with phosphates, plaster of paris,

lime, etc., on our rich soil, show, generally, by the little

effect they produce, that it already is well supplied with

these essential ingredients.

The Extent of the Blue Grass Region.—Of the 40,000

square miles of area of the State of Kentucky, the Great

Central, or Blue Grass Region, underlaid, mainly, by the

so-called blue limestone of the Lower Silurian, or Cam-

brian formation, contains about 10,000 square miles, or

about one-fourth of the area of the State.

Other geological formations, in the other parts of

the State, have produced very fertile soils, for various

crops, and, on some of them, the blue grass also flourishes;

but this central portion has acquired the popular cogno-

men of the Blue Grass Region, by distinction.

By reference to the geological map of Kentucky, it will

be seen, that this includes, in whole or in part, more than

thirty counties; of which the central southern counties

:^
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are more uniformly the richest. And no soils in the

world exceed, in this respect, some of those of Woodford,

Clark, Bourbon, Fayette, Mercer, Jessamine and parts of

Mason, Scott and other counties, in this great central

region of our State.

The primeval forest growth on these rich lands, as

given by the late Dr. Owen, are, pignut hickory, sugar

tree, hackberry, ash, walnut, mulbeiTy, buckeye, box elder,

etc., etc., and the original undergrowth was dense cane-

brakes and pea-vines, with papaw, etc., etc. Prof. Shaler

states: " The best soil maybe known by its growth of

blue ash, large black locusts and black walnuts. These

are characteristic," he says, " and never to be found to-

gether, save on the best soils."

Much difference is to be observed in the various beds

of the Lower Silurian formation. Some are of soft lime-

stone with marly layers, full of the remains of the ani-

mals which inhabited the primeval ocean, under which
they were slowly deposited in the course of a long period

of time. These form the best soils, and contain the

very rich phosphatic irregular deposits, which have been

described above. In all of these softer beds, the mineral

elements of plant food and animal nourishment abound,

in a condition favorable for solution in the atmospheric

waters, or in the acids of vegetable sap present in the

rootlets of plants.

Other beds of this formation, however, are harder and

less soluble in the waters of the atmosphere and the

soil ; like the so-called Kentucky marble, a close-grained,

hard limestone, of difficult decomposition, not containing

many fossils and often flinty, with very little marly

partings in its bedding ; or the fine granular buff mag-

nesian limestone, which admirably resists the action of the

atmospheric agencies, and hence is well suited for archi-

tectural purposes; but, like the Kentucky marble, forms

rather a poor soil as compared with those above noted.

Another notable bed of rock, in this Lower Silurian

region, not favorable to the production of very rich soil,

is what was called by Dr. Owen, the Mudstone, or rotten

sandstone layer, passing through portions of Boone, Ken-

ton, Campbell, Gallatin, Pendleton, Bracken, Mason, Owen,
Grant, Harrison, Nicholas, Scott, Fayette, Garrard aad

Washington Couuties, and producing what is called, in

some localities, " sobby beech land."- The forest growth

of the soil formed of these mudstone layers is principally

beech, and, on the better portions, hickory, oak, tulip pop-

lar, and, sometimes, sugar-tree, walnut and hackberry.

That portion of this formation, which passes through
Fayette County, is covered by a soil which would be
considered quite good in any other region not so re-

markable for great fertility as is the usual blue grass

soil.

—

Robert Peter, M. D.
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BOURBON, SCOTT, HARRISON! NICHOLAS COUNTIES.

OHAPTEE I.

BOURBON, SCOTT AND OTHER COUNTIES— THEIR GEOLOGICAL FORMATION— THE BLUE LIMESTONE OF KENTUCKY

-

TIMBERS AND SOILS OF BOURBON COUNTY—CANE RIDGE LANDS—TOPOGRAPHY, ETC., OF

SCOTT— SOILS AND TIMBERS OF HARRISON AND NICHOLAS.

THE preceding article gives a general sketch of the

Blue Grass Region from a scientific standpoint, and

will be found of peculiar interest to all dwellers in this

favored section. In the pages following, our researches

will be confined to the northern belt of the blue grass,

comprising Bourbon, Scott, Harrison and Nicholas Coun-

ties. As Bourbon originally embraced the greater part, or

this entire section, the history of all of these counties will

be given together down to the date of separation of each

from the parent stock, when they will be taken up

separately and followed in detail, from that period to the

present time. But few finer portions of country may be

found ; none richer in historical association than the Blue

Grass Region of Kentucky, and particularly that part to

which this volume is devoted. More than a century has

passed away since the first white man gazed upon this fer-

tile region ; since Daniel Boone, from the mountain-sum-

mit, like Moses from Pisgah's top, viewed " the landscape

o'er," then the home and hunting-ground of rival tribes of

hostile savages. In that hundred years what changes

have come over the scene ! The thirteen Colonies that

threw off the galling yoke of the haughty Briton, have

expanded into a greater nation than any Csesar ever ruled.

The aboriginal tribes have been driven beyond the great

Father of Waters, the wilderness of Central Kentucky has

"budded, blossomed and brought forth fruit," and has

become the home of a prosperous and intelligent people.

The Counties of Bourbon, Scott, Harrison and Nicho-

las—^the Northern belt of the Blue Grass Region—embrace

within their territory some of the finest lands in the State.

Originally the land was covered with a rich, black, vege-

table mold, the accumulation of ages, which made it a

perfect hot-bed of fertility. But, after clearing up of the

forests, and as the heat of the sun and the full influence of

atmospheric agencies were brought to bear upon the naked

earth, this gradually changed, and at the present time we

find, in the blue grass lands, " a soil varying from a rich

dark brown color, to a light yellowish, or reddish brown,

in the upper soil, and a light brownish or reddish yellow

in the subsoil." Geographically, the counties we are

describing are situated a little north of the center of the

State, and are watered and drained by the Licking River,

and its numerous tributaries, except Scott, which is mostly

drained by tributaries of the Kentucky River. Farming

and stock-raising are the principal pursuits of the people

outside of the cities and towns, and some of the finest

stock-farms in the State are to be found in these counties.

Considerable grain and hemp are cultivated, and tobacco

is extensively grown in Harrison and Nicholas Counties,

and in a more limited way in Bourbon and Scott.

One of the most important features of a country is its

geological structure, and upon this feature depend the pur-

suits of its inhabitants and the genius of its civilization.

Agriculture is the outgrowth of a fertile soil ; mining

results from mineral resources
;
and from navigable waters

spring navies and commerce. " Every great branch of in-

dustry requires for its successful development the cultiva-

tion of kindred arts and sciences. Phases of life and

^-, -f
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modes of thought are thus induced which give to different

communities and States characters as various as the

diverse rocks that underlie them. In like manner, it may
be shown that their moral and intellectual qualities depend

on material conditions. Where the soil and subjacent

rocks are profuse in the bestowal of wealth, man is indo-

lent and effeminate ; where effort is required to live, he

becomes enlightened and virtuous ; and when, on the sands

of the desert, labor is unable to procure the necessaries

and comforts of life, he lives a savage."*

A writer upon the subject says :
' Geology traces the

history of the earth back through successive stages of

development to its rudimental condition in a state of

fusion. Speculative astronomy extends it beyond this to

a gaseous state, in which it and the other bodies of the

solar system constituted a nebulous mass, without form

and motion. When, in the process of development, motion

was communicated to the chaotic matter, huge fragments

were detached from its circumference, which formed the

primary planets. These retaining the rotary motion of the

sun, or central mass, in turn threw off other and smaller

fragments, thus forming the secondary planets, as in the

case of the moon, which attends the earth. All these

bodies are similar in form, have a similar motion on their

axis, move substantially in a common plane and in the

same direction—the result of the projectile force which

detached them from the parent mass. These facts are

strong evidence that the sun and the planetary system

that revolves around it were originally a common mass,

and became separated in a gaseous state, as the want of

cohesion among the particles would then favor the dissev-

ering force. From the loss of heat, they next passed into

a fluid, or plastic state—the point in the history of the

earth where it comes within the range of geological inves-

tigation. While in this condition, it became flattened at

the poles, a form due to its diurnal rotation and the

mobility of its particles. At a further reduction of tem-

perature, its melted disc was transformed into a crust of

igneous rock. A great many facts render it almost certain

that the vast nucleus within this enveloping crust is still

an incandescent mass. Compared with its enormous

bulk, the external covering is of only filmy thickness, the

ratio of the two being as the pulp and peel of an orange.

In this world-crucible are held in solution the sixty-one

elementary substances, which, variously combining, pro-

duce the great variety of forms, energies and modes of

being, which diversify and enliven terrestrial nature. From
the same source the pi-ecious metals have been forced into

the superincumbered rocks, whither the miner descends

and brings them to the surface. Volcanoes are outlets

* Davidson.

for the tremendous forces generated in these deep-seated

fires. As an evidence of their eruptive power, Vesuvius

sometimes throws jets of lava, resembling columns of

flame, 10,000 feet in height. The amount of lava ejected at

a single eruption from one of the volcanoes of Iceland has

been estimated at 40,000,000,000 tons, a quantity sufficient

to cover a large city with a mountain as high as the tallest

Alps. By the process of congelation, which has never

ceased, the rocky crust which rests on this internal sea of

fire is now supposed to be from thirty to fortj' miles in

thickness. The outer or upper portion of it was the most

universal geological formation, and constituted the floors

of the primitive oceans. The rocks composing it are

designated unstratifled, because they occur in irregular

masses, and igneous from having originally been melted

by intense heat. The vast cycle of time extending through

their formation and reaching down to the introduction of

life on the globe constitutes the Azoic age. The earth's

surface, consisting of arid wastes and boiling waters, and

its atmosphere reeking with poisonous gases, were wholly

incompatible with the existence of plants and animals. By
the continued radiation of heat, the nucleus within the

hardened crust contracted, and the latter, to adapt itself to

the diminished bulk, folded into huge corrugations, forming

the primitive mountain chains and the first land that ap-

peared above the face of the waters. The upheaval of

these vast plications was attended with depressions in other

parts of the surface, constituting the valleys and basins of

of the original rivers and oceans. Through the agency of

water, the uplifted masses were disintegrated, and the

resulting sediment swept into the extended depressions.

Here it settled into parallel layers, and constitutes the

stratified rocks. In some localities, these are entirely

wanting
;

in others, many miles in depth, while their

average thickness is supposed to be from six to eight miles.

The plain, separating the stratified from the unstratified

rocks, runs parallel with the oldest part of the earth's crust.

When solidification commenced, it was the surface, and, as

induration advanced toward the center, the crust thickened

by increments on the inside, and therefore the most
recently formed igneous rocks are the farthest below the

surface. Stratification commenced at the same plane, and
extended in an upper direction, and hence the most recent

deposits are nearest the surface, when not displaced by
disturbing causes. In the silent depths of the stratified

rocks are the former creations of plants and animals, which
lived aod died during the slow, dragging centuries of their

formation. These fossil remains are fragments of history,

which enables the geologist to extend his researches far

back into the realms of the past, and not only determine

their former modes of life, but study the cotemporaneous
—
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historj' of their rocky beds, and group them into systems.

The fossilife'rous rocks are not only of great thickness, but

frequently their entire structure is an aggregation of

cemented shells, so numerous that millions of them occur

in a single cubic foot. Such has been the profusion of life

that the great limestone formations of the globe consist

mostly of animal remains, cemented by the infusion of

mineral matter. A large part of the soil spread over the

earth's surface has been elaborated in animal organisms.

First, as nourishment, it enters the structure of plants and

forms vegetable tissue. Passing thence as food into the

animal, it becomes endowed with life, and when death oc-

curs it returns to the soil, and imparts to it additional ele-

ments of fertility.''

Of all the geological formations, the blue limestone is

the most important to this section of the country, as being

the basis of the famous blue grass lands. It has been

pretty well demonstrated, that where the blue limestone

exists, there the genuine blue grass will flourish, and where

the former is lacking, the latter is, to a great degree, devoid

of the strongly nourishing qualities it possesses when grow-

ing upon a blue limestone soil. Of the blue limestone.

Dr. Peter, whose sketch of the Blue Grass Kegion forms

the introduction to this volume, says : "This formation

(the blue limestone) has usualh^ been considered equivalent

to the Lower Silurian strata pf Murchison. In this region

it is almost entirely calcareous, being generally composed

of thin beds of dark blue-gray fossiliferous limestone,

alternating with thin layers of marly shale or clay ; or, in

its lower members, such as are exhibited on the Kentucky

River, at Frankfort, and at several other places on the

river above, for many miles, appearing in more massive,

thick layers of buff granular magnesian limestone—an

excellent building-stone, which was used in the construction

of the Clay Monument at Lexington—and the light, bluish-

gray or yellowish, brittle and sparry layers, which has been

called Kentucky marble, and polished for ornamental and

useful purposes. Attempts have been made to compare

the rocks of this formation with those of New York and

Pennsylvania ; but, as in regard to all the Western strata,

the much greater prevalence of calcareous matter in the

rocks of the west and south, as compared with those of

the north and east, renders this task somewhat diflflcult. It

is believed, however, that what has been called, in Ohio and

Kentucky, the blue limestone formation, commences above,

with the equivalents of the Hudson River groups and the

Utica slate, of the New York geologists, and continues

downward, in its equivalency, including their Trenton,

Black River, Bird's-eye, and Chazy limestones, to the

equivalent of their calciferous sandstone, which is probably

our buff magnesian limestone above mentioned. The

so-called Kentucky marble bears a close resemblance to

the New York Bird's-eye limestone.

" This formation is one of great importance in Ken-

tuckjr, being the basis of our far-famed blue grass lands.

• The whole of the slightly curved undulating triangular

area, having its base on the Ohio River, between Garrett's

Landing in Trimble County, and the eastern limits of

Mason County, with its apex curving a little west of south,

to the Turkey Neck Bend of the Cumberland River,

embracing the axis of the great blue limestone in Ken-

tucky.' The main surface exposure of this formation, how-

ever, is better described by Dr. Owen in the Kentucky

Geological Survey, as existing in a great curved triangular

area, the southern apex of which terminates in Lincoln

County, and from which only a narrow strip, or axis,

occasionally to be observed in the deep cuts of the val-

leys, can be traced through Casey, Russell and Cumber-

land Counties, to the Cumberland River, in Monroe

County.

" From the present appearance of this elevated table-

land of Central Kentucky and Ohio, underlaid by the blue

limestone formation, it seems that in former geological

ages, the solid crust of the earth was elevated in this region

as though by the operation of an internal force, so that the

various super-imposed strata was raised into a mountain,

the top of which, as calculated by the celebrated Sir Ch.

Lyell, was about three thousand five hundred feet above

the level of the ocean ; and that subsequently, denuding

agencies have worn away the summit of this mountain

down to its present height of about fourteen hundred feet

above the sea level at Cincinnati, leaving the lowest forma-

tion—the blue limestone—in the highest central area of the

present table-land, and all other super-imposed strata with

the upper exposed edges regularly disposed around it

—

just as would appear the several coats of an onion, if a

wooden peg was pushed from the center to cause an exterior

protrusion, and then the summit of the elevation was cut

off with a knife. In Kentucky, however, a break, or sep-

erate axis of elevation, runs down southward as described

above, from the apex of the curved triangular area of the

blue limestone in Lincoln County, through Casey. Russell'

and Cumberland Counties, to Monroe County, and into

Tennessee."

Of Bourbon County we copy the following from the State

Geological Survey :
" Bourbon County contains as fine a

body of genuine blue grass lands as can be found in the

State, lying, for the most part, level or gently undulating,

except the Plat Rock region adjoining Bath, which is more

broken. It is all based on the blue limestone formation.

In the western part of the county the prevalent beds are

thin blue and gray Leptcena and Chcetetes layers underlaid

^
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by the testudinaria beds, and overlaid by strata containing

a small variety of -4. capax and Leptcena filitexta (?).

" The northwest part of the county land supports a

growth of blue and black ash, honey-locust, walnut, sugar-

tree, wild cherry, buckeye and box-elder ; undergrowth,

hawthorn, young elm, mulberry, hackberry, besides young

trees of many of the species previously cited. In Cane

Ridge, burr oak grows very large.

" The superiority of this soil is clearly shown by the

analysis of Dr. Peter's No. 568. It excels even the fine

Woodford soil in the amount of phosphoric acid. The sub-

soil, shell-earth, and under-clay, Nos. 570 and 571, contain

the most extraordinary percentage of that substance, and

the shell under-earth. No. 571, is, besides, richer in potash

than any soil, sub-soil or under-clay that has yet been an-

alyzed. This shell-earth is full of fragments, the even tol"

erably perfect specimens of A. capax and 0. testudinaria;

and the nearest underlying rock is charged with the same

fossil shells, weathering rough, with some cherty segrega-

tions, under which is a smoother and thinner-bedded bluish,

gray limestone rustj' surfaces, of which about five feet are

exposed in the quarries where rooks are obtained for the

stone fences.

" The soil derived from these upper shell beds is a

remarkably fine, loose, mellow, calcareous loam peculiarly

adapted for blue grass. It is not quite so light a soil as the

best hemp soil of Woodford, but yields crops of Jiemp but

little inferior to those of that county. It is found so well

adapted for grasses that the farms here are almost exclu-

sively grazing farms raising only what little grain is neces-

sary to feed stock occasionally in winter.

" The other variety of Bourbon soil collected for analy-

sis is from ' Cane Ridge,' the sample being taken from

William Buckner's farm, among the huge burr-oak timber

which forms a marked feature in the growth of timber of

this part of the county, associated with sugar-tree, honey-

locust, buckeye and box-elder. The under-clay has much
decomposing gravel, iron ore disseminated ; the underlying

rocks belong to the upper series of the blue limestone for-

mation of Kentucky, characterized by Favosites maxima, 0.

lynx, 0. occidentalis, Leptoena alternata, the branching Chce-

tetes; the latter are abundant in the beds immediately un-

derlying the Buckner farm, along with the 0. occidentalis.

. The soil is very deep, with here and there large blocks of red-

dish gray limestone, lying half-buried in the soil, and nearly

concealed by the luxuriant sod and tall growth of blue-grass,

singularly congenial to this soil. Nos. 574, 575, 576 and

577, of Dr. Peter's report, exhibit the composition of this

variety of Bourbon soil. B3' consulting these it will be seen

that the soil is nearly equal in the amount of phosphoric

acid to the variety just cited, but the sub-soil and under-

clay, though still rich in that acid, fall short of the amount

found in the sub-soils and under shell-earth of the Cooper's

Creek lands, and the amount is less, instead of greater, than

in the surface soil.

" Four varieties of limestone, underlying the Cooper's

Creek and Cane Ridge lands, have received a chemical ex-

amination, and the result will be found in Dr. Peter's report

under the head of Nos. 572, 573, 578 and 579. 'The first

two contain the largest amount of the mineral food of plants,

and A. capax bed No. 572 being, on the whole, the most

valuable for agriculture ; though No. 573 contains the larg.

est amount of sulphuric acid. They all, however, bespeak

the fertility of the derivative soil."

Of these examinations. No. 572 is from Capt. William P.

Hume's farm, Bourbon County. A crystalline, coarse,

granular, light-gray limestone, containing many shells, cor-

als
,
very much eroded and cellular on the exterior, when

it is of a brown color. Composition, dried at 212° Fahr.:

Carbonate of lime 81.340-45.645 of lime.

Carbonate of magnesia 979
Alumina and oxides of iron and

manganese 640
Phosphoric acid 221
Sulphuric acid 324
Potash 104
Soda , 177
Sand and insoluble silicates 16.646

100.431

No. 573 is from the same farm, is " shell limestone near

the surface." A gray limestone full of fossils, shells and
composition, dried at 212° P.:

Carbonate of lime 94.680-58.13 of lime.
Carbonate of magnesia 980
Alumina and oxide of iron and man-

ganese 1.130
Phosphoric acid 196
Sulphuric acid 593
Potash 166
Soda 333
Insoluble silicates 1.086
Loss 947

100.000

No. 578, is from the Cane Ridge lands, and taken from
William Buckner's land, in Bourbon County. A limestone
.principally made up of pure large crystalline grains ; com-
position, dried at 212° F.:

Carbonate of lime 97.540-53.735 per cent of lime.
Carbonate of magnesia 699
Alumina and oxides of

iron and manganese. .387
Phosphoric acid 093
Sulphuric acid 180
Potash 065
Soda .'.'.'

.'2O8
Insoluble silicates 1.446

100.516

" In the early settlement of the country," says the Geo-
logical Survey, " an abundant, general, large, undergrowth
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of cane gave name to the cane ridge of land, which is

about a mile wide, lying between the waters of Stoner and

Hinkston.

' The farms of Bourbon are generally laid down in blue-

grass, aifording pasture for large herds of celebrated stock

—the staple commodity of the county.

" On the divide between the waters of the Licking and

Kentucky Rivers, there is a narrow strip of sobby, beech

land, like that extending through the adjacent part of

Fayette, and ranging nearly north and south.

" Near the toll-gate, on the Flat Rock Turnpike, the A.

capax beds appear in perfection, and in the surface rock in

the high grounds, some seventy to eighty feet above the

market house in Paris, and one hundred and fifty to one

hundred and sixty feet above the forks of Houston and the

Stoner Branch of the Licking Rivers, some distance below

the capax beds are some earthy marlites resembling the

graptolite beds in the hills about Cincinnati, near the water

works ; but none of these fossils were discovered, as yet,

in this rock, only a'cast of bi-valve (modiola ?). The rocks

are here dipping to the east from a half to one degree."-

Of Scott County, the State Survey says :
" The soil in

the neighborhood of Georgetown, in Scott County, is derived

from a gray sub-crystalline member of the blue limestone

formation weathering reddish grey, and containing Atrypa

capax and modesta. The surface of the county is level and

the farms in a high state of cultivation ; this character of

soil and country extends for about four miles north of

Georgetown, when the country becomes more broken, the

hills assuming a peculiar rounded contour.

" The growth three-quarters of a mile north of George-

town, is sugar-tree, thick and shellbark hickory, black

locust, wild cherry and oak, and little or no poplar. This

is on the second bottom of Elkhorn Creek. Four miles

north, where the surface becomes more broken and hilly,

the principal timber is beech, white oak, small and large

hickory ; the rocks are more shaly, and the intervening lay-

ers more argillaceous.

" Fourteen miles north ofGeorgetown, the silicious mud-

stone appears, and gives more or less character to the

country north, even as far as the Ohio River, as heretofore

described in remarks on Owen, Grant, Gallatin and Boone

Counties.

" The rocks on the North Elkhorn, in the western part

of this county, are the Orthis testudinaria and Chcetetes

lycoperdon beds of the blue limestone, such as occur in the

Frankfort section from one hundred to one hundred and

forty feet above the Kentucky River. Bast of Georgetown,

gray and blue Leptmna layers of the blue limestone pre-

vail ; one which is semi-crystalline, is almost entirely

composed of such shells. The beds are generally from two

to six or eight inches thick. The higher beds contain A.

capax and small varieties of Chcetetes lycoperdon. The

prevalent Leptcena appears to be L. filitexta.

" The geological and consequent agricultural character

of the southern part of Soott County, partake of that of adja-

cent portions of Woodford, Franklin and Bourbon Counties
;

while the northern part is more broken, and the soil is de-

rived more, or in part, from the silicious mudstones. Both

varieties have been collected for chemical analysis."

We give two of these as follows : No. 748—Prom a

woodland pasture
; James F. Robinson's faroa near George-

town, on the Elkhorn Creek. The primitive forest growth

sugar-tree, white oak, black walnut, wild cherry and black

locust. Dried at 212^ Fahr.—with the following comp. :

Grains.

Organic and volatile matters 1.540

Alumina, oxides of iron and manganese 494

Carbonate of lime 3.663

Magnesia 101

Sulphuric acid 045

Potash 071

Soda 113

Silica 087

6.114

No. 749 is the same soil, but taken from an old adjoin-

ing field forty-five years or more in cultivation. Dried at

212° Fahr.—following comp. :

Grains.

Organic and volatile matters 1.470

Alumina, oxides of iron and manganese 253

Carbonate of lime 4.497

Magnesia 076

Sulphuric acid 045

Potash 058

Soda 049

Silica 130

6.578

"The blue limestone formation of Harrison County

seems to be traversed by veins containing some sulphuret

of lead, accompanied with sulphate of barytes, as near the

Kentucky River on the southern confines of Woodford

County. The soil of the southwestern part of Harrison

County is a dark crumbling soil, based on a mulatto sub-

soil derived from rough weathering sub-crystalline, close-

grained, light gray limestone, containing Leptcena Cincin-

natiensis, under which are limestones containing fragments

of Asaphus {Isotelus) gigus in large quantities, and Pleurolo-

maria {Turbo f) bilex of Cour. This description of soil

commences four miles north of Cynthiana, and extends to

the southern and western limits of Harrison County, at an

elevation of about one hundred feet above the South Fork

of the Licking River. Very little of the silicious mud-

stone was observed in Harrison County."

if
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The following analysis is of soil from Mr. James Mil-

ler's farm, three miles south of Cynthiana—-woods pasture
;

forest growth, large black walnut, sugar-tree, white oak,

blue ash and poplar. Dried at 212° Fahr., and had the

following composition :

Grains.

Organic and volatile matters 1.217

•Alumina, oxides of iron and manganese, etc 563

Carbonate of lime 3.580

Magnesia 073

Sulphuric acid 062

Potash 185

Soda 070

Silica 098

4.847

" On the western edge of Nicholas County, on the

slopes of the Hinkston waters, the country is rather broken,

but the soil of the upland over the red under-clay, with

gravel iron ore, must be productive under an efficient sys-

tem of farming. The upper part of the formation on the

Hinkston hills is an ash gray, earthy—a kind of marlite.

These strata alternate with dark gray, blue sericea and
ceralline beds of limestone, the whole resting about two-

thirds of the way down the slope on an orthoceras

bed of limestone. The derivative soil in dry weather has

the peculiar crisp grain indicative of the rich retentive

calcareous clay, but it is stiff and muddy in wet weather.

In some of the slopes near Carlisle, the beds of silicious

mudstone crop out, especially on the west and southwest

slopes.

" There is little or no beech timber up the Hinkston, but

this kind of lumber is abundant on the east side of the

Maysville Turnpike, and on Beaver Creek and east of the

line adjoining Harrison County, near Headquarters. The

water that runs off from the slopes of the ridges about

seventy feet above the valleys, over the outcrop of the

silicious mudstone, where this description of rock has been

laid bare by the washing of the hill sides, is highly charged

with magnesia, much of which is probably in the state of

chloride, as re-agents indicate a large proportion of both

ingredients. This water is also milky from suspended par-

ticles of either extremely fine silex or clay. There are

many facts which go to show that this description of water

acts injuriously both on man and stock, if habitually used,

as explained elsewhere."

Further facts of a geological character will be given in

other chapters of this work upon the separate counties,

whose history is given herewith.— W. H. Perrin.

OHAPTEE II.

THE MOUND-BUILDEUS AND THE PRE-HISTORIC TIMES—EARLIEST INHABITANTS OF THE CO0NTRY—THEIR MONUMENTS
AND FORTIFICATIONS-RELICS IN THE NORTH BELT OF THE BLUE GRASS REGION—THE INDIANS—

THEIR OCCUPATION OF THE DARK ANO BLOODY GROUND.

tion can only give us vague speculations in answer. If we
knock at their tombs, no spirit comes back with a response
and only a sepulchral echo of forgetfulness and death

reminds us how vain is the attempt to unlock the mysterious
past upon which oblivion has fixed its seal. Who were
these people

; whence did they come, and whither did they
go? We know not. Generation after generation lived,

moved, and are no more. Time has strewn the track of its

ruthless march with the fragments of their mighty works, but
not even their names (other than Mound-Builders) have an
existence in the speculations of those who come after them.
Some writers upon the pre-historic races of America have

discovered evidences convincing to themselves, that the

Mound-Builders came from Asia, and that their advent was
made at different times from different portions of that
division of the globe. But at what period or periods they
came to this continent is but speculation. From the com-
paratively rude state of the arts among them, it is univer-

'
' back in the by-gone times

Lost 'mid the rubbish of forgotten things."

ACCORDING- to the researches of archaeologists, a race

of people inhabited this country long prior to its occu-

pancy by the Indians whom Columbus found in possession

of it at the time of his discovery. But of this people, little

is known beyond conjecture
; concerning their existence,

authentic history is silent. Aside from the rearing of the

mounds and earthworks, which extend from the Lake Supe-

rior region to New Mexico, and thence into South America,

no records exist of their progress and achievements. The
antiquarian finds in their works no inscriptions which can

unfold the mysteries of by-gone centuries. He finds only

moldering skeletons, the scattered remnants of vessels of

earthenware, rude weapons of war, axes made of stone, and
other implements equally rude. A thousand interesting

queries naturally arise respecting these nations that now
repose under the ground, but the most searching investiga-
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sally believed that the time was very remote. What finally

became of them is another of the vexing questions that

have been extensively discussed, with but little satisfactory

results. The fact that their works extend into Mexico and

Peru, has induced the belief that it was their posterity that

dwelt in these countries when they were first visited by the

Spaniards. The Mexican and Peruvian works, with the

exception of their magnitude, are similar. Relics common
to all of them have been occasionally found, and it is

believed that the religious uses which they subserved were

the same. There is little doubt that these people were idol-

aters, and writers upon the subject have conjectured that

the sun was an object of adoration. The mounds were gen-

erally built in a situation affording a view of the rising sun.

When inclosed with walls, their gateways were toward the

east. The caves in which they were occasionally found

buried opened in the same direction. Whenever a mound
was partially inclosed by a semi-circular pavement, it was

on the east side, and when bodies were buried in graves, as

was frequently the case, they lay east and west ; and finally,

medals have been found in a number of mounds opened in

different parts of the United States, upon which was repre-

sented the sun and his rays of light. All these evidences

go far toward proving the Mound-Builders sun-worshipers.

Nothing, however, definite or conclusive, will ever satisfac-

torily penetrate the obscurit}' that has settled over this

" peculiar people," and their religious and social customs,

until the last trump awakes the sleeping nations, and not

only the sea, but these mysterious mounds, give up their

dead.

The works of the Mound-Builders constitute the most

interesting class of antiquities found within the limits of

the United States. They consist of the remains of what

were apparently villages, altars, temples, idols, cemeteries,

monuments, camps, fortifications and pleasure grounds.

The farthest relic of this strange people discovered in a

northeastern direction was near Black River, on the south

side of Lake Ontario. From this point they- extend in a

southwestern direction by way of the Ohio, the Mississippi,

Mexican Gulf, Texas, New Mexico and Yucatan, into South

America. Commencing in Cattaraugus County, N. Y., there

was a chain of these forts and earthworks, extending more

than fifty miles southwesterly, and not more than four or

five miles apart, evidently built by a people rude in the

arts and few in numbers. " One of the most august

monuments of remote antiquity to be found in the whole

country, may still be seen in West Virginia, near the junc-

tion of Grave Creek and the Ohio River. According to

actual measurement, it has an altitude of ninety feet, a

diameter at the base of one hundred feet, at the summit of

forty-five feet, while a partial examination has disclosed

within it the existence of many thousands of human skele-

tons."* In the State of Ohio, where these ancient works

and mounds have been surveyed and carefully examined,

are found some of the most extensive and interesting that

occur in the United States. At the mouth of the Mus-

kingum, among a number of curious works, was a rectang-

ular fort containing forty acres, encircled by a wall of earth

ten feet high, and perforated with openings resembling gate-

ways. In the mound near the fort were found the remains

of a sword, which appeared to have been buried with its

owner. Near the side of the body was a plate of silver,

which had perhaps been the upper part of a copper scab-

bard, portions of which were filled with iron rust, doubtless

the remains of a sword.

The Cahokia mound of Missouri, though scarcely so

high, is larger at the base than that of West Virginia,

mentioned above. It covers twelve acres, and has an alti-

tude of about eighty feet. No thorough exploration of it has

been made. The plow has reduced its terraces somewhat

and the rain has gullied its sides, but the evidence seems

conclusive that it was originally composed of fouf plat-

forms, rising one from the other as they approach the

highest, which formed the center. It is not improbable

that it was the site of a camp, and that the platforms were

designed to protect the lodges from the attacks of enemies.

A work, known as the "Bourneville Inclosure," in Ross

County, Ohio, is thus described by Messrs. Squier and

Davis, two eminent archaeologists :
" This work occupies

the summit of a lofty, detached hill, twelve miles westward

from the city of Chillicothe, near the village of Bourne-

ville. The hill is not far from four hundred feet in

perpendicular height, and is remarkable, even among the

steep hills of the West, for the general abruptness of its

sides, which, at some points, are absolutely inaccessible)

* * * * rpjjg
defenses consist of a wall of stone, which

is carried round the hill a little below the brow ; but at

some places it rises, so as to cut off the narrow spurs, and

extends across the neck that connects the hill with the

range beyond." Nothing, however, like a true wall -exists

there now, as we learn from local authority, but the present

appearance is rather what might have been " expected

from the falling outward of a wall of stones, placed, as this

was, upon the declivity of a hill." The area inclosed by

this wall was 140 acres, and the wall itself was two miles

and a quarter in length. Trees of the largest size now

grow upon these ruins. On a similar work in Highland

County, Ohio, Messrs. Squier and Davis found a large

chestnut tree, which they supposed to be 600 years old.

" If," they say, '' to this we add the probable period inter-

vening from the time of the building of this work to its

*Pre-Hi8toric Times,
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abandonment, and the subsequent period up to its invasion

by the forest, we are led irresistibly to the conclusion that

it has an antiquity of at least one thousand years. But

when we notice, all around us, the crumbling trunks of

trees, half hidden in the accumulating soil, we are induced

to fix on an antiquity still more remote." Mr. Knapp, agent

of the Minnesota Mining Company, some years ago, counted

395 annular rings on a hemlock tree which grew on one of

the mounds of earth thrown out of an ancient copper mine,

« occupied at some remote period by this race of people. Mr.

Foster, a writer upon the subject, notes the great size and

age of a pine stump, which must have grown, flourished

and died since the works were deserted ; and Col. Whit-

tlesey, of the Ohio Geological Survey, not only refers to

living trees, now flourishing in the gathered soil of the

abandoned trenches, upward of three hundred years old,

but says: " On the same spot, there are the decayed trunks

of a preceding generation or generations of trees that have

arrived at maturity and fallen down from old age."

The antiquities of the Mound-Builders and the relics

they have left behind them are considered in two great

divisions, viz. : Implements (including ornaments) and

Earthworks. The earthworks have again been divided, by

American archaeologists, into seven classes : 1, Defensive

inclosures
; 2, sacred and miscellaneous inclosures ; 3,

sepulchral mounds ; 4, sacrificial mounds ; 5, temple

mounds ; 6, " animal " mounds ; and 7, miscellaneous

mounds. The defensive inclosures, as already shown, were

upon the tops of hills and elevations, where they were more

easy of defense. The sacred inclosures are generally found

on " the broad and level river bottoms, seldom occurring

upon the table-lands, or where the surface of the ground is

undulating or broken."* The sepulchral mounds are

almost innumerable in the United States, and are literally

numbered by thousands and tens of thousands. They
vary from six to eight feet in height, generally stand out-

side the inclosures, and are mostly round, though some-

times elliptical or pear-shaped. The sacrificial mounds are

peculiar to the New World. Says Dr. Wilson :
" This

remarkable class of mounds has been very carefullj' ex-

plored, and their most noticeable characteristics are their

almost invariable occurrence within inclosures ; their

regular construction in uniform layers of gravel, earth and

sand, and their covering a symmetrical altar of burnt clay

or stone." The temple mounds are pyramidal structures,

truncated, and generally having graded avenues to their

tops. In some instances thej' are terraced, or have suc-

cessive stages. The animal mounds are principally, though
not wholly, confined to Wisconsin. In that State are

thousands of this class, in shape representing men, beasts,

*Lubbock.
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birds and reptiles, all wrought with persevering labor upon

the surface of the soil. The miscellaneous mounds are

found in many localities throughout North America. Of the

temple mounds of this State, Collins, in his history of

Kentucky, says :
" The temple, or terraced, mounds are

said to be more numerous in Kentucky than in the States

north of the Ohio River—a circumstance which implies an

early origin and application of the familiar phrase, 'sacred

soil.' The striking resemblance which these temple mounds

bear to the teocallis of Mexico has suggested the purposes

to which they were devoted, and the name by which they

are known. Some remarkable works of this class have

been found in the counties of Adair, Trigg, Montgomery,

Hickman, McCracken, Whitley, Christian, Woodford,

Greenup and Mason. The temple mound near Lovedale,

in Woodford County, is a very interesting specimen of this

class—an octagonal work, with graded ascents at each of

the northern angles ; and there is a work of curious design

near Washington, in the county of Mason, which, though

dififering in form from the preceding, is obviously a speci-

men of the teocalli class. There is also a temple mound in

Greenup County, which has excited a good deal of interest.

It forms part of a connected series of works, communicating

by means of parallel embankments, and embracing the

chief structural elements peculiar to this class of works.

On a commanding river terrace stands one of the group
of this series—an exact rectangle, 800 feet square, with

gateway, bastion, ditch and hollow-way, with outworks
consisting of parallel walls leading to the northeast and to

the southwest, from opposite sides of the rectangular in-

elosure. The work has many of the salient features of an
extensive fortification, and appears to have been designed
for purposes of military defense

; and yet there is nothing
to forbid the supposition that its sloping areas were also

devoted to the imposing rites of a ceremonial worship."

The relics of this lost race are, as Mr. Collins says,

numerous in Kentucky, and the central portion of the State

contains a number of very interesting works. Some of
these have been explored by scientific men. Prof Rafln-
esque, an eminent archaeologist, and at one time Professor of
Natural History in Transylvania University at Lexington

;

a man whose opinions on the remains in the Mississippi

Valley are often quoted by historians, and are much
respected, visited and surveyed some of the ancient works
in Fayette County in 1820. A map and plate drawn by
him of the remains near Lexington, is to be seen now in

the Smithsonian Institute. In an article in the Western
Review, he says :

' I have visited, with a friend, the
ancient monument or fortification situated about two and
a half miles from Lexington in an easterlj' direction and
above the head of Hickman Creek, and we have ascertained

—r—
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that it is formed by an irregular ciroumvallation of earth

surrounded by an outside ditch. The shape of this mound

is an irregular polygon of seven equal sides. The whole

circumference measures about sixteen hundred of my
steps, which I calculated at nearly a yard, or three feet

each, or altogether, 4,800 feet—less than a mile. The

different sides measure as follows : West side, 360 feet

;

southeast side, 750 feet ; east-southwest side, 660 feet

;

east-northeast side, 1,080 feet ; northeast side, 600 feet

;

northwest side 600 feet." Of his examination of another

group of mounds in Fayette County, Prof Raflnesque, in

an article in the Western Review, of 1820, says :
" I visited

this group of mounds a few days ago, in company with

two gentlemen from Lexington. They are situated about

six miles from this town, in a north-northeast direction, on

the west and bacli part of Col. Russell's farm, which

lies on the road leading from Lexington to Cynthiana.

The ground on which they stand is a beautiful level spot,

covered with young trees and short grass, or fine turf on

the south side of a bend of North Elkhorn Creek, nearly

opposite of Opossum Run, and close by Hamilton's farm

and spring, which lie west of them. They extend as far

as Russell's Cave, on the east side of the Cynthiana

road.

"No. 1, which stands nearly in the center, is a circular

inclosure 600 feet in circumference, formed of four parts.

No. 2 lies northeast of No. 1, at about two hundred and

fifty feet distance, and is a circular, convex mound 175

feet in circumference, nearly four feet high, surrounded by

a small outward ditch. No. 3 lies nearly north of No. 1,

and at about two hundred and fifty feet distance from No.

2. It is a singular and complicated monumen^ of an

irregular square form. No. 4, are two large sunhen

mounds, connected with No. 3. No. 5 is a monument of

an oblong square form, consisting of the four usual parts

of a parapet, an inward ditch, a central area and a gate-

way. This last stands nearly opposite the gateway of No.

3, at about one hundred and twenty-five feet distance, and

leads over the ditch to the central area. No. 6 is a mound

without a ditch, 190 feet in circumference and five feet

high. No. 7 is a stone mound on the east side of Russell's

Spring, and on the brim of the gully. No. 8 is a similar^

stone mound, but rather smaller, lying north of No. 7,

at the confluence of Russell's Spring with the North Elk-

horn."

A chain of mounds extend thi-ough Bourbon County in

nearly a northwest direction, and from their position to each

other, were probably used for purposes of communication.

From coals and ashes found upon them, just below the sur-

face, it is supposed that beacon fires were kindled upon

them as a kind of telegraphic signals. In a bend of Stoner

Creek, a short distance below Paris, is a ditch still plainly

visible, which was cut across the narrow neck of land, at

the entrance to the bend. Two mounds are situated in this

bend, one inside and the other outside the ditch. That out-

side has been opened and found to contain human bones.

When the country was first settled, there was a causeway

or ditch, extending from the ditch across the bend above

mentioned a mile and a half, to a large mound, which stood

on elevated ground. A fortification at the junction of the

Stoner and Hinkston, six miles north of Paris, is now

nearly obliterated, owing to the fact that it is on low

ground subject to overflow. A similar fortification is sit-

uated three miles from this, on Hinkston Creek, which has

two mounds in connection with it—one inside and one out-

side the fortification, somewhat like that described on the

Stoner.

A very interesting mound is located in Harrison County,

and is one of the largest in the State. It is near the little

village of Claysville, and covers nearly half an acre of

ground, being about one hundred feet in diameter at the

base east and west, seventy-five feet north and south,

and about twenty-five feet high. A large sycamore tree,

some four feet in diameter stands upon the summit of

it, and is probably, from appearances, five hundred years

old.

In Nicholas County is the remains of a burying-ground

five miles south of the Upper Blue Licks, which is sup-

posed to have been of this mysterious people, from the large

size of bones unearthed. It has been pretty well demon-

strated by several writers that the Mound-Builders were a

race large in stature. The writer was present at the open-

ing of a mound in Ohio, a few years ago, from which three

skeletons were taken. The bones of one—the largest

—

were in an excellent state of preservation, and judging from

the length of the thigh bone, must have belonged to a man

full seven feet in height. The burying-ground above

alluded to is thus described :
" The elevation or mound is

now but little above the level of the surrounding country,

and embraces nearly an acre. It is covered with fragments

of human bones, some of them of giant size. A lower

jaw-bone, exhumed about 1867, with the teeth all perfect,

was readily fitted over the jaw of a large man. A thigh

bone, also, when laid upon the thigh of a man six feet

high, projected several inches beyond the cap of the knee.

Articles resembling beads have been dug from the mound
;

fragments of earthenware are scattered all over it." A very

singular remain is near the Upper Blue Licks Springs,

which consists of a space more than one hundred feet

square, paved with large stones, smoothly dressed and well

laid. They were brought some distaniie, as no stones of

their size are to be found within a mile of the place. Thus,
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all over the country, are found these silent monuments,

which
" like the one

Stray fragment of a wreck, whicli thrown

With the lost vessel's name, ashore.

Tells who they were that live no more."

The Indians are supposed by many writers to be, not

only the successors, but the conquerors of the Mound-

Builders. The question of their origin has long interested

archaeologists, and is one of the most difficult they have

been called on to answer. One hypothesis is that they

were an original race, indigenous to the Western Hemi-

sphere. Those who entertain this view think their pecul-

iarities of phj'sical structure preclude the possibility of a

common parentage with the rest of mankind. Prominent

among these distinctive traits is the hair, which in the red

man is round, in the white man oval, and in the black man
flat. In the pile of the European, the coloring matter is

distributed by means of a central canal, but in that of the

Indian it is incorporated in the fibrous structure. Since,

therefore, these and other ethnological features are charac-

teristic only of the aboriginal inhabitants of America, it is

inferred that they are indigenous to this part of the globe.

A more common supposition, however, is that they are

a derivative race, and sprang from one Or more of the

ancient peoples of Asia. In the absence of all authentic

history, and even when tradition is wanting, any attempt

to point out the particular theater of their origin must

prove unsatisfactory. They are perhaps an oflshoot of

Shemitic parentage, and some imagine, from their tribal

organization and faint coincidence of language and relig-

ion, that they were the descendants of the ancient Hebrews.

Others, with as much propriety, contend that their pro-

genitors were the ancient Hindoos, and that the Brahmin
idea, which uses the sun to symbolize the Creator of the

universe, has its counterpart in the sun-worship of the

Indians. They also see in the Hindoo polytheism, with its

thirty thousand divinities, a theology corresponding with

the innumerable minor Indian deities, of which birds, quad-

rupeds, reptiles and fishes are made the symbols. The
Persians, and other primitive oriental stocks, and even the

nations Of Europe, if the testimony of different antiquarians

could be accepted, might claim the honor of first peopling

America.

Though the exact place of origin may never be known,

yet the striking coincidences of physical organization

between the oriental types of mankind and the Indians,

point unmistakably to some part of Asia as the place

whence they emigrated. Instead of eighteen hundred years,

the time of their roving in the wilds of America, as deter-

mined by Spanish interpretation of their pictographie rec-

ords, the interval has perhaps been thrice that period.

Their religions, superstitions and ceremonies, if of foreign

origin, evidently belong to the crude theologies prevalent

in the last centuries before the introduction of Mahomet-

anism or Christianit}'. Scarcely three thousand years

would suffice to blot out perhaps almost every trace of the

language they brought with them from the Asiatic cradle

of the race, and introduce the present diversity of aboriginal

tongues. Like their oriental progenitors, they have lived

for centuries without progress, while the Caucasian variety

of the race, under the transforming power of art, science

and improved systems of civil polity, have made the most

rapid advancement. At the time of their departure east^

ward, a great current of emigration flowed westward to

Europe, making it a great arena of human efibrt and

improvement. Thence proceeding farther westward, it met,

in America, the midway station in the circuit of the globe,

the opposing current direct from Asia. The shock of the

first contact was the beginning of the great conflict which

has since been waged by the rival sons of Shem and

Japheth. The first thought of the Indian, when hostilities

commenced on the Atlantic border, was to retire westward.

It was from beyond the Alleghanies, according to the tra-

ditions of their fathers, they had come, and in the same
undefined region they located their paradise, or happy

hunting-ground. To employ an aboriginal allegory, " the

Indians had long discerned a dark cloud in the heavens,

coming from the east, which threatened them with disaster

and death. Slowly rising at first, it seemed shadow, but

soon changed to substance. When it reached the summit
of the Alleghanies, it assumed a darker hue ; deep mur-
murs, as of thunder, were heard ; it was impelled westward
by strong wind, and shot forth forked tongues of lightning."

The movement of this cloud typified the advance of

labor, science and civilization, and before it the Indian is

still retreating. Step by step he has been pressed back-

ward before the advancing tide of immigration. His
council-fire paled in the growing dawn of the nineteenth

century, and then went out forever on the Atlantic slope.

" The anointed children of education were too powerful for

the tribes of the ignorant." There is much in the char-

acter of the Indian to loathe, and much, too, to inspire us
with admiration and sympathy. When stung to madness
at our broken pledges and encroachments upon their hunt-
ing-grounds, they essayed to resent our oppression, we
made it an excuse to w^,ntonly murder them. Who can
blame them for fighting for the graves and homes of their

fathers? The pale-faces would do the same. But the

strong conquered, and the weak were vanquished ; the

Indians were driven backward, and shrinking before a

power they could not stay, they have disappeared, and
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their war-cry has died away in the distant west. " Siowly

they climbed the distant mountains and must soon hear

the roar of the last wave that will settle over them forever.'

When first visited by the whites, Kentucky was the

favorite hunting-ground of many different tribes of Indians,

but it is not known that any of them ever resided perma-

nently within its borders. Annually, during the hunting

season, the Delawares, Wyandots, Shawnees, and other

tribes from beyond the Ohio, and the Catawbas, Cherokees

and Creeks, from the south country, came here to hunt the

deer, elk and buffalo, which, in great numbers, roamed the

forests, grazed upon the natural pastures, and frequented

the salt-impregnated springs so common in this section.

However, their visits were periodical, and, when the hunt

ended, they returned with the trophies of the chase, to

their own towns. But in the coming of the pale-faces they

foresaw the destruction of these beautiful hunting-grounds,

and determined to drive the white invaders hence. The

fierce contests which occurred between them and the first

white settlers were numerous, of long continuance, and

often disastrous to the latter, ere the final expulsion of the

savages from the territory, that, in these sanguinary strug-

gles, was re-baptized the " Dark and Bloody Ground."

The heroic deeds of the pioneer fathers are inscribed upon

hundreds of battle-fields. Assuredly, if a community of

people ever lived who were literally cradled in war, it was

the early inhabitants of Central Kentucky. Prom the first

exploration of the country by Daniel Boone up to the year

1794, they were engaged in one incessant battle with the

savages. Trace the path of an Indian incursion anywhere

through the great valley of the West, and it is found dyed

with Kentucky's blood, and its battle-fields white with the

bones of her children.

The counties of Bourbon, Scott, Harrison and Nicholas

have been the scene of some of the stirring events alluded

to above. The following thrilling incident occurred in

Bourbon on Cooper's Run in April, 1787. A widow, of

the name of Skaggs, lived in a lonely spot with her family,

consisting of two grown sons, three grown daughters (one

of them married and the mother of an infant), and a

daughter about half grown. One night their cabin, which

was a double one, was attacked by a band of Indians, four

of the inmates killed, one of the girls carried off a captive,

while one of the sons and the married daughter with her

infant made their escape. The neighborhood was aroused,

and at daylight the next morning thirty men, well armed

and well mounted, under Col. Edwards, started in pursuit

of the savages. A light snow had fallen, and they were

enabled to follow the trail at a gallop. When the Indians

found they were pursued, and likely to be overtaken, they

tomahawked their captive and left her lying by their trail,

where she was found by the pursuers before life became

extinct, but she died in a few minutes after they came up.

They soon overtook the savages, when a fight commenced,

but by a strategy on their part in leaving two of their

number to hold the whites in check, the main body suc-

ceeded in making their escape ; the two left behind were

killed.

Another incident, and which is said to have been the

last of its kind enacted in Bourbon County, was somewhat

as follows : A party of Indians, about twenty in number,

made an incursion into the neighborhood to steal horses.

A squad of hunters followed them, and came up with them

encamped upon the Stoner a few miles from Paris. They

fired into their camp, killing one and wounding several

others, when the Indians fled, but soon returned and a

fight took place, which lasted until the ammunition of the

whites gave out, and they were forced to retreat leaving

their foes in possession of the field. But one of the whites

were killed, a man named Frank Hickman, whose skeleton

was afterward recognized by the initials on his knee-

buckles.

McClelland's Station, which stood upon the present site

of Georgetown, was the scene of several skirmishes with

Indians, which is more fully given in the history of

Georgetown. In the year 1778, a party of Indians stole a

number of horses in Scott (rather what is now Scott) and

were pursued by Capt. Herndon with a few companions,

but they succeeded in escaping with their booty. Many

such incidents as the above occurred not only in Scott, but

in all the surrounding country. In 1788, three horses

were stolen from Jacob Stucker by Indians, in which two

of the savages were killed by the whites, who pursued

them, and another wounded, and the horses recovered.

Ruddel's Station, which some authorities locate in

Bourbon Countj', and others just over the line in what is

now Harrison County, was captured in 1780 by a large

force of Canadians and Indians, under the notorious Col.

Byrd, a British officer. His force amounted to some six

hundred men^white and red—with six pieces of artillery,

said to be the first cannons that ever awoke the echoes of

the Kentucky hills. On the 22d of June (1780), this for-

midable force appeared before Ruddel's, and Col. Byrd

demanded its surrender to His Britanic Majesty's forces,

at discretion. Capt. Ruddel complied on the condition

that the prisoners be placed under charge of the English

instead of the savages. But when the gates were thrown

open, the Indians rushed in, seized the first white person

they met, claiming them as individual prisoners. When
Col. Byrd was remonstrated with by Capt. Ruddel for this

disregard of the conditions of surrender, he acknowledged

his inability to control his savage allies. The scenes which

^
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ensued after the capture are almost indescribable, and are

unsurpassed except in savage warfare. Wives were

separated from tlieir husbands,, and mothers from their

young children, without hope of ever being re-united.

After the prisoners were secured and the booty divided,

Ihe savages proposed to move against Martin's Station, in

Bourbon County, but Col. Byrd refused, unless the prison-

ers should be given into his charge—the Indians to take

for their share, the property, which was agreed to. Martin's

Station was then captured without opposition. The
savages were so elated with these successes, that they

were anxious to proceed at once against Bryant's Station

and Lexington, but for some inexplicable reason Col-

Byrd refused, and the expedition returned north of the

Ohio River. Higgins' block-house, near where Cynthiana

now stands, had its incidents of thrilling interest and
border warfare. On the 12th of June, 1786, it was attacked

by a large party of Indians, in which several of the inmates

were severelj' wounded. But upon the arrival of help

from Hinkston and Harrison's Stations, the Indians fled,

without being able to capture the station.

The most thrilling event that occurred within the four

counties, however, transpired in Nicholas. It was on the

sacred soil of Little Nicholas, that the famous battle of

Blue Licks was fought, one of the most disastrous battles

to the whites that ever took place in Kentucky. It was
fought on the 19th of August, 1782, on the old State road,

about half a mile from the Lower Blue Licks, between a

large force of Indians under the infamous renegade,

Simon Grirty, on their return from Bryant's Station in

Payette County, where they had been repulsed, and a

small party of whites, from that section, which had
been sent in pursuit of them. The following account

of it is from Collins, which he accredits to McClung's

historical sketches :
" Col. Daniel Boone, accompa-

nied by his youngest son, headed a strong party from

Boonesboro ; Trigg brought up the force from Harrods-

burg, John Todd commanded the militia around Lex-

ington. Nearly a third of the whole number assembled

were commissioned officers, who hurried from a distance to

the scene of hostilities, and, for the time, took their place

in the ranks. Of those under the rank of Colonel, the

most conspicuous were Majs. Harlan, McBride, McGary
and Levi Todd, and Capts. Bulger and Gordon. Todd and

Trigg as senior Colonels took the command. A tumultuous

consultation, in which every one seems to have had a voice,

terminated in a unanimous resolution to pursue the enemy
without delay. It was well-known that Gen. Logan had

collected a strong force in Lincoln, and would join them at

furthest in twenty-four hours. It was distinctly understood

that the enemy was at least double, and, according to

Girt3''s account, more than treble their own numbers. It

was seen that their trail was broad, and obvious, and that

even some indications of a tardiness and willingness to be

pursued, had been observed by their scouts, who had been

sent out to reeonuoiter, and from which it might reason-

ably be inferred that they would halt on the way, at least

march so leisurely, as to permit them to wait for the aid of

Logan. Yet so keen was the ardor of officer and soldier,

that all these obvious reasons were overlooked, and in the

afternoon of the 18th of August, the line of march was

taken up, and the pursuit urged with that precipitate

courage which has so often been fatal to Kentuckians.

Most of the officers and many of the privates were mounted.

" The Indians had followed the bufialo trace, and, as if

to render their trail still more evident, they had chopped

many of the trees on either side of the road with their

hatchets. These strong indications of tardiness made
some impression upon the cool and calculating mind of

Boone, but it was too late to advise retreat. They en-

camped that night in the woods, and on the following day

reached the fatal boundary of their pursuit. At the Lower
Blue Licks, for the first time since the pursuit commenced,
they came within view of an enemy. As the miscellaneous

crowd of horse and foot reached the southern bank of

Licking, they saw a number of Indians ascending the

rocky ridge on the other side. They halted on the appear-

ance of the Kentuckians, gazed at them for a few moments
in silence, and then leisurely disappeared over the top of

the hill. A halt immediately ensued, and a dozen or

twenty officers met in front of the ranks for consultation.

The wild and lonely aspect of the country around them,
their distance from any point of support, with the cer-

tainty of their being in the presence of a superior enemy,
seems to have inspired a seriousness bordering upon awe.

All eyes were now turned upon Boone, and Col. Todd asked
his opinion as to what should be done. The veteran
woodsman, with his usual unmoved gravity, replied :

' That
their situation was critical and delicate ; that the force

opposed to them was, undoubtedly, numerous and ready
for battle, as might readily be seen from the leisurely

retreat of the few Indians who had appeared upon the
crest of the hill ; that he was well acquainted with the
ground in the neighborhood of the Lick, and was appre-
hensive an ambuscade was formed at the distance of a
mile in advance, where two ravines, one upon each side of
the ridge, ran in such a manner that a concealed enemy
might assail them at once both in front and flank, before
they were apprised of the danger. It would be proper,
therefore, to do one of two things : either to await the
arrival of Logan, who was now undoubtedly on his march
to join them, or if it was determined to attack without
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delay, that one-half of their number should march up the

river, which there bends in an elliptical form, cross at the

rapids and fall upon the rear of the enemy, while the other

division attacked in front. At any rate, he strongly urged

the necessity of reconnoitering the ground carefully before

the main body crossed the river.'

'' Such was the counsel of Boone, and although no

measures could have been much more disastrous than that

which was adopted, yet it may be doubted if anything

short of an immediate retreat upon Logan, could have

saved this gallant body of men from the fate which they

encountered. If they divided their force, the enemy, as in

Estill's case, might have overwhelmed them in detail ; if

they remained where they were without advancing, the

enemy would certainly have attacked them, probably in the

night, and with a certainty of success. They had com-

mitted a great error at first in not waiting for Logan, and

nothing short of a retreat, which would have been con-

sidered disgraceful, could now repair it. Boone was heard

in silence and with deep attention. Some wished to adopt

the first plan ; others preferred the second, and the discus-

sion threatened to be drawn out to some length, when the

boiling ardor of McGary, who could never endure the"

presence of an enemy without instant battle, stimulate'^

him to act, which had nearly proved destructive to his

country. He suddenly interrupted the conversation with

a loud whoop, resembling the war-cry of the Indians,

spurred his hor^e into the stream, waved his hat over his

head and shouted aloud :
' Let all who are not cowards,

follow me r The words and the action together produced

an electrical effect. The mounted men dashed tumultu-

ously into the river, each striving to be foremost. The

footmen were mingled with them in one rolling and irregu-

lar mass. No order was given, and none was observed.

They struggled through a deep ford as well as they could,

McG-ary still leading the van, closely followed by Majs.

Harlan and McBride. With the same rapidity they

ascended the ridge, which, by the trampling of buffalo

foragers, had been stripped bare of all vegetation, with the

exception of a few dwarfish cedars, and which was ren-

dered still more desolate in appearance by the multitude of

rocks blackened by the sun, which were spread over its

surface. Upon reaching the top of the ridge, they fol-

lowed the buffalo trace with the same precipitate order,

Todd and Trigg in the rear, McGary, Harlan, McBride and

Boone in front. No scouts were sent in advance ;
none

explored either flank ; officers and soldiers seemed alike

demented by the contagious example of a single man, and

all struggled forward, horse and foot, as if to outstrip each

other in the advance. Suddenly the van halted. They

had reached the spot mentioned by Boone, where the two

ravines head on each side of the ridge. Here a body of

Indians presented themselves and attacked the van. Mc-

G-ary's party instantly returned the fire, but under great

disadvantage. They were upon a bare and open ridge, the

Indians in a bushy ravine. The center and rear ignorant

of the ground, hurried up to the assistance of the van, but

were soon stopped by a terrible fire from the ravine which

flanked them. They found themselves as if in the wings

of a net, destitute of proper shelter, while the enemy were

in a great measure covered from their fire. Still, however,

they maintained their ground. The action became warm

and bloody. The parties gradually closed, the Indians

emerged from the ravines, and the ftre became mutually

destructive. The officers suffered dreadfully. Todd, Trigg,

Harlan, McBride and young Boone were already killed.

" The Indians gradually extended their line, to turn the

right of the Kentuckians, and cut off their retreat. This

was quickly perceived by the weight of the fire from that

quarter, and the rear instantly fell back in disorder, and

attempted to rush through their only opening to the river.

The motion quicldy communicated itself to the van, and a

hurried retreat became general. The Indians instantly

sprang forward in pursuit, and falling upon them with their

tomahawks, made a cruel slaughter. Prom the battle

ground to the river, the spectacle was terrible. The horse-

men severally escaped, but the foot, particularly the van,

which had advanced farthest within the wings of the net,

were almost totally destroyed. Col. Boone, after witness-

ing the death of his son and many of his dearest friends,

found himself almost entirely surrounded at the very com-

mencement of the retreat. Several hundred Indians were

between him and the ford, to which the great mass of the

fugitives were bending their flight, and to which the atten-

tion of the savages was principally directed. Being inti-

mately acquainted with the ground, he, together with a few

friends, dashed into the ravine which the Indians had occu-

pied, but which most of them had now left to join in the

pursuit. After sustaining one or two heavy fires, and

baffling one or two small parties, who pursued him for a

short distance, he crossed the river below the ford, by

swimming, and entering the wood at a point where there

was no pursuit, returned by a circuitous route to Bryant's

Station. In the meantime, the great mass of the victors

and vanquished crowded the bank of the ford. The slaughter

was great in the river. The ford was crowded with horse-

men and foot and Indians, all mingled together. Some

were compelled to seek a passage above by swimming

;

some, who could not swim, were overtaken and killed at

the edge of the water. A man by the name of Netherland,

who had formerly been strongly suspected of cowardice,

here displayed a coolness and presence of mind equally
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noble and unexpected. Being finely mounted, he had out-

stripped the great mass of fugitives, and crossed the river

in safet}'. A dozen or twenty horsemen accompanied him,

and having placed the river between them and the enemy,

showed a disposition to continue their flight, without regard

to the safety of their friends who were on foot, and still

struggling with the current. Netherland instantly checked

his horse, and, in a loud voice, called upon his companions

to halt, fire upon the Indians, and save those who were still

in the stream. The party instantly obeyed ; and facing

about, poured a close and fatal discharge of rifles upon the

foremost of the pursuers. The enemy instantly fell back

from the opposite bank, and gave time for the harassed

and miserable footmen to cross in safety. The check, how-
ever, was but momentary. Indians were seen crossing in

great numbers above and below, and the flight again became
general. Most of the foot left the great buffalo trace, and
plunging into the thickets, escaped to Bryant's Station.

But little loss was sustained after crossing the river,

although the pursuit was urged keenly for twenty miles.

From the battle ground to the ford, the loss was very

heavy.''

Such was the fatal battle of Blue Licks, which for the

small number engaged, is one of the severest recorded in

Indian warfare. Like the defeat of Braddock three-quar-

ters of a century before, the disaster was attributable to a

refusal to accept good counsel and sensible advice. Had
the counsel of Boone been followed, instead of the example

of the hot-headed McG-ary, and the little army have fallen

back on Logan, with this re-enforcement they would have

been strong enough to have defeated the Indians instead of

themselves being defeated. Of the one hundred and eighty-

two whites engaged in the battle, sixty were killed, and

three were taken prisoners, who after a long and dreary

captivity were exchanged and liberated, and returned to

their homes. When the battle was over and the pursuit

ended, the Indians, fearing the whites might rally and with

re- enforcements turn upon them, collected the spoils as

quickly as possible, and continued their march to the Ohio

River, which they crossed without further molestation from

their enemies. Col. Logan arrived at the battle ground

the second day after the battle, but the enemy had dis-

appeared, and he did not deem it prudent to pursue. He
performed the sad and melancholy duty of burying the

dead, after which he disbanded his men and returned

home:

The foregoing incidents are illustrative of the life our

pioneer ancestors lived in this country'. All their advent-

ures, hair-breadth escapes aud narrow risks, would form a

large volume of thrilling interest. Only a few have been
given, however, to embellish these pages, and show wbat
it cost to make the blue grass section a paradise.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE III.

SETTLEMENT OF BOURBON CODNTY BY THE WHITES— THEIR
COUNTY— ITS NAME, COUNTY SEAT, PUBLIC

CENSUS FROM 1790 TO 1880-

IJ^ROM across the ocean, the colonists of a new and pow-
- erful people came and effected a lodgment at isolated

spots on the Atlantic coast. They achieved in time their

independence, but could not pay their soldiers for their

long and faithful service in the war for liberty. As a par-

tial remuneration, wild lands were donated to them in the

distant territories of the " far west," of which Kentucky

was then the frontier. These Revolutionary land grants

brought many adventurous individuals hither, and Ken-

tucky became at once the center of attraction. More than

a century ago the whites took possession of the territory

now embraced in Bourbon and the surrounding counties.

The lands were wrested from the savages with little regard

for hereditary titles. The Indians sought to hold their

favorite hunting-grounds, and for years held in check the

EARLY TRIALS AND HARDSHIPS— ORGANIZATION OF THE
BUILDINGS, ETC. -COUNTY OFFICERS— THE
-DIVISION INTO PRECINCTS.

tide of immigration. The story of this long and sangui-
nary struggle is " an oft told tale." The line of settlements
firmly established along the Ohio, from Pittsburgh to the
Palls, began to advance, and, with every step, slowly pressed
back the Indian race to extinction.

Settlements were made in Bourbon County as early as
1776, but were not permanent. Collins says in his history
of Kentucky, that the first corn raised in Bourbon County
was by John Cooper, near Hinkston Creek, in 1775. That
he lived alone there in his cabin, and was killed by the
Indians on the 7th of July, 1766

; also, in the same year,
Michael Stoner, Thomas Whitledge, James Kenny, and
several others, " raised corn, a quarter of an acre to two
acres each." Thomas Kennedy built a cabin on Kennedy's
Creek, a short distance south of Paris, in 1776, but left in
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the fall, going back to Virginia, where he remained until

1779, when he returned, and settled permanentlj' on the

little creek which still bears his name. While upon his

first visit, he assisted Michael Stoner, who owned a large

body of land on what is now Stoner Creek, to clear a piece

of ground and build a cabin. During the time they were

thus engaged, they lived for three months without bread or

salt. Stoner was a man of some prominence and wealth,

and was among the very first settlers of the county.

Hon. James Garrard was among the early settlers of

the county, and a man of considerable prominence. He
was twice Governor of Kentucky, and held other important

positions, with honor and credit to the people whom he

represented. The following is inscribed upon the monu-

ment erected to his memory by the State :
" This marble

consecrates the spot on which repose the mortal remains of

Col. James Garrard, and records a brief memorial of his

virtues and his worth. He was born in the county of

Stafford, in the colony of Virginia, on the 14th day of Jan-

uary, 1749. On attaining the age of manhood, he partici-

pated with the patriots of the day in the dangers and pri-

vations incident to the glorious and successful contest

which terminated in the independence and happiness of

our country. Endeared to his family, to his friends, and

to society, by the practice of the social virtues of Husband,

Father, Friend and Neighbor ;
honored by his country, by

frequent calls to represent her dearest interests in her Leg-

islative Councils ; and finally by two elections, to fill the

chair of- the Chief Magistrate of the State, a trust of the

highest confidence and deepest interest to a free community

of virtuous men, professing equal rights, and governed by

equal laws ; a trust, which for eight successive years, he

fulfilled with that energy, rig^r and impartiality which,

tempered with Christian spirit of God-like mercy and

charity for the frailty of men, is best calculated to perpet-

uate the inestimable blessing of Government and the hap-

piness of Man. An administration which received its best

reward below, the approbation of an enlightened and grate-

ful country, by whose voice, expressed by a resolution of

its General Assembly, in December, 1822, This Monument

of departed worth and grateful sense of public service,

was erected, and is inscribed."

Gov. Garrard died at his residence, " Mount Lebanon,"

near Paris, on the 19th of January, 1822, in the seventy-

fourth year of his age. He was an exemplary member of

the church, and a man of great practical usefulness. His

death was sincerely mourned, not only by the people of the

county, but by those of the State at large.

James Douglass, probably the first surveyor in this

region, and who visited Central Kentucky as early as 1773,

finally settled in Bourbon. He is said to have been a mem-

ber of the first Grand Jury, of the first Court of Quarter

Sessions held after Kentuckj' was admitted into the Union

as a State. A colony, consisting of the Millers, McClellansi

Thompsons, McClintocks and others, settled in the neigh-

borhood of Millersburgin 1778
;
but, like many of the early

settlers of this section, they were forced to leave on account

of Indians. They returned, however, the following j"ear,

and erected a block-house where Millersburg now stands.

John Martin built a cabin, which was afterward changed

into a block-house, about three miles south of Paris. Rud-

del's Station, of historic fame, is supposed by many to have

been in what is now Ruddel's Mills Precinct, but Collins

says it was situated just over in Harrison County. Hous-

ton's cabin, on the present site of Paris, was also fortified,

or changed into a block-house, the better to afford protec-

tion to the scattered settlers. Thus, amid dangers and

hardships, the whites obtained a foothold in what now

forms Bourbon County. In the chapters devoted to the

towns, villages and election precincts, additional facts and

particulars will be given of the settlement of each neigh-

borhood.

Every age and land and country have had their great

men, whose names have been enshrined in poetry and song,

in history and romance. Britain boasts of Alfred the

Great, and France of Henry the Fourth ; America sings the

praises of Washington, Franklin and Jefferson, and why
should not Kentucky embalm the name of Daniel Boone ?

The laurels that bloom around the tomb of this old pioneer

should never fade from the minds of Kentuckians. Though

it is not known that he ever had his abode in either of the

counties treated of in this volume, yet there is not a spot

of Central Kentucky but he was familiar with, and in one

of the precincts of Bourbon County sleeps a brother of the

old Kentucky Indian fighter. We deem it highly appro-

priate in this work to give a brief sketch of the man, who,

without violence to the subject, might be termed the dis-

coverer, as well as the first settler of Kentucky. He was

born in Pennsylvania February 11, 1731, and was the

first white man who ever made a permanent settlement

within the limits of the present State of Kentucky. But

little is known of his early life, or of his career prior to his

emigration to Kentucky. His father removed to North

Carolina when he was but a boy, and there Daniel remained

until forty years of age. The glowing descriptions that

reached the pine barrens of North Carolina, of the rich

lands beyond the Cumberland Mountains, excited in him a

desire to visit this " favored clime." In 1769, he left his

home, and with five others, of whom John Findlay* was

=^Findlay had been on a hunting, trapping and trading expedition to Kentucliy'

piior to his coming with Boone.
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one, he started to explore the countrj^ of which he had

heard so favorable an account. They built a cabin on the

banks of Red River, to shelter them from the rigor of

winter, and spent their time hunting and trapping. Boone,

in company with a man named Stuart, was surprised and

captured by the Indians, in December, but they effected

their escape after seven days' captivity. On regaining their

camp, they found it deserted. The fate of its inmates were

never fully ascertained. A few days after this, they were

joined by Squire Boone, a younger brother of Daniel, and

a companion, who had followed them from North Carolina.

In a second excursion, Boone and Stuart were again

assailed by the Indians, when the latter was killed, but

Boone was fortunate in making his escape. Their only

remaining companion, becoming disheartened at the perils

by which they were surrounded, returned home, leaving

the two brothers alone in the wilderness. Their ammuni-

tion finally running short, Squire Boone was sent back to

the settlements for a fresh supply, and for months Daniel

was left alone to battle with the wild beasts and Indians.

In July, 1770, the younger Boone returned, with ammuni-

tion, and together they continued to range the forests until

the spring of 1771, when they retraced their steps to North

Carolina. For nearly three years, Boone had been absent

from his family, and, during that time, he had not tasted

bread nor salt, nor seen the face of a white man, except

those of his brother and friends who had been killed.

Boone was so well pleased with the country he had

seen that he determined to sell his farm and remove, with

his family, to Kentucky. Disposing of his property, he

started for his El Dorado, on the 25th of September, 1773,

At a place called Powell's Valley, he was joined by five

other families and forty men, well armed. With this

addition to his force, he proceeded on his journey with

confidence. When near the Cumberland Mountains, the

party was attacked by a large force of Indians, and, though

the savages were defeated, it was not without a loss to the

whites of six men killed and wounded. This so discour-

aged them that they retreated to the settlements, on Clinch

River, where they remained until 1775, when Boone, in

company with a few men, made another visit to Kentucky,

in the service of Col. Richard Henderson, leaving his wife

and family at the settletAents on Clinch River. They

arrived on the 25th of March, and, on the 1st of April,

they commenced building a fort, which was afterward called

Boonesboro. Here they were several times attacked by

Indians, and lost some five or six men. killed and wounded.

As soon as the fort was completed, Boone removed his

family hither. " From this time, the little garrison was

exposed to incessant assaults from the Indians, who ap-

peared to be perfectly infuriated at the encroachments of

the whites, and the formation of settlements in the midst

of their old hunting-grounds. The lives of the emigrants

were passed in a continued succession of the most appall-

ing perils, which nothing but unfailing courage and in-

domitable firmness could have enabled them to encounter.

They did, however, breast this awful tempest of war, and

bravely and successfully, and in defiance of all probability,

the small colony continued steadilj' to increase and flourish,

until the thunder of barbarian hostilities rolled gradually

away to the north, and finally died in low mutterings on

the frontiers of Ohio, Indiana and Illinois."* In these ex-

citing times, Boone stood the central figure in that band of

hardy pioneers, who bore the shock of the dreadful strug-

gle, which gave a yet more terrible significance and a still

more crimson hue to the history of the old dark and

bloody ground.

In July, 1776, Boone's daughter was captured by the

Indians. They were pursued by Boone, with eight men,

and, on the third day, were overtaken, and his daughter

rescued, uninjured. During this period, they lived in con-

stant peril and anxiety. The fort was attacked, in April,

by an overwhelming force of Indians, but were finally

defeated and driven off. In July, it was again attacked

by 200 warriors, and again they were defeated, with loss;

Boone himself was captured in January, 1778, at Blue
Licks, where he had gone to make salt for the garrison.

He remained a prisoner until June following, when he con-

trived to make his escape and returned to Boonesboro.
After his escape from the Indians, the fort was attacked by
a large force of savages, commanded by Canadian officers

well skilled in modern warfare. But, after a siege of nine

days, they gave up the matter, and retired, having sustained

quite a heavy loss. From this time, he enjoyed a period of
peace and quiet, until August, 1782, a time rendered mem-
orable by the disastrous battle of Blue Licks, in which
Boone participated, and in which a son was killed. He
almost miraculously escaped the slaughter of this ill-fated

battle. He accompanied Gen. George Rogers Clark on his

expedition against the Indian towns, but of his service in

this affair little is known, except that he was one of the
number engaged in it.

In the treaty of peace between the United States and
Great Britain, in 1783, Boone saw the standard of civiliza-

tion planted in the wilderness. "He had laid out the
larger part of his little property to procure land warrants,
and, having raised about $20,000, on his way from Ken-
tucky to Richmond, he was robbed of the whole, and thus
left destitute of the means of procuring more. Unac-

*Collln8' Kentucky.
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quainted with the technicalities of the law, the few lands

he was able afterward to locate, were, through his ignorance,

swallowed up and lost bj' better claims.' Dissatisfied with

these impediments to the acquisition of the soil, he left

Kentucky, and, in 1795, he was a wanderer on the banks

of the Missouri, a voluntary subject of the king of Spain."*

The remainder of his life was devoted to the society of his

children. He died at the house of his son-in-law, Flanders

Callaway, at Charette Village, on the Missouri River, Sep-

tember 26, 1820, aged eighty-nine years. The Legislature

of Missouri was in session when the event occurred, and

resolved that, in respect to his memory, the members

would wear the usual badge of mourning for thirty days,

and voted an adjournment for that day. On the 13th of

September, 1845, his remains were, according to a resolu-

tion of the Kentucky Legislature, brought to Frankfort

and interred in the State Cemetery, and there they repose,

awaiting the final resurrection.

The early pioneers of Bourbon and the surrounding

Counties were a hardy, fearless and self-reliant people

;

they were a quiet people, simple in their habits and accom-

plishments, and devoid of all reckless extravagance. Fresh

from the scenes of the Revolutionary struggle—a free

people—their manhood elevated, they shrank from no diffi-

culty, but, with a stern, unflinching purpose, they went

forth to subdue the wilderness and subject it to the use of

man. They lived in comparative social equality, the

almighty dollar did not form a Chinese wall between the

rich and poor ; a man was esteemed, not for his money bags,

but for his actual meric. Aristocratic distinctions were

left beyond the mountains, and the first societ}' lines drawn

were to separate the very bad from the general mass. No

punctilious formalities marred their social gatherings, but

all were happj' and enjoyed themselves in seeing others

happy. The rich and poor dressed alike, the men gener-

ally wearing hunting shirts and buck-skin pants, and the

women attired themselves in coarse fabrics, the produce of

their own fair hands. Silks, satins and fancy goods that

now inflate our vanity and deplete our purses, were then

unknown. The cabins were furnished in the same style of

simplicity. The bedsteads were home-made, and often

consisted of forked sticks driven into the ground, with

cross poles to support the clap-boards or the cord. One

pot, kettle and frying-pan were the only articles considered

indispensable, though some included the tea-kettle. A few

plates and dishes, upon a shelf in one corner, was as satis-

factory as is now a cupboard full of china, and their food

was as highly relished from a puncheon-slab as it is at the

present day from an oiled walnut table. Some of the

wealthiest families had a few splint-bottomed chairs, but, as

a general thing, stools and benches answered the places of

lounges and sofas, and, at first, the green-sward or smoothly-

leveled earth, served the double purpose of floor and car-

pet. Whisky toddy was considered good enough for the

finest party, the woods furnished an abundance of venison,

and corn-pone supplied the place of every variety of

pastry.

The credit of subduing the wilderness and transform-

ing it into an Eden of loveliness was not the work of man
alone. The women did as much, in their way, as the men
themselves. They were the help-meets, as well as the

companions, of the men, and bore their part, uncomplain-

ingly, in all the hardships of border life. They assisted in

planting, cultivating and harvesting the crops, as well as

attending to their household duties. They were happy

and contented, and, we dare to say, j'earned far less for

the frivolities of fashionable life than do their fair

descendants. A hundred years, however, have brought

with them marvelous changes, not only in the face

of tlie country, but in the usages of society, and grand

improvements have been made in our manners and cus-

toms. We have grown older, in many respects, if not

wiser, and could not think of living on what our ancestors

lived on. The corn-dodgers and wild meat they were glad

to get would appear to us but a frugal repast, and would

cause our Grecian noses to go up in lofty disdain. But

this is an age of progress and improvement, and these

observations are made by way of contrasting the past and

present. The pioneers who bore the brunt of savage war-

fare, and made this country an earthly paradise, have long

since passed to their final account, but their trials and

hardships are remembered, and their names deserve to be

" written in characters of living light upon the firmament,

there to endure as radiant as if every letter was traced in

shining stars."'

The rich lands of Central Kentucky were settled rap-

idly after the close of the Revolutionary war. The influx

of emigrants brought hither by the extravagant reports of

the first visitors to this " land of corn and wine," and

military land warrants of Revolutionary soldiers soon

served to people the Licking and Elkhorn country. So

rapidly did the country settle up that the fast-increasing

population required increased civil rights and more per-

fect territorial organization.

Kentucky was, originally, a part of Fincastle County,

Va. It was afterward made an individual county of the

Old Dominion, and so remained for several years. But its

territory was large, and its citizens remote from the seat of

government, and, as soon as the number of inhabitants
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required it, changes were made, b}' a division of the un-

wieldly county. In the month of November, 1780, by an

act of the General Assembly of Virginia, the county of

Kentucky was divided into three districts, which were

designated, respectively, Payette, Lincoln and Jefferson

Counties. The next county formed was Nelson, in 1784,

from a part of Jefferson. In the following year (1785),

Bourbon was formed from the territory of Payette, thus

being the fifth county erected in what now comprises the

State of Kentucky, and was created seven years before

Kentucky became a member of the Pederal Union. Bour-

bon, at the time of its formation as a county, extended

north to the Ohio River, and covered a large area since

divided into a number of counties. The first division of

her territory occurred in 1788, when Mason was set off

;

in 1793, the formation of Harrison took off a large slice,

and, in 1799, Bourbon and Mason contributed jointlj' to

the formation of Nicholas. Thus liberally has Bourbon

given of her territory for the creation of new counties,

until the frequent drafts made have brought her down to

her present area. As now bounded, Harrison lies on the

north, Nicholas and Montgomery on the east, Clark on the

south, and Payette and Scott on the west. The county was

named in honor of the House of Bourbon, whence had

descended the monarch of Prance, reigning at the time of

our Revolution and at the time the county was organized,

and Paris, the seat of justice, received its name, doubtless,

from Prance's gay capital.

The formation of a county, a hundred years ago, and

the organization of its different departments—judicial,

civil and political—is a somewhat interesting study to the

readers of the present da}'. Rumaging through the old

records at the court house, we, with the assistance of Judge

Turney, unearthed the first book of the Bourbon County

Court, in which is recorded the proceedings of that august

body. The first entry bears the date of May 16, 1786,

and is in a plain, old-fashioned hand, still perfectly legible,

though the book is old, musty and stained with age. As
a matter of interest and curiositj' to our readers, we copy-

some of these early proceedings, " in the original," as we
might say, no effort being made to improve the phrase-

ology. The first record of the court proceedings is as

follows :

MAT COURT. 1786.

At Colonel James Garrard's in Bourbon County Tuesday

the sixteenth day of May Anno Domini one thousand seven

hundred and eighty-six and in the tenth year of the Common-
wealth*

A new commission of the peace dated the twelfth day of

January one thousand seven hundred and eighty-six to this county

[*Xho Communwealth alluded to is that o{ Virginia.

—

Ed.}

directed to James Garrard* Thomas Swearingen John Edwards
Benjamin Harrison John Hlnkson Alvin Mountjoy Thomas War-
ring Edward Waller and John Gregg Gentlemen was produced

and read whereupon the said James Garrard took the oath of

fidelity and the oath of a justice of the peace which were admin-

istered to him by John Edwardsf Named in the said Commission
And then the said James Garrard Gent, administered the afore-

said oathes to Benjamin Harrison John Hinkson Alvin Mountjoy
Thomas Warring Edward Waller and John Gregg Gent, who
took the same respectively.

A Majority of the Justices Commissioned being present John
Edwards is appointed Clerk to the Court of this County who
thereupon entered into Bond with his securities in the penalty of

one thousand pounds for the execution of his office and took the

oath required by Law.
Absent John Hinkson Gent.

A Commission from his excellency the Governor of this

Statet to Benjamin Harrison§ Gent, to be SherifE of this County
was produced by the said Harrison who took the oath of fidelity

and the Oath of Office and together with John Edwards and John
Hinkson his securities entered into Bond for the due performance
thereof according to Law, Present John Hinkson Gent.

The Court being then opened by the SheiifiE proceeded to

business.

At a Court held for Bourbon County at the house of James
Garrard Gent, on Tuesday the Sixteenth day of May one thou-

sand seven hundred and eighty-six In the tenth year of the com-
monwealth.

Present James Garrard John Hinkson Alvin Mountjoy
Thomas Warring Edward Waller & John Gregg Gent.

On the motion of John Edwards Clerk of this Court John
Machir is admitted as Deputy Clerk who took the oath prescribed

by law.

John Allen Esquire produced a commission of his fitness to

act as an Attorney at Law and had the oath prescribed by law
administered to him whereupon he is admitted to practice as an
Attorney at Law in this Court.

On the motion of William Bennet administration of the
Estate of Josheway Bennet deceased is granted to him whereupon
he took the oath required by Law and together with David
Hughes his security entered into and acknowledged Bond in the
penalty of two hundred pounds for his due. admin of said
decedants Estate.

Ordered that John Strode John Constant Edward Wilson
and Van Swearingen or any three of them being first sworn before
a Justice of the peace for this County appraise in Current money
the slaves (if any) and personal estate of Joshua Bennet deceast
and return the appraisement to the Court.

Absent James- Garrard Gent.
Ord' James Garrard Gent, is by the Court recommended to

his excellency the Governor as a proper person to act as Surveyop
of this County.

Absent Alvin Mountjoy Gent, present James Garrard Gent.
On the motion of Benjamin Harrison Gent. Sheriff Rob^irt

Hinkson was admitted and sworn as deputy Sherifl:.

James Garrard John Hinkson Thomas Warring Edw9.rd

[*Afterward Governor of Kentucky.—Ed.]
[fFiret United States Senator from Kentucky,—Ed.]
[tVirginia.—Ed.]

[JFor whom Harrison County was named.

—

Ed.]
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Waller and John Gregg Gent, are sworn Commissioners of Oyer
and Terminer for this county.

Absent James Garrard Gent.

James Garrard Gent produced a commission from his Excel-

lency the Governor to be surveyor of this County .whereupon he

took the oath required by Law and together with "William Routt

and John Edwards his securities entered into and aclinowledged

Bond in the penalty of three thousand pounds for the due per-

formance of said office.

Present James Garrard Gent.

Ordered that Edward Waller John Waller Miles Conway and
Henry Lee or any three of them be appointed to examine the fit-

ness of those persons nominatedby James Garrard Gent, as deputy

surveyors.

Ordered that court be adjourned till to morrow morning ten

o'clock. The minutes of these proceedings were signed thus

—

James Garrard.

Such is a complete record of the proceedings of the

first day of the flrst court ever held in Bourbon County-

Without encunibering our pages with the proceedings in

detail, we will make a few extracts by way of illustrating

the past and present in court matters as well as in the gen-

eral history of the county. On the second day of court,

Edmund Lyne, Henry Lee, Miles Conway, Andrew Hood,

John Grant, William Routt, George Reading, Sr., Abraham

Bird and John Waller were recommended in a petition to

the Governor " as proper persons to be added to the com-

mission of the peace of this County." Upon the same day,

"Benjamin Harrison, Sheriff of the county, protested to

the court that he would not be answerable for the escape

of anj' prisoner for want of a gaol—ordered that it be cer-

tified." Also upon the same daj', Miles Conway, Edward

Dobbins and Henry Lee were appointed to view " the best

and most convenient way for a road from the mouth of

Limestone on the top of the Hill," etc.

The second session of court was held at the house of

John Kizer, beginning on the 20th of June, 1786. Among
the proceedings we"notice that it is " Ordered that Edmund

Lyne Gent be appointed overseer of the road from the

Lower blue licks to Johnson's Fork of Licking, and that

the titheables residing at the Licks assist him in keeping

the same in repair." It was also " Ordered that Thomas

Warring Gent take in a list of the titheables north of main

Licking, that John Hinkson Gent take in a list of the tithe-

ables between main Licking and Hinkson's fork, and on the

water's of Stoner's fork below Cooper's Run, John Gregg

Gent in the forks of Stoner and Hinkson, Alvin Mountjoy

Gent on Houston's fork and Cooper's Run ; and James

Garrard Gent east of Houston's Pork and southeast of the

main road, leading from Lexington to Limestone, and

return their respective lists to the court." And the follow-

ing :
" The court proceeded to fix the rates of Liquors,

Diet and provender as follows (to Wit) : West India Rum at

twenty-four shillings per gallon. Continent rum at fifteen

shillings per gallon, Brandy at fifteen shillings per gallon.

Whiskey at ten shillings per gallon, Wine at twenty-four

shillings per gallon, for a warm Dinner one shilling and six

pence. For a could dinner one shilling. Breakfast with

Tea, Coffle or Chocolate one shilling and three pence,

breakfast without Tea, Coflfey or Chocolate one shilling, for

corn per gallen six pence, Pastrage for twenty-four hours

six pence, Stablage and Hay or fodder for twenty-four hours

one shilling, Lodging in Clean Sheats six pence. Ordered

that the Ordinary Keepers in this County take pay accord-

ing to the above rates and no more."

The third session of court, commencing Julj' 18, 1786,

was held at John Kizer's ; the fourth session, beginning

August 15, 1786, was held at Fairfield* ; the September

and October terms were likewise held at Fairfield. At the

November term, the place of meeting was established at

the mouth of Houston, under the following order, which

forms a part of the records of that session :

Ordered that the place for holding Court for this County be

established at the Confluence of Stoner and Houston forks of

Licking, and that Alvin Mountjoy, John Grant and James Mat-

son, Gentlemen, be appointed to procure two acres of land at said

place for the purpose aforesaid, and also that they let to the low-

est bidder the building of a Court house, which shall be a frame,

thirty-two by twenty feet, with a shingle roof and finished in the

necessary manner, and a jail sixteen feet square, of hewn logs

twelve inches square.
Teste, John Edwards, C. B. C.

The next records we fished up after this old book, were

a little diflferent in their character. The following is a

specimen :

•For value received I promise to pay to Mr. Hugh McClintock

bearer, fifteen pounds current money of Virginia, on or before

the first day of April next, as witness my hand and seal at Lime-

stone the third day of February 1786.

Signed, Ebenezbr Platt. [Seal.]

Teste, Daniel Boone.

Attached to the note is the following in Daniel Boone's

own hand writing :

Sir as capt platt hath Left his store house and all other con-

serns on My hands in order to Rase the cash I Will oblige myself

to pay the cash at the time the note seacifles or before witness

my hand this 3 Day of febury 1786. Daniel Boone.

It seems the old pioneer did not " Rase the cash," at the

time the note " seacifies or before,'' and, that it was finally

sued on, judging from the following " verdict," which is

recorded on the back of it

:

We, the jury, do find for the plaintiff sixteen pounds and

eleven pence damages. Signed,

Aquilla Standebfokd, Foreman of Jury.

*We can find no one who remembers anytbiog of Fairfiold.

•^ i
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The following is another interesting specimen :

The Commonwealth of Virginia to the Sheriff of Bourbon
County Greeting. You are hereby Commanded to take Thom
Theobold if he be found within your Bailiwick and him safely

Keep so that you have his body before the Justices of aforesaid

County at the Court House thereof on the third Tuesday in

November next to answer John Troutman of a Plea Trespass on
the Case, Damages, two hundred pounds, and have then there

this Writ. Witness,

John Edwakds, Clerk of said Court House.

7th of September, 1789. In the xv year of the Common-
wealth.

^

John Edwabds, Clk.

On the back of this ironclad document is the following

indorsement

:

Executed on Thos Theobold and he has not give security,

because he run in a. house and armed himself with a shot gun
after the writ was served. Georgb Mountjot.

It seems that this service of a writ was not altogether

satisfactory to the majest}' of the law, as it is crossed out

and the following entry made just below it

:

Executed and broke Custiday. Geob&e Mountjot.

An old note was also found given by Simon Kenton to

John Nichols for " three pounds, thirteen- shillings and
eight pence," dated July 12, 1786. Upon the back of this

note is the indorsement

—

To dangerous to go where Kenton is.

It seems the note became due when Kenton was out

among the Indians, and the valiant officer concluded it

" to dangerous " to go after him.

The machinery of the courts and the new county was,

at length, with the aid of the lubricating oil of frontier

wisdom, fully put in motion, and, in a short time, the

different departments were running smoothly. As we have

seen, John Edwards was the first Clerk. He was a man
of considerable prominence, and was afterward, upon the

admission of Kentucky as a State, the first United States

Senator. Benjamin Harrison was the first Sheriff, James
G-arrard the first surveyor, and John Allen the first at-

torney admitted to the bar. But without going into

further details of these early proceedings and early offi-

cers, we will give the first county officers elected under the

present Constitution. They are as follows : William M.

Samuels, County Judge ; Richard Brown, County Clerk

James M. Arnold, Circuit Clerk ; Joshua Irvin, Sheriff

W. W. Alexander, County Attorney ; Joseph Porter, Jailer

John M. Taylor, Assessor ; W. W. Fothergill, Coroner

William G-arth, Surveyor, and A. M. Brown, School Com-
missioner. The present officers of the county, and of the

different courts are as follows ; Circuit Judge, Hon. B. P.

Buckner ; Commonwealth's Attorney, Hon. C. J. Brons-

ton ; Clerk, Joseph M. Jones ; Master Commissioner, R.

H. Hanson ;
Sheriff, John B. Northcott. Criminal and

Chaneer3' term second Monday in January. Regular

terms, third Monday in April and October. Judge of

Court of Common Pleas, C. S. French. First Monday in

March and July. Judge of County Court, Hon. Matt.

Turney ; County Attorney, Ben. G. Patton ; Clerk, James

M. Hughes ;
Sheriff, John B. Holladay ; Assessor, Claude

Paxton
;
Surveyor, L. B. M. Bedford

;
Jailer, Joseph Mc-

Carney ; Master Commissioner, R. H. Hanson ; Circuit

Clerk, Joseph M. Jones ; Treasurer, C. V. Higgins, Jr.

;

School Commissioner, W. H. Sockhart. Bourbon Quar-

terly Court, Hon. Matt Turney, Judge ; Clerk, P. M. Miller
;

Constable, J. M. Taylor.

The first court house of the county, and which we have

already alluded to, by giving the original order of the

court for its erection, was built according to the specifica-

tions given in that order, viz. :
" a frame, thirty-two by

twenty feet," etc. It stood on the " Court House Square,"

and after 3'ears of service was replaced by a commodious
building. It was sold to John Allen, when the new one

was finished, who moved it to his farm a short distance

from town. It was first occupied by the court, October

16, 1787. At a term of the court held in February, 1797,

an order was made for the new court house as follows :

The Commissioners appointed 9> draft a plan for a court
house have proceeded to sketch out the present one, which they
now offer for the consideration of the court, and have fixed on
the center of the Public Square as the most convenient spot for

the house to stand on. Given under our hands this 20th day of
February, 1797. Signed, John Allen, John Metcalfe, Charles
Smith and David Hickman, which is accepted by the court. And
it is ordered that Charles Smith, James Duncan and Thomas
Jones, gentlemen, be appointed commissioners to let out, and
superintend the building of the same to the lowest bidder after
the time and place has been advertised three weeks in the Ken-
tucky Herald.

This building was commenced immediately and was
finished and occupied during the year 1799. The stone
foundation was built by Thomas Metcalfe,.afterward Gov-
ernor of the State, and who lived in Nicholas County, but
his uncle, John Metcalfe, built the superstructure. Col-
lins says of G-ov. Metcalfe :

As a mason, he built of stone several court houses—at West
Union, Adams Co., Ohio; at Greensburg, Greene Co., Ky., and
others, and laid the foundation of that at Paris, Bourbon Co.,
which was burnt down May 8, 1878. From his trade and his great
earnestness afterward as a public speaker, he received the sobri-
quet of the "Old Stone Hammer," by which he was familiarly
and proudly known for forty-five years.

As we have said, John Metcalfe, an uncle of the Gov-
ernor, built the edifice, the carpenter's work being done
by a Mr. McCord. The history of Paris, published by
Keller & McCann, a few years ago, says :
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This house was built to rival the great stone temple of jus-

tice at Lexington. For years it was the pride and boast of the

Bourbons, and, in 1816, when the little box cupola was removed

and in its stead the magnificent spire that went down in its ruins

in 1873 was erected, the heart of the nation was supposed to be

happy. Those of our citizens whose memories carry them back

to that day, inform us that the boys stood and gazed upon this

imposing structm'e with awe, and only ceased to look and won-

der when their necks seem to break with pain, and their heads

swim with the floating clouds. The bell that hung in this steeple

was purchased in Philadelphia by Hugh Brent, Esq., for $50.

It had seen service on the high seas, and bore the date of 1730.

Memoria in seterna of this historic bell, and the destruc-

tion of the old court house by fire, we give the following

paraphrase, of which the original poem, entitled the " Court

House Bell," ^as written upon a very similar catastrophe,

by Judge 0. F. Pearre, of Pontiac, 111., in 1874 :

"In Philadelphia the beU was bought,

'Out West,' to Paris, the bell was brought.

* « * « *

"Placed on high in the Court House steeple,

And sold to the county—a bell for the people.

"As of yore, it did its duty well.

In its new position of ' Court House Bell.'

"It called the lawyers to wordy fray

—

They came to spout and remained to prey.

"It startled the ear of the Court House rats.

As it summoned the Magistrative cats;

"Saying, 'walk to your council chamber please.

And examine the state of the public cheese.'

"It spoke when the political hacks came by.

To preach for truth some ancient lie.

"It rang for joy when the first glad ray

In the East proclaimed our Natal Day.

"It shrieked aloud when the fire-fiend came.

And called the people to fight the flame.

"Solemn and slow was its measured toll.

As it rang the knell of the parting soul.

'

' Slow and solemn its measured beat,

When funeral pall and marching feet

"Went by with the dead, and the last farewell

Was heard from the throat of the sobbing bell.

"But on May the eighth of ' seventy- (two) four,'

It rang at noon to ring no more.

"And the tones that came from the quivering bell

Were the tones of its own funeral knell.

* » • * *

"Of lurid, hungry flames that clasped

The city's heart within their grasp;

"With a tiger's spring and a tongue of flame.

Across the chasm the fire-fiend came.

"On the Court House roof, with fiery claws,

He sprang as the springing lion draws

"His prey to the earth, then clasped the bell

To his fiery breast, till it, tottering, fell

"To the earth below, with burning beam
And blazing rafter, till a stream

"Of molten metal came out to tell

The end of the Paris Court House bell."

The present court house, which, Phcenix-like, has arisen

from the ashes of the old one, is a model of beauty and

elegance. It was built in 1873-74, the first session of

court being held in it in October, 1874. An act was passed

by the Legislature, empowering the County Court to issue

$100,000 in bonds, for the erection of the building. The

bonds were issued by the court, and Joseph Mitchell, Will-

iam Shaw and George C. White, appointed Commissioners

to superintend the work, which was begun early in the year

1873. The supervising architect was A. C. Nash, of Cin-

cinnati ; the carpenter's work was done by Thomas Pollock

;

the foundation and stone work by McGrain, Woods and

Farrell ; the stone was furnished by Collins & Stevenson,

from the Cane Ridge quarry ; the brick was made by J.

M. Thomas and J. H. Bradshaw, and laid by G. W. Side-

ner and Robert Ransdall ; the freestone work was done by

Finnigan & Son, of Cincinnati ; the galvanized iron and

slate by Dunn & Witt, and the wrought and cast iron by

M. Clements, of the same city ; the plastering was done by

William Haye, of Paris ; the plumbing was done by T. F.

Donnelly, of Lexington ; the painting and graining by

Charles A. Daugherty, of Paris ;
the tiling by M. Finni-

gan & Son. The clock was made by E. Howard & Co., of

Boston, Mass., and the bell by Meneely & Kimberly, of

Troy, N. Y. The benches of the circuit court room were

furnished by J. T. Hinton, the chairs by George W. Davis,

and the registers and furnace by J. J. Shaw, all of Paris.

The following description from the Western Citizen, of

October 30, 1 874, is an appropriate conclusion to the sketch of

this model structure :
" The architecture is chaste and taste-

ful, surpassed by few public buildings in this country, and

reflects great credit on the architect, Mr. A. C. Nash, of Cin-

cinnati, who also ranks it as one of his most successful spec-

imens. The style of architecture is French renaissance. The

building is of brick, and elaborately and tastefully trimmed

with freestone. The cornices are of iron
;
the roof covered

with slate, and gracefully topped out with an elegant and

symmetrical tower, one hundred and thirteen feet above the

ground line, in which is placed the clock and bell. The build-

ing is three stories, and contains rooms for circuit court.

^^
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county and Circuit Clerk's and Sheriflf's offices
;
and also

offices for County Judge and County Attorney, jury rooms,

etc. Also the necessary fire and burglar proof vaults for

the safe keeping of all State and county papers. The

ground plan is one hundred and fifteen feet from front to

rear, and eighty-two feet across the wings, having a large

and spacious hall from front to rear, the count}' offices

being on each side. The hall floors are of iron, concreted

and laid with the best English tiling, in neat and appropri-

ate patterns, the base being in Egyptian marble. The hall

is fifteen feet and four inches in width, and is spanned at

intervals with neat, plain arches, resting upon appropriate

corbels, etc. The stairways are of wrought iron, spacious,

and of handsome design.

"On the second floor is situated the Circuit Court

room
;

its dimensions sixty-two feet by sixty-eight, with a

gallery sixteen by sixty-two feet ; the ceiling being twenty-

eight feet six inches above the floor, and neatly ornamented

with a large ventilating center piece of stucco ; also the

angles, with walls and ceiling, coved and neatly finished

—

the walls blocked and colored in imitation of stone work.

The Judge's stand, platform and canopy are of handsome
design

;
gallery, front railing around the bar, the furniture,

gas-fltting and heating are all in keeping with the design.

The room is, without exception, the handsomest court room
in the State."

The total cost of the building, including furnishing,

'interest on bonds, etc., is not far short of $125,000.

The first jail or county prison was erected in the winter

of' 1786-87. It was built of logs, hewn twelve inches

square, which made a very formidable structure one hun-

dred years ago, and which was considered a rather safe

lodging for evil-doers, but at the present day it would not

long hold •' boy-burglars," much- less our more experienced

criminals. This was superseded in a few years by one
built of stone, which " stood upon the corner of the square,

opposite the Northern Bank building." The present jail

building was erected in 1878-79, and is a substantial edi-

flce. It is of stone, and cost about $15,000, though accord-

ing to estimates the cost was not to exceed $12,660. The
plans were designed by H. P. McDonald, and the building

was erected by Peter Pfeiffer. It is built on the modern
prison style, and fitted up with the latest and most approved

"furniture," and everything necessary for the safety of

boarders and occupants.

The county fai-m and poor house comes rightly under

the title of public buildings, and in this connection will

receive a few words. " The poor ye have with ye alway,"

we were told, and their care is a sacred duty of the county.

To the shame of the wealthy, grand old county of Bour-

bon be it written, that she is lamentably careless and neg-

ligent in the care of poor. A gentleman said to us : "I

would die before I would go the county's poor house ; it is

a shame and disgrace to a county of the wealth this pos-

sesses to provide no better than it does for the poor."

We have visited a number of such institutions in Ohio and'

Illinois, and have usually found them a Jiome for the poor

and helpless—institutions creditable alike to the counties in

which they are located and the people who support them.

The Bourbon County Poor Farm consists of about one

hundred and fifty acres of land near Ruddel's Mills, on

Hinkston Creek. The improvements are a Superintend-

ent's house, frame, two stories high, with an L, and five

houses for paupers, which are cheap, two-room cottages.

John Reynolds is Superintendent ; John Current, Commis-
sioner of the Poor. The county gives the Superintendent

the use of the land, pays him a salary, and furnishes every-

thing to run the institution. The buildings will accommo-
date about fifty persons, and the care of the paupers cost

about $100 apiece annually. James Ingles managed the

farm for twenty-four years, and the cost of running it is

said to have been much less than now, the cost now being

about 15,000 a year. It is divided into two departments

—

white and colored, and at the present time there are eight-

een whites and sixteen blacks being cared for. The col-

ored department has accommodations for about thirty

persons. This was originally a separate institution, but

both whites and blacks are now under the same manage-
ment. All of the inmates dependent on the county for

support do no labor on the farm. The farm is in excellent

repair, having a good stone fence nearly all around it. In
the past there has been an average of about forty inmates
per year.

Incidents of some interest occur occasionally within
the unenviable precincts of the place. As, for instance,

about the year 1870, a marriage took place in it, and the
high contracting parties are still inmates. A man named
Shields has been an inmate for fifty years. Henry Towles,
who once owned several thousand acres of land in the
county, and could ride for seven miles in a straight line

upon his own land, died, it is said, as keeper of the poor
house. Richard Samuels, now an inmate, is a son of
Judge Samuels, first County Judge under the new 'consti-

tution of the State.

The population of Bourbon County for the several dec-
ades since its formation, is as follows : In 1790, when its

territoral limits were almost limitless, its population
was 7,837; in 1800,12,825; in 1810,18,009; in 1820,
17,664

;
in 1830, 18,436 ; in 1840, 14,478 ; in 1850, 14,-

456
;
in 1860, 14,860

;
in 1870, 14,863 ; and in 1880, 15,-

^
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958. The difference in population is attributable to the

change of territoral limits. We find from an old record

that the county was assessed for £550 sterling in 1790-

Its annual assessment has increased since then. At the

time of its organization, the county, although of large

dimensions, had but few inhabitants, and hence did not

require manj' divisions of its territory. As the poplation

increased, however, for the sake of convenience, the county

was divided into a number of districts, for election and

other purposes, necessary to facilitate its business, and aid

in the administration of its affairs. But, without going

into a discussion of these divisions and subdivisions made

from time to time, it is only necessary to add, that, at

present, the county is divided into eight election precincts,

as follows, viz. ; Paris, No. 1 ; Millersburg, No. 2 ; Flat

Rock, No. 3; North Middletown, No. 4 ; Clintonville, No..

5 ;
Hutchinson, No. 6 ;

Centerville, No. 7 ; and Ruddel's

Mills, No. 8. Each of these precincts has two Magistrates

and a Constable, before and by whom the petty business of

the county is transacted. The magistrates from the differ-

ent precincts form the County Court, and at present the

board is composed of the following gentlemen : Paris

(No. 1), John M. Daniels and Thomas Isgrigg ;
Millersburg

(No. 2), J. W. Miller and N. A. Jameson ; Flat Rock (No. 3),

T. M. Squires and B. F. Wilson ;
North Middletown (No.

4), James W. .Mitchell and W. P. Schooler ;
Clintonville

(No. 5), John Cunningham and George W. Morrow

Hutchinson (No. 6), J. S. Kenney and J. W. Beatty

Centerville (No. 7), James M. Barlow and H. Hawkins

Ruddel's Mills (No. 8), George W. Wyatt and W. B.

Smith.

In the early history of Bourbon County, as at the

present time, there was more or less of party strife. Bour-

bon County was formed just after the close of the Revolu-

tionary war, when the people had for some time been

divided into Whigs and Tories. Afterward came the " Old

Court," "New Court," "Federal" and "Republican" or

" Democratic " parties. These parties had their day, and

then had their time to—die. The war of 1812, and the

accompanying events, wiped out the old Federal party that

had so bitterly opposed Mr. Jefferson. The war measures

of Mr. Madison, and the then Republican party in Congress

were strongly supported by the citizens generally. But as

time passed on, and politicians became better educated to

the business of wire-pulling, partyism grew, " and waxed

strong." The Presidential election of 1824 was attended

with unusual excitement. It was more exciting, perhapsj

than any election that had ever taken place in the

country. At this election the Presidential candidates were

Henry Clay, Gen. Jackson, of Tennessee, John Quincy

Adams, of Massachusetts, and William H. Crawford, of

Georgia. These candidates had each his friends, who sup-

ported their favorite from personal motives, as well as from

party consideration and party discipline. Mr. Clay carried

his State, but was overwhelmingly defeated for the Presi-

dency. Neither of the candidates had a majority of the

votes in the Electoral College, according to the constitu-

tional rule, but stood, Jackson in the lead, Adams second,

Crawford third and Clay fourth, the latter being dropped

from the canvass when it came to the count. Upon the

House of Representatives devolved the duty of making

choice of President. Bach State, by its Representatives in

Congress, cast one vote. Mr. Clay was Speaker of the

House of Representatives, and, it is supposed, that, through

his influence, the Kentucky delegation cast the vote of its

State for Mr. Adams, instead of for Gen. Jackson. By this

little stroke of policy, Mr. Clay was instrumental in organ-

izing political parties that survived the generation in

which he lived, and ruled, in turn, the destinies of the

republic for more than a quarter of a century. At the

next Presidential election, party lines were closely drawn,

between Mr. Adams and Gen. Jackson, and the result of a

hot and bitter contest was the election of the hero of New
Orleans, by both the electoral and popular vote. For sev-

eral years after the political power and oflBcial patronage

had passed into the hands of Old Hickory, parties were

known throughout the country as Jackson and anti-Jackson

parties. These, with some modification and changes, finally

became the Whig and Democratic parties, the latter of

which has retained its party organization down to the

present day, and is still one of the great political parties

of the period. In 1856, upon the organization of the

Republican party, in which organization the Whig party

lost its identity, the county " has been Democratic. Not-

withstanding the great number of negroes added to the

voting population, by virtue of the Fourteenth and Fif-

teenth Amendments to the national Constitution, the

county still rolls up Democratic majorities.

—

Perrin.

^^ If^
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CHAPTER IV.

PIONEER CHRISTIANITY— EARLY MEETINGS AND THE BUILDING OF CHURCHES— THE CANE RIDGE REVIVAL

-

TIONAL HISTORY—STATE AID TO SCHOOLS—EXTRACTS FROM STATE SUPERINTENDENT'S

REPORT— COLORED SCHOOLS— THE PRESS, ETC.

-EDUCA-

" And lifted up our hearts in prayer

To God, the only Good."

—

Gallagher.

IT is to the credit of the early settlers of the county

that they were a moral and G-od-fearing people, and

that the introduction of the Gospel was coeval with their

settlement in the wilderness. There were np churches, but

each settler's cabin served as a temple of worship, and

when the weather permitted, their

" Temples then were earth and sky;

None other did they know."

Often on the Sabbath Day, the scattered settlers would con-

gregate at the most conveniently located house, when some

one accustomed " to lead in meetin' " would read a chapter

from the Bible, and after a hymn, offer prayer. The services,

though simple in character, were fervent and sincere, and

no doubt found favor with Him who declared that " where

two or three are gathered together in My Name, there am
I in their midst." When chance brought a minister to

the neighborhood, the people were notified for miles around,

and came to hear " the glad tidings of great joy." As
their numbers increased and their means permitted, church

buildings were erected, church societies were organized,

and preachers engaged to point out to the sinner, as well

as the believer, the way unto eternal life.

It is not possible, at this day, to designate the spot on

which stood the first church building ever erected in Bour-

bon County, or the denomination to which it belonged.

The Presbyterians, Baptists and Methodists established

churches in an early day, and several church buildings

were erected in the county prior to 1800. The minister

came " as one crying in the wilderness," gathered the lost

sheep into the fold, and organized churches in the different

neighborhoods. To the honor and credit of the county be

it recorded, that she has liberally supported the claims of

the Gospel, as evidenced in the number of handsome church

buildings to be found in her midst. It is not inappropri-

ate in this connection to give a brief sketch of the Cane

Ridge meeting mentioned in religious history in connection

with what is known as the " Great Kentucky Revival." It

took place in 1801, at the Old Cane Ridge Church, in the

east part of Paris Circuit, under the ministrations of the

Rev. Barton W. Stone, a preacher widely known, and

esteemed throughout Central Kentucky, and who was Pas-

tor of the Cane Ridge Church at the time. The sketch is

taken from an old work published in 1848, by Elder Levi

Purviance, and will recall to the minds of many still living

an incident that is fast fading away with the rolling years,

and that would soon be forgotten. It is as follows :

" The great meeting at Cane Ridge commenced on Fri-

day before the third Lord's Day of August, 1801. From
the commencement the roads were literally crowded with

wagons, carriages, horsemen, and people on foot, all press-

ing to the appointed place, until by the Sabbath Day the

grove that was then open near Cane Ridge meeting-house,

was filled with wagons, tents and people. It was supposed

that there were between twenty and thirty thousand people

present. Elder Stone in his journal remarks :
' A particu-

lar description of this meeting would fill a large volume,

and then the half would not be told.' For the sake of the

present and future generations, I will attempt a faint

description : From the very commencement, an uncommon
solemnity appeared to rest on the countenances of the peo-

ple. Not unfrequently several preachers would be speak-

ing within the bounds of the encampment without any
interruption to each other. Wagons, stumps and logs were
used for stands. The preaching and exhortations were
interesting and impressive. Salvation free to all mankind
was proclaimed, and the willingness of Jesus to save all

that would come was urged universally by the speakers.
' The Word of God was quick and powerful, and sharper
than a two-edged sword.' Many sinners were cut to the heart,

and fell prostate under an awful guilt and condemnation
for sin. This was not confined to any "one class. The
moral, genteel and well-raised

; the giddy and profane, the
wicked, the drunkard and the infidel ; the poor and also

the rich, as well as the proud and vain, with all their gaudy
attire, were brought down by the spirit of the Almighty,
and they appeared to have forgotton everything in this

world in view of their souls' eternal salvation.

" I recollect having seen a small girl, not more than ten

^^
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or eleven years of age, held up by a friend that stood in a

wagon, while she invited sinners to the Savior. All who
heard her seemed to be astonished at her eloquence and

judgment manifested in inviting sinners to God. It appeared

that from the mouths of children ' God had ordained

strength ; He took the weak things of the world to con-

found the might}',' and by this means the most stubborn

sinners were brought to bow to the Savior. At this meet-

ting, and in this revival, there was a most solemn and

interesting spirit of prayer manifested. In crowds, tents

and wagons, you could hear fervent prayer. I have gone

from the camping-ground into the woods, and it was diffi-

cult to get away from praj'er. For more than a half mile, I

could see people on their knees before God in humble prayer.

" This was not a sectarian meeting, although it was held

at a Presbyterian meeting-house. Baptists, Methodists and

Presbyterians were simultaneously engaged. Perfect friend-

ship, unanimity and brotherly kindness prevailed. They

had come together, to the help of the Lord against the

mighty, and ' Zion was terrible as an army with banners.'

The meeting lasted six days—the last sermon that was

delivered on the occasion was by a Methodist preacher by

the name of Samuel Hitt. It is known only to God how

many were converted at this meeting. There were no

means by which even to ascertain how many professed

religion. The object of the meeting was not to build up

any sect or party, but to bring sinners to the Savior.

When the meeting was over, the people returned to their

homes and friends. There were many there from Ohio,

and some from Tennessee, and the excitement spread with

the people, and the young converts joined the churches of

their choice. The good work of reformation went on with

irresistible force, and appeared like carrying everything

before it. Many were persuaded that the glorious millen-

nial day had commenced, and that the world would soon

become the kingdom of our Lord Jesus Christ. But alas !

That enemy of God and man, sectarianism, raised its

hydra head, and ' made war upon the saints of the Most

High God and overcame them,' and the fair prospects of

Zion were in some degree blasted. A cruel jealousy began

to show itself among the leaders ;
some concluded that

the spoils were not equally divided ; others, that their

craft was in danger. Notwithstanding the pride and self-

ishness of little-minded men raised a barrier in the way of

the work, and in some degree obstructed it, yet, where the

people continued humble and devoted to God, the good

cause advanced, and sinners were converted to the Chris-

tian religion. But the bodily exercise, as it was called,

seemed to change its manner of operation. The falling

exercise became not so common, and the jerks succeeded.

These, if possible, were harder to account for than the for-

mer, and it is impossible for me fully to describe them.

The first I saw affected with them were very pious, exem-

plary persons. Their heads would jerk back suddenly,

frequently causing them to give a yelp, or make some other

involuntary noise. After this, nearly all classes became

subject to them. The intelligent and the ignorant ; strong,

athletic men, and weak, effeminate persons were handled

alike by them. Sometimes the head would fly every way
so quickly that their features could not be recognized. I

have seen their heads fly back and forward so quickly that

the hair of the females would be made to crack like a car-

riage whip, but not very loud. A stranger looking on

would have supposed that they would be killed instantly.

Some wicked persons have taken them, while ridiculing

them, and have been powerfully operated upon by them
;

others have taken them while trying to mimic them, and

had them in good earnest. One thing that appeared almost

miraculous was, that among the hundreds I have seen have

them, I never knew or heard of one being hurt or injured

by them."

Such is an historical sketch of one of the greatest relig-

ious revivals, perhaps, on record. It was not confined alone

to the Cane Ridge Church, but extended all over Central

Kentucky, and into Ohio and Tennessee. The same writer

says :
" I have no doubt many of my readers will pronounce

it a delusion. Some of that day called it so : others called

it the work of the devil, and some witchcraft." Another

writer, William Rogers, of Cane Ridge, says of this same
revival :

" When, early in the month of April of the year

in question (1801), a phenomenon in the religious history

of the West, made its appearance in the south of Ken-

tucky, more than one hundred miles from Cane Ridge. It

was, in the language of that day, styled— ' The falling

exercise.' The accounts of it narrated were wondrous to

our ears. In the month of May, the strange work was

witnessed in the two churches of Cane Ridge and Concord,

the former in Bourbon, the latter in Nicholas County, and

both at the time under the pastorate of the Rev. Barton

W. Stone, a young man of much purity, and high respect

for learning, for talent and amiability of manners, in the

Presbyterian ranks. The exercise in question soon spread

in all directions, and meetings for public worship were kept

up with but little intermission, not only in these two

churches, but throughout the great West. The Rev. Stone

was a regular and distinguished actor in many of them.

The interest and the exercise was truly astounding, and thou-

sands were the converts of that summer. Many a tall son

and daughter of worldly pride was made to bear submis-

sion to Prince Messiah."
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A few words of Barton W. Stone, one of the most re-

markable preachers of his day, in Kentucky, is a fitting

conclusion to the history of this wonderful revival. He
was born in Maryland December 24, 1772, and was a son

of John Stone, who died when he was very young. His
mother, after her husband's death, removed to Virginia,

and settled in what was then termed the backwoods, in

Pittsylvania County, eight miles below the Blue Mountains,

where the future great preacher received his early educa-

tion in the private schools of the neighborhood, and which
he afterward completed at Guilford Academy, in North
Carolina. While pursuing his studies he was converted,

and in 1793 became a candidate for the ministry in the

Presbyterian Church, in Orange County, North Carolina.

Before he was licensed to preach, however, he became dis-

couraged, and determined to give up the idea of the minis-

try and engage in some other calling. Under this deter-

mination he visited his brother in the State of Georgia, and,

while there, was chosen Professor of Languages in the

Methodist Academy, near Washington, in 1795. In the

following spring, he resigned his professorship, returned to

North Carolina, attended the Orange Presbytery, and re-

ceived his license to preach. Soon afterward he went to

Tennessee, and finally made his way through the wilderness

to Kentucky, and commenced preaching at Cane Kidge and
Concord, in Bourbon County. He continued to labor in

these churches until 1798, when they gave him a regular

call, which he accepted, and was installed as their pastor.

He preached for them several years, and during his pastor-

ate occurred the great revival already noticed. But the

liberality of his doctrine was at length complained of by
the more rigid and Calvinistic, and, in 1803, the matter was
brought before the Synod at Lexington. Foreseeing that

the Synod would most likely decide against him, he, and
four others, withdrew from its jurisdiction, and sent in their

protest to the proceedings. The Synod, however, proceeded

to pass on them the sentence of " suspension," for the crime

of departing from the doctrines of the Confession of Faith.

Upon this action of the Synod, he severed his connection

with his congregations, and with his companions, formed

what they termed the " Springfield Presbytery," but soon

gave it up, as it savored of partyism, and then took the

name of Christian—the name given by divine appoint-

ment first at Antioch. Having divested themselves, to use

his own words, " of all party creeds and party names, and
trusting alone in God, and the words of His grace, we be-

came a by-word and laughing-stock to the sects around us

;

all prophesying our speedj' annihilation.''

Mr. Stone continued to live a useful life. He finally

became identified with the Christian Church (called, in

derision, sometimes, Campbellites),and was one of its faithful

ministers until his death. In the fall of 1834, he moved

with his family to Jacksonville, 111. In October, 1844, he

made a visit to his children, relatives and friends living in

Missouri, from which he never returned. He died on the

9th of November, at the residence of Capt. Samuel A
Bowen, in Hannibal, Mo., at the age of 71 years. Thus

passed away an able minister, a zealous Christian, and an

exemplary man.

The sketches of the great revival of religion, and of Mr.

Stone, are given as a part of the history of Bourbon County.

In the chapters devoted to the city of Paris, and to the differ-

ent villages and election precincts, a full and complete

history will be given of all the churches and religious de-

nominations existing in the county, or that have existed

since its settlement, so far as can be obtained. Hence, we
only allude to the subject here in general terms, and pass

to other matters claiming our attention.

The common schools should interest every individual,

not only of this county, but of the whole State. It is by
education that communities attain civilization and refine-

ment, and the child of the poor man rises to honor and
greatness. In our own free country, and under the in-

fluence of our free schools, the poorest may become emi-

nent and renowned. Without education, Henry Clay, the
" mill-boj' of the slashes,'' never could have become the

leader of statesmen, nor James A. Garfield have lisen from

the canal-boat to the Presidential chair.

In the early settlement of this section, there were a

great many drawbacks in the way of general education.

The people were mostly poor, and money, or other means
of remunerating teachers scarce

; there were no school-

houses, nor was there any public school fund. All per-

sons, of both sexes, who had physical strength enough to

labor, were compelled to take their part in the work of

securing a support, the labor of the female being as heavy
and important as that of the men ; and this continued so

for years. In the last place, both teachers and books were
extremely scarce. Taking all these facts together, the

wonder is that they had any schools at all. But the pio-

neers of Central Kentucky deserve the highest honors for

their prompt and energetic efforts in this direction. Just
so soon as the settlements would justify, schools were
begun at each one. The teacher or pupil of to-day has no
conception of getting an education under diflaculties.

There are, perhaps, however, a few aged people still living
in Bourbon County who may remember some of the early
diflaculties that stood in the way of learning.

The first steps of Kentucky to extend the fostering aid
of State patronage to the interests of general education
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were taken more than three-quarters of a century ago.

On the 10th of February, 1798, an act was approved by

the State Legislature donating and setting apart of the

public lands of the Commonwealth 6,000 acres each for

the benefit and support of Franklin, Salem and Kentucky

Academies, and for Lexington and Jefferson Seminaries.

Similar acts were approved December 21, 1805, and Janu-

ary 27, 1808, embracing like provisions, and extending

them to all the existing counties of the State. " Within

twenty years," says Collins, " from the passage of the act

of 1798, the following additional academies and seminaries

were endowed with the grant of 6,000 acres each : Shelby,

Logan, Ohio, Madison, New Athens, Bethel, Bourbon,

Bracken, Bullitt, Fleming, Hardin, Harrison, Harrodsburg,

Lancaster, Montgomery, Newport, Newton, Rittenhouse,

Stanford, Washington, Winchester, Woodford, Somerset,

Transylvania, Grreenville, Glasgow, Liberty, Rockcastle.

Lebanon, Knox, Boone, Clay, Estill, Henry, Glreenup, Grray-

son, Warren, Breckinridge, Caldwell, Gallatin, Henderson,

Union, Adair, Allen, Daviess and Pendleton.''

One of the early laws of Kentucky, pertaining to the

subject ef education, was, " that all the lands, lying within

the bounds of this commonwealth, on the south side of

Cumberland River, and below Obed's River, now vacant,

etc., shall be reserved for the endowment and use of semi-

naries of learning throughout this commonwealth." The

County Courts of the several counties were authorized to

have surveyed, located and patented within their respect-

ive counties, or within the above reserve, or elsewhere in

the State, 6,000 acres each, for seminary purposes, and all

such lands were exempted from taxation. Noble as were

the grants in purpose and plan, but little actual benefit

was derived from them—at least, not half the benefit that

should have been. Under subsequent unwise acts, the

lands were allowed to be sold by county authorities, and

the proceeds prodigally expended, and, in many cases,

recklessly squandered. The proceeds from the sale of

these lands, are, in some counties, wholly lost sight of ; in

other counties, they remain in the hands of trustees ap-

pointed, and forgotten or neglected by an indifferent pub-

lic, while in other counties these funds are still held by

trustees for their original uses. " But, for the want of

wise laws and more competent and guarded management,"

says a recent writer, " a great plan and its means of suc-

cess for the establishment and support of a system of pub-

lic seminaries of a high order in each county was ren-

dered an accomplished failure."

Many laws were enacted providing for a general system

of public schools, but most of them were so framed as to

amount to little, or were altogether impracticable. In

December, 1821, an act was passed which provided that

" one-half the net profits of the Bank of the Common-

wealth should be distributed in just proportions to the

counties of the State for the support of a general system

of education, under legislative direction." A writer upon

our school system makes this pertinent observation :
" It

is a singular phenomenon of the history of internal economy

of our State for seventy years, that our main attempts at

internal improvement and public education at State ex-

pense and under State superintendence have been embar-

rassed, or defeated almost wholly, by the misdirection and

mismanagement of incompetent legislation."

It may not be uninteresting to the reader to know the

history of our " permanently-invested school-fund." Its

origin was somewhat as follows : By an act of Congress,

approved June 23, 1836, that body apportioned about

$15,000,000, of surplus money in the Treasury to the sev-

eral older States, in the form of a loan, of which the share

of Kentucky was $1,433,757. This fund was asked for

and received by our State, with the expectation and inten-

tion of devoting it to school purposes, although no

provision of the law imposed upon the State this obliga-

tion, yet, bj' different acts of the Legislature, the original

fund was cut down until only $850,000 was finally set

apart as the financial basis of our educational system.

This is the origm of our school fund, and, for many years,

we derived our only public school revenues from it, and a

portion of it is still derived from the same source. Bj^

accumulation of unexpended surplus, from year to year,

and the continual additions of this to the principal, this

permanent fund is now about $1,500,000. This fund

afterward suffered, however, by the ill-advised system

of internal improvements, into which the State had em-

barked, and by which she was lavishing her finances on

a multitude of isolated experiments, with little proba-

bility of finishing any of them. From this reckless

fever of internal improvement, the revenues of the school

fund were the first to suffer. As early as 1840, the Com-

missioners of the Sinking Fund declined payment of the

interest on the school bond, due by the State, when a

deficit occurred in the Treasury, and the Legislature sus-

tained the action on the plea, that, as it was in the nature

of a debt due herself, by the State, there was no loss of

credit it refusing payment or repudiation.

But, without going into a general discussion of the

school laws of Kentucky and the system of public educa-

tion in the State, it is enough to say, and it is not out of

place, either, that her educational system is lamentably

deficient, and not to be compared with those of other

States of the Union, whose natural resources of wealth
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are much less than Kentucky's, and whose native intelli-

gence is no greater. There is no reason why the State of

Kentucky should not have as good a system of education

as any State in the whole Union. No other State of like

area is richer in natural wealth ; none of like population

contains more eminent genius or more native intelligence.

As an item of interest to our readers, and by way of con-

trasting our school system and the funds for its support,

we give the following from the last report of the Ohio

Board of Education

:

The receipts of school moneys for the

year 111,343,210 38

Total expenditures for schools for the

year 3,531,885 14

Leaving school fund balance $7,711,325 34

The following is the exhibit of Kentucky's school

fund :

State bonds, bearing 6 per cent interest. .|1,337,000 00

Bank of Kentucky stock 73,500 00

Total $ 1,400,500 00

Amount paid for schools, from October

11, 1880, to October 10, 1881 |766,138 46

In addition to the above, the revenues of the school fund

are increased by an annual tax of 20 cents on the hundred

dollars of property ; a tax on the capital stock of certain

banks in the State
; fines, forfeitures, etc., and tax on bill-

iard tables ; a tax on dogs of $1 each, where a house-

keeper has more than two
; the proceeds of sales of certain

carriers, over and above charges, amounting, in the aggre-

gate, to near $1,000,000 more. With the vast resources of

wealth, Kentucky, as a State, possesses, she might as well

have a permanent school fund of $10,000,000 as to have

the insignificant sum given above.

Notwithstanding the early disadvantages of the school

laws, and the many inconveniences under which Bourbon
and the adjoining counties labored, schools were estab-

lished in the diflferent neighborhoods and settlements, as

soon as the population became sufficiently large to support

them. Of these early schools little is now known. They
were of the old-time subscription plan, and taught for so

much per scholar. The teachers were scarcely up to the

standard required at the present day. In the earljj^ times,

if a man was incapable of filling any other position, he

usually resorted to teaching school. It was something

like an incident that came to the writer's notice in Illinois

a few years ago. A young man concluded he was smart

enough to teach school, and went to the County Examiner
to procure a certificate. That ofllcer proceeded to examine
him, but found him very deficient, and declined to give

him the required authority. The young man, however,

importuned him to such an extent, that at last he wrote

out the coveted document, sealed it, and bade himcarrj' it

to the trustees of his district. When opened by them, it

was found to read :
" This is to certify that Mr. Blank is

qualified to teach a common school in Blank Township,

and a common one at that." So it was with the

early teachers in this section ; they were not capable of

teaching anj' but a very common school. It is not known

who was the first teacher in Bourbon County, nor where

the first school was taught ; neither is it known where the

first schoolhouse stood, nor when built. These particu-

lars, so far as attainable, are given in other chapters, and

hence extended mention of them is omitted in this connec-

tion. Suffice it to say, that schools were established, as

necessity required them, in different parts of the county,

until each settlement boasted of an institution of learn-

ing
;
and educational facilities, extensive for that early

day, were enjoj-ed by the pioneers and their children.

There are, at the present time thirty-five school districts

in Bourbon County, as we learn from Mr. W. H. Loekhart,

County School Commissioner, devoted to the whites, in all

of which there are schoolhouses, and in which schools are

taught each year. In addition to these, there are five

high schools in Paris, eight in the county, and one com-

mon school in Paris. The number of white children of

school age in the county, 2,585 ; amount paid teachers for

the year ending October 10, 1881, $4,841.06. Of the high

schools and colleges in Paris and in the county, full and
complete sketches will be found in other chapter* of this

work.

In support of our common schools, an educational sys-

tem that has no equal among the nations of the earth, too

much cannot be said. Ours is the first instance in the

world's history, where a civil government took measures to

confer upon all the blessings of education. Never before

was embodied in practice a principle so comprehensive in

its nature, and so fruitful in good results, as that of train-

ing a nation of intelligent people by educating all of its

youth. It is this system of universal education that forms
the bulwark of our liberty and independence. Take away
our common schools, and we sink back into ignorance and
despotism—the slaves of our educated rulers apd sover-

eigns. The Czar of Russia can only by education and a
familiarity with international law, domestic affairs, finance,

commerce, and the organization of armies and navies, hold
his scepter over seventy millions of subjects. The glory of
England springs from the fostering aid she extends to her
great universities, wherein are educated and trained for

their positions in the House of Lords the army, navy and
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church, the sons of her nobility, who lead and rule the

ignorant masses. But in this land of liberty and freedom,

every man is born a king and heir to liberal education, and

to all the highest trusts of the State and Republic. It has

been thoroughly demonstrated in history that an ignorant

people can be governed. But it is only an intelligent and

educated people who can govern themselves.

From the annual report of the State Superintendent of

Public Instruction, we may make the following extracts,

which will be found of interest to our readers. The report

says :
" No candid mind will refuse to concede that the

common school system has a firmer grasp upon the heart

of Kentucky than ever before. It is discussed by every

fireside, and on every street corner and highway ; it is

forced upon everj- candidate for legislative honors, and en-

lists the eloquent advocacy of our representative public

men. Ten years ago. the people cared but little who was

State Superintendent of Schools. Nine men out of ten could

not have told who were candidates for the position, or who

held the office. The matter is reversed, and the Superintend-

ent has became a central figure, around whom public

interest surges and shouts. Ten years ago, a man in the

blue-grass country, worth $10,000, would as soon have

thougTit of sending his children to the poor-house as to the

public school. The public school was generally regarded

as a charity devised for the education of paupers, but not

to be countenanced by the rich, save as a benefaction to

the poor. The schools were common in the sense of low,

vulgar and inferior. The very accent with which the ad-

jective was pronounced, indicated the contempt in which men

of means regarded it. Our citizens have learned to regard

it as common, in the sense of a community of interest, as

the laws are common

—

the common law—as the State is

common—the commonwealth, the common weal. Now, the

idea of conferring a benefit upon the Indigent, has given

place to the true one, namely, to prepare citizens for the

intelligent exercise of their suffrages, and to protect society

from the penalties of ignorance.

" The wealthiest counties are becoming its best friends,

and tax-payers are voting levies upon themselves to im-

prove the quality and to extend the term of the schools.

Half a million dollars are annually raised, by the election

of the people, to supplement the public bonus. Tasteful

and comfortable schoolhouaes are fast taking the place of

those old shams and shames, in which the children of the

poor erstwhile were corraled. Eighteen hundred have

been built within the last eight years. A home supply of

teachers, furnished from our best young men and women,

are taking the place of impecunious tramps and shiftless

natives. The system is no longer an infirmary for the lame

and halt and feeble. Incompetents to be provided for, no

more are pensioned upon the bounty afforded by the school

fund. It is not now a ' stepping-stone ' to professions, a

temporarj' expedient, accepted until something better turns

up, or is turned up. Men and women among us are choos-

ing it for their life-work, and emulating each other in their

aspirations and achievements of a profession, which confers

honor, and whose prizes are to be coveted, and whose

badges are to be worn with pride. Cities and towns vie

with each other in maintaining graded schools better than

our average Western colleges, with their half-starved facul-

ties.

" He who fails to see these tokens of revived interest is

wilfully and wantonly blind. These and other signs of the

times augur that an auspicious period is at hand, when the

benefits of education will crush the bale of ignorance, and

intelligence hold the ballots that fall into the Nation's urn

of fate. The importance of our common-school system is

apparent, when it is remembered that there are only 35,000

pupils in all the universities, colleges, seminaries and pri-

vate academies of our State, while a quarter of a million of

children flock to our seven thousand public schools. In

half the counties, no schools are taught but common

schools. In some of our counties of wealth and refinement,

the public schools have absorbed all private enterprises

because co-operative effort furnishes a superior quality of

education. If our colleges decline in the number of ma-

triculates, the cause is not to be found in diminished interest

in education, but in the fact that our public schools are

affording at home advantages formerly sought abroad.

" The expression of the popular will by a majority at

the polls, in a fairly conducted election, is but the aggregate

expression of American sovereignty. The people by their

votes, determine who shall represent their sovereign will.

How to wield this power for good is the supreme question

for the State. An ignorant people, manipulated by corrupt

leaders, become the worst of all tyrants. The idea that the

majority can do no wrong, is only equaled by that mon-

strous political dogma of imperialism, ' the king can do no

wrong.' No maxim ever embodied a more pernicious error

than the pert or trite proverb, ' The voice of the people is

the voice of God.' This can only be true when intelligence

determines public questions, and patriotism executes its

verdicts'. See what corrupt ignorance, introduced to power,

did for the States of the South ! Consider what negro

supremacy entailed upon South Carolina ! The greatest

crime of the century was the sudden enfranchisement of

4,000,000 unlettered Africans. Those who perpetrated this

outrage upon our republican institutions, did it in the face
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of all the social science they had propagated. The North

had emphasized the doctrine, that ' virtue and intelligence

are essential to the perpetuity of the republic ;
' and yet, in

an ill-advised hour of heated passion, rendered hot by the

lires of civil war, they made a horde of ignorant slaves the

peers of their intelligent masters, and thus provided the

conditions that prostrated the South, and subjected its

people to the most destroying despotism that ever ground

into the dust a free citizenship. The onlj- indemnity for

this stupendous wrong is their education at the National

expense. To require the people they impoverished by this

act of folly to bear the burden of their education, would be

a continued piece of injustice, which no political casuistry

can justify, no species of sophistry disguise, and no maudlin

philanthropy dignify with a decent apology.

" But Kentucky has 40,000 white voters who cannot

read. Add to these 55,000 enfranchised negroes, and we

have 95,000—one-third our entire electoral population

—

ignorant of the very means by which to acquaint themselves

with the merits of questions submitted for their decision

at the polls. Let this mighty census of ignorance increase,

until it becomes the dominant majority—and grow it would,

if left to itself, without State encouragement for its own

improvement—and seat itself in power, and we have no

reason to expect that Kentucky would escape the same or

like disasters that have overtaken and overwhelmed every

people that ever dared the fearful experiment. * * *

'' Nothing for which the State pays money yields so large

a dividend upon the cost as the revenue expended upon

education. "With it she supports more than 7,000 teachers,

who impart instruction to 250,000 of her children. The

influence of these school-rooms is silent, like all the great

forces of the universe. But from the humble scene of the

teacher's labors, there are shot into the heart of society the

great influences that kindle its ardors for activity, which

light civilization on its widening way, and which hold the

dearest interest of humanity in its hand. The statistics are

the smallest exponents of the worth of our schools. These

are values that cannot be expressed in dollars and cents,

nor be quoted in price-currents."

The foregoing extracts contain wholesome truths that

should be well pondered, and should meet the hearty ap-

probation of every thinking man and woman of the com-

munity, and excite in them a zealous support of the common
schools. Acadamies, colleges and universities are well in

their way, and are highly essential to the country, but the

common schools are the foundation of our educational sys-

tem ; the safeguard of our liberties.

Compulsory education is a question attracting con-

siderable attention throughout the country, and several

States have already passed laws requiring parents and

guardians to educate their children, and children placed in

their charge. There is a growing sentiment in favor of

compulsory education in Kentucky, and it is believed that

a majority of the friends of the common-school system

favor its introduction, but there is grave doubt upon the

part of some as to the policy of such laws. A great good

would be wrought however, if the wisdom of our legisla-

tors could devise' some means to strengthen the boards of

education in large towns and cities, whereby they might be

enabled to prevent truancy. The instances are not few in

which parents would welcome aid in this matter. Youth-

ful idlers upon the streets should be gathered up by some-

body and compelled to do something. If they learned

nothing else, there would be at least this salutary lesson,

that society is stronger than they, and without injuring

them, will use its strength to protect itself

Besides the white schools of the county, there are four-

teen districts under the educational system inaugurated

for the benefit of the colored people in the county, and one

colored school in the city of Paris, with a total of fifteen

schoolhouses, as shown by the records of Mi*. Lockhart,

School Commissioner. The school age of colored children

is from six to sixteen years
;
there are 1,020 colored school

children in the county, and there was paid to their teach-

ers for the year ending October 10, 1881, $1,023.70. It is

highly creditable to the colored people that they are taking

an interest in the cause of education that is yearly-increas-

ing. The fund from which their children are educated is

derived from the taxes paid by the colored people of the

State, and, great or small, their taxes all go into their

school fund.

The following extracts from the State Superintendent

show the interest the colored people are taking in educat-

ing their children :
" The colored school system has more

than met the expectation of its projectors and friends, and
is rapidly, by gratifying development, disappointing the

prophecies of its enemies. The colored people are now
taking hold of it with that enthusiasm and earnestness so

characteristic of the race when their interests are at stake,

and their claims to notice recognized by authority. They
are exhibiting a most commendable zeal in supplementing
the fund, and are really doing more to make the most of
the opportunities tendered them by the State than the

whites. They have, in a number of counties, organized

and conducted institutes, and have a State association,

whose exercises exhibit a surprising intelligence, and
"whose prudence in avoiding all complications with politics is

worthy of all commendation. ***** There can
exist no possible reason for the improvement of citizen-
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ship by education, conferred at tlie public expense upon

the whites, which does not applj' with equal force to the

colored people, now that they have been clothed wilh the

elective franchise. The negro is a voter, and to make him

intelligent that he may advisedly exercise his sovereignty,

is at once the duty and interest of the State, and nothing

but the jaundiced eye of prejudice can fail to see this. It

is too late to debate the propriety of the policy that con-

ferred this exalted dignity upon him. ***** it

will not do to say we did not make him a voter, and are

not responsible for his citizenship. This delusive casuistry

will not protect us from the consequences of his vicious

ignorance. As well say we did not invite the epidemic to

our midst, therefore, we will unheed the warnings of j'our

Boards of Health, and let the pabulum of pestilence breed

in our food sewers, miasmatic pools, and the haunts of filth."

The newspaper and the printing press of the present

day coijstitute one of the most important features of the

time and of the country, and a chronicle that said nothing

of their power and influence would be considered, at least,

incomplete. The daily paper, by the aid of the telegraph,

which connects all points of civilization like spider-webs,

gives us to-day all the news that transpired yesterday in

the uttermost parts of the earth. And the county press,

the faithful exponent of the countj^'s interest, is the intel-

lectual criterion for the masses, and the most popular chan-

nel of general Information. It is also a true record of the

county's history ; the very advertisements in local papers

eventually become historical facts, and it is to be regretted

that so few persons seem to appreciate the value and im-

portance of their county papers. And to-day journalism

is recognized as a power in the land, a power before which

the evil-doer and the corrupt oflacial stand in awe. The

legitimate press, holding as it does this acknowledged posi-

tion, its history forms an interesting and worthy part of the

history of the county. The subject, however, will be but

briefly referred to here, and that in general terms, leaving

the more minute details to be given in other chapters.

Suffice it, the first paper in Bourbon County was estab-

lished in Paris previous to 1800, and was called the Ken-

tucky Herald. It was published by Daniel Bradford, a

brother to John Bradford, who established the Kentucky

Gazette at Lexington, the first paper west of the Alleghany

Mountains. There are now three newspapers published in

the county, viz. : The True Kentuckian and Western Citi-

zen, of Paris, and the Bourbon News, of Millersburg, full

sketches of which will be found in the history of those

cities.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTER T.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS—TURNPIKES AND MACADAMIZED ROADS—THE MAYSVILLE AND OTHER TURNPIKES—STAGE

COACHES—RAILROADS—KENTUCKY CENTRAL—PROJECTED ROADS—AGRICULTURE IN THE COUNTY-

FAIR ASSOCIATIONS AND OFFICERS—CATTLE SHIPMENT—DISTILLERIES, ETC.

and purchase as much land as may be necessary for that

THE roads and highways of a county or State constitute purpose, not exceeding two acres, or the road leading

an important part of their internal improvements, from Crab Orchard to Cumberland Gap, beyond where the

road from Madison Court House intersects said road.

'Time—space—have yielded to my power."

^HE roads and highways of a county or State constitute

an important part of their internal improvements.

Those of Bourbon County and of Central Kentucky are

unsurpassed in any country. Turnpikes and macadamized

roads pass in every direction and to every point of impor-

tance. Collins gives the origin of turnpikes in Kentucky

as follows :
" A turnpike road, or road on which turnpikes

(i. e., toll-gates) are established by law, and which are made

and kept in repair by the toll collected from travelers who

use the road—the road itself being formed by throwing

the earth from the sides to the center in a rounded form

—

is usually confounded with the modern macadamized or

artificial road (invented by Macadam) of broken stone.

No such road as the latter was made in Kentucky until

1829. By act of March 1, 1797, Joseph Crockett was

appointed to erect a turnpike at some convenient place,

The turnpike (toll-gate) was to be farmed out to the high-

est bidder, who should give bond and security, payable to

the Governor of the State, for the faithful payment of his

bid. He should ' have the right and privilege to receive

the following tolls : For every person (except post-riders,

expresses, women, and children under the age of ten years)

9 pence (12^ cents) ;
for every horse, mare or mule, 9

pence ;
two-wheel carriage, 3 shillings

;
four-wheel carriage,

6 shillings ($1) ; and for every head of cattle going to the

eastward, 3 pence (4i cents). The surplus tolls, after pay-

ing for repairing the road, were to belong to the keeper of

the turnpike (toll-gate).' Thus turnpike originally meant

toll-gate, but now generally means the road itself on which
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the turnpike or toll-gate is established." From this small

and insignificant commencement has originated as fine a

system of roads as may be found anywhere. The lime-

stone of this region has proven its value beyond contro-

versy, in the matter of road-bnilding. Owing to the nature

of the soil, the roads of the county, before they were

macadamized, became almost impassable in winter. Lime-

stone soil is more easily washed and cut into gullies by

heavy rains than soil where the limestone does not exist.

Hence, it became necessary to adopt some means of pre-

serving the roads and preventing them from washing into

gullies. No successful plan was invented until that of

covering them with limestone. No amount of rain affects

this covering, but on the contrary the rain assists in smooth-

ing and leveling the surface and otherwise adding to its

durability.

The first turnpike road ever built in the State passed

through Bourbon County, and is still a popular highway,

and also a road of almost unparalleled excellence. It was

chartered as the Maysville & Lexington Turnpike Road.

The career of this pioneer road was somewhat checkered

and eventful, and were its history fully written it would

form a rather readable narrative. It was chartered on the

4th of February, 1818, under an act "for the purpose of

forming artificial roads," but j'ears passed before it was

built. It was incorporated anew January 22, 1827, with a

capital stock of $320,000, to which, at any time within three

years, the United States Grovernment was authorized to sub-

scribe $100,000, and the State of Kentucky the like sum.

Gen. Metcalfe, afterward Governor of the State, then a

Representative in Congress from the Maysville District,

brought before Congress the subject of an appropriation

for the proposed turnpike, but too late in the session to get

the measure through. He, however, induced the Secretary

of War to order a survey for the location of a " great lead-

ing mail road from Zanesville, in Ohio, through Maysville

and Lexington, in Kentucky, and Nashville, Tenn., to Flor-

ence, Ala., era route to New Orleans.'' On the 12th of May
following, Col. Long and Lieut. Trimble, of the United

States Engineer Department, began the survey at Mays-

ville. By a resolution of the Kentucky Legislature, adopted

February 13, 1828, Congress was recommended to extend

a branch of the National Road from Zanesville, Ohio, to

Maysville, Ky., and thence through the States of Kentucky,

Tennessee, Alabama and Mississippi, to New Orleans ; and

instructed her Senators in Congress, and requested her Rep-

resentatives to use their utmost exertion to effect this

object. A bill with an appropriation for this purpose

passed the House of Representatives, but was defeated in

the Senate in the spring of 1828. While the matter was

thus delayed, Maysville took an initiatory step toward build-

ing this important road, procured from the Legislature,

January 29, 1829, a charter for the Maysville & Washing-

ton Turnpike Road, which was but four miles in length.

The necessary amount of stock was at once subscribed, and

the " first spade of earth dug amid great rejoicing on the

4th of July following the passage of the act." The road

was steadily pushed forward until its completion in Novem-

ber, 1830. This road was afterward finished through to

Lexington, and became the " Maysville & Lexington Turn-

pike Road." Under this title, a bill passed the Lower House

of Congress, on the 29th of April, 1830, " authorizing and

directing the Secretary of the Treasury to subscribe, in the

name and for the use of the United States, for 1,500 shares

($1 50,000) of the capital stock of the Maysville, Washington,

Paris & Lexington Turnpike Road Company." It passed

the Senate May_15, and, twelve days later (May 27) was

vetoed by President Jackson. Kentucky, however, aided

the enterprise, and took stock at different intervals, until

her subscription amounted in the aggregate to $213,200,

one-half the cost of the entire road. A new impulse had

been given to the building of artificial roads, as " the only

kind which can be permanent on Kentucky soil," in the

winter of 1826-27. In his annual message to the Legisla-

ture, December 4, 1826, Gov. Desha took strong ground in

favor of the road from Maysville to Louisville, " through

the most important towns of Paris, Lexington, Frankfort,

etc., etc."

This, as we have stated, was the first macadamized road

through the county, and was built at a cost of $426,400,

"including thirteen toll-houses and six covered bridges."

Since its completion, a number of others have been built,

until the county is a perfect net-work of pikes, diverging

from Paris and connecting it with all important points.

The following are the titles of some of them : Georgetown
and Paris

;
Paris and Winchester

; Paris and Clintonville
;

Paris and Flat Rock; Mount Sterling Pike; Bethlehem
and Paris

;
North Middletown Pike

; Paris and Jackstown
;

Cane Ridge Pike, and others. These roads are built on
the general macadamized plan—the stone broken, usually,

so as not to exceed six ounces in weight, and laid upon
the road, according to probable wear, nine to ten inches

deep, and one to three inches deeper in the center. Sub-
stantial bridges span many of the large streams where
they are crossed by these roads, thus rendering high water
no impediment to travel. The county has several iron,

and a number of wooden bridges, and still there is room
for a few more. The only objection that can be urged to

the turnpike roads of the county, is the tax imposed upon
those traveling over them, in the way of toll. The pay-

!) \f



^
HISTORY OF BOURBON COUNTY. 57

ing of toll is a nuisance that should be abated, and Paris

and the county would do well, and find it to their interest,

too, to take the matter into their own hands and make

their roads all free.

The stage coach of the old regulation pattern seems

almost a part of the turnpike road, and in the early days

was the common mode of travel. The old vehicles were

usually painted a kind of fawn color, ornamented profusely

with redi The body was swung high above the wheels on

heavy leather springs, so that every lurch of the coach

seemed to threaten sure destruction to the passengers.

While in the zenith of their glory, their arrival in town

created far more of a sensation and a greater interest than

the railroad trains do now. Everybody rushed out to see

the stage and hear the news, and to catch a glimpse, if

possible, of that great man, the driver^ What a hero he

was ! In the innocency of our youth, he is the only man

we ever remember having envied. Mark Twain gives an

excellent pen portrait of him in his trip across the plains,

but he had his day, and now he is laid on the shelf The

turnpike was not complete without a stage coach, nor the

stage coach without a driver. Both are now gone with

other relics of the olden time, and we are away on the

' fast train " of internal improvement and development.

Railroads.—The railroads of Bourbon County are soon

written. The history of the roads already built is brief

and somewhat uninteresting ; to projected roads more in-

terest attaches, perhaps, than to those already in operation.

The introduction and building of railroads form an interest-

ing part of our history, and unquestionably hold the first

place among the social forces of the present day. There is

not a single occupation of interest which the railroad has not

radically affected. Agriculture, manufactures, commerce,

city and country life, banking, finance, law, and even gov-

ernment itself, have all felt its influence. But especially

has it been a potent influence in providing the material

organization for the diffusion of culture among the people,

and thus preparing the conditions for a new step in social

progress. Wholly unknown three-fourths of a century

ago, the railroad has become the greatest single factor in

the development of the material progress, not only of the

United States and of the other civilized nations of the

earth, but its blessings are being rapidly extended into

the hitherto semi-civilized and barbarous portions of the

globe.

Our progress and improvement in the building of rail-

roads has kept pace with our advancement in everything

else. None but a prophet ' could have foreseen the im-

provements that would be made in their construction in

the first half century of their existence. As we travel

over the great trunk lines in palace coaches, we may well

wonder at the perfection of railroads, for certainly there is

nothing more wonderful in our history. As we contem-

plate the subject, we are ready to exclaim, " What further

improvements can be made in railroads
!

" Who can

answer the question? The railroad system is the most

stupendous monument to man's enterprise ever erected.

It forms a perfect net-work of iron and steel in every por-

tion of the country, running daily and nightly and continu-

ously, thousands of locomotives and tens of thousands of

of freight and passenger cars, loaded with tons and tons

of the products of the country, with valuable merchandise

from every part of the world, and with an almost innu-

merable number of precious human beings, dashing with

lightning speed from city to city, and from State to State,

from the Atlantic to the Pacific, and from the Lakes to the

Gulf, representing a capital of at least $5,000,000,000.

Ah, where is there another such (to quote from a circus

bill) colossal combination ? and we may add—monopoly.

The first railroad built in the West, and one of the first

in the United States, was built on the present line from

Lexington to Frankfort. It was originally chartered as the

Lexington & Ohio Railroad, January 27, 1830, and was

to extend from Lexington to Portland on the Ohio River,

a village now included in the corporate limits of Louis-

ville. This pioneer road, in its " primitive purity and in-

nocence," was somewhat unique in its mechanical construc-

tion. The iron rails were soldered upon stone sills, which

were laid lengthwise, instead of being spiked upon wooden

cross-ties, as railroads are now built. It was finished to

Frankfort in December, 1835, and its completion celebrated

in a manner becoming so important an event. Although

ranking as one of the oldest railroads of the United States,

it was not fully completed through to Louisville until 1851,

and by a consolidation of the two divisions of the road

—

that between Lexington and Frankfort, and between Frank-

fort and Louisville—in 1857, it became one road and

company.

One of the first railroad projects that excited special

interest in Paris and Bourbon County, was that known as

the Charleston & Cincinnati Railroad. This trunk line was

to extend from Charleston, S. C, to Cincinnati, Ohio, or

from Cincinnati to Charleston (as might appear to its

friends most convenient and practicable), passing through

Lexington with diverging lines from the latter place to

Louisville, Paris, Maysville, Newport, Covington, etc., etc.,

and almost every other town that wanted a railroad. The

people took a lively interest in the matter, and flattering

hopes were entertained of its successful and early comple-

tion. For several years, the agitation of the enterprise was

>iC g-



^!
58 HISTORY OF BOURBON COUNTY.

kept up. Companies were formed and chartered by the

Legislature, lines were surveyed, terminal and intersect-

ing points suggested, and wind and gas enough expended

to build several railroads. But it all amounted to nothing,

and the interest in the project " grew smaller by degrees,

and beautifully less," until finally the Charleston & Cincin-

nati Railroad died a natural death.

The Kentucky Central Railroad.—This road, so far, is

the only culmination of railroad enterprise Bourbon Coun-

ty enjoys. Of all the railroad projects that have been agi-

tated by her people, this, and its Maysville branch, are

all that have been carried through to completion. These

are much better than no railroad at all, but in the system,

the experienced railroad man discovers vast room for im-

provement. . The agitation of building a railroad from

Paris to Covington, and from Paris to Lexington com-

menced as early as 1848. The county gave originally

$150,000 in private subscriptions, and afterward voted

$100,000 more. In 1853, the road was completed from

Lexington to Paris, under the title of the " Lexington &
Covington Railroad," and the first train passed between

Lexington and Paris on the 22d of December of that year.

In the fall of 1854, it was finished from Covington to Paris,

and trains ran through from Covington to Lexington,

The building of the entire road cost near $5,000,000.

The early years of the Kentucky Central were some-

what checkered, like many other railroad enterprises of

that day. It was sold in 1859 by a decree of court, and

bought by Boulder & Co. for $2,225,000. Afterward, the

stockholders resisted the sale, and the matter was submit-

ted.to the United States Court at Covington, and the sale

decided valid. A number of the old stockholders, John
Bedford, Dr. Perrin and others then carried it to the Court

of Appeals, which tribunal reversed the whole thing.

Boulder & Co. next made an application to the Court of

Appeals to have the case remanded back to the Court at

Covington for a new hearing. In the meantime, however,

a compromise was effected at 75 cents on the dollar for a

new road. The title was also changed from " Lexington &
Covington " to " Kentucky Central Railroad," by which it

is still known. In 1880, the company sold out to M. B. In-

galls & Co., at 40 cents on the dollar. Recently, it was

purchased by Mr. C. P. Huntington, of the Chesapeake &
Ohio Railroad, at 60 cents on the dollar, who is the pres-

ent owner. C. Alexander, one of the directors, owns most

of the stock now held in Bourbon County. The present

directory is composed of the following gentlemen : C. P-

Huntington and George Bliss, of New York
; Gen. John

Echols, Virginia
; C. Alexander, Paris, Ky.; E. H. Pendle-

ton, B. S. Cunningham and M. E. Ingalls, Cincinnati, of

whom M. E. Ingalls is President and Gen. Echols Vice

President.

The Maysville Railroad.—This is now a division of the

Kentucky Central and was commenced about the same

time of the Lexington & Covington Railroad, and was orig-

inally known as the " Lexington & Maysville Railroad."

Bourbon Countj' contributed $200,000 to its building

;

Payette and M.ason voted alike amounts. After passing

through various changes, full details of prhich will be found

under the head of Nicholas Counly, it was purchased by

the Kentucky Central, andJs now operated as a division

of the latter road. It should be a good paying line, but

seems rather to always have been a somewhat poor invest-

ment to its owners.

The Kentucky Central Extension appears now to be a

settled fact. It diverges from the main line at Paris, and

passes through Winchester and Richmond, tapping the

Knoxville Branch of the Louisville & Nashville system at

or near Livingston, Ky., making the Kentucky Central

proper about 170 miles in length. The estimated cost of

the extension is $1,915,000. The following is from the

last report (January, 1882) of President Ingalls, of the

Kentucky Central :
•• The right of way was donated by

Bourbon County, and exemption from taxation for twenty

years was guaranteed by Clark County, and what was
equivalent to $125,000 voted by Madison County in aid of

same. The work is now in progress, and the board hope

to have the line in operation by July 1, 1883. At the

same time the extension was resolved on, it was decided to

at once rebuild the main line and equipment, so as to be

ready for the increase of business that was expected from
the new line. The increase in gross earnings .has been
very satisfactory. They net all we could expect in the

condition of the property and the extensive improvements
we were making. After this current year, the property

will be in such fine condition it can easily be operated for

less^than 60 per cent of its gross earnings."

This extension, when completed, will render the Ken-
tucky Central one of the most valuable roads in the coun-
try, as the new line passes through coal fields and mineral

regions, the best in the State, and hitherto with little or no
railroad facilities. As work is now in rapid progress upon
the different divisions of the extension, its completion may
be expected at no distant day.

The Paris, Georgetown & Frankfort Railroad.—This
is a project that has been agitated somewhat in this

county, but as there is considerable opposition to the

enterprise, its final completion, or building rather, for

so far nothing has been done but the " wind work," seems
just a little problematical. As a gentleman informed us
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" The road begins nowhere, ends nowhere, and there are no

stations between.'' If built, the most it can ever be is a

local feeder to some other road. Under the first proposi-

tion to build ^ road from Paris to Frankfort, the couaty

agreed to give $400,000 ; it failed, and under the new

order of things the county, we believe, proposes to give

$100,000. The project is still being agitated, but time

only will show to what result.

Agriculture.—This science is the great source of our

prosperity, and is a subject in which we are all interested.

It is said that gold is the power that moves the world

and it might also be said that agriculture is the power

that moves gold. All thriving interests, all prosperous in-

dustries, and all trades and professions, receive their

means of support either directly or indirectly from agri-

culture. Its progress in Bourbon County for the last

hundred years, is not the least interesting, nor the least

important part of her history. The pioneers who com-

menced tilling soil here with a few rude implements of

husbandry, laid the foundation of that perfect system of

agriculture of the present. They were mostly poor and

compelled to labor for a support, and it required brave

hearts, strong arms, and willing hands—just such as they

possessed—to conquer the difficulties with which they had

to contend. The country was open to the raids of a sav-

age foe. It often occurred that, while one-half of the male

members were at woyk clearing the land or tending their

small crops, the other half, with guns in hand, were stand-

ing guard to protect the laborers from the savages.

The tools and implements with which the pioneer

farmer had to work were few in number and of a poor kind.

The plow was the old "bar-share," some with and some

without coulters ; all had the wooden mold-board, and

long beam and handles. Generally, they were of a size

between the one and two horse plows, for they had to be

used in both capacities. The hoes and axes were clumsy

implements, and were forged and finished by the ordinary

blacksmith. The hoes had no steel in them, and there was

but little in the axes, and that little often of an inferior

quality. If any of these were broken beyond the ability

of the smith at the station to repair, a new supply had to

be procured from the older settlements of the East. There

was some compensation, however, for all these disadvan-

tages under which the pioneer labored. The virgin soil

of the now well-known and famous Blue Grass Region was

so fruitful that it yielded bountiful crops, even under poor

preparation and cultivation. The first little crop consisted

of a " patch " of corn, potatoes, beans, pumpkins, and in

some cases a few other "eatables." A small crop of

tobacco was almost indispensable, and, if possible, a

" patch " of flax was grown, from the li-nt of which the

family clothing for summer wear was manufactured. This

brought into use the spinning-wheel and the loom, imple-

ments which had been brought 'to the country by the

pioneers, and which constituted the most important articles

of housekeeping, as all the women and girls could spin

and weave.

In the early history of the county, the pioneers were

favored by the mildness of the climate, the abundance of

wild game and the wonderful fertility of the land when

brought into cultivation, which, as we have said, yielded

the most bountiful crops. Step by step the hardy settlers

made their inroads upon the heavy forests, enlarged their

farms and increased their flocks and herds, until they had

a surplus beyond their own wants and those of their own

families. This directed attention to the question of mar-

kets, which hitherto had been confined to the Eastern

cities, only accessible by overland transportation. But

now the navigation of the Mississippi was looked to as a

means of obviating^ these diflSculties. Flat-boating out of

the Licking River was tried, but its navigation proving

perilous, the produce of the country was hauled to the

Kentucky River, where boats were loaded by enterprising

men with bacon, grain and whisky, and upon the spring

tides floated out into the Ohio, thence to the Mississippi,

and on to New Orleans, where the cargoes were disposed

of, sometimes for cash, and sometimes exchanged for

sugar, coffee and molasses, which were brought back with

considerable labor and expense. After the victory of Gen.

Wayne in 1794, which finally drove the Indians from Ken-

tucky, the county rapidly settled, and markets were

formed, formed for the surplus products nearer home.

The subject of negro slavery, as identified with the

agriculture of the county, is deserving of some notice in

this connection. Many of the early settlers, who were

from Maryland and Virginia, brought negro slaves here

with them. They were obtained by inheritance, or were

purchased with their money, and were considered as much

a part of the property of the owner as anything else which

he possessed. As pertinent to the subject, we make the

following extract from an article written by Dr. R. J.

Spurr :
" Without the labor of the negro, this region would

have made much slower progress in its settlement, and the

character of its population would probably have been very

different. To negro slavery we are largely indebted for

the chivalric character and open-handed hospitality of our

fathers. * * * While the negro, as a slave, had some

weaknesses, such as a lack of proper respect for the truth,

a prospensity to petty pilfering, and a great fondness for

alcoholic drinks, yet the masses were faithful to their
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owners, industrious and economical, and had at heart their

welfare, prosperity and good name. They were good oper-

atives on the farm, and, as a rule, were intrusted with the

execution of the work to be done in the absence of the

proprietor, taking great pride in accomplishing more and

better work than was expected of them
; the wife and

children of the master were always safe under their pro-

tection. Where a man's circumstances compelled him to

labor, he would make a ' hand ' with the negroes, requir-

ing no more work of them than he performed himself.

The negro had his house to himself and family, all of

whom were well fed, well clothed in domestic cloth, attended

to in sickness by the family physician, and as carefully

nursed as an}' other member of the family. Their supply

of fuel for winter use was unlimited, and during cold

weather they kept up rousing fires both day and night.

Nearly all of them had their ' truck patches '' of from a

half to an acre of ground, and could raise such produce as

suited their taste, sweet potatoes, tobacco and melons being

their favorite crops. Saturday afternoon was usually

given them to work their 'patches,' and at night the

more thrift}' would 'cobble' shoes, make brooms, cut

cord-wood and do other odd jobs to make money, which,

unfortunately, was too frequently spent for whisky. Fla-

grant violations of domestic law were occasionally visited

with stripes ; this punishment, however, was rarely resorted

to, except here and there by a fiend in human shape, who
had no fear of God nor respect for the opinions of men.

This class were few in number, and were frowned upon by
the more respectable class of society. Persons who had
not known anj'thing practically of slavery until they came
to the country, so soon as their circumstances would per-

mit, became the owners of slaves, and almost invariably

proved to be the hardest task-masters.

" The slaves, with no cares pressing upon them, were the

happiest people to be found in any community. A failure

of the crops, loss of stock, or pecuniary troubles, while

sympathized in by them, caused none of that anxiety

which the owner experienced. They were all, men and
women, raised to habits of industry. They are now all

PEEEMEN, and the older ones, educated and accustomed to

work, are rapidly passing away, while a new generation is

coming on ; reared with no restraints, they look upon
work as one of the relics of slavery, and prefer anything,

almost, to honest labor. Under this state of things, their

future is not very bright nor flattering. Many of the

slaves, belonging to the more conscientious of our citizens,

were sufficiently educated to enable them to read the

Bible, but the mass received no scholastic training. Their

religious instruction, however, was not neglected. At

family worship, they were brought into the house, the

Scriptures read and explained to them, and encouragement

to attend church given them. Many of them united with

the various churches, whose records still show a considera-

ble number of the colored population among the early

membership, a majority of whom were noted for their

strong abiding faith and strict moral deportment.

" There were cases in which servants proved incorrigible,

and sooner or later this class found their way to the cotton

fields of the far South. Negroes were never reared here

as an article of merchandise, but for the use of their owner,

and, if true and trusty, were very seldom parted with.

Men were encouraged to take their wives at home, if a

suitable woman was in the family. If not, they generally

found one in the immediate vicinity, when they were

allowed to go to see her everj' night in the week, and as a

general thing they were more steadfast to their families than

they are now. Husband and wife were always kept

together when possible, and often at great sacrifice. When
the owner of either husband or wife were about removing

to a distant place, some trade would be made, either by

purchase or exchange, to prevent their separation. In such

cases, a man or woman would be parted with by the owner

that otherwise money could not have bought.''

Wheat was one of the early productions of the farmers.

At first, there was a market for the small surplus, found in

the new comers ; but as it was more extensively produced,

it, like other products of the country, was shipped to New
Orleans

; the price usually varying from 25 cents to 50

cents a bushel. The wheat crop was irregular then as

now, sometimes yielding largely, and other years failing

almost entirely. Some extraordinary crops would occa-

sionally be produced, but at irregular periods. In harvest-

ing the wheat crop, the sickle, or "reap- hook," was used,

each reaper binding the grain he cut, the wages for which
was from 50 cents to 75 cents per day, and to cut and
bind _an acre was considered a good day's work. It was
not until about 1820-25 that the "cradle" came into use

as an implement for cutting grain. It was thought by
many to be a labor-saving machine, and expedited the har-

vesting of a crop, but others clung to the reap-hook as

cheapest and best. About the year 1840, the reaper drawn
by horses was introduced. A writer upon agriculture says :

" The reaper, crude and imperfect at first, it came to us

represented by oily-tongued men, who induced our farmers

to buy it. The early harvester was a heavy tax, costing

the farmer dearly and doing poor work. The improve-

ments upon harvesters have all been paid for by the

farmer, and not by the manufacturer
; the latter made and

sold them at a profit ; the farmer bought them, but soon
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saw something that suited him better, wh'en he would buy

it, throwing his old machine aside. The harvester, while

costly, enables us to raise a larger acreage of grain, but

probably at an equal cost per acre as when the sickle was

used exclusively in harvesting. The manner in which the

early farmers worked their land for wheat and corn was

incalculable injury to it, the heavy rains of summer carry-

ing away much of the loose soil."
'

Upon the early cultivation of wheat, Gov. G-arrard, in

an address delivered before the Bourbon County Agricult-

ural Society, in 1838, said :
" Attention was early turned

to the culture of wheat for the supply of the New Orleans

market, with flour. The crops of wheat proved profitable

to the farmers for some years, and some of the exporters

of flour were successful, while others sunk money, owing

in part to the high price of wheat (six shillings per bushel),

and in fact to the difficulty of navigating our streams. As

soon as the citizens of Ohio came into competition with us

in the Orleans market, we were compelled to relinquish it

as unprofitable, owing to their being able to prepare and

reach the market before us, and owing to their water power

being preferable to ours, for both grinding and boating.

The farmers finally declined the culture of wheat, except

for home consumption."

Corn was the first of all crops raised by the pioneers.

It was not cut up as it is now, but the blades were usually

pulled off below the ears, cured, tied in bundles, stacked in

the field or put away in the barn for horse-feed. After this

was done, the tops were cut offjust above the ears and put

up in shocks, and during winter used to feed the cows. In

the fall, when the corn was ripe, it was pulled from the

stalk, hauled and thrown in a pile, and the neighbors in-

vited in to help husk it. This was a gala time for the

darkies, whose " corn-songs " are still remembered by the

old people of the country. A sketch of the grasses of this

section would be interesting if it could be relied on as cor-

rect. Of the famous blue grass, all that is known of its

origin and introduction is given in a preceding article. Of

native grasses there were but few varieties found here by

the early settlers. Red clover was brought from the East-

ern States somewhere between 1800 and 1810. Timothy,

herd's grass, orchard grass, fox-tail, crab grass, etc., etc.,

were all brought here, either accidentally or otherwise,

none of them being native of this region. In the early part

of the century, rye was extensively produced. It was con-

sidered a valuable crop for more reasons than one ; it was

a valuable pasturage during the winter and spring for your

stock ; then to make a crop of grain to be fed down to

hogs for the early markets ; and when not thus disposed

of, it was cut, and the grain made into whisky.

When the production of hemp was commenced in this

community, the crop was pulled by hand, in the same man-

ner as flax. It was manufactured into bagging, rope and

twine for baling cotton, and found a market in the South-

ern States. Before the age of turnpikes, railroads and

steam navigation, the marketing of hemp was a heavy un-

dertaking, the usual mode being by wagons to Knoxville,

Tenn., Decatur, Ala., Greenville, S. C, and other points,

from where the wagons returned loaded with cotton. The

first implement used in harvesting hemp was called the

" strike-hook," somewhat like the grain sickle or reap-hook.

About 1832, this was superseded by the " drag-hook," an

implement still much in use. Hemp cradles have been

tried, but have proved failures. Mowing machines are now

considerably used, and with apparent success when in care-

ful hands.

The water-rotting of hemp was prosecuted to some ex-

tent at one time, but it was soon abandoned on account of

the work being so dirty and laborious. Previous to the

water-rotting process, an effort was made to break unrotted

hemp, but it was never successful, as the cordage made

from such an article of hemp did not hold tar well, and

was very liable to decay in warm climates. Many efforts

have been made to get machinery that would economically

break hemp, but none has been invented yet that proved

successful, and the old " hand-break," now, as in the past,

is principally relied upon.

The breeding and rearing of fine stock of all kinds has,

from an early day, been a favorite pursuit throughout

Central Kentucky, and has given to the Blue Grass

Region a world-wide reputation. The subject, however,

of blooded stock will be taken up in another chapter,

where it will be treated at length by men perfectly famil-

iar with it.

The following statistics from the Auditor's report for

1881, show something of the county's wealth and impor-

tance : Value of land as assessed, $5,740,403 ; average

value of land per acre, $33.20 ;
number of horses and

mares, 3,679, value of same, $117,790 ;
number of mules,

1,409, value of same, $53,862 ;
number of sheep, 47,920,

value of same, $90,975 ;
number of hogs, 2,995, value of

same, $6,227; number of cattle, 9,345, value of same,

$274,518 ; total valuation of property, $7,788,472. Pounds

of tobacco raised in the county, 121,800
;
pounds of hemp,

1,327,500 ;
bushels of corn, 509,395 ; bushels of wheat,

161,350. In the address of Gov. Garrard's, already quoted

from, he gives the following amount of stock and produce

sold from eighty-four farms in Bourbon County, from the

first of September, 1837, to the first of June, 1838 :
" Cat-

tle, $76,000 ; hogs, $65,000 ;
horses and mules, $23,000

;
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hemp and stock of various kinds (wliieh were added to-

gether), $136,000, making a total of $300,000."

As showing something of the size and weight of Bour-

bon County cattle, a car-load was shipped from Paris, con-

sisting of twelve head, December 15, 1874, by Bedford,

Kennedy & Ferguson, which averaged 2,515 pounds. They
were shipped to New York, and taken altogether are said

to have been the largest ever received in a single lot in

that market—the lightest weight being 2,150, and the

heaviest, 2,995 pounds. They were thoroughbred Dur-

hams, of the " 1817 importation," were bred and raised by
Alexander Brand, Esq., and sold by John A. Merrett and
H. F. Burchard. The item went the rounds of the press

at the time and was highly commented on throughout the

country. So much interest did the shippers take in it, they

had each steer photographed and grouped into a sort of

portrait gallery.

Fairs.—The progress and growth of agriculture in the

county, is more fully shown by a sketch of the fairs and
associations that have existed, and are now in existence.

Collins tells us that the first agricultural fair in Bourbon
County was held in 1818, and that the present association

held its first fair in 1836, and regularly every year since,

except two years during the war, but another authority

(Keller and McCann) takes issue with Mr. Collins, and says

that if a fair was held in 1818, the proverbial "oldest in-

habitant " knows nothing about it. Nor have we found

anything nor learned anything of a fair held in 1818.

There is little to be learned in regard to the early fairs of

the county, as most of the early records have been de-

stroyed. We find in an old copy of the Citizen, published

in 1838, an address delivered by Gov. Garrard before the

Bourbon County Agricultural Society, several extracts

from which we have already given in the preceding pages.

Without attempting to follow the association through all

of its eventful history, from its organization to the present

time, we will give a list of the officers and directors since the

close of the war, which is as far back as we have been able

to obtain reliable data. Beginning with the year 1866, the

officers and directors were as follows ; B. J. Clay, Presi-

dent
;
James Hall and Horace Miller, Vice Presidents

;

W. W. Mitchell, Treasurer, and B. F. Pullen, Secretary!

Directors, James A. Cunningham, W. A. Parker, J. D. But-

ler, George M. Bedford, F. P. Clay, Val Hildreth, Joseph
Ewalt, Jacob Spears and Joseph Mitchell.

In 1867, the following olficers were elected : B. J. Clay,

President
;
James Hall and George M. Bedford, Vice Pres-

idents
;
W. W. Mitchell, Treasurer, and B. F. Pullen, Sec-

retary. Joseph Mitchell, Horace Miller, James A. Cun-
ningham, Val Hildreth, J. D. Butler, H. W. Rice, E. G.

Bedford, J. W. Ferguson, John Cunningham, Dr. W. Fith-

ian, were elected Directors. In 1868, B. J. Clay was re-

elected President, and Joseph Mitchell and James Halh

Vice Presidents
;
B. F. Pullen, Treasurer, and J. A. How-

erton. Secretary. Directors : J. A. Cunningham, Horace

Miller, J. W. Ferguson, J. D. Butler, H. W. Rice, J. H.

Ewalt, G. M. Bedford, E. G. Bedford, B. F. Bedford and

E. B. Bishop. Annual membership was fixed at $4. In

1869, the same officers were elected, with the exception of

J. W. Ferguson, who was elected Vice President in place

of James Hall. Several changes were made in the direc-

tory, as follows : H. J. Rice, J. D. Butler, Horace Miller,

B. F. Bedford, F. J. Barber, J. A. Cunningham, J. S. Ken-

ney, Abram Renick, Joseph Ewalt and M. M. Clay.

The receipts were $5,033 01

Expenditures 3,458 49

Balance |1,579 52

In 1870, the annual meeting was changed from the sec-

ond Saturday in April to the second Saturday in February,

and the following officers elected : Same as last year, ex-

cept James Hall was elected Vice President in place of

Ferguson
;

J. W. Ferguson, H. M. Rosenberg, H. W. Rice,

Joseph Scott, E. G. Bedford, F. J. Barber, J. D. Butler,

J. S. Kenney, G. M. Bedford and James A. Cunningham,
Directors. In 1871, B. J. Clay, President

;
Joseph Mitch-

ell and J. W. Ferguson, Vice Presidents
; B. F. Pullen,

Treasurer, and James A. Howerton, Secretary. Directors :

J. D. Butler, F. J. Barber, B. P. Bedford, Jr., E. G. Bed-
ford, J. A. Cunningham, M. M. Clay, Joseph Ewalt, James
Hall, J. S. Kenney and H. M. Rosenberg. In 1872, the old
officers were re-elected, and a few changes made in the
directory.

The total receipts were $7,573 70
Expenditures total 7,545 48

Balance s 27 23

The same result followed the election of officers for

1873, and J. S. Kenney, B. G. Bedford, M. M. Clay, B. P.

Bedford, S. P. Kennedy, James Cunningham, W. H. Ren-
ick, Harmon D. Ayres, H. C. Hutchcraft and Joseph Scott
were elected Directors. In 1874, James Hall took the
place of Joseph Mitchell as a Vice President—other offi-

cers were re-elected. A few changes were made in the di-

rectory. Same officers in 1875, with a few changes in the
directory. In 1876, B. J. Clay was re-elected President

;

Joseph Mitchell and J. A. Howerton, Vice Presidents
; Mr.

Pullen was re-elected Treasurer, and W. A. Parker, Secre-
tary

;
a few changes were made in the directory. In 1877,

J. W. Ferguson took the place of J. A. Howerton as Vice
President, and T. P. Muir was elected Secretary in place of
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Mr. Parker, with a few changes in the directory. The old

officers were re-elected in 1878, except C. M. Clay, Jr., who

took the place of Ferguson as Vice President, with the fol-

lowing directory ; F. Gano Hill, H. C. Hutchcraft, G. W.
Morrow, J. Smith Kenney, B. F. Bedford, M. M. Clay,

William Bedford, J. B. Kennedy, W. H. Renick and W. A.

Parker. In 1879, C. M. Clay, Jr., was elected President;

J. W. Ferguson and Joseph Mitchell, Vice Presidents
;

B. F. Pullen, Treasurer and W. A. Parker, Secretary,

with but few changes in the directory. The old officers

were all re-elected in 1880, and a few changes made in the

directory. The same result was had in 1881, and in 1882,

the following gentlemen were elected, viz.; J. W. Fergu-

son, President ; B. F. Bedford and P. Gano Hill, Vice Pres-

idents ; B. F. Pullen, Treasurer ; W. A. Parker, Secretary
;

and Brent Hutchcraft, H. C. Hutchcraft, M. M. Clay, John

T. Hinton, John B. Kennedy, W. H. Renick, J. T. Hughes,

H. C. Smith, George W. Morrow and J. W. Bedford were

elected Directors.

DistiUeries.—The manufacture of whisky is one of the

most extensive and valuable interests, not only of Bourbon

County, but of the entire Blue Grass Region. Indeed, the

blue grass seems to have a beneficial effect on whisky, as it

has on everything else that comes in reach of it. William

Warfield, Esq., of Fayette County, tells us that the " pecu-

liar suitability of blue grass pastures for beef-making " is

unsurpassed ; Mr. Ben Bruce, editor of the Live Stock

Record, says: " No portion of America is so highly favored

for the breeding and rearing of fine horses " as the Blue

Grass Region of Kentuckj'. Dr. Peter, chemist to the

State Geological Survey, is of the opinion that ' even men

take on a higher development," in this favored section
;
we

all know that the beauty of the Blue Grass ladies has be-

come proverbial ; then why should not Blue Grass whisky

be better ? It is the universal opinion abroad, that all the

Bourbon whisky shipped to every point is not only made

in the Blue Grass Region, but is the product of Bourbon

County alone, whence it receives its name. That whisky is

a valuable commercial interest in this part of the State,

and that the revenue derived from its sale and manufact-

ure is large, is a fact beyond dispute ;
that it is a foe, bit-

ter and relentless to Christian civilization, is a fact equally

palpable.

It is not our province, however, as a historian, to

discuss the evils of whisky, but to view it from a com-

mercial standpoint. We were informed by a gentleman in

Ohio, some time ago, that whisky would be sold as long as

there was 8 cents profit on a 10-cent drink, and we

have no doubt that so long as it is extensively sold, as it

is now, it will be manufactured. Commercially then, it is

one of the great business interests of this portion of Ken-

tucky
; next to fine stock, the most important, perhaps,

and the most valuable.

From the very earliest settlement of the country, the

manufacture of whisky has been numbered among its in-

dustries. The pioneers made whisky for the purpose of

finding a market for their surplus grain. Since the day of

the little log distillery, with a capacity of a few barrels per

week, the business has grown and increased with the growth

and development of the countrj-. It is a significant fact,

that of all the early manufacturing industries of Paris and

Bourbon County, that of whisky alone has kept pace with

the time. The hemp factories, the cotton mills, etc., are

gone, and few of the present generation can point out the

sites where erst they stood, but the distilleries are more

flourishing than ever before.

It is not known at the present day, with any degree of

certainty, perhaps, who started the first distillery in the

county, or in what year the business was begun. Collins

has the following upon the subject :
" The first distillery in

Bourbon County was near where the manufactorj' of W. H.

Thomas stood in 1869, and was erected about 1790, by

Jacob Spears, and others from Pennsylvania. Two negroes

cut down the trees and hauled them to the distillery, while

Mr. Spears cut the timber into suitable sizes, distilled, went

to mill, and also attended a fine stallion he had brought

with him. Others claim that Capt. John Hamilton, who

run away from Pennsylvania on account of his participation

in the ' whisky insurrection,' distilled in this region before

Spears." We do not know if this is true, but no doubt it

is, that the business commenced at least that far back.

Emanuel Wj'att operated a small distillery in a very early

day on land now owned by C. M. Clay ; Benjamin Bedford

also had a distillery very early. Robert Owen built a small

distillery in the present precinct of North Middletown in

1806 ;
and in what is now Centerville Precinct there were

several distilleries built in early times. Thus the business

was inaugurated in different parts of the county, and has

increased and expanded to its present dimensions. An old

gentleman informed us that those were the days of " honest

whisky," when a bushel of grain would make two gallons of

whisky that would retail at 25 cents a gallon. Then there

was not so much red tape connected with making whisky

as there is at present ;
" Uncle Sam " was not an interested

partner as he is now, and anybody and everybody who felt

a desire to do so were permitted to make it in the light of

the sun, instead of having his operations veiled in " moon-

shine." But without dwelling longer upon the early manu-

facture of the article, we will devote a little space to the

business as conducted at the present day.
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There are seven distilleries in Bourbon County, now in

successful operation, (and several others standing idle,

owing to scarcity of grain the past year), owned and located

as follows : White's Distillery at Paris ; the Paris Distillery

in Paris Precinct ; Davies' Distillery at Millersburg ; W.
H. Thomas' in Paris Precinct ; Ford & Bowen's at Rud-

'

del's Mills ; George Pugh's and Gus Pugh & Co.'s in the

north part of the county.

White's Distillery, No. 14, Seventh District, is located

in East Paris, on Stoner Creek. It was commenced by a

man named Foley in 1855, but not completed until the fol-

lowing year. James A. Miller bought out Foley, and

started it in operation in 1856, continuing the business

until his death in the summer of 1860. In the following

fall, Tarr, Hibler & White took charge of it and operated

it for two years. Hibler sold out in 1863 to Tarr & White,

and, in 1868, C. Alexander bought Tarr's interest. G. 6.

White bought out Alexander in 1877, and, in 1880, Mr.

Ferguson bought a half interest in the concern, since which

time the firm has been G. G. White & Co. The capacity of

this distillery is four hundred bushels every twelve hours ;

the brand, " Chicken Cock,'' and there is a ready demand
for the article ; the manufacture of which amounts to about

9,000 barrels yearly. The storage capacity of the estab-

lishment is now 2,400 barrels, and the firm contemplate

building a new warehouse soon of 1,800 to 2,000 barrels

capacity. The article manufactured is " Sweet Mash Bour-

bon, Fire Copper,'' and all modern appliances are used, and

thirty-five men are employed. The capacity for stock-feed-

ing is 500 cattle and 800 hogs. Until the years 1880-81,

all the grain used was purchased in the county ; since that

time most of it has been received from abroad. The main

distillery building is 40x48 feet ; boiler shed 42x50 feet.

The concern is now mashing 600 bushels daily, though

the usual quantity is 400 bushels. In 1881, the average

was 4.14 gallons
; in 1882, nearly 4^ gallons to the bushel.

A cooper-shop is attached to the establishment.

Paris Distillerj', No. — , Seventh district, is located in

Paris Precinct, on the North Division of the Kentuckj'

Central Railroad, and on the Paris & North Middletown

Turnpike, one mile from Paris. It was built in 1868, and

commenced operation in January, 1869, W. T. Buckner

and George M. Bedford, proprietors, under the firm name

of Buckner & Bedford. They continued until the summer
of 1880, when they were bought out by Samuel Clay, Jr.,

& Co., who have since operated it. Under the proprietor-

ship of Buckner & Bedford it made "sweet mash," but

under the new firm it has changed to a " sour mash '

'

establishment. The brand is " Paris Distillery—Hand
Made." The capacity is 412 bushels ; feed about 300

head of cattle, and employ in distillery proper some

thirty hands. Storage capacity is about 15,000 barrels.

The Millersburg Distillery in the Seventh District, was

completed February 1, 1882, and was built by William

Davie. It is hand-made sour mash ; with all the modern

conveniences, has a daily capacity of 500 bushels, and annual

product of 6,000 barrels. The distillery building proper is

70x145 feet, and was completed ready for business at an

expenditure of about $40,000. Thirty hands are employed

at an average of $2 per day wages. It is located on the

Maysville Division of the Kentucky Central Railroad, in

the village of Millersburg. Bonded capacity of the ware-

house is 15,000 barrelSj and the necessary corn-cribs,

cooper-shops, etc., are attached. Pure water from wells,

24 to 30 feet, is used. Everything is complete, about

the establishment, and the reputation of Bourbon whisky

will be fully maintained. It is expected to use the prod-

ucts of the surrounding country in the manufacture of

whisky. At the present writing (February, 1882), it is

just getting down to business.

Ford & Bowen's Distillery is located at Riser's Station,

on the Kentucky Central Railroad, north of Paris. It was

originally built by Mr. B. Bowen in 1857, the father of H.

C. Bowen, and was run by him until 1867, with the " Bowen
Brand," and is the second oldest sweet-mash distillery in.

the county. The building was formerly a cotton and

woolen factory. B. Bowen first took in his son George,

and son-in-law Thomas Duvall, as partners, which continued

for three years, when the Bowens bought out Duvall, and

in 1867 Mr. Bowen sold to his son George. The latter took

George W. Wyatt into partnership, under the firm of Bowen
& Wyatt. He afterward bought out Wyatt, and sold an

interest to H. C. Clay and James K. Ford, when the firm

became H. C. Clay & Co., and so remained until 1880, since

when it has been as above. Ford & Bowen. The brand is

" Peacock," which was established when the firm became
H. C. Clay & Co. Capacity, 600 bushels of sweet mash
every twenty-four hours. Capital invested, $50,000. Ware-
house, built in 1880; capacity, 4,000 barrels; and brick

house, built in 1881, of 8,000 barrels capacity
; amount now

in bond 6,000 barrels
; cooper-shop attached, and about

twenty hands altogether are employed.

H. C. Bowen's Distillery, No. 102, of the Seventh District,

is located at Ruddel's Mills, on Stoner Creek, and was built

by Howard & Bowen in 1868-69. About a year after-

ward, Mr. Howard died, and after several changes in firm

in 1879, Mr. H. C. Bowen became sole proprietor. .The

warehouse was erected by the present owner, and has a

capacity of 8,000 barrels; made in 1881, 3,400 barrels;

now in bond 5,500 barrels
; capacity, 444 bushels per day.

"iTa
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The distillery is located about two miles from Shawhan's

Station, on the Kentucky Central Railroad, from which

most of the shipments are made. Most of the grain is

purchased in the county ; cooper-shop attached, which

makes from thirty-iive to forty barrels per day. About

twenty hands are employed, at an average of $2.00 per day

wages. Capital invested, $50,000 ; brand, " H. C. Bowen,"

and is sweet-mash make.

W. H. Thomas' Distillery is five miles north of Paris,

and three miles west of Kiser's Station. This is an old

establishment, dating back to 1836-38, and was built by

Jacob Spears, and has been owned and operated by several

parties ; has stood idle, and then been started up again,

finally becoming the property of W. H. Thomas, the present

proprietor. It makes pure copper whisky, and has storage

capacity for about 2,500 barrels
; a cooper-shop is attached,

which makes the barrels used in the distillery. The brand

of whisky made is " W. H. Thomas ;

" capacity, 54 bushels

per day ; and during the year 1881 there were made 900

barrels, it being a small establishment.

George Pugh's Distillery, is No. 13 of the Seventh Inter-

nal Revenue District of Kentucky, and was built by Jacob

Wilson about 1800, and is the oldest distillery in the county

now in operation. It was washed away during a time of

high water, and re-built by John Bwalt. It lay idle for

several years, and in the fall of 1856 G-eorge Pugh bought

and re-built it and he and his sons have since run it. It

is operated by water-power, and is a very small establish-

ment, making only about one hundred and fifty barrels

annually. It is in Ruddel's Mills Precinct, at the mouth

of Townsend Creek, about eight miles from Paris. Has

storage room for 700 barrels, and about 400 barrels in

bond.

The distillery of J. S. Shawhan is a small establish-

ment, located on the pike, about one and a half miles west

of Shawhan Station, on the Kentucky Central Railroad.

It was built by Mr. Shawhan in 1874, and made in 1881

only 232 barrels, and is at present standing idle.

Gus Pugh & Co.'s Distillery is No. 44, and is located

about a quarter of a mile east of Shawhan Station. It

was built in 1858 by Samuel Ewalt, and remodeled in

1872 by Gus Pugh—bought by him in 1870 of Ewalt.

The brand is " Gus Pugh ;

" amount in bond, 300 barrels
;

capacity, 30 bushels per day ; about 250 barrels annual

production. The establishment is run by steam, and the

production is the " hand-made sour mash." Like the last

mentioned, it is a small establishment, doing biit little busi-

ness.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE VI.

SHORT-HOEN CATTLE INTERESTS— ADAPTABILUTY OF BOURBON COUNTY FOR CATTLE RAISING— BREEDERS OF SHORT-

HORNS: GEN. GARRARD, REV. GANO, THE CLAYS, AND OTHERS—IMPORTING OF CATTLE—THE NORTH

KENTUCKY IMPORTING ASSOICIATION—THE SHORT-HORN RECORD, ETC., ETC.

And the flocks conceived before the rods, and brought forth

cattle ringstreaked, speckled and spotted.—Gen., xxx, 39.

WHILE the Short-Horn cattle ofBourbon County are so

numerous, so widely known and admired, and influ-

ence such a large trade, yet when one begins to ask. How shall

I present, or rather preserve in a collated form all the mate-

rial that would be interesting on this subject ? it seems

as though he must first unravel a labyrinth to reduce the

matter to any system that will not weary with details, and

yet present the truth.

It is hard to avoid the herd-book style, and yet prevent

the other extreme of writing an encyclopedia on the sub-

ject. It is. hard to divest one's self of all prejudice

against certain crosses, and candidly give each breeder the

share of space he deserves. It is hard to ascertain the

facts connected with those who have bred good herds in

times long gone by, and who have passed out of the arena

as breeders near half a century ago, many of whom have

crossed the river, where we trust they have found pastures

ever green, and fountains that never dry
;
yet who have

gone without leaving behind them any records of their

plan of breeding, or their herds, except so far as from year

to year, they and the purchasers from their herds choose to

.

send the same to the herd-books. Realizing all these diffi-

culties, it is with great hesitation that we crave the sym-

pathy and forbearance of the breeders of this county, who

may expect tb find recorded here more than in the power

of one person to achieve. But endeavoring to collate

what will be of interest to them, we shall try and give

impartially some of the leading incidents connected with

the Short-Horn cattle of the county.

The Short-Horn cattle interests of Bourbon County are

so interwoven with that of all the counties in this State,

and also with that of the United States in general that it is

^
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hard to draw the county lines through the history. Fayette,

Clark, Harrison, Montgomery and Scott, all, to a certain

extent, have a common source as to their cattle supply.

Bourbon County has interchanged with these counties,

and supplied the leading herds in each with some of the

material that rendered them also noted for their fine cat-

tle, besides supplying so many herds throughout the

United States with either a start or a head, that it seems to

one who knows the history of Short-Horns in that particular

that it is a history of all the leading herds in the United

States.

Situated about equal distance from , Winchester, Lexing-

ton, Georgetown and Cynthiana—accessible by railroads

from Cincinnati, Lexington and Maysville—this county is

wonderfully located for convenience in breeding, selling

and shipping cattle. Watered by beautiful streams flowing

all the year round, the fields covered even in winter with a

verdure that seems to have some mysterious power in pro-

ducing bone, sinew and muscle, both to man and beast, sit-

uated at that degree of latitude that presents but few vari-

ations of temperature, where stock may graze in the open
air twelve months in the year. It is not to be wondered
that man, assisted so bountifully by nature, has been able to

feed, cross up, sort out, select and build up herds that rival

any e^ver produced in England or the United States.

It is owing to this, assisted by the fact that Bourbon
County has been peopled by gentlemen of means and
pride and ambition, who, having endeavored to obtain their

start from the best to be had, have given their time, talents,

study and fortunes to the improvement of Short-Horn cat-

tle, that this county stands in the foremost ranks as the

home of thoroughbred Short-Horns.

This count\' is especially noted as a producing county,

whilst owing to the many high-priced cattle sold, and the

custom of annual sales, many have been tempted to buy

and speculate, and ship stock to the West to sell again.

Only those will be noticed in the short space allotted to

this subject who have established themselves as breeders,

and, of course, it would be impossible to notice all the

stock owned in the county, because almost every farmer in

Bourbon County has now or has had during his life a Short-

Horn bull or cow, either pedigreed or non-pedigreed.

The principles of breeding are so well known to all

Short-Horn breeders that the following suggestions are pre-

sented with reluctance
;
yet before criticizing let the reader

answer this question : What is the correct theory of breed-

ing ; and am I pursuing that one ?

So many have allowed prejudice to control their ideas of

crossing, that form has in many instances been sacrificed to

blood. But this has only been of late years, so that the

injury has not yet been felt as much as it will be unless

they retrace their steps, while it is time. Happily, this is

confined to but few herds.

Again, many breeders have pursued a fixed type and

standard, endeavoring to breed up to a certain form, requir-

ing a good pedigree, but always insisting that the animal

shall be good also. This class of breeders are a blessing

to the cattle interests of the country.

Others have embarked largely in paper pedigrees, be-

lieving that blue blood, if costly, is all that is necessary.

It is needless to say that this class have already come to

grief

Others have good herds, but have been compelled by the

demands of the public to discard bulls that they desired

and use others that were more fashionably colored or bred,

saying truly, " I am too old, and have not the means to

fight against tlie fashion. I must have money, and I can-

not use the bull I prefer simply because the animal traces

to a tribe in England that were not Bates nor Booth."

They have the sympathy of every honest breeder, and the

time may yet come in their generation when the sole ques-

tion shall be. Where can we find the best individual Short-

Horn ? It is still true to a certain extent, that " like pro-

duces like," yet if you select a cow from the herd of a

breeder, who has for years been breeding to produce a

type of fine bone, quick flesh-producing, even lines and
great style, and breed the same to a bull from the herd of

a breeder who has been seeking alone for size without

regard to shape, or to a bull from another breeder who has
only sought after blood, you will be apt to miss the mark
in the offsjMng, and can have no assurance that it will be
like either sire or dam.

When the size is desired to be enlarged, it should not be
too abruptly done, and there is such a thing as obtaining

animals too large and coarse. If you can get a cow of say

1,600 pounds, and a bull of 2,300 pounds of flne style, flne

bone, and good shape, you have them heavy enough for all

general purposes.

Short-Horns of a true type and good shape, that is to say,

level backed, wide crops, wide hips, swelling sides, fine bone,
fine tail, neat blood-like appearance, straight lines across the
hips, straight from the point of the hock to point of hip
near the tail, straight along the belly from the brisket to
the end of the flank, smooth shoulders, not sinking at the
girth, soft elastic skin, good handlers, placid, calm eye,

short in the legs, short tapering horns, waxy horns well set

on, quiet disposition, good milkers, clean, clear muzzle,
solid colors, either red or roan, these have long been sought
after, bred for and purchased when attainable, and breeders
with pride in their stock have endeavored to produce them
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from the earliest known period in Short-Horn history, and

it is not surprising that Bourbon County breeders have in

the main owned many that were never defeated in the show

ring. And as such stock ^as been the result of much

trouble and experiment, so it has and ever will deservedly

command high prices. Requiring several generations of

judicious crossing, weeding out defects, meeting out to the

breeders many blanks with the prizes, it is a fascinating

pursuit, and is increasing daily the number of its votaries.

It is worth while to notice in passing the change in the

colors of Short-Horns, most every one can remember that

there was a time within their memory that Short-Horn cat-

tle were uniformly white and roan, with here and there a red.

Take, for example, one of the leading herds of this

county in 1851, 1852 and 1853, of fifteen head recorded in

Volume II, A. H. B. Eight were roans and seven whites.

The same breeder would not allow a white animal to be

used on his herd for a bonus of $3,000 a year. Who knows

but the style and fashion may change back again into its

> former channel ? It is well to observe that the scarcer and

more rare Short-Horns of peculiar qualities become, the

higher prices they are held at in some quarters. While,

on the other hand, it is with satisfaction that we observe

many new beginners whose names appear at the annual

sales, from New York to California, and Minnesota to Texas,

indicating that the people, as a mass, are beginning to

appreciate the value of an infusion of thoroughbred blood

into scrub herds, and to at last acknowledge that a two-

j'ear-old thoroughbred, or even higli grade, is equal to a

three-year-old of common, mongrel stock.

Among the early breeders ofShort-Horn cattle in Bourbon

County, we find the name of Gen. James T. G-arrard, the

father of the late Charles Garrard, who was also a breeder.

Gen. James T. Garrard's stock was sold by his executors

in 1838, at which sale the bull Eclipse was sold for $688 to

George Bedford and A. V. Bedford, and the bull Exception

brought $1,830, and was knocked down to Brutus J. Clay

and the Hutchcrafts.

As the importation of 1817 will always be an interesting

theme to the older breeders, especially to those who have

even now an admiration for the stock, and which at one

time stood at the head of many of the best herds in the

county, a catalogue of the herd of late Gen. James T.

Garrard, of cattle bred by him, is given below, taken from

a manuscript of the papers of Charles Garrard, and pub-

lished in the Franklin Farmer February 17, 1838 :

BULLS.

No. 1—Cornplanter, calved September 4, 1821 ;
was got

by the imported Tecumseh, out of cow No. 1.

No. 2—Champion, sire and dam as No. 1 ; calved Janu-

ary 22, 1823.

No. 3—Sportsman, calved February 3, 1824
;
got by No.

1, and out of cow No. 2.

No. 4—Denton, calved January 31, 1827
;
got by bull

No. 2, and out of cow No. 1.

No. 5—Exchange, calved in 1827
;
got by bull No. 2, and

out of Sylvia, full sister'to cow No. 1.

No. 6—Misfortune, calved in March, 1828
;
got by bull

No. 3, and out of cow No. 1.

No. 7—Comet, calved in December, 1829 ; was got by

bull No. 3, and out of cow No. 1.

No. 8—Duroc, calved in 1828 ; was got by bull No. 3,

and out of Sylvia, full sister to cow No. 1.

No. 9—Drone, calved in 1830 ; was got by bull No. 3,

out of cow No. 1.

No. 10—Slider, calved May 31, 1832 ;
was got by bull

No. 8, and out of cow No. 1.

No. 11—Exception, calved February 16, 1833 ; was got

by bull No. 5, and out of cow No. 9.

No. 12—Dentonio, calved in June, 1834 ; was got by bull

No. 4, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 13—Hubback, calved in April, 1834 ; was got by

bull No. 4, and out of cow No. 9.

No. 14—Albion, calved in April, 1835 ; was got by bull

No. 10, and out of cow No. 8.

No. 15—Suwarrow, calved March 4, 1833 ; was got by

bull No. 5, and out of cow No. 6.

No. 16—Experiment, calved March 16, 1837; was got

by bull No. 11, and out of cow No. 8.

No. 17—A roan bull, calved March 6, 1836 ; was got by

bull No. 11, and out of cow No. 8.

cows AND HEIFERS.

No. 1—Lady Munday, calved in 1819 ; was got by im-

ported San Martin, out of imported Mrs. Motte.

No. 2—My Smith Heifer, calved in 1820 ; was got by

imported San Martin, out of Capt. Smith's imported Dur-

ham cow.

No. 3—Tulip, calved February 22, 1824 ; was got by

Miranda, and out of cow No. 1. Miranda was gotten in

England, and out of Capt. Smith's Teeswater cow.

No. 4—Hyacinth, calved February 6, 1826 ; was got by

bull No. 2, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 5—Beauty, calved in 1826 ; was got by bull No. 3,

and out of cow No. 1.

No. 6—Miss Durham, calved in 1828 ; was got by bull

No. 3, and out of cow No. 5.

No. 7—Sprightly, calved January 31, 1828 ; was got by

bull No. 3, and out of cow No. 3.

*7I=
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No. 8—Moss Rose, calved October 29, 1829 ; was got by

bull No. 3, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 9—Cherry, calved October 31 , 1829 ; was got by

bull No. 6, and out of cow No. 7.

No. 10—Red Heifer, sold to Abm Smith ; calved in 1831

or 1832 ; was got by bull No. 8, out of cow No. 6.

No. 11—Drucilla, calved in 1831 ; was got by bull No.

8, and out of cow No. 1.

No. 12—Flora, calved in 1831 ; was got by bull No. 8,

and out of cow No. 3.

No. 13—Primrose, calved in 1832 ; was got by bull No.

8, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 14—Maria, calved in February ; was got by Oscar,

out of cow No. 8.

No. 15—Matilda, calved February 28, 1835 ; was got by
bull No. 10, and out of cow No. 9.

No. 16—Snowdrop, calved August 26, 1836 ; was got by
bull No. 11, and out of cow No. 12.

No. 17—Malvina, calved March 6, 1836
; was got by

Imp. Matchem, out of cow No. 9.

No. 18—Miss Reese, calved December 11, 1835 ; was got

by bull No. 11, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 19—Mary Ann, calved March 24, 1837 ; was got by
Imp. Matchem, and out of cow No. 3.

No. 20—Marchioness, calved February 11, 1837
; was

got by Imp. Matchem, and out of cow No. 14.

The care taken in the compilation of this catalogue, before

the American Herd-Book was thought of, commends itself

to every breeder, and is an example of the attention Gen.

G-arrard paid to his stock.

The bull Otley (4632), probably one of the best bulls

ever in Kentucky, was imported in 1836, by Messrs. Dunn
& Smith, and sold to Wasson & Shropshire, of Bourbon
County, for $2,100. His calves were noted for fine hair,

and being good handlers.

In 1840, the Fayette County Importing Company sold

the stock they imported in 1839. Among the purchasers,

we find the following :

Orlando (3335), sold to H. Clay, Jr., Bourbon $305 00

Miss Luck, sold to H. Clay, Jr., Bourbon 800 00

Lady Elizabeth, sold to H. Clay, Jr., Bourbon.. . 660 00

In 1860, the Earl of Seaham (1499), was imported by
Messrs. Stevens & Sherwood, and bought by Rev. John A.

Gano, Sr.

In 1863, the Northern Kentucky Association (so called

because all its members were north of the Kentucky River)

commissioned Charles T. Garrard, Nelson Dudley and Solo-

mon Vanmeter, to import some cattle. They brought over

twenty-four head, and these were sold shortly after their

arrival. Brutus J. Clay was President of this association.

and many Bourbon County men were members. At this

sale, the following stock fell to Bourbon breeders :

The roan bull. Diamond (416), was sold to a

company, viz., Brutus J.^lay, i ; J. Dun-
can, i; H. Clay, i; G. M. Bedford, i.

Total for $6,001 00

Lady Stanhope, by Earl Stanhope, to B. J. Clay, 1,500 00

Gem, by Broker ('9993), T. L. Cunningham 835 00

Necklace, by Duke of Athol (10150), H. Clay, Jr. , 805 00

Bracelet, twin sister to Necklace, M. M. Clay. . 750 00

Lady Caroline, by Newtonian, B. J. Clay 1,825 00

Orphan Nell, by Ruby (10760), J. Hill and J. A.

Gano 1,000 00

In 1853, there was an association in Scott County that

imported aud sold the following :

Venus, by Fair Eclipse (11456), J. Hill $710 00

Rosamond,by Sir Charles Napier (10816) S.Corbin, 575 00

Cameo, by Arrow (9906), W. BosweU 450 00

Among the early importers, we find the name of James
E. Letton. He imported the celebrated bull Locomotive

(4242), and the cow Miss Severs. He began breeding about

1837, and was breeding in 1841.

Mr. James Matson imported John 0. Gaunt (11621), and

Javelin (11610), about 1852.

The Hutchcraft Brothers—John, James and Reuben

—

were breeding in 1840, and constituted a firm. They im-

ported the bull Van Buren 1062, bred by Col. Craddoek,

in England.

Charles S. Brent was one of the pioneer breeders of

Bourbon County, and continued as such down to 1851.

He, at an early day, took the trip over the Alleghany
Mountains to Philadelphia, and brought over several head
from Col. Powell's stock.

It is said that stopping at a wayside tavern in the wilds

of Pennsylvania, one of the cows that he had purchased
dropped a calf, and, in the night, the crafty landlord, with
an eye to improving the scrub stock of Pennsylvania
Mountains, and not having the fear of the law or his Maker
before his eyes, stole the calf, and substituted one of his

own in stead. But the theft was discovered, and the calf

belonging to the Short-Horn cow found hid in the hay, and
restored to its natural dam.

Among other breeders of note we find Rev. John A.
Gario, who is still living, hale and hearty, although age is

beginning to show.

He began the Bellevue herd in 1835 or 1836. The
source of his herd was Phoenix and Rosette, two heifers,

by Oliver (2387), in calf to Goldfinder (2066) purchased
from Maj. Ben Warfield, near Lexington, Ky., at $1,100, in

1836.

He also bought of Gen. James Garrard some of Excep-

^
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tion produce. In 1839, he purchased the young bull Ches-

terfield (3364) from J. G. Dunn's herd at $470. He also

bred to Imp. Otley (4632). In 1845, he bought Cres-

cent (11319) of Maj. George W. Williams. In 1847, he

purchased Locum (11698) from James Duncan, and the

same year bought of James Renick, the bull calf. Gen.

Worth, by Ashland.

In 1850, he owned Gold Eagle (535). In 1853, pur-

chased the imported bull. Earl of Seaham (10181) at

$2,000, and the same year he bought at James Matson's

sale Duchess and Lady Washington, both in calf, to Imp.

John 0. Gaunt (11621) at about $850.

In partnership with J. Hill, he bought Imp. Orphan

Nell in 1853 at $1,000 at North Kentucky Importing Asso-

ciation sale, and with Mr. Hill purchased, in 1854, Imp.

Venus, at Scott County Importing Companj-'s sale at |600,

and the same year Rev. John A. Gano bought Rubj' at sale

of Kentucky Importing Company. Orphan Nell was of

the celebrated Princess tribe, and produced many prize

winners. This herd has varied in the course of the past

forty years, and generally averaged about twenty to thirty

breeders. Present size of herd about nine head, but Mr.

Gano expects to increase it soon.

James Bagg, of Bourbon County, also imported some

valuable stock, among which we note Imp. bull Oakum

(763) calved in 1852. Imp. Milo (711), and the cow Imp.

Amelia by Plato, from which descended so many valuable

show animals. He also imported the cow Pomona by Bed-

ford, Jr. Mr. Bagg is still living in Bourbon County

about six miles from Paris.

Charles T. Garrard, a son of Gen. James T. Garrard,

closed out the remainder of his herd in 1865, November 15.

He had been breeding many years, and was one of the early

pioneers in Short-Horn raisinginthis county. At his sale he

sold the bull Exchange (3050), and sixteen cows and

heifers, at an average of $156, most of the cows were

1817 stock.

Maj. George W. Williams, at the sale of Fayette County

Importing Company, in 1840, purchased Fashion at $440,

and Zela, a calf of Fashion's, at $445. He was the breeder

of Romulus (12019). and, in 1841, bred the celebrated cow

Lonan by Imp. Otley, from which have descended probably

more show stock than from any other single cow, and

whose produce brought such high prices at the celebrated

sale of D. BIcMillan, Xenia, Ohio. At the sale of Maj.

Williams, the cow Imp. Zelia by Norfolk passed into the

hands of Col. B. N. Shropshire, who also owned Imp. Otley,

and Annie Fisk. Mr. Shropshire died in 1878, and was a

breeder of Short-Horns up to time of his death.

James S. Duncan, also one of .the early breeders, a son

of Maj. Jerre Duncan, bought Lonan at Maj. Williams'

sale. He also founded the celebrated Nannie Williams

family. He bred Perfection (810) from Lonan cow. Mr.

J. S. Duncan died in 1849.

Maj. Jerre Duncan was an extensive breeder in 1850.

His stock was principally Lonan's Nannie Williams, Ruby

by young Sir Dimple, etc. His final sale was in August,

1867.

Brutus J. Clay was for the last forty years, and, up to the

time of his death in 1878, one of the foremost of Ken-

tucky breeders, an enthusiastic admirer of Short-Horns,

possessing a fine estate, and a breeder on a large scale.

For over forty years the President of the Bourbon County

Agricultural Association, and also President of the North

Kentuckj' Importing Company, and a liberal buyer of best

stock, he soon formed a basis for the Auvergne herd that

has produced many prize winners. He began breeding in

1837, and procured his start at Gen. Garrard's sale. The

average number of head kept by him has been about one

hundred. He owned Imp. Lady Caroline, Lady Stan-

hope, Imp. Susan. He also imported, in 1853, Loco-

motive (646). Lady Caroline was imported in 1853, and

was descended from Lady Sarah by Satellite, the finest and

highest priced cow at Mason's sale at Chilton. Animals

used on this herd were Orontes 2d, Rover, Wissahikon,

Duke of Bloomfield, London Duke, etc. ; families embraced

in this herd also were Imp. Lady Lettontons, imp. Brace-

lets, Imp. Adelaide and Imp. Goodnesses, etc. From

1856 to 1861, this herd took five herd premiums at the

United States and State fairs.

Henry Clay, who is still living at the advanced age of

eighty-three years, began his herd in 1839 and 1840, and

has been continuously so engaged ever since at his farm

on the Winchester pike, about five miles from Paris. He

bought two cows from the Fayette Importing Company at

the sale in 1840. Lady Elizabeth brought $660, and from

her has descended nearly all his herd. She is the source

from whence sprang the celebrated Nelly Bly family that

commanded an average of $1,261 per head for the females

at J. H. Spear's sale at Tallula, 111., in 1875.

He also bought the cow Miss Luck, who died in his

hands leaving the bull Whig.

At his sale in 1867, he sold Burnside, 4618 ; Mozark,

5976, and thirty-four cows, mostly Lady Elizabeths and

Imp. lanthe stock. The average herd numbered about

thirty head. The best bull raised by him was Havelock

2598.

Among the early breeders, we find H. W. Varnon. He
obtained the start of his herd from Noah Spears, Jr., John

A. Gano, Maj. Williams and James Matson. He owned

k"
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Imp. Javelin, 11610, and sold six bulls and twenty-five

cows at his sale in 1856.

Ben C. Bedford began breeding Short-Horns in this

county in 1840, and was quite a prominent breeder for

many years, he obtained his start from Gen. James T.

Garrard. Most of his stock in the years 1844 to 1854, were

1817.

He bfed to Pioneer, 818; Perfection, 810, and Exchange,

483. He has been dead for several years, but left a son,

Ben F. Bedford, who will be noticed further in the proper

place.

Among the noted breeders of the present day, whose

experience reaches back almost half a century, we find

George M. Bedford, the proprietor of the Stoner herd,

whose farm is situated about four miles from Paris on the

North Middletown Turnpike, the home of so many prize-

winners. He began breeding in 1838, when he obtained

his first thoroughbred bull, and purchased his cow in 1842.

He bought stock from R. How, of Nicholas County, and

from Samuel Campbell, ofNew York. He has kept his herd

up to almost seventy-five head. The best cow owned by

him among so many was probably 56th Duchess of Good-

ness. He owned an interest in Imp. Diamond, and Imp.

Sebastopol. In 1860, his herd netted him $1,000 in prizes,

The 14th Duke of Thorndale, which stood long at the head

of his herd, sold for $17,500 at public sale.

Edwin G. Bedford, the proprietor of Woodland Villa

herd, about five miles from Paris on the Lexington pike

where he still resides, began breeding Short-Horns in 1842

or 1843. He soon established a national reputation with

his Laura family (1817's), and his London Duchess family

(with odd numbers), the latter tracing direct to Imp. Miss

Hudson by Hermes (8145), and being crossed with such

noted animals as 14th Duke of Thorndale, 2d Duke of

Geneva, Imp. Duke of Airdrie, 5th Duke of Geneva, 21st

Duke of Airdrie, etc. At his sale in 1 874, he sold all his

London Duchess family, and B. P. Bedford became the

purchaser at high prices of most of them. He also raised

some noted stock from his Kitty Clover family and Gan-

nondale Imp. Rosabella stock. He replenished his herd at

the North Elkhorn Imp. Company sale, and has quite a

good herd both in numbers and individual merit.

James Hall, the proprietor of Houston Dale herd has

been one of the most successful breeders now living in

Bourbon County. He began breeding in 1851, and pro-

cured the start for his herd from C. S. Brent at his sale in

1851, and also from the herds of William Warfleld and

Ben Warfleld, near Lexington. The animals used on this

herd were Sir George, Strafford, Princeton and the Rose of

Sharon bulls, Duke of Mason, Lord of the Manor, Marma-

duke and Oxford, Cambridge and the bull 43d London

Duke, of London Duchess family. The tribes comprising

this herd are Pomonas, Young Marys, Miss Wileys, Rose

of Sharon, Cambrias, Phyllis, Galateas and Jessamine.

He has been very successful in the Jessamine family,

breeding many prize-winners of a very even type and

great style, inclining to fatten early, and of beautiful "colors.

The basis of the pedigrees of Houston Dale have a strong

infusion of blood from the tribes of such men as Thomas

Bates, C. Mason, G. Crates, Mr. Charge, Robert and

Charles Colling.

The Duke of Mason was full brother to Airdrie 3d, long

at the head of A. Renick's herd. Marmaduke was a calf of

Norma's ; Lord of the Manor was by Muscatom, dam Grace.

Porty-third London Duke's sire sold for $17,500 at pub-

lic sale, and his dam for $4,400.

Mr. Hall has raised exclusively to sell, frequently exhib-

iting his yearlings, and two-year-olds with great success,

and then disposing of them, thus allowing the purchasers

to procure some of his best. He has been enabled by

private and public sale to keep his herd down to about

thirty breeding cows.

In the long course of his breeding, he has had some pro-

lific cows, one that produced twins four times, and on one

of these occasions a heifer twinned with a bull proved to

be a breeder, which is a rare freak of nature, as they are

almost invariably free-martins. He at one time had three

cows of respective .ages, eighteen, eighteen and nineteen,

which were all breeders. The highest price obtained from

the sale of a cow from this herd was $3,000, for Grace 4th,

at private sale.

Houston Dale farm is about one and a half miles from

Paris, on the Ford's Mill road.

Ben P. Bedford, the proprietor of the Sweet Valley herd,

located about four miles from Paris, on the Clintonville

Pike, began breeding this herd in 1865, and used the best

strains of blood attainable, and he has ever since been one

of the most successful exhibitors at the leading fairs in

this country. The herd was built up strongly from the

Red Daisy or Desdemona family, which family trace back,

in the English Herd-Book, as far as 1770, and came from

Waistell's and Colling's herd. The sources of this herd

were from the well-known stock of S. D. Martin and Hub-
bard Taylor, with the addition, in late years, of London
Duchesses, Lady Knightly's Rose of Sharons and Good-
nesses.

Mr. Bedford has endeavored to obtain the best blood,

and to produce, by judicious crossing, animals for the show
ring, and suitable for breeding purposes.

Franklin Bedford, a veteran breeder, began his present
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herd in 1853, of Matson's stock, and the source of most of

his stock were Imp. Rosabella, by Velocipede—family Imp.

lanthe family—and Imp. Pedigree by Mynheer. He has

converted almost all the males into steers, and preserved

' the females until his herd has attained considerable pro-

portions. He has been very successful in the production

of beef cattle, which demonstrates the fitness of Short-

Horns for that purpose. In 1877, he sold five steerfe three

years old that averaged even 2,000 pounds, that went direct

to England ; four of them were Rosabella family, and the

other Imp. Pedigree.

In 1876, he sold twelve head of three-year-olds, averaging

2,495 pounds.

John Cunningham, of Clintonville, has taken a great deal

of interest in Short-Horns all his life, and has a herd of

about thirty head. He began breeding in 1853
;

purchased

Imp. Fannie, by Selim, at a cost of $1,000; also Imp.

Deceiver 401. Both imported from Ireland, by Messrs.

Wilson & Seawright, of Cincinnati, Ohio.

The best cow owned by him was the cow Dixie 1st ; the

Roan Duchess Bull, 2d Roan Duke of Oneida, stands at

the head of his herd. His stock is principally of Imp.

Illustrious, Rosemary and Phyllis families.

Cassius M. Clay, Jr., for a time partner with his father,

the late Brutus J. Clay, controls the Auvergne herd, and

is pursuing the same successful plan of breeding adopted

by his father—to have good pedigrees, and animals indi-

vidually of merit. Cassius M. Clay began breeding Short-

Horns about 1871, and has devoted his time to the same

ever since, in connection with farming a large estate

—

probably one of the most extensive in this State, and cer-

tainly presenting the true ideal of an " Old Kentucky

Home," excelled by none. The source of his herd were the

4th and 2d Duchess of the Valley—the first a Craggs, and

the second an Imp. Garland.

His present herd are also of other leading families—

Agathas, Lady Carolines, Blooms, London Duchesses, Lady

Elizabeths and Roan Duchesses.

He added the fine cow, Imp. Georgia Hillhurst, to his

herd, from the North Elkhorn Importing Company's sale.

His herd numbers about fifty head. Among the fine show

stockproduced from this herd, we notice London Duke 23120.

Mr. Clay has also been elected to fill the position of ,

President of the Bourbon County Agricultural Association,

and from his experience in the halls of the Assembly of

Kentucky, and his extensive knowledge of agriculture, he

has proven himself a~deserving officer.

Harvey W. Rice was quite a prominent breeder of Short-

Horns, beginning about 1852, and selling his herd in 1871.

He bred the cow Fashion, twin sister to Fancy, of Ipp.

Rosemary family. Fashion's gr. dam, Cambria, was the

cow from which descended the celebrated Lonan family.

Fancy was the dam of the Kittj^ Clover family, so cele-

brated in Edwin Bedford's hands. At his sale in 1871,

four bulls and twenty cows were sold, principally of the

Cambria or Imp. Rosemary families.

The Glenwood herd deserves mention, both on account

of its extent, and the fine stock coniposing it. Bfegan by

E. K. Thomas, with a herd of near forty, and in conjunction

with Henry Smith, forming the firm of Thomas & Smith.

Its success has been demonstrated by carrying off the grand

prizes of $300 each, offered by the Bourbon County Agri-

cultural Societj' for best cow and bull, taking the same tie

three years in succession.

The herd is largely composed of Young Marys, which

are noted for their size, style and color ;
also. Golden Pippin

or Blooms, Adelaides, Jessamines, Imp. Pearlette, Des-

demona. Rose of Sharon, Lady Knightly and London

Duchesses. Thorndale Duke, which stood at head of herd

in 1874, took nine first prizes in 1872-73.

Lewis Cunningham began breeding Short-Horns in 1867,

procured his first start from Jerre Duncan's herd, at his

sale in 1867 ; also, some from the herds of William and

Abram Renick.

His stock have been principally Imp. Illustrious, Young

Mary, Rose of Sharon, Red Roses, etc. He sold a heifer

some years ago that crossed the ocean to fill a place in

Lord Dunmore's herd, at the round sum of $3,400. Mr.

Cunningham is one of the best posted men in the county

in Short-Horn pedigrees ; but, of late years, has reduced

his herd to about ten head, called Sulphur Well herd.

J. W. Liver, owner of the Green Creek herd, began

breeding Short-Horns in 1855, with stock of Imp. Illustrious

and Young Mary families, purchased from William Renick

and Isaac Van Meter ; keeps about fifty head.

He once owned and used Lord Napier, whose sire and

dam were imported.

His farm is situated near Clintonville, about seven miles

from Paris.

0. H. Burbridge was at one time quite a breeder, and

his name occurs frequently in the early volumes of the

American Herd-Book. He was breeding in 1 847, and bred

to Lord Vane Tempest, Imp. John 0. Gaunt, Imp. Javelin,

etc. He obtained most of his stock from James Matson's

herd. He has ceased breeding Short-Horns several years ago.

Joshua Barton, proprietor of the Hinkston herd, near

Millersburg, had, as shown by his catalogue of 1879, quite

a good lot of high-bred Short-Horns, of such families as

Rose of Sharons, Cypresses, Myrtles, Seriiphinas, Miss

Flathers, Peris Irene, Young Mary, Phyllis, Frantic, etc.

7. ^^
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The animal, at head of herd up to 1881, was 5th Lord

Oxford 31738, and Norma's Duke.

J. E. Sudduth began breeding Short-Horns about 1868,

and in 1873 had twenty-seven head, among which we notice

the celebrated show bulls Dick Taylor and Washington,

the latter taking eleven first premiums.

In 1880, having five years previously entered into part-

nership with E. B. Hutchcraft, the firm sold their stock,

consisting of Young Marys, Jessamines, Eose of Sharons,

etc.

The herd was kept at Stony Point Farm, about eight

miles from Paris, on the Winchester pike. The name of

herd is Stony Point herd
; numbers about forty females.

Bulls in use now are the Eose of Sharon bull, 5th Duke
of Sycamore, 8497, and the Bates bull Oxford, of Fairview.

E. B. Hutchcraft has also kept at his farm, about four

miles from Paris, on the Winchester pike, adjoining B. F.

Bedford's, quite a nice herd of well-bred stock, and indi-

vidually good. Mr. Hutchcraft is endeavoring to build up

a herd that will be a credit to the county.

Col. W. E. Simms has probably the largest number of

fashionably bred stock composing his herd to be found in

Bourbon County.

He has spared no expense to procure the best blood, and

in his herd you will find such as Lady Sails, Imp. Tube-

roses, Imp. Princesses, Hilpas, Cypresses, Miss Wileys,

Eose of Sharons, Imp. Georgie Oxford 3d.

The bulls used have been 14th Duke of Thorndale, 2d

Duke of Oneida, 4th Duke of Hillhurst, the latter being

owned by Col. Simms, and proving himself one of the best

Duke's bulls in the country.

John Hill was one of the prominent breeders. At an

early day, and in connection with Eev. John A. Gano, im-

ported some well-bred stock, and maintained his interest in

fine cattle until the day of his death in 1870.

He began breeding about 1840, and owned Imp.

Irene and an interest in the Princess cow Imp. Orphan

Nell, also in Imp. Venus, imported in 1853 from Cattley's

herd in England. In 1870, his herd of fifty-six head

were sold by his administrators, Irene 12th bringing $400.;

Irene 10th, $500 ; Irene 8th, $400, etc. His son, Capt.

F. Gano Hill, has kept up a good herd on the farm ever

since his father's death. The name of the herd is appro-

priately called '• Hillburn Herd," and numbers now about

fifty head ; averages annual herd about thirty. The fam-

ilies represented there are Imp. Irene, Orphan Nell, lanthe,

Eose of Sharon, Jubilee, etc. Capt. Gano Hill buried

two imported cows—May Lars 2d and Chilton Queen,

the first costing $800, and the second $1,000.

Capt. Hill sold to A. J. Alexander from this herd a

Jubilee heifer for $610, and she is now at Woodburn. The

bulls used on this herd of note are Baron Bates, Baron J,

and Chancery. " Hillburn " is near'Centerville, about eight

miles west of Paris.

Dr. William Kenney has now a well-bred Bates herd on

his farm near Houston Station, nearly opposite B. G. Bed-

ford's farm, consisting of about thirty head. His aim has

been to secure good animals, and improve his stock by

judicious crossing.

He used on this herd the Craggs bull, Duke of Brock-

ton, and the Desdemona bull. Prince Climax 2d. The

families in this herd are of the following tribes : Imp.

Jane, Imp. Adelaide, Imp. Pansy, Imp. Agatha, Imp.

Countess (or Craggs) Imp. Arabella, Imp. Mrs. Severs,

etc.

His first catalogue was issued in 1876.

It is also worthy of note, and interesting to Short-Horn

men, that the Short-Horn Eecord is being edited at Paris.

Beginning as a private book, it soon assumed a national

shape, and is at present edited by the well-known and pop-

ular Col. L. P. Muir, who has been so successful in the

compilation of catalogues and management of public sales,

his services being in demand in every State in the Union

where Short-Horns are sold at public sale.

He has made Short-Horn pedigrees his study, especially

for the past ten years, and it is with satisfaction we note

the fact that he has been selected as editor of the Short-

Horn Eecord, a book of which Kentucky breeders may
well be proud, and which is calculated to inspire confidence

in the public, from the fact that every pedigree now received

and recorded there may be entitled a thoroughbred, and
where- errors are discovered the public is unhesitatingly

informed of the fact.

This book reaches back as far as the English Herd-

Book, and is being liberally patronized in the West, and
its success is already determined.

In conclusion it may be said that whilst Short-Horns
have fluctuated in prices as much as real estate, yet like

real estate they have in the end proved a good investment.

There are many new beginners stepping into the ranks
deserving of mention, but that must be left to some future

scribe, believing that new laurels will be added to the

already noted herds of Bourbon County, and that this

county will still continue to be one of the great centers

from which supplies are to be sent to the North and West,
and that stock raised here will still preserve untarnished
the fame already justly given to the Bourbon County herds.—Irivin Taylor.

el
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OHAPTEE YII.

WAR HISTORY OF BOURBON COUNTY— THE REVOLUTION AND INDIAN TROUBLES— OUR SECOND WAR WITH GREAT

BRITAIN—CAPT. GARRARD'S COMPANY—TROUBLE WITH MEXICO—A COMPANY MADE UP

BY CAPT. sums—THE LATE WAR—INCIDENTS, ETC., ETC.

"Then the glad ears of each war-martyred son

Proudly shall hear the glad tidings ' well done.'

God will reward those dead heroes of ours,

And cover them over with beautiful flowers."

— Gnrleton.

THE first knowledge the Anglo-Saxon had of Kentucky

was intermingled with " wars and the rumors of

wars." When the pioneer, Boone, climbed

"The mountain there, and stood alone, alone !

Upon its top amid the rounding clouds,"

a mighty war with the mother country was upon the eve

of breaking forth—a war that led the American people to

freedom and liberty. Many of the Kentucky pioneers

were soldiers who had fought in the Revolutionary army,

and when thej' arrived in their new homes—homes that

had been given them for gallant service—they were forced

to fight the savages for their possession, often to the death.

These contests between the white and red men are more

particularly described in a preceding chapter. How many

of the early settlers of this section were Revolutionary

soldiers is not known, but it is believed that a large major-

ity of them had taken part in the struggle for independ-

ence. According to Collins, there were known to be still

living, in 1840, within the limits of Bourbon County, the

following soldiers of the Revolution . Archibald Belb

William B. Branham, John Brest, Sr., George Bryan, Isaac

Clinkinbeard, James Davis, John Debinler, Nathaniel Har-

ris, Andrew Harves, Thomas Hays, Benjamin Henniss,

John Hinkston, Joseph Jackson, Edward McConnell, Will-

iam Scott, Sr., Abner Shropshire, Michael Smith, Joseph

L. Stevens, Henry Towles, Henry Wilson and Henry Wig-

gington. This was .quite an array of soldiers to be living

sixty years after the scenes of their campaigns, and gives

a pretty good idea of the number that must have been

among the original settlers. After their settlement here,

it was one long-continued struggle, as elsewhere men-

tioned, almost up to the beginning of our second war with

England. Considering her population at the time, Ken-

tucky furnished, perhaps, twice as many men during the

war of 1812 as any other State in the Union, without it

was Virginia. Not a battle nor a skirmish was fought

during the whole period of the war in which Kentucky

was not well and fully represented.

As in the war of the Revolution, so in the war of 1812,

it is impossible to say how many soldiers Kentucky did

furnish. This we do know that where life was to be

risked and glory won, Kentuckians were always found.

Collins gives the following list of a company that went

from Bourbon County :
" William Garrard, Captain

;
Ed-

mund Basye, First Lieutenant ; David M. Hickman, Sec-

ond Lieutenant ; Thomas H. McClanahan, Cornet ; Charles

S. Clarkson, First Sergeant ; William Barton, Second Ser-

geant; John Clark, Third Sergeant; Benjamin W. Ed-

wards, Fourth Sergeant ; James Benson, First Corporal

;

William Walton, Second Corporal ; Jesse Todd, Third Cor-

poral ;
John S. Bristow, Fourth Corporal ; Joseph McCon-

nell, Farrier ; Ephraim Wilson, Trumpeter ;
William Davis,

Saddler.

" Privates—John Finch, William Beneer, David B.

Langhorn, John Wynne, William Mountjoy, Samuel Hen-

derson, Henry Wilson, William Jones, John Terrell, Wal-

ter Wood3'ard, Moses Richardson, Jacob Shy, Lewis Dun-

can, Robert Thomas, Jacob Counts, John Snoddy, Thomas

Bedford, James Finch, Walker Thornton, Thomas Eastin,

Gerrard Robinson, William M. Baylor, Alexander Scott,

William Scott, James Clark, Roger P. West, Frederick

Loring, Thomas Barton, Samuel J. Caldwell, John Base-

man, Jesse Bowlden, John Funston, James Johnston, John

Layson, William B. Northcutt, Jonathan Clinkinbeard,

Thomas Webster, Abel C. Pepper, Beverly Brown, Ed-

ward Waller, Gustavus E. Edwards, Stephen Barton, Ste-

phen Bedford, John M. Robinson, Jacob Sharrer, Isaac

Sanders, James Brown, Henry Towles, John Metcalfe,

Stephen Owen, James Conn, Jacob Thomas, William Allen-

tharp, Nathaniel Hill, Strother J. Hawkins, Edward

McGuire and Troy Waugh." This list purports to be taken

from the original muster-roll of the company. It was

cavalry, or, as designated, " State dragons." It served for

one year, and was in " Maj. V. Bali's squadron." Thomas

Bedford and Beverly Brown are reported as killed in

i) ^^
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action ; Lieuts. Basye and Hickman, Joseph McConnell,

Farrier, and privates Moses Richardson, Thomas Eastin,

William Scott, Thomas Webster, G. E. Edwards, Stephen

Barton and S. J. Hawkins were wounded. Sergt. John
Clark died ; fourteen are reported sick, thirty-nine frost-

bitten, and three fit for duty. These casualties occurred

between October 31 and December 31, 1812, inclusive.

But the data at hand is too meager, so far as connected

with Bourbon County, to give an extended sketch of the

part she took in it, beyond the fact that a majority of her

able-bodied citizens were engaged in it at some time dur-

ing its progress. The battle of the Thames ended the war

in the Northwest, and the glorious victorj' of Gen. Jackson

at New Orleans put a stop to it for good and all, and the

news of peace, which had already been negotiated at

Ghent, soon spread throughout the countrj'. Thus quiet

came once more to the people of the West. " It was time,"

says a writer upon the subject, " that Kentucky was al-

lowed a little rest, for she may be said to have fought

through the two first years of the war by herself Vir-

ginia gave the Northwest to the nation, and her daughter,

Kentucky, saved it from conquest by savage and foreign

foes at the cost of her noblest blood." Peace settled down
with her inestimable blessings, and almost for the first

time within the memory of the white man, the dark and

bloody ground was in a perfect state of quietude, and free

from the dread of savage foes. War no more disturbed

our peaceful pursuits, except at intervals as the faint

sounds of savage yells and conflicts rolled along our

frontiers, and only came to our ears as the low mutterings

of thunder, from a distant storm cloud, whose lightnings

could harm us not.

For several j'ears the surviving soldiers of 1812 have

been holding their annual re-unions at Paris, and as year

by year is recorded upon the muster-roll of Time, their

number is growing smaller. A few more rolling years,

and the last of these old heroes will have answered the

reveille for the last time. At the annual meeting held in

1881, there were present the following : Moore Johnson,

from Mt. Sterling, aged eighty-six years ;
Thomas Jones,

from Paris, aged eighty-nine ; Thomas Casey, from Fal-

mouth, aged eighty-five ; Dr. C. C. Graham, from Louis-

ville, aged ninety-seven ;
Zach Corbin, from Owen County,

aged ninety ; Enos B. Payne, from Newport, aged eighty-

eight ;
Dr. G. H. Perrin, from Cynthiana, aged eighty-

seven ; Gilead Evans, from Nicholas County, aged eighty-

seven ; Dr. T. G. Chinn, from Lexington, aged eighty-four
;

Joshua Webb, from Madison County, aged eighty-nine
; S.

M. Berry, from Scott Count}', aged eighty-five
; Samuel

Jones, from Fleming County, aged ninety ; and Thomas

White, from Paris, aged eighty-nine. Since the annual

meeting of 1880, the following old veterans had died :

William Northcott, Kenton County, aged ninety-one years
;

Samuel Chinn, Clark County, aged ninety-three ; William

Rupard, Clark County, aged one-hundred and ten ; Greh.

William 0. Butler, Carroll Countj', aged ninety ; Maj. J.

R. Curry, Harrison County, aged ninety-two ; Hy. Lancas-

ter, Garrard County, aged eighty-seven ; Thomas Mount,

, aged eighty-nine ; William Boyd, Oldham

County, aged eighty-five ; Ayres Leforge, Fleming County,

aged eighty-six ; Hamilton Wilson, Newport, aged eighty-

nine ; and John Gillespie, Oldham County, aged one-hun-

dred and one years.

An occasional misunderstanding with some obdurate

tribe of Indians comprised our war experience, until the

American eagle swooped down upon disrupted Mexico.

The causes which led to this unpleasantness grew out of

the admission of Texas into the American Union as a

State, and may be termed but the forerunner of that great

internecine war that commenced with the fall of Fort

Sumter in 1861. That politics bore an important part in

it there is no question. The majority of the Whig party

opposed the measure of annexing Texas to the utmost of

their power. Hon. Tom Corwin, of Ohio, made the

ablest speech of his life, and said to have been one of the

ablest ever made in the United States Senate, against the

further prosecution of the war, just after the fall of Mon-

terey. The Whig party—dominant in the North—be-

lieved it a measure for the extension of slavery, and upon

that ground alone all the Northern members of the party

opposed it. In the Presidential election of 1844, it was

made a question at issue, and James K. Polk, the Democratic

candidate—and whose party favored the annexation of

Texas—was elected over Mr. Clay. This was taken as an

indorsement of the measure by the people, and, accord-

ingly, the "Lone Star" was admitted into the Union as a

State. This led to open hostilities between the United
States and Mexico, which began in the spring of 1846.

In the declaration of war against Mexico, and the call for

troops which followed, Kentucky was required to furnish

four regiments of volunteers, comprising 2,400 men, but

so great was the zeal of the people, that nearly 15,000

men responded to the call. The Louisville Legion, nine

companies strong, reported to the Governor without delay,

and were accepted. The four regiments furnished were

officered as follows : First Regiment Cavalry, Humphrey
Marshall, of Louisville, Colonel (Major General in the

Confederate army in the late war); E. H. Field, of Wood-
ford County, Lieutenant Colonel, and John P. Gaines, of

Boone County, Major. Second Regiment, William R.

^
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McKee, of Lexington, Colonel (killed at Buena Vista)
;

Henry Clay, Jr., of Louisville, Lieutenant Colonel (killed

at Buena Vista) ; C. H. Fry, of Danville, Major. Third Regi-

ment, M. V. Thomson, of Georgetown, Colonel, (formerly

Lieutenant Governor of the State) ; T. L. Crittenden, of

Frankfort, Lieutenant Colonel (Major General in the Federal

army during the late war) ; John C. Breckinridge, of Lex-

ington, Major (Vice President of the United States under

James Buchanan). Fourth Regiment, John S. Williams,

Colonel (now United States Senator from Kentucky)

;

Willifim Preston, of Louisville, Lieutenant Colonel (Major

General in the Confederate army); William T. Ward, of

Greensburg, Major.

The Third Regiment (Col. Thomson) contained a com-

pany (Company H) from Bourbon County, under Capt.

William E. Simms, while a number of men were scattered

through the other regiments and companies. The follow-

ing is the complete roll of the company : W. E. Simms,

Captain ; W. P. Bramlette, First Lieutenant ; C. G. Camp-

bell, Second Lieutenant; William Fisher, Third Lieuten-

ant; Isaac H. Skillman, Orderly Sergeant; John H.

Thompson, Second Sergeant ; William Ewalt, Third Ser-

geant ; L. C. Hughes, Fourth Sergeant ; and James Taylor,

Berry Kennedy, Reuben Sandford and William Samuels,

Corporals. Privates—George W. Leonard, William Adair,

Jackson Aubrey, John Anderson, P. N. Beathers, V. H.

Bivens, D. C. Bonta, Benjamin F. Burden, Charles Bar-

nett, Thomas P. Ball, William Briscoe, James Boswell,

Foster Collins, Andrew Cole, J. G. Craddock, James Cra-

vens, P. E. Coons, Joseph Delaney, Andrew Burgeon, Ben-

jamin Ford, J. N. Fowl, Joseph Gipson, Isaac Gillespie, L.

M. Howell, Harvey Humble, Caleb Hitchins, James Hutch-

inson, J. W. Hedges, James R. Henry, Francis Hulett,

Perry Hughes, Leroy Hughes, Alfred Hulett, A. R. Fisher,

Perry Hampton, J. M. B. Higgins, Joseph Hogg, J. W.

Henry, James Innes, George M. Kenney, Jefferson Kenney,

David Long, John T. Lloyd, M. W. Laughlin, Hugh Lowry,

R. G. McDonald, John Norton, James McCracken, John

Martin, Samuel MuUins, William Murphy, James Nunan,

William H. Norton, Thomas Ryan, L. Boss, John B.

Stivers, A. J. Speyers, Jacob Stokeley, John IL See, Rob-

ert Shidell, Samuel Scott, William Sharp, Joseph Stivers,

Philip Swartz, Thomas H. Sample, John T. Henry, Clai-

borne H. True, Joseph Thompson, Henry Trimble, Jordan

Thomas, Elias Way, John Watkins, W. T. Wells, Lewis

Wyman, Burrell Wood, Andrew Waggott, Lenox Waggott,

James Young, Henry Wilkins, Henry Sharp, Benjamin

Utterback, Horatio Talbott, Joseph Williams, Francis

Hall, Jesse Hall, W. T. Browning, W. E. Bush, John T.

Turrey, Elijah True, Henry Trumbull.

This company was recruited to 108 men, and, as we

have said, formed Company H, Third Regiment Kentucky

Volunteers. The regiment under command of Col. Thom-

son was in the army of Gen. William 0. Butler, and

reached Mexico shortly after the capture of the city, where

it was on active garrison duty for nearly a year. It be-

haved very well ; about twenty died in Mexico, the re-

mains of whom were brouglit home by Capt. Simms, and

interred in the Paris Cemetery, where a handsome monu-

ment, erected by the county, marks their resting place.

The great civil war—the war between the States—was

the next to disturb our peace and tranquillity. Less than

a decade and a half passed, after the close of the Mexican

war, before the great rebellion—as our Northern neigh-

bors term it—broke upon the country. It is scarcely pos-

sible to write a correct, or a just history of this war, even

after this long lapse of time. All the wars we had hith-

erto engaged in were waged against savages or foreign

foes, but now we were called to measure strength among

ourselves—literally, it was Greek meet Greek. A civil

war was inaugurated without a parallel in the world's his-

tory. Of all the conflicts that have ever scourged our

earth, a civil war, wherein the " brother betrays the brother

to death, and the father the son, and children rise up

against their parents, and cause them to be put to death,"

is the most dreadful. The rival houses of York and Lan-

caster, with their emblems of " White " and " Red," shook

Old England to her center, filling her houses with mourn-

ing, her fields with carnage, and wasting the blood of her

bravest and best, but when compared to our " war between

the States," it pales into insignificance. Though the " pen

were dipped in the gloom of earthquake and eclipse," it

could not write a true history of those four dreadful

years—1861-65. All the evils of war, and all the horrors

of civil war were crowded into them, and the refined cru-

elties known to the civilization of the enlightened age in

which we live were practiced by the opposing parties.

But after four years of strife and bloodshed, the olive

branch of peace again waved over us, and now fraternal

love and prosperity smile upon the land from one end of

the nation to the other. As we become naturalized to the

new order of things, we find it a source of congratulation

that the object of strife between the sections is forever

removed, and will never cause another war on American

soil. In the final union of " the Roses," England found

the germ of her future greatness and glory, and in the

harmonious blending of "the Blue" and " the Grey," who

shall limit our own greatness and glory ?

Our State being located upon the border, between the

North and the South, it was but natural that our people
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should be divided in their opinions, as to the justice or

injustice of the war, the acts of the National Government,

and the project of setting up a new Republic. Thus

divided in sentiment, the contending sections received

many recruits (perhaps nearly an equal number, each)

from Central Kentucky and from Bourbon County. Each,

actuated by motives of the highest honor, with a firm,

unswerving faith in the righteousness of their cause, ral-

lied around their respective standards, and went forth to

fight the battles of their country. Imbued with more than

a Roman valor and patriotism, they bore uncomplainingly

the privations of camp and field, and when the oft-repeated

news was brought home of depleted and broken ranks, a

similar spirit hurried on fresh legions to brace up the tot-

tering columns. Bourbon County's valor was attested on

many a hard-fought field, both in the ranks of the blue

and the gray, and her sons were ever ready for posts of

danger. Some, who went out to fight for the cause they

deemed just and right, with only the benediction of a

mother's prayers and tears, came not back to that mother's

arms. They sleep in the, swamps of the Chickahominy,

on the banks of the Rapidan, at Shiloh, Chickamauga,

Corinth, Stone River, Lookout Mountain, Fredericksburg,

Chancellorsville and the Wilderness, and it is no reproach

to their valor that they fell before foes who were as brave

as themselves. Their memory is immortal ; and beautiful

as a crown of gold, the rays of the sunset lay upon the

hilltops where they repose, after their battles. Others,

worn down with toil and exposure, dragged their wearied

bodies home to die, and now sleep in the quiet church-

yards, where, with each recurring anniversary, surviving

friends gather together, moisten with tears the graves, and

with loving hands lay immortelles upon the green hillocks

above them. This is eminently proper. The custom of

strewing floral mementoes on the graves of departed friends

is time-honored and ancient. It is of Oriental origin, and

we read that

"In Eastern lands they talk in flowers,

And tell in garlands their loves and cares/'

and that each little velvet petal that spreads itself to the

light contains a mystical language more powerful and

sj'mpathetic in its nature than tongue can express. In

ancient times, the people were as careful in guarding the

memory of their dead, of embalming their virtues and

erasing their errors, as they were mindful of their liberties.

This sweet privilege, through the long roll of years that

have passed, has fallen a blessed boon to our people, and

they have felt it a duty to recall the virtues and heroic

deeds of noble sons who endured the stern discipline of

the camp, and dared the storm of battle for a cause in

which their hearts and natures were enlisted, and with

spring's first flowers they garland the spot where they

slumber in glorified rest.

'

' Winds of summer, oh ! whisper low

Over the graves where the daisies grow.

Blossoming flowers and songs of bees.

Sweet ferns tossed in the summer breeze

—

Floating shadows and golden lights.

Dewy mornings and radiant nights

—

All the bright and beautiful things

That gracious and bountiful summer brings.

Fairest and sweetest that earth can bestow,

Brighten the graves where the daisies grow."

Of the troops furnished to the National armies from

this county, the Seventh Cavalry and the Fourth and

Twenty-first Infantry received the larger number of men.

Among the commissioned oflflcers of the Seventh Cavalry,

from Bourbon, were the following : A. B. and J. C.

Masoner, Ruddel's Mills ; Thomas L. Scott, Paris ; H. H.

Talbott, Paris ; Rev. M. J. W. Ambrose, Paris ; W. W.
Bradley, Berry Station ; Jesse Bryant, Berry Station

;

William M. Bell, Paris, and perhaps others. The Mason-

ers were Quartermaster and Commissary of the Regiment

;

Rev. Ambrose was Chaplain, but resigned September 6,

1863. Jesse Bryant was promoted to Captain February 7,

1863, and to Major, but never mustered as such. Thomas
L. Scott, promoted from Second to First Lieutenant, May
7, 1863, promoted to Captain, but not mustered as such

—

mustered out of service July 10, 1865. H. H. Talbott,

promoted from Sergeant, Company C, to Second Lieuten-

ant, Company A, wounded at Hopkinsville, December 16,

1864, and mustered out July 10, 1865; and William M.

Bell, Second Lieutenant. W. W. Bradley entered the

service as Captain of Company D, was promoted to Major
February 6, 1863 ; to Lieutenant Colonel, September 17,

1864, and mustered out July 10, 1865. The following

sketch of the Seventh Cavalry is from Gen. D. W. Lindsey's

report as Adjutant General of Kentucky during the war :

" This regiment was organized at Paris, Ky., in August,

1862, under Col. Leonidas Metcalfe, and was mustered
into service by Maj. L. Sitgraves, IJnited States mustering
officer. Before the regiment was thoroughly equipped or

disciplined, they were ordered into active duty, and en-

gaged in the battle of Big Hill, Ky., where they received

the charge of the enemy under Gen. Kirby Smith, and lost

many officers and soldiers in killed, wounded and prison-

ers. Owing to the enemy having possession of nearly the

entire State, the organization of the regiment was much
retarded. In October, 1862, under, command of Col.

Faulkner (Col. Metcalfe having resigned), the Seventh was
placed upon active duty, and assigned to the Department

;^
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of the Cumberland. It was in all the early engagements

in Southern Kentucky and Tennessee, and bj' their gallant

bearing and soldiery conduct upon many well-fought

fields won the commendation of the commanding General."

The regiment participated in the following-named bat-

tles, in which loss was sustained, in addition to several

others not mentioned on the rolls, viz. : Big Hill, Rich-

mond, Cj'nthiana and Hopkinsville, Ky.; Franklin, Triune

and Nashville, Tenn.; La Fayette, Resaca, Ga.; Gaines-

ville, King's Hill, Gadsden, Scottsville, Randolph and near

Montgomery, Ala. The veterans and recruits of this regi-

ment were transferred to the 6th Kentucliy Veteran Cavalry.

The Fourth Kentuck}' Infantry drew quite a number of

commissioned officers and privates from Bourbon. Among
the officers were the following : R. M. Kelly, who was pro-

moted from Captain of Compan}' K to Major of the regi-

ment March 23; 1862 ; to Lieutenant Colonel April 18,

1864 ; to Colonel, August 25, 1864; mustered out of the

service August 16, 1865, and is now editor of the Louis-

ville Daily Commercial. John T. Croxton was promoted

from Lieutenant Colonel to Colonel March 23, 1862
;
to

Brigadier General August 16, 1864 ; brevetted Major

General, and resigned December 26, 1865. John A. Roberts,

promoted from a private to Sergeant September 1, 1861
;

to Second Lieutenant, March 1, 1862 ; to First Lieutenant,

March 27, 1863 ; to Captain, June 17, 1865, and mustered

out August 17, 1865. C. V. Ray, promoted from Second

to First Lieutenant January 12, 1862, and November 6,

following, was appointed Adjutant. Elliott Kelly, com-

missioned First Lieutenant January 2, 1865. N. M. Kelly

was First Lieutenant Company D, and died at Lebanon,

Ky.. January 12, 1862 ; and a large number of privates.

This regiment was organized at Camp Dick Robinson,

under Col. Speed S. Fry, and mustered into the United

States service October 9, 1861, by Brig. Gen. George H.

Thomas, United States mustering officer. The regiment

saw hard service, and in the sketch of it, given in the

Adjutant's report, published by Gen. Lindsey, of Frankfort,

he bestows upon it much praise. He concludes his notice

of it in the following words :
" It received the praise and

commendation of every general officer under whom it

served, and the casualty list clearly shows it to have been

ever 'foremost in the battle. It p,articipated in the follow-

ing among other battles in which loss was sustained, viz.

:

Mill Springs, Ky. ; Corinth, Miss. ; Rolling Fork, Ky.
;

Tullahoma, Tenn. ;
Chickamauga, Chattanooga, Mission

Ridge, Lafayette, Mason's Church, Newnan, Ga. ; Pulaski,

Tenn. ; Shoal Creek, Ala. ; Lewisburg Pike, Franklin and

Lynnville, Tenn., etc."

The Twenty-first Infantry also drew a large number of

officers and privates from the count}'. Among the former

were M. M. Clay, S. R. Sharrard, L. W. Diinnington, E. B.

Davidson, J. B. Buckner, J. R. Jameson, and perhaps

others. M. M. Clay entered the service as Captain of

Company C, and resigned October ?>, 1862. S. R. Sharrard,

promoted from First Lieutenant to Captain October 3,

1862, and resigned April 7, 1864. L. W. Dunnington,

promoted from Sergeant to Second Lieutenant April 12,

1864, transferred to Twenty-first Veteran Infantry, and

mustered out of the service at Victoria, Tex., December

9, 1865. E. B. Davidson, promoted from Second to First

Lieutenant Company C October 3, 1862
;

to Captain.

April 12, 1864 ;
transferred to Twenty-first Veteran In-

fantry, and mustered out at Victoria, Tex., December 9,

1865. John B. Buckner entered the service as Orderly'

Sergeant, promoted to Second Lieutenant October 3, 1 862
;

to First Lieutenant April 12, 1864 ;
transferred to Com-

pany C, Twenty-first Veteran Infantry, and promoted to

Captain Company K January 18, 1865. J. R. Jameson,

promoted from First Lieutenant to Captain February 27,

1862, and resigned June 12,1863. The regiment contained,

likewise, a large number of private soldiers from Bourbon.

Indeed, Company C, Capt. Clay, was raised principally in

Paris and the surrounding community.

The first commander of the Twenty-first was B. L.

Dudley, of Lexington, who died February 20, 1862. The

regiment saw much hard fighting during the war. The

following extract is from its record in the Adjutant Gene-

ral's report :
" After the retreat of Bragg from Kentucky,

the regiment returned to Nashville, Tenn. On the 9th of

December, 1862, it, with other regiments of the brigade,

under command of Col. Stanley Matthews, while out for

aging, were attacked near Dobbin's Ford by Wheeler's

rebel cavalry. The conduct of the Twenty-first on that

occasion was highly commended by the brigade com-

mander, and tlie following-named non-commissioned offi-

cers and men were complimented in field orders by Gen.

Rosecrans for their gallant conduct, viz. : Sergt. J. F.

Morton, Company F ; Corp. Henry Stahel, Company A
;

Corp. J. P. Hagan, Company F ;
Private George P. Mont-

joy, Company A ; Private Cassius Keger, Company A
;

Private Edward Welch, Company A ; Private William

Murphy, Company A ; Private R. B. Clusin, Company F
;

Private W. W. Oliver, Company F ;
Private John Morton,

Company F ; Private B. S. Jones, Company F."

It participated in the following battles, in which loss

was sustained : Perryville, Stone River, Chickamauga,

Rocky Face Ridge, Resaca, New Hope Church, Pine Top,

Kenesaw Mountain, Smyrna, Atlanta, Jonesboro, Franklin

and Nashville.

•C i
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The following commissioned officers from Bourbon

were in scattering regiments, viz.: Greenberrj Reed, Cap-

tain in the Fortieth Infantrj-
; C. B. Pettitt, First Lieuten-

ant in same regiment ; John W. Evans, Second Lieutenant

in same regiment ; Jesse Dennis, First Lieutenant in Fift}--

third Infantry, and W. H. Drinkhard, First Lieutenant in

the Fiftj'-fifth Infantry. John T. Farris, Quartermaster of

Fifth Cavalry, afterward promoted to Major of Ninth

Cavahy, and resigned November 10, 1862
;
John C. Brent,

promoted from First Lieutenant Companj^ B, to Major of

Ninth Cavalry, February 9, 1863, and mustered out with

the regiment. There may be other commissioned officers,

that should be credited to Bourbon County, but we have

scanned the Adjutant General's Report closely, and if such

there be, he has overlooked them.

The Confederate armj' received perhaps a larger num-

ber of recruits from this county than the opposite side.

Among the soldiers furnished to the South, were the fol-

lowing commissioned officers ; Lieutenant Colonel, E. P.

Clay ; Major, Thomas Brent ; Captains, James M. Thomas,

B. G. Stoner, Harry Bedford, James Bedford, John Hope,

Fowle, John B. Holladay, James Rogers, Hugh
Henry, E. F. Spears

;
Lieutenants, James A. Allen, Samuel

Hawes, William Talbott. A. J. Lovely and Harry Boesh,

John P. Talbott and Charles Benton, Surgeons. Captain

John Bradshaw was from Powell County, but is now a

resident of this county. Col. E. F. Clay raised a com-

pany, of which he was Captain, of fifty or sixty men, which

rendezvoused at Prestonburg. Capt. Clay was pro-

moted to Lieutenant Colonel, and was wounded and taken

prisoner at Puncheon Creek, in Magoffin County, Ky, Of

his old company, William Talbott was First Lieutenant,

Harry Clay, Second Lieutenant, and James Rogers, Brevet

Lieutenant. The latter afterward resigned, and raised a

company, of which be was made Captain. A. J. Lovely

entered as private, was bi'evetted Lieutenant, and after-

ward promoted Captain in Commissary Department. This

company was '• D " of the " First Kentucky Rifles," John

Williams, Colonel ; and formed part of Gen. Humphrey

Marshall's brigade.

Capt. J. M. Thomas raised a company principally in

Bourbon and Nicholas Counties. He retired from the serv-

ice at the end of a year, and W. T. Havens became Cap-

tain. He was a Sergeant in the company at the time of

its organization. He is now editor of the Mount Sterling

Sentinel. R. G. Stoner went in as captain of a company

from Montgomerj-, and was afterward promoted to lieuten-

ant-colonel of the regiment. John Hope raised a com-

pany, mostly in Bourbon, of which he was Captain. E. P.

Spears was First Lieutenant, and afterward succeeded

Hope as Captain. Samuel Hawes was Second Lieutenant,

and was killed at Stone River. James A. Allen went out

as Brevet Lieutenant, and was afterward promoted to

Second Lieutenant ; was severely wounded in the leg.

This company was attached to Col. Roger Hanson's

brigade.

Capt. W. E. Simms, who commanded a company in

the Mexican war, entered the service as Colonel of the

First Kentucky (Confederate) Cavalry. Col. Simms was
elected to the Confederate Senate, when Col. Clay (at the

time Lieutenant Colonel of the regiment), succeeded him

in its command. Maj. Thomas Brent was killed near

Lebanon, Ky. Capt. Harrj' Bedford was captured at Cyn-

thiana, Ky. Capt. Holladay had a company from Nicho-

las County ; he is now a citizen and Sheriff of Bourbon.

He entered the service as Captain of his company, but was
promoted to Major.

It is a more difficult matter to obtain correct data of

the Confederate service, as there has been less published

on the subject, than of the National service, the Adjutant
General's Report of Kentucky, afl!brding much valuable

information pertaining to the forces in the service of the

Government. In both sections we have only given the

names of commissioned officers, so far as we could obtain

them. The privates from the county would form, perhaps,

two or three regiments, and their gallant and soldierly

bearing is remembered by all who knew them. What
more can be said of them—beyond the breathing of a
prayer; that they may never be called to face each other
again in such an unholy war.

—
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OHAPTEE Till.

PARIS rilECINCT—BOUNDARIES, TOPOGRAPHY, PHYSICAL FEATURES, ETC.—THE PIONEERS—THEIR TOILSOME .JOURNEYS

—KENNEDY FAMILY'—OTHER SETTLERS—EARLY INDUSTRIES—EDUCATIONAL AND

RELIGIOUS—OLD CANE RIDGE CHURCH.

"But long yuars have flown o'er these scenes of the past,

And many have turned gray in the winter's cold blast;

While othei'S only think of the time that is gone;

They are.bentby the years that are fast rolling on."

TTTHEN first seen by white men, Central Kentuckj' was
V V an unbroken wilderness. Dense forests overhanging

the margins of crystal streams were unmolested by the

pioneer's ax. The notes of myriads of songsters, the howl

of wild beasts and the yell of savages alone awakened

the silence that had brooded over them for centuries. But

now came a change L The first wave of immigration rolled

westward, precurser of an overwhelming tide destined to

sweep everything before it. The fierce contest commenced

between the pale-face and the Indian, and was waged with

relentless fury, but the superior prowess of the white man

prevailed, and his title to the " dark and bloody ground
"

was sealed with hundreds of human lives. The red sons

of the forest have disappeared, and Cooper's " Last of the

Mohicans," preserves in romance a story of the race. The

plowshare levels their graves ; their favorite hunting-

grounds groan beneath the white man's harvests, and will

know them no more forever. Fulfilled to the letter were

the gloomy forebodings of the chief, when he spoke in the

pale-face's council :
" My people are like the scattered

stalks that remain in the field when the tempest has passed

.

over it. The Great Spirit ordained us for the forest, and

our habitation is the shade. We pursue the deer for our

subsistence, but they are disappearing before the pale-

faces, and the red man must starve or leave the graves of

his fathers, and make his bed with the setting sun." Thus

has it been, and thus has the mellowing hand of Time

served to
" Make their name sublime,

And departing, leave behind them,

Footprints on the sands of time."

The section to which this chapter is devoted, though

small in extent, is not without traditional interest. Like

every spot of Central Kentucky, it is entwined with his-

torical association, and these associations and reminis-

cences,^ will be presented in a becoming form to our readers.

They have been gathered from the most reliable sources

now available, "and are no doubt correct.

Paris Precinct, the Election Precinct No. 1 of Bourbon

County, comprises the central part, and is as fine blue-

grass land as the county contains, or as may be found, per-

haps, in the entire blue grass region. Its configuration is

good, save possibly a few blufls contiguous to the water-

courses. It would puzzle a mathematician to define the

shape of Paris Precinct, or one of fertile imagination to

give correctly its boundaries. As much as we can venture

is, that it is bounded by Harrison County, and by Ruddel's

Mills, Millersburg, Flat Rock, North Middletown, Clinton-

ville, Hutchinson and Centerville Precincts. These extend

round it, and we leave it to the reader to give to each the

cardinal point of the compass, to which it is entitled. The

precinct has an excellent system of natural drainage in its

numerous water-courses. Stoner Creek or river is the

largest stream, and flows nearly north through the center

and through the city of Paris, where it furnishes water-

power and supply to mills, distilleries, etc. It unites with

the Hinkston near Ruddel's Mills, just before entering

Harrison County. Kennedy's Creek is a tributary of

Stoner, and flows in nearly the same direction, emptying

into the latter a little south of Paris. Houston Creek en-

ters the precinct from the west, near Houston Post Office,

and unites with the Stoner at Paris. Clark's Branch is a

small tributary of Houston, in the west part of the pre-

cinct. Flat Run flows north and empties into the Stoner

near Ruddel's Mills. Cooper's Run in the northwest emp-

ties into the Stoner near E wait's Cross Roads ; and Town-

send's Creek passes through the northwest corner. The

timber growth of Paris Precinct was that indigenous to

this section of the State, and consisted chiefly of oak,

hickory, black walnut, buckeye, ash, sugar maple, etc.

Like the most of Bourbon County, and of Central Ken-

tucky, Paris Precinct was settled chiefly by Virginians,

with now and then a family from Pennsylvania, Maryland,

and North Carolina. To name him who erected the first

cabin in what now forms this precinct, with any degree of

certainty, is a task that no one, perhaps, can truly accom-

i \
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plish. The Kennedy family were early settlers, though it is

not known that they were the first in the precinct. Thomas

Kennedy was the first of the family to emigrate to Ken-

tucky, and from him Kennedy's Creek took its name.

From an old manuscript written by his son, Jesse Kennedy,

in 1850, and now in possession of Mr. Frank Kennedy, we
glean many facts of interest pertaining to the settlement

of the family in Kentucky, and the journey of Mr. Ken-

ned}' through the wilderness, from his old home in Mary-

land. Thomas Kennedy, the pioneer, made his first trip to

Kentucky on a " tour of inspection," in 1776, intending, if

pleased with the country, to secure land for himself and

two brothers, John and Joseph. He arrived at Boones-

boro witliout accident or adventure, and there met with

Michael Stoner, afterward an early settler himself in Paris

Precinct. Stoner invited him to go and assist him in

clearing a field and planting it in corn, which he did. This

field was long known as " Strode's Field," and is now owned

by Samuel Clay. At that time, the country was full of

wild game, and fresh meat was plenty all the time. Buffalo

were numerous and furnished all the settlers with meat.

In the fall, Mr. Kennedy returned to Virginia, where his

family then resided, intending to move out to Kentucky at

once, but owing to various difficulties which interfered, he

did not make the start until the fall of 1779, when he

brought his family hither, consisting at the time of his

wife and four children—three boys and a gii'l—the eldest

being but seven years of age. His trip here shows the

difficulties which stood in the waj' of the pioneers of this

country a hundred years ago. He was a brick-mason and

carpenter, and gathered together such tools as he might

need, and property that he could not well do without, and

placed them on a train—not of railroad cars, but pack-

horses—and with his wife and little ones, and a few cattle,

he commenced his journey through the wilderness toward

the prbmised land. Although he did not wander forty

years in the wilderness, yet his trials and tribulations while

in it were great. Owing to the lateness of the season when

he started, forage became scarce and his animals gave out

and died by the wayside, and when he finally reached

Boonesboro, thej' were all gone, except a mare and a little

bull. Upon the latter he packed a bed, and upon the mare

three of his children, while he and his devoted wife

trudged on foot—he carrying his little girl upon his own
back, and his wife carrying such things as she could. As
his pack-horses, one by one, gave out, he hid his property

in the forest, intending to return for it, but the unsettled

state of the country prevented, and he thus lost it. To

add to his troubles, the mare upon which his three boys

were carried—the two smallest in willow-baskets swung

across her back, and the large one riding upon her—fell

down and broke the rider's leg, but without injuring the

boys in the baskets. This was a distressing occasion.

They were alone in the wilderness, but with that courage

and fortitude born of desperation, they bandaged the boy's

leg as best they could and continued their journey. In

this forlorn condition they arrived at Boonesboro. After

remaining there a short time, he joined a company under

Capt. John Strode, and helped to build and settle Strode's

Station, where he lived for four or five 3'ears. The winter

of 1779-80, his first winter here with his family, was one

of unusual severity. Much of the stock and wild game

perished, and of the latter, that which lived through the

winter became so poor that, to prevent starvation alone,

forced the settlers to kill and eat it. In the spring of

1780, his wife died, and one of his children soon after fol-

lowed her. He finally pre-empted land for himself and

brothers, his own on Strode's Creek and theirs on Ken-

nedy's Creek, and on which latter stream he, too, eventually

settled, a few miles south of Paris. Amid many misfort-

unes which " followed so thicklj' as to tread on each other's

heels," he lived and died on Kennedy's Creek, at an ex-

treme old age. His son, Jesse Kenned}', lived with him,

and devotedly watched over and cared for his' aged parent

until death relieved him of the solemn charge. Jesse

served one year in the war of 1812, as master of a train of

pack-horses, when he returned home apd took charge of

the homestead, and through his energy and untiring per-

severence, he saved his father's property from sacrifice,

cheered his declining years, and, after his death, accumulat-

ed considerable property for himself He lived an hon-

ored ^nd respected citizen of the community, and, to quote

a stereotyped phrase, "died regretted by all who knew
him." He has a son, Frank Kennedy, a lawyer in Paris.

The Bedfords were early settlers in Paris Precinct, and
were from the Old Dominion. The pioneer of the family

was Benjamin Bedford, who came to Kentucky about the

year 1787, and stopped in Madison County, where he re-

mained one season and raised a crop ; then, in the following

year, came to this section. His brother, Littleberry Bed-
ford, came out in 1789 and located in this precinct, near
where John T. Woodford now lives. He there erected a

cabin, and, as he had purchased his land, supposed his

title was good. He had not remained long on it, however,
when Col. Gist rode up to him one day, and told him
to cease further improvements, as he had a prior title,

which he showed him. Col. Gist told him he need not
leave the premises

; that he might stay as long as he
wished for an ear of corn per year. But Mr. Bedford was
wise enough to see in this liberal offer a " consideration,"

® -
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and aware that as soon as he improved the place, he would

be unceremoniously dispossessed, he wisely concluded not

to remain, but to locate elsewhere. He moved to the place

where Mrs. Patsey Clay now lives. Here he settled and

remained until his death, which took place August 29,

1829, in his ninety-second year. He was a great hunter,

and said to be the best shot in Kentucky, except Daniel

Booue. He paid but little or no attention to agricultural

pursuits, but, like many of the pioneers, spent his time

mostlj' in hunting. G-reenberry Bedford was another early

settler in this neighborhood. He is said to have built the

first good house in what is now Paris Precinct. Hitherto,

none but cabins had been put up, and he lived in a very

poor one for several years, when he erected a splendid

house for the time. He hired a cabinet workman from

Virginia to make his furniture, which was of the most sub-

stantial kind, and some of which is still in existence. He
was a quiet man, peaceful among his neighbors, and highly

respected bj' all. He came here and married a Miss Clay,

and then returned to Virginia and brought out his

negroes.

Michael Stoner and James Kenny are supposed to have

settled in the present limits of the precinct as early as

1785. Stoner Creek was named for the former. He owned

a large body of land on the west side of this stream, but

also had fifty acres on the opposite side, which he gave to

James Kennj^ in' payment for " stocking " a shovel-plow for

him. The land is now owned by J. D. Butler
;
his house

is located on it, and it (the land), is worth several car-loads

of shovel-plows. Stoner traded 1,000 acres, upon which

he settled, to Samuel Clay for a negro woman, a horse

and a gun. Stoner was afterward killed at a barn rais-

ing, by a log falling on him. Kenny was from Virginia,

and settled near where J. D. Butler now lives. He had a

son, Capt. James Kenny, who was in the war of 1812,

and died of disease while in tjie service. A man named

Bruce settled near Kenuy. He had two negro women

killed by the Indians, after which he went away and re-

mained until more peaceful times. A man named Gass

was also an early settler. He, Col. Gist, Kenny and

Stoner, all had surveys on the west side of Stoner Cr-eek

Most of it is now owned by the Clay family, John T.

Woodford and George W. Bedford. The Edwards family

emigrated to Kentucky and settled in the present precinct

about 1794-95. James Marvin came some time prior to

the Edwards family, and located the land which Edwards

afterward purchased. Jacob Langston, from Virginia,

settled here previous to 1790, on the Robert Clark farm.

On the east side of the Stoner, one of the earliest set-

tlers was Henry Leer, who came here from Virginia, but

was originally from Holland. He settled among the very

earliest, locating on the land now owned by his grandson,

David Leer. His son Daniel succeeded him, and he, in

turn, was succeeded by his son David, who now owns the

place as above stated, it having been in the family ever

since its original purchase. Josiah McDonald settled on

what is now Flat Rock pike, near where the toll-gate

stands, about the year 1790. Thomas Rogers settled near

the mouth of Rogers' Creek. The place where Robert

Clark now lives was once called Clark's Station. The In-

dians were numerous then, and hostile. The house was

built bullet-proof, and part of it is yet standing, and forms

the rear part of Mr. Clark's residence. John Honey came

here in 1787, and was from Mar3'land. He settled on the

farm now owned by Col. Lewis Muir. The old house

is still standing, and has loop-holes, as the pioneers' houses

were all built. It has been " weather-boarded " and mod-

ernized, however, since it served as a protection against

prowling savages. David Caldwell came from Pennsyl-

vania and settled on Houston Creek previous to 1800,

where he died about the year 1828-29. He was a soldier

in the Revolutionary war, and received an injury'- in one

of his arms, which necessitated its amputation after he

settled in Kentucky—an operation that was performed by

Drs. Todd and Nicholas Warfleld. He was a man highly

respected in the community.

John Reed, William Galloway, Samuel Lyons and Law-

rence Protzman were early settlers in the vicinity of Paris.

The first three mentioned pre-empted the land on which

the city is located. Reed was from Maryland, and made

his pre-emption November 18, 1784. Galloway and Lyons

were from Virginia, and made theirs in 1786. Protzman

bought a portion of Reed's land and laid out a town,

which he called Hopewell, now Paris. James Garrard,

afterward Governor, John Edwards, Charles Smith, Ed-

ward Walker, Thomas West and James Duncan were also

early settlers in the present precinct. Gov. Garrard set-

tled about four miles north of Paris, at " Mount Lebanon,"

about 1780-85, and as noted elsewhere, the first session of

court was held at his residence. Many other early settlers

are entitled, doubtless, to mention in this chapter, but

they .are gone and forgotten in the long years that have

passed, and no one now remembers them. Mr. Collins

speaks of " Houston's Station," on the present site of

Paris, butt)f it little or nothing is now known.

When the first emigrants came to what is now Paris

Precinct, not only this immediate section, but nearly the

entire State of Kentucky, was a wild region, claimed by

numerous tribes of Indians, many of them hostile toward

the whites. Our early history bears proof to this state of
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affairs, in tlie details given of tlie long and sanguinarj^

struggle between the two races for supremacy in this rich

and beautiful country. The savages let no opportunity to

murder, plunder and massacre the whites pass unimproved,

and hence the country contiguous to the early settle-

ments, became a vast graveyard ;. while in more lonely

spots, hunters and isolated settlers with their families,

were wantonly butchered, their bodies left exposed, when

their flesh became the food of wild beasts, their bones

the sport of the storm. No early station nor settlement,

perhaps, in Central Kentucky, is known, but has con-

nected with it a tale of savage barbarity, of murder and

bloodshed. The pioneer held his life in his hand ; he stood

ready at any moment to fight, and verily he found his lot

cast in a land where he had plenty of it to do. It is said

that the early settler of Kentucky slept with one eye open,

and was far more likely to be found without his hat than

his gun. These were the circumstances under which this

country was reclaimed and wrested from the Indians.

When we take a disinterested view of the matter, we have

but little ground to blame the Indians for holding on to

their hunting-grounds with such a death-like grip. The
pale-faces, although they have not held the lands so long as

did the savages, rather than be driven from their homes

now, they would fight for them more fiercely than did the

savages themselves. And yet the sequel has proven that

it was ordained that the Anglo-Saxons should possess this

country. The pioneers of Kentucky were but the advance

guard—the picket line of the grand armj' that was to

sweep away the last vestige of a crude and imperfect civ-

ilization. It was won at a fearful cost, however, but as we
look over the beautiful blue grass lands, dotted with lux-

urious homes, we must admit that it is worth the price paid

for it. But the " irrepressible conflict " with the savages

was not the only trouble the pioneers had to contend with.

From the time they left their comfortable homes beyond

the mountains, this toil and privation commenced, and

ended not (with many) until their lives ended, and with

others until the savages met theic Waterloo at the

hands of Mad Anthony Wayne in 1794. As a proof of

their hard life, the journey of Thomas Kennedy to the

State affords ample illustration, and was but a type of that

which fell to the lot of the pioneers generally.

Among the first improvements made in a newly-settled

country are roads and mills. The savages have neither. Their

roads are trails through the forest where men can only

follow each other in single file. The first road through

Paris Precinct was what was known as the " State road."

This was merely the improvement of the old Buffalo trace.

In the proceedings of the second session of court ever

held in Bourbon County, we find the following of this old

road :
" The persons appointed to view the best way for

a road from the mouth of Limestone in the wagon road

on the top of the hill, made their report in these words :

' To extend from the mouth of Limestone down the river

bottom to the first drain crossing the same, thence up

the north side into a hollow, up sfiid hollow into an old

buffalo trace, thence with said trace into the wagon road.'

Ordered that the same be established, that Edward Waller

Gent., be appointed Assessor thereof, and that Thomas

Warrmg, Gentleman, regulate the hands to assist him in

opening and keeping the same in repair." This road

crossed the Stoner, near White's distillery, " passed

through a corner of the public square, and in a westerly-

direction along the Huston Cli^, etc." Other roads were

made, as necessity demanded, and improved from time to

time, finally macadamized, until at the present day they

are as fine a S3'stem of roads as any country possesses.

The precinct has excellent turnpikes diverging from Paris

in every direction. Among them are the Georgetown &
Paris ; Hume & Bedford ; Paris & Townsend ; Paris

& Jackstown ; Lexington, Paris & Maysville ; Bethle-

hem & Paris ; Paris & Clintonville ; Paris & Win-

chestor ; Paris & Harrod's Creek ; Paris & Flat Rock,

and Paris & North Middletown. The Lexington, Paris

& Maysville pike is one of the oldest, not only in this

count}', but in the State, and has an interesting history,

which is given in another chapter of this volume. The

old style stage-coach, with its handsomely painted " body "

and prancing team, was an almost inseparable part of the

early turnpike road. But its day of usefulness is over ; the

locomotive has taken its place.

The first mill built in the present precinct of Paris is be-

lieved to be that known as Coulthard's, which, it is claimed,

was built about 1785-90. It is on Stoner Creek, a short

distance north of Paris, and is still in operation, although

it has been several times improved and, repaired. It was
originally built by Abraham McJoy, and has been owned
successively by a man named Bayler, Garrard, Hardin,

Robert Palmer, Griggs, Goble, and in 1854 was bought
by William Coulthard. In 1 879, the firm became Coulthard

& Honey, who still operate the old pioneer establishment.

It is a stone building, two stories high, two run of buhrs,

and does an extensive business. About forty years after

the building of the Coulthard Mill, Spears & Garrard built

a mill on the opposite side of the creek. It was a small

affair, however, with but one run of buhrs. Previously, he
had built a small distillery at the same place.

Another of the early mills, and by some claimed to be
the first built in the precinct, was a small log structure
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erected by James Wright, Sr., and was both saw and grist

mill, with two run of small buhrs. It finally became the

property of his son, James Wright, who some years later re-

built it in a very substantial manner, making it three

stories high. The work was done by a man named Boone,

who quarried the rock, hauled it and built the stone work,

for the sum of one hundred dollars! The mill is on the

Houston Creek, and on the south side of the Lexington &
Maysville pike, about two miles from Paris. Robert

Langston purchased the mill about 1854, and was the

third owner. It is still running, and is in good condition.

A man named Smith had a mill in the precinct at an early

day. It is now run b}- a Mr. Spears. A little mill was

built on Kennedy's Creek by one Michael Couchman, but

of it we learned little of importance.

Ford's mill was another of the pioneer mills of the pre-

cinct, 'and was built by a man named Jourdan. He sold

it in 1802 to a Mr. Brent, who, in 1811, had the road laid

out to it ; then sold the mill to Ford. He ran it until 1829,

when Allison bought the site and built the Allison Mill,

which ran until 1856, when it ceased business.

The manufacture of whisky was an early industry of

the pioneers, and one that has not decreased in im-

portance, even down to the present time. While the mak-

ing of ardent spirits is considered by many as a business

of somewhat questionable character, j'et it is certainly a

business that yields a large profit, and affords the country

an immense source of revenue, and hence it is—honorable.

Next to stock-raising, it is the most valuable industry in

the Blue Grass Region. As we have said, the business

was commenced at an early day. Capt. Kennjr is said to

have operated a distillery in the southern part of the pre-

cinct, as early as 1789-90, where he made apple brandy

and whisky. Emanuel Wyatt had a distillery very early,

on land now owned by Cassius M. Clay. John Tillett had

a distillery on what is known as " Still House Branch

"

many years ago, upon land now owned by Samuel Clay.

Ford commenced distilling at his mill in 1829, and contin-

ued the business for about ten years.

Of all the industries, however, carried on in Paris Pre-

cinct in early times, Benjamin Bedford appears to have

conducted one of the most combustible nature, viz., that

of a distillery and a powder-mill. Verily, a more explosive

combination could not be formed. The powder manufact-

ured in this establishment was used in the war of 1812,

and the whisky—well, it was used as an antidote for

snake-bites. A man named Spears built a small distillery

very early, not far from where the Coulthard Mill stands.

He afterward sold out to B. F. Rogers, who sold to Joseph

Mitchell. In 1866, Worrall & Hutchison bought out

Mitchell, and put up a large steam distillery of some three

hundred bushels' capacity. This establishment was oper-

ated until 1869, when it failed, and, as a man informed us,

" went to the demnition bow-wows."

A hemp factor^' was built about 1816-18, on what is

now the Maysville & Lexington pike, by William Alexander.

It was situated a half-mile from Paris, where William M.

Taylor now lives, and continued in operation until 1856,

when it ceased business. Another was built about the

same time by Samuel Williams, on the G-eorgetown road, a

short distance from Paris, which ran for a good many

years. Samuel Pike also built a hemp factory, as early as

1827-28, about a mile and a half from Paris, which con-

tinued in operation until 1845. Still another was built on

the east side of the Stoner, by William Woodward, on

land now owned by William Shaw. It was built about

1822, and ran until 1826-27, when it ceased operation.

All these factories made bagging, rope and twine, which

were shipped South, where they found a ready market.

About the year 1820, a cotton factory was built by Jeffer-

son Scott, on the present Maysville & Lexington pike, on

the farm now owned by Horace Miller. Its capacity was

720 spindles, and it continued in operation until 1831-32,

when it closed business.

The Kentucky Central Railroad passes through Paris

Precinct, and is of some benefit to the people. Its history

is more fully given in another chapter. The Maysville

Division diverges from the main line at Paris. With these

two roads, the facilities for travel and transportation might

be better than they are. It is, however, being greatly im-

proved.

The early settlers of the precinct were alive to the

necessity of education, and schools were established prior

to 1800. One of the first schoolhouses of which we have

any account was built on the east side of Stoner Creek,

near where Clay's distillery now stands. Another was

built on what is now the Flat Rock pike, near the second

toll-gate. Still another near David Leer's place, which

was built in about 1815. A new house has been erected

upon its site, which is now in use. The other two men-

tioned have long since passed away, and there are no evi-

dences left of their existence. Robert Langston, we are

told, learned his letters from Col. William Wright, who

cut them on a shingle—a rather novel text-book. There

are now some half-dozen schoolhouses in the precinct out-

side of the city of Paris. These, however, are inadequate

for the purposes for which they were designed. It is much

to be regi-etted that every portion of the State pays so lit-

tle attention to common school education. We have far

too many academies, seminaries and colleges, and not half
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enough of common schools. Fewer private schools and

more common schools is what is needed to improve our

system of education.

The preaching of the Gospel in the precinct was coeval

with its settlement by white people. The exact date of

the fol'mation of the first religious society is not now
known. The first church edifice erected, is believed to have

been old Mount Gilead Methodist Church, known as

" Matheny's Meeting House," about three miles from Paris,

on the Maysville pike', and was built in 1790. It was a

log building, the logs were two feet in diameter, hewed,

and were blue ash. It stood for many years a monument
of pioneer Christianity. Thej- were a strict sect, these old

Methodists were, and believed not in the gaudy gewgaws
and fashionable toggery with which we ornament our church

pews at the present day. The male members of Matheny's

meeting house wore their coats without collars, and but-

toned up to the neck like a little boy's jacket, while the

sisters dressed correspondingly plain. An incident is still

remembered which illustrates the strict propriety in dress

maintained in this pioneer church. A Miss Leer wore a

"bombazine bonnet" to church one Sunday, which was

beautifully quilted and elegantly " fixed up "—in a word, it

was " a perfect love of a bonnet." But the minister did

not think so. He watched for ah opportunity, snatched it

from her head, and casting it upon the ground, adminis-

tered a scathing rebuke upon the ungodly extravagance of

dress.

Among the original members of this old church were

the Howard family, the Lowers, Brands. Carters, Hicks,

Hannas and Leers. Daniel Leer was the first class-leader,

and acted in that capacity for many years. Revs. John
Whittaker and Christian Lowers were among the first

preachers. The members of this church did not believe in

slavery, it is said. Upon a certain occasion, Mr. Leer, the

old class-leader, bought a negro woman upon the division

of an estate, and the church raised a good-sized row over

it. To avoid discipline, " he," said our informant, " stepped

down and out."

Concord Universalist Church, or as it was known, " The
First Universalist Church of Bourbon County," was organ-

ized originally some forty years ago. The church building

was begun in 1845, and completed and dedicated May 30

1847. The original members were Jesse Kennedy, Polly

Kennedy, V. G. Wheat, W. A. Bacon, William L. Bacon,

B. M. Kennedy, William Shaw and John Brown. The

church prospered until the commencement of the war, when

it was almost wholly broken up. About the year 1867, the

building was sold under a degree of the court, bringing

about $1,200. The purchaser designed turning it into a

store or blacksmith's-shop, but it was burned shortly after

its sale. It was situated about three miles from Paris, near

C. M. Clay's, and was a frame building of substantial con-

struction.

The Cane Ridge Church which is still standing in the

east part of the precinct, on the Paris & Flat Rock pike,

is believed by many to have been built prior to the old

Mount Gilead Church. The Rev. Mr. Gano, however,

places the date of its erection about 1794-95, and Elder

Barton W. Stone became its pastor in 1798. It was then

a Presbyterian Church, and among the original members

were Joseph Luckey, Nathaniel Rogers, H. Wilson, John

Frakes, John Irvin, David Jamison, Hall, William

Maxwell, J. P. Campbell, David Purviance, and old Uncle

Charley Spencer, an old colored man, than whom no more

faithful member belonged to the church—none were more

highlj' respected. Elder Stone continued its pastor for a

number of years. It was at this church, in 1801, that the

great revival meeting was held, at which there is said to

have been present from twenty to thirty thousand people,

and which is more fully described in a preceding chapter.

Among the preachers since Elder Stone, are the following :

Elders Frank Palmer, Samuel Rogers, Jacob Creath, John
T. Johnson, John A. Gano, Sr., John Rogers, John I.

Rogers, and John and Joshua Irvin. Elder Thomas
Arnold is the present pastor. The original church, which

was built of logs, as we have said, is still standing, although

it has been somewhat modernized by being "weather
boarded." In the revolution or reformation that followed

Alexander Campbell, this church became a convert to the

new faith, and since that period has been known as "Cane
Ridge Christian Church.'' It was once verystrong in num-
bers, but death and removals have greatly reduced its

strength. A cemetery is adjacent, in which sleep many
of the old members, and of the number. Elder Stone him-
self

This comprises a complete sketch of Paris Precinct, so

far as we have been able to obtain it, and we will leave the

city of Paris to be treated of in a new chapter, and by a

writer familiar with its history.

—

Perrin.
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OHAPTEE IX.

CITY OF PARIS— INTRODUCTORY— SELECTING A SITE FOR THE TOWN— THE ORIGINAL NAMES OP BOURBONTON AND
HOPEWELL—EVERY-DAY LIFE OF THE SETTLERS—THE FIRST BRICK HOUSE—TAVERNS—THEATRI-

CALS AND OTHER PASTIMES—SOME DISTINGUISHED PIONEERS.

" O, the pleasant days of old, which so often people praise !

True, they wanted all the luxuries that grace our modern days ;

Bare floors were strewed with rushes, the walls let in the cold,

O, how they must have shivered, in those pleasant days of old."

—Brown.

ALTHOUGH a century has not elapsed since the first

settlement of this city, yet its earlj' history is in-

volved in obscurity. It is not known when the first house

was built, or who was the first inhabitant, or why this par-

ticular locality was selected for the future city of Paris.

One or two things are evident : The pioneers who came

to this county did not do so to build cities, but came

because they could obtain cheap lands. The- soil was fer-

tile ;
the country marvelously beautiful and attractive,

and none would locate in towns who had the means to

purchase farms, which almost all possessed. The wants

of the people of that day were few and simple. Their

clothing was the handiwork of the thrifty house-wife, who

was ever busy with the loom and the spinning wheel. And
all through this region may yet be found—treasured as

heirlooms, articles of exquisite workmanship, wrought

by these pioneer mothers of Kentucky, who esteemed it

their privilege and duty to share in the labors of the house-

hold, and whose sacrifices and industrj' and example laid

the foundations of the future prosperity of the State.

Corn, wheat, tobacco, flax, were the products of the soil.

Almost every farm had itp sugar camp, and the people

made their own sugar, and from the ashes of burnt cobs they

made their soda or saleratus. Except for needless luxuries

they were self-sustaining. There was, therefore, no pressing

necessity for large towns, with all their rush and bustle of

trade. The blacksmith was, of course, indispensable
;
but

he could locate at any cross-roads ; and so, too, the car-

penter was needed to rear the first rude structures in this

then Western frontier of civilization ; and then, along the

highway of travel the primitive tavern, with its accommo-

dations for man and beast, became a necessity, and these,

doubtless, formed the nucleus of the future city.

It is not known, nor is it important to know, why this

particular locality was selected by the early settlers as a

site upon which to build a town. Possibly, the town was

an after-thought. Kocky, hilly, marsliy in places, it may
have been selected because it was not suited for agricult-

ural purposes, and it would not have done, even at that

early day, to have spoiled a blue grass farm to lay the

foundations of a country town. That the proposed town

was at the confluence of Stoner and Houston, two impor-

tant creeks, which would j-ield an ample supply of water

power near the large spring, which wells up a short dis

tance from the mouth of Houston ;
and that it was on the

line of the buffalo trace, the then great thoroughfare of

travel, were of themselves sufficient reasons for deter-

mining the location.

It appears from the records that the lands upon which

this city stands was pre-empted by John Heed, of Marj'-

land, on the 18th of November, 1784, and William Gallo-

way and Samuel Lyons, of Virginia, in August, 1786.

Lawrence Protzman afterward bought a portion of Reed's

pre-emption, and laid it off into town lots.

Prior to the selection of a county-seat, the courts of

Bourbon County had been held at James Garrard's, near

Talbott's Station, at James Hutchison's, and at the resi-

dence of John Kiser, near the mouth of Cooper's Run.

In November, 1786, the present site of Paris was selected

by the court as the county seat, and the following order

was made :

Ordered, That the place for holding courts for this county

be established at the confluence of Stoner and Houston forks of

Licking, and that AlvinMontjoy, John Grant and James Watson,

gentlemen, be appointed to procure two acres of land at said

place for the purpose aforesaid; and also, that they let to the

lowest bidder the building of a court house, which shall be a

frame of thirty-two by twenty feet, with a shingle roof, and fin-

ished in the necessary manner; and a jail sixteen feet square of

hewn logs twelve inches square.

Teste: JOHN EDWARDS, C. B. C.

The buildings provided for in this order of court were

erected during the next year, and the first court was held

on Tuesday, October 17, 1787. This courthouse stood for

ten or eleven years, but was sold, when a new one was built,
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to Johu Allen, who moved it to Ms farm on the Maysville

road, one and a half miles northeast from town.

In 1789, the following act was passed by the Legisla-

ture of Virginia, establishing the town, which at that time

was called Hopewell :

Be it enacted, That two liuiidred and fifty acres of laud, at

tlie court house in Bourbon County, as Ihe .'iame are laid off into

town lots and streets by Lawrence Protzman, the proprietor there-

of, shall be established a town by the name of Hopewell, and
that Notley Conn, Charles Smith, Jr., John Edwards, James
Garrard, Edward Waller, Thomas West, James Lanier, James
Little, and James Duncan, gentlemen, are hereby constituted

Trustees thereof.

The Trustees of said town, or a majority of them, are

authorized to make such rules and orders for the regular build-

ing of houses thereon, as to them shall appear proper.

As soon as tlie purchasers of lots in the said town shall have
built thereon a house sixteen feet square, at the least, with a brick

or stone chimney, such purchasers shall then be entitled to, and
liave, and enjoy all the rights, privileges, and immunities which
the freeholders and inhabitants of other towns in this State not !

incorporated, shall hold and enjoy.

At the session of the Virginia Legislature in 1790, the

following act was passed amendatory to the above :

Section 1. Whereas, by an act of the assembly passed at

the last session, entitled, "An act to establish a town in Bourbon
County," two hundred and fifty acres of land at court house of

said county of Bourbon, as laid off into lots and streets by a cer-

tain Lawrence Protzman, the tlien supposed proprietor thereof,

was established a town by the name of Hopewell, of wliirh Not-
Icy Conn, Charles Smith, Jr., John Edwards, James Garrard,

Edward Waller, Thomas West, James Lanier, James Little and
James Duncan, gentlemen, were constituted trustees, and wliere-

as, since the passing of said act, many doubts liave arisen who is

the real proprietor of the said two hundred and fifty aci'es of laud,

and in consequence thereof the present holders of many of tlte

said lots are disquieted, and the sale of the remainder thereof

thereby prevented.

Sec. 3. Be it therefore enacted b,i/ the General Assembly,

That from and after llie passing of this act, the said two hun-

dred and fifty acres of land, as laid off into lots and streets, shall

be, and are hereby vested in the said Notley Conn, Charles Smith,

Jr., John Edwards, James Garrard, Edward Waller, Thomas
West, James Lanier, James Little and James Duncan, gentlemen,

trustees, or a majority of them.

Sec. H. Tlie said trustees, or a majority of tliem, shall pro-

ceed to sell surli of the said lots wliicli now remain unsold, at

public auction, for the best price that can be had, the time and
place of whicli sale to be previously advertised two months in tlie

Kenturky Gazette and convey the same to the purchas_er, their

heirs and assigns ; subject, however, to the same rules, orders and
conditions, as the said lots are subjected to by the said recited

acl.

Sec. 4. And be it further enncted by the authority aforesaid.

That said Iruslees shall, as soon as the said sale shall be complet-

ed, return an account thereof to the court of the said county of

Bourbon, lo be there recorded, and the money arising from such
sale shall lie retained by them for the use and benefit of the

person or persons in whom the title to the said two hundred and

fifty acres of land shall hereafter be established, to be paid to

such person or persons, or their legal representatives according-

ly ; Provided nevertheless, and be it further enacted, That in case

the title of the said two hundred and fifty acres of land shall

hereafter be estabjished in any other person or persons than

in the said Lawrence Protzman, the said trustees shall in such

case convey such of the lots as were sold by him to the pur-

chasers thereof, in fee simple, and the purchasers or holders of

such lots, shall be subject only to account with the real proprie-

tor thereof, for the value of the same when oi'iginally purchased

as unimproved lots.

Sec. 5. Be' it further enacted, that from and after the

passing of this act the name of the said town shall be altered,

and from thenceforth the same shall be established by the name
of Paris ; any law to the contrary notwithstanding.

There are conflicting statements as to the name of the

place, although the above acts of the Virginia Legislature

would seem to settle the matter definitely. Mr. Collins,

the historian of Kentucky, says it was called Bourbonton,

and a letter from the Treasury Department at Washhigton

to the compilers of the volume entitled " Sketches of Paris,"

published here in 1876, corroborates the statement, and

asserts that the post office was created January 1, 1795,

with Thomas Bades as Postmaster, who was succeeded by

William Paton, appointed July 1, 1800, and that the name
was changed from Bourbonton to Paris, April 28, 1826,

when James Paton, Jr., was appointed Postmaster.

Mr. James Paton, Sr., of this city, who is still living,

and who was connected with the office from 1815 to 1837,

is authority for the statement that there is some mistake

as to the date of the change of name ; that when he en-

tered the office in 1815 it was known as Paris. He adds,

however, that it had at one time been called Bourbonton,

a fact which he had entertained by seeing the old way-
bills in the office. From these statements and from the

enactments of the Virginia Legislature, it seems clear that

the town has borne the three names—Bourbonton, Hope-
well and Paris. The selection of the last was peculiarly

fitting. At the time the town was established there was a

feeling of gratitude to France and to the Bourbons for the

conspicuous part taken by the French people in the Revolu-
tionary war, in which they contributed so largely to secure

our National independence. Besides, the name of the

county was Bourbon, given for the same reason, and it was,

therefore, the more appropriate that the county-town should

be called Paris
;
and this name was preferred and has been

continued, carrying out in this instance, at least, the idea

of the "survival of the fittest."

After the selection of Paris as the county seat, its pop-
ulation increased, and according to the census in 1790, six

years after the settlement of the place, numbered 358.

There is no reason to suppose that the early settlers
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indulged in any dreams of the future greatness of the

town. If thej- did so, the illusion was rudelj' dispelled

by the census of 1800, which showed a population of only

377, an increase in ten years of only nineteen inhabitants.

The county, in the meantime, however, had increased with

great rapidity.

The men of that day were not lacking in enterprise, for

even then the}' looked forward to the opening of South

Licking, and to carry out this purpose they secured the

passage of an act through the Legislature in 1794, consti-

tuting John Edwards, Henry Claj-, James Kenney, Charles

Smith, William Garrard, William Kelley, William Boswell

and James Smith, managers of a lotterj-, the object of

which was to raise the sum of $:i,800, to be used in open-

ing the navigation of South Licking. Tickets were sold

at |2, and the scheme was published for some time in the

Lexington Gazette. We have been unable to ascertain

whether the drawing ever took place, or the money was

ever raised, or South Licking ever opened to navigation.

The persons who were the managers of the lottery were

leading and prominent citizens, showing that at that time

there was not the same public sentiment against lotteries

as now exists. In this respect, Paris was neither behind

nor in advance .of her sister towns ;
Georgetown had a

lottery, and so also there were two in Lexington
;
one of

the latter being for the benefit of the Dutch Presbyterian

Protestant Church in that place.

In 1 798, an act was passed by the Legislature, estab-

lishing Bourbon Academy, and " State aid " given to the

institution, which donated for its benefit "six thousand

acres of unappropriated lands.''

In 1797, the publication of the Keutuckij Herald was

commenced. In an article published in 1855, in the

Citincii, Mr. A. M. Brown, then the editor of that p^per,

states that James Stewart was the publisher. Other

authorities are to the effect that it was published by Dan-

iel Bradford, brother of the editor of the Lexington

Gazette. It may be that both Stewart and Bradford were

the joint publishers. The publication of the paper con-

tinued only one joar. In March, 1797, the Legislature

passed an act recognizing it as a medium of jpublishing

laws or notices that required publication.

Very little is known of the habits or the every-day

life of the early settlers. It is, however, clear, from the

names which are mentioned, and from the prominent posi-

tions which many of them afterward held, that both the

town and county was settled by some of the best citizens

of Virginia and Maryland. It is probable that there were

very few amusements in those days. There was no town

hall. But, there was doubtless enough of social enjoy-

ment and pastimes. The old-time quilting parties, the

old-fashioned weddings, which were grand events, and

the dance, probably the "Old Virginia Reel," and the

Christmas festivities and holidays, and the crowning

of the handsomest girl in the village, the " Queen of the

May."

The facilities for obtaining news were not good. A
post office was not established here until 1795, and the

mails were by no means regular. There was very little

local news. The inroads of the Indians, and their pursuit,

were the chief topics of interest, and constituted the sensa-

tional news of the times, whilst their recital by the fireside

at evening was, no doubt, listened to with most thrilling

interest.

The erection of the second court house was • begun in

1797, and the building was finished in 1799. The founda-

tion was laid by Thomas Metcalfe, " Old Stone-hammer,"

afterward Governor of the State. His uncle, John Met-

calfe, had the contract to erect the building. The carpen-

tering work was done by a Mr. McCord. This house was

destroyed by fire in 1872.

As soon as the county seat was located permanently in

the place, and the town was laid off by Mr. Protzman, set-

tlers were attracted here, who were on the lookout for suit-

able locations for merchandising and manufacturing. Mr.

James H. McCann, who was born in Paris, in December,

1800, contributed some interesting facts, which appeared

in "Sketches of Paris," a volume published in 1876, by G.

R. Keller and J. M. McCann, and to whom we are also in-

debted for much information in regard to the early history

of the place. From him we learn that the first settlers

finding the bottoms an undesirable location for their pur-

poses, they began to erect their houses on the higher

ground. The first houses, it is believed, were built where

the Bourbon House now stands, and along the road

toward the Episcopal Church.

The first public house (or tavern) was erected of logs,

on the lot now occupied by A. Shire's jewelry store, and was

kept by Thomas West. It had no name like the hotels of

to-day, but was known as " West's Tavern ;" yet, in after

years, when it was clapboarded, and washed over with a

red-wash, it was known as " West's Bed Tavern," and the

only sign displayed was the " square and compass." The

first hotel that bore a name was where the Bourbon House

stands, and it was known as the " Indian Queen House,"

the sign displayed being a picture of a handsome Indian

woman. The second hotel was kept by Thomas Eades in

the Walker residence. The third was kept by Thomas

Hughes, and stood just below the Citizens' Bank, occupy-

ing the site of the Stoker Hotel. The " Indian Queen

«^ 5
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House" (portion of the present Bourbon House), was

erected about 1804-5, and kept by Maurice Langhorn.

The first brick house erected in Paris was built by
Thomas West, about 1796, extending from PuUen and

Chamber's grocery (now L. Frank's dry goods store) to

Ficklin's property, opposite the Court House door. It

was in three divisions, two stories high. In after years

the street was graded down, and these houses had to be

entered by high steps, the first floors being perhaps eight

or ten feet above the level.

The first regularly organized school was taught by
Turner Lane (1796), in a little frame building, where the

First Presbyterian Church stands, corner of Pleasant and
Mulberry streets. He was superseded by John McCann
(father of the venerable James H. McCann, now living),

in 1800. The first Church organized was in 1787, by
Rev. Andrew McClure, a Presbyterian minister, though the

church building was not erected until 1789, and was not

completely fitted up until several years afterward. It stood

on the corner of Church and high streets, where James T.

Davis' residence now stands. The first public burying-

ground was known as the old " Dutch Graveyard," and
adjoins the City School premises. The ground was do-

nated by Lawrence Protzman. The first election of Town
Trustees was held the first Friday in March, 1797, and the

following gentlemen elected : John Metcalf, Daniel Dun-

can, William Kell}', Andrew Todd, Thomas Arnold and

Richard Henderson. The Trustees before that time held

their office by appointment by the Legislature.

The first bridge across Stoner at this point was built

in 1795
;
was swept away in the fall of 1808, and was re-

built the next j'ear
; this was torn away and replaced in

1833, by the one that stands firm yet, having been re-cov-

ered and otherwise repaired in 1875, and bids fair to last

for several decades to come.

Paris in her earlier days seemed to have the same in-

tellectual spirit animating her citizens as makes her famous

for her educational institutions to-day. Establishing at

the earliest day her academy and newspaper, it was but

natural that she should have a public library, and as early

as 1808 we find her with a chartered institution of this

character, with the following gentlemen as Directors

:

William Grarrard, Jr., Robert Trimble, William Kellv,

Samuel Hanson and Benjamin Mills. The library was

destroyed by fire in 1829.

The first grist-mill within the town limits was near the

mouth of Houston, and was owned by John Allen, Esq.

The first post office was kept by Thomas Eades (grand-

father of Mrs. B. E. Knapp), at his tavern in the Walker

residence. He was succeeded by William Paton, an uncle

of our present City Clerk, the venerable James Paton, Sr.,

who assisted his uncle in the office for some time.

In 1810 the town records were torn up by some un-

known person, and the first records after that contain a

resolution of condemnation of the unknown vandal.

The first dramatic performance in Paris was in 1807,

in the old Burr House, which is yet standing. The danc-

ing room was transformed into a theater, there being no

suitable hall in the town in which to give theatrical repre-

sentations. The company was an amateur one, composed

of a number of young men of the place, and during the

winter gave several performances. Among the plays en-

acted was Shakespeare's sublime tragedy of Macbeth,

which the young actors essayed to produce, showing that

they had the utmost confidence in their histrionic ability.

Our informant recalls the tragedy of Macbeth, as one of

the pieces presented, from the boys using as by-words,

when they would meet each other on the street, the ex-

pression, " when shall we three meet again?
"

Another amateur society gave performances in 1815.

Among the members were a young man named Mitchell,

Ed. Hannegan, and James May, an Englishman, who had
some experience as an actor. They produced the play

entitled " Wild Oats." Hannegan, the young man referred

to above, was at that time a clerk in a store
; he was pale

and delicate-looking, and rather handsome, and in the

female parts, which were usually assigned to him, made
a very handsome and presentable lady. He subsequently,

we are informed, went to Indiana, and years afterward,

when Hon. E. A. Hannegan, one of the most brilliant ora-

tors of his time, was elected United States Senator from
that State, it was said that he had been a clerk in a store

in this place. It is, therefore, not improbable, that the

amateur actor of Paris was, thirty or thirty-five years after,

the eloquent Senator from Indiana. James May, who was
also a member, figured afterward in the most exciting
criminal case in the county, on a charge of forgery, and
was sentenced to imprisonment in the State Penitentiary.

In 1823 or 1824, the first regular theatrical company ap-

peared in Paris, under the management of a man named
Cargill. The company comprised three ladies and three

gentlemen. The performances, which continued nightly
for some weeks, were given in the dancing-room of the old
Paris Hotel. Among the pieces presented was Maturin's
Bertram, which was a great favorite with theater-goers at

that day.

The first carriage was brought here by Mr. Thomas Ar-
nold, the Clerk of the Circuit Court, in 1807. He was also

the first who purchased a piano, about the same time.
Judge Robert Trimble, Judge Benjamin Mills, Jesse Bled-
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soe and Daniel Duncan, although they were leading, well-

to-do citizens of the town, and had large families of

children, had no pianos. For many years afterward, there

were very few carriages ; no buggies. The gig seemed to

be a favorite vehicle for travel. Maj. A. Throckmar-

tin, afterward the proprietor of the Gralt House, in Louis-

ville, had, it is said, the finest turn-out of that day—an

elegantly finished and showy gig, to which two horses were

driven, one before the other, tandem style. But horseback

riding was then the usual mode of travel ; and these were

romantic and delightful days, when the young men went

visiting or to church, with their sweethearts riding on be-

hind and affectionately circling them with their arms.

In the earlier days, travel was exceedingly dangerous,

on account of the liability of travelers being waylaid by

hostile Indians. In looking over the old newspaper files,

we find that those returning to Virginia would advertise

weeks ahead for persons to accompany them through the

"wilderness," as it was then called. The first stage that

ever passed through Paris was in 1808, conducted by

George Walls, of Lexington ; but this was only temporary.

The first regular stage line was established by E. P. John-

son & Co., of Georgetown, in 1818. It was not until long

after, in 1854, that the Kentucky Central Railroad was fin-

ished to Paris, and the town placed in easy access with

the important trade centers of the country,

In those times, the same care was bestowed upon dress

as at the present day; if anything, the young men dressed

more elaborately, in fine broadcloths,- with tastefully ruffled

shift-bosoms, high stocks and standing collars. Some of

the older men, among them Mr. Raines, the father of John

B. Raines, for many years Cashier of the Northern Bank,

and Mr. Thornton, Capt. Abram Spears, and others, were

not led away by the changes of fashion, but adhered to the

old time style of knee-breeches, with stockings reaching up

to the knees. And there was a courtliness and a dignity in

the style which was in admirable keeping with the stateli-

ness and pride of these gentlemen of the olden time, in

any one of whom, no doubt, might have been found a fit

prototype for the latter-day apostle of sestheticism.

From 1800 to 1810, the town made rapid progress,

springing from 377 to 838 in population. In the mean-

time, the county had become very populous, the census

showing a population of 18,009, larger than the county now

has after the lapse of seventy-two years.

In 1812, the second war with Great Britain was begun,

and the citizens of Bourbon County rushed forward with pa-

triotic ardor in defense of their country. Capt. William

Garrard's troops were composed largely of the young men

of Paris. During the progress of the war, the deepest in-

terest was manifested, and the most intense eagerness to

hear the news. When the dreadful intelligence of Dudley's

defeat was received, there was mourning everywhere ; but

when word came of victories, there were processions, and

firing of muskets, and hurrahing, and other demonstrations

of joy. The news of peace, and the victory at New Or-

leans, January 8, 1815, caused great and universal re-

joicing.

It was not until 1823 or 1824 that, so far as can be

learned, the first debating society was organized. Among the

prominent members were George W. Williams, afterward

a leading citizen of the county, and George Redmon, a

shoemaker. The latter, especially, was a ready speaker,

and took an active part in the debates and proceedings of

the society.

Such, chiefly, was the beginning of Paris. The men

who laid its foundations were men of strong will, of

ability, of patriotism, and many of them of culture. The

long array of prominent names shows that there were

truly " giants in those days." James Garrard, the second

Governor of the State, who was among the earliest settlers,

was a man of massive frame, weighing upward of three

hundred pounds. He had represented the county in the

Virginia Legislature, when Kentucky was a part of Vir-

ginia. He was a member of the State Constitutional Con-

vention ;
afterward held important political trusts, and

was recognized as one of the leading men of the State.

Judge Benjamin Mills was a prominent lawyer, and one

of the Judges of the Appellate Court during the old and

new court controversy. He was heavy set, rather below

the usual height, and those who have seen him say, in

appearance, he was very much like his son. Rev. T. A.

Mills. Jesse Bledsoe is spoken of as one of the ablest

men of his day. He was Circuit Judge of the Lexington

District, United States Senator, and held other positions of

honor and trust. Judge Robert Trimble was a man of

splendid presence ; in intellect, and in all that goes to

make up true manhood in every respect, one of the first

men of the State. He was one of the Judges of the Su-

preme Court. A splendid granite monument marks his

last resting-place in the Paris Cemetery.

These distinguished men—except Governor Garrard

—

were all cotemporaries at the Paris bar, constituting a

grand galaxy of legal ability unsurpassed in the State.

For many years, the history of Paris was only the record

of ordinary, commonplace events. No startling murders,

no great sensations, but everything moved -on in the even

tenor of its way. ''Happy," it is said, "is that nation

which has no history ; " whore everything passes along

calmly and pleasantly and peacefully, undisturbed by the
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rude shocks of bloodshed, and of war. Where every man re-

poses in peace beneath his own vine and fig-tree. But here,

as everywhere, that great struggle in which all humanity is

engaged, the struggle for daily bread, has always been

going on
;

it is the terrible life struggle, and some become
weary and heart-sick, and fall by the way. The aggre-

gate histories of all these people, as they toil year after

year, earning scarcely enough to save their families from

want ; the sowing in peril that another may reap the rich

harvest ; if the life's history of each individual could be

given, it would make a history of deeper interest than any

which shall ever be written.

And there is another side—another histor3'- of the beau-

tiful home-life ; of noble deeds of charity, and of kindness
;

of patient waiting and self-denying sacrifices ; the tender

and ennobling attributes of our nature, as they show

themselves in the gentle ministrations of kindness, and in

deeds of which the world knows nothing ; these are not

written in ephemeral earthly histories, but in another

book.

—

F. L. McChesney.

OHAPTEE X.
CITY OF PARIS—EARLY PERIOD OF THE TOWN—ITS GROWTH—PIONEER POLITICS—IMPROVEMENTS OF THE CITY—WAR

EXCITEMENT AND SOLDIERS—TRANSIENT PROSPERITY—BURNING OF THE COURT HOUSE—CENTRAL
UNIVERSITY—TEMPERANCE MOVEMENT—CHOLERA, ETC., ETC.

MR. James H. McCann, who is now living, has a

very distinct recollection of Paris as far back as

1805. There were, at that time, seventy-five or eighty build-

ings, situated mostly in the lower part of the town. Prom
the best information that can be obtained, it is probable

the, first house built in Paris was the old log house on the

northwest corner of High and Church streets, which was
torn down last year.- Some of these buildings are yet

standing, among which are the old Burr House, now occu-

pied by Mrs. Webb as a boatding-house, which was then a

tavern, owned and kept b^^Mrs. James Duncan
; the old

Walker property, where Mr. Jeff Elgin now lives, is also

one of the old landmarks ; the two-story brick building,

Dr. David Keller's residence, and the house adjoining were

both built prior to that time, as was also a portion of the

present Bourbon House ; and the brick building lately

occupied by Bayles & Davis. On High street, the town

extended only to where Mr. James M. Hughes now lives.

The ground now occupied by John T. Hinton's furniture

store, the Adams Express, the post office and J. J. Shaw
& Co.'s storehouse, and extending across Main street was

then covered by a large pond of water, at times three or

four feet deep, and had to be crossed on a log foot- bridge.

It was the delight of the boys when it was frozen over,

and it is said that wild ducks were killed upon the pond

even after this time.

We are informed that the building—the residence and

store—of Mr. Philip Nippert was built from the timber

cut on the ground where it is situated.

The present residence of James Short, Sr., was then

standing, and then, as now, the old Paris Mills was one

of the institutions of Paris. The lower portion of the

town was compactly built, many of the houses being

of brick, and the old court house, then comparativelj' new,

was regarded as a model of architectural beauty and sym-

metry. However, there was not much regard had for

tasteful residences; many of the dwelling-houses .were

erected close to the streets. There were very few front

yards with attractive walks, and beautified by evergreens

and flowers. The people seemed to be of a more practical

turn of mind, and regarded the ground they owned as

more valuable for gardens than for showy front yards.

The growth of Paris, from this time forward, for many
years, was not rapid. In 1830, the population was 1,217

;

in 1840, it had decreased to 1,197. In the meantime, the

population of the county had also decreased. The small

land-holders sold their farms, and went to the West, where
land was cheap, and their little homesteads were absorbed
in the larger farms of their wealthier and more prosperous
neighbors. There was, therefore, no reason to expect an
increase of the population of the town, which depended
for its prosperity almost exclusively upon the local trade

of the county.

Prom the very first organization of the county and
town, the people took a lively interest upon all political

questions. They were almost all politicians. "Stump-
speaking " has always been the favorite way with the pub-
lic men of Kentucky in which to reach the people, and
almost all the men who have risen to prominence have
won success because they were good speakers, most of
whom secured their education in oratory upon the hust-

ings. As early as 1792, a political society was organized

w —
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in Paris, modeled after tlie Democratic society in Philadel-

phia, and was formed to oppose the then Federal party.

In 1798, the celebrated resolutions of 1798, were passed

by the Kentucky Legislature, and the people were much
divided, and there was great excitement on the issues

of that day. The " Alien and Sedition " law enacted

about that time produced a feeling of intense opposition

throughout the country, which resulted in hurling the old

Federal party from power, and making the name of-Feder-

alist ever afterward odious with the people. All this section

ofKentucky ranged itself with the Republican party in oppo-

sition to the Federalists. Then came on the war of 1 812. and

our people were unitedly in its favor ; then followed the

conflict between the old and new court parties, which was

probably the fiercest ever known in the State. In 1824-25,

came the contest for the Presidency, in which Adams,

Clay, Crawford and Jackson were the candidates. There

was no choice of President by the people, and the election

was thrown into the House of Representatives of Congress,'

and through the influence of Mr. Clay, the vote of the

State was cast for John Quincy Adams. This caused a

permanent division and a strict drawing of party lines

here into Whigs and Democrats, and in all the subsequent

contests Bourbon County and Paris were always carried

by the Whig part}' by a decided majority, and from that

day until his death the people followed with an unfaltering

devotion the political fortunes of Henry Clay. To give an

idea of the political feeling then existing, a public dinner,

given in Paris, in July. 1827, to Mr. Clay, was attended by

8,000 people.

As far back as 1830, there was much interest in the

construction of turnpikes, and the feeling then manifested

has brought forth abundant fruit, in giving to Bourbon

County the most complete system of turnpike roads in the

State. In that year there was much enthusiasm in favor

of the Maysville & Lexington Turnpike road, which now

constitutes our main street, and which, connecting with

other roads extending hundreds of miles north and south,

has not inaptly been called the " Broadway of the United

States." To this road the citizens of Paris subscribed

$30,500 ; in Lexington $13,000 was subscribed ;
in Millers-

burg, 15,200 ; in Nicholas County, $8,000, and $10,300 at

Maysville. The Maysville & Lexington road bill passed

Congress, but was vetoed by President Jackson. Collins'

History of Kentucky contains the following "Practical

Joke on the President," which was claimed, but, of course,

groundlessly, to have some remote connection to the veto :

" When President Jackson passed through Paris, in 1829,

en route to Washington, to be inaugurated President, some

Adams men changed the sign-board, east of town, so as to

make the ' To Maysville ' sign point to Mount Sterling. It

is said, the General and party passed on toward the latter

place some distance before discovering the mistake. It is

added, that it was afterward claimed that this was, in great

part, the cause of the old General's vetoing the Maysville

road bill."

In 1851, the county of Bourbon subscribed $100,000

to the Lexington & Covington Railroad Company ;
individ-

ual subscriptions of stock were also made of $100,000. A
like county subscription was also made to the Maysville &
Lexington Railroad. Subsequently, the city of Paris sub-

scribed $10,000 to the Covington & Lexington road. The

Maj'sville & Lexington road, after being partially graded,

and some other work done upon it, was abandoned, and

was not finally completed until twenty years afterward,

when the county subscribed $200,000 to aid in its con-

struction. The Covington & Lexington road was finished

to Paris in 1854. The road was afterward sold, and the

stock of the county supposed to be lost. Subsequently,

however, in a suit of the old owners against the heirs of

an estate, who had purchased the road, the Court of

Appeals decided to set aside the sale, and the title to the

road reverted to its original owners. A compromise was

affected by which a new company was organized, and this

count}' accepted for its subscription $75,000 in stock, and

this stock was sold last year for $45,000.

With the completion of the road to Covington, and the

opening of new avenues of trade, the town and county

both enjoyed, until the beginning of the late sectional war,

an unwonted prosperity. There was a ready market for

their stock and all their farm products. Indeed, the rail-

road, as is almost always the case, benefited the farmer

more than it did the people of the town.

But the political excitement of 1860, followed by the

terrible civil war, unsettled all business. In that year this

county had given a large majority in favor of the Union

candidates ; but the feelings and interests and associations

of a large majority of the people were with the South in

its struggle. They deplored the war, and would have re-

joiced could it have been averted, but when it begun and

was followed up by the emancipation of the slaves, the

white population, nine out of every ten, were in sympathy

with the Southern people. In addition to this, the very

flower of the young men had volunteered as soldiers in

the Confederate army, Col. Roger W. Hanson's famous

Second Kentucky Regiment and Gen. John H. Morgan's

Cavalry being largely recruited from this section of the

State. These people were in the anomalous position of

being under Federal rule, yet sj'mpathizing with the South.

We state facts, and offer no comments. It was a civil war
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in which countrymen and townsmen and brothers were ar-

rayed against each other, and that is the most dreadful of

all wars. Paris and Bourbon County gave both to the

Union and Confederate cause names which will be con-

spicuous in history. Judge Richard Hawes, the foremost

citizen of his daj' in the county, at an advanced age,

abandoned his home (which was seized by the Federal

G-overnment and used as a hospital), to avoid imprison-

ment, took refuge in Virginia, and was afterward made
Governor of the Confederate Provisional Government of

Kentucky. Col. William E. Simms was one of the Sena-

tors from the State in the Confederate Congress ; Col. E.

F. Clay, Maj. Thomas Y. Brent, Capt. J. Lawrence Jones,

Capt. Daniel Turney, Capt. Ed. Taylor, Capt. J. M. Thomas,

Capt. Ed. P. Spears, and others, made a record of brilliant

service in the Confederate armj'. On the Union side were

Gen. John T. Croxton, Col. Charles S. Hanson, Col. R. M.

Kelly, Col. G. C. Kniffln, Maj. John Hall, Capt. M. M.

Clay, Capt. Greenberry Reid, Capt. Thomas Vimont, and

others, who bore a prominent part in the great struggle,

and all of whom, both Confederate and Federal, are more

particularly mentioned in a preceding chapter. Paris,

fortunately, suffered very little from the ravages of war

;

no battle was fought in its immediate vicinity. In Novem-
ber, 1861, a serious affray occurred near the jail, at the

bridge, between a squad of Union soldiers, belonging to

the Eighteenth Kentucky Regiment, and Abram Spears

and Daniel Hibler, two well-known and prominent citizens,

in which the former was killed and the latter severely

wounded, being shot through the breast, after having shot

and killed a soldier named Ford. It was with some diffi-

culty that Hibler was protected from the infuriated

soldiers, but he was immediately arrested by Capt. Green-

berry Reid, who happened at the time to be passing through

the bridge, and was lodged in jail, where he remained until

the following July, when he was released by Morgan's

command. This affair, on account of the prominence of

the parties engaged in it, caused very great excitement in

the community. At that time, military rule was supreme.

In October, 1861, the Flag suspended publication. In

April, 1862, the grand jury found indictments against

thirty-four citizens of the county who had entered the

Confederate service, and against twelve others for invading

the State to make war against it. On July 18, 1862,

about sundown, Gen. John Morgan's forces reached Paris.

A deputation of citizens had met Gen. Morgan on the

road to Ruddel's Mills and surrendered the town. His

advent here caused much rejoicing among the Southern

sympathizers. But, a short time afterward, when he had

left, an order was issued by the Federal authorities forcing

Morgan's friends to pay for the acts of their favorite chief-

tain ;
and, in the carrying out of this order, assessments

were levied upon a number of citizens of this section of

of the State. September 1, Paris was again abandoned by

the Union forces, and was taken possession of by the Con-

federates, who paroled all citizens who were attached to

the Home Guards. The Provost Marshal issued an order

making Confederate money receivable for all goods and

produce sold. One merchant who refused to take the

Confederate notes as money was placed under arrest.

After remaining here a short time, the Confederates aban-

doned this section, and, after the battle of Perryville, with-

drew their entire forces from the State.

It was not until the close of the war in 1865 that

Paris made any considerable advance in population. The

slaves had been emancipated, and rejoicing over their

new-born freedom were restless under the restraints of

farm-life, and came to the city by hundreds. Besides,

there was an almost universal belief that with the destruc-

tion of slavery, Kentucky and other States where the

institution had existed would enjoy a prosperity which

they had never before realized. The prices of land,

of houses, of everything, were inflated ; money was

plentiful ; speculation was rife everywhere, and every-

thing seemed to betoken an era of unexampled pros-

perity. In Claysville, a suburban town near Paris, one

hundred houses were built in one week. In the mean-

time, railroad enterprises were infused with a new life.

Action was taken looking to the completion of the Mays-

ville & Paris Railroad, and the county, by a large popu-

lar majority, voted a subscription of $200,000 in aid of the

enterprise. Another project, the Frankfort, Paris & Big

Sandy Railroad was also agitated in 1871. A charter had

been obtained from the Legislature in that year, and an

application was made by Gen. John T. Croxton, the Presi-

dent of the company, to submit to a vote of the people of

the county the proposition to subscribe $400,000 to the

capital stock of the company. The Court, Judge Richard

Hawes presiding, rejected the application. The contest

was then transferred to the Legislature, and an amendment
of the charter was asked making it mandatory upon the

Court to submit the proposition to a popular vote. The
question was thoroughly discussed, and although opposed
by the Senator from this district and the Representative

from the county, and the Railroad Committee in the House,

of which Hon. J. C. 8. Blackburn was Chairman, made
a unanimous report against it, still the bill passed by a

majority of thirteen votes ; and in April, 1872, the Court,

carrying out the mandatory act of the Legislature, submit-

ted the proposition to the people, and it was carried by a
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majority of 288 votes
;
for the subscription, 1,672 ; against

1,384. The contest was ver^' exciting, the county being

thoroughly canvassed by Glen. Croxton, P. L. McChesney,

R. S. Henderson, Col. E. F. Clay, Capt. James M. Thomas
an<J Franlj Kennedy in favor of the proposition. Hon.

W. A. Cunningham was the only one who spoke against

the subscription, replying to F. L. McChesney, at Clin-

tonville. A subscription of $350,000 was made to the road

in Scott County, and $150,000 in Bath, with the private

subscriptions, making in all $950,000 ;
but the road was

never built, and the subscription never called for. The

financial crash of 1873 followed, and put an end to all en-

terprise ; the growth of the city was checked ; the value of

property fell ; business became paralyzed ; the mechanics

had very little to do
;
a feeling of depression pervaded

every department of trade ; and the city has not yet re-

covered from the effects of that disastrous financial crisis.

In 1870, the negroes were made voters, and first voted

here at the August election in that year. At the polls, a par-

tition was erected, and the whites voted on one side

and the colored men on the other. Prior to 1869, two

villages, Claysville and Ruckerville, had been within the

city limits, and in anticipation of their enfranchisement,

and to keep them from obtaining political control, an act

had been passed by the Legislature, cutting them off from

the city, and re-arranging its boundaries. Nothwithstand-

ing this Legislation, the Republicans for several years car-

ried the municipal elections, and elected Roger W. O'Con-

nor, Mayor. Subsequentlj', the charter was amended so as

to require the payment of a pei- capita tax before voting,

and since that time the Democrats have carried the city at

each election by a decided majority.

On May 8, 1872, the old court house was destroyed

bj' fire, the work of an incendiary. The True KentucMan,

of May 15, contains the following description of the fire,

written by the Hon. R. T. Davis ;

About 10 o'clock Wednesday night, smoke issued from the

court house ; but as no danger was apprehended, and no particular

attention paid to it, it was mistaken for clouds ; but, as the vol-

ume increased, and the smoke-wreaths ascended faster, persons

went over, and, on opening the door, were horrified at finding

that the interior of that ancient structure was in flames, and

everything demonstrating, beyond a doubt, that some ruthless

hand had applied the incendiary torch to our halls of justice.

The windows, which were open in the evening, were tightly closed

by the vandal, in order that the flames might make such lieadway,

and eat so deeply into the vitals of the building, as to defy all

efforts to save it, when the incendiary's work should be discovered.

Even the doors opening from the vestibule into the court room

were closed, and every precaution taken by the as yet unknown

burner to prevent an early discovery that might thwart his infa-

mous design. When the inner door was opened, an appalling

sight met the view ; everything combustible was rapidly falling a

prey to the devouring element ; huge flame-tongues were darting,

hissing, lapping and blighting everything tiiey touched ; strug-

gling, as if obedient to a fire king, whose motto was "excelsior !"

And now broke forth upon the still night air the fearful cry of

"fire !" which soon brought crowds to the scene of conflagration,

some manifesting deep concern, while by far the greater number
looked calmly on.

The engine was soon brought into requisition, and our firemen

bore down on the brakes manfully, with what appeared at first a

prospect of success of subduing the flames. But no sooner did a

stream of water extinguish the fire in one quarter than it burst

forth in another.

Seeing that the old structure was doomed, the firemen ceased

their efforts to save it, and directed their attention to the other

buildings that were jeopardized by sparks and flying cinders,

until the heat became so intense that those who manned the engine

at the cistern, near the scene of the burning, were compelled to

abandon their work, and, as they could do nothing more, drew
off to watch the flames, which soon burst through the roof, and,

in a few moments, fiery billows were roaring, tossing and seething

around the base of the cupola, that symmetrical architectural

work that towered aloft a "thing of beauty" and just pride of

the Bourbons for more than half a century.

As the sheets of flame ascended, all eyes were directed to the

old town clock, whose hands pointed to 10.50, the hour at which
it ceased its labor, and whose face had been familiar to us from
childhood, and wore the same look for all—a look as tender for

those in squalid poverty as those in regal splendor. Like a faith-

ful sentinel, it stood at its post, and faced the fiery enemy, until

the supports gave way, and it was forced to yield to the fire-fiend

who had decreed that with it " time should be no more."

When the old cupola sank down into the bed of fire, many of

the spectators gave utterance to an involuntary exclamation, and
a beautiful young lady burst into tears when the dear old fabric

disappeared from view forever.

There was more and heavier timber used in the construction

of the edifice than one would have supposed, being erected at a

period when, to use the language of a friend, " timber was cheap

and carpenters were honest." The fall of the cupola, and the

other lumber brouglit in its descent, filled the air with millions of

sparks, that circled, eddied, whirled and danced through the

atmosphere, making a scene grand and beautiful beyond descrip-

tion, and the myriads of swallows that had been dislodged from
then- homes in the cupola, were confusedly darting hither and

thither, reminding one of the dove sent from the ark, seeking a

place to rest its wearied wings, but finding it not.

The morning after the fire dawned bright and beautiful upon
our city ; but the beauty was marred by the sad spectacle pre-

sented by the ruins of the old buildings, where the law had been

expounded for threescore and ten years. Nothing was left of the

old structure, wherein audiences had listened, with rapt delight,

to the eloquence of Clay, Marshall, Breckinridge and others of

the flower of Kentucky orators, but a shapeless mass of smolder-

ing ruins. True, the old edifice was unsightly, and anything but

a credit to a county possessed of so much wealth as Bourbon, but

we deplore its loss, and say "peace to its ashes."

In 1873, an earnest effort was made to secure the loca-

tion of Central University in Paris. Rev. L. H. Blan-

ton, then of this city, now the Chancellor of the Univer-
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sity, was the leading spirit in the movement, but was

heartily seconded by a number of our public-spirited citi-

zens. A magnificent subscription, reaching $110,000, was

made, and offered as an inducement for the location of the

Universitj' here, and in addition to this amount, it was

believed that the interest upon the Garth Fund could also

be diverted in the same direction. This would have in-

creased the amount of the subscription to fully $140,000.

Considerable feeling, however, had been engendered as to

the location, and although Paris offered much the largest

bid, the institution, by a vote of the Alumni Association,

under whose auspices the enterprise was carried on, was

located at Richmond. The response made for subscription

was exceedingly liberal, and in the highest degree credita-

ble to the people of our county.

In the latter part of November, the Murphy temper-

ance movement was begun in Paris by Mr. I. N. Grrubbs,

of Pittsburgh, Penn., and George Leavenworth, a reformed

drunkard, of Cleveland, Ohio. The meetings were held at

the Baptist Church, and largely attended. Everj' night

they would address immense audiences, and would be fol-

lowed by brief remarks from local speakers. Leaven-

worth was an earnest and persuasive speaker, and cer-

tainly one of the most effective temperance lecturers in

the country. During the meetings, which lasted more

than two months, there were upward of one thousand

signers to the pledge of total abstinence, all of whom en-

rolled themselves as members of the Christian Temperance

Union. Such good order was never seen in Paris as on

Christmas Day, 1877. There was a temperance dinner

and supper in the dining-room of the Paris Hotel build-

ing, and no drunkenness seen anywhere. For a time, at

least, all was quiet, and temperance held full sway in this

citj'. The movement unquestionably was productive of

good, but the results fell far short of the expectations of

those actively engaged in it.

Paris, in its earlier days, was not a healthy city. In

1816, it was visited by what was called the " cold plague."

The victims of the disease were first seized with a chilly

fever, after which there were symptoms somewhat resem-

bling cholera. Not being understood, it was especially fatal

to old people. Among those who died were John Hil-

dreth, Capt. James Kenney and Peter Cline and wife.

In 1833, the cholera first appeared in Paris. Business

was suspended, and all who could get away left the town.

The following is a list of those who died during the epi-

demic : Jonathan Willett, Thomas Burdin, Sophia (daugh-

ter of Dr. N. Warfield), Mrs. Lym, Thomas Hardwick, a

daughter of Maj. George W. Williams, Mrs. Judith Bryan,

Mrs. Gaither, Mrs. William M. Samuel, Mrs. Moore and

son, Mrs. Hinton, Peter Sharrer, Sr., Mrs. Charles Brent,

Parker (son of Mrs. Andrews), Jonathan Dearborn and son

William, Erasmus Gill, Isaac Avery, Samuel D. Scott, Sam-

uel Beeler, Mrs. Ann Kennedy, Mrs. James McCann, Peter

Hizer, Mrs. Praul, Richard Samuel, George Davis, Mrs.

James Paton, Richard Turner, a turnpiker (name unknown),

Richard Holmes (a wagoner at John Mitchell's). Colored

persons : Olivia, at William C. Lyle's ; Julia, at N. War-

field's
;
Grace, at Mrs. Barker's ; boy, at James H. Mc-

Cann's ; woman, at E. H. Herndon's ; Jennie Jackson
;

Sarah Wallace ; woman, at Mr. Cummins' ; Marshall's

woman
;
David, two men and woman at S. Pyke's ; woman,

at Mr. Waggoner's ;
Jenny, at Rev. Amos Clever's ; Phoebe,

at Jonathan Massie's ; Gabriel, a stone mason ; woman, at

David Cline's
;

girl, at John Mitchell's ; thirteen, at H. T.

Duncan's factory. Citizens of the town who died in the

country : George P. Bryant, Miss Susan Croxton, Dr.

Davis, George W. Williamson, Mrs. John G. Martin, Eliz-

abeth Leer, Mary Ann (daughter of Jonathan Massie), Mrs.

Berkley.

At this time, Paris contained a population of about

1,200 ; and when this is borne in mind, the proportion of

deaths from the scourge was very large.

In 1839, a disease known as the " Paris fever " pre-

vailed, and a number of the citizens of the town were its

victims, among whom were Benjamin Riggs, Hugh I.

Brent, Joshua Smith, Sallie Davis, James Scott and others.

The disease was supposed to have been caused by the

miasma arising from the ponds and stagnant water about

the town.

Again, in 1849, the cholera visited Paris, and the fol-

lowing taken from a slip which was sent out from the

Citizen office, dated August 4, 1849, tells the story of its

workings :

" The cholera has raged with great malignity and fright-

ful mortality in Paris during the first few days of this

week, but we are gratified to announce that the disease has

abated in the violence, and number of its attacks. The
following is a list of the deaths since Thursday noon (July

26) to noon to-day : A. S. Pomeroy, Dyer Austin, Mrs.

Thomas Rule
; Old Cato, at Mrs. Keiningham's

; Mrs.

Green Mclntyre
;
Aaron, son of N. B. Rion, Mrs. Squire

Taylor, James Gardner's child
; E. P. Watts, at A. Cum-

mins'
;
negro woman at Mrs. Scott's

; Sqiiire Robinson
;

Ned, negro man of C. Talbutt's
; James H. Wood, old

Mrs. Lovely, Thomas R. Rule, John H. Thurston, Samuel
McElroy, Dr. John A. Ingels

; negro girl at Charles Tal-

butt's
; George Elliott, James Heatherington, William

Finlay, Mrs. Elizabeth Barker
; Mary, daughter of George

Northcutt ; old negro woman, Smoot's mother ; Charles,
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son of C. C. Daugherty ; George, son of Dr. L. G. Ray
;

Dr. Quisenbury, Ezekiel Thurston (not cholera); Mrs.

Sarah D. Scott, Charles Sn^'der (consumption); Mrs.

Brent's negro boy, William T. Davis ; Henry, son of Mrs.

Robinson ; Frank T., son of A. T. Sebree ; Mrs. Martha

Potts (in Millersburg) ; Mrs. Barbara Lennox (in Millers-

burg); James Daugherty, Mrs. Ann Mitchell, Mrs. Israel

N. Smith, Jesse P. Kern, negro girl of Mrs. Williams
;

negro girl at David Kelley's ; Mrs. Samuel Clair ; Mr
Sheppard (chair-maker); John Mclntyre (in the country);

Mrs. Catharine Hibler ; Judy Klizer, a free woman
;
Step-

ney Baruett, free black ; Old Davy, negro man near town,

and James Scott.

" The above is as accurate a list as we have been able

to obtain, but we believe it to be very nearly correct. We
hear of very few new cases within the last twenty-four

hours. The whole number of deaths, since the 3d of

July (when the first case of cholera occurred) to the 4th

of August, in town and vicinity, sixty-five, which includes

all the deaths of cholera and five or six other diseases.

Owing to sickness, we have been unable to publish the

Citizen this week. We hope, however, that we shall be

able to renew our regular issues next week."

In addition to the above, the following also died : Mrs.

Richard Talbott, child of William M. Taylor, Mrs. A. S.

Pomeroy, Mrs. Robert S. Morrow, Mrs. Cheshire, Roger D.

Williams (son of Maj. George W. Williams) of fever,

Thomas Rule, Jr., Miss Harriet Robinson, Mrs. John

Crosby, Miss Susan Daugherty, John Talbutt (son of

Charles Talbutt), William Scroggin, Mrs. Willis Wills, Mrs.

Dr. John A. Lyle, Miss Mary Chambers and others.

In 1852-53, the cholera again visited Paris, but was

not so fatal as in 1833 and 1849.

In the fall and winter of 1873-74, the cerebro-spinal

meningitis prevailed in Paris, and was very fatal. Among
those who died were the following : Mrs. B. F. Massie,

Oliver Shaw, Mrs. William Lair and child. William Clay,

Miss Katie Holliday, Mrs. Mary Buckner, three children of

Mrs. Merringer, Willie Gaper and Miss Ollie Stoker.

About this time there were other deaths, among them the

following : Mrs. B. F. PuUen, Mrs. J. S. Sweeney, Mrs. J.

T. Hinton, Mrs. 0. P. Carter, Miss Carrie Stuart, Miss Mary

Ingels, Mrs. W. T. Poynter, Mrs. G. W. Williams and

Mrs. Louisiana Rankins.

In 1873, the cholera appeared at Millersburg, and was

very fatal. There were no cases in Paris. During the

former epidemics, well water was generally used
;
now

almost every residence has a cistern, and it is claimed by

some that the city owes its exemption from cholera in 1873

to the almost exclusive use of cistern water.

—

Mc Chesney.

mk

t



A] @ »>_ iK
102 HISTORY OF BOURBON COUNTY.

OHAPTEE XI.

THE CHURCH HISTORY OF PARIS— INTRODUCTION OF THE GOSPEL— BUILDING OF THE FIRST CHURCHES— PRESBYTE-

RIAN ORGANIZATION—OTHER DENOMINATIONS—THE BARNES REVIVAL—SOCIETIES, THE PRESS, ETC.

" How beautiful are the feet of them that preach the Grospel

of peace and bring glad tidings of good things."

~j TAND in hand with the early settlers came the earnest

-J—L and devoted preachers of the Gospel. The husband-

man tilled the soil and the golden grain rewarded his in-

dustry, and in every household there was bread to supply

the physical wants of man. But it is said, " that man
shall not live by bread alone," and religion comes offering

to satisfy the soul's hunger and the soul's thirst, and to give

the bread, of which if any man eat he shall never hunger,

and the water of which if any man drink he shall never

thirst. And so in the early days, when the rude log house

was built, the same hands erected the modest house of wor-

ship, where the Gospel of peace was proclaimed. First, in

the county, so far as we can learn, came the Baptists
; then

the Presbyterians. Whilst there was wickedness then just

as now, yet there seemed to be a strong religious element,

transplanted here from the Valley of Virginia, which per-

vaded the whole community. But scarcely had the church
gained a foothold than infidelity also appeared. Just
before the close of the last century France had run wild

the Sabbath had been abolished, and the darkness of

atheism had settled upon that people. At that time one
of the most learned and brilliant of this school of infidels

was Augustin Volney, the author of the " Ruins of Em-
pires," whose whole life was devoted to the pulling down
of all the altars of religion. It is not known why he came
here, but about that time he became a resident of the

county, and was industrious in sowing the seeds of infi-

delity
;
and the tares which were thus sown have grown

up, and the baneful influence of his teachings have not
passed away to this day. About the same time occurred in

this county, that remarkable religious phenomenon, " the

Shakes," the greatest revival which has ever occurred in

the State, of which a full account is given elsewhere in the

history of the county. In this connection we may state

that we are informed on good authority that of all those who
had the " Shakes," or spiritual " exercises," not one failed

afterward to live a consistent Christian life.

The following full and accurate history of the Presby-

terian Church, we reproduce from the " Sketches of

Paris;"

Presbyterian Church.—The Presbyterians were the

pioneers of religion in Paris, having established the first

church in 1787, and continued ever since to sustain an

organization, and to-day are sustaining two preachers, hav-

ing two working congregations and owning two church

buildings.

Rev. Andrew McClure, a man of devout and energetic

disposition, was the first minister, and to him is due much
of the honor for the firm hold his people have upon this

community. He organized the church, was its first leader,

and remained in charge until his death in 1793. The first

official act of the session of the church, of which we have

any record, bears date of September 25, 1809. The Ruling

Elders then were Isaac Orchard, John Curry, James Alex-

ander, Joseph Mitchell and William McConnell. It is

probable that nearly all of these men were Elders when
the church was organized.

In the spring of 1795, Rev. Samuel Rannells took

charge of the church, and continued until his death in

1817. During Mr. Rannells' ministry, as well as Mr. Mc-
Clure's, the church at Paris was connected with the church

at Ruddel's Mills (or Stoner Mouth, as it was known), and

after Mr. Rannells' death this connection was dissolved,

and the Paris congregation sustained a minister for his

whole time, having extended a call to the Rev. William

Wallace, a young man of brilliant talents and ardent piety.

He pi-eached in Paris for some time before his ordination

and installation as pastor. Under his ministration, the

ohurch was blessed with a revival, and more than one hun-

dred persons were added to the membership. He died in

1818, after a pastorate of about one year.

At the death of Mr. Wallace, and for some time after-

ward, the pulpit was supplied by the Rev. James McChord,
a man of extraordinary ability and one of the most elo-

quent speakers of his day. Mr. Ranck, in his history of

Lexington, says he studied law with Henry Clay, but

after mature deliberation abandoned that profession and

attended a theological seminary in New York, where he
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took the foremost rank. His eloquence and energy built

up a large congregation in Lexington, but he had his

troubles, was removed, and died May 26, 1820, broken-

hearted, aged thirty-five j'ears. During the winter of 1819,

or the spring of 1820, the Rev. John McFarland was called

and installed pastor of the church. His pastorate ex-

tended through a period of eight years, and was terminated

by his death on the 28th of July, 1828.

Rev. Mr. Pratt was engaged as pastor. During the fol-

lowing year, the pastor, assisted by Rev. John Black,

conducted a meeting, during which thirty-four persons

were added to the church, twenty-two of whom were col-

ored. Again, in 1847, there was a considerable ingath-

ering. Mr. Pratt's ministry closed during the spring or

summer of 1852.

He was succeeded, in the fall of the same year, b}' Rev.

B. B. Smith as pastor. Mr. Smith's ministry closed in the

spring of 1856, and was followed by the Rev. Mr. Carrier,

who seems to have labored as stated supply one year. In

November, 1857, Rev. W. T. McElroy was invited to act

as stated supply.

In January, 1858, a joint communion was held by the

two churches, preaching alternately by the pastors. Twelve

persons were received into the communion of the New-

School Church, and a less number into the Old School, and

the Synod of Kentucky on the part of the New School,

having taken action looking to organic union of the two

bodies. This action was consummated in the Paris church,

in April, 1859, the joint session then meeting for the first

time. The preachers employed during the four following

years were Mr. Liggatt, Revs. B. W. Bedinger, HoUoway

and W. B. Brownci.

In the spring of 1863, Rev. D. 0. Davies was called, and

installed pastor, and it was during his ministry that the

war trouble sprang up, which resulted in the division of

the church in 1866.

Mr. Davies continued pastor of the church in connec-

tion with the Southern G-eneral Assembly, until 1868, when

he resigned the charge, and a call was extended to Rev. L.

H. Blanton, now Chancellor of Central University, which

was accepted and he was installed as pastor. In 1869-70,

the present splendid church edifice was built, and in No-

vember, 1870, the church was dedicated, the dedicatory

sermon being delivered by Rev. Dr. J. C. Stiles. About the

same time the Synod of Kentucky met in Paris. During

the pastorate of Dr. Blanton, the church membership was

largely increased, and great activity was observable in the

promotion of all the interests of the church. It was a

working pastor, and an active, working, giving church.

During the twelve years of Mr. Blanton's ministry, the

large sum of $75,000 wag collected, including the amount

subscribed to build the church. The ladies were especially

active, and prepared and published a book, entitled " Cook-

ing in the Blue Grass,'' from the sale of which they realized

several thousand dollars. Mrs. A. E. Randolph, now a mis-

sionary in China, went from this church, which has con-

tributed liberall}' to the cause of foreign missions. Dr.

Blanton resigned in 1880, and was succeeded by Mr. Sum-

rail, who served as stated supply for several months. In

the spring of 1881, the congregation extended a unanimous

call to Rev. Dr. E. H. Rutherford, of St. Louis, Mo. The

call was accepted, and Dr. Rutherford in May, entered upon

the duties of pastor. The following is a list of the present

officers of the church : Ruling Elders, George W. Davis,

A. W. Wright, D. M. Dodge, Joseph A. Howerton, John

Gass, Joseph M. Jones and R. P. Dow. Deacons, Joseph

Neely, David Kennedy, F. L. McChesney, Ed F. Spears, W.

A. Johnson, George R. Bell, Victor K. Shipp, Emmett M.

Dickson. Secretary and Treasurer, Joseph M. Jones. The

Sunday school numbers about 125 pupils. Joseph A.

Howerton, Superintendent ; George W. Davis, Treasurer
;

W. A. Johnson, Secretary ;
Victor K. Shipp, Librarian

;

William Webb, Assistant Librarian.

In 1866, a division occurred in the Presbyterian Church,

a portion uniting with the Southern General Assembly, and

the remaining adhering to the Northern branch of the

Church. The division of property was arranged without

litigation, in a way satisfactory to the parties interested.

The history of the church in connection with the Southern

General Assembly has already been given. The other

branch of the church retained possession of the building

on the corner of Pleasant and Mulberry streets, which has

since been repaired and handsomely improved. The fol-

lowing is a list of the pastors since the division : Rev.

W. P. C. Webster, 1870-71 ;
from spring of 1871 to fall of

same year. Rev. G. W. Coons ; from September, 1871, to

April, 1874, Rev. C. F. Beach ; from December, 1874, to

1878, Rev. R. W. Cleland. For some time after this, the

church was without a regular pastor. Last year. Rev.

Ernest McMillan was called to and accepted the pastorate

of the church. The following are the officers : Elders,

B. F. Harris, Dr. Joseph Fithian, James McClintock, Sr.,

Thomas I. Brent. Deacons, James Hall, George F. Smith,

William H. Park. Superintendent Sunday School, George

F. Smith ; Librarian, George D. McClintock.

"The Baptist Church of Christ iq, Paris, in union with

the Baptist Churches of the General Union, was constituted

in the old court house on the 18th of February, 1818, upon

the following members ; Joel Prewitt, Rachel Johnson,

James Pritchett, Pheba Pritchett, Agness Pullen, George

C7 ^
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Bryan, Hannah Gorham and Nicholas Talbott, by Elders

Jeremiah Vardeman and Davis Biggs.

"The first business meeting was hefd March 5, 1818.

Elder Vardeman was Moderator, and Joel Prewitt, Clerk.

The first Deacons were Nicholas Talbott, George Bryan and

William S. Bryan, and Willis Young, First Stated Clerk.

" From this time to December, 1832, the number that

had united with the church was 302 whites and 153 colored,

of whom, among the whites, there are now living here or

holding membership : Joseph Stephens, Washington Wheat,

James Paton, Mrs. Grosjean, Mrs. Lucretia Feemster and

Joseph Porter and wife.

"On April 18, 1818, George Bryan, William S. Bryan,

James Pritchett and Joel Prewitt were appointed Commis-

sioners to build a meeting-house for the church, and ob-

tained a large lot at the intersection of the Winchester

Turnpike road with Pleasant street, which was finished in

March, 1822.

"Elder Vardeman continued pastor of the church from

its organization to 1826, preaching one Saturday and Sun-

day of each month. The church was also supplied with

preaching, during that time, by Elders John Holliday, Ma-

son Owings, James D. Black, A. G. Curry, G. Gates and

others.

"A revival commenced in the winter of 1827-28, under

the preaching of Elder Vardeman and others, when 135

whites and 46 colored persons were received into the

church.

" In 1 839, Elder Vardeman moved to Ralls County, Mo.,

where he continued to preach until about a week before his

death, which occurred in Maj', 1842, aged sixty-seven. His

biographer says of him :
' This distinguished minister was

one of a class somewhat rare in the annals of the church.

He possessed the peculiar talent of bringing the leading

truths of the Gospel home to the consciences of his hear-

ers. His illustrations were singularly varied, his language

strong, simple and well suited to convey clear thoughts to

every class, even the most illiterate, while the deep fount-

ains of feeling gushed from his own heart, and poured,

like a shower of rain, over the minds of his hearers. Tii

deep emotion, vivid conceptions of Gospel truth and the

power of exciting sympathy, he resembled Whitfield. His

voice was powerful, sonorous and clear. He commenced
his ministry about the year 1801.'"*

The Deacons up to this time, in addition to those first

named, were Jahab Wheat and Joseph Stephens
; Clerks,

Willis Young and Henry Croxton.

With 1832, commenced the "reformation," which caused

a division in the church, and an act of separation from

* From " Sketches of Paris," furnished by Mr. James Paton, Sr.

those claiming to be " Reformers " was adopted in Decem-

ber of that year.

In January, 1833, the church was re-organized, with

about forty-eight white members. It has now a member-

ship of about one hundred. From the time of its organi-

zation until a few weeks ago, the church has had a pastor

—

in 1833, Elder William Vaugh ; 1836, R. T. Dillard ; 1837,

A. Goodell ; 1838, G. C. Sedwick
; 1842, J. W. Kenny

1844, J. R. Davis ; 1845, G. G. Goss ; 1848, W. M. Pratt

1849, T. J. Drane
; 1849, E. D. Isbell ; 1851, S. L. Helm

1852, J. M. Frost ; 1853, Y. R. Pitts ; 1854, J. H. Yeaman,

J. B. Link.

In 1857, the colored members of the church were organ-

ized into a separate church, under the name of the "Afri-

can Church," by Elder J. B. Link and others, and have

kept up their own organization ever since, and have been

prosperous, having built a large and comfortable house of

worship.

In 1858, Elder George Varden was chosen paster, and

served until 1870. In 1865, the congregation determined

to remove their house of worship from the old location,

and rebuild in a more central position, sold the old build-

ing and lot, and purchased a lot on the corner of Locust

and Main streets, upon which the present building was

erected in 1867-68.

In 1870, Elder John Kingdon was chosen pastor ; 1872

C. S. McCloud ; 1873, Elder A. Myers supplied the church

with preaching, and occasionally Elder Salin ; 1874, Elder

A. N. White, who continued several years. He was suc-

ceeded, in 1878, by Elder S. F. Taylor, who has recently

resigned. The church is now without a pastor. The fol-

lowing are the officers : Deacons, James Paton, Sr., Joseph

Stephens, Chester F. Croxton, James Bradshaw; Clerk,

W. M. Goodloe, Sunday school—^R. S. Henderson, Super-

intendent ; William M. Goodloe, Treasurer
; R. H. Hudson,

Jr., Secretary ; John Prewitt, Librarian
; number of schol-

ars, fifty-five.

Methodist Episcopal Church South.—The organization of

the Methodist Church in Paris dates back to 1807. For

about ten years, the preaching was in private houses, and

mostly in the house now occupied by D. B. Flanigan, then

owned by Morgan Francis. In 1817, mainly through the

efforts of Peter Schwartzweiler, a brick church was built on

the site on which the present building stands. The congre-

gation being weakly, the building was not finished until 1 820.

Here the congregation worshiped until 1860, when the

present building was erected. Several of the members of

the congregation here, now living, contributed to the erec-

tion of the church, but the success of the undertaking was

mainly due to the liberality and energy of Mr. John D.

.V
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Heame, then a merchant of this city, now of Covington,

Ky.

Until 1865, Paris was only a circuit, having preach-

ing only once or twice a month. In the fall of that year,

it was made a station, and Rev. William F. Taylor ap-

pointed pastor. During the four years' pastorate of Mr.

Taylor, the membership increased from seventy-five to one

hundred and fifty-four. Rev. James C. Morris succeeded

Mr. Taylor, remaining four years, and though many were

added to the church, yet the membership decreased, owing

to deaths, removals, etc., to one hundred and thirty-eight.

Rev. W. T. Poynter followed Mr. Morris, remaining four

years. During his pastorate the church was prosperous,

and under his skillful management its financial plans were

well executed, and he left the church in very good working

order. He was followed by Rev-. B. H. Pearce, who re-

mained but one year, leaving the church about as he found

it. Rev. Dr. James A. Henderson succeeded Mr. Pearce,

and remained two years. He was followed by Rev. J. 0.

A. Vaught, who is the present pastor, now closing the

second year of hjs pastorate, which is proving a prosper-

ous year, more than forty persons having united with the

church already.

Besides the above, nearly all the prominent ministers in

the Kentucky Conference have preached in Paris—Cole,

Lakin, Lindsay, G-unn, Bascom, Durbin, Stamper, Cart-

wright, Kavanaugh, Stribling, Ray, and many others.

The following is a list of the offlcess : Pastor, Rev. J.

0. A. Vaught ; Stewards—James McClure, Cray Smith,

John Trundle, Selby Lillerton, E. P. Gamble and Edward

R. Fithian ; Trustees—H. M. Rucher and Dr. Wash.

Fithian.

St. Peters Church*—The first services of the Episcopal

Church in Paris, of which there are any records, were con-

ducted by clergymen from Lexington, Ky. As early as

August 27, 1815, the Rev. John Ward, of Lexington, came

to Paris and held service in the old court house, and on

that occasion baptized an infant daughter of Walker and

Sarah Thornton. That infant, long years ago, grew to

womanhood, and is still living in the county and is well

known as the poetess, Mrs. M. R. McAboy. This was the

first baptism. After that time, up to the year 1830, occa-

sional services were held, chiefly by clergymen from Lex-

ington, among whom might be mentioned the Rev. G-. T.

Chapman, the author of a famous book of sermons on the

principles and claims of the church.

During this period, no regular ministrations were sus-

tained, nor does there seem to have been any further at-

tempt made than to minister to certain persons who had

* Written by Kev. G. A. Weeks,

preferences for the church on account of early associations

in Virginia.

But in the year 1832 or 1833, a decisive attempt was

made to establish a parish and erect a church edifice. This

was done under the efficient leadership of the Rev. Amos
Cleaver, who came to Paris from Philadelphia, then in the

prime of his strength and energy. By indefatigable labor,

covering a period of six years, he drew together a congre-

gation of people, organized them into a parish, and com-

pleted a comfortable church edifice of brick. This church

edifice was consecrated in due form and order under the

name of St. Peter's Church, on the fifth day of August,

1838, by the Rt. Rev. B. B. Smith, Bishop of the diocese.

Soon after the consecration of the church, Mr. Cleaver

saw fit to resign the charge of it, at least for a time, and

the Rev. Francis B. Nash was chosen his successor, but did

not long continue in the ofllce, for, in the year 1840, Mr.

Cleaver was recalled, and again entered upon the work

which he had previously given up. He continued his sec-

ond rectorship till some time in the year 1843.

During the ministry of Mr. Cleaver and Mr. Nash, a

good many people were led to sympathize with the strug-

gling parish and co-operate in its efforts, who did not be-

come members of it. But some were baptized and con-

firmed.

Among the names of adults who received baptism at

this time, mention might be made of Sarah A. Berkley,

Mrs Cordelia Kelly, Mrs. Eliza J. Elliott (afterward Mrs.

Garrett Davis), Mrs. Margaret T. Brent, Maj. Thomas Elli-

ott, Caroline A. Scott, Amelia A. Timberlake. Of course,

a much greater number of infants were baptized during the

period.

Several of the adults named above were among the

very first who received the rite of confirmation. Among
the early confirmed we should also mention Mr. John

Richards, Mrs. Mary A. Timberlake, Mrs. Elmira D. Brent,

Mrs. Elizabeth L. Hart, Mr. William Heame, Mr. Jefferson

Scott, and, later, Mr. Hugh Brent. Some communicants

had been confirmed elsewhere, as Mrs. M. Morray, Mrs.

John Richards and Miss Nancy Marshall.

The first marriage under Mr. Cleaver's administration

was that between John Alexander and Betsy Gass, and the

second between Thomas Elliott and Eliza J. Morrow.

The first funeral was that of Matilda P. Heame, an in-

fant seventeen months old, and the second that of Charles

E. Talbott, aged thirty years.

In the early part of the year 1843, Mr. Cleaver again

gave up the charge of the church, and was succeeded by

the Rev. J. Avery Shepherd.

The names of the rectors of the church succeeding

^^
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Messrs. Cleaver and Nash, with the time they continued in

office, are as follows :

Rev. J. Avery Shepherd, about one year ; Eev. G. G-.

Moore, about three years ; Rev. H. H. Reid, about two

years ; Rev. T. H. Mitchell, about four years ; Rev. J.

Austin Merrick, about ten years
; Rev. G. A. Weeks, about

seventeen years, and who is the present incumbent. Under

the ministrations of Messrs. Shepherd and Moore, there was

a marked increase in the number of baptisms and con-

firmations.

After Mr. Reid's popular rectorship, he went abroad

and was accidentally killed by a fall from a balustrade in

a hotel in Italy.

Mr. Mitchell, in addition to his work in church, con-

ducted a flourishing school, in which he did much good in

instructing the youth of the parish. Mr. Merrick, by his

efficiency as a disciplinarian, and by a strict adherence to

church principles, imparted a churchly character to the

parish which it never had received in such measure before.

He and his good wife also did much for the instruction of

the youth in a parish school. He resigned, at last, on

account of chronic ill-health, and finally died in a charita-

ble institution in the city of New York.

Among the laymen, now gone to their rest, who have

been eminently useful in upholding the above named cler-

gymen in their work, it may not be deemed invidious to

mention the names of Dr. Harry Hopson and Hon. Robert

T. Davis.

In the spring of 1870, the old church which Mr. Cleaver

had built, was in the main taken down, and during the fol-

lowing summer and fall another of more elegant appear-

ance and more complete in its appointments, erected in its

place. This rebuilding was done at a cost of nearly

$10,000, including all the furnishings. And as the build-

ing was now essentially a new church, it was reconse-

crated on the 18.th day of November, 1870. In its de-

sign as an ecclesiestical structure, it may be regarded as

among the best in the diocese.

The parish has slowly advanced in strength from its

beginning, and without doubt to-day stands on a stronger

basis than ever before. Its baptisms and confirmations,

reaching up into the higher hundreds, are an indication of

the good it has done. " O, pray for the peace of Jerusa-

lem ; they shall prosper that love thee."

Officers of church at present time (February, 1882)

:

Rev. George A. Weeks, Rector ; Dr. David Keller, Senior

Warden ; Mr. William S. Taylor, Junior Warden
; Harry

Speers, Vestryman ; W. W. Porman, Vestryman
; O. A.

Gilman, Vestryman ; John C. Brent, Vestryman
; Ander-

son Berry, Vestryman ;
James A. Stewart, Vestryman.

The following sketch of the early history of the Chris-

tian Church was written by Elder John A. Gano :
" At the

request of several brethren, members of the church in

Paris, Ky., I write the following brief historj- of that

church, in its origin, infancy and progress. For many
years Elders Stone, Purviance, Dooley and others, in their

itinerations, preached much in Bourbon County. The

churches at Mount Carmel, Millersburg and Plat Run, at

an early period, under their labors came into existence,

nor should I fail to mention the efficient labors of those

faithful ministers, Prancis R. Palmer, Thomas Smith, Joel

Haden and others, who, during the first quarter of the pres-

ent century, throughout a considerable portion of Northern

Kentucky, preached without any earthly compensation.

Paris often shared in the benefit of these labors. It was

not, however, until in September, 1827, when I came with

Brother Thomas M. Allen to Paris to hold a meeting, that

any encouraging movement toward the formation of a

church took place. During that meeting he immersed Mrs.

George W. Williams, and her mother, Mrs. Mary T. Webb.
Later in the autumn of the same year, we held another

meeting. Through the kindness of the magistracy we .were

permitted the use of that time-honored, grand old court

house, all the meeting-houses in town being closed against

us, until the good Baptist, Brother William Bryan, oft'ered

us the use of their house. As some of the members of

his church objected, we preferred to use the court room
and it was here, at this second meeting in the autumn of

1827, an effort was made to gather a church. On invita-

tion several came forward to have their names enrolled,

viz. : Mrs. Mary T. Webb, Mrs. George W. Williams, Mrs.

H. Wilson, Mrs. M. Ashford, Miss M. Speak, and, perhaps,

another. To encourage this little band, I had my name
enrolled among them. ~ Brother Allen and the writer

preached either separately or together, monthly or oftener,

for this little flock, which soon increased in numbers and
influence. So many valuable additions, male and female,

were made within a year that the church was organized on
the same divine principles as the one in Jerusalem more
than eighteen centuries ago. Mr. Allen was the influential

and working man, and it was mainly through his instru-

mentality that the church prospered, and a good brick

house of worship was erected in the year 1828. Brother

T. M. Allen and John -Rogers were present at the dedica-

tion of that building. Among the many generous contribu-

tors to aid in that worli, I remember Mr. Hugh Brent, Sr.,

Mr. John L. Hickman, Sr., Mr. Daniel Duncan, George W.
Williams, Esq., Mr. Samuel Pyke, Mr. Henry Wilson, Mr.

Michael Ashford and Mr. Daniel Smedley. The flrst three
^

were not members of the church. The others weT-e, or soon

-.—
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became such. After the completion of the house, Brother

Allen became the regular preacher. My labors were still

frequent and were successful. In those days we never

thought of receiving anj' salary. Brother Allen visited

Virginia in 1831, and was urged to preach monthly for the

church in Paris, and consented to do so. I continued my
labors with them until about 1835, and it was during this

period that so many of the Baptist Church in Paris, em-

bracing the preacher. Brother G. Gates, Brother Hiram

Bledsoe, Brother William Bryan, and many others, discov-

ering, on mutual consultation, with many of our brethren,

the entire religious harmony existing between us, a cordial

union was formed, ' on the foundation of apostles and

prophets, Jesus Christ Himself being the chief corner-

stone.' Our house became the place of worship, the brethren

yielding up their former house to their quondam associates.

Brother Allen removed to Missouri in 1836. Brother

Aylett Raines succeeded me as the preacher in Paris, and,

becoming permanently located here, did most efficient and

successful service through a long series of years. The

church has also had the labors of Elders R. C. Ricketts,

David G. Burnett, John G. Tompkins, G. B. Moore, William

S. Giltner, Dr. L. L. Pinkerton, O. P. Miller, L. Pyron, John

Shackleford, David Walk, C. R. Marshall, and John S.

Sweeney, the present pastor. A host of others have tran-

siently visited and preached for this congregation, from the

gifted Alexander Campbell, deceased, down to the many

of humbler talents, both of the living and the dead.

" The church has continued to grow in members since its

organization, and now has a membership of about four

hundred. Elder John S. Sweeney is the pastor, having

held the position for the past twelve years, and still retains

a strong hold upon the affections and confidence of the con-

gregation. He is a minister of decided ability, as is evi-

denced by his unusually long pastorate ;
longer, if we mis-

take not, than that of any other minister since the organi-

zation of the Christian Church in Paris.

" The following are the present officers of the church :

Pastor, J. S. Sweeney ;
Elder, James M. Thomas ; Deacons,

J. T. Hinton, J. D. Butler, Horace Miller, W. T. Talbott,

W. W. Gill ; Treasurer, J. T. Hinton
;
Superintendent

Sunday School, James M. Thomas. The Sunday school is

largely attended, numbering upward of two hundred

scholars. The old church building was torn down in 1859,

and the present building erected and dedicated in June,

1859."

The Catholics of Paris and vicinity were occasionally

visited prior to 1840 by missionary priests from Louisville

and Cincinnati, among whom were Rev. Fathers Baden and

Kenrick, afterward Archbishop ofBaltimore, and others who

labored hard in and around Paris. In 1850, Paris and the

adjacent country were the fields of labor for Rev. Fathers

McMahon, Force, Allen and Perry, of Lexington. Services

were held in private houses throughout the county. Rev.

Father Force bought the present lot on Main street, and in

1854 Rev. Father Allen, under the direction of the Right

Rev. Bishop Carroll, built a small church, which still stands

on the lot, for the accommodation of the congregation.

In 1858j the frame church being entirely too small, the

membership numbering about two hundred. Rev. Father

Allen began the foundation of the new brick church, the

corner-stone of which was laid in 1858.

Rev. Father Brandts, the successor of Rev. Father

Perry, came to Paris in 1860. Seeing the want of a larger

church, he commenced the erection of the present build-

ing, which was dedicated in 1865. The membership had

then increased to about four hundred. In 1869, the con-

gregation determined to enlarge the church, and means were

provided for that- purpose. The building of an addition

was begun at once, and was finished in 1870. The total

cost of the church building, including the addition, was

about $25,000.

Father Brandts was succeeded by Rev. James Mc-

Nerne}', in 1876, who remained until 1877, when Rev.

Ferdinand Brossart was appointed. On November 6, 1878,

the present rector, Rev. James P. Barry took charge of

the church.

The history of the church in Bourbon County may be

summed up as .follows : Some fifty years ago, the mem-

bers were few and widely scattered, and had no regular

church ; consequently the Holy Sacrament of the Mass, as a

matter of necessity, had to be oflfered up in some private

residence. To-day, the Catholics of Bourbon have a resi-

dent priest at Paris, a neat church, a spacious cemetery,

and a visitation convent with schools attached, boarding,

academy and parochial. The Catholic population numbers

one hundred and thirty families, or about one thousand

persons.

The colored people have three new and substantial

church buildings in Paris. The Methodist Church, finished

within the last two^or three years, is one of the most taste-

ful in the city. Rev. A. Price is its pastor. Rev. Elisha

Green is pastor of the Colored Baptist Church, and Elder

Julius Graves, of the Colored Christian Church.

For three weeks in March, 1882, Paris was the scene of

the most wonderful religious revival which has ever

occurred in its history. George 0. Barnes, an evangelist,

formerly a minister in the Presbyterian Church, but now

cut loose from all church connection, held a series of meet-

ings in the court house, which will accommodate 1,200 per-
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sons, and during the three weeks of his stay preached twice

a da}' to crowded houses, and frequently hundreds were

turned away unable to find sitting or even standing room.

For several years, wherever Mr. Barnes has preached, there

never has been a hall or church large enough to accommo-

date the throngs who wish to attend. Frequently the

seats were filled an hour before the service began, and

sometimes persons would remain from one service to

another, without going to their homes. Such a deep relig-

ious interest never before pervaded the community. There

are widely varying estimates of Mr. Barnes and his teachings.

Some regard him as the most powerful preacher of the Grospel

in the world, the Whitfield of the nineteenth century in elo-

quence, whilst a few are not favorably impressed by him,

and regard his teachings as unsound and dangerous. His

doctrines are sometimes severely criticised and his preach-

ing condemned on account of the homely and so-called

" slang ' expressions used by him in the pulpit. But he

rivets and holds enchained the attention of the audience

from the opening to the closing word of his sermon. He
never tires himself ; while speaking, never moistens his lips

with water ; and never wearies his audience. His knowl-

edge of Scripture is wonderful, and the great success of

his labors is, in a measure, due to his deep earnestness,

the simplicity of his language, his persuasive eloquence,

and the absolute control he wields over those who listen to

him. Holding that his commission as a minister of the

Gospel is not only to preach, but to heal all manner of

diseases, he prays with and anoints all the afflicted and

suflfering who come forward, and " trust as best they can

in Jesus to heal them. " Under his ministry, during the

last three months, about three thousand persons have been

anointed. In a poem entitled " Pulpit Eloquence, " by Mrs.

Amelia B. Welby, is given a picture of a preacher which

so nearly describes Mr. Barnes that we reproduce it here :

"In stature majestic, apart from tlu^ throng,

He stood in his beauty, the theme of my song!
* * * « * * -x- * *

Such language as his, I may never recall
;

But his theme was salvation—salvation to all
;

And the souls of a thousand in ecstasy hung
On the manna-like sweetness that dropped from his tongue ;

Not alone on the ear his wild eloquence stole
;

Enforced by eaeli gesture it sank to the soul.

He spoke of the Savior—what pictures he drew !

The scenes of His sufferings were clear on my view
;

The cross—the rude cross where He suffered and died.

The gush of bright crimson that flowed from His side,

The cup of His sorrows, the wormwood and gal).

The darkness that mantled the earth as a pall.

The garland of thorns, and the demon-like crews,

Who knelt as they scoffed Him— " Hail King of the Jews !"

He spake, and it seemed that his statue-like form
Expanded and glowed as his spirit grew warm

;

His tone so impassioned, so melting his air.

As touched with compassion, he ended in prayer.

His hands clasped above him, his blue eyes upthrown.

Still pleading for sins that were never his own

,

"While that mouth, where such sweetness ineffable clung

Still spoke, though expression had died on his tongue.

God ! What emotions the speaker awoke !

A mortal he seemed, yet a deity spoke
;

A man—yet so far from humanity riven !

On earth—yet so closely connected with heaven !

"

Mr. Barnes is fifty-five years of age. He has preached

twice every day for the past five years, and seems to gather

strength by his labors. His labors closed here on the 29th

of March, with altogether 621 confessions and 156 anoint-

ings, total, 777. The like has never been seen before in

Paris.

In this chapter devoted to sketches of the Christian

churches, it is not inappropriate to say a few words of those

secret and benevolent societies which have done so much
good in the community, and the grand aim of which is

charity ; a virtue that Paul declared was greater than

faith and hope. First in order as in age, is the Masonic

Institution.

Paris Lodge No. 2, A., F. & A. Masons, was organized

in November, 1791. The charter was obtained from the

Grand Lodge of Virginia, Kentucky at that time being a

part of that State. The lodge at Paris was the second or-

ganized in Kentucky, the first lodge being in Lexington.

All the lodges in the State remained under the jurisdiction

of the Grand Lodge in Virginia until 1800, when the Grand
Lodge of Kentucky was established. The lodge here has

a long history, extending over a period of ninety-one years,

and during that time has done a great work of charity. It

is now in a flourishing condition, and bids fair to increase

in all the elements of usefulness. The following are the

present officers of the lodge; H. R. Blaisdell, W. M. ; S. B.

Kennedy, S. W. ; Charles Offutt, J. W. ; A. Shire, Secretary
;

B. F. Pullen, Treasurer.

Bourbon Lodge, No. 23, I. 0. 0. F., Paris, Ky., was or-

ganized, under dispensation, November 29, 1845, which

was granted by John B. Hinkle, then Grand Master of

Kentucky, to the following members of the order : P. G.,

J. V. Lovely, George StoU, Joseph B. Cooper, R. P. Tim-
berlake and W. S. Simpson. The first officers of the lodge

were : J. V. Lovely, N. G. ; L. B. Allison, V. G. ; J. T.

Davis, Treasurer
;
[an office which he has held for thirty-

five years], and W. AV. Fothergill, Secretary. The lodge has
had a total membership, up to January 1, 1882, of 441. The
membership, January 1, 1882, \% 84. Deaths to same date,

35. The receipts of the lodge from its organization to

January 1, 1882, aggregate $30,500. The total expendi-
tures, including benefits, etc., $27,000 ; leaving a balance on

V
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hand of $3,500. In 1854-55, the Odd Fellows Hall, now

opera house, was erected at a cost of about $10,000. In

1879, the hall was enlarged and otherwise improved. The

lodge has property and funds to the amount of $16,000.

The following persons are now the officers of the lodge

:

George Winter, P. G. ; F. R. Armstrong, N. G-. ;
Joseph

Honey, V. G. ; James T. Davis, Treasurer
;
J. J. McClin-

tock, Secretary ; manager of the opera house, J. Z. Croxton.

Peabody Lodge, No. 13, Knights of Pythias, was insti-

tuted September 23, 1870, and remained in existence one

year, when it surrendered its charter and effects to the

Grand Lodge of Kentucky. On the 13th day of February,

1873, it was again re-organized, and has continued unto the

present day in a healthy and flourishing condition. The

Knights of Pythias is an orgaaization possessing peculiar

attractions to the young men of our country, and to the

middle-aged it is a haven wherein to pass the declining years

of their lives, and, at the end thereof they can, through the

agency of the endowment rank, leave a nice little compe-

tency to their loved ones. Of its membership here, B. F.

PuUen is a Past Grand Chancellor, and A. J. Lovely is the

Vice Grand Chancellor of Kentucky, at this time. The

following members are the officers of Peabody Lodge, No.

13 : E. S. Hedges, P. C; A. C. Adair, C. C; W. S. Taylor,

V. C; W. H. Lockhart, P.; A. C. Gatzeit, K. of R. and S.;

J. G. Hanly, M. of E.; J. M. Daniels, M. of F.; W. M.

Goodloe, M. of A.; J. H. Fuhrman, I. G.; J. W. Hite, 0.

G.; Charles Oflfutt, Trustee; A. J. Lovely, D. D. G. C.

Stoner Lodge, No. 559, Knights of Honor, was organized

March 31, 1877, with the following charter members :
B.

F. PuUen, J. T. Nichols, Benjamin G. Paton, J. G.

Hanly, Joseph M. Jones, 0. A. Gilman, Dr. J. Ed. Ray,

J. McCarney, Irwin Taylor, 0. P. Carter, George H,

Shawhan, Matt. Turney, J. S. Kenney, T. K. Marsh, J. D.

McCliatock, John W. Jameson, W. A. Cunningham, G. W.

Allison, R. M. Adair, F. C. Lewis, G. M. Davis, Ed. Taylor,

J. M. Grinnan, A. S. Stout, B. R. Hutchcraft, M. C. Chap-

line, F. R. Armstrong, Dan. Turney, C. A. Kenney, A. J.

Lovely. Since that time, eighteen have been initiated into

the order. This lodge has lost only one member since its

organization, by death. Dr. L. D. Barnes, recently deceased,

whose family have received $2,000 insurance. The officers,

at present, of this lodge are : Henry Spears, Past Dictator

;

Judge Matt. Turney, Dictator ; J. G. Hanly, Vice Dictator

;

Dudley Talbott, Assistant Dictator ; W. W. Forraan, Guide
;

P. L. McChesney, Chaplain ; F. R. Armstrong, Reporter
;

A. J. Lovely, Financial Reporter ;
Henry Spears, Treasurer

;

Hugh Henry, Guardian ; 0. P. Carter, Sentinel
;
0. A. Gil-

man, Joseph M. Jones and Dr. J. Ed. Ray, Trustees. F. L.

McChesney, Representative to Grand Lodge.

Paris has enjoyed unusual literary advantages. The
" Lecture Association," for four or Ave years, brought here

the most distinguished lecturers in the country, among

whom were Mrs. Livermore, Henry Ward Beecher, Theodore

Tilton, Robert Collyer, Rev. T. DeWitt Talmage, Olive

Logan, Miss Helen Potter, Josh Billings and others. The

association was financially a success, and, although no lect-

urers have been engaged for two years, has not been dis-

banded, and has a handsome surplus fund in its treasury.

The " Paris Literary Society " has, for a number of years,

been one of the institutions of Paris, and has done much to

aid in the cultivation of a higher literary taste on the part of

our people. Owing to the absence of some of its members

it was not re-organized this season. The Paris Historical

Society is a new organization, under the auspices of the

Presbyterian Church (S. G. A.). It has held several inter-

esting meetings, and bids fair to contribute much to the

improvement of the young people of the city. The exer-

cises comprise essays on historical and otlier subjects, read-

ings, recitations, and vocal and instrumental music by the

members of the society.

The Press.—The first paper ever published in Paris, as

elsewhere stated, was the Kentucky Herald. It was

established in 1797, by Mr. James Stewart, and was printed

in a log house on High street. It however did not suc-

ceed, and, after a sickly existence of about one .year, it died.

No other paper was published until in 1808, when the

Western Citizen was established by Messrs. Grimes & John-

son. In early times, printers were under the necessity of

making their own ink, an art which few of them under-

stood. Whilst this operation was in progress in the Citizen

office, the fire used for the purpose communicated to some

papers, and before it could be extinguished, the early files

of the paper were destroyed. It is, therefore, impossible

to ascertain the exact date of the first issue. The oldest

number, seen by A. M. Brown, the editor of the paper in

1855, bore date, Thursday, November, 3, 1808, and was the

thirtieth number of the first volume of the paper. Sup-

posing a number to have been issued each week, this

would bring the date of the 1st to the 7th day of April

of that year. The number referred to was a curiosity
; it

was printed on foolscap paper, the pages measuring seven

by twelve inches. This was smaller. howev.er, than the

ordinary size, for in the same issue this reference to the

paper used appears :
" We are this week reduced to the

necessity of printing on writing paper, in consequence of

having been disappointed in receiving a supply of the

usual size." We have before us a copy of the paper, pub-

lished in 1811, containing four columns to the page, and

measuring nine and a half by fifteen and a half inches, be-

«? & if
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sides the margin. This was probably the size of the paper

at the beginning.

Earlj' in 1809, the Citizen was purchased by Mr. Joel

R. Lyle, who had before that been engaged as tutor in the

"Bourbon Ladies' Academy and Boarding School," con-

ducted by the Rev. John Lyle. Mr. Lyle was not then a

practical printer, but in the course of his long connection

with the office, acquired a knowledge of the business.

He continued the editor of the paper until the summer of

1829, when a severe illness compelled him to resign his

post to his son, William C. Lyle. The business was con-

ducted under his name, however, until the 1st of January,

1832. For several years prior to this date, the paper was
published under the name of Lyle & Keenon. Mr. Adam
C. Keenon, now of Frankfort, for many years the Public

Binder, was the partner ostensibly, but his brother, John
C. Keenon, who was a practical printer, received the profits.

Mr. K. learned the business in the Citizen office, and in

1817 published a paper in Cynthiana called the Guardian

of Liberty, which was continued for a year or two. In

this connection, it may be mentioned that Bishop H. H.

Kavanaugh, of the Methodist Episcopal Church, worked in

the office when a boy. BIr. J. L. Walker entered the office

and commenced learning the printing business about the

first of April, 1828. On the 1st of January, 1832, he and

William C. Ljde became the owners of the office, and it

was conducted under the name of Lyle & Walker.

It cannot be ascertained in what house the Citizen had

its birth. After Mr. Lyle became the editor, the office was
for some time in the second story of the stone house, on

the corner of Broadway and High streets, and was entered

by a stairway on the outside. It was afterward removed
to the one-story stone house on the corner of High and

Church streets, used before as a blacksmith-shop. It was

again removed to the stone house on Broadway, second

door from the corner. In 1841, the office was established

in the building, corner of Main and Church streets, where

it remained until 1877, when it was removed to its present

location.

In its earlier j'ears, the Citizen supported the principles

of the Republican party, as opposed to those of the Fede-

ralists
;
was a warm advocate of the war with England in

1812
;

in tlie fierce struggle between the Old and New
Court parties took the side of the Old Court party

;
sup-

ported Mr. Adams and Mr. Clay in opposition to Gen.

Jackson ; and when parties became divided under the

names of Whig and Democrat, was found consistently advo-

cating the principles of the former. For a number of

years, when under the control of Messrs. Lyle & Walker
the paper was edited with signal ability by Mr. A. M.

Brown, who afteward went to Missouri. Mr. Joel R. Lyle died

in 1849. The following sketch of Mr. Lyle was given by

one who knew him :
" He was a man of strong, active and

well-informed mind, and conducted his paper with ability

and spirit. He was possessed of a rich and genial humor,

which made him a pleasant companion, while his integrity

of character, and his warm and devoted piety, secured to

him the respect and confidence of all who knew him. His

personal appearance is amongst the earliest recollections

of our boyhood. In those days, it was the custom in the

Presbj'terian Church for the leaders of the music, or clerks

as they were called, to stand up in front of the pulpit while

singing. Mr. Lyle and Ebenezer Sharpe, one of the best

men we ever knew, were the leaders of the music in the

church on High street. They were both very fleshy, realiz-

ing Shakspeare's description of the fourth stage in man's

life, and we remember them as thej' stood up there, thirty

years ago, with their round, protuberant stomachs, and

with voices uncommonly rich, mellow and powerful, sang

the songs of praise they both loved so well, and of which

they never wearied while on earth. William C. Lyle died

in January, 1874. He stood high as a citizen, was re-

spected by all while living, and his death was sincerely

mourned. Mr. John L. Walker died in 1873. He was for

many years an office-bearer in the Presbyterian Church,

first as Deacon, and afterward as a Ruling Elder. He
possessed the confidence and respect of all who knew him.

In 1867, the Citizen was published by John R. John-

son & Co. In February, 1868, P. L. McChesney and

Lernuel T. Fisher became the publishers, and the politics

of the paper was changed, and from that time forward it

has been a consistent advocate of Democratic principles.

In 1873, Mr. Fisher sold his interest, and William A. John-
son became one of the proprietors, and remained with the

paper until 1878, when he disposed of his interest to the

present publishers. The Citizen is now conducted by P. L.

McChesney, and his son, James R. McChesney. [Mr. Mc-
Chesney is too modest to say the Citizen is a good paper,

but we have no such conscientious scruples, and take this

opportunijty to tell the people of Paris and Bourbon
County that in the Citizen and True Kentuckian, they have
two as good newspapers as may be found in Central Ken-
tucky, and if they don't support them well they deserve to

be bumped. This is not an advertisement, but a gratuitous

expression of sentiment.

—

Ed.J

In 1817, a young man named Lilly started a paper in

Paris. Its name was the Instructor. It lived but a short

time. It is stated that the paper was afterward removed
to Millersburg. The editor died with consumption soon
after.

l^
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A paper called the Paris Register was published here

awhile, about the years 1827-28, by Messrs. Clay & Ben-

ning. We have before us as we write No. 7, Vol. I, dated

December 1, 1827. It was a New Court, Relief and Jack-

son paper. It survived a year or two. Mr. Thomas Clay,

one of the proprietors, was the brother of Green Clay, of

this county. Mr. Benning was the same man who was

afterward killed at Lexington by Charles Wickliffe.

The Kentucky Flag was established here in 1854, by

Samuel Pike. Col. Pike was recognized as an experienced

editor, and the Flag, under his control, became one of the

leading Democratic papers in the State. It was especially a

popular campaign paper. Col. Pike was succeeded by Selu-

cius Grarfleld, who was, in 1849-50, a member of the State

Constitutional Convention, and afterward a delegate to Con-

gress from Washington Territory. He was a fine speaker

and writer. At that time, he was a Democrat in politics.

When, however, he was elected to Congress from Washing-

ton Territory, it was as a Republican. He is now residing

in Washington City. While in control of the paper, Mr.

Garfield secured the services of Samuel Williams, who be-

came a partner in the business. Mr. Williams afterward

became the managing editor of the Louisville Courier, and

is now prominently connected with the press of Kansas

City, Mo. He is recognized as one of the best newspaper

men in the country. Afterward, the paper was conducted

by Judge M. M. Cassidy, now of Mount Sterling, and Judge

Burgess, now a Circuit Judge in Missouri. In 1857, Col.

William E. Simms and John G. Craddock took charge of

the Flag, and under their management it was one of the

ablest edited papers in the State—Col. Simms being the

political editor. Col. Simms afterward, in 1859, was a can-

didate in this district for Congress, defeating Gen. John M.

Harlan, now an Associate Justice on the Supreme Bench.

He was afterward a Colonel in the Confederate service, and

also one of the Senators from Kentucky in the Confederate

Congress. Since the war he has retired entirely from pub-

lic life, and resides at Mount Airy, his home-place in this

city. John G. Craddock and R. W. Clayton conducted the

Flag in 1858, and were succeeded by W. W. Pike, now of

Cincinnati, who published it until the fall of 1861, when

the war came on and the paper was suspended.

The Paris True Kentuckian was established in February,

1866, by a joint-stock company, with John G. Craddock, as

editor and publisher. The Citizen was then published by

Messrs. Lyle & Walker, but its political principles were not

in accord with the views of a majority of the people of the

county; the Kentuckian, being a Democratic paper, from its

first issue received a liberal support ; its subscription list

rapidly increased, and its columns were soon overcrowded

with advertisements. Since that time, its subscription has

been steadily increasing until it now has the largest num-

ber of subscribers of any county paper in Kentucky, and

as a newspaper is the most remarkable success of any

journal in the State. It contains a vast amount of local,

State and general news. It is, perhaps, only just to say

that Col. Craddock hafe been ably seconded in his efforts to

make the True Kentuckian a good paper by John W. Hite,

one of the best newspaper men in the State, as well as by

an efficient corps of reporters.

Within the last few years, a number of papers have been

started in Paris. In 1875-76, G. R. Keller, conducted a

weekly called the Saturday Night. Afterward, the Sunday

Courier was established, edited by the late Louis S. Howell,

and, in July, 1880, Messrs. John Gnadinga and Gus. Fee

commenced the publication of a campaign paper, the Bour-

bon Republican. These papers were all short-lived. In

October, 1880, G. R. Keller started the Semi-Weekly Sun,

which was continued until January 1, 1882. A few weeks

ago, Bruce Champ commenced the publication of the Bour-

bon News.

Such is a brief sketch of the newspapers of Paris. The

True Kentuckian is known almost everywhere, whilst the

old Citizen, after many vicissitudes, has reached its seventy-

fifth volume. The men who founded it, like the men who

laid the foundations of our little city, have passed away,

and it is one of the few old landmarks of the past.

In its day it has played no inconspicuous part in the history

of the town and county, and whatever may be its future,

its past, at least, is secure.

The Rescue Fire Company was organized March 16,

1874. The city furnished the company with a splendid hand-

brake engine and four-wheeled hose carriage, and afterward

purchased of the Ahrens Manufacturing Co. of Cincinnati,

Ohio, a No. 4 steam fire engine, which was given the name of

R. W. O'Connor, and a two-wheeled hose carriage, calling it

0. A. Gilman, Afterward, a hook and ladder truck was

bought for the use of the company, which they named the

Ever Ready. The company has rendered invaluable serv-

ices to the people of our city, and is one of the best inland

fire organizations in the State. The following-named mem-

bers are its present oflacers : R. W. O'Connor, President

;

Nich. Kreiner, V. P.; A. J. Lovely, Secretary ; J. T. Doyle,

Treasurer
;
J. A. Stewart, First Chief ; Nich. Kreiner, As-

sistant Chief ; William Mitchell, First Engine Director ; W.

F. Ficklin, Second Engine Director ; C. N. Fithian, First

Line Director ;
E.B.January, Second Line Director; Frank

Webb, Third Line Director ; W. M. Goodloe, Fourth Line

Director ; G. F. Smith, First Pipeman ; G. W. Nippert,

Second Pipeman ; J. D. McClintock, Third Pipeman

;
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Frank Carr, Fourth Pipeman ; W. 0. Hite, Engineer

;

John M. Schuman, Assistant Engineer. Standing Com-

mittee, J. A. Stewart, William Mitchell, C. N. Fithian, G.

F. Smith, A. J. Lovely.

The Paris Gas Company was organized November 24,

1866. S. Salomon was elected President, and Allen Bash-

ford, Secretary, with the following Board of Directors : R.

T. Davis, Jacob Spears, W. W. Mitchell, Dr. L. D. Barnes.

Capital stock, $28,500. November 23, 1867, R. T. Davis

was elected President, and W. W. Mitchell, Secretary ; in

1874, B. P. PuUen was elected President, and James Paton,

Sr., Secretary, and continued in office until January, 1878,

when Dr. Ed. Ingels was elected President. January, 1 879,

A. Shire was elected President and Secretary. The capital

stock was unchanged, remaining at $28,500, and was owned

by seventeen stockholders. For a number of years, the

company declared no dividend. Since 1879, under the new

directory, it has paid an annual dividend of from 6 to 8

per cent, besides accumulating and setting aside a surplus

fund of $1,000. Very much of the success of the company

is due to the efficient President, Mr. A. Shire, who has man-

aged its affairs with signal ability. The city of Paris has

stock in the company amounting to $10,000, which is now

yielding a good revenue. The following are the present

officers of the company : A. Shire, President and Secre-

tary ; J. R. Swiney, Treasurer ; Board of Directors, A.

Shire, J. R. Swiney, J. K. Ford, W. B. Erringer, J. T. Hin-

ton.

—

McChesney.

CHAPTER XII.

PARIS EDUCATIONAL HISTORY— THE BOURBON ACADEMY— PUBLIC AND PRIVATE CITY SCHOOLS— THE GARTH FUND—
A SKETCH OF HIS LIFE— COLORED SCHOOLS AND SOCIETIES- SOME MANUFACTURING

AND MISCELLANEOUS NOTICES, ETC., ETC.

AT an early day, the people of Paris enjoyed unusual

educational advantages. The Bourbon Academy
was founded in 1798, by an act of the Kentucky Legisla-

ture, and a donation of 6,000 acres of land appropriated

toward its endowment. William Garrard, David Purvi-

ance, Augustine Eastin, John Edwards, Andrew Todd,

John Allen, William Kelly, Thomas Jones, Sr., Hugh
Brent, John Stone, James Brown, Sr., Barton W. Stone,

James Matson and James Kenney were the original

trustees of the institution. The lands donated by the State

were located upor) the south side of Green River. They

were leased out at first, and finally sold for the benefit of

the academy.

In 1799, a committee was appointed to select a suitable

location and purchase grounds for the academy. A tract

of eight acres of land was purchased on the Maysville

road, nearly opposite the residence of Young Moran. The

land was purchased of John Henry, the trustees paying

him £105. A frame building was erected, thirty feet long

and eighteen wide, capable of accommodating from thirty

to forty pupils, and in May, 1800, the first session of the

Bourbon Academy was begun, with Isaac TuU as teacher.

The terms for tuition then were, to say the least, modest

:

For teaching reading, writing, spelling and common arith-

metic, $8 per annum, and for English grammar, Latjn and

the sciences, $12.50 per annum. He was restricted to

teach only thirty scholars, and the subscribers to the en-

dowment fund of the Academy were given the preference

to send their children. In January, 1802, Mr. TuU was

succeded by James H. Russell, who taught only a short

time, William T. Fowler taking charge in October of the

same year, and the school continued under his superin-

tendence for some years.

In 1805, the lot on which the public school building

now stands was purchased for $110, from Thomas Mitchell,

the school property in East Paris having been sold for

$500 to Samuel Pyke ; and a more commodious school

building was erected in 1806-7, to meet the increasing

educational wants of the community. The new building

was large enough to accommodate a hundred or more
pupils. In the year 1807, the Academy was re-opened

with the Rev. John Lyle as President, and his brother Joel

R. Lyle and James H. Dickey as assistant teachers. In

the " Sketches of Paris," it is stated that Mr. Lyle con-

tinued in charge of the academy until 1810, when he

resigned and established a female seminary. In Collins'

History of Kentucky, we find the following :
" November,

1806.—The first female academy in the West, if not in the

United States, established at Paris, Ky., by Rev. John
Lyle, with from one hundred and fifty to three hundred
pupils." From this it is evident that Mr. Lyle continued as

President of the institution but a short time. His brother

S)
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also resigned, and in 1808-9 became publisher of the

Western Citizen. David V. Rannalls was elected President

of the academy in place of Mr. Lyle, and Willis M.

Arnold, assistant. The latter was succeeded in 1811, by

Joseph Russell. In the same paper, we find the following :

"An examination of the students of Bourbon Academy
took place on the 9th iust., attended by several members

of the Board of Trustees and citizens of the town, when

the improvement of the scholars, under the tuition of Mr.

David V. Rannalls, was very pleasingly evinced in the

several departments of their studies. The Board of

Trustees of the Academy by their committee took occa-

sion to express their approbation of his exertions,'' etc.

The paper is signed by Anthony Thuntin, Jr., James

Hickman and Val Peers. In 1813, Mr. Ezra Howe was

elected Superintendent, and provided his own assistant

teachers. In 1814, Daniel Baldwin was appointed Pro-

fessor of the Latin and G-reek languages. In the " Sketches

of Paris," the following reference is made to Mr. Baldwin

:

"Notwithstanding his superior abilities as a teacher, he

retained his position only one 3'ear, for it appears that he

did not get along as smoothly as possible with the stu-

dents. He administered a severe chastisement to one of

the pupils, which was the cause of his becoming the re-

cipient of similar chastisement from the hands of the

parent. The Bourbon Academy, however, is indebted to

him to the extent of two shares of bank stock, a private

donation made by him for the purpose of encouraging stu-

dents who displayed the most proficiency in the dead lan-

guages, by giving them premiums. We find the following

in his bequest :
' It shall be recorded, that this money was

recovered by me from Edward Bayse, in a case of assault

and battery.'

"Mr. Baldwin was succeeded in 1815 by Alban

Stewart, with John Stevenson as assistant. In 1816, Stev-

enson gave place to Benjamin W. Hayden, who continued

to teach until 1826. William E. Gallaudet, in October

1816, was appointed professor of the languages ; he taught

only a few months. In April, 1817, John G-ayle was ap-

pointed President, who held the position for two years.

At that time there were flfty-nine students in the academy

—twenty-seven in the classical department, and thirty-two

studying the other branches.

" In 1819, the Rev. James McCord was elected Presi-

dent, with Ebenezer Sharpe as Assistant Professor. Mr.

McCord died in ] 820, while in office, and the duties fell

upon Mr. Sharpe, who discharged them most faithfully for

seven years ; so much so, that when he resigned, he re-

ceived the unanimous approval of the Board of Trustees

for the ability and skill with which he had managed the

institution. In 1821, Charles Lincoln was appointed As-

sistant Teacher for one year, and the next year David

Dunlap was appointed ; and, in 1823, the Rev. Guerdon

G-ates was appointed Professor of the Natural Sciences.

In October, 1824, John H. Harney, afterward the distin-

guished editor of the old Louisville Democrat, was employed

by Mr. Sharpe as assistant, and in 1826 he was appointed

Professor of Natural Sciences in place of Mr. Gates, who

was compelled to resign on account of sickness in his fam-

ily
; but in October of the same year, he was recalled and

elected Superintendent. He continued in charge till 1829,

when John Roche, a former Professor of Languages in

Transylvania University, was elected. He resigned in a

few months, and the duties again devolved upon Mr. G^ates.

In 1831, Ebenezer Marston was elected Superintendent, and

it remained under his supervision for some years. After

this it began to lose its prestige, and the rooms in the

building were rented out from time to time to different

parties for private residences and for teaching private

schools and one of the rooms was for awhile occupied by

the Masons as a lodge room.

" The following persons taught school there at different

periods ; A. L. Mehurin, William Henderson, father of the

Rev. H. A. M. Henderson, late Superintendent of Public

Instruction ; James Riddle, Simeon Sinith, A. C. Raymond,

Harvey Wood, Rev. A. E. Thorns, Daniel Vaughan, Joseph

Raymond and John B. Pratt. About 1850, Mrs. Emily

Tubman, a lady of great wealth, and who is renowned for her

charitable works, rented a room in this building, and es-

tablished the ' Tubman Free School,' paying the teacher,

Mr. Redmon. Schools were taught in this house by Mrs.

Murray, Mrs. Reed, George A. Irvine, Paul Guyser and

Messrs. Stone and Colton. It was conducted in this way

until 1856, when the Trustees of the Bourbon Academy,

by a special act of the Legislature, transferred the prop-

erty and the management of the institution to the Trustees

of the town of Paris, and in this year was erected the City

School building, as it now stands, exclusive of the commo-

dious additions of 1875. It was completed in 1857, and

was first occupied by Prof. J. B. Anderson and his two

daughters, in teaching a high school. He was followed by

Revs. George Varden and W. B. Browne, who taught

school together until the commencement of the great civil

war, and during that period it was occupied by the Federal

troops as a hospital. After the war, it was repaired and

again occupied for its original purpose, W. E. Clark and

Thomas J. Dodd teaching separate and distinct schools.

" The Paris City School was organized in 1865, with

Prof Julius Herrick as Principal. Mr. Herrick held the

position to 1867, when he was succeeded by Rev. Dr. George
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Varden, from 1867 to 1868 ; Prof. W. H. Lockhart was

elected Principal in 1868, and served until 1871 ; W. B.

Clark from 1871 to 1873 ; Ben. D. Best from 1873 to 1874.

Prof. Puckett was appointed in 1874, and held the position

of Principal until June, 1880, when Rev. H. R. Blaisdell,

the present incumbent, was appointed. He is assisted by

Misses Anna L. Oldson, Mary B. Spears, Nellie Pithian,

Mrs. L. Walker and Mrs. Alice Woodward. The at-

tendance is about three hundred. For efficiency, it is

claimed that it is not surpassed by any public school in

the State. The same School Board is in oflSce under whose

supervision the additions were made some years since.

This fact is a striking proof of their faithfulness, and of

the good sense of the people. In politics, they are equally

divided
;
while all belong to different churches and politics

and religions, bids are not allowed to influence their action.

They are elected for a term of three years—two members

of the board being elected annually. The following is a

list of the members of the board : James M. Thomas,

Chairman; Dr. Joseph Pithian, Secretary; J. H. Brent,

Esq., Henry Spears, H. M. Rucker, W. W. Massie."

Private Schools.—In addition to the City School,

Paris has the advantage of several first-class educational

institutions. The Garth Female Institute was organized

in the summer of 1875 by a joint-stock company, with the

late R. T. Davis as President. The institution was named

in honor of William Garth, whose name is so prominently

associated with the educational interests of the county,

and of whom further notice is made in this chapter. Prof.

C. E. Young, formerly of Staunton, Va., and a graduate of

the University of Virginia was elected Principal, which

position he continues to hold. The institution having

become involved, was sold publicly in the spring of 1880,

and purchased by the Principal, who is now sole owner.

The buildings are unsurpassed in beauty, convenience and

location by any school building in the State. The course of

study is unusually thorough and complete. Every depart-

ment of study is under the charge of competent instructors,

As now organized, the corps of teachers is as follows :

C. E. Young, Mathematics and Natural Sciences ; Miss

Mary E. B. Johnson, Moral Philosophy and Higher En-

glish ; Mrs. E. Muth, German ; Miss Bettie Young, Prin-

cipal of Primary Department ; Mrs. C. E. Young, Matron

and Teacher of Calisthenics; Prof E. Amende and Mrs.

Minnie Wilson, Music.

Bourbon Female College was founded at the close of

the war by Prof Walker Buckner, who conducted the insti-

tution several years. He was succeeded by Mrs. A. B.

Randolph, now a missionary in China, who was assisted by

Col. George M. Edgar and Miss Kate Edgar. At that time

the school was under the patronage of the Presbyterian

Church.

In 1874, Prof J. A, Brown, now President of Harrison

Female Academy, at Cynthiana, Ky., purchased the prop-

erty. He associated with him in the conduct of the school

Prof Wharton S. Jones, now of Memphis, Tenu., and under

their joint management the college was eminently suc-

cessful.

In 1880, Prof W. S. Jones and Mrs. A. B. Clay took

charge of the college. Prof A. Sanders leased the prop-

erty in September, 1881. The average attendance during

the past year has been about seventy-five. The course of

study embraces the branches usually taught in first-class

female schools. The following persons comprise the fac-

ulty : A. Sanders. Principal, Mathematics and History
;

Dr. George Varden, Language and Psychology ; Miss Mary

B. Dennis. Natural Sciences and Composition ; Mrs. B. M.

Avirett, English Literature and Reading ; Miss Alice

Daugherty, Music ; Prof A. M. Gutzeit, Assistant Music
;

Miss Emily Halliday, Art.

The Edgar Institute was organized in 1875 by a joint-

stock company, with Cassius M. Clay, Jr., as President.

Col. George M. Edgar was elected Principal, with Capt. M.

H. Crump and Prof B. B. Ford as Assistants. It at first

embraced the department of military instruction, and the

pupils were required to be uniformed, but this feature was

afterward abandoned. During the principalship of Col.

Bdgar, he was also assisted by Prof W. H. Lockhart and

Rev. Dr. George Varden. He continued in charge of the

institution until the summer of 1879, when the property

was purchased by Prof B. H. Waddell and Col. C. H.

Withrow. In July, 1881, Col. Withrow retired, and Prof

Waddell became the sole owner of the school. He con-

tinues to be the Principal, and is assisted by his brother,

Capt. James Waddell. The school Ijuildings occupy a

commanding position, overlooking the city
;

the grounds

comprise about twenty acres
; the school building is new,

and the institution certainly offers advantages of a high

order. The property now used as the Institute, formerly

was the homestead of the late Hon. Garrett Davis. Judge
Matt Turney, in 1876, succeeded Mr. Clay as President of

the institution, a position which he now holds.

Miss Maria Tipton has a select school of thirty scholars.

She is considered one of the finest teachers in the State,

and has recently purchased the late residence of Mr. J. H.

Bassett, with a view of opening a boarding school for

young ladies. Mrs. Jessie Parrish has charge of the de-

partment of music.

Prof Yerkes has a select school for boys and young
men. He stands in the first rank of educators, and within
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the past year has declined an appointment to a professor-

ship in Center College, at Danville, being unwilling to give

up his school in Paris.

For the past ten years. Prof. W. H. Lockhart has taught

a select school, and many of his graduates have taken high

rank in the educational institutions of the country. He is

a thorough and accomplished teacher, and has done much

to promote the cause of education in the State. He is

Common School Commissioner of Bourbon County, a po-

sition which he has filled Tvith marked ability and faithful-

ness for a number of years. His papers and addresses on

educational subjects evidence research, thought and a

trained mind.

St. Joseph's Academy, under the charge of the Sisters

of the Visitation, is beautifully located on a commanding

eminence overlooking Paris. The school was organized in

1870, under the control of the Sisters of Loretto, who re-

mained about five years. They were succeeded by the

Benedictine Sisters of Covington, who had charge for

about two years. Then the Sisters of Notre Dame, Cov-

ington, who kept it only one year. The Sisters of Visita-

tion of Maysville, who have been here three" years, have

purchased the property, and are building up a successful

school. Mother Gronzaga, who is admirably qualified for

the position, is the Mother Superior. She is assisted b}' a

full corps of competent instructors.

The parochial school, numbering about one hundred

pupils, is also under the management of the Sisters. The

Catholic school for boys is taught by Miss Lucy TuUy.

Rev. Father Barry teaches a night school for young men

—

tuition free.

[The following sketch of a good man and a zealous

friend to education, was writtefa for this work by Mr. Will-

iam Myall, a beneficiary of the " Garth Fund." He pays

a deserved tribute to a deserving man, and we publish it

in full in Paris' educational history, together with Mr.

Garth's will, as of general interest to the reader.

—

Ed.J

William Garth, the subject of this sketch and founder

of the " Garth Fund," was the son of Thomas Garth, a

native of Scott County, Ky. His mother's maiden name

was Nancy Thompson. Thomas Garth came to Bourbon

County at an early date, and settled on a farm about five

miles northwest of Paris, on the Paris & Georgetown road.

At this place, William Garth was born on the 29th of

March, 1815. He was educated in the schools of Bourbon

County, with the exception of a year or two spent in the

college at Georgetown, devoted principally to the study of

mathematics, for which science he early developed consid-

erable talent. When just out of school and while not yet

twenty-one years of age, he was elected County Surveyor

for Bourbon County, which oflSce he held until elected

Professor of Mathematics in the Georgetown College, when

about twenty-four years of age. After filling this chair

for eight or ten years he resigned, and retired to his farm

in Bourbon County
;
a part of the farm formerly owned by

his father and on which he had been raised. This farm,

however, did not come to him by inheritance. When he

reached majority his father gave him $5,000, which was all

he ever received from his father's estate. With this money

and the interest accrued thereon, together with what he

had saved in his profession, he bought a portion of the old

homestead, when a few years later his father, having become

embarrassed, was compelled to dispose of part of his estate.

For several years, Mr. Garth carried on this in connection

with his professorship at Georgetown, and it is worthy of

mention, as showing the industry and energy that marked

his life, that he very frequently walked from Georgetown

out to his farm on Friday evenings—a distance of about

twelve miles—and back again on Sunday evening. While

in Georgetown he was married to Mary Bartlett, a Northern

lady who was at that time teacher in a female school in

Georgetown, but there were never any children by this

union.

Having resigned his Professorship and retired to his

farm near Paris, he continued to reside there until over-

taken by the calamity which resulted in his death. His

life was exceedingly quiet and unassuming, but always full

of employment. Business prospered in his hands and he

soon accumulated a fortune which, at the time of his death,

amounted to about $60,000
;
yet, though always a good busi-

ness man and an excellent farmer, he was very far from

being a man who allowed himself to be engrossed by mere

money-making. Indeed he seems to have cared but little for

money except as a means of doing good, and his strict habits

ofbusiness appear to have been more the result ofa fixed and

conscientious rule of life, than ofa desire for pecuniary profit.

As an indication of this, both his heart and his hand were

always opened freely to whoever appeared to him to need

and to deserve assistance, and neither any individual nor

any enterprise worthy of help ever applied to his generosity

in vain. Indeed, he was more than once heard to say, in

his quiet manner, that he did not regard it more his duty

to pay his taxes than to contribute to the building of

schoolhouses, turnpike roads, churches, or to any other

enterprise that was likely to make the people of his native

county either better or happier. The educational interests

of his county always found in him a zealous supporter and

friend, and he at one time made a proposition to become

one of five persons who should contribute $20,000 each,

for the purpose of endowing a college to be located at
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Paris. The proposition failed of its purpose, however, as

the other subscribers could not be found, and is therefore

only deserving of mention in that it serves to illustrate the

large public spirit of the man which constantly showed

itself in his life and which was illustrated yet more forci-

bly after his death, when the generous provisions of his

will were made known the public.

As a business man, he was exceedingly prompt, accu-

rate and systematic. His obligations of whatever nature

were met with a religious scrupulousness, and so strict was

his observance of what he conceived to be the requirements

of good faith in business transactions, that he never allowed

a piece of his paper to mature without having made pro-

vision for its prompt discharge or arrangement.

It is, however, in his private relations that we see most

in Mr. G-arth to love and esteem. His even temper, never

ruffled or excited in the most trying circumstances of life :

his calm concentration of nature, overflowing only in deeds

of benevolence and love ; his strong human sympathies,

and the unassuming simplicity of his life and manners

could not fail to win the love and respect of all. As a

man, he was exceedingly modest and retiring, and shrank

from everything that was likely to bring him into any sort

of unpleasant publicity. His habits were such as we would

expect in such a man—plain and simple to a degree. In

his food and drink, he was temperate almost to abstemious-

ness, never using stimulants of any kind, and abstaining

entirely from the use of tobacco. This was no doubt a

question of health with him, and the preservation of health

was, in his opinion, a moral obligation. Though never a

member of any church, his nature was deeply religious.

No man ever had a stronger sense of duty ; no man ever

tried to discharge his duty more faithfully. Throughout

life, the idea of the imperativeness of duty, and of the

binding force of even the slightest moral obligation was

always paramount in his mind. He conceived that his

word once given was as binding as his bond. This was

most noticeable in his business relations, though it extended

equally to the most minute affairs of life. If he made an

appointment to be present at any assembly, or to meet any

one at a given place or time, he was sure to be there

promptly at the appointed hour. These are matters that lay

so much on the surface of his life that they could not have

escaped the notice of any one who knew him, and it is impos-

sible that a man so scrupulously observant of his slightest

promise should not have had the respect and confidence of

every one who was permitted to look into his character and

his life. The moral influence of such a man cannot easily

be estimated. Death came upon him suddenly and unex-

pectedly in the prime of life, but his influence, so far from

being destroyed by his death, was then only for the first

time fully felt and recognized.

In the latter part of August, 1860, Mr. Q-arth, attended

by his wife and his two half-sisters, Anna and Amanda

Garth, started on a pleasure trip through the Northwest.

Before going he called on Mr. John Lucas, who then lived

in Harrison County, and who had always been one of his

most intimate friends. There had been for several years

an agreement between them that in event of the death of

either, the other should make a settlement of his estate.

The object of Mr. Garth's visit was to inform Mr. Lucas of

his intended trip, and to tell him where his valuable papers,

including his will, would be found in case he did not return

alive.

Having attended to this matter, the party set out

on their tour, and reached Chicago the first week in Sep-

tember. About 9 o'clock on the night of September 7,

they took passage on the " Lady Elgin " bound from

Chicago to Milwaukee. The night was intensely dark and

stormy, and the " Lady Elgin " had not proceeded more

than twenty miles on her way when she was struck by

another boat that ran upon her in the darkness, and so

severely injured her that she filled with water in spite of

all efl^orts, and sank in less than an hour. A large num-

ber, perhaps as many as one hundred of the passengers,

look refuge on the upper deck and the pilot-house, which

floated off when the boat went down. Mr. Garth and his

party were of this number. The lake was exceedingly

rough and wild, and the wind blowing directly landward,

drove the wreck among the breakers on the shore, when it

was capsized. Only a few of the strongest swimmers,

dashed on the shore by the fury of the waves, were able to

retain their footing. These escaped, but all the rest, in-

cluding Mr. Garth and his entire party, were lost. It is

very probable that Mr. Garth, who was a very cool and

unexcitable man, could have saved himself had he not

been encumbered by the presence of his wife and sisters,

and no doubt he lost his own life in the effort to preserve

theirs.

His body, and that of his sister Amanda, were washed

ashore near the point where they were drowned, and were

carried to the city of Milwaukee where, not being identi-

fied, they were buried, the expenses of the burial being

defrayed by money found on his person. The bodies were

exhumed a few days afterward, identified by friends who
had gone on in search of them, and brought to Paris and
buried. The body of his other sister was picked up near

Chicago about ten days after the disaster, and that of his

wife, after drifting about for nearly three weeks, was carried

entirely across the lake and cast out on the opposite shore,
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still in a good state of preservation. These were also

brought home and interred in the cemetery at Paris.

Mr. G-arth's will, which was written with his own hand,

on the 22d day of August, 1859, was filed for record in the

Bourbon County Court on the 22d of September, 1860,

only a few days after the recovery of his body. It was nof

until now that the people of Bourbon County fully realized

how deep was the sympathy which William Garth felt for

the struggles and sorrows of the world, how earnestly he

desired to ameliorate the condition of mankind, and how

truly noble and magnanimous was the quiet, earnest man

who had passed his simple and unpretentious life in their

midst. We have already noticed his devotion to the cause

of education. He looked upon that as one of the great

means by which the world was finally to be redeemed, and

it was perhaps not less this belief than a generous love for

his native county and a broad philanthropy that reached

out its arms to all the poor and struggling youth of the

generations to come, which led him to insert in his will

the following provision which illustrates the character of

the man in terms which, though simple and unostentatious

as his life, are yet far more eloquent than any eulogy that

could be written :
' The entire balance of my estate not

herein disposed of I wish to be appropriated to the cause

of education in the following manner, viz.: So soon as my
executor shall have paid ofi" the before-mentioned special

legacies, and has ascertained the balance in his hands of

my estate, he shall cause to be published in the papers of

the county of Bourbon the following proposition : If in

one year from this time the citizens of Bourbon County

will secure by good subscriptions the sura of $1 00,000 (to

be paid in a reasonable time) to be appropriated to the en-

dowment of a college to be located in Paris, Bourbon Co.,

Ky., then he will immediately pay over to those who

may be appointed Trustees of the college such before-

mentioned balance of my estate in his hands (here specify

the sum) to be applied by said Trustees to the endowment

of a Professorship of Mathematics in said college. If at

the expiration of one year from the date of this advertise-

ment the conditions therein are not complied with on the

part of the citizens of Bourbon County, then I direct my

executor to pay over such before-mentioned balance of

my estate in his hands to the Treasurer of the county of

Bourbon, to be by the Bourbon County Court, a majority

of all the Justices being present, safely invested in such

manner as they may deem best, and the interest on such

investment they are to apply to the education of such poor,

worthy and sprightly young men of Bourbon County as

they may think most conducive to the public good, and in

the distribution of this interest as above directed the court

may pay for tuition, board, books and clothing, any one

or all as in their opinion may be deemed best. I further

direct, that if any one or more of the beneficiaries of this

will should not be living, or any child of such beneficiaries,

when it is presented to the court for record, that his, her or

their legacies must be appropriated by my executor to the

cause of education in exactly the same manner as the

before-mentioned balance of my estate was directed to be

applied."

Owing to delays arising from litigation and from the

confusion of the period of the civil war, the estate was not

finally settled until 1866. The advertisement of this pro-

vision being then made according to the directions of the

will, the citizens of Bourbon County failed to subscribe

the required sum, and on the 1st day of April, 1867, the

executor, Mr. John Lucas, paid over to the Treasurer of

Bourbon County, to be held by the County Court in trust

for the purpose set out in the will, the balance of said estate

remaining in his hands after payment of all debts and lega-

cies, amounting to the sum of $42,612, and on the 9th day

of the same month this whole sum was invested in stock

of the Northern Bank of Kentucky, at $125 per share.

The first two dividends were also invested in bank stock

and added to the principal, as follows : November 9,

1867, $1,610, invested in stock of the Farmer's Bank at

$115 per share, and January 13, 1868, $1,443 invested in

Northern Bank stock at $120.25. The fund now amounted

to $45,665, and on the 6th day of April, 1868, L. K. Elliot,

B. P. Rogers and J. M. Hughes were appointed Commis-

sioners for its management, and for the purpose of examining

applicants for the benefit thereof and to report to the County

Court the names of such youths as they might deem worthy

of selection, under the provisions of the will, and the

amount to be allowed to each. In the following February

the name of Matt Turney, now County Judge, was sub-

stituted for that of J. M. Hughes, and these Commissioners

continued to serve until the death of B. F. Rogers in the

summer of 1871. G-. C. Lockhart was appointed to fill the

vacancy caused by this death, and in 1876 Franklin Ken-

nedy was substituted for L. K. Elliott, and he together with

Judge Turney and G-. C. Lockhart constitute the present

Board of Commissioners.

The provisions of the will have been faithfully and con-

scientiously executed, and already many a young man

whose lot in life would have stood like a mountain Ijetween

him and his hopes of knowledge and usefulness, has had

reason to bless the memory of William G-arth. In the

thirteen years in which the fund has been in operation

there has been expended in appropriations for the assist-

ance of young men selected by the Board, more than $36,-
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000, or an average of nearly $3,000 yearlj-, the appropria-

tions varying from $300 to about $50, according to the

necessities of the case. During these years there has been

an average of nineteen young men kept in school by this

fund, and nearly one half of this number each year in

college, for it was not the intention of Mr. Garth that the

recipients of this generous benefaction should be turned

away with only the rudiments of an education, but that

each one whose tastes led him to desire it, might be enabled

by its assistance to avail himself of the most thorough

training afforded by our best institutions of learning.

The fund has been established so short a time that its

great practical results are perhaps as yet but little mani-

fest, except to those who have shared the blessing of its

benefits, and have been enabled by it to prepare themselves

for honorable and useful positions in life. It was not so

much the object of Mr. Garth to educate the youth of his

native county, merely for the help that such education

might be to them as individuals, though no doubt this was

one of the considerations that led him to make the bequest,

as it was " to conduce to the public good" by promoting

in the most effectual manner possible the higher education

of the people. It is therefore apparent also that the

bequest was not meant to be local in its effects, but was

intended as a great public benefaction, since it must have

been foreseen that a large majority of the young men edu-

cated by it would pass from Bourbon County to a broader

theater ofaction. It was, in a word, a touching manifestation

of a large and intensely earnest human sj'mpathy, a philan-

thropy that reaches out its helping hand to the generations

yet to come, and sought to lighten the burdens of life by

increasing light and knowledge among the poorer and less

fortunate classes of his countrymen. The beneficent effects

of such a deed can only be seen in the long results of time.

Indeed they can never be seen in their fullness for they are

never completed. Incapable of exhaustion or of aliena-

tion, it stands in our midst a perpetual and ever-acting

agency for good, dispensing its blessings without favor,

and shedding upon many an anxious and aspiring mind

the divine light of truth and knowledge. No other citizen

of Bourbon County has left so enduring a monument ; no

other has deserved to be remembered with greater grati-

tude by her people ; no other has been so great a bene-

factor to mankind. More than this heed not be said—less

could not be. In a quiet spot in the little cemetery at

Paris his body sleeps the last long sleep of peace, but his

name will live forever in the grateful recollections of the

thousands who will be blessed by his beneficence and who,

in honoring his memory, will feelthat they are performing a

sacred duty to one who was to them a brother and a friend.

The will alluded to in the foregoing sketch, and from

which Mr. Myall makes an extract, is given entire, and is

as follows :

Will of William Garth.—I, William Garth, of the

county of Bourbon and State of Kentucky, being of sound

disposing mind and memory, not knowing at what time,

God in His good providence, may call me hence, and desir-

ing to dispose of my estate while in the full possession of

mj^ mental powers, do make and publish this writing as

mjr last will and testament.

My executor must pay all my just debts, and in these,

include my promises to pay usurious interest.

I give my wife, Mary M. Garth, $15,000. I give to my
mother, Lester Nancy Garth, $1,000. I give to my half-

sisters, Sarah A. Fisher, Amanda Garth, Anna Garth, Alice

Garth and my half-brother, John Garth, each, the sum of

$1,000.

I wish the gravej'ard where my father, Thomas Garth,

was buried, to be inclosed with a neat stone fence, and for

this purpose, I authorize my executor to use a sum not

exceeding $500.

My negro man " Ben " is to be emancipated if he is

willing to leave the State of Kentucky. If not, he and my
other slaves are to have the privilege of selecting masters

for themselves, provided it can be done, at no greater sac-

rifice than one-fourth of their value.

My said negro man " Ben," is to be paid $140 for his

services for the year ending December 31, 1859.

I hereby nominate and appoint John Lucas, of Harri-

son County, my executor, with full power to qualify and
act, without giving security, unless some of the benefica-

ries of the will should object. And when my executor

has settled my estate, that he is to be allowed $5,000 for

his services.

The entire balance of my estate not herein disposed of,

I wish to be appropriated to the cause of education in the

following manner, viz.: So soon as my executor shall have
paid off the before-mentioned special legacies, and has

ascertained the balance in his hands of my estate, he shall

cause to be published in the papers of the county of Bour-

bon the following proposition : If in one year from this

time the citizens of Bourbon County will secure, by good
subscriptions, the sum of $100,000 (to be paid in a reason-

able time), to be appropriated to the endowment of a college

to be located at Paris, Bourbon Co., Ky., then, he will im-

mediately pay over to .them who may be appointed

Trustees of the college, sucli before-mentioned balances of

my estate in his hands (here specify the sum), to be applied

by said Trustee to the endowment of a Professorship of

Mathematics in said college.
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If at the expiration of one year from the date of this

advertisement the conditions therein are not complied with

on the part of the citizens of Bourbon County, then I

direct my executor to pay over such before-mentioned

balance of my estate in his hands to the Treasurer of the

Court of Bourbon County, to be by the Bourbon County

Court, a majority of all the Justices being present, safely

invested in such manner as they miay deem best, and the

interest on such investment they are to apply to the educa-

tion of such poor, worthy and sprightly young men of

Bourbon County, as they may think most conducive to the

public good, and in the distribution of such interest as

above divided, the court may pay for tuition, board, books

and clothing any one or all, as in their opinion may be

deemed best.

I further direct, that if any one or more of the bene-

ficaries of the will should not be living, or any child of

such beneficiary, when it is presented to the court for

record, that his, her or their legacies must be appropriated

by my executor to the cause of education in precisely the

same manner as the before-mentioned balance of my estate

was directed to be applied.

To enable my executor to carry this, my will, into

effect, I authorize him to sell publicly my entire estate, the

land in three payments, one, one-third cash, one, one-third

in one year, and the balance of the property on six months'

time.

In testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand

and seal, this the 22d day of August, 1859.

William G-arth [seal.]

Colored Schools.—The colored city school is under the

charge of the Board of Education. J. C. Graves is the

Principal ; Mrs. Lucy Fraser, Assistant. Average attend-

ance about fifty pupils. Rev. James M. Thomas conducts

a select school of about thirty pupils in the Baptist

Church. Reuben Butler also teaches a select school in the

Methodist Church with thirty pupils.

Such are the educational institutions of Paris, which

will compare favorably with those of other institutes in the

State. They are ample to meet all the educational require-

ments of the times, and no one who desires an education

but can avail himself of its advantages.

Hiram Lodge, No. 5, Masons (colored), organized in

1867. Officers—Thomas Kelly, W. M. ; A. N. Smoot, S.

W. ; J. M. Porter, J. W. ;
George Watson, Treas. ; E. J.

Smoot, Sec. ; Henry Craig, J. W. ; Frank Thompson,

Tiler.

Knights Templar (colored), organized in 1878. A. N.

Smoot, E. C.-. ; Thomas Kelly, G.-.; J. M. Porter, C. G.-.

;

J. W. Hatton, P.-. ; E. J. Smoot, S. W.-. ; Richard Kelly,

J. W.-. ; Henry Craig, W.-. ; Frank Jones, S. B.'. ;
John

Spears, S. B.-.
; Alfred Bedford, Gc.:

United Brothers of Friendship Lodge, No. 36. H. C.

Smith, W, M. ; Robert Claxton, D. M. ; W. G. Smoot,

Treas. ; James Arnold, Sec.

Knights of Friendship—A. N. Smoot, K. C. ; J. M.

Porter, S. K. ; William Smoot, Treas. ; H. C. Smith, Sec.

Bourbon Star Lodge, No. 1,697, 1. 0. 0. F. (colored),

organized in 1869—George Wilkes, N. G. ;
Stephen Con-

way, V. G. ; Morris Forsten, Treas. ; Thomas Kelly, Sec.

;

Harry Hawes, R. S. to N. G. ; Alfred Jackson, L. S. ; Peter

Mason, N. F. ; A. N. Smoot, P. N. F. ;
Henry Howard, P.

N. G. ; Moses Murphy, W.
The following is the present municipal government of

Paris, together with its material resources : A. J. Lovely,

Mayor ; James Paton, Sr., Clerk City Council ; James

Mernaugh, City Marshal
;
Hugh Henry, Deputy Marshal

and Collector ; W. 0. Hite, City Janitor.

Councilmen—First Ward, Henry Turney, Henry Butler,

Ben Perry ; Second Ward, Mike Dowd, Bush Hart, W.
F. Spears ; Third Ward, Charles V. Higgins.

The r"6ceipts from all sources for the year ending April

10, 1882, are as follows :

From Collector 110,708 61

Same, for license 249 54

Same, for fines 343 90

From fines 395 00

Same, for license ,403 00

From James Paton, Clerk 1,468 89

James M. Thomas, for tuition 13 00

W. H. Lockhart, State School tax 981 18

John T. Hinton, M. & L. Turnpike dividend.

.

120 00

A. Shire, gas dividend 930 00

$15,497 06
Cash on hand April 7, 1881—

City Fund $210 03

School Fund 506 35

Gas Fund '. 314 16

$1,030 54

$16,537 60

Amount transferred from City to School Fund. 1,000 00

Total $17,527 60

Amounts paid during year ending April 10,

1882—

From City Fund $8,995 08

School Fund , 5,094 69

GasFund 1,944 25—

^

16,034 02
Balance cash on hand April 10, 1883

—

City Fund $182 17

School Fund
,

879 45

GasFund 431 96
$1,493 58

Total $17,527 60

^ T^
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BBSOURCES OP CITY

—

Estirtiiited Value. Cost.

Real Estate $10,500 $15,000

Fire engine and apparatus 7,500 12,500

115 shares gas stock 12,650 11,500

Total $30,650 $39,000

LIABILITIES OF CITY

—

Balance of note due Northern Bank $900 00

Interest on above note 50 00

1 Engine note due January 10, 1883 775 00

1 Engine note due January 10, 1884 725 00

Total $3,450 00

Less cash in hands of Treasurer 1,493 58

Total debt $956 42

To show the importance of Paris as a shipping-point,

there was shipped during the year 1881 1,200 car-loads of

stock.

At an early day, there were a number of manufactories

in Paris, which were kept busy supplying the wants of the

people—for at that time the cost of wagoning goods was

so great that it was cheaper to manufacture them at home
than to buy them in distant places and bring them here.

Samuel Pike was a leading manufacturer of the early

times. He was a native of England, and came here about

1810. He had but small means, and was himself a practi-

cal wool manufacturer. He was the first man who carded

wool in Paris. He also made rope, bagging, etc., which he

shipped South, and brought back cotton.and manufactured

it. In 1815, he built a cotton factory or mill where L.

Price & Co.'s store is now situated, and continued the busi-

ness until 1825. Another factory was built by him in

1822-23, on the ground east of the present Christian

Church. The factory built in 1815 was merged into this

in the fall of 1825, and continued in existence until 1837.

It had a capacity of 720 spindles.

Mr. Pike also had a hemp factory at the upper end of

Pleasant street, built about 1818, which he carried on until

his death in 1837. He was succeeded in the business by

Henry T. Duncan. It was run until 1840.

A cotton factory was built on the site of White's dis-

tillery about 1830, by Philip Adams & Co.; capacity about

seven hundred and twenty spindles. It afterward passed

into the hands of Kelly & Wilson, by whom it was run

until 1851. A market was found at home for the most of

their goods ; the surplus was shipped to Louisville.

A cotton mill was built some time between 1820 and

1830, by Charles Ainsworth, of 240 spindles, on the cor-

ner above where Mrs. Ogden now lives. About 1 835, a

factory was built on the site of the Jones Block, on Main

street. Its capacity was 240 spindles. It was run for a

number of years.

The Paris Flouring Mill, which still exists, antedates

all of these. The first flour mill, a frame structure, was

built in 1800. It was owned by Thomas Jones. It passed

through several hands, and was bought in 1859 by Will-

iam Shaw, who still owns it. Across from where Mr.

Shaw's warehouse stands, Mr. Jones built a fulling-mill,

which was successfully carried on until 1854-55. Mr.

Shaw's flouring-mill is one of the institutions of Paris.

The flour manufactured is known and sought after in all

directions. It is even shipped in large quantities to

England. The mill is always taxed to its utmost capacity,

frequently being run night and day to supply the demands

of its customers. Mr. Shaw takes much pride in it, and

is always improving and beautifying its surroundings.

The completion of the Kentucky Central Railroad in

in 1854, placed Paris in easy connection with Covington,

Cincinnati and other manufacturing cities, and the result

was that articles which had before that time been manu-

factured here, could be brought by rail and sold here for

less than our manufacturers could make them, and they

could not compete with the manufacturers in more favored

localities ; the market here was not so large ; the facilities

for manufacturing were not so great ; coal was much
higher, and so the manufactories were all abandoned, and

our people became and still remain dependent upon the

manufactories of other cities. And so, from that time to

the present no effort has been made to revive manufactures.

With high-priced fuel here, there could have been no suc-

cessful competition with other points. But it is not im-

probable that the long-expected and long- wished for time,

when Paris will become a manufacturing town, will soon
dawn. The mountains, rich in mineral resources and tim-

ber, are being penetrated with railroads ; coal will soon

become cheap ; and, then, with cheap fuel and fine water-

power combined, Paris ought to become an important man-
ufacturing city. Capital in plenty is here. It needs only

confidence and enterprise to bring about a result so de-

sirable.

During the present year the Kentucky Central will be
extended from this place to Richmond, and soon thereafter

direct connection will be made with Knoxville, opening up
the trade of the entire South. The building of other roads

is also contemplated. The repair-shops of the Kentucky
Central are to be located here, and with roads diverging in

every direction, Paris will offer advantages as a manufact-
uring point which cannot fail to attract capital.

The planing-mill of Capt. James M. Thomas, the flour-

ing-mill of William Shaw, and the large distillery of Messrs.

S) —
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White & Ferguson, constitute now ttie manufacturing in-

terests of Paris. Ttie time, it is believed, however, is not

far distant when other industries will spring into being, and

a new life be infused into our community.

—

McGhesney.

[Note.—The following article on Turnpil^e Roads, by

Franli Kennedy, Esq., is given in conclusion of the history

of Paris. Although some of the facts embraced in it are

given in the chapter on Internal Improvements in Bourbon

County, yet it is of sufficient interest to appear complete.

—

Ed.]

One of the most valuable improvements in Bourbon

County is its system of turnpilie roads. Every road that

leads to its county seat is graded to an elevation of about

three degrees, and paved with broken rocli, on the Macadam
plan, to a depth of twelve to fourteen inches in the center,

thinning off to six or eight inches on the sides. The first

macadamized road in Kentucky was constructed through

Bourbon County in the years from 1830 to 1835, under

the charter of the Maysville, Washington, Paris & Lex-

ington Turnpike Road Company. It is also the best road

ofthe sort built in the State. It has the broadest and lowest

graded road-bed, few of its elevations exceeding two degrees,

while its wooden bridges are monuments to the fidelity

and skill of Mr. Wernwag, their builder, whose name—the

" Wernwag bridges "—have made historical. In 1847-48

and '49, the roads leading from Paris severally to George-

town, Winchester, North Middletown and Flat Rock, were

granted corporate privileges by the Legislature, and

shortly afterward converted into turnpikes. Since then,

road after road has been taken in hand and improved

until the turnpikes are more than forty in number, and

extend 215 miles within the limits of the county. To all

of these the county, through its magistrates, subscribed

stock, and is by far the largest stockholder in the county.

These turnpikes have cost on an average about $2,300

per mile, except the first one, which, as before stated, cost

nearly $6,000. More than half a million dollars have been

expended in their construction. The county, in its corpo-

rate capacity, has paid $190,000, averaging about $900 per

mile, while individuals have subscribed and paid more

than $300,000.

It is estimated that the yearly expense of repairs on

the roads and toll-houses, falls little short of $75 per mile

on an average. These are paid out of the tolls collected at

the gates from passers over the road.

After defraying expenses, dividends are paid to stock-

holders, if there be anything left to divide. Very few of

them are so successful as to be able to declare dividends,

and they necessarily small, except to persons who have

purchased depreciated stock at very low rates.

Estimating stock at par value, the roads mentioned be-

ow, since they commenced operations, have paid in divi-

dends as follows :

The Maysville & Lexington, in forty-five years, have

paid 82, J^5^ cents on the dollar's worth of stock ; that is

an average of l^W P^r cent per annum.

The Paris & W^inchester have returned, in twenty-four

years, 60 cents on the dollar, or 2^ per cent per annum.

The Paris & North Middletown have returned, in twenty-

four years, 80 cents on the dollar, or 3^ per cent per annum.

The Paris & Georgetown have returned, in twenty-four

years, 85 cents on the dollar, or 3j5j\ per cent per annum.

The Paris & Clintonville, in sixteen j'ears, have re-

turned 25 cents on the dollar, or ly^j per cent per annum.

The Millersburg & Indian Creek, in sixteen years, have

returned 24^ cents on the dollar, or 1^^ per cent per an-

num. -

These are the best returns made by any of the forty-

three roads in the county. Of the whole number, less than

one-fourth declare dividends.

It is easy to see that, as moneyed investments, they are

not generally profltable, but as conveniences—public and

private—-their value is inestimable. In short, they are in-

dispensable. The farmer who is ten miles away from town,

on a good turnpike, is about as near in point of time, as

the one who is three miles out ; and is nearer in time, con-

venience and comfort than the man who lives one mile

from market on a dirt road.

The half million dollars expended in turnpike roads in

the county has added to its general wealth $2,000,000 at

a low estimate. If they were suddenly annihilated and

mud roads re-adopted, the lands of the county would fall

to one-half of the prices they now command. There re-

main only about a half dozen public roads which are not

macadamized, and these have lost their importance as pub-

lic highways, and are useful only as neighborhood necessi-

ties. As the work of improvement is still in active prog-

ress, it is almost certain that in ten years more there will

not be a public road in the county but will be of easy and

secure travel at all seasons, in darkness as well as day-

light.

The wisdom and liberality of the fathers who pioneered

the system, have been nobly sustained by their sons, ex-

cept that the latter have fallen into the error of construct-

ing the roads too cheaply. That " the best is the cheap-

est," is eminently illustrated in the building of turnpike

roads. A reduction of one degree would have added com-

paratively little to the cost of construction, and the saving

would be fourfold in cost of repairs.

The county stock is represented by an officer called
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' Commissioner of Turnpikes," who is elected by the Mag-

istrates, and whose duty is to attend all meetings of the

stockholders, and vote the county stock, supervise the gen-

eral interests of the roads, give legal advice to their

managers, collect dividends on county stock, and report

annually to the Court of Claims.

We are indebted to Mr. P. Kennedy, the present Com-

missioner, for details of facts and figures on this subject

:

Mr. Kennedy is an attorney at law in Paris, and has

very full and elaborate statistics of the receipts, expendi-

tures and dividends of the roads from their beginning. He
has prepared also an index of charters and their various

amendments of the roads in the county, the whole work

filling a large book and involving a great deal of careful

and patient labor, which is both convenient and valuable

for reference.

^-.
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OHAPTEE XIII.
MlLLERSBURa PRECINCT— DESCRIPTIVE AND TOPOGRAI'HICAL— SETTLEMENT OF THE WHITES— THEIR HAKDSHU'S

AND PRIVATIONS—EARLY INDUSTRIES AND PIONEER IMPROVEMENTS—TURNPIKE ROADS AND
BRIDGES-CHURCH AND SCHOOL HISTORY CENTER IN THE TOWN.

"History Is the essence of immemorable biographies."
— GarlnU.

nnHE little events of every-day life are like the stones
J- in a mosaic, each going to make up the whole picture,

and it is often that these trifling occurrences are of far

more interest to us than the great events of the time.

Doubtless the builders of the Parthenon were more
pleased with the goodness of the mid-day meal which their

wives brought them than they were with the magnificence

of the temple they were erecting. In all probability,

Shakespeare thought more of the acting qualities of the

ideal characters he created than of the echoes they would

send down through the long corridors of time. So, in the

annals of a county or a town, our aim is to chronicle, not

great events.that effect the destiny of a nation, but rather

the homely events of every day life, and such as have oc-

curred within the last hundred years. The pioneers who
bore the brunt of toil and danger ; whose lives were spent,

not in studious halls where college lore is conned, but

amid " savage scenes and perils of war ;" and the youth

whose infant cradles were rocked to the music of the hur-

ricane's roar, the scream of the panther and the howl of

the wolf ; these and kindred incidents are such as embellish

every portion of the dark and bloody ground, and as we

have said, are of more interest to us than the great ques-

tions which shake empires and kingdoms. These scenes

and incidents, and those figured in them, deserve perpetu-

ation in history. The original pioneers have passed away

—the last of the old guard are gone, and many of their

children, too, have followed them to that " bourn whence

no traveler returns.'' It is highly fitting then that a record

of the " old times " should be made to stand as a monu-

ment to their hardships and dangers.

-^ We heard it first at the dawn of day,

And it mingled with matin chimes ;

But years have distanced the beautiful lay,

And its memory floweth so swiftly away,

That we call it now 'Old Times.'

"

Millersburg, the Election Precinct No. 2, of Bourbon

County, is small in extent, and is " neither oblong nor

square," nor could a Philadelphia lawyer tell just what is

its shape. It borders on Nicholas County from near the

center of Bourbon, to the north line of the same, and for

the remainder of its boundary has Plat Rock, Paris and

Ruddel's Mills Precincts and Harrison County. With this

lucid description the reader will draw his own conclusions

as to its shape and boundaries. It is drained bj' the

Hinkston and its tributaries. Hinkston forms the bound-

ary line between Millersburg and Nicholas County for

some distance, then enters the precinct, runs nearly west

to the village of Millersburg, and changing its course

flows north for about four miles, when it curves ab-

ruptly to the west, forms the boundary line for a short

distance between Millersburg and Ruddel's Mills, then en-

ters the latter precinct and unites with the Stoner, near

Ruddel's Mills Post Office, and together with it forms the

South Pork of the Licking River. Steel's Run, in the

northwest corner of the precinct, empties into the Hinks-

ton
;
Miller's Run flows into the Hinkston about two miles

north of Millersburg ; McClellan's Branch empties into

the Hinkston opposite the village. Flat Lick and Walnut
Run are small streams in the southeast part of the pre-

cinct, and are tributaries of the Hinkston. The surface

features of Millersburg are similar to those of Paris Pre-

cinct, the land being rolling or undulating, and but little

waste land. The timber growth was originally black

walnut, hickory, white and blue ash, oak, rnaple^Jbox elder,

and buckeye, most of which has been cut off. A few scat-

tering trees and groves are left, the latter cleared of the

underbrush, and are finely set in blue grass. It is a good
agricultural district, and farming and stock-raising are

carried on extensively. The people are intelligent, well

educated, courteous and hospitable.

The first settlers in Millersburg Precinct came from

Pennsylvania. In 1778, eighteen men, all heads of fami-

lies, set out from Sherman's Valley, near Carlisle, in Penn-

sylvania, for Kentucky. They journeyed on foot through

the wilderness, and so far as is known arrived at their

destination without encountering any serious adventure.

The names of these men could not all be obtained, but

^
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among them were Robert Pollock, William McClellan,

William Steele, David Marshall, Henr}' Thompson, Will-

iam McClintock, John, William and Robert Miller, and

John Patton. A pre-emption grant of 400 acres had been

furnished to each of them from the Governor of Virginia

as an inducement to them to settle in Kentucky. Upon
their arrival they proceeded, with their surveyor, a man
named Johnson, to lay out and survey their respective

claims. Four of this colony located their land within the

present limits of Millersburg Precinct, viz., John and

William Miller, William McClellan and William Steele.

They located their 400 acres, and then proceeded to take

up 1,000 acres each, at twenty shillings per hundred acres,

upon which thej' built their cabins and planted a little corn,

a precaution that was necessary to enable them to hold

their pre-emptions. McClellan built his cabin about one

and a fourth miles south of the village of Millersburg, a

few hundred yards from the present Maysville pike, on

land that is now owned by J. B. Barton, A. Butler and

Robert McClellan. Steele settled near Steele's Ford, on the

Hinkston, but the exact spot is not known. The land

taken by him, however, is now owned by Daniel Thomp-
son, the J. L. Taylor heirs, Thomas McClintock, William

Layson and others. John Miller pre-empted the land

upon which Millersburg stands, but settled about a mile

north of the town, a short distance from the present

Millersburg & Cynthiana pike, on land now owned b}' Z.

M. Layson, Abraham Barton, the J. McClintock heirs,

Charles Clark, etc. William Miller built a cabin about a

mile south of Millersburg and half a mile west of the old

Maysville pike, on the farm now owned by John Bedford.

Other land taken up by him is now owned by Frank

Champ, Dr. Best and others. Each of the Millers built

block-houses, where the families collected as a protection

against the Indians in times of alarms, which for the first

few years of their settlement were numerous and frequent.

After securing lands, erecting cabins and planting a

crop of corn, they, in the latter part of the year, returned

to Pennsylvania for their families and supplies. In the

following 3'ear, they came back to Kentucky, making the

trip by land to Pittsburgh, and thence down the Ohio on

flat-boats. During the voyage thej' were compelled to

keep in the middle of the stream, through fear of the In-

dians who infested the banks, and were ever ready to at-

tack a small party of whites. Once, in attempting to

land, Robert Miller was shot by the Indians, who secured

his body. Mr. Miller had upon his person a silver watch,

and wore silver knee-buckles and shoe-buckles, which

were then fashionable. Some years afterward, a man
came to Millersburg wearing these relics of the unfort-

unate victim, which he had bought from the savages.

They were recognized and purchased by John Miller, a

brother of the murdered man. Owing to the hostility of

the Indians along the Ohio, the party did not land at

Limestone (Maysville), as they had intended, but pro-

ceeded to the mouth of Beargrass, now Louisville, where

there was then a fort and settlement. The unsettled con-

dition of the country arising from the Revolutionary war,

then in progress, and the depredations of the Indians, in-

cited to murder and bloodshed by British emissaries, their

intended settlement was delayed, and it was not until

about 1785-86 that the members of the Ifttle colony took

possession of their lands. Prom this period dates the set-

tlement of the section now embraced in the precinct of

Millersburg. The early trials and struggles of this band

of pioneers would make a volume of itself, if the facts

could be obtained. They all died upon the lands embraced

in their original claims, leaving posterity living in the

surrounding counties. William Steele was shot and se-

verely wounded by the Indians while making his original

survey, and he carried the ball to his grave. From the

date of these settlements new-comers increased in num-
bers, and the surrounding country rapidl}' filled up. The
war-whoop of the Indian died away in the distance beyond
the Ohio, peace settled down over the country, and pros-

perity crowned the efforts of the pioneers.

Among the first manufacturing industries were those

of mills. The first establishment of this kind was erected

by the Millers. John Miller put up a saw and grist-mill

so long ago that no one now remembers the date of its

erection. It was built of logs, upon the site now occupied

by the Foster Mill, in the southern part of Millersburg, on
Hinkston Creek. As early as 1808, flour was shipped

from this mill to New Orleans, and for years it was a con-

siderable institution in the neighborhood, and was patron-

ized by the people far and near. The mill now standing

upon its original site is a frame structure, was built by
Jefl^erson Vimont, and is run by both steam and water

—

by the latter when the creek furnishes sufficient quantities,

and by steam when it does not. A mill was also built by
William Miller, just across the creek from that, put up by
his brother, and of the same character and capacity, with
the exception that a fulling attachment was added, which
was probably the flrst of the kind in the county. The
original structure was torn down and a frame building

erected in its place, which long did service as a mill. The
building is still standing, but is not running at present.

Another mill was built in the precinct, some four 'miles south
of Millersburg on the Hinkston. It was a log building

and like the one last mentioned, is not now in operation'
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The early manufacturing industries outside of tlie vil-

lage consisted chiefly of distilleries. The first one of these

was built by John Miller, previous to the war of 1812. It

was located about a mile northwest of Millersburg, near

the Nicholas County line, and but a short distance from

the old John Miller Station and block-house, on land now

owned by the widow of James McClure Miller. - The "All-

healing balsam of life and comfort " turned out from this

pioneer establishment was manufactured under the " Old

Copper, Sour Mash " system, and what was not consumed

by the pioneers for camphor (!), was shipped to New
Orleans with other exports. Another distillery was built

bj' Robert McClellan, and another by William Turner. It

is said that there have been more than twenty distilleries

built in this precinct at different times since its settlement,

and it is not a very good section for distilleries either.

More schoolhouses and fewer still-houses would be an im-

provement, not onlj' in this section, but throughout Central

Kentuck}'. There are at present three distilleries in Mil-

lersburg Precinct, viz.: Joshua Barton's, Joseph Grimes',

and Davie's, the two former, of which we believe are

not now running. These are more fully noticed in another

chapter.

The first road regularly laid out through the precinct

was probably what now forms the Maysville & Lexing-

ton pike. When this first became a public highway no

one can now tell, but it is known to be first road in the

State, that was macadamized. Louis Vimont, Sr., was one

of the early citizens who took an active interest in the

construction of this pioneer road. He was a contractor in

the building of it, and not only fulfilled his own contract

but completed other sections in different places, where the

contractors had failed, using a considerable amount of his

own funds in doing so, as the company's exchequer was

empty. The next pike built was the Millersburg, Ruddel's

Mills & Cynthiana, built about 1853-54. The next was

the Millersburg & Cynthiana, begun in 1859, and com-

pleted in 1860, and the Millersburg & Cane Ridge, built

the same year. Previous to building any of these roads,

the old " Buffalo Trace" was the main throughfare. The

first bridge in the precinct was built across the Hinkston,

by a man named Parker. It was a wooden structure, and

was built about 1815 or 1820. The architecture was poor,

the bridge " top-heavy," and after standing a few years, it

capsized. For many years after, the community was with-

out a bridge, and so remaineduntil the Turnpike Company

built one ; also of wood. This was burned a few years

ago, when a substantial iron bridge replaced it.

The church and educational history of the precinct cen-

ters in the village, and will be given in that connection.

Millersburg being a college town, the surrounding country

has depended on it for education, and hence but little

attention has been paid by the precinct to the common
schools.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE XIY.
THE TOWN OF MILLEHSBUHG — ITS FOUNDER -- EARLY GROWTH, PROSI'ERTY AND MANUFACTURING INTERESTS—

CHURCGES AND CHURCfl HISTORY—THE CEMETERY—SCHOOLS AND COLLEGES—

A SKETCH OF THEIR INFLUENCE, ETC.

THE village of Jlillersburg was founded by Maj. John

Miller, in 1798, who was the original owner of the land

upon which it stands, and for whom it was named. He

was one of the colony mentioned in the preceding chapter,

and came out and pre-empted land in 1775. Maj. Miller

laid out his town in the year mentioned above (1798),

under an act of the Legislature passed for the government

of laying out towns, and had surveyed into lots one

hundred acres of land. Seven trustees were appointed, in

whom were vested the power of controlling the land

which had been devoted to town purposes, and their suc-

cessors have since exercised a supervising control over it

and the affairs of the town. The charter was amended by

an act of the Legislature in 1873-74, and again in 1878-

79, for the appointment of officers, etc. The following

article is from the Bourbon News, published in Millersburg

and is so applicable to the town, and contains so much

good sense, that we give it entire. Under the head of

" Our city and her wants,'' the News says :

The signs of the times indicate that the people of Millers-

burg are not as progressive a people as citizens of other and

smaller towns in the State. Our wants are many—so many that

we can only speak of those which are absolutely necessary to

advance our town to the front rank, where she properly belongs.

There may be many impediments of which we have no knowl-

edge, that have heretofore prevented our "city paps" from

taking steps toward remedying the evils of which we propose to

speak. Be that as it may, if it has been impossible for them to

take any action in these things, it is time for the citizens to take

into consideration the necessity of improvement in several mat-

ters of which we shall make niention. Where shall we begin?

Let us notice first the most important want—a fire company with

^-. K
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a good engine. "We know not at what moment a destructive fire

may reduce to aslies our entire city, hence we should be pre-

pared to meet the destructive element with a well-organized fire

company. 'Tis true, an engine cannot be had for any small sum
of money, but the cost of an engine is not to be compared to the

loss that would follow a fire in the business portion of our town.

The question of a fire company will be duly considered after the

greater portion of our town is in ashes. The next thing in order

will be street lamps. Within the recollection of the oldest in-

habitant, night pedestrians in our town have been dependent

upon moon to guide them along paths of safety. But this should

not last forever. Our sister cities no longerdepend on the uncertain

light of the moon, and why should we? At very little expense,

lamps sufficient to light the entire town could be procured.

Street lamps would not be such an important factor if it were

not for the fact that when a person lifts his foot from the ground

he has not the faintest idea where it will land the next stop. We
undoubtedly have rougher sidewalks and crossings than any

other town in the known universe. Why is it so? If the per-

sons owning the property will neither repair nor construct side-

walks, it behooves the city authorities to act. What can the

"powers that be " do? Purchase the material, procure the hands^

have the work done, and have the same charged to the persons

owning the gi-ound. They will cheerfully foot the bill, for it

has certainly been neglect on their part that such work has not

been done long ago. If any one should refuse to pay for such

work, they can be compelled to do so. Why are violators of the

law, who are tried and sentenced by the courts of this place,

sent to Paris to work out the penalty on her streets when our

streets need work so badly? There is one other matter to which
we wish to direct special attention, and that is the fence—or the

place where it ought to be—around the public square. The
square is the property of the town, and the town has turned it

out to grass, or, rather, has turned the stray stock in to grass.

The place could be made an ornament to the town, and every

one who claims to be a resident of this place should make it his

duty to see that it is kept in good condition. We only desire to

call attention to the above wants, and do not speak of them
simply for the sake of having something to grumble about.

They are things that are important, and demand immediate at-

tention. Millersburg can be made a most desirable place in

which to locate. It now has many advantages over other towns

in the State. Persons coming here to seek homes are not favor-

ably impressed with the dilapidated condition of public property.

There are no appearances of thrift; on the contrary, appearances

are against us, and indicate a lack of that spirit of progress

which characterizes other towns. Our educational interests are

great inducements to persons seeking a place to locate. Our
people are thrifty, in educational interests, but they are over-

looking some very important points, which, if attended to, would
redound to their interests in the end. There may be circum-'

stances over which our authorities have no control, that have

prevented them from taking any steps looking toward the im-

provement and building-up of our town; if so, it is to be hoped

that they will push aside every impediment and open up a new
era in the history of this place.

The first store in Millersburg is believed to have been

started by a man named Smoot. Henry Savery, a very

enterprising Frenchman, opened a store soon after Smoot.

These stores were both established between 1800 and 1805.

Robert and Joseph Miller, sons of Maj. John Miller, had

a store as early as 1808. This was quite a business little

place in early times, and sold large quantities or goods.

Flour, whisky and pork were shipped on flat-boats to New
Orleans, where they were paid for, usually, in silver. The

silver was taken by the merchants to Philadelphia and

Baltimore, where it was laid out in goods, and the goods

hauled across the mountains in wagons or conveyed on

pack-horses. The very transportation of the money was

a serious undertaking. Just think of carrying several

thousand dollars in silver from New Orleans to Phila-

delphia on horseback—there were no steamboats then,

nor railroads. It was easy enough to go to New Orleans

on flat-boats, but to come back up the river they were not

much of a success. Hence, people traveled in those days

principally on foot and horseback. The trade of Millers-

burg grew rapidly, and it was one of the live and enterpris-

ing business places of the country. A post office was estab-

lished in an early day, and Louis Vimont was the first

Postmaster. He held the office for a great many years,

and was finallj^ turned out by Gen. Jackson, under the

rule that " to the victor belongs the spoils." Vimont would

not support Old Hickorj^ for the Presidency, and by the

eternal ! the old hero kicked him out of the office. Since

his day, the following men and women have served as

Postmaster General of the little " burg :" Charles Talbott,

Aquilla Willetts, Bassett, Isaac Parnell, Mrs. Kelley,

Mrs. Vimont, and the present incumbent, R. B. Boulden.

The tojvn of Millersburg was, in the old time, quite a

manufacturing center. Flour-mills, hemp factories, full-

ing-mills, cotton factories, carding machines, distilleries,

etc., etc., were in operation. As earlj^ as 1817, William F.

Baker had a fulling-mill in the village. He was a grand-

son of William Miller. Joseph Miller started a woolen

factory in 1818, in a stone building, which is still standing

near the Hinkston. Samuel Colvin ran a carding-machine

near the same place about 1830. A hemp and rope factory

was built on land now owned by Joseph A. Miller, oppo-

site the railroad depot, but by whom the building was

originally put up is not known. About the year 1828,

Robert Batson commenced the manufacture of spinning-

wheels, both large and small sizes. This business he kept

up for a number of years, in fact until we became too

proud to use them, and too fastidious to wear clothes of

home manufacture. A man named James had a large

fanning-mill factory here as early as 1810, and in 1844

William Larimore commenced the manufacture of hemp
cradles. He did a large business, shipped them to

Missouri, and to all parts of Kentucky, and made quite a
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fortune in the business. But these busy scenes have

passed. The railroad, the great revohitioaizer of the

nineteenth centurj', has opened up other fields, and carried

manufacturing interests to more eligible localities. The

very limited railroad facilities of Millersburg has deprived

her of her manufactories, and will keep her in that condi-

tion until her means of shipping are improved. As it now

is, but little is left, except a tradition of former glory, and

Davie's distillery—the latter just opened for business, and

fully described in a preceding chapter.

Of the early newspapers of Millersburg, wo have learned

but little. In a copy of the Buurbon Ncms before us, we

see reference made to A. Dudley Maun, ''once the editor

of the Kentucky Intelligcncri; published in Millersburg about

1824, during the Jacksonian candidacy days, at the old

Vimont building.'' Beyond this mere allusion, we learned

nothing of the Iiitdligrnccr. The Bourbon JVt'uv, published

bj' Bruce Champ, Esq., is a large eight-column paper,

and was established by Champ & Roby, the first number

being issued on the 12th of January, 1881. Shortly after

the paper started^^ Mr. Champ bought out his partner;

Roby, and conducted the paper at Millersburg until 1882,

when he removed his office to Paris, issuing the first num-

ber of the JVeiuD from that city on the 7th of March. The

paper started with a cash capital of cif/Jifcen dollars, and

by energy and perseverance the proprietor has worked up

a large circulation, and is furnishing to his readers an ex-

cellent paper.

The Millersburg Deposit Bank was chartered March,

1870, and went in operation the 1st daj' of September of

that year. Its directors then were : William McClintock,

Jr., President, Robert Tarr, William McMiller, John T.

Taylor and Thomas McClintock ; with Dr. A. G. Stitt,

Cashier. Since the first year, its paid-up capital has

been $50,000. Its career has been one of the most

fortunate and successful known to the history of bank-

ing. Although it experienced the financial crisis of

1873, and witnessed the failure of a number of its debtors,

yet all their paper had been so securely indorsed that not

a loss was sustained ! After a term of near seven years

had been passed, the cashier was presented with a valuable

gold-cased chronometer, by the stockholders, in considera-

tion of his not having sustained the loss of a dollar to

that date ! And to this period—in the twelfth year of its

progress, but a single loss has been met—a small one

—

and that by a loan recommended by a director, in opposi-

tion to the judgment of the cashier.

Its present Directors are : Robert Tarr, President,

William McMiller, Sr., James M. Hughes, Thomas Mc-

Clintock and John A. Miller, Jr., with same cashier as

at the beginning. John W. Poynter was clerk for the first

year
; Willie Elliott, the second year ; and George F. Stitt,

from that time' to the end of 1881, and from then until the

present time, March, 1882, Harmon A. Stitt. Hiram Bas-

sett, Teller, from the fall of 1872, to the present.

The Millersburg Cemetery Companj^ was chartered

February 28, 1860, and the company regularly organized

thereunder on the 28th day of April succeeding, by the

election of the following persons, by the stockholders, as

Directors—Dr. A. G. Stitt, Dr. G. S. Savage, William

McClintock, Jr., Z. M. Layson, Horace R. Miller, James

3IcMiller and Jesse H. Boulden.

A meeting of said Trustees was thereupon immediately

held, at the same place—in Dr. Stitt's office, Millersburg

—

when Jesse H. Boulden was elected President of the

Board, Dr. Stitt, Secretary, and William McClintock, Jr.,

Treasurer. On the 30th of same month, the Trustees met

and decided to purchase a portion of land from each, John

McClintock and William Bradley, so as to comprise a tract

of about thirteen acres, at $200 per acre. The plat has

since had about three acres added to it. In June, follow-

ing, Mr. Benjamin Grove, Topographical Engineer, of

Louisville, Ky., was employed to laj' out the grounds, at a

fee of $250. On the 14th of July, after, Mr Patrick Maney

and several others were empolyed and put to work on the

grounds, under direction of the engineer, and by Saturday,

September 15, 1860, the carriage drives and avenues were

graded and the lots all ditched, when, on the afternoon of

that day, the stockholders met on the ground, pursuant to

a request in the Kentucky State Flag, of Paris, and pro-

ceeded to draw for lots to which they were entitled, as

shareholders of $100 each, They were Harmon D. Aj'res,

Mrs. B. A. W. Bryan, Jesse H. Boulden, J. H. Forsyth,

Z. M. Layson, Alexander S. Miller, William McMiller,

James McMiller, Horace R. Miller, John A. Miller, John

M. Miller, James A. Miller, Joseph \V. Miller, William M.

McClintock, Jr., John McClintock, George S. Savage, A. G.

Stitt, James Whaley.

The total receipts from all sources, to this date, for sale

of lots, digging graves and for products of the grounds,

etc., exceeds $15,000 ;
all of which has been expended for

inclosing, grading and ornamenting the grounds
;
for a

vault that cost near $1,000, aud for a lodge for the

superintendent, which cost $2,500, except $1,000 invested

in bank stock, and about $5 on hand. At the beginning

of the enterprise, lots were sold at 15 cents per square

foot, surface measure, and $3 was the price for digging a

grave
;
but the present price for lots is 25 cents per foot,

and $5 for a grave. The present Directors are: J. H.

Boulden, President ; A. G. Stitt, Secretary
; Z. M. Layson,

^f^
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Treasurer ; William McMiller, Alexander McClintock.

But one vacancy has occurred in the Board by death,

since its organization, nearly twenty-two 3'ears since, viz.,

William McClintock, Treasurer.

The topography of the grounds is very handsome, and

the soil could not be better adapted, as neither clay nor rock

has ever been reached in any of the hundreds of graves

yet dug !

It contains a great many handsome monuments, of

Scotch granite, American and Italian marble, ranging in

cost from a few hundred to several thousand dollars. It

is said to be the most neat and handsomely kept cemetery

in the State ; in fact, as a visitor to it remarked, " the lov-

liness of these grounds robs the grave of half its gloom."

Mr. William Bassett, Jr., has been Superintendent for the

last two years.

Millersburg is like unto " a city that is set on an hill;
"

its churches and educational facilities produce a light that

" cannot be hid." Its church history dates back beyond the

memory of man almost; The first Methodist Church was

built in Millersburg in 1827, but the church society was

organized long previous to that date, and the " circuit rid-

ers '' preached at different houses, mostly at Thomas

Purnells. The building was a plain brick, 30x40 feet.

About the time the church was finished, there was a " great

shaking in the dry-bones of the valley," and many of the

people were made to " see the error of their ways," and were

converted to God. In 1847, under the ministry of Rev.

George W. Brush, the present church was built. This church

has been a station in the Kentucky Conference for some

twenty years. It has had seasons of prosperity and times

of adversity, and now numbers about two hundred mem^

bers, with a good Sunday school. The Presbyterians had a

church organization very early in Millersburg, but of its

history, either past or present, we have been able to learn

nothing, owing to the negligence of its friends. It seems

that one of the first churches in Millersburg was the Old

Republican Church which stood in the public square, in

which all denominations worshiped for a time. A Sunday

school, we learn, was established in it by the Presbyteri-

ans as early as 1824, and was the first one in Millersburg.

The Baptist Church of Millersburg is supposed to have

been organized as early as 1818, and that the following

were among the original members : John James, Mathew

Denman, Joseph Kethley, Jemima Nicholson, Elizabeth

Ishara, Susan Denton and others. These were regularly

organized into a church, as above mentioned, which, for a

time, seems to have been, next to the Presbyterians, the

leading denomination in this section of the State. Further

particulars of this church, however, could not be obtained.

and brief as is the above sketch, we are forced to pass it

without further notice.

The Christian Church, a branch of the Baptists who

held different views on some points, organized a society

about 1831-32. Among their original members were

Thomas Eads, William Miller, E. Owens, James Batterton,

Joseph McKine, Roger Laughlin, Thankful West, Nancy

Miller, Patsey Miller, Anna Adair, Sally Cook, Lucinda

Throckmorton, Patsey M. Baker, Dr. A. W. Bills and wife,

John Batson, Elizabeth Cress and perhaps others. Rev.

Robert M. Batson preached for them until his death in

1833. They held their meetings in the same church with

the Baptists, occupying it one-half the time. In 1838,

they united with the New -Lights, a branch of " dissenters
"

from the Presbyterian Church, under the leadership of

Barton W. Stone. They continued to worship in the Bap-

tist Church until 1842, when they built their present brick

edifice, at a cost of abeut $3,000. Elder Taylor Sharrard

is the present Pastor. The church has a good member-

ship and Sunday school.

This comprises the church history of Millersburg, so

far as we are able to obtain it, and, though meager, is the

best we can give under the circumstances, and were the

editor- to express himself frankly, he would say it is better

than the churches deserve. They have had ample time,

and have been repeatedly urged to furnish their history,

but have not done so, and we have been forced to use such

facts as we could obtain elsewhere. To sum up, there are

four churches in the town—Presbyterians (who have the

finest building), Methodists, Baptists and Christians. In

addition to these, there are three colored churches, viz.:

Baptist, Methodist Episcopal and Christian. These col-

ored churches are in a flourishing condition, and have

large memberships. The colored people are very zealous

in religious matters, and these churches attest their devo-

tion to the Master's cause. They also have a very flourish-

ing school, which is attended by all the colored children

who can afford to indulge in the luxury of education.

The Masonic Order is represented in Millersburg by

Amity Lodge, No. 40, P. & A. M., and Millersburg R. A.

Chapter, No. 46. Among the records we find "A History

of Masonry in Kentucky," in which it is stated that a

charter was granted to " Unity Lodge, No. 10, Millersburg,

Ky.," September 18, 1805, but we find no record of char-

ter members, or when the charter was surrendered.

Amity Lodge, No. 40, was chartered August 27, 1817,

with John H. Sanders, Master ; William Bowles, S. W.;

and Allen Trigg, J. W.; by the Grand Lodge of Kentucky,

at Mason's Hall in Lexington. John Willett, D. G. M. and

R. T. Todd, Grand Secretary P. T. A charter was granted

^Jp"
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Millersburg Chapter, No. 46, by the Grand Chapter in

Louisville, August, 1851 ; with M.-. B.-. Joseph Grubb, H.

P.; E.-. William Nunn, K.; and E.-. Caleb Lettin, Scribe
;
and

rechartered October 20, 1874, with M.-. E.-. H. Bassett, H. P.;

E.-. James M. Collier, K.; and E.-. John G. Smedley, S. The

present officers (1881) are: M.-.E.-.W. M. Miller, Jr., H. P.;

E.-. S. C. Allen, K.; and E.', E. P. Thomason, S. The present

officers of Amity Lodge are : Garrett Mann, W. M. ; W. C.

Goodman, S. W.; and I. L. Ylursley, J. W.
We find from the records and our own observation,

that the membership has always included some of our best

citizens, and many donations have been made in a quiet

but effectual way to the distressed and needy. Amity

Lodge donated at one time $100 to the Masonic Widows'

and Orphans' Home, at Louisville. Her membership

voted almost unanimously to pay the $1 assessment for

each and every member, for five years, to the same, and

paid it ; and at the last election did the same thing in

reference to pajdng 50 cents for five years on each mem-

ber to the same charity, and they will pay it.

Halleck Lodge, I. 0. O. F., was instituted September

22, 1853, with the following charter members : James Nel-

son, G. W. Hughes, Malcom McBride, James McGriffin

and John S. Elkington. For several years the member-

ship averaged from thirty to forty, but declined during the

war, though it never suspended work. It has dwindled

down to twelve active members. The hall property, with

a comfortable storeroom underneath valued at $2,000,

together with about $1,00J in Widows' and Orphans' Fund,

$800 in cash and notes constitute the assets of the lodge,

with no outstanding liabilities. The present officers ar6 :

W. H. Payne, N. G.; G. W. Hervey, V. G.; J. T. Batson,

P. G.; W. H. H. Johnson, Treasurer ;
and Bruce Champ,

Secretary.

As to the common schools of Millersburg, there is but

little to be said. The place being what is termed a " col-

lege town," it is almost needless to say, that the common

schools have never flourished to any great degree. Who
taught the first school in the place, or where the first

schoolhouse stood, is alike unknown at the present day.

The early history of its schools is similar to that of

other Kentucky towns, and while better than no schools at

all, were far inferior to our present system of schools.

Without going into an extended sketch of the common

schools, we devote a brief space to the colleges and

acadamies, which have made Millersburg widely and fav-

orably known throughout the country.

The following sketch of the Millersburg Female Col-

lege, is written by Dr. Gould, the President, for this work:

What is now known as Millersburg Female College

was originally opened as the Millersburg Male and Female

Seminary, in September, 1852, by Rev. John Miller, M. 1).,

of the Kentucky Conference, Methodist Episcopal Church

South, Col. Johnson had previously conducted in the village

a female branch of his military school located at Blue Lick

Springs. In 1854, Dr. George S. Savage, of1;he same

church and conference, succeeded Dr. Miller; and in 1856

the name was changed to the Millersburg Male and Female

Collegiate Institute. In 1859, the male department was

set off as the Kentucky Wesleyau College ; and the

female, remaining in the old buildings, took the style and

designation of Millersburg Female College.

In 1867, Dr. Savage was succeeded by Prof. Hamilton
;

he, in 1869, by Prof Brown ; he, in 1870, by Prof W. H.

Savage ; he, in 1872, by Savage and Gould ; they, in 1874,

by Savage, Gould and Abbett ; they, in 1875, by Gould and

Abbett ; and they, in 1877, by George T. Gould, who has

since remained as sole proprietor and President.

On the night of December 29, 1878, the entire build-

ings, with their contents of pianos, desks, apparatus, furni-

ture, etc., was destroyed by fire. The President, nothing

daunted by such overwhelming loss, rented at once houses,

rooms, furniture, everything necessary for continuing the

school, and without the loss of a single day, conducted it

to the close of the term in June. The community showed

its interest by raising a fund of $3,500, as a loan, to aid in

the erection of new buildings. These were begun in

March, 1879, and in September of the same year, the

school moved into the large, handsome and convenient

edifice, which it now fills to overflowing.

This building is one of the largest and best arranged

for the education of young ladies, to be met with any-

where in the State, and with its large and handsome

grounds it is one of the chief ornaments of the county
;

heated by steam, and with numerous halls, galleries, and

ventilating flues, comfort, health and convenience are

admirably combined.

The school has shown a steady growth under its pres-

ent management, until now it is the largest female school

in the State, both in faculty and in number of students, and

is rapidly spreading the fame of Bourbon County, as an

educational center, throughout the South and West.

The course of study is extensive in literature, business,

music and art ; the corps of teachers, arranged upon the

plan of subdivision of labor, is composed of eighteen

specialists, able and distinguished in their respective de-

partments ; and the teaching is thorough and fully abreast

of the times.

Altogether, the school is one of the most widely known

and popular of the many schools in the South for the edu-
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cation of young women ; and its progressive history in

tlie last few j^ears, gives large hope of even more eminent

success in the future.

The following excellent sketch of the Kentucky Wes-

leyan College was written at our request, by Prof J). W.
Batson. President of the institution, and will be read with

interest b}' all of its friends : The Kentucky Wesleyan Col-

lege, located at Millersburg is the property of the Methodist

Episcopal Church South, and is now under the immediate

control of the Kentucky and Western Virginia Annual

Conferences of that church.

Previous to the session of the Kentucky Conference in

1858, several friends of education in Millersburg undertook

to establish in that town a male and female collegiate in-

stitute. The prime mover in the enterprise was Kev. T. P.

C. Shellman, but he succeeded soon in interesting several

others, and the}' were but a short time in raising some $10,-

000 or more. A building committee was appointed at once,

consisting of Dr. A. G-. Stitt, Mr. Alex S. Miller, and Mr.

William Nunn; the grounds were purchased, just without the

northern limits of the town, on a commanding eminence, and

soon the foundations for a large building for the institute

were in process of construction. This much was done in

the summer of 1858.

In September of that year, the Kentucky Conference

met in session in Millersburg. The members of the Con-

ference catching the spirit of education of the people of

Millersburg, resolved during the session to establish a

school of high grade in the interest of the church, " for

the promotion of literature, science, morality and religion."

The grounds purchased for the Male and Female Collegiate

Institute, with the incomplete foundations, together with

all the subscriptions, were tendered the Conference just

at that time by the proper authorities, and the Confer-

ence at once accepted, laying the corner-stone of the main

building for the new institution they were about to estab-

lish, with imposing Masonic ceremonies, on the Saturday

of the Conference session, September 11, 1858. Addresses

were delivered on the occasion of laying the corner-stone,

by Bishop H. H. Kavauaugh, Kev. Jefferson Hamilton,

D. D., Judge William T. Moore and Hon. Garrett Davis.

The building committee of the first enterprise was contin-

ued, and soon the walls of the Kentucky Wesleyan were in

process of construction upon the foundations which had

been begun for a male and female institute. An agent

was appointed also before the adjournment of the Confer-

ence to secure subscriptions and donations toward an

educational fund for the support of the new institution. By
the succeeding fall, the fall of 1859, the sum of $57,000 in

cash and in good and reliable notes had been secured, and

January 12, 1860, the Board of Education of the Kentucky

Annual Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church

South was chartered by the Legislature of Kentucky,

with " all the rights and privileges of corporations, aggre-

gate, etc, for the proper conduct and government of said

college,'' subject to the supervision of the Conference, to

whom the board was to report their acts and doings annu-

ally. The first Board of Education elected by the Confer-

ence consisted of the. following gentlemen, six ministers and

six laymen : Rev. W. C. Dandy, Rev. Daniel Stevenson,

Rev. J. H. Linn, Rev. J. W. Cunningham, Rev. J. C. Har-

rison, Rev. Robert Hiner, David Thornton, Moreau Brown,

Hiram Shaw, B. P. Tevis, William Nunn and A. G-. Stitt.

The members of the board were divided into three sec-

tions, consisting of two ministers and two laymen each, one

section of four members going out of office each year, and

the Conference electing each j'ear four new members.

The outbreak of the civil war prevented the college

from being opened at once. The building was used for a

high school in charge successively of Prof. A. G. Murphy,

Rev. T. J. Dodd and Rev. S. L. Robertson, till 1866. In

September of that year, a Pacult}' of four Professors in the

Literary Department and one in the Theological, having

been duly elected, tte college was opened in regular form

Rev. Charles Taylor, A. M., M. D., D. D., was the first Presi-

dent. The Board of Education at that time consisted of

Rev. Robert Hiner, Rev. H. P. Walker, Rev. T. N. Ralston.

Rev. Seneca H. Hall, Rev. S. L. Robertson, Rev. T. J. Dodd
Dr. Joshua Barnes, Dr. A. G. Stitt, Moreau Brown, David

Thornton and W. M. Leathers, with Rev. Robert Hiner

Chairman; Rev. S. L. Robertson, Secretary and Agent; and

David Thornton, Esq., Treasurer. The total number of

students the first 3'ear, the 3'ear 1866-67, was ninety
; but

there were no graduates till 1868, when Benjamin D. Best

graduated in the Bachelor of Science course of study. Dr,

Taylor continued President of the college till June, 1870,

four years only. The last year the students numbered one

hundred and forty-four—the largest attendance the institu-

tion had yet had. Dr. Taylor, however, felt under the

necessity of resigning, and Rev. B. Arbogast, A. M., was
elected President. About this time, the Western Virginia

Conference was invited by the Kentucky Conference to be-

come part owners of the college, and to give it their patron-

age. They subscribed a small amount toward erecting a

building for students to room in, and have since had two
representatives on the Board of Education. In June, 1872,

President Arbogast, having become involved in business

matters, resigned his position, and Prof. John Darly, A. M.,

Ph.. D., who had been Professor of Natural Sciences in the

institution for two years, was elected President. He con-
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tinned in the office till June, 1875, when he resigned, and

gave up all farther work in the school-room, having been

actively engaged in teaching in schools of .advanced grade

for over forty years. He went to spend his remaining days

with his daughter in New York City, but died the following

year, after a very short illness. After Prof Darly's resigna-

tion, Rev. T. J. Dodd, D. D., was elected President for a

term of three years, but after serving the institution one

year onlj', he was elected to a professorship in Vanderbilt

University, at Nashville, Tenn., and resigned the presidency

of the Kentucky Wesleyan
; Rev. W. H. Anderson, D. D.,

was then elected President. He held the position also only

three years, till June, 1879. In July, 1879, Prof. D. W.
Batson, A. M., was elected President, with a Faculty consist-

ing mostly of Alumni of the institution.. Prof. Batson had

been connected with the college himself ever since 1868,

entering as a student in September of that year, graduat-

ing in June, 1874, and since that time tilling the chair of

Mathematics. At the time of his election to the presidency,

he was the youngest College President in the United States,

but being thoroughly interested in the work the board had

called him to do, he succeeded in restoring the institution

to something like its former prosperity, the attendance being

almost doubled within the first two years after his election.

He is President of the college at this (1882) writing.

The endowment of the college has never been what it

should be, and the mistake was made of securing what en-

dowment it has had, by granting scholarships entitling the

holders to keep one student for each scholarship in the insti-

tution free of tuition, one year for every $10 contributed to

the endowment. Hence, the college has had to labor under

many difficulties that monej' would have removed. There

have been several agents appointed at different times, but

very little if anything has been added to the endowment

since the war, so that now the productive funds of the in-

stitution amount to something more than $32,000 only.

The buildings and grounds, however, are well located,

costing something near $30,000, and are capable of accom-

modating 1 50 to 200 students. A college library has also

been begun in addition to two \'ery respectable societj'

libraries, and the institution is well supplied with chemical

and philosophical apparatus, maps, charts, etc., and possesses

the foundation of an excellent museum. The attendance

upon the college for the first fifteen years of its existence,

has averaged a little over eighty-five students a year, rep-

resenting some nine or ten different States.

The number of graduates ranging, since 1868, from one

to seven each year, up to June, 1881. is fifty-five. Of that

number, thirteen have entered the ministry of the church.

Eleven have alreadj' entered, or are intending to enter, the

law. A very respectable part of the number have chosen

teaching as their life business, while a few have taken up

medicine or pharmacy. The other avocations of life

such as farming, merchandising, banking, etc., are also

prettj- generally represented among the graduates. Of

those who have spent a time at the college, without gradu-

ating, many occupy at present prominent places, both in

Church and State. The college, therefore, considering the

difficulties it has had in its way, has been a large success,

and has occupied a worthy place among the institutions of

learning throughout the land.

—

Ferrin.

CHAPTER XY.
FLAT ROCK PRECINCT— ITS BOUNUAKIES, TOPOGRAPHY AND SURFACK I'KATURES— EARLY SETTLEMENT — LIFE IN THE

WILDERNESS—IMPROVEMENTS AND PIONEER INDUSTRIES—SCHOOLS ANU CHURCHES—VILLAGES,

ETC.— MASONIC LODGE— SKELETON OF A MASTODON DISCOVERED.

THE division of Bourbon County, to which this chap-

ter is devoted, is known as Flat Rock Precinct, and

is No. 3 of the election precincts. It is situated in the

eastern or southeastern part of the county, lying a little

south of east from Paris. It is bounded north by Nicho-

las County and Millersburg Precinct, east by Nicholas

County, south by Montgomery County, and west by North

Middleton Precinct. In the northwestern part of the pre-

cinct the land is undulating, and in the southeastern part

hilly and somewhat broken. The products are wheat, corn

tobacco and grazing, the latter being carried to a consider-

ble extent. Its principal stream is Hinkston Creek, which

forms the boundary line" between the precinct and Nicholas

County, the main tributary of which is Boone's Creek.

Rockbridge is a small tributary of Boone's Creek. Brush

and Clear Creeks are small streams in the northeast part

of the precinct, which flow into Hinkston. These streams

afford an excellent system of drainage, and also an abund-
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ance of stock water. The original timber growth was oak,

ash, hickory-, wahiut, elm, locust and sugar maple. Before

subjected to cultivation, cane grew abundantly in portions

of the precinct and there is still some of it to be found on

Cane Ridge, so named from the heavy growth of cane there

in early time.

Among the early settlers of Flat Rock Precinct, were

were William Rodgers, Christopher Skillman, Hamilton

Wilson, John Desha, Peter Banta, and others. Rogers and

Skillman settled near Cane Ridge in an early day. Wilson

was an old soldier of the war of 1812, and died quite re-

cently. John Desha was a brother of Gov. Desha. Banta

was an early settler, and an early surve3'or in this section.

It is known to few persons, perhaps, in this precinct,

that the mortal remains of a brother of the famous Daniel

Boone repose within its sacred soil. On the farm of Anson

Bryan, formerly the land of Jefferson and Anderson

Bryan, on Boone's Creek, two miles from Plat Rock, near

a buckej'e tree, lie the remains of Boone, a brother of the

old pioneer and Kentucky Indian fighter. He was killed on

his waj' to the Blue Licks, being shot by an Indian from a

hickorj- tree that stood near by. This was known as the

' Buffalo Trace."

Another incident worthy of note in this chapter is the

following : The grandfather of the Bryans, John Noble,

was a soldier in the British Army, and was surrendered

under Lord Cornwallis, at Yoriitown. Dissatisfied with

his army life, he determined never to return to the " old

country," hence came to Kentucky, and settled in what now
forms this precinct, where lie remained for the rest of his

life, an honorable and respected citizen.

Many others came in and settled in this part of the

county, in early times, but they have been lost sight of and

forgotten.

Life in the wilderness at an early period of the history

of Kentucky, was hard, rough and dangerou.^. The lurk-

ing Indian was always ready to pounce upon his white foe,

whenever necessitj' or imprudence led him away from his

friends, or the protecting walls of tlie block-house or sta-

tion. And after the power of tlie savages had been broken

and danger from tlieir incursions lessened, wilderness life

still had its hardships and privations. Land had to be

cleared, more comfortable houses built and crops culti-

vated. The means of cultivating the soil were meager.

The plow was the old ' Cary " or " barshear," usually drawn

by a yoke of oxen, and other implements were of equalty

as poor qualitj'. Por harvesting the small grain, the reap-

ing-hook and the scythe and cradle were used. Reapers

and mowers had not been invented, nor any of the im-

proved agricultural implements of the present day. Each

member of the famil}', both male and female, had to work

and perform their part of the labor in supporting life and

building up a home in the wilderness. Household furni-

ture was as primitive as the implements used in cultivating

the crops. Wooden stools took the place of chairs, pewter

plates and tin cups adorned the table, which was usually

it rough-hewn slab ; bedsteads were of the rudest kind,

both in material and in construction, and the beds were

often composed of leaves and grass, which honest toil ren-

dered
" Soft as downy pillows are."

But the rich virgin soil amply repaid the husbandman for

his toil, and gave forth rich harvests, and as the advancing

years brought improvements in the modes of cultivations,

and population increased, life became more endurable, until

it reached the perfection we find at Lhe present age.

Among the pioneer's earlj' trials was the anxiety arising

from the trouble of obtaining bread for his familj'. Few
as were the agricultural implements then in use, the rais-

ing of a crop of corn in the rich soil was comparativelj' a

light matter, but the converting of it into meal was a far

more serious job. Pounding corn in a mortar and grinding

it in the coffee-mill, were means often resorted to. The
fli-st mills built in the neighborhood were horse-mills.

These were quite an improvement on hand mills and

mortars, but would be considered poor makeshifts at the

present day. Several horse-mills were built in what is now
Flat Rock Precinct in early times, but of them we learned

but little beyond the mere fact of their existence. The
oldest mill now in the precinct is Ellison's mill, run by
water-power. Owing to the fact that the streams are all

small in this section, but few mills of any consequence has

ever been built in the precinct, and the people have had to

do their milling elsewhere.

Like all portions of Bourbon County, Flat Rock Pre-

cinct is well supplied with excellent macadamized roads.

A pike runs from North Middleton to Plum Lick, known
by the name of " Plum Lick Pike." The Cane Ridge &
Paris pike leads from Paris to Flat Rock ; the Cane Ridge
& Jackstown pike connects those two places, which give

to the road its name, and the Cane Ridge & North Mid-
dleton connects the place which give it its name. These
pass in all directions, giving the inhabitants the most
thorough means of travel and transportation. Tire first

magistrates of Plat Rock Precinct were John F. Talbott
and Stephen Terry. The present Justices are T. M. Squires

and James N. Stone.

There are several villages in Plat Rock Precinct, but all

of them put together would not make half a town. Plat

Rock Village is the largest and most important, and has a
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white population of fifty, and a colored population of one

hundred. It is situated on the Paris & Flat Rock pike,

thirteen miles from Paris, and comprises, in business, one

store, one drug store, and one blacksmith-shop. Socially,

it contains two churches, one school, one Masonic lodge,

and a colored church and school. A post office was estab-

lished in 1840, and " Billy " Payne was Postmaster. In

1878, it was removed to Plum Lick. The Methodist Church

was organized previous to 1850. Among the original

members were J. R. Cray, F. M. Hinkle, Richard Hinkle

and B. W. Soper. The first pastor was Rev. Mr. Brush. A
church edifice was erected in 1849 by the Methodists and

Christians in partnership, and used in common until 1877,

when the Christians sold out to the Methodists, and built

one of their own. The present membership of the Method-

ist Church is fifty, under the pastorate of Rev. J. W.

Harris. The Christian Church was erected in 1877 at a

cost of $2,000, and is a comely edifice. Previous to the

building of it, the Christians worshiped with the Method-

ists as noted above. The present membership is 200, and

their present pastor the Rev. Mr. Jones.

Hope Lodge, No. 246, A., F. & A. M., was organized in

1850. Its original officers were W. P. Bramlette, W. M.
;

Aquilla Robb, S. W. ;
James Donall, J. W. ; and Edward

Payne, Sec. The present officers are James R. Rodgers,

W. M. ;
Edward Rice, S. W. ;

Richard Hopkins, J. W. ; A.

Evans, Sec. ; and James Hopkins, Treas. There are thirty-

one members on the rolls, and the lodge is in good wcStk-

ing order, and out of debt.

Plum Lick is situated at the forks of Boone's Creek,

five miles from North Middletown, in a northeast direction,

and two and a half miles from the Montgomery County

line. It has had quite a number of names, and if the world

stands long enough, it will probably have a few more. It

was first known by the classic, or rather unclassic name of

" Pin Hook." This was afterward changed to Levy, but

wherefore, deponent saith not. The origin of these names

are unknown ; upon the subject, history is silent. The

next name bestowed upon the romantic little village is

Plum Lick, the origin of which is likewise veiled in ob-

scurity. The population of the place is forty souls and as

many bodies, and the business is comprised in two stores

and a blacksmith-shop. The post office was moved from

Flat Rock to this place in 1878, and A. B. Thomason is

Postmaster, and has been since its removal. Two

mails are received per week. The first store was

kept by a man named Nathan LaForgee. Since the

adoption of the local option law, the village has been very

quiet and orderly. Jackstown, in the northeast part of the

precinct near the border, has one store and a blacksmith-

shop. It is but a small collection of houses, and has very

little business. Cane Ridge Post Office is located ten miles

from Paris at Thomas Ashbrook's blacksmith-shop, and

near the Cane Ridge Church. The first Postmaster was B.

B. Bramlette, the present one is Thomas Ashbrook.

The following incident is of historical interest, and is

here given that it may be perpetuated in the county's

history. It was communicated to the Western Githen, of

August 26, 1853, by Mr. J. Miller, of Millersburg. The

spot mentioned is in this precinct, and will be remembered

by many of the old citizens, and the article itself is as

follows :

In making an e.\cavation n few days -since, on the land of

Mr. C. C. Rogers, in this county, about ten miles south of Mil-

lersburg, and the same distance east of Paris, on tlie South Fork
of Brush Ci'eek, one of the tributaries of Hinlcston, the remains

of a mastodon were discovered. That the animal or animals

to which these belonged were of immense size, will appear from

some measm-ements of the parts preserved, though in a greatly

decayed condition.

A section of one of the tusks, consisting of two feet two
inches of the anterior, or smallest extremity, measures twenty

inches and a half in circumference at the largest end. This tusk

was supposed to be over eight feet long when discovered. One of

the grinders is eight inches long on the face, four wide, and nine-

teen in circumference ; its weight is about si.x pounds. About
two-thirds, as near as can be ascertained, of the right lower jaw
is in a tolerable state, of preservation, and has two of the grind-

ers in position. The curved margin of this is three feet one inch

in length, and the jaw is eight inches thick. Its depth imme-
diately behind the last molar, and including the remains of the

ramus, is about twelve inches. Only one of the vertebrae has as yet

been secured (a dorsal); the breadth of this would make the spinal

column more than fifteen inches from side to side, and the aper-

ture for the passage of the spinal marrow measm'es three inches

full ; the spinous process of this bone must have been nearly two
feet long. Diameter from the external margin of one of the

condyles of the occupital bone to same margin of the other, ten

inches full; diameter of th- foramen magnum, three and a half

inches. Circumference of the neck of the femur, sixteen and a

half inches; circumference of the same below the trochanter

minor, seventeen inches scant.

In the present condition of tlie remains, these of course are

more or less imperfect measm-es, but assuming the basis of calcu-

lation adopted by the naturalists in the Newburg, N. Y., speci-

men discovered in 1845, and believed to be one of the largest of

the Mastodon Mnxiiiins of Guvier, this animal would be above

twelve feet high, nineteen feet long, and weight about nineteen

thousand pounds. The parts I have been able to secure are in

such a decayed state that no attempt at complete restoration can

be successful. There is also very conclusive evidence that the

parts obtained belong to two skeletons at least; the angles of three

lower maxilaries being now among the fragments discovered and

in my possession. Two of these belong to the left, and one to

the right side. The teetli in that of the right side, and in the

more perfect one of the left do not correspond, and the diameter

of the jaws is very different. The Messrs. Rogers intend pros-
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ecuting the search for the remainder of the skeletons at a future

time. Througli the politeness and attention of these gentlemen

and Col. Ware, these remains have fortuna'ely been secured.

They are now undergoing a process by which they will be ren-

dered hard and dm-able, and capable of being handled. The

skeletons were imbedded in a low, marshy situation, near a fine

stream of spring water, surrounded by high undulating land of

the very best quality in this or any other State. It was first oc-

cupied by the white settlers more than half a century since.

—Perrin.

CHAPTER XYI.
NORTH MIDULKTOWN PRECINCT— TOPOGRAPHICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE - PIONEER OCCUPATION— EARLY TRIALS AND

TROUBLES — ROADS. BRIDGRS, ETC. — INDUSTRIES —VILLAGES — CHURCHES AND PIONEER PREACHERS —
SCHOOL AND SCHOOLHOUSES—KKNTUCKY CLASSICAL AND BUSINESS COLLEGE.

NORTH MIDDLETOWN, known as Election Precinct

No. 4, lies southeast of Paris, and is bounded on

the north by Millersburg Precinct, on the east by Flat

Rock Precinct and Montgomery County, south by

Montgomery and Clark Counties and west by Paris and

Clintonville pikes. The surface varies from undulating

and rolling, to broken and hilly, in southern and east-

ern portions, and along the numerous streams. It is

separated from Flat Rock Precinct by Cane Ridge, the

soil of which, from a greater proportion of clay, is not so

easily affected bj' drought. The principal streams are

Stoner Creek and its numerous tributaries. Stoner Creek

flows into the precinct from Clark Count}', traversing it

from southeast to northwest, and receiving as tributaries,

Donelson Creek, Indian Creek, Scott's Creek and Harrod's

Greek, all of which flow northwest. Strode's Creek flows

through the western part in a north direction. The soil is

very fertile, and most of the precinct is devoted to grazing,

no effort being made to raise any more corn or small grain

than is needed for home consumption. Sheep and cattle

raising is the principal industry'. Upon the whole, it is

one of the rich and flourishing precincts of the county.

The first settlement in what is now North Middletown

Precinct, is supposed to have been made by Peter Hous-

ton. He and two brothers, James and Robert, came to

Kentucky from North Carolina, with Daniel Boone upon

his second trip to the State, the former settling on Cane

Ridge, about two miles northeast of North Middletown

Village, where he lived for many years. His ancestors

came over in the Mayflower, and were among the suffer-

ers of Plymouth Rock. He built a malt-house here ninety-

five years ago, and for a long period, furnished all the dis-

tilleries in Bourbon County with malt. He was a soldier

in the war of 1812. William Davis was an early settler,

and squatted near the Clark County line. He died there

some years later, and his family moved West. John Lan-

der settled on the place now owned by W. D. G-ay, where

he run a distillery for more than twenty years. Charles

Lander, his father, settled near North Middletown Village

in a very early day. Stephen Kines, John and Ephraim

Herriott, Patrick and Robert Scott and John Forden, were

all early settlers in the vicinity of the village of North

Middletown. Manj' other families there were, who might

be mentioned with the early settlement of the precinct, but

their names have been forgotten in the lapse of time.

The first decade or two after the settlement of this sec-

tion by white people, were years of toil and danger and

suffering. We, of this day of peace and plentj', can form

little idea what our ancestors had to undergo seventy-five

and a hundred years ago in the wilds of Kan-tuck-ee.

To support their families and guard them from the

dangers of wild beasts and savages, often put them to

their wits' ends. Not until after the close of the war of

1812, was perfect peace and tranquillity secured to Ken-

tucky. After this the beautiful and rich lands of Central

Kentucky was rapidly settled and occupied.

Among the early industries of the precinct were a num-
ber of mills and distilleries. Robert Owen, whose father,

Thomas Owen, came from Blaryland, and settled near the

present town of Winchester, built a mill and distillery in

1806. The mill was a horse-power tread-whoel, the first

mill of the kind in Bourbon County. He operated the dis-

tillery about thirty years. " Those were the days," said

an old gentleman, " of honest whisky, when one bushel of

meal made two gallons of whisky, which sold at 25 cents

per gallon." James Wells had a grist-mill one, mile west

of North Bliddletown, where Seamands' mill now stands.

About 1820, Maj. Manson Seamands bought Wells out,

and attached horse-power, in order to run in dry weather.

The mill is now owned and run by Preston J. Seamands,
having been in his family for sixty years. The stones

used by Wells were native Laurel County rock. The mill

has been greatly improved, and now has two run of excel-

lent buhrs, with a capacity of 200 bushels of corn and 100
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bushels of wheat per claj-. It is a commodious three-story

building, valued at some $10,000. The dam is made en-

tirely of locust logs. Excellent pikes traverse the precinct

in every direction. Tlie Paris & Mount Sterling pike runs

east and west through the entire precinct. The Cane

Ridge pike runs from North Middletown to the Paris &
Flat Rock pike, which bounds the precinct on the north.

The Plum Lick pike, from North Middletown to Plum Lick,

a distance of five miles ; the Bigstown pike, toward Win-

chester; the North Middletown & Clintonville Pike, and

the Seamands' Mill pike, which rnns to Stony Point, leave

very little dirt road in the precinct. Good substantial

bridges span most of the streams where the roads cross

them, several of which are covered bridges. A daily stage

line pass over the Paris & Mount Sterling pike, between

those two cities.

North Middletown Village is situated on Paris & Mount

Sterling pike, two miles southeast of Paris, and twelve

northwest of Mount Sterling
;

it has about three hundred

and fifty population. The original name of the place was

"Swinneytown," in honor of an early settler of the neigh-

borhood. It was incorporated as a town in 1818, and its

name changed to North Middletown. The name Middle-

town was given to it in consequence of its situation between

Paris and Jlount Sterling, and being midway between Mill-

ersburg and Winchester. Afterward the name "North"

was added to it to distinguish it from Middletown, in Jeffer-

son County. The first house in North ^Middletown was built

by William Adair, who kept a tavern in it at an early day.

The first store was kept by James Cogswell about the year

1815. The post-ofBcc is kept by John B. Stivers. The

business of the town is comprised in the following ; Six

stores (three grocery, two dry goods, one drug store), one

bank, one saloon, two physicians, one Masonic lodge, one

college, one district school, one livery stable, two churches,

three blacksmith-shops, three wood-shops, two colored

churches and one colored school.

The first church in North Middletown Village was built

in 1823, as a union church by four different denominations,

viz. : Methodist, Baptist, Presbyterian and '' New-Light," or

Christian. It was torn down in 1879, and a large brick

schoolhouse erected in its place. The town has now two

churches.

The Methodist Episcopal Church South, located in the

village of North Middletown, is an old church, and was one

of the four mentioned above, as building the union church

in the village. The present church edifice was built in

1848, and was dedicated by Rev. H. B. Bascom, before he

became a bishop. Those prominently connected with the

building of it were Jonathan Owen, George W. Owen, John

W. Scott, John C. Hall, and Stephen Kinies. Old " Father
"

James, Frank Philips, Dr. George Savage, T. J. Dodd,

George T. Gould, Dr. Charles Taylor, Dr. R. Reed are

among the ministers that have filled the pulpit during the

last fifty years. The Rev. T. P. C. Shelman held a^uccess-

ful revival many years ago, during which forty persons

joined the church. The present pastor is Rev. J. W. Harris.

This church has furnished considerable material for form-

ing new churches, and has lost a great many by death and

removals, until but forty members are now on the records,

and the church is mainly supported by a few families.

The North Middletown Christian Church also worshiped,

for a short time, in the old Union Church. The history

of this church, which dates back to 1817, is rather inter-

esting, and we give it at some length, from facts furnished

us by Elder W. I. Mason. It was originally of the Baptist

denomination, and among the first members were James

Sims, Enoch Mason and John Rash. They were regular

attendants at their church in Montgomery County, but

often met in their own neighborhood for worship in private

houses. In 1818, James Sims built a very large brick

house, one mile east of the village, about 30x25 feet, for

the purpose of being used as a place of worship. Mason

was in the same year licensed to preach. In 181 'J, they

organized a church, consisting almost entirely of those

who had gotten letters from the church at Grassy Lick, in

,

Montgomery County. It is not known how many went

into the organization, but among them were James Sims

and wife and daughters, John Rash and wife, Enoch Mason

and wife, and John Campbell and wife. Elder Mason was

their pastor. It is believed that the first persons ever im-

mersed in the neighborhood were Miss Louisa Harris, a

young lady, and two aged colored women, named respect-

ively Sally and EUy, mother and daughter. Mr. Mason

gives the following sketch of the three men most prominent

in the forming of this church, viz. : Sims, Rash and Mason.

"James Sims was about fifty years of age and a leading man

in the neighborhood. He possessed good business qualities,

was wealthy for those times, had a large share of common

sense, a good library, the contents of which he read and

understood, and was a good conversationalist. He was

extensively known, and entertained many strangers with

unbounded hospitality. He died, at the age of eighty-

seven, in Jefferson County. John Rash was born and

raised in Clark County, and was converted at the age of

thirteen, under the preaching of Elder Ambrose Dudley.

He was conscientious, honest and candid, without guile and

transparent as glass. He was firm almost to a fault, and

if he had lived in times of religious persecution would

have courted the stake if his Master's cause had required

^ (.



^ lli:^

136 HISTORY OF BOURBON COUXTY.

it. He died, in 1842, in Nicholas Couutj'. Enoch Mason

was younger than either Sims or Rash. His moral char-

acter was without reproach and lie had the confidence of

his brethren. He had a well-balanced mind, was warm in

his feelfngs and gifted and enthusiastic as a spealser. He
preached extensively in the adjoining counties and had

charge of his home church until his death, which occurred

in the fall of 1824."

Rev. Jeremiah Vardeman, a minister of great power

and eloquence, often visited the church, and Dr. Pishback,

of Lexington, 'and many other noted preachers. In 1821,

a large building of hewed logs was put up, of the style

of most countrj' churches, and was about twenty feet wide

and forty-eight feet long. It has long since disappeared,

and the acre of ground donated to it by John Black is now

covered over with graves and inclosed by a rude stone

wall. In 1823,. a spirit of inquiry arose in this church

upon some of the views and practices that prevailed among
the Baptists. This finally resulted, in 1828, of the church

embracing the new doctrine, as it was called, of Alexander

Campbell, with one exception—Daniel Bradley, who took

out a letter of dismissal. After the death of Elder Mason,

Elder William Morton preached three j'ears, and was suc-

ceeded by Thomas Parrish, an eminent preacher. Elder

John Smith was the next preacher, and proved an excel-

lent pastor. In the fall of 1834, Elder Aylet Raines was

called, and was the pastor uninterruptedly for fourteen

years. In 1838, Elder John T. Johnson, of Georgetown,

held a protracted meeting at this church, during which 184

persons joined the church and were immersed, and, as it

was cold weather, ice nearly a foot thick had to be cut to

get to the water. Dr. A. Adams was the next pastor, fol-

lowed by Elder W. R. McOhesney. The membership from

1840 to 1850 was about three hundred. Many other able

divines followed those mentioned until the pastorate of the

present minister. The present church edifice was built in

1842. The membership is now 250 and the pastor is

Elder R. Graham. Mrs. Elizabeth Trimble is the only

one of the early members now living.

A Masonic lodge was organized in North Middletown in

1824 as Washington Lodge, No. 79, and William Duncan

was the first Master ; N. L. Lindsay, Senior Warden, and

Samuel Thomas, Junior Warden. It was established dur-

ing the anti- Masonic excitement of Morgan, which reduced

the membership down to three, viz. : James Cogswell,

Samuel Thomas and N. L. Lindsay. But when the excite-

ment died away, it revived again, and is now in a prosperous

condition. Ground" was originally donated by Col. Cogs-

well, on which to erect a building for church, school and

Masonic purposes. The present officers are John B. Sti-

vers, Worshipful Master ; Charlton Lowe, Senior Warden
;

John B. Grimes, Junior Warden ; Isaac Laughlin, Treas-

urer ; and James Oden, Secretary.

North Middletown Deposit Bank was incorporated in

1869, and commenced business Januarj' 1, 1870. The

capital stock was $50,000, with the privilege of increasing

it to $100,000. The first officers were T. J. Evans, Presi-

dent ; A. T. Mitchell, Cashier ; and A. L. Bean, James

Scott, J. S. Berry, Hy Gaitskill and John Trimble, Direct-

ors. The bank has made money and is now controlled by

the following board and officers, viz. : J. S. Berry, Presi-

dent; W. W. Hedges, Cashier; and E. K. Thomas, T. J.

Evans, Charles Harris, D. H. Bratton and James Scott,

Directors.

North Middletown Woolen Mill was built by Reuben

Lewis about the year 1830, who operated it with horse-

power. Lewis sold out to Joseph Mathews, and he, in

company with his brother-in-law, W. P. Schooler, enlarged

and put in steam. It did a very successful business dur-

ing the late war. The mill and machinery were removed to

Mount Sterling in 1881.

Kentucky Classical and Business College, located in

the village of North Middletown, was established, in 1860,

by J. T. Patterson, now of Hamilton College, Lexington.

It was originally known as ' Patterson Institute,'' a name
given to it in honor of its fouuder. In 1877, E. V. Zollars

succeeded to the management of the institution, a position

he still occupies. This school claims to be one of the best

in Central Kentucky. Its full course is comprised in a

preparatory department, which in every detail is a model

school. The collegiate department embraces five distinct

courses of study, viz. : English, Classical, Latin Scientific,

Business and Normal. In addition to the departments

named, there is a musical department, an art department,

etc. The institution is capable of keeping a large number
of students, and the boarding of the sexes is entirely dis-

tinct, all young ladies from abroad being expected to

board in the institution.

The buildings of the Kentucky Classical and Business

College are large and commodious, and stand in the center

of a beautiful lot of seven acres of ground, finely improved
and handsomely ornamented with forest trees and ever-

greens, which aflbrds a most delightful place for outdoor

exercise. The rooms are sufficient in number and size to

accommodate eighty young ladies, and the entire part of

the building is heated by steam. The following appears in

the published catalogue of 1880-81 :
" We are thoroughly

equipped to carry on our various departments and courses

in detail, giving ample time to every item of work. The
numerous practical drills that we have introduced into our

S)
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school from time to time, will be made more prominent

than ever before. We are now able to say with confidence

that our students will have the benefit of a good librarj-,

selected with special reference to the wants of the school.

The health and beautj^ of our location is not surpassed in

the State, our large grounds afford room for ample out-

door exercise, and the isolated situation enables our young

ladies to enjoy a freedom from restraint, which contributes

largely to both their health and happiness. With our sightly

grounds, our commodious buildings in thorough repair,

heated and ventilated by the best modern methods, our

pleasant surroundings in general, we think we can offer

young ladies a home in which the ennui so common to

school life will be almost a stranger."

The first session of the Kentuckj' Classical and Business

College, under the supervision of the present manager, Mr.

Zollars, numbered one h andred and fifty pupils, forty ofwhom
were boarders. At the present time (1881) there are sixty-

nine boarders in the institution, with a large number of day

scholars. The present faculty is as follows : E. V. Zollars^

President, and Professor of Chemistry and Mathematics
;

W. S. Smith, Principal of Normal Department ; A. Skid-

more, Professor of Ancient Languages, etc.. Miss M. Zollars,

Teacher of Intermediate Department and German ;
Miss

Carrie Van Dervort, Primary Department and Model

School ; Miss Jessie Florence, Teacher of Composition and

History
;
Miss Addie E. Thomas, Assistant in Mathematics

and Science ; A. S. Dabney, Sciences, Ancient Languages,

and Teacher of French ; Miss Alice Hobbs, Teacher of

Music ; Miss Annie Gaff, Teacher of Vocal Culture ;
Miss

Emma Thomas, Assistant Teacher in Music ;
Miss Sallie

B. Ireland, Teacher of Drawing, Painting, etc.

The first school ever taught in what is now North Mid-

dletown Precinct was in an old log house one mile east oi

the village, on the farm now owned by John Arnold. James

Brown was the first teacher. Education has made con-

siderable progress in the precinct since that period, as evi-

denced in the fact of the excellent institution at North

Middletown Village, already noticed. The people have

always evinced their interest in educational and religious

matters. This led to religious meetings coeval with the

settlement of the precinct. The first regularly established

church was one and a half miles east of the village, and

was known as " Lower Bethel." It was of the Missionary

Baptist denomination, and was organized previous to 1800.

The chu-rch was built in that year, and many noted preachers

administered to the little flock, among wliom were Jeremiah

Vardeman and Enoch Mason. The latter, together with

his wife and daughter, are buried just back of the pulpit.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE XTII.
TLINTONVILLE PRECINCT—GENERAf, DESCRIPTION—I'HYSICAL FEATURES—EARLY SETTLEMENT— DIFFICULTIES ENCOUN-

TERED—PIONEER INDUSTRIES AND IMPROVEMENTS—THE CHURCH HISTORY—SCHOOLS

AND VILLAGES—AN OLD MASONIC LODGE.

"I know that there hath been a change."

CLINTONVILLE PRECINCT lies in the southern part

of Bourbon County, with Clark and Fayette Counties

on the south and southwest, and with Hutchison, Paris and

North Middletown Precincts on the west, north and east, and

is No. 5 of the election precincts of the county. It is fine

blue grass land, gently rolling, and has some of the best

stock and grazing farms in this celebrated stock region.

The original timber was walnut, ash, haekberry, sugar

maple, box elder, buckeye, elm, honey and black locust,

with a very little oak. The precinct was covered with

cane when first settled, but in 1799 this all suddenly died

out. It is drained by Strode's and Green Creeks and their

branches. The latter flows in a northeast direction, and is

very crooked ;
Strode's Creek merely touches the southeast

corner of the precinct. There are quite a number of small

brooks which flow into these streams. No railroads and

but few villages mar the beauty of this fine agricultural

section.

The settlement of Clintonville Precinct dates back

beyond the memory of the living. Among its pioneers we

may mention Henry Crose, Alexander McGill, James Den-

nison, George Renick, Spencer Buchannon, Reuben Clark-

son, Avery Grimes, Green Clay, Daniel Thatcher, Maj. Levi

Crose, James Bristow, John McKinney, Julius Clarkson,

James Jones, Adam Funk, James Runnick, Dennis Leary,

Henry Parvin, John Cunningham, John Duncan, \Villiam

Fisher, Henry Segester, John Hildreth, Thomas Boges, B.

S. Mills, Amos Duke, John Harper, the Cutrights and

Shropshires, Dr. Clay, James Lampton, James Kendall,

Ancil Clarkson, John Dickinson, Jo McConnell, John

Hazelrick, the Stipps, Harry Wigington, Samuel Muir,
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the Hutchcrafts, John Hornbaok and others. These

were all early settlers in what is now Clintouville Precinct,

but to say who was the first one of the number to erect a

cabin here is to assume quite a responsibility. It is a

point we shall not attempt to establish. Most of these men
came from Virginia about the close of the Ile\'olutionary

war, or soon after, for the purpose of locating farms in the

rich Western lands. Manj^ of them still have descendants

living in Bourbon County, but they themselves have long

since passed to their final account.

Green Clay, who is mentioned as being among them,

lived most of his life in Madison County, but owned con-

siderable land in this precinct. He was a man of promi-

nence, a surveyor, and thus obtained large tracts of land

for his services. It is told of him that when a mere boy,

he was employed as a chain carrier by surveyors, and

being very handy with a pen, he would get hold of their

books, and make copies of surveys, plats, etc. When he

had thus procured as many copies as he wanted, he struck

- a bee-line for Eichmond, Va., and got patents on his lands,

and when the surveyors came in for the same purpose,

found themselves "just in time to be a little too late." In

the war of 1812, he tendered his services to the Govern-

ment, and was made Brigadier General of the first Ken-

tucky troops that went out. He led 3,000 of his brave

Kentuckians to the relief of Port Meigs, when besieged by

the British and Indians, and upon his arrival, cut his waj'

through their lines into the fort. The opinion entertained

of the military abilities of Gen. Clay by Gen. Harrison was

such that, when he left Port Meigs, he placed it under the

command of Clay. While in command, the fort was in-

vested by 1,500 British and Canadians, and 5,000 Indians

under Tecumseh, but so stoutlj- was it defended, that the

enemy soon raised the siege and retired.

John McKinney, another of the early settlers men-

tioned above, and who died in this precinct, taught the first

school ever established in Lexington. He was familiarly

known as " Wild Cat " McKinney, from the fact of having

a most terrific fight with a wild-cat, which attacked him in

his schoolhouse, while teaching this pioneer school at Lex-

ington. The fight was a severe one, and lasted several

minutes, when he succeeded ui killing the vicious beast,

just as several persons, in answer to his cries for help, came

to his rescue. So exhausted was he from the encounter

that he kept his bed for several days afterward. Levi

Crose, another of these earlj' settlers, was a blacksmith,

and supposed to be one of the first in this part of the

county. He had a gunsmith's shop also, and lived one and

a half miles west of Clintonville. Henry Crose was a

Revolutionary soldier, and came here very early. He en-

tered about 2,000 acres of land in what is now Clintonville

Precinct. This land is mostl}- owned now by Alex

Johnston and Eobert Estill. The Cutrights and Shrop-

shires had three sons apiece, all large men. A kind of

feud existed between the families, and finally the six young

men decided to settle it by a regular fist fight, a la Sullivan

and Eyan. Moses Shropshire, one of the boys, was a

member of the church, and was brought up before the

ecclesiastical tribunal and disciplined for fighting. In his

acknowledgments to the church, he said, '' Yes, I had a

fight and got whipped, but it was through my own awk-

wardness that I did get whipped," apparently caring for

nothing but to excuse himself for getting whipped. Julius

Clarkson, another of the number mentioned, was a very

earl
J'

settler, and is believed to have raised the first tobacco

ever raised in this precinct. He cultivated tobacco very

extensiveh'. James Jones, also an earl^' settler, was one

of the first to manufacture tobacco, and used to sell it,

after it was manufactured, at sixpence per pound. People

came long distances to buy it. Jones is said to have been

an upright and honest man, and very highly respected.

Adam Punk settled very early, and was a man of great

physical power, weighing some 250 pounds. He used to

boast that he weighed thirty pounds when he was born
;

he and a man named Palmer once had a fist fight, which

created great interest throughout the neighborhood.

The first settlements were made in Clintonville Pre-

cinct before the country was safe from Indian depredations,

and the people were often in great danger from prowling

bands. They were, however, a brave and fearless people,

many had participated in the Indian wars of the time, and

some in the Eevolutionary war, and were used to hardships

and dangers. And even after the storm of savage warfare

died away beyond the Ohio, other trials and dangers re-

mained and had to be overcome. The wilderness had to

be subdued, lands cleared, houses built and roads and

mills established. It was only after years of toil that the

pioneers were able to enjoy prosperity.

Among the early mills of what now forms Clintonville

Precinct were those of Bristow, Pettit and Reed. The

latter was the first owner of a mill, which afterward passed

into the hands of Mr. Hornback, then to Mr. Thatcher. It

was a saw and grist mill, and is now owned bj' Matt D.

Hume. Pettit's was also a saw and grist mill, and was

built on Green Creek
;
the land now is owned by Squire

Cunningham. Bristow's Mill was first a horse-power tread-

wheel, but afterward water-power
; he also had a saw-mill

in connection. The mill was discontinued about 1850.

Levi Crose had a mill, and had a kind of threshing ma-

chine attached to it. It was rather a unique aflSair. Sev-

5
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eral distilleries may be included in the early industries of

the precinct. William Tillett and Daniel Thatchel both

built distilleries in an early day. The latter was on land

now owned by Samuel Clay, and was built as early

as 1817 ; Tillett's was on land now owned by Thomas

H. Clay. Henry Segester had a distillery on Green Creek,

where John Livar now lives. There was also a distillery

on land now owned b3' Jake Eppisun, but it is not known
who built or owned it. Dennison has a distillery at Clin-

tonville previous to 1800. A hemp factory was built by

Henry T. Duncan about 1844, on land now owned by

Charlton Alexander. It continued in operation until about

1855.

The first roads were laid out where the pikes are now

located. Many of the old roads have been constructed

into pikes. The precinct is now well supplied with pikes,

of which the following may be mentioned : The Winches-

ter pike forms the boundary line between Clintonville and

North Middletown Precincts ; the Paris & Clintonville pike

passes through almost from north to south
;
Clintonville &

Thatcher's Mill pike, east and west through the southern

part ; Stony Point & Seamands' Mill pike zigzags east

and west through the center, while Bethlehem & Paris

pike forms the boundarj^ between Clintonville and Hutch-

ison Precincts.

There has been two or three murders committed within

the limits of the precinct. About 1806, John Price was

killed one night in his own house—by whom was never

known. He lived on land now owned by James E. Clay,

and the house in which it occurred was ever after believed

to be haunted. Several parties who were known to be

brave, and had often faced death on the battle-fleld without

quailing, tried to sleep in the house, but agreed afterward

with the popular belief, that it was actually inhabited by

the supernatural. About 1800, a man named Smith killed

a man with a rock, and some years later a man named

Scott was found dead in a barn. But such facts as these

are better forgotten than perpetuated on the pages of

history.

The first tavern in the precinct was kept at what was

known as " Cutright's Station," about a mile from where

Clintonville now stands, on land owned at present by

Alex Johnson. It was kept by a man of the name of

Stipp, who was a very large man, and a great fighter, and

used to pitch his unruly guests outdoors without ceremony.

Levi Grose kept the first blacksmith shop in the precinct,

Dr. Clay was the~ first physician, and Finch Scruggs the

first Postmaster.

The only church in the precinct outside of the village

of Clintonville, is Stony Creek Church, situated at the

crossing of the Stony Point and Seamands' Mill and the

Paris and Winchestei pikes, on the line between Clinton-

ville and North Middletown Precincts.

Stony Point Regular Baptist Church, of Clintonville

Precinct, was organized August 24, 1863. Some of its

first members were from Green Creek Church, Middletown

Precinct, same county. They left their church, owing to

dissensions among its members, and united with the Stony

Point people under the direction of Elders Barrows, Dud-

ley, Reding, Eve and Morris and Lewis Corbin was in-

stalled as the first pastor, and was active as such until the

infirmities of old age compelled a partial relinquishment of

his pastoral duties, and on the third Saturday in December,

1829, Elder William Rash was called to his assistance.

Elder Corbin presided as Moderator at business meetings

of the society, however, besides doing light pastoral work

up to within a short time of his death, which occurred

about the year 1840, when Elder Rash was duly elected

pastor, and continued as such until his death in 1855.

Elder E. S. Dudley succeeded Elder Rash, and-has, up to

the present time, continued in that capacit3\ The church,

during Elders Corbin and Rash's time, was very prosperous

and had a large membership, but of late years, owing to

the departure of its oldest and most active members, by

by death and otherwise, has dwindled to a small company

of twelve members, who still worship in the original log

building, which has been slightly improved in appearance

by an outside dress of clapboards. The building is located

on the Middletown and Frankfort Cross Roads. The so-

ciety first formed at Wigington's Mills, and had a member-

ship of forty persons. The matter of a location for their

building was discussed at that time, and also a title. They

decided to locate it at a point near the mill, and it

being somewhat stony, it was decided to call it Stony

Point Church. The society not being able to purchase this

location, the present one was donated to them, upon which

they immediately built. The generous donor was Capt.

Davidson, at that time a wealthy land-owner of Clinton-

ville.

The first school believed to have been in the precinct

was taught about two miles west of Clintonville, by a one-

legged man named Logwell. The Armenian Baptists wor-

shiped in the same house for a number of years. Another

early school was taught one mile east of Clintonville, on

the farm of Dennis Leary. This schoolhouse was burned

about the year 1825. There are but two public schools in

the precinct, one at Jones' Cross Roads, a place consisting

of two or three houses, and the other at Clintonville. The

people seem alive to the cause of education, but do not

take a proper interest in the support of common schools.

^ i
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The village of Clmtonville is situated at the intersec-

tion of the Paris & Clintonville, the Chilesburg, and the

Clintonville & Thatcher's Mill pikes, about fifteen miles

from Paris. It was originally called Stipp's Cross Roads,

from the fact that George and John Stipp were the first

settlers in the vicinity. Willis Young had the first store

;

E. H. Parrish afterward had a store. In early times it

was the scene of a great deal of horse-racing. The

wealthiest men of the neighborhood would often come out

to witness the fun barefooted with their breeches rolled up

nearly to their knees. In 1858, Stipp's Cross Roads,

which had changed its name to Clintonville, doubtless

from the Masonic Lodge which had been established there

under the name of DeWitt Clinton Lodge, was incor-

porated, and John K. Hildreth was elected Mayor, and

John Rutledge, Marshal. The organization lasted about

three years, when, at the outbreak of the war it ceased to

exist as a municipal town. The place now contains one

store kept by William Heathman, who is also Postmaster
;

one blacksmith shop, two churches, one Masonic Lodge, an

excellent school, and a colored church and school.

The Masonic lodge located here is one of the old

lodges of the State, and from old records appears to have

been organized about 1825-26. It is designated De Witt

Clinton Lodge, No. 86, and among its early members were

Abner Cunningham, William Price, William P. Hume,
Julius C. Bristow, Mathew D. Hume, Benjamin Parvin,

Walter Jones, Thomas Parker, A. Lawell, Levi Crose,

William Chamblin, John C. W. McKinney, John Cutright,

Samuel Learj^, Thomas Hughes, Charles S. Clay, Robert

Ellis, Cornelius Cutright. An old record-book we were

shown, supposed to Ije the first, the officers were : James

Brassfield, W. M.; William Pierce, S. W.; Jesse Cunning-

ham, J. W.; Abner Cunningham, S. D.; and J. C. Bristow,

J. D. This lodge was organized in a church, which has

long since disappeared, the meetings were afterward held

up-stairs in George Stipp's house. After working thus for

several }'ears, it was moved to the upper story of the store

of C. P. Scruggs, and a few years later, bought a house and

three-quarters of an acre of ground for ifl75, which was

used until about 1870. The lodge, then together with the

public school, erected an excellent brick building at a cost

of $3,260, the lodge occupying the upper, and the school

the lower story. It is in a healthy condition, was once

very strong in membership, but removals, and the forma-

tion of new lodges, has brought the number of its mem-

bers down to fifteen. The meetings are held on the 2d

Saturday of each month, at 2 P. M. in the afternoon.

The Presbyterian Church at Clintonville was organized

very early. The church was built on land donated by

Henry Cutright, and among the early members were Sidney

Clay (who contributed largely toward building it), Squire

Menniss, Andrew Scott, and several of his family, William

Scott, Isaac Van Meter, William Moxley, wife and daughter,

Isaac Cunningham, Jilson Berryman and wife and William

Trimble. Rev. Mr. Hall was the first minister. The first

trustees were Sidney Clay, William Trimble and Andrew

Scott. The membership was never very large—about

thirty ; the church fiourished until the death of Mr. Clay.

After his death dissensions arose, and the regular services

were at last discontinued. The church building was taken

for a schoolhouse, and finall}' about 1867, was burned. The

present edifice was built a few years ago, is a frame, and is

of modern style—has a steeple, organ, etc. Rev. Mr.

Boggs is the present pastor, and the membership is about

sixty. Sunday school is regularly carried on. There is a

tradition that the first church here was built of hewed logs

previous to 1800, and that Rev. Mr. Lyle was the preacher,

and also taught school in the neighborhood ; that about

1828-30 the brick was built, which is mentioned above, as

being finally taken for a schoolhouse. Of this early his-

torj', however, but little is now remembered.

The Reformers or Christians organized a church here

early, and erected a brick building at a cost of about $2,-

000. Among the first ministers were Elder Raines, who
preached to them for eleven years. This old church was

torn down previous to the war, and a neat frame church

built, which also cost some $2,000. About the year 1837,

a revival meeting was held here by Elders John A. Gano
and John T. Johnson, and over one hundred were con-

verted. This was a union church when first built, and the

land was deeded to the church by Jacob Tenebaugh. The
present frame church is 45x70 feet, Elder L. H. Reynolds

is the pastor, the membership is about 100; Isaac Stipp

and William Heathman, Elders
;
John, William and James

Stipp, Deacons. A fiourishing Sunday school is main-

tained.— Perrin.
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OHAPTEE XVIII.

HUTCHINSON I'KECINCT — DKSCRIPTION AND TOPOGRAPHY — TR(E COMING OF THE PIONEER — EAKLV STRUG'JLES WITH

DANGERS AND PRIVATIONS—VILLAGES—PIONEER IMPROVEMENTS—MACADAMIZED ROADS-

RELIGIOUS AND EDUCATIONAL—HUTCillNSON ACADEMY.

THIS precinct, one of the most interesting, and one of

tlie riciiest in tiistorical incidents, lies in a southwest

direction from Paris, and is bounded on the north by Hume
& Bedford pike, south and east bj' Bethlehem & Paris

pike, north and west by Fayette County, and is known

as Election Precinct No. 6. The precinct is drained by

Houston Creek and its tributaries. The main stream of

Houston runs north through the center and empties into

Stoner Creek. Among its tributaries are Smith's Creek and

Little Houston. These streams water and drain the coun-

try well through which they flow, and afford an abund-

ance of free stock water. The surface of Hutchinson Pre-

cinct is undulating and beautiful, without hills or bluffs,

but sufficiently rolling to avoid monotony. The timber

was originally very plentiful, and is still abundant in cer-

tain localities, and consists of oak, elm, hickory, sugar-

maple, walnut, etc., etc. The people are engaged in farming

and stock-raising, it being a fine grazing section. Much

attention is given to sheep-raising. In the last few years, a

number of farmers have engaged in the cultivation of

tobacco. The Kentucky Central Railroad passes through

the precinct, and Hutchinson Station affords ample means

of shipping the surplus products of the neighborhood.

In the early settlement of Hutchinson Precinct some

noted and historic families are included. One of the oldest

residents of the precinct now living is Greenup H. De

Jarnette, a namesake of Gov. Greenup, who was a near rela-

tive of his grandmother De Jarnette. His great-grand-

mother married first a man named William Hoy, and after-

ward John Calloway. She was among the first settlers at

Boonesboro, and was noted for her prudence and sagacity.

When Du Quesne,with his allied force of whites and Indians

made his attack on Boonesboro in August, 1778, and sent^

into the besieged, a proposition for nine men to come out

and treat, she warned them against the treachery of the

Indians. When the nine men were seized by the Indians,

and were fired upon by the main body, she stood by the

gate with a heavy iron panhandle in her hand ready to

brain the first savage who attempted to enter. She died a

few years ago in Montgomery County, at the great age of

1 12 years. Mr. De Jarnette's grandfather came from Cum-

berland County, Va., and settled in Madison County in an

early day. His wife was Judith Johnson, a cousin of Hon.

R. M. Johnson, Vice President of the United States from

1837 to 1841. His oldest son, and father of Greenup De

Jarnett, whose name was John, married a daughter of

William Hoy, who was in the fort at Boonesboro. He
was one of the first men to volunteer in the war of 1812,

and while stationed at Fort Meigs, he was taken sick and

died at the age of thirty, leaving a young wife and four

children.

James S. Jacoby, living near Hopewell Church, is

another of the early settlers in this precinct. The date

1791 is on the chimney of the house in which he has lived

all his life. Mr. Jacoby's parents were both German, and

their early history has some of the romance of a sensation

novel. They became acquainted on board ship, the desti-

nation of both being America, and when the ship touched

England, they went ashore and were married. Upon their

arrival in America they settled in Virginia, and in 1875

emigrated to Kentucky, settling upon the place where Mr.

Jacoby now lives. The latter is of the third generation

that has occupied this farm. His grandfather settled it

originally ;
dying in 1787, it was occupied by his widow

and her sons, who built the present residence. It was the

home of Mr. Jacoby's father all of his life, and at his death

it descended to the present owner, now in his sixty-sixth

year, who, with the exception of a few years in George-

town and Maysville, has spent his whole life upon it as

did his father before him. His father was drafted in the

war of 1812, and his uncles, Ralph and Fred, were both in

the battle of the Thames, under Col. R. M. Johnson—Fred

was killed in this battle. Mr. Jacoby's father married

Mary Stark, a daughter of James Stark, Jwho was among

the early settlers of this section. Mr. Stark settled near

where Hutchinson Station now stands ^when ^the Indians

were troublesome. He frequently left his plow at the

alarms of approaching danger, and carried the children to
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the fort at Brj'ant Station. Upon one occasion lie was

returning from Lexington, accompanied by a man named
Peyton, who was riding a little in advance of him, when he

(Peyton) was shot by the , Indians. He did not fall from

his horse, but rode on until he came to a small stream, now
known as Peyton's Run, on the farm of Miss Mary Kleiser,

when his horse jumped it, and Peyton fell off. He was dis-

covered soon after by Stark, who carried him to the fort,

where he soon after died. His last words were, " The
Indians have shot me.''

Another pioneer family in this section was that of Joseph

Kleiser, who built the house where his daughter, Mary
Kleiser, now lives. He was a native of Switzerland, and

when grown to manhood, went to London, where he

served an apprenticeship at clock-making. In an early day,

he came to Virginia, and, in 1785, to Kentucky. He built

the house in which his daughter lives, in 1790. He married

Elizabeth Lyter before leaving Virginia. She was of

German origin, and bore hin> ten children, none of whom
are now living except Mary, and she, although in her

seventy-flfth year, is hale and hearty, with but few gray

hairs. Zachariah Wheat settled where John Ashurst

now lives, about the year 1790. Philip Ament, from Ger-

many, settled on the farm now owned by G. H. Ament,
near Bethlehem Church, about the same time. He married

a Widow Miller, who had seven children to start with, and

whose husband was drowned on the voyage to this countrj-.

G. H. Ament has a clock in his possession which was pur-

chased by his father, and is now more than a hundred
years old.

Indians were still troublesome when the first white

settlements were made in what is now Hutchinson's Pre-

cinct, and the danger from their hostile incursions into the

-State was great, and rendered the situation of the pioneers

extremely critical at times. Less resolute men would have

abandoned all, but the pioneers of Central Kentucky were

made of sterner stuff, and manfully contested the right of

the savages to the " dark and bloody ground." Their

courage and perseverance succeeded, and finally won for

them and their children peaceful and happy homes. After

the danger from the savages was over, emigrants flocked

in b^- hundreds, land was cleared and houses built, roads

were opened, and mills erected in different sections, until

life became somewhat pleasant and easy. The first roads

through the precinct were trails and bridle paths. One of

the first roads was the Lexington and Paris. It was the

first road macadamized in the county, and is one of the

best turnpikes in the State. It passes through Hutchinson

Precinct from northeast to southwest. The Paris &
Clintonville pike bounds the precinct on the east ; the Paris

& Bethlehem pike passes through the eastern part from

Paris to Bethlehem Church—a distance of six miles. The
Hutchinson & Bethlehem pike, the Houston pike, and the

Antioch pikes are cross pikes connecting the main roads,

and leave but little dirt road in the precinct. Good sub-

stantial bridges span all the streams where these roads

cross them. The Kentucky Central Railroad runs almost

parallel with the Lexington & Paris pike through the

township. This road has been of considerable benefit to

this section of the country in affording means of travel and

transportation, and furnishing the best market to the people

at their own doors. An early mill in Hutchinson Precinct

was built by Greenup De Jarnette. The first blacksmith-

shop was kept on the farm of Joseph Kleiser, and the first

blacksmith was Aquilla Willett. The first magistrate was

Squire Moreland. The Department of Justice is now repre-

sented by Squires J. W. Beatty and J. Smith Kenney.

Hutchinson Station is the nearest approach to a village

in the precinct. It is on the Kentucky Central Railroad,

a short distance south of Paris, and its birth was cotem-

poraneous with the building of the road. It was named
for Martin Hutchison, who built the first house in the

place, which is now occupied by Mrs. Hutchison. Mr.

Hutchison also built the first storehouse and blacksmith-

shop, which were occupied respectively by Milton Berry
and Patrick Gartland. A post office was established, of

which Mr. Hutchison was Postmaster. Mrs. Hutchison

now represents Uncle Sam in this department. The popu-
lation of the village at this time does not exceed fifty white

persons perhaps, and contains one store, one blacksmith-

shop, one church and one school.

Hutchinson Academy was established in 1857. The
first schoolhouse was a log building, which stood where
the present one now stands. Lyman G. Curtis, of New
York, taught here for twelve years. The trustees under
whom the school was organized were Martin Hutchison,
Aaron Smedley and Fletcher Wilmot. The present elegant

building was erected under the supervision of Prof New-
man Curtis, a brother to Lyman G., who is now teaching

his tenth year, and has an attendance of sixty pupils. The
present Trustees are : James S. Jacoby, James McLeod
and E. P. Claybrook, all energetic, active and warm friends

of education. It is the intention of the Trustees to enlarge

the building during the coming summer, employ additional

teachers and make a regular graded school of it.

Lowe's Station, name for Solomon Lowe, was originally

in this precinct, but in 1879, it was moved over into Fav-
ette County, and the name changed to Jluir's Station.

Hutchinson Precinct is pretty well supplied with
churches, and her people have no lack of religious facili-

~^r



HISTORY OF BOURBON COUNTY. 143

ties. Hopewell Presbyterian Church is one of the oldest

in the precinct, and is located at the junction of the Lex-

ington & Maysville, and the Hopewell & Bethlehem pikes,

some ten miles from Paris.

Greenwich Methodist Episcopal Church was organized

and worshiped originalh' in the schoolhouse. A church

edifice was built in 1833. The church was removed to

Huchinson Chapel in 1876, but part of the congregation

went to Paris and part to Lexington, uniting with churches

at those places. The building is now used by the colored

people.

Hutchinson Chapel of the Methodist Kpiscopal Church

South, was built in 1876, at a cost of $1,(;00 ; the present

membership is about fifty. Rev. B. Gr. Sedwick is pastor.

A Sunday school has been held each year, but usually sus-

pending during the winter season, officers and children

aggregating about fortJ^

Moreland Lodge, No. 124, L 0. 0. P., was organized

March 10, 1855, by A. C. Halleck, D. D. G. M., with the

following charter members : W. H. C. Moreland, 0. H.

Burbridge, G. W. Bain, John W. Bain, James A. Wilson

and W. B. Skinner. The first officers were : W. H. C.

Moreland, N. G.; 0. H. Burbridge, V. G.; J. A. Wilson,

Secretary
;
and John W. Bain, Treasurer. The present

officers are : W. B. Skinner, N. G.; I. L. Wilmott, V. G.;

Francis Hall, Treasurer ;- and A. Morrow, Secretary.

The first school in Hutchinson Precinct was Greenwich

Academy, which was on the farm of James Jacoby, and

the first teacher was a man named Lapham. There are at

present two schools in the precinct besides the one at

Hutchinson's Station, viz,: one at Bethlehem and one at

Jones' School house. They are flourishing schools, but

scarcely sufficient to accommodate the wants of the com-

munity.

—

Pen-in.

CHAPTER XIX.
CENTERVILLE PRRCINCT—TOPOGRAPHV AND PHYSICAL FEATURES—SETTLEMENT OF THE WHITES—THE OLDEST MAN IN

TFIE PRECINCT—EARLY TRIALS AND DIFFICULTIES-PIONEER INDT^STRIES AND IMPROY^EMENTS-

ROADS, CHURCHES, SCHOULS, DISTILLERIES, POST OFFICES, ETC., ETC.

that year, Capt. Thomas Conn located 2,000 acres of land

west of the village of Centerville, upon which he built a

CENTERVILLE PRECINCT No. 7 lies in the northeast

part of Bourbon County, and is bounded on the south-

west and on the west and north by Fayette, Scott and

Harrison Counties, and on the east and south by Paris

Precinct. The surface of the land is gently rolling or un-

dulating ; along the streams .the absence of steep rock

cliffs and bluffs are quite noticeable. The soil is very rich

and fertile. The precinct is separated from Fayette and

Scott Counties by a high ridge, usually called " Beech

Ridge," from the species of timber growing on it. The

soil of this region is a trifle thinner than other portions of

the county, but not so susceptible to drought, and, if well

cultivated, produces good crops ; it is superior to the low-

lands for grass. Townsend Creek rises about one mile

south of Centerville Post Office, and traverses the precinct

from south to north, uniting with Mad Lick Creek, and emp-

tying into the Licking River. Silas Creek and Flat Run

separate the precinct from Harrison and Scott Counties,

and Cooper's Run separates it from Paris Precinct on the

east. The timber growth is comprised in the species indig-

enous to this section. Upon the whole, it is as fine an

agricultural and stock-growing regions as there is in Bour-

bon County.

The first settlement made in what is now Centerville

Precinct by white people was about the year 1790, In

strong frame house where William Gaines now lives. Capt.

Conn was a native of Ireland, and emigrated to Maryland

in an early day, where he married a Miss Maddox, then

removed to Virginia, and settled near Front Royal. There

he resided until his removal to the county of Kentucky, as

stated above. He owned a very remarkable colored man
called " Big Ned," who built a house and barn—the latter

still standing—the lumber for which he sawed with a whip-

saw, and the shingles of which he put on with woodeh

pegs. Xed lived to an old age, and when he died, was

buried in the graveyard on William Gaines' place. Capt

Conn died in 1811, at the age of seventy-eight years ;
his

wife died in 1821. They had several children, of whom
the oldest son was one of thefirst Congressmen from Ken-

tucky. The second son, Jack, was a noted Indian fighter,

and came to Kentucky about 1780 (before his parents

came), built a block-house, where his father afterward built

his' dwelling, and raised 'a small crop, but the Indian

troubles of the times drove him from the place. He and

his brother William, the latter father-in-law of John A.

Gano, Sr., who still lives on a part of the old Conn tract of

land, were both in the war of 1812, and in many Indian

fights of that stirring period. Jack was in the battle of

I j-J'OWJ.WJU^
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the Tbaines, and believed, to his djing day, that he himself

killed the noted chief Tecumseh. The story is thus told by

Mr. G-ano :
" Jack was a very fine marksman, and at eighty

years of age could beat any of the boys of the neighbor-

hood shooting with the rifle. Being a kind of Indian scout,

in this battle, he obtained permission from his Captain,

who knew his prowess well, to fight the enemy ' on his own
hook.' In the engagement he was ' treed ' by an Indian

while trying to get a shot at a noble looking warrior who
stood in full view. By exposing a part of his body, he

drew the fire of the one, and then taking deliberate aim at

the ' noble-looking warrior,' he fired, and the Indian fell.

After the battle, he said to a comrade, ' Come with me and

I will show you an Indian I killed.' On the way he de-

scribed the whole circumstance, where and how he shot

him, and upon arriving at the spot, he said, ' there is the

Indian I killed.' A British officer who had been taken

prisoner, was standing by, and upon hearing the remark,

replied, ' then you killed Tecumseh.' So Jack believed to

his death that he, and not Col. Johnson, killed the noted

Indian chief" William Conn, a brother of Jack, as al-

ready mentioned, settled where John A. G-ano, Sr., now
lives, and built the rear portion of the house now occupied

by Mr. Gano, about the year 1804 or 1805. The front

portion was built in 1814—15, by Samuel and John Allison.

The house is still in an excellent state of preservation, and

is one of the best in the neighborhood.

The oldest man now living in Centerville Precinct is

Jesse Hall, whose farm is located on the extreme western

border, near the Scott Countj' line. His father, James

Hall, was a native of Baltimore Countjr, Md., and emigrated

to Kentucky in 1796. He bought the place on which Jesse

now lives, from a man named Theobald, who afterward

moved to Georgetown, where he kept a tavern. Jedse Hall

still occupies the place of his father's original settlement,

and is now in his ninety-first j'ear. He has always lived

here, except from 1858 to 1873, which interval was spent

in Missouri, and in Harrison County. He was a carpenter,

and worked at the trade for many years—he helped to build

the house now occupied by Mrs. Isabella West, near the

noted Russell Cave, in Fayette County. When the draft was

made for the war of 1812, he volunteered as representative

of his class of ten. He afterward hired a substitute who
was killed during the war. A pioneer family of the name

of Shanks lived near where Jacksonville now stands in

early times. They were all murdered by the Indians,

except one girl, who was carried off a captive. At the

same time, they captured a white boj' named George Lail,

whom they raised and brought up as one of themselves. Lail

married a white woman bj- whom it is alleged he had mani/

children. His parents living here were wealthy. He after-

ward returned to his native county, and, finding his brother

wealthy, wanted a division of the property. His brother

refused to accede to his wishes, when he returned to the

Indians, saying that they were more honest than the whites.

Mr. Hall says that, at the beginning of the century, the

settlers' cabins stood thicker than dwelling houses do at

the present day, and that about 1812 the county had

2,800 white voters more than there are now, both white and

black. This, however, may be easily accounted for by the

difference in extent of territory then and now. The winters,

Mr. Hall says, were very mild in those early times, with

but little snow, and the cattle kept fat in the woods

the year round. Favored as the country was by nature,

and adapted to the wants of civilized man, the first years of

its occupancy were years of incessant toil and danger, and

of almost daily struggles with savage foes. After the close

of the war of 1812, peace and security settled down, and

prosperity crowned the early privations of the pioneers.

The earljr industries of what is now Centerville Pre-

cinct are comprised in a few mills, distilleries and shops.

This section was principallj' an agricultural region, and

little attention was devoted to other interests. A man
named Bowman built and operated a mill and distillery, on

Townsend Creek, about one mile south of Jacksonville, in

a very early day. They disappeared more than fifty years

ago, and no trace of either now exists. Benjamin Shropshire,

John Shropshire and S. B. Clarkson, each had distilleries

on Silas Creek from 1815 to 1818. But like Bowmans,

they have long since pased away. A few blacksmith shops

were kept in different parts of the precinct; one of the

earliest remembered was kept where Centerville now stands

by one Charles Williams, who purchased twenty acres of

land of Capt. Conn.

The first road laid out through this part of Bourbon
County, was the road leading from Lexington to Cyn-

thiana. It was laid out as a county road about the year

1796. Charles Williams, mentioned above, kept the first

tavern on this road, on the present site of Centerville
; the

road was a mail and stage route until the building of the

Kentucky Central Railroad, when the mail was transferred

to that route. The Paris & Georgetown road was also an
early stage and mail route, and is still so used, three

mails passing each way over it to and from Frankfort per

week. The latter road passes through the southern part of

the precinct, in an east and west direction, while the Lex-
ington & Cynthiana road runs nearly north and south.

Both of these roads have been macadamized, and are now
as fine thoroughfares as are in the country. The G-ano

Hill pike runs north and south through the western part,

'As r- ^
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almost parallel with the Lexington & Cynthiana pike. The

Silas pike leads from Jacksonville to Newtown & Lees-

burg pike, and passes through the north part of the pre-

cinct. The Clay & Kiser pike runs from Johnston's Cross

Roads to Riser's Station, and the Hame & Bedford

pike partly bounds the precinct on the southern border.

It will thus be seen that the precinct is traversed in all

directions by excellent pike roads.

The village of Centerville is located on the Lexington

& Cynthiana pike, midway between Lexington and Cyn-

thiana, and where the latter road is crossed by the Paris &
Greorgetown pike, midway between Paris and Georgetown.

Prom this fact it obtains its name of Centerville. The

first house in the village was a tavern kept, as already

noted, by Charles Williams. He also built and operated

a blacksmith shop. The first store was kept by Paterson &
Gaines. Before the roads were piked, Centerville was

quite a prosperous place, and supported several stores,

wood and blacksmith shops, taverns, etc. It was on the

direct route from the counties south, to Cincinnati, and as

all produce was tiauled in wagons, and all the cattle and

hogs driven to market on foot, Centerville had a large

share of custom from teamsters and drovers. But the

building of railroads, and the macadamizing of neighbor-

hood roads, thus giving access to the county seat, with

which they were unable to successfully compete, drove it

into a decline, until at the present day it is but a mere

hamlet, with a white population of 64, and a colored popu-

lation of about 100. Its business is represented by two

stores, two blacksmith shops, one wood shop, an excellent

school and one phj'sician. There is also a colored church

;

the present Postmaster is Dr. Fritz.

Jacksonville is also located on the Lexington & Cyn-

thana pike, four miles north of Centerville, and like the

latter place, in early times, enjoyed a large business from

drovers and teamsters, being located upon the same popu-

lar thoroughfare ;
but the same causes which curtailed the

trade of Centerville, has likewise injured that of Jacksonville.

It now has a white population of about 40, one store, and

one blacksmith shop. It also has an excellent school. A
new schoolhouse was erected in 1879, at a cost of $300,

to take the place of the old one which has just been

burned. The present teacher is W. A. Allen, and the at-

tendance about thirty pupils. The first house built on the

present site of Jacksonville is supposed to have been built

by a pioneer preacher named Corbin. The first store was

kept by Squire Samuel Allison, and the first blacksmith

shop by a man named Duncan.

The first school taught in the precinct was in a house

built for the purpose, on the farm of John A. Gano, about

the year 1798, and the teacher was Thomas Pord ;
the next

was a man named Smith, then Billy Conn. Mr. Hall went

there to school when he was but seven years old. Proba-

bly the first preacher in the precinct was Rev. Ambrose

Dudley, who figured extensively in this section of the

country in religious work in early times, and of whom
more will be said anon. The first tavern kept within the

present bounds of the precinct, was in 1790, at Johnston's

Cross Roads, five miles from* Paris, on the Paris &
Georgetown pike. The first magistrate in the precinct was

Austin Respess, and the first Constable was John Ken-

drick. The majesty of the law is now represented in the

persons of T. J. Barlow and Joseph Hawkins, who are the

Justices of the Peace for the precinct. The name Center-

ville is received from the village of that name.

The Pleasant Green Methodist Church was organized

so long ago that little can be learned in regard to its earl}^

history. All the old books are lost or have been destroyed,

and with them much of its history. The first church

edifice was built at an early day, but the exact date can-

not be given. The present church was built in 1850. It

was once a vigorous church, strong in numbers and noted

for able preachers, among whom may be mentioned Revs-

William Vaught, John Hughes, John Hiner, Peter Kava-

naugh, etc. But death and removals have decreased its

membership until at present it has but eighteen active

members, and of these only three are males, viz.: Elisha

McDaniel, David Allen and Richard Brand.

Silas Creek Baptist Church is located on the extreme

north border of the precinct, on Silas Creek, which forms

the boundary between Bourbon and Harrison Counties.

The church was organized August 30, 1800, with the fol-

lowing members : Benjamin Neale, Charles Smith, Sr.,

William Kendrick, Benoni Kendrick, Charles Smith, Jr.,

Ann Porter, Elizabeth Smith, Prancis Underwood, Sally

Stewart, Prancis Kendrick, Joshua Jackson, John McCoy,

Benjamin Kendrick, William Arnold, Thomas Porter, Patty

Smith, Ann Jackson, Elizabeth H. Smith and Fanny Ken-

drick. The first regular pastor was Elder George Eve.

The first building was erected irr 1800, at the time the

members mentioned above separated from the church at

Cooper's Run, and, assisted by Rev. Ambrose Dudley,

formed this church, known far and wide as old " Silas

Church." The present brick church was erected about the

year 1854, at a cost of $3,000. At the time it was built.

Elder James R. Barbee was pastor. About the year 1828)

when Elders Stone and Campbell were causing such " a

shaking in the dry bones of the valley " with their new

dogmas, the excitement reached this church, and caused a

split in the membership, as in most of the Baptist Churches
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of the country. The clerk was one of the new converts,

and not only went over to the Reformers, but took his

records with him, and for some time refused to surrender

his books to the Baptists. A year afterward, however, he

returned all the books dating back to the original organiza-

tion of the church, and these are now in the hands of Will-

iam Sparks, the present clerk. The present membership of

Silas Church is eighty-five, and the present pastor, Elder

George Hunt. Services are conducted the second Saturday

and Sunday of each month, and a Sunday school regularly

maintained.

Elizabeth Baptist Church was organized in 1811 by

Rev. Ambrose Dudley, who was the first pastor. It is

situated in the southern part of the precinct on the Hume
& Bedford pike. It was named for Elizabeth McClana-

han, who donated the land upon which it stands. In 1827,

Rev. Thomas P. Dudley, of Lexington, was called to assist

his father in the pastorate, and although now very old and

feeble, the church still retains him as their pastor, and

since the death of his father. Rev. Ambrose Dudley, he has

been the sole pastor, until very recently, an associate has

been called to assist him.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTER XX.
RUDDEL'S MILLS PRECINCT—DESCRIPTION AND TOPOGRAPHY—EARLY SETILEMENT—THE RUDDELS—PIONEER IMPROVE-

MENTS AND ACHIEVEMENTS—PRE-HISTORIC REM.\INS—RUDDEL'S MILLS—CHURCHES,
SCHOOLS, CEMETEUIES, ETC., ETC.

'' Ha ! how the woods give way before the step

Of these new-comers ! What a sickening smell

Clings round my cabin, wafted from their town
Ten miles away."

—

Daniel Boone.

RUDDEL'S MILLS PRECINCT lies northeast of Paris,

and is No. 8 of the election precincts of Bourbon

County. It is bounded on the north by Harrison County,

on the east by Millersburg Precinct, on the southeast, south

and west, by Paris Precinct, and is one of the richest pre-

cincts, historically, in the county. The land is undulating or

rolling, with some hills along the bluffs and water-courses.

The timber consisted of walnut, sugar maple, buckeye,

locust, elm, oak, hickory, etc. The principal streams are

the Hlnkston and Stoner, which, uniting at Ruddel's Mills,

form one of the important branches of the Licking River.

A number of small tributaries flow into these streams in

the precinct, thus affording the most ample means of

natural drainage. The main line of the Kentucky Central

Railroad passes through the west part of the precinct,

which is beneficial for shipping its surplus products.

Shawhan's and Riser's Stations are the most important

shipping-points. The former is located seven miles north

of Paris, and within one mile of the northern boundary

of the precinct. It is a place of considerable trade, sup-

porting two stores, and containing a white population of

about fifty souls. The extensive wholesale liquor ware-

rooms of Gus Pugh & Co. are also located at this point.

The site of this station, embracing several acres, was

donated to the Kentucky Central Railroad by Daniel

Shawhan. When the post office was first established at this

place, Mr. Jacob Duncan was appointed Postmaster, which

office is at present filled by J. C. Lyter.

Riser's Station, two miles south of Shawhan's, is an

important shipping-point, being the outlet for the produce

of the large distillery of Ford & Bowen, located one-half

mile above. A neat and substantial suspension foot bridge

crosses Stoner Creek at this point.

Perhaps no other precinct of Bourbon County has so

much early history connected with it as the one we are

writing at present. If it were possible for us to recall a

century, and seat ourselves at the fireside of some hardy
pioneer, it would be an easy matter to write an accurate

account of that early day. Had our forefathers but im-

agined that that they were daily acting chapters of un-

written history, they, perhaps, would have taken more
pains to chronicle the events that we find so difficult to

obtain at present.

The first settlement ever made by a representative of

the " pale-faced " race within the limits of the territory

above described, was that of Isaac Ruddell, sometimes
spelled Ruddle, and most commonly pronounced Riddle,

giving the primitive sound to the first vowel ; but as the

first settlers of a country are generally supposed to devote
more time to subduing their enemies that to studying

philology, we will take it for granted that the latter pro-

nunciation is a popular corruption that is unavoidable in

names that will admit of it. He was a Virginian by birth,

and built a log cabin near the spring, north of where the

brick house, erected by James Coons, now stands. This
was as early as 1776. He planted an orchard of apples,
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pears and peaches, as well as cultivated a small patch of

corn and vegetables. As the Revolutionary war was then

in progress, the Indians, incited by the British, were trav-

ersing the State in war parties, and committing depreda-

tions on all unprotected settlements. In consequence of

the insecurity afforded by an isolated settlement of this

character, Ruddell and others moved with their families

some three miles down the river to an old fort, which had

been abandoned by Hinkston in 1776.

In June, 1780, this fort was captured by Col. Byrd,

who had command of about one thousand Canadian and

Indian troops. As soon as the surrender of the fort was

made, the Indians seized upon all the inmates and claimed

them as their prisoners. The Indians being the most nu-

merous, Col. Bj'rd could not protect them, The children

who were too young to travel, were killed, either with the

tomahawk, by dashing their brains out against a tree, or by

throwing them into the fire. Isaac Ruddell's family con-

sisted of his wife, son Steven, aged about twelve years,

Abram, six years, and an infant three years old. The babe

they threw into the Are, and two Indians stood, tomahawk

in hand, over the mother, so that, sliould she manifest any

feeling for tlie innocent victim, they might take her life.

From Hinkston, Byrd advanced to and captured Mar-

tin's Station, after which he retreated to the Ohio River by

way of Falmouth, and down main Licking. When they

had crossed the Ohio, his Indian allies left him, taking with

them their captives, and when the tribes separated, tliey

carried their prisoners to different localities, thus dividing

families. They remained in captivity four years, until

after the close of the war. Upon his return, Isaac Rud-

dell cleared out a portion of the land surrounding his cabin.

He and his wife both died here about the year 1808 or

1810, and were buried in what is known as the old Presby-

terian Graveyard, a tract consisting of some two acres,

which he had donated for burial purposes. Here in ob-

livion they lie, no stone or slab to tell succeeding genera-

tions their last resting-place.

Stephen and Abram Ruddell were both adopted into

Indian families, and Stephen married a squaw. He

did not return for many years, and in order to in-

duce him to stay here, his father built him a house

where the James BIcIlvain house now is, and sup-

ported his Indian relatives a long time, in order to keep

him until he was weaned from them. They were frequently

visited by considerable numbers of their tribe. Stephen

was of a tall, athletic form, straight as an arrow, with coal

black hair hanging down the back of his neck. His ears

were trimmed long and pendent, in which he wore rings,

Indian fashion. He was a Baptist, and after his return, he

frequentlj' preached at the Mills. He said he had accompa-

nied the Indians on war expeditions, and had murdered and

scalped many white captives, often continuing the use of

the tomahawk till his arm would give out from pure exhaus-

tion. His was not a prepossessing appearance, and his

manner of speaking of his butcheries created a feeling of

aversion to him. He- removed to Missouri about the year

1820.

Abram Ruddell, after his return from captivity , settled

near the clay bank on Hinkston, where he lived for many

years. For several years he owned and operated the log-

mill on the north side of Hinkston. He always stated that

he had never murdered a captive or white person. He
served as a volunteer in the war of 1812, and afterward

moved out West.

The formation of Bourbon County was previous to the

admission of Kentucky as a State, and when agitating

the question of the county seat an effort was made to have

it located at Ruddel's Mills, and the effort would probably

have been successful had not Mrs. Ruddell strenuously

opposed it on the grounds that " the boys living in the

country towns were so bad they would rob her orchard."

An Irishman named Mulharen married a daughter of

Isaac Ruddell. JIulharen & Ruddell manufactured from

pumpkins a species of brandy which possessed the inesti-

mable property of " making drunk come."

Among the oldest families whose name is still preserved

among the inhabitants may be mentioned the Shawhans,

the Kisers, the Pughs and the Smeltzers. Nicholas Smith

settled near Shawhan's Station. Uriah Humble, James

Cummins, Henry Mann, Henry David, Rudy Mock and

others, were noted as early and prominent settlers of their

respective neighborhoods.

At the village of Ruddel's Mills, on the west side of

Stoner, near its mouth, may be seen the remains of a circular

earthwork of some pre-historic race. It is about seventy-

five yards in diameter, and appears to have been thrown

up in an embankment, with a ditch some thirty feet wide,

leaving a gateway or open space facing the stream on its

eastern side. Several works of similar description, but

smaller, were on the river above and below the main one

and apparently arranged so as to command a view of the

surrounding country. (For a more extended account of

the pre-historic remains of this section, see general chapter

on that subject).

The industries or occupations of any people or com-

munity are mainly controlled by surrounding circumstances.

In the first settlement of a country, the inhabitants, after

fortifying themselves against danger and supplying the

immediate wants of their animal natures, turn their atten-
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tion naturally to accumulating a surplus. The value of

that surplus, in our time, is regulated, we say, almost en-

tirely by the great law of supply and demand ; but total

inaccessibility to any market of importance tended to nul-

lify the action of that law in those days. So beyond the

crude implements and machinery necessary for the supply-

ing of the wants of the animal body, the people of that

day cannot be said to have had any industries until an

outlet was found for their produce. Perhaps one of the

earliest industries, as it is now the most extensive, was the

distillation of spirits. An old inhabitant informs us that,

when he can first remember, nearly every house on Town-

send Creek was a " still house," aside from their necessary

concomitant—a mill. There were no manufacturing indus-

• tries till more recent date. The present site of Ford &
Bowen's distillery was originally occupied by a large cotton

mill of 720 spindles. This was built, in 1828, by Thomas

& Hugh Brent, the work having been done by John Shaw,

who was their first Superintendent. This was burnt in

1836, and rebuilt by Abram Spears the following year. A
woolen mill was attached to this factory, and cotton and

wool made together until 1855, when it was turned into a

distillery, as noted elsewhere.

The numerous churches of this precinct attest the in-

terest felt in religion. Perhaps the first church in the pre-

cinct was what was called "Stoner Mouth Church," which

was located at Ruddel's Mills. The old graveyard is still

cared for, and contains some monuments of quite ancient

date, notably that of Daniel Shawhan, born in December,

1738 ; died May, 1791.

About the year 1818, the nucleus of the present Mt.

Carmel Church was formed. During the revival of Rev.

Barton Stone at Cane Ridge, in 1801, five members of the

old Stoner Mouth Presbyterian Church attended, for which

ofiense they were denounced from the pulpit bj' their pas-

tor. Rev. Samuel Reynolds. These five were John Shaw-

han, William Bodkin, a Mr. Vennerman, John Brown and

Nathan Sellers. A camp-meeting was afterward held on

the farm of John Shawhan about the year 1818, and from

the converts at that camp the present church was organized.

They built a church of brick about 1822 or 1823, which was
remodeled in 1859, and is now quite a handsome country

church, worth about $3,000. Among the early preachers

were Barton Stone, David Peroines, Reuben Dooley (of

Ohio), Alexander Campbell, John Morrow and his son

William, Samuel Rogers, John I. Rogers, John Rogers,

Joshua Irvine, John A. Gano, John T. Johnson, the Pin-

kertons and others. Joseph Prank has charge of the con-

gregation at present, and has a large membership.

The Christian Church at the village of Ruddel's Mills

was organized, about the year 1842, by Elder John A.

Gano, assisted bj' Allen Kendrick, John Rogers and John

Holton. The building, a commodious frame structure, was

erected about 1844, at a cost of $2,700. Among the mem-
bers who first allied themselves with this church were Dr.

Wall, Mrs. Steward, A. Lowry and wife, George Mock and

family, Willis D. Collins and family and others. The

church roll now contains something over a hundred names,

and is administered to by the Rev. J. S. Stafford the first

and third Sundays in each month. They also have a good

Sabbath school in connection, which meets every Sunday.

Among those who have filled the pastoral office in times

past were John T. Johnson, John Smith, Hardin Reynolds,

A. P. Terrill and others.

The present Methodist Church is a substantial brick

structure, and was erected, about 1850, at a cost of $4,000,

to take the place of the old brick church, which was torn

down. This first church was erected about sixty years

ago. The brick work was done by John Stevens and the

wood work by Benjamin Bowen. Among the preachers

that filled the pulpit of the old church, none, perhaps, was
more noted than old Josiah Whittaker, whose peculiar,

blunt ways of illustrating Scripture and general truths are

still held in remembrance by his hearers. The present

church is called Moore's Chapel, mainly built from a fund

left for that purpose by Wilmot IMoore at his death.

The Presbyterians have a small church at Shawhan's

Station. It is a frame structure, neatly built , cost about

$600 ; was first organized by Bishop Forsythe in 1863.

This precinct is supplied with its full quota of common
schools, for a history of which the reader is referred to a

general chapter on public schools. It may be interesting

to note the fact that the first school ever started in the

precinct was in- a log house on Henry David's place and
taught by James Lafferty.*

The first Magistrates under the new constitution .of the

State were George W. Wyatt and \V. B. Smith, with John
Howard as Constable. Those offices are at present filled

by William Bowen and Daniel S. Talbot, with John Ewalt
as Constable.

—

U. T. Brown.

* Much of the history of this precinct is obtainei.1 fi'om an article written by
Dr. Harper and published in the Western Citizen.
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SCOTT COUNTY.
CHAPTER I.

EARLY SETTLEMENT BY WHITE PEOPLi;—THEIR CONFLICTS WITH THE SAVAGES—VICISSITUDES OF W1LDEKNE3S LIFE-

FORMATION OP THE COUNTY AND ITS CIVIL ORGANIZATION — PUBLIC BUILDINGS — CIVIL

DIVISIONS—POPULATION—ELECTION, COUNTY OFFICERS, ETC.

" Lo! our land is like an eagle, whose young gaze
Feeds on the noontide beam, whose golden plumes

Float moveless on the storm, and in the blaze

Of sunrise, gleams when earth is wrapped in gloom."

THE geological features of Scott County, together with

the pre-historic and Indian history, are mostly given

in Chapters II and III, of Part I, of this volume, and,

therefore, we begin the history of Scott with its settlement

and organization as a county. More than a hundred years

have come and gone since the Anglo-Saxon began to

exercise dominion over these beautiful blue grass lands

—erst the hunting grounds of the red man and his kin-

dred. These years have been full of changes, and the

visitor of to-day, ignorant of the past of the country, could

scarcely be made to realize it. The tangled wilderness has

disappeared before the energy of the husbandman, the

wild beasts have given place to domestic animals, and the

savages are only remembered in fire-side legends. Indeed

the grand transformation is like a tale of enchantment.

It is believed by some, though without just grounds,

perhaps, on which to base the supposition, that the first

settlement in Kentucky by white people was made within

the present limits of Scott County. This supposition, we

say, is most probably erroneous; at any rate, it is contrary

to all accepted history on the subject. It is, however,

pretty generally conceded, and is doubtless true that the

first permanent settlement north of the Kentucky River,

was made upon the present site of G-eorgetown. This

settlement was made in November, 1775, by John Mc-

Clelland and his family, and David Perry, Col. Robert

Patterson, William McConnell and Stephen Lowry, at the

" Royal Spring," one of the finest springs of water to be

found in this land of fine springs, and now within the cor-

porate limits of Georgetown, in the history of which city,

it is more particularly noticed. This little party came

down the river from Pittsburgh, built a cabin at the spring

referred to, where they remained until the following April.

During the summer of 1776, they built a block house at

this cabin, which was fortified in the usual pioneer style,

and was known for years after as " McClelland's Station."

This was doubtless the first fortified station north of the

Kentucky River—that at Lexington not being made until

in the spring of 1779. The station was attacked by

Indians in December, 1776, which following immediately

on the heels of the defeat of the whites under Col. John

Todd, near the Lower Blue Licks, when on an expedition

to " Limestone " after powder, so terrified the occupants of

the station that the}' abandoned it and retreated to Har-

rodsburg, where they remained until times became more

settled and safe.

Another of the early stations of Scott County was at

the ' Great Bufialo Crossing," where the buffalo trace

crossed the North Elkhorn, and was made during the

winter of 1783-84, by Col. Robert Johnson, the father of

Hon. R. M. Johnson, Vice President of the United States

from 1837 to 1841. Col. Johnson was a native of Vir-

ginia, and emigrated to Kentucky while it was still a

county of the Old Dominion. He was a high-toned gen-

tleman, of great personal courage, and took an active part

in the terrific struggles of the pioneers with the savages.

His sons partook of their father's estimable qualities, and

filled exalted stations in life with credit to themselves and

honor to their country. The Forks of Elkhorn was also

a station or early settlement of the county. Among other

early settlers additional to those mentioned, are the follow-

ing, who rank among the pioneers : Alexander and Will-

iam McClelland, brothers to him of McClelland's Station,

»^ a
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Andrew and Frances McConnell, Charles Lecompt, Charles

White, Capt. Edward Worthington, William Plascutt, Capt.

William Hiibbell and others whose names are not now

attainable.

Says Butler in his history' of Kentucky, referring to

life in the wilderness of Kentucky :
" Let us for a mo-

ment consider the situation of our pioneers at this period

of their history. They were posted in the heart of the

most favorite hunting ground of numerous and hostile

tribes of Indians, on the north and on the south—a ground

endeared to these tribes by its possession of the finest

game, subsisting on the luxuriant vegetation of this great

natural park, in a fatness not surpassed by the flocks and

herds of an agricultural societ}'. It was emphatically the

Eden of the red man. Was it then wonderful, that all his

fiercest passions, and wildest energies should be aroused

in its defense against an enemy whose success was the

Indian's downfall? So formidable were these enemies

into whose mouths our handful of hunters had thrown

themselves, that they occupied the present territory of

Tennessee, and the whole northwestern side of the Ohio

River, now embracing the States of Ohio, Indiana, Illi-

nois and the Territory of Michigan. These territories were

then the stronghold of the most ferocious and warlike

tribe of Indians on this continent. They had frequently

wasted the frontiers of the Carolinas, Pennsylvania and

Virginia, with the tomahawk and with fire. Moreover,

the enemy was at this time freely aided by the arts and

treasure of Great Britain, furnished by her military officers

from Detroit to Kaskaskia. Thus the pioneers of Ken-

tucky were separated by three or four hundred miles of

Indian wilderness from the nearest fort of their country-

men at Pittsburgh; and fully six hundred miles from the

seat of Government in Virginia, with forests and Indian

country between. Under these appalling circumstances,

may not the forlorn and perilous situation of our first

settlers bear some honorable comparison with the gallant

daring of the fathers of our great Republic who led the

way across the Atlantic wave, and founded the empire of

freedom at Jamestown and at Pl3''mouth ?"

The facts contained in the following incident is taken

from Collins' History of Kentucky, and aflfords an excellent

illustration of pioneer lifiS. It shows what our ancestors

had to contend with, and the dangers to which they were

exposed. We condense from Collins as follows :

" Capt. William Hubbell (mentioned above as an early

settler of the county), was a Revolutionary soldier, and,

after the close of the war, removed to Kentucky, and settled

in Scott County. After living here a few j^ears. he went

back to the East, and, when ready to return to Kentucky

he procured a flat-bottomed boat, on the Monongahela River,

on which he embarked, with Daniel Light and William

Plascutt and his family, consisting of his wife and eight

children. Soon after passing Pittsburgh, on their way down,

they discovered signs of Indians along the bank of the river,

but they saw no savages until they got below where Gallip-

olis (Ohio) now stands. Before they reached the mouth

of the Great Kanawha, their party had been increased to

twenty, and comprised nine men, three women and eight

children. The addition of men were John Stoner, three

named respectively, Ray, Tucker and Kilpatrick, and a

Dutchman and an Irishman. For the better means of de-

fense, the nine men were divided Into three watches for the

night, each watch to be on the lookout for two hours at a

time. Their arms, which were of a very poor qualitj', were

collected and put in order for instant use. Early in the

night, after passing Gallipolis, a canoe was dimly. seen

floating down the river, supposed to contain Indians who
were reconnoitering. Other indications were observed of

the close proximity of a large body of hostile Indians. In

this perilous situation, they continued during the night, and

Capt. Hubbell, although he had not slept more than an

hour since leaving Pittsburgh, was so strongly impressed

with the surrounding danger, as to be unable to do so now.
•' At daylight in the morning, they were hailed from the

Ohio shore, and asked to land, as there were some white

persons who wished to get passage on their boat. Believing

it to be an Indian artifice, Capt. Hubbell very flatly declined,

and kept on his course, and, as a consequence, the plaintive

wail soon changed into a tone of defiance and insult. The
sound of paddles was heard, and, in a short time, three

Indian canoes were seen through the mist rapidlj' advancing.

With the utmost coolness, Capt. Hubbell proceeded to ' clear

his deck for action.' Every man took his position, and was
ordered not to fire until the savages had approached so near

that the ' flash from their guns would singe their eyebrows.'

On the arrival of the canoes, they were found to contain

from twenty-five to thirty Indians each, and as soon as they

were within musket shot, they poured into the boat a severe

fire, which wounded Tucker and Light. The three canoes

placed themselves at the bow, side and stern of the boat, so

that they had an opportunity of taking in every direction.

The fire now commenced from the boat, and had a powerful

effect in checking the confidence and fury of the Indians.

After firing his own gun, the Captain took one belongino'

to a wounded man, and was in the act of firing it, when a

stray ball took away the lock. Very cooly he turned around,

picked up a fire-brand, and, applying it, discharged the piece,

with fatal effect to his foes. A constant fire was kept up
on both sides for some time, and the little party was fast
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becoming disabled
;
but they continued to defend their boat

stubbornlj'. Notwithstanding the disparity of numbers, and

the exhausted condition of the defenders, the Indians, finally

despaired of success, drew off, and retired to the shore.

But the trouble of the whites was not yet over. Their boat

drifted near the shore, where a large number of Indians

—

four or five hundred—-were seen rushing down the bank.

Ray and Plascutt, the only men who were unhurt (Capt.

Hubbell being badly wounded), were placed at the oars,

and protected by the sides of the boat from the Indians,

while the others were ordered to lie down in the bottom of

the boat, as it was but a few yards from the shore. The

Indians opened a terrific fire, but did not attempt to board.

While thus exposed, nine balls were shot into one oar, and

ten in the other, without injuring the rowers. This ordeal

lasted some twenty minutes, when the boat drifted out into

the .middle of the stream, and was carried by the current

beyond the reach of the Savages. Of the nine men—Tucker

and Kilpatrick were killed ; Stoner was mortally wounded,

and died shortly after. All the rest of the men were more

or less injured ; Capt. Hubbell was wounded in two places,

one in the arm, which bled so profusely, he was obliged to

tie his coat sleeve around his arm, in order to retain the

blood in it, and thus stop the fiow. Of five horses on board,

four of them were killed. The women and children were

unhurt, except a little son of 31 r. Plascutt, who, after the

battle was over, came to the Captain, and, with great cool

ness, requested him to take a bullet out of his head. On
examination, it was found that a ball, which had passed

through the side of the^boat, had penetrated the forehead

of this little hero, and remained under the skin. The

Captain took it out, when the little fellow remarked, ' That

is not all !' and, raising his arm, showed another severe

wound. His mother'inquired, ' Why^did you not tell me
of this ?' ' Because,' he cooly replied, ' the Captain directed

us to be silent during the action, and I thought you would

be likely to make a noise if I told you.'

" The boat arrived at Limestone without further moles-

tation on the next day after the battle. Crowds of people

flocked to the shore to see the boat that had been the scene

of such heroism and such carnage, and to visit the brave

little band by whom it had been so heroically defended.

Capt. Hubbell was unable to rise, and had to be carried from

the boat to the tavern, where he had his wounds dressed,

and remained several days before proceeding to his home

in Scott County. An examination of the boat showed that

its sides were literally ^filled with bullets and with bullet

holes. There~was scarcely'' a space two feet square in the

part above the water, which had not a ball remaining in it,

or a hole through which a ball had passed. The holes were

counted in the blankets, which had been hung up in the

stern of the boat, and, in a space, in one of them, five feet

square, there were found 122 ^bullet holes."

Thus, through such scenes, the pioneers fought their

way in the wilderness of Kentucky ; with a heroism, like

that which prompted Leonidas and his 300 Spartans to

defend the pass of Thermopylae
; until, the last man went

down, Hubbell and his companions defended their boat.

And, what is true of Hubbell, is true of all the early settlers

of the blue grass country.

A word in this connection is not out of place, of Capt.

Daniel Gano, an early settler of the county, and a man who
still has many descendants living here. He was a son of

Rev. John Gano, a Baptist preacher, who had prominent

connection with the early Baptist Church of Kentucky.

While attending Brown University—then only in his seven-

teenth year—Capt. Gano volunteered as Ensign of Artillery.

He was in the skirmishes at New York and White Plains
;

a Lieutenant in 1776, with Montgomery, in the memorable

winter march to Quebec, and was near him when he fell.

As a Captain of artillerj', he distinguished himself in a

number of engagements during the Revolutionary war. He
came to Kentucky with Gen. James Wilkerson, as a Captain

in the regular army, and was among the first settlers of

Frankfort, removing to Scott County in 1809, where^he died

in 1849, at the age of ninety j'ears. He was of the order

of Cincinnati, his diploma being signed by Gen. Washington

himself. He is represented as^the venerable head of a large

familj', and a remarkable man in his personal and mental

vigor.

The increase of settlements and of population required,

from time to time, the formation of new counties, for the

purpose of strengthening the arm of the law in the pro-

tection of the people. Faj^ette, as we have seen, was one

of the original counties; into which the Territory of Ken-

tucky was divided. In 1788, Woodford County was

formed from the Territory of Fayette and in 1792, the

year that Kentucky was admitted [into Tthe ^Union as a

State, Scott was set off from Woodford and became an in-

dependent county. It was named for Gen. Charles Scott',

who was Governor of the State from 1808 to 1812. He
was born in Virginia, and wasj a soldier—it may almost be

said—by birth, breeding and education. He was a Cor-

poral in a company of militia that shared in the defeat of

the ill-fated Braddock in 1755. At the commencement of

the Revolutionary war, he raised the first company that

was recruited south of the James River, and was appointed

by Gen. Washington to the command of a regiment in the

Continental line. He was with Gen. Wayne at the storm-

ing of Stony Point, and was at Charleston. S. C, when

V
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it surrendered to Sir Henry Clinton in 1778. When tlie

war was over, lie removed to Kentuclij^, and in 1785 settled

in what is now Woodford Count}'. He was with G-en. St.

Clair in Ms disastrous defeat on the 4th of November,

1791, when he beheld 600 of his comrades-in-arms,

butchered in one hour by savages. He commanded the

Kentucky troops under Gen. Wayne, in his memorable vic-

tory-over the Indians in 1794. He is described as a man
of " strong natural powers, but somewhat illiterate, pro-

fane, rough in his manners and very eccentric." Many
good anecdotes of him are still extant, of which Collins

gives the following as a specimen :

While Gen. Scott was Governor of Kentucky, a fellow

with more egotism than brains, in order to attain notoriety

for some imaginary or pretended wrong, challenged the

Governor to fight a duel. To this challenge, however, the

old battle-scarred veteran paid not the slightest notice.

Meanwhile the silly braggart having committed himself, by

letting the public obtain a full knowledge of the affiiir,

after waiting in vain for an acceptance, and not even

receiving an answer, went personally to Gen. Scott to

demand an explanation, when the following took place ;

" Gen. Scott, you received a challenge from me !" " Your

challenge was delivered, sir." " But I have received

neither an acknowledgment nor an acceptance of it." " I

presume not sir, as I have sent neither." " But of course

you intend to accept?" "Of course I do not." " What

!

not accept my challenge ? Is it possible that' you, Gen.

Scott, brought up in the army, decline a combat?" "I do
with you, sir." " Then I have no means of satisfaction

left, but to post you a coward." " Post me a coward ?

Ha, ha, ha ! Post and be ; but if you do, you will

only post yourself a liar, and everybody else will say

so." And there the matter ended.

But to return to the organization of the county. The
next year after its organization (1793), it was called on to

contribute to the formation of Harrison, and again, in

1794, it contributed liberally to the formation of Campbell

County. Since then it has remained intact, and is now
bounded on the north by Owen County ; northeast and

east by Harrison and Bourbon ; south by Fajette and

Woodford and west by Franklin. As stated in another

chapter, it is drained by tributaries of the Kentucky River,

the principal of which are the North Elkhorn, South Elk-

horn and Eagle Creeks. The surface is level, or gently roll-

ing, very rich and productive, except in the north and

northwest portions, which are somewhat hilly and broken.

As small as is its territory, it ranks about the tenth in the

State in wealth. It is a fine stock county, and many of

the stock farms, for which Kentucky is so justly noted.

are located in Scott, and, with the stock interests, will be

referred to in another chapter. The following description

of the county is by Mr. A. D. Offutt, and is very minute.

It is given as of interest to all who live within its limits,

and is as follows

:

This county is about twenty-five and one half miles

long from north to south, with an average width of about

seventeen and one-half miles. A ridge, separating the

waters of North Elkhorn from those of feagle Creek, runs

entirely across it in a westerly direction. There is about

one-third of the county, which is known as " Eagle," on the

north of this ridge ; it is much more rolling or hilly than

that situated south of it. The surface soil is rich, loose

and friable, overlying clay, resting upon Lower Silurian

limestone, producing blue-grass, clover, timothy, tobacco

and the cereals, when first put under cultivation, as abun-

dantly as the best Kentucky blue-grass land. But much
of the cleared or arable land has been taxed, year after

3'ear, with crops of corn, the consequence of which is, the

hillsides are badly washed, and more or less of the surface

soil gone. However, it is very susceptible of improvement,

and not a few of the farmers have commenced it, and

clothed the hillsides with carpets of blue-grass. It is to

be hoped the good work will continue, and that this salu-

brious, picturesque and beautiful part of the county may,

erelong, '• blossom as the rose." It has been called " the

land of the free and home of the brave," a patriotic and

sociable people, the young ever ready for a reel or round

dance, " a horse swop " or a fox hunt. If " their church

doors stand open wide, night and day, like the heavens to

which they lead," so also their latch-strings are always out,

and the wayfarer meets with a greeting and cordial wel-

come.

This part of the county, when in a state of nature, was
heavily timbered, of which there still remains an abundance.

There is a supply of good spring water for 'all agricultural

and grazing purposes, except on the ridges, where ponds
are readily made. The value of this land has never been
properly appreciated.

The ridge dividing the waters of North Elkhorn from
those of Eagle Creek promises to be one of the most val-

uable fruit belts in Kentucky, and that, as well as all north
of it, is most admirably adapted to sheep-husbandry.

There is probably no part of the United States that excels

it for this purpose. Many gentlemen are already engaged
in this pleasant and lucrative occupation, and yearly others

are being added to their numbers. There are railroad

facilities for transportation to Cincinnati at their back
doors for a market. One gentleman on the ridge, Mr. B.

Hall, now has 1,100 breeding ewes ; they are principally

s \
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cared for and grazed on Eagle. Others count their flocks

by hundreds.

The southern division of the county is noted for its

Short-Horn breeding. It adjoins Bourbon and Payette. A
small portion of the northwestern part of this division of

the countj' closely resembles'what is known as Eagle. The

remaining portion, when viewed by a geologist, appears as

if Dame NaturCj'l^was in a frolicsome mood when, with her

canny hand, she fashioned this part of her domain.

North Elkhorn, from its entrance into the county until it

passes out of it, is almost continuously boxing the compass.

Its general course is north-northwest,^dividing it in about

equal parts. In the countj', it has eight tributaries from

the north side, and but one from the opposite side. This

is Cane Run, the Minnehaha of Kentucky. This may be

accounted for when it is known that the ridge between the

two streams is always contiguous to North Elkhorn, and

at one place, at least, a ' stone may be thrown from the

ridge into its waters. The soil is deep and of unsurpassed

fertility, gently undulating, based on Lower Silurian (cav-

ernous) limestone. The imder-drainage is perfect. There

is no surface rock. It is not uncommon to see springs

break out of the side of a depression in the surface, or

natural basin, run a longer or shorter distance, according

to the size of the basin, and disappear in the bowels of the

earth. When these'sinks can'^be successfully closed, valu-

able ponds are formed for fish culture and stock purposes.

Mineral water is found in different parts of the county, in

artesian wells'at a depth of about one hundred and twenty-

eight feet, and sometimes in sjjrings.

The timber is burr-oak, black and white walnut, black

and white ash, black and honey locust, sugar maple, buck-

eye, hackberry, wild cherry, etc. Much of it was originally

covered with cane, and particularly the Cane Run Valley.

A wash or gully is seldom or never seen.

It is hardly necessary to say, after what has been said,

that blue grass grows here most abundantly. It grows

every day in the year when the thermometer is above 32°

and there is sufficient moisture in the earth.

The first court house of Scott County was erected in

1796, and stood on the public square. The lower story was

built of stone, in a very rough manner, and the upper story

was of wood. It contained several rooms, which were let

out to traders, schools, etc.. to the highest bidders. This

building was taken down in 1816, and a new house erected

in the following year. It was of brick, was much better

than the first one and was finished in plain style. A still

better court house was built in 1847, which served as a

temple of justice until 1875, when it was destroyed by fire,

following right on the heels of the destruction, by fire, of

the Paris court house. During the next two j^ears, the

present magnificent structure was erected, at a cost of

about $40,000, and is said, by knowing ones, to be the best

court house in the State for the amount of money it cost.

It is all paid for, too, which is the pleasantest part

of it. Puller particulars of the different court houses

and jails are given by Dr. Gano, in the history of Greorge-

town.

The first jail was erected in 1795-96, on the northeast

corner of the public square, and was of logs, with grated

windows. In 1811, a man by the name of Scott was in

jail for stealing. He tried to burn himself out, and came

near burning himself up before he was rescued. The sec-

ond jail was built, in 1820, on Spring Branch, where the

present house stands. The third and present jail was built

about the year 1847, and is a substantial structure.

The county farm and poor house should be noticed in

this connection. Like the sam'e institutions in many other

counties of Kentucky, it is not what it ought to be. Many
of our poor houses are a shame and reproach to the coun-

ties in which they are located and to Kentuckians at large.

We should take good care of our poor, for none of us know

how soon we may have to

"Go over the hills to the poor house."

The Scott County Poor House and Parm are located in

Lytle's Fork Precinct. The house was built in 1867. The

first keeper was F. K. Holland. The present one is Asa

Southworth. The house now contains about twenty-five

inmates. The county furnishes the keeper a farm of 200

acres and gives him $90 each per annum for keeping the

paupers.

But little was learned of the organization of the courts

of Scott County. They will be more particularly referred

to in another chapter. Their organization, however, was

the same as in other counties. The names of early officers

of the county could not be obtained. Without going into

details of the early courts and their organization, we will

give the names of some of the later oflBicers of the county.

The first Board of Magistrates were Sim Griffith, John

Wait, R. T. Branham, E. Allender, G. E. Beadel, Asa Payne,

Alexander Carrick, James Fields, John Lindsey, James

Johnson, John W. Forbes, James Cannon, John Garth, Rob-

inson Jones, Henry Edmondson and John P. Gano. Willis

Dehoney was Sheriff at that time and B. W. Pinnell, Judge.

The present county officers are James P. Askew, Master

Commissioner; George V. Payne, County Judge; H. V.

Johnson, County Attorney ; Notley Estis, Circuit Clerk

;

J. Henry Wolfe, County Clerk ; Joseph F. Pinley, Sheriff

;

James Pullen, Jailer ; B. F. Randal, Coroner ; Eddy But-

ler, Surveyor ; Alex. Oder, Assessor ; and V. F. Bradley,

;^
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School Commissioner. The present Board of Magistrates

is already given.

At the time of the formation of Scott County, it was

rather large in extent, thinly populated and did not require

to be subdivided into precincts or districts. As the popu-

lation increased, however, for the sake of convenience and

to facilitate business, it was laid off into districts, for elec-

tion and other purposes. With some changes since the

time of formation, the county is at present subdivided as

follows ; Georgetown Precinct, No. 1 ; White Sulphur Pre-

cinct, No. 2
;
Stamping Ground Precinct, No. 3 ; Lytle's

Fork Precinct, No. 4 ; Big Eagle Precinct, No. 5 ;
Turkey

Foot Precinct, No. 6 ; Oxford Precinct, No. 7 ; and New-

town Precinct, No. 8. Bach of these precincts have a gen-

eral polling place at some convenient point, where the sturdy

yeomanry meet to exercise the rights of suffrage guaran-

teed to free-born American citizens, including (of late years)

those Of African descent. They likewise have two Magis-

trates and a Constable, who dispense even-handed justice to

the people of their respective precincts. These Magstrates

form the County Court, and at periodical meetings transact

the county business. At present the Board of Magistrates

is as follows : Georgetown Precinct—James C. Lemmon
and James F. Sconce, and L. M. Peak, Constable; White

Sulphur Precinct—W. B. Galloway and John C. Glass, and

W. S. Thomason, Constable
;
Stamping Ground Precinct

—

John S. Lindsey and Charles Murphy, and V. C. Bradley,

Constable
;
Lytle's Fork Precinct—John W. Ireland and

Paschal Wood, and S. Browning, Constable ; Big Eagle Pre-

cinct—J. K. Marshall and Z. T. Skirvin, and J. A. Guill,

Constable ; Turkey Foot Precinct—Thomas B. Hiles and

J. V. Autle, and A. Wilson, Constable ; Oxford Precinct

—

E. M. Hambrick and W. H. Salyers, and J. H. Barkley,

Constable ; Newtown Precinct—W. A. Smith and M. H.

Kendall. There is no Constable in this precinct.

The ofHcial census of Scott County, since its organiza-

tion as a county, in 1792, is as follows : In 1800, 8,007 ; in

1810, 12,419 ; in 1820, 14,219 ; in 1830, 14,677 ; in 1840,

13,668 ; in 1850, 14,946 ;
in I860, 14,417 ; in 1870, 11,607

;

and in 1880, 14,965, of whom 5,002 are colored. The pres-

ent assessed valuation of the land, according to the Audi-

tor's last report, is $4,024,510 in round numbers, or an

average of $22.66 per acre.

A few words might appropriately be said in this con-

nection of the early industries. Although Lexington boasts

of having been the great manufacturing center of the West,

in early years, yet Georgetown and Scott County were

ahead in some things. Of the early manufactories of Scott,

we extract from Collins' history, as follows :
" The first

fulling mill and the first rope walk in Kentucky were

each established by the Rev. Elijah Craig, a Baptist

preacher, at Georgetown, in 1789. The first paper mill

was built at the same place (Georgetown) by the same

Baptist preacher. Rev. Elijah Craig, and his partners,

Parker & Co. The enterprise was begun in the summer'of

1791, but the manufacture of paper successfully was not

accomplished until Slarch, 1793. The mill house was 40x

60 feet in size, the basement of stone, and the two and a

half stories above of wood—a good frame, with not a cut-

nail in the building, even the shingles being put on with

oak pins. The large volume of clear water from the Royal

Spring, running over a limestone bottom, was an attractive

sight. The mill dam was erected in 1789. Here was

turned out the first sheet of paper in the Great West

—

made bj' hand, sheet bj' sheet. There was no machinery

in those days to wind over fifty miles in one beautiful

white continuous sheet. The first mill was burnt down in

1837. Some printed sheets of the paper still exist ; and

one other elegant relic, now in the paper-mill of Mr. Sted-

man, on Elkhorn, in Franklin County—a powerful iron

screw, of finished English make, six inches in diameter,

four and a half feet long, and weighing 800 pounds. What
enterprise, and at what cost it required at that day of bad

roads and poor freighting facilities, to get that screw from

England to its place in this mill !"

Georgetown also made the first Bourbon whisky in the

State, in 1789, at the fulling mill above referred to. This,

however, was a bit of enterprise for which she deserves no

thanks whatever, but, on the contrary, would have been

entitled to more credit if she had refrained from its manu-
facture. These facts show that Scott County was once an

enterprising and manufacturing section, more so than at

the present time.

The first two or three decades after the formation of

Scott County, there was little or no party strife, and the

citizens generally voted for their favorites, wholly indepen-

dent ofparty discipline or party bias. It was not until about

1823-24 that political war was inaugurated under the style

of " Relief" and " Anti-Relief " parties, or " New Court
"

and " Old Court " parties. For three years or more, the

most violent struggle ensued, scarcely equaled in the his-

tory of the State, except at the close of the late war. These
parties—Old and New Court—finally drifted into the Whig
and Democrat parties, the latter of which is still one of the

great political parties of the time.— W. II. Perrin.
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CHAPTER II.

MORAL IMPROVEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT—EARLY CHURCHES AND CHURCH HISTORY OF SCOTT—PIONEER PREACHERS

—REV. GANO AND OTHERS—EDUCATIONAL HISTORY—EARLY SCHOOLS OF KENTUCKY-

JOHNSON'S INDIAN SCHOOL— THE PRESS, ETC., ETC.

G'^

ye into all the world, and preach the Gospel to every

^ creature, was given as a command to the children of

men eighteen hundred years ago, by the lowly Nazarene.

Nor was it intended alone for the salvation of those

nations, who, year after year, brought tribute to Cffisar, but

with prophetic vision, the world's great Redeemer gazed

on nations then unborn, and heard the cry of those who,

in all ages, groaned beneath the yoke of sin. Then for the

redemption. He gave to His disciples those commands

which in later years have caused His people to widely

spread G-od's glorious truth. When from Atlantic's coast,

even from Pymouth Rock, the Star of Empire first renewed

her journey westward, and the pioneers of a mighty race

descended the western slopes of the Alleghanies, then in

the van of the great army, the heralds of salvation bore

aloft the Cross of Christ, and planted it firmly in the great

valley of the Mississippi, destined to become the home of

a mighty nation. The solitary settlers of the dark and

bloody ground rejoiced to hear those early messengers

proclaim the glad tidings, or wept at the story of Pilate,

his pitiless crown of thorns, and the agonies of G-olgotha

and Calvary. The dark and gloomy forests were pierced

by the light that shone from the Star of Bethlehem, and

the hymns of praise to God were mingled with the sound

of the pioneer's ax, as he exerted his energies in rearing a

cabin to shelter his loved ones from the inclement weather

and from wild beasts.

These holy men of God, who exposed themselves to all

the dangers of wilderness life for the purpose of doing

their Master's will, traveled on foot or on horseback, among

the early settlers of Scott County, stopping where night

overtook them, and receiving the hospitalities of the cabin,

without money and without price. Reverently asking the

blessing of God upon all they did, their lives were simple

and unostentatious, their wants few and easily satisfied

;

their teachings were plain and unvarnished, touched with

no eloquence save that of their daily living, which

although not " locusts and wild-honey," yet was seen and

known of all men. They were of different religipus sects,

yet no discord was ever manifested between them, but a

united effort was made by them to show men the way to

better things by better living, and thus, finally, to reach

the best of all—a home in heaven, that

" The good old paths are good enough, * *

The fathers walked to heaven in them, and *

By following meekly where they trod, all reach

The home they found."

They were not only physicians for the soul's cure, but they

sometimes ministered to the body's ailments. They mar-

ried the living, and buried the dead ; they christened the

babe, admonished the young and warned the old
;
they

cheered the despondent, rebulied the willful and hurled the

vengeance of eternal burnings at the desperately wicked.

Where%''er they came they were welcome, and notice was

sent around to the neighbors and a meeting was held,

while all listened with interest to the promises of the

Gospel. For years, these pioneer preachers could say

literally,, as did the Master before them :
" The foxes have

holes, and the birds of the air have nests, but (we), the

sons of men, have not where to lay our heads."

The Baptists are said to have been the pioneers of relig-

ion not only in Kentucky but in Scott County. The first

church society organized in Kentucky was by Rey. Lewis

Craig, a Baptist minister, on South Elljhorn, five miles from

Lexington. For forty years, this was one of the most pros-

perous churches in the State. Elder Craig often preached

within the present limits of Scott County. He had been a

valiant champion of the Baptist cause in Virginia, and was

several times imprisoned in that State for preaching the

Gospel contrary to the Church of England, which was then

the prevailing religion in the Old Dominion. Among other

early preachers of Central Kentucky, belonging to this de-

nomination were Elders John Gano, Ambrose Dudley,

John Taylor, William Hickman, Joseph Reding, William

E. Waller, Moses Bledsoe, John Rice, Elijah Craig, William

Marshall, etc., etc., many of whom preached at intervals in

Scott County, and some of whom were residents of the

county. Of these. Rev. Elijah Craig lived in Georgetown,

and is mentioned elsewhere as a pioneer business man, as

well as a pioneer preacher. Rev. John Gano, who has many
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descendants, both in Seott and Bourbon Counties, settled

in Kentucky in 1788, and was one of the most eminent men
of his day. He spent man}' years as an itinerant minister

traveling over the United States, from New England to

Georgia, and for twentj'-five years was pastor of a church

in New York City. During the Revolutionary war, he was

Chaplain in the patriot army, and by his counsels and

prayers greatly encouraged the American soldiery. Many
interesting anecdotes are related of him by Benedict, of

which the following is a sample : While in the army, he

was on his way one morning to pray with the regiment,

when he passed by a group of officers, one of whom (who

was standing with his back toward him) was uttering his

profane expressions in the most rapid manner. The officers

one after another, gave him the usual salutation. " Good
morning. Doctor," said the swearing officer. " Good morn-

ing, sir," replied the Chaplain ;
" you pray early this morn-

ing." " I beg your pardon, sir." " 0, I cannot pardon you
;

carry your case to your God." Another anecdote is equally

as good. One day he was standhignear some soldiers who
were disputing whose turn it was to cut some wood for the

fire. One profanely said, he would be if he cut it.

But he was soon afterward convinced that the task belonged

to him, and took up the ax to perform it. Before he could

commence, however, Mr. Gano stepped np asked for the

ax. "
! no," said the soldier, " the Chaplain shan't cut

wood." " Yes," replied Mr. Gano, " I must." " But why ?"

asked the soldier. " The reason is," answered Mr. Gano
'' I just heard you say that) you would be damned if

you cut it, and I had much rather take the labor off

your hands than that you should be made miserable

forever."

The following tribute was paid to him by one who knew
him well : As a minister of Christ, he shone like a star of

the first magnitude in the American churches and moved in

a widely extended field of action. For this office, God had

endowed him with a large portion of grace, and with ex-

cellent gifu''. Having discerned the excellence of Gospel

truths, and the importance of eternal realities, he felt their

power on his own soul, and accordingly he inculcated and

urged them on the minds of his hearers with persuasive

eloquence and force. He was not deficient in doctrinal

discussion, or what rhetoricians style the demonstrative

character of a discourse
; but he excelled in the pathetic

—

in pungent, forcible addresses to the heart and conscience.

Like John, the harbinger of our Redeemer, ' he was a burn-

ing and a shining light, and many rejoiced in his light.'

Resembling the sun, he arose in the church with morn-

ing brightness, advanced regularly to his station of meridian

splendor, and then gently declined with mild efl'ulgence, till

he disappeared, without a cloud to intercept his rays, or

obscure his glory."

Rev. John Taylor was another of the pioneer preachers

of the Baptist Church, who used to preach in this county

at times, when the country was little else than a wilderness-

He was long an itinerant minister of Kentucky, and was a

preacher of '' great Scriptural plainness.'' The fields of his

labors extended from the Kentucky to the Ohio Rivers,

and he usually visited six or eight associations each year.

Elder John T. Johnson was a native of Scott County, and

is still remembered by many of the citizens of Scott. He
died in 1856, at Lexington, Mo., in the sixty-eighth year

of his age.

The Presbyterians were, perhaps, the next religious sect

in Kentucky, followed by the Methodists. These denom-

inations established churches in early times in Scott County,

and while it may be the Baptists have predominated, yet

other sects have long been well represented in the county.

Rev. Barton W. Stone, originally a Presbyterian, but for

many years prior to his death a Christian preacher, and

one of the best known clergymen of Kentucky in his day,

often preached in Georgetown and in Scott County. He
is so extensively mentioned elsewhere in this volume, that

it would be superfluous to repeat it here.

It is not possible to say when the first church was built

in Scott County, or where it stood. It was not for several

years, however, after the organization of church societies

that an eflFort was made to put up a church building. But
as the country settled up, and the wealth of the -people

would permit, temples were erected to the Most High, until

now, side by side with the schoolhouse, we find in every

neighborhood those

"Steeple towers,

And spires, whose silent fingers point to Heaven."

In the chapter devoted to the precincts of the county,

all information that can be obtained of the individual or-

ganization of the different churches in the county and the

erection of church buildings will be given, together with

all local and historical facts connected with them.

ScJiools.—It was recently said, that " governments like

ours are founded upon the presumption that the people

have sufficient intelligence to perceive and sufficient virtue

to appreciate the principles by which they should be
guided. Republics fall and despotisms arise when virtue

departs from the councils of their rulers, and ignorance

prevails among their people. The only true policy, there-

fore, which can be followed by those who are charged with

the administration of government, is the encouragement of

every measure which tends to raise the standard of mental
and moral excellence." Thus only can the stability of the
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free institutions upon which we pride ourselves so much
be assured, and the blessings of republican government

transmitted to our posterity. Renown gained in bloody

warfare maj- gild our place in history, but victory upon a

thousand battle-fields can furnish us no guaranty of per-

petual greatness and security. " The genius of Napoleon

pould raise his country to the highest rank among the mil-

itary powers of Europe, but a little earlier in the history

of France it could not have checked the fearful revolution

engendered by the vices of the nobility and the ignorance

of the common people. In this instance, a so-called Re-

public sprung into existence upon the ruins of a fallen

dynasty. It discarded the rule of intelligence, merged in

hopeless confusion the ideas of liberty and license, whilst

above the gates of its charnel-house was written the fear-

ful legend, ' Death is an eternal sleep.' The existence of a

government like this was of necessity brief, but nothing

less than the hand of despotic power could reduce its cha-

otic elements into order, and save the people from the

ruin which their own brutality had brought upon them."

So has it ever been. Superstition and barbarism are

the sure results of a lack of education, and to those evils

are traced the decline of Greece and Rome. " Nations and

States are only relatively great as they lend their counte-

nance to virtue and their aid to the broadest and most lib-

eral education. Not merely the education of the favored

few who are born to wealth and station ;
not the instruc-

tion of children in the mysteries of a political or religious

creed, the logic of the churchman, the intricacies of legal

lore or the technicalities of medical science, but an educa-

tion higher and broader in its scope, which sheds its radi-

ance in the hovel as well as in the palace ;
which lifts men

and women above the dominion of stupidity and supersti-

tion, and qualifies them for an intelligent performance of

the labors and duties of life." Whether or not we need

such education in Kentucky, is a question which will admit

of but one answer.

It is a fact much to be regretted that Kentucky does

not pay more attention to the common schools. In late

years she has made considerable advancement in this di-

rection, but she is still far behind many of her sister States

in her common school system. One great drawback to

common school education in Kentucky, has always been,

that it was looked upon as somewhat degrading, as a kind

of scheme inaugurated for the benefit of poor children.

The following extract is from the report of the Educational

Committee of the State Legislature :

Public education is no humanitarian movement for the ben-

efit of the poor children of the Commonwealth. It is a system

intimately associated with, and fundamental to, the social order,

and contemplates the improvement of citizenship without refer-

ence to the private fortunes of those upon whom it expends its

forces. The idea that the common school is a charity institution

has been, and is to-day, the most formidable barrier to the ma-
turing of laws for the government of the system, and of securmg

the means necessary to perfect its usefulness. "When viewed

simply as an institution for the benefit of paupers, it affords a

temptation to legislators to neglect it, and to refuse to it that

fostering care which it imperatively requires. Dignify it as a

natural and necessary element in the perpetuation of our repub-

lican liberties, and it challenges the attention of the statesman as

well as the philanthropist, and demands of him the exercise of

his most sagacious powers in the solution of the problem which

it presents. Knowledge is the universal right, as it is the univer-

sal interest, of men.

The people displayed an early interest in educating

their children, and yet when the Legislature passed the

free school laws, it raised a great deal of wrath among the

masses. This was not only the case in Kentucky, but in

all the neighboring States. In the spirit of internal im-

provement which well nigh wrecked several of the Western

States, tax-payers heartily indorsed their Legislators for

voting away millions of dollars in internal improvements,

but as heartily condemned them for passing laws compelling

them to support "pauper schools" and the poorer classes

were loud in their condemnation because these school laws

made "pauper scholars of their children." This, we say

was the case, not only in Kentucky but in many other

States, and we regret that too much of the same spirit still

prevails in Kentucky. With that spirit of pride, and for

the sake of appearance, which together have ruined so

many, families pinch themselves and scrape together funds

to send their children to some third or fourth class acad-

emy or college, because " the free schools are only intended

for poor folks." When rightly viewed, however, our free

school, or common school system, is the very foundation

of education, and is the grandest, broadest and most liberal

scheme ever adopted by any nation upon the face of the

globe—that of educating all its children at the public ex-

pense.

The schoolhouses of the early period were of the poor-

est kind, and it is a fact to be regretted that in many por-

tions of Kentucky little improvement has been made in

their architecture. A majority of the Kentucky school-

houses are built of logs, and many of them are wholly un-

fit for the purposes for which they are intended. No money

is more judiciously expended than that used in building

comfortable and convenient schoolhouses ;
it is really

" bread cast upon the waters, that will return after many

days." Most of our cities and large towns have good pub-

lic school buildings, but in the country there are very few

that even deserve the name of schoolhouses.

i ^ "
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Who taught the first school in Scott County is not known

at the present day, nor when nor where the first house for

school purposes was built. But the settlers of the county

were of the better class of citizens, and most of them

were blue-blooded Virginians—facts which indicate that

schools were established at an early period. Scott

County and G-eorgetown have ever maintained their repu-

tation for excellent schools, which are evidenced in the

character of those in Georgetown at the present day, and

which will be fully written up in connection with the his-

tory of the city of Georgetown.' Of the public schools of

Scott the following statistics are from the last report of the

State Superintendent of Public Instruction :

Amount paid teachers for the year ending October 10, 1881 :

White 14,755 45

Colored 603 63

Total 15,358 07

Number of white children in the county of

school age 3,752

Number of colored children in the county of

school age 1,751

There are in the county thirty-nine school districts,

in which are schoolhouses of the usual Kentucky type, and

in which schools are taught for the regular terms each

j|> year. In addition to these, the county is divided into four-

** teen districts for the benefit of the colored people. They

have schoolhouses in each of these districts, and take con-

siderable interest in educating their children. The follow-

ing extract is very true of the early schools, and so true,

even at the present, of many of the common schools of

Kentucky, that we give it as a step looking to their im-

provement. It should be attentively perused ;

" It was our misfortune, in boj'hood, to go to a district

school. A little, square, pine building, blazing in the sun,

stood upon the highway, without a tree for shade or shadow

near it ; without bush, yard, fence or circumstance to take

off its bare, cold, hard, hateful look. Before the door, in

winter, was the pile of wood for fuel
;
and there, in sum-

mer, were all the chips of the winter's wood.

" In winter we were squeezed into the recess of the fur-

thest corner, among little boys, who seemed to be sent to

school merely to fill up the chinks between the bigger boys.

Certainly we were never sent for any such absurd purpose

as an education. There were the great scholars ; the

the school in winter was for them, not for us pickaninnies.

We were read and spelled twice a day, unless something

happened to prevent, which did happen about every other

day. For the rest of the time we were busy in keeping

still. And a time we always had of it. Our shoes always

would be scraping on the floor, or knocking the shins of ur-

chins who were also being • educated.' All of our little

legs together (poor, tired, nervous, restless legs, with

nothing to do !) would fill up the corner with such a noise,

that every ten or fifteen minutes the master would bring

down his two-foot hickory ferule on the desk with a clap

that sent shivers through our hearts to think how that

would have felt if it had fallen somewhere else ; and

then, with a look that swept us all into utter extremity of

stillness, he would cry, ' Silence in that corner !

' Stillness

would last a few minutes ; but little boys' memories are

not capacious. Moreover, some of the boys had great gifts

of mischief, and some of mirthfulness, and some had both

together. The consequence was, that just when we were most

afraid to laugh, we saw the most comical things to laugh

at. Temptations, which we could have vanquished with a

smile out in the free air, were irresistible in our little cor-

ner, where a laugh and a stinging slap were very apt to

woo each other."

As rapid strides as we have made in education, there

is still vast room for improvement in our common schools.

Of the colored schools. State Superintendent Henderson

said in his annual report of 1880 :
" In most of the cities

the municipal authorities have supplemented the State

bonus by giving to them all the taxes paid by the people of

color, and some of them have dedicated other resources be-

yond the revenue derived by levies on their property. We
shall always cherish, as a proud consciousness of cour-

ageous duty performed, that we have stood steadfastlj- for

the education of the colored race, and incurred all the crit-

icism and hostility which prejudice and passion have vis-

ited upon us, without a cowardly apology, or any disposi-

tion of mind or heart to ex;plain away our record. It is

gratifying that the representative men of the party that

placed us in office have approved our course, and disap-

proved the antagonisms it has invited from those who ad-

here to hereditary prejudice instead of rising to the level

of an intelligence which respects the issues which the

changed relations of this race have introduced into the pol-

icies of this State. We shall never lament that we fought

for a principle dearer than personal promotion when it was

proposed, in the University Bill, to rifie them of all hopes

of further assistance by depriving them of all interest in

the proceeds of any dedication of the proceeds of the sales

of public lands to education by the United States Congress.

We have, for prudential reasons aflfecting our white sj^s-

tem, never favored a division of the fund dedicated to it

for colored educational purposes."

Johnson s Indian School.—As we have stated, the schools

and colleges of G-eorgetown will be carefully and fully

written up in the educational chapter devoted to that flour-
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islxing little city. In conclusion of our sketch of general

education of the county, a few words of an institution now

forgotten by many of the citizens of Scott will be of interest

perhaps to our readers. We allude to the Indian school

once maintained by Col. " Dick " Johnson. This school

was located at White Sulphur Springs. When the general

Government bought the lands ofthe Chickasaw and Choctaw

Indians, and located them west of the Mississippi Eiver, the

annuities due them were devoted to the education of Indian

boys. Col. Dick Johnson, then a Member of Congress, and

afterward Vice President of the United States, was appointed

Superintendent of this school. He located it at his farm

five miles west of Georgetown, at Blue Spring. This was

about the year 1822 or 1823
; it is known, by citizens still

living, to have been in operation in 1825, as La Payette, in

his tour of the country in that year, visited it at Blue

Spring, and a great feast was prepared for him by the

neighborhood, the ladies making a cheese for the occasion

that weighed 500 pounds. In 1831, the school was removed

from Blue Spring to White Sulphur Spring, which was also

on a farm owned by Col. Johnson. He employed teachers

and ran his school as a regular boarding school, receiving

so much per week for board and tuition. There were gen-

erally from two to three hundred Indian boys in attendance,

and it brought a considerable revenue to Col. Johnson's

exchequer. Some of the boys afterward filled prominent

positions in the country ; one is now practicing law in New

York, and several others became preachers of the Gospel.

In 1833, during the raging of the cholera, it was terribly

fatal at the school. There were two physicians residing

near, who usually attended the students ; but, one day,

when the disease was at its worst. Col. Johnson sent to

Georgetown for Dr. Swing, who was a partner of Dr. Gano,

and had been the Surgeon of Col. Johnson's regiment in the

war of 1812. Dr. Ewing, being unable to leave. Dr. Gano

went in his stead, and says that seventeen of the boys died

that day. He advised Col. Johnson to change the location

of the school, as he thought both the location and the

arrangement of the buildings were favorable to the spread

of the disease. Col. Johnson rejected the suggestion, how-

ever, with scorn, saying, " He would stay there and die with

the last one of them. About the year 1836 or 1837, the

school was discontinued.

The Press.—This important factor is more fully written

in the city of Georgetown ;
but a few words, in conclusion

of this chapter, is not inappropriate. Says Robert Bonner,

the great New York Ledger man :
" The only imperishable

memorial is the printed page. No art save that of printing

can reproduce the original emanations of genius in unlimited

number, and as long as Time shall last. Statues, monu-

ments, paintings, molder and fade, and with them the names

of those they were intended to memorialize : but the volume

of to-day may be reprinted ten thousand years hence, if

the world shall endure so long, and the last copy will be

for all practical purposes, as available as the first.'' This

is very true, and no town of any consequence, at the present

day, is found without its printing oflflce and newspaper.

The city of Georgetown has now two quite flourishing

papers—the Georgetown Times and the Every Saturday.

The former was established in 1867, and was the only paper

published in the county until 1878, when the latter paper

was established. The Times is edited and published by

Mr. John A. Bell, and the Euery Saturday by James B.

Finnell.

—

Perrin.

^,

HAILROADS OF THE

CHAPTER III.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS—EARLY LEGISLATION ON ROADS— LAYING OUT ROADS IN KENTUCKY

-

COUNTY—AGRICULTURE—SKETCH OF IT BY MR. GANO—STATISTICS—AGRICUL-

TURAL SOCIETIES—DISTILLERIES, ETC.

AS far back as 1748, an act was passed by Virginia, " All male laboring persons, sixteen years old or more,

reauirins- all roads to or from the court house of were required to work the roads, except those who were

masters of two or more male slaves over said age
;
or else

pay a fine of 7s. 6d. ($1.25) for each day's absence or

neglect thus to work." In the absence of bridges, mill-

S far back as 1748, an act was passed by Virginia,

requiring all roads to or from the court house of

each countj', and all mills and ferries, to be "kept well

cleared from weeds, bushes and other obstructions, and all

roots to be well grubbed up for thirty feet wide." In 1785,

an act was passed by Virginia, which was still in force

when Kentucky was admitted into the Union in 1792, and

was re-enacted by the Kentucky Legislature in 1797,

providing for the opening of new roads, and the alteration

of former roads under surveyors appointed by courts.

dams were required to be built at least twelve feet wide

for the passage of public roads, with bridges over the pier-

head and flood-gates. The surveyors were authorized to

impress wagons, and to take timber, stone or earth for

building roads, and a mode of paying for same out of

^9
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county levy was provided* Among the early acts of the

Legislature, was one pertaining to roads—it was passed

December 14, 1793. This act "appointed Bennett Pem-
berton, Nathaniel Sanders and Daniel Weisiger Commis-

sioners to receive subscriptions in money, labor or prop-

ert}-, to raise a fund for clearing a wagon-road from Prank-

fort to Cincinnati," such road being deemed " productive

of private convenience and public utility," and the route

lying through an unsettled country which could not be

cleared in the usual manner by the county courts. This

road would pass through Scott County, and was a matter

of some interest to the people.

Gov. Desha in his annual message to the Legislature

December 4, 1 826, took strong ground in favor of a turn-

pike road from Maysville to Louisville, " passing through

the most important towns of Cynthiana, Georgetown and
Prankfort." He suggested other important connecting

roads, and closed the subject as follows :
" The subject of

common schools and internal improvements may be made
auxiliary to each other. Let the school fund now in the

Bank of the Commonwealth ($140,917), the proceeds of

the sale of vacant lands, the stock in the banks belonging

to the State ($781,238), and all other funds which can be

raised by other means than taxes on the people, be vested

in the turnpike roads ; and the net profits arising from

tolls on these roads be forever sacredly devoted to the in-

terests of education.'' Turnpike roads were an early insti-

tution in the blue grass region, and among the first com-
panies incorporated for the building of turnpikes were

that for the Lexington & Georgetown Turnpike, George-

town & Prankfort and Georgetown & Cincinnati—the

latter road >was incorporated Pebruary 8, 1819. Scott

County has her share of turnpike roads. Diverging from

Georgetown, they traverse the county in all directions,

and are unsurpassed by the public highways of any

country.

Railroads.—The pioneer railroad of the West, touches

a corner of this county, and has one station, Paynes', within

the limits of Scott, from which much shipping is done for

the southern part of the county. Until the completion of

the Cincinnati Southern Railroad, this was Scott's only

means of railroad shipping and transportation. The history

of this old pioneer road—the Louisville, Cincinnati & Lex-

ington—is fully given in Part I of this work, and will not

be repeated here.

The Cincinnati Southern Railroad passes through

nearly the center of Scott County, from north to south.

The charter for this road was granted by the Legislature

of Kentucky in the latter part of January, 1872, The

^Collins on Internal ImproTemeuta.

completion of this great trunk line between the North and

South, is but the culmination of the project agitated some

fifty years ago, viz., the Charleston & Cincinnati Railroad,

and covers much of the same ground it was designed to

occupy. There are few roads in the United States (none

of {equal length perhaps), the construction of which in-

volved the outlay of a like sum expended on the Cincin-

nati Southern—a sum little short of $14,000,000. Its

cost has been enormous, and while it must, in time, become

a great highway of travel and traffic, yet it will be long

before it pays a large per cent upon the sum invested in its

construction.

Scott County did not, as a county, take any stock in

the road, or vote a tax toward building it. The citizens

got up a subscription, sufficient to purchase the right of

way through the county to the railroad authorities. In

some instances, the right of way was donated by the par-

ties through whose lands the road passes, and the amount
subscribed was large enough to purchase it in all other

cases. The road was opened for travel in the winter of

1879-80, and has been of great value to the county and

convenience to the people.

The Prankfort, Georgetown & Paris Railroad is an en-

terprise still in the future. It was agitated as early as

1871 under the title of Paris, Prankfort & Big Sandy.

The county subscribed $350,000 to it, but after much
excitement, wire-pulling, etc., it was buried under the

financial crash of 1872-73
; the subscription never being

called for. The question has been recently i-evived as the

Prankfort, Georgetown & Paris, but does not carry with it

the popularity of the old enterprise. The route survej'ed

for it passes through the southern part of the county, and
hence the people at large take little interest in it. The
question of issuing bonds failed to pass by a popular vote

of the people. The project does not amount to much as a

railroad enterprise any way, and if the road is ever built

will be of little value except as a means of local travel and
traffic. A subscription sufficient to purchase the right of
way along the route of the road is, at most, the county's

interest in the enterprise, and all that may be expected
from it.

Agriculture.—The following excellent article upon the

agriculture of the county, was written for this volume by
Rev. John Allen Gano, Sr., a man well known, not only in

this county, but throughout the surrounding counties, as a
stock raiser and breeder, and one who has paid great

attention to the science of agriculture. Upon this subject,

he says :
" The writer can only sketch a brief outline from

personal observation since about the fifteenth year of the
nineteenth century. Although only a youth, we were quite

!."l.'L«_!_ii"^,J J.J14U"JE!H
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conversant with farming operations. The farm lands at

that remote period, with few exceptions, were almost in

their virgin freshness and strength, the soil rich and pro-

ductive, and although farming implements were fewer and

of ruder construction than now, and cultivation less

thorough, as a general thing the yield was far more

abundant. The amount of land in cultivation was much
less, even up to the middle of this century than now. The

number of laborers, mostly negroes, was in the excess of

the need of the farmers, so that if a farmer wanted to hire

help, the price of a good able-bodied negro man was not

more than $70, the hirer furnishing him his board and cloth-

ing. This latter, was by no means costly, being entirely of

home manufacture ; the food was plenty of bread, meat and

vegetables ; and for drink, water or good milk. The

negroes then were a happy, contented race—many of them

were truly religious. When masters were kind, as it was

ever their interest to be, there was but little of ' eye-serv-

ice,' as they were often stimulated to exertion by rewards

of praise.

" There was, in the early period, but little outlet for the

products of the farms, and far less of the spirit of specu-

lation than at the present day. The result was that

farmers had plenty at home ;
they handled less money, it

is true, but they lived easier. They did not recklessly

plunge into debt ; they lived more at home, with them-

selves and with their families, and were far happier.

There was, too, much more sociability, neighborly feeling

and good cheer generally among them. There was not

such a rush after the rapid accumulation of great wealth,

and hence fewer failures among farmers. The staple pro-

ductions were much the same then as now, corn, wheat and

- oats predominating. Of meadow-grass, timothy was given

the preference. Some hemp and tobacco were grown, but

not so extensively as in after years. In those days of

household manufacture, nearly every farmer had his

' patch ' of flax, and the prudent housewife looked care-

fully to the handling of the flax and wool when prepared

to her hand. She not only made them into cloth for

family clothing, but often the means of procuring by bar-

ter, at the neighborhood store, other needed goods or

groceries. Fifty or sixty bushels of corn, and thirty

bushels of wheat per acre, were oftener produced then,

even with the rude implements of agriculture, than half

the amount is now. Since more of the lands have been

cleared up, we have more of our world-renowned blue grass,

and it is more cultivated and its value more highly appre-

ciated than formerly. It would even now be better for the

farmer, if he would be content to cultivate fewer acres of

land, and they of the freshest and best, and grass at once

all their worn-out and exhausted lands, that scarcely now
pay for cultivation.

"As already stated, there was little outlet in the earlier

part of this century from Scott County for the products of

her soil. Macadamized roads and railroads were then

unknown. A few enterprising citizens wagoned over rough

roads, at considerable cost, and great labor and incou;

venience, to the Ohio Eiver, or at certain stages of water,

to the Kentucky River, pork, flour, whisky or cordage,

whence by flat-boats, it was transported to the Lower

Mississippi River country, and to the then famous mart

—

New Orleans.

" After many months of absence the voj'agers

returned, and brought back in barges sugar, coflee,

molasses, etc. Other enterprising citizens in that early

period bought up droves of stock, horses and mules, and

took them to South Carolina, and in addition to these,

hogs to Virginia, then the best hog market we had. This

business was in few hands, and the returns were but

meager as compared with the trade of the present day.

The toil, labor and exposure undergone b}' those resolute

drovers and the men in their employ, was very poorly

repaid in the small profit realized, and often they experi-

enced serious and discouraging losses.

" The writer vividly remembers the fine, large, flourish-

ing orchards of apples and peaches to be seen in the

county sixty years ago. The enemies to orchards and

fruit now so numerous and destructive, were then almost

or quite unknown, and hence there was an abundance of

flne fruit to regale the appetite almost the entire year

round. In certain kinds of small fruits the present far

surpasses those early times. But strange as it may seem,

the apple crop of the present day is greatly inferior, and

we have to depend for our best supplies on importations

from other States.

" Stock of various kinds in Scott County have been

greatly improved since the early settlement. Enterprising

citizens brought to the county well-bred horses and cattle,

and began early in the present century the improvement of

of both of these valuable kinds of stock, while as yet but

little attention had been paid to sheep and swine, except, in

some rare instances, an infusion of the blood of the China

hog among swine, and the Merino among sheep, at consid-

erable cost, was attempted. These efibrts ultimately led to

the more valuable and admirable crosses we now have,

greatly to the benefit of the farmers."

In conclusion of Mr. G-ano's sketch, we append the fol-

lowing statistics of Scott County, which is taken from the

Georgetown Times, and compiled for that paper from the

Auditor's report

:
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WHITE LIST.

Number acres of land 177,509

Value of land |4, 024, 510

Average value of land per acre $23.60

Value of town lots |450,835

Number of horses and mares 3,957

Value of horses and mares $144,630

Number of mules 731
• Value of mules |35,690

Number of sheep 15,904

Value of sheep $69,631

Number of hogs 6,077

Value of hogs $7,090

Number of cattle 6,877

Value of cattle $117,186

Number of stores 67

Value of stores $103,040

Value under equalization law $433,135

Value of carriages $36,135

Value of gold and silver watches, plate, etc. .

.

$22,830

Total valuation $5,422,496

Tax at a cents on the $100 $24,673

Number of sheep killed by dogs 90

Value of same $442
Pounds of tobacco grown 290,900

Pounds of hemp 1,450,228

Tons of hay 7,827

Bushels of corn 609,950

Bushels of wheat 157,506

Bushels of barley 36,045

COLOEBD LIST.

Total valuation of property $61,661

Males over twenty years of age '
1,173

Children between six and sixteen years of age. 735

In point of wealth, Scott ranks tenth in the State, ac-

cording to the report of the Auditor, which speaks well.

when we take into consideration her small extent of terri-

tory. And in the matter of enterprise, it is an item to her

credit, which may as well be given here as elsewhere, that

since June, 1878, she has paid $22,000 toward the building

of turnpike roads. As a further step in her enterprise,

she would do well to make her turnpikes all free roads.

There was an agricultural society in the county at one

time, but it has passed out of existence.

Distilleries.—djike all the blue grass counties, Scott has

always been famous for making whisky. Mr. Collins tells

us that the first Bourbon whisky made in the State was

made at the fulling mill of Rev. Elijah Craig, in George-

town, in 1789. The blue grass region has kept up its rep-

utation for good whisk}'', and still makes the best in the

world—if the word good may be, without violence, applied

to the greatest known evil in existence. Whatever may be

the views and opinions entertained by a majority of the

people at tlie present day, in regard to the making of

whisky, it was considered as honorable a business fiftj' or a

hundred years ago, as any other manufacturing business a

man could engage in. Even preachers did not deem it de-

rogatory to their high and hoij' calling to lend their coun-

tenance to its manufacture, engage in it themselves, or

drink a little of it occasionally " for the stomach's sake."

Whisk}', at the present day, is one of the largest commer-
cial interests of Central Kentucky. However, it is not so

extensively made in Scott County at the present time, per-

haps, as in some of the neighboring counties. As a busi-

ness, it is more particularly mentioned in the respective pre-

cincts where now manufactured.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE lY.
THE CATTLE IWTERESTB OF SCOTT— BREEDING OF SHORT-HORNS AND THE IMPROVEMENT OF CATTLE-

BREEDERS AND IMPORTERS—SALES AT "LONG" PRICES—THE DIFFERENT HERDS
OF THE COUNTY — FINE SHEEP, ETC., ETC.

THE FIRST

THE first emigrants to Kentucky were from Virginia,

North and South Carolina, Maryland, Pennsylvania,

etc. They brought with them such cattle as thej' had, and

such as their ancestors had brought from beyond the seas.

What they were, no one can tell ; but a mixed and motley

crew. This was the case all over the State. The best of

them, when paired together for a succession of years, no

two ofthe produce would be alike, and none ofthem resemble

either parent. This portion of the county was somewhat

behind Clark, Bourbon and Fayette in their efforts to im-

prove their herds. While these counties were breeding,

grazing and feeding good grade cattle,^Scott was raising

hemp and corn, breeding and feeding hogs, horses and mules
for the Virginia and South Carolina markets, and paying
much attention to the rearing of blooded horses. However,
the county was not wholly indifferent to her interests in

this direction. Previous to 1817, a very few bulls of " Patton
Stock," a cross between the unimproved Short and Long
Horns, were introduced, and a Long-Horn bull, ofthe " Swin-
ton importation," was also brought to this county. This is

known as Mr. Saunder's importation, although several other

gentlemen were associated with him. It was made to Eay-

» ^



x^.^ge^.





^1 lliL^

HISTORY OF SCOTT COUNTY. 167

ette County, and just here we will say that, in our humble

opinion, the Short-Horns of this importation were the equals,

at least, of any of the later importations. While it may be

said that we never saw any of the original animals, we have

seen very many of their purely bred descendants in Ken-

tucky, as well as the get of these imported seventeen bulls

at Miller's Iron Works, Va., that would have been orna-

ments to any show yards. They were Short-Horns that had

short-horns, and every characteristic of the race. But the

wand of the magician passed over them, and their value

was no more.

It may be out of place here, as well as futile, to make

an argument tending toward proving the purity of their

blood. We wish only to say, the blood of the " white heifer

that traveled " to give Mr. Colling's herd a widespread

reputation, was from the same herd as one of the despised

seventeens. (We never had any of this blood in our Short-

Horn herd, and may be considered an impartial witness in

their behalf)

John C. Talbot, Esq., we believe to have been the first

gentleman to introduce a Short-Horn bull into the county.

He was of " 17 blood." His grandson, John C. Payne, is

now breeding Short-Horns on his old plantation, near New-

town. His father, Remus Payne, Esq., was one ofthe earliest

Short-Horn breeders in the county.

Junius R. Ward, Esq.. was the first to introduce Short-

Horn cows into this county. They were of J. Hare Powel's

importations. These were Carolina, by Pontiac (4734), and.

Miss Calhoun, by Felix, 501^ American Herd Book. That

is, they were descended from Col. Powel's importations to

Pennsylvania, from cows left by him with Hon. 0. A.

Barnitz, of York, to breed " on shares " during Col. Powel's

absence in England. Mr. Saunders, the importer of the

" seventeens," made his purchase of Mr. Barnitz in 1831.

In what year Mr. Ward made his purchase of Col. Saunders

we are unable to say. Both of the cows proved to be pro-

lific, and their bulls were used without restraint by all who

choose to avail themselves of so good an opportunity to

grade up their cattle. A portion of Mr. Ward's Short-Horns

are recorded in Vol. II American Herd Book, and a single

entry in Vol. III. Although Mr. Ward used in his herd

such bulls as 415 Orontes 2d (11877), bred by the Earl of

Burlington, and other bulls of equal merit, for want of a

herd book record, when his herd was disputed at public

auction, about twenty years ago, none of them brought over

grade prices.

. The next gentleman in the county to breed Short-Horns

was Capt. N. Craig. His first bull was Thaddeus 2286, bred

by Gen. James Garrard, Bourbon County, Ky., a most

excellent animal; of somewhat unfashionable pepligree.

However, Capt. Craig had the satisfaction of selling him

for $1,000. After this, he bought, at diflferent times, several

high-priced cows and bulls. Among the bulls, Wellington

7th 2370, bred by Isaac Vanmeter, Clark County, Ky.

;

Saladin 2168, imported by R. A. Alexander, and others

equally good. Capt. Craig is still breeding
;
but, for some

years, we have seen no public record of his herd.

Mr. James Gaines is the first gentleman that brought to

the county an imported Short-Horn cow. He bought her of

Mr. John Thorn, of Fayette County. She was imported to

Fayette. He had been grading up his herd for a few gene-

rations, with Kirkpatrick and other Short-Horn bulls, and

owned Meteor 705 alias Milton 713, bred by Fayette Im-

porting Company. After breeding his and her descendants for

a time, he could not identify the short-horns from the

grades, and as occasion might offer, sold any of them as

grades. It may be said with much truth, that no animal

on his place ever drew a hungry breath, and that grades

and Short-Horns were all superior animals. This gentleman

was held up as an example of honesty and fair dealing in

all his business transactions. But he thought more of his

mules than he did of his Short-Horns. His son, E. P.

Gaines, continues to use Short-Horn bulls in this herd ;
but

mules are a specialty with him also, and he is now (March,

1882), feeding three hundred and ninety-seven for market.

The first imported Short-Horn bull ever in the county

was 1038, Neptune 743, a red and white bull of good size,

quality and much style, imported in 1837, by Henry Clay,

Jr., of Fayette County. He was brought to the county the

same year by E. P. Johnson, and was second to 2109|-

Kirkpatrick, 1744, the same fall at the Franklin County fair.

Mr. James Bagg may also be placed among the

earlier breeders of Short-Horns in Scott County ; his herd

was not large, but a good one. He always wanted the ani-

mal to be equal to the pedigree. Mr. Bagg was a native

of Yorkshire, England, and had a personal acquaintance

with many of the English breeders. After making several

importations of Short-Horns to the United States, he settled

in Kentucky, and finally in Scott County. While there he

exercised much influence in inducing others to engage in

the business of breeding Short-Horns. Mr. Bagg and the

writer of this article lived on adjoining farms ; from him we

obtained much information about Yorkshire, and his Short-

Horns and character of their breeders. Mr. Bagg still lives

at an advanced age in Fayette County.

In 1836, B. S. Washington brought to Fayette County

the bull London, and cows Reality by Malcolm (1190), and

Snowdrop by Kirkpatrick 1617 ; at the same he brought

Kirkpatrick for A. D. Offutt and himself, and for A. D. Offutt

the cow America by Kirkpatrick. These were all Powel-bred

^ .^
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Short-Horns. It would be hardly fair to pass Kirkpatriok

by without a remark. We will only, say, that at a fat-

cattle show at Washington City, two of his bullocks were

first and second, and that he won the honors, as an aged

bull, on three different show-yards in Kentucky.

In 1837, at the sale of David Sutton, in Payette County,

E. S. Washington, Gr. Marshall and A. D. Offutt, became

the purchasers of 1653, Cyrus 393, by Wellington 1085,

out of the most famous cow of her day, Cleopatra by 433

Pilot (496) bred by Mr. K "Booth, England.

In 1838, B. S. Washington and G-. Marshall, at the sale

of Samuel Smith, deceased, bought Prudence by 129 Imp.

Comet (1554), a uterine sister of the renowned 1060 Otley

(4632), by 401 Norfolk (2377). Prudence was exhibited at

several fairs out of the county, and upon every occasion

was deservedly first in her class. We have seldom, if ever,

seen her equal from that day to the present.

In 1839, at the sale of G-ratz and Cooper, Payette

County, E. S. Washington added to his herd Virginia 2d

by 685, Bertram (1716), also Chenoa. Virginia was a

cow of great merit. Chenoa proved barren.

Subsequently, A. D. Offatt added to his herd Ruby 2d

(bred by Col. Powel) by 685 Imp. Bertram (1716). Col.

Powel, while in England, commissioned George Coates, an

old breeder, and editor of English Herd Book, to buy him
the best bull in England. Bertram was selected, and Mr-

Coates certified that, " this bull combines more perfection

in form, handling and dairy qualities than any bull I ever

saw. I consider him very much superior to old Comet;

bred in my neighborhood and sold by public auction for

one thousand guineas," etc.

The blood of Bertram was diflTused through many of the

earlier herds in Kentucky. The herd of E. S. Washing-

ton, Gr. Marshall and A. D. Offutt, may be considered as

properly belonging to Payette County, each of their resi-

dences being in that county, but contiguous to the Scott

line, and part ofeach of their lands being in thelatter county,

and Mr. Offutt removing to Scott, and there again breeding

Short- Horns. And besides all this, Kirkpatrick, Cyrus and

others of their bulls were sold into this county.

September 15, 1840, a large draft from these herds was

sold at public auction, and subsequently a few others.

Victoria by Carcase (3285) finally went into the hands of

Dr. S. P. Gano, near Georgetown ; from her he bred 4236

Redfield 2101 by the Earl of Seaham (10181) the sire of

3244 Camfield 2594 out of Red Rose, by Earl of Seaham

(10181), a young bull of as much promise as we ever bred

or owned.

Among the early breeders of Short-Horns in Scott

County, not referred to, were George W. Johnson, A. D.

Offutt, James C. Lemon, Urias M. Offutt, Dr. James S.

Offutt, Capt. Willa Viley, M. B. Webb, R. P. Pord, W. D.

Crockett, John McMekin, D. H. Coulter, W. A. Smith, J.

W. Bradley, John Duncan, Rev. W. G-. Craig, James W.

Craig, A. J. Viley, G-en. John Pratt, D. J. Flournoy, P. L.

Cable, and subsequently James M. Stone, M. Polk, James

Suddeth, J. B. Duckworth.

But two only in the above list are breeding at this

time in the countj', and while they have been at con-

siderable expense in procuring good Short-Horn bulls to

use in their herds of Short-Horn cows, have made no

public record of their breeding for many years.

In 1853, the Scott County Importing Company made

its first importation, Messrs. James Bagg and William D.

Crockett, agents ; it consisted of four bulls, and seven

cows or heifers. The bulls were Pathfinder 805, Capt.

Lawson 310, Cunningham 1415, and Baron Pevisham 13,-

414. The cows were Yorkshire Rose, Venus, Carnation,

Enterprise, Rosamond, Cameo and Casket.

They were sold at the farm of M. B. Webb, Esq.,

January 10, 1854. The first two of these bulls were re-

tained in the county
; the third went to Fayette, but near

the Scott line. Yorkshire Rose also remained in the

county, in the hands of P. L. Cable ; and Venus, with J.

C. Lemon, Esq.

The heifer Muffin, red roan, bred by Earl Ducie, by
Usurer (9763), imported by the Northern Kentucky Com-
pany, and sold at their sale in 1853, was bought by D. H.

Coulter and W. A. Smith ; brought to this county.

In 1854, this company made a second importation

under the style of " The Kentucky Importing Company."
Messrs. James Bagg and Wesley Warnock were the agents.

Mr. Warnock accompanied Mr. Bagg to England, remained

there but a short time, and then went to Spain in quest of

jacks.

This imporSation consisted of six bulls and fifteen cows.

The bulls were Emigrant 472, Sirius 4381, McGregor 675,

Earl de Grey 2801, Oakum 76S, and Strouffer 311. The
cows were Irene, Amazon, Bessie Howard, Lizzie, Pine

Apple, Ruby, Commerce, Peeress, Winny, Mary, Welcome,
Shepherdess, Grace Darling, Downhorn, and Matilda by
Villiers (13959), from Matilda descended the world-wide

renowned show heifer Panny Forrester. This second im-

portation was sold at the farm of Mr. C. W. Innis in

Payette County, near the Scott line, in 1854. Emigrant
went to Bourbon County ; Mr. R. A. Alexander, of Wood-
ford County, became the owner of Sirius

; McG-regor went
to John Hill & Co., Bourbon County

; Oakum and Capt.

Strouffer to Scott County.

It was some years after these sales before any new
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herds were established, but the owners of those already

established were bringing many good Short-Horn bulls

from other counties to be used in their herds, and

these, together with the old bulls already in the countj^, and

such as they were breeding, gave them every facility for

breeding the best of Short-Horns, as well as grading up

the common stock. We will name a few of these bulls

just as they occur to us, all of which we have seen : 2109^

Kirkpatrick, Prince Albert, the second of No. 850, 1653

Cyrus ; Cyrus, Jr., 349, 1973 Golden Kirk, 3224 Bruce,

415 Orontes 2d, 1526 Cedric, 2660 Saladin. (We sold

3241\Ckmfield to George W. Washington, Esq., a breeder

of Short-Horns, and an extensive feeder of cattle on the

South Branch of the Potomac. He wa^ the equal in style.

size, form and quality of any^bull -we ever bred or owned,

Mr. Washington after^serving^on the awarding committee

for breeding cattle at Lexington, saw Camfield in his harem,

and before walking around him, bought him. He wanted

to place him at the head of his herd, and for a show bull.

A few days after^his arrival at home, he exhibited him at

Winchester, Va., where he was first in his class, and first

in sweepstakes) ; 3244 Camfield, 3243 Camfield Duke,

2362 Muscovite, 5505 Mazeppa, 718 Burnside, 4553

Washington 2d, 3754 Henry Kirk, 3565 13th Duke of

Goodness, 3082 Alfonso, 3734 Harbinger, 5011 Duke of

Elmwood, 3068 Airdrie Jem, 4505 Union Duke, Junius

606^, 7942 Tempest Duke, Doremus 1451, Milo 2d

3164, Warburton 3538, 10263 Melrose's Duke, and Roan

Princeton 8969, the sire of the best bullock, a white, cow

bred in the county out of Balmoral.—American Short-Horn

Record, Vol. IV, p. 395. Without forcing before he was four

years old, his live weight was 2,260 pounds.

Among the most prominent herds in the county is the

Elmwood herd of Short-Horns of W. N. OflTutt, Esq., of

Scott County. This herd was established in 1868. Pur-

chases were made from the herds of Rev. John A. Gano, of

Bourbon County ; F. P. Kincaid and A. J. Alexander, of

Woodford County ; B. F. & A. Vanmeter and B. B. Groom,

of Clark County, Ky.; A. M. Griswold, of New York, and

other distinguished breeders.

The first public sale from this herd was made July 28,

,1875, at an average of |450, and were purchased by breed-

ers from Connecticut to Minnesota. Again, on August 13,

1876, there was a draft sold at public sale that averaged

$919. (This sale was made with T. J. Megibben.) The

cattle were purchased by such breeders as the Bow Park

Association, of Canada, A. J. Alexander, and others equally

noted.

»The numbers before the name of an animal refer to American Short-Horn

Eecord; plain numbers after the name to American Herd Book, those in parentheses

td English Herd Book.

After the sale in 1876, the owner of this herd retained

but four cows and two heifers. Since that time, he has

made numerous private sales of his bulls and a few fe-

males. The families now represented in this herd are Two
Wild Eyes, descending from Wild Ej-^es 8th by Duke of

Northumberland, bred by Thomas Bates, of England.

There are three Rosamonds, descending from Rosamouth

7th, bred by Walcott & Campbell, New York Mills. This

family descended from C. Mason's herd, of England. Four

Statiras, descended from Statira 10th, imported by the

North Elkhorn Importing Company in 1875. This family

descended from the Earl of Carlisle's celebrated herd, En-

gland. There is one Victoria, represented by Victoria 7th
;

she was in the great New York Mills' sale in 1873, and is

known as the Mason Victoria. The tenth dam of Victoria

7th was No. 1 in the great Chilton sale. There are also

two Mazurkas—their dam Mazurka 27th by Royal Oxford

(18774) ; one of them by 26th Duke of Airdrie, and the

other by 6248 Chilton Duke 4th. This is one of the most

celebrated families in Kentucky. There is one Vellum,

descended from Imp. Vellum by Abraham Parker (9856)
;

this is one of Mr. A. J. Alexander's most popular families.

There is one Miss Wiley, represented by Miss Wiley 36th by

Barrett (1424^) ;
second dam by 10th Duke of Thorndale.

This is from the same family as the London Duchess, sold

by Mr. Edwin Bedford at long prices. Mr. Offatt uses a

pure Kirkleavingston bull—8802 Kirkleavingston Oxford.

There are four handsome bull calves, from five to eight

months old, in this herd.

The owner of this herd has a flock of pure South Down
sheep, descended from six imported ewes, purchased in

1877-78, and from an imported buck (No. 28), bred by

Lord Walsingham, England.

Among the next in prominence is the herd of John C.

Payne, of Newtown. In this herd we find eleven Good-

nesses, descending from Imp. Goodness by 414 Orontes

(11877) ; four Mazurkas, descending from Imp. Mazurka

by 252 Harbinger (10297) ; two Carnations, descending

from Imp. Carnation by 4827 Bridget ; two Filagrees,,

tracing to Imp. Filagree by 9856 Abram Parker. Bulls at

head of herd—6273 Constance, Duke of Grassland and

8802 Kirkleavingston Oxford 32983.

Mr. L. T. Thomas, Georgetown, Ky., commenced breed-

ing in 1873. His herd consists of nineteen head—three

Marys, nine Mandanes, four lanthes, two Arabellas, and

one Amelia ; 4694 Airdrie Prince at head of herd.

Mr. J. M. Hall, Georgetown, Ky., commenced breeding

in 1877. His herd numbers seventeen head—four Marys,

six Gems and five Carolines ; 9054 Oxford Duke (a Victoria)

at head of herd.
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Mr. J. P. Musselman, Georgetown, Ky., commenced

breeding in 1878. His herd numbers fourteen Irenes and

Phyllises ; 7363 Belle Duke of Cloland at head of herd.

The first bull used in this herd was Kirkleavingston

Lad ; the second, Barrett (1424-^).

Mr. R. E. Roberts, Georgetown, made the first pur-

chases in view of establishing a Short-Horn herd, in the

summer of 1879. They now number seventeen in all.

Among his females are Young Marys, Young Phyllis, Rosa-

linds, Carnations, Goodnesses, etc. The 6th Duke of

Barrington is at the head of his herd.

Mr. Elley Blackburn, Great Crossings, has very recently

commenced breeding Short-Horns ; his herd numbers, in

all, four head. Among them are Guynns and Miss Wileys.

With those have been used 5659 Proud Duke 2d, and

8969 Mazurka's Treble Duke.

R. C. Prewitt commenced breeding Short-Horns in

1881; his herd consists of four head only. In it we find

a young Phillis, an imported Tulip and an imported Donna

Maria. Belle Adin at head of herd.

Mr. William H. Graves, Georgetown, commenced breeding

in 1869 ; numerous individuals and large drafts have been

sold from this herd. It now consists of three females,

tracing to Imp. Cleopatra by Pilot (496). Three to Imp.

White Rose by Publicola (1348) ; two to Carolina by Pon-

tiac (4734) ; one to Elizabeth by Velocipede (5552), and

one to Young Mary b}* Jupiter (2170). Ten in all.

The herd of A. D. Offutt and A. M. OflTutt, Camfield,

near Georgetown, consists of sixteen head, twelve of which

are descended from the Booth cow. Imp. Cleopatra, by

Pilot (496), through Red Mary by Camfield, and Melrose

by Camfield Duke. The bulls at head of herd are 10706

Baron Sharon, and 10771 Cambridge, Duke of Sharon.

The herd of Dr. W. T. Risque, Payne's Depot. Check-

mate 34743 at head of herd. In the herd are three bull

calves, all by Checkmate. One descends from Wild Rose,

one from Rose of Sharon and one from Young Mary.

Among the cows are one Rosabella, tracing to Imp. Rosa-

bella, by 1242 Velocipede ; two to Imp. Wild Rose by

Chorister (3378) ; Two Imp. Young Mary by Jupiter (2170)

;

one to Imp. Rose of Sharon by Belvedera (1706) ; two to

Imp. Maid Marian 2d by Lord John (11728), and one to

Imp. Baron Oxford's Beauty by Baron Oxford (23375).

In the herd of Alexander Brown, near Georgetown)

there are eight Mandanes, tracing to Imp. Mandane by 470

Richmond ; one to Imp. Cleopatra by Pilot (496) ; one to

Imp. Young Mary by 958 Jupiter ; one to Imp. Daphne by

2018 Harrold ; two to Imp. Goodness by 414 Orontes,

and two to Imp. Adileza by 224 Frederick.

In a sale catalogue of Short-Horns belonging to W. H.

Murphy, Esq., a year or two since, cows tracing to the fol-

lowing imported cows, were sold : Filigree, by Abram
Parker (9856) ; Alice-Maud, by Grand Duke (10284) ;

Gaily, by Sir Thomas Fairfax (5196) ; Goodness, by

Orontes (4623) ; Mary, by Jupiter (2170) ; Valeria, by

Hopewell (10332) ; Peri, by Grand Duke (10284) ; Imp.

Columbine, by Lord of the Harem (16430) ; Mazurka, by

Harbinger (10297) ; Young Phillis, etc., etc. The most of

this herd remained in Scott County.

There are several other breeders of Short-Horns in the

county, among them Dr. J. W. Prowel, J. D. Smith, Dr. R.

I. Smith and Jo. Evans, but we have had no response from

them. There is at this time about two hundred and fifty

Short-Horns in the county. The majority of them are red

with a little white, some roans, a few red and white, two

that are white, and a few that are red.

—

Alfred D. Offutt.

P. S.—There are quite a number of South-Down sheep,

of very superior quality, bred in the county. The first

established fiock is that of Alfred D. Offutt, two miles

south of Georgetown.

—

A. D. 0.

OHAPTEE Y.

WAR RECORD—REVOLUTIONARY HEROES—INDIAN TROUBLES— THE WAR OF 1812— COL. JOHNSON'S REGIMENT—DEATH
OF TEOUMSEH—OUR DIFFERENCE WITH MEXICO—SCOTT COUNTY IN THE LATE CIVIL WAR, ETC.

genius, strewn the earth with human clay, and filled the"Nor war's wild note, nor glory's peal,

Shall thrill with fierce doliglit."

—

O'Hara.

FROM time immemorial the differences of opinion have

been settled by the arbitrament of war. Individuals,

dissatisfied with existing relations and circumstances, have

invoked the god of battles, and turned the red hand of

slaughter against their brethren ; others, instigated by

passion, ambition or caprice, have, by the powers of will or

heavens with awful lamentations. Nations, delighting in

conquest, and seemingly in slaughter, liave shaken the

earth with their elephantine tread, and scattered the hard-

earned products of civilization with infinite disregard;

others have united in hideous schemes to deluge the world
with blood, until the name of civilization has seemed a

synonym for unlimited reproach. Enlightened man con-

' 'a
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verts into an art the barbarous plans of human destruction,

and establishes institutions of learning wherein are taught

the most gigantic and expeditious modes of terminating

life.

The world witnesses a strange paradox when man,

after thousands of years of intellectual and moral advance-

ment, still resorts to his physical nature to secure sub-

servience to his desires. Might, not right, still rules the

world with despotic sway. War, as a result of dissimilar

views, necessarily follows from conflicting enlightment in

all departments of human thought. So long as minds

refuse to see alike, conflicts will occur, storms of war will

trouble the earth, and the reign of peace will be clouded.

The first war with which Scott County had any connection

was the Revolution, which gave to the country liberty and

independence. Although at that time but few white

people lived within the present limits of the county, yet so

many of the settlers who afterward came to the county,

were in the struggle for freedom that reference, though

brief, must be made to that war.

The causes of the Revolution and the history of our

independence are too familiar to be detailed here. The

hardest times the country has ever seen, perhaps, were

immediately succeeding the establishment of peace. The

colonies were no less than bankrupt, and privations and

hardships in the most direful degree were willingly borne

when victory and peace were secured. The paper money,

by means of which the war was carried on, was worth-

less, and the harvests, of necessity, had been so nearly

neglected that starvation stared the colonies in the face.

Time alone, and at last, retrieved the havoc of war. When

the country had in a measure recovered from the stroke,

enterprising people began to push westward. The G-ov-

ernment offered extra inducements to settlers, and finally

the rush for the West became so great that the settlers

began to unlawfully invade the territory of the Western

Indians. This brought down upon them numerous and

bloody wars with the savages. As soon as Kentucky was

admitted as a State, and even before, settlers began to

boldly appear, regardless of the rights of their red neigh-

bors. It is probable that two-thirds of the white men

who located in the county prior to 1800, had been engaged

in the war of the Revolution, and that the most of the

other third in the early Indian wars of Kentucky. After

this long lapse of time it is impossible to give the names

of these old soldiers ; many of them, however, will be

found in the biographical department of this volume.

In less than a third of a century after the close of our

war for independence, another war with G-reat Britain cast

its dark shadow over the land. When it became known

west of the AUeghanies that war was inevitable, and had

already been declared, the settlers on the frontiers were

filled with distrustful forebodings. A coalition between

the British and the Indians was anticipated, and, as soon

as it became certain that this dreaded alliance had been

effected, the pioneers throughout Kentucky made hasty

preparations for defense. Block-houses were erected, and

the militia in each county and communitj' mustered and

equipped themselves with the implements of war. In

almost every settlement, particularly in Central Kentucky,

companies were organized for a determined resistance

against any foe that might appear. These companies were

independent of the soldiers sent into the regular service. The

first events of this war were such as might have been ex-

pected from a nation pacific, mercantile and agricultural.

Defeat, disgrace and disaster marked the opening scenes
;

but the latter events of the contest were a series of splendid

achievements. " The war spirit of Kentucky blazed forth

with unprecedented vigor. Several thousand volunteers at

once oflered their services to the G-overnment, and fifteen

hundred were on the march for Detroit, when the intelli-

gence of Hull's surrender induced them to halt. This dis-

astrous news was received with a burst of indignation and

fury, which no other event ever excited in Kentucky. The

military ardor of the men seemed rather increased than

diminished by the disaster, and a call of the Governor for

1,500 volunteers to march against the Indian villages of

Northern Illinois was answered by more than 2,000 men,

who assembled at Louisville under G-en. Hopkins."

Scott County, in the war of 1812, furnished nearly six

companies, which formed the larger part of Col. R. M.

Johnson's regiment. The respective Captains of these com-

panies were Lynn West, Stephen Richie, Joseph Readyi

John Duvall, Jacob Stucker and John W. Ready—the

latter a cousin to Joseph Ready. Of these six companies,

there is not known to be but three living representatives,

viz. : Judge Warren, Mr. Ford and John T. Pratt, the latter

of whom communicated to us most of this information.

Mr. Pratt was in the battle of the Thames, but being hotly

engaged in another part of the field, he did not witness

Col. Johnson's charge. In Capt. Stucker's company were

nine pairs of brothers from this county, viz. : Conrad and

Jesse Wolf, Isaac and Jacob DeHaven, James and G-abriel

Long, Edward and Henry Ely, Joel and John Herndon,

Zachary and Wyatt Herndon—cousins of Joel and John

—

James and Bdgcomb Suggett, Henry and William Berry,

Edward and William Johnson—sons of Col. James John-

son. Other members of that company were Thomas Black-

burn, John Pearce, Spencer Peak, Thomas Suggett, Robert

Payne, Ben Chambers, John Pratt, etc., etc., etc. Moses
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A. Faris and George M. Bower were also in the war of

1812 as Surgeons.

Richard M. Gano, the father of Dr. Gano, of Georgetown,

entered the war as Major of Col. Charles Scott's regiment,

and succeeded him as its Colonel. He commanded the

regiment in the battle of the Thames, and at the close of

the war he was made Brigadier General for gallant service

during the war. A sketch of Col. R. M. Johnson will not

be inappropriate in this connection. His father, Col.

Robert Johnson, was a pioneer of Kentucky, and an early

settler of Scott County. Col. "Dick" was born in Ken-

tucky in 1781, received his early education in the country

schools of the time, and finally entered Transylvania

University at Lexington, where he took a regular course and

graduated. He commenced the study of law with Col.

George Nicholas, one of the most celebrated jurists of his

day, but upon his death, which occurred soon after, Mr.

Johnson continued his studies with Hon. James Brown,

then a distinguished member of the Kentucky Bar. Before

he was twenty-one, he was elected to the State Legislature,

from Scott County, where he served with considerable honor,

and in 1807 (being in his twenty-sixth year) he was elected

to Congress, and at once entered upon the theater of national

politics. When the war-clouds began to gather in our

horizon in 1811-12, and an appeal to arms seemed inevita-

ble. Col. Johnson was among those who believed that no

other alternative remained to the American people. Ac-

cordingly after supporting all the preparatory measures

which the crisis demanded, in June, 1812, he gave his vote

for the declaration of war. As soon as Congress adjourned

he hastened home, "raised the standard of his country,

and called around him many of the best citizens of his

neighborhood, some of whom, schooled in the stormy period

of the early settlement of the State, were veteran warriors

well suited for the service for which they were intended."

The service of Col. Johnson and his famous regiment

of mounted riflemen in the war of 1812 is so well known
that it seems superfluous to go into particulars here. It is

very generally believed, that Col. Johnson killed the noted

Indian Chief Tecumseh in the battle of the Thames. The
fact, it is true, has been disputed by a number of writers

on the subject, yet it is hard to shake the general belief,

that Johnson was the author of the great chief's death.

Says Col. Johnson's biographer: "In October, 1813, the

decisive crisis in the operations of the Northwestern army
arrived—the battle of the Thames—which led to a termina-

tion of hostilities in that quarter, was fought and won.

The distinguished services of Col. Johnson, and his brave

regiment, in that sanguinary engagement, have scarcely a

parallel in the heroic annals of our country. The British

and Indians, the former under command of Gen. Proctor,

and the latter under that of Tecumseh, the celebrated In-

dian warrior, had taken an advantageous position, the

British in line between the river Thames and a narrow

swamp, and the Indians in ambush on their right, and west

of the swamp, ready to fall upon the rear of Col. Johnson

should he force a retreat of the British. Col. Johnson,

under the orders of the Commander-in-chief, divided his

regiment into two battalions, one under the command of

his gallant brother, James, and the other to be led by

himself Col. Johnson with his battalion passed the swamp
and attacked the Indians, at the same moment that his

brother James fell upon and routed the British regulars.

The contest for awhile between Col. Johnson's battalion

and the Indians was obstinate and bloody, the slaughter

great, but success complete. The gallant Colonel was in

the very midst and thickest of the fight, inspiring, by his

presence and courage, the utmost confidence of his brave

followers, and though perforated with balls, his bridle arm
shattered, and, bleeding profusely, he continued to fight

until he encountered and slew an Indian chief, who formed

the rallying point of the savages. This chief was sup-

posed to be the famous Tecumseh himself, upon whose fall

the Indians raised a yell and retreated. The heroic Colonel,

covered with wounds, twenty-five balls having been shot

into him, his clothes and his horse, was borne from the

battle-ground faint from exertion and loss of blood, and
almost lifeless. Never was victory so complete or its

achievement so glorious. Fifteen hundred Indians were

engaged against the battalion of Col. Johnson, and 800

British regulars against that of his brother. Both the

Indians and British were routed, and an end put to the

war upon the Northern frontier, distinguished, as it had

been, by so many murderous cruelties upon the part of the

savage allies of the British."

Col. Johnson continued to serve his constituents in

Congress until 1819, when he voluntarily retired and re-

turned home. The people of Scott County at once re-

turned him to the State Legislature, and that body elected

him to the United States Senate. After serving out his

term, he was almost unanimously re-elected to the same
exalted position. In 1836, he was elected Vice President

of the United States under Martin Van Buren, and for four

years .presided over the Senate with great dignity. At
the expiration of his term, he retired to his farm in Scott

County, where he spent the remainder of his life. He was
a member of the State Legislature at the time of his death,

which occurred in 1850, in Frankfort. Col. Johnson was
one of the able men of Kentucky, and sprung from an
able and talented family, most of whom (the male mem-

a) -

V
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bers) were statesmen and soldiers. James Johnson, a

brother to Col. Dick, and Lieutenant Colonel of the latter's

regiment, was a soldier of promise, and distinguished him-

self while in the service ; also served several sessions in

Congress with ability. John T. Johnson, another brother,

was for a short time a member of the Appellate Court of

Kentucky, subsequently a Member of Congress, but finally

became a minister of the Christian Church, a position he

filled with great usefulness. The father. Col. Robert John-

son, was himself a soldier and statesman, and served his

country well and faithfuUj^. He was the grandfather of

Hon. G-eorge W. Johnson, who was born near Georgetown

in 1811, and who was the Confederate Governor of Ken-

tucky during the late war. He labored earnestly to place

Kentucky by the side of the other Southern States in the

rebellion, and set on foot the organization of a provisional

government, which was effected by the Convention at Rus-

sellville, Logan County, November 18-21, 1861. A con-

stitution was adopted, and Mr. Johnson was chosen Provi-

sional Governor, and, December 10, Kentucky was admitted

a member of the Confederacy, though the State at large

never acknowledged it. He was mortally wounded in the

battle of Shiloh, while fighting temporarily as a private in

the Fourth Kentucky (Confederate) Infantry. At the time

of his death he was fifty-one years of age.

But to return to the war of 1812. Scott County bore her

part in it, until " Old Hickory " conquered a peace at New
Orleans. Thus a war, that opened with the disgrace of

Hull's surrender, closed in a blaze of glory at New Orleans.

Croghan's gallant defense of Fort Stephenson ; Perry's

victory upon Lake Erie ;
the total defeat by Harrison, of

the allied British and Savages, under Procter and Tecum-

seh, on the Thames, and the great closing triumph of Jack-

son at New Orleans, are scarcely equaled in the annals of

war, and reflected the most brilliant luster on the Ameri-

can arms.

The Mexican war next engaged our attention after the

war of 1812, and in it Scott County was well represented,

though no organization went from the county. All readers

are familiar with the circumstances resulting in this war,

which are fully given elsewhere in this work. It was, from

the battle of Palo Alto to the capture of the city of Mexico,

one grand triumph of the American soldiery. There is, per-

haps, no other account on record, of a war between two

rival powers of the same magnitude of these, in which every

battle was won by the one and the same contestant. It is

not known, just how many men went from Scott County

into the Mexican war, but as there was a full company made

up in Bourbon County, there was doubtless a considerable

number from Scott in it.

In the spring of 1861, the great civil war burst upon

the country. The part taken by Scott County in the late

war, is not easily written ; it is a subject, too, that must
needs be handled very carefully. Located on the border

as we are, it is very natural that our people should see the

war, its objects and results in different lights, and from

different standpoints. This we say was natural, and we,

for one, find no fault with any man for an honest difference

of opinion with us. It was never intended that we should

all see alike ; if it had been, then we would not have had

the late war at all, and our Northern neighbors would have

been deprived of a great fund of venom against us.

"We can give but a brief sketch of the part taken by

Scott County in the late unpleasantness ; referring the

reader to the published works upon the subject for more

minute details. The Adjutant General's report of the State,

1861-1865, gives very accurately, and in a plain and com-

prehensive manner, the Federal side of the question, while

the history of the ' First Kentucky Brigade," and " Duke's

History of Morgan's Men," ventilate the situation from a

Southern standpoint. Among the Federal officers from

Scott County were John S. Long, Scott H. Robinson, Ed-

mund H. Parrish, Joseph L. Frost, James C. Hunter, Ruben

Lancaster, Edward C. Barlow, James H. Robey, and perhaps

others. John N. Long commenced raising a company in

August, 1862. He had been commissioned Captain by

Gov. Robinson, and after enlisting some eighteen or twenty

men, he was induced to " change his base," by the approach

of Bragg's army upon Louisville. He joined Burbridge's

command as a kind of body-guard. They were in the

Vicksburg campaign, and after having been in the service

about a year, were ordered home and discharged by the

Governor.

Scott H. Robinson was made Captain of a compan}'

which was recruited partly in Scott and partly in Harrison

Counties. He served through the war, and at its close

was commissioned as First Lieutenant in the regular

army ; he was wounded on the Western frontier in a

skirmish with the Indians, and died some time after at

home.

Edmund H. Parrish was promoted from Sergeant-

Major to Captain of Company C, Sixth Veteran Cavalry,

February 15, 1865 ;
captured April 1, 1865, and lost on

steamer Sultana April 27, 1865, while coming up the Ohio

River.

Joseph L. Frost was cordmissioned Major of the Twenty-

sixth Infantry. He was promoted from Adjutant April 10,

1862, and resigned the 5th of May following.

James C. Hunter was appointed Orderly Sergeant

February 15, 1865, promoted to First Lieutenant, June 15,
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and mustered out of the service September 6, 1865, at

Louisville, Ky.

Reuben Lancaster was promoted from Sergeant to Cap-

tain of Company B, Sixth Veteran Cavalry, and mustered

out with the regiment September 6, 1865, at Louisville.

Edward C. Barlow went into the service as Adjutant of

the Fortieth Kentucky Infantry. Upon the resignation of

Capt. Rice, of Company B, he was promoted to the Cap-

taincy of that company, and mustered out at the end of its

term of service, December 30, 1864, at Catlettsburg, Ky.

He served some time as Captain of Provost Guard, and was

in command of the post at Mount Sterling, Ky., when it

was captured by Gen. Morgan. Col. D. Howard Smith, of

Morgan's command, was a personal friend of Capt. Barlow's,

and secured his parole without any difficulty.

James H. Robey was First Sergeant of Company D,

Seventh Volunteer Cavalry, was promoted to Second Lieu-

tenant, July 23, 1862, and was promoted First Lieutenant,

but never mustered as such. He was mustered out with

the regiment July 10, 1865, at Edgefield, Tenn.

Dr. Stephen Gano was Surgeon of the Seventh District

of Kentucky, with headquarters at Lexington ; he ranked

as Lieutenant Colonel of the private soldiers ; there were

about one hundred from the county of Scott who went into

the Federal service. Their record was that of Kentucky

soldiers from the Revolutionary period down to the present

time.

Among the students at Georgetown College, when the

war broke out, were six Chinese boys (half native), two of

whom, James and William Hunter, young men of consid-

erable promise, entered the service in Capt. Long's com-

pany, with whose father they were boarding. William

served as a private, and James was promoted to engineer

in Gen. Burnside's corps.

The Confederate service received a great many more

recruits from Scott County than did the Federal cause.

The first company raised in the county for the South was

recruited by James E. Cantrill, now Lieutenant Governor

of the State. He joined Col. Smith's regiment—the Fifth

Kentucky—and Gen. Buford's brigade. Press Thompson
was Lieutenant Colonel of the Fifth, and Thomas Brent,

Major. In Capt. Cantrill's company, Andrew Wilson went

out as First Lieutenant ; W. S. Offutt as Second Lieutenant,

and David Holding as Third Lieutenant. James Davis

went out with William H. Webb's squad, and joined the

company of W. C. P. Breckinridge. Holding, of Cantrill's

company, resigned, and Davis was made Brevet Second

Lieutenant. Wilson and Offutt then resigned, and Davis was

made First Lieutenant, with W. N. Offutt as Second.

Capt. William H. Webb raised a squad of some twenty-

odd men, and after consolidating with James A. Jones'

company (who was killed at Glasgow), formed the nucleus

of Col. Breckinridge's company. With this squad of

Webb's were several prominent Scott County men. Dr. J.

A. Lewis, now of Georgetown, went out as a private, and

afterward became Adjutant of Col. Breckinridge's regi-

ment—the Ninth Kentucky. F. Gano Hill, of Bourbon

County, was also of this squad. He afterward became

Captain of the same company (Company A). When
Breckinridge's company was organized, it was Company
I of the Second Kentucky, but when Gen. Bragg came

into Kentucky it was re-organized, and became Company
A of the Ninth. Breckinridge was made Major of the

Battalion, and William Jones, of Louisville, became Cap-

tain of Company A. Breckinridge's battalion was after-

ward consolidated with Maj. Stoner's battalion, and be-

came the Ninth Kentucky (Confederate) Cavalry, com-

manded by Col. Breckinridge.

J. Henry Wolf, now County Clerk of Scott County,

recruited a company of about one hundred men, of which

he was made Captain ; Erwin Zeising, First Lieutenant

;

George Nelson, Second Lieutenant, and Berry Marshall,

Third Lieutena,nt. Zeising left the command in Tennessee,

and is now in Missouri. Nelson was wounded and came
home. Henry Conn became First Lieutenant in Zeising's

place, and I. N. Newton succeeded Nelson as Second Lieu-

tenant, and John Lindsay became Third Lieutenant in

place of Marshall. The company participated in Mor-

gan's Mountain Campaign, in which, with 1,200 men, he

opposed the Federal Gen. Morgan with an army of 3,500

men, and captured from the latter twenty-four pieces of

artillery, forcing him to bury twelve of his heaviest pieces

at Cumberland Gap.

George Tilford also raised a large company, mostly in

Scott County, of which George Holloway was First Lieu-

tenant; John T. Sinclair, Secon(i Lieutenant, and James
Ferguson, Third Lieutenant. Altogether, there is sup-

posed to have been 1,000 or 1,200 men in the Confederate

service from Scott County. So far, we have only given

the names of commissioned officers, and have mentioned
all whom we could obtain. Doubtless many have been

omitted. But unlike the National forces, we have no
Adjutant General's Report to refer to, giving a correct

record of all officers and privates who went into the serv-

ice. The only record of them is in the minds of men, and
in such works (Duke's History, etc.) as we have already

mentioned.

—

Perrin.

» "fy
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CHAPTER YI.

aEORGETOWN PRECINCT — INTRODUCTORY AND DESCRIPTIVE— BOUNDARIES AND TOPOGRAPHY— EARLY SETTLEMENT-

HARD TIMES OF THE PIONEERS—INDUSTRIES AND IMPROVEMENTS—SCHOOLS, VILLAGES AND CHURCHES.

"A song for the free and gladsome life,

In those early days we led.

With a teeming soil beneath our feet," etc., etc.

— Qallaglier.

THE velocity with which the world moves is simply

astounding, yet It moved slow enough In the begin-

ning. In the early ages, It took nearly a century for a hoy

to think of leaving the family roof-tree to begin the battle

of life on his own account, and three or four times as long

to attain the prime and vigor of manhood. Rome was

seven hundred years in expanding her power and reaching

the zenith of her glory ; the temple of Diana at Ephesus

saw two and a half centuries from its foundation to its

completion, and the architects of Babel and the Pyramids

planned work for hundreds of years ahead. But that is

not the style of doing business at the present day ; we

make a fortune and lose it in less time than that. Every-

thing is done with an object and a rush. We live fast

;

three or four lifetimes are crowded into one.

Speaking of the Olympian festivities and the old

Roman triumphs, and the millions expended on them and

their accessories, one of our shrewd business men recently

remarked, " We've got beyond all that now, and I am glad

of it, for such things wouldn't pay." That is it exactly
;

we have no time for what don't pay. We are economical,

and count the cost with the closeness of a Jew. Anything

that there is money in catches our attention, no matter

what it is. And in everything we do, is the same rush and

hurry ; we never calculate projects a hundred years ahead

but live wholly in the present. Although Central Ken-

tucky lacks much of that energy and enterprise character-

istic of the Western States, yet it affords a striking

example of the rapidity with which we move. A hundred

years ago, Kentucky had but a few hundred inhabitants
;

now her population is almost equal to that of the thirteen

colonies at the time of the Revolutionary war. In this

immediate section, behold the change I The finest planta-

tions and princely homes occupy what a few years ago

was a wilderness. But this is the fast age of the nine-

teenth century, and illustrates our fast way of living.

The precinct to which these pages are devoted, known

. as Georgetown Precinct No. 1, contains but little history of

interest outside of the city of Georgetown. All of the

most important facts are given in connection with George-

town, and but a mere glance will be taken at the precinct

at large. The land embraced in it is as fine, if not

the very finest in the county. It is gently rolling or undu-

lating, and is a rich limestone soil. The Elkhorn and its

branches afford excellent drainage, and at the same time

water the country through which they flow. The original

timber of Georgetown Precinct consisted of oak, hickory,

black walnut, elm, honey locust, sugar tree, buckeye, etc.,

etc., but little of which is now left in its natural state.

Much attention is paid to stock-raising, and many of the

fine stock farms of the county are located in this precinct.

The Cincinnati Southern Railroad, running north and

south, passes through, by which the surplus stock and

other products are shipped to market.

Settlements were made in the present precinct of George-

town more than a hundred years ago. Indeed, it has been

claimed that the first settlement made in Kentucky was at

" Royal Spring,'' now included in the corporate limits of

Georgetown. But, as noted in another chapter, this is

hardly correct ; it was probably, however, the place of the

first settlement north of the Kentucky River. This settle-

ment will be more particularly mentioned by Dr. Gano, in

the history of Georgetown. It was made by the McClel-

lands and McConnells about the year 1775-76, and a fort

or block-house was built at the spring above mentioned.

Robert Johnson and John Suggett were also early settlers.

They first stopped at Bryant's Station, and then came to

Woodford County, now Scott, and settled on a claim of

Patrick Henry, at Great Crossings, in 1790,.where a stock-

ade was built.

Near where old North Elkhorn Church stood, on land

now owned by E. N. Offntt, Sr., was built the old Flournoy

fort. He (Flournoy) was a Virginian of French descent,

who came to Kentucky and settled that farm in 1780. He

brought his window-glass with him on horseback, and it is

said that this was the first house with glass windows in this

part of Kentucky. The house, which was inclosed by a

stockade, is still standing—a hundred and two years old.

The marriage of Gen. William H. Henry to a daughter of
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Flournoy took place in this house. Gren. Henry com-

manded the Kentucky troops under Gen. Shelby in the war

of 1812. Mr. Flournoy made several trips across the

mountains with pack-horses, and was finally, on one of his

trips, murdered by the Indians. A daughter of his was

shot by the Indians, while she was going to the spring for

water. Her grave, together with several soldiers killed in

he fort, are still to be seen near the old house.

The first pre-emption was that of Col. John Floyd's,

made in 1779, containing 1,000 acres, and covering lands

whereon Georgetown now stands, and including the spring

then called " Floyd's Royal Spring." The same year, Vir-

ginia granted to Patrick Henry, for services as Governor

of the State, some 5,000 acres of land in this precinct, ex-

tending from near Georgetown to Capt. Craig's, at White
Sulphur. Christopher Greenup, afterward Governor, Dan-

iel Bradford and others, also had large grants of land here.

Gen. John Payne served as County Surveyor of Scott

County, from 1790 to 1817, when the conflict of claims be-

came so great that the Legislature at last passed an act

giving the land to the party who retained possession twenty

years. Under these claim troubles, lands depreciated in

value to a very great extent. As an example of such

trouble, the same body of land was sometimes claimed by
five different parties, thus involving almost unending liti-

gation.

The early years of the pioneers were years of hardships.

It took great efforts to procure the necessaries of life, and
a sufficiency of clothing to keep them warm. Is was al-

most useless to bring in sheep for a number of years after

settlements were made, owing to the number of wolves and
bears, and other ravenous beasts, which would sometimes

destroy an entire flock in a single night. Hence, the people

had no choice save that of adopting other expedients, or

appearing
"In nature's liglit and airy garb.''

So, one of the early crops of the country was flax,

grown for domestic purposes. Of this a coarse and sub-

stantial linen was made, which was manufactured into,

clothing for the family. Even after flax was raised in

sufficient quantities, and sheep in considerable numbers had
been introduced, it was quite an arduous task to spin and

weave cloth for the entire wearing apparel of the family.

It is, perhaps, not over-drawing the picture to say that the

summer wear of the boys until eight or ten years old, was

very nearly akin to the Highland costume, inasmuch as it

consisted of a long tow shirt—only this and nothing more.

The tools and agricultural implements were about on a par

with everything else. And the time that has passed since

the settlement of the country has witnessed as great im-

provements in agricultural implements as in any of the

other "arts and sciences.'' Taken together with these

primitive outfits were the dangers experienced in the early

years from savages, and we find ourselves wondering that

the country was ever settled at all.

The preparation of grain for making bread, in a new
country, is a matter of no slight importance, for while

grain may be produced from the soil as easily in a new
country as in an old one, it is not so easy to have the grain

converted into meal. The first settlers resorted to many a

method for grinding corn, but many of the processes were

at once slow and toilsome. The first mill in Georgetown

Precinct was a small water-mill at Great Crossings, built

previous to 1800, and is at present owned by Mr. Glass.

Thompson's mill is a very old one. Joel Scott had a full-

ing-mill a short distance below Thompson's mill, where he

carried on an extensive business
; he wove broadcloth and

other costly fabrics. Tanneries, distilleries, etc., etc., were

among the early industries in addition to mills.

A fine system of turnpike roads traverse Georgetown

Precinct in every direction, diverging from the city of

Georgetown. The first road was a continuation of Main
street to Great Crossings ; the next was from Georgetown

to Big Bone Lick. Among the roads now intersecting the

precinct aud centering in Georgetown, are the following :

Lexington & Georgetown pike ; Covington pike ; Payne's

Depot pike ; Stamping Ground pike ; Long Lick pike

;

Dry Ridge pike
;
Dry Run pike

; Paris pike ; Oxford pike,

with a number of cross pikes.

There is little to say of the schools outside ©f George-

town. When the first school was taught in the precinct,

and where the first schoolhouse was erected, are questions

that cannot be answered at this distant day. No place .is

better supplied with educational facilities, perhaps, than

Georgetown. These schools and colleges are more fully

written up in a succeeding chapter, and of Science Hill

Academy we shall speak further on in this chapter.

The village of Great Crossings is a small place, and has

but little business, in consequence of its close proximity to

Georgetown, being situated only four miles from the latter

place, on the Stamping Ground pike. It received the name
of Great Crossings by the buffalo trace from the interior of

Kentucky to the Ohio River, crossing North Elkhorn Creek
at the spot where it is located. A few stores and shops, a

church, etc., comprises the present village.

Georgetown Precinct is well represented with churches.

The Baptist Church at Great Crossings is one of the oldest

churches of Central Kentucky. A history written of it in

1876, by Prof. J. M. Bradley, is of considerable interest to

all its members. Its great length only precludes its inser-

;r
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tion entire in this volume, but as a matter of interest we

give the following extract : " The church was constituted

ninety years ago (1885) the ' 28 and 29
' of last May. Its

first Pastor, Elijah Craig, was twice imprisoned, in Vir-

ginia, for preaching the Gospel—once in Culpepper and

once in Orange. After the pastorate of Craig, the church

has enjoyed the preaching of Joseph Reding, James Sug-

gett, Silas M. Noel, Thomas Henderson, A. M. Lewis, James

D. Black, B. F. Kenny, Y. R. Pitts, William C. Buck, Will-

iam Gr. Craig, R. T. Dillard, Howard Malcom, John L.

Waller, William P. Broaddus, A. R. Macey, D. R. Camp-

bell, Cad Lewis, S. P. Hogan, J. G. Bow and B. Manly,

Jr., an array of preaching talent such as, we will venture

to assert, no other church in Kentucky can claim. During

this period, about fifteen hundred have made profession of

eligion, been baptized and afterward received into the

fellowship of the church, besides others who have been

received by letter and those in the original constitution.

There have been in this number white, black and red men.

Seven churches have been constituted, chiefly of members

leaving this church, viz. : Stamping Ground, Dry Run,

Mountain Island, North Elkhorn, Long Lick, Pleasant

jGreen and Midway, four of which—Stamping Ground, Dry

Run, Long Lick and Midway—are still in existence, so that

the Great Crossings may well be called the "mother of

churches." The church has sent out five ordained preach-

ers and licensed six others to exercise their gifts." This

venerable church can soon celebrate its own centennial.

In 1880, it reported 588 members.

Dry Run Baptist Church was organized in February^

1801, and Rev. Joseph Reding was the first pastor. The

first church was built of logs, upon the site where the pres-

ent church now stands. It was afterward weatherboarded,

the members and neighbors contributing to its building in

the first place. Among the original members were James

Weathers, Nicholas Long, Col. John Miller, Joseph Elgin,

Bennett Osborn, etc. Rev. Mr. Trott, an early school

teacher, was also an early preacher of this church. Rev.

Lucas was afterward pastor. James D. Black was a black-

smith and a powerful preacher. He was pastor for over

twenty years. Other pastors were Nealey, Duvall and

Hodges. About the close of the war, the present church

was built, at a cost of $2,000. The present pastor is Rev.

Mr. Skillman.

North Elkhorn Baptist Church is three and a half miles

from Georgetown, and was organized, in September, 1801,

under the ministerial labors of Rev. Mr. Eaves. He was

from Virginia, as were most of the original members. The

first church edifice was a frame building, erected by Samuel

Cooper, one of the leading members of the congregation.

It, at one time, had a large membership, reaching as high

as 150. The church was sometimes called Cooper's Run
Church. Rev. Joshua Leathers was one of the early min-

isters and a powerful preacher. In 1835, the church split,

and the sections were known respectively as " Particular

"

and "Regular" Baptists. The latter went to neighboring

churches, while the Particular Baptists held the church

building and kept up the organization until about the

year 1850, when the house was sold by Cooper's heirs and

turned into a schoolhouse, known as " Science Hill Acad-

emy.'' This school was taught by Prof Roach, Prof. Will-

iams and others. For more than twenty years, it was con-

ducted as a school, and was then discontinued, owing to

the surrounding land being bought and roads closed up

leading to it. The building is still standing, and is now

used for a barn.

This comprises a brief sketch of the precinct, outside

of Georgetown. As the history usually centers in the

county seat, leaving the precinct in which it is situated

somewhat barren, we will search no further for historical

facts and data, but begin a new chapter with the city of

Georgetown.—Perri'm

.
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CHAPTER YII.

CITY OF GEORGETOWN— ITS EARLIEST HISTORY— SCHOOL NOTICE— THE TOWN INCORPORATED

-

OTHER PIONEERS— PAPER MILL, TANNERIES, ETC.— EARLY BUSINESS—
FIRST COURT HOUSE, ETC., ETC.

-ELIJAH CRAIG AND

' "A song for the free and gladsome life

In those early days we led."

GEORGETOWN, the county seat of Scott County, is lo-

cated in the southern part of the county, in the famous

Blue Grass Region twelve miles north of Lexington, and some

sixty-six miles south of Cincinnati by the Southern Railroad.

It is beautifully situated on high, undulating table-land,

on the south side of North Elkhorn, a considerable stream
;

on its western border is the large spring branch bursting

from a limestone bluff, with a volume of water capable of

turning a flouring-mill a few hundred yards from its source.

In very early times this spring was known as Floyd's

Royal Spring, in later times as the Republican, and in more

modern times as the Big Spring. It is a great- Royal,

Republican, Big feature in the make-up of Georgetown
;

big with blessings to thousands, of coolness, cleanliness

and comfort, and free to all, both man and beast. On the

bluflf above where this stream bursts forth the first settle-

ment or station was made by white men. In October,

1776, Col. Patterson, with the two McClellands, Ben and

John, with other persons from the neighboring stations,

erected a fort or station called McClelland's Fort.

In 1776, the Indians, enraged at the encroachments

upon their favorite hunting-grounds, and urged on by the

British, made frequent incursions into Kentucky, and

became so troublesome that the weaker stations were aban-

doned.

The settlers at Hinkson Station took shelter in Mc-

Clelland's Fort, Simon Kenton accompanying them. Maj.

George . Rogers Clark having prevailed upon the Virginia

Legislature to afford the pioneers some assistance, arrived

in company with a lawyer named Jones at the Three

Islands late in the winter, with a considerable quantity of

powder and lead. Thej' concealed it on the lower island,

and proceeded to McClelland's Station in order to obtain a

party to bring it off to the settlements. McClelland's Station

being too weak to furnish a sufficient escort, Clark, piloted

by Kenton, set out for Harrodsburg. Unfortunately, during

their absence, Jones prevailed on ten men to accompany

him to the place where the ammunition was concealed.

They set out, and on Christmas Day, 1776, they were en-

countered by the Indian chief Pluggey, with his men, and

defeated. Jones and William Grayson were killed, and

two of the party taken prisoners ; the remainder escaped

into the station. Clark and Kenton soon afterward arrived

with some men from Harrodsburg, having immediately

returned on the news of the disaster. On the morning of

January 1, 1777, Pluggey and his warriors appeared before

the fort. McClelland and his men sallied out, and were

repulsed by the Indians. McClelland and two of his men
being killed and four wounded, the Indians immediately

withdrew. The station was soon afterward abandoned, and

the settlers returned to Harrod's Station.

In 1782, Elijah Craig, one of the famous family of that

name, emigrated from Virginia after the close of the Revo-

lutionary war, and settled on the lands on which Lebanon

Town, afterward Georgetown, was located.

Very early in the history of Georgetown, and while

Scott County was yet a part of Fayette, the cause of edu-

cation was fostered and encouraged. The Kentucky

Gazette, edited and published by John Bradford and his

brother Fielding, the first newspaper published west of the

mountains, with the exception of one at Pittsburgh, has the

following

:

" Education.—Notice is hereby given that on Monday,
28th of January next, a school will be opened by Messrs-

Jones and Worley, at the Royal Spring in Lebanon Town,
Fayette County, where a commodious house, sufficient to

contain fifty or sixty scholars, will be prepared. They will

teach the Latin and Greek languages, together with such

branches of the sciences as are usually taught in public

seminaries, at twenty-five shillings a quarter for each scholar.

One-half to be paid in cash, the other half in produce at

cash prices. There will be a vacation of a month in the

spring, and another in the fall, at the close of each of which
it is expected that such payments as are due in cash will

be made. For diet, washing and house-room for a year,

each scholar pays £3 in cash, or 500 weight of pork on
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entrance, and £3 cash on the beginning of the third quar-

ter. It is desired that, as many as can, would furnish

themselves with beds ; such as oannot, may be provided for

here, to the number of eight or ten boys, at 35s a year for

each bed. Elijah Craig.
'' Lebanon, December 27, 1787."

In 1790, Georgetown was incorporated by the Legisla-

ture of Virginia, and named in honor of Greorge Washing-

ton. March 10, 1792, the Indians stole ten or twelve

horses from near Grant's mill, on North Elkhorn, and on

Tuesday night following, they burned a dwelling house

together with all the household furniture, belonging to the

proprietors, who had left their house late in the evening.

This was about the last inuursion of the Indians in the

neighborhood of Georgetown.

Elijah Craig, named above as the proprietor and founder

of Georgetown, was a Baptist preacher, and one of three

brothers—Joseph, Lewis and Elijah—who were made

famous in Virginia by religious intolerance and persecu-

tion. Thej' all removed to Kentucky, and Elijah settled

here. He was a man of decided character, a good speaker,

an acceptable preacher, and of very considerable business

qualifications, accumulating a large property. He built

and owned the upper mill, now DeGarris, the lower mill,

known as Grant's mill, and with Mr. Parker, of Lexington,

the paper-mill on the Royal Spring branch, where Capt.

Lair's mill now stands. This was the first paper-mill, and

manufactured nearly all the paper used for printing or

wrapping purposes, for Lexington, Louisville, Cincinnati,

and the villages around, for many years. This paper-mill

was built in 1795, and burnt down in 1832. It was the

first paper-mill and the only one for many years west of

the mountains.

The house erected by Mr. Craig for his residence stood

on the hill, on the west side of " Floyd's Royal Spring

Branch," as it was then called. Col. Floyd, a soldier of

the Revolution, had a military land warrant for a thousand

acres ; this survey was on the south side of North Elkhorn,

and includes the land on which the town was laid out, and

the Spring Branch, and running west, and known as Floyd's

survey, and patented in 1779.

One of the first brick houses in the town was erected

by Mr. Craig, and in which he resided for many years, was

the house owned by the late Col. A. K. Richards and de-

stroyed by fire a few years since. Mr. Craig also erected

a factory for the manufacture of hemp, north of his dwell-

ing, and on the opposite side of the road, near the place

now occupied by the Desha monument. The first settle-

ments made in the town, were mostly on the bluff, east of

the Spring Branch, and were, no doubt, located with a view

as much to comfort and convenience as for safety, in sup-

plying themselves with water. The first settlers of the

town were largely from Virginia, some from Maryland,

Pennsylvania, New York, New Jersey, North Carolina,

and Massachusetts. They were enterprising, intelligent,

and many of them educated men and women. The town

is claimed to have been survej'ed and laid out by Fielding

Bradford, a very competent surveyor, and afterward Judge

of the county, assisted by John Payne, the first County

Surveyor, and a Brigadier General in the war of 1812.

Elijah Craig erected and owned the framed hotel that stood

on the northwest corner of Main and Main Cross streets,

on the site of the Georgetown Hotel, recently destroyed by

fire. It was first occupied as a hotel by his son-in-law,

Capt. Grant, who was killed by the Indians in 1794, on the

Ohio River below the mouth of Licking River, he with

others having pursued the Indians, who had made an

incursion and carried off some horses from the neighbor-

hood of Georgetown. In 1780, the Virginia Legislature

granted lands to Kentucky for educational purposes, and

the citizens of Georgetown very early availed themselves

of the grant, and built what was known as Rittenhouse

Academy ; the first house erected for that purpose was of

hewed logs, and stood on the north side of what is now

called College street, not far from the head of the Spring

Branch, and is occupied at present as a private residence.

Firearms were a necessary household article in these

early times, and in 1784 Mr. Edward West, from Frede-

ricksburg, Va., settled in Georgetown as a gunsmith. He

erected a log house near the Spring Branch, where he man-

ufactured rifles chiefly, for which there was great demand.

He also invented a mold for casting or molding pewter into

plates and basins, then in great request and almost indis-

pensable to every housekeeper.

Capt. John Hawkins and his brother Martin emigrated

from Virginia and settled in Georgetown about the year

1790. They were merchants. Capt. Hawkins erected a

brick and frame building which he occupied as a residence

on the northeast corner of Main and Hamilton streets, and

now occupied by John Mullin as a hotel. Capt. Hawkins

was a prominent citizen, and in 1792 was the first Clerk of

Scott County Court. He removed to Hopkinsville, Chris-

tian County, about the year 1820, and died there at an ad-

vanced age.

Mr. Martin Hawkins was a citizen of Georgetown for

many years, and a successful merchant ; he erected one of

the first brick houses in the town. It stood on the south

side of Main street, near the site of the building now oc-

cupied by Thomas Barkley as a grocery. It was built

with the gable to the street, and had an elevator for lifting
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goods to the second story ; this was a wholesale house, and

Mr. Hawkins did a large business. His residence, a frame

building, stood upon the alley just in the rear of the Fitz-

gerald drug store, and fronting on Main street. About

1813, he removed to the beautiful blue grass farm south of

town, afterward owned by Mr. Thomas Smarr, and at pres-

ent occupied by Mrs. A. K. Kichards. He married Miss

Mary Shipp, of Fayette County, about the year 1800. Mr.

Hawkins died in 1824 or 1825. Mrs. Hawkins survived

him many years, and died in Georgetown. They left live

sons and three daughters, all of whom are dead except Mr.

Richard Hawkins, who still resides in the town at an ad-

vanced age.

Abram Scott was here as early as 1794-95. He lived

in a log house very much after the style of a fort, with port-

holes on all sides, and a projecting roof ; it stood on the

east side of the Spring Branch. He carried on blacksmith-

ing in a shop that stood near the site now occupied by

John Rowland's brick shop. Mr. Scott was a prominent

man in the municipal affairs of the town, often elected a

member of the Board of Trustees, and on many of its im-

portant committees, an industrious and useful citizen.

Capt. Lynn West was born in Virginia in 1775, and

came to Georgetown with his Uncle Edward West in 1784,

and worked with him in the gunsmith business until 1797,

when he I'eturned to Prince William County, Va., and

while there married Miss Susan Jackson. Before going to

Virginia, he had erected a dwelling on the corner of Ham-
ilton and what is now called Bourbon street. He returned

to Georgetown and continued the manufacture of guns and

other implements. In 1812, he volunteered as Captain of

an independent company, First Battalion, First Regiment of

Scott's command. He died in 1836. Capt. West was an

energetic, industrious and high-toned man. He was fond

of fine-blooded horses, of which he raised and ran a good
many. He left a family of nine children. Mrs. Susan

West survived her husband many years, and died in 1860,

an excellent, devoted and pious lady, a member of the

Baptist Church.

Among the earliest settlers of Georgetown and the first

professional lawyer was Mr. Samuel Shepard, he was born

in Massachusetts, Middlesex County, October 19, 1765,

and, with his brother, Zenas Shepard, removed to Kentucky
about 1790

;
he was married to Miss Fannie Barlow, of

Scott County, in 1792, and was living in Georgetown in

1795, practicing law and keeping a house of entertainment.

The house was a log and framed house, and stood on the

east side of Main Cross street, near where the present

Catholic Church stands. Some years afterward, he built a

large brick house on the lot south of the town, and which

now forms a part of the Female Seminary. He practiced

law many years, and died in Ohio in 1839. Mrs. Shepard

survived him many years. He left four sons, all of whom
are dead.

William and Thomas Story emigrated from Pennsylva-

nia, and settled in Georgetown about 1790. They sank

and carried on a large tannery
;

it was in the valley on the

east side of Main Cross street, and north of the Pratt prop-

erty, and now a part of it. They worked a large number

of hands, and furnished a great portion of the leather for

home manufacture.

The residence of Mr. William Story, where he lived a

great many years, is the old frame, the second house north

of the Pratt Hotel.

Mr. William Story was a prominent citizen of the town,

often a member of the Board of Trustees. He married

Miss Eliza, sister of John Bradford, editor of the old Ken-

tucky Gazette. She was an intelligent and excellent lady,

and died in 1833. Mr. Story survived her a few years.

Capt. Thomas Story conducted the business of tanning

for several years. Volunteered in the war of 1 812, the First

Lieutenant, Capt. West's Company, First Regiment, Scott's

Brigade ; served out his time of enlistment, and removed

to Missouri in 1820.

One of the first physicians who settled in Georgetown

was Dr. John Stites, born in New Jersey and educated in

New York. He emigrated to Kentucky and settled in

Georgetown about 1795. He was an educated man, and

eminent in his profession. He was the grandfather of

Judge Stites, now of Louisville. He died in Georgetown in

1811.

William B. Warren emigrated from Virginia and set-

tled in Georgetown about 1 794. He practiced law for many
years, and was successful in his profession. Hcwas Judge
of Quarter Sessions Court, a man of fine personal appear-

ance, quiet and retiring. He erected and occupied a frame

house on the south side of Main street, on the site now oc-

cupied by the Farmers' Bank. He afterward removed to a

brick residence that now forms a part of Warrendale, and
where he resided at the time of his death. He married

Miss Maria Fauntleroy, who survived him several years.

He died in 1 824. They left two sons and three daughters.

Mrs. Margaret Johnson, widow of Col. T. F. Johnson, alone

surviving.

Capt. William Theobalds came from Virginia and set-

tled in Georgetown about 1790. He built and occupied a

large frame building on the south side of Main street, near

the site of the present residence of Mr. William 0. Thomp-
son. This was a famous old hotel. Capt. Theobalds was
an admirable hotel keeper, and so good was his cheer that
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many of the fai'mers of that day, like the boys of the pres-

ent, after the arduous labors of County Court day were

over, got left. Capt. Theobalds married Miss Brown, sister

of Judge William 0. Brown, of Harrison County. They

raised a large familj' of children. He removed to a farm

near the " Stamping Ground " in Scott County about 1820,

where he died.

The first court house erected in the town stood on the

public square, near the site occupied by the present hand-

some structure. The lower story was of stone and very

rough, and upon this a frame building was erected for the

court rooms proper. A flight of steps from the ground to

the second story on the south side was the mode of ap-

proach to the court room. The lower story was divided in-

to rooms that were rented out for the benefit of the town.

Here schools were kept, and various tradesmen occupied

these rooms that were rented out annually to the highest

bidder. This house was built about 1793 or 1794, and

after fulfilling its particular purpose of dispensing justice,

it was also used for schools, churches and general meetings.

It was pulled down in 1816, the frame-work removed up on

the north side of Main street, near the lot occupied by Dr.

Craig's late residence, and converted into an oil factory by

Mr. Charles CuUen.

Capt. Robert Hunter settled in Georgetown about the

year 1794. He removed from Virginia. He owned and

occupied the red frame house on the east side of Main

Cross street and the first house, north of and adjoining

Pratt's Hotel. Capt. Hunter was often a member of the

Board of Trustees, and a prominent citizen of the town.

Hezekiah Ford, AlexanderMcKoy, Thomas Johnston and

Adam Johnson were all early settlers from 1790 to 1800.

Alex. McKoy was the first Commissioner and Tax Collector

for many years of the town ; a soldier of the war of 1812.

He has one daughter living in the county, the mother of

Dr. Ford and the Rev. C. Ford of " Stamping Ground."

Capt. James H. Mahoney removed from Maryland and

settled in Georgetown in 1798 or 1799. He erected a frame

building on the east side of Main Cross street, on the site

now occupied by the " Pratt House ;
" here he conducted a

hotel for many years. About the year 1820, he removed

the frame and erected a brick house in its stead that forms

the front of the present hotel. He was a popular and suc-

cessful landlord, fully identified with the prosperity of the

town, and one of its prominent citizens. He lived to an ad-

vanced age, and died in 183-, leaving two daughters—Mrs.

Lewis West and Mrs. Chambers.

Bartlett Collins, the two McClungs, John and David,

Bernard Moore, James Bell, John and James Lemon were

very early settlers ofGeorgetown. Bernard Moore, for many

years, carried on saddlery and harness-making under the

old court house. In 1799, James Garrard, then Governor

of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, under an act of

the General Assembly of Kentucky, deeded unto Robert

Johnson, Bartlett Collins, John Hawkins, John Hunter,

Elijah Craig, Toliver Craig, William Henry, John Payne,

Samuel Shepard, William Warren and Abraham Buford,

Trustees to the Rittenhouse Academy, a certain tract or

parcel of land containing 5,900 acres of land, lying and be-

ing in the county of Christian and on the Cumberland

River, for the purpose of establishing and endowing an

academy.

—

S. F. Gano.

OHAPTEE VIII.

GEORGETOWN— GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT- GANO FAMILY— THE STEVENSONS, OFFUTTS AND OTHER PIONEERS-

VILLAGE ORGANIZATIONS—TRUSTEES—MANUFACTORIES AND BUSINESS INTERESTS-

MISCELLANEOUS SUBJECTS, ETC., ETC.

WE have endeavored to trace the decade of Georgetown

from the first insignificant and straggling village of

Lebanon, lying along the margin of the stream that glides

along its western border, to the more imposing town, with

its broad Main and Main Cross streets, with here and there

a substantial residence or business house, with a court

house and its necessary adjunct, a jail, erected on the pub-

lic square, conveniently located at the intersection of the

above streets, with an endowment of nearly 6,000 acres of

land for educational purposes, with schools, the preaching of

the Gospel ; with an intelligent, enterprising and industri-

ous community of mechanics and business men ; with a

county territory extending north to the Ohio River, for

Cincinnati then (Fort Washington) a village on our border,

just across the river, traded with Georgetown. Capt. Dan-

iel Gano, a Captain of artillery in the United States Army,

and stationed at Frankfort, with a corps of men had blazed

a road from Georgetown to the Ohio River, at the mouth

of Licking. This road was along the Dry Ridge, along

the way pioneered by the buffalo and Indians—the buffalo
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in quest of the Big Bone Lick, and the Indians in quest of

game and the scalps of their invaders. Georgetown grew

rapidly from 1800.

Richard M. G-ano settled here in that year ; he was born

in the city of New York July 7, 1775, and removed to

Kentucky with his father, the Rev. John Gano, and settled

at Frankfort in 1789 ; married Miss Elizabeth Ewing, of

Bedford County, Va., in 1797, and soon after removed to

to this place. He was a merchant for several j-ears ; volun-

teered in the war of 1812 as Major of Scott's regiment,

First Bat. ; commanded the regiment at the battle of the

Thames, and was brevetted a Brigadier General. He built

several houses in the town, and sold goods for many years

in the house on the southwest corner of Main and Cross

streets, now occupied by Kinsea Stone, as a grocery. He
removed to the property known,now as the Stedman Mill

property, soon after the war. He was one of the proprie-

tors of the city of Covington, with his brother Gen. John
S. Gano and Maj. D. Carneal, having purchased the Ken-
nedy farm and laid out the town in 1814-15. He died at

his home October 22, 1815, in the full vigor of his man-

hood. His first wife died April 9 , 1812, and his second

wife, Mrs. D. Goforth, survived him, and afterward was

Mrs. Joel Scott, of Frankfort.

Gen. Gano was a man of great energy and will, and of

enlarged benevolence, and aided materially in building the

first Baptist Church and promoting education in the town.

Six children of his first wife survived him, four of whom
are still living—Mrs. M. H. Ewing, Mrs. C. V. Henry, Elder

John A. Gano and Dr. S. F. Gano, the eldest of whom is

eighty-two, and the youngest seventy-five years.

Judge Cary L. Clarke came to Georgetown with his wife,

Mrs. Eliza Clarke, about the year 1802 ; he was a lawyer by
profession, a man of culture and intelligence. They re-

moved here from the city of New York. Their residence

stood on the southeastern corner of the large lot now be-

ing very rapidly built up. The house stood on the site of

the building recently owned and erected by Mr. W. S.

Elgin, on the corner of Hamilton and Bourbon streets. It

was a plain, substantial two-story frame house, with large

grounds and comfortable surroundings. It was burned
down a few years since. Judge Clarke was a Judge of

the Circuit Court and for many years Clerk of the Circuit

and County Courts. He was a prominent and influential

citizen. He had a nail factory, in connection with Moses
L. Miller, for several years after the war of 1812. He
died July 23, 1819. His widow survived him many years

;

she died August 23, 1854, a most excellent and devoted

member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. They left five

children, one son—Dr. James Clarke, of New Orleans, and

four daughters, only two of whom are living—Mrs. Kate

Applegate, of Louisville, and Mrs. Charlotte HoUings-

worth, of Hannibal, Mo.

Georgetown now became a real, live place and assumed

the dignity of an incorporated town, by virtue of an act

of the Legislature

:

Scott County, Sot. .

rBBRUART COUBT, 1804.

John Mosby and John Thomson, gentlemen, are appointed

Judges to superintend the election for Trustees for the town of

Georgetown for the present year, and John Hawkins, Clerk pro

tem., agreeable to an act of the G-eneral Assembly.

A copy. Test: John Hawkins, Olerk.

The said Judges having previously advertised the citizens of

Georgetown that an election for their Trustees would be held at

the court house on this day, to wit, the 10th day of March, 1804,

met agreeable thereto and received the votes, as follows in the

poll below:

Persons voted for—John Branham, William Story, R. M. Gano,
J. Hawkins, J. Wallace, John Lemon, B. Moore, S. Shepard,
William Warren, Lynn West, M. Hawkins, R. Hunter, John
McClung, William Theobalds, William Browne.
And the following are the names of the voters: Samuel Shep-

ard, James McClung, John Lemon, Jr., John Green, James Ma-
honey, James Crawford, Zenas Shepard, Thomas OfEutt, James
Bell, Alexander Stewart, William Theobalds, John Branham,
Lynn West, Henry Hardie, Thomas Story, William Story, Will-

iam Browne, M. Hawkins, John Stites, Job Stevenson, James
Lemon, Jr., Adam Johnson, Heza Ford, James Ewart, B. Moore,
John Greenhalgh, Thomas Marntn, William Warren, Joseph
Dean, John Dean, William Patterson, Robert Hunter, Lindsey
Campbell, Nicholas Bitner, Isaac Ferrell, R. M. Gano, Charles
Graham, David McClung, John Hawkins, Fred Warnuck, Alex-
ander McCoy, Jr., John Wallace, John Patterson, Hugh Hart,

James Clark.

March 10, 1804.

We being appointed Judges to the above election for Trustees
of Georgetown, do proclaim that William Story, Samuel Shep-
ard, John Branham, John Hawkins, R. M. Gano, Lynn West
and Robert Hunter are duly elected agreeable to the above poll.

John Mosby,
John Thomson.

Test: John Hawkins, Olerk pro tem.

From the above election, it appears, there were forty-six

voters, residents of the town. It might be assumed that

there were from 250 to 300 citizens in the place.

Job Stevenson was born in Baltimore County, Md.,

in 1773, and, with his father Thomas Stevenson, re-

moved to Kentucky in 1790. They were conveyed down
the Ohio River on flat-boats, to Limestone (now Maysville),

thence on their pack-horses to Washington, which was then

a fort, defended by Simon Kenton and others.

It was not long after this that Capt. Hubble, descend-

ing the Ohio River on a flat-boat with a party of immi-
grants, was fiercely attacked by a large party of Indians,

who, after a desperate fight, were repulsed. Thomas Ste-
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venson, with Kenton and others, met this gallant band at

Maysville, aided them in landing and burying their dead.

Thomas Stevenson settled on a tract of land near Fort

Washington. Job Stevenson labored on his father's farm,

until, in his sixteenth year, he learned the saddler's trade in

Washington. In 1803 or 1804, he started out on a " tramp "

as a "journeyman saddler," and, by the-merest accident he

reached Georgetown, where he soon found employment, and

worked for several years, until he commenced business for

himself. He was an industrious and energetic man, work-

ing at his bench night and day, rather than disappoint a

customer. His business increased so rapidly that he was

soon enabled to give employment to as many as twenty-five

hands, many of these men of families, who derived their

support from his establishment. He manufactured a very

large quantity of all kinds of work in the harness and sad-

dlery business. Carrying on a large trade in lumber, salt,

iron castings, machinery, stock of all kinds, extending

his trading operations, through the mountain regions

of Kentucky and to Cincinnati, Ohio. Having two or three

farms, and giving employment to large numbers of men in

his many departments of business. He accumulated a

large property, built houses, etc. The house destroyed by

the late fire, owned by A. W. Forward, he occupied as a

shop for many years. The house owned and occupied re-

cently by Maj. B. F. Bradley, was built by him for his resi-

dence, and many other houses in town. After more than

half a century spent in close application to business, and

by his industry and attention having amassed a large

property, he embarked in politics, representing his county

in the Legislature several terms. Neglecting his business or

leaving it in the hands of others, he became involved in

surety, his mind lost its balance and he took his own life in

1837. He was a Magistrate of the county for many years,

and it was proverbial of him that when litigated or trouble-

some cases came before him, he split the difierence, or, like

Solomon, divided the child in dispute. In 1807, he mar-

ried Miss Mary Jones, daughter of Mrs. Tomlinson, a lady

of rare excellence and piety, and a school-teacher in

Georgetown. Mrs. Tomlinson, formerly Mrs. Jones, was

an intelligent lady, a pioneer and leading member of the

M. E. Church, and her house was the home of the Method-

ist preacher for many years. Squire Stevenson married

his second wife, Mrs. Honeycutt {nee Blair), sister of Hon.

Preston Blair, formerly of Frankfort, Ky., in 1835. His

first wife left three sons—Rev. Evan Stevenson, Edward

and Hiram, only one of the last is living, in Illinois.

In 1806, Joseph S. Norris came from Maryland and set-

tled in Georgetown. He lived on Hamilton, near the resi-

dence of Judge Rhoton, and conducted a cabinet-maker's

shop, manufacturing furniture, etc. He was often elected a

member of the Board of Trustees, and served as County

Surveyor for a great many years, and died on his farm, two

miles north of Georgetown.

Thomas Offutt, from Maryland, was living in George-

town in 1807 ; he was a boot and shoe-maker, and lived on

the corner of Main Cross street and Jefierson, on the site

now occupied by Judge Payne's residence. He was Over-

seer of the Streets and Tax Collector of the town, for some

time. He died on his place, on the Cincinnati pike some
ten miles north of the town, at an advanced age.

James B. Crawford settled in Georgetown in.1807. He
was, for a great many years, the jailer of Scott County,

while the jail was on the public square his residence was

in the house on Main Cross street, west side, now occupied

by Mrs. Oliver Gaines ; after the new jail was built, he occu-

pied the house of the jailer on the Spring Branch. Mr.

Crawford was often a member of the Board of Trust-

ees. He married a daughter of Mrs. Miller, of the county,

the first wife of the late Benjamin Osborn, of this county.

Mrs. Crawford was a most devoted and pious member of

Methodist Church, a highly intelligent and gifted \sAy.

William Brown came to Georgetown to reside about the

year 1806. He carried on the manufacture of hats, fur

and wool, on a large scale, employing from eight to ten

hands, and trading largely with the neighboring counties.

He accumulated quite a large property by his industry and

enterprise. He built and owned the two-story brick house

on the east side of Main Cross street, now occupied by Mrs.

Dr. Grissim
;
he likewise built and resided in the house

just south of the former, now owned by Capt. J. L. Sin-

clair. His shop stood on the lot occupied by the coal-yard

attached to this property. He aided materially in build-

ing the first Presbyterian Church. He married Mrs-

Adams, of Fayette, before removing to this place.

George Douglass Brown left Ireland in 1807, and came

to Georgetown the same year. He worked with his brother,

William, several years, and afterward carried on the busi-

ness alone many years, when he engaged in merchandising.

He built and owned the brick house on the north side of

Main street, just west of the Corner Hotel, lately destroyed

by fire.

John Adams, born in 1777, in Hagerstown, Md., moved

to Georgetown about the year 1801, and settled on the hill

in the southern part of the town, and occupied the house

now owned and occupied by his daughter, Mrs. Priscilla

White. He carried on for many years an extensive estab-

lishment for the manufacture of fur and wool hats. He
employed as many as ten or twelve hands in his business.

After supplying the home demand, he had an extensive
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trade with the neighboring towns and counties. He traded

for young mules and other stock, which he reared on his

farm near town.

A number employed by him were heads of families,

among whom Mr. John Strong, Maj. John Felty, a brave

and distinguished soldier of the war of 1812, Mr. Frederick

Zimmerman and others. Mr. Adams married Miss Mary

Downing, of Fayette County, and raised eleven children,

four only of whom are living. He lived to an old age
;

died March 10, 1837
;
his wife survived him many years.

Frederick Zimmerman was born in Lancaster, Penn.,

. where he served an apprenticeship to the hatting business.

He came to Lexington, where he married Miss Mary Hag-

gard, daughter of Mr. John Haggard, an early settler of

that city. He removed to Georgetown in 1806, and settled

in the southern part of the town, in a house that stood on

the east side of Main Cross street, on the corner occupied

by Clark's carriage shop. He worked in the establishment

of Mr. John Adam's many years. He died at an advanced

age, leaving two sons and two daughters—John F. Zim-

merman, a journalist and publisher of Danville, Ky., and

David Zimmerman, for many years a merchant in Lex-

ington.

Josiah Pitts came from Virginia to Kentucky, and set-

tled about the year 1806 or 1807. He married Miss Lucy
Craig, daughter of Mr. Elijah Craig, and lived on the hill

west of the town, in the house lately occupied by A. Keene
Richards. Perhaps no citizen of Georgetown contributed

more to the material interests of the town and county dur-

ing his business career than did Josiah Pitts. He em-

barked largely in trade, purchasing all the tobacco, wheat

and flour, hemp bagging cordage, bacon and whisky pro-

duced, not only in this county, but in the neighboring

regions. This produce he shipped by flat-boats from

Frankfort and the mouth of Salt River below Louisville,

where it was hauled by wagon, and once in the year, at

the proper stage of water, it was carried to Natchez and

New Orleans, and exchanged for gold and silver and bills

on the East. For many years, Mr. Pitts conducted a very

lucrative trade. He employed many of the young and act-

ive men of the county, who would conduct this flotilla of

boats, dispose of the produce, and pack the specie back

on their persons or on Indian ponies. Many young men
started in this way, and the farmers received pay for their

surplus produce. Tobacco was the staple then. The Old

Virginia farmers bringing with them from the old State

the tendency to like agricultural pursuits, large quantities

of tobacco were raised in the county. Hemp was also

raised in very early times ; when it was brought to Ken-

tucky, we have been unable to learn. It was not specially

a product of Virginia. There were three hemp factories

in operation in the town and neighborhood at that early

day.

Mr. Pitts contributed largely to the facilities for the

trade of the place. He had large means, and he used it

for the benefit of others as well as himself He was fond

of fine blood horses, and indulged his Old Virginian fond-

ness for racing.

The depression that followed the war of 1812 overtook

him, and greatly reduced his circumstanees. He died in

1815, preceded a short time by his wife. They left five

children, all of whom are dead.

Applegate & McPhatridge were conducting a tailoring

establishment in Georgetown in 1805-6. John Applegate

was the son of Mrs. Osborn, by her first husband. William

Applegate (killed bj;- the Indians) was born in Scott County
;

carried on a large tailoring establishment for many years,

and died in 1866.

He married Miss Ford, daughter of Hezekiah Foid, one

of the first settlers of the place. She was an excellent and

pious lady. She died in 1860, and left three children, one

daughter, Mrs. C. West, and two sons, William H. Apple-

gate, of Louisville, and J. E. Applegate, of this place. In

1807, Georgetown had quite an accession to her population

from the city of New York—Mr. James Betts and wife,

who came from England. They settled in Georgetown, in

1807. Mr. Betts was a butcher, and supplied the town for

several years ; he finally settled on a farm near town, on

Elkhorn Creek, now occupied by his daughter. Miss Sarah

Betts.

Mr. Betts was the first, and up to his death, remained

a Deacon of the Baptist Church.

Three children survive, one daughter, as above, and two

sons, James and Sampson, of this place.

William Hewitt and wife were from England, and set-

tled in Georgetown in 1807. They came from the city of

New York. He followed the business of tailoring for many
years

;
he was one of the constituent members of the

Baptist Church. He lived on the northeast corner of

Main and Water streets, near the bridge. He died in

1817, his wife having preceded him some years. His son-

in-law, Mr. James Chalk, came to Kentucky with him, and
settled in Georgetown. He was a tallow chandler, and
furnished light for the good citizens of the place. Mr.

Chalk was an excellent man, a Deacon and leading member
of the Baptist Church. He owned and occupied the house

on the south side of Limestone street, now occupied by
Mr. William Oflfut. His widow survived him several years

;

one son, James, and three daughters are living, one (Mrs. T.

I. Burns) a citizen of this place. William Hutchings and
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wife, English people, came to Kentucky at the same time

with the above, and settled here, but soon after removed to

a farm near town.

Dr. William H. Richardson removed to Georgetown

from Fayette County, in 1806. He occupied a house that

stood on the south side of Main street, on the site of the

Farmers' Branch Bank. He practiced his profession suc-

cessfully up to the war of 1812, when he volunteered and

served as surgeon in Col. R. M. Johnson's regiment of

mounted men.

After the war, he removed to Lexington.

He was Professor of Obstetrics in the Medical Depart-

ment of Transylvania University. He practiced his pro-

fession successfully many years, and in 1831 removed to a

farm in Fayette County.

In 1807, a Masonic Lodge of A. Y. Masons was char-

tered and established in Georgetown. The following were

among the earliest members : Cary L. Clarke, Samuel

Shepard, Robert Hunter, R. M. Gano, Dr. John Stites,

Dr. William H. Richardson, Col. R. M. Johnson, Joseph

Dean,William Warren, John Holroyd, John D. Craig, James

Grant, Thomas W. Hawkins, Josiah Pitts, William Sutton,

Abraham S. Van De Graflf and others, many of whom were

initiated previous to the war of 1812.

This was the beginning of old Mt. Vernon, No. 14.

She dwelt in many places before she finallj^ settled down

in her own temple, where she now holds her regular con-

claves. The old lodge has a grand history, of her own,

that would make a book full of interest. Many great and

good men have gone from her hall to every department o±

life, to teach a better and higher manhood and a nobler

charity.

In 1809, the first market house was built in Georgetown.

It was erected on the east side of the public square. It

was built by John Shellers and Thomas Fisher and I. Pines,

at a cost of $404.43. It was of brick, and well arranged.

In 1807, John McFall, an Englishman, removed from

New York to Georgetown, bringing a large stock of dry

goods ; he purchased the then new brick house on the cor-

ner of Main and Cross streets, now occupied by K. Stone.

He died within the year, and his widow, after a few years,

returned to New York.

Thomas W. Martin, the first Postmaster, died September,

1807. George W. Miller succeeded him as Postmaster, and

died in 1814.

Dr. John Holroyd and Theodoric Boulware taught a

school in the Rittenhouse Academy ;
Dr. Holroyd was a

graduate of Brown University; they both afterward be-

came Baptist ministers.

In 1809, Mrs. De Charmes and her daughter. Miss Sarah,

with her son James, settled in Georgetown. They were an

English family, and removed from New York. Mrs. De
Charmes established a female school of a high grade,

where, in addition to the usual branches, music, drawing,

and other accomplishments were added. This school had

a fine reputation. Scholars were drawn from Lexington,

Frankfort, Louisville, and the teachers were refined and

cultivated ladies. The building stood on Water street

—

the same house erected by Mr. Craig in 1789. When
the war came on, the school was suspended, and the

ladies removed to Frankfort, where a British officer, a pris-

oner at Frankfort on parole, captured Miss Sarah, and after

the war, carried them back to England.

In 1809, Dr. Alex Montgomery settled for the practice

of medicine ; he volunteered in the war of 1812, and was

killed at the disastrous defeat of River Raisin. He was

highly esteemed by all who knew him.

In 1809, Peter Mason kept the Georgetown Hotel. He

married Miss Grant, and in a few years removed to the

country.

He was succeeded by Capt. Mahoney, who kept this house

for a short time. It was here, for the first time in the his-

tory of the town, the first manslaughter was committed,

and great was the sensation it produced. For years it was

the theme of conversation in its terrible particulars. Duly

killed Holland in an encounter with knives. A conflict was

expected on their meeting—both were prepared. They

had been friends—young men from the same neighborhood.

They had been trading down the river, quarreled about a

settlement ;
both anticipated the meeting, and although

Holland was regarded as the more dangerous of the two

men. Duly killed him in the first onset. The excitement

was very great. Hon. John Rowan, regarded then as the

ablest criminal lawyer in the State, was brought to George-

town to defend Daly. He was found guilty, and sent to

the penitentiary for manj' years. In the present days of

lax laws and loose justice, it might have been called a case

of self-defense.

In 1811, the first newspaper, the Telegraph, was estab-

lished in "Georgetown ; it was published and edited by

Shadrach Penn. From its appearance, it was printed on

paper manufactured at the paper mill that stood on the

Spring Branch. It is well printed and very readable. A
publication of the by-laws for the government of George-

town, signed by John Branham, Chairman, and William

Shepard, Clerk, would be very good reading for the present

board. John R. Mahan informed the public that he con-

tinues the saddling business in all its various branches.

Pitts, Cowan & Co., commission merchants, Natchez, Miss.,

keep every description of Kentucky produce.
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J. W. Hawkins wants those who are indebted to him

for merchandise to bring in their hemp, and would like to

purchase twelve or fifteen thousand gallons of whisky.

Dr. G-. C. Berry has commenced the practice of physic

and surgery in Georgetown and its vicinity.

S. I. Richardson, counselor and attorney at law, will

punctually attend the Fayette, Bourbon and Scott Circuit

Court. He resided in Georgetown.

Peter Mason has removed from Georgetown to Mount
Sterling, Ky., and has opened a hotel.

Dr. William B. Keen has moved to Georgetown, to the

house lately occupied by Dr. John Stites, deceased.

Robert P. Henry will continue to practice law in the

Scott Circuit Court. His office is in Mr. Job Stevenson's

new brick house.

Mr. Penu's paper is filled with good reading matter.

After the paper was discontinued Mr. Penn married Miss

M. George, daughter of Mr. Leonard George, who kept the

corner hotel on Main and Cross streets.

Mr. Penn soon after removed to Louisville, where he

edited the Advertiser, a leading Democratic paper in the

State. Mr. Penn was an able journalist and ready writer,

and George D. Prentice, as editor of the Journal, encoun-

tered no abler or worthier foe than Shadrach Penn.

Among those who went forth to the field of battle from

Georgetown, was Charley Mansfield, a printer in the Tele-

graph office, who never returned to chronicle the brilliant

victory of the Thames. He was a volunteer in Capt.

"West's company, Scott's regiment.

In 1809, Messrs. Wolfe & Henderson removed from Pitts-

burgh to Georgetown and settled here. They carried on

the manufacture of powder. Mr. J. Wolfe removed to the

country and Mr. Henderson died a short time afterward.

His widow was a useful and important character in the

town and county for more than a fourth of a century. She

was a- most excellent nurse and midwife, and stood well in

the community as a true Christian woman. She married

for her second husband John Beatty, and was left a widow
again in a few years. She was a kind, attentive nurse, and

rendered good service in the cholera of 1833. She died

about 1854, leaving three daughters—Mary, who married

Judge B. T. Thompson ; Adeline, who married John
Chaham

; and Betty Beatty.

Mr. William Tompkins Shepard was born in George-

town in 1793, perhaps the first child born in the place, old-

est son of Samuel Shepard
;
he was for many years Clerk of

the Board of Trustees ; studied law with his father ; vol-

unteered in the war of 1812 ; was at the battle of the

Thames ; returned to Georgetown and died January, 1858.

Mr. Charles Frazier settled in Georgetown in 1811, and

practiced medicine for three or four years. He was an ex-

cellent physician and very highly esteemed in the com
munity.

Rowland Hannah removed to Georgetown in 1807 ; he

was a widower with two daughters—^Sally, afterward Mrs.

Greenup Keene, the mother of S. Y. Keene ; and Nancy,

afterward Mrs. William Bmison, still living a widow in the

northern part of the county.

Mr. Hannah was an Irishman by birth, and came to

Kentucky at an early day. He was a merchant and sold

goods many years under the old court house. It was the

custom then for merchants to pack their specie on horse-

back. They would meet at Maysville or some other point

from the neighboring towns, and go in a body for mutual

protection to Philadelphia. Mr. Hannah rode the same

horse nine years in succession across the mountains, carry-

ing his gold and silver for the purchase of goods. He was

a successful merchant, and retired in his old age from busi-

ness in comfortable circumstances. He married a second

wife, Miss Mattie Emison, of Scott County, who survived

her husband several years, and died in 1854, leaving four

daughters—Mrs. James H. Davies, Mrs. Irene Hibbard,

Miss Margaret and Miss Lizzie, who still reside in George-

town.

Capt. Lewis West was born in Georgetown in 1800

—

the oldest living man born in the town—the son of Lynn
West, with whom he worked at the gunsmith's business.

He became skillful in the manufacture of rifles and pistols,

and, after he embarked in the business for himself, had or-

ders for more than he could furnish, employing several

hands in his shop. He built a house on the east side of

Hamilton street, corner of Washington, where Mr. Judson
Stiflfee now lives, and his shop occupied the opposite corner.

He lived in this house and conducted the gunsmith busi-

ness from his boyhood until he was seventy-nine years of

age, and is now in flue health at eighty-two. He married

Miss Sarah Mahoney, daughter of Capt. James H. Mahoney,
in 1823, and, after half a century of married life, she died

in 1874, and left flve children.

Rev. Joseph Smith Tomlinson, D. D., was born in George-

town in the year 1802. Received his early education from his

mother, Mrs. Sarah Tomlinson. He was apprenticed to his

brother-in-law, in his twelfth year, to learn the trade of sad-

dle and harness making. After a few years, he became
clerk and manager of the large establishment. All his leis-

ure moments were devoted to the acquisition of knowledge
and the improvement of his mind. He united with the

Methodist Church while very young, and, in his seventeenth

year, he was licensed to exercise his gifts as an exhorter.

In 1820 and 1821, he was enabled to attend the Rittenhouse
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Academy, then under the care of Mr. Charles O'Hara, a fine

scholar and admirable teacher.

Although devoting a portion of his time to the bench

and shop, he was so close a student as to keep up with his

classes. He acquired a good knowledge of the Latin and

Grreek languages, and of Mathematics, in which he excelled.

His mind was logical.

Having prepared himself for college, he was enabled, by

the kind offices of Mr. Clay, to enter Transylvania Uni-

versity as a beijeflciary of the Morrisson Fund.

A diligent student, after four years' close application, he

graduated in the class of 1825. He was selected to deliver

the- welcome address to La Fayette, on behalf of the uni-

versity.

Very soon after, he was elected to a professorship in

Augusta College, Kentucky. Dr. Tomlinson was not a

man to stand still. He was an indefatigable student, and

in a few years he was elected to the presidency of the in-

stitution, under the control of the Methodist Denomina-

tion, of Kentucky. He remained at the head of this insti-

tution until 1849, when the dissensions in the Kentucky

Conference, growing out of the slavery question, resulted

in the withdrawal of its charter.

He was soon after elected to and accepted a professor-

ship in the Ohio University at Athens, and the year follow-

ing elected its president, which he declined on account of

his failing health.

Dr. Tomlinson was at ti mes the subject of great nervous

prostration and mental despondency. His mind had been

too long and too heavily taxed, and mental alienation fol-

lowed. He finished his course amid the bitter lamenta-

tions of the whole community. He diea at Neville, Ohio,

June 4, 1853.

Dr. Tomlinson was married three times. His first wife.

Miss Eliza P. C. Light, daughter of Rev. George C. Light,

of Lexington, he married in 1825 ; she was the mother of

four children, and died in 1842. His second wife was

Mrs. Campbell, daughter of John Armstrong, and his third

wife was Mrs. Davis, of Ohio, who is still living.

Dr. Fletcher Tomlinson, brother of the above, was born

in Georgetown in 1802, and received his early instruction

from his excellent and pious mother ;
he likewise served

an apprenticeship to the saddlery business in Mr. Steven-

son's shop. He studied medicine and practiced his pro-

fession in Bracken County.

Ben. B. Ford was born in Virginia, son of the Rev. Reuben

Ford, a Baptist minister ; removed to Kentucky in 1811, and

settled in Georgetown. He taught a school in 1812, in the

house on the west side of the Spring Branch, where the

Desha monument now stands. He was a fine scholar, had

a large school, a lawyer by profession ; he gave up his

school and commenced the practice of the law in 1816. He
married Miss C. Flournoy, daughter of David Flournoy,

Esq., of Scott County, in 1818 ; soon after removed to his

farm in the county. After a few years, he returned to town,

and was Clerk of the County Court from 1827 for many
years. In 1837, the Clerk's office on the southwest corner

of the public square was burned down, and the records and

public papers were burned or badly mutilated. The Cir-

cuit Court office was kept in the same building and shared

the same fate.

Mr. Ford was an early friend and patron of Georgetown

College, a Trustee and Secretary of the Board from

its organization until 1850 ; a prominent member of the

Baptist Church, himself and wife having united with the

church in 1827. He died on his farm near town in 1858,

his wife having preceded him a few years. They left two

children, a son and daughter.

John C. Buckner was born in Fredericksburg, Va., and

came with his father's family to Kentucky at an early day.

In 1811, he removed to Georgetown, and was merchandis-

ing with Abner Le Grand, of Lexington. He continued

in business alone for several years ; he built and occu-

pied the house on Main street, now occupied by Mrs. Jane

Miller.

He married Miss Mary E. Gano, daughter of Gen. R.

M. Gano, 1813. He removed to Lexington and died in

July, 1825.

His widow survived him several years, and died near

Covington, Ky., July 11, 1 850, leaving three children

—

Elizabeth G., wife of M. K. Dudley, Esq., of Covington, Ky.,

and R. M. and William H. Buckner (both of whom are

dead).

In 1813, Mr. Harmon Stiffee removed to Georgetown

with his family. He was a harness maker, and worked

many years in the large establishment of Squire Stevenson.

He died at an advanced age, in 1833, during the preva-

lence of the cholera. His widow lived many years after

and died, leaving two sons—George and John—and several

daughters. Mr. George G. Stiflfee came with his father to

Georgetown, and was apprenticed to Job Stevenson in

1813. In 1825, in connection with Henry Clarke, carried

on the business of saddle and harness making. After a

few years, Mr. Clarke died, and in 1834 Mr. Abner Lyon
;

they conducted the same business for thirteen years.

He married Mrs. Susan Crockett, daughter of Capt.

Lynn West, in 1842 ; they are both still living. Mr. Stiflfee

was a member of the Board of Trustees of Georgetown

College for many years, and a Deacon of the Baptist

Church.— Gano.
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OHAPTEE IX.

GEORGETOWN—RELIGIOUS AND EDUCATIONAL—THE BAPTISTS, METHODISTS, PRESBYTERIANS, ETC.—EARLY MINISTERS

— CHRISTIAN CHURCH ORGANIZATION— BARTON W. STONE— OTHER DENOMINATIONS— COLORED

CHURCHES, ETC.— GEORGETOWN COLLEGE— BACON COLLEGE— THE MILITARY

INSTITUTE— THE FEMALE ACADEMY— OTHER INSTITUTIONS.

THE first Baptist Church was organized at Georgetown

in 1811. The Eev. George Biggs presided. It was

constituted with the following members, viz.: John Haw-

kins, John Thomson and wife, William Hewitt and wife,

James Betts, James Chalk and wife, William Hutchings

and wife, John McFall and wife ; Mr. John Thomson, Clerk
;

William Hewitt and James Betts, as Deacons. They met

for preaching in the old court house once a month, under

the pastorate of Mr. Biggs. Mrs. Alice Betts was the first

person united to the church by baptism, in 1811. Soon

afterward, there were added, by letter, John Branham and

wife, Dr. John Stites, Charles CuUen and Mrs. Doleman.

The Rev. Mr. Biggs continued to preach monthly until

1814, when the Rev. Theodoric Bouldware succeeded to the

pastorate. The church prospered, and many were added

by baptism and letter.

Two of those who united with the church by letter

became preachers, viz., William Spencer and Robert Reed.

" At a meeting of the Commissioners in Georgetown, on

Saturday, February 9, 1812, for the purpose of carrying

into effect the building of a meeting-house in said town,

upon examining the amount of subscription papers, find

that upward of $1,000 is already subscribed. All good

citizens, who feel themselves interested in the accomplish-

ment of this laudable undertaking, are again called on for

their assistance. M. Hawkins, Clerk.''

The above advertisement is found in the Telegraph, a

newspaper published at that date. This eflTort to build a

meeting-house was not accomplished until 1816, when the

first brick church was finished and occupied. It stood on

the site now occupied by the First Colored Baptist Church,

in the northwestern part of the town, near the Spring

Branch. In 1818, the Rev. Samuel Trott was pastor
; he

also taught a classical school in the town. He remained

in Kentucky about two years. Rev. John Taylor occa-

sionally supplied the church. In 1821, the church was
supplied by two ministers, the Rev. P. S. Fall and Rev.

William Spencer as co-pastors. This double pastorate did

not prove beneficial to the church.

In 1823, the Rev. Jacob Creth, Sr., succeeded to the

pastorate, and under his ministry a number were added to

the church. His nephew, the Rev. Jacob Creth, Jr., suc-

ceeded him, for two years, preaching monthly. In 1827,

the Rev. William C. Buck became the pastor of the church

and during the first year of his ministr3']a remarkable re-

vival of religion prevailed, and more than one hundred were

added to^he church. In this year, the first Sabbath-school

was established, and has continued to the^|present time.

Mrs. M. H. Bwing was a teacher in that school, and is still

living.

The Rev. John Bryce, from Richmond, Va., succeeded

to the pastorate in 1829, and during his ministry many
were added to the church. In 1832, the Rev. Addison N.

Lewis, from Virginia, succeeded to the care of the church.

During his pastorate, several were added to its membership

The Revs. George and Edmund Waller and Dr. Silas M.

Noel and others preached occasionally for the church about

this time.

Dr. J. S. Bacon, President of the college, preached as a

supply, as did also Dr. B. F. Parnsworth,|who succeeded him

as President in 1836. The Rev. James Black succeeded

to the pastorate in 1836 ; he was a successful minister and
very acceptable preacher. In 1840, Dr. Howard Malcolm,

D. D., was elected to the Presidency of Georgetown College,

and a few months later to the pastorate of the church. He
was successful in both stations ; a man of cultivation, great

energy and will ; he left a strong impress, not only on the

church, but also on the community.

During his pastorate, the present commodious house

was erected, on Hamilton street, with the efficient assistance

of Gabriel B. Long and others. The old house was leased

to the colored members of the church. Rev. George C.

Sedgwick was pastor of the church in 1842. Dr. Duncan
R. Campbell came to Georgetown from Mississippi in 1846,

and was soon after called to the pastorate of the church.

During a protracted meeting held in January and February

of 1847, a large number were added, and the church was
greatly strengthened and built up.
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In 1850, Rev. J. L. Reynolds, D. D., of South Carolina,

elected to the Presidency of the college, sueceeded to the

pastorate, and served the church with acceptance for two

years. He was an eloquent and accomplished minister.

He was succeeded by the Rev. J. M. Frost, Sr., in 1852.

In the first year of his ministry, more than seventy were

added to the church. He was an earnest, zealous, devoted

preacher of the Gospel, but his health failed. The Rev-

Samuel W. Lynd was elected Professor of Theology in the

college, and succeeded to the pastorate of the church in

November, 1853. Dr. Lynd was a successful pastor, a

preacher of rare excellence.

The Rev. A. W. La Rue succeeded Dr. Lynd as pastor

of the church in 1857 ; many were added under his pastor-

ate. He was a humble, pious and godly man.

The Rev. T. J. Stevenson succeeded to the pastorate of

the church in 1859, and during the very trying period of

the civil war was an acceptable and useful minister. The

Rev. A. C. Graves and the Rev. C. Lewis supplied the

church in 1865, and were succeeded by the Rev. J. B.

Tharp in 1867.

The Rev. Henry McDonald succeeded to the pastorate

of the church in 1869, a;nd quite a number were added

during his ministry. He was succeeded by the Rev. R. M.

Dudley, in 1877. The Rev. C. G. Skillman succeeded as

pastor in November, 1879, and is the present efficient and

zealous minister of the church. A number have been

added during his pastorate. Its present officers are Prof

D. Thomas, Dr. John M. Lewis, Warren Clayton and George

G. Stiffee, Deacons ; H. Nannelly, Treas. ; Prof Farn-

ham. Clerk. There is a large and well-ordered Sabbath

school under the superintendence of Prof J. J. Rucker, ten

teachers and officers ;
average attendance, one hundred and

twenty.

The first Methodist Church was constituted about 1817,

with Mrs. Sarah Tomlinson, Mrs. Cassandra Stevenson, Job

Stevenson and wife, Michael Goddard and wife, Phil B.

Price and wife, William Shellers, Sr., John Shellers, Joel

Peak. For many years, they met in private houses, the

court house, and occasionally in the First Baptist Church.

They had preaching from the circuit preachers, which was

seldom, as the circuit then organized was very large. The

Rev. William Burke, H. McDaniel, Jonathan Stamper,

John Ray, Harris, Gunn, Edward Stevenson and others who

itinerated the circuit. Their first house of worship was

erected about the year 1820, and stood on the east side of

Mulberry street, south of Main. It was a plain, brick

structure, with ample room for the congregation. Here

Bishop Crouch, the Rev. Henry Bascom, in his earlier days.

Rev. George Light, and the Rev. Joseph S. Tomlinson, the

great revivalist Maffltt, and others supplied the pulpit,

while numbers were added to the church. In 1847, the

present house on Hamilton street was built. The Rev.

Evan Stevenson was mainly instrumental in its erection.

From time to time many and large additions were made to

the church. In 1849, S. S. Deering supplied the churchy

and in 1850, Rev. Evan Stevenson was the supply
;

in

1853-61, Rev. W. F. F. Spuell; in 1857-58, Stephen Nol-

and ; in 1855-56, Hartwell J. Perry preached for the

church ; 1867-68, P. L. Henderson and William McD. Ab-

bott, and in 1869-70, S. Noland ; 1871, James A. Hender-

son
; 1872, James B. Letton, and in 1873, H. W. Abbott

;

1874, Richard Deering; 1875-76, John Reeves; 1877,

George D. Turner ; in 1878-79, .

The Particular Baptist Church was organized in 1827.

Those who united in the organization were Mrs. Mary

Hawkins, Mrs. Elizabeth Breckenridge, Thomas H. Graves

and wife, and James Sullivan and wife. Their first house

for worship was erected in 1837, the present house is sit-

uated on the northeast corner of Main and Mulberry

streets ; was built in 1856, and occupies the site of the

former house. Elder Thomas P. Dudley was present at the

constitution of the church, and from its organization has

been its pastor for more than fifty years, having resigned

some two years since, on account of his great age and in-

firmities. He was succeeded by Elder J. T. Moore, a citi-

zen of Georgetown, who was born in Scott County, and

educated in Georgetown.

The Christian Church.—In the past history of our

native village, Georgetown, a more deeply interesting

period will not be found than that embracing the residence

as a citizen and the labors as a teacher of the learned and

pious Barton W. Stone, who may be justly said to be one

of the founders of this large and respectable body of

Christians. Mr. Stone was born in Maryland, December

24, 1772. After acquiring in Virginia and North Carolina

a good English and classical education, he removed to

Kentucky in the winter of 1796-97. He was married to

Miss Elizabeth Campbell, daughter of Col. William Camp-

bell, of Millersburg, Ky. He came as a preacher to George-

town in 1811. The distinctive plea of Mr. Stone and his

associates, was for the union of all Christians, " upon the

foundation of the prophets and apostles," the word of God

the only rule, the name Christian the only patronymic. I

went with my father to hear him preach in the old court

house. His first wife died in 1809, leaving him four little

daughters, and late in 1811 he married his second wife.

Miss Celia W. Bowen, near Nashville, Tenn.

In 1816-17, he removed to Georgetown to take charge

as Principal of Rittenhouse Academy. It was the good
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fortune of the writer to be placed in the school of Elder

Stone, at Georgetown ; under him much time was devoted

to the study of the languages. He preserved remarkable

order in his school by his kind and dignified demeanor.

The school was governed by kindness and love. To the

influence of this great and good man, I owe under G-od,

much of the happiness I have realized in life. His resi-

dence was a short distance east of the town. Here he very

soon organized a small church of six or seven members.

Of these, Miss Polly Carey, Mrs. P. Story, wife of William

Story, Mrs. M. Henderson, B. W. Stone and wife, and it

may be Mrs. Applegate, H. Osborn and John Whitney

were in the organization. This church, under his pastoral

care and preaching, grew rapidly, and in a short period

increased to near three hundred members. Mr. Stone

endeared himself to the hearts of all who formed his

acquaintance by the purity of his life, his uniform piety,

and his great zeal in his Master's cause.

About the j'ear 1818, the church erected a brick house

of worship ; at first it was located where the present house

stands, on ground previously used as a burying-ground, on

the south side of what is now College street, between Main
Cross street and Hamilton.

In this house he preached for years as the faithful pas-

tor, teaching school through the week. Under his most ef-

ficient and benevolent exertions, many well-prepared and

useful preachers were given to the church and to the world,

who but for him might never have arisen to such useful-

ness. I allude to such as Harrison Osborn, James Robert-

son, Marcus Wills, Perseus Harris, John Rogers, Harrison

Gray, James Hicklin, Stephen G. Marshall, Leonard J.

Fleming and many others.

Elder Stone ever filled with ability and with entire sat-

isfaction his responsible positions as instructor of youth

and as the beloved pastor of the church to which he minis-

tered so long. Like his Master (when not engaged in the

school room), he was actively engaged " going about doing

good." I shall here insert, from Collin's History of Ken-

tucky, page 120, the following :
" A Methodist preacher

in Jackson, La., once remarked to the writer of this arti-

cle, in the presence of two Old School Presbyterian clergy-

men, 'I know Barton W. Stone well, having lived neighbor

to him for a considerable time in Tennessee. A lovelier

man or a better Christian in my judgment never lived, and
he was no more a Unitarian than those brethren there

are,' addressing himself at the same time to the two

preachers." The person who from a regard to truth and

justice bore this honorable testimony, was Mr. Finley, son

of Dr. Finley, a former President of the Universitj^ of

Georgia.

During the many years he had the care and oversight

of the church, he enjoyed often the co-operation and assist-

ance of those excellent.and distinguished ministers in the

Christian Church, Francis R. Palmer, Thomas Smith and

Thomas M. Allen. The two first often preached in George-

town and its immediate vicinity with great effect.

In the year 1824, Elder Alexander Campbell, while on

a visit to Kentucky, came to Georgetown. He and Elder

Stone became acquainted ; they soon discovered they were

advocating the same great principle, and became convinced

ultimately that they and all associated with either of them

should be united in the work in which thej' were engaged.

In 1826, Elder Stone commenced in Georgetown the publi-

cation of a monthly called the Christian Messenger. In

1827, 1 professed faith in Christ, was immersed and asso-

ciated with the Christian Church. In 1831, a meeting was

held in Georgetown to bring about a union in fact between

those who held the views and were united with Mr. Stone,

and those who agreed with Elder Campbell. This led the

way to a larger assemblage for the same purpose in Lex-

ington in 1832, and resulted in a general union throughout

the country. Elder Stone continued the Christian Messenger

as sole editor until 1832, when John T. Johnson, a citizen

of Georgetown, and a prominent lawyer and ex-Congress-

man, having withdrawn from the Baptist, became a co-

editor of the Christian Messenger, and so continued until

Elder Stone removed to Illinois. Elder J. T. Johnson

abandoned politics and the law, and gave himself wholly

to preaching the word and writing for our periodicals. At
the solicitation of the church, through Elder Johnson, I

agreed to preach for them monthly, Elder Johnson having

the care of the congregation. In 1836, Elder David G.

Burnet removed to Georgetown to take the Presidency of

Bacon College recently located there. He preached regu-

larly for the church, and it was my pleasure often to co-op-

erate with him.

At a later period, Dr. Absalom Adams located in

Georgetown, became an elder in the church, and preached

for them.

By the union, we had the co-operation and labors of

such able men as Alex. Campbell, Philip S. Fall, John
Smith, John T. Johnson, the Jacob Creths, Sr. and Jr., the

Morlones—William and John—George W. EUey, Lewis and
William Pinkerton, David G. Burns, Curtis J. Smith, Wal-
ter Scott and R. C. Rickets, all of whom preached at

Georgetown at different times, besides many others, viz.:

the Rogers, Irvine, Flemming, Rice, B. F. Hall and Will-

iam Brown. The church in Georgetown in more recent

years had the services of David Henderson, Lard, Mc-^
Ginn, Crutcher, Cave, Wiles, Hobson, J. A. Gano, Sr., R. M.
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Grano, Jones, and is at present under the care of Elder

Howe. After a lapse of about sixty-five years from its

constitution, this church is in a prosperous condition, with

a good substantial spacious edifice, in which to worship

God, while many who have labored for her welfare have

gone to their rest.

The Presbyterian Church of Georgetown was organized

June 16, 1828, bj' a commission of West Lexington Pres-

bytery, the Rev. Eli Smith presiding. The Ruling Elder's

name is lost, but these are the names of the ladies who
went into the organization : Mrs. Eliza Pinnell, Mrs. Sarah

Lyle, Mrs. Hannah Henderson, Mrs. Jane Brown, Miss

Martha Adams, M!rs. Nancy Eckels, Mrs. Isabella Dickey

and Miss Sarah Ann Lyle.

In the spring of 1829, this little band of Christians,

encouraged by the substantial assistance of William Brown
and Barak Offutt, commenced the erection of a church build-

ing, which was not completed for several years, although

religious services were held in it.

The congregation at the first were seated on rough

boards, while the minister had a covered box for a pulpit.

The first sermon in their building was preached by the Rev.

Dr. Edgar, of Frankfort. The Rev. Nathan Hall, the Rev.

John Blackburn, the Rev. Mr. Harrison and other minis-

ters preached occasionally to this congregation, until 1831

the services of Rev. S. Salisbury were secured for one-half

his time. In a sessional minute of March and August of

1831, it is stated that Joseph Phillips was ordained and

installed a Ruling Elder, that seven persons were received

into the church by profession, and eleven by certificate, of

which number Mrs. Lavinia Kenney, Mr. Joseph B. Ken-

ney and Mrs. Mary Buford Duke are still living as active

and valuable participators in church work. During the

ministry of the Rev. Mr. Salisbury and that of the Rev.

William Scott, this covering about four years, this church

grew in strength by the addition of other substantial peo-

ple to its communion, developed in Christian liberality, and

added to its eflaciency by the election of John Bond, John

Wilson, William Herriott and James Anderson as Ruling

Elders, and Charles Eckels and Joseph B. Kenney as

Deacons.

In 1838, Rev. James K. Burch began his work amongst

this people as a stated supply. His Christian zeal and

ability were conspicuously exhibited during the three years

he labored here ; sixteen persons were added to the church,

and James H. Daviess and James C. Baker were installed

Ruling Elders. September 12, 1841, the Rev. W. R. Pres-

ton, of South Carolina, commenced his labors here, divid-

ing his time with the churches at Georgetown and Versailles.

He was a successful laborer, adding unto the church twenty-

six persons. His successor (the fourth stated supply) was

the Rev. E. K. Lynn.

The sessional records give account of his ministerial

industry, of the co-operation of the people, and of the

accession of twenty-nine members to the fellowship of the

church ; besides they stiite that on the 17th day of April,

1846, Joseph B. Kenney, Charles Eckels, Charles Nichols

and Thomas H. Lambe were ordained and installed Ruling

Elders. In November, 1847, the Rev. Samuel J. Baird was
'

called as pastor, at a salary of $600 per annum ; on the

27th day of that month he was installed. The Rev. Stuart

Robinson, the Rev. J. H. Brown, the Rev. P. G. Strahan

conducting the services by order of the Presbytery.

Then followed another brief but pleasant and profitable

pastorate, that of the Rev. H. V. D. Nevins, who, for about

four years, beginning April 20, 1850, preached to this people.

For the next three years there was stated preaching for

only twelve months, and this brief time was divided by the

labors of the Rev. W. G. Hand and H. E. Thomas. August

20, 1856, the Rev. Daniel P. Young, a licentiate of West

Lexington Presbytery, began his work here. He was

ordained and installed pastor, April 13, 1857. This was

one of the most pleasant pastorates this church ever had,

during which time (a little over eight years) eighty-one
.

were added to the church.

November 1, 1857, Dr. William L. Sutton was ordained

Ruling Elder, and September 19, 1863, James H. Kenney

and Alfred D. Offutt were installed Deacons.

On the 26th day of September, 1865, the Rev. William

R. Brown was installed pastor. He labored here about

five years, receiving into the communion of the church

thirty-four persons.

It was during this pastorate that the congregation com-

menced the erection of a new and handsome church build-

ing, which was formally dedicated to the worship of the

Triune God on the 16th day of June, 1870, just forty-two

years to the day, after this church organization was efiected.

November 19, 1865, Alexander Offutt and Henry Steven-

son were installed Ruling Elders, and M. E. Nichols and

Charles B. Lewis were set apart to the oflSce of Deacon.

William Brown resigned his pastorate February 15, 1870.

The present pastor, the Rev. J. G. Hunter, then a licentiate

of Ebenezer Presbytery, began his ministry here, October

9, 1870, and on September 14, 1871, he was ordained and

installed pastor. October 26, 1873, Alfred D. Offutt, Dr.

John A. Hamilton and M. E. Nichols were ordained and

installed Ruling Elders, and James H. Moore, William N.

Offutt a^d G. F. Clackner, Deacons. November 4, 1877,

J. F. Musselman, E. N. Offutt, Jr., and EUey Blackburn

were ordained and installed Deacons, and on the 25th of

- IS
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November Joel C. Tarlton was set apart to the same

office.

During this pastorate (now of a little more than eleven

years' duration), there have been gathered into the commu-

nion of this church 150 persons, and there have been con-

tributed by the church for its own support, and for general

benevolence, through the General Assembly's Committees,

nearly $30,000. The present membership is 170, and the

contribution for the ecclesiastical year is $3,150.

The officers of the church at present are the Rev. J. Gr.

Hunter, Pastor and Moderator, with Joseph B. Kenney,

Alfred D. Oflfutt, Dr. John A. Hamilton and M. E. Nichols,

Ruling Elders ; and James H. Kenney, James H. Moore,

W. N. Offutt, G. F. Clackner, EUey Blackburn, E. N. Offutt,

Jr., J. F. Musselman and Joel C. Tarlton, Deacons.

The Church of the Holy Trinity (Protestant Episcopal),

a stone structure in the Gothic style, will seat 350 persons.

The building was commenced in September, 1866. The

corner-stone was laid by Assistant Bishop (the Rev. George

D. Cummins), in November, 1867, and consecrated by him

in June, 1870.

The parish was formed, and the articles of association

and also the petition for admission into the Diocese of Ken-

tucky, was signed in March, 1864, by John Clark, G. Schultz

Henry Clark, R. A. White, Tyson Beall, William F. PuUen,'

Elie B. Swearinger, Jr., William H. Fitzgerald, Mrs. Beat-

rice Clark, Miss Agnes Clark, Mrs. Julia A. Clark, Miss

Laura E. Clark, Miss Sarah Beall, Miss Eliza C. Beall, Mrs.

Rebecca Beall, Mrs. Cornelia Barkley, Mrs. Maria A. White,

Mrs. A. D. Webb, Miss Roberta Webb, Miss Annie E. Webb,

Miss Lilly Kearnej', Mrs. Mary H. PuUen, Mrs. A. Kearney,

Miss Josie Cole, Mrs. Eliza W. Johnston, and admitted the

same year. The first Vestry chosen after the Parish was

recognized was Henry Clark, Senior Warden
; G. Schultz,

Junior Warden, and John Clark, Tyson Beall, Hon. A.

Duvall, J. Stoddard Johnston, Dr. B. F. Elliott.

The Rev. John W. Venable having been the rector from

its formation to the present.

The Catholic Church was established in 1869, by the

purchase of the old Presbyterian Church, on the east side

of Main Cross street, at a cost of $3,500. Father Bow was

the first priest of this diocese. There are about fifty fami-

lies worshiping with this church. Father Halley is the

present officiating priest.

The First Colored Baptist Church was organized in 1869.

It occupies a large brick building on the site of the old

First Baptist Church, leased for ninety-nine years. They
rebuilt the house at a cost of $8,250. They had the serv-

ices for many years, as pastor, of Rev. Reuben Lee, a man
of fair education, pious and discreet, and one who exerted

a good influence among his people ; during his ministry

large numbers were added to the church.

Its present membership is 472. The present pastor is

J. L. Dudley ; salary, $550. The Deacons are Cliff Pre-

witt, John Smith, Perry Orr, William Brent, Newt Good-

loe. Wash Bland and W. L. Barley. Good Sunday

school ; regular average attendance, 90 ; F. C. Nutter, Su-

perintendent ; J. M. Burley, Church Clerk ; seating capacity

of the house, about 500.

Wesley Chapel, the first colored Methodist Episcopal

Church, was organized in 1866. It has a good brick house

situated on the west side of Mulberry street, north of Main,

at a cost of $5,000. The number of its membership is 236
;

a good Sunday school, average attendance, 69
;
present

pastor, C. J. Nichols.

Georgetown College is situated on a beautiful elevation

in the southeastern portion of the town. The buildings

consist of: First, main edifice, one hundred feet long by

sixty wide, two stories high, and a basement. It contains

a handsome chapel, 60x40 feet, spacious halls for library,

cabinets, museum, philosophical rooms, laboratory, etc.*

Second, Preparatory Department (formerly Rittenhouse

Academy rebuilt), sixty feet square, two stories high ; reci-

tation rooms below, with two fine rooms in the upper story

for society rooms, viz., Ciceronian and Tau Theta. Third,

Pawling Hall, first named in honor of Issachar Pawling, a

citizen of Mercer County, Ky., who left a bequest of some

$20,000 for the education of poor young men preparing for

the Baptist ministry, and upon which sum, though a small

amount, this college had its beginning. This hall has re-

cently been greatly enlarged and improved by the earnest

and self-sacrificing labors of several ladies, at an expense

of $6,000 or $7,000.

Georgetown College is indebted mainly to the zeal and

energy of Mrs. Gov. James F. Robinson and Mrs. Prof D.

Thomas and Mrs. Dr. B. Manly, for this beautiful and com-

modious improvement. It is capable of furnishing rooms
for more than fifty students, besides apartments for the

Superintendent and family. Fourth, President's house, a

plain and unpretending building situated near the college.

The lawn embraces, with the ground attached to the Presi-

dent's house, some twenty acres. The college has a library

of several thousand volumes, philosophical and chemical

apparatus, cabinet of minerals, etc.

Georgetown College was chartered in 1829. The names
of the original corporate members of the Board of Trustees

from the charter, approved January 15, 1829, are : Rev.

Alva Woods, President of Transylvania, Elder Thomas P.

Dudley, Lexington, Ky., and these two are all that survive,

Dr. Ryland T. Dillard, Dr. Silas M. Noel, Dr. William H.

IK^
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Richardson, Jeremiah Vardeman, Rev. John Bryce, David

Thurman, ex-Gov. Gabriel Slaughter, Joel Scott, Peter Ma-

son, Peter C. Buck, Jephthah Dudley, Benjamin Taylor,

George W. Nuckols, Benj. Davis, William Johnson, Samuel

McCay, Thomas L. Smith, C. VanBuskirk, James Ford,

Guerdon Gates and Cyrus Wingate.

These are the men in whose hands the small bequest of

Pawling was placed to build up in Kentucky a Baptist Col-

lege, the first west of the mountains. In 1829, the elo-

quent Dr. William Staughton, the first President elect, did

not live to enter upon the duties of his office, but died in

Washington City, December 12, 1829, on his way to Ken-

tucky. The Rev. Joel S. Bacon was elected June 21, 1830.

The following is a list of the faculty who were present at

the opening of the session, April 18, 1831 : Rev. J. Smith

Bacon, A. M., President ; Rev. N. M. Whiting, A. M.,

Professor of Languages ; Th. P. Johnson, Esq., Professor of

Mathematics, etc. ; Samuel Hatch, M. D., Professor of Chem-

istry ;
William Craig, A. M., Tutor College proper ; Will-

iam P. Nelson, A. B., Principal of Preparatory Depart-

*'ment ; Dr. Bacon resigned in 1833. In 1836, Rev. B. F.

Farnsworth occupied the Presidency for a few months, and

made a sincere but ineffectual attempt to 'rescue the col-

lege from its embarrassments. In October 13, 1838, Rev.

Rockwood Giddings, D. D., then pastor of a Baptist

Church at Shelbyville, Ky., was elected President, and suc-

ceeded in harmonizing the conflicting elements in the

Board of Trustees, that had been threatening the life of

the college. Only one year of service was allotted to him,

for he died October 29, 1839. During Dr. Giddings's year

of labor in the field he secured a very considerable sub-

scription, some $70,000, a large portion of which was paid,

but the hope of completing the endowment was cut short

by his death before he had finished his noble work.

Dr. Giddings never entered upon the duties of instruc-

tion. The college was managed by the rest of the faculty.

Profs. J. E. Farnham, Garth and Hawkins, and one year

later Prof D. Thomas, was added to the faculty. A very

large part of the subscription obtained by Dr. Giddings

was lost by the great financial crash that followed.

The main college building was completed by the funds

collected from the Giddings endowment. Previous to this

time, there had been no building except the Rittenhouse

Academy occupying the site of the present academy build-

ing.

In 1840, Dr. Howard Malcolm assumed the Presidency,

and with the new buildings, the collections made from the

endowment and the general interest on the subject of edu-

cation, he was successful in bringing the college into a

state of considerable efficiency. His personal energy and

will were displayed in his whole management, and the in-

stitution will bear to its latest day many marks of his

activity and energy.

After ten years' service in 1850, Dr. Malcolm retired, in

consequence of his diflerence with the friends and patrons

of the college, on the subject of the great compromise or

gradual emancipation of slavery. The Rev. Dr. J. L.

Reynolds, of South Carolina, was elected as his successor,

and for two years conducted the institution.

Rev. Dr. Duncan R. Campbell was elected to succeed to

the Presidency in 1853. He was a man of rare ability and

efficiency, of strong will and great firmness of purpose, and

no name is more worthy of being commemorated in con-

nection with the college than Dr. Campbell's. At his

entrance upon the presidency, there was a remnant of the

Giddings endowment of about $10,000 ; the rest had been

invested in the buildings and grounds, and much the larger

part originally subscribed had never been collected, owing

to the circumstances already referred to.

It was evident the college needed an endowment, and

to this end Dr. Campbell directed his energies with such zeal

and success, that in the course of two years he had obtained

a subscription of more than $100,000. To his successful

exertions, the larger part of all the funds the college

owns is due to-day. In addition to the above, and during

his administration. Dr. Campbell raised a sufficient sub-

scription to purchase a large and valuable property for a

President's house, at a cost of $6,000 or $7,000.

This property has since become a part of the Female

Seminary, and is owned by Georgetown College. The college

reached its highest efficiency and greatest prosperity, both

in funds and students, under his administration just pre-

vious to the war. As the only Baptist College in the west

where young men might receive theological as well as

classical instruction, students were gathered from all the

South and West. The subscriptions to the Campbell endow-

ment were made payable in five years, bearing interest, and

an understanding was had with many of the donors that if

the interest was paid, the principal might remain in the

hands of the donors indefinitely.

When the great calamity of the civil war came, many

of these bonds remained unpaid, and it swept away the all of

many of the givers. In that deluge, nearly every endow-

ment of every Southern college went down. Of the Camp-

bell endowment more than one-half was collected and safely

and judiciously invested. By an act of the Kentucky Legis-

lature in 1857, the Western Baptist Theological Institute at

Covington, had its properties divided and one-half of the

net proceeds that remained were transferred to Georgetown

College, and constitute the fund (some $25,000) upon which
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the Theological Institute is maintained. The lamented death

of Dr. Campbell in 1865, in the very flower and vigor of his

age, left a vacancy which was filled by Dr. N. M. Crawford,

of Georgia, who presided over the college until 1871, when

he resigned in consequence of failing health and died a few

months afterward. In 1871, Dr. Basil Manly, formerly

Professor in the Southern Baptist Seminary, Greenville, S.

C, entered upon the duties of the office as his successor.

In his own graphic language, his work and that of Dr. Craw-

ford have been, like Nehemiah and his helpers in repairing

the walls of Jerusalem, to remove the rubbish and get down
to a solid foundation, and prepare to rebuild and enlarge

the work. Dr. Manly resigned in June, 1879, to accept a

Professorship in the Southern Baptist Theological Seminary

at Louisville, Ky. In 1879, Rev. Richard M. Dudley, pas-

tor of First Baptist Church at Georgetown, and an alum-

nus of Georgetown College, was elected Chairman of the

Faculty of the college, and, in 1880, succeeded to the

Presidency. His energy, industry and capaciti^ give assur-

ance of success to the friends of the college.

In 1858, Mr. Alex Macklin, of Franklin County, made a

bequest of some $8,000 to the college, for the purpose of

aiding poor young men in obtaining an education
;
and, a

few years later, Maj. F. C. McCalla, long a Trustee and

Treasurer of the college, made a donation of some $15,000

to the college.

The funds of the college, available and safely invested,

amount to about $90,000. The real estate, grounds and

buildings, about $75,000. William B. Galloway, Secretary

of the Board of Trustees ; George V. Payne, Treasurer.

During the fifty years that Georgetown College has been

in existence, it has sent forth many scholars in all the pro-

fessioDS'of life, and many of these are holding high and re-

sponsible positions. Its prospects for greater usefulness

were never brighter than at present.

In 1836, Bacon College was established under the

auspices of the '.' Christian Denomination." Rev. David

Burritt was its President for a few years, with a full corps

of teachers. After a brief struggle without any perma-

nent endowment, it was merged in the Western Military In-

stitute.

The Western Military Institute was incorporated by
act of the Legislature in 1846 or 1847, and had a full corps

of professors : T. F. Johnson, Superintendent ; W. F. Hop-
kins, Professor of Natural Sciences

; William S. Martin,

Professor of Mathematics ; J. J. Wyche, Professor of

Languages
;
R. H. Forester, Professor of Law

; James P.

Mason and Thomas J. Smith, Preparatory Department.

This institution did not long remain here, but was removed

to Blue Lick Springs.

Ex-Senator Blaine, since so distinguished in the polit-

ical history of the nation, was then a young man from

Pennsylvania, and taught in this school.

Georgetown Female Seminary. In 1846, J. E. Farn-

ham. Prof of Natural Science in Georgetown College, or

ganized a Female Seminary. It was first located in the

corner building known as the Georgetown Hotel. He had

able and accomplished assistants as- teachers. In 1847, he

erected a large and commodious building in the southeast-

ern part of the town on Hamilton street, on the grounds

now occupied by Col. Estill's residence. It was convenient-

ly arranged, and contained from thirty-five to forty rooms,

and was capable of accommodating one hundred pupils ; it

cost $25,000. It was conducted with great success for

twenty years, drawing large numbers of pupils from the

South and West, besides a very liberal patronage in the

neighboring counties. No female school in the west en-

joyed a higher reputation, or ofl'ered better facilities for

acquiring an education of a high grade. It was burnt

down in 1865, and Prof Farnham disposed of the property.

Female Seminary.—-After the destruction, by fire, of

the seminary building in 1865, that had been successfully

conducted by Prof Farnham for twenty years, a temporary

management was made for Prof J. J. Rucker to take charge

of a female school on his own property that soon passed

into the hands of Prof Tharp.

In 1869, a new seminary building was constructed on
the grounds of the college, adjoining the President's house,

and owned by the college. Prof Rucker had charge of the

same, and has continued to conduct it to the present very
successfully and satisfactorily, with the assistance of his

most estimable wife.

The Female Collegiate Institute, T. F. Johnson, Esq.,

Principal, was organized March, 1838. In 1847, the atten-

dance was about one hundred. The assistants were ex-

perienced teachers from the best female schools in the

United States, and resided at the institute. The collegiate

year is divided into two sessions.

The advantages possessed by this school, together with
the character of those connected with it, gave it a wide
reputation, and made it a success for several years. It was
discontinued about 1847-48.— Gano.
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CHAPTEE X.

WHITE SULPHUR PRECINCT— GENERAL DESCRIPTION AND T060GRAPHT— SETTLEMENT BY WHITE PEOPLE

-

HARDSHIPS IN THE WILDERNESS — PIONEER INDUSTRIES AND IMPROVEMENTS — VILLAGES,

CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS—COL. JOHNSON'S INDIAN SCHOOL, ETC.

-THEIR

"I stand alone, like some dim shaft which throws

Its shadows on the desert waste, while they

Who placed it there are gone—or like the tree

Spared by the ax upon the mountain's cliflE,

"Whose sap is dull, while it still wears the hue

Of life upon its withered limbs."

—

The Aged Pioneer.

THE common experience of old age is a wish to live over

again the life that is swiftly drawing to a close. How
many mistakes have been made ! how many hours have

been unprofltably spent ! how blind to good advice and

influence ! The stealthy and inevitable approach of death

baffles the desire for a renewal of youth, and fills the heart

with bitter remorse at thought of what might have been.

Youth is always bright with hope and expectancy ;
but as

the years glide by, the scales falls from the eyes, and the

sorrowful experience of earth trace wrinkles of care upon

the brow, and bend the once stalwart form toward the

grave. No rocking vessel on life's great sea can escape the

angry rain that dances upon it, or avoid the bitter winds

that check its course. Let us learn then, from the wretched

experience of others—learn from the lives that have gone

down amid the gales of sorrow that encompass the earth,

to shun the shoals and quicksands that beset our course,

that the sunset of life may be gilded with the gold of

eternal joy.

There is a strange attraction in reviewing the occur-

rences of past years, and in noting the wonderful improve-

ments that have resulted from the expanding intelligence of

man. Within the short space of the last half century, the

United States has experienced almost unparalleled growth

in all that makes a people great. Inventions in all depart-

ments of progress have succeeded one another with great

rapidity, until the means of sustaining life are vastly

numerous, and within the reach of all. No State in the

Union has seen greater change than Kentucky during this

period. The forests have disappeared ; costly residences

have gone up where once stood the log cabin ; riding and

gang plows have succeeded the old wooden mold-board
;

harvesters have succeeded the sickle ; knowledge has

driven ignorance from the land ; railroads have usurped

the duties of the old stage coach ;
telegraph lines have

bound distant lands together, and telephones neighboring

towns
; and thousands of other changes have taken place.

In no section are these changes more palpable than in this

small division of Scott County. White Sulphur Precinct

has changed vastly in the last hundred years. Could some

of the noble red men rise from their moldering dust, and

come back to these hills and plains, where once they

roamed in undisputed sway, they would be as much dazed

as Rip Van Winkle when he awoke from his long nap in

the Catskill Mountains. The precinct of White Sulphur,

which is designated as Election Precinct No. 2, is situated

in the southern part of Scott County, and is one of the

wealthy precincts. It is of a gently rolling surface, or un-

dulating, and drains well without artificial means. The

principal water course is South Elkhorn Creek, which rises

in Payette County, and flows into the Kentucky River. It

forms the boundary line between Georgetown and White

Sulphur Precincts, and affords ample means of drainage.

The original timber growth, but little of which is remaining

in its primitive state, was burr-oak, hickory, sugar tree,

black walnut, etc., etc. The Cincinnati Southern, and the

Louisville, Cincinnati & Lexington Railroads pass near the

precinct, affording good shipping facilities to the people.

White Sulphur Precinct was settled previous to the be-

ginning of the present century, but who was the first white

settler within its limits is not now known. James Leake

settled where Virgil McManus lives, and is supposed to

have been among the first in this immediate section. Pat-

rick Vance bought the place in 1795, and it has been in

the Vance and McManus families ever since. Mr. McManus

and his wife have five grand and great-grandfathers and

mothers buried in the St. Pius Cemetery. Patrick Vance

was among the very early settlers of White Sulphur

Precinct. Three men, named, respectively, Millan, Massee

and Ford, were also early settlers. They were from Vir-

ginia, and came to Scott County about the year 1800, set-

tling in what is now White Sulphur Precinct, on South

Elkhorn Creek—a portion of the farm is now owned by

Mr. John Y. Kinkead. They built a mill soon after their
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settlement. As Indian troubles grew less, and a degree of

safety was felt, the precincts as well as other portions of

the county, rapidly settled, and the sound of the wood-

man's ax was heard, where lately the yell of the savage

and the crack of his rifle alone broke the stillness.

In the earlj' history of this country, everything among
the pioneers was plain, simple, and in conformitj' with the

strictest economy. This was not only true of their dwell-

ing, furniture and provisions, but also of their clothing.

For several years, the men wore, almost exclusively, pants

and hunting-shirts of buckskin, and caps of coon or fox

skin, while both sexes clothed their feet in moccasins.

Cotton goods were extremely hard to get in that early day,

because they were manufactured mostly in England, and

expensive in this country. As a consequence, the pioneers

of the West found this one of the hardest demands to meet.

Many were the expedients devised by them, especially by

the frugal and economical dames ; for, ever since that

wonderful experiment, devised by mother Eve, of preparing

an entire wardrobe from flg-leaves, woman has been greatly

gifted in laying plans and adopting expedients in the

matter of clothing. But clothing was one of the smallest

considerations at that day, beyond a sufficiency to keep

one warm, and the supplying of bread and meat were of

far more importance, and often puzzled the pioneers to

obtain it for their families. This, together with the

dangers from Indians, rendered their lots very unenvi-

able.

Among the first industries of the pioneers of White Sul-

phur were mills, tanneries, etc., and were established at an

early day. The first mill in the precinct, perhaps, was that

built by Millan, Massee and Ford, on the South Elkhorn.

It was built soon after they settled in the country. A large

portion of the original mill is still standing, and is at pres-

ent owned by Patrick Dunn, who is now using it. A grist-

mill was built on South Elkhorn, near the old village of

Sodom, in 1825, by George Ware. It is now owned by a

Mr. Fisher. Other mills were built in the early times, but

of them we have but little information. David Thompson
built a paper-mill very early, and had a flouring-mill at-

tached to it. Mr. Thompson owned the farm now owned
by D. B. Galloway, and which was once owned by Col.

" Dick " Johnson. A tannery and a cotton and hemp fac-

tory were early institutions of the village of " Sodom."

The first road laid out through the precinct was that

known as the " Iron Works '' road—it runs between Payne's

Depot on the Louisville, Cincinnati & Lexington Railroad,

and the Georgetown & Frankfort Turnpike. The first road

macadamized was the Georgetown & Frankfort pike, and

was built about the year 1850. That with the Midway &

Georgetown pike, are the only pikes touching the precinct.

The first bridge was built on South Elkhorn, where the

Midway pike crosses it. It is a wooden, covered bridge

and belongs jointly to Scott and Woodford Counties, being

on the line between the two. All the bridges of the pre-

cinct are covered, and are built of wood. The Justices of

the Peace of White Sulphur Precinct are J. C. Glass and

J. B. Galloway.

A village, known as Sodom, once existed in this pre-

cinct, but has passed away, and is doubtless forgotten by

many of the people. In the language of Goldsmith

" Sweet smiling village, loveliest of the lawn,

Thy sports all fled, and all thy charms withdrawn."

It was located in the central part of the precinct, and was

laid out by James and George Ware, who settled the sur-

rounding land. The village was founded in 1825, and at

one time contained 150 inhabitants. The Wares built a

cottou and hemp factory on South Elkhorn at that time,

which led to the laying-out of a village. A tannery was

established by Henry Hardy. There was also a shoe-shop,

and a carding machine. A storehouse was built and a

store opened by Mr. Alexander Bell, and the place was

quite flourishing. But railroads drew the bulk of trade to

other localities, and Sodom disappeared as effectually as if

it had shared the fate of its namesake of Biblical notoriety.

The ruins of Baalbec are in many respects a mj'stery
;

Palmyra, at least in vastness, surpasses even Baalbec
;

Athens, Rome, Jerusalem and other scenes of decay, ap-

peal to our pity, but ' it shall be more tolerable for Sodom,

etc.'' It has disappeared from the face of the earth, and

many of the citizens of White Sulphur have forgotten its

existence ; even those who remember it can only, like the

Jewish captives of old, " hang their harps upon the wil-

lows," and weep at its untimely fate. Not a trace of it is

to be seen, except the old mill race.

The village of White Sulphur is situated on the

Georgetown & Frankfort pike, about eight miles from

Georgetown. The first house in the place, was built in

1831, and was used as a blacksmith's shop, and the first

resident, James Hendrickson, a blacksmith. A hotel was

built here in 1835 by Col. Dick Johnson, who made the

spring a place offashionable resort. The old foundations are

still to be seen. The place now has seven dwelling houses,

two storehouses, only one of which is now selling goods

two blacksmith shops, only one in operation, and a district

schoolhouse. The latter is a large brick of sufficient"

capacity to hold one hundred and flft}- persons, and is used

jointly for school and church purposes. The village takes

its name from the famous White Sulphur Spring, once the

seat of Col. Johnson's Indian School, noticed in another
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chapter. It contains between fifty and one hundred in-

habitants at present. A post office was established at

White Sulphur Spring, which is known by the name of

White Sulphur, about 1850, and Mark Dehoney was the

first Postmaster—the present Postmaster is J. E. Butler,

who also keeps the store, and has been in business here

since 1875.

The Precinct of White Sulphur has always paid con-

siderable attention to schools. The Greenwood School-

house was the first schoolhouse built in the precinct. It

was originated by J. G. Brooks, Asa Branham, James Lair

and John H. Thompson ; the first teacher was Anthony

Martin, who began with twentj'-eight pupils. The present

teacher is Miss Swihawk, of Lexington. Education in the

precinct is in a flourishing state.

As we have said, Col. R. M. Johnson's Indian School,

was located in this precinct at one time, which contained

some two hundred Indian boys. The principal teachers

were McCready and Henderson. But as this school is

written up in another chapter, we will not repeat its his-

tory here. While the school was in progress, the Spring

was a great place of resort, and the Indian students used

to give some interesting exhibitions. The spring is on the

farm of Mr. A. Thomas, one mile from the Georgetown &

Frankfort pike. The water is so strongly impregnated,

that stock does not need much salt.

St. Pius Catholic Church, near White Sulphur, was

built about 1820. Combs, Tarleton, GoflF, Twyman, Green-

well, Harding and Frazier were prominent in building this

church. There is a farm in connection with it, for its

benefit, and that of the pastor. When the church was

built, it had a large membership of some two or three

hundred families, but at present there are but twenty or

thirty families belonging to it. Death and removals have

depleted its numbers. It contains but six members now,

that worshiped in it fifty years ago. The first church was

a frame ; the present one is an imposing brick structure.

Visitation Monastery was opened in 1875, with but six

scholars, but now has about fifty. It was built originally

for a seminary, but changed hands in 1875, and became

the Visitation Monastery, as above noted. It is under tlie

supervision of St. Pius Church, and affords ample means

for an education to Catholic girls.

On the farm of John Y. Kinkead were once training-

stables and a race-track. Here the noted horses. Gray

Eagle and Wagoner, were trained for the turf The stables

are gone—^not a trace of them is left to show where they

once stood.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTER XL
STAMPING GROUND PRECINCT—LOCATION AND BOUNDARY-

AND VILLAGES—ROADS AND STREAMS

"All those things which are now held to be of the greatest

antiquity were at one time new, and what we to-day hold up by

example will hereafter rank as precedent."

—

Taoitus.

PERHAPS no other division of this county is more re-

plete with historic matter than the one described in this

chapter. Stamping Ground, or in common parlance, " The

Stamp," is No. 3 of the election precincts, and is bounded

on the north by Owen County and No. 4, or Lytle's Fork

Precinct, on the east by No. 4, south by No. 1, or George-

town precinct, and on the west by Franklin County.

The land, except a small portion in the northeast, has

a general western slope, and possesses an admirable sys-

tem of natural drainage in the numerous streams and

branches which wind through it in different directions.

The principal one of these is North Elkhorn, which passes

through the southwest corner, receiving as tributaries Mc-

Connell's and Lecompte's Runs, with their numerous

branches. These two streams were named respectively for

William McConnell and Charles Lecompte, who as early as

EARLY SETTLEMENT—ORIGIN OF NAMES—EARLY CHURCHES

-POST OFFICES, SCHOOLS, MILLS, ETC.

April, 1875, left the Monongahela countrj' and came down

the Ohio River to the mouth of the Kentucky, and up that

stream to the Elkhorn region. They explored the country

around the neighborhood of the " Big Spring," but made

no permanent settlement. The surface of this precinct is

hilly and broken in the northern part, and undulating in

the southern. The soil partakes of the character of the rest of

the county, though varying in fertility in different localities.

The usual farm products and stock are raised and exported,

and of late considerable attention has been paid to the

culture of tobacco, which bids fair to soon become the

staple crop.

The timber consists mainly of oak, ash, poplar, walnut,

maple and elm.

The first road through this precinct was the Georgetown

& Cincinnati road, which was cut out about 1790. At

present many of the roads are macadamized, the principal

through pike being the one from Georgetown through

Stamping Ground, to the Owen County line. There are

^
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several cross pikes which serve as good outlets to this main

thoroughfare. The streams are bridged at the deepest

fords by substantial wooden bridges.

It is not known exactl}- when the first settlement was

made within the limit included in this chapter. Anthony

Lindsajf, whose family is still represented in the precinct

by William 0. Calvert, John Lindsay and Mrs. Robert

Sprake, aU of whom are his grandchildren, built a fort or

station near Stamping G-round, about 1790. Mr. W. 0.

Calvert states that he remembers seeing a few posts of the

old fort which were left standing by his mother, who was a

daughter of Anthony Lindsay. This fort, being near the

great thoroughfare from G-eorgetown to the Ohio River,

was a regular stopping-place for all travelers.

Thomas Herndon and Cornelius Duvall settled on Mc-

Connell's Run about the same time (1790). In this imme-

diate neighborhood there sprung up a school quite early,

and in 1795 a church was organized near Stamping Ground,

by the Baptist denomination. This church, first called

McConnell's Church, was organized by Rev. Ambrose Dud-

ley and William Cave. It was rebuilt in 1819, and again

in 1858. It is now one of the best country churches in the

county. The congregation has lately purchased a parson-

age at a cost of $1,500. The church roll now numbers 275

members, with a flourishing Sunday school of 100 pupils.

The following are the names of the thirty-five original

members : Elijah Craig, Rhodes Smith, John Hawkins,

John Payne, Jacob Martin, Thom.is Herndon, John Scott,

James Key, Richard Seebree, Joseph Wiley, Daniel Bald-

win, Benjamin Branham, John Cook, John Brock, Jesse

Hambrick, Hannah Scott, Mary Herndon, Vinson Smith,

Nelly Branham, Ann Baldwin, Deborah Stewart, Sarah

Martin, Susan O'Banner, Lydia Hambrick, Mary Picklin,

Elizabeth Key, Elizabeth Craig, Jane Cook, Ann Threl-

keld, Nathaniel Mothershead, Toliver Craig, Thomas Pick-

lin, E. Seebree, Ruth Mothershead- and Sarah Hawkins.

Among the noted preachers who have ministered to the

congregation since its organization may be mentioned

Elijah Craig, Lewis Craig, William Hickman, Jacob Creath,

James Suggetts, Samuel Trott, Theodrick Bolivar, Silas

Noel, J. D. Black, George Hunt, John S. Waller, B. D-

Isbell, A. C. Graves, R. M. Dudley, T. J. Stevenson and J.

A. Booth, the present pastor.

The Christian Church at Stamping Ground was organ-

ized by Elder John T. Johnson. They worship in a sub-

stantial frame house, and have a large and increasing con-

gregation.

The village of Stamping G-round takes its name from

the fact that in the first settlement of the country, the

Buffalo used to congregate at the salt springs at this place,

and " stamp " the ground as they stood under the shade of

the trees. The village being the largest in the precinct,

naturally enough gave the name to the precinct itself

It now contains three hundred inhabitants, supports four

stores, two blacksmith shops, one school, under the man-

agement of W. H. Cooper, and containing some forty-five

pupils. One distillery, one hotel, one undertaker, one pho-

tographer, four physicians, two churches and one colored

church and school, one Masonic Lodge, No. 203, and one

woolen factory. The first post office in Stamping Ground

was established in 1814, with Alex. Bradford, as Post-

master, an office now filled by J. H. G-atewood.

The distillery, now owned and run by Crigler & Crig-

ler, was first erected for a woolen mill in 1864, by McMillan

& Wright. It was turned into a distillery in 1868, by

Robert Samuels & Co.

The woolen mill, now owned and run by Wright &
Brother, was first erected in 1844, by A. G-. G-oodman, and
used as a college till about 1854, when it wasturned into

a woolen mill by E. R. Wright, the father of the present

owners. Skinnersburg, on the eastern border and Minors-

ville in the north, are villages of less importance.

There is a flouring mill on the waters of North Elk-

horn, owned by I. T. Reynolds & Co. It was built in

1845, by a man named Threlkeld.— E. T. Brown.
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OHAPTEE XII.

LYTLE'S FORK PRECINCT — GENERA L OUTLINE AND TOPOGRAPHY— EARLY SETTLEMENT — PIONEER INDUSTRIES AND
IMPROVEMENTS—CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS, SCHOOLHOUSES, ETC.—ROADS, BRIDGES, ETC.

"What's past, and what's to come, is strewed with husks.

The formless ruin of oblivion." —Shakspeare.

THE unheeded lapse of time is the greatest enemy of

the historian. The events of one moment are so

closely crowded by those of the next, and so much occu-

pied are we in performing the duties of the present that,

almost unawares, we literally fulfill the Scriptural injunc-

tion, " Take no thought for the morrow." History is com-

monly defined to be a record of past events, but shall we
wait till the events must be recalled by defective human
memories before we record them ? Then we get no perfect

history for no memorj' is perfect; often he who is most

sure is least to be relied upon.

The record of events, however, is simply chronology
;

the field of history is wider and more varied, comprehend-

ing the effect of daily transactions upon the progress and

civilization of the human family.

That division of Scott County known as Precinct No.

4, or Lytle's Fork, as it is most generally called, adjoins the

Owen County line on the northwest. The Stamping

Ground Precinct touches its southwestern border ; G-eorge-

town Precinct on the south, and Turkey Foot on the east,

complete the boundary.

Lytle's Fork of Eagle Creek, with its tributaries, Indian

Creek, Lake's and Hess' Branch, takes a tortuous norther-

ly course through the center of the precinct. The general

slope of the, great majority of the land is with the course

of this creek, the water-shed between it and the waters of

Elkhorn being near the southern border of the precinct.

The surface in the northern part is considerably broken

and hilly. In the south the land is still uneven and rolling,

but the breadth of the ridges afford arable fields of larger

size. The soil, though subject to the usual washing away

of a hilly country, is yet fertile in character, being a part

the Silurian formation, and is admirably adapted to the

culture of tobacco, wheat, corn and other staple products.

The timber growth consists of pine, chestnut, the usual

varieties of oak, linn, sycamore, white and black hickory,

beech, sugar-tree and persimmon, the last, as its name (Dio-

spyros—fruit of the gods) implies, being much valued for

its fruit.

Little is known of the settlement of this precinct prior

to the year 1790. Near that time a settlement was made

on Little Eagle Creek, by Col. John Stone, on land now

owned by William Wigginton. One of Col. Stone's grand-

children, Mr. B. Hall, is still a resident of the county.

About the same year .(1790), Daniel Gano, settled on the

farm now owned by Dr. Eniison. On a branch of Little

Eagle, and near Salem Meeting-House, may still be seen

the remains of his old house. He was the youngest Cap-

tain of the Revolutionary war, having command of a com-

pany of artillery. He lined many of the guns used in the

siege of Quebec. When they were making their assault, he

remarked that there was one cannon left loaded. An old

drunken Irish soldier, hearing him, said, " Give her one more

kick." By its discharge. Gen Richard Montgomery was

killed, and so great was the dismay caused in the American

ranks by this fatal disaster that the success of the assault

was frustrated. Among the early settlers may also be men-

tioned John Harwood, William Boyce (from Delaware), and

Obadiah Ellis (from Baltimore), Paris ,and William Griffith

(from Delaware) ; all of the above came out and settled

here not far from the year 1790.

Perhaps the oldest church in this precinct is Salem. It

is the property of the Methodist Society of Christians, and

was first organized about 1823. Among those who were

present and identified with its organization were William

Banks and wife, William Boyce, Obadiah Ellis, Squire

John Rollins. Among the pastors who have administered

to the congregation from time to time, we give the names

of Dr. Rhoton, Josiah Whittaker, S. S. Deering, H. H.

Kavanaugh, W. W. Chamberlain, W. W. Spates, W. C. At-

more and others. The building was originally a log

structure, 25x30 feet, but to subserve the wants of an

increasing membership, this old building was replaced by

a frame of nearly double the capacity, and far more pre-

tentious in appearance. There is a good Sunday school in

connection with the church, having an average membership

of about fifty pupils, under the superintendency of Mr.

James Warren. The church roll now contains about

ninety names.

Corinth Christian Church, situated near the head-waters
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of Lytle's Pork, was organized about 1836 by Robert

Whitton. Among the earlj^ preachers were Joshua Will-

hoit, Pleasant Whittou, Hiram Ford, Henry Edmonson and

others, whose names we are unable to determine. In 1838,

the house was remodeled and enlarged to meet the demands

of an increasing congregation. The first sohoolhouse was

built on Col. Stone's land, of logs, in 1825. Martin Brent

was first teacher. There are at present ten well-regulated

schools in this precinct, called, respectively, Skinnersburg,

Long Lick, Bradley, Harvey Risk, Warnock, Gorham,

Griffith, Warren, Robinson and Whitton.

There is one distillery located in this precinct, which

was built in 1874 by R. H. Risk. It has a capacity of

sixteen bushels of grain per day, and the brand manu-

factured is noted for its superior qualities.

There is a saw and grist-mill located on Lytle's Pork,

known as Beatty's Mill. It was built by George Beatty in

1812, and is now owned by William Rice.

The first road in the precinct was called the Mountain

Island road, and runs from the Georgetown & Dry Ridge

pike to Mountain Island in Owen County. The first bridge

over Lytle's Pork was on the Long Lick road.

The County Poor House, located in this precinct, is

mentioned under the general county history.

—

Brown.

GHAPTEE XIII.
BIG EAGLE PRECINCT— ITS DESCRIPTION AND TOPOGRAPHY — COMING OF THE WHITE MAN—EARLY DIFFICULTIES—

PIONEER IMPROVEMENTS AND INDUSTRIES—RELIGIOUS—THE PARTICULAR BAPTISTS-

OTHER DENOM 'NATIONS—SCHOOLS, VILLAGES, ETC.

tion. The emigrant who goes to the Far West at the pres-'T^HE Election Precinct No. 5, known and designated
-L as Big Eagle Precinct, is bounded on the north by

Owen and Grant Counties, on the east by Big Eagle and

Licking and the Cincinnati Southern Railroad, on the south

by Little Eagle and on the west by Little Eagle and the

Owen County line. It is well watered and drained by Big

and Little Eagle and their tributaries. Big Eagle has its

source near Leesburg, and empties into the Kentucky
River at Monterey. Little Eagle rises some seven miles

north of Georgetown, and unites with Big Eagle at Wall's

Mill, on the Cincinnati pike. A branch of Ray's Fork rises

near Hinton's Station and empties into Big Eagle in the

vicinity of Mallory's Mill. Another branch of the same
stream rises near Corinth and forms the main channel, on

the lands of Joseph Burgess. The original timber consisted

of black locust, walnut, poplar, blue and black ash, sugar

maple, oak, etc. The land is considerably rolling, and in

places along the streams quite broken and hilly, but rich

and productive. The Cincinnati Southern Railroad is in

convenient reach and affords excellent shipping facilities.

Settlements were made by white people in what is now
Big Eagle Precinct in an early day, but the precise date is

not known. Among the pioneers were Boswell Herrington,

Capt. Fontleroy, Peter Jones, Stafford Jones, Reuben Lan-

caster, Beverly Nelson, Samuel Marshall, Milton Threlkeld,

Garnet Wall, John Peck and John Mulberry. Many de-

scendants of the early settlers of this section are still liv-

ing, and some of them still possess the lands of their an-

cestry. The story of the early settling of this precinct is

that of all Kentucky—one of hardship, danger and priva-

ent day has the railroad to convey him and his goods to

his contemplated settlement, and when he arrives at his

new home he settles down without fear of savage beasts or

savage men. But it was far different here seventy-five or

a hundred years ago. There were no railroads then to bring

the emigrants hither, but there were innumerable dangers

to be met with upon their arrival, dangers that only strong

arms and brave hearts could overcome.

The numerous streams in this precinct furnish excellent

water-power for machinery of a light character. This was
early utilized by mills, and a number of these useful " insti-

tutions " were built by the first settlers. Emison's, Wall's,

Merriman's and Jones' were among the first built in this

region. They were all " water-mills," and took their names
from the parties who built them. Emison's (now owned by
Mallory) and Jones' are still in operation. The distillery

of T. J. Marshall was built subsequent to the war was run
by steam and was quite an extensive establishment, but for

several years it has been standing idle.

The State roads between Cincinnati and Lexington, now
called the Cincinnati pike, was the first road through the

precinct. Toll was then collected upon it from pedestrians,

as well as from horsemen, vehicles, etc. The road, known
as the " Mulberry road," and which forms the dividing

line between the counties of Harrison and Scott, was the

next road laid out. The community is now well supplied

with these useful thoroughfares. The first pike was that

known as the " State pike," and was built in 1843 and 1844.
The second was the Green Mill pike, built in 1876 ; also.

IS/ —
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the Cynthiana & Big Eagle pike. Ttie first bridge in the

precinct was that built at Jones' old mill ; one was built

soon after, over Big Eagle, at Mallory's Mill. These were

both wooden structures. A bridge was also built across

Big Eagle, where the State road crosses it, and another

where the Cynthiana pike crosses it, near Sadieville.

The church history of the precinct dates back almost

to the period of settlement by white people. The first

church was known as " Elk Lick Church " and the denomi-

nation the " Particular Baptists.'' It was organized in

1799, and among the early pastors were Elders John Con-

nor, and Ambrose and Thomas P. Dudley. Ray's Pork

and Hartwood Churches were organized soon after. The

two latter were also Baptist, but of that denomination that

were not so " Particular." These two latter churches have

been remodeled somewhat, and are all wooden buildings.

Hebron Church was quite an old one, but is long since

abandoned, and the new one erected upon its site, is of the

Christian denomination, and is called Mount Olivet. At

present the membership is large and flourishing, and a very

interesting Sunday school, the only one in the precinct, is

maintained at this church. It is conducted on the union

principle, and attended by all denominations.

It is not known who taught the first school in the

neighborhood, nor when nor where it was held. It is not

improbable, however, that a school was taught early, as this

section was settled very early. We have an account of a

church organized in 1799, and schools usually followed

close after churches. There are now five schoolhouses in

the precinct, in which schools are taught each year for the

usual period, only, however, in the primary branches.

Big Eagle Precinct boasts of several villages, under

somewhat high-sounding and historical names, but all of

them put together would not make much of a town. They

are Sadieville, Stonewall and Corinth. The first named

(Sadieville) is a station on the Cincinnati Southern Rail-

road, and dates its birth at the time of building the rail-

road through the county, about 1876, and was incorporated

in 1881. The first Postmaster was James Jones, and the

present one Pears. One of the district schools of

the precinct is located here, and is, at present, (1882) taught

by a Mr. Rollins. The business of the place consists of

that usually done at a small railway station. Its popula-

tion is about seventy-five.

Stonewall is a small village some sixteen miles from

Georgetown, on the State road. The first tavern in the

precinct was kept by John Hennessj^, for the purpose

of boarding hands while engaged constructing the State

road into a pike. He afterward sold it to T. K. Hollins,

who kept it as a public house. Corinth is a small unimportant

place, consisting of but a few houses, shops, etc. This

comprises a brief sketch of the precinct from its settlement

down to the present time.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTEE XIT.
TURKEY FUOT PRECINCT— INTKODUCTORY AND DESCRIPTIVE— TOPOGRAPHY, IIMBER, ETC. — SETTLEMENT OF THE

PIONEERS—THE NAME OF TURKEY FOOT—EARLY INDUSTRIES AND IMPROVEMENTS—VILLAGE

AND POST OFFICE—CHURCHES, SCHOOLS, ETC., ETC.

whoop of the Indian and the howl of the wolf resounded

on every side. Here and there a white-haired veteran,

bowed with the weight of years and toil, who was born and

has been reared upon the soil, remains to tell us of those

days " lang syne," and from their lips principally we have

received the data from which to weave the fabric of this

history.

That portion of Scott County, now known as Turkey

Foot or Election Precinct No. 6, lies in the north central

part of the county, with Big Eagle Precinct on the north,

Harrison County on the east, Oxford Pl-ecinct on the

south, and Lytle's Fork and Georgetown Precincts on the

west. The land is rough and broken, but is quite produc-

tive, and well adapted to tobacco raising. The timber was,

STANDING as we do down the stream of time, far re-

moved from its source, we must retrace its meanderings

with scarce anything to guide save the few moldering relics

of the past whi^h lie along the shore, and even these grow

fainter and still more faint, and uncertain as we near its

fountain, if, indeed, they are not wholly concealed in the

debris of years. Written records grow less and less ex-

plicit, and finally fail altogether the nearer we approach the

beginning of the community, whose life it is our purpose

to rescue from the gloom of a fast-receding palst. The

old pioneers have sunk to rest, after the toils and priva-

tions of the border, whither they had come, buoyed up with

hope and renewed with vigor, to build, for themselves and

loved ones, homes, amid the beautiful scenery, while yet the
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origmall}' beech, hickory, ash, mulberry, black-walnut, etc.,

etc. The principal streams are the East and West Porks

of Big Eagle, which rise in Oxford Precinct, and flowing

northward unite in Turkey Foot Precinct, thus forming

Big Eagle Creek. Prom this circumstance the precinct

received its name—the fancied resemblance of the junc-

tion of these streams to a turke3''s foot.

The settlement of Turkey Foot Precinct dates back to

a period more than ninety j'ears gone by. Of the early

settlers of the country now embraced in this precinct, we

maj' mention William Vance, Asher Hinton, Benjamin

Carr, Reed, William Price, Abraham Fields, Benja-

min Peck, Edward Burgess, Peter Antle, John Gibson,

Patrick Watson, John and P. Hyles, Cornelius Butler,

James Sutton, Joshua Murphy, Joseph Leach and others.

Mr. Vance settled near Turkey Foot Post Office in 1790,

on the farm now owned by his son, Capt. Joe Vance
;

Mr. Hinton and Mr. Carr also settled about 1790, on farms

now owned respectively by their sons. Reed settled near

Turkey Foot Post Office about the same time. He has a

son, Eben Reed, still living in the precinct ; William Price

also settled about the same time, on the place now owned

by Thomas Hyles. Jacob Price, his son, lives, in the pre-

cinct. These early settlers, with the others mentioned

above, are all dead, but many of them have descendants in

the neighborhood, who occupy the lands of their ances-

tors.

Nothing is more common than to hear the aged, pio-

neer, when in a loquacious mood, relate the difficulties,

hardships and discomforts of his early trials, without it is

to hear him tell how free, how cheerful, and how glori-

ous were the days of his early pioneer life, when free, and
" wild, as the wild bird, and untaught, with spur and bridle

undefiled," they lived, untrammeled by the conventionali-

ties of fashionable life. Both of his pictures are true.

What was pleasant and beautiful, was so in excess ; and

what of life there was that was fraught with danger and

deprivations, and obstacles to be surmounted, was bitter

indeed. Though there are none of the original settlers

now living, there are those who, born here in the pioneer

days, remember some of the early scenes, and have so

often heard the story from their ancestors as to be as

familiar with the hardships of frontier life as though they

had personally experienced them. In a country like this,

even its wildest state, there was not so much of uncompen-

sated hardship for the hunter and trapper, considered by

himself, provided he had good health. But to men with

families, weakly women and helpless children, there were

seasons when, in behalf of his family, great suspense and

anxiety fell to his lot. He could move from danger
; he

could seek supplies and shelter, but his family could not.

It is unnecessary to go very minutely into the details of

pioneer family history ; it is " an old, old story." The

pioneer's battle with danger, privation and poverty
; his

daily struggle for the necessaries of life, is an oft-repeated

tale, and needs no repetition here.

The early industries of Turkey Foot Precinct were

comprised in mills, tanneries, distilleries, etc. Among the

pioneer mills were those of Holden & Hyles, Steele's,

Hinton's and perhaps one or two other small aflairs. Hol-

den & Hyles' was situated on a fork of Big Eagle Creek
;

Steele's also was on the same stream. Hinton's was a

horse-power mill, and was in the southern part of the pre-

cinct. A tannery was started by William Jackson in

1805 ; and some years later, one was opened by a man
named Brissy. Both have long since ceased operation, and

no trace of them now exist. Pemberton's distillery, on a

fork of Big Eagle Creek, was the first whisky factory in the

precinct. Another distillery was built in 1826, bj' John

Price, in the eastern part of the precinct. There is no

trace left of either of these early institutions. A distillery

was built by Samuel Greene about 1860, but it is not now

in operation.

. The first road through Turkey Foot was known as the

" Turkey Foot road," and ran from Harrison County

through the little hamlet of Turkey Foot to Georgetown,

and was laid out about the year 1795. The only pike is

the Lexington & Covington pike, formerly known as the

Dry Run pike. It is the dividing line between Turkey

Foot and Lytle's Fork Precincts.

The village of Turkey Foot is a small collection of

houses, and contains a store, a blacksmith shop, church.

Masonic lodge, post office, etc. The place was settled

about the year 1790, by William Vance, as already noted.

The Postmaster of Turkey Foot is Mandeville Hinton.

The Christian Church at Turkey Foot was organized in

1854, and a frame church building put up. Among the

ministers that have officiated to its congregations are.

Elders Brown, Rogers, Williams, John A. Gano, Sr., and
perhaps others. The church has now about one hundred

members. Elder Gunn is the present pastor.

A schoolhouse was built on the farm of George Maddox
about 1850, and Samuel Greene was the first teacher in it.

There is no school there now ; house long since torn down.

The precinct is somewhat deficient in educational facilities.

The only school now in the precinct is taught in the church

at Turkey Foot, by Prank Sutton, who has some thirty

pupils. Like most of Scott County, the people depend
chiefly on private schools and academies for the educat-

ing of their children.

—

Perrin.
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CHAPTER XV.
OXFORD PKECINCT—TOPOGKAPHICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE FEATURES— TIMBER, ETC.— SETTLEMENT OF THE PIONEERS—

THEIR EARLY TRIALS AND TROUBLES—ROADS, MILLS, SCHOOLS—OXFORD VIL-

LAGE—CHURCHES AND SUNDAY SCHOOLS.

OXFORD PRECINCT, known as Election Precinct No.

7 of Scott County, is bounded on the north by Muddy

Ford & Dry Run road, on the east by Bourbon & Harri-

son Counties, on the south by the Cynthiana & Georgetown

road and on the west by the Georgetown & Turkey Foot

road. Miller's Run is the principal stream, and has its

fouutain-head within a mile of the village of Oxford ; run-

ning thence in a southwest direction, it empties into the

Elkhorn. There are a few other small streams and brooks

in the precinct, thus affording an excellent system of nat-

ural drainage. The original timber growth was sugar ma-

ple, walnut, blue ash, burr- oak, "shellbark" hickory, etc.

The people are engaged chiefly in agriculture and stock-

raising, and are intelligent and industrious as a class. The

village of Oxford is the only approach to a town in the

precinct, and is a place of considerable business.

Oxford Precinct was settled in an early day, but of its

pioneers little is now known, beyond the fact that they

came here when most of the country around and about

them was an unbroken wilderness, swarming with wild

beasts and savages. Amid such scenes, they made their

homes, lived out their time and died. Among the few

names gathered, as ranking among the pioneers of Oxford,

was Jesse Browning, who settled one mile northeast of the

village, on land now owned by Willis Gunnell. Charles

Hamilton was one of the earliest settlers, and located about

a quarter of a mile north of the present village of Oxford.

He had a family of six children. John Ritchie and James

Risk were also early settlers in the same neighborhood.

A number of other families, perhaps, are entitled to men-

tion as early settlers, but the long period that has elapsed

since they came to the country has veiled their settlement

in obscurity and buried their names in oblivion. Such are

the ways of human nature.

"If you or I to-day should die.

The birds would sing as sweet to-morrow

;

The vernal spring its flowers would bring,

And few would think of us with sorrow."

The early years of the pioneers were years of privation,

toil and danger
;
privation in building up a home for their

families, toil to provide them with the necessaries of life

and danger from the Indians and wild beasts that, in early

years, infested the country. We, who are enjoying the

fruits of their labor, know very little of what they had to

encounter in those pioneer days. Born in the midst of

abundance and " lapped in luxury,'' we would shrink and

flee from the dangers to which they were daily exposed.

The first roads through the precinct were made upon the

early Indian trails through the forest. These were, at first,

sufficient for the pioneer's train of pack-horses, but when

wagons were introduced these trails were cut out to admit

their passage, and thus were made the first roads, which^

from time to time, have been improved, until they have

reached their present perfected system. The road from

Cynthiana to Georgetown bears the name of being the

oldest road in or passing through the precinct. The next

road was the Oxford and Newtown. The first pike was

the Oxford & Georgetown pike, and was commenced in

June, 18(i8. It was completed the next spring, and con-

tinued to Leesburg in 1870, except about a mile and a half

in Oxford, which gap was finished in 1880, and the road is

now known as the Georgetown, Oxford & Leesburg Pike.

At the present writing (1882) there is a pike in course of

of construction from Kinkead Station, on the Cincinnati

Southern Railroad, to Oxford Village. The first bridge built

in the precinct was a wooden bridge, built over Miller's

Run, on the Oxford and Leesburg road. Taken altogther,

Oxford Precinct is well supplied with roads and highways.

The early settlers were forced to get their milling done

in other and distant neighborhoods, as we have no account

of any mill in what now forms Oxford Precinct, until within

a very recent period. The first and the only mill said to

have been built in the precinct is owned by D. P. Moore,

and has been in operation but a short time. It is a steam

grist-mill, and is located on the Muddy Ford & Dry Run

road. It does a large business and is of considerable

benefit to the community.

Who taught the first school in what is now Oxford Pre-

cinct is not known at the present day. Like every portion

of Kentucky, there is not sufficient attention paid to the

•^ s
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common schools. Too many people depend wholly upon

educating their children in the academies, seminaries and

colleges located in town, and seem to think it low and dis-

reputable to patronize the common schools. This is a sadly

mistaken idea, and until we take more interest in them and

spend more money upon their support, we must expect the

education of our children to fall far short of what it should

be. The very best that can be said of the schools of Ox-

ford Precinct is that they are lamentably deficient.

The village of Oxford, five miles from Georgetown, was

laid out and settled bj' a man named Patterson, who owned

the surrounding land. The place was first known as Pat-

terson's Cross Road, and as proprietors changed the name
changed also, being successively that of Burkley's Cross

Roads, Marion Cross Roads ^nd finally Oxford, the name
it now bears. Where and from whence this famous name
was received, it being that of one of the most distinguished

spots in England, our authority fails to state. Although

never as renowned in history as its English namesake, yet,

if all reports are true concerning its earlier career, it was

once a place of rather widespread notoriety. But within

the past few years the beneficial efiects of local option has

metamorphosed it into a quiet, respectable and prosperous

village.

The oldest tavern, and the only one ever in the place,

was kept by Hart Boswell. It was a brick structure, and

is still standing, a relic of the " by-gones.'' The first stores

were kept respectively byB. P. Anderson, Cary Ward, Glenn

Rickerson, Cannon & McDaniel, etc., and were of the class

usually kept in small country villages in an early day, and

came under the head of general merchandise, A man
named Bailey kept a tailor-shop here some twenty years or

more. Shoe shops, blacksmith and wood shops were among
the early industries of Oxford Village. There are now two

stores, viz. : S. S. Moore and C. T. Price, both of a general

merchandise character. A blacksmith and wood shop is

kept by William Ryles. This comprises the general busi-

ness of the quiet village at the present time.

The Oxford Christian Church was organized at the Old

Sugar Ridge Schoolhouse in July, 1831, and in 1847 a new
frame church was built, under the supervision of Elder

John A. Gano, Sr., who had in connection with him, in his

early ministrations in this pioneer church. Elder John

Smith, who was better known throughout this section, per-

haps, by the euphonious appellation of "Raccoon" Smith.

The original membership of the church was about one

hundred. In 1881, the building was handsomely repaired

and refitted, under the pastorate of Elder C. T. Forscutt, an

Australian by birth, who was largely instrumental in its

improvement.

The Oxford Methodist Church was organized about the

same year and at the same place of that mentioned above.

It retained for many years its original membership, but

from natural causes, such as death and removals, it has

been greatly depleted in numbers. A new brick church

has been built-in Oxford Village, where the old congrega-

tion now worship.

Providence Presbyterian Church was organized, about

the year 1835, by Rev. Mr. Forsythe. Among the original

members were Messrs. Gray, Polk, R. W. Barclay and Mr.

Hamilton. Some of the pastors have been Revs. Forsythe,

Straghn, Umstead and Spears
;
present pastor, Rev. J. K.

Hitner. The church building is brick, and the membership
is about thirty- Ave.

The Oxford Union Sunday School was organized by
Rev. John J. Dickey, and has an average attendance of
about thirty children.

—

Perrin.
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OHAPTEE XYI.
NEWTOWN PRECINCT— DESCRIPTIVE AND 'JOPOGRAPHICAL FEATURES— EARLY SETTLEMENT— PIONEER TRIALS AND

HARDSHIPS—MILLS, ROADS, BRIDGES, ETC.—RELIGIOUS—METHODIST AMD OTHER CHURCHES-
EARLY SCHOOLS—VILLAGE OF NEWTOWN—ITS BUSINESS, ETC., ETC.

ELECTION PRECINCT No. 8, known and designated

as Newtown Precinct, lies in the southeast part of

Scott County, and is bounded on the north by the Cynthi-

ana & Georgetown road, on the east by the Bourbon and

Fayette County lines, on the west by the Lexington and

Newtown pike and the Oxford road, and on the south by

the Payette County line. Its surface is rolling or undu-

lating, and is fine blue grass land. The original timber was

walnut, sugar maple, ash, cherry, hickory and oak, princi-

pally the latter. The principal streams are Cherry and

Boyd's Runs, North Elkhorn and Little Elkhorn, which

drain the land well, and aflford an abundance of stock

water. The principal pursuits are farming and stock rais-

ing, and a number of fine farms are located in this section.

The people are industrious, honorable and enterprising, and

withal educated and intelligent.

Among the early settlers of Newtown Precinct were

Nelson and Clifton Smith, James Parks, Samuel Walker,

James McCroskey, Austin B»adford, George Hume, Gen.

Henry John Wallace, Newton Cannon and David Flour-

noy. The precise date of their settlement is not known,

but as there were settlements made in the county as early

as 1775, it is altogether probable that settlements were

made in this section within the succeeding decade. The

pioneers above mentioned were from Virginia, and came

down the river in boats, as was the custom with many of

the settlers in this section of the State. They landed at

Maysville, then called " Limestone," and from thence jour-

neyed across the country, bringing their goods on pack-

horses. Wagons were scarce in the settlement for several

years after the first white people moved in. But few de-

scendants of this first installment of pioneers are now

living in the precinct, and hence not much could be learned

of them. Their life was the same as fell to the lot of all

the early settlers in Central Kentucky. The first years,

were years of toil, privation and danger—a hard and stub-

born contest for a foothold in the wilderness. The Indians

were plenty, and often troublesome, as will be seen by ref-

erence to the chapter on Indian history. They not only

plundered the settlements, stole horses and committed

other depredations, but they did not hesitate to murder the

settlers indiscriminately when occasion presented. Thus
the early settlers of the section now embraced in Newtown
Precinct lived the first years of their frontier life, not

only in danger of their lives from savages, but also from

want and from wild beasts. But their efforts prevailed
;

their perseverance was crowned with success.

The precinct of Newtown, being mostly a stock-raising

and agricultural district, the hum of machinery but little

disturbs the Short-Horns and South-Downs as they graze

upon the blue grass pastures. The first and only mill ever

in the precinct was, oris, known as " Lemon's Mill," on

the North Elkhorn, and was built by Joshua Leathers. It

is still in operation, but since its erection has been changed

into a distillery, then converted back into a mill. A tan-

nery was established in a verj' early day by Joseph Mor-

ing, but it has long since passed away with other relics of

the " by-gones.'' In the pioneer times it was the custom

for every man to take hides to the tanyard, have them

tanned, and have his shoes, and those of his family, made
at home ; but that, too, has become one of the lost arts.

The first public road through the precinct was the Lex-

ington & Newtown road, and was also the first that was

macadamized. The converting of it into a pike was begun

in 1849, and the work was completed in 1852. The Paris

& Georgetown pike, which passes through the precinct, was

also begun in 1849, and finished in 1852. The Leesburg&

Newtown pike was built in 1857. The first bridges were

built by the turnpike companies, and were wooden struct-

ures. It will be seen by these roads that, in the matter of

highways, the precinct is well supplied. Good roads add

materially to the prosperity of a community, and by this

system of improvements its standard of wealth and pros-

perity is often determined by strangers.

The precinct is well supplied with churches. The

Methodist Church was organized about the year 1804 bj'

Anthony Houston and others. The original building was

a wooden structure, and was burned in 1849. It was re-

built in 1852, of brick, at a cost of about $1,600. The

present membership is small.

^ s
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The Presbyterian Church was organized in 1809, as the

Cherry Spring Presbyterian Church, and had for its first

pastor Rev. John Lyle. The original Elders were John

Scroggins, John A. Miller and David Torrence. We have

been unable to learn any further particulars of this organ-

ization.

The Christian Church at Newtown was organized in

1856 by Elder John A. G-ano, who was its first, is its pres-

ent, and has been its onlj- pastor. The church edifice is of

brick, and is a good, comfortable building. Its original

membership was about the same as that maintained at

present. A flourishing Sunday school is supported, and is

the only one in the precinct. The average attendance is

about thirty.

Of the early schools of the neighborhood we know but

little. The first taught, of which we have any account,

was by Nelson Smith. Esq., one of the earlj"^ settlers, who

took up a school for the purpose of teaching his own chil-

dren. It is said that there was no other person in the im-

mediate settlement at the time competent to take charge

of the school, and Mr. Smith, in order to afford his own

children an opportunity of " schooling,'' thus opened a

school, and extended its benefits to the other children of

the community. The schools and facilities for receiving

an education have improved since that day, and the pre-

cinct is now-better provided, though there is still room for

improvement in the public schools, not only of this pre-

cinct, but of the whole county.

The village of Newtown is rather venerable, and has

been "town"' for many years. It is situated near the

Fayette County line, at the junction or crossing of the Lex-

ington and of the Leesburg pikes. It originated into a

town by the farmers selling lots to mechanics who built

shops of the different trades and commenced business.

This led to the establishment of a store at the place, which

supplied goods to the mechanics and to the surrounding

families. The first store was opened by Martin Bates, who
kept a general variety of goods. A shoe shop was opened

by a man named Johnson, and a blacksmith's shop by Billy

Anderson. This latter was of considerable notoriety

throughout the country, for a great distance. Anderson

was a very fine mechanic, and made edge-tools of different

kinds, with which he supplied the people, and the excellent

quality of which rendered him very popular. The only

store is at present that of S. Ornsparber, general merchan-

dise. There are two shops—one blacksmith and one wood-

shop. This comprises the business of the place at the

present time. The only school in Newtown Precinct, is

located here. It is in a very flourishing condition, and

well patronized, with an average attendance of about sixt3'^

pupils. It was organized in this village in 1862, and the

first teacher was a man named Tompkins. The present

teacher is G-eorge Williams (1882), and all the primary

branches are taught, usually taught in a common school.

Newtown Precinct is a rather quiet, unassuming com-

munity, and has no very thrilling history. Its people move
on " in the even tenor of their way," attend to their own
business, and leave others to do the same. No railroads

traverse the precinct, disturbing the people with the screech-

ing of their locomotives and the rumbling of their trains,

but everything is done in the good old way of the fathers.

—Perriii.

S r-
i "V



o

c
O

o

o
en

E

<
a:





HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY. 217

£.W

HARRISON COUNTY.
CHAPTEE I.

SETTLEMENT OF THE COUNTY BY WHITE PEOPLE— LIFE IN THE WILDEKNESS — ITS HARDSHIPS AND PRIVATIONS—
ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY, AND ITS MACHINERY SET IN MOTION—THE ERECTION OF PUBLIC

BUILDINGS— ELECTION PRECINCTS, POPULATION, ETC.— COUNTY OFFICERS.

" * * may thy fame be made,
Great People ! As the sands shalt thou become ;

Thy growth is swift as morn ; when night must fade,

The multitudinous earth shall sleep beneath thy shade!"

IT is a curious fruth that when two living friends part,

they are, as it were, dead to each other until they meet

again. Letters may be interchanged, but the present of the

one is not the presence of the other. That was a trite simile

of a late writer, " that in this world we are like ships on the

ocean—each striving alone amid the war of the elements
;

and in the far-forward distance shadowed before us are the

dim outlines of the land of death. Some reach it soonest,

but thither all are bound." No sadder realization of the

inscrutable decree that, " Dust thou art, and unto dust shalt

thou return," is wanting than collecting the history of a

country or people. Here, we look around us for the old

landmarks, and find them moldering in the graveyards.

The pioneers who braved the perils of " flood and field," to

open up this country, have melted away like mists before

the morning sun, and, as we said, repose quietly in the

graveyard. The pioneers are all gone, and many of their

children are now old and tottering toward to grave. Soon

they, too, will have disappeared, and fortunate is it for the

historian that he has, through them, rescued from oblivion

some of the facts pertaining to the settlement of this famed

section.

Much of the early history of Harrison County is given

in the first part of this volume, under the respective heads

of "Geology," " Pre-historic," "Indians," etc., and will

not be recapitulated. But its history will be taken up with

its settlement by the whites. From the most reliable data

at hand, there is but little doubt that the section now em-

braced in Harrison County was seen by white people as

early as 1775, though it is probable that no permanent set-

tlement was made until a year or two later. Collins gives

an account, which bears every evidence of being correct, of

a company of men, who, in the spring of 1775, made a visit

here " in search of lands to improve." This company con-

sisted of John Hinkston, John Haggin, John Martin, John
Townsend, James Cooper, Daniel Callahan, Matthew Fen-

ton, George Gray, "William Hoskins, William Shields,

Thomas Shores, Silas Train, Samuel Wilson and John

Wood. " In the neighborhood between Paris and Cynthi-

ana, they improved lands, made small clearings, built a

cabin for each member of the company, named after some

of them Hinkston and Townsend Creeks, and Cooper's

Run, and afterward settled Hinkston and Martin's Sta-

tions. Of the settlement of Hinkston Station we gather

the following ; Col. John Hinkston, the grandfather of

Thomas Hinkston, settled Hinkston Station in April, 1775.

The station "was on the old Bufl'alo trace or Indian route,

from the big spring at Georgetown to the Lower Blue Licks

in the present county of Nichplas, and on the farm now
owned by John Lair, near Lair's Station. There was quite

a fierce engagement here with the Indians shortly after its

settlement—Col. Hinkston being in command of the station,

and the notorious renegade, Simon Girty, of the Indian

forces. The ammunition gave out at the station, and Col.

Hinkston was forced to surrender himself to the Indians.

This he did under promise that the remainder of his men,

and women and children, should be allowed to remain at

the station unmolested, and he (Hinkston) to be furnished

with Girty's uniform, which would bo a guaranty of safety

while a prisoner. These conditions were complied with,

and he was taken to the " broad ford " on the South Fork

of the Licking, which is in the northern portion of this

countj', and about two miles north of what is now Cole-

W
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mansville. He was there hid and guarded by a large num-

ber of Indians, who formed a circle around him, facing to

the center, and thus lay down to sleep. When slumber

closed upon them, his cords were untied by Mrs. Boyers,

who was also a prisoner, and he sprang to his feet, seized

a gun and ran to the bank of the river, which was here very

deep, plunged in and swam safely to the other side, amid a

perfect shower of bullets from the Indians who had been

suddenly awakened, and were in hot pursuit. On the fol-

lowing day, he returned to the station, with his clothes torn,

and presenting a very unnatural appearance. At first, he

was not recognized by his friends at the station, but climb-

ing into a tree he made himself known, when he received

a hearty welcome as one who had come back from the jaws

of death. The station was abandoned after this for a few

years. John Townse'nd, on Townsend Creek, and John

Cooper, on the waters of Hinkston, raised corn, in 1775,

from which the latter furnished seed to a number of im-

provers in the same region in 1776."

These improvements were made in conformity with a

law of Virginia passed in 1774, donating 400 acres of land

in Kentucky, to every person, who made an improvement,

built a cabin, cleared a piece of ground and raised a crop

of Indian corn. This opportunity of procuring cheap farms

brought many adventurous persons to Kentucky in 1775-76,

and the company above referred to, was, perhaps, the first

visitors to what is now Harrison County, unless those pio-

neer hunters—Boone and Kenton—had passed through it

on hunting excursions. Another company came to Harri-

son in 1776, among whom were George Bright, William

Craig, James McMillen, Thomas Moore, William Nesbit,

Col. Benjamin Harrison (the first Sheriff of Bourbon County),

James McGraw, Robert Thompson, Joseph Peak, William

Huston, Robert Kean and others. Several of these parties

made improvements and raised crops during this year. In

this way, many of the settlements were made in this part

of the State. Men would come in squads, locate lands,

make the necessary improvements to entitle them to the

400 acres of land, and then leave them. The Indians were

numerous, and opposed, with all the power which despera-

tion infuses, these encroachments of the whites, and sought

every means to harass and murder them. Most of the

parties mentioned above, were driven from their early im-

provements through fear of the Indians. Many of the set-

tlements were attacked, the settlers captured, the settle-

ments laid waste, and the whites either murdered or carried

away as prisoners. Ruddel's Station shared their fate.

Ruddel's was one of the early settlements made within the

limits of the county. It was upon the site of the improve-

ments made by Hinkston and others, and who were driven

away by the Indians. Some years later, Isaac and James

Ruddel, with a few companions, resettled it. Its capture

is mentioned in another chapter of this work, among

other Indian depredations and barbarities. Thus the first

occupation of the country by our ancestors was under dif-

ficulties and exposed to many dangers.

Hall's sketches of the West has an extract from a letter

written at Boonesboro bj^ Col. Richard Henderson, one of

the proprietors of the Transylvania Land Company, under

date of June 12, 1775, shows something of the state of

affairs here, and the interest manifested in securing the

rich lands of Central Kentucky :
" We are seated at the

mouth of Otter Creek, on the Kentucky River, about 150

miles from the Ohio. To the west, about fifty miles from

us, are two settlements within six or seven miles one of

the other. There were, some time ago, about one hundred

at the two places, though now, perhaps, not more than

sixty or seventy—as many of tbem are gone up the Ohio,

etc., and some returned by the way we came to Virginia

and elsewhere. These men, in the cause of hunting pro-

visions, lands, etc., are some of them constantly out, and

scour the woods from the banks of the river near forty or

fifty miles southward. On the opposite side of the Ken-

tucky River, and north from us about forty miles is a set-

tlement on the crown lands of about nineteen persons, and

lower down toward the Ohio, on the same side, there are

some other settlers, how many, or at what place, I can't

exactly learn. There is also a party of about ten or

twelve, with a survej'or, who is employed in searching

through that country, and laying off' officers' lands ; they

have been for more than three weeks within ten miles of

us, and will be for several weeks longer, ranging up and

down that country." These last parties referred to were

no doubt, the companies, whose settlement we have men-

tioned above. The survej'or was probably James Doug-

lass, who surveyed much of the lands of what is now
Bourbon, Harrison and Nicholas Counties.

An old manuscript written by Thomas Anderson, who
came to Kentucky with his father's family in 1783, and

when he was but nine years old, in our possession, gives

some rather interesting facts of their trip to this country

and their settlement. Mr. Anderson was born in Pennsyl-

vania, and when six years old his father removed to North
Carolina, and came to Kentucky, as above stated, in 1783,

locating in Lincoln County. In 1788, he removed to and
settled in Harrison County. Mr. Anderson thus describes

the trip to Kentucky and their settlements in Lincoln and
Harrison :

" The first night after we started into the wilder-

ness on our journey to Kentucky, the Indians surrounded
our camps and stole eighteen horses, among them one of

^
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my father's, which left us but two. This made it rather

hard on them, one of which soon afterward gave out, arid

we left it on the way. My mother then had to walk and

carry her child. We had four cows, and my father gave

them for a young horse, which enabled us to bring our stuff

through. "We heard the Indians on the mountains round

our camps when they got our horses. After we crossed

the Cumberland River, part of the men went back and fol-

lowed the Indians, but soon lost the trail, and so we lost

our horses. My father settled on land leased from

Col. Harrod at Craig's Station. We lived in a tent until

we built our cabin, and during the time (while in the tent)

a heavy snow fell, and one night a wolf came to the tent,

and took a ham of bacon from under my head while I was
asleep,' and started away with it, but the dog attacked

him and he let it fall. We tracked him to a canebrake not

for away, but could not catch him.

" Old Mr. Gill had some hogs that had gone wild and

lived in the canebrake, and he told my father if he would

catch them he might have half of them. So father found

where the hogs slept by the side of an old log, and fed

them for a few days at their bed. After awhile he built a

strong pen around them with a trap door for them to go in.

One morning he went there before day and sprung the trap

door upon them and fastened them in. He then sent me
after Mr. Gill, who came, and they divided the hogs. We
tied and hauled them home and. killed them. This was the

first pork we had ever killed in Kentucky." This was the

way the first settlers lived in the Kentucky wilderness.

Though this was in Lincoln County, it was but the same

that the pioneers underwent in all parts of the State. Mr.

Anderson thus describes their removal to and settlement in

Harrison County in 1788 :

" In 1788, my father removed to Harrison County, and

settled on Indian Creek, about four miles east of Cynthiana.

There were but few settlers in the neighborhood then.

Father came over the year before, and bought fifty acres of

land from Frank Mann, for which he paid twenty shillings

an acre. He also hired a man to build him a house, and

we moved into it in the spring of 1788. I came in the fall

of 1787, although but fourteen years old, and worked all

winter clearing ground and making rails ; I made two

thousand rails, cleared about ten acres of land, and during

the time boarded with a man named Thomas Butler, who

was a great hunter. When we settled here deer and bears

were plenty between our house and C3'nthiana. About a

year after pur settlement in Harrison, I was in the woods

one day with Jo. Smith, when we heard what we at first

thought was a locust, but it ' sung ' too long for a locust,

and so we concluded it must be a snake. Upon searching

for it, I at last spied it—a large rattlesnake stretched out

on a log. I got a stick and held it and cut its head off
;

then attempted to cut its rattles off, when it struck me on

the wrist with its bloody neck as vicious as a tiger. Smith

said I turned pale ; I really thought it had bit me, until I

reflected that I had cut its head off." Mr. Anderson tells

the following story that is illustrative of frontier life :
" A

boy about eight years old, was lost in the woods here in

the spring of 1787. It was while my father was over here

purchasing his land and arranging for having a cabin built,

and he turned out as did everybody else in the settlement,

to look for the lost lad. He was not found for nine days,

and when finally he was discovered, he had to be run down,

for he had grown perfectly wild while lost. After they got

him, and his excitement had somewhat worn off, he said he

had often heard them blowing horns, and hallooing, but

was afraid to show himself, lest they might prove to be

Indians. He had lived on roots and nuts ; had built a hut

of sticks and bark, and made him a bed of leaves, and thus

was playing Daniel Boone on a small scale." These extracts

have been given merely to illustrate the mode of life in the

early times, and to show our readers what -the pioneers of

the beautiful Blue Grass Region had to withstand while

subduing its canebrakes and forests. We will give one more

short extract from Mr. Anderson's reminiscences of early

life :* " Our mode of life when I was a boy was plain, our

food was beef, fish, fowl, bread of light loaf and batter cakes
;

vegetables, Irish potatoes, cabbage, turnips, onions, greens,

etc. Wild fruit was plenty, and used in many ways. Our cloth-

ing was all home-made. We raised flax and sheep in those

days ; the men and women all pulled flax together. The

first to ripen was pulled first ; the young girls and boys

would have quite a party after the flax was pulled. The

flax was rotted, then broke, swingled—the men would

break it and the women would swingle—after which it was

made into cloth by the women, and the cloth into clothing.

We would shear the sheep about the middle of May
; the

men would do the shearing and the women washing the

wool, and when dry, there would be wool-pickings, at which

the young people would have quite a frolic. The wool

was carded and spun at home—carded upon hand cards

and spun upon the big wheel—and then wove into blankets,

jeans, flannel, linsey, etc. ; or knit into stockings as necess-

ity required." Such were the pioneer times over which the

aged wavering mind loves to linger—times when
" Fancy yet brings, on her bright golden wings,

Her beautiful pictures again from the past."

We have seen how, when Bourbon County was formed,

* These reminiscencea were written by Mr. Anderson when he was eighty-four
years of age, in good health, and as he expressed it, " able to shoot a ritle as well as a
boy of twenty."
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it was a vast territory of almost boundless dimensions, and

how, as settlements increased, Scott County, in 1792, was

formed out of the extensive territory of Woodford. So, as

the population continued to increase, Harrison, in 1793,

was erected from Bourbon's " broad domain," and from

Scott—the two contributing liberally to its formation. Like

Bourbon, Harrison comprised a large tract of country ex-

tending to the Ohio River, and from its original territory

several counties have been wholly or in part created, viz.

:

Campbell in 1794 ; Pendleton and Boone in 1798 ; Owen
in 1819

; Grant in 1820 ; Kenton in 1840, and Robertson

in 1867. Thus, Harrison may be very truly termed a

prolific mother. The county is at present bounded on the

north by Pendleton County, on the northeast and east by

Bracken, Robertson and Nicholas, on the south by Bourbon,

and on the west and northwest by Scott and Grant

Counties. It is watered and drained by the Licking River

and its tributaries
; the southern part lies in the Blue Grass

Region proper, and partakes of the beautiful rolling surface

of that famous land, while the northern part is inclined to

be somewhat hilly and broken, but the entire county is

rich aud productive. Harrison received its name from Col.

Benjamin Harrison, an early resident of Bourbon, the first

Sheriff of that county, and its representative in the State

at the time of the formation of this county. He was a

native of Pennsylvania, and removed to Bourbon prior to

its formation as a county in 1785, where he held many
prominent positions, among them, in addition to those men-

tioned above, that of the representative of Bourbon in

several of the Danville Conventions. He was also a mem-
ber of the convention that formed the first constitution of

Kentucky. Cynthiana, the county-seat, is a beautiful little

city, and was laid out in 1793. Its history will be found

in subsequent chapters of this volume.

The first court ofHarrison County was held in February,

1794. Robert Hinkstoa was the first Sheriflf; Benjamin

Harrison, Hugh Miller, Henry Coleman, Samuel McIIvain,

Nathan Rawlings and Charles Zachary, Justices of the

Peace, all of whom were sworn in February 4, 1794, and

formed the first County Court ; they elected William

Moore, Clerk. They held their first court in the house of

Morgan Van Meter
;

Richard Henderson was the first

County Attorney ;
Daniel Lindsay the first Coroner

; Archi-

bald Hutchinson, Thomas Rankin and William Hall quali-

fied as Constables. Henry Coleman was the first Surveyor,

with Benjamin Harrison as Deputy ; also John Little and

Edward Coleman as Deputies. At this session of court, a

ferry was granted to Benjamin Harrison across the Licking

River; he was also appointed Commissioner of Tax. Among
other business done was a tavern license granted to Robert

Harrison in Cynthiana, for one year ; also one to William

Harrison ; a ferr}' to Robert Harrison across South Lick-

ing, near the mouth of Gray's Run, where the present

bridge is. At the next session of the court held April 1,

1794;. called the Court of Quarter Sessions, the tavern rates

were fixed as follows : Whisky, half a pint, 6d ; breakfast,

Is ; dinner. Is 3d ; supper. Is ; bed, 6d ; corn and oats,

2d per quart ; stable and hay for one horse, twenty-four

hours. Is. The seat of justice was at this court fixed at

Cynthiana, on ground laid oflT for that purpose. The court

agreed with Robert Harrison to build a stray pen, " ten

panels square, nine rails high, staked and ridered," and for

which he was afterward allowed £7 10s. The court also

agreed with Thomas Rankin to erect a " pair of stocks " on

the public ground in Cynthiana.

Of the building of the first court house, the records give

no account. But at the session of court held in October,

1797, an order was passed to repair the court house—it is

supposed that one was built about 1794—as at the session

of court held in June of that year, it was " ordered that

public building for the county be erected." The second

court house wa.s built in 1816. The plan was reported by
a board of commissioners, comprised of Gresham Forrest,

William Brown, William Moore, James Kelley and Thomas
Holt, and was as follows : Brick, upon a stone foundation,

fifty feet in the clear, with a chimney at each corner. The
first story twenty feet high, the second one in proportion,

with " hip " roof, and cupola in center. Gallery over court

room reached by two flights of stairs from opposite sides
;

the building entire cost about $12,000. A clerk's office

was erected on the square with two apartments, each six-

teen feet square, and fire-proof The plastering of the court

house was first given to John Stamp for $750, but he failed

to comply with contract, and it was given to Reuben Payne
for $850. He did not finish the job—was paid $600 for the

work done, and the remaining $200 was afterward (in

1820), appropriated to repair the rod and spire. This house
was burned January 24, 1851. It had been insured by the

Protective Insurance Company, of Hartford, Conn., and
after a great deal of trouble and some litigation, a compro-
mise was efi'ected. A contract for a new court house was
made with John Huddleson & Co. They did part of the

work and failed, when a new contract was made as follows

:

with R. M. & W. B. Calhoun for carpenter work at $2,270
;

J. F. Harrick at $375 for painting and glazing
; B. P.

Pullen, of Paris, the plastering at 37^ cents per square
yard, and $60 extra for plastering the pillars. A copper
roof was afterward ordered instead of iron, and $800 ap-

propriated for the difl'erence in cost.

The first jail was built by Thomas Mounts in 1795, who

e;•%
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received therefor £57 10s. A new jail was built in 1803,

and, in 1804, Anthony Arnold the Jailer, protested against

this jail, as being insufficient to hold prisoners. Another

jail was built in 1852. which burned in 1862, and then the

present one was built. More particulars are given of these

public buildings in Mr. Marshall's liistory of Cynthiana to

be found elsewhere in this volume.

The first division of the count}- into districts or pre-

cincts, of which we have any account, was in 1798, when
it was " laid off into thirteen districts for the aid of the

Constables.'' Without going into a description of all the

changes, however, that have been made in its civil division,

we will give it as districted at present, which is as follows :

Cynthiana, No. 1 ; Sylvan Dell, No. 2
; Richland, No. 3

;

Berry, No. 4 ; Rutland, No. 5 ; Unity, No. 6 ; Leesburg,

No. 7, and Claysville, No. 8. In each of these precincts

there are two Justices of the Peace and one Constable.

These Justices of the Peace form the Board of Magistrates

or the County Court, and, in connection with the County

Judge, transact all county business. The Board of Magis-

trates at present is as follows : C. J. Land and R. J. Whit-

taker in No. 1 ; Peter Florence and David Ross in No. 2
;

John B. Jouett and J. N. Whittaker in No. 3 ; Charles

Lail and James McMurtry in No. 4 ; T. W. Hardy, and W.

N. Matthews in No. 5 ; N. J. Henry and H. M. Levi in

No. t! ; T. B. Arnett and R. J. Levi in No. 7 ; and R. G.

Ta^ lor and W. T. Asbury in No. 8.

Previous to the adoption of the new State Constitution

ill 1849-50, all county officers were appointive. When the

new constitution went into effect in 1850, the same became

elective. The first set of county officers under the new
regime was as follows : P. Wherritt, Clerk ; William B.

Glane, Sheriff; John A. Berry, Deputy Sheriff; W. W.
Trimble, County Attorney ; H. Coffman, County Judge

;

Samuel C. Frazer, Coroner, and J. A. Thorp, Surveyor.

The present county officers are H. H. Haviland, County

Judge ; P. Wherritt, Clerk ; William Lafferty, County

Attorney ; Enoch Craigmyle, Jailer ; Aaron Dills, Coroner,

and R. M. Collier, Sheriff. The first Board of Magistrates

under the new State Constitution were, for No. 1, Samuel

Williams and Edward Wait ; for No. 2, Daniel Wait and

D. H. 'Raymond ; for No. 3, A. M. Cameron and D.

Hardin ; for No. 4, R. 8. Haviland and S. A. Whittaker

;

for No. 5, J. P. Blair and M. D. Martin ; for No. 6, Benj.

Robinson and Joseph Miller ; for No. 7, George Lemmon
and E, D. Cason, and for No. 8, Benjamin Cummins and

William English.

The County Poor House and Farm is a regular county

institution. The Harrison County Poor House is located

in Berry Precinct, and is kept by Mrs. Polly De Jarnette.

She has kept it for the past twelve years under a contract

with the county. Newton Henry, Esq., is the Commis-

sioner, and Dr. A. B. McGill, the physician in charge. The

present buildings were erected in 1866, and consist of a

large and commodious brick, and several small frame

houses, the whole being sufficient to accommodate some

fifty persons. The inmates at present number twenty, for

which the keeper is paid $1.70 per head each weeli.— W.

H. Perrin.

CHAPTER II.

RELIGIOUS HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY— PIOiNEER CHURCHES AND PREACHERS— CHURCHES OF THE PRESENT DAY
—EDUCATION—SCHOOLS OF THE COUNTY—SCHOOLHOUSES—SUPERINTENDENT'S

REPORT— COLORED SCHOOLS, ETC.

grand army that followed them, the angels themselves may
not know.

The early religious history of Harrison County is

somewhat obscured. Tlie most that is known is, that the

early settlers were mostly moral and upright people, who
had been members of some religious organization before

coming to this State, and upon their settlement here, lost

no time in gathering up the stray sheep and bringing them

back into the fold. Before houses of worship were erected,

the worshipers would assemble in the forest, each man
with his gun ; sentinels would be placed to guard against

surprise from the Indians, while the minister with a log or

FOR a century, men have been toiling in this region

for the generations that are to come. It was not for

themselves ; nor were they certain that their children

would inherit the results of their labors. In the early day,

they saw the wilderness slowly transformed into a garden
;

then, too, they welcomed the pioneer minister, who, single-

handed and alone, came here through many perils, to pro-

claim messages of divine love. Many sermons that burned

with fervor, have been preached in the groves which sur-

rounded their homely cabins. How many souls have been

saved, how much good done in the humble sphere of these

pioneer soldiers of the Cross, the advance guard of the

^
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stump for a pulpit would dispense the Word of Life and

salvation. It was thus that our ancestors planted the

seeds of Christianity in the wilderness of Kentucky.

It is not known when or by whom the first church

society in Harrison County was organized. But as settle-

ments were made here over one hundred years ago, and

heralds of the Baptists and Methodists were in Kentucky

also a hundred years ago, it is probable that churches of

theae denominations were established previous to 1790.

Without going into particulars of the different churches in

the diflferent parts of the county, suffice it, there are

between twentj' and thirty in the county of the several

denominations. Collins mentions seven as being in the

city of Cynthiana, two in Claysville, one at Havilandsville,

one at Antioch Mills, two at Colemansville, two at Lees-

burg, one at Buena Vista and one at Rutland. In addition

to these in the towns and villages, there are a number

that stand in the country. In the chapters devoted to

the election precincts, all the churches will be fully written

up so tar as facts and data can be obtained, and hence no

particulars will be given here, but we will proceed to the

educational history of the countj'.

The facilities possessed by our Government and country

for disseminating the benefits of an education are unsur-

passed by any nation on earth, and no other country per-

haps does so much to bestow upon its youth a mental, moral

and physical education. It has been very truly said that

" Education leads into exercise the active powers of man,

those which Grod has endowed and made active for this

end." Science enlarges these faculties and gives them

scope and vigor. The memory, the understanding, the

taste, the power of association are all to be cultivated.

They grow by exercise, and only in this way. We premise

by saying that the trust conferred upon those having the

superintendence of the public schools is a responsibility

scarcely less or inferior in importance to that of the ad-

ministration of the Grovernment. The Government itself

in no slight degree depends upon the education of those

bj' whom it is hereafter to be controlled. Amid the various

conflicting opinions on moral, political and religious sub-

jects, there is need of charity and forbearance, concession

and compromise. Citizenship is of no avail unless we
imbibe the liberal spirit of our laws and our institutions.

Through the medium of the common schools are the rising

generation of all nationalities assimilated readily and

thoroughly forming the great American people. The

common schools are alike open to the rich and the poor,

the citizen and the stranger. It is the duty of those to

whom the administration of the schools is confided, to dis-

charge it with magnanimous liberality and Christian kind-

ness. While the law should reign supreme, and obedience

to its commands should ever be required, yet in the estab-

lishment of the law which is to control, there is no princi-

ple of wider application, or of higher wisdom, commend-

ing itself to the broad field of legislation or of municipal

action, to those who enjoj^ its benefits and its privileges,

and to which all should yield a cheerful obedience, than a

precept which is found with nearly verbal identity in the

teachings of Confucius and those of Jesus Christ, acknowl-

edged by all and endeared to all by association and educa-

tion, viz., " All things whatsoever ye would that men
should do to you, do ye even so them."

A learned teacher and author, in speaking of the duties

of instructors of youth, says their duty is " to take dili-

gent care and exert their best endeavors to impress on the

minds of children and youth committed to their care and

instruction, the principles of morality and justice, and

a sacred regard to truth, love of their country, humanity,

and universal benevolence, sobriety, industry and frugality

ciiastity, moderation and temperance, and all other virtues

which are the ornaments of society." It will not be in-

sisted that this duty, so beautifully set forth, is other than

in conformity with the constitution of our State. Neither

will it be claimed that the Bible, in any of its translations,

is averse to sound morality, or to those virtues designated

as proper to be inculcated. Our Legislature very justlj'

leaves the selection of books to be used in our schools to

the directors, teachers and superintendents, who are elected

by a majority of the community for which they act, thus

refiecting the will of their constituents. There is no com-

pulsory attendance, no religious tests required, no essen-

tials of belief, no property qualifications to entitle a scholar

to the benefits of the common schools of this State. The
constitution and laws impose no test or other impediment

to debar any from the public schools. Although there is

no compulsory educational laws, the question has been

strongly agitated, and received the sanction of many of our

ablest statesmen. Some of our sister States have adopted

such laws, and we, for one, favor the same system in our

own State. A late writer has these sensible remarks on
the subject : There is yet an advance step to. be made to

complete the system, and that is the adoption of the com-
pulsory feature. Parents who will not voluntarily send
their children to school should be made to do so by the

mandates of the law
; and the time is near at hand when it

will be so enacted, and when every child in Kentucky shall

have the benefit of at least a rudimentary education. Those
who are especially jealous of their rights, oppose com-
pulsory education on account of its interference with their

precious liberty, not thinking that the law which compels
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them to pay taxes, work roads, serve on juries, and do

many other .disagreeable things, is just as much of an in-

trenchment upon their liberty to do as they please as it

would be to compel them to send their children to school

;

besides the liberty to bring up children in ignorance and

vice is one of those things that ought to be interfered with

and prevented if possible. A government that depends

upon the intelligence of the people for its existence must

use the necessary means to compel the education of the

masses, or go to destruction."

The way to carry out the grand idea in the Declaration

of Independence—^to make all men free and equal—is to

do it through universal education. The unlettered man

cannot be the equal of the educated man, nor can he have

a free and fair race in the pursuit of happiness, handicapped

by ignorance.

Another step which is to be a tremendous stride in the

direction of universal and cheap education is yet to be

made. It is the simplification of the uses of letters in

spelling and forming words, so that the English language

may be rapidly and cheaply learned by children and those

of other tongues. This great reform has long been advo-

cated by wise and thoughtful men, and is now, in many

sections, actively inaugurated. There is a class of profes-

sional educators who wish to make a monopoly of their

profession bj' making our language so hard to learn that it

takes years of labor and mints of money to acquire it ; but

tills class must, in time, give way to wiser and better men.

Many of the nonsensical, useless, wicked and fraudulent

letters, that have marred our beautiful language and made

it a stumbling-block to children and foreigners, have al-

ready been dropped out of the places they have wrongfully

occupied in hard and crooked words, that cost so much to

learn. When the English language becomes purified and

made plain and easy to learn, it will become the universal

language of the world.

The church, in the past ages, asstimed to be the special

patron of education, and, as a part of that education, the

religious dogmas of the day were engrafted upon the un-

tutored infant mind, the cunning priest well understanding

that "just as the twig is bent the tree is inclined." That

time has passed by with us, thanks to the liberty-loving

intelligence of our people. We have lived to see

"The Church and State, that long had held

Unholy intercourse, now divorced.

She who, on the breast of civil power.

Had long reposed her harlot head

(TM church a harlot when slie wedded civil power),

And drank the blood of martyred saints

;

Whose priests were lords
;

Whose coffers held the gold of every land

;

Who held a cup of all pollution full
!"

Harrison County is laid off into thirty-nine districts for

school purposes, in many of which are pleasant and com-

modious schoolhouses, and in all schoolhouses of some

description, though some of them scarcely deserve the

name. In addition to these, there are also fourteen dis-

tricts for the colored people, and they have their teachers,

schoolhouses and school fund. According to the last re-

port of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, the

amount paid teachers of the white schools of Harrison

County for the year ending October 10, 1881, was $7,024.06
;

for teachers of the colored schools, $433.84
; total amount

paid teachers, $7,457.90.

In addition to the public schools of Harrison County,

there are private schools of an excellent character, which

are particularly mentioned in connection with the towns

and precincts in which they are located. The public schools,

tqo, are also noticed further in the same connection, and

all local facts pertaining to them fully given.

The following extracts are from the report of the State

Superintendent, and should be carefully considered by

teachers and Trustees :

" Trustees are charged with the enforcement of the

rules and regulations of the State Board of Education for

the government of common schools, and no school is le-

gally taught, and entitled to the fund, in which these rules

and regulations are not observed. Trustees have no right

to annul, amend or disregard these rules, and teachers will

always respect them, even though directed to disregard

them by the Trustees.

"A pupil can be suspended for a definite time, or ex-

pelled for the term, for incorrigibly bad conduct or refusal

to obey the rules. Pupils can be suspended or expelled

for persistent tardiness or absence. The right of Trustees

to make such rules as will enforce regularitj' of attendance

has been several times alBrmed by the courts, and notably

and recently by the Supreme Court of Iowa.

" Trustees are empowered to provide that children un-

der nine or ten years of age shall not be confined in school

more than three or four hours a day—according to age.

They may also make exceptions of children of infirm health,

when such do not disturb the classification of pupils.

"Through the instrumentality of our common school

system, 250,000 children of our State are being taught the

elements .of an English education. The distance between

a person who can read and one who cannot is practically

infinite. The man who can read may put himself, if he

will, into communion with the recorded genius of all past

ages; into sympathy with nature as generalized in the

sciences; into commerce with the best thoughts of the
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living present ; and form independent opinions upon every

question which challenges his curiosity or affects his rela-

tions and interests. Besides, many, reported in no single

year, have received the partial benefits, or exhausted the

capacities to instruct, of the common school system, so that

the blessings it confers are much wider than the annual

statistics exhibit. It has turned many thousands into the

schools for higher education who, but for its recruiting-

sergeancy, would never have crossed the portals of aca-

demic and collegiate halls. Through its agency, ambition

for 'earning has been excited in thousands ofrminds, which,

without its inspiring agency, would have remained without

a yearning for scholastic learning. Parents, seeing the

unfolding capacities of their children's minds, and the

blossoming of aspirations for knowledge, have been in-

duced to make sacrifices to put them on the road to higher

learning, who would have vegetated in indifference but for

s quickenmg and mind-inspiring power. Into thousands

of homes ii has carried an intelligence absorbed by par-

ents, and has exerted an educational power on those whose
benefits have never entered into official exhibits. Tastes have

been developed that have improved the quality of domestic

happiness, and refinements developed which have hungother-

wise barren walls with prints and paintings, and trans-

formed uninviting cottages into vine-clad and embowered
homes. Estimate, upon a tuition basis, the costs of primary

instruction at |5 to the pupil child for a term of schooling,

and it aggi'egates uhe surprising amount of ^2,000,500,

thus demonstrating the economy of a system which puts a

school in every neighborhood and Knocks at the doors of

the lowliest cabins with the tender of an education as free

as the mountain air.

" Statisticians have been able to demonstrate the money
value of educated labor, and the commonwealth probably

receives every year, in the fruits of a productive industry,

tri-fold the costs of the system. They have also tabulated

its economics in the prevention of crimes and d ssipa..ons,

which would have entailed grievous burdens upon those who
pay the costs of society. It has greatly added to the vr'ue

of property, and served to content thousands with their

native lot ; while as an advertisement to emigrants, it has

acted as a magnet to draw thousands from abroad to our

own borders. Every man with a proper concern for his

offspring, when contemplating a change of residence, makes,

as a conditioning feature, inquiry into the facilities afforded

for the education of his children. The very best outlaj' for

a country inviting immigration is the money pat into the

agents of education. A tasteful and well-equipped school-

house never fails to create local pride ; and we have never

known a community making a prudent expenditure on an

efficient school to regret the enterprise after its advantages

had been made manifest.

" It is recorded that Burke pronounced ' education the

chief defense of nations.' The superiority of the Southern

to the Federal soldiery, in the early stages of our civil war,

was because the South gave the flower of her culture to the

field, who carried with them into the camp and battle that

pride of character which is ever the most reliable chivalry

when confronting danger."

The following is so sensible that we commend it to the

careful perusal of every one of our readers :

" In Kentucky we have devoted much attention to the

improvement of our animal stock by breeding, and have

reached a degree of excellence in this respect which has

given a world-wide reputation to our studs, herds and

flocks. Our horses are kings of the turf, our Short-Horns

premium at the World's Fair and our Southdowns rival the

bucks and ewes of their native English heather. Is it not

time we were devoting ourselves to the culture of the hu-

mau animal, lest our stock should become superior to their

proprietor groomsmen, herdsmen and shepherds? Phys-

ical culture has turned the wild horse of the desert into

the Arabian steed, the Derby courser, or the Percheron

draft ; the boar of the forest into the Berkshire porker

;

the "scrub" of the mountains into the big-uddered Dur-

ham. It is not to be believed that the most careful breed-

ing of the human stock can produce grander specimens of

our race than Bacon, Clay, Breckinridge (J. C.) and the

like, but we are justifiable in believing that, by the observ-

ance of certain known laws, the general quality of the race

can be improved. It is the opinion of a medical expert,

recently brought out by the trial of the slayer of Judge
Elliott, that a majority of men are, more or less, insane^

—

perfectly balanced minds being the exception instead of

the general rule. It seems to have been generally conceded,

ever since the dictum Orayidum est, ut sit mens sana in cor-

23ore sano, that the essential conditions of a well-ordered

mind are (1) a brain free of all hereditary predispositions

to disease, and (2) a normal state of the rest of the physical

organs. When it is known that the sins and virtues of

parents descend as a heritage to children, all who respect

their responsibility will feel a concern for their personal

habits and health, which transcends self"

The progress being made among the colored people in

matters of learning is very gratifying to all friends of the

race and of education. That education can improve the

African race it is folly to debate. Every community num-
bers some intelligent and virtuous and thrifty colored men
who are conspicuous shafts of light rising out of the dark
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depths in which most of their blood are plunged. Can we
point to a solitary instance of thrift and strict rectitude

among them without finding associated with it an elevated

intelligence and morality ? Left to themselves, however,

and without education, the negro will deteriorate and be-

come worse and worse year by year.

—

Ferrin.

CHAPTER III.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT—TURNPIKE ROADS AND BRIDGES—RAILROAD HISTORY OP THE COUNTY—THE MANUFACTURE

OF WHISKY—SOME OF THE DISTILLERIES—AGRICULTURE—FAIR ASSOCIATIONS

AND OFFICERS—STATISTICS, ETC.

THE turnpike system of Harrison County is scarcely so

perfect or so extensive as in some of the neighboring

counties. Bourbon, Scott, Woodford and Payette, for in-

stance, are better supplied with the excellent macadamized

roads perhaps, for which the blue grass region is so famous,

than is this county, although Harrison has a number of

turnpikes passing to points of importance. Among them

may be mentioned the Paris & Cynthiana pike, the Lees-

burg & Newtown pike, the Cynthiana & Falmouth pike,

the Cynthiana & Leesburg pike, the Connersville & Scott

County pike, the Leesburg & Leeslick pike, the Cynthiana

& Shady Nook pike, the Cincinnati, Georgetown & Lexing-

ton pike, and others. These are fine macadamized roads,

and are the pride of the county, as well as the turnpikes at

large are the pride of the blue grass region. Bridges span

the streams where these roads cross, thus rendering travel

safe and free from high water.

Railroads.—The railroad history of Harrison County is

exceedingly brief and is comprised chiefly in the Kentucky

Central, which is fully written up in the part of this vol-

ume devoted to Bourbon County. All that can be said of

it in connection with Harrison County is what is purely

local. There was subscribed toward building it something

like $125,000 by wealthy citizens of the county, and the

right of way generally granted by those through whose

land it passes. The subject of issuing bonds by the county

was put to a decision of the legal voters and defeated, the

county thus refusing to issue bonds.

The county took no action whatever in the project of

the Cincinnati Southern Railroad, and, as we have said, the

railroad history is given in that of the Kentucky Central.

Whisky.—Harrison County is noted for its distilleries.

Collins, in his history of Kentucky, says :
" In Harrison

County there are thirty distilleries, which manufacture an-

nually about 50,000 barrels of whisky, much of it of qual-

ity unsurpassed in the world. The manufacture of and

trade in this whisky constitute the greatest business and

wealth of Harrison County." One of the very first indus-

tries of the county was the distillation of whisky, and

whisky seems to have been a pioneer beverage as well as a

pioneer industry. John Miller, we learn, had a distillery

in what is now Leesburg Precinct, more than seventy-five

years ago, and Joseph Woolley operated one in the present

precinct of Richland about 1825 or 1830. In what is now

Rutland, there was a distillery started as early as 1791-92,

by John Kemper, and Samuel Kendall had one on the

Middle Fork of Raven nearly as early. Thus the business

commenced in an early day, and has grown and kept pace

with everything else, and perhaps gone ahead of some things

we regret to say. But speaking of the importance of

whisky, from a commercial standpoint alone, it certainly is

the most valuable business interest of the county.

Among the thirty distilleries (more or less) now in

operation in Harrison, we may mention the following, but

will not pretend to say whether any of them, like the wo-

man's babies, have gotten away or not

:

The Bdgewater Distillery is one of the oldest in the

county, and was built in 1837 by Shawhan & Brandon, and

at that time was the largest in this section of the country,

having a capacity of about one hundred bushels per day.

It was run about four years by this firm, when Brandon

broke up, which proved very disastrous at the time, as it

involved several other parties in the wreck. After this

catastrophe, the distillery was run by Mr. Shawhan, until

it passed through bankruptcy, which was about 1850. It

was then bought by John Lail, Sr., and for about three

years was operated under the firm name of Lail & Foley,

then leased by them to Shawhan, Snell & Megibben, who

ran it for some three years, when the lease expired. The

junior partner, Thomas J. Megibben, then bought it and

has since owned and operated it. Through these diflferent

changes of ownership, the capacity of the distillery has

been increased until it is now about five hundred bushels

per day. Its name has become familiar and favorably

known to many wholesale whisky dealers both in the United

States and Europe.

L. Vanhook & Co.'s distillery is situated on the Cyn-

thiana & Falmouth pike, just outside of the city, and was
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built by Peck, Vanhook & Co., in 1868. It was burnt in

1869, and rebuilt in the same year ; has a capacity of 300

bushels per day, and produces annually some three thou

sand barrels ; amount now in bond, 6,000 barrels. The

size of the distillery is 35x55 feet, three floors, three brick

warehouses with a capacity of 7,500 barrels. Ten hands

are employed at an average of $1.50 per day wages each.

Brand—•" L. Vanhook & Co., Pure Bourbon.'' One hun-

dred and fifty cattle, and 400 hogs are fed ; cooper-shop

attached, which turns out 4,000 barrels per annum. Ship-

ments are made over the Kentucky Central Railroad from

Cynthiana.

Excelsior Distillery, present firm Megibben, Bramble &
Co., is located at Lair's Station, three and a half miles south

of Cynthiana. It was bought in 1868 by Thomas J. Me-

gibben & Bro., and has a capacity of 700 bushels ; uses

two engines of ninety horse-power ; distillery is 70x40

feet ; three floors ; two brick and one iron-clad warehouse,

with total capacity of 17,500 barrels ; annual product, 8,000

barrels
;
now in bond, 11,300 barrels ; brand, " T. J. Megib-

ben & Bro., Excelsior Distillery." A cooper-shop attached

with daily capacity of fifty barrels ; feed • 250 cattle and

500 hogs annually
;
employ forty hands, on an average of

$2 per day ; obtain 75 per cent of corn from the count}'

;

telephone connection with Cynthiana, five miles distant, by

pike. Thomas J. Megibben & Bro. are now (February,

1882), erecting a large flour-mill and distillery at Lair's

;

capacity of mill fifty barrels of flour per day ; of distillery,

150 bushels per day.

Crescent Distillery, located at Cynthiana, present firm

C. B. Cook & Co.; it was bought in 1868 by C. B. Cook

;

William Adams admitted as a partner in 1874 ; capital

invested, $50,000 ; capacity, 150 bushels per day ; annual

product, 2,500 barrels ; now in bond, 6,000 barrels. Brand—" C. B. Cook, Crescent Distillery ;" employ twenty hands

at average wages of $2 per day. The distillery is 35x70

feet ; three fioors ; three brick warehouses with storage

capacity for 8,000 barrels ; feed 800 hogs ; cooper-shop

attached, with capacity of 3,000 to 4,000 barrels per an-

num.

Ashbrook Distillery, built in 1840, by Abram Keller, and

sold to Cook & Ashbrook, in 1861, afterward to Ashbrook

Brothers—the present firm—in 1874 ; capital invested,

$40,000 ; capacity, 300 bushels daily ; annual product, 2,500

barrels ; amount in bond, 5,000 barrels. The size of the

distillery is 40x60 feet—three floors, with three stone ware-

houses—capacity, 9,000 barrels ; employ ten hands, at

average of $1.50 per day. Brand, " A. Keller, Bourbon,"

and stands very high in New York market. The brand was

bought with the distillery—sweet mash—and has the name

of being the best sweet mash in this part of the State.

The distillery has made more or less whisky every year

since 1 840 ; its shipping is done from Keller's Station, on

Kentucky Central, one and a half miles from Cynthiana.

The water supply is received from an excellent well, 160

feet deep. There is a mill adjoining the distillery, one of

the oldest in the county. It was built by Mr. Lamb, who

also kept a store and carding factory. Lamb used to grind

flour, haul it to Claysville, and ship it thence to New
Orleans by flat-boat. The mill is now used for the distil-

lery alone, and both are run exclusively by water-power.

Poindexter Distiller}^—firm Wiglesworth & Brother—on

site of old mill which belonged to Philip Keath more than

seventy years ago. John Poindexter rebuilt the mill, and

added the distillery about 1850. It was bought by Wigles-

worth Brothers, who tore down and rebuilt both mill and

distillery in 1880. The capacity is 100 bushels daily;

annual product, 1,500 barrels ; amount in bond, 2,500 bar-

rels. The size of distillery (iron-clad), is 40x100 feet

;

three floors, two iron-clad warehouses, with capacity of 6,000

barrels ; new brick warehouse in process of erection ; em-

ploy eight hands, at $1.50 per day. Brands, " Poindexter

Bourbon," " Wiglesworth Bros.,'' sweet mash whisky. Peed

some cattle and 250 hogs annually ; buy barrels in Cincin-

nati at $2.50 each ; mill and distillery both run by water

when sufficient ; at other times by steam.

Craig's Distillery, at Berry's Station, was built by John
M. January in 1853. It was sold to Davis, who ran it a

short time, and sold it to S. B. Cook ; he ran it from 1860

to 1867, then sold it to his son, C. B. Cook, who ran it eight

months, and sold it to Lair, Redmon & Co. ; they ran it

to 1871 ; then Lair & Kern ran it until 1873 ; John L. Pugh
from 1873 to 1874. It then stood idle until 1880, when it

was bought by T. G. Craig, and has been run by him since.

It has a capacity of 200 bushels per day, and produces

2,500 barrels annually. The building is 32x64 feet ; three

floors, two warehouses
; capacity, 3,500 barrels ; now in

bond, 1,800 barrels. Brand, " T. G. Craig." Peed 100

cattle and 500 hogs ; employ twenty hands at $1.50 per

day each
;
get 60 per cent of grain from the county.

Redmon Distilling Company is proprietor of Distillery

No. 15, of the 6th District. It is located on Leesburg

pike, a half mile from Cynthiana, on Gray's Run, and was
built about 1859 by John Redmon. After passing through

several hands, it was bought by the Redmon Distilling

Company, in March, 1880, when buildings were fully repaired

and rebuilt, and new machinery put in. The present com-
pany is composed of five men—Thomas Hinkson, Presi-

dent
;
L. Vanhook, Treasurer ; J. A. Wolford, Secretary,

and S. J. Ashbrook and W. A. Cook, Directors. Capital
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invested, 150,000 ;
capacity, 160 bushels per day ; two large

brick warehouses, with capacity of 6,000 barrels ; 3,000

barrels now in bond. Brand, " Redmon Distilling Co.,"

" H. C. Ky." Employ eight hands, at average of $1.50 per

day ; make sweet mash whisky. Feed but few cattle and

hogs.

We don't know how many more distilleries there are in

the county now in operation. We learned the history of

those which are here given, and then became discouraged

at the gigantic task before us, and so thought to let the

above serve as examples of the business. Enough is given

to show the extent and importance of whisky-making as a

manufacturing interest. What more is necessary ?

Agriculture.—The following article on the agriculture of

Harrison County was written especially for this work by

H. B. Wilson, Esq., and is worthy of the perusal of every

farmer in this region. He says :
" An agricultural history

necessarily varies from writings usually given for informa-

tion and preservation. In the past this has been sadly

neglected, but the future will develop these resources in

such a manner as the theme deserves. No wider field for

thought is given to man than the agriculture of the coun-

try. It is the base upon which is built the great structure

of prosperity, and without, all would be ruin and destruc-

tion. Geographically, the county is situated in the blue

grass region, and a large portion of its lands are among

the ^'ery best, and when offered for sale bring as high

prices as those of any other county. Many portions of the

State were furnished with lumber from its hills and valleys,

while its lands were being opened for cultivation.

" By the early settlers, the maple was used for supplying

themselves with sugar and molasses, deriving therefrom

quite a large revenue. Its sap being very sweet by evapo-

ration becomes sugar. The people depended much upon

their success in this department of industry, to supply

themselves with means to purchase coffee, tea and salt,

together with other necessaries of life not furnished by the

farm. The housewife made nearly all the fabrics from

which the clothing was manufactured. The present luxu-

ries were unknown to the farmer.

" The soil is exceedingly fertile and rich, and produces

all the crops, common to the State, in great abundance.

Corn, wheat, rye, oats, hemp and tobacco are grown in all

portions of the county. The lands along South Licking

are better and more productive than those along Main

Licking, the former producing the very best blue grass,

grains of all kinds, hemp and tobacco, while the latter the

finest quality of tobacco and corn. It has now become

one of the largest tobacco producing counties in the

United States. Tobacco was grown chiefly in the more

hilly portion, but at this date it is fast usurping the staple

articles of the very best lands. The finest and most sala-

ble article grown upon virgin soil, where the leaf mold of

ages has enriched it, giving it a bright appearance, but

yielding less pounds per acre than old lands well rested

and manured. It is one of the most difficult crops to han-

dle properly, and but few farmers master the science.

Often the very best crops are ruined either in housing,

stripping, bulking, or in finally preparing it for the market.

It furnishes work for the planter at all seasons of the year.

If planted more than two or three years upon the same

land in succession, it soon shows its exhaustive effect, and

other land is sought for its cultivation. Fertilizers have

never been used to any great extent other than cld^er and

stable manures.

" No county in the State, perhaps, surpasses the south-

ern portion of Harrison in the yield of corn and wheat per

acre. The soil, underlaid for the most part with clay,

before reaching rock, and that at a depth of five and ten

feet, causes it to successfully resist drought as well as the

injurious effects of heavy and long-continued rains. A
sufficiency of limestone underlies all the soil and is

mingled with it to renew the elements taken from it by the

various crops, and to enrich it instead of impoverishing it.

Being well watered, it is well adapted to grazing purposes.

"All portions of the county grow the finest grasses, the

blue grass furnishing food better adapted to the wants of

domestic animals than any other kind. Clover is grown

chiefly for the enriching elements it contributes to the soil.

In its season, no grass surpasses it in fattening stock.

Domestic animals are reared with success, and great im-

provements have been made in them. The county has

always been noted for its beautiful and fleet-footed horses.

The early settlers used the saddle and heavy draft

horse, but now we have such as are desired in all the mar-

kets of the world. The cow, hog and sheep rank with

the best of the land. Large herds of Short-Horns are bred

and reared in our midst, and the hills and vallej's are cov-

ered with flocks of the Cotswold, Southdown and other

kinds of sheep ; hogs are fed upon corn produced on our

own soil. The early settlers frequently in the fall months,

gathered them together in large droves and traveled on

foot with them to the Carolinas and Virginia. To this gen-

eration and in this age of steam this would be tedious audi

slpw work.

" The farming implements used by the pioneers were of

a very common kind. The plows for breaking the land

were made with iron or steel points, and wooden mold-

boards. The writer never saw one with iron or steel

mold-boards until about the year 1845. The virgin soU

^' i) \
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was easily turned, but now, while the soil may be as rich

and fertile, it Is more compact and requires a better im-

plement for breaking than the one of by-gone days. To-

daj'', the plow that is in use has almost reached perfection.

All other farming implements and methods of agriculture

have undergone a complete change. Wheat, rye and oats

were then sown broadcast by hand ; now the drill is

used by all progressive farmers. Corn was dropped

bj' hand and covered with the hoe, now the work of

planting is done by machinery. Harvesting then was

done with the old reap-hook, each man cutting and

binding about one acre per day. Now the harvester,

with twine-binder attached, does the work completely,

leaving the grain in bundles, and doing the work of

a dozen men. The mowing machine has unsurped the

place of the old scythe before it was hung in the tree

of the late Daniel Webster. Then the grain was gathered

into the barns and at the stack-yard, and the flail in the

hands of the farmers threshed out the kernels, or the horse

put upon the treading-floor to tread it out, it was winnowed

by blankets, the fanning-mill being unknown. Now the

shrill whistle of the steam engine, driving the separator

and straw-stacker, is heard during the threshing season

upon every farm, putting the grain cleaned and measured

into the sack ready for market. Thus is progress

stamped upon the age, and man calls to his aid powers un-

known to those of the latter part of the eighteenth

century and the early years of the nineteenth. Change is

not always progress, but with the agricultural class of the

county it has been a grand improvement.

" To get the products of the farm to market was a prob-

lem, requiring considerable talent to solve. The early set-

tlers had to depend upon their own teams to haul their sur-

plus to some shipping point. The waters of Main Licking

were utilized as a means of getting to the markets ofthe world.

Claysville, a small town located upon its banks, was the only

shipping point for many years. Bacon, flour, tobacco and

everything raised, were hauled to this town over dirt roads,

loaded on flat-boats, and at " high tide " were taken down
stream to the Ohio River, thence to New Orleans. Return

trips were made by walking home. Maysville, after the

building of Maysville & Lexington turnpike road, became

the main shipping point, until the year 1854, when the

Covington & Lexington Railroad was completed as far as

Cynthiana. Upon its completion, a new impulse was given

the farmer, and every available tract of land was called

into requisition, and made to grow large and remunerative

crops. Wealth began to flow into the farmer's pockets, and

every undertaking prospered. Success followed success,

until the destroying hand of war swept over the land. The

agriculture of the county always assuming a higher stand-

ard of excellence. From time to time, all improved imple-

ments were introduced and all machinery adapted to the

wants of the people, displaced the old and cumbersome

methods of cultivation."

The following statistics from the last report of the

Auditor will be found of interest to our farmer readers :

Assessed valuation of land $3,347,403 00

Average value per acre. 17 81

Number of horses and mares, 6,339; value, 319,925 GO

Number of mules, 938; value 38,070 00

Number of sheep, 31,439; value 65,185 00

Number of hogs, 11,849; value 83,145 00

Number of cattle, 7,891 ; value 133,950 00

Total value of taxable property 4,929,633 00

Number of pounds tobacco produced 1,841,005

Number of pounds hemp produced 13,308

Number of bushels cora produced 813,195

Number of bushels wheat produced 130,063

Agricultural Association.—The first fair association

was organized about 1836, with Gen. Lucius JDesha as

President, and J. A. Kirkpatrick, Secretary. It was kept

up without interruption until the organization of new fair in

1875. The present Harrison County Pair Association was
incorporated April 19, 1875, by H. B. Shawhan, T. J
Megibben, H. C. Magee, C. R. Kirabrough. Felix Ashbrook^

and John K. Lake
; capital stock $25,000. The first

officers were T. J. Megibben, President ; C. R. Kimbroughi

S. J. Ashbrook, F. G. Craig, G. R. Sharp, James T. Talbott^

H. C. Magee, H. D. Prisbie, W. H. Roberts, R. C. Wherritt,'

and J. L. Patterson, were elected Directors. G. R. Sharp

and H. C. Magee were elected Vice Presidents ; R. M.
Collier, Secretary

; and T. T. Magee, Treasurer. The same
officers were retained for several years, except that N. W.
Frazier and W. W. Smith were elected directors in place of

Sharp and M.igee, who were elected Vice Presidents. They
leased the present grounds from W. H. Wilson, for ten

years, with privilege of fifteen ; he to use buildings when
not used for fair, and association to have the privilege of

removing them at end of lease.

Same officers were elected for 1876, except C. R. Kim-
brough and S. J. Ashbrook, who were elected Vice Presi-

dents. The same result was had in 1877 ; also in 1878.

In 1879, W. H. Wilson was elected a Director, being the only

change in the board. No other important changes have
been made, and for 1882 (the present year) the officers and
directors are as follows, viz., T. J. Megibben, President

;

C. R. Kimbrough and S. J. Ashbrook, Vice Presidents

and R. V. Bishop, Secretary. The Directors are M. s!

McKee, C. R. Kimbrough, J. R. Lake, N. S. Frazier, F. G
Craig, Samuel Ashbrook, C. H. West, James Mathews, W|
H. Wilson and William Victor.

^l
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The President and Directors are elected by the stock-

holders, who in turn elect their Treasurer and Secretary.

The oflScers and managers of the association are men of

intelligence, energy and enterprise, and alive to the impor-

tance of such an association, and of the results to be de-

rived from it. The success with which they have man-

aged its affairs is shown by its present flourishing con-

dition.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTER IT.

THE CATTLE INTERESTS — EARLY INTRODUCTION OF FINE STOCK INTO KENTUCKY— DIFFERENT IMPORTATIONS AND

IMPORTING COMPANIES—THE 'IT'S—BREEDING AND QUALITY OF STOCK—PRESENT

BREEDERS, THEIR HERDS, ETC., ETC.

the sons of Matthew Patton, Sr., a resident of the rich val-

ley of the South Fork of the Potomac. In 1783, Mr. Pat-

ALTHOUGrH the breeding and rearing of fine cattle

has never assumed such huge proportions in Harri-

son as in some of her sister counties, yet the excellence of

some of her present herds, and the increasing interest that

has been engendered of late years, demand more than a

passing notice.

In the formation of the " Blue Grass Region," nature has

bestowed her gifts with an unsparing hand. A climate

mild and salubrious
;
a soil possessing the mineral ele-

ments necessary for the highest development of animal

and vegetable life ; traversed in every direction by living

streams of pure limestone water ; an admirable distribu-

tion of field and forest, hill and dale ; not lacking in mete-

orological conditions, it is no matter of surprise that such

a preponderance of physical conditions should manifest

itself in the production of cattle of superior excellence.

The peculiar adaptability of the world-renowned " Ken-

tucky Blue Grass " (poa pratensis) to the perfection of beef

cattle had won for Kentucky-bred beef an enviable reputa-

tion, even before any effort was made to improve the char-

acter of the stock fed. This success naturally re-acted on

the traders' energy, and efforts were soon made to produce

a class of stock which would yield better returns for the

amount of feed consumed, and for the time required in

rearing them.

The first importation of improved stock into Kentucky

was nearly cotemporaneous with her admission as a State,

and this was followed by other importations at frequent

intervals up to the year 1817. Several different families,

among them, notably, Bakewells, Herefords, Long-Horns,

etc.; but the Short-Horns or Durhams proved their superi-

ority in so many respects that, at the present day, they

have outstripped all competitors for popular favor.

Says Mr. William Warfleld, in his chapter in the history

of Fayette County, and to whom we are indebted for most

of the information relative to the early history of the cat-

tle interest in the State :
" The first introduction of im-

proved cattle into Kentucky was due to the enterprise of

ton had procured for his use, on his Virginia plantation, a

bull imported from England by Mr. Grough, of Baltimore,

Md., which was described by Mr. Patton himself as " very

large and of the Long-Horn breed." * In 1785, three of

Mr. Patton's sons, and his son-in-law, Mr. Gay, brought sev-

eral of the half-breed heifers, the get of this bull, with them

to Kentucky, " near where Nicholasville, in Jessamine

County, now stands." In 1790, Matthew Patton himself,

emigrated to Kentucky, to Clark County, bringing with

him several more half-bloods, the calves of the same Long-

Horn bull. These cattle were very large and rangy, fatten-

ing slowly and late, but, at maturity, making excellent beef.

Some of them were also first-rate milkers. They are de-

scribed by Mr. B. Harrison, who knew the original animals

well, as " large, somewhat coarse and rough, with very long

horns, wide between the points, turning up considerably."

Having seen the benefit wrought by one cross of improved

stock, Mr. Patton could not fail to try more. Accordingly

we find him as early as 1795 procuring, through his son

William, two new animals of the Gough and Miller stock,

of Maryland and Virginia. In all the old records a very

sharp distinction is drawn between these new animals and

the bull used earlier, these being ascribed uniformly to the

" milk," and he as uniformly to the " beef" breed, and these

breeds being always identified respectively with short and

long horns.

Mr. Harrison's description of these new-comers fully

bears out these old distinctions.

The bull (subsequently entered in the American Short-

Horn Herd Book as Mars, 1850), he says was a deep red,

with white face, of good size, of round, full form, with more

bone than the popular stock of the present day ; his horns

somewhat coarse." The heifer (Venus) " was a pure white

except her ears, which were red, of fine size, high form,

*See letter of Mr. Benjamin Harrison, grandson of Air. Patton, in FranUin
Parmer, of February 9, 1639.
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short, crumply horns, turning downward." Here then we

see the first seed of Kentucky's Short-Horn interest being

sown. The seed, however, did not bear much immediate

fruit. Venus produced but two calves—both by Mars, and

both bulls—and then died. Nor was Mars much resorted

to by the neighboring breeders, the price of service, $2—

•

certainly moderate enough—being considered exorbitant

at that early day. One of Venus' calves was carried to

Chilicothe, Ohio, by William Patton. The other calf was

retained in Jessamine County by Mr. Roger Patton, and

Mars remained in Clark County till 1803, when he was

carried by Mr. Peoples to Montgomery County, where he

died in 1806, being the first Short-Horn bull ever brought

to Kentucky. The half-blood bull calves by Mars and his

son were in the meantime scattered all over the grazing

region of Kentucky, making a marked improvement in the

common stock.

In 1803, Messrs. Daniel Harrison, James Patton and

James Gay (son and sons-in-law of Matthew Patton), sent

back to Mr. Miller's herd in Virginia for another bull of

the " milk " Short-Horn breed, and got a two-year old,

Pluto 825, certified to be by an imported bull, and out of an

imported cow. " He was a dark red or brindle (roan)," says

Mr. Harrison, " and when full-grown was the largest bull I

ever saw, with an uncommonly small head and neck, and

light, short horns, being very heavy fleshed, yet not carry-

ing so much on the desirable points as the fashionable

stock of the present day, with small bones for an animal

of his weight. The people were now at last awake to the

value of these importations, and flocked to Pluto with their

cows, although the service price was still at $2. Mr. Pat-

ton bred him to the produce of Mars, and the improvement

was marked, Mr. Harrison asserting that the produce of

this double Short-Horn cross on the half Long-Horn basis,

was a class of animals whose superiors " in all the essential

qualities of the cow kind " have rarely been seen. In 1812,

Pluto went to Ohio, whore he soon afterward died. Not,

however, before the cross-bred descendants of himself and
Mars had become so numerous as to gain a sure footing in

Central Kentucky.

The importation in 1810 by Capt. William Smith, of

Payette, of the bull Buzzard, who was himself of mixed
blood, and proved of little note ; of " Inskip's " brindle in

1813 ;
of the Care stock, imported by Mr. Daniel Harrison

from Maryland, in 1814 ; and of the bull " Shaker," which

had come from Mr. Miller's stock through the Ohio
Shakers, completed the list of cattle brought to Kentucky
previous to the year 1817, and these bulls crossed on the

native stock of the country produced the " Patton Stock,"

a great improvement on the old breeds ; but still, owing to

the early death of Venus, breeders had no possible chance

of securing thoroughbreds from this stock alone.

The superior excellence of the Patton stock over native

cattle naturally stimulated the minds of breeders to at-

tempt the possibility of further improvement.

In the autumn of 1816, the attention of Mr. Lewis

Sanders, of Payette County, was called to the prices

brought by Short-Horn cattle at the sale of Charles Col-

lings, of Kenton, England—especially the 1,000 guineas

that Comet brought, a price hitherto unheard of in Ken-
tucky. He determined to import some of this improved

Short-Horn stock, and by the advice of his friend, Capt.

William Smith, included in his importation a pair of Long-

Horns.

He lodged with the commercial firm of Buchanan,

Smith & Co.. of Liverpool, $1,500, with orders to send to

Yorkshire and procure a pair of Holderness, and then to

the River Tees, in Durham, for a pair of Short-Horn Dur-

hams
;
then to the County of Westmoreland for a pair of

Long-Horns, his final intention evidently being to obtain a

pair of each of the three most celebrated classes of stock

then in England for the purpose of trial and comparison.

It being not long after the great war, prices had fallen

much in England, and the purchaser, Mr. Etches, was able

to secure two pairs of each breed, making in all twelve

head, which were shipped to Baltimore on the steamer Mo-
hawk, as per the following invoice :

Invoice of cattle shipped aboard the Mohawk for Balti-

more, consigned to Messrs. Hollins & McBlair, merchants
there :

(1) One bull from Mr. Clement Winston, on the River
Tees

;
got by Mr. Constable's bull, brother to Comet.

(2) One bull, Holderness breed of Mr. Scott, out of a

cow that gave thirty-four quarts of milk per day ; large

breed.

(3) One bull, from Mr. Reed, West Holme, of his own
breed.

(4) One bull, Holderness breed, from Mr. Humphrey's
;

got by Mr. Ware's bull of Ingleton.

(5) One bull, Long-Horned, of Mr. Jackson Kendall,
out of a cow that won the premium.

(6) One bull, Long-Horned, from Ewartson, Crosby
Hall, is of a very fat breed.

(7) One heifer, from Mr. Wilson Standcross, Durham
breed.

(8) (9) (10) Three heifers, from Mr. Shipman, his own
breed.

(11) (12) Two heifers, Long-Horned breed, from Mr.
Ewartson, Crosby Hall, of the Westmoreland breed.

Of the above. No. 1 was afterward named Tecumseh



.k
HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY. 233

(5409) ; No. 2, San Martin (2599), and No. 3 [or 4] Comet

1382 ; No. 7, the Durham Cow ; Nos. 8 and 9, respectively,

Mrs. Motte and the Teeswater Cow. Two other animals

reached Kentucky from England in 1817. These were the

two bulls, John Bull 598J, and Prince Regent 877, and

were imported by Mr. James Prentice, of Lexington.

With this notice of this importation of 1817, it seems

proper to add a word as to its qualitj'.

Owing to the fact that no register existed in England

prior to 1822, it was impossible that any extended pedi-

grees could be procured. All the evidence taken together

is, however, conclusive as to the purity of the stock. Mr.

Etches, the great English stock judge, so testifies at

length, and Indeed the invoice bears it out on its face."*

And it is the testimony of some of the oldest and most

successful breeders in Harrison County, that the de-

scendants of the old '17 stock are not surpassed in good

points by any of the more popular varieties of the present

day. With these remarks on the importation of Short-

Horns and their early introduction into Kentucky, we will

proceed to notice the different herds now represented in

the county, with a general sketch of the families which

compose them.

As far as we have been able to determine, the pioneer

breeders of Short-Horns in Harrison County were Messrs.

S. F. and J. J. Tebbs.

The former of these gentleman married a daughter of

Dr. Martin, of Clark County, one of the early breeders of

Short-Horns in Central Kentucky ; the latter, Mr. J. J.

Tebbs, is still living in Harrison, near Cynthiana. He
commenced breeding in 1837, with some cows of the

old 1817 stock, procured from his father, and bred by

Hubbard Taylor, of Clark County. Shortly after this, he

purchased of Charles Garrard, of Bourbon County, some

pure Short-Horns, viz.: Lady Motte and Rose Bud by Gar-

rard's bull Exception. Still later in 1842, he added to his

herd some pure Short-Horns, purchased of Dr. Martin, of

Clark County, and being a portion of the descendants of

the importation of Martin, Taylor & Co. Among the cows

represented in this importation were Dorinda, Georgiana,

Dulcedorum, Glorietta and Garcia, obtained from Dr. Rod-

man, of New York, and Leonida, Beauty, Jessy and

Sprightly obtained from Mr. Paley, in England. Among
the animals brought to Harrison by Mr. Tebbs was the im-

ported bull Bullion, which he used on his herd for several

years, and the three cows, Florence, Amana and Gem.

Previous to this purchase, however, he had obtained from

the same source, the cow Amelia, and the bull Bonning-

ham. Mr. T. was also the owner of the bull Pacific for

*See the teBtimon; in full in Farmere' Home Journal, February 6, 1873.

two years, also at a later date Sir Howard, obtained from

Battle & Co., of Clark County. His present herd consist-

ing of about twelve head, is headed by Master Suddeth,

purchased from the Vanmeters, of Clark County.

Following closely in the wake of Mr. Tebbs in the

Short-Horn interest, was Gen. Lucius Desha, one of the

most extensive and successful breeders now represented in

the county. He began in 1847, with two cows, May Rose,

running back to Imp. White Rose, by Publicola (1348),

and Rose Bud, tracing to Imp. Daisy. Previous to this.

Gen. Desha had been much interested in fine stock, and had

taken much pains to elevate the native stock of the

county, but owing to the absence of the American Herd-

Book previous to this time, the above two were the first

ever registered. Shortly after he added to his herd, Mary
Ann, 25th, and Miss Gray, both bred by Mr. R. A. Alexan-

der, of Woodford County, and tracing to Imp. Mary Ann,

by Middlesboro (1234). These were followed in succession

by Sallie Moore, tracing to Imp. Cleopatra ; Verity, tracing

to Imp. Rose Bud by Harsley by (2091) Primrose by Belle

Duke of Airdrie, 2532, tracing to Imp. Galatia by Fred-

erick (1060), Arabella by Langton 3061, of same strain as

Primrose and Imp. Clochette by Duke of Grafton. The

above-mentioned cows form the foundation of the present

herd which consists of about seventy-five head, in about

the ratio of nine females to one male.

Among the bulls which have been used upon his herd

may be mentioned in their order :

Reuben 2123, by Garrett Davis 518, tracing to Imp.

Beda, by Magnum Bonum (2243).

Paramount 1993, by Pacific 798, tracing to Daisy. Im-

ported in 1832, by Dun & Smith.

Red Gauntlet 3330, by Emigrant 472, tracing to Imp.

Daisy.

Favorite 2d 499, out of Imp. Irene by Sheldon (8557).

Renick McAfee 7184^, by Renick 3339, dam Mary

Clay Forsythe b}' Renick 903, tracing to the Durham cow

of the importation of 1817.

Cunningham 9711, by Gen. Robert E. Lee 5699, dam
Rebel Lady by Duke Albert 5523, tracing to Imp. Fanny

by Selim (6454).

Hinkson Duke 10229, by 16th Duke of Airdrie 7880,

out of Lady Seaham 7th, she by Victor 7th, tracing to

Imp. lanthe by Barforth (3085).

Lanan lOth's Duke 17601, by 14th Duke of Airdrie

7879, dam Lonan lOth by Imp. Duke of Airdrie (12730).

Gibraltar 17183, by Royal Prince of Fairview 12861,

and out of Imp. Clochette by Duke of Grafton (21594).

King of the Oaks 20143, by Imp. Breast-Plate, 11431,

and out of Imp. Clochette by Duke of Grafton as above.

rp
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Duke of the Oaks 22939, by 2d Duke of Oneida 9926,

and out of Imp. Clochette.

Rosamond's Oxford 33749, by 10th Earl of Oxford

14161, and out of Rosamond 5th, she by 3d Duke of Geneva

and tracing to Imp. Rosamond by Onarington (10671).

The bare mention of the above animals, which form the

foundation of the General's present herd, is a sufficient in-

dication of the excellence of his stock, and lie has always

been able to dispose of his surplus at private sale, and at

remunerative prices.

In 1850, Dr. G. H. Perrin, now a resideilt of Oynthiana,

and one of the oldest men in the county, engaged in the

breeding and rearing of Short-Horn cattle. He purchased

from William Alexander, of Woodford, the bull calf Lang-

ton, for which he paid $600, it being then only six months

old. He- Also purchased of George Bedford, of Bourbon,

the celebrated Belle Duke, of Airdrie, by Duke of Airdrie,

and a full brother of Kentucky Duke. His first cow was

Valette, obtained from Gen. James Garrard, and the prod-

uce of his fine bull Exception. He also purchased another

cow, the produce of Dr. Martin's bull Bullion. With these

as a start, he engaged in the business for several years,

biit owing to his advanced age, he has taken but little in-

terest within the past few years.

Succeeding Dr. Perrin in chronological order is Mr.

Anselm C. Shropshire, near Leesburg, who first became

interested in Short-Horns in 1852, his start being made
with the one cow Mary Ann, of Imp. Zelia family. Shortly

afterward, he purchased from Silas Corbin, of Bourbon, four

cows of the Matilda family, and later, of William Crockett)

of Scott, two cows tracing to Imp. Mary Ann by Middles-

boro. Still later, he added to his herd the cow Diamond

by Imp. McGregor 675, he being brought over by the

Scott County Importing Company in 1854, through their

agents, Wesley Warnock and James Bagg, Esqs. W ith the

addition of some calves of the Amelia strain, the above are

representatives of his present herd. These have been

served at different times by some of the best bulls of the

country.

In 1871, Mr. Shropshire purchased the bull Laudable

by Imp. Duke of Airdrie, and out of Imp. Lizzie. Later,

he added Johnson Duke of Clarke, bred by Abe Renick

of Clark County, and purchased from William Sandusky, of

Illinois, for $500. His herd at present is headed by the

Duke of Burlington, of Cleopatra family, and bred by

Alfred D. Oflfutt, of Scott County.

Among the sales made by Mr. Shropshire, always pri-

vate and principally of his own breeding, may be mentioned

Duke of Moscow, sold about 1870, to John Martin, of Ohio,

for $1,600.

In 1874, the bull Longfellow to James Bishop, of Ran-

dolph, 111., for $1,000.

The bull John Diamond, in 1874, to S. S. Arnold, of

Chariton, Iowa, for $500. And John Diamond 4th, sold

to William Dehart, of La Payette, Ind., for $300.

Among his sales of females were Lady Whiteface, a

Matilda, to James Bishop, of Illinois, for $1,000; also to

the same party at the same time a suckling Amelia calf

for $500.

He sold to James Johnson, of La Fayette, Ind., the Ma-

tilda cow, Dora 1st, for $1,000, and an Amelia heifer for

To A. C. Funk, of Illinois, he sold Dora 2d, a Matilda,

for $750, and her calf, Matilda Climax, for the same amount.

To the same party, he sold the finest cow he ever raised,

Matilda Johnson, for $2,000.

Gus AUman, of Illinois, purchased from him Lonan

1st and 2d, paying $1,500 for 1st and $1,000 for 2d.

To an Illinois breeder, William Campbell, he sold Lonan

Duchess, tracing to Imp. Mary Ann, by Middlesboro, for

which he received $1,200.

Most of the calves of his present herd, consisting of

about twenty head, are by the bull Royal Butterfly, of the

lanthe stock.

Mr. James L. Patterson, near Broadwell, began to in-

dulge his taste for fine stock in 1854, at which time he pur-

chased of Joseph Wasson, of Fayette County, three cows

and one bull of the Amelia family. In 1865 or 1866, he

bought several more females of the same family from

Charles Brent, of Bourbon County.

The addition of a Javelin cow, of Matson & Co.'s im-

portation, and some Amelias purchased of John A. Gano,

of Bourbon, which was further supplemented, in 1880, by

a Desdemona bull, sired by Lanan Duke 19th, and purchased

from B. F. Bedford, complete the foundation of his present

herd which consists of about forty head.

Among the most successful sales from Mr. Patterson's

herd, we mention a bull two years old, sold to Mr. B. B.

Groom, of Clark County, for $2,000, to form part of his

herd exhibited at the Centennial Exposition at Philadel-

phia in 1876. Unless the weather is unusually severe,

Mr. Patterson generally allows his stock to run at large.

Noah S. Patterson began breeding in 1855, in partner-

ship with his brother Joe. Their first stock consisted of

the bull Russian, purchased of James Tebbs, of Harrison,

and two Amelia cows obtained from Joseph Wasson, of

Fayette. Later they purchased from Bishop Forsythe two
cows tracing to the importation of 1817. They bred from

these till the war, after which Mr. Noah Patterson secured

a Young Mary cow from Bishop Forsythe, which had been

«^ i
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bred by William Warfleld, of Fayette ; also a Venus cow

from Capt. John. Hill, of Bourbon. In 1879, he added a

Desdemona cow, bred by B. F. Bedford, of Bourbon. The

produce of the above cows crossed on Duke, Oxford and

Desdemona bulls from his present herd which consists of

ten head.

J. Levi Patterson embarked in the Short-Horn interest

in 1858, with a cow of the 1817 stock, purchased of John A.

Gano, and the bull Huon, obtained from John Wasson, of

Fayette. He continued to breed in this family till 1868,

when he bought of William Warfleld, of Fayette, the heifer

Verbena, a Young Mary, and the bull Error, of Cleves fam-

ily, and from John A, Gano a few of his Minerva strain.

In 1869, he procured of Capt. George Moore, of Bourbon,

Ianthe, and, in 1 876, bought Valley Flower, a Rose of Sharon,

of B. F. Bedford. His herd now consists of twenty-two

head, and are all lanthes. Young Marys or Rose of Sharons.

After Error, he purchased of T. J. Megibben Rosa Lad,

a Rosamond bull, and he is now breeding to the Desdemona,

Duke of Crombia. Among the noted animals raised by Mr.

Patterson was the bull Duke of Harrison. He also owned

Red Daisy 8th, purchased from T. J. Megibben in 1874, and

sold to B. B. Groom in 1875, as a two-year-old, for $2,100,

to appear in his centennial herd.

Mr. John M. Berry, at Berry's Station, began breeding

in 1865, with the cows Flora 4th, Ruth and Moss Rose 3d,

of Young Mary and Phyllis families. These were pur-

chased from Thomas Van Meter, of Clark County, from

whom, and Thomas P. Dudley, he has since procured

others of Young Mary, Phyllis, Victoria, Elizabeth, Mrs.

Motte and Pansy families. He has been the owner of the

bulls Lyon (17523), Duke of Fayette, Bramton (7606),

London Duke 7th (14801), Rockingham (15361), Belle

Airdrie (22116), Cambridge Rose Lad, and others. Among

his best sales were Flora 4th to Henry Williams, Cynthiana,

for $400, and Strawberry 1st and 2d, to William Hunter, of

Hamilton, Ohio, for . Mr. Berry's herd at present con-

tains twenty-six head, of the different families mentioned,

his favorite strain being the Young Marys.

T. J. Megibben started his herd in 1865, with the

three cows, Sallie Ward, 2d and 3d and Elfleda, pur-

chased at the sale of Charles T. Garrard, of Bourbon, and

tracing to the importation of 1817, made by Col. Lewis

Sanders. * He bred to these till 1868, at which time he

formed a partnership with Mr. Wesley Warnock, of Bour-

bon, and they selected for the foundation of their herd

several Short-Horns from the different herds of the Blue

Grass Region, including Young Marys, Phyllises and Rose

of Sharons. They bred to these for four years, and held a

sale, at which some of the females brought as high as

$2,500. In 1869, they had added to the herd Lonan 10th

and 39th, and the bull Financier, all obtained at the sale of

Daniel McMillan, Xenia, Ohio. In 1873, September 10,

Mr. Megibben attended the sale of Messrs. Walcott &
Campbell, near Utica, N. Y., and brought into the countj'

the bull 2d Duke of Oneida 1776, for which he paid

$12,000. At the same sale he and E. G. Bedford, of Bour-

bon, purchased the 4th Duchess of Oneida for $25,000
;

she only lived a short time, and gave birth to a bull calf,

which proved of no value. He purchased at the same

time the 3d Maid of Oxford for $1,000, and the heifer.

Cherry Constance for $1,750. Shortly after this, he pur-

chased of Col. John B. Taylor, of London, Canada, four

heifers of the Craggs family, to which we may add sevei'al

of the Lady Bates family previously obtained at the New
York Mills sale. In 1875, he purchased of William S.

King, of Chicago, Wild Eyes of Lyndale for $5,000. To
these he added two more of the Wild Eyes tribe, which

he purchased from J. D. Carr, of Gabilan, Cal., they

having been bred by Hon. M. H. Cochran, of Hillhurst,

Canada. In 1872, he purchased of J. W. Wadsworth,

Genesee, N. Y., Kirkleavingston 13th. Among the other

strains of late purchase were represented the Bates Secrets,

Nettle, Princess, Peri, Bloom, Rosamond, Garla.nd, Mazurka,

Miss Wiley, or London Duchess, Gwynne and others.

Among the bulls used have been 14th Duke of Airdrie,

2d Duke of Oneida, 10th Earl of Oxford, purchased from

Cornell Bros, in 1876 for $10,000 ; 2d Oxford of Vine-

wood, from B. B. Groom, of Clark County, by 14th Duke
of Thorndale, for which Mr. G. paid $17,900.

Among the animals purchased by English parties and

returned to that place were two Rose of Sharons for

$5,500, and one Princess, purchased by B. B. Groom, for

George Fox, of Harefield, Eng. Messrs. Warnock and

Megibben purchased in 1868, of Noah Buchanan, Miss

Rose Jackson, and her first calf after they bought her.

Miss Stonewall Jackson, by 13th Duke of Airdrie, was

exported to England, and is now in the herd of Mr. George

Fox. In the partnership herd were represented the fami-

lies Phyllis, Young Mary, Imp. Donna Maria, Imp. White

Rose, Imp. Amelia, Imp. Pomona, Craggs, or Duchess,

Springwood, etc. The partnership was closed in 1876, the

sale netting about $36,000, since which time Mr. Megibben

has been engaged without a partner, and his herd, consist-

ing, of over a hundred head, is made up of the descendants

of the above families.

Elijah Kirtley, near Cynthiana, began breeding in 1872

with the calf June 3d, of Elkhill, purchased at the sale of

Richardson & Hughs, of Fayette, for $300, and the cow,

Rosa Linda, from Anselm Shropshire. In 1877, he added

r
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'to his stock the cow Maggie 5th from Luther Vanhook, and

bred by James L. Patterson. These three cows and their

descendants, headed by the bull Lord of Springhill, con-

stitute Mr. Kirtley's herd, seven head in all.

F. B. Smith, near Jacksonville, commenced raising

Short-Horns in 1872, having purchased an lanthe cow of

John Hill, of Bourbon. Later he obtained of Gen. E,. M.

aano the cow Mattie 6th, Vol. IX p. 101, A. H. B. To
these he afterward added Minerva 6th of Pattersondale,

an Amelia. His present herd of fifteen head consists of

the descendants of the above cows. His first bull was

Duke Philip 1st, purchased of Greorge M. Bedford, and run-

ring to Imp. Phyllis. He was followed by Sterling Duke
2d, of the Eosabella family.

Daisy Duke of Hustendale, bred by James Hall, of

Paris, heads his present herd.

S. J. Ashbrook, in 1872, purchased of John A. Gano, of

Bourbon, the two heifers, Leona2d by Indian Chief and Mi-

nerva 18thby 16th Duke of Airdrie. The former ofthese pro-

duced for him nine calves, four bulls and five calves, which

have produced ten calves of each sex. The second heifer

(Minerva 18) has produced three bull calves and six cow
calves, which in turn have given birth to twelve females

and six males. Mr. A. now has about thirty cows and
heifers, the produce of the two original heifers. He has

sold his bull calves at good prices, and adds, as his experi-

ence, that Short-Horns are the cheapest and most profit-

able cattle that a farmer can handle.

Mr. Henry Williams, Cynthiana, began breeding in

1868, with the cow Flora 4th, bought of John M. Berry

for $400. He kept her till her death in 1880, having
sold from her $3,000 worth of produce, one of her calves,

London Mary, having been purchased by Baylis T. Gordon
of Clay County, Mo., for $700. He also sold one of her

grandcalves to Cyrus Jones, of San Jose, Cal., for $550,

who afterward shipped her to Japan.

In 1872, Mr. W. also bought at Hughes & Eichardson's

sale Indian Princess 2d, a Lady Seaham. He has traded in

fine stock considerably, but at present his herd consists of

but four head, one cow tracing to Imp. Eosamond by Sir

Charles Napier, and the other tracing to Mrs. Motte, to-

gether with their two calves.

Mr. John Lair, Lair's Station, became interested in

Short-Horns in 1875, owning as the foundation of his herd

the three cows, Florence 2d, Lucretia 4th, and Red Rose,

and the bull Kelvenside. To these he has added by subse-

quent purchase, Irene 3d of Elkhill, Verona, Verona 2d,

May Pair, May Fair 3d, Rose Wood 4th, Maggie Patter-

son, from E. Kirtley, Cynthiana, Ky.; 2d Duke of Valley

Farm, from T. J. Megibben, 6th Duke of Ashland, from

A. H. Bedford. Mr. Lair's herd, at present consists of

some twenty head, in which are represented the Rose of

Sharons, Young Marys, Daisies and Imp. White Roses.

This last famil}', which runs back to Imp. White Rose by

Publicola 1348, Mr. Lair prefers for milk and butter. His

experience is, that if Short-Horns are properly and judi-

ciously crossed, they can be made good milkers, and that

considering the fact that it takes no more feed to support

a Short-Horn than a scrub, they are by far the most profit-

able for a farmer to handle.

Dr. H. C. Smith, Jacksonville, in 1881 procured of W.
H. Current, of Paris, the cow Amelia of the Amelia family.

Later in 1882, he added four cows, tracing back to the

Teeswater cow, of the importation of 1817. These and

their calves, seven head in all, make up his present herd.

J. Willie Kimlbrough, son of C. R. Kimbrough, Cynthi-

ana, Kj'., purchased at the sale of W. T. Hearne, of Fayette,

in 1878, the cow Boston Belle 7th, for $225 ; from her he

has sold two calves for $175, and still has three of her

calves and the cow, which represent a value of $750.

With this brief notice of the diflTerent herds, we close

the chapter of the Short-Horn interest of Harrison County.

Besides the thoroughbred class, the stock of the county

has been greatly improved by thoroughbred crosses on
native grades, and so manifest, to every one who gives it a

thought, is the superiority of the thoroughbred over common
grades that no doubt the close of the present century, will

witness quite a revolution in the cattle interest of the

county.

—

T. J. Megibben,

s r-
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WAR HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY— HER PIONEERS IN THE REVOLUTIONARY ARMY— THE WAR OF 1812-

RECRUITS FROM THIS SECTION— OUR WAR WITH MEXICO— THE WAR THE

REBELLION—HARRISON'S BLUE AND GRAY.

-ITS

"Of all the hearts

That heat with anxious life at sunset there.

How few survive, how few are heating now."-

MANY of the early settlers of Harrison County had

been soldiers in the Revolutionary army, and at its

close had received grants of land in the " County of Ken-

tucky" for their services in the war for independence.

According to Collins' Kentucky, there were, in 1840, living

in Harrison County, the following Revolutionary soldiers

who were receiving pensions : James Bean, aged seventy-

seven years ; Samuel Caswell, seventy-seven ; Leonard

Eddleman, seventy-nine ; Benoni Jameson, seventy-six

;

William H. Layton, eighty-three ; Thomas McCalla, eighty-

seven ;
Jacob Miller, seventy-five ; Philip Roberts, seventy-

seven ; William Sutton, seventy-eight ; Louis Wolf, Sr.,

eighty-nine, and John Wood, ninety years. Also two

widows, Mrs. Mears and Ann Whittaker, receiving pen-

sions for their husbands. With this number living in

the county in 1840, it is probable there were included in

the early settlers several hundred Revolutionary soldiers.

In the war of 1812, Harrison County contained several

hundred inhabitants, and most of her able-bodied men

subject to military duty served at some period during the

continuance of the war. Prom Dr. Perrin we learn that the

county turned out some 400 or 500 men all told. Among

them were the following commands : The Sixteenth Regi-

ment of Kentucky Militia, Col. Andrew Porter
;

Capt.

James Coleman commanded a company of cavalry, and as

fine a company as was in the Northwestern army. It was

in Col. '' Dick " Johnson's regiment, and took part in the

battle of the Thames. Capt. William Brown's company of

volunteers ; Capt. M. Forrest commanded a company in

which Dr. Perrin went out as a private, but of which he

was soon promoted to Quartermaster. Many of the Harri-

son troops participated in the battle of the River Raisin.

Capt. Thomas also commanded a company at the battle of

Dudley's defeat. Col. Boswell also commanded a regi-

ment that contained many Harrison County men, and a

number of whom participated in the battle of the Thames.

Thus Harrison County bore an honorable part in the wau

and poured out the blood of her bravest and best in defense

of the country. Of all those who went out from the

county, there are but two known to be at present living,

viz. : Dr. Perrin, of Cynthiana, now eighty-eight years

of age ; and a Mr. Harris, who is probably about ninety

years old.

As a matter of some interest to soldiers of the present

day, we give the following aljstract from the Quarter-

master's Department during the war of 1812 : Rations

—

one and half pounds of beef, three-fourths pound of pork,

thirteen ounces of bread or flour, one gill of whisky. At

the rate of two quarts of salt, four quarts of vinegar, four

pounds of soap, and one and a half pounds of candles to

every 100 rations. And from the Paymaster's Department

:

Colonel, $75 per month, five rations, and $12 for forage
;

Major, $50 per month and three rations ;
Captain, $40 per

month and three rations ; First Lieutenant, $30 and two

rations ; Second Lieutenant, $20 and two rations ; Ensign,

$20 and two rations ; Sergeant Major, $9 ; Second Master

Sergeant, $9 ; other Sergeants, $8 ;
Corporals, $7 ; musi-

cians, $6 ; and privates, $6 per month. This presents quite

a contrast to the long prices paid to officers and soldiers

in the late war.

In the war with Mexico, Harrison County fully main-

tained her good name for courage and patriotism. Nearly

an entire company (sixty-eight men), was made up in the

county, under command of the following officers : John

Shawhan, Captain ; William Henry Vanhook, First Lieu-

tenant ;
George P. Swinford, Second Lieutenant ; and Dr.

John Kimbrough, Third Lieutenant. The company par-

ticipated in the battle of Buena Vista, where it lost four

men killed, viz. : John S. Jones, Corporal ; and privates

William McClintock, James Pomeroy and D. P. Rogers.

Fifteen men died of disease before the company was mus-

tered out of the service, an event which took place in June,

1847, at New Orleans.

The history of the Mexican war is so familiar to all

readers that a sketch of it is unnecessary here. Tiie lead-

ing facts are, however, given elsewhere in this volume, and

will be found of considerable interest.

"I
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The great war between the States next engaged our

martial attention, and from 1861 to 1865 raged with a

force and energy unparalleled in the history of war. The

excitement swept over the country like an epidemic, and

although Kentucky designed remaining neutral, the war

feeling took possession of many of her patriotic sons, and

aroused them to deeds of valor, as the " fiery cross " stirred

up Roderic Dhu's " Highland hornet's nest." Under the

pretext of self-protection, the militia was enrolled, and

these organizations formed the nucleus of many of the

companies and regiments which eventually rallied under

the " Stars and Stripes " and the " Southern Cross." Our
space will not allow an extended sketch of the late war,

even were it a safe and pleasant subject to write upon,

which it is not. It is of too recent occurrence to admit of

a historian treating it without suffering his prejudices to

crop out to some extent, and hence we shall confine our

remarks less to particulars than to generalities, and leave

to some future writer more minute details.

The Twentieth Kentucky Infantry (National service),

drew as many men from Hamson County as any other organ-

ization formed during the war, perhaps. Among the recruits

to this regiment were the following commissioned officers :

Cornelius McLeod, Captain of Company I, promoted to

Major October 14, 1864, but never mustered as such ; was
mustered out of the service January 17, 1865 ; William C.

Musselman, promoted from First Lieutenant Company F,

to Captain of Company D, January 1, 1863 ; Henry Kim-
brough. First Lieutenant, resigned February 21, 1862 ; W.
Kinney, promoted from Corporal to Sergeant April 2, 1 862,

to First Lieutenant October 16, 1862, mustered out of the

service January 17, 1865 ; Alonzo Jackson, Quartermaster,

died January 15, 1863 ; William B. Dunn, Captain Com-
pany —, dismissed May 6, 1865 ; William H. Curran, As-

sistant Surgeon, resigned August 2, 1862 ; Robert Beckett,

Second Lieutenant Company I, resigned January 23, 1863

;

John C. Northcutt, promoted from Sergeant to Second
Lieutenant of Company F, May 21, 1862, to First Lieuten-

ant May 1, 1863, and mustered out January 17, 1865, at

Louisville
; Dr. P. N. Norton, promoted from Hospital

Steward to Assistant Surgeon August 2, 1862, and mustered

out January 17, 1865.

The following sketch of the operations of the Twentieth

Infantry is from the published report of Gen. Lindsay, as

Adjutant General of the State : The Twentieth was formed

in the fall and winter of 1861, by Col. Sanders D. Bruce
(now editor of the Turf, Field and Farm, of New York
City). It was mustered into the United States service by
Lieut. Col. Chetlain, United States Mustering Officer, on
the 6th of January, 1862. When its organization was

completed, it proceeded to Nashville, where it was assigned

to Gen. Nelson's division. It participated in the battle of

Shiloh, and in the engagements which resulted in the capt-

ure of Corinth, Miss. It engaged in the pursuit of Bragg's

army to Louisville ; followed them to Mt. Vernon, Ky.;

then returned to Nashville. From this time it was em-

ployed in Southern Kentucky and Tennessee, until July 5,

1863, when it was was attacked at Lebanon, Ky., by Gen.

Morgan's (Confederate) Cavalry, and, after a severe engage-

ment, was forced to surrender, in order to save the town
from destruction. During its entire service, it participated

in the following battles, in which loss was sustained : Shi-

loh, Corinth, Lebanon (Ky.), Kenesaw Mountain, Dallas,

Acworth and Atlanta, Ga. It was mustered out of the

service at Louisville, January 17, 1865, the recruits and
veterans being transferred to the Sixth Veteran Cavalry.

The Sixth Kentucky Cavalry was made up in this section

of the State, and drew quite a number of men from this

county. Among the commissioned officers of the regi-

ment, Harrison furnished the following : William t. Roper
entered the service as Captain, and was promoted to Major

of the Sixth, then to Lieutenant Colonel, and mustered out

July 14, 1865, at Edgefield, Tenn. Samuel Kimbrough,

Second Lieutenant, resigned September 30, 1863 ; James
H. Coffman, promoted to Captain Company B, September

15, 1862, and mustered out at Louisville December 23,

1864 ; A. P. McLeod, entered the service as Sergeant, pro-

moted to First Lieutenant October 7, 1862, ag^d mustered

out December 23, 1864.

The operations of this regiment are given in the war
history elsewhere in this volume, and will not be repeated

in this. Bourbon County furnished a number of men to

the Sixth Cavalry, as well as Harrison, and its second his-

tory will be found in that county.

The Seventh Kentucky Cavalry was the next regiment

that drew men from Harrison County. Among the com-
missioned officers were A. J. Jones, who was promoted
from Second to First Lieutenant, February 7, 1863, and pro-

moted to Lieutenant Colonel of the OneHundred and Thirty-

sixth Colored United States . Infantry ; William 0. Smith
was Major of the Seventh, and resigned February 5, 1863

;

D. P. Watson was promoted from Sergeant Major to Adju-

tant, November 14, 1864, and mustered out of the service

July 10, 1865, at Edgefield, Tenn. ; H. McC. Magee entered

the service as a private, and transferred, by promotion,

from Company C to Second Lieutenant of Company M,
January 29, 1863, and mustered out July 10, 1865

; Jesse
Bryant was promoted to Captain February 7, 1863, and
mustered out July 10, 1865, at Edgefield, Tenn.; A. M.
Spradling was promoted to Second Lieutenant, but as such

i^
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was never mustered. The sketch of this regiment is also

given in connection with Bourbon County, as many men

were from that as well as from this county.

The Eighteenth Kentucky Infantry drew on Harrison

County for a part of its force. Among the commissioned

officers from this county were the following : B. T. Riggs,

James P. Miller and A. Gr. Roper. Capt. Riggs was pro-

moted from Second to First Lieutenant January 17, 1863,

to Captain March 28, 1863, and transferred to Eighteenth

Veteran Volunteer Infantry, and mustered out July 10,

1865, at Louisville. Miller entered the service as Sergeant

October 16, 1861, was promoted to First Lieutenant Janu-

ary 17, 1863, and resigned June 14, 1863. Roper was pro-

moted from Sergeant Major to First Lieutenant in the Eight-

eenth Veteran Infantry June 23, 1865, and mustered out

with the regiment.

The Eighteenth saw considerable hard service during

the war. Its operations were confined principally to Ken-

tucky and Tennessee. The battle of Richmond, Ky., was

one of the severest in which it participated during the war.

Its loss in this engagement was 52 killed and 115 wounded,

and nearly all the remainder of the regiment captured and

paroled. Among the killed were Capts. Lewis of Com-

pany H, and Culbertson of Company K, and Lieuts. Wash-

burn, Company F, and Dunlap, Company I. Among the

wounded and captured were Col. W. A. Warner, Lieut.

Col. J. J. Landrum, Capts. M. MuUins and W. P. Fisk, and

Lieuts. Patterson and Moss. On the 4th of April, 1865,

the non-veterans—only seventy-two in number—were mus-

tered out of the service at Goldsboro, N. C, and the vet-

erans and recruits transferred to the Eighteenth Veteran

Volunteers.

The Fourth Kentucky Infantry also received a large

number of men from this county, among whom were the

following commissioned officers : Charles T. Schable, B. S.

Tucker and Robert F. Long. Capt. Long entered the serv-

ice as Sergeant, was promoted to Second Lieutenant March

23, 1862, and transferred to Company F, promoted to First

Lieutenant November 1, 1862, and to Captain March 23,

1864, was mustered out March 19, 1865, at Macon, Ga.;

Tucker was promoted from Second to First Lieutenant,

Company K, March 23, 1862, and resigned March 6, 1865
;

Charles T. Schable was promoted from Second Lieutenant

Company K, to First Lieutenant Company A, May 8, 1864,

to Adjutant September 29, 1864, and honorably discharged

May 15, 1865. This regiment also receives further men-

tion elsewhere, as many of its men were from Bourbon

County.

The Fortieth Kentucky Infantry drew a few men from

Harrison County. Of the number, Thomas R. Rherer and

-r-

Isaac N. Whittaker were commissioned officers. The for-

mer entered the service as Captain June 23, 1863, and

resigned July 24, 1864 ; Whittaker was Second Lieutenant

of Company G-, and resigned January 31, 1864. This regi-

ment was mounted, and served principally in Kentucky,

participating in all the battles in Kentucky against Gen.

Morgan and his rebel cavalry.

The Fifty-fifth Kentucky Infantry was also recruited in

this section of the State, drawing quite a number of men

from Harrison. Among them were the following shoulder-

straps : Calvin Griffin, James P. Robinson and Nehemiah

Spradling. Griffin was First Lieutenant of Compaay C,

and died August 15, 1865 ; Robinson was Captain of Com-

pany C, and was mustered out with the regiment Septem-

ber 19, 1865, at Louisville; Spradling was Second Lieuten-

ant of Company C, and was mustered out with the regiment.

This regiment was organized at Covington, in November,

1864, and served in Kentucky, mostly in guarding the Ken-

tucky Central Railroad until ordered on the Saltville expe-

dition, during which campaign it performed good service.

After the return from Virginia it was again as=iigned to

duty in Kentucky until its muster-out in September, 1865,

at Louisville.

The Frankfort battalion of State troops also contained

a few men from Harrison County, and Capt. James T. Mus-

selman and First Lieut. W. N. Matthews. This battalion

served principally in defending the State Capital against

the attacks of guerrillas, and rendered important duty while

in the service.

The foregoing facts, pertaining to the action of Harrison

County in the late war, are taken principally from the Ad-

jutant General's Report of the State, published by Gen.

Lindsay, of Frankfort, and may be relied on as substantial-

ly correct.

The names of Confederate soldiers and officers from

Harrison County are not so easily obtained as those who

participated in the unpleasantness on the Federal side. As

there are no published reports, we are compelled to rely

upon what we can learn through personal inquiry. The

following are the names of some from this county, who bore

commissions in the Confederate service, but whether it is a

complete list or not, we are unable to say. They are : H>

McDowell, Lieutenant Colonel Second Kentucky Infantry
;

0. G. Cameron and John Shawham, Majors in cavalry bat-

talion, and Ben Desha, Major of the Ninth Kentucky

Infantry. Jo. Desha was Captain in the First, and after-

ward in the Fifth, Kentucky ; W. T. Beaseman, Captain in

the Second Kentucky Infantry ;
Kennant, Captain

in the Ninth Kentucky Infantry ; A. J. Beale, Captain in

same regiment ; James N. Frazier, William White and Jo-

5 "l^
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seph Harding, Captains in cavalry regiments. McDowell
went out as Captain, but rose to the rank of Lieutenant

Colonel ; his company, made up mostly in this county, ag-

gregated eighty-nine men, of whom three officers and twelve

privates were killed, and three privates died of disease

;

about sixty-five, of the eighty-nine men, returned home
after the conclusion of peace. Ben Desha was promoted
from Captain to Major of the Ninth Infantry. Other pro-

motions were—from the ranks to Lieutenant—Phil Murphy,
H. M. Carpenter, J. H. Webb, J. M. Carroll and R. M. Wall

;

and from Lieutenant to Captain, A. J. Beale and Oscar

Kennard.

Capt. Shawhan's company was made up principally in

this county. The oflicers were John Shawhan, Captain

;

William H. Vanhook, First Lieutenant ; J. N. Frazier, Sec-

ond Lieutenant, and Charles Fowler, Third Lieutenant, with

about seventy enlisted men. Capt. Shawhan was killed in

October, 1862. The company was mustered into the serv-

ice of the C. S. A. in October, 1861. Another company,

largely from this county, was officered as follows : 0. G-.

Cameron, Captain ; Joseph Harding, First Lieutenant
;

William French, Second Lieutenant, and William Burns,

Third Lieutenant, with seventy enlisted men. About sixty

of each of these companies returned home after the war was

over. Company C, of the First Kentucky Infantry, which

was also made up mostly in this county, comprised nearly

one hundred men, with the following commissioned officers :

Jo. Desha, Captain ; W. S. Rogers, First Lieutenant ; L. M-

Thomson, Second Lieutenant, and D. H. Thomson, Third

Lieutenant. Lieut. Rogers was promoted to Captain, and

was killed at Augusta in the fall of 1862 ; Lieut. D. H.

Thomson was killed at Chickamauga September 20, 1863
;

and Lieut. L. M. Thomson died of disease during the war.

Our data for this part of the war history of the county

is meager, and doubtless imperfect. We have no pub-

lished reports or lists to draw from, and memory is often

treacherous. We have given all the facts we have been

able to obtain.

—

Perrin.

"^ sf̂
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OHAPTEE VI.

CYNTHIANA PKECINCT— DESCRIPTION. AND TOPOGRAPHT— TIMBER GROWTH, ETC.— EARLY SETTLEMENT

-

HABITS, COARSE FARE AND SEVERE DUTY "—PIONEER INDUSTRIES—CHURCHES AND CHURCH

HISTORY— EDUCATIONAL— VILLAGES, ETC., ETC.

' ROUGH

"A dirge for the brave old pioneer!

The patriarch of his tribe!

He sleeps, no pompous pile marks where.

No lines his deeds describe
;

They raised no stone above him here.

Nor carved his deathless name

—

An Empire is his sepulcher,

His epitaph is Fame. "

—

O'Hara.

HE who attempts to present, with unvarying accuracy,

the annals of a county, or even of a district no

larger tban||a precinct, the authentic history of which reaches

back through a period of nearly a century, imposes upon

himself a task beset with difficulties on every hand. These

difficulties are often augmented by statements widely at

variance, furnished by the descendants of early settlers, as

data from which to compile a true and faithful record of

past events. To claim for a work of this character perfect

freedom from error, would be simply to arrogate to one's

self that degree of wisdom not possessed by mortal man.

In the pages which follow, we incline to those statements

supported by the greater weight of testimony. To give

facts, and facts only, should be the aim and ambition of

every one who professes to deal with the incidents of the

past.

The precinct of Cynthiana, which is Election Precinct

No. 1, is situated rather in the southeast part of Harrison

County, and is bounded on the north by Berry and Rich-

land Precincts, on the northeast and east by Claysville and

Sylvan Dell Precints and Nicholas County, on the south-

west and west by Leesburg and Unity Precincts, and is

mostly fine blue grass land. It is large in extent, compris-

ing nearly a fourth of the county, and lays well, being gen-

erally rolling, but not rough or broken, and produces well.

It is drained and watered by the Licking River, and its

numerous tributaries, among which may be mentioned

Townsend Creek, Paddy's Run, Seller's Run, Indian Creek,

Sycamore Creek, Gray's Run, etc., etc., with a number of

smaller and more insignificant streams. The original tim-

ber was oak, black walnut, hickory, elm_, sycamore, sugar

tree, buckeye, etc., with an undergrowth in places, of cane,

which, however, soon disappeared. Corn, oats, wheat.

hemp and tobacco are extensively grown
;
also considera-

ble attention is paid to stock-raising and grazing, and

many fine herds of cattle and studs of horses are to be

seen in the precinct, as well as some of the noted stock

farms of the Blue Grass Region. The country is well sup-

plieid with excellent turnpike roads leading into Cynthiana,

and the precinct is intersected by the Kentucky Central

Railroad, all of which tends to enhance the value of prop-

erty, and at the same time aflSbrd the best means of mov-

ing the surplus stock and produce of the farmers.

The settlement of the territory now known as Cynthi-

ana Precinct dates back beyond the memory of anybody

living. Even the names of many of the pioneers are for-

gotten. A few more rolling years, and the last name will

sink into oblivion, if not rescued and placed upon the

pages of history. Like Csesar, the pioneer " came, he saw,

he conquered," and then sank to rest, and his name passes

from the minds of men. Among the early settlers of this

section, we may notice briefly Judge James R. Curry, who

died last year at an advanced age ; Gen. Josephus Perrin,

father of Dr. Perrin, of Cynthiana—the latter already has

passed his fourscore years ; the Newells ; Richard Hen-

derson, a lawyer, who lived to a great age ; William Lewis
;

Isaac Miller ; Shawhan ; the Frazer family ; George

Hamilton ; Gavin Morrison ; and a host of others now for-

gotten. Mr. Shawhan was the father of Joseph Shawhan.

Mr. Lewis was from Maryland, and died many years ago.

Mr. Morrison owned land in the precinct when the county

was formed. Of the Frazer family, some of the second

generation lived to be over eighty years of age, and are

now dead. So the country settled up, and that portion now

forming Cynthiana Precinct was occupied at an early date,

perhaps nigh onto one hundred years ago.

The carving of a home in the wilderness of Kentucky

a century ago was a herculean task, and one from which the

most of us would shrink at the present day. Savages had

not then relinquished their claim to the " dark and bloody

ground," but were clinging to it with death-like tenacity.

Bears and wolves and panthers were plenty, and roamed

the forests everywhere. Provisions, except game, were

"^
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scarce. None of the luxuries and but few of the comforts

of life were to be had. For years, the pioneer's home was

the most miserable of cabins, and his food and raiment

were equally poor ; and yet the pioneer was happy and

enjoyed his wilderness life. The following, from a bard of

the pioneer days, t3lls a pretty true story of pioneer life

:

"The old log cabin, with its puncheon floor

;

The old log cabin, with its clapboard door.

Shall we ever forget its moss-grown, roof ?

The old rattling loom, with its warp and woof ?

The old stick chimney of 'cat and clay ?'

The old hearthstone where we used to play ?

No ! we'll not forget the old wool wheel.

Nor the hank on the old count-reel.

We'll not forget how we used to eat

The sweet honeycomb with the fat deer meat.

"We'll not forget how we used to bake

That best of bread, the old Johnny-cake."

There are doubtless those still living in Harrison County

who can appreciate and realize the truth of the above lines,

who remember the old log cabin, with its puncheon floor,

etc., and the old spinning wheel and the loom. These rough

times and these relics of a pioneer age, however, have passed

away, and the country, where, a few years ago they reigned

supreme, is now the cradle of plenty and the home of edu-

cation, refinement and wealth.

The pioneer's attention is always directed to the im-

portance of a mill, and one of his first cares is the erection

of some kind of a rude institution to provide his family

with the staff of life. Mills were built upon the numerous

water-courses of this precinct in an early day, but of them

we know little at the present time. Distilleries were also

an early institution and operated almost as soon as mills,

for our pioneer fathers thought they could not subsist with-

out a little bitters for the stomach's sake, an idea that has

been handed down through their descendants to the pres-

ent day with most remarkable accuracy. At the present

day there are a number of mills and distilleries in opera-

tion in the precinct.

The roads of Cynthiana Precinct are of a quality she

may well be proud of. The first roads were but Indian

trails and buffalo traces through the thick forests. As the

whites came in and settled the lands, roads were made.

The trees were chopped out of these trails and traces, so

that wagons could pass. These were improved and

" worked " from time to time, until finally the Macadam

plan of road-making was introduced. The principal roads

were macadamized, until at the present day, among the

roads passing through the precinct and centering in the

town of Cynthiana, are the following macadamized or

turnpike roads : The Cynthiana & Oddville pike ; Lees-

l?urg & Cynthiana pike ; Ashbrook Mill pike ; Indian

Creek pike, Cynthiana & Eaven Creek pike, the Millers-

burg pike, and perhaps others. The inauguration of the

turnpike road system was the beginning of a new era in

this section. It enabled the people to move their stock

and produce with greater facility; made their property,

especially their lands, more valuable, and was otherwise

beneficial to them. Finally the Kentucky' Central Rail-

road was built through the county—a measure that over-

flowed their cup of prosperity. But these matters are

more particularly mentioned in another chapter.

The Gospel was introduced into the precinct with the

pioneers themselves, and long before churches were built,

services were held in their cabins, and when the weather

permitted, in the groves. When no minister was to be had,

some one in the iiabit of " praying in public," would read

a chapter from the Bible—sing one of the "songs of Zion,"

and then lead in prayer to the Most High, for the preserva-

tion of life in the wilderness, and the benefits of health.

As their numbers and wealth increased, church buildings

were erected in different sections, and ministers employed.

Just when or where the first church edifice was erected in

Cynthiana Precinct is not now known, unless it was in the

town of Cynthiana. As the church history of the pre-

cinct centers mostly in the city, it is more than probable

that the first edifice intended as a temple of worship was

erected there. Most of the church and educational history

is given in the chapter devoted to the city.

Mount Hope Chapel (Methodist Episcopal South) is

located on the Connersville pike, six miles from Cynthiana

and one mile southeast of Connersville. It was organized

in 1875 by Rev. S. S. Deering. It has now sixty-five mem-

bers, a good frame building which cost about $1,800. Serv-

ices are held every fourth Sunday, and Sunday school serv-

ices when the weather is good. Mount Zion Church

(Methodist Episcopal South), five miles from Cynthiana on

the Oddville pike. There is a Presbyterian Church at

Broadwell's Cross Roads, which is also five miles from

Cynthiana.

,

Education has always received the hearty support of

the people of Cynthiana Precinct, though the public

schools have not received that attention their importance

demands. Who taught the first school in the precinct, we

are not able to say, neither where the first schoolhouse

stood. Like the churches, they will be fully and thorough-

ly written up in the chapters on the town.

There are several hamlets in the precinct, but all put

together would not make a small village. Lair's Station is

merely a mill, a distillery, two or three houses, and a ship-

ping point. It is on the Kentucky Central Railroad in the

southern part of the precinct. Poiudexter Post Office is on
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the Licking River at tlie mouth of S^'catnore Creek. Odd-

ville Post Office is in the northeast part of the precinct, on

the Cynthiana & Oddville pike, about ten miles from

Cynthiana.

The history of the surrounding section so thoroughly

clusters around the city of Cynthiana, that when the latter

place is fully written, there is but little left to say of the

precinct, beyond the fact of its mere settlement. We will

drop the thread of its history here, to be resumed by Mr.

Marshall in a new chapter.

—

Ferrin.

CHAPTER YII.
CITY OF CYNTHIANA— LAID OUT AND CHARTERED— CYNTHIA AND ANNA— SOME OLD HOUSES— BRIDGES AND RIVER

IMPROVEMENTS—FIRST SALE OF LOTS—COURTS, OFFICERS, ETC.—JUDGE REEL'S

PRAYER—THE CITY'S WAR EXPERIENCE.

"History is the essence of innumerable biographies."

—

GarlyU.

"Recollection is the only paradise from which we cannot be

turned out."

—

BicMer.

IN age, Cynthiana is almost venerable. Its charter is

dated December 10, 1793, and in eleven years more, the-

town may celebrate its first centennial.

To appreciate the breadth of this period, we may re-

member that, in 1793, Isaac Shelby was then first Governor

of Kentucky ; George Washington was then first President

of the United States ; the population of the j^oung Republic

was then but three millions ; George III was still on the

throne of England ; the first Napoleon had not then been

heard of; John Wesley had been dead only two years

;

Alexander Campbell was then only five years old, and

Henry Clay was a youth of sixteen, writing in a law office

in Richmond, Va.

In 1793, it is true, ten years had elapsed since the

formal close of the Revolutionary war, but Kentucky was

not then a land of peace. The Indians yet disputed pos-

session of the soil, and only eleven years before was fought

the unfortunate battle of Blue Licks, and only two years

before were made the still more disastrous campaigns

of Gens. Harmar and St. Clair. Men whose posterity

now live around us in ease or luxury participated in all

these actions, and in many others of similar character. No

steam vessels then traversed the rivers, no railway trains

then fiew from city to city, no telegraph annihilated dis-

tance. Estimated by events, the period since the founda-

tion of our town seems great, for the mind can only appre-

ciate the lapse of time as aided by a knowledge of the

progress of aflairs, and unless so aided, we do not clearly

recognize the diflference between one century and twenty

centuries. But, on the other hand, when we see around us,

as familiar acquaintances, the children, grandchildren, or

direct descendants, in however remote degree, of actors in

historic deeds, then the great chasm between the past and

the present disappears ; our forefathers then seem blended

with our cotemporaries, and the three generations that

have figured on the stage of human life since Kentucky

became a State, all seem yet present and proi)cr recipients

of our love, our respect or criticism. Tlien, too, as wo

make companions of the pioneers of our land, we are en-

abled to properly estimate the mighty contrast between tlio

two eras. If we now have all that which demonstrates tlic

comforts and advantages of a high state of civilization, we

are indebted for it to the men of old. Involuntarily, our

thoughts linger in admiration and gratitude over the check-

ered story of the early life of our State, and when we

address ourselves to the specific details of the history of

our own neighborhood, we proudly and thankfully remem-

ber that the founders of Cynthiana were duly represented

in the great affairs of their time. It was an age of action,

not of theory ; it was an age of deeds, not of words, and

the old foresters, our ancestors, were equal to the occasion.

Their diet may have been simple and scanty, their privi-

leges, as we now count them, may have been few and insig-

nificant, yet they do not so much deserve our sympatliy as

they merit undying honor and veneration
;
for they con-

quered the wilderness and prostrated forests till timber

became a valuable commodity ; they chastised the Indians

till vengeance was satisfied ; they plodded, plowed and

planted till the far-famed blue grass region became a smil-

ing reality, destined in the future to be the home of plenty

and hospitality, of luxury and refinement ; of flue cattle

and renowned horses ; of fair women and brave men ; of

orators, jurists and statesmen.

It suited the convenience of a few of these old worthies,

in 1793, one year after Kentucky became a State, to estab-

lish a county seat on the South Fork of Licking, and they

accordingly petitioned the Second General Assembly to

give legal sanction to their choice, with the following result

:

Chapter xxxv, Acts op the Second General Assembly

OF Kentucky.

An Act to establish a town on tJie lands of Bobert Harrison, in

the County of Bourbon, approved December 10, 1793.

Whereas, It is represented to the General Assembly that
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one hundred and fifty acres of land lying on the east side of the

South Fork of Licking, opposite the mouth of Gray's Run, the

property of Robert Harrison, has been already laid off into a

town, with convenient streets and alleys, the lots containing half

an acre each ; therefore,

Be it enacted ly the General Assembly, Section 1. That the

said town be established by the name of Cynthiana, and the

property thereof vested in Benjamin Harrison, Morgan Van
Matre, Jeremiah Robinson, John Wall, Sr., and Henry Cole-

man, Gentlemen Trustees, who, or a majority of them, are,

by virtue of this act, directed to sell the residue of lots in

said town for the best price that can be had, giving three months'

previous notice in the Kentucky Gazette, taking bond and suffi-

cient security for the moneys or specialties arising from such

sales, which shall be transferable to the said Robert Harrison or

his legal representatives, and execute deeds in fee, as well to

those who already have purchased lots, as to them who may
purchase in future, obliging the purchasers to build on each lot

within four years after such purchase, a house eighteen feet long

and sixteen feet wide, with a brick or stone chimney thereto.

Sec. 3. And be it further enarted. That the said trustees or

a majority of them shall have power to settle and determine all

disputes concerning the bounds of said lots, and establish such

rules for the regular building thereon, as to them shall seem con-

venient ; and in case of death, resignation or other legal disabil-

ity of any of the said trustees, it shall be lawful for th« other

trustees to supply such vacancy, and the trustees so elected shall

be vested with the same power and authority as those particu-

larly named in this act.

Sec. 3. If the purchaser of any lot shall fail to build

thereon within the time before limited, the said trustees, or a

majority of them, may, thereupon, enter such lot and sell the

same again, and apply the money for the said town.

Sec. 4 Provided, nevertheless, The said trustees shall have
power to alter the present form, plan or figure of said town, or

to enter upon the lots set apart therein for public uses ; Provided,

however, That nothing herein contained shall be so construed as

to impair any contract that may have been entered into between

the said Harrison and those who may have purchased lots of him
previous to the passage of this act.

Sec. 5. And be it further enacted, That nothing herein con-

tained shall prevent any person who may have a more legal or

equitable claim to the land so laid ofl! in said town than the said

Robert Harrison, from recovering the moneys arising from the

sales of said lots, from the said Robert Hamson, his heirs, etc.

Sec. 6. This act shall commence and be in force from the

passage thereof.

By act of the same General Asserablj-, Harrison County
was formed of parts of Bourbon and Scott Counties, and
named in honor of Benjamin Harrison, Chairman of the

first Board of Trustees, and Representative in the Legisla-

ture from Bourbon County. By the same authority, and
at the same time, Cynthiana was made the county seat,

and named in honor of Cynthia and Anna, two daugh-

ters of Robert Harrison, who had dedicated the ground

now called the public square to the county, and who was
the first owner of " one hundred and fifty acres of land op-

posite the mouth of Gray's Run." Tradition rehttes that

Robert Harrison was a blacksmith, a good workman, a gay

healthy, rollicking son of the wilderness, just the man for

the times
;
and that his blooming young daughters, not

then grown, were the favorites of all their father's customers

and neighbors. The name Cynthiana, of course, gave gen-

eral satisfaction. Bat Robert Harrison soon sold out his

rights to the soil here, for his farm was already, in 1793,

" laid off into convenient streets and alleys,'' and before

Cynthia and Anna had reached womanhood, he removed

to Portsmouth, Ohio. There he flourished in business, his

family grew up, and one of the daughters, we are not in-

formed which, married a successful young merchant of

Philadelphia, and became an honored matron in a prosper-

ous family of that city. We should gladly know more of

those who gave name to our town, but further tradition, in

this regard, is silent.

The new county seat, however, at once assumed its rank

and privileges, and proceeded to exercise them. Within

six months after its establishment by act of Assembly, the

courts were sitting, county offices opened, the proper officers

appointed, deed books, record books, minute books, etc., were

ready to receive entries. The contents of these old books

yellow with age, are still preserved, and, we trust, will yet be

preserved for the information of him who maj' undertake the

part of city historian a hundred years hence. They con-

tain many an item of interest which we have not space to

recount.

Several houses had already been erected on the site of

our town before 1793, it may be confidently inferred,

for provision is made in the charter for the recognition of

the validity of any sales of lots made by Robert Harrison,

in anticipation of the act of Assembly. But it is not easy

to identify many of these early buildings. Careful investi-

gation, however, indicates the log house standing on the

low bluff near the river, a few yards above the spring, its

gable end looking to the west, built of buckeye timber, to

be the very oldest now existing in the town limits. So

thought Judge Curry and other citizens qualified to have

an opinion. The old hut certainly has the appearance of

a lonesome pioneer's lodge whence Indians might be

watched.

In 1790, Dr. James McPheters, not a resident till 1795,

built the weather-boarded log house standing west of the

court house, on the corner of the alley and square. It has

been successively, residence, court house, law office, print-

ing office, and, perhaps church. We are assured that in

this house Guthrie's once popular old arithmetic was
printed by Adam Keenan and Schrawyer, the only text-book

on its subject generally used for many years in this part of

the State. In this old house also, Henry Clay defended

•^^
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a fellow named Houae, accused of murder, in 1806. At the

close of Clay's brilliant speech, House's wife, anything but

a beauty, jumped up and kissed the blushing orator (he

was then only twenty-nine), in the presence of the densely

packed throng of spectators.

In 1805, William Moore built the brick house on the

corner of Pleasant and Main streets, now the residence of

William Turtoy.

In 1806, the frame building on Main street, opposite

the court house, was built, now the property of Henry

Warfleld.

In 1807, Gavin Morrison built the brick house on Lot

16 of the old plat, now the residence of Judge Boyd.

In 1809, the large brick building now known as Peck's

Flouring-Mill, recently purchased by Musselman & Riggs,

on the bank of the river above the bridge, was built for a

woolen manufactory. It seems to have been used as such

till 1818, when Gen. Josephus Perrin moved his cotton-

spinning establishment into it, from the corner of Walnut

and Penn streets, the site recently of Aaron Diltz's flour-

ing-miU, and continued the business until about 1825.

For many years previous to 1875, it stood unoccupied.

In 1812, Dr. Andrew McMillan built the two-story brick,

now called the Faerber House. In 1820, Alexander Down-

ing built the finest residence then in town, on the corner of

the square and Market place. It was burned in 1835.

About 1820, also, Enoch Worthen built the two-story brick,

called now the Whitaker House. Gov. Desha, it is stated

by old citizens, bought this property of Worthen, and sold,

about 1838, to Jeremiah Bassett. The south end of this

building is now occupied by Miss Walter's Select School.

In 1819, the old brick house at the entrance of the

bridge was built by Robert Patterson. In this house was

born the jolly, good-hearted Bob Rankin, well known a few

years ago to the traveling public as the popular " host " of

the Rankin House, now the Smith House.

For seventeen years after the act of 1793, the river was

crossed by ford or ferry only, the ferry being owned and

attended by Thomas and Robert Hogg. The first bridge

was built in 1810, by Andrew Porter, grandfather of W.

W. Trimble ; a second was built in 1817, at the same place

;

a third, still, at the same point, was built in 1835, or 1837,

by Greenup Remington, and this, after forty-seven years'

service, bids fair to last an indefinite period longer. About

1820, a bridge was built by John Bruce lower down the

river, opposite the Howk plantation, and where Pleasant

street intersects the river. This bridge was carried away

by high water in 1828 ; two adventurous young men, Will-

iam Bruce and William Oder, were on the bridge when it

gave way, but were rescued after having received a pretty

" close caP." The bridge at this point has never been re-

built.

In 1818, Gen. Josephus Perrin, ifather of Dr. George H.

Perrin, superintended a survey of South Licking, from Cyn-

thiana to the Ohio River, with a view to its navigation by

means of lock and dam. Should the navigation have been

found practicable, the landing here was expected to be at

or near the foot of Pleasant street, for this, it was thought,

would be the principal thoroughfare of the town. The

pavement of Pleasant street was, therefore, extended toward

the river, and a Mrs. McCann, as the name is remembered

by an old citizen, was compelled by the Trustees of the

town to sell, or permit to be sold, her lot on the corner of

Pleasant and Race streets, for taxes to pay for her share of

the pavement, the taxes being all she ever received for her

lot.

About the same time, and probably looking to the nav-

igation of the Licking as an event in the near future.

Judge J. R. Curry built a fine $5,000 mansion on a beau-

tifully situated lot of three acres, on the west side of the

river, nearly opposite the foot of Pleasant street. In 1835,

Andrew Moore, who had then owned the place for some

years, ofl'ered it to Robert Jones for $1,500. While Jones

was considering this ofier, the house was burned. Mean-

while the navigation of th^ river, even with lock and dam,

was found to be impracticable. The expectations of Pleas-

ant street declined, the pavement proceeded no further in

the direction of the river, nor was it thought worth while to

restore the bridge at its terminus after it was swept away

in 1828.

Less than three months after the act of establishment,

the first Court of Quarter Sessions was convened on the 4th

of March, 1794, at the house of Morgan Van Matre, by the

magistrates, Benjamin Harrison, Hugh Miller and John

Wall. The first Circuit Court was organized on the 7th of

February, 1803, John Allen, Hugh Miller and John Wall,

being the Judges, three presiding officers then, and, for

years afterward, occupying the bench both in the Court of

Quarter Sessions and in the Circuit Court.

William Ardery was the first Sherifi", appointed at the

same time, 1794, as the three Magstrates of the Court of

Quarter Sessions. At the end of two years, the oldest of

the three Magistrates became, as a rule, the Sheriff", but

Ardery continued Sheriff for several terms, by what author-

ity does not clearly appear. The Higli Sheriff, rarely, or

never, himself, rode in the execution of the duties of his

office. He farmed out his office, that is, he sold at public

auction to the highest bidder, at the court house steps, the

privilege of collecting the county revenues. This custom

continued till the adoption of the new Constitution in 1850.

^'
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William Ardery farmed out the office for the first time to

James Patton in 1794. At this time, and till the adoption

of the new Constitution in 1850, the courts appointed their

own Clerks, and William Moore was thus appointed the

first Clerk of both courts, that is, of the Court of Quarter

Sessions, which may be considered our present County

Court, and also Clerk of the Circuit Court. The Clerk was

allowed to appoint his sons as his successors, and so the

office of County and Circuit Court Clerk was held by

William Moore, and by Andrew and Henry Coleman Moore,

his sons, till 1832, a period of nearly forty years.

Thomas B. Woodyard succeeded the Moores, and held

the office till 1837, Andrew Moore also still holding one of

the clerkships. In 1842, Philip Brown was appointed

Clerk of the Circuit Court ; soon resigned, and was then

appointed to hold both offices. James R. Curry succee.ded

Brown as Circuit Court Clerk, and Perry Wherritt suc-

ceeded Brown as County Clerk. J. S. Boyd followed as

Circuit Court Clerk, and Charles T. Wilson became County

Clerk in 1861, Perry Wherritt having been arrested for

political reasons. Then followed James F. Ware, A. J.

Beale, and, finally, W. W. Longmoor, the present incumbent

in the office of Circuit Court Clerk. Perry Wherritt was

re-elected County Clerk in 1866, and still holds that office.

We make room here for a fgw items of great interest,

supplied through the kindness of Judge Boyd, from the

records of the Circuit Court Clerk's office :

" Henry Clay, on the 7th day of September, 1801, pro-

duced his license to practice law, and took the oath required

by law, and was admitted as attorney of the Quarter Ses-

sions Court of Harrison County.''

On the 6th day of June, 1806, there is an order in the

handwriting of Mr. Clay, entered in the order book of the

Circuit Court in said county, in the celebrated case- of the

Commonwealth of Kentucky versus Adam House and

Andrew House, indicted for the murder of Thomas Mef-

ford. The Houses were ultimately cleared, though the first

trial went against them in spite of the mighty Clay.

" At the Circuit Court of said county, held on the 7th

day of February, 1803, being the day on which the said

court was organized, Richard Henderson, William G-arrard,

Thomas Arnold, Jesse Bledsoe, Robert Trimble, James H.

McLaughlin and Richard M. Johnson presented their

licenses, and took the oath required bj' law, and were

admitted as attorneys at law in said court."

The first recorded deed is dated the 1st day of April,

1794, made by James Lemmon to Alexander Adger, con-

veying to Adger, " for fifty pounds sterling " (the decimal

currency was not yet in much vogue), one hundred acres of

land lying " on the waters of Townsend, a branch of the

South Fork of Licking." Evejj as late as 1798, Record

Book " A " exhibits the following entr^-, showing the usual

reckoning of accounts to be in sterling money :
" Harrison

Court of Quarter Sessions : William Moore, Clerk of this

court, produced an account on criminal proceedings to the

amount of one pound, eighteen shillings and four pence,

which, being examined and allowed by the court, is ordered

to be certified to the Auditor of Public Accoijnts."

On the 4th of March, 1795, the original Trustees of the

town, Benjamin Harrison, Morgan Van Matre, Jeremiah

Robinson, John Wall and Henry Coleman, sold to Hugh
Stevenson Lot No. 42 of the " Old Piatt," the ground now

occupied by Marks McCabe ; also, at the same time. Lot

No. 15 to Benjamin Harrison, now occupied by William S.

Wall
; also Lot 29 to Robert McBride, now the residence

of William A. Cook ; also to John McLaughlin Lot 75,

r,ow the site of the Christian Church ; also to Lewis

Marshall, noted scholar, critic, teacher, and eccentric, then

resident in Bourbon County, but never a citizen of Harri-

son, Lots 69, 83, 84, 85, 86, 99 and 100, now the property

of Mrs. Frazer, near the present residence of Henry C-

Nebel ; also to William Rankin the half-acre Lot 25, now

the site of the Faerber House, on Main street.

In 1799, the Trustees sold to William Mountjoy Lots

18 and 19 ; and in 1806, to Gavin Morrison, Lots 16 and

28 ; all of the land now forms part of the ground on which

Judge Boyd's residence is situated. The residence was

built by Gavin Morrison. The Judge's present limits in-

clude all of Lots 16 and 20, and about half of 17 and 19,

the original purchasers of the whole being William Mount-

joy and Gavin Morrison.

In 1796, the Trustees sold to Robert Hinkson Lot 34,

now occupied by the residence of William Turtoy.

We are indebted to William Garnett, Sr., for the brief

notice of Hugh Newell, one of Harrison County's most
highly esteemed and admired public men, and which is

as appropriate in this connection as elsewhere. He was a

brilliant natural orator :

"Hugh Newell was a citizen of Harrison for eighty

years, and in all that time, with the exception of the years

from 1861 to 1867, when he lived near Colemansville, he

lived on the same place which his father settled.

" The schools in the days of his boyhood were what
would not now be tolerated. The teachers were not unfre-

quently men of no qualifications. The books used were
whatever volume the boys could find at home. Some, read
lessons in the life of Gen. Francis Marion, others in the

New Testament, and some in works of biography or ro-

mance. The paper used was not ruled until after it was
bought and sewed into a copy-book—the boys ruling it

s ""V
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themselves with pencils hammered out of bullets into the

shape of horse-shoe nails. The schoolhouses were rude

log structures, with an open fire-place in one end. The

seats were rough benches without backs. The writing-

desk was a long board, supported by legs, and fastened

against the wall the whole length of one side of the room,

while a long window, one pane of glass high, let light in

upon it. The schools were taught by the quarter—the

teacher boarding around with his patrons—the three

winter months being generally the months in which the

larger boys and girls attended. Reading, writing and a

smattering of arithmetic were the branches taught. Such

were the schools that Hugh Newell, for three or perhaps

four quarters, attended.

" In those days, the produce of the country often found

its market in New Orleans. Flat-boats would be built and

loaded on the Licking, and go out in a rise of the river. At

New Orleans the boat and cargo would be sold and paid

for in silver dollars, which the boatmen would wrap up in

their blankets and fetch home on their backs, making the

journey from New Orleans to Cynthiana on foot, within

from thirty-five to forty days. His father built a boat

at Ecklar's Mill, on the South Licking, and loaded it

with flour and bacon, which he took to New Orleans,

and returned overland through the Chickasaw country,

home.

" Hugh Newell'was in the war of 1812. He served a

six months' campaign in Capt. William Ellis's company

of Kentucky Rifles, in Col. John Allen's regiment. The

companj' was raised August 12, 1812, and participated in

the battles of the River Raisin, fought January 18 and

22, 1813, in the vicinity of Detroit, Mich. In the

battle of the 18th, the British and Indians were beaten.

In the battle of the 22d, the Americans were defeated.

Col. Allen, and many prominent oflflcers lost their lives in

the engagement.
" A deep snow had fallen, making the country around a

trackless waste. Hugh Newell attempted to wend his way

back to Fort Dsfiance and escape being captured by the

Indians. After wandering, as he thought, in the right di-

rection, he, on the evening of the third day after the bat-

tle, found himself at a house near the battle-field, arid

within sight of the «pot where our wounded and prisoners

had been massacred. A woman of English birth, who had

married a Frenchman, met him at the door. She saw that

he was an American, and told him he could not stay there,

as the Indians would burn her house and murder her fami-

ly if he was seen, but urged him to go to the barn near by

and she would fetch him food. She offered him her mocca-

sins to wear, so that his tracks to the barn, if seen by the

enemy, would excite no suspicion. He found the mocca-

sins too small for his feet, but went to the barn where the

woman brought him something to eat. On the eighth day

after the defeat, he reached Fort Defiance. In those eight

days, he suffered much from cold and hunger. Along the

route he found wheat sheaves at deserted settlements and

subsisted upon wheat rubbed\ out in his hands.
'' It w^^dn the year 1834 that he became a candidate for

a seat in the Lower House of the Legislature. From that

time until the year 1867, he was in active political life. He
served many years in the Lower House, was four years in

the Senate, and was a member of the Constitutional Con-

vention. During the whole course of his political career,

he was never but twice defeated. He was always an

uncompromising Democrat of the Jeffersonian school. His

colleagues at different times, were Whitehead Coleman, Dr.

Innis, Clark Perrin, John 0. Beasman, Lucius Desha, Jo-

seph Shawhan, and others not now remembered. He
served with such men as Thomas P. Marshall, Garrett Da-

vis, John Speed Smith, Richard M. Johnson, Ben Harden

and John L. Helm.
" In the deliberative bodies of which he was from time

to time a member, he encountered in debate the first minds

in the State, and where he failed to win the points at dis-

cussion, he was sure to render the victory of his adversary

fruitless. His encounter with ex-Gov. Helm on the school

question attracted much attention, and gained for him a

reputation co-extensive with the State as an original think-

er and powerful speaker.

" In the days of his best manhood, he was indeed a most

effective speaker. Within the strong grasp of his mind a

mass of facts yielded as metal in the crucible. And here

was the secret of the wonderful power which he possessed,

of solving, by a single bold expression, the most perplex-

ing problems. And while the scholarly adornments of

rhetoric were never his, few men excelled him in profound

feeling, in clear conception and forcible utterance. Al-

ways being first convinced himself, he seldom failed to

carry conviction to the breasts of others. His knowledge

of men was vastly greater than his knowledge of books,

yet his fund of information bearing upon the political

issues of the day was both great and astonishing. He was

ever a man of progressive sentiments, and had done much
even at' the sacrifice of his own, for the advancement of the

material interests of his county and State."

The first courts were held in private dwellings, as for

instance, at the house of Morgan Van Matre, in 1794. It

is not easj' to fix precisely the date of the erection of the

first court house belonging to the county, but it must have

been before 1810 ; and there is reason to believe that, such
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as it was, the structure must have been of verj"^ humble

pretensions.

The count house square, as laid out in 1793, extended

from Pike to Main streets, this occupying nearly twice its

present limits. In 1816, it was determined to sell, if au-

thority could be had, the north part of this fine square, in

order to assist in defraying the expense of a new court

house. In the acts of the Twenty-Fourth Genan*! Assem-

bly, Chapter 334, page 546, we find an " act entitled an act

authorizing the count}' of Harrison to sell a part of their

public ground, approved February 3, 1816." In April fol-

lowing, the County Court appointed William Brown, Perry

Crosthwait, James Pinley, Thomas Holt, James Coleman,

Charles Redmon and William K. Wall. Commissioners to

"lay off the north end of the public ground" ipto city lots

for sale, and to hold the money received therefor, in trust,

for the designated purpose, namely, to assist in paying for

a new court house.

These Commissioners accordingly laid oflf the north end

of the square, and about May, 1816, sold to Alexander

Downing and William Lamme Lot 133 for $1,550 ; to David

Lamme, Lot 134, for $725 ; to Bela Metcalf, Lot 135 for

$690, Lot 137 being reserved by the commissioners till

November following, '' to prevent sacrifice," when they sold

this also to James and Bela Metcalf for $950, the total

proceeds amounting to $3,915.

At the same April term, the County Court issued the

following mandate, which we copy from Record Book " C,"

page 140 : "April Court, 1816, ordered that a new court

house be erected on the publick ground in Cynthiana, to

stand upon the foundation (site) of the present (1816)

court house, and such ground as will be adequate to a

building feet in front, fronting Mahi street, and

feet in depth westwardly, and also that a conven-

ient Clerk's office be erected on said ,publick ground, at a

suitable place, and that Gresham Forrest, William Brown;

William Moore, James Kelley and TLiomas Holt, be ap-

pointed Commissioners who, or a majority of them, shall

consult skillful workmen, and prepare a well-digested plan

for said building, having care that the court house be made
sufficiently spacious to provide for the growing wealth and

population of this countj', that the building be projected on

a neat and durable plan of architecture without any needless

extravagance of ornament, and well contrived for the com-

fort and convenience of our different courts
; that thej' also

digest a plan for a Clerk's office to contain two apartments,

fire-proof, and report the plans and probable expenditure

to be made for said buildings to the next term of this court."

The " expenditure " was reported, but only filed, not

apparently recorded, and could not readily be found. In-

deed, without the kind aid of Judge Boyd, we should not

have been able to give this authoritative explanation of

the division of the public square, and its contraction to

about half its original dimensions. The same court ap-

pointed William Brown, William Moore, James Kelley and

Thomas Holt a building committee for the intended new
court house. At the May term, 1816, this committee

reported a plan to build of stone, four feet above the ground,

the rest of the wall to be of brick, a chimney at each cor-

ner, the first story to be twenty feet high, the second, pro-

portional ; covered with hip roof, two flights of stairs to

second story, and a clerk's office, also to be built, not worth

while to describe here. After some deliberation, a third

story was added, and for years used as a church, as a ball-

room and assembly-room, still remembered as the scene of

the gayety and fashion of the period. The building was

surmounted by a lofty spire over the center, had the usual

jury rooms, and some say, was a more sightly edifice than

the present one. The Clerk's offices, however, were accom-

modated in separate, small buildings, situated within the

inclosure of the court house ground. Here, also, on the

same ground, was the log jail which stood in the court

house j'ard, almost within reach of the Judge's voice, till

1844, when it was removed to its present situation on Pike

street. The present jail was built of stone, by a Mr. Bran-

nock, and the jailer's residence adjoining was built of

brick, by a Mr. Smith. The second court house was burned

on the 24th of January, 1851, having caught fire from a

stable on Pike street, owned by A. J. West. None of the

county books or papers were lost.

The present court house, the third since the establish-

ment of the town, was built by John Huddleston, in 1853,

at a cost of about $12,000, $6,000 or $7,000 less, probably,

than a similar work would now cost. E. Wyatt Martin,

who was accidentally drowned a year or two since, hauled

the rock-hewn door sills and lintels from Cincinnati on
wagons over dirt roads. It contains in the second story a

fine auditorium and two jury rooms, and on the ground floor

the Circuit Court Clerk's office, consisting of two large

apartments, the office of County Clerk similarly well

accommodated, the office of the County Judge, the Sheriff's

office, and two law offices, which are rented and always in

demand. The building is surmounted by an imposing
dome, which is furnished with an eight-day town clock. It

faces the four cardinal points, and its bell may be heard a
mile distant or more. It was a fine timepiece ten years
ago, but of late it has not been so reliable. In 1'877, the
court house was repaired at an expense of $1,800. In
1881, the Judge's desk was removed from the west side of
the auditorium to the north side, at a cost of $150.

Tv'
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In connection with the account of court houses, our

readers ma^' be interested and gratified to see the following

strange entry which appears on the first page of the Har-

rison County Common Docket, under date November 27,

1851. It is a prayer, written by the once well-known and

favorite Judge Walker Reed, who died a few months after

the above date, in Maysville, Ky. His memory will ever

be dear to posterity, for he was an upright and most kind-

hearted man, a little eccentric, but yet a just and learned

Judge

:

Judge Jieed's Prayer.—"Inasmuch as we had resolved

to join this day in prayer with the good people of Harri-

son, according to the proclamation of our Governor, and

our intention has been frustrated by the coming of strangers

—lawyers from a distance, who are half through the will

case of Redmon, and they have promised to pray as soon

as we get through—we will pray as we set, and they argue

to jury for the prosperity of the State, for the health of its

people, for the good of all the States, and the continuance

of the Union ;
for the spread of the glorious Gospel, and

for the conversion of the whole world to its sublime truths
;

that peace on earth and good will among men may prevail

;

tliat our weapons of war may be converted into utensils

for husbandry, and that all disputes in future may be set-

tled by Congress of nations, and that we no longer desire

war, or learn the art of destroying nations. We pray for

our enemies also, and forgive them as we ask forgiveness

of our Father in Heaven. And all this in the name of our

Lord and Savior Jesus Christ. Amen.
" We pray as we set in court, as speeches are being

made to the jury, and all the jury may pray, all the people

may, and I have no doubt have prayed, and thus fulfilled

the saying, ' Praise the Lord at all times, and give thanks

for everything, for the earth is the Lord's and the ful-

ness thereof.' And ' a soldier or private man can pray

in the ditch or in the field as sincerely as in a pulpit.'

—

Sterne. Yes, and we should pray in the house and out of

it, by the wayside, and in coming and going.

" And the truth is that the humble man is never heard

for much speaking.

' God reads the language of a silent tear

And sighs are incense from a heart sincere.'

"
' God have mercy on me a sinner,' is better said to our

Savior than to thank Him that we are better than other

men, that we have paid our tithes, etc. Yes, humility is a

great Christian virtue, and if found ever in a man celebrated

above his fellows for wisdom, renders him more and more

worthy even among those who possess it not. I have

written more than I intended. I only meant to say that I

would have went to church, and united with the people in

prayer but for the case under trial, and even then I left it

to the jury, and they voted to go on with the trial.

"November 27, 1857."

Cynthiana s Wj,r Experience.—^Since the early years of

the present centurj^, war had been known to our citizens

only by hearsay and history. It is true large contingents

had baon furnished by the town and vicinity for the Indian

wars in th^ Northwest, and in the war of 1812, as also for

the Mexican war of 18i6-l:7. Many a citizen-soldier had

returned alive and well from these military expeditions)

and had always had willing audiences to the story of the

battle of the Thames, of Buena Vista, of Cerro Gordo, or

of Molino del Rey, till, as matters of history, all were

familiar with them. But the scenes of all these were far

off, and, therefore, though recent, they shared almost the

dimness of the antique. The very monuments, raised in

our midst to the memory of the lost, partook rather of the

ideal and historic than of the real and present.

But in the late conflict between the States, the realities

of war wore brought before our people with terrible clear-

ness. Battle 'and fire raged in the streets. Men, women

and children had to take care of themselves as they could,

without regard to property, for life was at stake. The loss

of life, however, was not great in either of the two battles

of Cynthiana, though nearly half the i)roperty of the town

was destroyed in the second engagement, that of June 11,

1864. Tlie burnt districts have been well rebuilt, even

better than before
;
but some of the losers have never

recovered from the destruction of that July, 1864, and

seemingly -never can, if we ma}' judge from the attitude of

Government toward war claims, as indicated by the last

report of the Congressional Committee on such matters.

Eye-witnesses of both the battles of Cynthiana say the

account of them is so accurate, though not quite com-

plete, in Collins' History or^Kentuck}', that we copy the

entire description from that valuable work. One important

correction is made by T. A. Frazer, who remembers that

the Confederate Col. Martin, then suffering from a previous

wound, accepted the hospitality of his house the night

before the action of the 12th of June, 1864. The Colonel

stated, on retiring to rest, that battle was impending, and

that he should probably be called up before morning. He
actually was sent for by his command about 3 o'clock in

the following morning, and at onco proceeding to his posi-

tion, the battle began. This proves that the Confederate

command was not surprised. No doubt the}' were " at

breakfast," but this does not necessarily imply that they

were surprised, for old soldiers will eat in the midst of a

fight if they have a chance.

First Battle of Cynthiana.—Says Collins :
" On Jul}' 17,

S r- D "V^
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1862, the Confederate Gen. John H. Morgan, with a

force of 816 strong when he started, nine daj-s before, upon

this first Kentucky raid, attacked the Federal forces at

Cj'nthiana, nearly five hundred strong (mainly home
guards), under Col. John J. Landram, who, after a brave

resistance, were overpowered and defeated, and the town

captured. The Federal pickets were surprised and cap-

tured, or driven in ; and before the commandfir had time

to dispose his force, the Confederates commenced shelling

the town, producing a wild consternation among the in-

habitants. Capt. William H. Glass, of the Federal Artil-

lery, occupied the public square, from which point he could

command most of the roads. Another force took position

on the Magee Hill road south of the town, along which the

Confederates were approaching. A third detachment was

instructed to hold the bridge on the west side of the town,

toward which Morgan's main force was pouring. Capt.

Glass opened on Morgan's battery, which was planted on

an eminence a quarter of a mile distant, between the Lees-

burg and Fair Ground Turnpikes. The Confederates were

now approaching by every road and street, and deployed

as skirmishers through every field, completely encircling

the Federals. Their battery on the hill having ceased its fire,

Capt. Glass, with grape and canister, swept Pike street

from one end to the other. By this time, the contestants

were engaged at every point. The fighting was terrific.

The Federals commenced giving way. The force at the

bridge, after a sharp fight, was driven back, and a Con-

federate cavalry charge made through the streets. A
portion of the Federals made a stand at the railroad depot.

A charge upon the Confederate battery at the Licking

bridge was repulsed, and the Confederates in turn charged

upon the force at the depot, while another detachment was
pouring deadly fire from the rear, about one hundred and
twenty-five yards distant. It was here that Col. Landram
was wounded, and Thomas Ware, one of the oldest citizens.

Jesse Currant, Thomas Rankin, Capt. Lafe Wilson, and
others were killed, besides a number wounded. Unable to

stand the concentrated fire, the handful of Federals that

were left commenced a precipitate retreat. The Seventh

Kentucky Cavalry posted north of the town to hold the

Oddville road were soon overpowered, and compelled to

surrender. Three-fourths of the Federal force had now
been killed, wounded or captured, and the Confederates

held tindisputed possession. The prisoners were marched
into town and lodged in the upper room of the court house

and their paroles made out and signed that night.

" Second Battle of Cynthiana.—" On Saturday, June 11,

1864, Gen. Morgan marched a second time upon Cynthiana

defeated and captured the forces under the command of

Gen. E. H. Hobson. The first of this series of engagements

took place early in the morning, between the One Hundred

and Sixty-eighth Ohio Infantry, commanded by Col. Conrad

Garis, and Morgan's whole command, about 1,200 strong.

The Federals were soon overpowered, and fell back to the

depot buildings (where Col. Berry fell, mortally wounded),

and thence to Rankin's unfinished hotel ; others retreated

to the court house. The Confederates, following closely,

charged into these several places, causing the utmost con-

sternation among the inhabitants. While the battle was

raging, a stable opposite the Rankin Hotel caught or was

set on fire, and the terror of the flames added greatly to

the alarm. Across the river, west of the town, another

battle began between Gen. Hobson, commanding the One
Hundred and Seventy-first Ohio, and a detachment of Con-

federates. This is known as the battle at " Keller's Bridge,"

one mile north of Cynthiana, which had been destroyed by

the Confederates on the Thursday previous, to prevent the

sending of troops along the railroad. The trains which

had conveyed the One Hundred and Seventy-first Ohio to

this point were backed down the road two miles for safety,

but were there thrown from the track by the Confeder-

ates and burned. Upon being disembarked, the men
were supplied with ammunition, and proceeded to eat their

breakfast. Suddenly their quiet was disturbed by the rat-

tle of musketry at Cynthiana, telling that hot work was
going on there between the One Hundred and Sixty-eighth

Ohio and the Confederates, and in a few minutes the fields

around themselves were alive with Confederates. A volley

of musketry was poured in upon them by a squad of Con-

federates massed behind the fence of a clover field. Gen.

Hobson was now completely surrounded. The Confeder-

ates displayed great activity in firing, and considerable

skill in keeping under cover from the fire of the Federal

troops. The fight continued about five hours, the loss on
both sides unusually heavy. Gen. Morgan, who was in Cyn-
thiana when the fight at the bridge commenced, arrived on
the field at 9 A. M., with re-enforcements, and with these the

line was drawn still cjoser, and Gen. Hobson was finally com-
pelled to accept the flag of truce and Morgan's conditions of

surrender—that the private property of the troops should
be respected, and the ofllcers retain their side arms. The
Federal forces were drawn up along the pike, their arms
stacked and burned, and they were marched through Cyn-
thiana, a mile east, to a grove, where they found the other

Federal forces who had been in the fight at Cynthiana,

prisoners like themselves. After resting an hour, the pris-

oners were marched three miles north, on the Oddville pike,

where they passed Saturday night. Early on •, Sunday
morning, with the first announcement of the appioach of

if;-
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Burbridge, came an order from Morgan to the guard over

the Federal prisoners to start them north, which was done,

and that, too, on the double quick, Morgan's main force,

pursued by Burbridge, following at a distance of a few

miles. This forced march brought them to Claysville,

twelve miles northeast of Cynthiana, where they were

halted, drawn up in line, paroled, and allowed to depart.

While the battles were in progress on Saturday, the fire

continued to rage, notwithstanding vigorous efforts to stop

it by the citizens. By 12 o'clock, all the business portion

of the town was consumed, with most of the contents.

The fire, commencing at Rankin's stable, swept on to the

West House, burning all the buildings ; thence across to

Broadwell's corner, and down to Isaac T. Martin's store
;

thence across to Dr. Broadwell's buildings, to the jail,

including that and the adjoining buildings^ twenty-seven in

all, the most valuable in the place. On Sunday morning,

the 12th of June, the day after the two battles above

described. Gen. Burbridge, with a strong force; fell upon

Morgan's men at Cynthiana, while the}' were at breakfast.

Fatigued as they were by the previous day's operations,

which resulted in the defeat and capture of two distinct

Federal forces, the Confederates were not in condition to

withstand the shock of a fresh body of troops. Burbridge

with his cavalry was enabled to flank them, and thus turn

their lines ; while his infantry in the center advanced

steadily, forcing them back on the town. The fighting

commenced on the Mlllersburg pike, about one mile east

of Cynthiana. But the Confederates, unable to hold out

against the rapid and determined advance of superior num-

bers of fresh troops, supported by artillery, soon gave way,

and by the time they reached Cynthiana were in full retreat,

and the retreat a rout. One by one they fell back through

the town, crossed the river, and followed the Raven Creek

pike. Thus ended the last battle that was fought at Cyn-

thiana in the war for Southern independence."

Lists of the losses of property in this action are sub-

joined ; the arguments supporting the claims of citizens

for just and legal compensation by Government, the adverse

report of the Committee on War Claims, and finally, the

resolution of the Kentucky General Assembly. This res-

olution is an implied remonstrance against the disregard

by Government, of what is felt to be a just and legal claim.

Mr.-Carlisle, on leave, introduced in the House of Repre-

sentatives November 5, 1877, the following bill, which was

read twice, referred to the Committee on War Claims, and

ordered to be printed :

A Bill for the relief of certain citizens of Cynthiana, Ey., whose

property was destroyed by fire on the 11th day of June, 1864.

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Representatives of the

United States of America, in Congress assembled. That out of any

money in the treasury, not otherwise appropriated, there is hereby

appropriated, and ordered to be paid to the following citizens of

Cynthiana, in the State of Kentucky, the following sums for and

on account of property destroyed by fire on the 11th day of June,

1864, to wit

:

To James J. Parish, the sum of 1 1,600 ; EUzabeth Oxley,

administratrix of Lawson Oxley (deceased), $16,555 ; Greenup

Remington, $10,000 ; W. W. Trimble, $3,500 ; Henry Johnson

(colored), $1,100 ; Charles A. Webster, $18,350 ; Francis M. Gray,

$4,100; James S. Frizell, $13,680; Frank Box, $6,733; Ellen

English, administratrix of Thomas English (deceased), $3,000

;

Thomas A. Frazer and Henry E. Shawhan, $7,000 ; Susan Tom-
linson, $4,000 ; John L. Magee, $18,000 ; Greenup Remington,

administrator of Eliza Bell (deceased), $3,000 ; Herman Rohs,

$300 ; David A. Givens, $15,747 ; Isaac N. Webb, $1,000 ; James

E. Dickey, $713.50 ; John Quinlan, $130 ; William L. Northcutt,

$31,570.75; John Newton Smith, $5,113; John Newton Smith

(guardian), $8,000 ; Heim-ichC. Nebel, $653 ; John Bruce, $1,373 ;

Mary A. Hall, $430 ; Eliza T. Rankin, administratrix of T. R.

Rankin (deceased), $6,568; JosephW. Mcintosh, $31,730; Robert

C. Wherritt, $33,000 ; F. X. C. Nott, administrator of Adeliza

Murphy (deceased), $4,000.

The said payments to be in full satisfaction and discharge of

all claims and demands by the said parties, or their heirs or repre-

sentatives, for, or on account of the loss or destruction of their

property, at the time of the attack made upon said city of Cyn-

thiana by the Confederate forces, under the command of Gen.

John H. Morgan, on the tlth day of June, 1864, during which the

United States forces, under command of Col. Conrad Garis, of

the One Hundred and Sixty-eighth Regiment Ohio Volunteer In-

fantry, took shelter in the houses of said citizens, thereby causing

them and their contents to be set on fire and destroyed by the

enemy.

The grounds upon which certain citizens of Cynthiana,

Ky., whose property was destroyed by fire on the 11th

day of June, 1864, claim relief, are as follows :

On said 11th day of June, 1864, Col. Conrad Garis, of the

One Hundred and Sixty-eighth Ilegiment Ohio Infantry Volun-

teers, took shelter in said city by placing his command in houses

to resist an attack of the then approaching enemy, under com-

mand of Gen. John H. Morgan, and during the fight which en-

sued, the city was set on fire by the enemy to dislodge the Fed-

eral forces, resulting in the destruction of the houses and mer-

chandise of said claimants, as set forth by the allegations of the

petitioners, and clearly sustained by the evidence submitted,

which is also corroborated by the aflSdavit eft Col. Conrad Garis

and others.

There is no doubt that said property was taken by the oflScer

and absolutely used by him as a shelter or fortification to pro-

tect the lives of his men from the bullets of the enemy, and that

said taking, use, and occupancy resulted in the destruction of

the houses and merchandise.

Now, the question arises, is this a legitimate claim against

the Governaient ? I answer that it is. And to sustain my
answer, I beg to referto the judicial authorities, the text writers,

the Constitution, and the legislative precedents bearing upon

the subject.

In Grant vs. The United States, 1st N. & H. Renorts, the

court says :
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"It may safely be assumed as the settled and fundamental

law of Christian and civilized States that governments are bound
to make just indemnity to the citizen or subject whenever pri-

vate property is taken for the public good, convenience or safety."

The Cynthiana property was taken for the public good, con-

venience and safety, and while thus occupied it was destroyed,

and lost by said claimants.

In the case of Mitchell vs. Harmony, reported in 13 How.,
115, Chief Justice Taney delivering the opinion of the court.

"Private property maybe taken by a military commander
to prevent it from falling into the hands of the enemy, or for the

pm-pose of converting it to the use of the public ; but the dan-

ger must be immediate and impending, or the necessity urgent
for the public service, such as will not admit of delay, and where
the action of the civil authority would be too late in providing
the means which the occasion calls for."

And again he says on page 134

:

" There are, without doubt, occasions on which private prop-
erty may l3,wfully be taken possession of or destroyed to prevent
it from falling into the hands of the public enemy, and also

where a military officer charged with a particular duty may im-
press private property into the public service or take it for pub-
lic use. Unquestionably, in such cases, the Government is bound
to make full compensation to the owner."

Again he says, page 185 :

"In deciding upon this necessity, however, the state of the
facts as they appeared to the officer at the time he acted, must
govern the decision ; for he must necessarily act upon the infor-

mation of others, as well as his own observation. And if, with
such information as he had a right to rely upon, there is reason-

able grounds for believing that the peril is immediate and men-
acing or the necessity urgent, he is justified in acting upon it

;

and the discovery afterward that it was false or erroneous will

not make him a trespasser."

All the evidence on file points directly to the fact that the
city of Cynthiana was taken by Col. Conrad Garis to prevent it

from falling into the hands of the public enemy, and tliat the
houses were converted to the use of the public and absolutely
used to protect the lives of his men. The danger was immediate
and impending, and the necessity was urgent for the public
service, and was such as would not have admitted of delay.

This presents a case where private property was impressed
into the public service and taken for public use, resulting in its

destruction ; and under the opinion of the court, as delivered by
Chief Justice Taney, the Government is clearly bound to make
full compensation to the owners.

The ease of Mitchell vs. Harmony was brought up by a writ
of error from the Circuit Court of the United States for the
Southern District of New York. David D. Mitchell was an
officer of the army, and was sued in an action for trespass by
Manuel H. Harmony, and the jury found a verdict for plaintiff
for $90,806.44, for which, with costs amounting to 15,048.94,
the court gave Judgment amounting to |95,855.38. The property
of the plaintiff was taken by military authority. As a conse-
quence of the taking, the goods fell into the hands of the enemy.
The courts held that the taking was unnecessary, and, therefore
required the officer in command to make compensation for the
loss of the goods. But Congress held that, inasmuch as the
officer acted in good faith, and for what he believed to be the

interest of the Government, the Government ought to protect

him against the consequences of his misfortune. Congress,

therefore, assumed the defense of the officer before the Supreme
Court, and, when judgment was finally rendered against him,
assumed the payment of said $95,855.38.

This is what I term a legislative precedent, and respectfully

ask it to be compared with the Cynthiana claims.

Was the taking, use, and occupancy authorized ? The rule

which will justify the taking of private property for defense
or destruction is well settled, and rests upon the same principle

which gives to the individual the right, in the case of aggression
to life or limb, to take the life of the aggressor. In either case,

. it is the necessity, seeming or real, which gives the right and
justifies the individual or .officer. The engagement so swiftly

-followed the taking, makes complete the urgent and immediate
necessity of the taking, use and occupation of said hovises.

Mr. 'William "Whiting, in discussing the subject of war claims
with direct reference to the liability of the United States, grow-
ing out of the late war, writes with extreme caution, but even he
asserts that

—

"If the private property of loyal citizens, inhabitants of
loyal States, is appropriated by our military forces for the pur-
pose of supplying our armies and to_aid in prosecuting hostilities

against a public enemy, the Government is bound to give a
reasonable compensation therefor to the owner."

Again he says

:

"When individuals are called upon to give up what is their
own for the advantage of the community, justice requires that
they shall be fairly compensated for it ; otherwise public burdens
would be shared unequally."

The Cynthiana property was taken to aid in prosecuting
hostilities against a public enemy. Said claimants were called
upon to give up what was their own for the advantage of the
community. Their property was actually taken for the use of
the army, and used as a shelter to protect the lives of our men,
and while occupied by the army it was destroyed. This being
the case, the fifth Article of Amendment to the Constitution
imperatively requires that the public shall make compensation
for it.

On June 1, 1870, Congress passed an act to pay Otis N. Cut-
ler, of Missouri, the sum of $50,000 for 368 bales of cotton, seized
by order of Gen. Grant at Lake Providence, Louisiana. The
property of said Cutler was used for military purposes in equip-
ping the steamer Tigress for running the blockade of the Missis-
sippi River at Vicksburg on the night of April 33, 1863. This
cotton was destroyed by the rebels on the night of April 33, 1863.
The boat and cotton were sunk on the trip. If the Government
must pay for property taken by its army and then destroyed by
the enemy, it seems to me it ought to pay for the property de-
stroyed at Cynthiana, Ky., June 11, 1864, giving proper consid-
eration to the sworn statements of officers on both sides, and
especially to the affidavit of Col. Conrad Garis, who took and
used it as a shelter to protect the lives of his men while resisting
the attack of the enemy

; and more especially because these
statements are sustained by the corroborative sworn statements
of fifty-eight citizens whose characters for truth and veracity are
duly certified by the highest authority known to the law, and fur-
ther sustained by the statements of thurty claimants. The act of
taking the cotton above referred to was approved by Gen. Grant
and the papers in the case show that he examined its merits

Vl®
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while acting as Secretary of "War, and that although he refused

to pay the claim, for want of authority, he pronounced it "mer-

itorious," and recommended the claim to Congress.

On January 17, 1871, Congress passed an act making compen-
sation to the Kentucky University lor buildings destroyed. The
buildings were taken by military authority ; they were destroyed

by accident ; the Government not only paid for the damage and

injm'y to said buildings, but for the damages to the grounds

adjacent, and the museum and personal property of said univer-

sity, and approved by President Grant.

On June 33, 1874, Congress passed an act making compensa-

tion to the Kentucky Agricultural and Mechanical Association for

damages to their fair grounds, resulting from their occupancy by
United States troops during the late war of the rebellion, which

payment was recommended by the commission and by the Secre-

tary of War, and approved by President Grant.

On June 33, 1874, Congress passed an act to pay John L. T.

Jones, of Montgomery County, Md., for rent of building, and

destruction of same by accidental fire while being occupied as

quarters by the United States troops under command of Gen.

Hubert Ward, in November, 186?.

On April 6, 1876, Senate Bill No. 638 passed the Senate, and

afterward the House of Representatives, making compensation

to JoUa A. Anderson, surviving co-partner of the firm of Ander-

son & White, for cotton taken by military authority September 5

and 34, 1863, to make temporary breastworks at Nashville, Tenn.,

resulting in the cotton being lost and destroyed while thus used

for the protection of the army.

One other legislative precedent I deem worthy of notice. It

is the message of President Grant of June 1, 1872, returning to

the Senate, without his approval, " An act for the relief of J.

JOlton Best, of Paducah, Ky." It passed the Senate January 5,

1871, by, a vote of 28 to 15. It failed to pass the House of Repre-

sentatives during that Congress. It was again reported to the

Senate during the Forty-second Congress (second session), and on

the 8th of April , 1873, and passed by a vote of 37 to 13. It was con-

sidered in the House of Representatives on the 8th of May, 1873,

and passed without a division. The veto message asserts, as a

general principle of both international and municipal law, that

all property is held subject not only to be taken by the Govern-

ment for public use (in which case, under the Constitution of the

United States, the owner is entitled to just compensation), but

also subject to be temporarily occupied, or even actually destroyed

in times of great public danger, and when the public safety de-

mands it ; and, in this latter case, governments do not admit a

legal obligation on their part to compensate the owner. Mr.

Howe, from the Committee on Claims, to whom was referred said

message, says the committee has not found any such general

principle affirmed either in international or municipal law, but

has found the very reverse of that to be affirmed by all law, inter-

national and municipal. ^

Among the text writers, Vattel discusses the very question,

"Is the State bound to indemnify individuals for the damage

they have sustained in war 1" " Such damage," he says, " are

of two kinds ; those done by the State itself, or the sovereign, and

those done by the enemy. Of the first kind, some are done

deliberately and by way of precaution, as when a field, a house,

a garden, belonging to a private person is taken for the purpose

of erecting on th3 spot a town rampart, or any other piece of

fortification, or when his standing com or his storehouses are

destroyed to prevent their being of use to the enemy. Such

damages are to be made good to the individual, who should bear

only his quota of the loss." The same author speaks of damage
caused by inevitable necessity, and he instances " the destruction

caused by the artillery in re-taking a town from the enemy.

These are merely accidents. They are misfortunes which chance

deals to the proprietors on whom they happen to fall."

The distinction between the two kinds of damages is clear.

One is the result of accident ; the other is the result of design.

The sovereign, clothed with the right to make war, has the

right to march troops and fire guns. Damages, which are the

accidental result of such lawful acts, do not constitute a ground

of claim. But whatever property the Government takes from
its own obedient subjects, for the more efficient prosecution of

the war, should be compensated for, no matter whether it be

forage fed to the cavalry horses, powder burned, timber used on

fortifications, houses removed to make way for such fortifications

or houses destroyed to make them more secure.

Hugh Grotius asserts the same doctrine. He says :

"The king may, in two ways, deprive his subjects of their

rights, either by way of punishment, or by virtue of Ms eminent

power. But if he does so in this last way, it must be for some
public advantage, and then the subject ought to receive, if possible,

a just satisfaction for the loss he suffers out of the common stock."

Again, he says

:

" The State has an eminent right of property over the goods

of the subject, so that the State, or those that represent it, may
make use of them, and even destroy and alienate them, not only

in extreme necessity, but for the public benefit ; to which we
must add that the State is obliged to repair the damages suffered

by any subject on that account out of tlie public stock."

Justice Randolph, in the case of the American Print Works
vs. Lawrence, 1 Zabriskie, 348, says :

"In cases where the State, by virtue of its right of eminent

domain, reserves the property of a citizen, and appropriates it to

the use of the public ; or, in prosecuting some great work, such as

a canal or railroad, even in its sovereign capacity, or through the

power delegated to an incorporated company, finds it necessary,

not merely to take the soil and property of the citizen, but to

destroy the mill-seat, divert its water-course, or commit other

irreparable damage to private rights, in order to effect the great

object in view ; in such cases, not only must private rights yield

to the interest and wishes of the State, but it is a positive evil

suffered by an individual for the supposed gain of the whole

community, at the will of that community ; and, upon every

principle of justice, the public should niake compensation."

The uniform action of Congress has been in strict accord with

the principles adjudicated by the courts, and declared by the

commentators. Congress has recognized the principle in a great

variety of cases, and, so far as can be discovered, has never

denied it.

I deem it proper to refer, just here, to President Grant's mes-

sage of February 11, 1873, vetoing Senate Bill No. 161, for the

relief of those suffering from the destruction of the salt works

near Manchester, Ky. In this message, he says :

" This bill does not present a case where private property is

taken for public use, in the sense of the Constitution. It was not

taken from the owners, but from the enemy ; and, it was not then,

used by the Government, but destroyed."

I call attention to this case to show that President Grant

^.
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(assisted by his Cabinet and Constitutional advisers), seemed to

base his objection to the passage of said bill upon constitutional

grounds ; and this is one among the many grounds I take to sus-

tain the Cynthiana claims, as the evidence on file shows, beyond

question, that the taking, use and occupancy were precisely as

contemplated by the Constitution, where it says :

" No person shall be held to answer for a capital, or otherwise

infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a

grand jury, except in cases arising in the land or naval forces, or

in the militia, when in actual service in time of war or public

danger ; nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to

be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb ; nor shall be compelled

in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be de-

prived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law ;

nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just

compensation."

To the foregoing precedents a great many might be added.

Not a single case has been found in which Congress has denied

the liability assumed in the precedents cited. Not a single au-

thority has been found controverting the principles asserted by
Grotius, by Vattel, by "Whiting, by the Couit of Claims, and by
the Supreme Court of the United States.

During the war of the Eevolution, a number of the colonists

who adhered to the Crown, and were known as loyalists, were
made to suffer heavily because of their loyalty. The insurgent

authorities drove them from their homes, and confiscated their

estates. The war terminated in the triumph of the insurgents.

The despoiled loyalists at once appealed to Parliament for indem-
nification for their losses. A commission was appointed to in-

quire into the extent of such losses. The claimants were required

to state, in proper form, every species of loss which they had
suffered, and for which they thought they had a right to receive

compensation. None of the injuries complained of were inflicted

by the Government of Great Britain ; they were inflicted by the

action of its enemies. In principle, their claims were precisely

the same as the claims of our loyal citizens would be if they

were to demand compensation of this Government for injuries

sustained not through its action, but through the action of its

late enemies. Nevertheless, for such claims Parliament under-

took to make compensation, and, after a long and careful exam-
ination of the claims, appropriated a sum for their settlement

amounting to more than $16,000,000.

In September, 1871, immediately upon the close of the Franco-

German war, France, although defeated, and subjected to the

.

payment of a fine of 3,000,000,000 of francs to her conquerors,

did not ask to avoid the obligation of making compenvation to

her despoiled subjects. Accordingly, the National Assembly
provided not only for the payment of all private damages in-

flicted by the French authorities, but also provided for the pay-

ment of all exactions made upon French subjects in the name of

taxes by the German authorities. The same decree appropriated

100,000,000 of francs, to bs placed at once in the hands of the

Ministers of the Interior and of Finance, to be apportioned be-

tween the most necessitous victims of the war ; and appropriated

a further sum of 6,000,000 of francs, to be distributed by the same
ministers among those who suffered the most in the operations

attending the attack made by the German Army to gain entrance

into Paris.

Hugo Grotius wrote his treatise upon the "Rights of "War,"

amidst the unparalleled barbarities which attended the Thirty

Tears' War. It is doubtful if war between civilized nations ever
before or ever since has been so cruel as that. In the single
" Duchy of "Wurtemberg, history asserts that 8 towns, 45 villages

and 36,000 houses had been laid in ashes, and 70,000 hearth-fires

completely extinguished ; 7 churches and 444 houses had been
burned at Eichsted. Many towns that had escaped destruction,

were almost depopulated, 800 houses being empty at Nordheim.
More than 300 had been pulled down at Gottingen, merely to

serve as fuel. The wealthy city of Augsburg, which contained

80,000 inhabitants before the war, had only 18,000 left when It

closed. In 1635, there were not hands enough left at Schweidnitz

to bury the dead, and the town of Ohlan had lost its last citizen.

Forests sprang up during the contest and covered entire districts

which had been in full cultivation before the war, and wolves
and other beasts of prey took possession of the deserted haunts
of man."

Tet, standing in the midst of such widespread, unsparing de-

vastation, Grotius did not hesitate to affirm, in the language al-

ready quoted, the obligation of the State to repair all damages
suffered by any subject by the destruction of his property for its

use; and he added this most significant injunction: "Neither
shall the State be absolved from this obligation, though for the
present not able to satisfy it : But when the State is in a capacity,
this suspended obligation shall resume its force."

All claims against the Government must be urged upon one
or more of the three grounds : (1.) Either that the claimant has
benefited the Government or (3) that he has been damaged by the
Government, or (3) that he has been promised money by the
Government. But a promise is not of the slightest validity if it

be unsupported by a consideration, either of benefit to the prom-
isor or of loss to the promisee. When such conditions do exist,

a promise adds nothing to the obligation to pay. The case of the
Cynthiana claims is supported by both—by the consideration of

loss to the claimants, and of benefit to the Government. The
claimants were injured by being deprived of their property ; the
Government was benefited by the additional security afforded to
a weak and imperiled garrison. No promise could add validity

to such a claim ; hence no claim ever was or could be preferred
against the Government resting upon more impregnable grounds.
It is sustained by the principles adjudicated by the courts ; it is

sustained by the commentators ; it is sustained by precedents of
Congress

; and, above all, it is sustained by the Constitution
;

and, besides, it is sustained by the precedents and usages of all

Christian and civilized governments.
If precedents are not to be blindly followed, neither ought

they to be wantonly destroyed. They are evidences of truth,

and the force of the evidence is in proportion to the integrity and
wisdom and patriotism of those who established them.

The question I now call upon you to decide, is not whether
you shall establish a new and doubtful precedent, just now
proposed and for the first time presented to your consideration,
but whether you shall break down and destroy long-established
precedents, patiently built up and sustained during a series, of
years, again and again, by this nation and its highest and most
revered authorities.

And are you not bound to deliberately consider the claims of
the citizens of Cynthiana, Ky., in the light of former precedents?
These claimants have justly supposed that the policy of protect-
ing private property against seizure and destruction for the public
good, use, convenience orsafety, was fully settled, not by a single

f
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act, but by repeated and deliberate aots of the Government, per-

formed at distant and frequent intervals ; and now, in full confi-

dence that the policy is firmly and unchangeably fixed, they come

before you praying for relief. "

As to compensation. Undoubtedly, in every case where pri-

vate property is rightfully taken by military authority for the

public good, use, safety or convenience, resulting in its destruc-

tion, the owner is entitled to just compensation from the Govern-

ment for it.

But what is just compensation? Various definitions have

been given. It is stated as meaning a fair equivalent, or being

made whole, as far as money is the measure of compensation.

Take either of these definitions as the rule of compensation, and

the claimants in this case would be entitled to compensation for

their property at its marketable value at the time when and the

place where taken and destroyed.

The fifth article of the amendment to the Constitution of the

United States contemplates that private property shall not be

taken for public good, use, safety or convenience without just

compensation.

In order that justice may be done to the Government and to

the claimants; we ask Congress to pass a bill authorizing and

directing the Secretary of War to appoint and send a commission

to the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison County, Ky., instructed to

ascertain all the circumstances under which said property was

taken and lost, and the kind of property lost by each claimant,

and its marketable value at the time and place, and report the

facts to Congress on or before December 15, 1878, for action.

W. S. Haviland, Attorney.

On March 3, 1879, Mr. Keifer, from the Committee on

War Claims, submitted the following report, on the relief

of certain citizens of Cjmthiana, Ky., which was laid on the

table and ordered to be printed :

The Committee on War Claims, to whom was referred the bill

(H. R. 1030), and the petitions of certain citizens of Cynthiana, Ky .

,

for and on account of property destroyed by fire on the 11th day

of June, A. D. 1864, during the battle between the Union and the

so-called Confederate forces, having considered the same, respect-

fully report

:

That the petition alleges that on the said day a fire occurred

during abattle at Cynthiana, Ky., in which property was destroyed

belonging to certain citizens thereof, and of the value, viz. :

James J. Parish $ 1.600 00

Elizabeth Oxley 16,555 00

Greenup Remington 10.000 00

W. W. Trimble 2,500 00

Henry Johnson 1.000 00

Charles A. Webster 18,000 00

F.M.Gray 4,100 00

James 8. Frizell 13.680 00

FrankBox 6,700 00

Ellen English, administratrix, etc 3, 000 00

Prazer & Shawhan 'i'.OOO 00

Susan Tomlinson 4,000 00

J.L. Magee 18,000 00

G. Remington, administrator, etc 3,000 00

Herman Rohs 300 00

D.A. Givens 15,747 00

J.N.Webb 1.000 00

J. B.Dickey 700 00

John Quinlan 130 00

W. L. Northcutt 33,570 75

J.N. Smith 5,113 00

J. N. Smith, guardian, ete 3,000 00

H. C. Nebel 658 00

John Bruce 1,373 00

Mary A. Hall 430 00

E. T. Rankin, administratrix, etc 6,563 00

J. W. Mcintosh 31,730 00

R. C. Wherritt 33,000 00

F. X. C. Nott, administrator, etc 4,000 00

The aggregate value of the property alleged to have been

destroyed is $331,500, which sum it is proposed by said bill to

appropriate for the benefit of the sufferers.

It is proper to state that on behalf of the said claimants, it

has been proposed to your committee to report a bill authorizing

and directing the Secretary of War to appoint a commission for

the purpose of investigating the said claims, and to report thereon

all the circumstances under which said property was occupied and

destroyed, and the nature and value of the same.

Your committee have considered the claims in every aspect

in which they have been presented, and have unanimously arrived

at a conclusion in relation to the same.

The conclusion arrived at by your committee, renders it

unnecessary to consider the question of the value of the property

destroyed.

Your committee have considered the petition of claimants as

true, and have accepted the language used in the bill as reciting

the real circumstances under which claimants' property was

destroyed, and the nature of the same.

The concluding part of said bill is as follows :

" The said payments, to be in full satisfaction and discharge

of all claims and demands by the said parties, or their heirs or

representatives, for, or on account of the loss or destruction of

their property, at the time of the attack made upon said city of

Cynthiana, by the Confederate forces, under the command of

Gen. John H. Morgan, on the 11th day of June, 1834, during

which the United States forces, under command of Col. Conrad

Garis, of the One Hundred and Sixty -eighth Regiment Ohio

Infantry Volunteers, took shelter in the houses of said citizens,

thereby causing them and their contents to be set on fire, and

destroyed by the enemy."

The claims are all of the same character ; all the property of

each claimant is alleged to have been destroyed from the same

cause, at the same time, and under like circumstances. The

property destroyed consisted of houses and their contents. It

will be suflicient to give here the circumstances under which the

property of one of the sufferers was destroyed.

James J. Parish, who lost a house and its contents, says in

his petition

:

" Said house and contents was destroyed by fire, and was

situated on south side of Pike, between Walnut and Church

streets, and adjacent to east side of Kentucky Central Raihoad

track, and east of the Rankin House, in the city of Cynthiana,

in Harrison County, Ky., as set forth by the affidavit of William

J. Stone, who set it on fire, and herewith filed. Said loss occurred

under the following circumstances, to wit

:

" On the 11th day of June, 1864, the Federal forces, under

command of Col. Conrad Garis, of the One Hundred and Sixty.

5 "v



^!
262 HISTORY OP HARRISON COUNTY.

eighth Regiment Ohio Infantry Volunteers, took shelter in said

city, by placing his men and other citizen soldiers in houses to

resist an attack of the enemy under command of Gen. John H.
Morgan, when said city was set on fire by said enemy, to dislodge

said Federal forces."

The following is the substantive part of the affidavit of "William

J. Stone, late Speaker of the House of Rspresentatives of the State

of Kentucky, and referred to above. He says ;

"That his age is thirty-four years, and that his post office

address is Eddyville, Lyon Co., Ky., and that he is the ideniioal

William J. Stone, who was Lieutenant of Company F, Fifth

Regiment Kentucky Cavalry Volunteers, commanded by Col. D.

Howard Smith, in G3n. John H. Morgan's command, C. S. A.

forces ; and, on the 1 1 th day of June, 1864, our said forces marched
upon the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison Co., Ky., when and
where we attacked a Federal force who had taken shelter in

.houses in said city, under command of Col. Conrad Garis, of the

One Hundred and Sixty-eighth Rsgim^nt Ohio Infantry Volun-
teers, and, in order to dislodgs said Federal forces, our said forces

set said city on fire. I was ordered, and did set a house on fire, on
south side of Pike street, on east side of Rankin House, near the

Kentucky Central Railroad, to drive the Federal forces out of

said Rankin House."

The affidavit of D. Howard Smith is to the same effect. He
says :

" That he is now Auditor of Public Accounts for the State of

Kentucky, and that he is the identical D. Howard Smith, who
was Colonel in the command of Gen. John H. Morgan, C. S. A.

forces ; and, on the 11th day of June, 1864, our said command
marched upon the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison Co., Ky., when
and where we attacked a Federal force, who had taken shelter in

houses in said city, under command of Col. Conrad Garis, of the

One Hundred and Sixty-eighth Regiment Ohio Infantry Volun-
teers, and in order to dislodge said Federal forces, in compliance
with orders from Gen. John H. Morgan, our said forces did fire

said city to drive said Federal forces out of said houses."

Col. Conrad Garis, the Commander of the Union forces at

Cynthiana, Ky., at the time of the battle (June 11, 1864), in his

affidavit states

:

"That his post office address is Washington Court House,
Fayette Co., Ohio, and that he is now Treasurer of said county

;

and that he is the identical Conrad Garis, who was Colonel of

the One Hundred and Si-tty-eiglith Regiment Ohio Infantry

Volunteers ; and, on the 11th day of June, 1864, he took possession

of the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison Co., Ky., by placing his

said command in houses to resist an attack of the enemy, under
command of Gen. John H. Morgan, when said enemy set said

city on fire to dislodge his said command ; and, Col. George W.
Beny, who was mortally wounded in said battle, assisted in dis-

tributing his said command in the different houses, and also gave
valued assistance in said engagement."

The most favorable statement of the circumstances, under
which said property was destroyed, as presented by and on behalf

of claimants, is to the effect, that Col. Garis, in command of the

Union troops at Cynthiana, Ky., found a battle with the enemy
was imminent, took possession of the place, and distributed his

forces in some of the houses of claimants, and perhaps others,

with a view to protecting the place from falling into the hands
of the enemy, as well as to protect his command in battle ; and,

while thus held, a battle ensued, in which the Confederate forces.

to dislodge the Union soldiers, set fire to the place, and caused

the destruction of the houses and property, for which payment is

now sought from the United States.

That a great misfortune fell upon certain of the inhabitants

of Cynthiana there can be no doubt, and for which they were not

responsible.

Your committee assume that all the claimants were loyal.

The legal presumption is that they were, as they resided in a loyal

or non-seceding State.

The claimants' property was destroyed by the general ravages

of war, and for which payment is never made, under the law of

nations, or upon any principles of public policy or duty.

Primarily, the destruction was caused by the enemy. Con-
federate troops fired the buildings ; but this fact would not, in the

opinion of your committee, change the liability from what it would
have been if the Union forces had, when a battle was imminent,
or while it raged, set fire to the buildings and caused their destruc-

tion. The loss would still have been classed with property

destroyed by the misfortunes and casualties of war, for which no
compensation is ever made to friend or foe, loyal or disloyal.

The petitioners have pressed, with much earnestness, upon your
committee, through iheir counsel and otherwise, the theory that

the seizure of the houses, under the chcumstances stated there,

was an appropriation of the same, to a public use, within the mean-
ing of the Constitution, and its destruction, while thus appropri-

ated, gave the owners the right to a just compensation for the

same. They contend that the latter clause of the fifth amendment
to the Constitution of the United States secures them this right.

The clause relied on is as follows : .

" Nor shall any person * * * be deprived of life,

liberty or property, without due process of law ; nor shall private

property be taken for public use without just compensation."
The error is in assuming that a commanding officer, by occu-

pying, under the exigencies of a battle, by his troops, private
buildings, or by shielding himself and his troops behind them
during a conflict, within the meaning of the Constitution, appro-
priates private property to a public use. The temporary occu-
pancy of private property, by the troops of the United States,

even where a battle is not imminent or actually raging, has never
been held or regarded as an appropriation of the same to a public
use. When private property is taken for public use, merely to

be held temporarily, no appropriation, in any Constitutional sense,

results. Mere possession of private property, by public officers or
soldiers of the United States, cannot be construed to be an appro-
priation of the property^ to a public use.

It has been expressly held that where a building was burned
by accident, where it had been seized by the war power of the
General Government for a hospital, or for other use by the United
States authorities, that there was no liability resting upon the
Government to pay for it. [Lagow's Case, 10 Court of Claims,
366

;
Green's Case, 10 Court of Claims, 466 ; Filer's Case, 9

Wall., 45.]

It is said there is a case where the United States were held
liable for the appropriation of a mill burned by an officer of the
United States to prevent it from falling into the hands of the
so-called Government.

This case is known as the Grant Case, and will be found
reported in 1st Court of Claims, p. 41. It is only a decision of
the Court of Claims, and, as authority, it has been doubted.

Your committee, however, does not think it necessary, for
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the proper determination of this case, to deny the authority of

the Grant Case.

In that case, there was a complete destruction of the property,

by a direct order of an officer of the United States, to prevent its

falling into the hands of the Confederates, and being used by

them to aid the rebellion. There is no analogy between that case

and the cases of the Cynthiana citizens, whose property was
destroyed in battle by Confederate soldiers.

In the case of Dr. Best, of Paducah, the commanding officer

of the United States, had, by order, destroyed his valuable house

to set it out of the range of the guns of the United States Army,

and to prevent the possibility of its use, by the enemy, in case a

battle took place at that place. A bill was passed through Con-

gress to re mburse Dr. Best for loss of his house ; but President

Grant vetoed the bill, on the ground that there was no just liability

resting on the Government to make good such loss. His veto was

sustained. There may be many reasons why Dr. Best should have

been paid ; but, certainly, if he had no valid claim, the Cynthiana

claimants have no shadow of right to have their losses reimbursed.

It will be a dangerous precedent to recognize or establish the

principle, that property destroyed by Confederates, shall be paid

for by the United States Government

Your committee are unanimous in concluding that the several

claimants, on the representations set forth in the petitions, and

the recitations of the bill, have no valid rights whatever against

the United States Government. It would only be doing a vain

thing, attended with much expense, to authorize the appointment

of the board asked for, as, on the showing of claimants, they have

no possible claims for which the United States can be held liable.

Your committee, therefore, report back the said bill, and

respectfully ask that it do not pass.

This adverse Report did not deter the Kentucky General

Assembly from the following action on the subject

:

Besolution of tlie Kentucky General Assembly, in regard to the

war losses by fire at Cynthiana in June, I864. Whereas, on the

11th day of June, 1834, Col. Conrad Garis of the One Hundred

and Sixty-eighth Kegiment of Ohio Infantry Volunteers, took

shelter in the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison County, Ky., by

placing his men in houses to resist an attack of the enemy under

the command of Gen. John H. Morgan, and, during the fight

which ensued, the city was set on fire by the enemy to dislodge

said Federal forces, resulting in the destruction of the houses and

merchandise of the following persons, viz. : J. J. Parrish, F. M.

Gray, Thomas English, W. W. Trimble, John L. Magee, D. A.

Givens, John Quinlan, J. Newt Smith, Mrs. Mary A. Hall, Eob-

ert C. Wherritt, Lawson Oxley, Henry Johnson, James S. Fri-

zell, T. A. Frazier, H. E. Shawhan, Eliza Bell, Isaac N. Webb,
William L. Northcutt, H. C. Nabel, Thomas R. Bankin, Greenup

Remington, Charles A. Webster, Frank Box, Harmon Rohs, Su-

san Tomlinson, J. E. Dickey, I. N. Smith, John Bruce, J. W.
Mcintosh, and F. X. C. Nott, administrator, etc.

And, Whereas, it appears the houses were converted to the

use of the Federal soldiers, and absolutely used to protect the

men as the danger was imminent and impending, and the neces-

sity was m-gent for the public service, and was such as would not

have admitted delay, it seems the property was taken possession

of by the Union forces whilst resisting the hostilities of the pub-

lic enemy; and said citizens were called upon, and required to

give up their private property for the advantages of the commu-
nity ; this property having been actually taken for the use of,

and used by the army of, the United States as shelter, and whUe
thus occupied, it was destroyed.

These being the facts in the case in the opinion of this General

Assembly, the fifth article of amendment of the Constitution of

the United States, contemplates that private property shall not be

taken for public good, use, safety or convenience, without just

compensation therefor, otherwise public burdens would be shared

unequally.

Be it, therefore. Resolved by this General Assembly of the

Commonwealth of Kentucky, That our Senators and Representa-

tives in the Congress of the United States be respectfully request-

ed to m-ge upon the Government of the United States the speedy

settlement and payment of said claims; that the Government take

such early and speedy steps as they may deem proper to accom-

plish this end, by bill or otherwise, in order that justice may be

done alike to Government and claimants, we suggest that our

Senators and Representatives urge Congress to pass a bill author-

izing and directing the Secretary of War to appoint and send a

commission to the city of Cynthiana, in Harrison County, Ky.,

instructed to ascertain all the circumstances under which said

property was destroyed, and the kind of property lost by each

claimant, and the marketable value at the time, and report all the

facts to Congress for consideration and action.

Approved March 6, 1880.

I certify the above to be a true copy of the original which

passed by both Houses and signed by the respective Speakers.

(This is a copy of forgoing resolution, signed by)

Thomas G. Poore, Clerk H. R.
—L. Q. Marshall.

=^«
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OHAPTEE YIII.

CYNTHIANA— EARLY MILLS AND OTHER, MANUFACTORIES— PIONEER MERCHANTS AND MERCANTILE HOUSES— MAR^
RIAGES—POSTMASTERS, ETC.—PHYSICIANS, DISEASES AND EPIDEMICS—LATER INDUSTRIES-

BANKS AND BANKING INSTITUTIONS—CITY GOVERNMENT, ETC.

ALEXANDER DOWNING built a flouring-mill in

1818 on the corner of Poplar street and the alley.

The mill was worked by inclined plane and horses, and the

business was carried on till 1822. Also, in 1818, Cal-

ient & Addison established a cotton factory on the now

new street east of Main street, not far from the present

site of Mrs. I. T. Martin's residence. The business was

continued till 1825. About the same time, Josephus Per-

rin built and carried on a flouring-mill for seven or eight

years, on the site afterward occupied by Aaron Diltz's

flouring-mill, now the site of Mr. Diltz's new bricls resi-

dence on Walnut /Street. This mill was at first set up in

the large brick building since known as Peck's flouring-

mill. The exact period of its suspension we have not as-

certained, but it was not a financial success.

From 1816 to 1825, and, perhaps, for a few years longer,

Samuel Patton owned and operated a woolen factory on

the site of Mrs. David Wherritt's present residence.

The so-called Peck's Mill building has passed through

so many hands, and been the scene of so great a variety of

business, that it may be worth while to chronicle more

minutely its history.

Isaac Miller was president of the company who built

the house, in 1809, for factory use ; it had then the largest

rooms to be found in town, and as early as 1818, our fellow-

citizen, Robert Jones, remembers that Thespian societies

held public exhibitions there. It was rather a fashionable

resort, Mr. Jones himself bore a part, and played Lady
Randolph. After this, Josephus Perrin occupied the place,

as stated, for cotton spinning. We cannot trace its course

of business without intervals.

But in 1845, the executors of Asbury Broadwell sold

the property to John Harmon Frazer, who had his oflSce in

or adjoining the building, and kept large quantities of

whisky on storage and on speculation there. . For years it

was only used for such purposes by the various parties

into whose possession it came, and while no great show or

stir was apparent about the premises, it hardly ever ceased

to be the receptacle of large property interests. John

Harmon 5'razer's assignees sold the place to Gray & Cox.

These, again, sold to J. A. Cook & Wolford ; these to C.

B. Cook, in 1865, who used it for manufacturing purposes

for a year or two. C. B. Cook sold to Peck & Van Hook
about 1866. This firm received into partnership Ben
Potts, who soon sold out his share to J. W. Peck & Co.,

who, in 1876, established a very successful flouring business

in it. The building became then known as Peck's Mill, and
its daily product has been since about seventy-five barrels

daily, at any rate, while Peck was interested, his connection

with it as fiour manufacturer lasting six years. It is pro-

nounced by Mr. Peck the most profitable business estab-

lishment in the place, excepting only the most prosperous

distilleries, and these excepted only in the most favorable

years for the liquor trade. During the present year, 1882,

Peck sold the old place to Messrs. Riggs & Musselman,
who are continuing the same line of business (flour manu-
facture), with every prospect of financial success.

All these early manufacturing experiments had but a

short-lived existence. It has been suggested that these at-

tempts were inspired by the dawning popularity of Henry
Clay's Protective System, and that their collapse was has-

tened by the powerful opposition encountered by Mr.
Clay's policy. At any rate, it became evident in a few
years, that protection by government to home manufact-
ures, could not be relied on as an assured permanency.

Other manufactories in our city of a more recent date,

on a larger scale, and on a diflTerent basis, will be noticed
in another part of this sketch.

It is proper here to record the name of George Hamil-
ton, as the first merchant who was ever engaged regularly

in trade in Cynthiana. His place of business was on the
ground now occupied by the jail, on Pike street, though
even before George Hamilton, as an old citizen remembers,
a store was kept by Isaac Miller, father of our former well
known citizen, Maj. Newton Miller, before the establishment
in 1793. But Isaac Miller's store, at that time, was on the
west side of the river, not far from the site of the present
bridge. During the first twenty or thirty years of the
town's existence, the tendency of the sale and settlement
of town lots was directed toward the vicinity of the river,

r^
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as it was then thought the navigation of the stream was,

at least, among the possibilities.

Asbury Broadwell began merchandising in 1813, on

the site of Dr. Beale's present residence, on Main street.

He married the sister of Dr. Andrew McMillin, by which

marriage he acquired a handsome property, which he, by his

eminent business talents, built up to a fine fortune. He
moved his business in 1830, from the first location, to the

present site of Dr. Hood's drug store, corner of Pike and

Main streets. He died in 1843.

Thomas Ware began as a merchant in 1824, keeping a

general stock, as early merchants generally have to do, and

continued ten years. His location was the present site of

J. W. Peck's extensive grocery. He resided in the South

for some years after 1834, and was, at last, killed in the

first battle of Cynthiana, in 1862.

John M. January did a heavy mercantile business

in various departments from 1832 to 1850
;
his place of

operations was the present site of the Fennell Brothers'

clothing store. He broke, and died in 1862. James Pin-

ley, and also James Kelley, are remembered as early mer-

chants before, and for some years after the war of 1812.

But all the early merchants broke after the war of 1812,

sooner or later, except Col. Miller, who had both wealth

and business talents.

It is proper to preserve the names of the parties to the

first marriages on record in our county, though we have not

. the means of ascertaining whether they were, or became,

citizens of Cynthiana. We mention, therefore, the follow-

ing as they occur under their respective dates :

1794, May, Samuel Van Hook and Hannah Trousdale
;

June, Traverse Edwards and Elizabeth Coleman.

1794, June, Ezekiel Laiton Hinton and Martha Cald-

well ; Thomas Hinkson and Elizabeth Poor ; Thomas Rav-

enscraft and Nancy Langdon ; Thomas Martin and Betsey

Ellison ; Joel Frazer and Peggy Miller.

1795, June, Joseph Kincaid and Jane Martin ; John

Hamilton and Mary Curry.

1795, July, Richard Ellis and Elizabeth Jones ; David

Campbell and Frances Norman ; Samuel Wilson and Betsey

Snodgrass ; James Furnace and Asena Furnace ; John

Wall and Mary Cartwill ; July 24, Ebenezer Davidson and

Margaret McCandless.

The list might be continued to the present time, as the

record is preserved entire. In the earlier record, however,

the day of the month is often omitted.

Until 1801, the town seems to have been able to do

without a post office ; but in that year the series of Post-

masters begins, which list we are enabled to supply, with

the dates of their appointments, furnished from the Post

Office Department at Washington, through the kind atten-

tion of Hon John G. Carlisle :

April 2, 1801, James Coleman ; July 1, 1802, Caleb

Kemper ; April 1, 1804, Christian McConnico ; January 8,

1805, James Finley ; December 23, 1816, James Kelley
;

December 23, 1818, Hartwell Boswell ; June 24, 1820,

Armistead Whitehead ; January 22, 1825, Asbury Broad-

well ; December 20, 1833, William A. Withers ; January

14, 1841, Asbury Broadwell ; May 31, 1841, Jeremiah V.

Bassett ; September 24, 1845, Perry Wherritt ; September

5, 1849, John B. Gruelle ; November 16, 1852, Charles H.

Anderson ; October 17, 1853, John B. Grruelle ; July 5,

1854, Charles H. Anderson ; February 14, 1855, David A.

Gevens
; May 26, 1856, Oliver Lucas ; September 16, 1856,

Alexander Williamson ; April 30, 1861, A. J. Morey ; June

1, 1861, Benjamin C. Day; November 12, 1861, Luther

Van Hook ; January 2, 1863, Lewis Coppago ; January 4,

1866, Henry M. Magee ; December 12, 1878, Mattie D.

Todd.

The office became Presidential on the 9th of July, 1870.

Names and the proper dates attached serve to recall or

correct manj' a half-forgotten event'of the past. It is with

this view of the subject that we present considerably ex-

tended lists of the names of citizens engaged in the various

avocations of life
;
yet we have not attempted to make the

ensuing catalogue of physicians so complete as to include

the name of every one who has practiced the healing art in

Cynthiana. Still, it is believed few names of those who
became permanent residents as physicians will be missed.

It is proper also to warn the readers that our notice

here is not much more specific than a simple catalogue, not

intended to be at all biographical, though several of the

names are fruitful themes of biographj^ ; especially ex-

tended accounts of Dr. McPheeters, Dr. Timberlake, Dr.

Andrew McMillin, Dr. George H. Perrin, Dr. Joel C. Frazer

and Dr. Abram Adams should be furnished, but we aye not

assured that space and time will be allowed.

At the head of the list we place the name of Dr.

James McPheeters, who practiced his profession here

as early as 1795. He belonged to a large family of pro-

fessional men in Rockbridge County, Va. Many of his

kinsmen were clergymen and physicians, and all were more

or less eminent. A brief sketch of his life, written by his

brother, is appended to this article.

Very nearly, if not quite, contemporary with Dr. Mc-

Pheeters, was Dr. Septimus Taylor, still represented by

numerous descendants in our town and county. Also,

nearly contemporary was Dr. Reynolds. In 1807, we have

Dr. David Holt ; in 1808, Dr. Timberlake, who died in

1828. In 1812, we have Dr. Joseph Holt. In 1812, also,
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we have Dr. Andrew McMillin
;
in 1817, we have Dr. Joel

C. Frazer, of great distinction ; in 1820, Dr. Hendershot

;

in 1816, Dr. Duncan ; in 1825, Dr. G-eorge H. Perrin began

practice here, and is still an honored citizen among us. In

1822, we had Dr. Saraael McMillin ; and in 1828, Dr.

Abram Adams begn here, and practiced a full half cen-

tury. In 1830, we had D.-. Harmon ; and in 1832 Dr. Jack

Desha. In 1837, Dr. Lewis Perrin began practice here, and

in 1876 returned to his native place, Abbeville, S. C,

where he died in 1880. Dr. Lewis Perrin was prom-

inent both in politics and medicine. In 1832, Dr. Thomas

Magee began practice, and continued till 1849, when he

died of cholera. Dr. John Kimbrough began about the

same time, and also died in 1849. In 1850, we had Dr.

John A. Kirkpatrick, who died a few years ago ; in 1850,

also, Dr. William H. Adair ; in 1858, Dr. H. McDowell, still

in extensive practice among us ;
in 1859, Dr. A. J. Beale,

now for the second time member of the G-eneral Assembly
;

in 1860, Dr. McUloud ; in 1865, Dr. Rutherford, who died

some years ago ; also in 1865, Dr. Augustus Murray ; in

1862, Dr.'John H. Righter ; also. Dr. John H. Smiser, the

latter three being the first homeopathic physicians resident

in our city ; in 1870, Dr. James P. Madison, eclectic ;
in

1878, Dr. Thackeray M. Hedges ; in 1880, Dr. E. W. Mar-

tin ; also in 1880, Dr. F. Gray, also Dr. W. T. McNees.

Of dentists, we may mention the following as resident

in 1849 and the succeeding ten years : Dr. John Childs,

Dr. Cazidivant, Dr. Moffat and Dr. Herschfield. In 1868,

we had Dr. E J. Peckover ; in 1869, Dr. C. L. Donnelly ; in

1877 and in 1879, respjofcively, we had and still have in our

city Dr. S. S. Johnson, and Dr. F. M. Miller.

We place here, by way of eminence, a brief sketch of

the first plij'sician who ever practiced medicine in Cynthi-

ana—Dr. James McPheeters. This we are enabled to

do in the words of his brother, the Rev. William McPhee-

ters, who left, in manuscript dated 1842, Raleigh, N.

C., a very interesting history of the family. We make
room only for the notice of one member, though the story

is full of the stirring events peculiar to the early settle-

ment of our country. The penmanship of the work is

beautiful, legible, systematic, and the arrangement so me-

thodical, the honesty and reliability of the whole so evident,

that the reader follows his guide with entire ease and con-

fidence. The family was large ; one hundred and seventy-

nine are named in their proper places in their respective

branches, and Joseph Moore, maternal uncle of Dr. Mc-

Pheeters, had sixteen children, while the Rev. William, the

Doctor's brother, who is the author of the history from

which we make this extract, had the goodly number of

fourteen children ; the latter was married three times, and

gives us a carefully written account of his three wives.

Many clergymen appear in the family, and all, or nearly

all, seem to have been Presbyterians. William McPhee-

ters, father of the Doctor, was born in Pennsylvania in

1729, removed to Rockbridge County, Virginia ; married

Rachel Moore, of that county, and died in 1807. He had

ten children, of whom James was the fourth, and William,

the writer from whom we copy, was the ninth. We pre-

serve both the form and paragraphs of the original, as fol-

lows :

4. Jambs. Bom May Sth, 1765. He acquired a liberal edu-

cation, commenced the study of medicine in Staunton, Augusta

Co., Va-, and afterward attended the medical lectures, Philadel-

phia. Doctor Rush being at that time one of the lecturers.

He married his cousin, Elizabeth Coalter, a daughter of Mi-

chael Coalter, May 35, 1791. For ten years he practiced medi-

cine in the town and neighborhood of Fincastle, Botetourt

County. Afterward, he removed in the year 1795 to Kentucky,

and settled in the town of Cynthiana, Harrison County. [This

date must, of course, be correct, being stated on the reliable au-

thority of William McPheeters, but the Doctor may have visited

Cynthiana as early as 1790, bought property, and built the house,

which united local tradition ascribes to him, on the west side of

the court house, on the corner of the alley and the public square.]

In the years 1796 and 1797, he was a great sufferer. He lost

his eyesiglitin a great measure, and was otherwise afflicted, being

confined to his room and bed for ten weeks, and unable to sit up.

He. however, gradually recovered his health, and, to some ex-

tent, his eyesight, so as to enable him to resume the practice of

medicine ; and, for more than two years, he enjoyed comfortable

health. But he was again visited with sickness ; and departed

this life November 9, 1799, aged thirty-four years and six months.
He died at the house of a Mr. Borr, a few miles from Lexington,

to which town he had probably gone with the view of obtaining

medical aid. He was buried in a graveyard near Mr. Borr's, on
a road leading from Lexington to Cynthiana.

For many years, he had been a member of the church. His
wife, Elizabeth, also was a church member, and esteemed a con-

sistent and exemplary Christian.

After the death of her husband, she removed from Cynthiana
to the State of Missouri.

The children of this family were five in number. The three
first named were born in Virginia, the other two in Kentucky.
1, Sophronia ; 2, Philander ; 8, Theophilus ; 4, David ; 5, James
Augustus.

1. Sophronia McPheeters was born January, 1793, and de-

parted this life in the month of September, 1808, in the seven-
teenth year of her age.

3. Philander McPheeters was born August 3, 1793. He was
killed in battle by the Indians at Fort Meigs, May 5, 1813, aged
nineteen years and nine months. Col. BosweU was commander
in the engagement.

3. Theophilus McPheeters was born November 15, 1794. He
now fl843) resides in Mississippi, near to the city of Natchez.
[For particulars of his family, see Appendix.]

4. David McPheeters was born August 30, 1797, and died Oc-
tober 10, same year, aged about nine weeks.

5. James Augustus McPheeters was born April 30, 1799. He
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' studied medicine, and now resides (1843) in the city of Natcliez,

Miss.

Our author having thus completed his account of Dr.

James McPheeters, addresses himself to the history of his

sister, Rebecca McPheeters, who married John Gamble in

1785, and had eleven children. He states that John Gtun-

ble was born in 1757, and died 1831 ; that Rebecca Vi^as

born in 1767, and died in 1833.

A few more such authorities as William McPheeter.s

would enable us to make the history of Cynthiana complete

and accurate.

A few lines are here given to diseases and epidemics,

rather to celebrate the general absence than presence of vio-

lent scourges among us, for the town has not commonly

been a sufferer from these causes. But in June, 1 833, cholera

broke out violently in C3'nthiana, carrying off upward of

fifty citizens. Mrs. William K. Wall was the first person

attacked, the disease soon terminating fatally. Hon. Will-

iam K. Wall, her husband, was at the time engaged, and

in the midst of a speech at the court house, when he was

hastily summoned to her aid at his residence, only a few

yards distant. But no rescue was possible. The cholera

raged about three months, when it ceased as suddenly as

it had begun. In July, 1849, there were a few cases of

cholera in town, two of the victims being Dr. Thomas Ma-

gee and Dr. J. W. Kimbrough ; also a considerable number

of cases occurred in the vicinity, especially on Raven's

Creek.

In 1851, on Saturday, the 14th of September, cholera

again suddenly appeared, carrying off Daniel Musser

Thomas Trimnel and David Woodruff, his wife, and three

of his five children. Other victims were John Fuller, brick

mason ; Stephen Shumate, cabinet-maker ;
and eight or ten

negroes. The scourge broke out Saturday night, and ceased

the following Tuesday, nor has it prevailed here since. In

1832, just a year before the first cholera visitation. Dr.

George H. Perrin remembers that scarlet fever prevailed

fearfully in town, attacking young children mostly, and that

about the same number died from this malady as from

cholera in the following year. Dr. Perrin, to whom we are

indebted for numerous and valuable items, also says that

during the last sixty years, diseases have changed some-

what in type, and are less inflammatory ;
that names are

occasionally modified, and that the treatment of disease

has materially changed in some particulars. There was

formerly but one system of medicine of much authority,

while there are now several, and, of course, a variety of

treatment. Blood-letting was common, but now it is rarely

practiced. Of himself, on this point. Dr. Perrin relates

that in 1851, he was one day, while in town, annoyed by

an itching of the ear
;
that he tried to relieve the, at first,

slight uneasiness by the usual means of touching or rub-

bingjbut the itching continued, and became more and more

intense, and at last the ear began to throb violently. He
then returned quickly to his residence across the river, now

the Howk place, and told his wife that he was going to

bleed himself, that he was threatened with a rising in the

head, or something serious of that kind. He took a quart

of blood from his arm, but the throbbing of the ear con-

tinued. He then tried a strong aperient medicine, which

was duly attended by its proper specific effect, but still the

throbbing remained as violent as before. He then pro-

ceeded to bleed himself again, two hours after his first

bleeding, and took another quart of blood from his arm

before the throbbing ceased. Thus two quarts of blood

were taken in two hours, au.'l the Doctor is confident that

the blood-letting saved his hearing, if not his life. As it

was, even, he was whoUj' deprived of hearing in the affected

ear for two years after the attack.

In 1850, Henry P. Cromwell began the manufacture of

carriages, wagons and plows, and for some years worked

thirty hands. The business was suspended in 1861, and

not resumed till 1871, when Mr. Cromwell, having returned

from the South, re-established his manufactory on Pike

street, nearly opposite the Smith House. He now employs

about a dozen hands, and estimates the business moder-

ately at $5,000 annually.

In 1872, Joseph Pennell invented what he calls his

shin, ankle, and speedy cut, a horseboot, patented and

now known to horsemen throughout the United States.

In 1876, he invented his hoof and speedy cut, also well

and favorably known. Both contrivances are intended for

the use and benefit of fine stock. The inventer carries on

the manufacture under his own roof, and the work is all

done under his own eye, in the rear of the Pennell clothing

store, which fronts both Main and Pike streets. The busi-

ness has been estimated as high as $10,000 annually.

V. H. Pate & Co. established in 1873 a carriage manu-

factory on the corner of Pleasant and Walnut streets.

They employ ten hands, and the annual amount of their

business is about $10,000. They have turned out some

very fine specimens of work.

The large flouring mills, distilleries, etc., are noticed on

another page.

The bank of Cynthiana was chartered in 1818, of which

William C. Moore was President, and Henry Brown, Cashier.

It was a joint-stock bank, of the sort sometimes called the

" Owl Creek," having a capital of $25,000. Its office was

kept in a house on the McMillin lot, now the Paerber

House. We did not trace its existence later than 1820,

BK
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though according to the recollection of some, it was not

finally' closed till about 1828. A two-dollar note of this

bank was shown to us by C. F. Belling. It bears date

1819, and is ornamented with a vignette, representing pretty

fairly the bridge and vicinity. At this period the paper of

the bank of the Commonwealth of Kentucky was current

throughout the State, but in 1820 or 1821 its paper was

at a heavy discount, not less than 50 per cent. In 1822,

the General Assembly enacted a law to the effect that any

one who refused the Commonwealth's paper for taxes or

public dues should wait a year longer for his claim. This

measure not being very effective in supporting the depre-

ciated currencj', the Assembly next year declared that for

refusing the Commonwealth's paper, the offender should

wait two years for his money. The Court of Appeals,

composed of Judges John Boyle, William Owsley and Ben-

jamin Mills, decided this law unconstitutional. The Legis-

lature removed the Judges in 1824, and appointed William

T. Barry, John Trimble and Haggin in their places. The

next General Assembly removed the new appointees and

restored to their seats the old Judges who had condemned

the law, though, in fact, the latter had never recognized

the legality of their removal, and had considered them-

selves and behaved themselves all the time as if still con-

stituting the Court of Appeals. Kentucky, therefore, had

two quasi Courts of Appeal. The times were excited,

party feeling ran high, and it was not easy for banks of

moderate power to sustain their credit. The " Owl Creek ''

bank, of course, went out earty, but the old Commonwealth
Bank ultimately redeemed its paper, dollar for dollar, not

actually and entirely closing out its affairs till 1830. Even
then, probably, only the influence of the two branches of

the United States Bank, the one at Lexington and the

other at Louisville, assured the end of that honorable and
honored banking corporation.

From about 1830 till 1857, we hear no more of banks

in our town. However, in June, 1857, the Deposit Bank
of Cynthiana was established on a capital of $25,000, J.

W. Peck, President, and J. S. Withers, Cashier. It paid

interest on deposits at the rate of 5 per cent, as we remem-
ber, and for five years it paid semi-annual dividends of 5

per cent to the stockholders. When the little bank settled

up to make way for another enterprise, it paid to its stock-

holders a dollar and twenty-five cents for each dollar of

their stock—certainly a pretty fair showing of financial

management

In June, 1862, the Deposit Bank was succeeded by a

branch of the Commercial Bank of Kentucky, with a cap-

ital of $100,000 ; Henry E. Shawhan, President, and J. S.

Withers, Cashier. The mother bank was situated at Padu-

cah, and wielded a capital of about $2,000,000. The war

between the States having come on, and continuing and

increasing in violence and magnitude, the banking business

was seriously injured throughout Kentucky. Notwith-

standing, the branch at Cynthiana was successful, and

made handsome profits on its capital, but these, when
shared in common with the mother bank, and with the

other less successful branches, were not sufficient to pay to

the stockholders more than about 3 per cent semi-annually

in dividends, and sometimes not even so much. The Com-

mercial Bank Directors, in 1868, erected the fine marble

front bank building in which the present National Bank is

accommodated, at a cost of $23,000, the Carpenter Brothers

being the contractors and builders. It is situated on the

west side of Main street, one door south of public square.

In laying the foundations of the building, the brick wall of

John Spohn's residence, which closely adjoins, was injured,

and the accident cost the bank $600. The plan was fur-

nished by James K. Wilson, an architect of Cincinnati, J.

W. Peck and J. S. Withers constituting the building com-

mittee. Four rooms above the apartments used by the

bank are rented as private offices, and two below, the latter

forming the basement.

In 1871, the Commercial Bank sold its banking-house

here to its successor, the National Bank, for $15,000, and

withdrew its branch from the place, in accordance with the

wishes of a large majority of those in the vicinity who had

been stockholders.

The new organization of the National Bank, of which

Henry E. Shawhan was made President, and J. S. Withers,

Cashier, entered upon business with a capital increased to

$150,000. This bank, during; the last ten or twelve years,

has enjoyed an uninterrupted stream of prosperity, the

stock always commanding a high premium, the best sale

being 40 per cent, and even 50 per cent premium was

recently refused. The officers report a surplus fund of

$40,047, a pretty good index of strength and commer-
cial thrift. We copy and preserve here on permanent rec-

ord as an item of general interest, the following latest

official statement of the affairs of this bank :

annual statement to the Stockholders of the National Bank of
Cynthiana, December 31, 1881.

EESOUKCBS :

Loans and Discounts $286,533 84

U. S. Bonds (par value) 158,700 GO

Banking House 15,000 00

Due from Banks and Bankers 84,051 75

Due from Treasurer, U. S 6,750 00

Cash and Cash Items 44,391 93

$595,416 51
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liabilities:

Capital Stock |150,000 00

Circulation 135,000 00

Individual Depositors 255,363 36

Due to Banks and Bankers 5,855 27

Dividend No. 30, payable January 5, 1883. . . . 7,500 00

Fund to pay Federal and State Taxes 1,316 20

Surplus Fund 33,000 00

Undivided Profits 8,383 68

1595,416 51

Gross earnings (six months) ending Decem-

ber 81, 1881 $14,468 34

Expense Account and Taxes $3,957 84

Dividend, 5 per cent payable Janu-

ary 5, 1883 7,300 00

Added to Surplus Fund 2,000 00

Added to Undivided Profits 307 44

Bad Debts charged ofE 703 06-|14,468 84

J. S. WiTHBKS, Cashier.

In 1 877, was established the Farmers' Deposit Bank,

on a cash capital of $100,000, J. W. Peck, President, and

Luther Van Hook, Cashier. This bank has also been a

success from the beginning. The stock commands a

premium of 8 per cent, and it has already a surplus

fund of $6,000. It pays semi-annual dividends of about

4 per cent, the last January dividend, however, hav-

ing been withheld, as some unusual expenses were to

be incurred. In October, 1881, the Farmers' Deposit Bank

was transformed into the Farmers' National Bank of Cyn-

thiana, but remaining under the management of the same

board of officers and directors. It is situated on the north

side of Main street, one door east of the public square, in

a two-story brick building formerly owned by D. A. Givens.

The house was purchased by the bank in November, 1831

and cost $4,500. The upper rooms are rented as private

offices. Quite recently, the directors have had a vault con-

structed, of admirable design, for the safe-keeping of the

books and other valuables of the institution. The plan of

the vault is that of Hall's Lock and Safe Company, the

most approved, perhaps, in the county. It is built of solid

masonry from the bottom of the cellar to the first floor,

twelve feet square. On this foundation stands the large

safe, surrounded on all sides, top and bottom, by iron walls

which stand a few feet from the front and sides of the safe

so as to admit access to the door of the safe and make

room for some shelving. The iron walls are then sur-

rounded by brick work two feet thick, in contact with the

iron, an arch of the same thickness covering the top.

Strength, convenience and perfect security are evidently

assured. The masonry and iron alone cost $1,200, not in-

cluding the safe, which is valued at $2,000. The office has

also been beautifully fitted up.

We are furnished the following item of permanent in-

terest relative to the Farmers' National Bank, by Mr. Van
Hook, the cashier

:

Report of the condition of the Farmers' National Bank,

16th of March, 1882 ;

KESOUECES.

Real Estate and Fixtures $ 6,600 00

U. S. Bonds 75,000 00

Premium Account 1,218 75

Redemption Fund ; 2,350 00

Revenue Account 301 54

Expense 83 15

Loans and Discounts 111,333 62

Due from Banks 3,744 07

Cash in vault 25,076 56

Aggregate $334,505 69

LIABILITIES.

Capital ^tock $100,000 00

Surplus Fund 4,000 00

Undivided Profits 2,360 03

Circulation 45,000 00

Rent Account 13 75

Discount Account 1,335 85

Exchange 308 66

Due other Banks 1,311 78

Individual Deposits 71,931 13

Aggregate 324,505 69

The new Constitution having been adopted in 1850-51,

the County Court was re-organized accordingly, and though

principally an afiair of the county at large, we include it in

our sketch of the town, so far, at least, as to present a list

of the presiding officers of that court, and their dates of

election. The County Judge keeps his office at the county

seat, and is always, during his term of office, a citizen of

the place.

The first County Judge under the new organization was

Henry Coffman, elected in 1851. These officials then suc-

ceeded each other in the order indicated below :

David Snodgrass, 1854 ; Louis Da}', ad interim; James

R. Curry, 1858 ;
Marc L. Broadwell, 1862 ; James R. Cur-

ry, 1866 ; C. W. West, 1870 ; W. W. Cleary, ad interim; L.

Desha, Jr., 1873, re-elected, 1874 ; Henry H. Haviland,

1878, and is now in office.

By favor of L. M. Martin, Esq., we have the following

catalogue of County Attorneys for the last forty years,

nearly, which we present in retrograde order :

W. T. LaflTerty, appointed 1882 ; John F. Morgan,

elected 1878 ; A. Perrin, elected 1870 ; C. W. West, ap-

pointed 1868 ; J. S. Boyd, elected 1866 ; J. Q. Ward, elect-

ed, 1862 ; W. W. Cleary, elected 1858 ; W. W. Cleary, ap-

pointed 1£57 ;
Thomas A. Curran, elected 1854; W. W.

Trimble, elected 1851 ; the same appointed, 1850 ;
same

i^



^t t

2?2 HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY.

appointed, 1849 ; McCalla Thompson, appointed 184-8
; W.

W. Trimble, appointed 1847, 1846, 1845, 1844.

The charter of the city was approved by the General

Assembly on the 2d of March, 1860 ; and for twenty-two

years our people have enjoyed the advantages of a city

form of government, yet there are citizens who think well

of the former management by trustees, a system which had

answered the purpose very well for about seventy years.

Under the city charter, from April 12th, 1860, to

April, 1861, Samuel F. January held the office of Maj-or,

and so was the first of the line of Mayors. All city offi-

cers are elected in April of each year according to the

charter.

Mayors.—Second, M. L. Broadwell, 1861-63 ; third, C.

G. Land, 1863-66 ; fourth, George Lemmon, 1866-70
;

fifth, Joseph Fennell, 1870-71; sixth, F. G. Ashbrook,

1871-72 ; seventh, Caleb Musser, 1872-74 ; eighth, T. E.

Ashbrook, 1874 to October ; ninth, C. B. Cook, October,

1874, to June, 1880
;
tenth, W. S. "Wall, June, 1880, to

1883.

City Attorneys.—First, A. H. "Ward, April, 1860 ; sec-

ond,K M. Kelley, April, 1861 ; third, J. Q. Ward, 1862-63
;

fourth, J. S. Boyd, 1864 ; fifth, James L. Griffith, 1865-66

;

sixth, C. W. West, 1867-68-69 ; seventh, W. W. Cleary,

1870-71-72-73
; eighth, John K. Lake, 1874 ; ninth, J.

W. Elliott, 1875 ; tenth, C. W. West, 1876-77-78-79
;

eleventh, Achilles Perrin, 1880-81-82.

City Marshals.—First, William Smith, April, 18G0 ; sec-

ond, Thomas Flinn, ad interim; third, James H. Coffinan,

1801 ; fourth,William T. Magee, adinteriin; fifth, J. E. Dickey.

1862
;
sixth, John Bruce, 1863-64^65-66

; seventh, J. C-

Wicklifie, 1867-68 ; eighth, W. B. Glave, 1869 ; ninth, R-

M. Hedges, ad interim in 1869 and 1870 ; tenth, T. D.

Woodward, ad interim 1870 ; eleventh, H. M. Keller, 1871-

72 ;
twelfth, William Turtoy, 1873 ; thirteenth, H. M. Kel.

ler, 1874-75-76-77-78-79-80
; fourteenth, H. T. Hoffman,

ad interim ;
fifteenth, A. J. West, 1881-82.

Until 1879, the city fathers had no better assemMv-

room than the little 20x30 room on Pleasant, be-

tween Main and Walnut streets. They held their meet-

ings in the second story, and all around, and below them

in the lower story, were crowded, the fire department

and other paraphernalia appertaining to such bodies. In

1878, however, they sold^ the old place to C. B. Cock
and T. A. Frazer for $400, and purchased the eligible

situation now occupied near the corner of Pleasant and

Walnut streets, of T. A. Frazer, for $700, and erected the

present fine Council chamber, ample for all citj^ purposes.

Frank M. Ctffl was engaged as contractor, and in 1879 the

building was finished. It is an elegant brick structure,

well suited in every respect to its purpose, while it is an

ornament to the city. It is distinguished by a handsome

square tower, has a prisoner's cell, engine room, Council

room, office for miscellaneous purposes, etc.

City Officials, 1882.—W. S. Wall, Mayor; William

Addams, A. J. Morey, James S. Smiser, John Spohn,

Thomas Hinkson, J. A. Wolford, John W. Renaker, John

G. Montgomery, Councilmen ; A. Perrin, City Attorney

;

W. H. Throckmorton, Treasurer ; John S. Miller, Clerk
;

A. J. West, Marshal ; H. C. Nebel, Commissioner and En-

gineer.

By favor of the gentlemanly Clerk, Mr. John S. Miller,

we have the following statement in addition to numerous

other items of a similar character, from the same source :

COST OF CITY PBOPEBTY:

Council Chamber and Engine House % 5,104 80

Furniture for Council Chamber 150 00

Hook and Ladder Truck 450 00

Engine and Hose 6,480 00

Ten Cisterns (Fire Department) 1,500 00

City Street Lamps , 700 00

Aggregate $14,384 80

The streets of the city are well paved, curbed and mac-

adamized ; onl}' brick buildings are allowed to be erected

in the central portion of the town. The steam fire engine

is believed to be of the best pattern yet invented. It bears

the words, "Ahrens & Kamman ; Pat. Jan. 31, 1871, No.

159. C. Arhrens & Co., Builders, Cincinnati, 1876. A. B.

Latta's Patents, June 6, 1859, May 22, 1855, May 2;

July," etc.

It was selected by C. B. Cook, a good judge of such

works. It has repeatedly proved its power, and for the last

three or four j^cars a feeling of security against fire hereto-

fore unprecedented among our citizens has prevailed. The

town is out of debt.

Bj' favor of a member of the Fire Department, we have

the following statement, copied from the first City Record

Book.

Maiden City Volunteer Fire Department.—" February

14, 1876. Adjourned meeting of the citizens, held at the

court house, with Hon. C. W. West in the chair, for the

purpose of organizing a fire department for this city ; the

Secretarjr, W. H. Throckmorton, read the report of com-

mittee, which was appointed at a previous meeting, to select

names for the company, they having obtained sixty-nine

names, and upon motion, said report was received and com-

mittee discharged. T. T. Formau then moved that the

chair appoint a committee of three to draft a constitution

and by-laws for the government of said company. Tie
motion prevailed, and T. T. Forman, C. B. Cook, Sr., and

ai -
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James S. Withers were appointed in accordance therewith.

A motion being made and carried that an election be held

to elect oflScers, the following were elected : H. C. Nebel,

Chief ; J. L. O'Hearn, First Assistant Chief ; J. H. Spohni

Second Assistant Chief ; T. T. Forman, Secretary ; William

Addams, Treasurer ; A. 0. Robertson, Captain Hose Com-

pany ; J. A. Eveleth, Lieutenant Hose Company ; C. B.

Cook, Chief Engineer.

" On motion the meeting adjourned to meet February

26, 1876, C. W. West, Chairman, W. H. Throckmorton,

Secretary.

" Since the organization up to the present time, the com-

pany has been kept in good shape, and contains now twenty

active members, all that are necessary to carry same

through. They have done some good work and are the

pride of the city, and are now (1882) officered as follows,

on the twelfth election in six years : F. A. Barbee, Chief

;

J. A. Wolford, First Assistant Chief; T. Y. Whitaker

Second Assistant Chief ; J. R. Madison, Secretary ; J. M.

Clary, Captain Hose Company; H. A. PoUmeyer, Lieu-

tenant, Hose Company ; F. Robitzer, Captain Hook &
Ladder Wagon Company ; J. A. Wolford, Treasurer."

In the treasury are $240, for the benefit of the disabled

or sick. This money was obtained by donations and bene-

fits given for the company. Fortunately none have, thus

far, needed any part of this fund.

—

Marshall.

OHAPTEE IX.

CYNTHIANA—SECRET AND BENEVOLENT INSTITUTIONS—THE PRESS—BISHOP KAVANAUGH AS A PRINTER—EDUCATION.

AL— HARRISON ACADEMY— GRADED SCHOOLS— COLORED EDUCATION—
THE MOORE FUND, ETC., ETC.

ON the 4th day of September, 1810, pursuant to a dis-

pensation from the Grand Lodge of Kentucljy, Rich-

ard Henderson, Master. George W. Timberlake, Senior

Warden, and James Finley, Junior Warden, opened a lodge

in the first degree in this place. This was the first official

meeting of Freemasons in Cynthiana. The original min-

utes of this meeting, in good preservation, were shown us

by Henry Warfield, who has in his possession the Masonic

records for the first ten years or more. At the next meet-

ing, three days after the first, Isaac Miller and Ed-,vard

Coleman petitioned for initiation. They were accepted by

" unanimous vote," as the minute has it, on the 7th of

September, 1810. They were thus the first of the Ancient

Order ever initiated in Cynthiana. Also, at this second

meeting, the name, Saint Andrews Lodge, No. 18, was

assumed, and has been retained to this day. Petitions now

came in rapidly, and the called meetings were frequent,

for Freemasonry always flourishes in new settlements.

The charter of Saint Andrews Lodge is dated the 9th

of August, 1811, and is signed by Joe Hamilton Daviess,

the sixth Grand Master of Kentucky, who was killed at

the battle of Tippecanoe one month afterward.

During the first year of their organization, the Masons

do not seem to have occupied any lodge room of their own,

but in 1817, they purchased the upper story of the Harri-

son Academy building, now the site of the City School, and

had it properly fitted up. Here the lodge met for more

than fifty years.

In 1872, the Masons sold out their interest in the second

story of Harrison Academy to the City Council for the sum
of $2,000, and for a year or two rented the upper room of

Eveleth's store. In 1873, Masonic Hall was erected by

Samuel O. Eckler, contractor, at an expense of $6,700. It

is a fine three-story brick, situated on the west side of Main

street, three or four doors south of the National Bank.

The lower story is rented by Jost Hoessli, as a stove and

hardware store. The second and third stories are occupied

by Masonic societies. Saint Andrews Lodge has upheld

the time-honored character of Masonry for unostentatious

benevolence. It contributed liberally, a few years since, to

the Masonic Orphan Asylum at Louisville, also $700 to the

South, and is now out of debt. The first Master was

Richard Henderson, and the last, at this writing, is John

L. Waites. Saint Andrews has given one Grand Master to

the State, namely, I. T. Martin, 1866.

The first Chapter of Royal Arch Masons in our city

was organized in 1832, and is No. 17 of the State. The

first committee on by-laws was composed of Thomas Ware,

Joseph Desha and Enoch Worthen. The Chapter still

flourishes, and meets regularly. The Council was organ-

ized in 1866, but its work has been relegated to the Chapter.

In 1872, a Commandery of Knights Templar, No. 16,

was organized, the first officers being Caleb Musser, Com-

mander ; A. J. Beale, Generalissimo, and J. M. Poyntz,

Captain General. This department of Blasonry is here

very flourishing, and its numerous public displays have
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been characterized by the usual medieval splendor. At

present the number of members is sixtj'-eight, the superior

officers being Oscar Kennard, Commander
; J. T. Hedges,

Generalissimo, and James A. Stewart, Captain General.

For about ten years past, Westanna Lodge of the Inde-

pendent Order of Odd Fellows, successor of the old Har-

rison Lodge of Odd Fellows, No. 191, has flourished here,

and by many a benevolent act has sustained the reputation

of Oddfellowship. The number of members, at present,

is sixty-five ; they meet every Tuesday evening, but have

not yet an official habitation of their own. For . some
years they rented the second story of Masonic Hall, but

now they meet in Eenaker's Hall. When a member is dis-

abled, he receives $5 a week from the order.

At present the officers are : J. S. Miller, District

Deputy; H. M. Keller, Noble Grand; Charles Rieckel,

Vice Grand ; A. H. Ward, Past Grand ; and F. A. Barbee,

Secretary.

It is proper to state that the Harrison Lodge, which pre-

ceded the present organization, had, for twenty years or

more, before the burning of the town in 1862, a prosper-

ous career. In the fire of " '62," however, their lodge

room, on the corner of Pike and Main, was burned, together

with their books' records and furniture, and also nearly

$2,000 in money or its equivalent in claims, which were

never recovered.

Cynthiana Lodge, No. 33, of the Ancient Order of

United Workmen, was established on the 5th of April.

1874. The flrst officers were ; Samuel H. Williams, P. M
W.; Frank M. Curl, M. W.; Paul King, G. F.; Oscar Ken-

nard, 0.; James W. Lacy, Recorder; James F. Keller.

Financier ; James A. Remington, Receiver ; William M,

Nourse, Inside Watch.

The officers for 1882, are : Charles Rieckel, P. M. W.
Frank M. Curl, M. W.; James T. Hedges, G. P.; William

Addams, Guide ; Oscar Kennard, 0.; John K. Madison.

Recorder
; John J. Williams, Financier ; James A- Rom

ington, Receiver; William H. Throckmorton, Inside

Watch ; Hugh M. Keller, Outside Watch.

At present there are twentj'-six members in good
standing. Their regular meetings are held on the flrst and

third Wednesdays in each month. The order is not a

mere assemblage of names, nor are its constituents con-

tented with the mere declaration of principles and theories,

but their deeds are practical. Six thousand dollars have

been paid by this order, within the last five years, to the

families of deceased members of this city alone, distributed

as follows : Tq the family of James H. Toadvine, $2,000
;

to the family of John S. Lail, $2,000 ; to the family of

Samuel H. Williams, $2,000.

School and Teachers.—By an act of the General Assem-

bly on 22d of December, 1798, Benjamin Harrison, Will-

iam E. Boswell, Henry Coleman, Hugh Miller, John Wall,

Samuel Lamme, Samuel McMillin, Samuel Cook and

Robert Hinkson, were appointed trustees of what was to

be called Harrison Academy, which institution lasted till

1872, a period of seventy-four years. It still exists in a

much modified form, as Cj'nthiana Graded City School,

for the latter occupies the ground and enlarged property

of the former, the whole having been transferred by the

trustees of the academy to the City Council on specified

conditions, ten years ago ; the foundation is therefore in

its eighty-seventh year.

The Press.—The Guardian of Liberty, the flrst news-

paper we hear of in Cynthiana, was published weekl}', from

January 18, 1817, to March 13, 1819, by John G. Keenan,

editor and proprietor. It may have had a longer existence,

but the numbers comprised within the above dates are

now in the possession of the historian, Richard H. Collins,

of Louisville, who kindly oflTered to submit the flle to our

inspection ; but, as it has been much mutilated by previous

item-hunters, it was not examined with reference to this

work.

The Guardian was printed in the old weather-boarded

log building west of the court house, on the corner of the

square and the alley, at least, a part of the time. On this

paper worked as printers two young type-setters, now gen-

tlemen of national reputation ; we mean Bishop H. H.

Kavanaugh, now of Louisville, and Hon. A. Dudley Mann,
now resident in Chantilly, Prance. Both were then in

their early teens, and both are said to have manifested,

even then, predilections for the high spheres of life they

afterward reached. When a boy, Mr. Mann used to say he

should be a statesman
; and we may well imagine that the

young Kavanaugh dreamed of his own great career of use-

fulness. A late note to the Bishop elicited the following

reply, which we are allowed to incorporate in this work.

It will be read by all with intense interest.

Me.
Louisvn.LB, Ky., March 23, 1883.

Cynthiana, Ky. :

Your respectful letter of the 20th ult. was duly received. To
your inquiry in regard to the Hon. A. Dudley Mann and myself, I
have to say that, in the days of our youth and apprenticeship
to the printing business, we did work together for some length
of time in the printing office of John Keenan, of Cynthiana, but
this at the time was not my proper home. I was learning the
business—the art of printing in the book office of the Eev. John
Lyle, of Paris, Ky. ; but was sent for a time to assist Mr. Keenan
in publishing bis paper in Cynthiana, and it was during this time
that 1was associated with Mr. Mann. Though we were but boys,
then but recently in our teens, he was so peculiar that he made
a lasting impression upon my mind. He was singularly ambitious
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and aspiring. He seemed resolved to be great. As a printer, he
looked to Ben Franklin as his model man. The highest posi-
tion was the glory at which he seemed to aim. I thought he
had capacity, if persistent in the means, at least, to reach
distinction, and he has done it, and I enjoyed his success.
Whether at that time he was putting on airs, or spoke from
personal conviction, or only to imitate others, I could not
say

;
but he claimed to be skeptical. I was a boy professor

of religion, and hence we debated this question frequently.
Where his matured reflections have conducted him, I am not
advised, but that he has reached a lofty distinction I am glad to
know. He is now regarded as a distinguished American diplo-
matist, and this implies enlightenment and force.

As it regards the relative position of the printing oflBoe to the
court house and cardinal points of the compass, I do not so
well recollect. It was not far from the bridge, and yet not very
near to it, but rather above it on the river. It was a wooden
house.

I once met Mr. Mann, to my surprise ani pleasure, and, as I
recollect, going somewhere East, after he had attained his man-
hood, but do not remember whether Mr. Clay was on the train; as

from such dignitaries I was rather inclined to shrink ; but my.
friend (Mr. Mann) perhaps more wisely would avail himself of
such an opportunity to improve his views on the topics of the
day. I do remember that some attraction of the kind deprived
me of having a longer interview with Mr. Mann than I did have
on the occasion.

In regard to the ministers of the Gospel who may have re-

sided at Cynthiana at an early day, I cannot give much infor-

mation.

Among the earliest of the Methodist ministers known to me,
was by marriage an uncle of mine, the Kev. Leroy Cole, who
lived about a mile from town on the road to Paris by the way of

Kuddel's Mills.

The first Presbyterian preacher known to me was the Rev.
Mr. Moroland, a very pathetic, earnest, and powerful revivalist

;

and what was known as a Secessionist or Covenanter, the Rev.
Mr. Rainey ; but you can get among the citizens of the place a
more extended and accurate account than I can give you.

Wishing you success in your laudable enterprise,

I am respectfully yours, H. H. Kavanaugh.

The Cynthiana Advertiser succeeded the Guardian of

Liberty about 1821, and continued till at least 1827; a

number of that year is shown at the News office. The

Advertiser published the acts of the General Assembly by

authority, and must have been an important journal in its

day. Gen. Jackson was prospective candidate for the

Presidency, and there was apprehension that the will of the

people might be thwarted, as some claimed it had been in

the election of John Quincy Adams. The Advertiser shown

us contains a review of Gov. Desha's proposed method of

electing the President, but Jackson went into the Presi-

dency on the old plan by too strong a vote to permit ques-

tion or invite revision of the constitutional election laws.

Jackson and the Advertiser _have now both receded a half

century into the past, though the puzzle of the best mode

of electing the President still remains. W. P. Birch, editor
and proprietor of the Advertiser is remembered as a man
of talents.

The Cynthiana Gleaner was published here from 1830
till 1838, by William and James Campbell. The Visitor, a
literary paper was also published by the Campbells, editors
and proprietors of both papers, during the same interval.

A religious paper was published about the same time in

Cynthiana, of which we have not obtained exact informa-
tion.

In 1850, John Atkinson started the Cynthiana News.
In 1851, it was purchased by A. J. Morey, who, as editor

and proprietor, has published the News down to the present
time, a period of upward of thirty years. He may claim
to be the Ne'stor of newspaper men in our town. The pub-
lication was suspended during the troubles of 1861-65,
but since the close of the war, the paper has made its reg-

ular weekly appearance. The News had the entire field to

itself until 1869, when the Cynthiana Democrat was estab-

lished, and put under the editorial management of C. W.
West, who occupied the position about one year. In 1870,
R. W. Musser became editor ; in 1872, Caleb Miisser ; in

1873, Adolphus Musser; in 1874, Green R. Keller; in

1875, A. O. Robertson; in 1877, H. P. Diltz
; in 1881,

Achilles Perrin
; in 1882, W. V. Prather, the present editor

aud proprietor. All the Cynthiana papers have been Demo-
cratic. Their subscription lists have commonly numbered
from one thousand to two thousand five hundred. Both
the News and Democrat are equipped with job offices, which,

together with the advertising departments, render the busi-

ness self-sustaining, if not lucrative.

The Academy was, at first, located on ground which
now forms part of the Old Cemetery, in a stone building

which long ago disappeared, but is still remembered by
old citizens. The Harrison Academy was moved from its

first position to the site of the present City School in 1810
;

but both the old and the new situations were occupied for

a few years after the transfer for school purposes. Citizens

are still living, who, in their young days, attended school

at both places.

Samuel Endicott, a distinguished classical teacher,

swayed the scepter in the old cemetery building as early

as 1806, and our venerable fellow-citizen. Dr. George H.

Perrin, was one of his pupils more than seventy-five years

ago. Endicott is described as a severe but most successful

instructor. On two or more difl'erent occasions, dissatis-

faction became so strong that he had to retire and practice

his art elsewhere, and twice was he recalled by his old

friends, who chose to put up with his harshness for the

sake of his thorough and excellent teaching. Thus he

FT
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taught, not alwaysin peace, but always with high reputa-

tion, till 1831. In the following year, he was appointed

County Court Clerk, and so ceased to be reckoned among

pedagogues, though his son, Thomas, attended to the duties

of the clerkship, so that his father, while Clerk, still taught

at intervals, but not in the academy. As late as 1834, it

is remembered that he held a school in a house oecupjang

the site of the present Masonic Hall. Gen. Lucius Desha

was one of his pupils, and bears honorable testimony to

the very high educational abilities of his old preceptor. In

1838, he removed to Henderson, Ky., and died there some

years after. His daughter, Anna Maria, assisted her father

in his schools, and was herself a teacher of distinction,

seemingly inheriting her father's special talents. She was

still living, a few years ago, in Lexington, Mo. Severe

and haughty as he was to evil-doers in school, Endicott

was a gentleman of princely bearing and polished manners.

In 1813, Jesse Olds, and his son, Augustus, occupied

the academy as principal and assistant, during the absence

of Endicott, who was probably then residing in Millersburg,

Ky. We are assured that Olds was in charge as late as

1828, but it appears that Olds and Endicott held the posi-

tion alternately for some years, or that one taught in the

academy, while the other, at the same time, occupied some

other place in town. James Kelley is also remembered as

a teacher of these early times.

Especially is William Garmany, an Irishman, to be

mentioned, known as a teacher of languages, who kept his

school at intervals in the stone house on the old cemetery

ground, from about 1817 till 1830. He came here from the

South, and became a classical teacher of reputation, but

though of good habits, it is remembered that he saved no

money, and about 1838-39 he concluded to return. He
resided rather probably as a needy guest at the house of

Dr. Joel C. Frazer for some weeks before his departure,

and finally left for Georgia in company with William R.

Fowler, a noted stock dealer of that time. He, no doubt,

made the journey through the kind aid of Dr. Frazer and

Fowler. Dr. Perrin cannot recall him to mind as a teacher,

but we are assured of his career as such by people who say

positively that they attended his school. For instance, Mr.

Henry F. Cromwell recollects that he himself and the late

Maj. Newt Miller were boys together at Garmany's school

;

that they used to go out and catch snails, bring them into

school, place them on their slates, and set them to running

races. The very oddness of the story inspires confidence

in the memory of the narrator.

In 1822-23, Alexander Downing taught a private

school in the house now occupied by ]\Ir. Benjamin Day,

on the west side of the square.

In 1837, Rev. Charles Crowe, a graduate of Dublin

University, Ireland, assisted by a Rev. — Green, held

school in the academy building. Rev. — Cowgill occu-

pied the position during the summer of 1837. Blr. Crowe

returned to Ireland in 1844, and quite recently was re-

siding at Clonis, in his professional capacity a,s clergy-

man.

In 1838, a Mr. Shepherd is remembered in charge of

the academy, for about six months, followed by a Mr.

Barnes the same year. Messrs. Barnes and J. M. Elliot

took charge of Harrison Academy in 1840. The next year,

J. M. Elliott and George M. Clarke assumed control of the

same institution, which they held for two years. They had

the largest school that had ever, up to that time, been

taught in our city or county. Elliott was a classical

teacher of fine abilities and high reputation. He returned

to Ohio whence he came, in 1843. Claike still resides in

Covington, Ky., and is now a prosperous business man.

In September, 1845, Mr. J. W. Peck, now a well-known

business man of our town, was appointed Principal of the

academy, and held the position one year. He then em-

barked in successful business operations, Mr. Peck was

succeeded by Prof J. H. Smith, of the University of

Cambridge, England, and was, perhaps, the most learned

of the long line of Principals who have held the reins in

old Harrison. Besides the usual ancient languages, he

read Hebrew and Syriac easily, without grammar or lexi-

con. He returned to Carlisle, Ky., in a j'ear or two, where

he had married Miss Nancy West. His connection with

the academy lasted only about three years, but he taught

a select school for sometime in the Wall schoolhouse, on

the corner of Pike street and thepublic square. Hereturned

from Carlisle in 1861, and bought several town lots, includ-

ing the present residence of Judge Boyd, to whom he sold

the eastern portion of his purchase, now the Judge's place,

and built for himself a new frame house, a little further

west, fronting the river. Here, for twelve or fifteen years,

he lived the life of a retired scholar, engrossed with his

books. He died in 1876, at the age of seventy-seven. He
was a Swedenborgian in religious faith, and was perfectly

familiar with the voluminous Latin works of the great

Swedish mystic and seer.

William H. Crutchfleld succeeded Prof. Smith in 1847

or 1848 ; we regret that we are often compelled to speak

of dates with uncertainty, for we have not been able to

recover the records of the old school board ; but Crutch-

field retained his position till 1853, and taught the higher

branches with distinction and popularity. He was a man
of superior intelligence ; he had been Librarian of the Con-

gressional Library at Washington. On terminating his
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engagement here, he moved to Lexington, where he con-

tinued his avocation for some years, and died in 1876.

In 1854, Rev. Carter Page began his long career as

Principal of the old academy. He was a classical teacher

of very high repute. He had talents, tact, and tenacity,

for he held his ground longer than any of his predecessors,

except the great Endicott, and he rivaled that noted teacher

in all his best qualities. He was undoubtedly an insti-uctor

of the first order. Prom 1854 till 1866, he sustained the

school, not yielding to the disturbances of the war till he

had endured three years of its interruptions. In 1865, or,

perhaps, in 1866, he resigned his position here, and moved to

Anchorage, Ky., and there became Principal and proprie-

tor of a young ladies' boarding school, which had, for the

previous ten years, been conducted by Rev. George Beck-

ett ; but he soon went on to Missouri, where he bought

property, and by the last advices, was still teaching with

his wonted success.

After the retirement of Mr. Page, the academy was

graced l)y the government of two ladies, Misses Alice and

Mary Duncanson, in the fall of 1865. The young ladies

were from Lexington, and in less troubled times would

have had a more favorable field for the display of their

educational abilities. But as it was, Principals came and

went in rapid succession. In the spring of 1865, we find

Rev. — Jeifreys in charge ; in 1866, we find Rev. Isaac M.

Reese, a kind-hearted, modest gentleman whom everybody

,
loved ; in 1867, we find Rev. J. W. Wightman, from South

Carolina. He also had the respect and good-will of all

parties, but he thought his clerical duties hardly compatible

with earnest school employments, and relinquished the sit-

uation at the end of one year. In 1868, we find R. W.

McCrery, a young classical teacher, just graduated from

Georgetown College. He also held the position but one

year, though he was an instructor of high attainments, and

has, since his residence here, evinced the resources of a

genuine educator, at Shelbyville, Ky., where he conducted

the new City Public School, under his superintendency, to

the summit of prosperity. He now resides in Frankfort, and

for some years has been on the State Board of Examiners.

In July, 1869, the writer of these chapters was elected

Principal of Harrison Academy, and retained the position

for three years under the old regime, and then, from 1872

to the present time, 1882, he has been annually re-elected

under the new organization. The last Board of Trustees

of Harrison Academy, appointed by the County Court,

was composed of Gen. Lucius Desha, President ; Dr. N. C.

Dille, J. W. Kimbrough, R. C. Wherritt and T. A. Prazer.

This board turned over its responsibilities to the curators

of the new organization in 1872.

It may be worth while to place the names of the Prin-

cipals ot the old academy, and their respective dates, in

the order of their succession, so that they may be seen at

glance. Many of them, perhaps most of them, taught pri-

vate schools in town, either before, or after, their connection

with the academy.

Samuel Endicott, at intervals, from 1806 to 1835
;

Jesse Olds and his son, Augustus, at intervals, from 1813

to 1830
;
James Kelley, between 1818 and 1825

;
William

Garmany, at intervals, 1817 to 1837 ; Rev. —• Cowgill,

1837 ;
Rev. Charles' Crowe, 1838 ; Rev. — Green (Assist-

ant), 1838 ; — Barnes, 1839 ;
— Shepherd, 1839

; J. M.

Elliott and Barnes, 1840 ; J. M. Elliott and George M.

Clarke, 1842
; J. W. Peck, 1845 ; John Henry Smith, 1846

;

William H. Crutchfleld, 1852 ; Rev. Carter Page, 1854
;

Misses Alice and Mary Duncanson, 1865 ; Rev. Jeffreys,

1865 ; Rev. Isaac M. Reese, 1866
;
Miss Anna Milton,

Assistant ; Rev. J. W. Wightman, 1867
; Miss Anna Blil-

ton. Assistant ; R. W. McCrery, 1868 ; Miss Eunice Martin,

Assistant ; L. G. Marshall, 1869 ; Misses Rebecca Ander-

son and Gippie Jackson, Assistants.

We pause here, before completing the story of the old

academy, and proceeding with our account of the estab-

lishment and progress of the Graded City School on the

foundation of the old Harrison, to notice several meri-

torious private schools of the town which flourished before

the troubled times of 1861-65, though we do not claim that

our list is quite complete, for the whole field is one in which

we have no predecessor to guide us.

Mrs. Johnnie B. Anderson taught a primary school in

Cynthiana as early as 1833, and continued till 1852. She

was a faithful, industrious teacher, the mother of a family

of female teachers who have achieved reputation.

Mrs. Isette taught a school of decided excellence, in the

little frame house on the west side of Main street, now the

property of J. S. Withers, from 1832 to 1841. She was a

lady of superior talents and accomplishments. She owned

the house and lot on the north side of Pleasant street, ad-

joining the railroad, how the property of John J. Williams.

She sold her place to J. W. Mackintosh
;
Mackintosh sold

to Benson Roberts ; Mrs. Roberts sold the same to John

J. Williams. Mrs. Isette poved to Versailles, Ky., about

1842.

Mrs. Louisa A. Delling, formerly Mrs. Louisa A. Orms-

by, began teaching in Cynthiana in February, 1851, and

continued in that employment till June, 1861. During the

first year she occupied the so-called Anderson Schoolhouse,

on Main street. The next year she held school in the Wall

Schoolhouse, on the corner of Pike and Court streets. For

seven years and a half she taught in her own house, on the
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corner of Pleasant and Walnut streets. She was a teacher

of high standing and of more than usual accomplishments.

She had, too, some financial abilities, and saved money.

In 1861, Mrs. Ormsby married C. T. Delling, Esq., mer-

chant of our city, since which time she has discontinued

teaching.

Mr. Charles H. Anderson held a school of respectable

character, in the small frame house, named for him the

Anderson Schoolhouse, on the east side of Main street,

from 1841 till about 1848. He was killed on the Kentucky

Central Railroad, near the town, just this side of the Odd-

Tille pike crossing, in 1855.

Very early, it does not appear exactly how early, but

probably at the beginning, in 1798, the County Court re-

ceived authority to appoint the Trustees of Harrison

Academy ; and under this authority. Dr. George H. Perrin

was President of the Board from 1825 till 1864, a period

of thirty-nine years, but as we have not been able to con-

sult the records of this body, we cannot present the suc-

cession of presiding ofiBcers under the old organization.

The trustees elected their Principal, allowing him to select

his own assistant, if he so desired. It was customary to

charge him, at least, in the latter years of the academy,

$100 annual rent, which, however, he might expend,

if he thought proper, in supplying suitable conveniences

about the school building. The Principal furnished his

own fuel, janitor, apparatus, and paid his own assistant-

The County Court kept the house in repair, such as it was,

and the Freemasons defrayed their own expenses in their

rooms of the second story, the two lower rooms only being

ever used for school purposes. Thus the academy was a

highly appreciated benefit to the county, as it always

offered a suitable place for the accommodation of a school

of rank. Classics and the higher branches were alwa3rs

offered to students attending school in this building, no

Principal being ever elected, it seems, who was not able to

sustain the dignity of old Harrison in this respect. The
very first schoolhouse on the present site, we have no par-

ticular account of; very likely it was some abandoned
private residence, but after the measures taken in 1817, to

be related presently, a pretty considerable school building

was erected and finished in 1820. The ground not beino-

leveled, the building had a high stone basement, entered

by a door, not often kept closed, and horses could be, and
sometimes were, stabled arid fed in the basement. In

1851, this structure was taken down to prevent its falling

down, and a much larger one erected and finished in 1853
;

it was of brick, two-story, sixtj- feet by thirty. This build-

ing, to which a south wing was added in 1874, yet stands

in good preservation.

The persistent life of the old institution will, perhaps,

be made more intelligible by the following extracts from

the official records of the County Courts.

Hakrison Acadbmt, March 15, 1817.

Benjamin Warfield and Sarah, hia wife, conveyed to Gavin
Morrison, William Brown, etc., trustees of Harrison Academy (on

its present site), parts of lots 1 and 3 inHinkson's Addition, town
of Cynthiana, for the purpose of erecting a seminary building.

Afterward, May 32, 1817, Richard Henderson and Fanny, his

wife, conveyed to Gavin Morrison, etc., trustees as aforesaid, the

balance of Lot No. 2, in said addition, for the same purpose.

Still later, June 18, 1824, William K. Wall and others, then

trustees of Harrison Academy, conveyed to Enoch Worthen and
others, trustees of the town of Cynthiana, the Old Cemetery lot

on which stood a stone structure used and called Harrison

Academy, being the same lot which was conveyed by Benjamin
Harrison and the original trustees of the town of Cynthiana, to

the trustees of Harrison by deed bearing date 1804, now lot form-

ing part of the Old Cemetery in the north part of Cynthiana,

The consideration for this last said conveyance being as described

in the deed, fifty Spanish milled dollars.

So, substantially, the record furnished by the kindness

of Judge Boyd, whose experienced eye quickly discerns

what is wanted in an old record book.

Thus the legal transfer from the Old Cemetery lot to

the so-called Hinkson's Addition took place in 1817, but

tradition has it that the school was transferred and held

in some sort of building as early as 1810.

By act of 1816, the trustees were authorized to use so

much of the $5,000 for which they sold the seminary lands

(an old Congressional grant made when Kentucky con-

sisted of a few large counties, and the benefits of which
these large counties monopolized to the exclusion, of course,

of most of the smaller counties cut out of these larger

ones in after times, and of which fund Harrison County
was one of the lucky heirs), as in addition to the fourth
of the $5,000 which they were already allowed to use for

that purpose, would be sufficient to erect a suitable build-

ing. It was this fund, together with the aid furnished by
a partnership with the Freemasons in the occupancy of the
building and grounds, and some repairs provided for by
the County Court, that maintained the establishment as a
seat of learning till its recent conveyance to the town.

Tlie Graded City SchooL—For some time prior to 1872,
there had been an increasing desire among our citizens to
establish a free city school, open to all resident white chil-

dren of pupil age, and offering a course of instruction, at
least, equal to what had been customary in the old academy.

It may be of interest to present the following extract
from page 430 of the first record book of the City Council,
as showing the energy and determination of members to
put the school on its present basis :
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Gouneilmen.

May 14, 1872.

Councilman Bealc introduced an ordinance to open a publie

school iu the city of Cynthiana, whereupon it was moved to refer

the same to the Committee on Pi'opositions and Grievances, to

report by Saturday, May 27, 1872. Lost.

Councilman Beale moved that the Rules be suspended, and
the ordinance to establish a public school be put upon its passage.

Carried.

Councilman Beale also moved that the ordinance be passed
—the ordinance being read was adopted by a unanimous vote.

C. MussBR, Mayor.

F. G. ASHBBOOK,
A. J. Beale,
C. B. Cook,
H. D. FKisBrs,
A. W. Lydiok, /"

B. M. Martin,
John T. Hooa,
Joseph H. Shawhan,

Meanwhile, there had been piovided no buildings or

grounds for the accommodation of the new city school. It

was soon ascertained, however, that the Board of Trustees

of the Harrison Academy were willing to transfer their

charge to the City Council on the authority of an act of

Assembly, which was duly obtained, Saint Andrews Lodge

also selling out to the Council its rights to the upper story

and its approaches, for $2,000.

The City Council at once proceeded to establish, instead

of the academy, a public graded school, provided with a

full corps of teachers, and, by the conditions of transfer, a

course of instruction not inferior to that of its predecessor.

During the first year of the city school, the registered num-

ber of pupils was 199. In 1873-74, it was found that the

school required larger accommodations, and the south wing

of the building was added, which, with desks and other

furniture, cost about $4,000. supplying four more fine

school rooms. Since 1874, the annual registered number

of pupils has been about 300, seven teachers being

engaged. The work is distributed into seven grades, two

of which constitute the high school. The course of in-

struction is similar to that of the best schools of the kind

in the country, if not even more extensive. Diplomas are

conferred, by special act of Assembly, upon those who
complete the course. The diplomas are of two grades, the

General and the Scientific, but a large majority of those

who complete the course take the General Diploma. The

number of graduates up to this year, 1882, inclusive, is

between forty and fifty.

A considerable library has been accumulated, number-

ing about fifteen hundred volumes, most of which were

contributed by the United States Congress, through the

kind offices of W. S. Haviland. These consist of the usual

public documents coming from that source. There are,

however, five or six hundred volumes of the first order of

interest and value, as works of reference. Almost every
question that ordinarily arises among advanced students

may be answered by consulting these reference books.

Some of the best were bought with the money presented to

the library by the old Literary Society of Cynthiana,
when it quit business a few years ago. George B. Stevens,

of Cincinnati, also contributed several of the best and most
useful books of reference in the library.

In 1878, the City Council relinquishsd control, by act
of the General Assembly, and the school is now managed
by a separate corporate body of eiglit trustees, acting un-
der legislative authority.

This board, at present, 1882, is composed as follows :

Officers.—Dr. H. McDowell, President; Luther Van
Hook, Vice President ; L. M. Martin, Clerk ; William H-
Throckmorton, Treasurer.

Trustees.—L. Van Hook, T. A. Frazer, term expires

1882; W. W. Longmoor, Dr. A. J. Beale, 1883; Charles

Rieokel, L. M. Martin, 1884 ; W. C. Musselman, H. Mc
Dowell, 1885.

Our account of Harrison Academy has been unavoida-
bly blended with frequent notices of private enterprises of

a similar character, for most of the Principals and teachers

of the academy established private schools of their own,

either before or after their connection with that institution.

This has been a pretty common occurrence ever since

1817, when the academy was moved from the old cemetery

lot to the present situation. These private schools not

rarely offered educational facilities fully equal, it was
claimed, to those at the academy. But they all lacked

permanency.

However, in 1872-73, Mr. N. P. Smith founded a pri-

vate school which has attained character and popularity,

and has had a longer duration than any individual enter-

prise of the kind in our town. The Smith Institute is well

situated in the large brick residence, formerly the property

of Charles T. Wilson. The course of instruction is exten-

sive, and the educational work is rendered eflfective and at-

tractive by philosophical and chemical apparatus. The
number of pupils has ranged from seventy to about one

hundred.

In 1876, Miss Lizzie Corbin opened a select school in

the residence of the late Prof. J. H. Smith, on Pike street,

fronting the river. The school was well conducted, and

had numerous friends. A regular course of instruction

was pursued, and the school prospered for two or three

years, but the Principal accepted an engagement offered

by the Midway Orphan School,- and so this enterprise ter-

minated.

In 1878, Mr. J. A. Brown purchased the finely situated
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residence of John K. Lake, Esq., formerly the home of the

late M. L. Broadwell, on the south side of Pike street, east

of the railroad. Here Mr. Brown established the Harrison

Female College, under a Board of Directors, with a full

course of instruction, corps of teachers, and the usual

specialties appertaining to the education of young ladies.

The school has enjoyed a very flattering and profitable

patronage. Twelve or fifteen graduates have distinguished

its annual Commencements.

The notice of schools would not be complete if we
should omit to state that there has been a Catholic school

in town almost continually since Father Brantz built the

first Catholic Church here in 1859. This school has com-

monly contained forty or fifty pupils, and has always occu-

pied the old church in rear of St. Edward's Church.

A colored school has also been held in town since

about the year 1868 ; it is pleasantly situated on the so-

called "Common," in a comfortable house near the river. It

has generally been satisfactory to those for whom it was
intended.

Here, too, is the proper place to notice some other

educational matters, though not all of tbem are strictly

confined to our town.

The Moore Fund.—In 1832, Henry ^. Moore died, son

of William Moore, first Clerk of the County and Circuit

Courts of Harrison County. Henry C. Moore, by his will

set apart $15,000, half of his estate, for the education of

poor orphans of Harrison County. This disposition of tiie

property was contested bj' the heirs in the courts till 1838,

when the will was sustained. The fund was then loaned to

the count}' at 6 per cent, and the annual income thereon,

about $800, distributed semi-annually to pay for the edu-

cation of poor orphans. The County Court appoints a

commissioner to see to the proper disposition of the fund,

who receives a small sum, perhaps $15 annually, for his

trouble. The teacher is required to state, under oath, the

number of days each orphan pupil has received instruction.

During the earlier years of the distribution, the teacher

was paid 12 or 15 cents for each day, so that twenty

orphan pupils would be worth about $3 per day. But for

the last four or five years the distribution has been only 6

or 7 cents a day
;
not that poor orphans have greatly

increased in number, but for j'ears many teachers hardly

understood the scheme, or, at any rate, neglected to report

the instruction of beneficiary pupils and put in their claims.

Yet the Henry C. Moore fund has been a great and highly

appreciated benevolence in Harrison County, and the name
of its founder will fever be remembered with feelings of

gratitude and affection.

—

Marshall.

OHAPTEE X.
CYNTHIANA—RELIGIOUS HISTORY-SOME EARLY MINISTERS—THE METHODISTS AND PRESBYTERIANS—OTHER CHURCH

ORGANIZATIONS— FORMATION OF COLORED CHURCHES— RICHARD HENDERSON AND
ISAAC MILLER— SUMMARY, ETC., ETC.

"Te birds,

That singing up to Heaven-gate ascend,

Bear on your wings and in your notes his praise."—Milton.

IT was twenty-five years after the establishment of the

town before any effective steps were taken toward the

erection of sacred edifices, but there is ample evidence that

almost coincident with the beginning of the place, religious

people and religious assemblies were numerous. Bishop

Kavanaugh, when a young man in his " early teens,'' was a

resident here about 1815, engaged in the printing office of

John Keenan, remembers his uncle, the Rev. Le Roy Cole,

a Methodist, who lived about a mile from town on the

Paris road ; he also recalls Rev. —. Moreland, " a very

powerful revivalist;" also Rev. William Rainey, a few

years later the " covenanter ;" and the Bishop presumes

that the names of others may be obtained by consulting

long-resident citizens.

But in the earlier years, private dwellings, or the rude
public buildings of the time, were open, on all proper oc-

casions, for the accommodation of religious assemblies

;

for it is quite natural that a majority of the people,
descended as they were from church-going stock, should
adhere to the habits of their ancestors. Besides, it will be
remembered, that in the first quarter of the present cen-
tury, there was an unprecedented activity in religious

affairs, especially in the Western States. Barton W. Stone
was often in this vicinity, and sometimes right here in

Cynthiana
;
and a few years after him, Alexander Camp-

bell, then in the glow of early manhood, traversed Ken-
tucky, advocating his peculair views with all the power
and attractiveness for which he afterward became so re-

nowned. All orders of Christians were wide-awake, zeal
was stimulated, and the liberality of those who had the
means to give, responded to the ardent appeals of the

^IV



HISTORY OP HARRISON COUNTY. 2S3

faithful with unwonted munificence. Thus, we are glart

to record, that the first three churches ever built in

our town were reared on ground freely presented and
dedicated to the exclusive and perpetual use of religious

bodies.

On the 9th of October, 1818, Richard HeudBrson, and
Fanny, his wife, deeded to the Trustees of the Methodist

Church of Cynthiana, namely : Le Roy Cole, Peter Barrett,

John Frazer, Joshua Jones, James Finley and Carter Ander-

son, the lot on which the present Methodist Church stands, on

the corner of Church and Pike streets, exclusively for

church purposes, as a free gift, subject, however, to this

condition : that if ever used for any purpose other than

religious worship, the property should revert to the heirs

of the original donor.

There must have been, even then, at that early day, a

pretty strong and numerous membership, a full account of

which would now be of great interest and value ; but the

actors of those times have mostly passed away, leaving us

only tradition, and the unimpaired rights to the ground on

which they raised their first house of worship.

The Trustees received their lot from Richard Hender-

son in 1818, and in 1820 thej' had finished a large and

commodious brick church, which would comfortably seat

500 people. There are still members living who remember

with a sort of melancholy pleasure the venerable old house.

It burned down in 1844, and in the following year was re-

placed by a smaller edifice, constructed also of brick, and

fronting Church street. This building had a basement in

which schools were sometimes held, and the auditorium

was reached by a broad stairway up to the entrance, form-

ing an approach a little perilous in icy weather. It was

decked with a spire of the olden time, and seated about

two hundred and fifty persons. There the last Conference

held in Cynthiana was assembled in September, 1869,

Bishop Kavanaijgh, presiding ; but the audiences proving

too large for the house, the members accepted an invitation

to meet in the Presbyterian Church, which, in turn, being

found unequal to the occasion, Conference availed itself of

the hospitality of the Christian Church, where the official

business of the meeting was concluded. At this Confer-

ence, Rev. C. W. Miller, then Presiding Elder of his district,

and resident of Covington, but now of Lexington, was

assigned to the pastoral charge of the Methodist Church of

Cynthiana. The new pastor entered upon his duties with

characteristic energy. Thegathering shadows of indifference

or discouragement which had been for years hovering over

his people were soon dissipated before his earnestness,

his devotion, tact and talents. The membership of the

church was in a few months more than doubled. Early in

1870, steps were taken to erect a more suitable house of

worship. Caleb Walton, H. D. Frisbie and Henry Williams

were appointed a building committee. The old house

fronting on Church street was taken down, and the con-

tractors, Messrs. Humble & Son, of Covington, undertook

to set up a new, handsome and very comfortable church

edifice fronting on Pike street, according to specifications,

all of which they executed with such dispatch that the

house was up and finished almost before outsiders had had

time to bestow their advice and criticism. The building is

provided with a basement where fuel is stored and the

furnace located. The audience room is thus raised above

Pike street, from which the vestibule is conveniently

reached by two or three steps, thence communicating with

the interior by two doors. In the south end of the vesti-

bule there is a neat study and library-room, fitted up to

accommodate the pastors' reading and writing, for Dr. Miller

was devoted to ecclesiastical learning as well as to his

specific clerical duties. In the north end of the vestibule

there is a corresponding room for miscellaneous articles.

The desk, fronted by a balustrade, is situated under the

dome of a tastefully arranged bay-window in the rear of

the auditorium. The walls and ceilings are handsomely

finished in fresco. The arched windows extend from the

chair-railing nearly to the ceiling, and are supplied with

stained glass of rich and varied colors, and the conven-

tional spire indicates the religious character of the edifice.

It will seat three hundred and fifty or perhaps four hundred

people. The whole cost of the work was $11,000 nearly,

and the church is substantially out of debt, with a mem-

bership of about two hundred and fifty.

In November, 1870, the new church was dedicated by

the Rev. Dr. E. W. Sehon, of Louisville, prefacing the cer-

emonj' of dedication by a captivating discourse, in the

style and manner of which he knew so well how to mingle

the lofty, the graceful and the pleasing. It was twenty

years since he had preached in Cynthiana, he said, and

should it be twenty years before he preached here again,

we should see him no more. His remark was, indeed, pro-

phetic ; he died in Louisville six or seven years after this

visit to our town.

Meantime, the church, under the guidance of an able

pastor, with its new house of worship, and with its largely

increased membership, entered upon a period of prosperity

which has continued to the present time. The loss of

about half of the original building ground, by decision of

the courts in 1872, did not, in any considerable degree,

diminish the strength and efBciency of the church, though

it was a pretty rude shock to the reverent feelings with

which all had learned to view the old gift of Richard Hen-
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derson and Fanny, his wife. Until this decision, the church

lot extended on Pike street, to J. W. Peck's premises.

As far back as 1828 or 1830, James Chambers, one of

the early trustees, had a small claim against the church for

stone work and carpenter's work, as appears in recorded

affidavits. The claim lay in abeyance till 1842, when As-

bury Broadwell, Mrs. Le Roy Cole, James Chambers, Dan-

iel Tebbs and John Walton (father of Caleb Walton), all

having claims of some such nature, in the shape of notes,

were disposed to urge them ; but finally, all either relin-

quished or compromised them, so that they were no more

heard of, except James Chambers, then steward of the

church. His claim, only $81.87, turned out to be in the

shape of a mortgage given to him for this claim bj' the

trustees at some time not exactly now known. It was not

till 1854 that Chambers, having removed to Illinois, at-

tempted to foreclose this mortgage. Suit was then brought,

and judgment having been rendered favorable to Cham-

bers, a minority of the trustees executed a deed conveying

to him the hillside lot extending about a hundred feet on

Pike street to J. W. Peck's line. The case was carried to

the Court of Appeals, and, on the 3d of June, 1872,' de-

cision was at last rendered adverse to the validity of the

deed, but sustaining the integrity of the mortgage, as be-

ing executed by competent parties. So, the lot was lost by

the church. On the- 23d of December, 1872, the Master

Commissioner of the Circuit Court, Achilles Perrin, Esq.,

sold the much contested ground at public auction, to W.
W. Cleary for $174.20, to which amount the original claim

of $81.87 had increased by interest and costs. On the

23d of June, 1873, Cleary sold the same to W. A. Cook &
Co. for $350, and on the dissolution of that firm a year or

two after, W. A. Cook who still holds it, became the owner,

at the price of $250. The history of this afiair is preserved

in the records of the courts, and thus our information

about it is even more than we need, while, on the other

hand, the early church books having all been consumed in

the fire that carried off the first building in 1844, we are

forced to remain ignorant of much of what we commonly
prize most, namely, the ups and downs of resolute begin-

ners. Completeness and accuracy are therefore beyond

our reach.

Dr. Miller remained in charge of the church four con-

secutive years, from 1869 to 1873, the full time allowed by
law of conference. He was assigned to Frankfort, then to

Lexington, where he now resides. He was a delegate last

year to the Ecumenical Methodist Council, held in London,

England.

We name in retrograde order the clergy for the last

thirty or forty years :

Eev. Dr. James A. Henderson, 1882 ; Rev. B. P. Sed-

wick, 1878 ;
Eev. W. J. Snively, 1876

; Eev. John E. Deer-

ing, 1875 ; Eev. — Eeynolds, 1874 ;
Eev. E. Hiner, 1873

;

Eev. Dr. C. W. Miller, 1869 ; Eev. J. W. Wightman, 1866
;

Rev. S. S. Deering, 1864
;
Eev. Samuel Kelley, 1863-64;

Eev. S. X. Hall, 1862 ; Rev. W. J. Snively, 1861 ; Rev-

Samuel Kelley, 1860 ; Rev. B. F. Sedwick, 1858 ; Rev.

William H. Winter, 1856 ; Rev. Jacob Ditzler, 1855 ; Rev.

— Smith, 1854 ; Eev. W. W. Trainer, 1853 ; Rev. J. W.
Minor, 1852 ; Eev. Johnson, 1851 ; Rev. James

Wells, 1850 ; Eev. Eichard Holden, 1849 ; Eev. S. S.

Deering, 1847.

Presbyterian Church.—Here we meet again the benevo-

lent Eichard Henderson and his wife, Fanny, together with

Isaac Miller and his wife, as the donors of the ground on

which stood the first Presbyterian Church in Cynthiana
;

yet our story is embarrassed by the usual paucity of con-

temporary documents, and thus a trap all the time stands

ready to catch the narrator in some mistake of omission

or commission
;
and besides this, the writer at first hand

is preparing a statement, about whose correctness there

are many good judges among his readers, whom he cannot

consult before he commits himself to print.

However, on the authority of the County Court records,

we are enabled to say that the site of the first church was
a free gift, presented by Isaac Bliller and the same parties

who, two years before, endowed the Methodist Church in

a similar manner. For the recovery of this item, and for

the collection of most of the following reminiscences of

the early times of the Presbyterian Church, we are indebted

to Hon. J. Q. Ward.

No reliable information has been obtained as to the

precise time when the Presbyterian Church was organized

in our town ; but a very early day, some years at least,

before the acquisition of a building lot, there were Presby-

terian Church organizations in the vicinity, and, presum-
ably, in Cynthiana. At Mount Pleasant, about five miles

west of Cynthiana, there was a Presbyterian organization

before 1820; also at Euddel's Mills, about eight miles

southeast, and another some two miles northeast. But,

confining ourselves to the special subject in hand, the. his-

tory of the church in Cynthiana, we find the following

entries in the books of the County Court Clerk's office :

On the 21st day of August, 1820, Richard Henderson
and Fanny, his wife, conveyed, as a free gift, to Benjamin
Eobinson, Alexander Downing and Isaac Miller, trustees

of the Cynthiana congregation of Presbyterians, under
the jurisdiction of the Synod of Kentucky, a lot of ground
for the purpose of having erected thereon a house of

worship, and a pound for horses. The lot is described
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as follows :
" A lot in that part of said town called Hink-

son's Addition, being a part of what is termed 'Outlot

No. 1,
' and bounded as follows, to wit ; Beginning on

Second Cross (now Pleasant) street, leading to the lower
bridge (which was carried off in 1828) across the river, at

at a point 198 feetof the northwest corner of said Outlot

No. 1, thence with said street 50 feet, thence south 104
feet 4 inches to a stone, thence west 54 feet to a stone,

thence north 104 feet 4 inches to the beginning. "

Also, on the same day, 21st of August, 1820, Isaac

Miller and his wife conveyed, as a free gift, to the same
trustees, except to himself (Miller), for the same purpose,

an adjoining lot west, of the same size as the above, mak-
ing a front of 104 feet, and 104 feet in depth.

The church was, at this time, connected with the Eben-
ezer Presbytery. There is no reference to the church

work on the minutes of the G-eneral Assembly, until the

year, 1830. It is then reported as having a membership
of twenty. In 1831, a membership of sixty-three was
reported. About 1825, a building for church purposes

was erected on the lot presented by Henderson, but there

is no extant report of its cost, its builders, or its committee-

men. We know, however, from other sources, that it was
a brick structure, about 40 by 60 feet.

For the next ten or eleven years we hear little or noth-

ing of the j'oung church. The situation of the building

lot, in Hinkson's Addition, seems not to have been satis-

factory. It formed part of the now vacant lot on the south

side of Pleasant street, in rear of J. W. Peck's residence.

It was allowed to revert by suit in law, to the heirs of

Isaac Miller, one of the donors.

In 1836-37, William Lamme donated to the church the

lot on Main sti'eet, where the present church stands, and

the building on the first lot described was taken down, and

rebuilt on this Main street lot. Lamme purchased the lot

of Samuel Moore, and later received the same from his

father, William Moore, the first Clerk of the Court of

Quarter Sessions of Harrison County, in 1794. The prin-

cipal parties engaged in this enterprise were William

Lamme, Isaac Miller, George Kirkpatrick, William Thomp-

son, Maj. Kimbrough, Hubbard Tebbs, Samuel Williams

and Rev. William H. Forsythe.

It seems that Lamme did not own the lot at the time

he gave his bond to the church for it ; that the title was

in Samuel Moore, then residing in Missouri. Lamme had

paid large sums for Moore, and thought he could under-

take to give away the lot. No trouble was apprehended

from this circumstances, nor, indeed, were the facts in the

case hardly known to the parties most interested till 1840,

when William Thompson, one of the earliest members, had

some difficulty, the nature of whicli does not appear, with
his brethren, and was dismissed from or voluntarily sev-

ered his connection with his old church. He then made
out a bill for work on the building of 1836-37, amounting
to $500, and the trustees refusing to pay it, he took
possession of the house and kept it for years, but was
finally dispossessed by a suit in ejectment. Thompson, while
in possession of the church property, had joined the Epis-
copalians, and, it was thought, made an offer to turn the
building over to that denomination, on what precise terms,
is not now known. But Maj. James R. Curry says that being
at Leesburg one day, he was told by Joseph Wasson that

the Episcopalians there were about to trade their Lees-

burg house to Thompson for the Presbyterian Church in

Cynthiana. When Curry heard this report, he at once
sent to Samuel Moore, of Missouri, and obtained from him
a deed of the church lot to the trustees of the Presbyte-

rian Church. Thompson's plans also required a deed, and
he also sent to Moore some time after and, strangely

enough, got from him a deed to the same lot for himself

The conflicting claims arising from this quasi double own-
ership, were, at last, adjusted in favor of the church, but
only after a long and tedious suit.

The carpenters' work on the first Main street house was
done by Samuel Williams

; the brick work by William
English. •

The house was not a costly one, the carpenters' bill of

Williams, and the board-bill of English and his hands while

laying the brick, amounted to only $124.95|:, yet the

church remained for some years uncompleted. Rev. Will-

iam H. Forsythe tells how he raised the money on a county

court day to buy the bill—how the ladies raised the money
to pay for the turned work around the pulpit—and, as to

front doors, he says : " They were made by Greenup Rem-
ington. There were no doors to the house, and James
Allen laughed about there being no doors to the house. I

spoke to Remington, and told him if I got a good fee for

marrying a couple, I would pay for the doors
; they were

to be made and painted, and I left the money to pay for

the doors earned in this way.''

The church seems never to have had a resident pastor

till 1861. The pulpit was occupied by various clergymen

of the vicinity, as suited their convenience or self-sacrific-

ing devotion to the cause. No doubt they were remuner-

atfed according to the abilities of the little congregation.

But the old records of the church have been lost or

destroyed, and tradition has preserved very little of historic

interest. In 1861, however, the church entered upon a

more pronounced, if not a more prosperous existence.

Rev. George Morrison became the regular pastor in 1S61
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and continued two years. In 1865, Rev. R. H. Kennaird

began preaching for the church as stated supply, and

ofl3ciated one year. From the 28th of May, 1866, to Sep-

tember 9, 1866, the church enjoyed the labors of Rev. J.

D. Matthews. On the 1st of July, 1869, Rev. Harvey

Glass was called as stated supply, and served as such one

year. On the 1st of July, 1870, he -was called as pastor,

and shortly thereafter was installed, and served the church

three years more. Mr. Glass was j'oung, barely in the

prime of his manhood, and this church was his first charge.

His audiences were then usually small, but he displayed

talents of the highest order, not of a cast quite so popular

as he has since shown, and he gave unmistakable tokens of

the fine mental endowments by which he has since reached

great eminence. He had learning and eloquence, some-

times of even Demosthenean power, and yet, he had a

certain sweetness of temper, a cheerful disposition, and a

kind and sympathetic word for every one needing comfort.

Mr. Glass now resides at Richmond, Ky.

In 1873, Rev. B. M. Hobson was elected pastor of the

church, and though he never accepted the call, he served the

church as pastor elect till the fall of 1878, wh6n he moved to

Missouri. He was a man who commanded general respect.

Rev. J. E. Triplett succeeded Dr. Hobson in May, 1879,

and served the church as stated supply till May, 1881.

ReV J. 8. Van Meter succeeded Mr. Triplett, and was in-

stalled as pastor in October, 1881, and still retains his

charge. Like Mr. Glass, he is a young pastor of superior

talents and high promise, a favorite with his people and

the public.

Late officers of the church have been Major Kimbrough,

elected Eider April 2, 1854 ; Samuel Williams, April 2;

185-4
; S. B. Ourran, of Claysville, April 3, 1864

; D. A.

Givens, April 8, 1866 ; J. Q. Ward, August, 1870 ; and J.

A. McKee, September, 1872 ; the three latter are still in

office. Achilles Perrin and James idcKee are the Deacons

of the church, elected January 25, 1880. The present

membership of the church is eighty, the list going back to

1854 only.

In 1876, the church built in 1836-37 was taken down,

and during the three or four years succeeding, the present

fine brick edifice was erected. It is the most beautiful

house of public worship ever built in Harrison County. It

is of the gothic style of architecture, in general, though

not strictly of that order, 70x50, with lofty tower at the

northeast front corner, high, gothic windows of stained

glass, and provided with an ample, well-lighted basement,

to which are added the Pastor's study and a committee

room. A bay window in the rear'accon m > lates the desk,

both in the basement and in the main apartment above.

Service is now held in this handsomely finished basement.

The main audience room, not j'et finished, is reached by

two stairways, from the vestibule of the basement, and

then is entered by a single broad door from the upper ante-

room, which is lighted by front windows of admirable

design and beauty.

The plan of the building was furnished by an architect

of Cincinnati. The building committee was composed of

D. A. Givens, J. Q. Ward and R. C. Wherritt. The work

was done by the late J. J. Parish, and is one of the finest

specimens of that skilled mechanic's numerous works. No
city can show a better brick wall. The expenditure requisite

to carry the building, to its present state of advancement

has been $12,000, and when the great auditorium is com-

pleted, the whole cost will have been only $14,000.

The Christian Church of Cynthiana was organized in

1827, when Barton W. Stone was in the zenith of his fame,

and Alexander Campbell had just reached assured great-

ness and undying celebrity.

The adherents of these two great Christian leaders had
not then united, for John Rogers says, in his biography of

John T. Johnson :
" This union did not take place till 1831-

32. A meeting of four days was held at Georgetown, embrac-
ing the Christmas of 1831, and another at Lexington, of the

same length, embracing the New Year's Day of 1832. At
these meetings, the principles of our union were fully can-

vassed. We solemnly pledged ourselves, before God, to

abandon all speculations, especially on the Trinity and
kindred subjects, and to be content with the plain declara-

tions of Scripture on these topics." Ever since the great

Cane Ridge meeting in 1801, Barton W. Stone had been a
powerful revivalist and reformer in the land. Inspired,

not by him, but, no doubt, by the same general causes, the
founders of the Christian Church of Cynthiana framed and
signed in 1827 the following compact, which we copy from
the original :

We, whose names are hereunto annexed, do agree to form
ourselves into a Church of Jesus Christ, taking the Bible as the
only rule of our faith and practice, and the name of Christian as
that by which to be called. Done in Cynthiana, Harrison Co.,
Ky., on the 34th day of July, in the year of our Lord, 1837.
Eleven Todd, Rebecca Miller, Patsey Kemp, Eliza Haggerty,
Polly Ann Haggerty, Catharine Douglass, Hannah Wall, Mar-
garet Miller, Jemima Todd, Mary Porter, Mary Carmon.

These eleven names ought to form a perpetual church
roll of honor.

At the end of 1828, the register shows a membership
of 56 ;

at the end of 1829, there are 78 ; at the end of
1830, 92; at the end of 1831, 113; at the end of 1832,
122

;
at the end of 1833, 131

; at the end of 1834, 133 ';

at the end of 1835, 135 ; at the end of 1836, 136 ; 'at the
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end of 1837, 136
; at the end of 1838, 149 ; at the end of

1839, 167 ; at the end of 1840, 273
; at the end of 1841,

273 ; in 1842, there were 11 accessions, and the register is

here discontinued for some years, or lost. Deaths and
removals are often indicated, but not the dates. We
can, therefore, only conjecture the actual membership dur-

ing any particular year, except for 1840, when we know
from a letter of Elder John A. Gano, that the number was
184.

The church met for worship in the court house, or else-

where as convenience required, for three or four years, but

measures were taken in the second year of the organiza-

tion to procure a lot and erect a house of its own. We
again copy with pleasure from the old register and record-

book :

At a meeting of the members of the Christian Church in

Cynthiana, at Brother John Trimble's, on Monday night, the

22d day of December, in the year of our Lord 1838, Brother

Enoch Worthen was called to the Chair. Resolved, That ad-

ditional subscription papers be opened for the building of a meet-

ing house in Cynthiana, to be sent among the brethren at Paris,

another at Georgetown, and another at Union neighborhood.
BesoUed, That Brothers Enoch Worthen, Thomas Smith and
Andrew Moore, be appointed a building committee, with power
to contract for the building of a meeting house in Cynthiana

;

and that they report at a meeting to be held on the 3d Monday
night in January next. Besolved, That the meeting adjourn.

A. MooHE, Cleric.

E. WoBTHBsr, OJiairman.

At a meeting of the members of the Christian Church, held

at Brother John Trimble's house, on Monday night, the 19th day
of January, in the year of our Lord 1839, Brother Enoch Worth-
en was chosen Chairman.

The building committee, heretofore chosen, reported that

they had purchased a lot of ground to build a meeting house on,

for the sum of |100 (the present site), and had likewise contracted

for the stone work at $1.37^ per perch, and the sash at 6 pence

per light, and that they had not, as yet, progressed any further;

and time is granted them to report at some future meeting.

Brothers Wesley Roberts and John Brace, two of the Trustees

of the Cynthia'ha Meeting House, resigned. Resolved, That
Brothers John Hendricks and Enoch Worthen be chosen Trust-

ees of the Cynthiana Christian Meeting House, in their room
and stead. Besolved, That the meeting adjourn till the third

Monday night in February next. A. Mookb, Secretary

.

E. WoBTHBN, OJiairman.

At a meeting of the members of the Christian Church, held

at the court house in Cynthiana, on the 2d day of January, 1830,

Brother T. M. Allen was chosen Chairman. Besolved, That
Brothers Wesley Roberts, John Hendricks and Thomas Ware
be added to the building committee. Besolved, That the meeting

adjourn.

Att. :

A. Mookb, Secretary.

At a meeting of the members of the Christian Church, held
at the house of Brother Eleven Todd, on the 3d day of January,

1830, Brother Thomas Smith was chosen Chairman,
unanimously, that Brother John Cartmellbe appointed a Deacon
in addition to the other Deacons heretofore appointed. Besolved,

That the meeting adjourn.

Att. :

A. Mookb, Secreta/ry.

Six years later, we have the following (no explanation

or sign being given by which we miglit understand the

cause of so great a chasm in the record of proceedings)

:

At a meeting of the members of the Christian Church, held
at the Christian Meeting House in Cynthiana, on Monday, the

7th of November, 1833. Resolved, That Brother William S. Pat-

terson and Thomas Oder be oliosen Trustees of said meeting,
house, in the room of Brother John Hendricks (removed), and
Brother Thomas Smith (resigned.) Besolved, That the meeting
adjourn.

Att. :

A. Mookb, Secretary.

And so ends the old record entire ; nothing further is

told in writing of the first meeting-house, or of the church

affairs, except the register of the names of members, up to

1840. Had the record of proceedings been larger, we might

have copied less ; but, as it is, even the whole is too little

to satisfy the friendly interest of the reader, or the wants

of the historian. We are permitted, however, to supple-

ment, in some measure, the brief minutes of those early

business meetings by the following valuable letter from the

venerable Elder, John A. Gano :

Cbnteeville, Ky., Febraary 1, 1883.

Deab Bbothbb Noethcutt :

I should have replied to your last sooner ; but wished to

examine some lengthy memoranda in my diary, and have, for

some days, been quite ill. Even now, the amount of information

on that portion of the history of the church in Cyntliiana, from
its organization, in 1838, to the year 1850, is very meager indeed.

After the organization, I was much with the chm-ch up to

1831, Brother Allen and I supplying the church alternately once

a month, and often going together. He continued his labors

occasionally till his removal to Missouri, in 1836. Other preach-

ers, the meanwhile, also preached there, viz., Elders John Rogers,

John Smith, Joshua Irwin—the last preached regularly—I cannot

say in what years, but with others, more or less, to 1839. In 1840,

we had a memorable and successful meeting, attended by Brothers

Walter Scott and John T. Johnson. I was with them. At the

yearly meeting at Dry Run, in Scott County, the church in

Cynthiana represented a membership of 184 in the year 1840.

Brother Joshua Irwin preached for the church in 1843, but I

cannot say whether all the year or not. I preached regularly

once a month during the years 1846-47. Should I be able to

gather up any thing more, I will send it.

With kindest regards to all, I am, most truly.

Yours, etc., John Allen Gano, Sr.

Dr. Perrin remembers to have heard Rev. Thomas
Campbell, father of Alexander Campbell, preach in Cyn-

thiana in 1835, and the Doctor commends his abilities.
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Elder John A. Gano, as we have seen, " was much with the

church after its organization till 1831," and also Elder

Thomas M. Allen till 1836, and then Elder Gano again,

for the two years, 1846-47. The church in those days was

evidently supplied with much preaching, of the highest

order, if not with the greatest regularity. The first meet-

ing-house, however, seems not to have been finished

till 1840, though meetings had been held in it for some

years before, as for instance, the last business meeting of

members mentioned in the old record book, in November,

1 836. It was built by the irregular voluntary contribu-

tions of members. No special contractor is remembered

as concerned in the work. The house was of brick, had

the usual church spire, a good bell, was a single story

high, and Greenup Remington remembers that the gable

ends were blown down before the roof was put on, and had

to be rebuilt. He himself had, perhaps, the largest single

job on the building, that of finishing the interior, at a cost

of $400. The whole expenditure, he thinks, must have

been about $3,500. The house would seat comfortablj' 350

people, unless perhaps when the weather was cold, in which

case it was warmed by kettles of charcoal placed about on

the floor. With some little drawbacks, it was quite a

respectable old house, and lasted from 1830 till 1868. It

saw the beginnings and early progress of the church which

has now become so strong and prosperous. Its walls had

re-echoed the voice of Barton W. Stone, of Thomas Camp-
bell, father of Alexander, of Alexander himself, of John T.

Johnson, and of many another leader of men. It deserves

a more detailed history, but the total absence of any writ-

ten information about it after 1830, leaves us dependent

only on the doubtful recollection of a few citizens who have

been absorbed in other business for half a century.

In 1868, the old house was taken down, and the present

fine edifice built on the same ground, corner of Main and

Mill streets, at an expense of something over $12,000.

The work progressed rapidly, though there was no con-

tractor on the building, but Greenup Remington was super-

intendent of the hands; and early in 1869, or late in 1868

the church was Qnished and dedicated. It is 70x42 feet,

and seats comfortably more than 450 people. The building

faces Mill street, and the front is decorated by a massive

square tower, of moderate elevation, completed by four

spires, one at each corner, the highest points being, per-

haps, seventy feet above the pavement. A large, finely-

finished bay-window occupies the rear, afifording ample
space for the desk, chairs, and table for the use of speakers

company and secretaries, if required. Here also is the

baptistry, so arranged as to be out of the way, and in-

visible except when the baptismal rite is to be celebrated'.

The house is on a rock foundation, and the basement under
the rear portion of the building accommodates the Sunday
school, the furnace and the fuel. The heating apparatus

always works well, and the air in the auditorium is always

sweet and agreeable. The high ceiling, the dome of the

bay-window, and the walls are all finished in stucco of

beautiful design, and light is admitted through stained

glass of tasteful hues. The main entrance is approached

from the pavement by six or seven broad stone steps lead-

ing into the anteroom, which communicates with the great

audience -room by three doors—a central, a right, and a left

door. The seats are arranged in two ranks, divided by
a broad central aisle from front to rear, and separated from
the walls by aisles of convenient breadth, thus afibrding

superior facilities for the movements of visitors and attend-

ants. Proper intervals separate the benches, so that the

audience can stand or sit without awkwardness or a sense

of suffocation, which sometimes attends closely arranged

benches.

As the house approached completion, and its plan hav-

ing become apparent, commended itself to public approba-

tion, several handsome individual contributions were made,

the mention of which we preserve with pleasure :

Chandeliers, valued at $250, were furnished by the late

Henry E. Shawhan.

The work in fresco was provided for by Hon. T. J.

Megibben, and cost $325.

The pulpit was presented by the late C. B. Cook, at an
expense of $110.

The seats were all furnished by the late T. V. Ash-
brook, and cost $700.

The stained glass was presented by G. W. Taylor, and
cost $250.

The whole number of active members at present, as

ascertained from the register, is 262. The Sunday school

numbers 117. Seventeen new members were received last

fall, during the ministrations of Elder Howe.
We are aware that our sketch of the Christian Church

in Cynthiana, as in fact of the others, is defective in point

of fullness. But more could hardly be done with the

means at hand, and the time allowed. We should be glad

to preserve the name of every Elder who ever had an en-

gagement, long or short, with the church. The following

names and dates are supplied according to the memory of

citizens :

Between 1841 and 1850, arranged in the order indi-

cated below, we are advised to place Elders Poole, Weak-
ley, Joshua Irwin, John M. Holton, John A. Gano (1846,

1847), John A. Dearborn, R. H. Porrester and John G.

Tompkins.
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Between 1850 and 1864, we arrange Elders Samuel
Rogers, assisted by his son, Elder John I. Rogers, who
preached one Sunday' a month in 1861

; T. N. Arnold, in

1862
;
and R. C. Rioketts, in 1863 and 1864.

From 1860, to the present time, 1882, we have exact
names and dates, as follows :

The well-known Samuel Rogers began his ministration
in Cynthiana in 1852, nor was any formal close of his en-

gagement with the church ever made till June 18, 1877,
when death dissolved all his engagements. He died at

Carlisle, but was buried in Cynthiana in the old cemetery,
in the midst of the people he had loved so well. During
the last ten or fifteen years of his life, he was too infirm to

keep regular appointments, but the church honored itself

by kindy announcing to the venerable Elder that he might
consider himself always invited, and that he was to be
remunerated accordingly.

We copy a few lines from his autobiography, published
in 1880, showing the .mutual respect and affection of both
church and elder :

" Immediately upon my return to Carlisle, I had a call

from the American Christian Missionary Board to evangel-

ize in Hamilton County, Ohio, but, iiot being willing to

leave Kentucky at this time, I accepted a call from the

congregation at Cynthiana to preach for them once a
month, and to make my home in their midst. I believe it

was in the year 1852 that I removed my family to Cyn-
,thian-a, and have been perfectly contented with my situa-

tion ever since. I bought a little home of William

Withers, who, for years afterward, was my fast friend and
faithful adviser, and whom, if yet living, I would as con-

fidently approach for a favor as any man on earth. He gave

me my own terms, and I may say, my own time, in which

to pay for my home. I found in and around Cynthiana

the most liberal and generous people I have ever known.

The aged middle-aged and the 3'oung were alike kind and
obliging

; not for a few days, or months, or years, but dur-

ing almost a quarter of a century their kindness and

generosity have been unabated. I have often thanked God
that it was my good fortune to fall in with such a people

in the evening of life. Thus far. it has been a blessed and

peaceful evening, leaving out of view the late unholy con-

flict between the North and the South. And even in the

midst of the troubles consequent upon that unnatural con-

flict, my friends did not forsake me, but were always ready

to comfort and succor me in times of deepest distress.

Happy is the man who is surrounded with such neighbors

and brethren as I can boast. In the olden times, I had

known the fathers and mothers of many of these people,

and in moving into their midst they recognized me as

their father and treated me accordingly. If I were not
afraid of leaving out some of them, I should like to put
them upon the roll of honor. I will make the attempt at
any rate

: The Witherses, Ashbrooks, G-arnetts, Smisers,
Pattersons, Shawhans, Wards, Nicholses, Smiths, Millers,

Williamses, Remingtons, AValls, Northcutts, Fraziers, Wil-
sons, Talbotts, Vernoas, Ammermans and others.

" I was employed to preach once in each month at Endi-
cott's, and, as I have stated, I preached once in each month
at Cynthiana. For the balance of my time, I was em-
ployed to preach under the direction of the State Board in
the county of Owen. My chief points of operation in the
county were Owenton and Liberty, though I distributed my
labors over the county generally. I had very marked suc-
cess at Buck Creek, where I organized a large congrega-
tion, which I believe is still flourishing. I reported that

year, as the result of my missionary work, about two hun-
dred and fifty additions. It is curious to observe how one,

starting out from his native place in early manhood, drifts

on and on through the shifting scenes of life, until, by some
unaccountable turn of the tide, he finds himself in his de-

clining age, at the very place where he was born, and
among the friends and in the midst of the scenes of his

early youth. Such has been my fortune. I feel like one
who, after long and tedious wanderings up and down the
earth, has come home to die. And I thank God that he
has cast my lot in such pleasant and familiar places in my
declining age. A few hours' travel would carry me to the

place where, more than three-quarters of a century ago, my
father built his first cabin in the wild forests of Kentucky,
while my mother and I were safely housed in Strode's Sta-

tion. Much nearer is the sacred spot where my dear la-

mented wife spent her joyous childhood days. And still

nearer stood the cabin where we were made husband and
wife, and where I was also married to the Lord Jesus
Christ. And yet a little nearer, even in the very neighbor-

hood of my present home, I made my first efforts in

preaching.

" For a number of years, I preached once a month at

Indian Creek, and once a 'month at Mount Carmel. A
nobler people than they never lived. When too old [he

died in his eighty-ninth year] to labor for them regularly,

these churches adopted a resolution that, whenever it

suited me to visit them, I should understand that I was in-

vited
;
and I rejoice to testify that upon every such visit

I was well rewarded for my labor. Grassy Spring, in

Woodford county, and other churches were alike kind to

me in my old age. Among all these people I felt perfectly

at home, and they all deported themselves toward me as

dear and dutiful children. With such surroundings, it is
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not strange that I should be content to spend there my
remaining days."

In 1866, Elder J. D. Wilwroth preached two Sundays a

month ; in 1867, Elders D. W. Case and Allen Broadhurst

supplied preaching. From 1868 to 1871, Elder D. W.
Case supplied the pulpit three Sundays a month. He was

a powerful reasoner and an able defender of his religious

principles. In 1871, Elders E. Y. Pinkerton and I. B.

Jones supplied the church. In 1872, Elder J. C. Frank

began his engagement, and continued four years. In 1876,

Elder J. C. Walden assumed charge, and also retained the

position four years. Mr. WaldcQ was a man who com-

manded great respect in this community, both in, and out

of the church.

Elder Walden was succeeded in 1880 by Elder William

Stanley, who is still with us. He is well read in civil law,

as also in theology. He is often brilliant and powerful, a

hard student, and a painstaking pastor, devoted to his pro-

fession and people.

The doctrines of the Church of England were first pro-

mulgated publicly in Cynthiana by Dr. Berkle}', of Lex-

ington, in 1846. Dr. Berkley was an accomplished scholar,

speaker and churchman. His pleasing address commended
his views to the favorable consideration of his hearers, and

his learning and uprightness of character commanded their

respect. He was then comparatively 3'oung, and, many
years ago, moved to St. Louis, where he still lives, an hon-

ored and revered clergyman.

During the same year, 1846, Rev. Moore, Rector

of the Episcopal Church of Paris, visited our city in the

interests of his order, once a month, perhaps, organized a

church of four members and became their pastor. Service

was held in the court house
;
sometimes, by courtesy, in

the Methodist Church, and sometimes in the Presbyterian

Church. Rector Moore continued his charge only a year

or two, removed to Smithland, Ky., and died there in 1850.

After the retirement of Mr. Moore, we find no special

pastor in charge for two or three years, till 1852, when
Rev. Carter Page was chosen Rector, and held that office

till 1865. Mr. Page was an able and popular preacher, and
also an eminent teacher of the classics. During this whole

period of twelve j-ears, Mr. Page combined successfully

the arduous duties of preacher and teacher
; he now resides

in Missouri, as mentioned in our article on schools, indus-

trious and spirited as ever.

One of the four members who constituted the church at

its first organization, was Dr. George H. Perrin, still among
us, a most affable, learned and venerable gentleman. He
was, and is, fnlly " up " in the historj- and learning of his

church ; and might easily have been a most powerful po-

lemic in the theological field, had he so elected, if we may
judge from the luminous and incisive essays which have

occasionally appeared from his pen. He is a man, too, of

action as well as decided convictions
;
and in 1852 the

church had no house of worship. That same year, a lot on

Walnut street, fronting JMill street, was purchased of Henry
F. Cromwell for $225, and the building begun. It was to

be of stone, the ground plan in the form of a Latin cross,

that is, a cross of which the shaft tjelow the transverse bar

is longer than that part which rises above the transverse

bar. Of this church, the nave is the main shaft, and

the transept is the transverse bar, when we look upon
the whole structure as a Latin cross. The main shaft,

measured externally, is 75x33 feet, the interior forming the

nave, which is 65x26 feet ; and the transverse bar, measured
externally, is 66x26 feet, the Interior forming the trans-

ept. In the north end of the transept is the vestry

room, and in the south end is the music room, not now
provided with an organ. The altar and desk are in the

east end of the nave, which will seat about three hundred

people. A huge square rises about sixty feet, unfinished,

ou the south side of the western end of the nave, and in

this tower is the main door to the audience room or nave.

In 1876, a bell, costing $600, was placed in the tower. The
tones of the bell are rich and grand, but not fully appre-

ciated, because they are badly muffled by the very narrow
gothic windows of the tower. In fact, the whole building is

of the strictest gothic order of the fourteenth century, with-

out ornament, however. Its massiveness and air of repose

remind the spectator of what he may have read or seen of

the old churches in the North of England or Scotland, or

the Hebrides. When we enter through the door of the

somber tower, the eflfect of the interior is in keeping with

that of the exterior. The high, narrow gothic windows
admit a softened light through the stained glass. The
antique, the dim, the solemn, and the beautiful seem all

combined, whether by accident or design, in the simple

architecture.

The building cost only $6,500, and was carried to its

present degree of completion in 1854, when it was duly
consecrated by Bishop Benjamin Bosworth Smith, of Ken-
tucky. Of the expense, Dr. Perrin supplied $5,500, a fact

which we state from motives of justice, though the good
Doctor modestly advised us to let the circumstance go un-
mentioned. William Thompson, who had joined from the
Presbyterians, contributed $1,000. In the construction
there was no contractor, the stone-work being done by
good workmen, under direction of interested members.
The wood-work was made and finished, ready to be put up,

in Cincinnati
; it was then hauled to its destination and

^»<^s r- V



k
HISTOEY OP HARRISON COUNTY. 393

put together, as unceremoniously as the stone-work. The
seats, however, were made by William Roper. The build-

ing stands back about fifty feet from the street pavement.
The plan of the church was model, three or four feet broad
by as many high, made by Bishop Smith at Frankfort, at

the moderate cost of $10, and sent to the church at Cyn-
thiana. This model was exactly imitated in the building.

Bishop Smith still lives, and is now the senior Bishop in

the Episcopal Church of English-speaking people through-
out the world. He was consecrated in 1832, and is thus
in the fifty-first year of his episcopate.

After Rev. Carter Page's pastorate of twelve years.

Rev. Dr. Totten, of Lexington, supplied the church for two
years. In 1869, Rev. Walter Tearne, formerly of Coving-
ton, became resident rector. In 1870, Rev. — Stewart

officiated as resident rector. In 1871-72, Rev. —Stan-

bury, of Newport, Ky., supplied the church once a month.
In 1873, Rev. G. A. Weeks, of Paris, preached once a

month. In the same year, Rev. J. S. Johnston, of Mount
Sterling, became rector, and continued with great popu-
larity, till 1879. Many desired Mr. Johnston as a perma-
nent resident among us, but superior inducements took him
away to Georgia, where his fine abilities and fine qualities

make him as great a favorite as he was here. In 1880, we
had Rev. G. A. Weeks again, of Paris. Mr. Weeks is

respected as a polished and most highly accomplished

clergyman. In 1881, we had Rev. E. S. Cross, as resident

rector, a gentleman of genial manners and high attain-

ments. He is still with us, but overtures are made to him
from another quarter, which he may think proper to accept.

The membership of the Episcopal Church here has never

been large
; it now numbers thirty-seven.

The Baptists, though always numerous in Kentucky,

do not seem to have obtained an early foothold here in their

church capacity. No doubt, there were scattering mem-
bers of that communion in Cynthiana from the beginning,

and certainly long before their church establishment here.

Having no organization of their own conveniently near,

they served to swell the great congregations that used to

listen to Barton W. Stone, to Le Roy Cole, to John T.

Johnson and to Alexander Campbell
;
and if they had not

the happiness of worshiping in a church of their own, they

rejoiced in sympathy with the happiness of those who had.

But in 1867, Rev. Dr. S. L. Helm having delivered a

series of powerful discourses here, aided by Rev. J. R.

Barbee, a life-long resident of this vicinity, the first Baptist

Church of Cynthiana, composed of twelve members, was

organized under their care. These two men, who may be

regarded as the founders of the church in Cj'nthiana, have

had an extended experience as evangelists and mission-

aries. Elder Barbee has called together many a little group
of Baptists, formed them into a church and conducted them
to prosperity. Dr. Helm, also, is eminently successful in

building up from small beginnings. He takes at first sight

;

he captivates all hearts at once ; he reminds one of the

doughty orators of old, when Kentucky was a wilderness
;

he is what they call " magnetic." This is a word that has

recently crept into use as descriptive of talents whose
power is not exactly understood

; but it signifies nothing

more than a certain goodness, grace and natural adaptation

to the work in which it is exhibited. Any one who has a

good heart, good looks, common sense and suitable qual-

ifications for his profession is " magnetic.'' In this way,

Dr. Helm is magnetic, and where the field is not greatly

pre-occupied he has no difficulty in collecting a following.

The little church, in 1867, proceeded directly on its

organization, and held regular services, as usual with

houseless churches, in the court house. Rev. Dr. George

"Yarden, of Paris, became the first pastor. He is a scholar,

known in the higher circles of learning, both in this country

and in Europe.

In 1868, Rev. A. E. Baker was called to the pastorate,

and served the church two years, with preaching once a

month. He was evidently and sincerely devoted to his

calling, and he was justly and greatly respected.

In 1870, Rev. W. W. Williams was elected pastor, and,

though he remained perhaps less than a year, he was be-

loved by all who knew him, for he was a good man and an
able preacher.

In 1871, the church called Rev. Dr. Robert Ryland, of

Lexington, as pastor, to preach, at first once a month, and,

in the second year of his connection, two Sundays a month.

He held the position two years, and in his pastorate the

first measures were taken and carried almost to completion

for the erection of the much desired house of worship.

Dr. Rj'land had been, for many years. President of Rich-

mond College, Ya., and had the bearing of a scholar and

monitor. He was devoted to his church and the cause of

education, an able advocate of the Baptist doctrines and

the author of a successful work on Communion.

In 1873, Rev. A. L. Jourdan, of Newport, Ky., was

elected pastor. He had been regularly educated at the

Baptist Theological Seminary at Chicago. He was an

earnest and enthusiastic preacher, serving the church two

years, one Sunday a month part of the time, and, for a

while, two Sundays a month.

In 1876, the church called their old friend Dr. Helm,
but, to their great regret, he did not accept.

In 1877, Rev. Cleon Keyes, of Lewisburg, Mason
Co., Ky., was elected pastor, and has been annually re-
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elected to the present lime, 1882. Goodness, sincerity, and

an undeviating adherence to his principles are his eminent

qualities. In his appeals he is often powerful, and abounds

in apt anecdote ; he is well informed in theological lore

and its related branches, yet his taste is to present his mis-

sion in the simplest and most direct manner. The church

has never had a resident pastor.

Until 1873, the Baptists in Cynthiana had no house of

worship which they could call their own, and even then

only the walls and roof were in position, while the want

all the time was keenly felt, especially by the lady mem-
bers. But the membership was small,- and the financial

out-go was an important consideration, though there was

some wealth in the church, and the liberality of the public

could be counted on as something. Yet, finally, all obsta-

cles had to give way, and in August, 1871, a lot, on the

east side of Walnut street, between Pike and Pleasant

streets, in the center of the city, was purchased of Mrs.

Sergeant for $800. John Van Deren, C. Gr, Land, Samuel

0. Eckler and Paul King were appointed a building com-

mittee, and the contract for the work was given to Samuel

0. Eckler. An actual beginning of the work was not made
till the spring of 1872, and in the course of that year the

walls and roof were finished, but not till January, 1875,

was the house complete, except the spire, intended to rise

from the top of the now unfinished tower. The building

committee had acted with what energy the circumstances

allowed. The work had cost $8,000, and all but $500 of

this amount had been paid. In January, 1875, Rev. Henry

McDonald, Professor in the Theological Department of

Georgetown College, was invited to preach the sermon of

dedication. Every foot of room in the house was occupied

by the audience, and the good humor and happiness of

both Pastor and members on the completion of the long-

wished-for building, seemed to communicate itself to the

people. They rejoiced with the happy church, and when

it was announced that a debt of $500 still remained unpaid,

for work and material, it turned out to be an easy matter

to raise the money before dismissing the congregation.

Elder Jourdan, in announcing the result of the collection,

said with gratified countenance, '' We wanted $500
; well,

we got it ; we got more than that, good measure, running

over, pressed down and shaken together.'' Kentucky peo-

ple, and probably all the rest of the world, are always glad

to help those who honestly try to help themselves.

Here it is proper, and, in fact, imperative justice, to

state that the church had helped itself into the possession

of a house of worship, mainly through the unwearied

energy and devotion of Miss Georgie A. Richardson. She

had begun to agitate the subject, and that eflfectively,

almost from the date of organization, in 1867. In 1869,

collections, or promises, had become encouraging to those

who were determined not to fail. In 1874, a year before

the dedication, we find in the minutes of the Thirty-seventh

Anniversary of the General Association of Baptists, in

Kentucky, held at Frankfort, on page 14, the following

allusion to the building prospects in Cynthiana.

" Through her great love for the cause, and the untir-

ing perseverance of Miss Georgie A. Richardson, money
enough was collected to erect a neat, brick house of wor-

ship in Cynthiana, and cover it last fall. She hopes, by

the blessing of God, to see it finished inside this summer. "

And again, on page 15 : "If one pious female in Cj'nthi-

ana can collect funds to build a nice house of worship,

what should we accomplish if we could get all the Baptist

ladies in Kentucky at work ? " Probably more than three-

fourths of the building expenses of the Cynthiana house,

or about $6,000, were obtained by " one pious lady's

"

appeals to a liberal public.

The church edifice is neither large nor imposing, but

none is more comfortably arranged for speaker, hearer,

organ and choir. The house is 54x38 feet, the whole

length being utilized by the bay-window, which receives

the desk. The building is on a stone foundation, raised

three or four feet above the ground, and broad, stone steps

lead up to the front door of the ante-room, which communi-
cates with the interior by two noiseless doors, right and
left. The convenience of aisles, next the walls, had to be
sacrificed to sitting room, but yet the auditorium is per-

fectly neat, cozy and agreeable. It will seat, if crowded
and supplemented with chairs, about 300 people.

A few special contributions to the house must be
noticed.

Hon. Felix G. Ashbrook presented the very excellent

bell, which cost 1325.

Mrs. Artie Ashbrook presented the beautiful commun-
ion service, which cost $45.

Mrs. Felix Ashbrook provided the carpets.

Miss Georgie A. Richardson, a music teacher of great

reputation, presented the fine cabinet organ, which cost, at

a much reduced price, $275.

Mrs. Paul King supplied the desk with an elegant

quarto Bible and hymn book, $16.

Mrs. John Van Deren and Mrs. W. C. Musselman, pro-

vided the handsome chandeliers, which cost $45.

The membership is now about seventy-five.

The Catholic communion in Cynthiana now comprises
about one hundred and twenty families, and thus contains
about six hundred souls. Those families are principally of
German and Irish nationality, not very unequal in number

^



^ ^O^T'-l-*^ /s/'i^V^lM





^'.
IK-

HISTORY OF HARRISON COUNTY. 397

though quite a number of them reside bej-ond the city limits.

Thus, by census, there are at present in town only thirty-

five German voters, and twenty-four Irish voters, and the
German population is estimated at one hundred and forty-

four, the Irish at one hundred and twenty, within the city

limits.

By one of their number we are favored with the fol-

lowing statement

:

The first Catholic services in Harrison County were
held in Broadwell's Meeting-house, on the Ruddel's Mills

pike, by Father Kroeger, from Holy Trinity Church, Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, in 1849. After Father Kroeger came Fathers
Elkman, Lancaster, McMahon and McGuire. These came
as missionaries from 1849 to 1853, once to three times a
year. In 1853, Rt. Rev. George A. Carroll, first Bishop of
the Diocese of Covington, sent Father Force as Pastor of
this congregation, residence in Paris, Ky., he having for

his parish, Paris, Cynthiana and Falmouth. Services

were held once a month, and every alternate fifth Sunday
in a month. After Father Force, there came in succes-

sion Fathers Allen, Perry and Brandts, assisted by
Fathers Devine, Wright and Quinn ; then Fathers Brossart,

Major, Cook, Feighery, in succession
; and, lastly, came the

present (1882) pastor, Father Merschmann, assisted by
Father Sang.

From 1853 to 1862, services were held in Wall's School-

house, corner of Pike and Court streets. In 1858, Louis
Pollmeyer, Thomas English and Patrick McCaffrey, as

Trustees, purchased a lot from William T. Redmon, on
Walnut street, running back to the railroad. This lot being

rejected by the Bishop, was sold, and, in 1861, Rev. E. H.
Brandts purchased of William Roper the lot on which the

church now stands for $500. It is situated on the west

side of Walnut street, between Pleasant and Mill streets.

Father Brandts built a frame church, and a schoolhouse in

the rear of it, in 1862, at an expense of $3,000. The work
on these buildings was done by John 0. Day.

In 1871, the frame church was moved back on the lot,

and the foundation of the present structure was built by
Thomas Lowery. The corner-stone was laid the same year

under the auspices of Rev. E. H. Brandts, by Rt. Rev.

A, M. Toebbe, Bishop. In 1873, Rev. F. Brossart, then

pastor, had the building put up and placed under roof.

The brickwork was done by J. J. Parish ; the lumber work
was done by Mills & Spellmire, of Cincinnati, Ohio ; the

slate roof was put up by Bierman & Co., also of Cin-

cinnati, Ohio.

In 1875, Father Major, then pastor, having had the

floor and the windows put in, the church was dedicated in

October of that year. In 1881, Fathers Gadker and

Merschmann ceiled and coTamenced plastering the church
;

this part of the work will be completed by the 1st of July,
1882. The church, when finished according to the plans of
the architect, Mr. Pickett, will cost $30,000. Up to the
present time $20,000 have been expended.

From services once or twice a year in 1849 and 1850,
there are now services every day in the morning, and three
times on Sunday

;
also, the church has now a resident Pas-

tor, Rev. Father Merschmann. The congregation has a
cemetery out Main street, about a mile from town, contain-
ing eight acres, well situated.

The first Catholic school in Cynthiana was taught in

the Wall Schoolhouse, in 1831-62. In 1833, the school
was opened in the back room of the old frame church.
Now the school is taught in the old frame church itself,

occupj-ing the whole building, and is thus provided with
two large school rooms. The school is commonly held ten

months in the year.

The first teacher was, in.1861-62, Miss Anna Riley;
her successors have been, in 1863, Miss Kate Stapleton

; in

1869, Miss Heffle
;

in 1870, Miss Kate H. Morrow ; in

1871-72, Mr. Menzer and Mr. Macauliff; in 1872, Mr. Den-
nis Archdeacon; in 1873, Misses Copeland and Brown

;

in 1875, Mr. John D, Connor
; in 1881, Sisters of Mercy

;

and in 1881-82, Father Sang, who still wields the rod.

The church and school building are on the same lot, the
latter nearly hidden by the magnitude of the new edifice,

which is designated Saint Edwards, This is the most con-

spicuous building in the place
; it is 120 by 50 feet in di-

mensions, and the vast auditorium is in the clear, 100 feet

long by about 45 broad. There are three front entrances

to the vestibule, from which two doors lead to the interior,

and two stair-ways in this vestibule lead to the gallery

across the front' of the nave. The large sacristy in the
rear permits an efi'ective arrangement of the great altar in

the sanctuary, over which extend gothic arches, adjusted
according to the rules of perspective. The whole buildino-

is, indeed, of gothic architecture, though the laws of that

order do not seem to have been, strictly observed in all

particulars. The tower in front rises to a height of ninety

feet, and when finished will ascend thirty-six feet higher.

The immense roof is slated with tiles of two colors, gray and
dark red, arranged in broad stripes, extending from end to

end of the building. In the middle" stripe are the Latin
initials, familiar to the world, I. H. S., Jesus Hominum Sal-
vator, Jesus, Savior of Men. These letters, constructed of
tiles differing in color from the surface on which they
stand, are legible a mile or more distant. Saint Edwards
Church when fully finished will seat comfortably 750 peo-
ple, occupying gallery and all. Claims, aggregating
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$6,000 or $7,000 yet remain unpaid, and remind the cura-

tors of the importance of good financial management.

In 1853, the Colored Methodists found themselves able

to build a church of their own. At an expense of $1,000

they erected a comfortable frame building for church pur-

poses, on the north side of Pleasant street, east of Main.

It was conveniently located, and easilj' seated about 300

persons. Here the church met for twenty-five years

in the enjoyment of their religious privileges ; but, in 1878,

the trustees sold the old house to the Colored Union Be-

nevolent Society for $300.

The church then bought of W. L. Northcutt, for $700,

ground on Pleasant street, a few 3'ards from the river, suf-

ficient for a church lot and parsonage ; they there built

their new brick house of worship, finishing it in 1871. The

building cost fully $6,000, the bell (very good) costing $150,

and the parsonage, a small frame dwelling, costing $250.

It will easily seat 500 people ; it is pleasantly furnished,

has windows of stained glass, carpeted aisles, and gives

entire satisfaction. Services are held everj' Sunday, and,

indeed, oftener. The brick work was done by the late J. J.

Parish, of our city. The Colored Methodists have now a

membership of 260.

In 1857, the Colored Baptists of Cynthiana bought of

J. J. Parish a lot, on the bank of the river, about four hun-

dred yards above the railroad depot, and thereon built a

small brick church, costing less than $700. In a few years,

the house was enlarged, at an expense of $2,500, and then

would seat 250 people. The brick-work of this building

also, and of the enlargement was done by J. J. Parish. The

situation, however, was not satisfactory, as the railroad

trains passed close to the windows of the house, and in

1880, the property was sold to W. H. Wilson, for $275,

certainly a very low price. During the same year, the trust-

ees purchased of Henry Palmer, colored, for $300, a build-

ing lot, on the corner of Bridge and Church streets, still

not far from the railroad, but in a much better situation

than the old one. Last year, 1881, their new brick church

was erected on this lot, by Ed. Clarke, colored, of Lexing-

ton. It is a large and spacious building, capable of seat-

ing, when finished, 500 people. It has a basement which

is finished, and in which services are held every Sunday.

To the present time the expenditure has been $3,100, and

it is estimated that $1,000 more will complete the work on

the interior and the unfinished tower. The membership is

now 300.

A few words may properly be given to the memory of

the first two donors of church building lots in our cit}^.

Richard Henderson was a Scotchman, a lawyer, and in

the early years of our town, resided on and owned the fine

plantation across the river, known as the Howk place. He
built the brick residence now standing there, about 1822.

In 1828 or 1829, he sold the farm to Gov. Joseph Desha.

He died not many 3rear3 thereafter, but of his movements

after the sale of his estate, we are not informed. He was

the donor, it will be remembered, of the Methodist Church

building lot in 1818, the first church property ever held in

town. He was also equal partner in the similar endow-

ment of the Presbyterian Church in 1820, on Pleasant

street.

Col. Isaac Miller, the associate of Richard Henderson

in the presentation of church building ground to the Pres-

byterians, was a man of wealth, a life-long, active business

man of our town. His business operations certainlj- began

some years before 1809, for in that year he occupied as a

factory, the old brick near the river, now known as Peck's

Mill, and recently purchased by W. C. Musselman & Co-

He was the second (Hamilton being the first) merchant who

ever sold goods in Cj'nthiana. Col. IMiller resided in a fine

mansion, on the present site of Mrs. J. A. Cook's splendid

residence. He died aljout 1850.

Summary of church membership and sitting capacity

of meeting houses :

Membership. Seats.

Methodist Church 250 350

Presbyterian Church 80 400

Christian Chm-ch 362 450

Episcopal Church 37 300

Baptist Church 75 809

Catholic Church GOO 750

Colored Methodist Church 260 500

Colored Baptist Church 300 500

Aggregate , 1,764 3,850

On paper, at least, a pretty good showing of interest

in church matters, for a town of 2,100 inhabitants.

Cemeteries and Monuments.—From 1793 to 1868, just

three-fourths of a century, the only burial ground for the

deceased of Cynthiana, was the old cemetery, on the east

side of Main street, in the northern limits of the town. It

was reserved for that sacred purpose when the town was

laid out by Robert Harrison, in 1793 ; it contains a little

less than four acres, and appears in the first " Piatt " of the

town, recorded under the date, 1797. on page 268 of the

first deed book. Two generations of Cynthiana's good

people have ther^ found their last resting-place ; and dur-

ing that considerable period it was capacious enough for

its design, besides making room, in one corner, for the old

stone building, in which Harrison Academy was first taught

In early times, people here were, no doubt, healthy and
long-lived ; and not a few met violent deaths away from

home, among the Indians and in various warlike expeditions.
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It is not even yet full, and is still used, though rarely,

by preference of some families, whose kindred have made
their long home in the old cemetery.

In 1868, however, a more eligible situation, larger area,

and more distant from the center of town, was thought de-

sirable. This was found about one mile out, on the south
side of the Millersburg road. The new ground contains
about forty acres, and, within the last few years the good
taste and liberality of the managers have rendered the
place one of the most beautiful in the State. The site is

commanding, and here was the scene of the last battle of
Cynthiana, in 1864 ; it has been, therefore, appropriately
named Battle Grove Cemetery. We copy the act of in-

corporation, as preserving the names of the founders, and
as exhibiting the authority of the rules under which the

property is governed :

AN ACT TO rNCOBPOEATB BATTLE SROVB CBMBTEEY.
Be it enacted ly the General Assembly of the Commomcealth

of Kentucky, Section 1. That Gen. L. Desha, A. H. Ward,
John S. Boyd, I. T. Martin, John McKee, R. C. Whemtt,
F. G. Ashbrook, Thomas V. Ashbrook, H. Cox, J. S. With-
ers, T. J. Megibben, S. J. Ashbrook, Hubbard W. Shawhan, John
"W. Kimbrough, Henry Williams, Charles R. Kimbrough, J. Mac-
Kimbrough, C. B. Cook, G. R. Sharpe, J. W. Peck, W. W.
Trimble, M. Kimbrough, John H, Dills, James Miller, J. Q.
Ward, Andrew Garnett, William Winston, H. M. Keller, J. Levi
Patterson, N. C. Dille, J. A. McKee, William H. Roberts, Joseph
H. Shawhan, Napoleon B. Wilson, Joseph Howard, Spears M.
Smith, Noah S. Patterson, W. H. Forsythe, James N. Snell,

George W. Taylor, W. G. Van Deren, J. J. Parrish, D. C. Fer-
guson, William A. Cook, H. E. Shawhan, John L. Shawhan, J.

B. McClintock, James Gray, John C. Wilson, H. C. Eals, Joseph
Shawhan, Sr., H. E. McShane, Jacob Reneker, Jr., Amos Am-
merman, D. A. Givens, L. Vanhook, W. L. Northcutt, C. C.

Carpenter, J. W. Musselman and John S. Day, be and they are

hereby made a body politic and corporate in law, under the style

and firm of the Battle Grove Cemetery Company, and by that

name shall be able and capable in law to have and to use a com-
mon seal, to sue and be sued, to plead and be impleaded, and to

do aU such other things as are incident to a corporation. The
said company shall have power to purchase any quantity of land

in the county of Harrison, not exceeding one hundred acres, and
receive a conveyance of the same, with such covenants of war-

ranty as they may think proper. The laud and appurtenances,

when conveyed to said corporation, shall be held solely and ex-

clusively for a cemetery and ornamental grounds connected

therewith, and shall never be alienated, sold, or used by said

corporation for any other purpose than burial lots, as hereinafter

prescribed. But the said corporation may permit their superin-

tendent or other officers to use that portion of their grounds and
buildings not sold for burial lots, for horticultural purposes.

Provided the same is used in a manner not inconsistent with the

reverence and respect due the cemetery of the dead. The said

grounds, fixtures, shrubbery and everything growing therein shall

always be exempt from State revenue, but shall not, after the

ground has been fully paid for, be subject to be levied on or sold

by judgment, execution or decree, for any other debt or cause
whatsoever. No road or passway shall be opened through
said grounds, unless by consent of the company. The said com-
pany may receive and take by devise or bequest any legacies that
may be devised to them, to be appropriated solely and exclu-
sively to the ornament and improvement of said cemetery grounds,
and may vest in State stocks or loan out any spare funds that,
from time to time, they may have ; but they shall never exercise,
or attempt to exercise, any banking powers.

Sec. 2. A majority of the aboved-named persons, or of the
survivors of them, shall have full power and authority to ap-
point a board of seven trustees, who shall elect one of their own
number as chairman. Said trustees shall remain in ofiice until
their successors are qualified, and have power ,to fill any vacancies
that may occur in their body, by death, resignation or removal.
The term for which the first board of trustees shall serve, shall
be designated and limited by those who appoint them as above.
After the first board of trustees have been appointed, as above,
and have qualified, they and their successors in office shall exer-
cise all the corporate powers of the corporation. The seven
trustees shall afterward be elected once in every five years, by a
majority of the shareholders who vote, due notice of the time
and place of voting being being first given by publication of four
successive weeks in all newspapers published in Cynthiana, and
the election shall be conducted by judges appointed by the board
then in office. The trustees thus elected shall remain in office

five years and until their successors are qualified. If anything
should prevent an election within the prescribed time, a major-
ity of the trustees in office shall have the power, and it shall be
their duty to call a meeting for, and cause an election of their
successors as soon afterward as convenient. The trustees shall

at all times have the power to fill any vacancy that may occur in
the board by death, resignation or removal. Death or removal
from the county of Harrison, or resignation, shall vacate the
seat of a trustee. Four trustees shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business. Each person owning burial lots to the
value of $100, shall be regarded as holding a share, and each
share shall entitle the holder to one vote in the election of trust-

ees ; but no person or body corporate shall be entitled to cast

more than ten votes. When a share is vested in several persons,

a majority of those present at the time of voting in whom the
legal title is to such share, shall be entitled to cast such vote.

The trustees shall keep a regular record of their proceedings, and
of all sales, transfers and disbursements, and shall always pre-
serve an accurate map and survey of the ground and lots, and
have the same recorded in the Clerk's office of the Harrison
County Court. Each trustee shall, before he enters on the duties

of his office, make oath before some officer competent to admin-
ister the same, that he will faithfully and impartially discharge
the duties of a trustee according to the best of his abilities, and
will not be influenced in his conduct as trustee by sectarian or
political partialities.

Sec. 3. As soon as the ground is purchased, and the trust-

ees have qualified, they shall have power to lay out and ornament
the same ; and from time to time alter, repair, and add such
buildings and fixtures as may be necessary for the use or orna-

ment of the cemetery grounds, and for thisvpurpose, and for the

purpose of defraying the incidental expenses of the corporation,

shall apply the funds belonging to the same. They shall have
power to lay off, sell and convey burial lots, either at public or
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private sale ; to make from time to time by-laws and regulations

for the control, management and care of tlie cemetery grounds

and graves, and the mode of ornamenting the same, and regulate

the mode in which bodies shall be interred, and make such other

by-laws and regulations as may be necessary for the purposes of

the corporation. They shall have full power to enter upon and

remove any ornaments, fixtures or shrubbery that may be placed

on or around the graves, against the by-laws or regulations of the

corporation. They shall have the power to appoint, from time

to time, such superintendent and other officers as they may think

necessary, and take from them such bond as may be required.

The proceeds of the sale of lots, and all money that may come to

the corporation from any other som'ce shall be applied, first, to

reimburse those who have made advancement for the original

outlay purchase of the establishment, and shall afterward, in all

time to come, be applied to ornament and improve the ground,

and -defray incidental expenses.

Sec. 4. When a burial lot is purchased, the trustees shall

give a certificate thereof, under the seal of the corporation, which
shall vest the purchaser with title. This title may be transferred

according to such rules and regulations as may be prescribed by
the by-laws of the corporation, but in no other manner. If not

transferred by the grantee, it shall descend or pass by devise,

as other real estate. Such lots shall never be used for any other

purposes than burial lots, and if applied to any other use, the

title shall revert to the corporation.

Sec. 5. If any person shall forcibly and without lawful au-

thority violate any of the graves of the dead, or deface any of the

tombstones, monuments or inclosures, or injure any of the grounds,

shrubbery, fixtures or buildings or in any manner damage the

grounds of the corporation ; such person or persons so offending—

besides being liable to an indictment for a misdemeanor and pun-

ishable according to the discretion of a jury—shall be liable to the

corporation in an action of trespass, and the damages, when recov-

ered, shall be applied by the corporation to restore as far as pos-

sible any injury that has been done.

Sec. 6. This act to take efEect from its passage.

Approved January 25, 1868.

PKELrMINART OEQANIZATION.

The charter was obtained in the winter of 1868, and the pre-

liminary meeting of the incorporators was held May 2, 1868. The
meeting was called to order by I. T. Martin, Esq., and on his

motion, Gen. Lucius Desha was called to the chair, and C. W.
West, Esq., elected Secretary. Committees were appointed to

secure a subscription of $13,000 of stock, and to select suitable

grounds for the cemetery. On the 23d day of May the commit-

tee appointed to raise subscription of stock reported that they

had secured the amount desired—that is to say, $13,000—and the

committee appointed on gi-ounds reported in favor of a piece of

ground east of the town, belonging to Henry Williams, Esq.,

which the incorporators agreed to purchase at $200 per acre

—

there being thirty-eight and three-quarter acres in the tract. The
incorporators then proceeded to the election of trustees to serve

the corporation for five years, which resulted in the election of

I. T. Martin, T. J. Megibben, R. C. Wherritt, J. 8. Withers, J.

A. McKee, D. A. Givens and Noah S. Patterson. The trustees

were then duly qualified under the charter, and organized by the

election of I. T. Martin as President, C. W. West as Secretary.

and James S. Withers as Treasurer. The directors thus organ-

ized, employed Benjamin Grove as Topographical Engineer, and

began work with a large number of hands, and the work was so

far advanced that it was determined to dedicate the grounds on

the 4th day of November, 1868, and the Masonic Fraternity were

invited to dedicate the grounds, and Rev. J. M. Worrall to deliver

the oration. On the day designated, a large number of Masons

and citizens assembled and proceeded to the grounds in proces-

sion, where the solemn and impressive ceremonies of the order

were had ; M. -.E. -.1. T. Martin, Grand High Priest of Kentucky,

officiating. The ceremonies of dedication were preceded by a

solemn and appropriate prayer by the Rev. J. W. Wightman.

The grounds were then dedicated by the Masonic Fra-

ternity with imposing dignity, a conspicuous part of which

was the very touching address of Hon. I. T. Martin, then

in declining health, and conscious that he was erelong to

be a permanent occupant of the spot he was consecrating.

Especially fine and instructive was the concluding oration,

by Most Eminent Grand Commander of Sir Knights of

Kentucky, Rev. John M. Worrall, of Covington. Space is

precious, but we cannot forbear making room for a few

lines of his most interesting lecture. After speaking of

the burial customs of Egyptians, Greeks, Romans, early

Christians and Germans, he proceeds as follows :

The use of rural cemeteries, or places set apart for the bur-

ial of the dead, is of later date. The oldest, and in some respects

the most renowned and interesting, is Pere la (chaise, near Paris,

in France. It is the most crowded with monuments, and con-

tains the remains of some of the most renowned personages of

modern history. Yet this, in beauty of arrangement and in rural

adornment, is far inferior to several in this country. A late trav-

eler in Europe, distinguished for careful observation and good
taste, remarks :

" The beauty of this cemetery is an obsolete tra-

dition, handed down from the time when every American grave-

yard was fearfully repulsive. As compared with our present bur-

ial places, it is by no means beautiful. It has nothing rural

about it, but is literally a city of the dead."
In Italy, near Naples, there is a cemetery remarkable for

the form and material of which it is composed. It is 490 feet

long, 170 feet wide, and 60 high, and contains 50 ship-loads of
earth brought from Jerusalem, for its construction. England
has clung with singular tenacity to the practice of burying in

churches and consecrated edifices. To a very limited extent has
she begun the work of laying out and adorning rural spots for
the dead. It is to the honor of our own country and people,
that in this respect we are in advance of all other nations

; yet
among us these rural cemeteries were of slow and difiicult growth.
To the efforts of an eminent citizen of New Haven, Conn., we
are indebted for the first public ornamented burying-ground
in the United States. In 1796—more than seventy years ago—he
purchased ten acres of land just outside of New Haven, and with
a few friends obtained a charter, setting forth this as the object,
to obtain a place "larger, better arranged for the accommoda-
tion of families, and by its situation, better calculated to impress
the mind with a solemnity becoming the repository of the dead."
Notwithstanding the worthiness of the purpose, and the small
size of the gi-ounds attempted to be improved, the enterprise
lagged, and few seemed to take interest in it. It was nearly fifty
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years before it became self-sustaining, and a really beautiful rural

cemetery. Now, this New Haven burying-ground—securely

inclosed, deeply shaded, and handsomely ornamented, with

many thousand dollars in reserve to keep it in perpetual beauty

and order—stands first in time of all the ornamental cemeteries

of our country. Thirty-five years after, Boston followed in this

line of improvement, and laid out the cemetery of Mount Auburn,

in Cambridge. Taste and wealth soon lavished their riches upon
these grounds, and in a few years, this spot became famous for

beauty and elegance in design and ornament. Very soon there

arose of these beautiful burial places. Greenwood, near New
York ; Laurel Hill, at Philadelphia ; and then followed Mount
Hope, at Rochester ; Spring G-rove, at Cincinnati ; Cave Hill, at

Louisville ; Forest Lawn, at Bufilalo, and many others. So that

they are multiplying over the whole land, until soon this high

order of beauty, and evidence of Christian civilization, will be

found to adorn the neighborhood of every respectable city in the

land. In what striking contrast are these places of taste and

beauty, to the many neglected and unsightly spots, with nodding

tombstones, and rank weeds and grass, where rest the remains of

so many loved and distinguished among our forefathers 1 A
rural cemetery, a quiet and beautiful resting-place for our loved

ones that have passed away, will soon become, if it is not already,

a necessity, a thing demanded for every well organized and right-

feeling community.

It is to the setting apart of such a spot for its proper use,

that we are assembled here to-day, to dedicate and consecrate

this spot, beautiful by nature, to the repose of the dead. Hence-

forth its trees are sacred from the axman's stroke ; its fields no

more to be vexed with the plow ; its shades a retreat for thought-

ful men and women ; its sounds to be the music of solemn wor-

ship, softening and soothing the mourning accents of sorrow ; its

hiUs and valleys consecrated to the rest of the weary pilgrim

whose journey on earth is finished.

The locust grove in which Blorgan made his last stand

against Burbridge has disappeared, except a few scattering

trees intentionally spared, but numerous members of the

primeval forest remain, -and these have been supplemented

with Tarious beautiful shrubs and evergi-eens, tastefully

arranged by the hand of reverence and affection. Besides

the multitude of paths, a winding drive, broad, smooth and

dustless, traverses the ground in all directions. The

cemetery forms almost an exact square, the north side

being coincident with the Cynthiana & Millersburg road,

while the southwest corner touches the Cynthiana & Lair's

Station pike, where a gate allows ingress from that quarter
;

but the north side is considered the front, and there is the

principal entrance, close by the cottage of the superintend-

ent. The business affairs of the property have been well

managed by the Board of Directors, as may be seen by the

last statement just rendered, which we are permitted to

copy:

Entire cost of the ground, 38f acres, bought of

Henry Williams, June 9, 1868 | 7,753 77

Lots to date, March 1882, have been sold

amounting to 36,999 42

Received from quany 240 90

For opening graves 1,858 15

For vault fees 346 60

For laying foundations for monuments 360 05

Total receipts $39,805 13

DISBUKSEMBNTS.

Paid for land | 7,753 77

Paid for labor 7,967 50

Paid for general expenses 10, 673 61

Paid for engineer 600 00

Paid for trees and shrubbery 823 96

Paid for vault 3,082 19

Paid for fencing 1,578 96

Paid for lodge and gate 2,964 20

Total $35,394 19

Ojficers and Board of Directors, 1882.—J. Q. Ward,

Pres. ; D. A. G-ivens, Sec. ; J. S. Withers, Treas.

Trustees.—J. Q. Ward, T. J. Megibben, J. S. Withers,

J. A. McKee, D. A. Givens, Noah S. Patterson.

Monuments.—Three public monuments, all now stand-

ing in Battle Grove Cemetery, are to be noticed.

The oldest of the three is the Mexican Monument,

erected by the people of Harrison County in memory of

their fellow-citizens who lost their lives as volunteer

soldiers in the war with Mexico. In 1848, it was placed

in the court house yard, where it stood for twenty years,

and in 1868, by order of the County Court, it was moved

to Battle Grove Cemetery. The pedestal is 6 feet 5 inches

square ; the base, 6 feet square ; the die, 3 feet square,

and its whole height is 24 feet.

On the east side it bears the inscription :
" In memory

of the Harrison Countj^ volunteers who fell at Buena Vista,

and of those who died of disease while in the service of

their country.''

On the south side—" Died of disease, Isaac N. Ander-

son, aged 27 years, at home ; Isaiah Miller, aged 17 years,

at home ;
Harvej- Humble, aged 23 years, at Puebla ; John

Loyd, aged 25 years, in Mexico ; James Sullivan, aged 21

years, at New Orleans.''

On the west side—"Died of disease, Worthen Cum-

mins, aged 23 years, at Memphis
; William 0. Duncan,

aged 21 years, in Texas ; Oscar B. Worthen, aged 25 years,

at New Orleans ; Francis Smith, aged 23 years, at home
;

Jonathan C. Overly, aged 29 years, in Mexico ; James H.

Fisher, aged 26 years, in Mexico."

On the north side—" Killed at Buena Vista, John A.

Jones, aged 27 years ; William A. McClintock, aged 26

years ; David P. Rogers, aged 21 years ; James Pomeroy,

aged 19 years.

Next in order is the Henry C. Moore Monument. We
copy from the County Court Record :

" It is ordered by

^
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the court that a marble monument be erected over the

grave of Henry C. Moore, in the cemetery of the town of

Cynthiana, at a cost not to exceed $500, which monument

is to be of Italian marble ; and that Greenup Remington

be, and he is, appointed a commissioner to carry said order

into full and complete effect. Said order was unanimous.

March 12, 1860.

The commissioner acted promptly, and the same year

the monument was put up in the Old Cemetery. It is the

genuine tribute of a grateful people to a noble benefactor
;

for Henry C. Moore gave his all for the education of the

poor orphans of his county. The monument is a beautiful

specimen of work, made at the marble works of W. A. Hill,

of Paris. In 1868, it was moved from the Old Cemetery

to Battle Grove Cemetery, by order of the County Court.

The monument stands on a limestone base, 4 feet square

and 12 inches thick. The first marble base is 38 inches

square and 12 inches thick ; the die is 30 inches square by

30 inches thick
; the cap on the die is 36 inches square

and 10 inches high, beveled on top ; the base on the cap

is 24 inches square and 9 inches thick. The shaft at bot-

tom is 19 inches square, and 7 feet and 2 inches high ; the

the cap on the shaft is 1 foot 6 inches square and 1 foot

high. The whole height of the monument is 15 feet 4

inches.

On the east side of the shaft are sculptured in high

relief, two orphans supporting each other ; also on each

side of the shaft are sculptured two sets of moldings with

three stars between each. On the base of the cap are

sculptured a square and compass, inclosing the mystic

letter "G." On the base of the monument is sculptured

in high relief a raised shield bearing this inscription

:

" Erected by the Harrison County Court to the memory of

H. C. Moore, who donated his whole estate (on a contin-

gency which occurred), to be converted into a perpetual fund,

and the interest annually applied to the poor orphans of

Harrison County."

Both the Mexican monument and the H. C. Moore
monument are cenotaphs, that is, they do not mark the

grave of any one, but only perpetuate the memory of

those to whom they are dedicated. But the Confederate

monument, which we now proceed to notice, is surrounded

by the actual graves of forty-eight brave soldiers who fell

in defense of the " Lost Cause." It is constructed of

Italian marble, and was built and furnished in 1869, by
Muldoon & Co., of Louisville, at a cost of $2,200. Its

base is 4 feet square and 3 feet high
; the shaft is 22

feet high, and the whole height is 25 feet. The Confeder-

ate flag is beautifully draped over the top and forms a most
appropriate ornament. On the base are sculptured in high

relief, from below in succession, crossed cannon, muskets

and swords. In the same manner are pictured on the shaft,

above, a palmetto leaf and an olive leaf crossed. It was paid

for by means of public entertainments, such as tournaments,

Thespian exhibitions, festivals, and by private liberality

on the part of people desiring to testifj' what respect they

could, for brave men who had sacrificed their all to their

principles. It was procured and erected under the

auspices of a Monumental Association, of which A. J.

Beale was President, I. N. Miller and H. W. Shawhan,

Vice Presidents, and C. W. West, Secretary.

The Confederate monument bears no lettered inscrip-

tion ; no word tells of its significance ; but though silent,

it is eloquent, and we offer no comment.

Census of Buildings, Population and Miscellaneous

Facts.—Four advanced students of the City School, W. L.

Northcutt, William C. Robertson, Daniel Broh and Man-

ville G. Land, who are quite competent for the work, have

taken the trouble to count the houses of the town and the

business establishments. The census thus made indicates :

Number of houses of all kinds, 504 ; whole number of

brick, 204 ;
whole number of frame dwellings, 262

;
whole

number of brick dwellings, 108 ;
number of dry goods

houses, 4
;

grocery,?; notions, 12
;

clothing, 5 ; confec-

tionery, 5 ; hardware, 2 ; saloons, 13 ; hotels, 5; tin shops,

1 ;
livery stables, 5 ;

wholesale whisky, 4 ; drug stores, 2
;

butcher shops, 4 ; banks, 2 ; saddlery, 3
;
jewelry, 2 ; agri-

cultural implements, 1 ;
barber shops, 3

;
printing offices,

2 ; schools, 5 ; colored school, 1 ; carriage factory, 1

;

wagon factory, 1 ; blacksmith shops. 6 ; lumber yards, 1
;

flouring mills, 2 ; distilleries, 1 ; shoe shops, 4 ; churches,

10 ; undertakers, 2 ; millinery, 2
;

bakeries, 3 ;
billiards,

2 ; news depot, 1 ; ice, 1 ; wholesale tobacco house, 1 ;
cooper

shops, 2 ; coal merchants, 2 ; machine shops, 1 ;
photo-

graph galleries, 2 ; lawyers, 9 ; resident clergy, 5. In

addition we maj' saj-, post office, 1 ; court house, 1 ; United

States Deputy Collector, 1,

Special mention may be made of JSollan Hall, on Pike

street, built in 1871 by a joint-stock company, and cost

|] 6,000. The audience room is in the second story, and

will seat 500 people comfortably ; 800 have occupied the

room on occasions of great attraction. It is provided with

ample stage and scenery, and is one of the most useful

public buildings in the place. The two lower rooms are

rented for mercantile purposes.

Renaker's Hall, adjoining j5]olian Hall, was built in

1868 at a cost of $8,0{)0. It is three stories high, the two

lower being rented for business purposes. The hall itself,

in the third story, is 21x60 feet, at present occupied by the

Odd Fellows.

if



\<^

HISTORY OF IIAPJtlSON COUXTY. 303

In 1879, a very prettj- and completely equipped post

office building was erected on Pike street, by Miss Blattie D.

Todd, at an expense of $3,000. Tlie lot was purchased of C.

A. Webster for $600. The brick work was done by the late

J. J. Parish. Few towns of 2,000 inhabitants, if any other,

are so handsomely supplied, in this regard, as Cj'nthiana.

The Rankin House, now known as the Smith House,

was finished about the close of the late war. It is valued

at $18,000', is three stories high, and stands fifteen feet

from the railroad, on the south side of Pike street. It will

accommodate about one hundred and fifty guests, and on

great occasions, twice that number have found entertain-

ment under its roof. The Smith House is well and favora-

blj' known throughout the country. At the time of the last

battle of Cynthiana, in 1864, it was under cover, and the

floors were in position, but otherwise the building was

unfinished. The Federals made a stand in the house,

occupying each of the three stories, and firing from the

windows. The walls still bear many marks of the Con-

federate shot, not defacing the building, but only remind-

ing the traveler of the late " unpleasantness."

Within the last fifteen years, our town has been adorned

by a considerable number of new and beautiful dwelling

houses, evincing both the prosperity and good taste of the

people. Special mention may be made of the splendid

mansion of Mrs. J. A. Cook, delightfully situated on Pike

• street, cost $45,000. On the same street, J. W. Musselman's

fine residence, $9,000 ;
Dr. John 0. Hodges', now owned

by F. G. Ashbrook, $10,000 ; Joseph H. Shawhan's, now

owned by Lee Whaley, $5,000. On Church street. J. A.

Remington's, $5,000 ; H. F. Cromwell's, $4,500. On Main

street, W. W. Longmoor's. $4,500 ;
John G. Montgomery's,

$10,000; Paul King's, $4,500. On Penn street, C. B

Cook's, $20,000. On Walnut street. Dr. T. W. Hedges'

$6,500. These and many others of recent erection, together

with those of older date, give our place an air of solidity

and commercial strength.

In 1854, the Kentucky Central Railroad was finished,

passing through the eastern limits of our city, since which

time we have had the convenience of an express office.

The first express officer was T. R. Rankin ; the second, A.

S. Welch, appointed in 1866 ; D. W. Jewett in 1869, and

the same year, the present incumbent, Col. John T. Hogg.

The completion of the railroad was celebrated here by a

grand picnic, on the 8th of June, 1854, on the ground now

the site of Hon. T. J. Megibben's new residence. During

the day, summer as it was, the weather turned wintry cold,

and all the blankets that could be purchased or borrowed,

were put in requisition, and still the light-clad throng suf-

fered intensely.

IMany from Covington and other points, who had come

attired in summer apparel, concluded to stay in town till a

change of weather. Since that period railroad connections

have greatly multiplied, till now, a passenger may enter the

train at Cynthiana and proceed to the Atlantic Ocean by

way of Richmond, Va., without change of cars.

Our town is lighted at night by street lamps, at an an-

nual cost for fluid and attendance of $650.

We are distant from Cincinnati sixtj'-six miles ;
from

Lexington, thirty-three miles ; from Georgetown, twenty-

one miles ; from Millersburg, twelve miles ; from Paris,

flfteen miles. The population of Cj'nthiana in 1810 was

369 ; in 1830, 978 ; in 1840, 798 ; in 1860, 1,237 ; in 1882,

2,006 ;
the latter number being taken from the census of

assessor for the present year, Blr. C. G. Land. According

to the same authority, the assessed value of the property

of the town for the present year, was $707,000,"the actual

value, of course, being much greater. Of the population,

2,006, 1,213 were white, and 793 colored ;
white males over

twenty-one, 307 ; colored males over twenty-one, 163

;

German voters, 35 ;
Irish voters, 24.

Latitude of Cynthiana, 37° 23'. Longitude west of

Washington, 7° 17'.

By way of brief notice, we subjoin the following sketches

of some of the prominent men, whose lives have made part

and parcel of the history of our city.

MAJ. WILLIAM K. WALL.

The subject of this sketch had an intellect so strong,

and his superiority was so pronounced that we naturally

inquire who were his progenitors, and under what influ-

ences his mind and character were developed ?

During the Colonial days, but the exact time is not rec-

ollected, three brothers—Nicholas, Garrett and James Wall

emigrated from England to this country, and settled in

New Jersey. Garrett Wall, the grandfather of William K.

Wall, removed from New Jersey to Virginia, where his son,

John Wall, was born, in 1742. John Wall was married

twice ; his second wife was a widow, and her name was

Hannah Cronondike, and her maiden name was Ketchum.

She was a native of New Jersey, and was eight years the

junior of her husband. She and John Wall were married

in 1779, and moved from Virginia to Pennsylvania, where

four sons were born to them, Garrett, Samuel, Stephen and

the subject of this sketch, who was born in Washington

County, in that State, on the 19th of May, 1786.

John Wall came thence with his family to Kentucky,

about 1791, sojourning a short time in Blason County. He

moved to Harrison County in the early part of 1792, pur-

chased a tract of land situate about one and one-half miles
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above Cjnthiana, on Licking River, and resided there from

a short time after its purchase until his death. He repre-

sented Harrison County in the Legislature in 1794, and

from March, 1794, when the Quarter Sessions Court first

met in the county, he was one of its Associate Judges, and

continued to be during the existence of the court.

The schools at that day were very indifferent, but im-

perfect as the means of gaining knowledge were, William

K. Wall received a good English education, and became a

fair Latin scholar. The ordinary curriculum of tiie schools

is intended for common minds, and not for such minds as

his. He triumphed over all obstacles in the waj' of obtain-

ing an education, and became, in the fullest sense of the

word, an educated man. After leaving school, he com-

menced reading law in the office of Col. Richard BL John-

son, and was licensed to practice law in 1809, by Judges

John Allen and William McClung, and located in Cynthi-

ana to engage in the practice of his profession.

He was married twice, his first wife was Miss Priscilla

Taylor, daughter of Dr. Septimus and Mary Taylor. His

second wife was Mrs. Clementina Machir, her maiden name
January. She was a niece of Hon. Humphrey Marshall

—

one of the historians of the State.

Early in Maj. Walls' professional career his practice

became large and lucrative, and so continued until his

death, which occurred March 22, 1853. Like many law-

yers of distinction, he gave a part of his time to politics.

He represented Harrison County in the most popular

branch of the Legislature in the years 1814^15-16-17 and

1818, and his district in the Senate from 1846 to 1850.

During the session of the Legislature of 1850, he made a

speech against the adoption by the people of the present

Constitution, which" was published on pages eighty-one to

ninety, in the Old Guard, edited by the Hon. Thomas P.

Marshall. It is commended to the readers of that paper

by its distinguished editor in these words :
" Instead of our

leading article, we place the speech of Mr. Wall, of Harri-

son, at the head of the GuardAa-dia.j. We need not apol-

ogize to our readers for the substitution. We doubt not

they will be gratified by the change."

This speech, although not among the best efforts of Maj.

Wall, is referred to as a specimen of his style of reasoning.

Maj. Wall was Commonwealth's Attorney from 1820 to

1843, when he resigned the office.

He was among the most effective advocates of his time,

which was prolific of great men. There were giants in-

those days. We cannot better conclude this sketch than

by copying one of the resolutions adopted by the Harrison

County bar at the time of his death, in the following

words

:

Resolved, That William K. Wall was a lawyer of massive

intellect, of comprehensive judgment, of keen discrimination, of

great logical power, and of address, skill and eloquence as an

advocate, surpassed by few of his cotemporaries. Reared in

youth among the hardy yeomanry of Harrison County, at a pe-

riod when the opportunities for acquiring education were exceed-

ingly limited, he rose by the force of a superior intellect, to a

high rank in his profession. He was one of Nature's noblemen

—

its patent of nobility stamped upon his mas ive brow—a man
who bore in his demeanor the impress of greatness. Guileless

and childlike In his nature, benevolent and affable in his disposi-

tion, and graced with the modest characteristic of the truly

great, he won and enjoyed the esteem and affection of all his

associates. He was born in Washington County, Penn., and was

brought by his father to Kentucky in early boyhood. He studied

law under Col. Richard M. Johnson, and volunteered under that

gallant oflBcer in the last war with England, as a private soldier,

doing gallant sei-vice in that second struggle for the independ-

ence of his country. He was Commonwealth's Attorney for this

Judicial District for a period of twenty years, in which station

his abilities as a criminal lawyer slione pre-eminent. At various

periods of his professional life, he represented his county and

Senatorial District in the State Legislature. He died at the age of

sixty-seven years, in the full maturity and vigor of his powers.

The memory of his many personal and social virtues, will long

survive in the hearts of his family, and in the mournful recollec-

tions of the community in which he lived and died.

COL. WILLIAM BROWN.

During the first third of the present century, the most

eminent member of the Cj'uthiana bar, after William K.

Wall, was, no doubt, William Brown. He became a citizen

of Cynthiana about 1795, when be married Miss Harriet

Warfield, but does not seem to have begun the practice of

law till 1807. From this date till his removal to Illinois,

near Jacksonville, in 1832, Col. Brown was the recipient of

a continuous and very large and lucrative law practice, in

this and adjoining counties. He was especially successful

in laud suits, and accumulated a fine fortune, becoming the

possessor of 1,000 acres of land and an extensive slave

property. He owned the valuable farm and built the

house, now the residence of Joel H. Frazer, half a mile

from town. He is described as a benevolent man, a

liberal one, and able to be liberal ; he joined the Methodist

Church a few years before his removal to Illinois. Col.

Brown was elected a member of Congress from this district

in 1818. In 1826, he was beaten for the State Legislature

by John 0. Beaseman.

In the vicinity of his new residence In Illinois, he pur-

chased large tracts of land with the ample means obtained

by the sale of his extensive property in this State. The
rise of value on these new investments soon made him still

more wealthy, and enabled him to leave all his children

quite independent. lie lived only two or three years in his

new home, but of his four sons, James, William, Lloyd and

^-
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Elisha, "William became an eminent Judge in Illinois, and

sustained the high reputation of his father. Judge William

Brown, the son, however, lived but a few years after his

accession to the Illinois bench. His son, James, was

Lincoln elector, in the State of Illinois, on the Republican

ticket, in 1860. His son, Lloyd, still survives, and is a

resident of Booneville, Mo.

Barton S. Wilson, uncle of our fellow-citizen, Charles T.

Wilson, and son-in-law of Col. Brown, was for years a pros-

perous merchant of Cynthiana ; he now, or quite recently,

resided also in Booneville, Mo.

GAVIN MORRISON.

Gavin Morrison deserves to be remembered as one of

the earliest settlers and promoters of business in Cynthi-

ana. He was born in 1750, of Scotch-Irish ancestry, in

Washington County, Penn., and educated as an intended

clergyman of the Presbyterian Church. It does not

appear precisely when he came to Kentucky, but in 1794,

he purchased numerous city lots in Cynthiana, among

which was the ground now occupied by Judge Boyd's

residence, and in 1807 built the brick house still there

standing. He also owns several lots on the bank of the

river, including the ground now occupied by John Spohn's

slaughter house. On this ground, he for many years had

a tannery, and carried on an extensive business in the

manufacture of leather. He also owned the fine farm, now

the residence of Gen. Desha, and in 1801 sold the place,

then consisting of 500 acres, to William Ford. In 1803,

he bought more lots in Cynthiana, and continued to add

to his property of this kind till 1818-19. One of his later

purchases being the lot on Pike street, now the site of the

Democrat printing office, recently bought by George

Williams, where he erected a fine dwelling house, afterward

known as the Curry residence. He himself, however, while

living in town, always resided in the Boyd House, where

he died in 1825 ; and his widow also continued to reside

there till her death in 1846. He was grandfather to the

late Mrs. Perry Wherritt.

In 1824, being then seventy-four years old, he made a

trip to his native place in Pennsylvania, on horseback, to

receive his share of an estate that had fallen to him,

amounting to $9,000, which he converted into gold, and

brought, securely packed in a stocking, home with him,

making his solitary journey both ways on horseback. He

was evidently a man of energy and intrepidity. He owned,

at the time of his death, three squares of city lots, besides

the present Boyd residence, had a good deal of ready

money and was known to be possessed of considerable

wealth, After his death, however, no money could be

found, and much speculation has been indulged in as to

the whereabouts of Gavin's money. Some have thought

he buried it and never revealed the place, intentionally or

unintentionally, for he died suddenly, and some have sug-

gested other explanations, but the subject remains yet a

mystery.

DR. ABRAM ADDAMS.

Dr. Abram Addams was born in Adams County, Penn.,

on the 15th of April, 1800. He was the son of William

and Esther Addams, and when two years old, moved with

his father to Culpepper County, Va. Here becoming ac-

quainted with Dr. John Esten Cooke, he studied medicine

with that distinguished physician, and in due time grad-

uated in the Medical School of Winchester, Va. When Dr.

Cooke was called to (ill a professional chair in the Medical

Department of Transylvania University, at Lexington, Ky.,

Dr. Addams came with him as a member of his family,

and remained for some years, attending medical lectures in

Transylvania, acting sometimes as amanuensis for Dr.

Cooke, and finally again graduated, receiving his diploma

in 1828 from the first great medical school of the West.

During his residence with Dr. Esten Cooke, he wrote

in his capacity of amanuensis, the whole of that author's

noted work on the " Congestive Theory of Fevers," as also

several other works well known to the profession.

From Lexington, Dr. Addams removed to Atliens, Ala.,

in 1828-29, where he began the practice of his profession,

and became acquainted with his future wife. Miss May A.

Coleman, an accomplished young lady from Harrison

County, Ky., then on a visit to Athens, Ala. In 1830, Dr.

Addams returned to Kentucky, and to Cynthiana, in whose

vicinity resided Miss Coleman, who was the daughter of

Capt. James Coleman, well known as the commander of

the large Harrison County Company of Mounted Infantry

in the war of 1812. The same year, 1830, Dr. Addams

married Miss Coleman, by which marriage he had three

children, two of whom died of cholera in 1833, and in 1835

his wife and infant child died. In 1836, Dr. Addams mar-

ried Miss Mary T. Wall, daughter of Maj. William K. Wall.

By this marriage, he had ten children, eight of whom still

survive. Dr. Addams died in Cynthiana on the 15th of

April, 1875 ; his widow now lives near her son-in-law, Mr.

A. S. Welsh, in Colorado. In 1873, Dr. Addams himself

visited Colorado, and returned in 1874. His scientific

attainments and habits of close observation qualified him

to understand and appreciate the wonders of that Western

country, and few travelers could tell so well what they had

seen.

His professional life in Cynthiana covers a period of

forty-five years, during most of which his practice was ex-
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tensive. He was a surgeon of eminence, and successfully

performed numerous major and capital operations in that

department of his profession. He was a competent writer

on subjects pertaining to his art, and the medical journals

were enriched by many a contribution from his pen. Above

all, to his honor be it said, he was a man of strict truthful-

ness
;

there was not a spark of deceit in his nature.

Whenever Dr. Addams said anything, as a matter of fact,

the subject was ended by common consent. Of a kind and

genial disposition, he was the favorite companion of all

;

happy with the merry, and as readily sympathizing with

the sorrowful. He would not intentionally say a word that

would impinge on the feelings of any one ; but of so pure

a gentleman we may be allowed to repeat what has been

said by more than one good judge in our hearing, namely,

that Dr. Addams was the best physician, take him all in

all, that ever resided in Cynthiana.

His grandfather had the second "d" Inserted in his

name to distinguish it from others of the same name.

Of the Doctor's ten children by the second marriage,

the following still survive ; Priscilla Esther (wife of A. S.

Welsh), Elizabeth, AVilliam Wall, Louisa Bell (wife of W.
W. Longmoor), JIary Taylor, Tinie, Nannie (wife of Homer
Longmoor), Abram.

THOMAS HOGG.

Thomas Hogg was born in 1780, at Hiukson's Station,

three miles south of Cynthiana, and died in 1861 ; he was

thus personally acquainted with the very beginnings of the

town, and nearly seventy years of its history. His father

was Michael Hogg, an emigrant to Kentucky from the

vicinity of Pittsburgh, Penn, at a very early period not

precisely known. But before the place was thought of as

a town, and probably before there was a road on the ground

we call Cj'nthiana, Michael Hogg became the original owucr

of the land now occupied by David Burke, on the west side

of the river, opposite to the town, at the western entrance

of the bridge. His family stayed some of the time, for

safety, at Hinkson's Station. But finally, he became a per-

manent occupant of his farm, now the Burke place
; and

eventually, the town being established in 1793, on Robert

Harrison's land, directly across the river from Michael

Hogg's place, a ferry became requisite, as a bridge could

not then be afforded. Thomas Hogg, therefore, and his

brother Robert, sons of Michael Hogg, established a ferry

at the present site of the bridge, and for seventeen years

after the establishment of the town, this ferry was the onlj-

means of crossing the river when it could not be forded.

Thomas Hogg inherited his father's landed estate, and in

1832 married Miss Clarissa McCall, a lady from Christian

County, Ky., who was in Cynthiana "on a visit, and acquaint-

ance resulted in marriage. In ] 833, he sold his farm to

John Redmon ; the latter, some years after, sold to Caleb

Blusser, and the latter's creditors sold to David Burke.

Thomas Hogg, after disposing of his farm, moved into

town, where he resided till his death, as stated, in 1861-

His son. Col. John T. Hogg, our well-known fellow-citizen,

is the express agent of the city, which position he has held

for the last fifteen years. Michael Hogg, father of Thomas,

married Mrs. Woods, whose first husband had been killed

somewhere in Kentucky, by the Indians. She, all her

later life, kept a garter which she took from the body of her

first husband after he was killed, and this was the only

relic she possessed of her first marriage.

Robert Hogg, brother of Thomas, and partner in the

ownership of the ferry, removed to Hancock County, K3'.,

and died there in February, 1857.

WILLIAM MOORE.

The name most familiar in the various records of our

county is that of William Moore, the first Clerk of the

Court of Quarter Sessions, and also of the Circuit Court.

He was born in Virginia about 1760, and we find him a

citizen and officer at the establishment of the town of Cyn-

thiana in 1793. He retained his ofHce to the day of ills

death, l)y apoplexy, in 1829. He was a man of strict

integrity, and a thoroughly competent officer, as evinced

by his long retention of a responsible public position, and
also by the unbroken tradition of uprightness that hangs

about his name. He was an active member of society ; in

religious faith, a Presbyterian. -He accumulated a hand-

some estate ;' built, in 1807-09, the house ncJw occupied by
William Turtoj', and some years before his deatli bought
and resided on the farm now owned by Capt. Joe Desha
He had a large family, educated his children liberally, and
was allowed to appoint two of his sons, Andrew and
Henry C, Clerks of the County Court end Circuit Court,

respectively. Of his daughters, one became the wife of

Elliott Boswell, another the wife of John 0. Beaseman,
another the wife of William H. Forsythc, and another the

wife of Hubbard Tebbs. All his daughters are now dead,

as also all his sons, Samuel Moore being the last survivor,

who married the daughter of Samuel Lamme ; removed to

Missouri, thence to San Francisco, Cal., where he died.

His widow still lives in San Francisco.

DR. JOEL C. PRAZER.

One of the best-remembered names in Cynthiana and
Harrison County is that of Dr. Joel C. Frazer, though he
died nearly twenty years ago, in 1863. He was born in

1798, at the William Redmon place, about a mile from
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town, on the Lair's Mill pike. His father, John Frazer,

was the original owner of the farm, and when he moved to

Falmouth, Ky., about 1826, he purchased a farm one

mile south of that place, and his house became the hos-

pitable home of all the Methodist clergy of the surround-

ing region. He died in 1835, loved and respected by his

neighbors and friends. His farm is now owned by the

heirs of Henry Dills, children of his granddaughter.

Young Joel read medicine at an early age with the

well-known Dr. Timberlake, who was a leading physician of

the place from 1810 to 1828. In 1822, Dr. Frazer married

Miss Ruth Warfield, who died two years afterward. The

Doctor was still reading and practicing, and having attended

medical lectures at Transylvania University, graduated in

medicine in 1824. He at once, after graduation, proceeded

to St. Charles, Mo., intending to establish himself there.

But the place turned out to be distressingly healthy, so

much so, in fact, that the Doctor and several other young

professional men there found it impossible to pay tiieir

hotel expenses, and, as a last resort, they concluded to get

into a skiff, without saying " good-bye " to anybody, and

float down the river to some more favorable locality. At

the last moment, however, the innate manliness of Dr.

Frazer revolted at the measure, and he refused to proceed,

while his companions actually carried out their intentions,

and thus disappeared from St. Charles. With Dr. Frazer,

the whole scheme was, no doubt, only a piece of pleasantry,

for he was, all his life, the embodiment of wit and merri-

ment. But he soon thought best to return to Cynthiana,

where he married in 1826, his second wife, Mrs. Sanders,

whose maiden name was Nancy Williams. For a few years

his practice seems not to have been great, though he care-

fully remitted all the dues left unsettled with his St. Charles

creditor. To improve his business, he removed to Paris,

Ky., in 1833, but returned in about a year to his native

place again. All this time his character as a physician was

constantly rising, for he was devoted to the science of medi-

cine and fond of the practice. He began now to take

rank as a physician of the first order, and entered upon a

most successful career of nearly thirty years' duration

As to business, he had more than he sometimes wished.

He f( en ^und himself able to purchase the fine farm (330

acres) and residence once owned by Col. William Brown,

half a mile from town, which place is now in possession of

his grandson, Joel H. Frazer ; also of James Allen, the

noted race-horse dealer, 220 acres, now the property of

John K. Lake, Esq. He died at the age of sixty-five, not

very old, but he had been eminently successful, both finan-

cially and professionally. In addition, he was beloved as a

citizen and greatly respected by the profession.

Dr. Frazer had one son, Hubbard Williams, born in

1827, who also became a physician, graduating at Transyl-

vania in 1850, but died before his father, in 1859. He was

a j'oung man of splendid mental endowments, but of deli-

cate constitution. He had his father's popular turn of

manners, was even more witty and brilliant, scholarly and

intelligent. His short career, however, did not admit of

great professional achievements.

ALEXANDER DOWNING.

A well-remembered pioneer of Cynthiana is Alexander

Downing, granduncle of our present very efficient Post-

mistress, Miss Mattie D. Todd. He was born in Western

Pennsylvania. About 1780, married Miss Mary Bracken,

of Pittsburgh, a lady of eminent intellectual endowments

and religious virtues. He came to Cj'nthiana in the first

years of the present century, and entered at once into active

business. His name appears constantly in the county rec-

ords of that period, as the purchaser of city lots and in

numerous other transactions. He was also a merchant^

traded largely in wheat, built the mill near the old tanyard,

speculated, met with losses, and failed like all the other

merchants, except Isaac Miller, after the war of 1812,

though Downing held his own till 1821-22. He then

opened a private school in the house on the west side of

the square, now the site of Ben Day's residence, and taught

successfully for several years, for he was a man of accom-

plishments. About 1826, he removed to Mississippi, and

was soon appointed Surveyor General of that State, for,

among his other capabilities, he was an expert land sur-

veyor. In that position, he rapidly acquired property,

which, in a few years, became a fortune of, perhaps, $150,-

000. Twenty years after his failure in Cynthiana, he found

himself able to pay his old debts, and did pay them, scru-

pulously, every dollar of them, taking measures to hunt up

every one of his old creditors, and, when they had died or

could not be found, he ordered that the heirs of such should

be found and their claims made good, principal and interest.

He was a man of strict commercial honor.

When Alexander Downing went to Mississippi in

1825-26, his wife had just died, leaving five children,

four boys and one daughter; all in early childhood, the

daughter being only six months old. These were com-

mitted to the care of his brother-in-law, Maj. James R.

Curry, who reared the whole family of children to maturity

as carefully and kindly as their father could have done, sup-

plying them all with liberal educational facilities, except,

perhaps, those of some of the boys, who carried their more

advanced studies into collegiate institutions. We regret, a

little, to say we cannot learn that Downing ever looked
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upon this munificent benevolence, on the part of Maj. Curry,

as a favor deserving rich remuneration, as it certainly did

;

and that it was surely a, matter of not less sacred obligation

than the other debts which he so punctiliously searched out

and paid up. But he died suddenly, perhaps tragically
;

for, when old and infirm, he was returning to his home in

the South, on a steamboat on the Mississippi River, he was
found one morning dead in his stateroom, not far above

Vicksburg. This occurred in 1863-64, during the civil

war ; it was a time of violence, and law was asleep. He

was not murdered, but he was robbed of what he had about

him—whether before or after his death, we know not—al-

though he had the kindest of friends and acquaintances

as fellow-passengers. He lived long enough to redeem all

his business obligations, scattered as they were throughout

the country, but apparently not long enough to ascertain

his indebtedness to those who had sheltered and educated

his young family during the years when Fortune refused to

smile.

—

Marshall,
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CHAPTER XL
SYLVAN DELL PRECINCT—BOUNDARIES AND TOPOGRAPHY— SETTLEMENT OP THE WHITES— THEIR EARLY TRIALS AND

TROUBLES—PIONEER INDUSTRIES—VILLAGES—CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS.

wheat is raised to supply the home demand. A heavyHISTORY is but an imperfect record of human experi-

ence, though, notwithstanding its defects, it is of

almost infinite importance to the race, for the probable events

of the future can be foreknown only by a knowledge of the

past. Men and nations are wise only as they can look into

the future, and anticipate coming events which •' cast their

shadows before,'' and this can be done only from analogy

with what has taken place in the past. " The proper study

of mankind is man," and history in its widest sense is

such a study. This places the historian in the light of a

public benefactor to succeeding generations. His name

will become embalmed in song as the cycles of time sweep

by, and will become colossal in the hearts of generations

yet unborn, a sublime monument to the departed genius of

past ages. It is not expected that the simple narrative of

these pages will be anything more than a mere record of

events that have occurred within the restricted limits of

this small division of Harrison County. To sketch the

progress and improvement from the coming of the pioneer

to the present time is the extent of our aim in this chapter.

Sylvan Dell Precinct, or "Buena Vista," as it was

formerly called, which is described as Election Precinct No.

2, lies in the extreme eastern part of the county, and is

bounded on -the north by Precinct No. 8 and Bracken and

Robertson Counties, east by Robertson and Nicholas

Counties, south by Nicholas County and Cynthiana Pre-

cinct, west by Cynthiana Precinct, and had a population by

the census of 1880 of 1,600, of whom only about ten per

cent were colored people. The inhabitants are chiefly

engaged in farming, and are plain, energetic, prosperous

people. The land of the precinct slopes toward the north,

as evidenced in the fact that all the streams trend toward

the Ohio River. The North Fork of the Licking River

forms the north boundary for a distance of five miles

;

Beaver Creek traverses the central portion of the precinct

from southeast to northwest, receiving as tributaries

Brushy Fork and James Run from the west; Coleman

Creek, in the northeast, is a small tributary of the North

Fork of Licking River. The land is hilly and rough, but

generally fertile, and admirably adapted to tobacco and

corn, which are the chief crops ; merely a sufficiency of

growth of timber, of which there is still considerable

standing, covered the land, chiefly oak, ash, hickory, wal-

nut, elm, etc. Many portions still contains a thick under-

growth, affording an excellent shelter for small game, such

as quails, pheasants, rabbits, etc., which abound in great

numbers. Larger game was plenty in the early time, and

many of the pioneers became famous hunters, making the

pursuit of game their chief occupation. Originally this

precinct included portions of Nos. 1 and 8, but recent

changes have reduced it to its present dimensions.

The date of the first settlement made in what is now

Sylvan Dell Precinct is not definitely known. The first

white settlers are supposed to have been John Scott and

George Low. Scott settled at Scott's Station, a plac&

which he founded and which is now known by the romantic

name of " Shady Nook," to distinguish it from Scott Sta-

tion in Jefferson County. Low settled half a mile from

Scott's Station. Clem Satterfield also settled about half a

mile from the Station. A family of Popes, of whom Jacob

Pope was the oldest, settled near where Sylvan Dell Village

now stands. Thomas Harvey and David Evans were also

early settlers. Many other families came in now, and the

country rapidly settled up.

The early life of the first settlers was rather rough, and

it was only by hard work and close economy they man-

aged to live. Money was scarce and hard to get in those

early days. There was no market for surplus produce.

Cincinnati and Louisville were insignificant villages, with

no trade or market. Farming was not a science as it is

now. Agricultural implements were few, and they of the

crudest kind. The neighboring blacksmith usually made

the plows, and some neighbor, with an ax and an auger,

would " stock '' them. There were no such plows as we

have at the present day. But as time passed on, improve-

ments were made until prosperity crowned the cflbrts of

the settlers.

One of the first industries in the precinct was a mill.

There were several horse-mills erected in an early day. A
man named Caruthers had one of the first remembered.

Thomas Moffatt built a mill and a distillery near Scott's

D ""V
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Station veiy early. David Snodgrass built tlie first water-

powor mill in the precinct, near the present village of

Sylvan Dell. A Mr. Marsh had one about half a mile

below on Beaver Creek. Quite an extensive grist and saw

mill and distillery were erected by Freman & Florence

in the northeast part of the precinct, but it has lately been

abandoned. There are at present no mills or distilleries

in operation in the precinct. Samuel Craycroft and H. H.

Harding have each a large tobacco packing establishment

which works up most of the tobacco crop at home. Evans

& Craj-cii.>ft have a store near the Republican Church,

about ono mile from Sylvan Dell. L. D. Routt has a store

at a place called " Routtslnjrg'' near Salem Church. The

first Jlagistrates were David Snodgrass and John Waits.

The dep.Trtment of justice is at present represented by

David Ross and Peter Florence, Magistrates, and McCoy,

Constable.

The village of Shady Nook, formerly Scott's Station, was

laid out, or rather settled, in very early times. It was

named tor John Scott, its pioneer, but was afterward

changed as already noted, to Shady Nook. It is six miles

due east of Cynthiana, its nearest shipping-point, and is

connected with it by a good turnpike road, which is being

&tended to intersect the Lexington & Maysville pike six

miles north of MiUersburg. The first store was kept in

the village by John S. Whallcy ; the first blacksmith was

Francis Scott. The place now contains two stores, whicn

do a good business, post Oifflce, cliurch, physician, scnool,

etc. It is quite a business place, and has a flourishing-

trade. The post office was established in 1875, with Joseph

Scott as Postmaster, an office he still retains. The mail is

received tri-weekly^ The school is an excellent one, and

has a daily attendance of about sixty pupils. It has been

in charge of Prof J. Florence for about three years, who

has brought it to a good state of perfection. The village

has a population of forty-five souls and as many bodies.

The chuich is Jlethodist Episcopal, and was built in 1870.

It is a fiame building ; the first pastor was Rev. John S.

Cox ;
th ^ last one Rev. J. S. Ruggles. There is no regu-

lar pastor at present ; the congregation is small, the

church having but about fifteen members.

Sylvan Dell village is located six miles north of Shady

Nook, and sis miles northeast of Cynthiana, but has no

connection with the latter place by pike. It is a small

village, and has only about thirty inhabitants, and one

store, two blacksmith-shops, one dentist, one physician,

etc. The first store was kept by Richard Whittaker.

Lawson Miller is Postmaster ; mail is received tri-weekly.

The Salem Christian Church is an old organization, but

the date of its formation could not be ascertained. The

first church was built in 1850 ; the present one in 1870.

Revs. Mr. Snodgrass and Vanhook Lee were early preach-

ers of this church. It has a flourishing membership at

present.

Republican Christian Church was originally organized

by Elder Barton W. Stone, about the year 1814—lo, A
log church was built in 1816 on the ground where Repub-

lican Church now stands. The New-Lights, as they were

called, met there to worship occasionally until 1835, when

the Christian Church proper was organized by Elder John

Robards with the following members : Fielding McDufll^cy

and wife, Nicholas White and wife, James Davis and wife,

Walter Evans and wife, Thomas McFarland and wife,

Thomas Harvey and wife, David Snodgrass and wife,

Jonathan Evans and wife, Joshua Evans and wife, John

Pope and wife, and several others. A prayer meeting was

organized, and John Pope and David Snodgrass from

speaking in meeting became ministers, and were pastors of

the church for several years. The old log church was

burned in 1837, and the same year a frame edifice was

built, 24x32 feet, but this being too small to hold the con-

gregations, in 1870 a house was built, 3Gx50 feet, a frame,

at a cost of about $1,800. The membership at present is

about two hundred and seventy, of whom Elder Bela Met-

calf is pastor. It has always been noted for large congre-

gations, and a handsome little cemetery is adjacent, where

sleep many of the early members.

Education received the early attention of the people of

the precinct. Schools were taught in the neighborhood

almost as soon as there were children enough to start one.

The name of the first teacher is lost " 'mid the rubbish of

forgotten things," but the foundation he laid for educa-

tion of the youth of the country still lives. The precinct

has four good schools, and education is in a flourishing

condition.

—

Perrin.
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OHAPTEE XII.
EICHLAND PRECINCT— TOPOGRAPHY, PHYSICAL FEATURES,

INDUSTRIES AND PRIVATIONS—ROADS AND OTHER

RICHLAND PRECINCT is situated in the northern

part of Harrison County and is Election Precinct

No. 3. The land is hilly, rough and broken, with a gen-

eral slope to the northeast, and is intersected by a number

of small streams. Richland and Little Richland unite

near Havilandsville, affording excellent drainage to the

northern part of the precinct. Little Harrison, a tributar}'

of Harrison, flows through the southeast, and Curry's

Run cuts off the southwest corner of the precinct. There

are no turnpike roads, but plenty of dirt roads, traversing

the country in every direction, which are kept in as good

order as the surface of the ground will permit. The people

are industrious and prosperous, and are engaged princi-

pally in agriculture, their chief crop being tobacco, to

which the soil is specially adapted. The tobacco com-

mands a ready sale, and is bought up mostly by speculat-

ors, at prices ranging from 6 to 15 cents per pound, the

usual average being about 10 cents.

The soil in this rough, broken region, while not com-

paring in strength and quality, to the more level lands of

the blue grass section proper, yet is rich, and produces

many crops in abundance. It is as fine a tobacco region,

almost, as the State affords, and much better adapted to

that crop than the richer lowlands. It also produces

wheat and corn well, but these do not receive that atten-

tion that is paid to tobacco.

It is not known of a certainty at the present day who

was the first white man to settle in what is now Richland

Precinct. Robert Scott and William Stuart are supposed

to have been among the first, if not the very first. They

both planted orchards at a very early day, trees of which

are still standing, and are bearing fruit. Scott gave name

to the " Scott apple," since called by nurserymen " Milam."

It is told of Simon Kenton, the pioneer and great Indian

fighter, that he has often helped to make cider in the

orchard of William Stuart. It was also visited, when in

early bearing, by Daniel Boone. A few trees now are all

that are left of these early efforts at fruit-growing.

Micajah Browning, Squire Pollard, Robert Blackburn

and the Marsh family are also early settlers in this section.

Christopher and James Price, from Maryland, settled in

ETC — SETTLEMENT OF THE WHITES— THEIR EARLY LIFE,

IMPROVEMENTS—CHURCHES, SCHOOLS, VILLAGES.

this neighborhood among the pioneers. Many other fami-

lies might be mentioned in this catalogue, but we failed to

learn their names, or any facts relating to their settlement.

The early history of the precinct, or the section now com-

prised in it, is not to be had from the first hands, and

hence many facts relating to the pioneers and their hard

knocks with the savages are lost to the reader. When the

whites first began to people this region, Indians, hostile and

barbarous, claimed it for their hunting-grounds, and hotly

resented the white man's encroachments upon their cher-

ished domain. These white settlements were bought at

the price of blood and life. Many a white man, whose

temerit}' led him beyond the walls of the station or block-

house, paid the psnalty with his life. A brother of Will-

iam Stuart was accidently killed by one of his own men^

,

while an Indian scout, near the Lower Blue Licks. The

accident cast a shadow over the entire community, far

more so than if he had been killed in an Indian fight, for

in those cases such accidents were to be expected.

Among the first improvements in a newly-settled com-

munity, after the pioneer gets up a cabin to shelter him-

self and family, is a mill. This is his great source of

anxiety, and usually his first object of interest. Mills

run by horse-power were the first erected in the present

limits of Richland Precinct. William Stuart is believed

to' have built the first water-mill. It was built on Rich-

land Creek, near where now stands the little village of

Havilandsville, but ceased work many years ago. Traces

of it, however, may still be seen. A number of distil-

leries rank among the early industries of the precinct.

More than fifty years ago, Joseph Woolery operated a dis-

tiller}- near Antiooh Mills, but all trace of it is now gone.

There was also a distillery, years ago, near Mount Gilead

Church, but it, too, has long since ceased business. Other

pioneer industries, such as mills, tanneries, early shops,

etc., etc., have likewise vanished with those who operated

them. " Decay is written upon every living thing,'' and

man, as well as the works of his hand, molder away and

perish beneath the sweep of time.

If the people of Richland Precinct are not a religious

people, it is their own fault, for certainly they do not lack

l9
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church facilities ; Curry Chapel, Barlow Chapel, Benson
Chapel, Crow Chapel and Mount Gilead Church are among
the houses of worship in this section.

Curry Chapel is one of the oldest Methodist churches

in the precinct, and built its first edifice about the year

1830. It was torn away and rebuilt in 1840, and is a large

frame building. The first pastor was Eev. "W. J. Snively

—the present one. Rev. A. J. Sawyer. A Sunday School

is carried on when the weather is good, and regular weekly
class and prayer meetings. The church numbers 203
members, and is in good condition.

Barlow Chapel (Methodist) is located two and a half

miles southeast of the little village of Richland. The first

house was built in 1873, but was burned before it was
dedicated. It was immediately rebuilt, and is now a flour-

ishing church with 178 members. The first pastor was
Rev. R. Lancaster, followed by Revs. Damaree and Cham-
berlain. The present pastor is Rev. A. J. Sawyer. Sun-
day school, with weekly class and praj'er meetings

;

preaching every second Sunday. Benson Chapel (Metho-

dist) is one and a half miles northwest of the village of

Richland, and was built in 1875. It is a large frame build-

ing, and will seat about four hundred and fifty people.

The church was organized "by Rev. B. P. Bristow, who was
its first pastor. He was succeeded in the pastorate bj'

Revs. D. G. B. Demaree and W. W. Chamberlain ; the pres-

ent pastor is Rev. A. J. Sawyer. The names of 131 mem-
bers are on the records. Preaching is had on each third

Sunday, with regular weekly class and prayer meeting, and
Sunday school when the weather is propitious. Crow
Chapel (Methodist) was built in 1849, and is located one
and a half miles northeast of Richland Village. It was
organized by Rev. James Crow, from whom it received the

name of Crow Chapel. Among the pastors since Rev.

Crow are Revs. Samuel Veach and Ransom Lancaster.

The present pastor is Rsv. A. J. Sawyer. The number of

members is 119
;
preaching is had on the first Sunday in

each month
;
Sunday school services, when the weather

will admit, and class and praj-er meeting once each week.

The Christian Church at Mount Gilead was built in

1868, and is in a thriving condition, having upward of

one hundred members.

Education, as well as religious matters, receive the at-

tention of the people of Richland Precinct, and schools

were established in an early day. The first school taught

was by R. S. Haviland, about the year 1819. There are

now four excellent district schools in the precinct. These

are maintained for the usual term each year and are well

attended. An item in the history of the precinct that speaks

well for its morals, and should be written down in letters of

gold, is that it has voted the local option law, and the thirsty

individual has to go now three npiles bej'ond its limits to

get a drink of the " critter." Many other sections -would

do well to follow the example of Richland. The popula-

tion of the precinct is 1,300, most of whom are white peo-

ple, only about one and a half per cent being negroes. The

first magistrates in the precinct were W. D. Haviland and

S. B. Curran. The present are J. N. Whittaker and J. B.

Jouett, and J. M. Strave, Constable.

Richland Precinct is almost as well supplied with vil-

lages as it is with churches, and all of them put together

would not make a city quite as large as Cincinnati. Havi-

landsville is perhaps the most pretentious of these embryo

cities. It is located in the northeast part of the precinctj

about fifteen miles north of C3'nthiana, and was named for

R. S. Haviland, father of the present Judge of Harrison

County. He was one of the most enterprising men ever

in the precinct. The first store was kept by him, where

the village now stands, as early as 1832-33. He also put

up a woolen and cotton factorj- in 1838, and manufactured

jeans and lindseys for the Southern trade, which was trans-

ported thither in wagons and raw cotton brought back in

return. He manufactured and shipped tobacco to New
York, and also operated a large pork-packing establish-

ment, butchering from 800 to 2,000 hogs annually. These

were made into bacon, and, together with manufactured

goods, were shipped south in flat-boats, the cargoes of

which were often worth $60,000. There is still consider-

able business done in the village. W. B. Arnold operates

a large flour mill and wool-carding machine, and W. D.

Hickman carries on a store and a tobacco prizing estab-

lishment, which does an extensive business. Mr. Hickman
is a man of considerable energy, and does a business of

about $40,000 per year. Havilandsville has a white popu-

lation of about fifty
; has two stores, one blacksmith shop,

a post office, physician and the industries already noticed.

The post office was established years ago, and R. S. Havi-

land was commissioned Postmaster. The present Post-

master is Mr. W. D. Hickman.

Antioch Mills is a small village, situated three miles

west of Havilandsville. The first building was erected in

1867, and was a blacksmith shop. The town has been built

since 1878. The first store was kept by Thomas Anderson.
The general business outlook shows two stores, one under-
taker, one milliner, one post office, one physician, one
pump-maker, one flour and saw mill, one carpenter shop; a
good school and a church, and about fifty population. The
flour and saw mill is run by Alvin Sellers, and does a good
business. He is also Postmaster. The place ought to be well

educated, as four teachers make it their home, and one music
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teacher, besides the school that is carried on yearly. The
church is of the Christian denomination, and was organ-

ized, on the 8th of October, 1848, by Cyrus N. Williams,

John McKinney, William Kirkwood and Coleman Clayton.

The first church edifice was built of logs, and cost about

$300. It was built the same year the church was organ-

ized, and, in 1860, it was replaced with a frame building.

at a cost of $1,100. The society was organized with fifty-

four members and has 156 at present. The first Elders

were Thomas J. Baltzell, Washington Simpson, P. F. Whit-

taker and John A. Thorpe ; Deacons, John G-ruelle, George

Cumminff, John Woolery and Joseph Adams. Elder Will-

iam Kirkwood is the present pastor, and the church is

flourishing.

—

Perrin.

J^

OHAPTEE XIII.
BERRY PRECINCT—PHYSICAL AND TOPOGRAPHICAL FEATURES—EARLY SETTLEMENT—LIFE IN THE WILDERNESS—MILLS,

ROADS, DISTILLERIES, ETC.—CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS—VILLAGES.

Dickinson, John Burroughs, Jacob Sowders, Haman Mill-

ion, Abijah De Jarnette, and others not now remembered.
BERRY PRECINCT is situated in the north part of the

county, and is described as Election Precinct No. 4.

For quite a distance on each side of the Licking River the

surface is generally level, presenting some fine bottom lands,

which for farming purposes are unsurpassed in the county.

Aside from this valley, the country is hiUy and broken, often

rising into rugged bluffs, bat where at all susceptible to

cultivation, the soil is rich and productive, and the people

industrious and prosperous. A number of streams traverse

the precinct, among which may be noticed the South Pork

of Licking, Mud Lick, Stratton's Run, Snake Lick, Raven's

Creek, Long Branch and several smaller brooklets. The

South Fork of Licking flows through the precinct from

south to north, receiving in its course the waters of Mud
Lick, Stratton's Run and Snake Lick from the east. Raven's

Creek, with its tributaries of Long Branch and Darby

Hollow Branch from the west, while Crooked Creek, a trib-

utary of South Fork of Licking, forms a part of the north-

ern boundary, thus watering and draining the country well

through which they flow. The timber growth is similar to

that in this section of the country, consisting mainly of

oak, walnut, hickory, sugar tree, ash, etc. The chief prod-

ucts are corn, wheat and tobacco, the lattei' being the prin-

cipal crop, which, from the close proximity of the Ken-

tucky Central Railroad, the planter is enabled, with advantage

to himself, to ship to the best markets. The precinct is

Dounded north by Pendleton County, east by Richland

Precinct, south by Cynthiana Precinct, west by Rutland

Precinct, and had a population by the last census (1880) of

2,250, fifteen per cent of whom were colored and two per

cent foreigners. A number of villages are located in the

precinct which will be more fully noticed further on in this

chapter.

Among the early settlers of Berry Precinct, or the scope

of country now embraced in it, may be mentioned John

Smith, Nathan and John N. Smith, Col. R. W. Porter, William

John Smith came from Virginia in an early day, but

whether he was that John of Pocahontas fame or not, we

are not informed. As the name is an uncommon one, it is

altogether possible that he was the same man. He bought

or patented 1,500 acres of land near where Berry Station

now stands, for which he paid 12^ cents an acre, in maple

sugar. Nathan and John N. were his sons, and always

hved on this place. Thomas W. Smith, a son of Nathan,

and a grandson of the original John, still lives on the old

place. Burroughs and Sowders were also from Virginia.

Dickinson bought a body of land near the present town of

Berry, about two or three miles square. Col. Porter settled

near by about the same time of Dickinson. Million, settled

on Raven's Creek, and De Jarnette about half a mile south

of Berry's. Of other pioneer settlers, we have been unable

to learn anything. In those early days, the people who had

sought homes in the great wilderness paid but little atten-

tion to preserving historical facts. They had enough to do

to preserve their own lives from prowling savages, who were

always on the lookout for the unwary whites. For years

after the first settlements were made in this section of the

country, the pioneers held their lives in their hands, as it

were, and when they laid down to sleep at night, it was

with a grave uncertainty of ever waking again in this world.

But the pale-faces' indomitable energy and perseverance

prevailed, and " lo I the poor Indian !" shrank before them

and was lost in the shadows of the great West.

The first roads through this section were trails made by

the Indians. These were afterward "cut out" and im

proved by the settlers. The Lexington & Covington State

road was the first public highway through the precinct,

and passes through the village of Colemansville. Before

the era of railroads, it was an important thoroughfare.

There are no turnpikes in the precinct, and most of the
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dirt roads are only accessible to horsemen. A good road

tax could be judiciously invested in this part of the

county. The Kentucky Central Railroad follows the val-

ley of the Licking River through the entire precinct, and

is of great advantage to the people, affording ample means

of shipping the large amount of tobacco produced in this

region. Several stations, viz., Robertson's, Berry's and

Boyd's, are all shipping points of this popular product.

Numerous mills were among the early industries of the

settlers of Berry Precinct. The first were horse-mills,

which afterward gave place to water-power. The first mill

operated by horse-power was erected by John Smith near

the present village of Berry. Abijah De Jarnette built a

mill and distillery one and a half miles south of Berry, in

a very early day. Both have long since disappeared.

Spencer Pigg built a mill one mile above Berry, probably

the first in the precinct, except Smith's horse-mill. White-

head and Frank Coleman built one near Colemansville, and

Barnett Oder one near Coleman's. These are all, except

the Coleman Mill, long since gone. Andrew Boyd started

a distillery in 1843 at Boyd's Station. He sold it to B. K.

Reynolds, who moved it to Covington in 1873. Other

mills and distilleries are mentioned in connection with the

villages where they are located.

There are a number of churches in Berry Precinct,

showing that the people are religiously inclined. Besides

those in the villages, a Presbyterian Church was organized

by Rev. Mr. Forsylhe, about three and a half miles north

of Berry Station, and a church built in 1860. The mem-
bership is sma . . and at present there is no regular pastor.

Fairview Baptist Church is in the extreme east part of the

precinct, and was founded in 1877, by Rev. A. L. Jourdan.

The church edifice was built in 1878. At present there are

fifty-three members under the pastorate of Rev. S. H. Bur-

gess, of Beri'y. Providence Baptist Church is situated

three miles northeast of Berry, and was established about

the year 1869. It has a membership of forty, under the

pastoral charge of Rev. J. R. Barbee, of Cynthiana. A
Methodist Church is about being organized by Rev. A. J.

Sawyer. There is one colored church in the precinct,

which is largely attended, as the colored race are noted

church-goers.

The educational facilities of the precinct are good, and
amply supply the wants of the community. Of the first

schools taught in this section, we know absolutely nothing,

nor could we learn the names of the first teachers. There

are at present eight schools in the precinct, all taught by
competent teachers. There is also one colored school,

which affords educational advantages to the colored chil-

dren. The first Magistrates of Berry Precinct were Charles

Lail and I. N. Ramey. The department of justice is at

present represented by Charles Lail and James McMurtry,

Justices of the Peace, and E. D. Stone, Constable.

This section of Harrison County seems to be prolific in

the matter of villages. Several dot.the hills and valleys of

Berry Precinct. The oldest one in the neighborhood is

Colemansville, situated one and a quarter miles west of

Berry's Station, on the old State road leading from Lexing-

ton to Covington. It was founded in an early day by

Whitehead Coleman, who was an^early settler in the vicinity.

Before the building of the Kentucky Central Railroad, it

was a place of considerable importance, and had an exten-

sive trade. Its location on the old State road made it the

trading-point for a large scope of country. But with the

building of railroads it lost its prestige, and now but little

business is carried on. One store and a few shops comprise

its business at the present time. It also has two churches.

The Baptist Church here was organized about the year

1846, by Rev. Thomas Waggener, of Pendleton County.

The church building was erected in 1865. Among the first

members were John C. Johnson, Mrs. Victor, Mrs. Mary

L. Gray, Mrs. Webb, etc., etc. The present membership is

eighty-five, under the pastoral charge of Rev. Amos Stout.

Berry's Station is the most important village in the

precinct, and has a population of about four hundred. It

is a live, energetic place, and does a large business. Its

laying-out as a village dates back to the building of

the railroad through this section. Col. George W.
Berry donated land and built the first store, and was

the first Postmaster upon the establishing of a post ofllce.

The first tavern was built and kept by W. W. Bradley. A
steam-mill was built by A. J. McNees, which was burned

in 1866. He rebuilt it in 1870 as a water-power mill ; it

has a capacity of 250 bushels of grain per day. Mr. Mc-

Nees owns the two tobacco warehouses which are in opera-

tion here, and which have an annual capacity of 300,000

pounds. As a sample of the business energy of the little

town, one merchant in 1880, alone sold $35,000 worth of

goods.

The village was incorporated in 1866, and is governed

by a Board of Trustees. The present board is J. H. Swin-

ford, J. B. Crouch, F. G. Craig, J. A. Newberry and W. G.

Vanderen. L. D. Huffman is Police Magistrate, and R. M.

King, Marshal. The business now comprises two stores,

two confectioneries, two millinery stores, one drug store,

three blacksmith shops, two wood shops, one distillery, one

shoe shop, one tin shop, one hotel, one flouring-mill, two

tobacco warehouses and packing establishments, stock-

yards, one post ofllce, telegraph and freight offices, one

colored church and school, one white school and white
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church, one Masonic lodge, one lawyer, one resident min-

ister, four doctors, and two undertakers. (No reflection is

intended by mentioning the doctors and undertakers in the

same connection.)

The church was organized here in November, 1881, in

the hall over Renaker's store, by Rev. A. J. Sawyer. No
building has yet been erected, but it is the intention to

build during the coming year. Rev. Mr. Sawyer adminis-

ters to the spiritual wants of the little flock. A prosperous

union Sunday school is carried on, numbering one hundred
and twenty-five pupils, under the superintendence of Gr. Gr.

Crenshaw.

The Masonic Lodge was organized in 1845, as

Taylor Lodge, No. 164, and now has upon the roll thirty

members. The present officers are Gr. B. Durant, Wor-
shipful Master ; J. B. Croult, Senior Warden ; John Carr,

Junior Warden ; 0. W. Grissom, Treasurer, and S. P.

Crouch, Secretary. The school is one of the most flour-

ishing in the county. Two teachers are employed, and the

daily attendance is about eighty pupils. Prof E. 0. Ware
is Principal, and Miss Alice Kimbrough, assistant teacher.

With all the moral influences emanating from these moral

institutions—church, Sunday-school, Masonic lodge, and

school—the village of Berrj' must be a model place, and

the very pink of human excellence. No people can be

very bad surrounded by all these civilizing and refining

influences. The present Postmaster of Berry is T. H.

Rankin ; telegraph operator, James Parley ; freight agent,

J. C. Blair ; hotel-keeper, J. L. Jouett. The post office at

this place is the distributing point for some six or eight

other post offices in the northeast part of the county. The

County Poor House, which is more fully mentioned in

another chapter, is located here, and also Craig's distillery,

which is likewise mentioned in the chapter devoted to that

interest.

Boyd's Station, in the north part of the precinct, is sit-

uated on the Kentucky Central Railroad, midway between

Cincinnati and Lexington, and is the central water station

and coal supply of the railroad. It was named for Andrew

Boyd, Sr., who was one of the early settlers in the vicinity.

He operated a distillery where the village now stands as

early as 1843. Like Berry's Station, the place sprang into

existence upon the building of the railroad. It is a small

place, with about one hundred inhabitants, and boasts of

three stores, a post office, tobacco warehouse, mill, etc.

The post office is kept by James Woodbury ; the tobacco

warehouse does quite a large business, and the mill is in

good condition. It has a capacity of 200 bushels of

grain per day, and is operated by J. P. Blair. This mill

was originally built by Whitehead Coleman about the year

1810, and is the oldest mill in this section of the country.

It was formerly known as the " Broad Ford Mill," in con-

sequence of the great width of the river at this point.

Robertson Station is situated on the Kentucky Central

Railroad in the southern part of the precinct, nine miles

from Cj'nthiana, and has a population of thirty souls and

a like number of bodies. There is one store kept by E. S.

Blackford, who is also railroad and express agent. Post-

master, etc. A flour-mill, owned by J. Bowman, does a

large business ; there is also a saw-mill in connection. A
lawyer and physician attend to the legal business, and the

pains and aches of the place.

Durbantown is a still smaller place. It is situated

three miles northwest of Berry's Station, and has a store,

blacksmith shop, and a branch post office, kept by Luke

Stone.

—

Perrin.

OHAPTEE XIY.
RUTLAND PRECINCT—ITS TOPOGRAPHY AND PHYSICAL FEATURES— COMING OF THE PIONEERS— SETTLEMENT— EARLY

INDUSTRIES—ROADS, ETC.—RELIGIOUS AND EDUCATIONAL—VILLAGES.

die and South Forks of Raven's Creek ; these also have a

number of small tributaries. The surface is broken and

hilly, with a general slope to the northeast. The people are

THE division of Harrison County to which this chapter

is devoted is known as Rutland, and described as

Election Precinct No. 5. It lies in the west part of the

county, and is bounded north by Grant County, east by

Berry and Unity Precincts, south by Unity Precinct and

Scott County, west by Scott County, and contains a popula-

tion of 975, of whom 9 per cent are colored. Tobacco rais-

ing is the chief product, though corn and wheat are grown

to some extent. A number of small streams flow through

the precinct, the principal of which are the North, Mid-

intelligent, energetic, hospitable and alive to the impor-

tance of education, which is evinced in the number of

schools in the precinct.

The settlement of Rutland Precinct was coeval with that

of other portions of Harrison County. To say with pos-

itiveness who was the first settler in this immediate vicin-

ity is beyond the power of the historian ; the matter must
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be left in some degree of uncertainty. John Kemper, it is

asserted, settled on the South Fork of Raven Creek as

early as 1791, about one and a half miles from the present

village of Rutland, where he built and operated a distillery.

William Kinman, a native of Maryland, also settled on the

South Fork of Raven Creek. Jonathan Hedges came from

Virginia and settled on the farm now occupied by J.

Burgess, three-fourths of a mile above Rutland, where he

built a horse-mill. In the year 1791-92, Edmund Dunn
settled on the farm now owned by Mr. Burgess above re-

ferred to. About the same time, Christopher Musselman

settled on the farm now owned by T. W. Hardy. Benjamin

Dunn and Thomas Redd settled on the Middle Fork of

Raven Creek about the year 1792, where Redd built a mill.

Lewis and Samuel Kendall also settled on the Middle Fork

of Raven Creek—^the latter built a distillery there. Frank

Robinson settled on the North Fork of Raven. His house

is still standing, and is occupied at present by J. Burgess,

Jr. Thomas T. Thompson and Nicholas Miller, from Vir-

ginia, settled in the same neighborhood. The Renakers

and the Faulkners, also Whitfield Collins, were early set-

tlers of the precinct. Other families there were entitled

to mention as early settlers, doubtless, but we have no

record of them.

Could the chronicler of our early history draw a correct

picture of this country eighty or ninety years ago, the

reader would see, first, an almost unbroken forest, filled

with skulking savages and wild beasts ; and next the

rough, unhewn log hut of the pioneer, its crevices filled

with clay ; the small clearing adjacent so covered with

stumps that one could easily have leaped from one to an-

other, and thus have passed over the entire farm. Could

he, we repeat, draw such a picture, it would bring before

many a reader similar scenes, whose impress has been left

in the mind by the oft-repeated stories of the gray-haired

grandsire, recounted with many an animated gesture, as he
" lived o'er again those olden times." But these early

scenes, surrounded by danger, are long since passed, and

the waning quarter of the nineteenth century finds peace

and plenty and security where its opening period showed
nothing but danger and privation.

The first thought of the pioneer, after securing a home
in the wilderness, was a mill, where he might obtain bread

for his dear ones. The first mill in what is now Rutland

Precinct was a horse-mill built by Jonathan Hedges, on a

place now owned by Mr. Burgess. Thomas Redd built a

mill on the Middle Fork of Raven Creek, somewhere about

1795. It was run by water-power, and relics of it are still

to be seen upon the spot where it stood. John Kemper
erected a distillery on the South Fork of Raven, one and a

half miles from Rutland, about 1791-92. He was one of the

first settlers in the precinct, and opened this distillery soon

after his settlement, as whisky was deemed as essential

then in the wilderness as meat and bread. Samuel Kendall

also had a distillery on the Middle Fork of Raven very

early. These distilleries presented a ready market for the

settlers' surplus grain.

The principal roads through Rutland Precinct are the

Cincinnati, Georgetown & Lexington Turnpike, which

merely touches the northwest corner ; the Mount Zion &
Rutland pike, made in 1880, is to be continued to Hinton

Station, on the Cincinnati Southern Railroad, which "passes

along the border of the precinct. Rutland is now con-

nected with Cynthiana by pike, a distance of eleven miles.

Religious training was not neglected by the early set-

tlers of Rutland Precinct. About the year 1800, a church

was organized by a minister of the name of Morehead,

known as the "Raven's Creek Baptist Church." The build-

ing was of hewn logs, and had a gallery all round on the

inside for the men, as it would have been considered highly

indecorous for the men and women to have occupied the

same room during church service. The building, it is said,

resembled a large, plain two-story house, with a huge square

hole cut in the second fioor. Among the first members of

this church were the Kinmans, Dunns, Samuel Blair, Nich-

olas Miller and others of the early settlers of the surround-

ing country. Elders Thomas P. Dudley, George Marshall

and Tobias Willoughby were some of the early preachers

who administered to the wants of the congregation. Elder

Dudley is still living in Lexington, and is about ninety

years old. The church had once a strong membership.

The building was finally crushed by a large tree falling on

it, and the congregation, which had somewhat decreased in

numbers, removed to Twin Creek Baptist Church, otherwise

known as " Dutch Chapel." A colored church is situated

in the extreme north part of the precinct, where the dusky

population meet for Sabbath worship.

Friendship Baptist Church is located in the northern

part of Rutland Precinct.

Rogers Chapel (Methodist) is located three miles south

of Rutland Village, and was built in 1874. It has eighty

members, under the pastorate of Rev. G. W. Lancaster.

Services every fourth Sunday.

The first school in the present precinct of Rutland

was taught in a small log schoolhouse on the farm of Chris-

topher Musselman. In this rude temple of learning, Willis

Whitson applied the lubricating oil to the complicated ma-

chinery of the human mind as early as 1815-20. Most of

the schools at that early day were taught in private dwell-

ings. Among others of this kind, a man named Billy Duty
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did his d-uty to the rising generation by teaching a " sub-

scription school " in the cabin of John Burgess. Thus

the early educational mills ground on, until the establish-

ing of free schools. At the present time, there are six

schools in the precinct, all flourishing and well attended.

The village of Rutland is situated four and a half miles

from Hinton Station, on the Cincinnati Southern Railroad,

and ten miles from Cynthiana. It has about thirty inhab-

itants, and was laid out, or settled, in 1848. The first

house was built by Meredith Collins, on land given

him by Whitfield Collins, and originally owned by Will-

iam Kinman. Meredith Collins kept the first store in

the place, and sold out to F. M. Bailey, who succeeded in

getting a post office, of which he was made the Postmaster.

Upon application for a post ofllce, he bestowed the name
" Rutland " on the village, in honor of Rutland, Vt., his na-

tive place. The mail is received from Hinton Station

twice each week—on Wednesdays and Saturdays. The first

mail route through Rutland Precinct was over the Lees-

burg & WUliamstown State road, and was between Cyn-

thiana and Williamstown. A. B. Bowen is the present

Postmaster of Rutland. The village has one general store,

one hotel, one blacksmith shop, one woolen factory, one

shoemaker, one wagon-maker, one post office, one teacher,

one physician, two barbers, one Masonic lodge.

Mullin Lodge, No. 296, A., P. & A. M., was established

about the year 1850, mainly through the infiuence of John

Mullin, the merchant and Postmaster of Rutland at that

time, and from him it received its name. The present of-

ficers are C. H. Stewart, W. M.; Richard McKenney, S. W.;

S. W. Collins, J. W.; Carter Redd, Treas.; and James L.

Wolf, Sec. The lodge is in a flourishing condition, and has

about sixty members, many of whom have taken the higher

degrees, being members of the Commandery at Cynthiana.

Raven Creek Lodge, No. 584, A., F. & A. M., is located

near Friendship Church, and was organized through the ef-

forts of Thomas W. Hardy, in 1875. The first ofllcers

were Thomas W. Hardy, W. M.; Silas Dunn, S. W.; Jesse

Hampton, J. W. The present officers are Z. T. Skinner,

W. M..; P. S. Brooks, S. W.; Matt. Slattern, J. W. The

names of twenty-six members are on the rolls, and " peace

and harmony " prevail among them.

—

Ferrin.

OHAPTEE XT.
UNITY PEECINCT—TOPOGEAPHICAL AND DESCBIPTIVE— EARLY SETTLEMENTS— HARD LIFE OF THE PIONEERS— MILLS

ROADS, ETC.— CONNERSVILLE— SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

~VrO sadder realization of the inscrutable decree, that

-i-M " Dust thou art and unto dust shalt thou return," is

wanting than the gathering of the history of a country or a

people. For example : In Unity Precinct, we look around

us for the pioneers and find them moldering in the grave-

yard. The first generation are all gone, and the second

and the third, and even the fourth are crowding after

them and will soon disappear in the shadows of the Dark

Valley. This country, once the haunt of the wild beasts

and the hunting ground of the red Indian and his kindred,

has undergone a wonderful transformation since the pale-

faced pioneers first made it their home and commenced

the subjection of the wilderness they found here in un-

broken grandeur. The wild forest has disappeared, and

so have the pioneers who reclaimed it, and that period is

fast rolling on when no one can say, '• I knew them." It

is the divine fiat that we fulfill our mission here and then

pass away.

Unity Precinct, which is described as Election Precinct

No. 6, is located in the southwest part of the county ad-

joining Scott County, and is rather broken and hilly. It

was originally heavily timbered, and in places there is still

much of it left standing. It was chiefly oak, walnut, sugar

maple, hickory, etc. It is well watered and drained ; Mill

Creek taking off a small part of the northeast corner, and

Twin Creek, a tributary of South Licking, with its two

forks, drains the entire precinct from Connersville to the

northeast. Tobacco is the main staple, only sufficient

grain being produced for home consumption. The people

are industrious and intelligent, and upright in their

dealings with the world. Although not favored with the

wealth, nor with the rich lands of their neighbors but a

a short distance to the south of Lhem, yet they are content,

and their lauds, at all susceptible to cultivation, are pro-

ductive. The precinct formerly included the most of

Berry Precinct within its limits, and the voting-place was

at Buck Cason's, which attained for it the name of " Ca-

son's Precinct." But after the division into precincts

under the present constitution, this was called " Trickum,"

then was finally changed to the name it now bears.

In looking back over the past of this section of the

country, much difficulty is met with in collecting its his-

tory. A cheerful readiness to tell everything known, and

to volunteer much information of events of doubtful occur-

rence, is met with everywhere. The names of many of the

early settlers have passed beyond the powers of recollection,
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and the gloom surrounding many important circumstances

is impenetrable to the historian's utmost researches. This

applies particularly to this precinct, where none of the

first settlers are left, and where much of the early history

passed into oblivion with the death of the pioneers. The

first settlers in what is now Unity Precinct are supposed to

have been Buck Cason and Charles Courtney. They came

from Virginia, but the date of their settlement here is not

now remembered. Adam Benaker was from Maryland,

and settled in the precinct soon after Cason and Courtney.

John Conner and Benjamin Conrad were also early settlers.

Conner was from Virginia, and was an Old-School Baptist

preacher. Conrad had a horse-mill near Connersville. Of
other pioneer families in what now forms Unity Precinct,

we have no definite information. It was not long, however,

after the Indians met their Waterloo from Gen. Wayne in

1794, that much of the available lands in this immediate

section were occupied, and began to be more endurable.

The early hardships were forgotten, and the homely ways

and rude garb gave way to a more refined spirit of civili-

zation. Substantial log houses sprang up in all directions,

taking the places of the rude huts and cabins which had

been at first erected. The settlers began to surround

themselves with something more than the bare necessities of

life. Schools, churches, etc., began to appear, and some-

thing like pleasure was felt in living in the fast disappear-

ing forests. Progress and improvement continued until

the state of prosperity was reached we find here to-day.

The first roads in the precinct were trails made by the

Indians in their hunting excursions through the forests.

These, upon the settlement of the whites, were cut out for

wagons and otherwise improved to their present state. One
of the first mills was built by Benjamin Conrad, in the

neighborhood of Connersville. Several distilleries, on a

small scale, were erected in an early day, where the surplus

grain raised by the settlers found a market. But few indus-

tries, however, have been carried on in the precinct, outside

of farming. To this pursuit, the people are chiefly devoted.

One of the first magistrates was George Lemon
; the present

magistrates are H. M. Levi and Newton Henry.

Connersville, the most important village in the precinct,

is located in the extreme southern part, near the line, about

seven miles southeast of Cynthiana. The first store was

kept by John H. Conner, in 1830, and from him the town

took its name. Lewis Conner kept the first tavern, and

B. M. Bailey was the first Postmaster. It was through

his influence that the town was christened Connersville, in

honor of its first merchant. By the last census, the village

had 125 inhabitants, and the present showing of business

is as follows : Three general stores, one physician, one

shoemaker, one undertaker, two hotels, two blacksmith

shops, one post oflice (of which p. M. Tucker is Postmaster)

and one cooper-shop. A mill and distillery were erected

some years ago by Boyers and Pemberton ; the distillery

has ceased business, but the mill is still in operation, and

does a large amount of custom work.

Unity, formerly called " Trickum," is located in the

center of the precinct, seven miles from Cynthiana. It is

the voting-place Of the precinct, and here, on election day, the

honest voters assemble to exercise that " right guaranteed

to all freeborn American citizens," that of depositing

their unbulldozed ballots. Whence the place received the

name of " Trickum ;'' whether it was a tricky place, or

because no better name could be found at the time, we are

not authorized to say. The population of the place is fifty

souls ; represented by one store, one hotel, one blacksmith

shop, one wood-shop, etc., also one church.

Twin Creek Baptist Church, or " Dutch Chapel," as it

is usually called, is situated in the northern part of the

precinct. It is the old style, or Particular Baptist, and was

organized in 1830, by William Conrad. John Conner was

also a Baptist preacher, and used to administer to the faith-

ful in this community. The church now has about thirty

members, and Elder J. J. Gilbert is the pastor.

Salem Chapel (Methodist), was the first church estab-

lished in Unity Precinct. It was organized a number of

years before the erection of a building. The first house was

built in 1835, and was of white-oak logs. It served the

purpose of the congregation until 1854, when it was torn

down, and the present frame church building erected upon
its site. The present membership is seventy-five, and serv-

ices are held on the first Sunday in each month
;
present

pastor, Bev. J. B. Lancaster. This church is located about

three miles northeast of Connersville, on the road leading

from Connersville to Lexington.

Mount Zion Chapel, also a Methodist Church, was estab-

lished very early. Their first church building was erected

about 1830. This was torn down in 1857, and the present

building erected. Tlje first pastor of the church was Bev.

Josiah Whittaker ; the present, Bev. J. B. Lancaster.

Education received the early attention of the people of

Unity Precinct. The first schools were those known as

subscription schools, and were taught in any empty building

at hand, and the early churches used to serve both for

religious and school purposes. One of the first schools

taught in the precinct was in the neighborhood of Cason's,

by Christopher Whitson, some time about 1820. There
are at present five schoolhouses in the precinct, in which
good schools are maintained for the usual period every

year.—Perrin.
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OHAPTEE XYI.
LBESBURG PRECINCT— TOPOGRAPHY AND DESCRIPTION— PIONEER SETTLEMENT— EARLY LIFE ON THE FRONTIER—

ROADS, MILLS, DISTILLERIES, FACTORIES, ETC.—CHURCHES AND SCHOOLS—VILLAGES.

LEESBURG PRECINCT, or No. 7 of the election pre-

cincts of Harrison County, is situated in the extreme

southern part of the county, and is bounded on the north

by Unity Precinct, on the east by it and Cynthiana Pre-

cinct, on the south by Bourbon County and west by Scott

County. The surface of the country in Leesburg is less

rough and broken than in the north part of the county,

partaking more of the nature of the rolling blue grass

lands of Scott and Bourbon Counties. The timber is sim-

ilar to that described in other precincts of this county.

Huskins' Run flows through the southern part of the pre-

cinct, emptying into the South Fork of Licking River.

Silas Creek flows along the southern border, forming the

boundary line between Harrison and Bourbon Counties.

Grray's Run and its tributaries drain the central part, while

the north part is drained by Mill Creek. All of these small

streams are tributaries of the Licking River. They afford

an excellent system of natural drainage, and in early times

furnished power to numerous mills erected by the pioneers.

Chief products are corn, wheat, hemp, tobacco
;
grazing is

carried on to some extent.

One of the first settlers in what is now Leesburg Pre-

cinct was William E. Boswell. He came from Loudoun

County, Va., about the year 1790-91, and settled near the

present village of Leesburg. He was of a proud, old fam-

ily, and committed an act of disobedience by marrying

against his father's will, for which he was disinherited.

This led him to seek a home in the wilderness of Kentucky,

where he took an active part in the stirring events of her

early history. He was elected to the Legislature in 1793,

when scarcely more than twenty-one years of age, and was

re-elected every year until 1806. In 1799, he was elected

to the convention called for the purpose of revising the

State Constitution. He was a Colonel in the war of 1812,

and he and Col. Dudley commanded the two regiments

forming Gen. Green Clay's brigade. His son, B. T. Bos-

well, is still living in the neighborhood, and has in his pos-

session a trunk, which his father's old body servant earned

at the siege of Fort Meigs, and which still bears the marks

of tomahawks received in the battle or siege. The early

neighbors of Col. Boswell were Elijah Chinn, John Kin-

kead, Elkanah Jennings, Billy Lowry, David Dickson,

James Ward, William Gray and sons and William Frances.

John Craig, Sr., also lived in the neighborhood, and was

from North Carolina. He settled here about the year

1790-91. His son James was a soldier in the war of 1812,

and was taken prisoner at the battle of the River Raisin,

but was exchanged after a short captivity.

An early settler in this vicinity was a man named Lee.

His tragic death is still remembered, and is often narrated

by the old people of the neighborhood to the curious

stranger. He was shot by an Indian while peeping from

behind a tree near the present little village of Leeslick.

The tree is still pointed out, and stands within twenty feet

of the spring which bubbles from the ground in the midst

of the village.

The early life and enjoyment of the pioneers were sim-

ple and rude in comparison to what they are at the present

day. The time of the men was taken up in their farming

operations ; all the family supplies were produced by them
;

meat, bread and a few vegetables being the main staples in

the way of provisions. Whisky was a common beverage
;

the surplus grain was made into whisky, and thus put into

more convenient shape to handle ; it was almost a legal

tender. A great source of enjoyment among the young

people was the pioneer quilting-party. These old-time

quilting-parties were usually wound up with a dance. A
log cabin with puncheon floor was no obstacle to those

who wished to " trip the light fantastic toe." The pleasure

and enjoyment of those times, if not so refined as now,

were of quite as much interest to the young people. The

early farmer worked to a great disadvantage ; his teams

were oxen, and his plows of the rudest description, made

principally of wood by some farmer more handy with tools

than his neighbors. Crops were not raised and harvested

without the severest manual labor. Those days of toil and

privation are over, and the most prosperous farms and

happy homes are to be found where erst the pioneer la-

bored.

Leesburg Precinct is well supplied with roads—those

r
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highways of travel which build up the commerce of every

country. The Leesburg & Newtown pike was the first

built through the precinct, which was about the year 1850.

The Cynthiana & Leesburg pike was continued to Oxford,

in Scott County, in 1870. Megibben pike forms the east

boundary
; the Connersville & Scott County pike extends

from Connersville into Scott County ; Leesburg & Leeslick

pike, built about 1860, extends to within one mile of Con-

nersville.

The pioneer improvements and industries in this local-

ity were comprised in mills, distilleries, tan-yards, hemp
factories, etc. Proctor Cleveland and John Paul, two early

settlers in the vicinity of Leeslick, built horse-mills, which
were probably among the first mills in the community.
John Craig is supposed to have built the first water-power

mill. It was on Mill Creek, near where the Connersville &
Cynthiana pike crosses the stream. John Conner used to fish

there when a boy, and caught many fine bass ; he also

caught a pickerel there once which weighed five pounds.

Col. Boswell built a mill about the year 1810, and John
Miller opened a distillery sixty or seventy years ago,

where the surplus com found a ready market. Benjamin
Conrad, an early settler, had a horse-mill near Connersville.

Other mills, factories, etc., will be mentioned in connection

with the villages.

The first church edifice built in what now forms Lees-

burg Precinct, was known as the " old Mount Pleasant

Church." It was of logs, and was built about the year

1795 ; Rev. Mr. Lyle was the first preacher. This rude
temple of worship satisfied the simple wants of the con-

gregation, until 1840, when it was torn down and a sub-

stantial brick erected in its place. Among the ministers

who have been in charge are Revs. Phillips, Moreland, Van
Meter, etc. The latter is the present pastor. The church
was moved to Broadwell in 1860. The Old School Baptists

built a church known as the " Mill Creek Baptist Church,"

in 1810, of which John Conner was the first preacher. It

was torn down in 1865, and has not been rebuilt. The
first school was taught at old Mount Pleasant Church in

1795, by a man named McCollum. The precinct has no

lack of educational facilities at the present day. Good
schools are taught for the usual term each year, and are

well attended. The first magistrate was "William English.

The majesty of the law is now represented in the persons

of Richard Levi and Thomas Arnett, Magistrates, and
John Coppage, Constable.

Leesburg was laid out as a village by Col. Boswell in

1817, who owned the land. It was first called Boswell's
Cross Roads, but the name was afterward changed to Lees-

burg, for the town of that name in Virginia, whence

Col. Boswell emigrated. It has a population, at present,

of 225, of whom about 175 are white. The first store was

kept by William Cogswell, who embarked in the business

about the year 1818. He was also the first Postmaster

upon the establishment of a post oflSce. The first black-

smith shop where the town now stands was kept by John

Hardrick from 1803 to about 1818. A tavern, the first in

the place, was opened, in 1821, by Levi P. Scroggins. This

was formerly a live, energetic business place, but the era

of railroads has done for it what has been done for thou-

sands of others—destroyed its business prospects. Years

ago, considerable manufacturing was carried on in Lees-

burg. A hat factory was established by Joaett & Griffith

in 1830, which did quite an extensive business for a time.

A hemp factory was established, in 1837, by M. & W. An-

derson. This was turned into a cotton factory, the next

year, by William Hearn. Another hemp factory was estab-

lished, in 1842, by Zach Graves. As early as 1819-20,

there were two tan-yards in full operation. The first was

established by Samuel Kinkead ; the second by Hamilton

& Cummings. The business outlook now presents the fol-

lowing exhibit : Four general stores, one blacksmith shop,

one woodshop, one undertaker, one carding factory ope-

rated by W. A. Walker. Socially, morally and intellectually,

it shows up as follows : One white church, two colored

churches, three white schools, one colored school, one Ma-

sonic lodge (recently deceased), and the local option lawi

since 1 875, has been in force.

The first church in the village of Leesburg was built in

1830. It was known as " Republican Church," and is now
used by the white public school. The Christian Church

was built in 1833, and Elder John A. Gano was the first

pastor, as well as the present one, though others have in-

tervened. The present membership is represented to be

between 400 and 500. The first member of old Republican

Church is said to have been Joseph Wasson, who was bap-

tized in Silas Creek in 1826. The two colored churches are

of the Baptist and Methodist denominations. Of the three

white schools, one is a public school and the other two are

private schools. All are in a prosperous condition and well

attended. The colored school is also well attended by the

colored children of the village, who are laudably engaged
in educating themselves for future Congressmen and po-

licemen.

The Masonic lodge was established in 1820, and
known as "Warren Lodge." It flourished for a number of

years, then ceased to exist for a time,-was revived and con-

tinued to "work" until 1880, when it again went into

"winter quarters,'' whence it has not issued at the pres-

ent writing. Bequiescat in pace. Leesburg is the vot-
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ing-place of the precinct, and here, periodically, assem

ble the sturdy yeomanry to exercise their rights of fran-

chise.

Leeslick is a small place of about forty inhabitants, and

was named for one Lee, who was shot here by the Indians,

when this section was scarcely as safe an abiding-place as

it is now. The circumstance has already been alluded to

in this chapter. There is a fine spring of white sulphur

water, which made it a place of great resort by the Indians,

and also by the deer and buffalo, which came here to slake

their thirst. The place has now two stores, one blacksmith

shop, one school (near bj')) one saw and grist mill, etc.

The first store was opened by John Scott in 1835. A dis-

tillery was erected and operated by Thomas Arnett, but

has been discontinued. Both the saw and grist mill do a

good business.

Broadwell comprises but a small collection of houses,

and received its name from Asbury Broadwell, who owned

the land upon which it stands. It is situated on the old

State road, leading from Lexington to Covington, and be-

fore the day of railroads was a thriving place. Broadwell

built a storehouse, which was occupied by Cox & Thornton,

the first merchants. There is but little business now done

in the place. A blacksmith shop and a post ofBce, of which

Mary A. Lail is Postmaster, is about all there is in the way

of business.—-Pernji.

CHAPTER XVII.
CLAYSVILLE PRECINCT— SURFACE AND PHYSICAL FEATURES—ADVENT OF THE PIONEERS—THEIR BUFFETS WITH SAV-

AGE BEASTS AND SAVAGE MEN— PIONEER INDUSTRIES—CHURCHES AND

SCHOOLS— VILLAGES, ETC., ETC.

"Tfane, though old, is swift in flight,

And years went fleetly by—

"

/"'jLAYSVILLE PRECINCT, which is No. 8 of the elec-

vy tion precincts, though the last in number, is one of

the early settled and important sections of the county.

The village of Claysville was once an enterprising place,

and shipped largely to New Orleans by way of the raging

Licking.

The precinct of Claysville lies in the northeast part of

the county, and is somewhat broken and hilly. It is

bounded on the north and east by Robertson County, on

the south by Sylvan Dell, or Precinct No. 2, on the south-

west by Cynthiana Precinct, and on the west by Richland,

or Precinct No. 3. The land is mostly hilly and broken,

but produces well, growing the finest of tobacco, which is

the main staple. Corn and wheat are also cultivated to

more or less extent. The streams are the East Fork of

Licking and Beaver Creek, with their tributaries, of which

Harrison and "West Creeks are the most important. These

streams, with a number of branches, which are nameless

on the maps, drain the lands well, and afford the greatest

abundance of stock water. The original timber growth

was very fine, but the the settler's ax has despoiled much

of the finest forests. Hickory, black walnut, sugar tree,

wild cherry, oak, hackberry, buckeye, etc., etc., grow in

abundance. Little of the natural forest is now left, the

timber having been thinned out, even where the land has

not been cleared up for cultivation.

The settlement by white people of Claysville Precinct

was coeval with the settlement of other portions of Har-

rison County. Among the pioneers were the families of

John Whitehead, Stephen B. Curran,— Dean, Daniel Dur-

bin, the Obey family, etc. Whitehead and Curran settled

near Claysville, lived to be very old, and are long dead.

Dean died at an advanced age. Durbin was a very early

settler. He was the grandfather of the Rev. Mr. Durbin,

the celebrated traveler in Palestine and the Holy Land.

Obey was an old settler, but died many years ago. These

are but a few among the pioneers of Claysville Precinct.

Names of others are lost.

" 'Mid the rubbish of forgotten things."

The first years of the settlers of Claysville were years

of toil and privation. The people had many trials to con-

tend with, not the least of which was the depredations of

Indians. Even after the savages ceased to wantonly mur-

der the settlers, they never let an opportunity pass to steal

whatever they could lay hands on, on the principle that

what they obtained from the pale faces was clear gain.

There were many other troubles to be met and overcome.

The trouble of procuring bread was sometimes great. The

settler's trustj"^ rifle could easily furnish his family with

meat, but bread had to be otherwise obtained. This led to

the building of mills very early, and the Licking River and

Beaver Creek were the scenes of some of the earliest mills

built in Kentucky. Distilleries were not far behind mills

in the way of pioneer manufacture, and, as a modern in-

dustry, they have kept pace with mills, if they have not

i \
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even passed them, in the onward march. There are still

both mills and distilleries in operation in this section.

The roads of Claysville are not to be compared to other

and more favored sections of the county. The rough na-

ture of the ground renders turnpiking rather an expensive

operation
; hence roads of that character are scarce in this

precinct. The dirt roads are good—in summer.

The first school in the precinct is somewhat obscure,

but is supposed to have been taught in a little log cabin

erected for school purposes in the village of Claysville

more than fifty years ago. The teacher was a man named
Duncan, and was of the old-time style. He believed in the

use of the rod, and, it is said, enforced his belief very vig-

orously. There are at the present day four schoolhouses in

Claysville Precinct, including one in the village.

The church history of the precinct compares with that

of other portions of the county. But we learned little of

the erection of church buildings and the organization of

church societies in Claysville Precinct.

The village of Claysville, years ago, was one of the

most important business points in Harrison County. As
we have already stated, it shipped largely by fiat-boats to

New Orleans. It is situated on the Main Licking, twelve

miles northeast of Cynthiana, and nine miles from Poin-

dexter Station on the Kentucky Central Railroad. It ex-

ports tobacco, grain and stock, and has a tri-weekly stage

line to Milford and Brownsville. Its business comprises

two general stores, one grocery, one physician, one tavern,

two blacksmith shops, two carpenters, one teacher and one

flour-mill. The building of the Kentucky Central Rail-

road, some miles distant from Claysville, killed its trade,

and from that date its business has greatly declined.

Smithville Post Office is in the southern part of the pre-

cinct, and is merely a country post office, with no approach

even to a village. This comprises a brief sketch of Clays-

ville Precinct. There may be items of interest over-looked,

but the foregoing is the result of our researches.

—

Ferrin.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY.
OHAPTEE I.

SETTLEMENT OF THE WHITES— ROUGH LIFE ON THE FRONTIER— THE DIFFICULTIES MET WITH— THE COUNTY ORGAN-

IZED—THE COURTS AND OFFICERS OF THE COUNTY-THE CENSUS, ELECTION PRECINCTS, ETC., ETC.-

PUBLIC BUILDINGS— BLUE LICK SPRINGS— OTHER NOTES AND INCIDENTS.

"We shunn'd not labor ; when 'twas due

"We wrought with right good will

;

And for the homes we won for them,

Our children bless us stUl." — Gallagher.

NICHOLAS COUNTY, like the little Republic of San

Marino, is small in extent of territory, and nearly as

rough and hilly. San Marino is the smallest and one of

the most ancient Republics in the world, having stood,

amidst the mutations and revolutions of empires and king-

doms for more than seven hundred years. It consists of a

craggy mountain, 2,200 feet in height, situated amidst the

lesser ranges of the Appennines, and embraces but twenty-

one square miles. Its free institutions and government

have stood unchanged and undisturbed by the surrounding

nations of Europe, and Napoleon, in his Italian campaign,

sent a special ambassador to assure its Government that

the rights of the Republic should be scrupulously respect-

ed, an assurance the great soldier never violated. Nicholas

County comes near being the San Marino of Kentucky ;
the

latter has but 8,000 inhabitants—Nicholas had but about

11,000 at the last census. In point of numbers, area,

mountainous surface, and a lofty, chivalrous hospitality,

the two sections are very much alike.

The settlement of Nicholas County is cotemporaneous

with that of other portions of Central Kentucky, and ex-

tend back something like a hundred years. Collins says,

that, in 1789, the only station between Maysville, then

known as Limestone, and Lexington, was the Lower Blue

Licks. It was erected by a man named Lyons, who fol-

lowed making salt. He entertained travelers and had a

family of negro servants, and was doubtless the first white

settler within the present limits of Nicholas County. He

dealt fairly with the settlers, and is said to have had a

large run of custom. The settlers were in the habit of go-

ing to the Licks for salt-making, from 1775 down, camping

there, but no permanent settlement was made until Lyon's.

Irish Station was another settlement, some five or six

miles from Blue Licks, and was settled a few years later.

James Parks, Jr., James Stephenson, George M. Bedinger

and Samuel Peyton, were early settlers in the county, and

have descendants still living. In the chapters devoted to

the different towns, cities and election precincts, the names

of many other early settlers are given, together with time

and place of their settlement. This is sufficient to show

the occupation of the country by white people. The pio-

neers did not have smooth sailing for a good many years

after their settlement. " Milk Sickness " was one of the

evils they had to contend with, though it made its appear-

ance long after settlements were made. The State Geolog-

ical Survey attributes the fact to the water, and says

:

" The water that runs off the slopes of the ridges, about

seventy feet above the valleys, over the outcrop of the

silicious mudstone, is highly charged witti magnesia, and

is also milky from suspended particles of clay or else of

extremely fine silex. This description of water, if habitu-

ally used, acts injuriously on man and stock."

Collins relates the following of an apple-tree, which is

of interest as a curiosity at any rate :
" An apple-tree, re-

markable for size and venerable for age, was, in 1852, still

thrifty and healthy', upon a farm then owned by ex-Gov.

Thomas Metcalfe, on the road from Samuel Arnett's to

Carlisle. One foot above the ground its circumference was

ten feet ; at four feet up, eight and a third feet around

;

eight feet up, eight feet ; then it had three prongs, five and

a third feet, four feet seven inches, and three and three-

fourths feet in circumference. When a seedling scion, in

if*



^^ ,t

330 HISTORY OF NICHOLAS COUNTY.

1795, it was found near the " Burned Cabins," a favorite

camping-place for emigrants, and transplanted to Samule

Peyton's yard, to the very spot it occupied more than fifty-

seven years after. It bore abundantly of apples good for

cooking and late use."

Among the early settlers of Nicholas County was the

Metcalfe family—the father of Gov. Metcalfe, who was a

Captain in the Revolutionary army. He moved to Payette

County, Ky., in 1785, and a few years later settled in the

present county of Nicholas. Thomas Metcalfe, his eldest

son, and afterward Governor of the State, was brought up

here, and is still remembered by many of the citizens of the

county. His father died when he was but nineteen years

old, and from that time on the care of the family devolved

on him. He was a stone-mason by trade, and, in after

years, when he became a noted politician, the sobriquet of

" Old Stone Hammer " clung to him through many an ex-

citing campaign. A more complete biographical sketch of

him will be found in connection with Carlisle.

The famous battle of Blue Licks—a battle almost with-

out parallel in the annals of Indian warfare—occurred in

this county. The battle of Blue Licks was fought on the

19th of August, 1782,* and proved to the whites a second

Braddock's defeat. It took place on the old State road

about half a mile north of the Lower Blue Licks. The

whites were led by Cols. Todd, Boone and Trigg, while the

savages were commanded by the notorious Girty—the white

renegade. The summit of Cedar Hill, where this famous

battle was fought, is barren and sterile, a fact that has often

been a matter of wonder, inasmuch as it is underlaid with

the same blue limestone formations that elsewhere afford

so fertile a soil. This phenomenon has been imputed by

the more superstitious to supernatural agencies arising out

of the fact of this battle, and the terrible slaughter of the

pale faces by their savage foes. A more sensible explana-

tion of the matter, however, is made from a scientific stand-

point. The State Geological Survey (Vol. Ill, p. 105), says

:

" This remarkable phenomenon is found in the fact that, at

an elevation of one hundred and thirty to one hundred and

forty feet above low water in the Licking River, the fossil-

iferous beds of the blue limestone are here covered up by

the barren sand and quartz pebbles strewed over the site

of the battle-ground. This sand and gravel lies from seven-

ty to eighty feet above the layers of the blue limestone, ex-

posed not far above the bridge." But to return to the bat-

tle of Blue Licks, which like that of Blenheim, was a famous

victory—for the Indians. A more complete defeat of the

whites never occurred on Kentucky soil, notwithstanding the

* While the country is celebrating ao many centennials—the battle of Blue LicHs
Bhould be celebrated on the 19th of August, 1882,

entire State was for years one vast battle-ground. It was

a miniature Blenheim, and a change of a word or two in the

following quotation from Southey's highly descriptive poem,

fully illustrates Blue Licks :

" They say it was a shocking sight

After the field was won

—

For many, many bodies there

Lay rotting in the sun

;

But things like that, you know, musi be

After a famous victorv."

A few days after the battle, Gen. Logan, who was ad-

vancing with a strong detachment from Lincoln County to

assist in the pursuit and chastisement of the savages, ar-

rived upon the fatal and disastrous field, where the sicken-

ing spectacle of bodies " rotting in the sun " met his view,

but the enemy were gone. Nothing remained to him but

to bury the dead. This he did, and then disbanded his

army and returned home. But the battle of Blue Licks is

more particularly described in a preceding chapter.

The Blue Lick Springs, which furnish the Blue Lick

water, famous the world over, are located in this county.

It is highly proper that such historic spots should be per-

petuated, and we give place to the following account of

these noted springs : The Upper and Lower Blue Lick

Springs are among the most valuable in the world, and the

water from both of which has an extended sale and use

probably not equaled in the United States, if elsewhere in

the world. As fashionable watering-places, or resorts for

health, recreation and amusement, the accommodations at

the Upper Spring have always been limited, and the

attendance correspondingly small. At the Lower Spring,

which has been much more widely known, the improve-

ments were very greatly extended in 1845. * * * *

The large cedar grove which occupies the site of the battle-

ground was formerly inclosed and set in blue grass. The
water of the two springs does not greatly differ in com-
ponent properties. It is highly valuable water, and acts as

a nervous stimulant, diuretic, etc.

For a hundred years or more these springs have been
known to the whites, and for the first forty years of that

time furnished much of the salt supply of Middle and
Northeast Kentucky. The Upper Blue Lick Salt Works in

1805 were fed by three pumps set in a spring—from which
flowed as much water " as would supply 1,000 kettles." At
the same time, salt was more extensively manufactured at

the Lower Spring. The following analysis, by Dr. Robert
Peter, State Chemist to the Geological Survey, of this water
is of interest

:
« The large Lower Spring emitted 678 gallons

per hour, equal to 26,272 gallons in the day of twenty-
four hours. Supposing the saline matters to constitute but

'^
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one per cent of the water, the amount brought out in one hour

would be more than fifty-eight pounds avoirdupois. But

say that fifty pounds an hour is the proportion, the quan-

tity will amount to 438,000 pounds per annum." The

original discovery of these springs is said to be as follows :

A party of men from Pennsylvania discovered the Upper

Blue Licks in 1773. Maj. John Einley, Col. James Perry,

James Hamilton and Joshua Archer were of the party.

They were engaged in surveying lands, and after survey-

ing several tracts, they, on the 26th of July, 1773, surveyed

one which included what they called the " Blue Lick " at

the time, and until some of the company found a large

lick down the river ; then they called it the " Upper Blue

Lick," and the other the " Lower Blue Lick." On their re-

turn to Pittsburgh, they drew lots, and this tract fell to

Finley, who, after the Revolutionary war (in which he was

Major of the Eighth Pennsylvania Regiment of Continental

troops), came out and settled upon it. At his death, it fell

to his son David D. Finley, who occupied it until recently.

Nicholas County was set off and organized into an

independent county in 1799, and was the last county

formed in Kentucky prior to 1800. Its territory was taken

from Bourbon and Mason Counties, and at the time of its

formation, its area was much more extensive than now, as

it contributed some 25,000 acres toward the formation of

Robertson County in 1867. After this huge bite was taken

off its northern frontier, it left Nicholas one of the small

counties of the State—like the Irishman's horse, " it is

little but it is ould," and holds its place among its neigh-

bors with as much dignity as San Marino itself. It is

situated a little northeast of the center of the State, and

since the last change in geographical limits, is bounded as

follows : On the north and northeast by Robertson and

Fleming Counties ; on the east by Fleming County, on the

south and southeast by Bourbon and Bath Counties, and on

the west by Harrison County. It is drained by the Licking

River and its numerous tributaries, and that portion of the

county which lies contiguous to Bourbon and Bath is

gently rolling and undulating—the remainder is rough,

broken and hilly. The timber consists of walnut, blue

ash, poplar, sugar-maple, hickory, several species of oak,

beech, elm, etc., etc.—the staple products are corn, wheat,

rye, oats, tobacco, etc., etc., with some hemp, cattle, hogs,

sheep and whisky, though the latter receives little atten-

tion as compared with some of the surrounding counties.

The county being formed, the next step was the organ-

ization of the courts, and the putting in motion its civil

machinery. This was accomplished with the opening dawn

of the present century, by a session of court held at the

house of Martin Baker in June, 1800. The act for

the formation of the county, which passed the year pre-

vious, was produced, bearing the signature of Gov.
James Garrard, and appointing as Justices of the Peace

Marvin Duvall, Cornelius Hall, Eli Metcalfe, John Collier,

David Gray, William Thompson, Thomas Vaughn, Henry
Dawson and Martin Baker, Jr., gentlemen, all of whom
were present and duly sworn. Nathan G. Standeford pre-

sented his commission from the Governor as Sheriff and
was qualified

; Lewis H. Arnold was appointed first Clerk,

giving John Drake, Nathan G. Standeford and Thomas
Arnold as security in the sum of £1,000. David Irwin

and Thomas Scott produced licenses to practice law
;

George M. Bedinger was appointed County Surveyor

;

Thomas Cobrill was appointed Constable ; David Irwin,

first County Attorney ; Philip Kenton the first Coroner and

also the first Jailer.

At this meeting of the court the county seat was located

on the land of Henry Clay, Jr., on Main Licking, in the

bend of the river, below the mouth of Stony Creek, oppo-

site Maj. Bedinger's Mills. Clay agreed to set apart

ninety acres of land to be laid out in town lots—the lots

to be sold by him on a credit of four years, and two acres

to be donated to the county for the public buildings. Bed-

inger also agreed to set apart thirty acres on the opposite

side of the river for town lots ; and further agreed " to

ferry, free of charge, on court and other public days, all

parties of the county attending the court house, and all

the inhabitants of the county who should be invited across

the river to stay all. night with friends." Two acres were

set apart on Clay's place for a jail and " stray pen," but

there is no record of a court house being built at this

place. A jail, howev^er, was built according to the follow-

ing plan :
" Building to be sixteen feet square, foundation

of stone three feet thick, and high enough to be raised

above the ground, on which is to be a floor of square tim-

bers laid close and one foot in thickness, over these was

laid crosswise a floor of three-inch plank pinned with two

pins to the square foot. On this floor was built a wall of

like timbers, one foot thick, fitting closely ; and inside of

this another similar wall, leaving a space of one foot be-

tween the walls, which was filled with stones not less than

two feet in face, and not less than eight inches thick, placed

on edge, with the small interstices filled with small stones,

lime and sand ; at the height of eight feet another fioor to

be laid similar to the first, and the outer wall continued up-

ward eight more feet, and a third similar floor laid, the

whole to be covered by a substantial roof of shingles.

Each story contained two windows eighteen inches square,

furnished with bars of one inch iron, placed three inches

apart. All timber to be of white oak, yellow locust or

'?;
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walnut." According to the report of the Commissioners,

the jail was not to cost over £200, and payment was to be
made in wheat at 3s, 6d per bushel, or money, at the op-

tion of the citizen, or if not paid before 1802, it must be
in money.

The court house was not allowed to remain here long
in peace and tranquillity. An act was passed by the State

Legislature in 1804 to remove the county seat to the farm
of James Ellis. The Commissioners met February 11,

1805, and laid oflf the ground for the public buildings, it

being a plat, rectangular in shape, 20x16 poles. A deed
to the plat from James Ellis to the Justices of the county
was acknowledged in July, 1805. Here was erected a jail

and a log court house. A jailer's house was added to the

jail in 1805, erected by William McClannahan, at a cost of

$403.75, he being the lowest bidder. May 9, 1816, Com-
missioners Roland T. Parker, of Lewis County ; William
B. Blackburne, Joseph Morgan, Thompson Ward, of
Greenup County

; and Anderson Miller, of Franklin
County, met to receive propositions for a permanent loca-

tion of the county seat. At that meeting, a proposition

was submitted by John Kincart, donating one and three-

fourths acres of land for a public square, setting apart

fifty acres to be laid off in town lots, every alternate lot to

be sold, and the money derived therefrom to be used in

erecting public buildings
; he also accompanied his propo-

sal with a subscription of $515.99, from 113 citizens, in

sums ranging from 50 cents to $20 ; he further offered the

use of his house till a suitable court house could be
erected. Proposals of fifty acres of land were also sever-

ally offered by William HoUaday, Isham Johnson and
Samuel Arnett; Jacob Jones offered one acre; G-. M.
Bedinger offered the old ground and $1,000 ; Thomas
Jones, of Paris, proposed one and one-third acres of
land for a puJblic square and $500—all upon the condi-

tion that the county seat was to be located upon their

respective places. At the May term of court, 1816, the

order passed accepting the proposition of John Kincart.

The town was surveyed and laid off in 139 lots by James
Thomson, and christened Carlisle. A jail, similar to the

one at EUisville, was built by Robert Hamilton in 1816.

The contract for building the first court house was let to

different parties ; the stone and brick work was done by
Thomas Metcalf, Alexander Blair, Thomas West and
Samuel Fulton for $1,700. The plastering was taken by
Thomas Metcalf and Robert Dykes for $840. The carpen-

ter's and joiner's work was taken by James P. Ashley and
William McClannahan for $2,800. The whole was com-

pleted in 1818. This building was torn down and the

present one erected in 1844, the entire contract being

taken by William Secrist and Green Remington for

$4,600 ; the clock was put in in 1847.

The present jail was built by West and Fitch Munger

for $6,000, and is a substantial structure.

The county seat was thus finally and permanently

located, but so frequently had it been changed and removed

from one place to another, that for several years after its

present location the county officers were in the habit

each morning, of sending out their deputies to ascertain if

the capital had again been removed during the night. In

another chapter will be found the names of many of the

county officers, past and present, and to avoid repetition

we will omit all mention here, except of the present incum-

bents, which are as follows : County Judge, A. J. Banta
;

Circuit Clerk, T. J. Glenn ; County Clerk, John A. Camp-

bell ; Sheriff, John Herrin ; Jailer, Robert Kincart

;

Assessor, J. B. Potts ; Coroner, William A. Fowle ; and

School Commissioner, B. H. Robinson.

The Poor House and Farm, as a county institution,

should have mention among the public buildings. Of the

Nicholas County Poor House, there is but little to say. It

is on Fulton Creek, about four miles northeast of Carlisle,

and was located here in 1858. The buildings are of logs

and are sufficient to accommodate thirty paupers, and the

farm attached comprises fifty acres. The house at present

is kept by 0. P. Brothers ; it is under the supervision of

the county court, and is supported by a per capita tax.

Previous to the adoption of the present constitution,

the county was laid off into but few divisions. In 1850

however, it was divided in a number of districts for elec-

tion and other purposes, in order to facilitate its business.

It is at present divided into six election precincts, which
are named and numbered as follows : Lower Blue Licks,

No. 1 ; Headquarters, No. 2 ; EUisville, No. 3 ; Carlisle,

No. 4 ; Union, No. 5 ; and Upper Blue Licks, or " Buzzard
Roost," No. 6. These precincts, as stated elsewhere, are

each supplied with two Justices of the Peace and one Con-

stable, who attend to the business of their respective pre-

cincts, and the Magistrates, taken together, form the

County Court, and transact all general county business.

The census of Nicholas County, from the time of its

organization in 1799, is as follows : In 1800, 2,925 ; in

1810, 4,898; in 1820, 7,973; in 1830, 8,834; in 1840,

8,745; in 1850, 10,361 ; in 1860, 11,039; in 1870, 9,129;

and in 1880, 11,869. The growth in population of the

county, it will be seen from the above figures, though
somewhat slow, has been steady, almost trebling in eight

decades.— W. H. Perrin.
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OHAPTEE II.

MORAL AND INTELLECTUAL DEVELOPMENT—ESTABLISHMENT OP CHURCHES—THE DEERING CAMP-GROUND—ITS GREAT

SUCCESS—SCHOOLS AND SCHOOL HISTORY—COLORED SCHOOLS—THE PRESS-WAR HISTORY.

If we work upon marble it will perish ; if we work upon brass,

time will efface it ; if we rear temples, they will crumble into

dust, but if we work upon immortal minds, if we imbue them
with pure principles, with the just fear of God and love of fel-

low-men, we engrave on those tablets something which will

brighten to all eternity.

—

Daniel Webster.

THE religious and educational histibry of Nicholas, show-

ing its moral and intellectual development, should not

be omitted in a work ofthis character. The preaching of the

Gospel was coeval with the settlement of the county. " In

the cool and silent shade they knelt down, and offered

prayer and supplication " to the Author of their being, for

his protecting care. Mr. Kennedy, in a sketch of the

Presbyterian Church of Carlisle, written for this work,

says :
" The first church of any denomination ever organ-

ized in what is now Nicholas County, was organized about

1795-96—at Old Concord, two and a half miles southeast

of Carlisle, a point which, by reason of the almost wonder-

ful religious experiences which the church at that point

enjoyed, and the singular manifestations there witnessed in

the early part of this century, has a historic and pleasing

interest, as connected with church history in Kentucky,

second to no place in the State. The extraordinarily large

crowds of people traveling from afar, and bearing with

them ' daily bread ' sufficient to sustain them through even

long protracted sieges, and waiting before G-od and upon

the Spirit and the word. The inspiration with which the

services of sermons, exhortations, prayer and song seemed

to fill them, and take so deep hold as to be by some re-

garded as a sort of frenzy, the unusually large number

who daily at these meetings found the peace in believing

that passeth understanding—these, we say, were almost

marvelously astounding, particularly to those, at least, who

not having an indwelling knowledge and consciousness

of the power of the Gospel, backed and driven home to

the hearts of men by the Holy Spirit, were only prepared

to witness such manifestations with and in a spirit of un-

belief." A more complete history of this old church will

be found in another chapter. An early minister of this

church was the Eev. Barton W. Stone, one of the ablest

ministers of his day, and of whom a lengthy sketch will

be found elsewhere in this volume. He was pastor of this

church, and Cane Ridge Church, in Bourbon County, at the

same time, and became pastor of them as far back as 1798.

He was a Presbyterian in those early days, but finally be-

came a disciple of the new doctrine of Alexander Camp-

bell, and a zealous minister of the Christian Church from

that time until his death. The particulars of the organiza-

tion of churches and their early pastors will be given in

their respective towns and precincts, and no further history

given here than merely the introduction of Christianity

into the Western wilderness, as Kentucky was then known.

In conclusion of this preliminary sketch, we will devote a

few pages to the famous " camp-meeting grounds " near

Carlisle, as being altogether appropriate.

The following extract of the " Deering Camp Ground,"

is from " The Camp-Meeting Daily" August 7, 1878, Vol. I,

No. 1, and gives the " Origin of the Deering Camp-Meet-

ing," etc., by Rev. Morris Evans. We reproduce the ex-

tract, which is as follows :
" Deering Camp-Meeting is

held on Parks' Hill, located on the Licking River. This

hill is a triangular elevation of some seven or eight acres

in size. The top of the hill is about 200 feet above the

level of the Licking River, on the north side of the cliff

overlooking the river. On the southeast side is the valley

of Cassidy Creek, along which runs the Carlisle and Flem-

ingsburg pike ; also, on the side of the hill, a branch rail-

road, connecting the Kentucky Central Railroad with the

saw-mill. The southwest side is headed by the Maysville

& Lexington branch of the Kentucky Central Railroad

;

here, too, is a hilly bluff looking down on the railroad.

From almost every point, the eye has spread out before it

a panorama of beautiful scenery. This hill seven years

ago was an isolated spot left to grow up in briers and the

rough undergrowth indigenous to these Licking hills. It

gave no promise of the beautiful resort, carpeted with our

Kentucky blue grass, and shaded by magnificent forest

trees, where the refinement and culture of our county can

find respite from care, and the repose of a country home,

where Dame Nature has doffed her rough attire and smiles

in loveliness to welcome all appreciative visitors. The hill

is named after Col. T. S. Parks, the efficient and generous

President of the Washington Manufacturing & Mining

^,
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Company. This company owns the camp-ground, hence

the name of the location.

" As a place of religious worship, it is called ' Deering

Camp-Uround' in honor of the Eev. S. S. Deering, of the

Kentucky Annual Conference, Methodist Episcopal Church

South, by whom this enterprise was first conceived, pro-

jected, and th^n brought into existence by his faithful and

persistent endeavors. At this time, Mr. Deering was pas-

tor of the Carlisle Circuit, in the bounds of which the

grounds are located. Among the many very valuable

achievements of his long, laborious, career but few, if

any of his enterprises will reflect more credit upon his

sound judgment and diligent labor than this. Each suc-

ceeding year is showing more and more its capacity for

good and exact adaptation as to location and surroundings

for the great purpose contemplated. The following letter

from him in response to a request for information as to its

early history, will be read with interest by all
:

"

Gabbaed County, Kt., July 26, 1878.

Brother Evans—"When I lived in Carlisle, seven years

ago, I noticed a large element of society which attended church

nowhere. In my association with the people, and in traveling

over the county on foot and on horseback, I found many fami-

lies unreached by any Christian agency then in use. These are

facts ; and I had often noticed them before, and it excited in me
the question. What can be done to wake up and interest these

people in religion? Is there not some way to call them out and
associate them, with the better elements of society, and to get

their thoughts on God, their duty to Him and to themselves and
to their country? I could see that a circus, a picnic, an election,

a fair and many other things which excited curiosity and made
an idle hour pleasant to them, could and would draw them, and
I said to myself, " a woods meeting, that's the thing for them ;"

it will draw them, and while the novelty is getting them into

position, I can preach the Gospel to them and sing to them of

"Jesus and His love." "Walking to an appointment one day
from Myers' Station to Sam. Ishmael's, I passed by Parks' Hill,

then a tangled thicket of briers and brush, I thought I saw a good
place for a "woods meeting" if I could get the use of it and

get it cleared up. But minus money and friends, how was such

an end to be reached? I found that the ground belonged to Parks,

Dorsey & Co., and to one of the members I went with my ac-

counts. "When he and Mr. JeflE Glenn heard me, he said he

would have the ground cleared up, and we'd look at it. That
was one step. That done, I suggested a camp-ground as you
now have it. Mr. Glenn and his friends feared the sentiment of

the people was not up to a point which would allow such a thing

as to pay your way to worship. I replied that if I had the means
to build I'd risk it. Then he said they would bmld a shed, and

if it didn't succeed as a meeting, it would do for a tobacco shed.

And thus assured, I went forward for a camp-meeting.

But then a new difficulty crossed me. The church objected,

threatening to stop the supplies if I didn't stop the camp-meet-

ing. Some said the people would steal all the melons, fruit,

chickens and roasting-ears in the vicinity. Others said it would

bring in a tide of debauchery. At one time, violent threats were

made in view of my perseverance. Meantime, with fasting,

prayers and many tears, the work was pushed. Col. Parks, Mr.

Glenn and others, nobly seconded all my efforts ; but the strain

on my sensitive nerves became too great for me, and Dr. Tilton

sent me off to rest awhile.

"While the District Conference was in session at Carlisle, I

persuaded Mr. Glenn, who was then Superintendent of the rail

road, to give all the members a free ride to the camp-ground, and

thus by a free ride, get many of them to see what else they could

see on the ground. They voted the arrangement a success, and

gave it their countenance and commended it to the people.

At this stage Brother Poynter's help was sought and by him
was as cordially given, as he always gives it where his judgment
approves. He helped me to get the preachers to come, for they,

like many others, gave it the cold shoulder, and he encouraged

his people in Millersburg to attend. Bishop Kavanaugh also

gave his influence to the meeting. A few noble women, may
heaven bless them ! they will never know in this world how my
heart blessed them when I saw their dear faces at the first meet-

ing, giving me words of encouragement.

At length, with a good shed, a few cottages and a meager
outfit generally, our first meeting began. Some of the good old-

time Methodist people came in promptly, but, as of old, " when
the sons of God came to present themselves before the Lord, the

devil came also." The weather was hot, the grounds were dusty,

the water gave out, and just then, with the mercury at ninety,

some good old ladies, in lighting their pipes for a smoke after

dinner, dropped a match among the dry rubbish which had been

taken from the ground, and in half an hour we were surrounded

by a ball of flame, and, for awhile, it looked as if everything on
the ground would be burned up. But quiet came, Moses preached,

there was a good meeting and the evening train came ; but, alas !

a rain came up ; most of the coaches were open flats ; the ground
had been worked up to a powder, and, with the rain, the hurry-

ing to and fro there, left the gi-ounds the wettest, muddiest, the

most hungry and thirsty, mad crowd of men, women and children

that I ever saw.

But withal, we had a good meeting
;
good was done. The

company saw there was good in it, at least enough of them did,

to go forward and fix for another meeting the next year. And so,

from year to year, they have improved the grounds, and the meet-
ings have become more and more interesting to the public, and
the attendance has increased each year with the company's im-
proved accommodations, and the present meeting will no doubt
excel any former one in the means of enjoyment afforded to all

who may attend. If those having the management could pre-

vent the worldly, pleasure-seeking element of our nature from
pressing the occasion into the service of the carnal mind, the
camp meeting ought to be a power for good ; but the half-skep-
tical state of the public mind just now will require great diligence

on the part of the Christians to keep out the worldly spirit.

S. S. Dbbbing.

The above extract gives so complete a history of this

famous " camp-ground," that further attempt at description

would be superfluous. Enough has been said upon this

subject, and of the churches at large, to show that the

people of Nicholas are a God-fearing people, and pay con-

siderable attention to the claims of the Grospel.

•^M®-
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The schools of the county next require a few words at

our hands. Like all portions of not only Central Ken-

tucky, but the entire State, there is not the attention paid

to the common schools their importance demands. The

Northern and Western States are far ahead of us in educa-

tional matters. According to the last report of the State

Superintendent of Schools, there are in Nicholas County

3,409 white children of school age, and 337 colored chil-

dren. The amount paid to teachers of white schools for

the year ending October 10, 1881, was $5,321.12 ;
amount

paid colored teachers, $210.10. The county is laid off into

forty-seven districts for the white schools, in which are

schoolhouses of a rather inferior quality. There are four

colored schools in the county—one in Carlisle, one in Ellis-

ville, or "Shakerag," one in Headquarters, and one in

"Buzzard's Roost." The schools are supplied by the county,

except the Carlisle School, which is taught by the mhiister

of the Reformed Church.

The white schools are supplied with the best teachers

to be had in the vicinity, and are male teachers mostly.

The following extract pertaining to country schools is sen-

sible, and deserves a careful perusal :
" Country schools

are neglected both by those who write for our educational

papers, and by institute instructors, unless some eminent

educator condescends to devote a portion of time or space

to his views of tlie country teacher's work ; but then thej'

are theoretical and not practical, and every country teacher

is obliged to apply them with many modifications. Men
who have spent years in common schools, and are fresh with

experience in successful practice, are the ones whose

opinions we are anxious to hear ; not some eminent char-

acter who has probably taught one or two terms in the

country years ago, and then stepped thence into the

higher schools, and now goes around lecturing to Teach-

er's Institutes for $50 per week. Country teachers are not

so easily imposed on as this, and it is one reason why so

many do not attend the county institutes. Experience has

taught many that these instructors are but blind guides

when they lecture about country schools. The country

teacher is by far the most original." These remarks con-

tain much truth. It is impossible to teach the country

schools with the same amount of red tape that is bound

around those in cities and large towns. There is a little

too much form and ceremony in all the schools for the

rapid advancement of the pupils.

The State Superintendent has the following upon com-

pulsory education, a subject now attracting considerable

attention in several of the States :
" The African race is

here and ' will not go.' Shall it remain in ignorance, and

entail by the costs of crime a greater expense to the State

than their education, besides furnishing the tremendous

power of a corrupt constituency to rural demagogues who

aspire to feed and fatten at the ' public crib ' on the prod-

ucts of intelligence, industry and virtue?' Such views as

the facts compel our forcing the two questions of com-

pulsory and moral education upon the public attention, as

a preventive of crime and waste.

" Can the State leave to the election of ignorant parents,

unconscious of the benefits of education, and the shame of

ignorance, or to truant children undisciplined by parental

authority, the decision of this great interest of education.

In times of pestilence, municipalities compel cleanliness

and the use of prophylactics. Is not the moral and mental

health of the people equal in importance to their physical

health ? It is well known that even disease of an epidemic

character is born in the slums, and bred in the purlieus of

of ignorance and vice. ***** Our children flock

to the same schools, congregate on the village commons,

read the same literature, and compete for the prizes, ' etc.,

etc." Then it is not only essential to educate our chil-

dren and our neighbor's children, for the sake of dispel-

ling ignorance, but for the sake of cleanliness, which we

are told is next to Godliness.

The press is so well written up by Mr. Chappell in the

history of Carlisle that we can find nothing to say of it

here, but refer the reader to his sketch.

The war history is also written up in other chapters of

this volume, and will not be repeated.

—

Perrin.

^ el -
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CHAPTER III.
INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS—THE OLD MAYSVILLE ROAD—OTHER TURNPIKES—BRIDGES AND RArLROADS—BUILDING OF

THE KENTUCKfZ CENTRAL RAILROAD— DISTILLERIES— AGRICULTURE—ITS RISE,

PROGRESS AND GROWTH IN THE COUNTY.

A MONG the internal improvements of Nicholas County
-^^^ are her turnpike and macadamized roads. In quantity

and quality, those scarcely compare with some of the sur-

rounding counties, but are, withal, a fine system of roads.

That great thoroughfare of travel, the old "Maysville
Road," passes through Nicholas County. The following is

from a newspaper article written by Mr. Chappell :
" In

the year 1832, a survey was made through Nicholas of that

great highway forming a part of the route from the Capitol

City of Washington, passing through Maryland, Virginia,

Pennsylvania, Ohio and Kentucky, on to Florence in Ala-

bama. Two routes had been surveyed, one via Carlisle'and

one via Forest Retreat. At that time. Gen. Metcalfe was in

Congress, an ex-Governor and a man of wealth and influ-

ence. He was bitterly opposed to the Carlisle route, and
used his influence in behalf of the survey by his own farm
and homestead which he called Forest Retreat. Notwith-
standing the General's opposition, Carlisle could have had
the road for about eight thousand dollars ! But, alas ! the

warm friends of the road were few, and unable to cope
with the General. It would have cost the road all the dif-

ference to have, made it through Carlisle, for every one
knows what a favorable route the road has, following the

bed of Stony Creek and its tributaries ; still there was a

wish that Carlisle might get the road, on the part of
the directory, because, as the county seat of a county
through which twelve miles of the road had to run, it was
felt that in justice the county seat should bave it. But the

die was east, and the road was located within two and one-

half miles of us, and for nearly fifteen years we floundered

in the mud, held in scorn and derision by our neighbors,

and compelled to see the trade from our very doors carried

off to Millersburg and Mayslick, while even Forest Retreat

and Oakland Jlills put on airs, built up their great mills

and stores and competed with us for the little that was
left. In the meantime, the Maysville directory angered at

our indifference, stuck a toll-gate right under our very

nose, leaving a long unbroken stretch to Millersburg, thus

turning the whole tide of our trade from Beaver Creek,

Steele's Run, the Lower Brushy Fork and all the circumja-

cent country right into the lap of Millersburg. And there

that toll-gate stands to this day, a standing insult to the

town, and j'et a memorial of our own folly."

Thus it is, that like the base Judean, " who threw a

pearl away, richer than all his tribe," we throw away the

golden opportunities that lie before us. It is another

example of the superiority of our "hindsight" over our
" foresight." Had this road passed through Carlisle instead

of a few miles from the town, the advantages would have

been large, and far exceeded the insignificant sum of

of $8,000. But our ancestors were not alive to enterprise,

such as chai-acterize their wide-awake descendants.

The first turnpike in Nicholas County, aside from the

Maysville road, was chartered in 1845, and extended from

Carlisle to Forest Retreat, a distance of three miles. In

1855, a survey was made for the Carlisle and Sharpsburg

pike, but the road was not completed for several years

later. At the present time, several turnpike and macada-
mized roads diverge from Carlisle leading to the most
important places in other neighborhoods. Good bridges

span many of the larger streams, where the most important

roads cross them. An early improvement in the county

was a ferry. What is still known as " Parks' Ferry," was
established very early across the Licking River, not far

from Upper Blue Licks. Other ferries were established

where trade and travel most required them.

The railroad history of Nicholas County is soon written.

It is comprised in the Maysville Division of the Kentucky
Central, and may be briefly tpld. The Maysville road was
chartered as the Lexington & Maysville Railroad, and the

project was agitated as early as 1848—about the same time
the Lexington & Covington Railroad enterprise was inau-

gurated. After expending something like $1,500,000 upon
it, the enterprise failed—the Lexington & Maysville Rail-

road went into bankruptcy, Henry Waller, of Maysville,

President, at the time. Just after the close of the late war,

a new company was organized, with Abner Hord, President.

Mason County subscribed $200,000, and Bourbon $200,000.
The charter gave the company license to issue $500,000 in

bonds, but Nicholas refused, by a vote of her people, a bonded

^^
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debt. She, however, afterward voted 3 cents on the $100 of

taxable property of the county toward the completion of the

road. After expending the amount of subscriptions, it was

still unfinished, and the bonds were sold in New York for

$500,000, with which sum the work was completed in 1871,

and the road put in running order. After being in operation

for a few years, the company found it could not pay ex-

penses, the road was sold at public auction by the United

States Marshal of Kentucky, and bid oflf to Mr. Henry Bell,

of Lexington, for J. B. Alexander, of New York, for $400,-

000. It was operated for two or three years under this

regime, and then sold to the Kentucky Central, and has

since been operated as a division of that system.

From the nature of the country through whicli it passes,

it seems somewhat strange that it pays no better than it

does. It appears that, like the Indian's gun, which was

"more expense than profit," its earnings have never been

sufficient to put it in first-class order, or even keep it in

good repair. With one terminus at the Ohio River and the

other at Lexington, where it has connections with all parts

of the State, are facilities that ought to give it an extensive

business. The following editorial, however, from the Carl-

isle Mercury, of December 1, 1881, shows something of the

estimation in which it is held in the community through

which it passes. Speaking of the condition of the road and

the numerous accidents, the editor thus humorously pays

it his respects :

" For peculiar eccentricities and an odd make-up gen-

erally, we will bet a grease spot against 5 cents' worth of

wind pudding that there is no railroad in the United States

that can hold a burnt chunk, much less a candle, to the old

dilapidated, rickety, lop-sided string of twisted iron and rot-

ten logs that stretches its ragged length up the happy val-

ley of the Brushy Fork, under the high-sounding title of the

Kentucky Central Railroad. If the concern were to occa-

sionally blow up an engine, run over some one, or jump

through a bridge, it would be nothing out of the regular

line of railroad catastrophes, but the crazy old thing has a

habit of doing so many peculiar acts that we are nervous

when in its Vicinity, and, at the approach of a train, we feel

a disposition to get out of the way, as it is liable at any

time to cut a funny caper. We have known a railroad

train to jump through a bridge and down a hundred feet

into a river, killing seventy-five persons, but we have never

heard of any other than a Kentucky Central train that has,

while running along through a perfectly level section of

country, jumped up in the air and come down slap across

the track, and we do not think there is another railroad in

the country whose trains get off the track to ' butt
'
stone

walls. Whatever peculiarities may characterize it in the

future, we do not think it can surpass its recent rare eccen-

tricities. On last Wednesdaj^ evening, while coming up

from Maysville, the freight train was suddenly taken with

one of its eccentric whims and deliberately got off the track,

went over and lay down in a fence corner like a tired hog,

where it lay barricading the way and delaying the passen-

ger train until late the next day."

The following appeared in the same paper a few weeks

previous to the extract given above :
'' A. K. C. train

jumped the track down at Elizaville the other day, and an-

other train on the same road jumped the track over at Tal-

bott's Station, ditching five freight cars. From these latest

freaks it will be seen that the regular jumping-off place has

been changed from Millersburg to anj' where along the line

from Maysville to Covington. It would have been better

to have kept up the old habit of jumping off at one place,

as the passengers would know just when to cling to their

seats. While going down to Maysville the other night, a

headlight on the train took fire and burned up, and the

train had to go to Maysville in the dark. On another oc-

casion, the engine blew out its whistle and has been gliding

into the stations without the usual signal. Again while

going up the road the other da}', the train was suddenly

seized with one of its peculiar fits and jumped ' slap dab'

up against a stone wall, tearing away a pair of steps, and

abruptly shaking up the passengers. What next ?
"

The manufacture of whisky has received some attention

in Nicholas County, though not to that extent that it has

in other blue grass counties, which make it one of their

main staples. It was an early industry in this county,

however, and man}' of the early settlers indulged in its

manufacture. Hence, distilleries and mills were cotempo-

raneous manufacturing industries of this section. But, in

later years, the people have advanced a step above this

rather questionable business, devoting their talents and en-

ergies to more creditable, if less remunerative, callings, and

the distillation of whisky now receives little attention in

the count}'.

The agriculture of the county next claims our atten-

tion. The following sketch is written for this work, by

Thomas Kennedy, Esq. The article is well and ably written,

and we earnestly commend it to our readers. It is as fol-

lows:

" The History of the Agriculture of Nicholas County

since its formation in 1799, does not differ materially from

that of the surrounding counties. The preparation of the

land for the plow was a work of the most arduous charac-

ter. The entire surface of the county was thickly covered

with large timber, the growth of centuries. Beneath this

large timber, but struggling up in dense masses, was aa
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undergrowth similar in kind to the larger growth, and

plentifully interspersed with briers and thorns. To grub

and remove such an undergrowth, then to cut down and

chop in proper lengths the trees, splitting the smoothest

and best of the trunks into rails or firewood, and piling up

and burning the remainder of them before the ground could

be tilled, was a task that required in its performance the

most vigorous muscle and the stoutest heart.

" The pioneers of this county were specially endowed

in body and temperament for the accomplishment of this

work. The timber was of various kinds, and its quality in

this county, as it stood in its native grandeur, was probably

unsurpassed. During the first forty years after the founda-

tion of this county, the best of the timber was destroyed as

an incumbrance upon the ground and an obstruction to

the operations of the farmer. To allow it to decay was too

slow a process. It was cut into convenient lengths and

piled into heaps—log-heaps as they were then called—and

burned. Log-rollings and quiltings were among the chief

merry-makings in those days. The farmer who proposed

to clear out a ' piece of new ground,' cut down the trees

chopped them into the required length, cut and piled the

brush so as to have it out of the way, and, having fixed

upon a dajf, invited all his neighbors to the ' log-rolling.'

His wife having ' put a quilt into the frames,' invited all

the ladies in the neighborhood to the quilting, selecting for

the quilting the same day fixed for the log-rolling. The

invited guests of both sexes were on hand promptly, soon

after the usual breakfast hour, and ready for business.

" Log-rolling consisted not in rolling the logs, except

rarely, but in carrying the logs from the places where they

lay and piling them together in a heap. For this purpose

handspikes were used. These were the bodies of saplings

—usually dogwood—selected on account of their tough-

ness, and about six feet in length, and from two and a half

to three inches in diameter. A handspike was put under

each end of the log, so that the log would rest on the

middle of the spike, and if it was very large and heavy,

one or more spikes were put under near the middle of the

log, and one man grasped each end of the spike, a,nd in that

way the log was carried to the heap. Lifting thus at the

handspike was the severest test of the physical strength

and endurance of a man in raising and carrying a heavy

burden. These handspike exercises strained every nerve

to its utmost, and happy was the man who possessed suffi-

cient backbone to carry him triumphantly through such an

ordeal. If he 'outlifted' every other man on the ground,

he was declared the champion of the handspike, while on

the other hand, if one ' let down ' at the handspike, he

was an object of derision, because he lacked physical

strength to carry his allotted burden. In these days the

politicians, who are the most successful log-rollers, are not

noted for an excess of backbone. But our ancestors es-

teemed chiefly those qualities, the exercise of which was

most conducive to their well-being.

"The log-rollings were also occasions for leaping,

wrestling, running foot-races and other manly exercises,

and occasionally for a fist and skull encounter, the san-

guinary consequences of which tended in no small degree

to keep alive the memory of the name of the ' dark and

bloody ground ' which Kentucky has so long borne—

a

name which at one time was regarded as the synonym of

chivalry, but as now applied savors rather of reproach.

" In the house, the women plied their needles with skill

and industry, and by the time the last log was put upon

the heap the quilt was finished. After supper, the fiddler

took his stand, and while he indulged in the usual amount

of twanging the strings and drawing the bow across them

to ascertain if the fiddle was in proper tune, partners were

chosen, and when the music began, 'Merrily danced the

Quaker's wife, and merrily danced the Quaker.' The cares

and toils of life were all forgotten amid the excitement and

joyousness of the dance.

" The farmers in the early days of the county depended

very largely upon their maple trees for a supply of sugar

and molasses. The season usually opened about the mid-

dle of February, and closed from the 1st to the 10th of

March. A maple tree grove, or ' sugar camp,' as it was

then called, of one hundred trees, would yield ordinarily

from one hundred and twenty-five to one hundred and fifty

pounds of sugar and fifteen to twenty gallons of molasses

in a season. While molasses was delicious to the taste,

the sugar was riot especially palatable in tea or coffee. The

loaf sugar was a luxury that was only indulged in on very

rare occasions. The party of tea-drinkers who could

sweeten their tea with loaf sugar thought themselves highly

favored.

" The waste of timber that has been going on for so

many years has almost denuded the country of trees.

There are but very few ' sugar camps ' left in the country.

The making of maple sugar and molasses is no longer a

necessity, but to the extent they are now made they are

sold and bought at fancy prices, as luxuries.

" The implements of husbandry were few and extremely

rude. The ' Cary ' plow that was used for breaking up

the ground, had an iron bar and a wooden moldboard, and

made a furrow about -eight inches wide and from two to

three inches deep. While the soil was fresh and had

depth, the quality of the plowing was not so material. But
when the soil began to be exhausted, particularly where

r
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the surface was hilly, the shallow plowing that was done

put the soil into a condition most favorable to be washed

away by the first hard rain. The process of clearing out

a fresh piece of ground was so tedious and involved so

much hard labor that the farmer raised the same kind of

crop year after year upon the same piece of ground. The

result was the soil was exhausted, the land was washed

into great gullies, and in that exposed and non-productive

condition it was turned out into the commons. In too

many instances no efibrt was made to repair the waste that

had been committed, but the old field was relegated to

Nature for her to reclaim it by whatever renovating powers

she might possess. Many farmers in the early days of the

county, as well as at the present time, seem to be pos-

sessed with the delusion that their land can only be pre-

pared for the production of grasses by cultivating it in

grain until it is completely, or at least well-nigh, exhausted.

The consequences of such a course of farming are pain-

fully apparent in many parts of the county.

"Prior to 1840, the Diamond plow was introduced, and

was a great improvement. It was a strong, steady-run-

ning plow, capable of plowing the ground to any depth,

that might be desired. It was manufactured as far back

as 1840 by T. J. McCormick, Esq., who now lives at Forest

Eetreat, but who then lived on the Maysville & Lexing-

ton Turnpike, two miles east of Millersburg, but in this

county. Neither the house in which he then lived nor the

shop in which he worked is standing. Other plows have

superseded the Diamond, but it is doubtful if any of them

excel it in eflaciency. In process of time, the harrow came

into use. The principal improvement in the harrow has

been to increase its width and the number of its teeth,

thus adding to its weight and effectiveness. After the

harrow came the roller ; its advent among the clods, and

its crushing effect upon them, was viewed with the liveliest

satisfaction by the unfortunate boy who was too small to

plow, buf was regarded as just the proper age to hoe the

corn. Hoeing corn has almost fallen into disuse, yet as a

means of cultivation, one good hoeing is equal to at least

two plowings. Farmers are gradually awakening to the

folly of allowing their old fields to lie out fallow. A non-

producing field is not only dead capital, but it is a sad dis-

figurement of the face of nature. To reduce fruitful land

to a barren condition is a gross abuse of the bounty of a

beneficent Creator. It is more deserving of condemnation

than the conduct of the wicked and slothful servant, who

hid his Lord's money, but preserved at least what had

been entrusted to him. At first the sickle was the only

implement used in harvesting wheat. The reaper would

cut a ' through ' about four feet wide, holding the grain

with his left hand as he cut it, then dropping it in handfuls

on his left. When he reached the end of the ' through,'

he placed the sickle on his left shoulder, and thence return-

ing, bound into bundles the grain he had just cut. Each

reaper cut about one acre per day. The price ranged from

fifty to seventy-five cents per day, and three square meals,

but the day was generally from daylight till dark, with a

short rest at noon. The fastest reaper was usually selected

for the leader for the day, and the reaper who ' gave out,'

and had to go to the shade to rest, was the victim of many
a rude joke. The sickle has almost gone out of use. Grain

cradles were introduced about 1825, and are still in use.

On account of the unevenness of the surface of a large

part of the county, and the presence of rocks, it is difficult,

if not impossible to use advantageously the modern

reapers. The cradle is much used, and will continue to be,

not more from choice than from necessity. The grain,

whether wheat, rye or oats, was separated from the straw

by means of a flail which consisted of two sticks of wood

fastened together at the ends by means of a cord, and

leaving a space of two or three inches between the ends of

the sticks. One of the sticks, the one which the flailman

took in his hands, was about six or eight feet in length,

and the other was about half that length. The bundles

were untied and laid upon rails, underneath which was a

sheet that received the grain and chaff as they we.e

threshed from the straw. The grain was separated from

the chaff by throwing both up into the air, and as the

grain fell to the ground the chaff was blown awa}' from the

wheat by the wind. Afterward, the grain was trodden out

by horses, either upon the floor in the barn or upon the

ground in the open air, and the grain and chaff were then

separated by the use of the wheat or wind-mill, then called

a wheat fan. While the steam or horse power threshers

now in use will thresh as much grain in a day as could

formerly have been trodden out by four or six horses in a

month, the process is not especially economical, and it is very

difficult to get pure, clean seed wheat from the thresher

because of the rye, cheat and cockle that collect in and are

carried by the thresher. The chief products of this

county have been corn, wheat, oats, hay, rye and tobacco.

Very little barley or hemp has been raised in the county.

The soil of Nicholas is well adapted to blue grass, and also

to timothy and (red) clover, all of which are raised from

seed that is sown. White clover seems to be indigenous to

the soil, and is regarded by farmers as excellent for grazing,

especially for hogs. Forty years ago it was the custom of

farmers to turn their hogs upon (red) clover by the 10th of

May, at which time the clover was in full bloom. Of late

years, it is rarely in bloom before the 20th of May. The
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breeding of horses has been extensively followed in this

county, but has never been very profitable to the farmer.

Mules have been raised to a considerable extent, and fat-

tened and driven to the Southern market principally, and

have been a source of considerable income to the county;

but, as a general rule, among those who handled mules, the

greatest profits were made by the farmer who raised and

sold them at weaning time. A majority of the mule

traders, that is, those who bought them when fatted and

drove them to and sold them in the Southern markets, have

failed in business sooner or later. The raising of cattle

has been, and is yet, a favorite industry with the farmers of

Nicholas, and those who have intelligently devoted their

energies to that business have uniformly prospered.

" The existence of slavery in the county did not, so far

as can be ascertained, have any decided or even .perceptible

influence upon the agriculture of the county. At the be-

ginning of the late civil war, the number of slaves in the

county was about 2,250, and were owned principally by

those living in the western and southern part of the county.

" According to the Auditor's report, the number of acres

of land in this county in 1850 was 141,000 acres. In 1877,

the county of Kobertson was formed in part out of terri-

tory belonging to Nicholas County. About 25,000 acres

were taken from Nicholas and included in Kobertson. The

part thus taken was not an average in value with the re-

mainder of the land in this county.

"In 1880, the number of acres was 116,864, valued at

$1,893,270, or $16.20 per acre. The increase in the value

of real estate during the decades above named has not

been as large as could be desired, nor can even that in-

crease be attributed solely to the improvement in the soil

as a result of judicious farming. There must be taken in-

to account the general growth and development of the

country, the local improvements, such as turnpikes, the

railroad, and increased cost of buildings erected, especially

in the county seat and in the other towns within the county.

"Hemp has not been cultivated except to a very limited

extent. Forty to fifty years ago. Col. John S. Morgan, then

a leading citizen of the county, raised hemp for several

years on his farm near Carlisle. Also, Nimrod Wood, one

of the principal farmers in the western part of the county,

cultivated hemp for many years prior to the Fate civil war,

and to some extent during and for a few j-ears succeeding

the close of the war. The difficulty of commanding the

kind of labor necessary to handle and prepare hemp for

market has been the obstacle in the va.y of raising it more

extensively. A considerable area of land in the county

was adapted to the growth of hemp. Upon soil that is

adapted to the growth of hemp, several crops of'hemp may
be raised in succession without exhausting the soil. The

last crop of hemp raised in the county was raised in 1868,

and amounted to 15,000 pounds. The crop in 1867

amounted to 25,000 pounds.

" Tobacco, that is now becoming one of the chief prod-

ucts of the county, was cultivated on a very limited scale

in the county for about thirty years before the late war.

Its growth was confined to the northern part of the coun-

ty, and chiefiy to that part of the county that was includ-

ed in Kobertson County at its formation. The farmers in

the more fertile portions in the count}' did not cultivate it,

because it was regarded as very exhausting upon the soil

and also for the reason that its culture necessitated the ex-

pense of erecting large barns in which to house it while

preparing it for market. Prior to the war, the price of it

did not at any time exceed $10 to $12 per hundred pounds,

and generally ranged from $6 to $8 per hundred for the qual-

ity raised in this county, while eight to ten hundred pounds

to the acre was an average crop. The high prices that have

been realized during and since the war have greatly stimu-

lated its production. The quality has been much improved
and the average yield per acre has been increased thirty

per cent. Many farmers now raise 1,200 to 1,500 pounds
per acre, and some even exceed the latter figures, and ob-

tain prices ranging from $12 to $20 per hundred pounds,

according to the quality of the tobacco when prepared for

market. The work of raising it is not very laborious, but

requires skill and unremitting care and watchfulness in

handling it from the time the plants are set out until the

finishing touch is given to it preparatory to starting it to

market. Experience has demonstrated that the deteriorat-

ing effects upon ground produced by growing tobacco upon
it may be not only entirely counteracted but improved by
sowing rye upon the ground as soon as the tobacco is cut.

When the rye is sown early, so as to be forward in growth,

it prevents the land from washing, furnishes excellent

grazing for stock, and when turned under in the spring, is

one of the very best of fertilizers. During the year 1881,

there wore shipped 488 carloads of stock from Carlisle, of

which number 240 were cattle, 126 hogs, 108 sheep, 6
horses, and 8 mules. Not all of the above stock was
raised in this county, but it is estimated that that which
was brought from other counties for shipment from this

point did not excel that which was driven from the western
portion of the county for shipment from Cynthiana. Sev-
en hundred and fifty hogsheads of tobacco were shipped
from Carlisle, also eighty carloads of wheat, in 1881.

Perrin.
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CHAP TEE IV.

THE FINE STOCK INTERESTS OF NICHOLAS COUNTY— CATTLE IMPROVEMENTS— IMPORTATION OF SHORT

HORNS—SOME OF THE FINE HERDS AND BREEDERS—MERINO SHEEP— OTHER IMPROVED

BREEDS — THE IMPROVEMENT IN HORSES— HOGS, ETC.

THE stock-rearing interests of this county are very

meagre, compared with the leading interest in

some other counties which make up the famous stock-

producing region of Kentucky. With a mild atmos-

phere, it is the most favorable for the production of blue

grass and stock. The southern portion of the county is

of a lower degree of productiveness, and the northern

portion extremely rough, rocky, and not adapted to the

production of cereals, grasses or stock. The following

article on the improvement of stock was written for this

chapter by Col. Parks, of this county, and is as accurate

as can now be ascertained. "The first attempt at breed-

ing in the county was due to the enterprise of Mr.

Char'es Neal, who in the fall of 1847, at a sale made in

Paris, Kentucky, by John A. Gano, purchased the cow

Cambria, got by 686 Bertram 3d (3144), bred by Col. J.

H. Powell. This cow afterward became famous as the

1st dam of all the Jenny Lind family, the posterity of

whi.h are found in many of the most popular herds of

this and other States. This cow, Cambria, the purchase

of Mr. Nea), having been bred by Mr. Gano (see A. H.

B., Vol. 3, p. 458), calved upon May 1, 1848, producing

Jenny Lind 1st, a roan, got by Locum (11698) ; 1, dam,

Cambria, by Bertram 2d (3144); 2, dam, Virginia 3d, by

Bertram (1716); 3, dam, Luoilla by Memnon (1333) ; 4,

dara,Virginia,by General (372); 5, dam, Rosemary by Flash

(360; 6, dam. Red Rose, by Petrarch (433); 7, dam, by Al-

exander (30); 8, dam, by Traveler (665); 9, dam. by son of

Bolingbroke (86). After this issue, the cow Cambria was

again bred, this time by Mr. Neal, to a well-bred bull

owned by himself, but without a pedigree. After this

breeding the cow proved barren, was fattened and beefed;

the excellence, however, of the produce of this valuable

cow has been manifest in the top herds of Nicholas, and

has been sought after by various prominent breeders

of this and other States. Mr. Neal not being aware of

the value of the animal of which he was the possessor,

sold Jenny Lind the 1st, when but a calf, to Mr. J. R.

Campbell, deceased, at the top of whose herd she subse-

quently stood. She was bred to Tombigbee 2398, and

produced a roan, calved March 15, 1853, Jenny Lind the

2d (see A. H. B., Vol. 3, p. 458). This cow was sold at the

sale of J. R. Campbell, then deceased, September 8,

1857, to Col. T. S. Parks, for $260, at the top of whose

herd she stood, and whose produce were numerous and

valuable, in various herds of this and adjacent counties.

Jenny Lind the 3d, a light roan, calved August 29th,

1854 (see A. H. B., Vol. 3d, page 458); got by Imp.

Javelin (11610); 1 dam, Jenny Lind 1st, by Locum (11-

698). This excellent animal was sold at the J. R. Camp-

bell sale on the 8th of September, 1857, to Letton and

Godman, of Bourbon County, for the sum of $425. Jen-

ny Lind the 4th, red and white, calved December 20,

1854, (see A. H. B., Vol. 3, page 458); got by Imp. Earl

of Seaham, 1499; 1, dam, Jenny Lind 3d, by Tombig-

bee, 2298; 3 dam, Jenny Lind 1st, by Locum (11698);

she was sold to John A. Rice, of Bourbon County, for

$176, at the J. R. Campbell sale; from her produce, there

were also many excellent animals; Jenny Lind the 5th,

red and white, calved November, 1855 (see A. H. B.,Vol.

3, page 458); got by Imp. Deceiver, 409; 1, dam, Jenny

Lind 2d, by Tombigbee, 2298; 2, dam, Jenny Lind 1st,

by Locum (11698); this excellent animal was sold at the

above-mentioned sale, when twenty-two months old, for

$300, to Mr. Robert Chandler, of Mason County, Ken-

tucky. The produce of this valuable heifer were of im-

portance in the stock-raising intersts of Mason County.

Jenny Lind the 6th, also a red and white, calved Sep-

tember, 36, 1855; got by Cripple, a bull bred by Isaac

Vanmeter, deceased, of Clark County, Kentucky; got by

Wellington, 2366; dam Amelia, by Prince Albert 857,

1st dam of Jenny Lind the 6th, was Jenny Lind the 1st,

by Locum (11698); this heifer was sold at the sale of

Mr. Campbell before she was two years old, to Col. Rob-

ert Simms, of Nicholas County, for $151; she was con-

sidered one of the finest of the produce of old Jenny

Lind, and from her sprang many of the finest animals of

this and other counties, and now make up the principal

crosses and some of the most valuable animals of the

popular herd of James Hall, of Bourbon County; Jenny
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Lind 7th and 8th, twins, were calved July 14, 1857; got

by "Wiley 3d, 3386; 1 dam, Jenny Lind 1st, by Locum

(11698); these fine calves were also sold at the J. R.

Campbell sale, before they were two months old, to Har-

vey W. Rice, of Bourbon County, for $230; these he

bred, and produced many fine animals, thus adding lau-

rels to the already noted and famous Jenny Lind family

of Short-horns. Fashion, another valuable cow, sold at

this sale, a roan, calved April 1st, 1853, bred by Isaac

Vanmeter, deceased (see A. H. B., Vol. 3d, page 406),

got by Reniok, 903 ; 1, dam. Fancy, by Prince Albert 3d,

857; 3, dam, Hannah Moore, by Goldfinder (3066); 3, dam.

Young Mary, by Jupiter, etc. (3170); she was bought by

Mr. Campbell, and at his sale purchased by Dr. J. Tay-

lor, of Clark County, Ky., for $331, and was considered

a noteworthy cow in the breeding of the latter county.

Many other valuable cows of the best and most popular

breeding were sold at the above-mentioned sale, going to

different prominent herds in the region. Many valuable

bulls were also sold upon that occasion, such as: Percy,

3016 (3d Vol., A. H. B.), red and white, calved July 7,

1854, bred by R. A. Alexander, got by Orontes 3d, 1966;

1, dam, Phyllis, by Samson (a well bred Kentucky bull,

L. F. A.); 3, dam, Juliana, by Tariff, 1033; 3, dam, Lucin-

da, by Contention (3479), bred by Gen. James Dudley,

sold to B. W. Mathers & Co., of Nicholas County, for

$530.

Another valuable bull owned by this gentleman was

Wiley 3d, 2386 (A. H. B.); was calved September 10,

1855, bred by R. A. Alexander, got by Imp. Sirius

(13737) ; 1, dam. Imp. Alice Wiley, by Rumor (7456) ;

3, dam, Miss Hudson, by Hermes (8145) ; 3, dam. Mayor-

ess, by Carcase (3381) ; 4, dara, Matson, by Tyro (2781);

5, dam. Miss Mason, by Falstaff (1993) ; 6, dam, by Dr.

Syntax (230) ; 7, dam, by Charles (127) ; 8, dam, by

Henry (301) ; 9, dam, Lydia, by Favourite (252) ; 10,

dam, Nell, by the White Bull (431); 11, dam. Fortune,

by Boiingbroke (86) ; 12, dam, by Foljambe (263) ;

13, dam, by Hubback, bred by Mr. Maynard, (319).

This popular bull was sold by Mr. Campbell to

Rice & Co., of Nicholas County, and was subsequently

purchased bj' Dr. J. Taylor, of Clark County, placed

at the top of his herd, and was the producer of

many fine animals in various herds of the State.

Numerous other valuable bulls, which have been at the

top of some of the good herds of the region were

sold at that sale. Among them were such as Ashland,

1313, (3d Vol. A. H. B.) ; Yorkshire, Sinbad, Baron

Trenk, Bolivar, Sanoho Panza, Duke of Nicholas, Jupi-

ter, Richard III, Bedford, Mike Fink, and Eminence.

Mr. Campbell produced many fine animals during his

short career as a breeder, and his sale, although made

after his death, is said to have been one of the best con-

ducted and most important of that day. He was a

breeder of many fine qualities, and his early death after

engaging in that interest was a loss heavily, felt, but

his name will be long remembered in connection with

the Short-horn interests of Nicholas County." f" i

Sheep raising has been greatly increased since the

late war. " The most improved varieties," says Mr.

Kennedy, " are largely sought after and are bred and

reared in large numbers, yet the supply is not equal to

the demand. The breed of sheep originally in the

county, did not differ greatly in quality from what is

now known as mountain sheep. About the year 1837,

Merino sheep were introduced into the county by Henry

Clay, presenting two sheep to Ex-Governor Metcalfe.

Afterwards the Southdown and Cotswold were brought

in, and since the late war a few Leicester sheep have

been imported into the county. During the late twenty

years farmers who have raised lambs by crossing moun-

tain sheep with the Southdown or Cotswold have realized

handsome profits. The lambs and the wool from the

the sheep usually bring about double the sum which the

sheep cost."

In an article on the agriculture of the county, Mr.

Thomas Kennedy says of hogs : " There has been a

marked improvement in the quality of hogs during the

last fifty years. The efforts of those who have engaged

in raising hogs in order to improve the breed have been

so far successful as to substitute for the long-snouted,

big-boned, flat-sided hog, that could scarcely be fattened

under two years old, and that formerly roamed at large

during the winter through the forest, feeding on mast,

and during the summer and fall through the fields, feed-

ing at pleasure on the grain, a hog of less bone, more

compactly built, which fattens at any age, requires less

feed, and whose fattening qualities enable it when
matured to attain to a w^eight at least fifty per cent,

greater than did the hog of fifty years ago."

There has probably been less improvement in farm

horses than any other species of stock bred in this coun-

ty. The blooded horses kept here are either racers or

trotters, and their cross upon the common " plugs " pro-

duces a race that is too light-boned for steady farm

work or heavy draft purposes, and yet lacking for

speed necessary to be racers or trotters. They are

neither well adapted to the plow nor to the dray, nor to

the track. Some of them make what is technically

called a good " roadster," and are in good demand for
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that purpose, at prices that are remunerative to the farm-

er. From the foregoing facts and statistics it will be

seen that Nicholas is not quite so famous for her fine

stock as some of her neighboring counties. There is,

however, a good deal of valuable stock raised in the

county each year.

—

JPerrin.

CHAPTEE V.

CARLISLE PRECINCT—ITS GENERAL DESCRIPTION AND TOPOGRAPHY—EARLY SETTLEMELT—PIONEER LIFE

—MANUFACTURING INDUSTRIES AND ENTERPRISES—THE OLD BUFFALO TRACE-

ROADS, ETC.-SCHOOLS AND TEACHERS-CHURCHES, ETC., ETC.

"The wind is shaking the old dried leaves

That win not quit their hold."

MANY years have passed since the first vsrhite man

came to what is now Carlisle Precinct. Its forests,

where erst the savage trapped the wolf and hunted the

deer, are now fertile fields, dotted here and there with

lordly mansions, while the Indian yell has died away for-

ever on this side of the great Father of Waters. The

young men have grown old, and the old men are in their

graves, who^rst saw it in its pristine beauty, and joined

hands to reduce it from a waste, howling wilderness to

its present highly cultivated state.

This precinct, which is election precinct No. 4, is situ-

ated almost in the center of the county, and is bounded on

the north byHeadquarters Precinct, on the east and south

by Union and Upper Blue Licks Precincts, and on theWest

by EUisville Precinct. The surface is rolling, and even

broken in places, rising into bluffs along the water

courses. The soil is a strong limestone, red loam, rich

and very productive in the southern and western part
;

the remaining porti ms are rough, poor and rocky. The

best soil produces blue ash, the finest of poplar and black

walnut, sugar tree, etc., etc. From the latter, sugar is

extensively manufactured. The thin lands produce beech,

the different kinds of oak, hackberry, hickory, and many

other varieties, common to 'this section. A heavy growth

of cane covered the land originally, but has all long

since disappeared. It is drained by the Licking and its

tributaries, several of which flow through the precinct,

thoroughly draining the country and furnishing an

abundance of water for stock and farm purposes.

Settlements were not made in Carlisle Precinct as

early as in some other portions of the county. The

early settlers are all long since gone, and 'Squire Stephen-

son and 'Squire Powell are about all there are left of the

second generation. The father of 'Squire Stephenson,

James Stephenson, came from Westmoreland County,

Pennsylvania, to Paris, Kentucky, in 1788, where he re-

mained a short time, and then came to what is now

Carlisle Precinct, and settled on the farm owned at

present by Henry Parker, four miles from Carlisle, be-

tween the two branches of Somerset Creek. He had

served three years in the Revolutionary war, and soon

after its close he followed the tide of immigration to

the Western country. He broke the first land ever cul-

tivated on the waters of Somerset Creek. Here he

cleared five acres of ground, and while thus engaged, he

lived in camp. Ilis vife was'El'zabeth Caldwell, born

at Carlisle, Pennsylvania, in 1761, and died in 1848 ; he

was born in 1749 and died in 1810. At the time of his

settlement here, his only neighbors were John Blair, on

Taylor's Creek, at the mouth of the Concord Spring

branch, and a Mr. Bushfield, who died on the farm now

owned by Benjamin Gore.

Other early settlers, and neighbors of Mr. Stephenson

are all dead and gone, and their names mostly forgotten.

The names of many of them are given in connection with

the city of Carlisle, where centers the larger portion of the

history of the precint. One who might be mentioned

however, was James Parks, Sr., from Huntingdon, Pa.

and who settled a little north of Carlisle; on land now

owned by Rev. John Neal. He had an early mill on

Cassidy Creek, which is more particularly mentioned iu

another chapter.

The young men and women of the present time have

no conception of the mode of life among the pioneers of

this country, seventy-five or eighty years ago. Indeed

one can hardly conceive how such changes Could have

taken place in so short a period of time. In nothing are

the habits and manners of the people in any respect

similar to those of a half, three-fourths, or a century ago.

The clothing, the dwellings, the diet, social customs—in

fact, everything has undergone a total revolution. The

camp in the woods, the cabin daubed with mud, the old

wooden mold-board plow, and other pioneer relics of the

past have given place to the wonderful improvements of

the nineteenth century.

Bread, " the staff of life," is an article sometimes diffi-
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cult to obtain in a new country. When we look around

us, at the fine flouring-mills of the present day, it is not

easy to realize, that years ago a man sometimes, in this

section, had to go a long distance to mill. Mills, how-

ever, were built as early as surrounding circumstances

•would permit. The first water-mill in the precinct is

supposed to have been built near where the depot in

Carlisle now stands. It was built about 1833-5, by

Samuel Kinoart. He had a horse-mill previous to this,

near the same spot. About 1810, John Hamilton built a

mill a little southwest of Carlisle. It was also a horse

mill and did an extensive business on account of Mr.

Hamilton's reputation as miller. Nathaniel P. Robinson

built a cotton factory on the Maysville Pike, a short dis-

tance from Carlisle, about 1834, which finally became

Oakland Mills, and which was a rather large concern. A
distillery, one among the first in this precinct, was built

by John Miller, one mile east of Carlisle. Since then

several others have been built about and around the

town of Carlisle. The early manufacturing interests of

the precinct outside of Carlisle amounted to very little.

A tannery, currying and saddlery establishment, a few

mills, etc.; the saddlery was some two miles north of

Carlisle. It was the first in the county, and was carried

on by different parties.

The first road through the precinct was the old buffalo

trace. It was made by the buffalo in passing from the

Lower Blue Licks to the Cane Ridge country in Bourbon

County, and was about one hundred feet wide and some

two or three feet deep. The Maysville Turnpike followed

this trail much of the way through the County, and was

the first pike not only in this precinct but in the State.

Another trace from the Upper Blue Licks crossed Cas-

sidv Creek at the village of Buzzard Roost, passed

through Moorefield, down the forks of Somerset Creek,

through the old Adam Fergus farm, along McBride

Creek, across Hinkston into Bourbon County. The his-

tory of the Maysville Pike is given elsewhere. Several

other pikes center in Carlisle and extend out through the

precinct, among which are the Carlisle, Sharpsburg and

Mt. Sterling Pike; Forest Retreat Pike; Carlisle &

Union Pike; Rogers' Mill Pike, Parks' Ferry Pike, etc.,

etc.; the latter not fully completed.

The early schools of Carlisle' were of rather ordinary

degree. They have somewhat improved since then, but

there is room for still greater improvement. The first

school in the precinct, and said to be the first in the coun-

ty, was taught upon the land now owned by Mrs. Henry

Potts, about ISOO. It was taught by Thomas Shannon, in

a little log building with a puncheon floor. The next

school was taught at old Concord Church, a short time

later. The school history of the precinct, however, is

more closely connected with the town of Carlisle, where

it receives further mention.

The first church organized in what is now Nicholas

County was in the present precinct of Carlisle—old Con-

cord Church. It stood about two and a half miles south-

east of where the town of Carlisle is located, and was or-

ganized in or about the year 1795. Rev. B. W. Stone

was one of the first if not its first minister. He became

pastor of it and old Cane Ridge in Bourbon County in

1798. The first church edifice was built of k)gs, in which

the congregation worshiped until the present building,

which is a large, commodious frame, was erected in 1860,

at a cost of 12,000. This church is more particularly no-

ticed in another chapter. Some of the early members of

this church were : Samuel M. Waugh, James Thompson

andThomas Donnell. Rev. John Lyle was the next pastor

after Rev. Stone, and administered to the congregation

for several years.

The Poor House, or County Poor Farm, is located in

this precinct. This institution, however, is noticed more

at length in connection with the county buildings. The

Maysville division of the Kentucky Central Railroad runs

through Carlisle Precinct, and has been of benefit to the

people in more ways than one. It has increased the value

of their lands, brought the best markets to their doors,

and, while but a poor excuse as a railroad, it is much bet-

ter than no railroad. Its history is given in the county

at large, and in the chapters devoted to the city of Car-

lisle. Most of the history of the precinct centers in

Carlisle, as we have said, and will be found in that con-

nection.

—

Perrin.
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CHAPTER VI.

CITY OF CARLISLE—LAYING OUT THE TOWN—FIRST SALE OF LOTS—PUBLIC BUILDINGS, HOTEL, ETC-

NESS ENTERPRISES AND MANUFACTORIES—NAMES OF EARLY SETl'LERS

AND LOT OWNERS—FIRST COUNTY OFFICERS, ETC.

-BUSI-

" Sweet Auburn! loveliest village of the plain."

—Goldsmith.

LET us go back to the year 1810. At that time the

county seat of Nicholas was at BUisville; the courts

having been held first at Bedinger's Mill, then at the

Blue Licks; but no permanent county seat had been

made until Ellisville viras named as the fortunate locality.

The great public road leading from the upper Blue

Licks to Millersburg, bisecting the county into two

nearly equal parts, connecting the hill country of the

East with the blue grass plains of the West, afforded, of

course, the most eligible sites for farmers, mechanics,

hotel-keepers or others who desired to see the world and

turn to the best advantage the labor of their hands.

At a point along this road about twelve miles from

Upper Blue Licks and eight miles from Millersburg,

lived an honest farmer named Samuel Kincart. This

gentleman owned, a tract of land skirting along Brushy

Fork containing somewhere near 300 acres. In 1810 he

built a good, substantial brick house on the north side of

the road, and prepared to otherwise improve and adorn

his homestead. He had already a fine orchard adjoin-

ing the house on the east. But in 1811 he died, and

was buried in the northeast corner of the orchard, and

his son John succeeded to the farm.

About this time there was manifested by the good

people of Nicholas a growing dissatisfaction at the loca-

tion of the county seat; especially the thrifty farmers of

Hinkston and Somerset creeks, who declared that there

was neither good sense nor equity in locating the county

seat so far from the center of the county, and especially

right in among the persimmon and blackhaw bushes

—

the stealthy retreat of the festive raccoon, the cunning

fox and grinning opossum, to say nothing of the oc-

casional visits of the prowling wolf or the inquisitive

bear.

These mutterings of discontent grew louder and

louder as the years rolled on, until in 1814-15 they

reached the ears of the Kentucky Legislature, and that

body passed a bill authorizing the removal to a more

central point, and appointed commissioners to ex-

amine, locate and report the result of their labors when

completed.

The commissioners inspected various sites, bat soon

narrowed down the question between two of the most

eligible ones. One of these was a point on the old main

dirt road from Maysville to Lexington, afterward known

as Forest Retreat; the other was the Kincart farm. In

the meantime all Ellisville was in an uproar, and threat-

ening the direst vengeance against all concerned in the

removal scheme. But the commissioners were inexora-

ble and the location was duly made at Kincai t farm.

The legislature confirmed the decree, and a charter for

the new site was granted under the name of "Carlisle"

—probably in honor of Carlisle, Penn. It is not known

positively why the commissioners selected that name,

but supposed to be as above, because some of the early

settlers were from near that city in Pennsylvania.

On June 15, 1816, fifty acres of the Kincart farm hav-

ing already been laid off into streets, lanes and alleys,

the new town was thrown open for the first regular auc-

tion sale of town lots. The following are the names of

the original streets—beginning east and running west

:

Walnut, Second, Main Cross, Elm and Sycamore ; begin-

ning north and extending southward : North, Mulberry,

Main, Front, South and Water. The lots were all laid

off fronting these streets, and averaged about 65x130 feet.

The streets were made sixty feet wide, and all alleys or

lanes fifteen feet wide. The lots were numbered consec-

utively, from 1 to 139.

As above stated, these 1 39 lots were thrown open to

public auction on June 15, 1816 ; but before we go on

with our sale, let us go back a few days and note some of

the events which were occurring in anticipation of that

great event.

On June 5, 1816, the following proceedings of the

town council appear recorded in the archives of the town:

"At the house of John Kincart, in the town aforesaid, the

place fixed by the commissioners as the permanent seat

of justice of Nicholas County, a majority of the trustees
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of said town met according to appointment. Present,

James Byres, .Tames Thomson, Andrew S. Hughes and

Lewis H. Arnold.

" 1st. Resolved, that Elijah Mitchell be appointed

Clerk of this Board.

" 2nd. JResolved, that David Byres be appointed

President of this Board.

" 3rd. Resolved, that David Byres be appointed

Treasurer of this Board.

"4th. Resolved, thskt Ja,mes Thomson be appointed

Surveyor, for the purpose of laying off the fifty acres of

land mentioned in the commissioners' report, appointed

to fix the seat of justice for the county aforesaid, and

that he return one plat and survey to this Board.

" 5th. Resolved, that the Clerk of this Board be di-

rected to give notice (by advertisement) to the several

subscribers who have subscribed money to aid in the

erection of the public buildings in the town of Carlisle,

to make payment against the third Monday in June inst.,

to David Byres."

On the 14th day of June following, a full meeting took

place which included Mr. James Ardery in addition to

the four councilmen already named. At this meeting

plat and report were filed by Surveyor Thomson, which

were approved by the Board. At this meeting John
Kincart filed a deed for the property to the trustees and

selected the odd numbers of the lots upon the plat of

the town as a consideration for the purchase of the land.

At this meeting also Michael Letton was appointed the

town crier for the sale of the lots and to receive two

dollars per day as a compensation for the same. The
morning of the memorable 15th of June dawned bright

and clear, and buyers from all parts of the surrounding

country flocked in to attend the sale.

But just here a hitch took place which threatened to

knock the future metropolis into smithereens. Thomas
Jones, a doughty farmer living near by, a man of great

ponderosity, being about the size of Sir John Falstaff,

appeared upon the scene and laid claim to the whole

fifty acres, and hundreds of acres more of the contigu-

ous territory, from Dan even unto Beersheba. In fact,

suit was then pending in the Federal Court at Frankfort,

in favor of said Falstaff, or Jones, against the said lands,

and so in the name of law, justice, honor and fifty more

expletives, seasoned with more fearful maledictions than

were ever conceived or uttered by Ancient Pistol, Sir

John, or Thomas, forbade the sale ! Here was a go, and

for a time it seemed as if they were not going to baptize,

rantize, circumcise, or otherwise take the new born into

the family of county seats at all. Finally a compromise

was effected ; Kincart, the owner de far.to, proposed to

Sir John, the owner de jure, to give him one-half the

proceeds of sale of Kincart's lots. This was agreed to,

and the sale went on. The public road was taken for

Front street, and the town laid off by Kincart's house,

though not precisely due east and west. The orchard

became the public square, and Kincart's property, lot

No. 1. This lot, with the dwelling, was knocked off to

Kincart for $3,000. One hundred and thirty-eight lots

more were successively sold at prices ranging from fifteen

to two hundred and forty dollars. And now began the

erection of the public buildings.

The old log court house at Ellisville, was removed
here and erected temporarily on the east side of the

public square, on lot No. 37, Second street. This was,

however, soon succeeded by a new and, for those days,

elegant court house built of brick in the center of the

public square, and erected under the supervision of

Gen. Thomas Metcalfe, who then lived in the suburb s of

the town, in the extreme northwest quarter. The first

jail was also a log structure, and was removed from

Ellisville at the same time as the old court house. But
a new brick jail was soon after erected and made historic

as being, in after years, the first schoolhouse opened in

Carlisle for the colored children after the Emancipation
Proclamation of President Lincoln. The old weather-

beaten house still stands at this writing (January, 1882).

It was (the jail) never remarkable in its day for anv-

thing save its admirable adaptedness to aid prisoners to

escape. As the jailer's house was nearly a square dis-

tant, there were but two supposed ways of holding a

prisoner. One was to put him in the dungeon heavily

ironed, and the other to hire a guard to stand over him
with an old, flint lock musket. It notunfrequently hap-

hened, however, that the prisoner went off in the dead
of night like Samson with the dungeon doors upon his

back or out of the window before the old musket could
be got to "go off."

From the very first sale of lots population began to

pour in from all quarters, as probably it most always will

be the case in any new enterprise. Hotels, stores,

offices and dwellings were rapidly and speedily erected,

and the town began at once to take rank among the

business points of the State. The old brick farm house
became a hotel, and was ably kept by Peyton Shumate,
Esq., who raised a large family of handsome daughters,
several of whom afterward became noted as hotel keep-
ers, especially Mrs. Amanda Tureman, who earned a fine

reputation as proprietress of the Goddard House in Mays-
ville, and Mrs. James Dudley, of the Dudlev House' in

w
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Flemingsburg. "The Old Black Tavern" so called from

the logs being painted black, was removed from Eilisville

in 1816 and placed upon lot No. 45, situated on the east

end of Main street. The hotel was kept by Japies Ellis,

son of James Ellis, Sr., after whom the town of Eilisville

had been named. The third hotel of the town was the

large frame building upon the corner of Front and Sec-

ond streets, and no.w (1882) known as the Saint Cloud

Hotel. This house was built byAlexander Blair,Sr.,in 1816.

It was first leased to Bennett H. Evans, who successfully

managed it for several years. The following anecdote

of Mr. Evans is related by himself: He was standing in

the door of his hotel one day when two countrymen,

evidently strangers, rode along the street in front of him.

One of them happened to cast his eye upon Evans' sign,

bearing in modest letters his name, B. H, Evans. The

countryman read it "Be Heavens," and turning to his

fellow traveler remarked that it was the last place in the

world he would have looked for that name. In 1817

John and .Jesse Hughes, twin brothers, kept a hotel in

the frame house situated on Front street, lot 33, and the

same as now owned by A. McDaniel, Jr., so that it will

be seen that as early as 1816-7 we had no less than four

hotels.

The first dry goods store kept in Carlisle was by

John G. Parks, Esq. He removed the stock of goods

owned by him at Parks Ferry here in 1816, and opened

out in the Kincart residence. But soon after completing

a stone building on Front street, in front of the court

house door, he moved into that and continued until his

appointment as County Clerk in 1839. Prior to 1816,

Mr.' Samuel M. Waugh kept a dry goods store in the

frame house situated upon the public road about one

mile and a half east of town, upon the farm,now own-

ed by Silas W. Campbell. In 1817, Mr. Waugh built

a small frame building adjoining 'Squire Parks' stone

house just referred to,. and moved his stock into it.

Here he continued to carry on business and to perform

the duties of Justice of the Peace for several years.

Kincart & Foster, a firm composed of James Kincart

(brother of John) and David Foster, opened a dry goods

store in 1816, in a frame house upon the corner of Front

and Elm streets. These three formed the list of pioneers

in the dry goods trade.

Soon after the town was laid off, a nail factory on a

small scale was opened by a German citizen, named Peter

Schwarzwelder, in a one-story frame which stood upon

the corner of Main Cross and Front streets. The first

mill ever established in Carlisle was by James Dudley,

and was located upon lot 84. The mill M'as a tramp-

wheel power, and ground corn only. Prior to this, before

the town was laid out, a water mill with an overshot

wheel was erected upon Brushy Fork by Samuel Kincart.

He also owned a draft horse mill, and both mills were

located south of Water street.

The first woolen mill was owned by Lloyd Rollins, and

built on the rear of lot No. 20, the same lot upon which

'Squire Parks built the stone house previously referred

to. A carding factory and fulling-mill was afterward

built by Samuel Hall, at the east end of North street, on

lot No. 78. The third woolen factory was built and

owned by James Dudley upon Main Cross street, on lot

No. 90. This factory continued under successive owner-

ships for nearly fifty years, and was finally sold out and

torn down by Mr. B. F. Adair, about 1870.

The first tan-yard was owned by Col. Henley Roberts.

It was sunk in 1816 upon lots 114 and 115, and continued

to turn out a goodly quantity of leather for more than

thirty years, until the death of Mr. Asbury Teal, the last

owner, about 1850. The second tan-yard was opened by

Nathaniel P. Robinson, a former dry goods merchant, of

Carlisle, on the east end of Front street, just beyond the

town limits, being the same as occupied now (1882) by

Archdeacon Bros, as a carriage shop. The third and last

tan-yard was constructed by George Robinson, brother

of N. P., upon lot No. 3L To show the importance of

this branch of business in those days, we will state that

all three of these tan-yards were in operation at the same

time. At the present day there is scarcely a vestige of

either left.

The making of saddles, bridles and harness has al-

ways been a considerable item in the business of Carlisle.

The first saddle ever made in the place was made by

Thomas M. Stephenson, who was then an apprentice of

Robert Dykes. Mr. Dykes same to Carlisle in 1816, and

carried on the saddlery trade on lot No. 4 on Main-

cross street. In 1818, Mr. Stephenson opened a new shop

one door below Dykes, both houses being erected upon the

same lot. Other ahops were opened successively by

William and Lawson Smith, on lot No. 31; by George

Robinson, Andrew Couchman and others.

The tailoring business was introduced by Isaac Mes-

sick. John Camplin also worked at the trade a short

time and then went to Sharpsburg. The following per-

sons worked at the business in Carlisle prior to 1820, to-

wit: lienjamin Antrobus, Col. George R. Foster, Azariah

Conyeis and Greenberry Ross. The first billiard table

set up in the town was in 1816, by Robert Batson, who,

howevei, remained but a short time and then removed to

Millersburar.
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The first hatter of the new county seat was Jesse

Boulden, who in 1816 had his shop and dwelling on lot

No. 63 on Main street, the same as now owned by

Mr. F. E. Congleton. In 1819, John Dougherty, the jol-

liest Irishman who ever lived, came here from Flemings-

burg, accompanied by his fast friend, John Hadden.

The two friends bought out Boulden, and the latter re-

moved to Millersburg, where he carried on the business

for a long period of time. Dougherty and Hadden car-

ried on the hatter's trade quite extensively; their siiop

v?as located upon the alley, on the rear of lot No. 19.

Shoes were first made in the new town by Gavin

Mathers. His shop and dwelling were located on lot

52, the same where the tall and tapering spire of

the Presbyterian Church now stands. John Foland

worked as a journeyman in the shop, afterward as part-

ner, and finally succeeded to the business after the re-

moval of Mr. Mathers to the country, about 1830.

The Carlisle bank was established in 1817, and blew

up in 1819—a brief and disastrous career, fully exempli-

fying the evils of an unredeemable paper currency. Dr.

John R. Ward was president, Moses Hopkins, cashier, and

William Hughes, Samuel M. Waugh and Daniel Bedin-

ger, directors.

A very important branch of business in those days was

that of cabinet-maker. All the bedsteads, bureaus, cor-

ner cupboards, candle stands, breakfast, dining and

kitchen tables, had to be made at home, from lumber

sawed in our midsS In 1817, Richard D. Henry, a

modest, unassuming young man, cam3 to Carlisle to settle

for life. He was a cabinet-maker by trade, and a first

class workman at that. He had a turning lathe attached,

and turned out rapidly bed posts, chair and table legs,

and other articles used in the trade. He was probably

the first one who carried on the trade in Carlisle, and

for a long time did quite a good business.

During the period from 1816 to 1830, John Davidson

settled here, and opened a cabinet shop, doing consider-

able business for more than twenty years. In 1819, Jc'hn

Rogers, another young cabinet-maker moved in amnno-

us to settle for life. He also had a turning lathe ; but he

did not pursue that calling long, as it was not long be-

fore he became a teacher in our schools, and subse-

quently a minister of the gospel.

Among the legal profession, our first citizens were, R.

W. Webber (familiarly called "Dick"), Angus C.

McCoy, Thomas P. Tall, Robert C. Hall, Jonathan M.
Tanner, and General A. S. Hughes.

Dr. John R. Ward, president of the Carlisle bank,

was among the earliest physicians of the new town. As

the names of all the first citizens engaged in business

from 1816 until 1820, may be of interest to future gener-

ations, we will here append them, and close this chap-

ter : Hotel Keepers—Peyton Shumate, James Ellis,

John Hughes, Jesse Hughes, John Dudley ; Cabinet

Makers—Jacob Leer, John Davidson, John Rogers, R.

D. Henry; Carpenters—John Dalzell, John Henry, James

MoGann, Joseph D. Butler, William McClanahan, .lames

P. Ashley, John E. Cotton, Richard Doggett, William

Secrest, Jesse Burton, John Ross ; Wagon Makers—

-

Isaac Peck, John Matchett ; Stone Masons—-Thomas

Metcalf, Joseph Paxton ; Confectioner—John Delaney
;

Butcher—Samuel Moore ; Circuit Clerk—L. H. Arnold
;

County Clerk—Andrew S. Hughes ; Farmer—John Kin-

cart ; Merchants—John G. Parks, Morris Morris, James
Kincart, David Foster, N. P. Robinson, John Campbell

;

Grocer—William Porter ; Shoemakers—John Chipley,

Aaron Smedley, John Rodgers, Gavin Mathers, Lloyd

Sheckels, John Foland ; Saddlers—T. M. Stephenson,

Robert Dykes, Richard McGinnis, Joel Howard, John

MoMakan, Hugh Nesbet ; Tailors—Jonathan Camp-
lin, Benjamin Antrobus, George R. Foster, Azariah

Conyers, Greenberry Ross ; Citizens—John Morris,

William Doty, Nathaniel Selby, Richard Payne, Arthur

Doggett, William Hall, William Hughes, William Clay-

ton ; Lawyers—Angus C. McCoy, Robert C. Hall, R. W.
Webber, Thomas P. Tall, J. M. Tanner, Moses Hopkins

;

Tinner—John Messick ; Brick Mason^John Harris
;

Brick Maker—A. Smedley; Nail Cutter—Peter Schwartz-

weiler ; Minister—Rev. John Rankin ; Doctors—John
R. Ward, Hood & Foster; Blacksmiths—Jonathan John-

son, John Doty ; Tanners—John Mitchell, Redding Rob-
erts, Jqhn Boyd, George Robinson ; Hatters—Jerry

Sliannon, Jesse Boulden, .John Dougherty, John Hadden;
Wool Carders—James Dudley, Loyd Rollins, Samuel
Hall ; Trader—Moses Selby. Of these, many moved
away long years ago, and nearly all have passed away
from earth ; the old cemetery at Carlisle holds the ashes

of a great number.

"Their bodies have crumbled back to dust,

But their souls are with the blest, we trust."

The first court ever convened in Carlisle to consider

questions pertaining to the welfare of the county, assem-
bled at the house of John Kincart (the old farm-house
first named), on the 16th day of July, 1816. There were
present the following Magistrates: Lute Tarver, Thomas
Davidson, Samuel M. Waugh, James H. Thompson, Hugh
Wiley, Morris Morris, John Throckmorton, Thomas S.

Jenkins, John Baker and A. Marshall; Clerk, Andrew S.

Hughes. The first session of the Circuit Court was held
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September 1, 1816; Judge John Trimble, of Harrison

County, presiding; Lewis H. Arnold, clerk. Judge

Trimble presided as Judge several years, and afterward

practiced law in Nicholas Circuit Court. He was a

straightforward, plodding business-like lawyer, a great

admirer of the British Code of practice, and always car-

ried a bii? green bag in his hand, in accordance with the

custom of English barristers. The first suit on docket

was Sir Thomas Jones v. Samuel Irvin db Co., chancery.

This, and kindred suits of Jones to recover certain tracts

of land under some old land titles, went on for ten years

or more, and greatly exasperated the people against him.

Jones at that time lived in the house just beyond Dorsi-

ana, and which, for a long period of years, belonged to

Col. John S. Morgan and heirs. Sir Thomas kept a num-

ber of sheep, and in order to protect himself from the

hungry town dogs, invented a trap, the like of which

never has been seen before or since. It was made of a

stout hickory sapling, one end planted firmly in the

—ground, tho other end bent down and fastened by a trig-

ger to the ground. From the end of the pole was sus-

pended a leather noose, and a piece of raw meat made

fast to the trigger; the whole so contrived that, when a

prowling cur came along and made a^ grab for the meat,

he sprung the trap; the noose made a grab for the dog,

and the pole flying back toward a perpendicular, sus-

pended his dogship by the neck high in the air, greatly

to his astonishment and decidedly against his ideas of

the fitness of things. It may be added that the more the

dog kicked the tighter the noose clasped, until—well,

that's the end of our first dog story.

In the period we are now considering, there stood on

the ground where the great brick block now stands, oc-

cupied by Adair & Brewington, a continuous row of

houses, one story in height, as follows: Two frame

rooms on the corner, then a brick of one room, and

lastly a one-story log kitchen. In the front of this row

Peter Schwarzweiler lived, and carried on the business of

a nail-cutter. Uncle Peter was a sober, industrious, pub-

lic-spirited citizen, who always attended to his own

business, and allowed everybody to do the same.

About the year 1830, under a contract with the town

trustees, he built a spacious market-house on the north-

east corner of the public square. When completed,

however, the trustees refused to pay in full, in conse-

quence of an alleged failure to comply with the con-

tract. Uncle Peter sued the trustees, and was beaten in

the suit, which so enraged him that one morning about

daylight he seized an ax, and, proceeded to demolish

as much of it as he thought had not been paid for.

The market-house built by Uncle Peter became one of

the most popular resorts of our town, especially during

our three days August election. Here booths for the

sale of all kinds of edibles were set up ; drinks, too,

were sold, such as cider, ginger pop and blackberry cor-

dial—the latter generally compounded of ten gallons of

bust-head whisky to one quart of blackberries and one

pound of sugar. Regular dinner was set, and roast

beef, pig, mutton, bread, pies, cakes and coffee, were

served for twenty-five cents. Music and dancing were

also kept up during the day and often far into the night.

Jack Briggles was the champion singer and barefoot

dancer, while "old Uncle Kit " was the best jig and comic

dancer. This was in the days of slavery, and the booths

were kept by colored people altogether, it being always

understood that the first and last days of the election

were holidays. Ah ! these were glorious days for our

town boys, the memory of which, along v?ith the big

ginger cakes and watermelons we used to eat, will last

" as long as memory holds her seat."

Uncle Peter never got over his anger against the

town about the market-house job, and after he left here,

and was gone some time, he came back again with the

intention of renewing his suit against the trustees. He
got as far as Uncle Billy Mathers (father of Barton W.),

where he took sick and died, and was buried in the old

cemetery.

The following anecdote, although happening long

after Uncle Peter died, will nevertheless show how strong

a hold he had in the minds of our citizens. In 1840, dur-

ing the great contest for the Presidency, Colonel Henry

Roberts, a well known farmer then living on Somerset,

was making a Democratic speech in the old court house.

At that time, Melville Metcalfe (son of the General),

whose eccentricities are well known to all—although a

Whig in politics, turned a political somersault and landed

in the Democratic camp. On the occasion referred to, the

court house was crowded to hear the great issues of the day

discussed. It was decided Colonel Roberts was to make

a speech and Melville was to sit behind him and prompt

him in case he went wrong. The Colonel opened out and

proceeded vigorously to defend the administration, espe-

cially against the attacks made by the Whigs upon

Van Buren, on account of the heavy defalcation of one

Samuel Svvartwout, when the following ludicrous inci-

dent occurred.

ColonblR. (continuing): "Andnot content with these

attacks upon Mr. Van Buren, fellow citizens, they (the

Whigs) have the audacity to charge upon him the defal-

cation of this Mr. SwartZ'weiler"

—

V3/
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\Metcalfe (from behind, in a low tone, jerking the

Colonel's coat-tail): "Swartwout, Colonel."

CoLOiraiL R. (resuming): " As I was saying, they have

the impudence to charge upon us the rascally doings of

this man, Swartzweiler"

—

Metcalfe (exitedly): "Swartwout, I say."

Colonel R. (confused): " As I said before, not content

with their other falsehoods, they have the meanness to

charge upon the administration the stealings of this man,

Swartzweiler "

—

Metcalfe (angrily): " Swartwout, g—d d—d you, I'll

leave the party. You haven't a bit of sense in the whole

d—n concern."

The deep well upon the public square, which belongs

to the county, from which such a vast quantity of pure

limpid water has been obtained, as also an immense

cargo of old boot-legs, pots, kettles, buckets, chains, ropes

and dippers, as well as a vast army of dead rodents and

felines was dug in 1816. Hans Huddleson, father of

our present esteemed " Captain " " Colonel " or " Major "

Huddleson, and William Bird, a stout double-fisted fellow,

aided in the work. One day while down in the well,

a heavy stone fell in, striking Bird on the head,

well nigh making a dead duck of him. But Bird was

game to the last, and afterwards moving out to Indiana,

it is saXdfeathered his nest handsomely and became quite

wealthy.

At a meeting of the Board of Trustees, held at the

court house, September 15, 1818, Dick Webber, a prom-

inent lawyer, was elected clerk of the board, and held the

office several years at an annual salary of ten dollars.

At the same meeting proposals were advertised for the

building of a bridge over the branch, junction of Front

and Walnut streets. On the 31st of September following

a contract was closed with Jarmon Hukill for the bridge,

to be completed in seventy days from the date of con-

tract. It was a wooden bridge, with two stone abutments,

six feet high, fifteen feet span, sleepers of white oak, and

flooring two inch oak, and cost when completed, $198.50.

In those days Carlisle had it in her power to have

secured at trifling cost, property which to-day would

Sfive her a glory and renown beyond any town in the

State. The hill range skirting along our southern

boundary was then a dense forest ; trees of every kind

and size, from the juicy hawthorn to the giant oak ; wild

grapevines with their long graceful tendrils, hung like a

bridal-veil over the bushy hawthorns, or boldly clam-

bered up the sides of the giant oak, and hung their

tempting clusters far beyond the reach of the cunningest

fox of them all. Now let us suppose to-day the town

owned twenty acres of this hill in its primeval state,

with its grand old trees and rustic arbors ; its cool se-

questered shade from summer's ardent heat; its gorgeous

tinted hues for autumn's pensive hours ; its solemn

gloom and grandeur 'mid winter's stormy reign—what

price could be put upon it which our citizens would not

promptly reject ? Yet it is what we once had, and

might have had for aye, for a mere song.

Another grand opportunity thrown away by our village,

was the nucleus of what might have been to-day a fine

Seminary of learning. One of the first acts of good will

upon the part of the county towards the town was the

building of a brick seminary, to be forever dedicated to

the education of the youth both of the town and county.

The building is still standing, being the property of the

late Elijah West, Esq. In bygone days two separate

schools have been taught in the house at the same time.

It was in the old brick Seminary that many of the first

youths of Carlisle received the rudiments of an English

education. We say rudiments, because in those days

reading, writing, grammar and arithmetic constituted the

four cardinal accomplishments necessary for any young

lady or gentleman to shine in any society; correct spell-

ing was considered of vital importance. Every Friday

afternoon was set apart for the spelling-match, and these

spelling matches generally brought a crowded house of

parents and other deeply interested spectators. Gener-

ally the school-master appointed two captains, who in

turn chose out the spellers until an equal number were

drawn upon, on opposite sides. It was not uncommon
for rival schools to challenge each other in this friendly

war of words.

In connection with the Seminary we must not omit to

mention " The Village Green," two whole squares—from

Main street to North street, and from Elm to Sycamore

—

although the lots had all been sold, were yet for manv
years left vacant, and these two squares became the vil-

lage piay-ground. It was here during the hours of

recess at the Seminary that the youth of both sexes met
to play. The most popular game was " prisoners' base;"

in this game the girls often proved themselves as fleet of

foot as the boys. We may here state that " pinbacks"

were then unknown. Three garments at that time con-

stituted the average costume of our school girls, with

occasionally the addition of shoes and stockings, and
may be a calico apron. We forget, however, that each

had a calico sun bonnet, which she generally carried in

her hands. "Complexions spoiled?" Lord bless you, no!

if



d^ u^
HISTORY OF NICHOLAS COUNTY. 363

it was worth a twenty miles ride to see those rosy-

oheekeJ, bright-eyed girls—" The Hill, The Seminary,

The Village Green!"

"These were thy charms, sweet vjllaja, sports like these,

With sweet succession, taught e'en to it to please,

These round thy bowers their cheerful influence shed.

These were thy charms! but all th^se charms are fled."

On the 16th day of April, 1832, an order was issued

by the trustees for the first paved sidewalks. How our

citizens ever got along in the winter time, and especially

how the ladies ever did their shopping, is a mystery be-

yond any explanation. On the 13th day of May, 1833,

William McClanahan returned the first list of taxable

property of the town, which we have on record, amount-

ing to $107,315. At the same time it was ordered that a

tax of nine cents on the hundred dollars be levied for the

benefit of the town. The revenue of the town, for that

year, therefore, was about ninety-six dollars and fifty cents.

Beg pardon, we forget—the wax figures yielded five dol-

lars more.

Jacob Leer, " Uncle Jake," was the first jailer of the

county, and was a cabinet-maker by profession, but

devoted his time mainly in the manufacture of wheat

fans. He was also a good officer, stern in the discharge

of his duty, but kind and attentive to the wants of his

prisoners. He was a G-erman by birth ; spoke English

fluently, but did his " cussin' " in Dutch. He took the

first German newspaper which ever came to Carlisle.

Uncle Jake and his frau lived upon lot No. 17, and his

shop stood upon the corner of the same, thus being fully

one square distant from the jail. He was a good citizen,

harmless, peaceable and industrious. Like all good

people, however, he had his trials and crosses to bear
;

his wife was a shrew, a termagant, as homely as she was

cross. Uncle Jake smoked his pipe and bore it all with

becoming fortitude. Only sometimes, when the storm

was raging loudest, like Rip Van Winkle, he would take

his pipe from his mouth, and in a subdued deprecating

tone, say " dond schole." After the death of his frau,

about 1831, to show his respect for her memory, he with

his own hands chiseled the rough stone which was to

mark her last resting place. About the year 1840 he

opened the first baker shop in the place. The cakes,

pies, bread and ginger pop were made for him by Peter

Rentz, a German from Cincinnati, whom Uncle Jake

imported for that purpose. Uncle Jake died about ten

years after his wife and was biiried by her side in the

old cemetery.

General Andrew S. Hughes was the first County Clerk

of the new countv seat. He was Clerk at Ellisville, and

his residence there was the favorite resort of the elite of

society. He came along with the records of his office and

served several years. In 1814 he was married to Rhoda
Hughes, a sister of General Thomas Metcalfe. In 1831

he was appointed by President Monroe Indian agent for

the Northwest, through the influence of his brother-in-

law. General Metcalfe, who'was then a member of Con-

gress from this district. General Hughes entered at once

upon the discharge of his duties, and was stationed at

Saint Louis, in the then new state of Missouri, leaving

his family still in Carlisle. But within a year he sent for

them, and thereafter became a citizen of that great com-

monwealth. General Hughes was a lawyer by profession,

well versed in legal lore as well as the current politics of

the day, and a man of considerable ability.

Mrs. Rhoda Hughes, wife of the general, was one of the

most accomplished and intelligent ladies who ever lived in

Carlisle. Educated a Protestant, soon after her removal

to Missouri, to the surprise of her friends, she embraced

the Catholic religion, and became a warm supporter of

the Roman Church until her death.

Their son, Bela Metcalfe Hughes, is still living in Den-

ver city. Col. Like his father, in many respects (he too

has the title of General), is an able and distinguished

lawyer, and a man of great force and dignity of charac-

ter. In 1876, he ran upon the Democratic ticket as a

candidate for Governor of the State, but owing to too

much money against him, he was defeated. General

Hughes is also a devout Catholic.

Lewis H. Arnold, Esq., was clerk of the Circuit

Court at Ellisville, and like General Hughes, came along

with the records of his ofiice to make this his future

home. Mr. Arnold married a sister of Jack Throckmor-

ton, one of the first families of the State. In the minute

and careful attention he gave to the duties of his ofiioe,

his courteous and dignified bearing, the unsullied repu-

tation of his private life, his public spirit and devotion

to the cause of morality and religion, Mr. Arnold won

the respect and esteem of the whole county. Mr. Arnold

was the first contractor upon the Carlisle and Forest Re-

treat Turnpike road. The first section, passing through

Carlisle, included a heavy cat and fill at Menifee's hill,

as also and expensive cut clear through the whole length

of Front street. Being wholly unacquainted with the

nature and expense of such work, there was a consider-

able loss entailed upon Mr. Arnold; but such was his

stern devotion to honor and right that he wc ud not con-

sent to any abatement of the contract, or of the loss by

any slighting of the work, or by any sharp practices,

such as are too common at the present day. About the
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year 1839, Mr. Arnold admitted his son, James L. Arnold^

into the office as deputy clerk, for -which position the son

had been for some years qualifying himself; and upon

the death of his father, about 1849, James L. succeeded

to the office, which position he held until during the war

of the Rebellion. Lewis H. Arnold sleeps the sleep of

the just in the old cemetery, where so many of our vil-

lage fathers have been gathered.

At the regular election, in August, 1834, the following

board of trustees were elected : James G. Leech, Jacob

Leer, John Dougherty, Aaron Smedley and Greenberry

Ross. At the first meeting of the board James G. Leech

was elected President, and Greenberry Ross Treasurer.

At the same meeting the following order was made :

" On motion of Aaron Smedley, seconded by John

Dougherty, it is ordered that tickets be procured to the

amount of two hundred dollars, with blanks to be filled

up by the trustees for change, agreeable to such order as

they may hereafter make. And on motion it was further

ordered that .lohn Dougherty procure said tickets, to be

paid for out of any funds belonging to the trustees."

And just here, we see the wonderful progress being

made by this wonderful corporation : such is the expand-

ing nature of her commerce, such the giant strides of her

manufactures, that she is compelled to resort to the ex-

pansion of the currency. How John Sherman, had he

lived in that day, would have held up his hands in holy

horror ! Tickets, forsooth—a sort of infant greenback
;

aye, and to the fearful amount of two hundred dollars !

Ail, Uncle Jake, how could you have ever so far depart-

ed from the sound principles of finance.

November 20, 1824, it was " ordered "that Aaron
Smedley, Sen., be appointed market master for the pres-

ent year." At the same time it was also "ordered that

there shall be regular market days appointed for the con-

venience of the citizens of this county, and that those

days be every "Wednesday and Saturday in each week
;

and that the time of market in those days shall be from

sunrise till 10 o'clock A. M.; and that no article of mark-

eting shall be bought or sold at any place in said town,

only at the market house. But this order shall not pro-

hibit any person marketing through town after 10 o'clock

on the regular market days."

At a meeting of the board of trustees, held March 28,

1825, it was "ordered, that Jacob Leer be appointed to

procure a scraper for the use of said town." It does not

appear exactly what the scraper was for, but we have no

doubt Uncle Jake would have gladly used it to scrape

the backs of Jones, Smith, and Brown, the recalcitrant

citizens who had defied him in his ordinance aarainst

piling wood in the streets. April 19, 1825, the second

valuation of town property was returned, and amounted

to $120,000. This was again since the first assessment

(1823) of about $12,000. A list of those liable to taxa-

tion was returned a short time before, and amounted to

seventy-one ; assuming this to be one-sixth of the whole

number, would give a total white population of 426; add
to this probably 125 slaves, and the total population of the

town in 1825, was about 550.

In June, 1825, the first regular caravan of living

animals made its grand entree through the streets of

Carlisle. The trustees imposed a tax of two dollars per

day on the managers for exhibiting it. It was customary
then to travel the elephants by night, as they were re-

garded as too big a curiosity to be seen without pay.

The elephant on this occasion was ushered in after mid-
night and safely housed in the stable which then stood

where the new " Dew Drop" saloon now stands. By day-
light next morning, streams of people began pouring in

to see the show; and when the grand entree was made
with the band of music at the head, the excitement rose

to fever heat, and more than a thousand people rushed
pell-mell after the caravan, each anxious to secure the
fir'st ticket of admission.

—

J. A. Gliappell.

^

CHAPTER VII.
CARLISLE-AMITSEMENTS-ENTERTAINMBNTS AND MANUFACTURING INDU3TR[ES-ANECD0TE OF COLONEL

RUSSELI^THE MAYSVILLE PIKE-THE CHOLERA IK CARLISLE-INTERNAL IMPROVE-
MENTS-A REBEL RAID-BANKS, NEWSPAPERS, ETC.-ODDS AND ENDS.

THE winter of 1828-29 was one of the most brilliant

seasons ever witnessed in our history. There were

a large number of fine looking young men and a score or

two of the prettiest and liveliest girls ever seen in any

town of equal size. "We may say that in those days our

young men were possessed with a goodly ambition to be
somebody and to do something. It was during this

winter that our first Thespian Society was organized.
The place selected for the rendition of the plays was the
suite of rooms on the west side, up-stairs, in the old court

>rv^
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house. Id those days none of our young ladies had the

courage to take part in the performance. Hence, the

characters, both male and female, had to be assumed by
the young men. The following gentlemen composed the

regular or stock company : E. F. Chappell, William Nor-

vell, D. R. Atchison, T. S. Parks, J. P. Campbell, Elijah

Deskins, Thomas Porter, .fr., Hugh Ryan, W. H. Russell,

James M. Hughes and E. H. Parks. In addition to these,

occasionally, William R. Campbell, Mr. Massie, and

others not remembered. Among the piays selected, were

Goldsmith's " Good Natured Man " and " She Stoops to

Conquer;" "Pizarro," a historical drama, scene laid in

Peru, South America, and others not now remembered.

Two plays were generally given in one evening. Some
good drama, comedy, or melo-drama, winding up with

some roaring farce, such as " High Life Below Stairs."

In this last piece the acting of Atchison and Ryan

would have stamped them as stars in any theater of the

present day. Considering the limited space the actors

had, their plays were well represented with scenery and

all the accessories necessary to render the performances

pleasing and attractive. The gentlemen who represented

female characters had doubtless the more difficult role

to sustain, since they had to undergo a complete trans-

formation in dress, and also to change their voices, gest-

ures and gait to suit the most refind and delicate touches

of the female character. Their was one advantage in

their being all of the sterner sex, which was that one

dressing room sufficed for all. Not the least curious

sight of all, perhaps, would have been the " green room,"

where petticoats and breeches, stockings and boots were

mingled together in startling coincidence and bewider-

ing confusion. From the proceeds of the performers the

bell which hangs in the court house steeple to-day was

purchased and presented by the Society to the town and

county, and though fifty years have passed away, and

nearly all of them sleep the sleep that knows no waking,

the clear ringing tones of the old bell still speaks to us

of the cultivated tastes and liberal public spirit of the

members of the first Carlisle Thespian Society.

In the year 1828 Samuel S. Smith started the first

Sunday-school in Carlisle. Though organized as a Pres-

byterian school, in was in fact a Union school, as—-for a

time at least—all denominations attended it. Mr. Smith

was Superintendent, and a teacner also. His mother-in-

law, Mrs. Hockady, and his wife, Mrs. Serena Smith,

were also teachers. The school was held in the old

court house, as up to that time there was not a solitary

church building in the town. This school was continued

on through all the succeeding years as a, Union Sunday-

school by the Baptist and Presbyterian churches until

1878, a period of half a century.

Of the wool-carding mills, there have been three in

our village. One of these was built and owned by

James Dudley, for a number of years a citizen of Car-

lisle, and afterward proprietor of the "Dudley House,"'

in Flemingsburg. As before stated, Mr. Dudley was

married in Carlisle in 1822, to Eliza Shumate, and sev-

eral of their children were born here. Peyton Shu-

mate Dudley, the present dry goods merchant of Flem-

ingsburg, his brother William, and if we mistake not,

his sister Mary. On removing from Carlisle, the wool

factory passed into the hands of James Robinson, and

he was succeeded by William Metcalfe, from Flemings-

burg. The second mill was built by Samuel S. Hall,

and stood on lot No. 78, being just south of James

Kenneally. He built it about the year 1824, and car-

ried on the factory here until he left Carlisle, in 1834.

He combined the business of a fuller with that of

carder, and made fulled cloth, blankets, &c., of a very

excellent qualitJ^ The heavy iron plate used by him

for pressing cloths, is still doing good service in the

fire-place of the back room of Judge HoUaday's

present residence, and weighs fully 400 pounds.

'Squire Stephenson paid Mr. Hall $1 for it when he

(Hall) was selling out to move away;—the plate cost

Hall about $30.

We now advance to our fourth period of time, from

1830 to 1835. We have seen the steady growth of our

village from the time it was first laid out in 1816, with

its old log jail and court house, its motley assemblage

of old frame and log dwellings,' and its scattering popu-

lation of less than 100 souls, to the year 1830, with its

brick jail, clerk's offices, and elegant court house ; its

bagging factory, three tan-yards, two hatter shops, three

cabinet shops, three tailor shops, three hotels, two carding

factories, three saddle shops, three smith shops, two shoe-

maker shops and twelve or fifteen stores and groceries,

and a thrifty and industrious population of over 600. Our

"city fathers " had—as many of their successors in office

down to the present day have had— many a conflict with

the people to bring them up to that standard of high moral

excellence, good taste and refinement which was the sole

aim and study of those two truly good men, Jacob Leer

("Wouter Van Twiller") and Peter Schwartzweiler

("Hard Koppig Piet.")

We have now to record the advent of another distin-

guished citizen, who, in point of fact, has been entitled

to notice at an earlier period. This was Colonel William

Henry Russell. It is not known what year precisely he
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came to Carlisle, but it was probably as early as 1836.

He bought the farm either of General Metcalfe or Mrs.

Lucy Ogdei), where Mrs. Rogers now owns, in the north-

west quarter of the town. Colonel Russell was a lawyer

by profession, a patrician by blood, tastes and habits.

Besides the profession of the law, the Colonel was a sort

of amateur farmer, and carried on his farming in quite a

handsome way. Like Horace Greeley, he had some very

advanced ideas of agriculture, as the following anecdote

will show. During one of the years he lived on the farm,

he had raised a fine crop of wheat and other small grain,

and as in those days everybody had a number of slaves

employed, so, too, had the Colonel. After his harvest

had been cut and all safely stacked—seeing that his ser-

vants would be likely to have a good leisure time—he

called them together and remarked that it would now be

a good time for them to tap their trees and go to maJdng
sugar I

In 1830 he was elected to the Kentucky Legislature

from Nicholas. It was at that session that a United

States Senator was to be elected. It was charged against

the Colonel that he had promised the leading Democrats
of the county to vote for their nominee, in case he was
elected, although in politics the Colonel himself was a

Whig. Be this as it may, when the election came on,

the Colonel voted for the nominee of the Whig party.

In 1833 or thereabouts, he moved to the State of Mis-

souri. Many reports since then have reached us of the

active part taken by him both in Missouri politics and in

business speculations. Soon after his removal to Mis-

souri, he was riding along one night, and his route lay

along an unfrequented road, partly through a dense

forest. Upon this occasion the loneliness of the ride and

the cool night air together, suggested the propriety of

fortifying the outward man by the application of a stim-

ulating cordial to the inner man. Like Burns in his

" Death and Doctor Hombook: "

" The village ale had made him canty,
He was na' full, but just had plenty."

And so, riding cheerily along, he thought of the good
old days when he lived in Carlisle, and " hornswoggled "

the Democrats of Nicholas out of their Representative.

His pathway lay, as we have said, through a lonely for-

est ; he had just passed an open space and was entering

a point of deeper gloom, when suddenly a big mountain

owl from the top of a lofty tree near by, called out in

deep sepulchral tones—" Who-hoo, who-hoo, who-hoo."

At this sudden and peremptory challenge, the Colonel

pulled up his horse so suddenly, that the beast falling

back upon his haunches had well nigh unseated his rider.

" Who-hoo, who-hoo, who-hoo," again came from the

mysterious sentinel of the upper air. " Colonel William

Russell, late Representative from Nicholas County, Ken-

tucky, be gawd sar—who the devil are you ?"

In 1838, Samuel S. Smith and John B. Mollvaine

erected the hemp, bagging and bale rope factory men-

tioned in former chapter. In 1829, it was in successful

operation. The number of hands employed were about

thirty, all of whom were slaves. The hire paid was from

six to twelve dollars per month and board and clothing.

The works occupied two-thirds of the square south of

the railroad and west of Metcalfe's new mill. The spin-

ners walk extended the whole length of the square, 138

feet deep. On Christmas day, 1839, the first annual

parade of the hands took place. It was a sort of mili-

tai'y dress parade ; each one was dressed out in his best

Sunday suit. In addition each wore a pair of epaul-

ettes, a white sash with big tassels at the end, and a

waving plume in each hat—all being made of the finest

hackled hemp. At the head of the column marched the

standard-bearer (the flag being also of hemp) ; next

came the musicians ; one whom we remember as "Uncle

Dick," who beat the kettle-drum, and one named Nelson,

who played the fife. Nelson was one of the most ingen-

ious fife-players ever known, and were he living at the

present day would be regarded as a genuine curiosity.

He may truly be said to have been born a natural fife-play-

er. Not a sign of an instrument had he, but the sound was
made by simply blowing or whistling through his closed

teeth. These two, with a iJig bass drum, formed the

band, and more enlivening military strains have never
been heard in the streets of Carlisle. The column
moved about 10 o'clock a.m., and marched, counter-

marched and marched again through every street of the
town, followed by a rabble of men, boys and dogs. The
holiday exercise generally wound up about 3 o'clock

p. m., with a big dinner and a dance, lasting until the
"wee sma' hours " of the next morning.

This was truly the military age, an age which produced
a most plentiful crop of "carpet Knights," Captains,
Colonels, Majors and Generals. It is true, no war with
any power, great or small, was impending; the treaty of
Ghent had long since been ratified and the " flag of the
free " floated in proud defiance in every quarter of the
civilized world. But the martial spirit engendered by
the wars of the Revolution and the still later conflict with
the mother country in 1813-15 still burned brightly in
the bosoms of our patrict sires. The old militia law of
the State was still in full force, and no day was so higjily

esteemed in our town as " muster day," whether it were

^1
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" company," " battalion," or regimental." The day ap-

pointed by the officers for such review were generally

set apart as festive occasions. Even the slaves were often

allowed a holiday, and many of them came to town and

set up booths for the sale of ginger cake, cider, cordial,

&c., to which the weary soldiers were full often fain to

resort to quench their raging thirst or satiate their rave-

nous appetites. Snch occasions were the glory and pride

of the officers, from General down to the humblest Cor-

poral. Dressed out in a full suit of regimentals, and

mounted upon "fiery, untamed steeds," they dashed

furiously about the streets, and gave command in tones

of thunder, which could only have been excelled by

Wellington at the battle of Waterloo, or Bernadotte at

the dreadful carnage of Leipsic.

Among the many names conspicuous in 1829 for their

military skill and ardor, we may mention Major A. B.

Crawford, Colonel Wm. H. Russell, General G. W. Rud-

dell, Colonel G. R. Foster, Captain Edward F. Chappell,

Colonel Wm. Norvell, Colonel John S. Morgan, Colonel

T. S. Parks, General Thomas Metcalfe, General Thomas

Alexander, Colonel Wm. Hamilton, Captain John Harris,

Colonel Matt. Arnold, and many others whose names can

not now be recalled.

Warned by the occurrence of some minor fires, the

trustees, on the 31st of January, 1838, ordered that John

Dougherty be appointed a commissioner to let out to the

lowest bidder the making of two long ladders and two

short ones, also fire hooks, for the use and benefit of said

town.

It was some time in the fall of 1830 that Mr. Pinney,

agent for the " American Hydraulic Company," visited

Carlisle, at the request of the Trustees and citizens,

bringing with him a small but powerful engine much in

use in that day, but now entirely obsolete. A conference

was held with the representatives of both town and

county, the result of which was that if Mr. Pinney could

throw a stream of water from his new engine to the

top of the court house spire, a distance of ninety-five

feet, the County Court would give him four hundred

dollars and the town Trustees a like sum, making eight

hundred dollars for his engine. The contract was agreed

to, the hour of trial, fixed, and the owner hired eight of

the biggest, stoutest negro men in town to aid him. A
large crowd assembled, the engine made fast in her

wooden shoes, and the reservoir filled to the brim from

the public well. Mr. Pinney mounted on top and direct-

ing the nozzle skyward, gave the signal to the swarthy

sons of toil to do their level best. In an instant sixteen

brawny arms whirled.the iron handles with such tremend-

ous force that they fairly bent beneath the strain. The

aqueous fluid, drawn suddenly into the fearful vacuum,

rushed with lightning speed through hose and nozzle,

till its crystal drops sparkled far above the topmost point

of the tapering shaft, then fell down in a shower upon

the eight dusky backs below, amid the loud huzzas from

the assembled crowd. 'Twas enough; Carlisle had her

fire engine, and could now afford to laugh at her less for-

tunate sister towns.

It was not long before the boys had a chance to try

the engine. In June, 1833, a terrific fire broke out in

the extensive bagging and bale rope factory of Samuel

S. Smith & Co. As intimated in a previous chapter, these

works covered more than half the square bounded by

Second Cross, Water, Front and Walnut streets. The

spinning walk extended the whole length of the lot from

North to South; the hackling department up-stairs over

the north end of the spinning walk; the weaving house

jiext east, then the quilling mill, and lastly the hemp mag-

azine, all fronting on South street—the street fronting

the railroad. In addition there was a large two-story

boarding house situated in the center of the hollow

square. All these buildings were wooden ones save the

magazine, which was brick. It was 10 o'clock at night

when the fire was discovered and the alarm given. In ten

minutes the engine came thundering down the street—

a la city style — and our hardy firpmen, thoroughly

equipped with buckets, axes, fire hooks and engine, pre-

pared to take in the situation and put out the fire, no

matter how big it was. But alas ! owing to the great

headway it had obtained, and the perishable nature of

the buildings and their contents, nothing could be done

to arrest the fire in its stronghold. Accordingly all efforts

were directed to saving the adjacent buildings. The

residence of Rev. John Rogers was in extreme danger,

being but a few feet from the burning magazine, and but

for our fire engine would have been destroyed. The next

house nearest was that of E. F. Chappell, which was

saved by tearing up the carpets and spreading them, to-

gether with old quiltS' and blankets, on the roof and kept

well Saturated with water.

The burning of the factory was a great loss to the

town, as it out off our largest business enterprise and lost

us a population of fully fifty souls—all producers. On

the 7th of January, 1831, the trustees appropriated fifteen

dollars towards paying for the engine, the citizens rais-

ing the balance of their four hundred by private sub-

scription.

At a meeting of the board of trustees held at the office

of William Norvell, July 2o, 1832, present, R. D. Henry,
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Joseph F. Tureman, Elijah West, John S. Smith, " Or-

dered that twenty-five dollars in silver be appropriated

toward the payment of the balance due on the fire engine,

and that the treasurer pay the same when called for."

At the same meeting it was " Ordered that Joseph F.

Tureman, N. P. Robinson and John Davidson, be appoint-

ed Commissioners to have an engine house built upon

the public square, the front forming part of the fence

around the public square."

It was about the year 1831, that N. P. Robinson, one

of our most active merchants and business men, erected

a cotton factory upon lot No. 124, at the west end of

Front street, the first and last enterprise of the kind ever

attempted in Carlisle.

The cotton-mill was an indifferent success, and after

the removal of Mr. Robinson to Oakland Mills, about

1834, the machinery was suffered to perish by neglect,

and a good deal of it carried off by the town boys.

The destruction of the bagging factory already re-

ferred to, cast a gloom over the business of the town from

which it did not soon recover.

General Samuel Fulton was not a citizen of Carlisle,

but lived on the farm next east of the late A. S. Waugh.
he served several terms in both houses of the Kentucky

Legislature; was a good, well-meaning man, and in some

things a man of shrewdness and intelligence. We men-

tion his name here because of his opposition to bringing

the Maysville Pike through Carlisle. To do the General

justice, he was really in favor of no pike at all. He was

in the Senate, we believe, when the bill came up charter-

ing the road. One argument used by the General and

others opposed to the bill, was, that big, heavy wagons

would be put on the road that would haul great cargoes

of goods, and that an injury thereby would be done to

those who had already capital invested in small wagons!

It is reported of the General that in a speech once made

by him in the Senate, referring to a Senator who had

made a very powerful speech, he used the following very

emphatic figure of speech:

" Me. Speakbe: I would rather have a he cat drawn

tail foremost down my naked back, than to have the

gentleman after me with one of his sarsasms !"

But the turnpike was finished, and sure enough, there

were the great broad-tread wagons, drawn by their six

powerful horses, hauling great loads of merchandise to

Lexington, Cynthiana, Paris, Georgetown, Richmond,

Winchester, Lancaster and Danville. Two daily stage

lines, carrying from thirty to forty to each coach;

carriages, hacks, buggies and rockaways, carrying the

very elite and wealth of the State ; the merchandise of

all lands poured along the great highway, while we poor

benighted denizens of Carlisle sat in silence and solitude:

" Par from the madding crowd's ignoble strife

Our sober wishes never learned to stray,

Along the cool, sequestered vale of life

We kept the noiseless tenor of our way."

William Shakspeare said : " There is a tide in the

affairs of men which, if taken at the flood, etc." That was

the time we had our golden opportunity. We missed it

—that was all.

Wood & Lowry, one of the strongest and most suc-

cessful firms which ever did business in Carlisle, was

composed of Mr. Garrett Wood and Dr. George G. Lowry.

A partnership in the dry goods business between these

two gentlemen had been formed at Helena, in Mason
County, where they for a time carried on business. They
came to Carlisle—that is, Mr. Wood did—with a stock of

goods about 1831 or 32. The old stone house owned by
John G. Parks then, was rented, and Enos Burns was em-

ployed as clerk. It is doubtful if there ever was any-

where outside of Paris, France, any proprietor and clerk

who excelled Wood and Burns in politeness and suavity

of manners. The house did business here only about

two years, but they made money during the time beyond

question. The firm being afterward dissolved, Mr. Wood
went to Missouri, where he continued a successful busi-

ness up to the time of his death.

Dr. Lowry visited Carlisle again in 1843 with a view

to locate here. He bargained with Mr. Joseph F. Ture-

man for his private residence, store-room and stock of

goods. The price was agreed on, terms fixed and all, but

somehow the contract was never carried out. The
Doctor, perhaps very wisely, concluded that he would
stick to his farm and the practice of his profession. In

these he was thoroughly proficient. About 1850, he

bought the fine farm then owned by Henry Bruce, Jr.

On this tract he built a spacious brick residence, and the

farm afterward became widely known as the model farm

of the State. Dr. Lowry died some twenty years since,

leaving quite a large family well provided for.

Our onward march with our history now brings us down
to the year of 1833, the year made memorable throughout

the United States as the period of the first appearance of

the Asiatic cholera. We in Carlisle, in common with all the

towns and cities of our country, were awaiting its arrival

in our midst in terror and trepidation. We had tracked its

course from the time it appeared in Moscow, with almost

a grim certainty of its presence among us at no distant

day. There were no telegraphs or steamships in those

days, and we had to bide the slow and tedious passage
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of the sailing vessels requiring generally from twenty-five

to thirty days before we could hear any tidings of the

whereabouts of the terrible scourge. In June, 1832, it

first made its appearance on this side of the Atlantic, at

Quebec, and June 10 at Montreal. On the 21st of June
it appeared at New York ; at Philadelphia, Albany and

Rochester in July ; Boston, Baltimore and Washington

in August and in October ; from Cincinnati it leaped to

New Orleans.

In the meantime our citizens were not idle in prepar-

itig to meet the apprehended danger. Several families

hastily packed up and fled from their homes and spent

the whole summer in log huts and cabins remote from the

town, some finding an asylum amgng relatives and friends.

The writer remembers of one farmhouse where four

whole families were quartered. It was the same now
owned by Henry C. Reed aiid mother, to-wit : Mr. and

Mrs. Jeremiah Clark and thcea boys, Mr. and Mrs. B. P.

Chappell and three children, Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Clark

and four children, and a black family of seven or eight.

It was not until June 17, 1833, that the first case oc-

curred in Carlisle. This was a black man named George,

belonging to N. P. Robinson. He lived but a few hours,

and was soon followed by Dr. Milton G. Thurman, an

estimable young physician boarding with N. P. Robin-

son, a nephew of Solomon G. Ward. A black man and

wife living at Dr. Menifee's, name now forgotten ; a

black man and woman living at Dr. Leech's; Christopher

Goodwin and wife, Caroline, living with Thomas Arnold;

Miss Sallie Harris, a daughter of Captain John Harris,

then living where Mrs. Mary Mathers now lives; a

married daughter of Thomas Jones living near town;

Thomas Hadden, partner of John Dougherty, hatters on

Front street; a black man owned by Hadden ; Thos.

Caldwell, a large, fleshy man, living in the two-stOry

where A. McDaniel, Jr., now lives; Mrs. Smedley, first

wife of Aaron Smedley, who lived where John M. Chevis

now lives—in all, fourteen persons, six white and eight

black—and all on Front street.

During the months of June, July and August, nearly

all kinds of business were suspended in Carlisle. Mr.

Joseph F. Tureman relates that none of the business

houses were kept open. All that he did was to open his

store of a morning, and stay a few hours, waiting for any

one who might come and call for some article of med-

icine. As for all kinds of dry goods, no thought was

taken of them, or of accumulating the goods of this world.

For a time it seemed that all were only interested in

laving up treasures in Heaven, " where moth and rust

doth not corrupt and where thieves do not break through

and steal." At old Concord, religious services were held

nearly every Sunday. On one occasion Rev. William

Vaughn, the faithful servant of God, preached there to a

large audience, who were moved to tears by the fervid

eloquence of the preacher and the apparently near ap-

proach of death.

On the 17th day of June (the day the first case of

cholera appeared) the Board of Trustees met
;
present

:

Joseph P. Tureman, John S. Morgan and Matthew Reed.

It was " ordered that Gavin Mathers be employed to

haul a load of lime and to place it upon the public square

in Carlisle, for the use and benefit of the citizens, who
are requested to use the same for the purpose of checking

the cholera."

" Ordered, That William Secrest, James Scott and

William Stewart, be appointed a committee to examine

the cellars, back premises and alleys, etc., and see that

the same be clear of filth, etc.; and if not, they are to

employ help to put them in good order, for which the

trustees will pay, and that they enter forthwith upon the

duty of their office." Signed,

M. Rbbd, President. 1

William Nobvell, Clerk.

It is honorable to record, that while many fled from

the visitations of death, there were a noble few who were

always prompt at the cry for aid, going from house to

house, doing all in their power to relieve the sufferers,

and closing their eyes and preparing their bodies for

interment when the last struggle with death had ended.

Among those whose names deserve to be remembered for

their self-sacrificing heroism, are those of Colonel Wil-

liam Norvell, James Robinson, Edward Parks and others,

who are now dead.

In November, 1833, that most sublime but terrifying

celestial phenomenon occurred, called at that time " the

falling stars," but now generally recognized as a " mete-

oric shower." It was about three o'clock in the morning

when the whole heavens, ablaze with these flying mes-

sengers of light, attracted the attention of some one who

was sitting up with a sick person. He had just stepped

out of the door to go for a doctor, when the grand and

awful scene bursting upon his vision caused his

" two eyes like stars to start from their spheres,

His knotted and combine 1 locks to part,

And each particular hair to stand on end

Like quills of the fretful porcupine."

The 'alarm was instantly given, and spread with

rapidity throughout the town. The cry from house

to house, and street to street, was, "Get up! get up! the

world is coming to an end! " For awhile a fearful coa-
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sternation prevailed; knees smote, teeth chattered, and

loud outcries of mortal terror gave a faint idea indeed of

the apocalyptic vision when the dead, small and great,

shall stand before the presence of God. Bibles were

gotten out which had long laid away covered with dust;

knees were bowed in prayer, and every token in truth,

of a peril as dread as it was mysterious. Well does the

writer rememberthat scene; it is pictured upon memory's

tablet in form and color so distinct that it can never fade

away—no, not until that great day itself shall come, and

the feeble outlines of the ante-type be swallowed up in

the far grander sublimity of that " eternal blazon." Oh!

happy will he be if he can stand in that dread presence

with as little fear of that awful scene, as he stood under

the blazing heavens, in the street hard- by his humble

cottage home in Carlisle, ia November, 1833. Still, no

sound of the archangel's trump broke upon the expectant

ear; nor did "the sheeted dead squeak and gibber in our

streets." But still the sublime spectacle went on.

Myriads of stars shot athwart the heavens, coursing like

fiery steeds across each other's path, leaving behind them

monster trains of light, which lingered long after the star

itself had disappeared. And yet the cool November air

caught no breath of heat from the flashing meteoric blaze.

The fixed stars smiled as serenely as ever before upon

the mortal terrors of their sister earth. Gradually terror

gave way to confidence, fear to admiration, and our peo-

ple stood spell bound, gazing still in awe, but no longer

in fear, upon the grandest spectacle it has ever been the

lot of man to behold, until the lightof the " bad revolt-

ing stars" was lost in the brighter effulgence of the

morning sun.

The source whence the meteors came was traced to

that quarter in the heavens occupied by the Leonis

Majoris, and independent of the earth's rotation and ex-

terior to our atmosphere. As computed by astronomers

at the time, it could not have been less than 2,338 miles

distant from the earth.

To give some faint idea of the amount of light thrown

upon the earth's surface, we would say that one could

have easily picked up a pin anywhere in the streets of

Carlisle. There is no wonder that people were fearfully

alarmed at the appearance of the "falling stars." Only

three months had elapsed since the Asiatic cholera had

made such sad havoc among the human race ; and put-

ting the two occurrences together, it was well calculated

to create the impression that the "crack of doom'' was at

hand.

It may not be uninteresting to know that the first body

ever buried in the old graveyard, which lies alongside the

new cemetery, was that of a little boy. In 1831, Willie

Smedley, son of Aaron Smedley, pulled a coffee pot

full of boiling coffee over onto his head and face. The
hot fluid entered his ear, causing his death in a few hours.

He was at the time just across the street at his grand-

father's, who lived in the old frame house torn down some

eight years ago to make way for the handsome gothic cot-

tage built by Police Judge Mann. His father lived where

Squire J. M. Chevis now owns. At this time General

Thomas Metcalfe lived where Mrs. Rogers formerly lived.

The General owned all the land clear down to the public

road then leading to Forest Retreat. So far no burial

ground had been established in Carlisle. People who
lost friends generally went to Old Concord, or some

old family burying-ground in the neighborhood. Mr.

Smedley, however, not wishing to bury his little boy so

far from home, got the consent of General Metcalfe to

bury in the corner of his farm just where the Millers-

burg and Forest Retreat roads diverged from the town

limits. And thus we have the origin of the Carlisle

Cemetery. The second person buried was old Mr.

George Robinson, father of N. P. and George Robinson,

mentioned in our former chapters. He was a member of

the Masonic fraternity, and it was the first Masonic

burial of Carlisle. This was about the year 1833. There

was a great concourse of people assembled from far and

near to witness it. The great lights in Masonry were

carried in procession by a venerable brother, and there

being then no hearse to convey bodies to the grave, the

coffin was carried by four stout brothers acting as pall-

bearers. And so, by permission of the General, persons

continued to bury there until about 1837, when the

General sold the farm to his sister, Mrs. Lucy Ogden.
From Mrs. Ogden a purchase was made by the town,

and set apart for the sole purpose of a burying-ground.

There were no lots held or sold by any one—any and
everybody, black and white, had a right to enter and dig

wherever they chose.

Due north from Carlisle, on the old dirt road to Mays-
ville, and within one mile of town there are two hills.

Over this hilly road from 1816 to 1848, a period of 33

years, all the freight from Maysville to Carlisle was
hauled in wagons, the price per hundred pounds vary-

ing from fifty cents to $1.50, according to the condition

of the roads. The longest of these hills approaching

town is known as "The Steam Mill Hill," and about the

year 1830, a Mr. N. G. Baldoo built a steam mill at the

foot of the hill near A. S. Waugh's. In the winter time

the mud on the long hill was generally so deep that it

was sometimes supposed to have no bottom. Teamsters

rrv*'
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hauling goods from Maysville, generally unloaded fully

one-half their cargo at Arnett's old "Indian Queen

Hotel." On reaching the hill alluded to the wagoner

would dismount and commence the heavy task of reach-

ing the summit. By the time he had gained one-third

the elevation, one-third more of his cargo had to be dis-

charged, and along with it a volley of oaths, such as

might have shamed our army in Flanders. At two-

thirds of the way toward the top another lot of freight

and another discharge of infernal artillery ; and fortu-

nate was the poor wagoner if he gained the summit with

one W box of dry goods and a kit of mackerel. But

he had his revenge by unloading " cuss words " enough

to fill a dictionary ; and looking back over the muddy

way along which was strewn his boxes, bales and barrels

he caught sight of the smoke of the steam mill at the

base, and all of them by common consent dubbed it that

" d—d steam mill hill."

This side of the point above named there is a smaller

elevation, but steeper at one point than any one on the

long hill. It has been avoided now by the grading of the

Park's Ferry Turnpike. This hill sloped downward toward

the town, and the only trouble our friend, the wagoner,

had about it was that, in descending, his wagon and team

seemed like they were standir^ on their heads, and he

had, in the summer time, to put on all the brakes to keep

his wagon from rolling out his horses into pancakes.

But to the origin of the name. Since the laying out of

our town in 1816, we have had four public executions of

persons condemned to die. Of these four, three of them

were black men, and all three of them hung on the hill last

named. The sentence of death pronounced upon them

was, that "in one-half mile from the court-house " the

penalty of their several crimes was to be executed upon

them by a public hanging. The first man ever hung

here was Burris, a black man belonging to Erasmus

Riggs, somewhere about 1820. The place selected by

the sheriff was the summit of the hill named, and which,

therefore, became known as " Gallows Hill." Our next

hanging was Bill, an old black man, seventy years old,

who also met his fate on Gallows Hill. The third and

last of the series was Thomas Fulton, a free, mulatto, col-

ored man, in 1838. Tom lived on the waters of Beaver

Creek, and owned a small piece of ground with a cabin

on it. An order had been made by the County Court to

survey a new road through that neighborhood. It so

happened that the proposed line lay through Tom's land.

He had' been heard to make his threats that no road

should be surveyed through his premises. When the day

arrived for the survey, sure enough there was Tom with

his loaded gun, his " soul in arms and eager for the fray."

He ordered the men off ; a fierce quarrel ensued, and

Tom banged away with his gun, killing outright one of

the surveyors. He was tried, found guilty and con-

demned to die.

B^om the time our town was laid out, until 1835, our

market was always bountifully supplied with fish caught

in our own Kentucky streams. Licking River, which

washes our northeastern boundary, and Hinkston upon

our southwestern, were literally filled with the finest

specimens of the piscatorial tribe which one could desire

to see or eat. Pike, bass, channel cat, red horse, new-

lights and perch, all were found in a liberal supply and

of the finest quality. The price paid was generally five

cents per pound. But we had also a source of supply

right at our very doors. All that part of Brushy Fork

which flows through Dorsiana, was as good a place to

fish as there was in Kentucky. And following the stream

all the way down to where it empties into Hinkston,

just above Millersburg, there were noted places to fish,

where fine perch, cat-fish, and not unfrequently bass,

were caught which would weigh from half a pound to a

pound each. About eighty yards below where the Dor-

seyville bridge crosses the creek, there stood, in 1834, an

old walnut tree which grew upon the bank of the stream

on the hither side; sitting under the shade of this tree

many a fine string of fish has been taken by the boys of

Carlisle, as late as the year 1839-40. The same locality

was used for a great many years as a baptizing pool.

In some of the great revivals of 1830 to '40, no less than

fifty or sixty have been immersed there on a single occa-

sion. Looking at the stream in its present reduced and

shallow state, we might well ask: What has become of

all the water? It has been ascribed to the destruction of

timber, and almost universal cultivation of the soil along

its banks. The loose soil, being washed out by the rains,

has settled in the bottom of the creek, and so reduced

and narrowed its bed, that there is no basin to hold the

water, and so it flows right off toward the rivers, leaving

no sufiioient depth for the fish to dwell in, as in " ye good

olden times."

The subject of a fire department continued to agitate

the bosom of our town guardians from year to year.

There was hardly a meeting of the Board of Trustees

held that some project for the purchase of some sort of

fire apparatus was not discussed. And so the trustees re-

solved to do many great and mighty works of public im-

provement. Saint James says that "faith without works

is dead." In the case of our city fathers it was works

—

on paper—without any faith in their ever being perform-
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ed. The order to purchase, or have made, a lot of fire

hooks and ladders had been made out and passed as ear-

ly as 1839, but it was not until 1838 that the work began

to assume a tangible shape. On the 2d day of April of

that year, the board met at the store of Smedley &
Dougherty. " On motion, it was unanimously resolved

that a competent number of fire-hooks be procured for

the benefit of the town of Carlisle, and that the same be

paid for out of any money in the hands of the trustees."

In order to carry out this resolution, John Dougherty and

Henry Fritts were appointed a committee to procure such

fire-hooks on the most reasonable terms. Still the com-

mittee failed to act. On the 29th of March, 1839, it was

"ordered that William Stewart and B. M. Teal be appoint-

ed a committee to purchase fire-hooks in place of Messrs.

Dougherty and Fritts, who have declined to act." This

time they found the right man. Uncle Billy Stewart

concluded he would " take the bull by the horns " and

have the hooks and ladders made, let come what might.

And so the fire-hooks were made and safely laid away

alongside the old market-house ready to be brought in-

to active use in case of any sudden invasion of the fire

fiend. An opportunity soon presented itself for testing

the merits of the fire-hooks. Some time in 1840 a fire

broke out in the large livery stable attached to the hotel

kept by A. Summers, Esq., now the St. Cloud Hotel.

The stable stood on the south side of the alley on Sec-

ond street, where Sam Berry's ice house now stands. On

the upper or north side of the alley stood the granarj, a

one-story frame, where all the corn, oats, etc., were stored

for use at the stable. These two buildings were erected

at the same time the old hotel was erected, about the

year 1817.

Although it was early in the night when the fire broke

out—soon after 8 o'clock—it would have been impossible

to have put it out, even with a first-class engine and fire

department. The stable being built wholly of frame,

well seasoned at that, and filled with hay and straw, of

course burned with fearful rapidity. The flames very

soon overleaped the alley and fastened upon the granary.

The distance from the granary to the hotel was so

short as to greatly endanger the latter, which in turn

-would have threatened the whole block on Front street,

fronting the court house. " Pull down the granary! " was

the cry from lip to lip as the roaring flames leaped high

in the air, and swayed menacingly toward the densely

built portion of the town. Then it was that our hardy

firemen bethought them of their fire-hooks which had

so recently been prepared for the salvation of the town

against fire.

" The fire-hooks! the fire-hooks! " shouted the crowd

as they rushed past the hotel where feather-beds, chairs,

boot-jacks, mattresses, quilts, bed-comforts, looking

glasses, etc., were flying into the street below from the

open windows above. Soon the fire-hook procession

came upon the scene, each ponderous machine borne upon

the shoulders of a score of stalwart men. But here a

new and unexpected difficulty arose: how to get the fire-

hooks raised to the top of the burning building. A jock-

ey once describing his horse, said that the horse had but

two faults in the world. " What are they? " asked an in-

quisitive bystander. " One is, that he is hard to catch,

and the other is, that he is no account when he is caught.''

These two points covered the whole ground with re-

gard to the Carlisle fire- hooks. There was not muscular

power enough in Carlisle, Sharpsburg and Millersburg

combined, to have raised one of them to an angle of

forty-five degrees—particularly when the farther end had

to be pointed at a burning building, with the thermome-

ter at an altitude of 300° Fahrenheit. There was a great

deal of heaving and setting, puffing and blowing and

whooping and shouting, ending by a still greater torrent

of cursing and swearing, and a throwing down of " the

fire-hooks " prone to the earth, in the most contemptuous

scorn and indignation. Fortunately the night was cairn,

and the frames of the burning houses fell in before the

badly scorched walls of the hotel took fire, and the old

hotel escaped by the skin of its teeth. But the fire cooked

the goose of the Carlisle fire-hooks, the Alpha and Omega
of that species of property in our town. The irons were

taken off and sold to the blacksmiths, and the trees of

which they had been made converted into fire-wood.

In 1835 there were three families living in Carlisle,

whose history deserves a special notice. These were

John Boyd, and William and Lawson Smith. Mr. Boyd
then lived in the brick house just across the east end of

the culvert, where .Jesse McDaniel now lives. Wm.
Smith lived next door east of Boyd, where Jno. A. Camp-
bell, Esq. now lives. Lawson Smith's house was just at

the opposite side of the culvert, where Mrs. George now
owns. John Boyd kept a grocery in the one-story frame

now occupied by Frey & Harris, in front of the court

house door. The Smith Bros, carried on a tanning and

saddlery business upon the same lot occupied by Lawson.

Oil the last day of the election, Aug., 1835, in a quarrel

between Boyd and Smith, the parties came to blows, and

before any one was aware, Wm. Boyd, son of John

Boyd, ran in and stabbed Smith to the heart. Boyd
was sometime after arrested and tried for the murder,

but broke jail before the trial was concluded, and ran
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away. He was himself shot to death by some unknown
person in Illinois about thirty years after, while sitting in

his chamber at night.

About the year 1834, a co-partnership in the dry goods

business was formed between Aaron Smedley and John

Dougherty. The business was carried on by them in the

old frame building which stood on the lot now covered

by the three-story brick owned by The Farmers' Bank,

and Mathers & Saunders. The partnership was a very har-

monious one, the partners generally taking it time about

going to Philadelphia for their semi-annual supplies. If

Wood & Lowry was a firm of exceeding politeness, Smed-

ley and Dougherty exceeded in jollity. Both of them

were pretty good on telling jokes and hard yarns. Their

store was a favorite resort for all who desired to " laugh

and grow fat." Mr. Smedley was the chief salesman with

the ladies—a faculty which his son, John, of Hughes &
Smedley at Millersburg, retains to this day—a sort of

family distinction as it were. Mr. Smedley's wife died

with the cholera in 1833, and it was during the time of

his widowerhood that he was in business with Boss Dough-

erty. About 1838 or '39 he married Miss Catharine

Hughes, daughter of Jesse Hughes, Esq., perhaps the

prettiest girl ever raised in Carlisle. About this time

the partnership was dissolved; Mr. Smedley bought a

farm near Moreland, in Bourbon County, to which he

immediately removed.

Soon after Wood & Lowry moved away a new
competitor came upon the stage in the dry goods busi-

ness. This was John McMahan. He was a citizen of

the town, and continued to reside here until 1840. On
the 18th of August, 1830, he was appointed collector to

collect the town tax for the years 1839 and '30, and also

the delinquent taxes for 1828. About 1836 he opened a

small dry goods store in the old stone house where Wood
& Lowry had been located. James E. Secrest was em-

ployed as clerk by him. In 1837 he bought the property

where 'Squire John McKee now lives, which then in-

cluded the ground whereon Tureman & Howell's drug

store now stands. Here he fitted a little, narrow room with

a little, frame bedroom in the rear, and moved his stock in-

to it. During the years 1837, '38 and '39, Mr. MoMahan's

sales scarcely reached beyond |5,000 per annum. Decem-

ber 1, 1837, James E. Secrest left the store and was suc-

ceeded by Jas. A. Chappell. In 1839, Mr. McMahan was

the largest taxpayer in Carlisle, he being assessed at

$14,000, while Mr. Tureman was placed at $13,000.

But alas ! Mr. McMahan's was but the shadow and show

of wealth. It was all on a credit. Nor is it probable

that he was ever at any time really worth to exceed

$4,000. In 1840, he was compelled to succumb to the

pressure of the times. He failed in business and moved

away during that year to the State of Ohio, where he

lived several years, and afterwards went to Illinois.

It was, we believe, in 1837 that the shinplaster epi-

demic broke out all over the land. This grew out of the

scarcity of change. The banks having suspended

throughout the whole land, there was, of course, no sil-

ver money, either large or small, paid out, and as ^le

banks did not issue bills below the denomination of one

dollar, there grew such a scarcity of small change as to

become a serious inconvenience, and to create a popular

clamor for relief. To remedy the evil, prominent busi-

ness firms in almost every city or town of any size had

printed small bills of the denomination of 6|- cents, 13^

cents, 35 cents, 40 cents, and some even 75 cents. These

were to be redeemable at any time, at the option of the

holder, when presented in amounts of five dollars or up-

wards, in current bank notes. Some of these tickets

were printed on very poor paper, and after being worn

some time, looked greasy and dirty, and these, together

with their small size, obtained for them the soubriquet of

" shinplasters." The shinplaster was freely taken at home

by everybody, but were often refused when they got be-

yond their own limits. Mr. A. Broadwell, of Cynthiana,

issued by far the largest amount in this section, and his

"plasters" were pretty freely taken—sometimes fifty

miles from home. The amount issued by Mr. Dougherty

and endorsed by Mr. Tureman did not reach beyond $400.

Mr. Broadwell's shinplaster bank, we think, ran up to

$3,000. Mr. Hazelrigg, of Mt. Sterling, also issued a

goodly quantity of them.

Among the dry goods firms in Carlisle between 1830

and 1840 was that of Morgan & Bruce. This firm was

composed of Col. John S. Morgan and his brother-in-law,

Henry Bruce, Jr., of Fleming County. Their place of

business was in the old frame house now owned by Colonel

Parks, and occupied by Thomas Sammons & Bro. in the

year 1833 or 33, and continued until about 1835. After

Mr. Bruce retired from the business in Carlisle, he settled

upon the farm adjoining the Bruce homestead. About

1846 he sold that place to Dr. Lowry and purchased the

the fine farm on the Maysville Turnpike near Mayslick,

After a stay of several years upon the farm he sold it to

Captain John F. Piper of this county. He moved to the

city of Covington and purchased a fine old brick mansion

upon Sanford street, near the bank of Licking river. At

this time he was worth fully sixty thousand dollars. At'

the breaking-out of the war Mr. Bruce took strong ground

in favor of the South. So sanguine was he of success^
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that he bought fifteen or twenty likely young slaves, three

of whom he sent to Carlisle for safe keeping. But Mr.

Lincoln's Proclamation, a year or two after, of course

wiped out that much capital with a stroke of the

pen. He was put under surveillance by the Federal

authorities and not allowed to reside in Kentucky
;

accordingly be moved to the city of New York. He
is now in Kansas City, where he is located as lessee

of ^ splendid hotel in that flourishing city, doing well

and enjoying life as only one of his happy disposition

can enjoy it.

On lot No. 83, there was as early as 1820 an old grist-

mill. This was built by a man named George Peck.

Peck was an ingenious fellow, and employed his leisure

hours (that is, when not taking toll) in making combs out

of horn. One of these combs fell into the hands of Mrs.

Martha Ross, mother of Judge Ross, who kept it as a

curiosity for a good many years after. The mill-stones

were so hewn that one worked within the other, more

like an old-fashioned coffee-mill. As late as 1845, these

old stones and part of an old cog-wheel were still lying

on the spot, but the mill-house had disappeared, and to-

day not a vestige is left of the first grist-mill in Carlisle.

The year 1840 was a gloomy period in the history of

the town, the suspension of the banks in 1837, followed

in the State by the issue of Commonwealth Paper, the

loss of confidence, and the fearful stagnation in business,

culminated in 1840 by pinching hard times. Constables

after levying upon property to satisfy executions, found no

buyers to attend their sales; and so had to postpone them

from time to time, and oftentimes the creditor would at-

tend and bid in property enough to satisfy his claim, at

ruinous prices. It was during this year that there were but

two dry goods stores in Carlisle. These were Jas. F. Ture-

man and John Dougherty. Such was the dullness of the

times that Mr. Tureman's sales amounted to but little

over seven thousand dollars. But the recuperative power

of the country soon began to tell upon business, and new
firms were organized, new plans projected, and 1841-42

-43 and '44, each showed a scale of progression in the in-

terests of trade. Thus far the town had no turnpike

communication with the outer world; but in 1845, a

charter was obtained for a turnpike from Carlisle to For-

est Retreat, a distance of about three miles. About nine

thousand dollars were subscribed by the citizens, and in

the spring of 1846, the work was begun. It was in 1848

before it was completed, and in the month of November of

that year, E. P. Johnson & Co., of whom Jack Hughes

was a member, began a line of stages, semi-daily, be-

tween Maysville and Carlisle. Our townsman, J. A.

Chappell, was the first passenger entered upon the way-

bill.

The completion of this long and much needed im-

provement gave a new impetus to the trade and business

of the town. In the meantime our old court house as

early as 1840 began to show signs of decay; the circular

wall on the east gave way and threatened to jeopardize the

lives of judge, jury and bar ; and so our circuit judge

in 1843 ordered its removal. In 1844, the lofty spire of

the old house succumbed to the force of circumstances.

The present new court house was completed in 1845, afe

a cost of about $8,000, including the old material. At
the same time the present new clerk's offices were com- _

pleted. In 1855, a survey was made of the route of the

Carlisle and Sharpsburg Turnpike. At that time the

Maysville and Lexington Railroad was also being sur-

veyed, and the same corps of engineers employed on

the railroad were hired to make the survey of the turn-

pike. The railroad was then considered a fixed fact,

and our citizens were now looking round for turnpike

connections. Although the county of Nicholas had by
a decisive vote refused a bond sul)scription of $100,000

to the railroad, our town citizens, and many also from the

county, united in a liberal cash subscription, and thereby

secured the location through Carlisle. The history of

the railroad will, no doubt, more fully appear in the

Bourbon County or Paris City Department. As before

indicated, the survey of the Carlisle and Sharpsburg

Turnpike was made in 1855, but it was not until some
five years after, that a subscription was made to the

capital stock of the road sufficient to put the road under

contract.

From 1856 to 1860 was a period of extraordinary

prosperity; in the three years of 1857-8-9, one promi-

nent dry goods and grocery firm cleared $6,000 each

year, or $18,000 for the three years, upon a purely legit-

imate business. The opening of the Carlisle and Sharps-

burg Turnpike was a great advantage to the place, and
has continued ever since to be a main feeder to the trade

and business of the town. In 1861, Messrs. Chappell,

Bruce and Mclntyre erected a large brick building on

the corner of Front and Main Cross streets. In the second

story of the building they constructed a town Jiall, 73x38
feet. This hall, for about twelve years, was much used

for exhibitions, entertainments, etc. Many noted sup-

pers, for the benefit of the several churches, were given

there. At one of these suppers, gfven by the Christian

C-'mrch, there were more than 400 persons present, and
the receipts amounted to over $600. It was in the

month of June, 1862, that a supper was given by the
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ladies of the Baptist and Presbyterian Churobes. Never
was such a tempting display of viands seen in Carlisle.

It was during the strawberry season, and the ladies

spared no pains nor expense to make their entertainment

a grand success. It was about noon, the very day the

supper was to come off, when they were all up in the

Masonic hall, which was in the third story of the build-

ing, immediately above the town hall. Here they had

their tables set, while the town hall below was to be used

as a grand reception and promenade room.

In the midst of their busy preparation for the great

event, the whole community were thrown into the wildest

excitement by the cry of "The rebels ! the rebels are

coming !" And in fact some Union scouts attached to

the Home Guards, came flying pell mell through the

streets and gave the general alarm. Then indeed there

was mounting in hot haste. Those who were known as

warm Unionists quickly mounted their horses and rode

away. It was only a few moments before a squad of rebel

cavalry about 60 strong, commanded by Capt. Pete

Everett, dashed into the town, and having picketed all tne

streets, proceeded leisurely to dismount on the public

square and to help themselves to a number of horses. In

the meantime the gallant Captain heard of the elegant

supper which the ladies had set out in the lyiasonic Hall,

and so he dispatched his orderly to wait on the ladies

and notify them that he and his company of bold soldier

boys would do them the honor to dine with them. The

announcement brought tears to the eyes of the fair

ladies, and as our history must be veracious, we are com-

pelled to state that they were not tears of joy. A dele-

gation of " Southrons," that is, those who were supposed

to be in sympathy with the South in the great contest

then impending—headed by Mrs. E. M. Bruce, whose

husband was at the time a member of the Confederate

Cono-ress—was hurriedly sent to Capt. Everett, to respect-

fully decline the honor, and as Dogberry would say,

to most humbly give the Captain and his cavalrymen

leave to depart. But the Captain's stomach and con-

science being both at that time of the day in accord with

a good dinner, could not be moved from his purpose.

He however agreed that if the ladies would wait on the

table right nicely and give his boys a good hearty

dinner, he on his part would guarantee perfect security

to all and singular of the property held in fee simple by

the ladies, including all their silver ware, table cloths

and irapkins, all their roast duck, cold ham, chicken-salad,

cakes, pies, ices and strawberries, except so much of the

edibles as might be necessary to satisfy the appetites of

the aforesaid hungry squad of cavalry. This compromise

was accepted by the ladies with the best grace they

could, and the soldiers were marched at once to the

tables, stacking their arms at the door. After thoroughly

satisfying their appetites, the Captain and his men
quietly mounted and rode away towards Mount Sterling.

The ladies soon cleared away their tables and the sup-

per went on, realizing the handsome sum of five hundred

dollars. It was believed that but for the raid of Captain

Everett's troops two hundred dollars more would have

been realized.

It has always been the misfortune of Carlisle that no

manufactories of any kind to amount to anything have

ever been established here since the burning of the hemp
factory in 1832. In 1864, Mr. Weaver moved a few

looms here and made a few yards of a very fair article

of heavy jeans, but the enterprise soon died out for the

want of capital to sustain it. Some years ago an eifort

was made to establish a shoe factory on a moderate scale;

after passing through several hands with indifferent suc-

cess, the enterprise fell into the hands of Chappell, Bruce

& Mclntyre, and in 1862 they made up over 17,000 worth

of custom work. But it was found impossible to com-

pete with Eastern manufactories and the work was aban-

doned. About 1870, Mr. R. C. King obtained a patent

for a blue grass seed-stripper, both for hand and horse

power. For the hand machine he has had a good demand,

and there is no doubt but that he could have had a large

export demand for both machines if he had put more

capital and enterprise into the business. About the

same time Archdeacon and Brother opened a carriage

manufactory on a limited scale. These gentlemen have

succeded very well in their business, and have built up a.

very fair paying trade. For a long period of years Car-

lisle was entirely without a flouring-mill: but about 1853

the citizens raised a subscription of about two thousand

dollars, and tertdered to John McConahay, who put in op-

eration a steam mill, located below Water street, just at

the foot of Second street. About two years after Mr.

Elbridge Waller succeeded to the mill, and in connec-

tion with it, established the first andHast distillery ever

erected in the town limits.

In the year 1863, Daniel S. Talbert, Esq., from Bour-

bon County, moved to Carlisle and purchased the prop-

erty from Mr. Waller ; but in June, 1864, the mill, dis-

tillery and all, took fire and burned to the ground. There

was another Rip Van Winkle sleep took place, until eight

years after, Messrs. Piercy & Saunders built a steam mill

in the suburbs of the east end. Before completion, how-

ever, it was purchased by Henry C. Metcalfe. Mr. M. V.

Bostain, a popular young gentleman from Sherburne, in
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partnership with Mr. Metcalfe, completed the mill, and put

it in successful operation, under the firm name of Metcalfe

& Bostain. Not satisfied with this mill, however, in 1877,

Mr. Metcalfe projected a new one, to be supplied with

all the modern improvements, to produce flour by the

new patent process. In this last project Mr. Metcalfe

was associated with Mr. Thomas Johnson. In 1878, the

property was sold to Capt. S. G. Rogers and Mr. Bostain.

It was during this year that the tubular boilers of the

mill exploded, killing Mr. James Summers, the engineer.

Since then the mill has been enlarged and improved, and

is to-day, for its capacity, one of the finest mills in the

State. On the 5th day of October, 1871, the first rail of

the Maysville & Lexington Railroad was laid into town.

Quite a large number of our citizens were present, and,

as the track was laid across the town limits, many of them

stepped upon the car, and thus became the first railroad

passengers ever to enter the town. The completion of

this long-desired and long-deferred improvement gave

new life and enterprise to the place. In order to aid in

securing the completion of the road, the town, in its cor-

porate capacity, in 1868, voted a subscription of fifteen

thousand dollars to the capital stock. For this purpose

bonds were issued, bearing six per cent, interest, and

having twenty years to run. In 1873, the town sold the

certificates of stock to some Maysville parties at twelve

and one-half cents on the dollar. This sum was set apart

as a sinking fund, to be further increased by annual tax-

ation, to be used in the extinguishment of the debt.

Since then, some six thousand dollars of the bonds have

been purchased by the Town Treasurer, Mr. F. E. Congle-

ton. To this gentleman's able management may, no

doubt, be largely attributed the final extinguishment of

the debt, principal and interest.

Reference has been made in another chapter to the

Carlisle Bank, chartered in 1817 and suspended in 1819.

From that time on for thirty years there was no bank in

Carlisle. In 1850 Mr. John Dougherty opened a depcjsit

bank on Front St. in the new three-story building erected

by him. Mr. Isaac H. Howell was his clerk. Mr. Dough-

ertv kept an account with Braisted and Dougherty,

Merchant Tailors 299^ Broadway, New York, upon whom
most all of his eastern drafts were drawn. In 1859,

Messrs. Chappell, Bruce and Mclntyre opened a private

bank of deposit in the building on the old Tureman

corner. Their New York house was the Metropolitan

Bank. Soon after this, and after the death of Mr.

Dougherty, a deposit bank was opened by Mr. Henry

Edsall and Wm. P. Ross, Esq. These gentlemen in'

1865 were succeeded by the present Deposit Bank.

This last is a regularly chartered bank, having a capital

of about $85,000. The present officers are W. P. Ross,

President, F. E Congleton, Cashier, Wm. W. Howard,

Clerk, and Horace M. Taylor, Correspondent. During

the present session of the Legislature, a charter has been

granted for the Farmers' Bank of Carlisle, with a capital

of $50,000. The following constitute the present board

of directors : Capt. S. G. Rogers, W. T. Buckler, Judge

J. M. Kenney, Henry Pickrell, and Thomas Pickrell.

These gentlemen have purchased the original Dougherty

bank building, and have fitted it up in handsome style.

They have a splendid new fire and burglar proof safe,

built by the Hall's Safe and Lock Company, with a patent

time-lock. The financial strength and business qualities

of the stockholders will no doubt ensure the Farmers'

Bank a sure footing among the sound institutions of a

similar character in the State.

It was in the year 1853 that the first newspaper was

ever printed and published in Carlisle. This was the

Carlisle Ledger. Col. Sam. J. Hill, brought an old style

hand-press, and a limited outfit for a small county paper

here from Maysville. He obtained a subscription of about

350 names, and this with a small advertising patronage,

and some job work, enabled him to put the paper under

way. Mr. Hill's wife, and a son and daughter, were all

type-setters. In his employ there was also a very large,

fleshy colored woman, named Jane; or as she was gen-

erally called," Big 6." Hill did the press work and Jane

inked the rollers. The Ledger was never very " well post-

ed," and hence it is not surprising that it "got out of

balance," and at the close of 1854, was found to be plus on

the wrong side. In the spring of 1855, the Native Amer-
ican party secured the control of the paper, and changed

the name to the Carlisle American. The Ledger had

been neutral in politics, but with a Democratic leaning.

The American was placed under the editorial charge of

the writer of these chapters, and the subscription raised

to four hundred. It was published as a campaign paper

at one dollar for six months. It was during the memor-
able year of the rise and fall of the " Know Nothing" party.

Hon. Charles A. Moorehead, was elected Governor of Ken-

tucky, and Hon. A. K. Marshall, defeated Hon. Wm. E.

Simms, for Congress from the Ashland District. In

the county. Dr. G.- C. Faris was elected on the same
ticket to the Legislature. The decisive battle between
the hitherto ubiquitous and victorious Sam and the

Democratic party, was fought in Virginia in her

gubernatorial election the same year, and resulted in

the complete overthrow of the "natives." Hon.
Plenry A. Wise, the successful candidate, was in the
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City of Baltimore on the night when the election re-

turns came in, and was called out by an immense mob
of enthusiastic Democrats upon the balcony of Barnum's

Hotel. After the prolonged cheers of the people had

subsided, he addressed them in the following mem-
orable words :

" Fellow citizens, we have met the

black knight with his vizor down, and his shield and

his lance are in the dust." With the Virginia defeat

came the overthrow of " Sam," and the Carlisle Ameri-

can shared in the general wreck. It was not long after

that Colonel Hill packed his kit and tramped to a more

inviting field. In 1860 Messrs. Chappell, Bruce &
Mclntyre published a monthly paper, called the "iVicAo-

las jidvoca!e"; it was printed at the Gazette office,

Cincinnati ; subscription price, 50 cents per annum.

The edition was 500 copies, about 300 bona-fide

subscribers, the remainder were distributed gratis

among thejDatrons of the firm. During the same year a

humorous little sheet was published here by Walter W.
Tureman, called the Hat Terrier.'' This was printed by

W. W. Pike in Paris. The motto of the Terrier was

" Rats, to your holes."

In the year 1867, the present Carlisle Mercury was

founded, by Dr. Preston Lindsay and W. R. Anno. In

1868, Mr. Anno retired and Dr. Lindsay continued until

1869, when he sold out to Capt. T. F. Hargis and Joseph

Norvell. These gentlemen only ran the paper a few

months, and turned it over to C. W. Munger. In the

year 1870, Mr. John B. Scudder and Calvin W. Darnall

purchased the paper, press, fixtures, subscription list and

good will, entire. Under this last management the Mer-

cury rapidly rose in popular favor, and at once took rank

among the most influential county papers in the State.

On the morning of the 5th of January, 1873, the Mercury

office was completely destroyed by fire ; nothing was

saved but the subscri|)tion list. Never was public sym-

pathy more thoroughly aroused. The Kentucky Press

Association hastily responded by a liberal contribution.

New subscribers by the score came flocking in, offering

to pay one and even two years' subscription in advance.

In the mean time, Thomas A. Davis, of the Maysville

liepublican, nobly came to the rescue, by placing his

office at the disposal of the unfortunates, and at once

a half sheet was issued, announcing that only a tem-

porary suspension would occur. In a few days after, a

new power press and a complete outfit were purchased in

Lexington, and the Mercury, Phoenix-like, rose from the

ashes to enter upon a new career of prosperity. This

continued until the death of John B. Scudder, in 1876.

At that time the edition of the paper reached nearly 1400

copies. The death of Mr. Scudder was a sad loss to the

paper as well as to the whole community. Mr. Darnall

continued the paper until 1878, when he sold out to Prof.

T. C. H. Vance and W. J. Kehoe. Prof. Vance continued

his connection but a year, and was succeeded by the

present owners, the Kehoe Brothers, William J., Henry

C. and Thomas, under whose management it still flour-

ishes.

For sixty-four years after its incorporation, the town,

or village government was vested in a board of trustees.

These trustees were elected annually, and were vested

with power to levy a tax, to pave the sidewalks, im-

prove the streets, abate nuisances, control licenses and

regulate the markets. In 1870, or about that time, the

legislature granted the corporation the right to elect a

police judge and town marshal, to whom were confided

the preservation of the public peace, the enforcement of

fines, also jurisdiction co-equal with the magistrates and

constables of the county. In the year 1880 the village

form was changed, and a city government established.

The city was laid off into three wards—called the east,

west, and middle wards, with two councilraen each from

the east and west wards, and three from the middle

ward. The other officers are mayor, marshal, treasurer,

and city attorney. Mr. Chas. W. Munger was the first

Mayor elected under the new government. During its

history, Carlisle has suffered considerably from fires. In

1832 the large hemp factory and rope-walk of Samuel

Smith and Co. was burned; in 1838, the dwelling of D.

O. H. Stout; in 1840, the stables and granary attached to

Maj. Summers' hotel. On Sunday morning, January

5, 1873, a terrible fire destroyed the large three-stoiy

brick building known as Masonic Hall. Southward

the fire spread to the alley in the rear. Westward it

consumed the row of frame buildings, and was only ar-

rested by pulling down a one story frame, which alone

saved the county jail and the residence of Jno. M. Chevis

Northward the fire crossed the street, and the entire row

of brick buildings extending westward fell a victim to

the devouring flames. In this fire no less than fifteen

firms were thrown out of business for the time being.

Prominent among these were the Mercury office, three

dry goods stores, one boot and shoe store, one millinery

store, a restaurant, etc., etc. On the morning of the 28th

of May, a fire broke out in the large three-story frame

building owned by Parks, Dorsey & Co., situated upon

the railroad, at the corner of South and Second streets.

This large structure was completely destroyed, and

the fire crossed the street and reduced to ashes a row

of three or four other frame houses. Of the firms burned
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out at this fire the following had been burned out 3d of

January previous, making twice burned out inside of

five months, to- wit: F. M. Peale & Co., Charles Pendle-

ton, Thomas George and John Brown (colored). Our last

great fire occurred on the night of the 14th of March, 1875,

It originated in the small one-story frame house, situated

on Front street, at the east end, and used as a ten-pin

alley. There was a tremendous high wind blowing at

the time from the west, and one after another, two livery

stables, a tin- ware shop, a carpenter shop, and a black-

smith shop, were swept away in the twinkling of an eye.

In fact, the fire was only stayed in its destructive march,

because there was nothing more left in its path to feed

upon. During the past twelve years the growth of the

town has been steady and healthy, and at this writing

shows signs of further progress in population and busi-

ness. The present population of Carlisle, including the

suburbs not yet incorporated, is about one thousand three

hundred.

—

Chappell.

CHAPTEE VIII.

CARLISLE-ITS RELIGIOUS HISTORT-THE PRESBTTEETA.N CHURCH; REV. MR. RANKIN ITS FIRST PASTOR-

ORGANIZATION OF OTHER CHURCHES-ELDER ROGERS—THE MASONIC FRATERNITY, ETC.

"Blessed are the pare in heart, for they shall see God."

—

Matthew V: 8.

THE Church history of Carlisle forms an interesting

part of the history of the town, and we devote con-

siderable space to its notice. The following sketch of

the Presbyterian Church was written, at our request, by

one who is thoroughly conversant with its history, and

should be read with interest by all its members :

It is to be regretted that a great part of the official

history of the Presbyterian Church of Carlisle has been

lost or mislaid, especially as the volume or volumes of

the record of its sessional and congregational proceed-

ings thus not at hand, cover the period embracing the

organization of the church and the next twenty-five

years of its existence. In the preparation of this article,

recourse has been had, in a large measure, to the testi-

mony of living witnesses, and a sort of tradition (the

latter, especially, coming from different sources), not

always voicing in exact harmony.

The first church of any denomination ever organzed

in what is now Nicholas County, was organized about

1795-6, at old Concord, two and a half miles southeast of

Carlisle. It had upon its rolls a great many as'pure men

and women, as sincere and devoted Christians as the good

Lord ever blessed any community with. Carlisle, as is

elsewhere stated in this volume, was laid out and its

naked town lots sold in June, 1816. At that time Rev.

John Rankin was, or became within a year after, the

pastor of the Concord Church, which for several years

next before, had been supplied by Rev. John Lyle

(familiarly and lovingly called Father Lyle), he being

the immediate successor of Mr. Stone. Mr. Rankin was

also Pastor, at the same time, of the Somerset Church

(now, if not then, in Montgomery County); and as early

as 1817 Carlisle became a preaching point, a sort of

missionary field, and Mr. Rankin held, if not statedly, as

time and opportunity would allow, occasional meetings in

the court house, until sometime in the latter part of 1820,

or early in 1821, when the Presbyterian Church, of Carlisle

(made up mostly of persons bearing letters from Concord),

was organized. How appropriate and pleasant it would be

to rescue from near oblivion, the names of the founders

of the church ; those zealous, earnest, godly men and

women, the fathers and mothers of the church,

whose hands laid the foundations, and who invoked

with their warm, glowing-hearted benedictions, the

blessings of God upon it. But this is denied us, and

as the names of all or any considerable number cannot,

with any sort of reliable accuracy, be given, we must
content ourself with brief notices of the first office-

bearers of the church.

The first Pastor of the church. Rev. John Rankin, was
born February 4, 1793, near Dandridge, Tennessee, and
united with the church at that place. He received his

education at Washington College, Tenn., and was li-

censed to preach the gospel by Abingdon Presbytery.

He was ordained by West Lexington Presbytery, and
installed over Concord congregation, his first charge, and

was pastor of it four years, ending in 1831; during all of

which time he preached at Carlisle, and after its organi-

zation, as Pastor of the Carlisle Church. From Carlisle,

he removed to Ripley, Ohio, in the fall of 1821, and for

forty-four (44) consecutive years, served in his ministerial

capacity, the Presbyterian Church at that place. Imme-
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ately after this long service, he became pastor or supply-

to the New Richmond Church, where he remained two

years.

He next took charge of the church at Granville, Illi-

nois, where he remained two years, concluding a contin-

uous ministerial relation to the church of fifty-two years

duration. That he should have served one congregation,

going in and out before them and breaking to them the

bread of life for forty-four years, as he did at Ripley,

stamps him as a man of positive qualities and character-

istics, and is a circumstance, with due recognition of

God's overruling providence, authorizing him to feel some

degree of pride. He is still living, and had, what must

have been to him a great pleasure, the opportunity, the

physical and mental power, as well as the faithful inclina-

tion, on Sabbaths, the 11th and 18th days of September,

1881, to preach to a Presbyterian congregation at Kings-

ton, Indiana, a congregation which was then, and had

been for twenty years, under the pastoral charge of his

son, Rev. Arthur R. Rankin, and a church made up in

good part of the descendents of those to whom he had

preached as pastor sixty years before, in Ktntucky.

Of the fifty persons enrolled at the organization of

the Kingston Church, nearly all of them had letters

rom Concord, Carlisle and Somerset churches in

Kentucky. He preached those two Sabbaths at Kings-

ton to crowded audiences, and though bordering on the

ripe old age of eighty-nine years, with wonderful vigor

holding the close attention of all, even the children.

He was always a man of strong, outspoken convictions,

fearless and zealous, even to what might be regarded as

the confines of fanaticism, in the maint^enance of them,

and in the prosecution of his life work. His attainments

were highly scholarly, and he was blessed with strong,

natural mental ability.

As to those who constituted the first ruling elders of the

Carlisle Church, there is some doubt; all however agree

that Samuel M. Waugh, who had served in Conco d

church in the same capacity, was one of them; and we

can find no one who can suggest who the others were;

save that Mr. Rankin's recollection as stated in a letter

from his son already mentioned, is that Nathan Nesbitt

and Samuel Fulton were also of that bench of elders.

Others think that Mr. R. is in this, possibly in error. Be.

this as it may, these two men were so prominent in their

relation to the early church, and so conspicuous in every

good word and work, as to have deserved such distinc-

tion at the hands of the congregation, and to have their

names and memories emblazoned on the page of the his-

tory of the church of which they were, so early, so con-

sistent, and so valuable members. Nathan Nesbitt sur-

vived the organization of the Church but a short time,

and being called to the partioipancy of the joys of the

church triumphant, left on earth the sweet odor of a pure

and spotless reputation; a heritage to his descendants,

richer than worldly goods—a heritage ofjoy and comfort

forever.

Samuel M. Waugh was one of the earliest settlers of

Nicholas County; he was a farmer (as were also the other

two who have been mentioned in connection with the

ruling eldership of the church at its organization), " was

a stalwart of the stalwarts," so to speak, in moral and

Christian solidity and integrity. He lived to a very ad-

vanced age, having filled with consciencious fidelity, and

with intelligence and acceptance to the people, at least

two civil offices. He left quite a number of children and

descendents, upon whose minds and hearts he impressed

by precept and example, his own rigidly correct char-

acteristics. One of his sons. Archer S. Waugh, was for

a long time, and up to his death, a ruling elder in the

church of his father, was instant in season and out of

season, in all things looking to the welfare of the church

and its cause, and the spread of the gospel. His sincere,

earjiest, and unremitting exertions in the line of Christ-

ian duty, and fidelity to the Master were proverbial.

Samuel Fulton, though his early opportunities for

storing and disciplining his mind were quite meager, hav-

ing however a strong native intellect, was at the meridi-

an of his life a man of very considerable intelligence and

force of character, and possessed moral and Christian

principles of a high order—this is attested by evidences

of enduring character. We find, from the civil records of

the county, that he represented the people of his district

in the Senate of Kentucky one term, and was elected

three times by the people to the House of Representa-

tives. We say these things are indications of moral as

well as intellectual fitness. Whether the people of this

generation are governed in matters of that kind by such

considerations, they were in his day and generation, as

the records, so far as this county is concerned, almost,

if not quite universally, proclaim. A man's advancement

to political prominence did not at that day depend upon

the amount of money he had, nor the party work he had

performed, of either a high or low degree. We have no

access to a list of the ministers who have presided in the

desk of the church an4 have ministered at the baptismal

font, the marriage altar, the sick bed, and the grave, point-

ing its membership to the Lamb of God, in whom, and

in whose shed blood, is all true happiness in this life, all

consolation and solace in sickness, and, at the trying
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hour of death, the only hope of indescribable, unending

joys beyond the grave. It is doubtless a long list. We give

the names of such of them as we are sure have been

pastor, or supply, to the church since Mr. Rankin's

pastorate;

Rev. Solomon G. Ward, dead; Rev. John T. Hen-

drick, D. D., now of Paducah ; Rev. Mr. McConaahay,

Rev. W. Y. Allen, still living; Rev. James Matthews,

still living ; Rev. James P. Hendriok, now of Flemings-

burg ; Rev. G. M. Hair, now of Pennsylvania ; Rev. Mr.

Carson, Rev. John Rule, still living ; and Rev. Henry

M. Scudder, the present pastor of the church, who at

the beginning of this year (1882) entered upon the tenth

year of his ministerial services with it. We have said

that during the early years of the church it held its

meetings in the court house. This continued to be the

case until 1839, when the Presbyterian and their Baptist

brethren of the town and vicinity, jointly built a plain

substantial house of worship, which they occupied al-

ternately until 1879, when, the house being no longer fit

or safe to use, the Presbyterians bought out the Baptists,

and remodeled the old structure, indeed almost replaced

it, with a new building of rare taste and beauty, at a total

cost of about $7,500. This pleasing consummation is due

in large measure to the indefatigable energy and labors

of the present pastor, Mr. Scudder, to whom the people

of his charge owe a debt of gratitude, not only on this

account, but because of his able, efficient and successful

labors in every department of the duty which has de-

volved upon him.

The membership of the church has increased consid-

erably in numbers (numbering now 120) during his con-

nection with it, and the church is in a healthy, vigorous,

spiritual condition. Following is a brief extract from

the Carlisle Mercury of September 2, 1880, giving a

description of the new church building, which was dedi-

cated on the 5th day of September, 1880, the pastor be-

ing assisted on the occasion by Rev. R. Douglass, of

Woodford County, who preached the dedicatory sermon,

and by Rev. Dickson, then of Millersburg, but now of

Pine Bluff, Arkansas:

" The building has a seating capacity of 340; ceiling,

30 feet high; the windows are Gothic, beautifully filled

with various colored glass; the walls and ceiling are fin-

ished in the highest architectural style of fresco art; the

casings and wainscoting are splendidly grained in wal-

nut; the floor in the three aisles, and the area about the

pulpit and door, are covered with scarlet and damask in-

grain carpet; the pulpit is after a recherche design, richly

finished with mahogany veneering; the pews are models

of comfort and elegance, while the chandeliers, three in

number of six burners each, are crystal, and are as nov-

el, and pretty as anything we have seen in that line. In

short, the entire internal arrangements and appointments

are highly pleasing to the eye: rich in conception and, at

the same time, such as will minister in a high degree to

the comfort of an audience.

"The external front view of the building is grand and

commanding. The tower (brick) rises to a height of 40

feet, and is surmounted by a spire 76 feet high, making a

total height from the ground of 116 feet."

The following sketch of the Baptist Church was writ-

ten by W. H. Fritts :

The Baptist Church at Carlisle, Ky., was organized

February 25th, 1819, with a membership of seventeen.

Walter Warder, a name familiar in every B.iptist house-

hold in this section of the State, was the only minister

present, and his signature appears upon the certificate of

organization. The articles of faith, rules of decorum, etc.,

appear in his handwriting, which is a sufficient guaranty

of their orthodoxy, could no other be had. He was chosen

the first pastor and served the church in that capacity

until March 1823, a period of four years, during which

time there were forty-five additions.

In April, 1819, Henly Roberts was chosen clerk, which

office he held for a period of twenty-five years with an

interim of two years. In May of the same year, Henly
Roberts and Thomas Champ were chosen and ordained as

deacons. In November, 1821, a comrhittee was appoint-

ed to select a site for a church building, and in June,

1822, a similar committee was appointed to superintend

the erection of the house. The walls were raised a few
feet above the ground, but were never completed.

Elder John Smith, afterward a well-known minister

in the movement inaugurated by Alexander Campbell,

accepted the care of the church in July, 1823, and served

it one year. The association met with the church in 1831,

at which meeting Walter Warder presided as moderator,

and preached the introductory sermon, but no mention
of the meeting appears in the records of the church.

In 1825, and in 1826 and 1827, John Smith appears

again as pastor. In September, 1827, Walter Warder
accepted the pastorate a second time. During this year,

under his ministrations, the church enjoyed a gracious

refreshing from on high, there being twenty additions

by baptism in three months, although there appears to

have been no protracted effort. William Vaughn accepted

the pastorate in February, 1829, and continued for two'
years. It was in the year 1830, that the strife in the

Baptist Churches of Kentucky, engendered by the faction
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of Alexander Campbell, culiuiiiated. Franklin Associa-

tion had taken decided grounds against the party of

Campbell; Elkhorn, in a stormy session at Silas Church,

Bourbon County, had taken a similar position; Tate's

Creek had withdrawn all fellowship from church and

association that favored Campbellism, while the North

district had been split in twain, and later in the year the

contest came up in our own Bracken. Splits had actually

occurred in the Maj^s'.ick and Bethel Churches. Millers-

burg had narrowly escaped, but the church at Carlisle

passed the ordeal without trouble, which fact is undoubt-

edly to be attributed to the influence of her pastor,

William Vaughn.

Brother Vaughn was succeeded by James Duvall in

1831. From August, 1832, no business was transacted

until February, when Dr. Vaughn agiiin accepted the care

of the church, and remained its pas-or until June, 1836_

Elder John Holladay succeeded Dr. Vaughn in 1836, and

continued until the fall of 1840. He was ordained at

Millersburg, Kv., in January, 1830, Walter Warder and

Wdliam Vaughn being present. Perhaps no man ever

enjoyed more fully than he the confidence and esteem of

all who knew him.

During the pastorate of Brother Holladay, in the year

1846, sixteen members, Hen ly Roberts being one of them,

were dismissed by letter and constituted the church now

known as Locust Grove. E. D. Isbell, D. D., of Missouri,

served the church most acceptably from 1848 until 1860,

during which time valuable additions were made.

The cholera prevailed in 1849, and August 1st was ob-

served by the church as a day of humiliation and prayer.

Clark King officiated as pastor from 1851 until 1855. In

1853 the pastor was assisted in a meeting of seventeen

days' duration by Dr. W. W. Gardner, which resulted in

thirteen additions by baptism and two by letter. Elder

John James succeeded Clark King as pastor in 1855, for

one year. He was succeeded by .1. W. Bullock, in April,

1857, who resigned, the following December, to take

charge of Mayslick church. The church remained with-

out a pastor for two years following, but was visited dur-

ing the time by Rev. C. Keyes, who labored zealously for

a number of days, the result of which was the addition of

fourteen valuable members.

Having previously been called. Rev. J. W. Brown

began his labors with the church in January, 1860, and

continued* them for a period of ten years. Brother

Brown, who recently died in Texas, was highly esteemed

by the church, and during his pastorate there were thirty-

six additions to the church.

Elder J. Pike Powers succeeded to the care of the

church in the fall of 1870, but resigned after a pastor-

ate of less than two years, to take charge of the church

at Mt. Sterling, an interest which he had been mainly in-

strumental in establishing. He was the first resident

pastor the church ever had. His ministrations were most

acceptable to the congregation, and the church parted

with him with much regret.

The venerable Robert Ryland, D. D., succeeded Broth-

er Powers in a short pastorate of less than two years,

and he in turn was succeeded by Rev. C. Keyes, in Feb-

ruary, 1874. Brother Keyes had endeared himself very

much to the church by his earnest and efficient preach-

ing in several protracted meetings. His labors contin-

ued about two years, when he resigned, that the church

might secure a resident pastor.

Rev. A. N. White, a native of Mississippi and a grad-

uate of Crozier Seminary, succeeded Brother Keyes, and

ministered to the church for three years. The pastorate

of Brother White forms an era in the history of the church

not soon to be forgotten ; for, greatly through his effi-

cient labor, a beautiful house of worship was successfully

erected and dedicated to the worship of Almighty God.

The church from its organization had worshipped in pri-

vate houses and in the court house, until the year 1838 or

1839, when they built a house jointly with the Presbyte-

rians. The two churches had sustained amicable rela-

tions with each other for long years, worshiping together

as one people, yet each sustaining its own organization

and ordinances, but latterly little anim.osities had arisen,

and it seemed as though Providence was indicating that

the time had come for a dissolution of the partnership.

The church, accordingly, in July, 1876, appointed a com-

mittee to confer with a similar committee appointed by

the Presbyterian Church, with reference to a dissolution

by some amicable method. This action resulted in the

sale of the Baptist interest for the sum of thirteen hundred

dollars. With this sum as a nucleus for a building fund,

the church, with a determination that almost astonished

themselves, went heartily to work, and, in 1878, erected

the beautiful house which they now occupy, one of the

handsomest for its size in this section of the State, cost-

ino- the sum of $5,000. The house was dedicated Sun-

day, October 26, 1879, Rev. T. C. Stackhouse, of Lexing-

ton, Ky., officiating, assisted by Rev. A. N. White, the

former pastor. The house was filled to overflowing, and

over $600 was raised to assist in paying the debt. It was

a joyful day to the Baptists of Carlisle, and many thanks-

givings from grateful hearts to the Giver of all good.

Rev. W. G. Riggan, of Virginia, a student of the semi-

nary at Louisville, after having served the church as pastor
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for a term of fifteen months, in May, 1881, offered his res-

ignation, to take effect in June, for the purpose of accept-

ing a position in the seminary at Louisville. Brother

Riggan, during his short pastorate, had greatly endeared

himself to the whole church, as well by his genial, Chris-

tian conduct, as by his earnest, able and zealous ministra-

tions in the sacred desk. The church, with saddened

heart, accepted his resignation, assured that only a sense

of duty had been the prompting cause of it.

We are glad to be able to state that the church ex-

tended a call to Rev. R. B. Garrett, another of Virginia's

favorite sons, and that he accepted and began his labors

about the middle of September, 1881. The church has

never been numerically strong, the highest number

ever attained being that reported last year, seventy-eight.

She has, however, manifested a willingness to assist in

every good work, always a friend to missions, thoroughly

Baptistic in principle and practice.

The Christian Church of Carlisle is of more recent or-

ganization. In the year 1790, the house known as the

old Concord Church was built. This proved to be the

nucleus of the Carlisle Church. In the year 1793, Bar-

ton W. Stone was pastor of this church and of the Cam-
bridge Church jointly. When Carlisle was founded in

1816, this was still the nearest m«eting-house, nor was

there any other until the first Christian Church edifice

was built about the year 1830. In the meantime, up to

that time the church was known as the Carlisle and Con-

cord Church. After 1830 the church in Carlisle became

a separate and distinct organization. The history of

the body from that time forward until 1867 was only a

part of the history of her first pastor, Rev. John Rogers.

The early fathers of the church were godly men, men
of sincere Christian piety. It is indeed doubtful if ever

any body of Christians had a more devoted band of fol-

lowers than the early Christian Church of Carlisle.

Among them were such men as Henry Dinsmore, Robert

Ardery, William Mathers, Robert MoCune, John Byers,

Gavin Mathers and Thomas M. Stephenson.

The peculiar tenets of the church, ignoring as they

did all human creeds and confessions of faith, and crys-

tallizing in them all the anti-Calvanistic sentiment of the

community, were well calculated to take deep hold upon

the minds of men who were deeply imbued with the

spirit of civil and religious liberty—men with whom
any fkvrm of dictation, whether in civil or religious mat-

ters, would be likely to arouse a sentiment of dissent and

opposition. If there were those who sincerely believed

in the doctrines of saving grace by faith of election,

foreordi nation, and final preservation, as set forth in

their respective creeds and rules of faith, the Christian

fathers were equally sincere to reject them all, and, to

use their own language, cling to " the Bible, and the

Bible alone, as the only rule of faith and practice." Cer-

tain it is, they built up a large and influential church,

numbering now, and for many years past, more than

three hundred members. Much of this prosperity was

no doubt due, under God, to the faithful labors of

their first pastor. From 1816 to 1830, all denominations

preached in the old court house. The Christian Church

in Carlisle was the first one to have a house of their own.

This, as already stated, was built about 1830. In 1863,

or thirty-two years after, the present large and com-

modious house was built. Rev. John Rogers continued

to fill the pulpit until his death, in 1867. Since that

time several ministers have served the church, among

whom were Elders Wilioughby, Briney, Yancey, Stover,

Myers, Jones, and, lastly, the present efficient pastor and

thorough Christian gentleman. Elder L. H. Reynolds.

The name of Rev. John Rogers deserves to be em-

balmed in the memory of all who knew him, and is just-

ly entitled to a conspicuous place in the memory of the

town. He was born in Clark County, Kentucky, Deo.

6, 1800. He there learned the trade of a cabinet-mak-

er ; came to Carlisle in 1819. Though then but nine-

teen years of age, he became deeply interested in the

subject of religion, and as early as 1830 actually began

preaching. He was a pupil of the venerable Barton W.
Stone, under whose ministrations, we believe, he first em-

braced religion. He worked at his trade for the first

few years, occasionally teaching a school, and nearly ev-

ery Sabbath preaching at some church or school house.

In 1839 he taught a school at the school house which

then stood on the Pettus farm near Thomas Kennedy's.

He then lived in the brick house Patrick Shay now owns.

After 1830, Mr. Rogers gave up all other pursuits to

engage in the active work of the ministry. There has

never been scarcely anywhere a man more devoted to his

profession or of more untiring energy. It was about
1839-30 that the first old brick church for his congrega-

tion was built. The site selected was lot No. 108, which
had been bought by David Nicholson, June, 1816, for

$86. It was, in 1839, purchased by the trustees of the

Christian Church, and the house built by subscription.

In this Mr. Rogers continued to preach at least once
a month, until the new church was completed in 1863.

In the meantime he became an evangelist, and visited all

parts of the surrounding country, extending his visits

even to sister States.

For forty-seven years, Mr. Rogers sustained the rela-
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tion of pastor to the Christian Church in Carlisle. The
annals of time furnish but few instances, indeed, of such

a relationship continuing so long, continuous and un-

broken. It was while attending a protracted meeting at

Dover, Mason County, Kentucky, on the 1st of January,

1867, that he preached his last discourse. It was at

night ; the house was crowded ; fired by the theme which

filled his whole being, and the evident sympathy of his

audience, he made, it is said, the finest effort of his life.

The effect was signal and marked. A deep and solemn

feeling pervaded the assembly, while numbers came
forward with penitential tears, to seek an interest in the

atoning sacrifice of Jesus, the " Lamb of God that

taketh away the sin of the world." Ah ! little did that

solemn audience think it was the last time they should

ever hear that faithful voice ! that no more in life should

those kindly hands be stretched over them in heavenly

benediction ! On the way home to the house of a friend^

with whom he was stopping, be took sudden and vio-

lent cold
;
going out of a heated church into the cold

night air, he neglected the precaution of his overcoat,

and the sudden change brought on an attack of pneu-

monia. His family were promptly notified, and his

daughter, Julia, was immediately dispatched to his

bedside. All that devoted affection and neighborly

attention, aided by the best medical skill, could do, were

unavailing. Calmly and peacefully he died, on the 5th

day of January, bequeathing to his family his tenderest

blessing, and a name upon which not a single act of re-

proach or dishonor had ever cast a stain. His death took

place at the home of Mr. Bennett, in Dover, with whom
he had been stopping during the meeting.

In the meantime, years before, when his son Richard

died, he had selected a lot for family burial, in the new

cemetery. This the citizens of Carlisle offered him as a

free gift, thinking it was no more than due to one who had

done so much for the town. But this Mr. Rogers, with

characteristic modesty, refused to accept in full, but

agreed to accept one-half, he preferring to pay the other

half cash. Here, on the 8th day of January, 1867, he

was buried ; in sight of the town which for nearly half a

century had been his home.

The foregoing brief outlines of the life of Rev. John

Rogers were published in the Carlisle Mercury some three

years ago. Since that time we have been furnished with

some memoirs of his life, written by himself; these mem-

oirs were written in the years 1855 to '63, and proceed

only from his birth to the year 1834. It was no doubt his

intention to have brought them down to the close of his

life, and have them published by some friendly hand

after his death. The writer rejoices, that to' him has

fallen the honor of giving even this humble token of his

regard for his old preceptor and friend. In this auto-

biography, many interesting facts pertaining to the early

history of the town are brought to light, and it is to be

regretted that the whole work has not been completed

and given to the world. In the year 1819, Mr. Rogers

records an interview with John P. Durbin, then a young

Methodist divine, upon his first circuit. The two young

men were well acquainted ; both had served an ap-

prenticeship in the cabinet-making business ; Durbin in

Paris, and Rogers in Millersburg. Young Durbin in that

interview, " spoke in raptures of the great lights of

Methodism, esjaecially of Dr. Adam Clarke. He seemed

to have him before his mind as a model ; he spoke of the

great number of languages the learned Doctor had ac-

quired by his own industry, and seemed resolved to

imitate his example." It is only necessary to state, that

young Durbin afterward became the great and learned

Doctor of Divinity, who preached so long and successfully

in the Fourth street Methodist Church, in Philadelphia;

who afterward traveled through Europe and Asia

visited the Holy Land, and upon his return, wrote an

interesting book of his travels; and, like his model. Dr.

Adam Clarke, many valuable aids to the study of the

Bible.

In the year 1824, Mr. Rogers purchased the brick house

and lot. No. 139, on South street, being the same as it

stands to-day, for which he paid two hundred and fifty

dollars.

In 1825 Mr. Rogers visited Missouri, on a preaching

tour. He rode horseback 1,700 miles, preached one

hundred sermons, and was back home inside of three

months. He made successively, trips to Virginia and

Ohio, traveling all the time on horseback. During these

missionary tours, it is safe to say that he rode on horse-

back more than eight thousand miles, or one-third the

distance around the globe. Such in brief was theJife of

this earnest, devoted man of God. Who can estimate

the amount of good accomplished in that forty years

of active, ceaseless, untiring labor ? " They that turn

many to righteousness shall shine like the stars forever

and ever."

Not having access to the record of the Methodist

Church, the date of its organization can not be distinctly

stated. It was doubtless atan early day, probably as early

as 1821. Like all other denominations they preached in

the old Court House. No effort was made by that body

to build them a house of worship, until the advent of Rev.

Geo. W. Brush, about 1844. That gentleman had been
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installed but a short time, before he set about the work of

building. Popular as a minister and man, a genial whole-

souled, earnest Christian, all denominations took pleasure

in contributing to the fund. In the summer of 184-6, the

house was completed, and formally dedicated to the

worship of Almighty God. The sermon was preached by

Bishop Bascom, from the text which contains King
Solomon's sublime prayer at the dedication of the Temple.

It is needless to say that it was a grand discourse, full

of eloquence and power. After the sermon, the pastor

made an earnest appeal to his audience for aid to pay

off the church debt. It was a successful call, as very

nearly enough was raised to liquidate the debt. Among
those present and contributing on that occasion, were

Ex-Gov. Metcalfe, and Dr. John F. McMillan. Rev. G.

W. Brush continued to stay as long as the Bishop would
allow him. Since that time the pulpit has been filled by
some of the ablest men of the denomination—Trainer,

Bruce, Buckner, Shelman, Snively, Chamberlain, Deer-

ing, Kelly, and others whose names can not now be re-

called. The old Church in 1876—or thirty years after

its erection—began to look dingy and dilapidated. And
so measures were taken by Fastor Kelly to build a new
one. Accordingly the present handsome edifice was
completed and dedicated in 1878. Revs. Morris Evans,

Newton and Nugent, have served as pastors since that

time. The Methodist Church at this time numbers about

one hundred and twenty members. This year of grace,

1883, will be made memorable by the denomination, as

the year of the first session of the Kentucky Conference

with the Church in Carlisle. It was chiefly through the

influence of Pastor Deering, and the members of the

Carlisle Methodist Church, that the Deering camp ground

at Parks Hill, was opened some eight or ten years ago.

From the very start almost of our town history, the

principles of Free Masonry struck deep root and found a

congenial soil not only in the limits of the town but

throughout the county. In 1819 a dispensation was
granted to certain of the brethren to open and hold a

lodge of Master Masons in Carlisle. The following min-

utes, taken from the records of the Grand Lodge, have

been kindly furnished by Grand Secretary Hiram Bassett.

"August 20th, 1820: Robert M. Elliott took his seat as

Representative from Nicholas Lodge No. 65 U. D." In

the afternoon of the same day, "the committee to ex-

amine the working of Lodge 65 made a further report

which was concurred in as follows:

«* * * They have examined the working of Nich-

olas Lodge U. D. at Carlisle, County of Nicholas and

State of Kentucky. They find their work regular, dues

paid, dispensation returned, charter prayed and deemed
reasonable. They recommend that a charter be issued to

them under the name, style and designation of Nicholas

Lodge No. 65; and that Brother Robert M. Elliott be the

first Master, James Hughes Senior Warden, and James
B. Clark Junior Warden."

At the same meeting of the Grand Lodge, Most Wor-
shipful Henry Clay was elected Grand Master and sign-

ed the charter. At the same meeting Covington Lodge
No. 64 was chartered and their charter was also signed

by Grand Master Clay.

To have been honored as one of the few holding

charters under so illustrious a signature, has always been

the boast of Lodge 65. Upon the return home of

Worshipful Master Elliott, the Lodge was called and the

officers installed by proxy of the Grand Master. Their

first meetings were held in the up-stairs room of the old

stone house on Main Cross street. At that time a flight of

steps on the outside of the building southwardly afforded

access to the lodge room. In those days, too, the "old

stone" was looked upon with feelings of mingled awe
and dread. Fearful reports of what had been seen and
heard up-stairs— the clanking of chains, the fearful

noises and rappings, the groans of the tortured, the bale-

ful lights that flashed from the windows—all combined
to foster the pojDular belief that the brethren of the

mystic tie held nightly levees with the devil; inso-

much that at night little boys hurried by with bated

breath, and even in the daytime looked up to the win-

dows with nervous trepidation.

Robert M. Elliott, our first Master, was a farmer, and
then lived near the old Baptist Meeting House, on Brushy
Fork; he married the widow Mclntyre, mother of Mrs.

Melville Metcalfe; some years after this, Mr. Eiliott

moved from Nicholas and settled in some of the eastern

counties. James Hughes, our first Senior Warden, bought
lot No. 139—the same as afterward owned by Elder
John Rogers—^at public sale, on the 36th day of January,
for forty-six dollars, on three months time. He and his

brother William built the stone house (where the Lodge
was held) in 1817; they there opened a dry goods store,

and continued in business until succeeded by Thomas
Porter, Esq., of Flemingsburg, about 1833.

James B. Clarke, our first Junior Warden, was a lawyer
of Carlisle in 1830; his mother married Jonathan M.
Tanner, Esq., also one of the first lawyers.

The first petition presented for membership in the
new Lodge, bore the signatures of John Dougherty, Joel
Howard, and R. C. Hall.

About the year 1835 the Lodge suspended its meet-
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ings. Through mistake the jewels of the Lodge were

carried off to Missouri, by Joseph Clark, a citizen of the

town, -who had kept a tailor's shop in the old lodge-room.

The Grand Lodge suspended the charter, and the old

Lodge for a number of years, lay in a dormant state, to

be afterward revived' to a career of greater prosperity.

In 1842 John Dougherty, Joel Howard, R. C. Hall, and

other brethren, applied for a rehabilitation from the

Grand Lodge, and their old charter name and number

were restored by that body.

In the year 1844, while Mr. Dougherty was absent in

England and Ireland, the members of Nicholas Lodge

held a meeting, and resolved to change the name of the

lodge to Dougherty Lodge, in compliment to that gen-

tleman, a distinguished honor which he ever after held

in the highest regard.

On the 19th day of October, 1848, Nicholas Chapter

Royal Arch Masons was organized, and opened for work

by M.-. E.-. Isaac Cunningan, of North Middletown Chap-

ter, proxy of Grand High Priest, assisted by Judge

Samuels, of the same Chapter, as Principal Sojourner.

The following officers of Nicholas Chapter were duly

elected and installed at the first regular election, to wit :

John Douprherty, H. P.; Joel Howard, K.; William Nor-

vell, S.; J.F. McMillan, C. H.; Samuel Rogers, P. S.; A-

M. Clark, R. A. C; J. B. Emmons, G. M. 1st V.; R. C.

Hall, G. M. 2d v.; John M. Che vis, G. M. 3d V.; F.

Munger, Sec; Willis Sims, Treas. The following three

Companions were the first trio exalted to the sublime de-

grees : Fitch Munger, J. A. Chappell and J. M. Chevis.

There are but few Chapters in the State which has exalted

as many Companions as Nicholas Chapter No. 41.

It was some time in the year 1853 that a Council of

Royal and Sjlect Master Masons was organized in Car-

lisle under proxies of the Grand Council of Kentucky.

A. H. Jameson, T. J. G. M., and L. D. Croninger, C. G.,

both of Covington Council, under the name of Adoniram

Council No. 31. About fifteen petitions for the degrees

were presented the first night. The first presiding ofiicer

was J. A. Chappell, who had previously taken the degrees

in Covington Council. About four years ago the Grand

Council of Kentucky by compact with the Grand Chap-

ter, merged the Cryptic degrees into the Chapter, and

Adoniram Council, with all her sister Councils, and with

all her pleasant memories and associations of the past,

sleeps the sleep of eternal oblivion. During the great

fire in Carlisle on the 5th of January, 187-3, the records of

Adoniram Council were destroyed, and what is worse—

a

loss irreparable—the old Charter of Nicholas Lodge No.

6-1, signed by Henry Clay, also perished in the roaring

flames.

On the 23d of April, 1875, a Commandery of Knights

Templar was organized at Masonic Hall by Riglit Em-
inent Grand Commander Sir H. T. Bassett, assisted by

past Eminent Grand Commander Sir M. H. Smith, Mays-

ville Commandery, with 35 Knights, headed by Hencks'

brass band, visited Carlisle upon the occasion and assist-

ed very greatly in the imposing ceremonies. The fol-

lowing were the first officers elected by Carlisle Com-

mandery No. 18: Sir G. T. Gould, E. C; J. A. Chappell

Gen.; J. A. Mathers, C. G.; W. P. Ross, Prel.; T. J. Glenn,

S. W.; H. C. Metcalfe, J.W.; W. O. Saunders, Tr.; W. W.
Howard, Rec. ; James Collier, St. B. ; A. C. Brewington, S.

W. B.; H. C. Rned,Warder; Lucien Mann, C. G. In

April, 1877, the Grand Commandery of Kentucky held its

Annual Conclave with Commandery No. 18.

—
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CHAPTER IX.

CARLISLE-A CHAPTER OF BIOGRAPHIES-GOV. METCALFE-HIS LONG AND USEFUL LIPE.-OTHER BUSINESS

MEN AND PIONEERS OF THE TOWN-SOME OF THEIR PECULIARITIES AND ECCENTRICITIES.

story frame house, now owned by Judge Holladay, where

they lived for twenty-three years.

No family probably in Carlisle ever entertained com-

pany so liberally and hospitably as this. Mr. Stephen-

son was, and still is, a prominent member of, and an

elder in the Christian or Reform Church, and it used to

be said that every Sunday he issued a sort of carte

hlanche to the entire membership to dine with him. His

wife and Mrs. John Davidson carried on the first millinery

"There is a history in all men's lives."

THOMAS M. STEPHENSON is the only one now living

in town who lived here prior to 1820—if we except

Joseph D. Butler and John McClannahan, the only ones

living anywhere, who were citizens then. Thomas M.

Stephenson was born June 14, 1797, upon a farm about

four miles east of Carlisle ; he came here an apprentice

to Robert Dykes, on the 18th of December, 1816 ; he mar-

ried Elizabeth McCormick, and settled in the lower two-
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business of Carlisle. In their days the huge leghorn and

Dunstable bonnets were in fashion. We have no artist

to draw cuts in our midst, or we would embellish this

chapter with a picture of one of them ; suffice it to say

that the crown was about as big as an ordinary water

bucket, and the brim was from one foot to twenty inches

broad, and stood out from the crown at an angle of about

forty-five degrees. The principal business of the milliner

was to "do them up;" that is, bleach them and change

the shape to suit the caprices of fashion. One of them

once bought, lasted for years, sometimes becoming al-

most an heirloom in the family. General Metcalfe, it is

said, once gave his entire wheat crop for one of them, for

his sister Sally.

Mrs. Stephenson died December 8, 1855. After the

death of his wife, Mr. Stephenson went to Missouri,

April, 1858; returned August, 1863; went back to

Missouri, September, 1865, staid seven years more, and

finally returned to Carlisle, June 23, 1873. There is no

one, living or dead, whose name has been so long con-

nected with our town history; he was town trustee in

1832-33-26 and 1834-35, was also a justice of the peace

during several years; it is through him, mainly, that we
are now indebted for an effort to rescue our history from

oblivion.

Nathaniel Perrine Robinson, in 1816, commenced busi-

ness in Carlisle, building a double log cabin on the corner

where Archdeacon's carriage shop now stands, and also

sinking the second tan-yard of the town on the same

lot. From the very start he carried on an active and

profitable business. Combining the making of saddles

with his tannery, he found a home market for all the

leather be could turn out. But his ambition went

further. In 1834 he built the brick block on the S. E.

corner of Front and Main Cross streets. Here he

opened out with a stock of dry goods, groceries, etc., still

maintaining his tannery and saddlery business. He also

kept the post office several years in the same building.

Not content with this, about 1831 he built a brick cotton

factory (the present old photograph gallery), and sent to

Paris for James Robinson to superintend it. The power

was a tramp wheel of four-horse power,' and the goods

turned out were cotton yarns and cotton batting. A few

years later, however, he conceived the project of building

a great steam mill upon the Maysville Pike, which had

just been completed, and thus became the founder of the

present village of Oakland Mills.

Captain John Harris belongs, indeed, to our first

period, having been a citizen prior to 1830. He was one of

our very first brick masons, and burnt the brick for a large

number of the houses now standing in Carlisle. Captain

Harris' wife bore him five children. She died many
years since, and he afterward married a widow living

near the Blue Licks. He, himself, died at a good old

age, and was buried in our town cemetery,

A history of Carlisle would be incomplete without

some mention of Uncle Drury Jones. He was never a

citizen of the town, but moved here as early as 1806,

from Virginia, bringing a wife, one step-daughter and

twenty slaves. It was his boast to the day of his death,

that he once had, right on the very site of our town, " a

tobacco patch." He rented the land from Samuel Kin-

cart, and it is said of Uncle Drury that he never owned

a foot of land in Kentucky, notwithstanding his large

number of slaves. His wife died soon after he came to

Nicholas, and his step-daughter married Simeon Glenn,

who lived and died (by his own hand) at his home on

McBride's Run, the next house below Dr. Henry Reed's.

Uncle Drury kept a horse mill for a long period of years

at the old Hamilton place, now Mrs. Parks', on McBiide.

Some of the old mill house is standing to this day^

General Thomas Metcalfe belongs rather to the

county than to the town. But his nama is given ia

chapter VII as a citizen of the town, and although his

jesidence was in the suburbs, he carried on his trade in

town and was to all intents and purposes a citizen. Gen-
eral Metcalfe was born in Fauquier County, Virginia,

March 30, 1780, and when a child his parents moved to

Fayette (now Robertson) County, Kentucky. The father

dying soon after left the care of the whole family upon
the eldest son, Thomas—a sacred trust promptly accepted

and nobly sustained. He attended school a while iu

Fayette County, and was apprenticed to a stone masoiu

About 1803 he married Nancy Mason, and in 1809, when
war was threatened between England and the Unitefl

States, he boldly advocated war, and was afterward choseu

a captain of infantry and served with much distinotiom

under General Harrison at the siege and battle lof Fort.

Meigs. At the close of the war he removed to Carliste

and built our first brick court house, and labored at his

trade more or less for several years. He served four

years in the Kentucky Legislature, and in 1819 was
elected to Congress, and served by successive re-elee-

tion till 1838, when he was nominated for Governor
against William T. Barry, and elected by a good ma-
jority. Prior to this (1830) he had bought a farm, and,

with his own hands laid the foundation of the old family

mansion, which he called " Forest Retreat." After serv-

ing his time out as Governor, he devoted himself to the
cultivation of his farm. He owned a large number of
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slaves, three of whom were plasterers by trade, and made

a good deal of money for the General.

In 1834 General Metcalfe was elected to the State

Senate ; in 1840 he became President of the Kentucky

Board of Internal Improvements. When General Har-

rison was nominated for the Presidency in 1840, Metcalfe

went to Ohio and tendered his services to his old comrade

in arms in the mighty political battle (or revolution) then

raging throughout the Union. Dressed in the old cos-

tume—a gaily fringed hunting shirt and slouch hat—his

clarion voice ofttimes rang out in tones of fearful

denunciation of Van Buren's administration. It was at

one of these immense outpourings of the people (at Chilli-

cothe, we believe), that Metcalfe was presented by the

citizens of the town with a beautiful polished steel stone

hammer with an ebony handle. This he regarded as the

highest honor ever paid him, and during the rest of the

campaign always carried it swung at his belt. From this

time on he gained the sobriquet of " Old Stone Ham-
mer."

He was the intimate friend and companion of Henry

Clay and John J. Crittenden, and these three and Aris

Throckmorton, of Louisville, made up many a game of

whist at the Blue Lick Springs. In June, 1848, Critten-

den having resigned his seat in the United States Senate

to run for Governor, to aid in the election of General Tay-

lor, Governor Owsley appointed General Metcalfe to the

vacant Senatorship. He was afterward confirmed by the

Legislature for the balance of the term, which expired

March, 1849. The following letter from the General to

Dr. John F. McMillan, then a State Senator from Nicho-

las and Mason, may not be uninteresting :

"Washington City, January 6, 1849.

"Deae Doctor : I thank you for the telegraphic in-

formation received yesterday morning in regard to the

election of United States Senator. As soon as I may

receive an ofiGcial account of the matter, and the creden-

tials, I will endeavor to make the proper acknowledg-

ments to my friends.

" The information, as first received, was incorrect, and

to me it seemed a puzzle. George Metcalfe, instead of

Governor, as I supposed. The vote stood for Metcalfe

forty-four, for HoweJl (not Powell), thirty-eight. Believ-

ing in some mistake, I hastened to the telegraph office to

ascertain whether it could not be corrected. The con-

ductors of machine took my account which they had sent

to me, and promised to have the error corrected, if any

there was, in course of an hour or less. I passed on to

the Navy Department on some business, and as I

returned calling again at the office, they furnished me

with the anticipated correction. The vote, as given in

this dispatch, was for Metcalfe eighty-eight, for Powell

thirty-eight.

" On yesterday we had in the Senate an earnest debate

in which I took part, and regret that the whole debate in

reference to that atrocious nomination for Minister to

Rome can not be published. If not induced from some

good reason not at present occurring to me to abandon

it, I will make an effort before the adjournment to take

ofiF the injunction of secrecy— though I doubt my
success."

After his term of office expired. General Metcalfe re-

tired once more to his farm at Forest Retreat. His wife

died a year or two first, and on the 18th of August,

1855, the General himself fell a victim to that dreadful

scourge, cholera. Upon the highest point of his farm,

now owned by T. J. McCormick, just in the edge of

the orchard, to-day may be seen the grave of the patriot

statesman, the most distinguished of all the citizens of

our town, one whom the people both of town and coun-

ty always delighted to honor !

Eldridge W. Burden, with his brother Robert, came

to Carlisle about 1836. Eldridge was a young lawyer

then reading in the office of E. F. Chappell, Esq. Bob
was a plasterer by trade, and in the year 1838, they were

both boarding at Chappell's.

The Burdens were both popular young men; steady,

peaceable and attentive to business. In the winter of

1838-9 Eldridge was a member of the first theatrical club

which was ever formed in Carlisle. Eldridge held his posi-

tion as clerk of the Board, until the 5th of June,1833, when

he resigned, and Col. Norvell was elected in his stead.

It was, perhaps, about 1828 to 1831 that Eldridge and

Major William Wall, of Cynthiana, practiced law in

Carlisle together as Wall & Burden. Their office was in

the one-story frame which then stood where the parlor of

the St. Cloud Hotel now stands. In the fall of that year,

he and his brother Bob bade farewell to Carlisle, and

moved to the State of Missouri, where, we believe, they

are living to this day.

Horace Metcalfe, son of Eli F, Metcalfe, and half-

nephew of General Thomas Metcalfe, entered the office of

General Hughes, at Ellisville, in 1814, as Deputy Clerk.

Horace came to Carlisle as our first Deputy County

Clerk, and succeeded to the office when General Hughes

accepted the post of Indian Agent, under President

Monroe. He built the well-known brick residence now

owned by Dr. Tilton, about 1833, and here he continued

to reside until his untimely death—March, 1839.

Solomon G. Ward came to Carlisle as early as 1830.
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He, however, lived upon a farm near town, being the

same as now owned by Mr. James Clay. Mr. Ward was

first educated for the legal profession, but afterward

became a minister. He was at the battle of Bladens-

burg, Aug. 24, 1814, which preceded the capture of

Washington by the British, under Admirals Cockburn and

Ross. He was also at Baltimore during the unsuccessful

effort to storm Fort McHenry, by the British fleet, during

the same year. Mr. Ward was at one time pastor of the

Carlisle Presbyterian Church. He was a patrician by
birth and education, an old-school gentleman, a deep

thinker and a philosopher. For some years prior to his

death he was engaged in the preparation of a "Universal

History," but after his death his sons, somehow, failed to

give the world the benefit of their father's labors.

Captain James P. Ashley who followed the county

seat through all its mutations, captain of the night patrol

at Bedinger's mill, Blue Licks, and Ellisville, came along

with the balance of the town of Ellisville and settled for

life. He was born in Culpepper County, Virginia, about

the year 1780; came to Kentucky about 1800; stopped for a

time at Paris ; then went to Mason County and engaged

work as a carpenter with a Mr. Robin Clark, at stocking

plows. He then built a boat on the Ohio River, loaded it

with plows, and in partnership with Matthew Throckmor-

ton, started for the Southern market. Landing at New Or-

leans, and finding the market extremely dull, they shipped

their valuable cargo to San Domingo, the largest well-

known Island of the Bahamas, lying about fifty miles

to the southeast of Cuba. Throckmorton went with the

cargo and died on the Island, a victim of yellow fever.

No return was ever made for the cargo, and as there were

no steamboats in those days, Ashley and the rest of the

crew were compelled to return the long and tedious jour-

ney by land. Arriving at home, he went directly to Clark,

whom he owed for the plows, and worked for him by the

day's work until the whole debt of fifteen hundred dollars

was paid! After this he came to the Blue Licks and

built several mills for old Major Bedinger.

Captain Ashley was an eccentric character, we
might say an oddity. He drove no less than sixteen

droves of hogs to Virginia, the last of which severely

crippled his finances. Often when he had returned from

his trips, if any one asked him if he made money, he

would reply, " No ; about come out even—but I had a

d d sight of fun." That he was a man of high prin-

ciple and punctilious sense of honor, let his great plow

speculation prove. How many of those who are in these

last days squandering the hard-earned money of too-con-

fiding friends, will go to those whom they justly owe and

make such full and ample restitution as he did? Captain

Ashley lives among the countless dead in the old ceme-

tery. Sleep on, brave heart, and above thy green and

grassy grave " may violets spring !"

As already intimated, the mechanics of Carlisle, from

1816 to 1820, were men of decided skill and enterprise.

Among this class of citizens none were more highly

esteemed than Joseph D. Butler, house carpenter and

builder. He was a soldier in the war of 1812, in the

Northwest campaign, under General Harrison. He
married a Hayden, an own aunt of J. Addison and Lot

D. Young. In 1822 he built the house where Henry
Stewart now lives. There are many others, also, both in

town and county, built under his direction—all giving

evidence of a high order of mechanical skill. Mr. Butler

visited us about twenty-two years ago, and is probably

still living in Macon County, Missouri.

Robert Dykes carried on the first saddler shop in

Carlisle, his shop and dwelling being the same as now
occupied by Judge Holliday. The shop was in the front

room, while the family lived in the L and the upstairs

rooms. About 1826, John Dudley, who succeeded Ben-
net H. Evans, left the hotel (now St. Cloud), and Dykes
became his successor, removing there, and, we believe,

soon after abandoning the saddlery business altogether.

In the days of Evans, Dudley and Dykes, the St. Cloud
hotel was a constant scene of gayety, fashion and enjoy-

ment. Balls, hops, soiree and social parties, were almost

of nightly occurrence.

As early as 1814, Samuel M. Waugh kept a small dry-

goods store in the house standing on the public road first

referred to, being the same location as now owned by
Silas W. Campbell. In 1817 he moved his stock to the

one-story frame of two rooms, which once stood adjoin-

ing the old stone house (now R. E. Mann's grocery).

Here he kept also his magistrate's office, and after Gen.
Metcalfe, was the next magistrate which Carlisle had.

Samuel M. Waugh was a good man, a good citizen, an
Elder in the Presbyterian Church, and a good example to

follow in all the walks of life. He raised a family of

four daughters and four sons, the descendants of whom
are scattered more or less in the West and South.

John Campbell was another one of our prominent
first citizens, and carried on the mercantile business as

early as 1818. In 1833 he built the brick store room and
dwelling recently purchased and remodeled by B. F.

Adair. To this Mr. Campbell removed, carrying on
business below, and living in the rear and upstairs rooms
until his death, about 1830. He was a good merchant, a
man of very strict sense of honor, and a public-spirited
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citizen. He did not always, however, have the patience

of Job, as our modern retail merchants are supposed to

have. On one occasion he had been very much worried

with an old lady, who bought a set of cups and saucers,

and wanted him to " dash in the thread " with them.

Alter a, Jcmgtime parleying, the old lady bought a skillet

TJiitiH tJie Ibautlle broken off, bnt could not carry it home
•wiih her. She, however, kept cautioning him not to sell

it. This she repeated so often that the old gentleman's

palicence became completely exhausted, when he at last re-

plied, "Btim the danger, madam ! There is not another

woman in Nicholas Coanty would have it, but you."

Having giTen brief memoirs of a number of our first

citizens, our history would be incomplete without some

mention of ajiother old time resident. This is William

Porter. If we mistake not, he was the first grocery

keeper of the town ; settled here prior to 1820. About

1826-7 he succeeded Peyton Shumate in the old hotel,

the old Kincart house, named in opening chapter. Here

he continued some few years, and afterward kept a

family grocery on the corner of Front and Main Cross

—

now Adair & Brewington's. He married a sister of

Edmund Martin, a well-known farmer of the county.

The Porters raised a family of seven children—five boys

and two girls.

Another old citizen of our second period, was James

Perry. He was a citizen here from about 1820 to 1828,

was a carpenter by trade, and in 1827, helped build the

brick store-room first occupied by J. F. Tureman—now

City Store; in ]818, built on the lot 59, the two-story

frame which H. M. Stitt, in 1874, tried to move, and

which fell to pieces in the attempt.

The yonng folks of Carlisle may be a little credu-

lous, but it is a fact, that in 1820, there were two fine

large ponds in town, upon which, in the winter time,

when frozen over, all our Carlisle young men and maid-

ens, old men and women, boys and girls, met to skate.

One of these stood right where Joseph F. Tureman's fine

brick residence now stands, covering the whole of lot

No. 60, and parts of 54 and 59, and was called Perry's

pond. The other pond stretched across the whole of lots

137 and 138, between Patrick Shay and Samuel Berry.

Perry's pond was a very useful sheet of water. In the

spring-time all the town ducks congregated upon its

bosom, built their nests under Perry's and adjacent

houses, laid their eggs therein, which the town boys car-

ried off about as fast as laid. In the winter it became

the skating pond, while at all seasons it afforded a con-

venient place to duck old drunkards found in a state of

" how-come-you-so " on the streets after dark. Miss

Nancy Perry, a maiden sister of Perry's—an excellent

good woman by the way—was the second wife of Henry
Chevis, father of John M. Chevis, Esq. Another sistjr

married James Hughes.

About the year, 1831, Doctor James Gr. Leach, or, as

he was more generally called. Parson Leach, together

with his Eon-in-law, Matthew Reed, came to Carlisle, to

cast their lots in a community of which they had heard

many glowing accounts. Dr. Leach, was at first a

Methodist preacher ; but his daughter having married a

physician, he studied medicine after he came to Carlisle,

and in company with his son-in-law. Reed, afterward

became a regular practitioner. In 1834 he was elected

a member of the Board of Trustees, and was President

of the Board till August, 1825. Dr. Leach was a fine

specimen of the old school gentleman. Polite as a

Frenchman, pompous as an Englishman, he was yet the

most genial and generally useful citizen Carlisle ever

had. It made no difference who was going to preach.

Baptist, Presbyterian, Christian or Methodist, if they

failed to be on time, the doctor was always ready to fill

their place.

Was a doctor sent for under whip and spur and none

to be found? Doctor Leach was always ready to go to

the bedside of the sick and the dying, prompt to admin-

ister physic for the body or soul. Doctor Leach was very

scrnpulous in his dress, and always wore the very finest

shirts, with linen cambric ruffles both in bosom and cuffs.

He always carried a very fine ivory-headed cane, and
also a handsome snuff-box filled with the best Rappee or

Maccaboy snuff. He was very genial in disposition, andl

fond of society. When not engaged in his professional

labors, he never failed to call around at the various busi-

ness houses, where his polite manners and fine conversa-

tional powers always insured him a ready welcome.

For many years the family lived in the old Kincart brick

dwelling. About the year 1839 they moved to Jefferson

County, nine miles from Louisville, where the Doctor

continued to reside until his death, which occurred about

fifteen years after his removal.

Edward Franklin Chappell was born in Richmond,

Berkshire County, Massachusetts, November 30, 1795.

His father's family moved to Pompey, Onondaga County,

New York, in January, 1809. Here Frank, as he was

called in New York, took a thorough course of study and

graduated at the Academy in Pompey. Like great num-
bers of the young men of the Eastern States, he con-

ceived a great desire to go West in search of a location

less hampered by the close competition of the older

States. Accordingly, after a short sojourn in Canada, he
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came to Kentucky, in the fall of 1830. His first stopping

point was Millersburg. Here he contemplated practicing

law, having already qualified himself for the profession.

Being compelled, however, to resort to other pursuits to

enable him to purchase books, and to get a start in the

world, we next find him in the Letton neighborhood,

about six miles from Millersburg, teaching school. At
that time Cane Ridge was the greatest point in Ken-

tucky for big meetings. It was here that Stone, John-

son, Smith, and not uufrequently the great Alexander

Campbell himself, preached, attracting great crowds not

only from Bourbon, but the adjoining counties. It was

at one of these meetings that he first met one of those

sweet modest, unassuming young maidens whose pres-

ence once seen and felt can never be forgotten. This

was Mary Holt Oden, then in her twentieth year, the

only daughter of Mrs. Sallie Clark, by her (irst husband,

and was at that time living with the family of her step-

father^ on the farm now owned by Dr. Henry C. Reed.

An acquaintance sprang up—a courtship—and the young

Kentucky girl became the affianced of the handsome,

spruce young lawyer of Yankee-land. In February,

18S2, Chappell settled in Carlisle, and the following fall

(7th of November, 1832), Mary H. Oden became his

wife. He began the practice of the law at once, receiving

a fair share of the business at the Nicholas bar, and occa-

sionally at Owingsville and Flemingsburg. On the 11th of

September, 1823, their oldest child, J ames Augustus Chap-

pell, was born, whose long connection with the history of

the town is tolerably well known. The second child, Wil-

liam Oden Chappell, was born December 14, 1825. When
the call was made for volunteers in the Mexican War
(1846), William promptly volunteered and was a Cor-

pora! in Captain James H. Holladay's company. He
entered the city of Mexico along with the legions of the

victorious Scott, and returned home with the rest of the

company in 1847. January, 1849, he was married to his

second cousin, Lucy Mary Stewart. When the war

broke out between the South and the North he was in

St. Joseph, Missouri; there he volunteered and entered

the Confederate service. He was promoted to the rank

of Major for his personal bravery, and was killed at the

taking of Independence, September, 1861. In the mean-

time two children had been born, the first dying in in-

fancy. The second, little Mollie, and also the deeply af-

flicted and universally beloved wife, both died at the home

of her father, in Carlisle, in the year 1862. Eliza Helen,

the third and last child of Mary H. and Edward F. Chap-

pell, was born August 7, 1828. -February, 1849, she was

married to Thomas G. Taylor, then a young lawyer of

Carlisle. They moved at once to the State of Illinois,

where they are still living—now at Jacksonville. In

1825 Mr. Chappell was elected member of the Board of

Trustees, and was President of the Board during the en-

suing year. For a period of years the family were in

straightened circumstances, and, to add to their trials

and sorrows, a shadow was creeping slowly upon them

—

a shadow but too surely marking the stealthy approach

of the Angel of Death! About 1829 the- beloved wife

and idolized mother was taken with a hemorrhage of the

lungs. A physician was summoned, and remedies ap-

plied. She recovered, but from that hour it was appar-

ent she must henceforth battle with that dread disease,

consumption. Bravely, calmly and patiently she bore

up under all the trials of life.

On the morning of the 9th of March, 1845, the en-

franchised spirit, freed from its tenement of clay, was
borne by angel bands to the eternal paradise of God.

David R. Atchison was born in Frogtown, Fayette

County, on the 11th of August, 1807. He was the son of

a wealthy farmer, and educated for the practice of law.

It was late in 1827, or early in 1828, that he moved to

Carlisle. The old sign board used by him in Carlisle was

preserved sound and in good condition as late as 1846;

sixteen years after he left here. From Carlisle he re-

moved to Missouri in the month of April, 1830. He
was never married. A man of convivial and fine social

habits, he became very popular with the early settlers of

Missouri. He was elected to the State Legislature in

1834, and again in 1838. In February, 1841, he was ap-

pointed Circuit Judge of Platte County. In the fall of

that year he was appointed United States Senator by
Governor Reynolds to fill the vacancy occasioned by the

death of Senator Linn.

Hon. David R. Atchison was once President of the

United States for one day. At the time that General
Taylor was elected President of the United States, Mr.
Atchison was Speaker of the Senate. The 4th of March
fell upon Sunday ; and as Mr. Polk's term of office ex-

pired at noon, March 4, and as March 4 was Sunday,
General Taylor was not inaugurated or sworn in until

Monday, March 5, at noon. Consequently, Mr. Atchi-

son, who was President of the Senate, was President

of the United States for one day. Some of his friends

afterwards jocosely asked him how he felt and conduct-

ed himself in his exalted position. To which Mr. Atch-
ison good-humoredly replied that he hardly knew, for he
had been so worn out- with his labors in the Senate, that

he " had slept through nearly the whole of his term." He
was re-elected for two terms, the last of which expired

*C s
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March 4, 1855. He was one of the Senators who drew

up the bill to organize the territory of Oregon. He took

a prominent part in the repeal of the Missouri Compro-

mise, and actually originated the bill for its repeal. Mr.

Atchison, we believe, is still living in Clinton County,

Missouri. Those of our citizens still living who remem-

ber him, would no doubt be glad to have him visit us

again, and see the great improvements made in our

midst since he went out from us in 1830.

In 1839 a man from Fayette County by the name of

Ooten had a suit in the Circuit Court of Carlisle. His

own testimony had been taken, and the opposing counsel

in the case, finding the witness' testimony a little hard to

get round, had Mr. Atchison summoned to prove some-

thing about Ooten's character at home, when the follow-

ing scene occurred :

Counsel—" Mr. Atchison, state, if you please, to the

court, what is the character of the witness at home in

his own county where he lives ?"

ATCHisoiir—" Well, sir, that is a pretty hard question

to ask one old neighbor about another.

"

Counsel—"Very likely, Mr. Atchison; but you are

lawyer enough to know that it is sometimes necessary to

perform even an unpleasant task."

Atchison—" Certainly, sir, but then you see that in

this case you ought to, and I hope you will excuse me."

Counsel—"We can not excuse you, Mr. Atchison
;

you will therefore tell the court what you know about the

character, be it good or bad, of the witness, Ooten."

Atchison—"Oh, no, sir; indeed, I can not think of

such a thing, and again I ask the court to excuse me. "

Judge—"Mr. Atchison, you have been called by coun-

sel to testify in the case, and the court decides that you

must do so.

"

Atchison—"Very well. Judge, just as you say. Well,

sir (to counsel) all that I know about the witness is that

he—is a d d old rascal
!"

In conclusion we would say that Mr. Atchison, like

all other public men, has had a goodly number of babies

named for him in Missouri. Atchison, Kansas, one of

the largest and most flourishing cities of that State, was

named for him; and also Atchison County, in the State

of Missouri.

Among the business men of Carlisle, none have ever

occupied a more honorable position than Joseph F. Ture-

man. He was born in Franklin County, Kentucky, about

two and one-half miles from Frankfort, July 7, 1798.

The following year his father, William Tureman, moved

to Washington, then a flourishing town, and the county

seat of Mason County, and opened a hotel. Not long

after he commenced merchandising, and, at an early age,

his son Joseph entered the store as clerk. In 1813, the

family moved to MaysviUe, and continued merchandising.

In 1819, Joseph F. became a partner, but, prior to this

(1817), he made his first trip to Philadelphia, being then

in his nineteenth year, and still a clerk. Arriving at

Baltimore, he embarked on board a steamer, crossed the

Chesapeake Bay and landed at Frenchtown, in the State

of Delaware. From thence he took stage again, travers-

ing the whole width of that great State to Newcastle,

upon the Delaware river—the vast distance of sixteen

miles ! Again embarking upon a steamer, he was safely

landed at Philadelphia, having been absent from home

about twenty-one days. Buying his stock, it was loaded

upon wagons and transported by land overthe Alleghany

Mountains to Pittsburg, a distance of nearly 400 miles.

The rates paid at that time were from eight dollars and

fifty cents to nine dollars per hundred, and the time re-

quired was twenty-five days. At Pittsburg the goods

were transferred to keel boats. If a good stage of water,

ten or twelve days' time was required to MaysviUe ; if the

water was low, from fifteen to twenty-five days, and the

rate per hundred, from seventy-five cents to one dollar

and fifty cents. The time required to go East, buy goods

and get them home, therefore, was about two months.

In 1833, he opened a separate business house in his

own name. In March, 1835, hearing many favorable

reports of the then thriving capital of Nicholas, he con-

cluded to pay us a visit, and with a view to a re-

moval here if he liked the prospect. He came, and was

so well pleased that he rented a house at once, returned

home, and began his preparation to move. On the 18th

of April, 1835, two wagons, laden with the furniture,

goods, etc., arrived in front of the brick house on the

southeast corner of Second and Front streets—now the

Kimbrough House. Here Mr. Tureman took possession,

at a rental of sixty dollars per annum, for the whole

building—dwelling, store room and all.

For three years Mr. Tureman continued to occupy

the premises named, but, in 1838—having bought the

brick store room partly built by John Rice—he finished

and moved into it the same j-ear. This became after-

ward known as "Tureman's corner." During this year

he also commenced building his present commodious and

handsome private residence. The lot is No. 60, on the

town plat, and although it was then called " Perry's

pond," it is undoubtedly the finest location in Carlisle.

Having referred incidentally to Dr. J. N. Menifee in

the last chapter, it will not be amiss to give a more ex-

tended reminiscence of the Menifee family. Dr. Menifee
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first moved into the house situated next adjoining the

one in which Mrs. Hughes, and her daughter, Jane

Stokes, then lived. The doctor hung out his shingle in

Carlisle as a disciple of the Thompsonian School of

Medicine. Hahnemann invented, as is well known, the

Homeopathic sj'stem, or as he termed it, " the law of

cure." This principle he set forth under the Latin motto

oi '' Similia similibus curuntur^'—like cures like. Dr.

Thompson's system, on the contrary, set forth the princi-

ple that disease, having its seat in the internal or vital

parts of the human system, all you had to do was to coax

it out through the pores of the skin. This was, at least,

the system as expounded by Dr. Menifee. And hence,

whenever called to the bedside of a patient, the first

thing was to begin on him or her with a line of hot teas.

We say line, because no general ever drew a line of cir-

cumvallation against an enemy's fortifications with more

rigid purpose or unswerving precision than did the doc-

tor with his "bitter yarb " decoctions and steaming

family fomentationi. In order to do this, it was necessary

to press into the service all the available crockery of which

might be seized or possessed, so that a stranger on enter-

ing the room would hardly know whether a man was

sick or having his china wedding. Although a good

many smiled at the doctor's sweating mania, and others

openly ridiculed it, he met with a good degree of success,

and obtained a fair show of the public patronage. About

the year 1820, he purchased what is undoubtedly the

most eligible and desirable location for a residence in

Carlisle. This was the property now owned by W. T.

Henry, Esq., and which for many years was known as

" Menifee's Hill." Here the doctor built a good, old-

style brick residence and a small brick medical office,

about 100 feet east and north of the dwalling.

Mrs. Menifee was a fine scholar, of an ardent poetic

temperament, very aristocratic in her tastes and proud

of her lineage. She was probably a descendant of the

French Huguenots, and pretty well versed in the French

language. As an evidence of Mrs. Menifee's partiality

for the land of the Huguenots, she called her first-born

child and son Grosjean, equivalent to " Big John " in

our English. He was born in Carlisle, on the 38th of

March, 1832. Gushon—as he was called here—left home

when he was quite young; he was of rather an indolent,

roving disposition, often staying away several years at a

time. He died of cholera in the year 1849, .being then

but twenty-seven years of age. When the lobelia mania

broke out, a good many years ago, Dr. Menifee became

a warm advocate and believf - in the virtues of that

powerful drug. It was thougKT in those days that all

you had to do io cure any one of any illness, was just to

puke him heavily with lobelia. On one occasion Dr.

Meniffee was called in to see Esq. T. M. Stephenson.

The patient informed the doctor that he was hard to

move with an emetic, no matter how powerful might be

the medicine. Taking him at his word, the doctor gave

him a whopping big drink of lobelia tea, which took

such awful and tremendous hold upon the 'Squire's

stomach that he nearly puked himself to death.

The doctor owned a farm about three miles northeast

of town, which, together with the home tract of fifty

acres, kept his time pretty well employed. He was a

great admirer of fine stock, and was the first citizen

of Carlisle who had a race track for the training of fast

horses. At the first and only fair of the N icholas County

Agricultural Association, he took the first premium on an

old flea-bitten grey mare, and also one on a fine merino

buck. He, by his industry and energy, bad secured a

comfortable independence for his declining years, and

need no longer detract from his enjoyment by any con-

cern for future wants. He was very fond of flowers, and

always kept a large"' pit well filled with the choicest selec-

tions from the floral kingdom. He had also a fine orchard,

and always kept a good stock of fresh cider to ofl'er his

friends and visitors. He died at his home on the 13th of

September, 1866, in his seventy-ninth year, and was bur-

ied in the new cemetery.

John Dougherty, in 1811, came to the United States,

from Ireland. The ship was outward bound about forty

days, during which time young Dougherty became profi-

cient as a sailor, and acquired quite a taste for nautical life.

Landing at Baltimore he journeyed through Philadelphia,

Trenton, and other New Jersey towns to Newark, then a

thriving manufacturing city on the Passaic river, nine

miles from the city of New York. Here he joined his

father, James Dougherty, Sr., who had emigrated to Amer-

ica several years before, leaving the njotherless boy in

charge of a good Presbyterian family by the name of

Blair. Mr. Dougherty, Sr., being a hatter, his son was

taken in the shop to learn the trade. In the same shop

there was a young Jerseyman by the name of Thomas
Hadden, between whom and young Dougherty there

sprang up a friendship which lasted as long as life. Ap-
plying themselves assiduously to their trade, they soon

acquired a thorough knowledge of the business, and both

becoming of age in 1817, they determined to seek their

fortune in the far West. Together they journeyed, and

hearing many rumors of the wonderful fertility of the

soil and healthiness of the climate of Kentuokv—the
" dark and bloody ground, " around which the adventures

^0 1)
Vy



|9

HISTORY OF NICHOLAS COUNTY. 407

of Boone, Kenton, and other daring backwoodsmen had

thrown a glamour of romance highly captivating to young

men in search of fame and fortune—hither they bent

their way. Landing at Maysville, the travelers were rec-

ommended to Fleraingsburg. Here (in 1817) Dougherty

obtained employment, butHadden went on to Lexington.

Dougherty worked at the trade in Fleraingsburg awhile
;

in 1819, came to Carlisle, and being well pleased with the

prospect, he at once opened a shop on his own account.

In the meantime (in 1819), Thomas Hadden had been

recalled from Lexington, and a partnership between the

two friends was formed, under the name of Dougherty &
Hadden. Mr. Dougherty at once became an active busi-

ness man, and took a prominent part in all that con-

cerned the welfare of his adopted home. On Monday,

the 3d day of August, 1824, he was first elected a mem-
ber of the Board of Trustees. At intervals, subsequently,

he was elected trustee fully ten different years. In

1833, he J)egan trading up and down the Licking and

Ohio rivers, always buying a small trading boat for the

purpose, and, finally, selling boat and cargo. One great

object in this was to find a market for the surplus hats.

Hadden was one of those quiet, unobtrusive men who kept

steadily at his occupation, rarely raising his head from the

vat to speak, unless spoken to. As the "boss" was equally

industrious, and they alwavs employed several journey-

men, it maybe readily inferred that more hats were made

than could be sold at home. It was the business of the

"boss" to distribute the surplus stock. In the time we

are writing of, a large trade was carried on by flat boats

down the Licking ; cargoes of tan-bark, flour, bacon and

miscellaneous products, were shipped from all points as

far up as West Liberty, but Parks' Ferry was one of the

chief points. The large flouring mill of 'Squire James

Parks, Sr., on Cassidy (near the mouth), still partly stand-

ing, furnished an immense amount of flour for shipment.

In 1826, Mr. Dougherty shipped a load of flour, hats,

etc., from Parks Ferry, via the Licking, Ohio and Mis-

sissippi rivers, to New Orleans. At Cincinnati they took

on a few barrels of whisky, and some bacon. Arriving

at New Orleans, and selling boat and cargo, the boss

toqk passage on a schooner bound for New York, touch-

ing at Havana, and other points. This voyage he enjoy-

ed greatly, as it revived all his boyish recollections of a

" life on the ocean wave." Landing at New York, he

visited his old home at Newark, and returned to Carlisle

to enter upon his labor with renewed zest. In 1833,

Thomas Hadden, the friend of nearly twenty years

fell a victim to the dreadful scourge, Asiatic cholera,

and was buried in the old cemetery. A partner-

ship was formed between Aaron Smedley and John

Dougherty as Smedley & Dougherty, in the general dry

goods business, and continued until 1838. Mr. Dough-

erty was next in business alone until after the dissolu-

tion of the firm of Edwards and Berry in 1840, when
Mr. Dougherty and Mr. Edwards were associated to-

gether a short time. A nephew of Mr. Hadden, whom
he kept as a salesman in his store for a long period of

years, was our well-known citizen of late years, Isaac

Hadden Howell. Though Mr. Dougherty had become

thoroughly Americanized, yet, toward his own green

native isle, his thoughts would often turn. Accordingly,

in April, 1843, he made his will, bade good-bye to

Aunt " Becky " (his wife) and in company with William

McDonald, a Scotchman by birih, and a shoemaker by

trade, he set out on the long-proposed journey. Dough-

erty and McDonald landed first at Liverpool; from thence

they went to London; after which they each visited the

home of their childhood, and after an absence of three

months returned safely home again. During Mr. Dough-

erty's absence, " Nicholas " Lodge, No. 65, Free and

Accepted Masons, did him the honor to change its name

to " Dougherty " Lodge. This was a graceful compli-

ment done in a graceful manner, and one highly appre-

ciated by him. In 1849, he conceived the idea of building

a banking house for himself, and also a store room on the

first floor, a couple of oiSces in the second story, and a

Masonic hall in the third story. This design was carried

out, and the building completed in 1850. Building a

heavy brick and stone vault in the "east room, he opened

out the first " Deposit Bank " of Carlisle.

We have now followed the young Irish boy down the

stream of time to the last act in the drama of life. In

the year 1860, he was attacked with calculus and a com-

plication of the urinary organs, and died on the 5th day of

August. He was buried by the Masonic fraternity in the

new cemetery on the 7th. His funeral was one of the

laro-est and most imposing ever witnessed in Carlisle,

there being two bands of music and nearly 200 Royal

Arch and Master Masons in the line. After his death

his widow had the remains of Thomas Hadden taken up

from the old cemetery and placed side by side with her

husband. A plain marble obelisk, with the Masonic

emblems in relief, marks the last resting place of the

two friends. Upon the western face of the obelisk is

the following inscription;

"Here, side by side, repose the remains

of two who in life were friends, partners in

business and of^-iipanions in social life.

In death, they'sie not divided."
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In March, 1823, Thomas Porter came to Carlisle with

a stock of goods from Flemingsburg. He had, in 1820,

married Lucy Bruce, second daughter of Henry Bruce,

Sr., of Fleming County ; opened a store in the old

stone house now owned by Mr. Pickrell. The family be-

gan housekeeping in the frame (two-story) where Mus-

grove's school was afterward taught. Mr. George S.

Bruce, his brother-in-law, a young man, then in his twen-

tieth year, came along with them, and entered the store

as clerk. Mr. Bruce remained only about four months.

The firm, as first organized here, was Porter & Johnscm

—Thomas Porter and Elijah Johnson, of Fleming

County. About 1827, Mr. Porter bought out the interest

of his partner, and continued in his own name. He left

Carlisle about 1828, and returned to Flemingsburg,

where he continued business for several years longer
;

then removed to Covington, where, in 1874, he died.

John B. Mcllvaine came to Carlisle in 1824, with a

stock of goods, remained only a short time, and moved

his store to Paris. On the 23d day of .June, 1825, he

was married to Miss Charlotte Vimont, daughter of

Louis Vimont, Sr., of Millersburg. In March, 18"^3,

Mr. Mcllvaine came back to Carlisle, along with Samuel

Smith, another gentleman who will cut some figure in

our history. In 1828, the firm of Mcllvaine & Smith

built an extensive hemp, bagging and bale rope factory.

The bagging factory occupied two-thirds of the whole

square, bounded by Sycamore, South, Water and Second

Cross streets. The spinning walk took up the whole

length of the lot ; the weaving was done in the second

story, on the corner of South street, the hackling and

quilling next east of that, and the brick magazine east

of that again, where James George now lives. The large

rope or cordage was spun in a shed extending the whole

square on Water street, from Main Cross to Second

Cross. The hands were boarded in a large two-story

frame, within the inclosure between South and Water.

The warehouse for the storage and sale of the manufac-

tured goods was the old stone house now belonging to

Mr. H. Pickrell. Mr. Smith lived where John McKee,

Esq., now lives, and Mr. Mcllvaine where 'Squire J. M.

Chevis owns. In 1832, Mr. Mcllvaine moved to Mays-

ville, where for twenty years he was identified with the

wholesale grocery and commission business of that city.

On the first day of November, 1852, he left Maysville

with his family, and settled finally in the city of Louis-

ville. For a number of years he has been engaged in

the wholesale liquor business, and although suffering

heavily by loss from fire in 1875, he is still in busi-

ness, at No. 13 Second street.

Colonel William Norvell came to Carlisle as early

as 1826. He was born in Garrard County, Ky., in

November, 1803. He was educated for the bar, read

law in Lexington, and began practicing immediately on

his coming to Carlisle. He was then (1829) about twenty-

four years of age, polished and polite in his manners, well

read in the current literature of the day, with a thorough

knowledge of the usages of polite society ; he took high

rank at once as a leader in the beau monde. He intro-

duced into our social hops (which were almost of weekly

occurrence) all the new and popular dances. Himself

an adept in the pleasing art, he instructed and prompted

in all the difficult parts, until there was not a town in

Kentucky more noted for the skill and grace of her

dancers. Let it be borne in mind that in those days

dancing was considered at once a refinement and ac-

complishment. The courtly bearing and dignity of the

gentlemen, the grace and refinement of the ladies, lent

a charm to the scene extremely fascinating. 'Through

the misty glass of fifty years we look back to those bril-

liant soirees at the old hotel (now the St. Cloud) in the

days of Bennet Evans, John Dudley and Robert Dykes,

and glancing our eyes down the flight of years, we mark
in contrast, the maudlin routs and bacchanalian revelries

of the present day ; the absence of all refinement, gal-

lantry and dignity ; the utter want of respect for female

character ; and, above all, when we see that one-half of

our young men attend with a pistol in one pocket and a

pint bottle in the other, is it a wonder that the glory of

the dance has departed and her evil genius, like Poe's

Raven, sits above her chamber doors croaking, "Never-
more !" .

In 1835, Colonel Norvell was elected to the Legis-

lature from Nicholas. He was often afterward solicited

to run for office by his party, but he steadily declined,

preferring to continue in the private walks of life, in the

practice of his profession. In politics, Colonel Norvell

was an unflinching Democrat. Taking sides with the

Jackson party in 1824—when Clay cast his vote in the

House for John Quincy Adams—the Colonel followed

Old Hickory through all his successive triumphs, and
never cast any other than a Democratic vote in his life.

Among the leading mechanics of Carlisle from 1830

to '37, was Joseph Clark. He was a tailor, and kept his

shop upstairs in the old stone house, at present occupied

by our young townsman, Thomas Pickrell and wife. His

dwelling was a two-story frame, and stood right on Main
street, just in front of where Mrs. Pickett Taylor now
resides. Mr. Clark was, we believe, originally from

Clark County. About the year 1836, he moved from
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Carlisle and went to Missouri, where some of the family

are still living to this day. Mr. Clark had a journeyman

who lived with him a long time named Azariah Conyers.

Mr. Conyers was very lame, one leg being much shorter

than the other. He was a first-class journeyman, and

worked at his trade as steady as a clock.

Jesse E. Peyton was, we believe, born in this county

about the year 1818. His father lived at the old farm at

Forest Retreat, where Jas. Mcllvaine now lives. Years

after, when his father died, the remains were buried upon

the hill back of the house, and his son Jesse had the

grave inclosed by a paling, which can be seen to this

day.

"When Joseph Clark moved to Missouri, Mr. Peyton

went to Flat Rock, and in 1840-41 was employed in the

store of Garrett, Rogers & Co. In 1843, or thereabouts,

Mr. Thomas J. Garrett sent him to the city of Philadel-

phia to obtain a situation in a mercantile house. Mr.

Peyton attached himself to the wholesale dry goods

house of Wolf & Boswell, on Market street, between

Second and Third. Within the next two years, how-

ever, the partners disagreeing in business, the firm was

dissolved, and Mr. Boswell opened a now house, under

the firm name of James J. Boswell & Co., while Mr.

Wolf, associating Mr. Peyton with him, continued the

old house as Wolf & Peyton.

James Pettus was born near Paris and raised near

Carlisle. His father was a farmer, and lived on the place

now owned by Thomas Kennedy, Esq. He learned the

tailor's trade, as before stated, with Joseph Clark; and

worked there at the same time with Jesse_ Peyton. He

was afterward, in 1840, a partner in the business here

with 'Squire John McKee. About 1841 he went to St.

Louis, Mo., where he entered as a " jour " in a fashiona-

ble merchant tailoring house. Mr. Pettus rose rapidly

to distinction in his profession, and maiie money. Be-

coming ambitious of a wider field of usefulness, he re-

moved to the city of New York about twenty years ago.

He opened a house upon the great thoroughfare of the

city, Broadway. His first shop was, we believe, not far

from City Hall Park. As his trade moved up town, so

did he. His next place of business was corner of Spring

street and Broadway. At present he is located still

further up town, under the St. Denis Hotel, on Broad-

way, corner of Eleventh street.

Among the many distinguished men who have figured

in our early history, none deserve a higher honor than

Colonel John Sanderson Morgan. His father, Jared

Morgan, was a native of Virginia, and his mother, Sarah

Sanderson, of South Carolina. They emigrated to Ken-

tucky about 1797, and settled in Nicholas, then Bourbon

County, near the Blue Lick Springs, where he was born

January 6, 1799. In 1812, his father died, leaving him,

with his mother and a large family, upon a small and

poor farm. Upon this he struggled heroically, laboring

both late and early to secure an education for himself,

and to aid in the support of the family. In this respect,

his history corresponds precisely with that of General

Thomas Metcalfe. In 1824, he was elected to the Legis-

lature from Nicholas by the suffrages of the "old Court"

party. Soon after this, he came to Carlisle and opened a

dry-goods store in partnership with William C. Rainey.

In May, 1838, he was married to Eleanor Bruce, of Flem-

ing County. The newly married couple began housekeep-

ing where Henry Stewart now lives, and the store of Mor-

gan & Rainey was held in the frame house on Front street,

now Sammons & Brother. Mr. Rainey retiring soon after

1838, Mr. Morgan went on in business with James Squires.

Not long after, Mr. Squires retired, and was succeeded

by Robert P. Hughes. Colonel Morgan was elected a

member of the Board of Trustees four years successively,

to-wit : August, 1839, 1830, 1831 and 1833. In 1833, he

was elected for the second time to the Kentucky Legislat-

ure. In March, 1834, having bought out Thomas Jones,

he moved to the country, sold out all his interest in town

property, and devoted his whole time to the cultivation

of the farm. As a farmer, he was eminently successful,

and from his annual earnings continued to add to his

landed estate, until he owned near twelve hundred acres,

extending on both sides of the road from the town sub-

urbs to Old Concord. In 1838 and 1844, Colonel Mor-

gan was elected a member of the Kentucky Senate from

Nicholas and Bourbon—the last time, over Mr. Jacob

Hutzell, of Bourbon, after a heated contest upon the sub-

ject of relief, or anti-relief. In the great National con-

tests of 1840 and '44, Colonel Morgan took an active part

as a stump-speaker. He was, indeed, for years the lead-

er of the Whig party in Nicholas. His plain, straight-

forward style of presenting facts, his evident sincerity

and well-known integrity of purpose, always insured him

a warm reception at all public meetings.

In October, 1847, he packed up and took leave of Car-

lisle for his new home in Covington. He bought a hand-

some piece of property in the suburbs of the city, and

of this he at once took possession. It was about the year

1849, that the building of both the Kentucky Central

and the Maysviile and Lexington Railroads was project-

ed. Colonel Morgan showed his public spirit by sub-

scribing liberally to both. He gave the Maysviile road

the right-of-way through his farm, and also a subscription
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of two thousand dollars. In 1850, he was elected Presi-

dent of the Covington and Lexington road. To the

completion of this great work he now bent his whole

time and energies, not forgetting often to likewise send

words of cheer to the Directors of the Maysville road.

In 1852, Colonel Morgan was appointed Presidential

Elector for the Tenth District by the Whig party of

Kentucky, in the great Presidential struggle between

General Winfield Scott, and General Franklin Pierce.

Another good citizen of Carlisle, whose name de-

serves special mention, was Doctor Oliver Hazard Perry

Stout. This gentleman, then a student of medicine,

came here from Flemingsburg, in the fall of 1828. He
was born in Mercer County, near Harrodsburg, about the

year 1803. At what time he went to Flemingsburg is

not now remembered. Coming to Carlisle he bought out

Dr. John R. Ward, who then owned the property oppo-

site where Judge Ross now lives, and where Musgrove
kept school. Dr. Stout boarded with Ward with a view

to become introduced into Ward's practice, of which

Stout was to become the successor. Some time after

moving here. Dr. Stout bought the large two-story frame

property situated on the corner of North street and
Second Cross, being lot No. 82, and the same now owned
by Mrs. Mary C. Chappell. About 1840 he moved
from Carlisle to Moorefield, remaining there a short time

only. He next located at Sherburne, in Fleming County.

Nor did he long stay there, but removed to Thorntown,

then a rising village in the neighboring State of In-

diana.

At the sale of town lots held in June, 1816, John Hughes
bought lot No. 33, paying for it $180.00. Here the broth-

ers, John and Jesse, built a two-story log house—the

lot being the same so long afterward owned by Judge
Norvell, at present by A. McDaniel, jr. Here they kept

hotel for two or three years. About 1820 they dissolved

and moved to the country, and so for a time were lost

sight of in the town history. About the year 1831 he
returned and succeeded Jerry O'Rear in the hotel (now
Kimbrough House). This he continued to keep for five

or six years. It was probably about 1840, when the

whole family moved to Missouri. A favorite expression

of Mr. Hughes was "By gracious !" and by this name a

good many of our townsmen once well knew him. He
and his wife have both been dead several years.

Jesse Hughes was partner in the hotel, as before

stated, in 1817 to '20, with his brother Jack. He after-

wards lived in the country at different places—for a

number of years at the Robinson farm, now owned by
the heirs of Fitch Munger. He kept the St. Cloud Hotel

a short time, also. He afterwards lived where Mr. Cong-

leton now lives. After this he moved to Lewis County,

staid there awhile, then returned and bought the John

Tarr (now Scobee) farm. Here he lived two or three

years, then sold the farm and moved to town, bought the

Ashley House, and there died in 1858.

In the year 1790 James Parks, Sr., emigrated to Ken-
tucky from the old town of Huntingdon, county of the

same name, in Pennsylvania. His family then consisted

of his wife and their first-born, John Galbrea^h Parks,

then about two years old, and born in Huntingdon. The
family settled first near Steele's Ford, on Hinkston, and

the church known as Brick Temple, in Bourbon County.

Here they remained a short time, when a purchase was
made of the farm nearly north of Carlisle, now owned by
Rev. John Neal. This place, a few years later, was
traded for the farm at Parks' Ferry, nowowned by Thomp-
son S. Parks. It was after Mr. Parks, Sr., removed to

this farm, that the first regular ferry-boat was established

at that point on Licking river—hence the name, "Parks'

Ferry. " Here a family of fourteen children was raised

to manhood and womanhood. In consequence of the

extensive enterprises undertaken by his father—such as

the building and running of flour-mills and saw-mills,

and transporting by flat boats to New Orleans, flour, ba-

con, and other products,—young John had but little lei-

sure, even if opportunity had offered, to attend school.

When he was about grown, and before the town of Car-

lisle was laid off, whilst hauling timbers from the hill over-

looking Fleming creek, near its mouth on the west,

to a site for a projected mill, with a yoke of oxen,

he received a serious injury, which so impaired his

physical organization as to incapacitate him for man-
ual labor. Representing his father, as soon as he re-

covered, about the time Carlisle was laid off, he came
here and had erected the stone house (now occupied
by R. E. Mann, who married his grand-niece), and opened
a stock of goods. He continued merchandising till the
death of his brother-in-law, Horace Metcalfe, in 1829
who was then clerk of the Nicholas County Court. Mr.
Parks was appointed to fill the vacancy, and continued
to hold the office to the entire satisfaction" of the people
till 1854. At the time of his-appointment to the clerk-
ship (1829), he was an acting Justice of the Peace, hav-
ing been commissioned by Governor Adair in 1823.
Although 'Squire Parks had no early advantages from
schools, he was nevertheless well educated—he educated
himself. In 1850, the first election for county oflSces by
the people, under the new Constitution was had. 'Squire
Parks had now held the office by appointment for twenty-
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one years. It was natural, therefore, that he should de-

sire the first term as an indorsement of his official acts.

This was accorded him by a decisive majority. It has

been the good fortune of the people of Nicholas to have

always had in the ofiice a faithful and eific'ent clerk.

During 'Squire Parks' long administration of the oifice

he was more like a father to the people. All came to

him for counsel and advice, and we doubt not many a

lawsuit has been avoided by heeding his sound and

wholesome advice. About 1856 he had the misfortune

to be kicked by a young horse, while out on hig farm two

miles from town, fracturing the femur or thigh bone.

This laid him up a cripple for a long time ; in fact, he

never fully recovered from the accident. In social life

he neither sought nor avoided corfipany, but when ap-

proached, no one was more kind, gentle or afi'able. In

dress he was rather eccentric, caring more for comfort

than fashion. His hair was always worn long, falling

down to his shoulders. In his latter years, when he

turned gray, bis long hair gave him a venerable and pa-

triarchal appearance. No love sentiment perhaps ever

disturbed his soul—he lived and died a bachelor. He
died on the 30th day of May, 1863, in the seventy-fourth

year of his age.

Eli F. Metcalfe, was born in Fleming County in 1810.

In 1836, being then in his sixteenth year, he came to

Carlisle, and entered the County Clerk's office with his

brother, Horace Metcalfe. He remained there until the

death of his brother, in 1839. He then entered the dry

goods store of N. P. Robinson. How long he lived with

Mr. Robinson before he conceived the project of stealing

one of his employer's daughters we do not know, but on

the 38th of January, 1834, he was married to Ann E.,

second daughter of Mr. Robinson. In the spring of 1835,

upon the completion of the Maysville and Lexington

turnpike, he left Carlisle and moved to Oakland Mills.

In August of the same year he sold the mill property

and removed with Mr. Robinson's family to Maysville.

Here he opened a wholesale and retail grocery under the

firm name of E. F. Metcalfe & Co. Shortly afterward,

the firm was changed to Ranson & Metcalfe
;
and still

later, from Ranson & Metcalfe to Artus & Metcalfe.

On the 38th of May, 1845, Mr. Metcalfe, having lost his

first wife some time previous by death, was married to

Miss H. E. Artus, of Maysville, daughter of his partner.

In the year 1849, John Preston Campbell, of this county,

together with Mr. Metcalfe and his former partner, Mr.

Ranson, opened a wholesale grocery and commission

house in Cincinnati, as Campbell, Metcalfe & Co. The

firm did a large business, but, becoming involved by

heavy advances to a large distillery in Higginsport, Ohio,

the business was abandoned, and Mr. Metcalfe returned

to Maysville, and resumed business with Mr. Simeon

Drake, a wealthy farmer of Mason County, under the

firm name of Metcalfe & Drake. Upon the reopening of

the Southern ports, in 1865, to the commerce of the

world, he was sent to Savannah, Georgia, by Eli M.

Bruce to open a large cotton warehouse. After the

death of Mr. Bruce, Mr. Metcalfe removed once more

and finally to Maysville, in 1869, where he will probably

spend the rest of his days.

Archibald Summers was born in the year 1777.

In 1800, he was married to Margaret Payne. The

family came to Carlisle in 1839, and for about four years

lived on the premises, on the south side of Front street,

just below Elm. In the fall of 1833, Mr. Summers be-

came the owner of the old hotel, having bought out and

succeeded Robert Dykes. He was also town magistrate

for several years. He was a very popular citizen, a man

with a well stored mind, very fond of reading, especially

poetry and history. His two favorite books were Ossian's

poems and Dante's Inferno. About 1850, Mr. Summers

sold the hotel to Robert Carter, Esq., and finally retired

from the active business of life, being then nearly seventy-

five years old.

David M. Spurgin was born in Mount Sterling, Ken-

tucky, May 7, 1814. When he was fifteen years old he

left home to work at the silversmith's trade, with Samuel

Hensley. At the expiration of his apprenticeship, he

worked as a journeyman in Winchester, in the employ of

Mr. Smith Jeffries. In the spring of 1833 he bought out

the stock of Hensley, in Mount Sterling, the 14th day

of June, packing up all his worldly goods, and placing

them in his father's old wagon, accompanied by a faith-

ful old family servant, he set out for Carlisle, his future

home. He landed here the same day, and the old colored

driver returned the same night as far as Sharpsburg.

Mr. Spurgin opened out in the front room of the Dykes

property, the same now owned by .Judge Holladay.

Soon after his marriage, Mr. Spurgin purchased the prop-

erty now owned by the family of the late James Robin-

son. His shop was also transferred to the small one-

story brick which then stood upon the ground now occu-

pied by the Deposit Bank. Mr. Spurgin was an indus-

trious and skillful mechanic, and there is no doubt

many sets of his solid silver spoons, made by his own

hands, are still in use throughout the county. His

wife was equally energetic and industrious. There

never was a finer housekepeer in Carlisle than -she.

Their garden was always far ahead of anybody else

^ ^



lLl

414 HISTORY OF NICHOLAS COUNTY.

and the amount of early vegetables turned out by

the thrifty housewife was amazing. Mr. Spurgin

was always religious, a very enthusiastic Methodist,

and on the 16th day of December, 1857, he united

with that church in Carlisle. No one, perhaps, read the

Bible and Pedo-Baptist authors more closely. Mr. Spur-

gin was decidedly controversial, and would lay down his

hammer at any time to hammer infant baptism into the

head of a skeptic. Some years before he joined the

church he induced Parson Whittaker, the eccentric old

Methodist minister, to come to Carlisle and give the Re-

formers and Baptists hail Columbia on baptism in gen-

eral. Whittaker came, and a good audience assembled

in the Presbyterian Church to hear him. The preacher

took for his text the passage, " Stand still, that I may
reason with you before the Lord." He began his ser-

mon at 10:30 A. M., and preached on until half-past 13.

At that time, some becoming impatient, began to leave the

house. Every time any one started for the door Whit-

taker would repeat the text, " Stand still, that I may
reason with you before the Lord." In his argument

against immersion, the preacher used the following forci-

ble and laughable argument :
" Stand still, that I may

reason with you in the Lord. Immersion is not only

unscriptural and unwarranted ; it is difficult and incon-

venient. Now, there is my friend Spurgin ; how could

any one baptize such a great big fellow as he is ? The
only way it could be done, would be to set him down in

a chair and then hoist him up and down with a derrick

or a big well-sweep." It is needless to add that the

preacher made a good sweep upon the feeling of his

audience ; a large number of them were so overcome

with laughter that they shed tears. Parson Whittaker

finished his sermon at half-past 3 o'clock in the after-

noon, making a continuous sermon of five hours, during

which time many of his auditors went home and got their

dinners and then returned to hear it out.

Mr. Spurgin left Carlisle in the spring of 1847, and

went to Winchester, Kentucky, where he remained

until the fall of 1853, when he moved permanently to the

flourishing city of Greencastle, Indiana. There the

family are spending the evening of their days in the en-

joyment of domestic ease and comfort, in the calm satis-

faction of a life well spent, and in the hope of eternal life

beyond the river.

Robert P. Hughes for a number of years kept a dry

goods store in Carlisle, in partnership with John S. Mor-

gan. He was also, we think, at one time a partner of

James Squires. After Robert sold out his interest in the dry

goods business, he was for a time employed as a salesman

by Joseph F. Tureman. About the year 1848, he started

to Missouri, in company with Mrs. Robert Bowen, taking

his two little boys with him. He got as far as Colonel

Morgan's, his old friend and partner, in the city of Cov-

ington. While there he was taken violently ill, and

after a shorts but decisive struggle with death, calmly

yielded up his life. His remains were brought back to

Carlisle, and deposited by the side of his two wives.

Elijah West, with his family, moved into Carlisle

about 1833. Hisfirst home was in the frame house on

Main street, next east of Mr. J. F. Tureman. It was

about 1841 he bought from the trustees the old brick

seminary and an acre of ground, for |400. Here he lived

until about 1865, when he built a new residence on his

farm one mile south of town. He was elected magis-

trate several times and served also several years as mem-
ber of the Board of Town Trustees. In 1863, he was

elected County Judge of Nicholas. Judge West was a

good, upright citizen and enjoyed the confidence and

good will of the community. Some several years ago

—

having lost his first wife, he was married to Mrs. Ros-

anna Hughes, widow of Jesse Hughes, Esq. But, in

1877, the Judge died at the good, ripe age of eighty years.

His son, William, is the owner of the homestead near

town.

Joel Howard may be classed among our earliest citi-

zens. About 1833, we first hear of him as a boarder at

the hotel, then kept by William Porter, and working at

his trade (that of saddler) with N. P. Robinson. As in a

great many similar cases, Mr. Howard wound up by
marrying the daughter of his landlord, Margaret Porter.

Should every young man be as fortunate as Joel How-
ard, it would be wise for every young man in the State

to go and do likewise. Not long after, Mr. Howard be-

came the owner of the property on Front street, next
west of the corner of Front and Main Cross. In 1833,

Mr. Howard was appointed postmaster under General
Jackson, a position he continued to hold until 1848, after

the election of General Taylor. Mr. Howard held the

office also of town trustee several terras.

About the year 1837, there came to Carlisle a new
married man and his bride. The gentleman was a lawyer,

was from the neighborhood of Ruddel's Mills, and had
studied law in Paris under the lead of such men as Gar-
rett Davis, Tom Elliott and others. This was Lyford
Marston. The young couple first moved into the brick

house formerly occupied by Aunt Kitty Hughes and her
daughter, Jane Stokes. Mr. Marston practiced law in

the courts of Nicholas and Bourbon, in partnership with
the Hon. Garrett Davis, the firm being " Davis & Mars.
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ton." On the 36th of March, 1839, he was elected Clerk

of the Board of Trustees, which office he continued to

fill until 1841, when he was succeeded by James P. Met-

calfe. Mr. Marston was an original thinker, a close,

subtle reasoner and oftentimes sharp, pungent and witty

in repartee. During the winter of 1841-42 a debating

society was held weekly at the cabinet-shop of John

Davidson. The following prominent citizens of the town

and county were members and took part in all the de-

bates, to wit : John Davidson, Hugh B. Todd, John F.

McMillan, John Hamilton, Moses Hopkins, Granville Ed-

wards, Rev. John Rogers, B. F. Edwards, Col. George

R. Foster, Pitch Munger, Lyford Marston, Thomas E.

Quisenbury and John W. Finnell. These debates some-

times waxed hot, especially when any deep question in

ethics, morals or religion was under discussion. In all

such encounters Marston was generally upon the side of

the free thinkers, and by his bold and daring utterances

created in the minds of a good many the fear that he was

drifting into open skepticism, if not downright atheism.

Especially was this the fear of Parson Rogers and Pro-

fessor Todd, both of whom regarded him as already a

child of perdition. About the year 1843 or '43 Mr. Mars-

ton moved from Carlisle to Bourbon County, where, after

remaining some years, he moved to the State of Illinois.

Last summer he and his good wife paid a visit to their

old home near Ruddel's Mills. While there he concluded

he would run over to Carlisle and see how matters looked

in this his first home after marriage. While here we

jokingly reminded him of the old village debating club,

and the fears that brethren Todd and R'^gers had, lest he

should turn skeptic. His eyes filled with tears as he re-

plied, " I and my wife found the straight and narrow way

that leads to eternal life, and both of us have long since

been devoted members of the Methodist Church."

About four months ago the loved companion, his wife,

was summoned home by the shining ones whom Christian

saw in his vision just beyond the river of death.

In the history of our town from 1835 to 1840, two

distinguished Frenchmen appeared upon the scene, each

one of whom spent a summer in Carlisle. It was before

the Blue Licks had acquired any great celebrity as a

watering place, which, nevertheless, always came in for

numerous visits from our townfolks during the season.

It was, perhaps, in "1837 that M. Bernard came to Car-

lisle, simply as a voyagev/r, seeking some place to spend

a few months in the quiet seclusion of country life.

Though reared and educated in that gayest of all gay

cities, Paris, the capital of the French empire, he turned

his feet aside from the great cities of America, prepar-

ing to study life under a new and hitherto unknown
phase. Attached to the Republican party in France,

he became a refugee from his native land after the

suppression of the insurrection at Strasburg, in favor

of the Bonapartists, in 1836. M. Bernard was not

a very skillful horseman, although very fond of horse-

back exercise. On one occasion, he borrowed a horse

of Mr. B. W. Mathers to ride a short distance. Mr.

Mathers cautioned him to be careful of the horse as

he was not very gentle. Bernard had scarcely made
the circuit of the public square before the horse ran

away and threw him. He was picked up and carried

into the old hotel, then kept where Mann & Kennedy's

store now stands. A doctor was summoned at once, and

when he came, he asked Bernard how he felt : " Oh,

Mon Dieu, doctor," he replied, " I pelieve I vill go

tead!"

It was in the spring of 1840 that Monsieur Felix

Courmont came to our town. He was a brave soldier, a

ripe scholar, and a polished gentleman. Like Bernard,

Monsieur Courmont was also a refugee, or rather a poli-

tical exile, from France. He was a warm Bonapartist,

and bitterly opposed to the reigning sovereign of France

—Louis Phillippe. He was, if we remember correctly,

engaged in several conspiracies against the King ; was

in the insurrection of Grenoble and Paris in 1834, and

had a horse shot under him. The horse fell upon Cour-

mont, breaking his leg, and he lay all night in this con-

dition. From the efi'ect of this fall he was lamed for

life. He always carried a cane and slightly limped in

his walk. The writer, then only sixteen years of age,

was well acquainted with Monsieur Courmont, and on

one or two occasions bore a jocose love-message from

that gentleman to Miss Eliza Rogers, and from the lady

to him in return. Monsieur Courmont was boarding at

the hotel of Mr. A. Summers, when the hotel stable was

burned in 1840, and was greatly distressed at the threat-

ened danger of his landlord. Monsieur Courmont re-

mained in Carlisle only about a year. We heard sub-

sequently to his departure, that he had returned to

France under a general amnesty to all political ofi^end-

ers.

Benjamin and Asbury Teal, brothers, were citizens

of Carlisle for a number of years. Benjamin was a sad-

dler by trade, and carried on business here about twenty

years. He was twice married ; his second wife was a

Bruce, an own cousin of Mr. George I. Bruce, of this

place. The family moved to Illinois nearly 30 years

ago, and settled near Bloomington.

Asbury Teal carried on a tannery here for many
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years. He owned the property at the West end of Main

street, now owned by A. R. Fisher.

Another prominent family in the history of Carlisle,

is that of Greenberry Ross, who was born in the year

1791. As early as 1830 he became a citizen of the town.

He was a tailor by trade, and carried on a good business

until 1839. Mr. Ross was an intelligent workman, and

kept in the foreground in regard to all the new fashions

and systems of cutting. When a gentleman went to

him for a fit, the first thing was to place the customer

under the standard and measure his height. Hence, in

those days every man knew just how tall he was in feet

and inches. Nowadays scarcely one man in ten knows

how long he is for this world, and this state of ignorance

may be traced directly to the door of the tailors of the

present age, who have quietly ignored this good old

standard of truth. The attitude of the customer being

attained, the next thing was to place an instrument to

his spinal column, which contained an ingenious set of

wooden screws, one screw for each articulation of the

vertebrse. By moving these screws in or out, it was easy

to determine whether the subject was sway-backed,

hump-backed or straight-backed—points very essential

to know in order to secure a perfect fit. In truth, the

gent's coat of half a century ago was a marvel of me-

chanical ingenuity. The sleeves were cut to fit tight as

the skin; the coat-tails were narrow, tapering to a point,

and were rightly called " swallow tail." But the collar

—

ah ! the collar was the crowning glory of the structure.

It was as big as the largest sized horse collar, standing

as high as one's head behind, and quilted as stiff and

hard as buckram and padding could make it. The Ross

family lived for a number of years in the two-story log

house, moved from Ellisville in 1817. The property was

situated on lot No. 36, and was bought by John E. Cot-

ton, for $91, at the first sale of lots in 1816. Mr. Ross'

tailor shop stood exactly on the spot now occupied by

Dr. R. J. R. Tilton's medical office.

Another prominent citizen of fifty years' standing, was

Mr. William Stewart. He was born in Bourbon Coun ty, on

the 9th of November, 1800. Married Miss Olivia Ogden, of

Bracken County, on the 15th of November, 1835. He re-

moved, along with the Ogden family, to Carlisle, in May,

1830. A blacksmith by profession, Mr. Stewart opened

his first smith shop on Elm street, on the south half of

lot No. 133. In 1833, Mr. Stewart bought the property

then owned and just vacated by Col. John S. Morgan,

being lot No. 36, on Second street, and the same as now
owned by his son, Henry. Several years after this,

he purchased the lot adjoining, and moved his shop

thereon. Henry Stewart, the second child, was born

October 30, 1830 ; married to Mrs. Sarah Robinson, n^e

McCormack, in 1868. This family, with their three

children, Minnie, Robert and Berry, are still living at the

Stewart homestead above named. Henry was succeeded

by Rhoda and Sallie, both of whom died in early woman-
hood. About 1860, Mr. Stewart connected himself with

the Presbyterian Church in Carlisle, and has ever con-

tinued a faithful member of the same. At this time he

is living upon his farm near town, in his eighty-second

year, and enjoys the satisfaction of having been true and

faithful in all the relations of life. No old citizen of the

county more fully receives or deserves the confidence

of his fellow-citizens.

In the history of the medical profession, none have

stood as high in the annals of Carlisle as Dr. John F.

McMillan. He was born in Madison County, about 1815.

In 1836 (probably) he was married to Miss Phoebe A.

Taylor, of Clark County, and the young couple came to

(Carlisle in 1837, and took lodgings at the hotel of A.

Summers, Esq. Here they continued to board until

about 1840, when they purchased the property on the

corner of Main and Second streets, the same as now
owned by Judge Ross. It is to the Doctor's credit that

he did more to alleviate human suffering, and at less

compensation than was ever done before or since in our

town history. The McMillans, both husband and wife,

were possessed of more than ordinary intelligence; both

were keen, smart and pungent in a witticism or repartee;

and upon no one did they exercise these faculties with
greater relish than upon one another. In 1861 Dr. Mc-
Millan was elected a State Senator from his district, and
in 1865 he was elected a Representative from Nicholas

to the Lower House. No children were born unto them.
In 1863, or thereabouts, Mrs. McMillan died, and her re-

mains were taken to the old family burying-ground in

Clark County, for interment. The Doctor himself died
in 1870, and was buried in the Carlisle cemetery. For
some time there was strong talk of raising funds to erect

a suitable monument to his memory, but the project

failed for want of prompt action upon the part of his

friends.

During the first year of the cholera (1833), James H.
Holladay came to Carlisle, then quite a young boy. He
read law in the office of Hon. D. K. Weis, and began the

practice of law about 1844. At the first call for volun-
teers in the Mexican War in 1846, he volunteered and
was elected Lieutenant in Captain .lohn W. Finnell's

company. The boys got as far as Frankfort, but as the
quota assigned to Kentucky was already full, they had
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to disband and return home. In the year 1847, the sec-

ond call came for troops, and Holladay again enlisted,

this time under Captain Leonidas Metcalfe, and was again

elected Lieutenant. This time the Nicholas boys were

fortunate enough to reach " the halls of the Montezumas,"

but not till after the victorious legions of Scott had

fought the decisive battles of Churubusco, and Molino

del Rey, and had marched into the city. Here our boys

were stationed for some time as part of the army of occu-

pation. We must not forget to state that, owing to the

illness of Captain Metcalfe, Lieutenant Holladay assum-

ed command of the company, and Harlan Berry was

promoted to the rank of First Lieutenant. In July, 1848,

the company was mustered out. In the meantime, be-

fore he had returned home, his Whig friends had nom-

inated him as their candidate for the Legislature, and

the Democrats had nominated John Kincart, the pioneer

of Carlisle, and then a private soldier under Holladay, as

the Democratic standard-bearer. At that time the actual

Democratic majority in the county was about one hun-

dred, and it required a man of great popularity with the

masses to succeed upon the Whig ticket. The contest

was close, hot and fiercely contested, but Holladay pulled

through by the skin of his teeth, having some eight or nine

of a majority. In the year 1851, he was elected Circuit

Clerk, and in 1856 re-elected to the same office. In 1866,

he was elected County Judge of Nicholas, and hence his

title of " Judge." Judge Holladay has always stood high

in the esteem of all citizens, both of town and county.

Among the many worthy citizens of Carlisle, none de-

serve a more prominent notice than Fitch Munger. He

was a native of New York. In 1840, he came to Carlisle,

a stranger without means—with nothing, in fact, save

an indomitable will, and energy and determination to

succeed. We first hear of him, after his arrival, board-

ing at 'Squire John W. Sharpe's, and teaching school at

the Baker schoolhouse. With the proceeds of this

teaching he purchased a few law books, and entered the

office of Colonel William Norvell to study law. It was

not long before he procured a license, and a partnership

was formed with his preceptor, as Norvell & Munger.

This partnership continued for some five or six years.

But about 1850 the partnership was dissolved, and each

partner continued the law business singly and alone.

Mr. Munger was an earnest, painstaking attorney, and "be-

lieved in the maxim, "Keep your office and your office

will keep you" and surely never was any maxim more

thoroughly vindicated than this was in his case. He was,

beyond all question, the most thoroughly successful busi-

ness man who ever lived in Carlisle. Mr. Munger was

elected, and served as Clerk of the Board of Town Trust-

ees, for many years. He was also elected a member of

the Board of Trustees at diiferent times. He was elected

State Senator from the district composed of the counties

of Mason and Nicholas, and served with distinction to

himself and constituents. In politics, Mr. Munger was

a Henry Clay Whig; after the rise of the native Amer-

ican party, he became attached to their brief fortunes, and

finally gave in his allegiance to the Democratic party.

He was never a violent partisan, but was held in esteem

by all parties. For a number of years the family lived

in the property on the corner of Second and Main streets,

but about 1857 Mr. Munger bought the suburban home

formerly owned by G. Ross, Esq. A man of fine physique,

of florid complexion, prudent and temperate habits,

there was every indication in his case of a long and use-

ful life. But, notwithstanding all these favorable indica-

tions, he fell sick and died at his home in 186-. Mr.

Munger left a fine estate, valued at over $60,000, to his

family, the result of untiring industry and prudent man-

agement.

The year 1840-41 was noted in Carlisle history as the

advent of three remarkable young men. It is not often

that three as promising, business-like and successful

young men enter any village in the same profession, who

afterward achieve as much distinction in life, and who,

during all the years of professional competition, manifest

and maintain such cordial and sincere relations of friend-

ship one toward the other. These were Fitch Munger,

Thomas E. Quisenberry and John W. Finnell. Mr. Quis-

enberry was born in Virginia about 1818, and was there-

fore scarcely more than of age when he came to Carlisle.

He studied law under John A. McClung, Esq., of Mason

County, and began the practice in 1843. He bought

the property then owned by the heirs of Louis H. Ar-

nold, and began housekeeping there about 1849. His

office was for many years in the one-story brick which

then stood upon the site now occupied by the Deposit

Bank. Mr. Quisenberry was fortunate in his financial

alfairs; he received a handsome estate from a deceased

brother, and also a further help through his wife. These

sums he prudently managed, all the time adding to them

by his lucrative practice and by making some good in-

vestments in Western lands. In the year 1863, the whole

family moved to the city of Danville, much to the regret

of all our citizens. And there, some seven years after,

Mr. Quisenberry died, and was buried in the Danville

City cemetery.

William P. Ross was born in Carlisle, August 11th,

1835 ; received a good education for that period,
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-going to school to such men as Elder John Rogers, E. F.

Chappell, Mr. Musgrove, Professor Smith, and others.

As early as 1843, he began the study of law, under Fitch

Hunger, Esq.; began practicing in 1847 ; was elected

magistrate in 1848 ; County Judge in 1851. He was a

member of the old County Court at the time of that

body's dissolution. It is not exactly the purpose of these

sketches to pronounce eulogies upon the living, and cer-

tainly in the case of Judge Ross it would be peculiarly

unnecessary. To a mind well stocked with legal lore, he

has added much general information of men and things,

of current history, and of all questions, political and re-

ligious, which agitate the public mind at the present day.

Humanly speaking, the Judge has had one serious fault,

and that is an excess of modesty. But for this, he might

have filled many an office of trust and honor in the gift

of the people. His name has more than once been men-

tioned in connection with the highest judicial honors of

the State, but to these and all similar suggestions he

has ever turned an indifferent ear, preferring the sweets

of domestic life in the bosom of his family, where he is

loved and honored, to the empty honors of the world. For

a number of years Judge Ross has been an Elder in and

prominent member of the Presbyterian Church. With

him, religion has been paramount ; it is this that has

shaped his life and given tone and tenor to all his actions.

Another successful business man of Carlisle was J.

M. Dallas. He came from Maysville in 1840, a saddler

by trade, and began work for Joel Howard. About 1844

he was married to Miss Cynthia A. Gardner, a young

lady milliner of the town at that time. Both being in-

dustrious, prudent and economical, they soon began to

rise in the world; It was not long before they bought

them a home, the same as now occupied by Mrs. Jno. B.

Scudder. Mr. Dallas was an enterprising workman, a

good mechanic, and did much toward establishing a rep-

utation for Carlisle manufactures. He died in the very

prime of life, about ten years ago, leaving an estate of

nearly fifty thousand dollars to his wife and children.

His son, Leonidas, succeeded to the business of his

father.

Doctor W. "W. Fritts was born in Clark County, Ken-

tucky, in 1816. His father, Henry Fritts, moved to Car-

lisle in 1835, and William followed in 1836. The father

and son were hatters by trade, and purchased the interest

of Jesse Massie, a popular citizen of that period. One year

after his location here W. W. Fritts was married to Miss

Sallie Hamilton, daughter of a well known farmer living

near town. Soon after the new married pair moved to

Clay County, Missouri, but remained only a short time.

On their return here in 1843, Mr. J. F. Turemau and

Mr. Fritts opened a drug store—the first one probably

ever opened in the place. Not long after Mr. Fritts

conceived the idea of studying the healing art, and

during a period of years at his leisure, read the leading

standards in allopathy. In the year 1853, he graduated

at the Louisville Medical College, and as a student under,

and partner of. Dr. McMillan, began the practice of

medicine and surgery. This he continued until about

1873, when in partnership with his son, Henry, he opened

a new drug and book store, as W. W. Fritts & Son.

James Mann was raised a farmer, and lived at the

old homestead of his childhood until the year 1865, v\^hen

he moved to Carlisle. The year previous, he and his son,

Al. Boyd, bought out the dry-goods store of Henry Piok-

rell, and commenced the mercantile business as Mann &
Boyd. This partnership continued until 1873, when
Mr. Boyd died. In the meantime, in 1872, Mr. William

Kennedy, another farmer, moved to town and purchased

Mr. Boyd's interest, when the firm became Mann & Ken-

nedy. In 1880, Mr. Kennedy retired from the firm, and

opened a new house, taking with him his son-in-law, Mr.

John Beck. Mr. Mann continued until the close of 1881,

when he sold out to Smith & Veach, and retired, prob-

ably finally, from businsss. Mr. Mann has two sons en-

gaged in active business in Carlisle ; the eldest, Leoni-

das F., having some years since embarked in the livery

and sale business ; he also held for about three years the

office of Police Judge. The other son, Reuben E. Mann,
is engaged in the grocery business on a large scale, hav-

ing oftentimes as many as five branch stores under his

control. Mr. James Mann is an enthusiastic Methodist,

and, what is still more and better, an earnest, conscien-

tious. Christian gentleman ; he is, we might say, a licen-

tiate in the ministry, and preaches quite often through-

out the county. Mr. Mann is in his sixty-third year, and
bids fair to enjoy many years more of a useful and hon-

orable life.

—

Chappell.

if
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CHAP TEE X.

LOWER BLUE LICKS PRECINCT—GENERAL OUTLINE AND TOPOaRAPHT—EARLY SETTLEMENT—LIFE ON THE
FRONTIER—THE SALT MAKERS—BLUE LICK SPRINGS—THE BATTLE WITH THE

INDIANS-CHURCHES, SCHOOLS AND VILLAGES.

"The ultimate tendency of civilization is toward barbarism."

—

Hare.

TO be able to do justice to a territory so famous in

the annals of Nicholas County, as that to which

this chapter is devoted, one should have lived a century

ago. Perhaps no part of the " dark and bloody ground "

was in early times more celebrated than this, both in the

annals of war and in the arts of peace.

Its soil has been dyed with the hearts' blood of some

of Kentucky's bravest sons, and now, after the lapse of

one hundred years, it seems proper that the State pay

some tribute to their memory.

This precinct, which is Election Precinct No. 1, of

Nicholas County, is bounded on the north by Harrison

County, on the east by Robertson County, south by the

Upper Blue Licks, and west by Ellisville and Headquar-

ters Precincts; Licking River flows through the northern

part of the precinct, receiving as its principal tributary.

Stony Creek, which has its source near the town of Car-

lisle, and empties near the Blue Lick Springs. Buchanan

Creek rises in Fleming County and empties into Licking

River, near Pleasaat Valley.

The surface is broken and hilly, much of it being too

steep for cultivation.

In the bottoms the soil is rich, being a limestone un-

derlaid with yellow clay, which renders it susceptible of

enduring a continued drought. The timber for the most

part is composed of oak, ash, elm, cedar, etc.

The early settlement of this precinct is cotemporan-

eous with the settlement at the Blue Lick Springs. This

Spring was discovered by a surveying party from West-

moreland County, Virginia, in 1773. In the division of

the different tracts, this one fell to the lot of John Fin-

ley, who came and settled on it after the Revolutionary

"War, in which he was Major of the 8th Pennsylvania

Regiment of Continental Troops; at his death it descend-

ed to his son, David D. Finley, who continued to live on

it for many years.*

No permanent settlement seems to have been made

Collins' History, page 655.

here till about the year 1789, when a station was built

by a man named Lyons, who carried on salt making. He
had a family of negro servants and entertained travelers;

he did a good business in the salt trade, gaining quite a

reputation for fair dealing among his customers. It is

supposed that the Tanners had a station at the- Springs

several years before Lyons, but it is not certainly known.

Previous to 1789 the Spring went by the various names,
" Salt Spring," « The Salt Spring on Licking," " The
Lower Salt Spring," " The Salt I^ick,'' etc., and were re-

sorted to by the early settlers for obtaining their supply

of salt, they generally going in a body for that purpose.

The saline contents were acouratelj' analyzed and weigh-

ed by Dr. Robert Peter, of the Kentucky Geological

Survey, and from deductions made by him, taking the

salt as one per cent, of the weight of water, it seems that

the Spring would yield an annual product of nearly half

a million pounds. Besides the chloride of sodium, an

analysis of the water also gives about twenty per cent,

of free carbonic acid gas, about three per cent, of

sulphuretted hydrogen, bromide and iodide of magnes-

sium, sulphate of lime and potash, alumina, phosphate of

lime, oxide of iron, and silicic acid, with traces of oxide

of manganese and cremic and apocremic acids. It is a

valuable water, and acts as a nervous stimulant, diuretic,

diaphoretic and emmenagogue.*
" On the 1st day January, 1778, Daniel Boone and a

party of thirty men, collected from the garrisons of the

different stations, came to the Lower Blue Licks to make
salt. After they had been at work for about a month,

three of the men having been sent home in the mean-

time with salt, Boone was captured, while out hunting to

procure provisions for the party, by a band of 103 In-

dians and two Frenchmen. He made favorable terms of

surrender for the remaining twenty-seven, and they were

all taken off to Old Chillicothe, the principal Shawnee

town on the Little Miami, near the present site of Xenia,

Ohio. Boone was employed by the Indians in making

salt, and obtained considerable freedom. On the 16th

*Dr. Peter.

9 ^
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day of June, he efifected his escape from his captors, hav-

ing gained information that an attack of considerable

magnitude was premeditated against Boonesborough.

He traveled the entire distance, one hundred and sixty-

miles, in four days, during which he had but one meal,

taken at the end of the third day at the forks of the

three branches of the Flat Fork of Johnston's Fork of

Licking River." *

The manufacture of salt was abandoned to a great

extent about 1830, and in later years the place became

celebrated as a summer resort for recreation and health.

In 1845, the improvements at the Lower Blue Licks were

greatly extended, a magnificent hotel was erected, and

during the season frequently entertained from 400 to 600

guests. This building was destroyed by fire April 7,

1863, and has not since been rebuilt. A hotel of more

moderate dimensions was erected in 1870, by the Bed-

inger heirs, and is now under the management of John

Larue. A third hotel was erected in 1877, by W. T.

Overby, and is now owned and managed by Daniel Tur-

ney, of Paris, Kentucky. The water of the Springs,

known as "Blue Lick Water " is justly celebrated, and

has an extensive sale throughout the United States and

Europe. With this digression upon the Springs, we re-

turn to the early settlement of the precinct. William

Bartlett was one of the pioneers, and formerly owned the

farm now in possession of J. Hammond. He was en-

gaged at an early day in the manufacture of salt, and at

one time owned the Springs. He died in 1843, and some

of his descendants still reside in the neighborhood.

Aquila Standiford came from Maryland in 1797, and

settled on Licking river, near the Springs. A portion of

his original tract is still in the hands of the surviving mem-
bers of his family. Simon and Mark Kenton were also

among the early settlers ; the Kenton homestead being

now in the possession of Daniel Day. The land near

the Kenton settlement was originally owned by Edwin

Collins, and a portion of this is still in the hands of his

son, the Collins homestead being owned by Dr. Wells.

One of the most noted characters in the history of

this precinct was Major George Michael Bedinger, a

brief sketch of whom we take from Collins' History of

Kentucky. He was born near Shepherdstown, Va., in

1755, and early in 1779, when 34 years of age, emigrated

to Kentucky at Boonesborough. He was one of a com-

pany of 10, nearly all from Shepherdstown (among them

the late Joseph Doniphan, of Mason County, Captain

John Holden and Thomas Swearingen), engaged in im-

*Collins.

proving lands for themselves on Muddy Creek, in what

is now Madison County, and "over on the waters of Lick-

ing." In May, 1779, he acted as adjutant in the unfor-

tunate expedition of Colonel John Bowman, against the

Indian town of old Chillicothe, and was a Major at the

fatal battle of Blue Licks, August 19, 1783, each occa-

sion proving him a brave, prompt and efficient officer.

In 1793, he was chosen from Bourbon County—which

then included his new home near the Lower Blue Licks,

now in Nicholas County—a member of the House of Rep-

resentatives of the first Legislature of Kentucky, at

Lexington. He was a representative in Congress for

four years, 1803-7. He died December 7, 1843.

Philip G. Ross was also an early settler of this pre-

cinct, and located on land now owned by Jeremiah Pra-

ther. Elizabeth Harrington settled on the place where

she now lives, among the early pioneers of this section.

The first store at the Blue Licks was built in 1816, by
Major Bedinger. The first hotel was built by a Mr.

Biddemore, in 1834, of which S. Moore was landlord; he

also was the first Postmaster in the place. The first

saw-mill was built by Joseph Bedinger, which was even-

tually destroyed and replaced by E. Waller, in 1853.

Waller sold to P. G. Allison, who ran it till 1869, when
it was purchased by L. Abner, the present owner, and by
whom the present saw-mill was built in 1875. A. R.

Hildreth also runs a steam saw-mill near Abner's, which
he built in 1875.

In early times a ferry was owned at the Lower Blue
Licks by Daniel Bedinger. A bridge took its place in

1835, a wooden structure, erected by Lewis Wernwag.
This was burned during the war, and the present wood
and iron suspension bridge erected in its place in 1865

by the Maysvilleand Lexington Turnpike Company.
For a description of the battle of Blue Licks see

general county history.

The only church in this precinct is located on Lick-

ing river near the Forest Retreat Pike, and was built in

1855. It is a frame building, and was erected by the

Methodist denomination, at a cost of about $600. Union
Church, near the Licks, formerly in this precinct, but
now inside the Robertson County line, was built in 1861.

There are five schoolhouses in the precinct, rangiijg

in value from $100 to $300: One located at Blue Licks,

built in 1861; one known as the Rafferty sohoolhouse,

on the Maysville and Lexington Pike, built in 1880; the

Liberty sohoolhouse, a log building, erected in 1855;
Sugar Creek schoolhouse, built in 1880. A log school

house was built in 1854, near Pleasant Hill, at which the

first teacher was James Shockey.

—

£!. T. Brown,

ii >
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CHAP TEE XL
HEADQUARTERS PRECINCT—TOPOGRAPHY AND BOUNDARY—EARLY HISTORY—SETTLEMENT OP THE WHITES

—VILLAGES—TURNPIKES AND OTHER IMPROVEMENTS—CHURCHES—SCHOOLS—SECRET SOCIETIES, ETC.

"It is ten o'clock,

Thus may we see how the world wags,

'Tis but an hour smce it was nine.

And in another hour it will be eleven.

And so from hour to hour we ripe and rips.

And then from hour to hour we rot ani rot,

And thereby hangs a tale."

—

Shakespeare.

HEADQUARTERS Precinct, which is No. 2 of the

election precincts of Nicholas County, lies in the

extreme northern section of the county, and is touched

on its northern border by the Harrison County line. EUis-

ville and Blue Licks Precinct bound it on the east, Car-

lisle Precinct on the south, and Bourbon County on the

west make up the complete boundary.

In the south and west the surface is gently rolling,

and presents some farming land unsurpassed in point of

beauty and fertility by any of the blue grass region.

As we approach the northwestern part, the surface

becomes more broken, and the soil correspondingly

diminishes in fertility, owing, not so much to a change of

character as to the fact that so much of the richer por-

tion has been carried away by continued rains. Tlie in-

terior of this precinct forms a watershed between the

waters of the two branches of Licking river, Steele's Run

taking a southwesterly course into Hinkston, thence into

South Licking and Willmore's Run, a tributary of Brushy

Fork, itself a tributary of Beaver Creek, which rises in

this precinct, and, flowing north-easterly through Harrison

County, ultimately reaches Main Licking at Claysville.

The settlement of this part of the county dates as far

back as 1795, when G-eorge Mann made the first inroad

upon the hitherto undisturbed forest. Close in his wake

followed Henry Thompson, who took up an original sur-

vey of 1,000 acres and divided it with John McClintook.

Both of these men were natives- of Virginia and left

valuaye estates, a portion of which is still in the posses-

sion of their descendants. Prominent among the early

settlers may likewise be mentioned, Major John Collier,

George Summit, Peter Snapp, John Conway, Joseph and

Hugh McClintock, James McKee and Samuel Kim-

brough.

The educational facilities of this precinct were early

developed. A log schoolhouse was built on Brushy

Fork as early as 1803, and there a Mr. Grosvenor trained

the minds and curbed the wills of Kentucky's second

generation. Zachary Clayburn taught a school in a

house near Hooktown ; this building, erected in 1814,

was also a log structure, and was the second one in the

precinct. The third school was begun in 1820, by Mrs.

Marston, in a log house that had previously been used as

a distillery. In matters educational, this precinct has

always kept pace with its neighbors. There are at pres-

ent, five well-regulated sc'hools in the precinct, located

as follows : The Baker schoolhouse, near Headquarters,

built 1867, at a cost of $300, and used by all denomina-

tions for religious purposes. A frame house near Irvins-

ville, built in 1848, and also used as a meeting house for

several years ; the school here was first taught by Nathan

Ogden. A log schoolhouse formerly stood near Mt.

Carmel Church, on the site occupied by the present

frame building ; this school was first taught by Maria,

daughter of Colonel Mann. The schoolhouse at Head-

quarters and the one near Walnut Grove Church com-

plete the number.

Scarcely less interesting than the schools is the church

history, which, owing to the care with which the records

have been preserved, we are able to give with minute-

ness. The Mt. Carmel Church, which antedates all others

in this locality, was first erected in 1820. The original

log building was replaced in 1853 by the present com-

modious frame at a cost of 11,300. The property is

owned by the Methodist Society. Among those con-

nected with its reorganization in 1852, were John Mitch-

eltree and wife, Daniel Earlwine and wife, James Hillock

and wife, Daniel Evans, Ann Hillock, Sally Kennedy,

James Kennedy, Elizabeth Kennedy, William Kennedy,

Caroline Kennedy, Zaohariah Brooks, Anderson Brooks

and wife. Arris Evans and wife, Gilead Evans and wife,

Milton Geoghegan and wife, Elizabeth Parchall, Robert

Cattingham, R. D. Hall, Mary Hall, Frances Brooks and

others. Several of the above were also members of the

original church in 1830. The church was dedicated by

Rev. Mr. Brush, and the pastoral office is at present filled

by W. 0. Godby.

a
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The Methodist Church at Headquarters was built in

1868, and dedicated by Rev. E. Stevensoh and Rev. Mr.

Harrison, who became the first regular pastor. At
present the church is administered to by Re-v. John

Ebright.

Walnut Grove Church, in the southwestern part of

the precinct was built in 1878, as a Union Chapel, being

used as a house of religious worship by the different

denominations. It cost about $500, and was dedicated

by Ref. .1. W. Dixon.

There is also a Methodist chapel in the northwestern

part of the precinct, near the Licking river, erected at a

cost of $500.

The village of Headquarters, from which the precinct

was named, is said to have received its cognomen from a

Mr. W. J. Stitt, a soldier of the Mexican war, who chris-

tened it upon the location of the post office at tha,t place.

Mr. Stitt was also the first settler of the town, having,

built a store there in 1840 ; he was also the first post-

master. The town is located upon the Headquarters

and Steele's Run pike, and contains one store, one shoe

shop, one blacksmith shop, one tobacco warehouse, one

apothecary shop, church, school, and about fifteen dwell-

ings.

Centerville is a small town, three miles west of Head-

quarters, on the same pike, and contains a store, black-

smith shop and a few dwellings. The first house was

built by Martin B. Cook, in 1812 : Richard Cheatham

erected the first store in 1860. In 1845, a post office was

established, in the house of W. A. Griffith, with J. W.
Sharp, postmaster. The office was discontinued six years

later. The first mail was carried to this office and Head-

quarters, from Carlisle, by a Mr. Hackley. The original

name of Centerville was Hooktown, which was given to

it on account of a robbery which was perpetrated soon

after the store was built.

Irvinsville, a small village in the northeastern part of

the precinct, and near the Harrison County line, sup-

ports one church, school, blacksmith shop, saw mill, and

contains about a dozen dwellings. Elias Scott, Joab

Yates and Joshua Irvin were the early settlers—after

the last of whom the town was named. The post-office

was located here in 1847, and the name of Morning Glo-

ry given to it, which name it still retains in some locali-

ties. Tom Raymond was the first postmaster, and this

office is now filled by Forest Peterson. Raymond built

the first store in 1847, and, in a few years, sold to N.

Rankin. In 1860, the Baptist Church was organized at

this place, the meetings being first held in the school-

house. John HoUiday was the first pastor, and served

the church with success for ten years. The members
have just completed a frame building, at a cost of $1,000,

and have chosen Elder S. H. Burgess for their Pastor.

Nathan Ogden taught the first school at this place, in

1848.

Barterville, near the line between this precinct

and Ellisville, contains about a half-dozen residences,

two stores, one blacksmith shop, one physician, one

tobacco warehouse, postoffice, etc. It was first settled

by Jacob Myers in 1820. Isaac Feeback was the first

postmaster, and J. A. Porter, the present one. The
schoolhouse at this place is used by all denominations as

a place of religious worship.

The first county road in this precinct was laid out in

1809, running from Steele's Ford, following a buffalo

trace to Lower Blue Licks.

The Headquarters and Steele's Run Pike was built in

1867, and is about six and three-fourths miles in length.

The Forest Retreat and Panther Creek Pike, built in

1881-83, extends from the Maysville and Lexington Pike
nearly ten miles 'n a northerly direction.

Irvinsville and Salt Well Pike, also built in 1881-82,
extends for five and a quarter miles in the northwestern
part of the precinct. There is but one secret society in
this precinct, and that is located at Headquarters. It is

called Orient Lodge, No. 500, A. F. and A. M. The charter
was granted October 19, 1871, and commenced operations
under the following board of officers: John G. Burns,
W. M.

; Thomas M. Sharp, J. W.; W. J. Kennedy, S.W.;
John R. Taylor, S. D.; John S. Hillock, J. D.; E. D.
Foster, Sec; William S. Smith, Treas.; B. W. S. Lowe,
S. & T. The present list of officers is : James R. Long,
W. M.; Nathaniel Collier, S. W.; H. D. Peterson, J.W.;
James A. Smith, Treas.; M. D. L. Burns, Sec; F. M.
Long, S. D.; W. J. Peterson, J. D.; James W. Gaffin,

S. &. T. At present their roll contains twenty-nine
members.

—

Brown.

i "V
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CHAPTEK XII.

ELLISVILLE PRECINCT— ITS BROKEN SURFACE— GENERAL TOPOGRAPHY—EARLY SETTLEMENT— PIONEER

INDUSTRIES AND IMPROVEMENTS—ELLISVILLE AS THE COUNTY SEAT-
EDUCATIONAL AND RELIGIOUS HISTORY.

" In the mountain scenery yet,

All we adore of nature in her wild

And frolic hour of infancy is met;

And never has a summer's morning smiled

Upon a scene »**»»*
O'er crags that proudly tower » » *

And knows that sense of danger which sublimes

The breathless moment—^when his daring step

Is on the verge of the cliff." etc., etc.

—

Halleck.

THIS division of Nicholas County, which is known as

EUisville, or precinct No. 3, is rough and broken.

Indeed, it may almost be called mountainous. Upon the

brakes, and hills and bluffs, rising from the Licking River,

originally grew giant trees, which for centuries had de-

fied the fury of the tempest.

" The century-living crow,

Whose birth was in their tops, grew old and died

Among their branches,''

and still they had flourished in all their glory for years

and ages. Giant oaks, towering walnuts and waving

sycamores grew here in almost endless profusion. Such

was the aspect of the section of country to which this

chapter is devoted, when the pale-face, with all his bust-

ling enterprise, came, and proceeded, literally, to turn

things up-side-down.

EUisville Precinct lies in the northern part of Nicholas

County, and is bounded on the east by Blue Licks Pre-

cinct, on the south and southeast by Carlisle and

Buzzard Roost Precincts, Harrison County on the north,

and Headquarters Precinct on the west. The soil, not-

withstanding the roughness of the country, is rich and

fertile, and is well adapted to tobacco raising, which is

the principal crop of the farmers. The timber was that

common to this section of the country. The precinct is

drained by the Licking River and its tributaries.

This precinct is noted as once having contained the

county seat of Nicholas. Prouder than Rome upon her

seven hills," EUisville," the metropolis of this great coun-

ty(!) sat majestically upon the Licking Bluffs. In 1804, an

act was passed to move the county seat from its original lo-

cation, to the farm of James Ellis, who had settled some

seven miles from the present town of Carlisle. In 1805,

the commissioners laid off the ground for the public

buildings, 16x20 poles, rectangular in shape—a deed for

the same, from James Ellis to the Justices of the County

Court, was acknowledged in July, 1805. Here was a

courthouse, and also a jail—both built of logs. A
jailer's house was also added to the jail the same year.

Stores were opened and shops built, and EUisville became

quite a place. It remained the county seat until 1816,

when it was again removed, and located where it

has ever since remained, and the glory of EUisville

departed forever. It had been laid out with much care

upon an eligible site, but the removal of the county seat

and county offices to Carlisle killed it. Its decayed

buildings have long since shown the " ivy clinging to

their moldering towers," or " hoary lichen springing from

the disjointed stones." Mocked by its own desolation,

" The bat, shrill shrieking, woos its flickering mate,

The serpent hisses, and the wUd birds scream."

Settlements were made in EUisville Precinct at an

early day, though the exact date of the appearance of the

first installment of pale-faces cannot be definitely given.

Even the names of the first are a little uncertain. But

among the pioneers of EUisville, perhaps, may be

mentioned the names of Gilbert and Jacob Feeback,

Richard and James Ellis, Charles McClanahan, Esau

Richey, Israel Chadwick, etc., etc. They are all long

since gone, but descendants of them are still living in the

County. After the v^ar of 1812, the country round

about this section settled up rapidly.

The first years of the whites in this county were years

of toil and hardship, and danger. The journey hither

in the first place was long and toilsome, and when they

arrived, they had an unremitting struggle with poverty

for long years, until the surplus products of the country

enabled them to live more easily and comfortably. Up-

on the land of James Ellis, one of the early settlers of

the precinct, as we have already seen, the county seat

was established in 1804. Prom him the place received

the name of EUisville, and when the County was divid-

-r^-*.^pr
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ed into election precincts under the new constitution of

the State, this became Ellisville, in honor of the old

county seat.

The early industries of the precinct consisted chiefly

of mills, with a tannery or two and a distillery, in the

early times ; also several blacksmith and wood shops.

But of these early institutions of pioneer energy and in-

dustry we know but little. There is at present a mill at

the classic village of " Shakerasr."

The first road through the precinct was made on the

Buifalo trace, and was long known as the " Trace Road."

The Maysville and Lexington Pike passes through J]llis-

ville, and was not only the first pike in Nicholas County,

but in Kentucky, and was built in 1833. The Cynthiana

and Ellisville Pike was an early road in the precinct. A
pike, called the "Forest Retreat and Painter Creek

Pike," passes through the precinct. A bridge on the

Maysville Pike, at the village of Shakerag, was built in

1833, by Thomas and Lewis Wernwag. It was burned

during the war (1863), and rebuilt in 1865, by William

Percy.

This precinct has two villages, viz. : Shakerag and

Oakland Mills, and both of -these put together would not

make a respectable-sized town. George W. Seibert was

one of the first to settle at Shakerag. Its high-sounding

and classical name was given by William C. Craig, a

prominent citizen of the place. The town comprises six-

teen dwellings, a blacksmith shop, shoe shop, wagon

shop, and cooper shop, the latter carried on by George W.
Seibert. There are two stores, one kept by Henry Por-

ter and the other by Eli Vaughn. A very fine store, car-

ried on by W. C. Craig, was burned in the year 1881. A

schoolhouse and church, combined, was built in 1874. The

leading men in its construction were John McClanahan,

Geo. W. Seibert and James and William McCknahan.

The voting place of the precinct is at this schoolhouse.

Shakerag is supposed to be what is left of Ellisville, the

former capital. Disgusted at losing the metropolis, the

town hid its humiliation and chagrin under a new name

—

the poetical and euphonious name of Shakerag.

Oakland Mills is a small village, comprising ten dwell-

ing houses, a blacksmith shop, one store, carried on by

R. T. Endicott, who also keeps the post office, having held

the position about three years. Josiah Parrish is the

oldest resident of the place, having been born and raised

there. A distillery was built there about 1867, by G.

Cheatham, but it is not now running. The Ingle Bros,

own the town principally, and carry on a large tobacco

warehouse. They handle tobacco very extensively, and

do a large and flourishing business.

There is a Methodist Church on Bald Hill, which was

built in 1868. It is on the old Buffalo Trace Road. The

first preacher was Rev. Mr. Johns. Four denominations

worship in that church, though it really is known as a

Methodist Church. This, with the Union Church at

Shakerag, comprise the church facilities, with preaching

occasionally at other schoolhouses.

It is not known who taught the first school in the

precinct. The common schools, like many other portions

of C€fntral Kentucky, do not receive the attention they

deserve. The very most that can be said, is that' they

are sadly deficient. There is a school at Bald Hill, and

one at Shakerag, which constitute the schools of the pre-

cinct.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTER XIII.

UNION PRECINCT—ITS DESCRIPTION AND TOPOGRAPHY— INCIDENT OF SOMERSET CREEK— SETTLEMENT
OP THE PIONEERS—EARLY IMPROVEMENTS AND INDUSTRIES—MILLS AND ROADS-

CHURCHES OF THE PRECINCT—SCHOOLS AND VILLAGES.

" An absolute historian

Should be in fear of none; neither should he

Write anything more than truth for friendship."

UNION Precinct, which is No. 5 of the election pre-

cincts of Nicholas County, lies in the southern part,

and is bounded on the north by Upper Blue Licks Pre-

cinct, on the east by Bath County, on the south by the

Bourbon County line, which is Hinkston Creek, and on

the west by Carlisle Precinct. The land is rolling in the

north part of the precinct and is very rich and produc-

tive ; the southern part is more hilly and broken, and not

so susceptible to cultivation, yet, where a level spot can

be found large enough to grow a tobacco- plant, it pro-

duces of that " weed " an excellent quality. The origi-

nal timber was blue ash, walnut, maple, beech, hickory,

some oak, buckeye, butternut, elm, yellow locust, syca-

more, etc., etc., together with a heavy growth of cane,

which died out about the year 1798. The main water

^
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courses of the precinct are three creeks, all known by

the name of " Somerset." The source of one branch

is in Bath County, of another in Carlisle Precinct, and

of the other in this ; all unite in this precinct, and with-

in half a mile's distance. They attained their name
from the fact that three brothers named Somers were

killed here by the Indians in an early day, one of the

brothers on each of these branches, near the junction.

These streams, together with the Hinkston, which flows

along the boundary, drain the precinct thoroughly, and

furnish an abundance of stock water.

The date of the first settlement in Union Precinct

could not be ascertained. Among its pioneers were

James Brown, Daniel Cassidy, David Gray, Robert Cald-

well, James Sanders, T. Davidson, James Hall, William

Potts, etc. Brown settled the place now owned by Mrs.

Adams; Cassidy settled where Mrs. Potts now lives; and

David Gray on the place now owned by Mr. James Dun-

can; Caldwell settled where B. W. Gravesjiow lives; San-

ders where Soaper lives; and Davidson and Hall on the

lands now owned by J. Thomas, Esq.; and Potts on the

land owned by the Potts heirs. It is believed that most

of these early settlers were from Virginia, though it is

not known of a certainty at this late day. And as we
have said, the date of their settlement here is not known,

but it was at least a decade previous to 1800. Their

first years, were years of hardship, and often were they

hard pushed to furnish their families with the actual nec-

essaries of life. To obtain bread was a diificult task.

The forest contained plenty of meat for the expert hun-

ters, but bread was more diflScultto procure. This led to

all sorts of experiments for converting the corn into meal,

such as pounding it in a mortar, grinding it on a hand

mill, etc., and to the building of rude mills.

The first mill in the precinct was built about 1795, by

a Mr. Stevenson. It was located northwest of East

Union Village, on a branch of Somerset Creek, and

was both saw and grist mill. In 1797, Adam Kears

built and ran a small distillery near the farm now owned

by D. H. Dalzell. In 1814, J. H. Hahn and John Sears

built a saw and grist mill, on the east branch of Somer-

set Creek, near the old buffalo trace. These mills were

operated for a number of years, and then allowed to go

to decay. A " tread mill " was built by Mr. Powell, the

father of Nathan Powell, of Carlisle, in 1814. After run-

ning it for three or four years, he sold it to a man who

moved it out of the county. The roads of Union Pre-

cinct are similar to those in the adjoining precincts; two

or three pikes passing through it.

The c'nurches of Union Precinct, have an extended

history. The first one built in this vicinity, was of logs,

and was called Shiloh. There is nothing now left to

mark the spot where it stood, save a graveyard. The
following with their wives, were the original members of

this church: Elder Samuel Robertson, Alexander Adams,

Hugh, Samuel and Robert Wiley, Richard and James
Campbell, David Jolly, Joseph, Robert and James Stev-

enson, Joseph Wood, David Gray, Samuel M. Waugh,
John Carter, John Riley, Sr., .lohn Burns, Alexander

Blair, Alexander Blair, Jr., William Stevenson, John

Leeper, David, John and James Robertson, James Parks,

Samuel Vogan, Hugh Cowen, John Hopkins, John

Mann, etc., etc.

The next church was built by the Methodists, the

forerunners of Christianity in the West, as John was the

forerunner of the Saviour. It was built on Mount
Pisgah—not that from which Moses caught a glimpse of

the Promised Land—but a little hill in Nicholas County.

It was of logs, and was built in 1814, and some years

since, it was torn down and a frame building erected in

its stead, at a cost of some $3,000. There are churches

in the villages which will be mentioned in that connec-

tion.

The educational history of the precinct dates back to

1815, when a school was taught in a log hut, near Mount

Pisgah Church, by Joseph Hopkins, which is supposed to

have been the first school in this section. There was

also a log cabin for school purposes, built near Shiloh

church, very early, in which A. Ramsay was the first

teacher. There are now but three schoolhouses in the

precinct, two of these are frame and one of logs, situated

as follows: Frame school buildings at Moorefield and

East Union, and log building near Mount Pisgah Church,

Scholars average from twenty to forty in each school.

Moorefield is a small village situated on the Carlisle

and Sharpsburg Pike, in the northwest part of Union

Precinct. It contains two general stores; two black-

smith shops, two tobacco warehouses, one church, one

schoolhouse, and a few dwellings. The church here is

of the Presbyterian denomination, and was built origin-

ally of logs in 1833. It was called " New Concord," and

was organized under the ministrations of Rev. William

K. Burch. The old log building has been replaced by a

substantial frame, which still serves the congregation.

The first settler of Moorefield was Benjamin Hall, who
located where the village stands, in 1796. His two sons,

Samuel and Nathaniel, opened a woolen factory in a

frame building erected for that purpose, in 1815, but

which is long since discontinued. The first store was

opened by Alexander' Blair & Son, about 1818; their
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clerk, James Clark, was appointed postmaster. Mrs.

Hall, wife of Benjamin Hall, suggested that the post-

ofiSce be called Moorefield, after a town near where she

was born, a suggestion that was adopted without contro-

versy. In 1819, Blair & Son moved their stock of

goods to Carlisle; Samuel Hall succeeded Mr. Clark as

postmaster, and bought his brother's interest in the

woolen factory, which a few years later was turned into

a store room and filled with goods, by Samuel Thomp-

son. He remained about a year, and sold out to a son of

Nathaniel Hall. The present stores are owned by W.
B. Ratcliff and W. H. Howe, the latter of whom is the

postmaster of the place.

East Union is located at the southwest part of the

precinct, on the Moorefield and East Union Pike. It has

one store owned and operated by Henry Bramlette, one

blacksmith shop, a church and schoolhouse, one Masonic

Lodge, with a few dwellings. The church is of the

Christian denomination; it is a frame building, and cost

about $3,500, and has a large and flourishing congrega-

tion. The Dunkards had a church here in early times

composed of three families who came from the Carolinas,

named Hahn, Shultz, and Accerman—Peter Hahn officiat-

ing as pastor, and under whose ministrations the church

prospered—having at one tinie about four hundred mem-

bers. They built a log church, which has moldered into

decay, and stood near where now stands the Christian

Church.

B. F. Reynolds, Lodge No. 443, A. F. & A. M., lo-

cated at East Union, was chartered October 24, 1867
;

the first officers under the charter were elected November

9, 1867, and were as follows : B. F. Reynolds, W. M.,

G. W. Bramlette, S. W.; J. P. Stevenson, J. -W.; B.

E. Rice, Treasurer; J. W. Elington, Secretary, and H.

W. Call, Tiler. The present officers (1882) are Henry

C. Wells, Master; George W. Wilson, Senior Warden;

G. W. Kookendofi^er,. Junior Warden; James A. Dun-

can, Treasurer; John N. Reed. Secretary; A. G. Shrout,

Senior Deacon; Isaac E. Wills, Junior Deacon, and John

N. Dalzell, Tiler. There are at present nineteen mem-

bers.

—

Perrin.

CHAPTEE XIV.
UPPER BLUE LICKS PRECINCT—NAME OF BUZZARD ROOST—DESCRIPTIVE AND TOPOGRAPHICAL FEATURES

—EARLY SETTLEMENT—HARD LIFE OF THE PIONEERS—IMPROVEMENTS AND INDUS-

TRIES—CHURCHES—DEERING CAMP GROUND—SCHOOLS, VILLAGES, ETC.

Buzzard Roost! What's in a name? Shakespeare tells

us that " a rose by any other name would smell as sweet,"

and the unpoetical name of " Buzzard Roost," which

still clings to Upper Blue Licks Precinct, doubtless ex-

hales no unpleasant odor over the classic hills and dales

of this region. The name originated in the folMwing

manner: When the little village, which bears the name,

was founded, whisky was sold out by the gallon, and

that quantity being more than any single individual

generally required, several parties would club together,'

procure that amount, retire to a log on one of the neigh-

boring hills, and proceed to dispose of it by drinking it

up. Upon a certain occasion this " happy family " had

procured their accustomed quota, and were seated as

usual upon their log enjoying themselves hugely, when

a traveler—a stranger—happening along, asked the name

of the place, and was told that it had no special name.

Surveying the group of half-drunken men perched upon

the log for a moment, he replied, " Then I will name it

Buzzard Roost," and it has borne the name ever since.

So much for Buzzard Roost.

Upper Blue Licks Precinct, formerly known as Buz-

zard Roost, is election precinct No. 6, and is bounded
north by Lower Blue Licks Precinct and Fleming Coun-

ty, from which it is separated by the Licking river; east

by Fleming County; south by Union Precinct, and west

by Carlisle Precinct. The surface in the west part of

the precinct is hilly, with several tillable ridges or table-

lands; in the north and east parts of the land—as we were

informed—is " set up edgewise and covered with large,

flat rocks." Near the Upper Blue Licks the soil of the

surrounding hills has been so tramped by the buffalo

that about three feet of the top earth, more or less, has

been washed away. All the streams and water-courses

flow toward the Licking river. The two largest are

Fleming and Cassidy Creeks. Fleming empties into the

Licking at the old Parks mill; Cassidy rises in the south-

ern part of the precinct and empties into main Licking

at Parks' Perry. The soil, notwithstanding the broken

nature of the country, is fertile, being similar to that of

Bourbon and Harrison Counties, and is underlaid by a

deep stratum of yellow clay, and that by limestone. The

e; —
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timber growth is principally oak, elm, walnut, hickory,

hackberry, etc., etc. Besides the usual farm crops, fine

crops of tobacco are raised. A number of mounds, and

other relics of the mound builders, are found in this pre-

cinct. These, however, are mentioned in the chapter on

the pre-historic races and Indians, elsewhere in this

volume. The Maysville division of the Kentucky Cen-

tral Railroad passess through the northwestern part of

this precinct, crossing the Licking River over a good

bridge, about one mile below Parks' Ferry, and the sta-

tion (Myers') aflFords good shipping facilities for this

section.

There is not much history connected with the early

occupation of this precinct. Owing to the rough nature

of the larger portion of it, settlements were not made

at as early a date as in the more level sections. Among
the pioneers, however, may be mentioned Philip Stoops,

Andrew Shanklin, Isaac West, and a man named Gouries,

all of whom settled on Cassidy Creek. James Parks, more

particularly mentioned in connection with the mill in-

terests, was an early settler of the precinct. A man

named Hawkins kept a whisky shop at Buzzard Roost,

and was the first settler at that place, which in early

times was famous, as already stated, for being a place of

considerable dissipation. But after 1800 the country

rapidly settled up, eniigrants came in by scores, and

civilization spread over the country.

The hardships of the early settlers are but a repeti-

tion of those in other portions of the county, with the

exception, perhaps, that they were not quite so severe,

owing to settlements being made elsewhere a little ear-

lier. But the life in this locality was hard enough. Un-

til mills were built, the means of procuring bread often

brought the people to their wits' end. The fine water-

power of Licking and its tributaries soon, however,

obviated these diflBculties.

The first mill in the precinct was built on the Lick-

ing by James Hall, at the mouth of Fishbasket Creek.

It was known as " Myers' Old Mill," and was destroyed

when the dams were taken out of the river. The next

mill was that known as the " Fleming Creek Mill," which

was one of the old mills of the country, and is quite his-

torical in its character. It was built in 1808-9 by James

Parks, and was located at the mouth of Fleming Creek.

The site of the mill was long since obliterated, and the

original bed of the creek reclaimed by Colonel Parks, the

present owner of the land. The creek, like the Missis-

sippi River, had several mouths, forming a delta, and by

damming the upper mouth and turning the water of the

creek into the lower, during high water the Licking

would back up into the upper mouth, and receding

would leave a deposit sometimes a foot in depth. By
this process, Colonel Parks has reclaimed some twenty or

thirty acres of land, which before was rough and until-

lable, but now extremely rich and productive, having

been cultivated in corn every year since 1853. But this

mill, in its palmy days, was one of the best in the coun-

try. The stone work was built by Thomas Metcalfe (old

" Stone Hammer "), a resident of the county, and after-

ward Governor of the State. The mill had two run of

buhrs, one of which was Laurel Hill rock, and the other

Red River stone. The capacity was about forty barrels

,of flour per day, most of which was shipped to New Or-

leans by flat boats out of the Licking River. In connec-

tion with these shipments, are the following account of

sales, invoice and letter, which we give in full, and

which are illustrative of the business done by this pio-

neer mill. They are on a double sheet of paper, three

pages of which are occupied in the order following :

Mr. James Parks in acct. with Maunsel, White & Co.

1816
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Char&ss.

Inspection, $4.00; Freight, @ $1M, $150.00. . . .$154.00

Storages, @ e^^c, $6.25; Cartage, $4.70; Lar

bor, $2 12.95

Cooperage, 25o.; Commission, @ 2J^ per cent.,

$26.83 26.58 193.53

Net proceeds when collected $859.97

Errors Excepted.
New Orleans, Jan. 20, 1817.

MA.UNSEL, WHITE & CO.

The third page is taken up with the following letter:

New Oelkans, Jan. 32, 1817.

James Parks, Esquire,

Dear Sir : Since we had this pleasure on 27th Deer,

last we received per Wm. Newsam on your account one

hundred barrels of Flour, sales of which you will find

hereto annexed. And of proceeds $859 ^^<!. You will

see some of it is sold on a short credit. We also send

you your account current, amount now due you in con-

formity thereto when all det)ts are collected $3,456 -^ for

which sum we send you our dft. drawn in your favor on

Messrs. Robinson & Rhinelander, New York at 60 days

sight, which we hope will prove satisfactory, and is much

better than bills on Philadelphia, and will be easier paper

off with you. We understand they are selling at Lexing-

ton for six per cent premium. The Banks are doing

nothing and altho' it does not appear that there is any

further alarm about failures, yet the confidence is not

entirely restored. Flour continues to be in great de-

mand and best quality for bakery would bring $11 and

] 1^ per Bbl. Good superfine fit for shipping is from $10

-$10^ in demand. We sincerely regret that your two

first parcels were not as fresh as we could wish, it delayed

in some measure the sales as well as prevented our get-

ting so good a price. We recommend to you strongly

to send on flour as fast as you can. We send you second

of exchange by this mail, and by next you will received

the first. Yours sincerely

MAUNSEL, WHITE & CO.

This sheet is folded letter size, sent without cover,

and is directed as follows :

JAN »» z|

V* 1817 ^1

JAMES PARKS Esquire

Mouth Flmeing near

ELLISVILLE

KENTUCKY.

There was a saw-mill in connection with this old mill

which did as large a business in its time as the flour-mill.

Both were carried away by a freshet about 1840, and

were never rebuilt.

Cassidy Creek mill was also built by James Parks. It

was about half a mile above the mouth of the Cassidy

Creek, and was built between 1816 and 1819, and con-

sidered one of the best mills in the State. It had three

run of buhrs, of the Red River stone, and had a capac-

ity of sixty barrels a day. In addition to custom work,

it averaged from forty to forty-five barrels a day for ex-

port, which were shipped to New Orleans. Mr. Parks

had a contract to furnish the army at New Orleans dur-

ing the war of 1812, which flour was ground on his Flem-

ing Creek mills, the same mentioned above as being

washed away in 1840. During the height of prosperity

of these mills, Mr. Parks packed pork extensively, which

was also shipped to New Orleans, and dry goods, grocer-

ies, etc., brought back for the trade in this section.

The Upper Blue Licks mill was built about 1862, and

is both saw and grist mill. It was built by Richard Spen-

cer, and run afterward for four or five years by Short,

Hopkins & Co., when, in 1880, it was purchased by

Vaughn, Mitchell & Humphreys, and moved from the

Upper Blue Licks to its present site, about half a mile

further up the river. A boom was built and arrange-

ments made for drawing logs out of the river by steam.

They get all their supplies from the raftsmen of the

Licking River, and cut from 200,000 to 300,000 feet of

lumber annually, selling.to the surrounding country.

The Parks' Ferry Mill is owned and operated by the

Washington Manufacturing and Mining Company. This

company was chartered in 1869, and owns some thirty

acres of ground, about half of which is occupied by the

" Deering Camp Ground," a full history of which is found

elsewhere in this volume, in the church history

of the county. The original stockholders of the

company were T. S. Parks, President; T. J. Glenn, M.

A. Glenn, R. M. Parks and Benjamin Adair, the latter of

whom sold his interest to Thomas Dorsey,before any active

steps were taken by the firm. In 1862, a half interest

was sold to Collier& Wood. The main business interest

of this company at present, is the saw-mill located at

Parks' Ferry, and connected by a railway, owned by the

Company, with the Kentucky Central Railroads' Maya-

ville branch. They make all kinds of rough, dressed and

matched lumber, scroll work, laths, staves, pickets, etc.

Their capacity with a 30 horse-power engine, has been

about a million and a half feet per annum. In the early

part of 1883, a 90 horse-power engine was put in, which

!>
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increased their capacity to three million feet annually.

They have a branch lumber yard in Paris, and also keep

about half a million feet in stock at the mill. They work

about twenty hands, at an average of $l.;i5 per day

wages.

The Moorefield and Upper Blue Licks Turnpike con-

nects those two places, distance six and one-

third miles from each other. This road was' the first

laid out in the precinct, and is the "old Buffalo Trace,"

from the Boonesborough country to the Upper Blue Licks,

and afterward became the State road. In 1866 a com-

pany was formed, and five miles of it was piked, leaving

one and a third miles, part at each end, which was not

piked until 1879. The Parks' Ferry Turnpike was

from Parks' Ferry to within one and one-half miles of

Carlisle. It was surveyed and graded the entire dis-

tance, but has not yet been entirely finished. The road

from Parks' Ferry to Bethel was the first north and

south road in the precinct, and there is at the present

time (1882), considerable talk of piking it. The roads

generally follow the water-courses or ridges, it being im-

possible to run them across the hills without scaling

ladders.

There are two ferries in the precinct ; ,one at the Up-

per Blue Licks, owned by Samuel Clay, of Bourbon

County, and Parks' Ferry, six miles below, owned by

Colonel T. S. Parks. The boats at both ferries are pro-

pelled across the stream by the force of the current,

this peculiar style of boating being the invention of

James Parks, the Colonel's brother.

The precinct of Upper Blue Licks is well supplied

with churches, and, if the people are not good Christians,

it is probably their own fault. Besides several good,

comfortable church buildings, there is the Bearing Camp
Ground, which is famous as^a place of holding camp-

meetings of the Methodist Church. The first church

built in the precinct was, probably. Mount Zion Church,

located in the eastern part. It was first built of logs, by

the Dunkards, about the year 1830. The present frame

structure was built by the Christian denomination in

1850. The first pastor was Peter How. It has now

about one hundred and fifty members. Among the early

preachers were Reverends Reynolds, Revilen, Samuel

McCormiok and Morrison. The present pastor is Melom

Metcalfe.

Pleasant Valley Christian Church is located in the

valley of the same name, was built in 1876, and dedicat-

ed by Elder George Kimberly, and, at present, has one

hundred and twenty-five members. Its pastors have

been Elders Joseph Graves and William Hull. There is

at present no pastor. The building is a frame, and cost

l>800. Sunday-school in good weather.

Parrish's Chapel (Methodist Episcopal South) is locat-

ed on Cassidy's Creek, about two miles above its mouth.

The present edifice was built in 1859, and cost $'2,000;

was dedicated by Rev. Samuel Robertson ; has one hun-

dred members, under the pastorate of Rev. William T.

Godby. The original church building was burned about

1830 ; a log building was then put up and stood until

the building of the present edifice. Among the mem-
bers forty years ago were William and James Stoops,

John W. Shanklin, Adam West, and Billy Linn and fam-

ily. Among the noted preachers that have served it

as pastors, may be mentioned Revs. Snively, Cunning-

ham, Savage, Chamberlain, Hobbs, Brush, Kavanaugh,

Evans, Kelley, etc., etc. It was originally a Republican

church, and under that regime the following were among

its pastors, viz : Revs. Isbell and Helm.

Murphy's Chapel (Methodist Episcopal), located on

Cassidy's Creek, three miles above its mouth, is a frame

building, and cost $800. It was organized in 1870, by

John S. Cox, at White's schoolhouse. Its first pastor

was Rev. M. D. Murphy, after whom it was named. The

society now numbers forty-five members, and the present

pastor is Rev. H. W. Bailey. Other pastors have been

Revs. J. F. Harrison, Tilman Kennedy, S. G. Pollard

and B. F. Whitman. The church meets every second

Saturday and Sunday; Sunday-school regularly in good

weather. As we have said, a sketch of the Deering Camp
Ground appears elsewhere in this work.

The first schools of the precinct did not amount to

much, nor is it known of a certainty who taught the first

one. But one of the first remembered was taught by one

John Vaughn on Big Branch. The schools of the pres-

ent day, are much better than are to be found in many
parts of Kentucky, but even in these there is still con-

siderable room for improvement. The common schools

are the most perfect means of educating the masses for

useful positions in life, and should be earnestly supported.

There are four district schools in the precinct, which are

usually well patronized.

The Upper Blue Lick Springs, on Licking River, and

from which this precinct derives its name, is an historical

spot. Salt was found here more than seventy-five years

ago, by one McClanahan; five hundred gallons of water

made a bushel of salt, which was worth $4.50 per bushel.

David Finlay had a mill here very early, and also kept

tavern. A more extended notice appears in a preced-

ing chapter, however, and will not be repeated here. The

village known as Upper Blue Licks is situated at these
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springs, and contains one store and post office. The

name of the postoffice is " Davidson," after the first, pre-

sent and only postmaster it has ever had—W. R. David-

son. There is a cooper shop at the village, where casks

are made for transporting the Blue Lick water, which

is now shipped to all parts of the United States. The
village consists of but a very small collection of houses,

and is a place of but little general business. Blackhawk
is the name of the post office at Myers' Station, on the

Maysville branch of the Kentucky Central Railway, near

Parks' Ferry. There are several blacksmith shops lo-

cated at different points in the precinct; three, are at

Cassidy's Creek, one at Myers' Station and one on the

north side of Licking River, in what is called Pleasant

Valley.

Buzzard Roost village is the voting place of the pre-

cinct, and as stated in the opening of this chapter, the

precinct long went by the same name, but was finally

changed to Upper Blue Licks. It is situated on the

Moorefield and Upper Blue Licks Pike, about half way
between the two places, at the crossing of the Parks'

Ferry and Bethel road. It contains one store, and one

blacksmith and wood shop. The origin of its name is

given elsewhere.

Fitch Hunger Lodge, No. A. F. and A. M., is

located at Willow Valley, about one mile south of the

Upper Blue Licks. It was founded in 1871, at Buzzard

Roost, and named in honor of Fitch Munger. In 1879,

it was moved to Willow Valley, and is in good working

order. It owns its hall, and has twenty-three members.

The first officers were: W. B. Hopkins, Master; W. J.

Myers, Senior Warden ; Alvin Branch, Junior Warden;

W. R. Potts, and H. B. Myers, Deacons; and G-. C. Faris,

Steward and Tiler. The present officers are as follows:

N. C. Crouch, Master; T. Kearn, Senior Warden; T. M.

Tant, Junior Warden; T. W. Vaughn, Treasurer; C. T.

Neal, Secretary; and Charles McVey, Steward and Tiler.

Pleasant Valley is a portion of the precinct compris-

ing about half a dozen farms, lying on the north Siide of

the Licking River. The land lies well and is very fertile.

The first store in the precinct was kept by James Parks.

The village called Pleasant Valley, contains about a

dozen families, and one merchant flouring mill, owned by

W. S. Tant, of Flemingsburg; one blacksmith and wood

shop; one church, the history of which has already been

given; one physician, and one Masonic Lodge. The
latter is known as W. S. Tant Lodge, and was organized

in 1876. It has about fifty members, and William Bar-

ton was the first Master. The present ofBcers are:

Abner Molntire, Master; Cornelius Garey and George

Moore, Wardens; William Garey, Treasurer; Charles

Shanklia, Secretary; and James Gray, Tiler.

—
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APPENDIX
THOROUGHBRED HORSES OF BOURBON, SCOTT AND HARRISON COUNTIES.

KENTUCKY is noted, not only in this country, but in

Europe, and indeed throughout the civilized world, al-

most, for its fine stock, and particularly its thoroughbred

horses. Wherever the American horse is known (and in what

country is he not known ?) the Kentucky horse is known, and

appreciated as well. The celebrity of the Kentucky horse

has been attained principally, perhaps wholly, by the

blooded horses bred and reared in the central part of the

State, of which Bourbon, Scott and Harrison form a most

important part. " There is no region of America," says

a writer upon the subject, " so highly favored for the breed-

ing of fine horses as the Blue Grass Region of Kentucky.

This is to be attributed in a large degree to the nature of

the soil in which he is reared. There is no doubt that ani-

mals which are fed upon grass and grain, and drink water

impregnated with lime, have larger and stronger bones than

those reared upon clay and sandy soils. The best sections

of the country to breed and rear fine stock will be found,

as a rule, to follow the limestone formations of America.

The Blue Grass Region of Kentucky, and that portion of

Tennessee with a tier of counties surrounding Nashville,

are strong limestone regions, which accounts for the celeb-

rity and superiority acquired by the horses of these sec-

tions over less favored portions of America. The high,

rolling land, the limestone water, the quantity and quality

of the herbage, is the cause, doubtless, of the success of

Kentucky and Tennessee breeders. The climate is suita-

ble to the constitution of the horse, and the land grows

that description of provender so well calculated for his

sustenance and development."

An article upon thoroughbred horses, written recently

by Ben G. Bruce, Esq., the able editor of the Live Stock

Record, contains the following, which will be found of

much interest, doubtless, to our readers. It says :
" It is

a well known fact that horses bred on low, wet and marshy

lands, are coarse and heavy in their shoulders ; their legs

are fleshy, and wanting in that fine, wiry development of

sinew necessary for the performance of hard labor ; their

feet being continually exposed to moisture, become flat,

spongy and weak, and, when called upon to undergo severe

work, soon become the victim of disease. The sole and

frog, being rendered soft by too much moisture, subjects

the extremely delicate internal structure to frequent

bruises, which, by inflammation produced, so completely

deform the parts as to create lameness of an incurable

character. Not only are the feet aflected by wet and

marshy situations, but the whole animal frame. Succulent

herbage tends to the production of fat, with loose, flaccid

muscles, and sinews of a similar texture, the very reverse

of that which is requisite for the thoroughbred horse, or,

indeed, for the animal that is to be qualified for speedy or

continued exertions ; whereas, in the Blue Grass Region,

the land is dry and sound, somewhat elevated and rolling,

conducing to a clean, wiry and muscular animal.**********
" There is a remarkable difference observable in horses

raised from different breeds and on difl'erent soils. These

differences are most noticeable in regard to the form of the

head, ears, muzzle, legs, tendons, muscular fiber, hoofs, skin

and hair. The horses bred, for instance, in Pennsylvania,

differ as much from the Kentucky thoroughbred horse, as

the oak or hickory of the same species in these States.

The weight, measure and texture are different. In the

Kentucky-bred horse the bones are more solid, the tendons

stronger and much better defined, the muscles are more

firm and elastic. The Pennsylvania-bred horse's bones are

very soft and spongy, light and large. A square inch of

bone from a thoroughbred Kentucky horse is much heav-

ier than a square inch from a Pennsylvania draft-horse,

the latter being more porous and chalky, resembling pumice

stone, while the former is solid, partaking more of the close-

grained nature of ivory. The muscular fiber in the one is

coarser and more lax, although strong, and bears the same

relation to that of the other as cotton to silk. In the

r
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Pennsylvania horses, the arteries are larger and the veins

somewhat smaller and more deeply buried, the tendency

to take on adipose matter much greater.

" If you take Kentucky horses or cattle to Pennsylvania

and the Eastern States, their posterity begins to undergo a

change in the first generation
; and in the second it is still

greater ; and in the tenth or twelfth remove they are not

the same breed of animals. This change is produced by

difference in climate and food. The climate is nearly in

the same latitude, and the great change must be caused by

the difference in soil, and consequently in the vegetation.

Animal formation is modified by the vegetable formations

of which it is the result, and the vegetable formations are

modified by the elements of the soil from which thej' de-

rive their nourishment. Not only the forms of animals,

but their physical sj'stems, their secretions and excre-

tions are affected by the difference of geological forma-

tions from which they derive, through its vegetation, the

elements of their organization.

" It is well known that certain localities, from the nature

of the soil, produce better grapes, which impart a peculiar

flavor and bouquet to the wine made from them. It is also

well known that certain sections of Kentucky and Tennes-

see produce whiskies of peculiar flavor, aroma and excel-

lence ; that they cannot be made elsewhere in the same

perfection, without the peculiar water and grain to be

found in those localities. We cannot grow to perfection

the peculiar tobacco of Cuba, which furnishes the high-

flavored cigars of that beautiful island. We cannot find a

locality in which we can grow the tobacco that portions of

Connecticut furnish for cigar wrappers. Why is all this,

if the soil, and the peculiar constituents that go to form it,

have nothing to do in the formation of animal life? The

effect produced in the rose by difference in climate and soil

is well known. Its delightful aroma is much less concen-

trated when it grows in a cold than in a warm climate ; its

colors are not so varied, nor its texture so delicate. We
see marked differences in the influence of soil and climate

in the human family. The race of men in a limestone re-

gion are larger, as a rule, than those in the sandy or

freestone sections of the country. The great stock-pro-

ducing county of England is Yorkshire, situated on lime-

stone. The nature of the soil and its vegetable produc-

tions is the cause of these remarkable differences of form,

texture, aroma, etc. If not, whj"^ is it that-not only certain

plants, but certain animals, are never found except in

climates indigenous to them, if soils and vegetable prod-

ucts play no part with them? We know that lime, silex

and phosphates are taken up by the vital organs of plants,

giving them size, strength and firmness. If plants take

them up, why should not the vital organs of animals take

them from the food raised on such soils? We think that

this will go far to show why the dry, rolling lands of Cen-

tral Kentucky, with hor temperate climate, limestone soils

and watpr has proven such a great region for the produc-

tion of the thoroughbred and highest grades of stock.

" Kentucky is chiefly indebted to her mother, Virginia,

for the material upon which her present stock is founded.

Virginia has long been regarded, and justly, too, as the

race-horse region of America. Her ascendency upon the

turf for many years was very decided, but it is probable that

racing and breeding commenced simultaneously, or nearly

so, in the States of Virginia and Maryland. These two

States were principally the homes of men of birth attached

to the Cavalier party ;
race-horses were bred and trained, and

many celebrated English sires were imported in the early part

of the eighteenth century, prior to the outbreak of the old

French war. BuUe Eock, foaled in 1708, by the Darley

Arabian, dam by the Byerley Turk, was imported into Vir-

ginia before the Revolution, in 1730. Dabster, foaled in

1736, by Hobgoblin, dam by Spanker, was imported into

Virginia, in 1742 or 1743. In the New England States, the

settlers of which were for the most part attached to the

Puritan party, and therefore opposed to all amusements

and pastimes as frivolous, at the least, and unprofitable

and to horse-racing more especially, as profane and posi-

tively wicked, verj' few horses of thoroughbred blood were

imported, or stood in that section of the country.

" Racing was kept up in Virginia for many years, with

unabated interest, and to Virginia is the country chiefly

indebted for the large number of imported stallions and

mares. All her great men were fond of this and kindred

sports. Gen. Washington was particularly fond of deer

and fox hunting, and he and Thomas Jefferson both ran

horses at Alexandria, Va., about 1790. Racing was carried

on in Maryland many years previous to Braddock's defeat

in 1753, and Gov. Ogle was presented with the celebrated

imported stallion, Spark, b}' Lord Baltimore, who received

him as a present from his Royal Highness, Frederick, Prince

of Wales, father of King George III. After the Revolu-

tionary war, the country was chiefly indebted to Col. John
Tayloe, of Mount Airy, Va., and Col. John Hoomes, of

Bowling Green, Va., for the importation of the best thor-

oughbred horses
; but, after 1803 or 1804, for many years

importations languished. To Col, John Tayloe we are indebt-

ed for imported Chance, Dungannon, Gabriel, Mufti, O'Kel-

ly, Robin Redbreast, Sir Peter Teazle, Volunteer and others.

To Col. John Hoomes the'country is indebted for the impor-

tations Archduke, Bedford, Buzzard, Cormorant, Dare Devil

Dashington, Diomed, Dion, Dragon, Druid, Escape, Herod,

-^
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Manfred, Play or Pay, and Sterling. From these horses

most of the stock in Kentucky have, in a great degree,

descended, especially from Diomed, from whom more dis-

tinguished horses have descended than from any other

ever imported to America. Indeed, he may be called the

American Godolphin, Sir Archy, Timoleon, Boston and

Lexington coming in lineal descent from this distinguished

horse. After Kentucky and Tennessee were admitted as

States, they soon took rank as the great breeding and rac-

ing points, and may be said to have far outstripped their

noble mother, old Virginia. Kentucky and Tennessee were

principally settled by Virginians
;
and inheriting the tastes

of their fathers, racing was commenced while in a territorial

state. The material upon which to build up an account of

the breeding and racing in Central Kentucky, in its infancy,

are meager, and but little effort will be made in this article

to look up their earliest history, and introduction."

Prom all published accounts and data at hand, we find

that the sports of the turf was the first amusement the

early settlers indulged in, aside from the house-raising, log-

rolling and quilting parties. In the old Kentucky Gazette,

of August, 1789, we find the following notice. " A purse

race will take place at Lexington on the second Thursday

in October next, free for any horse, mare or gelding
;

weight for age agreeable to the rules of New Market

(three-mile heats), best two in three, each subscriber to pay

one guinea, including his subscription, the horses to be en-

tered the day before running, with Mr. John Fowler, who

will attend at Mr. Collins' tavern on that day. Subscrip-

tions taken by Nicholas Lafou, Lexington." Capt. John

Fowler was one of the very first men in Kentucky who de-

voted special attention to racing, and to matters pertaining

to the turf He was a Captain in the Eevolutionary war,

the first Kepresentative in Congress from this district, and

for many years was Postmaster at Lexington. He took

considerable interest in fine horses, and in racing matters

generally.

The following incident is illustrative of the early histo-

ry of the turf, as its sports were practiced in Central Ken-

tucky by the pioneers. It occurred in what is now Nicho-

las County, but was then (1795) Bourbon :
" About the

year 1795, there came there from Virginia a proud young

man, mounted upon a very fine thoroughbred horse. He

was rather boastful, and assumed airs which highly irritat.

ed the wild boys of the Licking Hills, and the native sons

of the soil generally. Confident of the fleetness of his

horse, he bantered the neighbors for a race. It was known

to a few, that a couple of the best racers in the country

had been repeatedly run against each other, and were of

about the same speed. A poor boy of the neighborhood

had, for the amusement of the owners, run them against

one another—^he riding both the horses at the same time,

a la circus. The young Virginian was notified that if he

would ride himself, they would run two (2) horses at the

same time against his, and would bet on their success what

they could afford, which was mostly the skins of various

wild animals, against anything of equal value. The chal-

lenge was accepted, and a meadow in the creek bottom

near by selected for a half-mile race. The day arrived
;

the three horses were brought forward. For the rider of

the two, appeared this same poor boy,* about half-grown,

barefooted, bareheaded, dressed in a tow-linen shirt, with

pantaloons of the same material. The dress was not as-

sumed for the occasion, but was the best he could afford,

although neither neat nor gaudy. He was endowed with a

well-formed head, a keen, penetrating eye, a fearless, benev-

olent and cheerful countenance ; and was animated with a

noble zeal for the occasion, believing the honor of Ken-

tucky was at stake. The riders mounted, the boy having

one foot on each horse. The signal was given ; away went

the racers at full speed, and for about two hundred yards,

it could not have been decided which was ahead. The boy

in endeavoring to run near a stump three feet high, did

not guide exactly as he intended ; the stump was leaped b}'

one of the horses, which greatly disturbed the equilibrium

of the rider, but did not throw him. The Virginian's horse

dashed ahead. The other two ran with great fleetness, and

at six hundred yards it was neck and neck. At the end of

the race, the pair of horses were a full length ahead, amid

the huzzas and shouts of the multitude. The young Vir-

ginian paid his losses without a murmur. A big treat was

proposed by those in luck, and accepted by the crowd.

The successful rider was looked for, but could not be found
;

unaccustomed to applause, he had disappeared. The Vir-

ginian, however, avenged himself on two subsequent occa-

sions, by beating each horse singly, they having a different

rider. But he was again mortified by being beat by the

boy riding at the same time both horses." Thus was the

sport of racing introduced into Central Kentucky. This

unique race, it will be observed, took place in 1795, almost

ninety years ago, and about three years after Kentucky

became a State.

In proof of the interest taken in horse-flesh by our

fathers, we find as early as 1788, some half dozen or more

thoroughbred stallions advertised in the old Kentucky Ga-

zette, published by John Bradford at Lexington, and the

first newspaper established west of the Alleghany Mount-

ains. Among these were Nero, Flimnap, Mogul, Pilgarlick,

*Thoma8 Metcalfe, afterward Governor of the State, and U. S. Senator from Ken-

tucky.

'^
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Red Bird, Darius, etc., and they were advertised to stand

for service for so many pounds of tobacco, or bushels of

corn, etc., etc. Among the thoroughbred stallions, which

gained some notoriety in the blue grass section, up to the

beginning of the present century, additional to those no-

ticed above, are Imported Lath and Tippoo Saib, his son.

Slider, Dolphin, Don Carlos, Ferguson Gray, Laburnum,

Union and others. These horses, though the best of their

day, and conspicuous as breeders in the early history of

the thoroughbred horse interest in this section, played no

particular or important part in the stock as represented

here at the present time, as few, if any, of the noted horses

now bred trace their genealogy back to them.

Lexington has always been the grand center of racing,

not only of the Blue G-rass Region, but for the entire State

of Kentucky. For almost a hundred years, racing has

been pretty regularly kept up there, and from the first es-

tablishment of the Kentticky Gazette up to 1800, we find

frequent advertisements of meetings to come off, but it was

not until November 12, 1795, that the Gazette gives its

readers a report of races run. It says :
" The first day,

four-mile heats were won by Col. Simeon Buford's Mogul
distancing the field. The first heat, three started. Second

day, three-mile heats, five started ; won by Abraham Bu-

ford's Weazel in two heats."

On January, 26, 1796, a banter was made through the

columns of the Gazette, by Leonard Claiborne, to run a

match with his horse Bumpard for £500 (a pound being

$3.33 in our currency), against Col. Simeon Buford's Mo-
gul. Col. Buford accepted the challenge, and the race was

doubtless run, though the files of the Gazette furnish no re-

port of it. The newspapers, however, of that period did

not give the amount of local news found in the press at the

present day. It is a matter of some surprise that so little

news of a local character did find its way in the early

newspapers, for it seems to us that common sense would

have dictated to the editor its interest over their usual

" Foreign Intelligence," and other State matters to which

they gave room each week. It may be of some interest to

the young sports of the turf at the present day to read

the following notice published in the Gazette in 1796 :

" The following list of weights allowed to be carried : 7

years old, 10 stone : 6 years old, 9 stone ; 5 years old, 8

stone ; 4 years old, 7 stone ; and 3 years old, a feather."*

The rules of the turf were quite different then from what they

are now, but just as efficient perhaps as those by which we

are governed at the present day.

The following list of stallions figured in Central Ken-

tucky from 1797 to 1804, some of whom produced progeny

*A stone iB fourteen pounds, and a feather is five stone, or seventy pounds.

that have proved themselves among the best racers of

Kentucky. The list embraces the following : American

Godolphin, Scipio, Pantaloon, Flag of Truce, Medley,

Lamplighter, Albert Shelley, Postmaster, Hudibras, Repub-

lican, Flimnap, Bacchus, Thompson's Medley, Olympus,

and the imported horses, Spread Eagle, Paymaster, Tup

and Forrester. " With the exception," says a writer, " of

Imp. Spread Eagle, none of these horses left any descend-

ants of note." Among his progeny, may be mentioned the

following : Nancy Taylor, who produced Lady Jackson;

by Sumpter, and from the latter descended Barbara Allen,

Theatriss, Miss Riddle, .Uncle Jeff and others well known

in their day. Purity came from Imp. Spread Eagle, and

also Maid of the Oaks. From these descended Jim, Josh,

Anna, Patsey, Mary Belle, Young Maid of the Oaks, Katy

Ann, Medoc, Cora, Gypsy, etc., etc. From these, as we

have said, some of the best racers in Kentucky have de-

scended, and among which may be mentioned Nannie and

Sallie Lewis, My Lady, Aldebaran, John Morgan, Hunter's

Lexington, Lotta, Glen Rose, Susan Beane, Acrobat, Gli-

delia, Susquehanna, Sensation, Onondaga, Glenmore, Liz

Morgan, Hunter's Glencoe, Morgan Scout, Ratan, Cuba,

Blue Belle, Julia Mattingly, Belle of Nelson and a great

many others.

In illustration of the fact that racing, and the sports of

the turf took an early hold upon the people, and that Lex-

ington has always been the great center of attraction of

the racing interest, we find that a Jockey Club was formed

in 1797, and at a meeting, held at Postlethwaite's Tavern,

(now the Phoenix) on the 17th of October, of that year,

the following resolutions were adopted :

Eesolved, That there be a purse race run over the Lexing-
ton course, on the second Wednesday, and the two following

days iu November next ; the first day, four-mile heats ; second
day, three-mile heats ; and the third day, for four-year-olds, two-
mile heats ; aged horses carrying 130 pounds ; six years old, 130

pounds ; five years old, 100 pounds ; and three years old, a feather.

Resolved, That Samuel Downing, A. Holmes, G. Anderson,
R. W. Downing and J. B. January be a committee to admit per-

sons wishing to become members of the club.

Resolved, That the next meeting of this club be at this

house, on this day week, at 6 o'clock, P. M.

C. Banks, Secreta/ry.

From this period on, the races continued pretty regu-

larly, and among those who took an active part we find

the names of Maj. Streshly, J. M. Garrard, Col. A. Buford,

J. M. Gatewood, Capt. W. Allen, Shelley, Maj. Willis, Mr.

Morris, Col. S. Buford and others.

Thus was introduced into Central Kentucky, and into

Bourbon, Scott and Harrison Counties, the breeding and

rearing of blooded horses, and the training of them for the

turf. As a commercial interest alone, the rearing of thor-
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oughbred horses in the blue grass sectioa has contributed

more to Kentucky's high reputation abroad than any other

of her natural resources and industries. When we con-

sider the high prices which the best thoroughbred horses

of this region have brought in the markets, their commer-

cial value is no longer a matter of wonder. The following

sales are illustrative of the fact : Mambrino Bertie, $10,-

000
;
Steiaway, $13,000 ; Lady Stout, $15,000 ; Maud S.,

$21,000; Jewett, $15,000; Alcantara, $18,000; Lady
Thorn, $30,000 ; Blackwood, $25,000 ; Santa Glaus, $25,-

000 ; Monroe Chief, $25,000 ;
Van Arnim, $10,000 ; So-so,

$10,000 ;
Mambrino Pilot, $10,000 ; Nutwood, $15,000

;

Mambrino Kate, $10,000; Trinket, $12,000; Darby, $16,-

000 ;
Lulu, $25,000 ; Dick Jamison, $10,000 ; Maud Ma-

cey, $10,000; Director, $10,000-; Grafton, $15,000, etc.,

etc. Many other high-priced horses could be mentioned,

who have contributed toward giving Central Kentucky its

great reputation for thoroughbreds, but those given are

sufficient, though but a few of the many.

As much interest as is taken in racing and turf-matters

by the-breeders of fast horses in Bourbon, Scott and Har-

rison Counties, the facilities for racing have never been

such in any of these counties as to at all compare with

those of Lexington and Fayette County ; and hence, that

has always been, as we have said, the great racing center,

not only of Central Kentucky, but of the entire State.

There, turfmen gather at the fall and spring meetings of the

Running Association, together with the most noted horses

the country can produce.

One of the finest importations of horses ever made into

Kentucky was in the year 1'860, by the Kentucky Import-

ing Company. The company was formed in 1859, but did

not make its first importation until the next year, when a

purchase was made in England of some twenty-five head

of fillies and one colt, which were shipped to this country,

and to Central Kentucky ; one or two of these died on

shipboard, and the others were sold at public sale in No-

vember, 1860. The war coming on, this importation

proved less valuable than it otherwise would have done.

Among these fillies were Britannia Fourth, Cairn Gorme,

Coral, Cecily Jopson, Clifton Lass, BUtham Lass, King

Tom Filly, Filigree, L'Auglaise, Loup Garon Filly, Maud,

Kosalind and a number of others. Some of these were

stolen during the war, and consequently nothing is known

of their produce. From the others descended some of the

best racers that have ever been bred in Kentucky. But

we have neither time nor space to give particulars of the

part played by their descendants on the turf, not only of

Kentucky, but the country at large.

The breeding and training of trotting horses has grown

to be a large business interest of the Blue Grass Region of

Kentucky, equalling, if not even excelling in interest, run-

ning exercises upon the turf Training horses for this

species of speed, commenced in this section about the year
1843.'

Says Dr. Herr, of Fayette County, "When I located

in Bourbon County in 1842, nothing was said about fast

trotters, either of breeding or training horses for speed.

There was at that time a little interest manifested in fast-

pacing horses, and pacing stallions were shown at fairs

and spring stallion shows. There being no regular trotting

or pacing tracks at that day, the horses were exhibited and

paced on the Commons.''

Among the pacing stallions that figured in Bourbon and
the surrounding counties in the early da3's of fine horses,

may be mentioned Tom Teemer, Teeumseh, Brown Pilot,

Black Indian, The Copper Bottoms, Davy Crockett (the

best of his day), Tom Crowder, Faro, Captain Walker, etc.,

etc. Old Davy Crockett was owned by Mr. Blackburn, the

father of Hon. Joe Blackburn, Representative in Congress,

and was a Canadian horse. Tom Crowder was owned by

William Skinner, and between these two stallions (Davy

Crockett and Tom Crowder) the greatest rivalry existed,

each claiming to be the fastest pacer. Great interest was

taken by the public in these two horses, and at the earnest

solicitation.of friends, the owners brought them together

at the stallion show in Cynthiana, to test their speed. Dr.

Herr relates the following of this meeting of the celebrated

rivals :
" Jink Goodman, of Paris, went to Woodford

County and contracted with ' Uncle Ned ' Blackburn to

farm Davy Crockett, and make a season with him in Bour-

bon County. He (Blackburn) agreed upon the grounds

only that I should fit and ride him against old Tom Crow-

der, at the pending stallion shows of the community, which

I readily agreed to do. When it became known that Crow-

der and Crockett, the famous rivals, would pace at the stal-

lion show in Cj'nthiana on court day, the greatest excite-

ment was created, for both horses had many friends. Ac-

cording to arrangement, when the appointed day arrived,

William Skinner appeared upon the show grounds, mount-

ed on Tom Crowder, full of confidence ; while I had charge

of Davy Crockett. A great crowd was present. There

being no track, we paced on the river bottom fiat, or com-

mons as it was called, a distance of 350 yards. We got

ready, and made an even start, but at the finish Crockett

was so far in the lead that the crowd got across the track,

and shut Crowder ofi". Mr. Skinner was a splendid rider

and horseman, and asked for another trial, which was read-

ily granted, and in which Crowder was again beaten as

easily as before. Old Davy Crockett could get away out

r^
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of a stand stillquicker than any horse I ever rode, or have

ever seen."

Pacing horses were more fashionable in Kentucky then

than trotters, and there were some good ones in Bourbon,

and the adjoining counties. Among the stock of Davy

Crockett and Tom Crowder were many fine trotters, and

even to this day it is considered valuable stock in trotting

pedigrees. From pacing matches the sport gradually

dropped into trotting matches, but for a number of years,

pacing was almost of as much interest as trotting is now.

Says our informant :
" Occasionally, we made and paced

matches on the Lexington Running Track, there being no

trotting-tracks in the - State. One of these matches was

made between Yankee Boy and a horse by Tom Crowder.

It was over the Lexington Running Track, and was paced

in deep mud. Yankee Boy was beaten, but another match

was instantly made for the same horses, to be paced upon

a dry track, in which Yankee Boy easily won. Another

match was paced over the Lexington track soon after, be-

tween a son of Davy Crockett and the Todhunter and Dra-

per Mare, in which the Crockett horse was victorious.''

Many other small matches were paced here and elsewhere

in that early period, between the noted horses then in the

full career of their glory.

No interest was taken, as we have said, in breeding and

training the trotter, prior to 1842, and one of the first, if

not the first, man in Bourbon and her sister counties to em-

bark in this branch of the fine horse interest, was Dr. L.

Herr, a resident then of Bourbon County, but now a noted

breeder of Payette. He commenced the business on a lim-

ited scale about the year 1843, but according to his own
account of it, he could only farm a few mares, and breed

therh to his stallions. He went to Montreal, Canada, in

1843, and bought two large Canadian horses—Cceur de

Lion and Canada Chief, which he brought to this county.

The latter horse was sold shortly after to a man in Tennes-

see, but Co3ur de Lion was kept here, and from him de-

scended some of the noted horses of the time. He was a

three-minute trotter, while Canada Chief was both a pacer

and a trotter, and fast at both gaits. Mr. Herr opened a

track specially for trotting, and took great pains in im-

proving the speed of his horses in that gait. The next

noted trotting stallion in the neighborhood was Bellfoun-

der, which stood at the unprecedented high price (then for

a trotting stallion) of $10, but notwithstanding this, got

all the mares he could serve. Other noted trotters of the

early period of the trotting horse interest were Tough

Sam, Berry Horse, Joe Lancaster, Tom Red, Henry, etc.i

etc. Neddy O'Blennis was one of the first trotters ever

sold in Kentucky for as much as $2,000. He was trailed

and owned by Herr, and after winning the races at Cincin-

nati and Louisville, and up to four-mile heats, beating

Pilot, Jr., Stranger from New York, and Murdoek, he sold

him for $2,000. Such a sale naturally opened people's

eyes as to the value of trotting horses. Hitherto, fine

coach, farm and saddle horses and thoroughbreds, had re-

ceived all the attention of breeders, but a new era in horse-

breeding began now. As soon as it was discovered that

breeding the trotter was valuable, many wealthy gentlemen

of the Blue Grass Region of Kentucky embarked in the

business, among whom may be mentioned : R. A. Alex

ander, Mr. Dorse}'. Col. Richard West, James Miller, Mr,

Veech, Capt. M. M. Clay, the Messrs. Simmons, "W. H.

Wilson, Col. Stoner, Thomas Coons, Joel Berr)', Henry Bu
ford, John Stout, Robert Strader, G-en. Withers, B. J,

Treacy, Isaac Smith, A. G. Peters, James Cromwell, Rob
ert Prewitt, J. H. Bryant, James Carlisle, Andrew Steele

Dr. Miller, Hunt Bros., the Bowmans, William Bradley

William Buckner, J. W. Shawhan, Robert Pepper, J. S

McCann, Dr. Talbert, Cecil Brothers, Mr. Todhunter, etc.

etc. These names are familiar to all who have paid any

attention to the trotting horse interest in Kentuckj'. Many
of them were, and are still, residents of these counties,

and in later years, other breeders in Bourbon, Scott, etc.,

have been added to the list, until what is termed the

northern belt of the Blue Grass Region may be considered

as productive of fine horses as any spot in Kentucky or

elsewhere.

In conclusion of this hastily-prepared sketch, which is

intended merely as a brief history of the breeding of thor-

oughbred horses as a commercial interest of the country,

the introduction of racing, trotting, etc., and not as an ad-

vertising puff of present horse and turf men, we will say,

that among the prominent breeders of fine horses at the

present day are James Miller, Col. Stoner, Col. Clay, Capt.

Moore, the Messrs. KeiT, and others, of Bourbon County
;

James Cromwell, W. H. Wilson, and a number of others,

in Harrison County
; while Keene Richards, S. Y. Keene

and Col. West* for years, until recently, have been among
the most prominent breeders of Scott Countj'. Many
others, however, in each of these counties, devote more or

less attention to the breeding of horses, but those men-

tioned are, perhaps, the largest breeders.

*Now resides in Fayette County.
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PART II.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

PARIS CITY AND PRECINCT.
JOHN C. BRENT, hanker; P. O. Paris; born Feb.

5, 1836; son of Charles S. Brent, who was born, in this

place, Jan. 28, 1811. The mother of John C, was

Matilda Chambers, daughter of Gov. John Chambers.

The grandfather of John C, was Hugh Brent, a native of

Prena, Williams Co., Virginia; he was born Jany.

18, 1773. In 1799, he^ married Elizabeth Langhorne,

who was born 1783, in Lynchburg, a daughter of

Maurice Langhorne. Hugh Brent came to Kentucky in

the fall of 1789, with his brother-in-law, Capt. Thomas

Young, locating in Lexington, until 1793, when he became

a citizen of Paris, and engaged in business up to 1834;

be was a successful business man, and by his uniform

courtesy and kindness, he won the love and the esteem

of all those who had any business relations with him;

one of his prominent traits of character, was his love for

peace and its promotion. He had four sons and two

daughters, viz: Jack, Thomas Y., Hugh L, Charles S.,

Sarah B. and Betsey. Charles S. Brent was thrice mar-

ried: first to Susan Taylor; she died, leaving one son,

Hugh, now of Covington, Ky. His second wife was

Matilda Chambers, who was born March 17, 1815; they

were married in 1835; she died Aug. 28, 1866, having

borne him twelve children, nine of whom are living. His

last wife was Mrs. Martha Ford, born in Pennsylvania,

daughter of Benjamin J. Page. Mr. Brent died Feb.

16, 1881; he was raised a farmer, lived near Paris, on the

farm; came to town in 1849, and engaged in banking

until the war began, then engaged in the commission

business in 1863, and in 1869 resumed banking; was

president of the same up to the time of his death. He

was a member of the Presbyterian Church since 1833,

and was twelve years Elder of the same; and in 1839 and

'40, he represented his county in the Legislature; he was

a man whom the people esteemed as a valued citizen of

the Commonwealth. His successor, John C, was edu-

cated here in Paris and graduated at Frankfort, under B.

B. Sayre. August, 1863, he was commissioned as First

Lieut, of Co. B., 9th Kentucky Cavalry, afterwards

promoted to Major, was in active service some time,

afterwards served on Court Martial, as Senior Major.

Upon his return home he engaged in business with his

father, as partner in the commission business. In 1869,

he was appointed cashier of the Citizen's Bank, which

position he yet fills. In 1866 he married Nicolie, daughter

of Nicholas and Martha (Page) Ford; be was a native of

this place; she of Pittsburg. Mr. Brent and wife are

members of the Episcopal Church. Of the brothers and

sisters living, are Elizabeth, who resiiies in Covington, wife

of John Marshall; Sprigg J., Charles S., Thomas I., Kelly

and Matilda, in Paris; also Belle, wife of Charlton Alex-

ander; Henry C, resides in Kansas City, Mo., attorney

at law.

LITTLEBERRY BEDFORD, Surveyor; P. O. Paris;

is the grandson of Littleberry Bedford, the pioneer and

hunter of Bourbon County. The parents of our subject

were Littleberry and Cicely (Rollins) Bedford. Little-

berry was born on the Patsey Clay farm July, 30, 1798;

his wife Cicely, Jan'y 30 the same year (1798.)

The father of our subject after his marriage, settled on

the land now owned by the Buckner heirs, near Cane

Ridge. He remained here several years, and finally lo-

cated on a portion of the old homestead, where he re-

mained until his death, Jan. 23, 1880; his vdfe died in 1843.

Upon this old homestead our subject first saw the light

of day, February, 1831; he had six brothers and sisters,

viz: Elizabeth, who married Smith Lindsey, of Clinton-

ville; Mary, Mrs. James C. Garrard, of Pendleton Coun-

ty; Caroline, wife of Samuel Pryor of this precinct.

Thomis F., located in Missouri; Wm. P. and Webster
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C, are teachers. Oar sub}ect at the age of twenty-one,

began teaching, continuiag regularly for about ten years,

having taught in all about sixteen years. In 1851 he began

the vocation of Surveyor, and has since been engaged in

this business, and is one of the best in the country. Dec.

24, 1873, he married Miss Fannie Horton, a native of Lex-

ington, Miss. She was a daughter af Memuca and Clara-

rnond (Harvey) Horton, who were natives of Georgia.

To Mr. and and Mrs. Horton were born five children

:

Martha, who married Judge Montgomery, of Lexington,

Miss. Next in order was Mrs. Bedford; William and

George, were killed in the Southern army; Willis B.,

the youngest, graduated with honors at Edinburg Col-

lege in Scotland; he now resides in Tucson, Arizona Ter-

ritory. Since March, 1874, Mr. Bedford has resided on

the Jackstown pike, where he has a snug home. He
has no children. As relics, he possesses his grandfather's

guns; and other articles once in his possession, which are

rare and interesting.

JOHN C. BEDFORD, farmer; P. O. Paris; bcrn in

Clintonville Precinct, Jan. 20, 1843, the third child and

fourth son born to Archibald M. and Elizabeth (Hawes)

Bedford. After the marriage of Archibald Bedford and

wife, they located in Clintonville, where the family were

born, whose names were Aylette, Ellen E., Thomas A.,

John C. and Archibald W. The eldest child died in in-

fancy; Ellen married William Bedford, and resides in

Boone County, Mo.; Thomas A. died in the Southern

army, being a member of the 1st Kentucky Battalion of

Mounted Infantry. In the spring of 1846 Archibald M.

Bedford located on the Stoner, near his brother George,

where he remained until his death, Sept. 17, 1860; after

his death, John C. lived with his uncle George until he

entered the army, joining .lohn Morgan's Standard, he

and his brother Archie, and fought manfully and did well

their duty until the close of the war. In 1865 J. C.

moved to Sangamon County, Ills., and purchased a farm,

residing here until 1869, when he returned to this county;

in 1870 he purchased the farm he now owns, situated on the

Flat Rock Pike; August 18, 1865, married Louisa Huif-

stetter, a native of Nicholas County, daughter of James

and Alvira (Sparks) HufiFstetter; both were natives of

Virginia; .1. C. has six children: Frank, Mary, Mattie,

Maggie, Elvira and James; his brother, Archibald W., was

born 1845, Jan. 14; Nov. 1, 1865, he married Henrietta

Goff, born in Clark County, daughter of John and Martha

(Prewitt) Goif; he has three children: John, Mattie and

Caswell, twins; Archie resides in this county.

LITTLEBERRY M. BEDFORD, farmer and stock-

trader; P. O. Paris. Among the prominent farmers of

Bourbon County is the above gentleman, who was born

in Paris Precinct, near where Henry Clay now resides;

he first saw the light of day July 36, 1833; son of John

and Sallie(King) Bedford; he died Deo. 8, 1871; his

wife, Sallie, died the year following. Littleberry Mose-

ly was reared to farming pursuits, to which he turned his

attention when he arrived to manhood's years. January

13, 1848, he married Mary A. Smith, who was born in

this Precinct May 16, 1833, daughter of George A. and

Elizabeth M. (Edwards) Smith. The paternal grandfath-

er of Mrs. Bedford was Withers Smith, a native of

Virginia, and emigrated to this county quite early, locat-

ing on the farm where Mr. Bedford now resides; he had

a family of seven children, three daughters and four sons,

viz: Charles, George A., Hardridge, James, Margaret,

Susan and Lydia. George A., the father of Mrs. Bed-

ford's futher, was born in Virginia May 16, 1788; his

wife, Oct. 30, 1795; they were married Feb. 30, 1814;

twelve children were born to them, who were: Amanda>

Sophia, Susan, Elizabeth, Mary, James, Bmeline, George,

Sarah, Henry, Frank and Margaret. George A. Smith

was a farmer, which vocation he followed until his death;

he served in the war of 1813; his death occurred April

19, 1854; his wife died F6b. 36, 1859. Mr. Bedford

located on the farm he now owns in 1860; seven years

later he built his residence, which commands a splendid

view of the Stoner river and surroundings below; for

several years Mr. Bedford has been engaged in the ship-

ping business, buying largely for the New York market,

and is also engaged in his farming interests, which is

successfully carried on, having over 1,000 acres of land;

he has but one child, Sallie B., now wife of Joseph O.

Hodges, son of Samuel Hodges. He has two children:

L. Mosely and Mary R. Hodges, grandchildren of Mr.

Bedford.

GEORGE M. BEDFORD, farmer and stock raiser;

P. O. Paris. The Bedford family are of English origin;

they trace their ancestry to one Thomas Bedford, of

Charlotte County, in the Old Dominion; he was a large

landholder, and of the families who ranked high in social

position; he was twice married; first to Mary Coleman,

by whom he had three children: Charles, Margaret and

Jane, all of whom remained in Virginia; his second mar-

riage was to Miss Spencer, who bore him six sons and

five daughters; the sons were Thomas, Benjamin, John,

Stephen, Littleberry and Archie; the daughters were:

Nancy, who married a Mosely; Pat^ey, a man by the

name of Fuquia; Susan, a Walk; Patsey, a Crenshaw;

Mary, a Hamlet; the first one of the Bedford name who
came to Kentucky was , Benjamin, who was born Deo.

I <9 .
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23, 1762, and emigrated first to Madison County about

1787, and raised one crop; came to this county in 1789,

and located in the southern part of Paris Precinct; his

wife was Tabitha Clay, born Nov. 15, 1761; the father

of the above was Littleberry Bedford, who was born

in Charlotte County, Va., Jan. 1, 1769; he married

Mattie Clay, born in Virginia Sept. 8, 1772; she bore

thirteen children; the eldest was Thomas, who was

born Oct. 25, 1790, and was killed in the war of 1812;

the others in order of birth are: Henry, born Oct.

26, 1793, and married Patsey Dawson; Elizabeth, born

Deo. 7, 1794; she married Capt. Wash. Kennedy; Wil-

liam was born Dec. 7, 1796; Littleberry, born July 30,

1798; he married Sicily Rollins; Capt. John was born

July 26, 1800, and married Sallie King ; Augustin

Volney, born Aug. 18, 1802, and Franklin P., born May

14, 1805; he married Henrietta Clay; Benjamin C, born

Aug. 17, 1807, and married Caroline Moran, afterwards

Ann M. Garrard; Patsy, born Nov. 26, 1809, who was the

wife of William Green Clay; Archibald M., born Feb.

25, 1812, and married Elizabeth H. Bedford; Edwin G.,

born Aug. 27, 1814, who married first to Margaret Ger-

rard, then Lucy Degraftenreed; George M., whose name

heads this page, is the youngest of the number; he was

born May 19, 1817; who at the age of sixteen started in

life upon his own account, having nothing to begin with,

save his hands and a willing heart; Nov. 4, 1840, he mar-

ried Mary A. Bedford, who was born in this precinct

Sept. 22, 1824, daughter of Benjamin F., who was a son

of Benjamin, the pioneer; after Mr. Bedford's (George

M.) marriage he farmed on rented land; in the fall of

1845, he located on the farm he now owns, where he has

since (except two years), spent in Paris; has been among

the prominent breeders of short-horn cattle and Cotswold

sheep; he has 1,400 acres of land, all self acquired; his

father died Aug. 7, 1829; mother, March 2, 1864, in her

ninety-second year; religiously, Mr. Bedford is not a

member of any sect or denomination; he has five chil-

dren: Mary E., Julia K., Maria V., George M., Jr., and

Benjamin F., Jr.

ALEXANDER HAWES BEDFORD, farmer and

stock raiser; P. O. Paris; was born in this precinct March

1, 1838, and is the youngest member of the family, born

to Benjamin F. Bedford, Sr., and Ellen G. Buckner, his

wife. Benjamin F., Sr., was born May 1799, on the

farm now owned by Mrs. Sallie Cunningham, on the

Winchester Pike. He was a son of Benjamin, a native

of Virginia, who came to Kentucky about the year 1787.

Ellen G. Buckner was born Nov. 2, 1799. The old

family Bible, now in the possession of A. H., tells the

following tale: Elizabeth H., born Nov. 12, 1819;

Benjamin T., March 19, 1821; John C, Nov. 17,

1822; Mary A, Sept. 23, 1824 ; Henry P., April 10,

1826; Stephen, Jan. 17, .1829; Sarah E., Nov. 5,

1830 ; Franklin, Aug. 29, 1833 ; Hillory, Aug. 15,

1835 ; Alexander Hawes, March 1, 1838. A. H. was

brought up a farmer, in which business he has since

been engaged. He has a farm of 285 acres, which is

stocked with Cotswold sheep and short-horn cattle. Nov.

29, 1869, he married Ida R., daughter of Samson D. and

Sarah (Stemmons) Talbott, both natives of Kentucky. He
was born in this county in 1809, son of Demoval Talbott,

of Virginia. Sarah D. was a daughter of Martin and

Charlotte (Glasscock) Stemmons. Mr. Bedford removed

from the homestead to the place he now owns, after his

marriage. He has one child, Dousie P. He and wife

are members of the Christian Church.

BENJAMIN F. BEDFORD, farmer and stock raiser;

P. O. Paris; the proprietor of " Sweet Valley" farm;

was born August 23d, 1830, in this precinct, on the farm

now owned by John T. Woodford. The father of our

subject was Benjamin Colman Bedford; he married Car-

oline B. Moran, daughter of Edward B. and Letitia (Clay)

Moran, both natives of Bourbon County. The father of

our subject was born Aug. 17th, 1807, on the farm now
owned by Mrs. Patsey Clay, which was first settled by

Littleberry Bedford, the grandfather of Benjamin F.

Two children were born to Benjamin C. Bedford and

wife, of whom Benjamin F. is the eldest; Edward L.,

the younger brother, died in his 19th year. Benjamin

C. was twice married; his second wife was Ann M. Gar-

rard, born in this precinct, daughter of Gen. James Gar-

rard. This union was crowned with four sons and two

daughters, viz: Jephthah T., James, Thomas, Alpheus L.,

Nancy and Margaret; of the above, Jephthah and Thomas

reside in Missouri; Alpheus located in Texas; James

d^ed, aged nineteen; both the girls reside in Illinois,

Macon County; Margaret married J. H. Pickrell, a

prominent farmer and short-horn man; Nancy resides in

Harristown, wife of Dr. J. L. Conelly. After the mar-

riage of Benjamin C. Bedford, he located on the farm

adjoining the homestead, where he remained but a short

time, when he removed near Paris on the Houston, to a

place settled by Johnnie Hamilton. Here he lived until

1865, when he located in Monroe County, Mo., but re-

mained there but two years, then moved to Harristown,

111., where he spent the remainder of his days, passing

to his rest in 1877, having for many years been a con-

sistent member of the Christian Church; was received

into the church by Elder John A. Gano; and a member
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of the Masonic Order. He was for many years engaged

in raising blooded stock, and encouraged by example

and precept the growth and propagation of short-horn

cattle. In 1833, by the death of his mother, Benjamin

F. was left motherless at an early age. At the age of

nineteen he embarked in business upon his own account;

several of his boyhood years being spent with G. M.

Moran, afterwards making his home at his father's. Sept.

6th, 1859, he formed a matrimonial alliance with Bettie

Evans, born in Athens Precinct, Fayette County,

daughter of Silas and Parmelia (Quisenberry), both

natives of Kentucky. Silas was a son of Richard and

Sarah Pullum. Ten children were born to Silas Evans,

of whom eight grew to maturity. Silas Evans was born

Sept. 4th, 1820, and died 1878, April 11th; his wife was

born 1819, died Sept. 28th, 1858; both were members of

the Baptist Church. Since 1859 Mr. Bedford has been

a resident of the farm he now owns, consisting of 392

acres; original settler was Washington Kennedy. Mr.

Bedford, since 1860, has been engaged in the breeding

and growth of short-horns, of which he has a large herd.

Has four children, Carrie M., Silas E., Richard E. and

Benjamin F.

ASA COLMAN BEDFORD, deceased, was born in

Bourbon County, son of Archie Bedford, whose wife was

a Miss Clay. Asa Colman was thrice married; first to

Susan Burns, second time to Lucinda Hedges; his third

wife was Mrs. Hawkins. The only child by his' second

wife was Mary Kate, now the wife of Felix Lowry of this

precinct. She was born in Middletown Precinct in

1847, her mother died young; she was reared by her

stepmother. .luly 14, 1870, she married Mr. Lowry,

son of Dr. George G. and Nancy (Bruce) Lowry, of

Fleming County, formerly 'of Virginia. After the mar-

riage of Mr. and Mrs. Lowry, they resided about two

years in Fleming, afterwards removed to this county,

where they have about 200 acres of land, removing on

the same in December, 1875. They have two children,

Lucy and Kate.

J. D. BUTLER, farmer; P. O. Paris; was born May
18, 1827, in Hutchinson Pi-ecinct; son of Frank and

Rachel (Wheat) Butler; Frank Butler emigrated to this

State, with his father, from Maryland, and located in this

county; he settled on the land now owned by.J. W. Fer-

guson, in this Precinct. There were three sons: Frank,

Dudley and Moses. Dudley settled in Ralls County,

Mo.; Moses in Hutchinson Precinct. Rachel Wheat was

a daughter of Zachariah Wheat. The parents of J; D.

died as follows: father, 1838; his mother survived him

until 1876; they had three children who came to matu-

rity: J. D., Thomas Z. and Henry ; Thomas Z . resides

in Texas; the others in this Precinct. At the death of

his father, he being the eldest of the family, the care of

the family devolved upon him and his mother, and from

that time he was thrown upon his own resources; he

worked out and made the best use of his time and his

limited opportunities; April, 1851, he married Miss Mar-

garet Johnson, daughter of John and Helen (Kenney)

Johnson; he was born in 1800, his wife four years later;

eleven children were born to them, eight of whom grew
to maturity; John .Johnson died Oct., 1853, at Calhoun's

Mills, in the State of Carolina, while absent with a

drove of mules. Mr. Butler located on the farm he now
owns, in 1851; during the war he was engaged in pur-

chasing mules for the government; he has 565 acres of

land; he is engaged in farming and raising short-horns,

which are called the " Willow Dale herd," of good strains

of blood, also pure Cotswold sheep. Young stock for

sale. Correspondence solicited. He has been successful

in his business from the commencement; he is a member
of the Reformed Church, and elder of the same; he has

six children: James H., Charles E., Birdie, Minnie M.,

Landon V. and Archie L.

O. H. BUCK, M. D; P. O. Paris; Residence Paris;

was born in Monticello, Wisconsin, where he received

his literary education. He is son of T. Z. Buck. In 1872

he began the study of medicine, which he pursued until

graduation at th^ Ohio Medical College, at Cincinnati.

In March same year he came to Paris and began the

practice of his profession, and continued until Oct.

1880, when on account of his wife's health, he removed

to Middletown, Ohio, where he remained until Feb-

ruary, 1882, and returned to Paris and resumed practice.

The Homeopathic School has many friends in Bour-

bon County, and the physicians that have advocated that

system in this locality have met with marked success,

which has attended Dr. Buck's efforts since his first

advent to Paris. In June, 1881, he married Miss Eva
Price, daughter of Dr. Price, of Clark Co., and a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian Church South. He is a mem-
ber of the A. F. and A. M., and Roj^al Arch.

H. A. BUTLER, farmer; P. O. Paris; is among the

self-mule men of this county. He was born in March,

1826, in Hutchinson Precinct; the eldest chi'd born to

Francis M. Butler and Rachel Wheat. By the death of

his father he was left in care of his mother, who was un-

able to provide for her three children left upon her hands
without any visible means of support. When a youth of

twelve, he embarked for himself, working out by the

month at very low wages. His school advantages were

^^
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very limited indeed. Upon his attaining the years of

manhood, he was employed to drive and handle stock for

other parties; during this time he made fifty trips to

New Orleans and forty to New York, eleven of which

were performed on foot, the trips occupying seventy

days each. In 1863 he purchased 150 acres in Menard

County, III., for eighteen dollars per acre; two years and

a half after he sold it and realized thirty-six dollars per

acre; he then purchased 170 acres in Fayette County,

which he kept a short time, then purchased 140 acres in

Clintonville Precinct. In 1876 he purchased 330 acres,

where he now resides, situated on the Flat Rock Pike,

which farm he now owns. During the war he was en-

gaged in the mule trade, in a small way on his own ac-

count, also was engaged in the hog trade, buying and

shipping, which business he followed for several years

and proved successful. May, 1868, he married Sarah

Kennedy, born in Flat Rock, daughter of Thomas and

Nancy (Goodwin) Kennedy. She (Nancy) was a daugh-

ter of " Tige " (Enoch) Goodwin, who was one of the early

settlers in Flat Rock Precinct. Thomas and Nancy Ken-

nedy had four children : John W., Mrs. Butler, Polly

Ann and Mary E.; both sisters married Smith brothers.

Mary, wife of J. T.; Polly, of George Smith. Mr. But-

ler has three children: Nannie R., Jephthah D.,'and Thom-

as H. Mrs. Butler is a member of the Reformed Church.

W. S. BUCKNER, farmer and fine horse breeder; P.

0. Paris; the proprietor of Cane Ridge Stock Farm; is

among the largest breeders of fine and thoroughbred

trotting horses in the county; he was born on the

farm adjoining, being the second child and son of
'

William and Sallie T. (Woodford) Buckner. Mr. Buck-

ner, though a young man and starting in the busi-

ness in 1876, is one of the successful breeders in his

line, and is destined to become one of the most prominent

in his region; he has accumulated a large lot of ani-

mals of the best and most approved breeds, and will

soon announce annual sales of the same; he has already

sold some valuable animals, among whom was Steinway,

who sold for $13,000, in 1879; some of his breeds are the

Hambletonian, Banner Chief, Membrino Pilot, and others.

His farm, composed of 656 acres, situated on the Flat

Rock road, six miles from Paris, is admirably suited to the

business in which he is engaged. Feb. 36th, 1873, he

married Rosa Lindsey, born in this precinct, daughter

of Richard and Olivia (Bedinger) Lindsey, both of whom

were natives of this county. Mr. Buckner has three

children: Olivia, William E. and Sallie Woodford.

W. T. BUCKNER, farmer ; P. 0. Paris. The Buck-

ner family were from Virginia, in Caroline County. They

trace their ancestry to one Thomas Buckner, born May

13, 1738 ; who married Mary Cocke; and by her had

three sons: George, William and Richard, and from them

have descended a numerous progeny. The subject of

these lines was born in Caroline County, Va., Feb. 9,

1813 ; he was the only son of William T. Buckner and

Mary Monroe.^—(His second wife was Sallie Clay). The

grandsireof our subject on the paternal side, was Thomas

Buckner, who was born Aug. 31, 1755; he married

Elizabeth Hawes. He was a son of Thomas and Mary

(Cocke) Buckner. Thomas was born, as above stated.

May 13, 1738. The father of W. T. was married Nov.

39, 1807, to Mary Monroe; by this marriage, William T.

is their only son. He came to this State when a lad ; his

father located south of Paris, on the Stoner, on lands now

owned by Cassius M. Clay, where he lived until his

removal to Middletown Precinct, this County ; William

T., who resides in this precinct, remained at home until

he became of age. In 1857, he married Lucy Woodford,

daughter of William and grand-daughter of Colonel

John Woodford, of Clark County, this State. About the

year 1841, William T. located on the farm he now owns
;

purchased of Henry Towles, where he has since remained.

He has a farm of nearly 3,000 acres, which is well situa-

ted, and of the best quality. Mr. Buckner has but one

son, W. T., who married Clay Wornall, and by her had

three children, but one living : Thomas Moore, born Sept.

16, 1881. Clay Wornall was a daughter of James R. Wor-

nall, who was born in Clark County, Ky., Feb. 39, 1811;

he was a son of Thomas Wornall, from Virginia. Thomas

Wornall married Ann E. Moore, born, in Winchester,

Scott County, daughter of Thomas Moore, of Virginia.

HARRY BEDFORD, farmer; P. O. Shawhan. Soon

after the settlement of Lexington and Boonesborough, a

family came to this county from Caroline County, Va.,

by the name of Bedford, the head of which was Benja-

min, his wife's maiden name being Tabitha Clay; they

settled in the then wild country and reared a large fami-

ly; one of the sons being named Benjamin F., born in

December, 1799, who received a very fine education, es-

pecially in mathematics and surveying. Benjamin F.,

like his father, gave his whole attention to the develop-

ment of his farm; he married Miss Eleanor Buckner, who

came with her parents from Virginia; she died about

1836, leaving a family of ten children; he married the sec-

ond time and died in his seventy-fifth year. Harry, the

subject of this sketch, was born April 10, 1836; in his 30th

year he began clerking, but the Mexican war being in-

augurated, he enlisted in the service, and served through-

out that struggle, when he returned to Bourbon County
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and clerked in a store in Paris five years; he then engag-

ed in the grocery business until 1856, when he was elect-

ed SheriiF, and after serving his term in that position,

commenced farming, at which he has continued since;

when the late war broke out, he espoused the cause of

the South, first being in the secret service, and after-

ward Captain of Co. C, Fifth Cavalry, being in the ser-

vice three years. He was married in March, 1853, to

Miss Mary Ewalt, daughter of Samuel Ewalt, of Bour-

bon, and has nine children: Elizabeth W., Thomas,

Ewalt, Anna Pagh, Harry, Wm. B., Benjamin, Mary H.

and Eleanor B.; he is a Mason and a Democrat.

BRUCE CHAMP, Editor; P. O. Paris; was born near

Millersburg, and spent his early life upon the farm. Upon
the 9th of July, 1861, he enlisted in the 2d Ky. Infantry,

Company F, Capt. Harvey McDowell, and Colonel Rog-

er Hanson. He was captured at Fort Donelson, at the

surrender of the garrison and sent to Camp Morton, and

escaped after a short confinement; returning to the ser-

vice, he attached himself temporarily to Gen'l Morgan's

command; two days later he was in the engagement at

Hartsville, Tenn., in which his Infantry Reg. took part.

After the battle he joined his old command, and with

that took part in the battles of Stone River, Jackson, Miss.,

Chickamauga, Mission Ridge, Buzzard's Roost Gap,

Resaca, and at Dallas, Ga., where he was captured in

May, 1864, and sent to Rock Island, where he remained

until the close of the war, when he returned home and

engaged in farming. He was married Feb. 17, 1866, to

IVfiss Jennie E. Miller, daughter of John A. Miller; by

her he has had four children, two of whom died in infan-

cy. Those living are Walter T., born Sept. 6, 1868, and

W. Swift, Nov. 32d, 1876. In 1870 Mr. Champ left the

farm and went to Millersburg, where he engaged in mer-

cantile pursuits, in which he was unfortunate after a

continuance of about four years. He then engaged in

job printing until the organization of the firm of Champ
&Roby, early in 1881, as editors and proprietors of the

Bourbon JSfews. Soon after it fell into the hands of Mr.

Champ. He continued this publication until early in

March, 1883, when he moved his office to Paris, and be-

gan the publication of a semi- weekly.

JOHN CALDWELL, auctioneer and salesman; P. 0.

Paris; is a grandson of William Caldwell, the " pioneer."

He was a native of the North of Ireland, and emigrated

to America prior to the Revolutionary War, in which he

participated, and was wounded at the battle of Brandy-

wine. He was among the hardy pioneers who came to

Kentucky when the bufi^alo and other wild game were

plentiful. He located on the Houston, one mile West of

the Court House. Some of the land he then purchased

is now occupied by the Cemetery and Fair Grounds. He
was one among the first merchants in Paris, and finally

he removed to the place above described, and engaged in

farming and distilling; lands he then purchased for a

mere trifle will now command hundreds of dollars per acre.

He died about the year 1839, aged seventy-five years;

he had but one son, Samuel J., who was the father of

John; his daughters were: Ann E., wife of Dr. Joseph

Holt, who was well known as a physician and politician;

as a stump speaker he was also well known; Sallie mar-

ried Benjamin Warfield; Betsey, Samuel Hall; Lucretia,

wife of Luther Smith, who was the founder of Houston

Seminary. Samuel Caldwell, father of John, was raised

in Paris and clerked in a store; upon coming to maturity

he went to Cynthiana, Harrison County, where he mar-

ried Sophia, daughter of Littleton Roberson, a native of

Virginia and an early settler in Harrison County, Ky.

Samuel Caldwell served two terms under Capt. Garrard,

in the war of 1813; his death occurred in 1831, at the

age of forty. He had but two children born to him :

William and John; the former went to California, and

there died in 1850. John was born March 15, 1817, in

Cynthiana, and came to Bourbon County when a young

man, and has since been well known in the county as an

auctioneer, being one of the oldest auctioneers in the

county, having no superior as a salesman.

WALTER CLARK, livery; was born 1859 in Center-

ville Precinct; son of Edwin and Patsey (Simpson) Clark;

he is a native of Virginia; born in 1807 and died 1878;

she was born in the county, daughter of John and Susan

Simpson; Walter was raised to farming pursuits. April

37th, 1881, he married Mattie Edwards, daughter of Os-

car and Patsey (Kennedy) Edwards; Oct. 6th, 1881,

he engaged in the livery business, in partnership with

his brother-in-law, Oscar Edwards; the stable, situated

on Main street opposite the post office, is well located for

trade and is doing a large business, having accomoda-

tion for 100 horses, and facilities for dispensing /sorspital-

ity to all who favor them with their patronage, and at the

lowest possible rates. Mr. Clark is a member of the

Baptist Church; his wife of the Reformed.

SAMUEL CLAY, farmer and stockraiser; P. O. Paris-

This gentleman is the largest land owner, and one of the

most successful agriculturists in Bourbon County. He
was born in this Precinct April 8, 1815, son of Colonel

Henry Clay, a native of Virginia (his wife's maiden name
was Helm), who emigrated to this county from the Old
Dominion about the year 1785. He came here with his

father, Samuel Clay, when a lad of eight years. He was
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a successful farmer. To Henry Clay, jr., was bom twelve

children; eleven grew to maturity. The eldest was

Henry; then in order of birth were John, Sallie, Joseph,

Letitia, Henrietta, Elizabeth, Samuel, Mary, Frank, and

Matt M., all of whom settled in this county. Sallie

married Wm. Buckner; Letitia became the wife of Dan'l

Bedinger. Henrietta married three times; first to Mr.

Bedford, by whom she had one son, Frank. Her second

husband was Robert Scott, by whom she had one child.

Her third husband was E. S. Dudley. Elizabeth married

Douglas P. Lewis, Mary married E. S. Dudley, the

husband of Henreitta. In 1836 our subject married

Nancy T. Wornall, who was born January 16, 1816, in

Clark County. She was a daughter of Thomas and Sallie

(Ryan) Wornall. Thomas was the son of Roby and

Edie Wornall, who was a native of Virginia. At the

time Mr. Clay started in business for himself, his father

gave him 440 acres of land. From this start he has ad-

ded to it until he now owns over 7,000 in this county,

and several thousand in counties adjoining. Mr. Clay is

a tireless worker, and believes in the adage that it is

better to wear out than rust out, and his career has been

one of unusual success. He has had four children :

Thomas H., Susan E., wife of Oassius Clay. She died in

1879, leaving four children. James E. resides on farm

adjoining. ^ .^

CAPT. H. M. CARPENTER, farmer; P. Cf{ ^is;
the owner and proprietor of " Prospect Hill " was born

in Carlisle, Nicholas County, March 9, 1842; son of Dr.

J, H. Carpenter and Mary Martin. Our subject remaiijed •

at home until the outbreak of the war, when he donned

the " gray " and enlisted in the 2nd Ky. Infantry, Co. F,

July, J 861, and served un^l the close, coming out with

the rank of Captain, having passed through the diiferent

grades of rank until he was placed in command of his

company; he participated in all the battles in which his

regiment was engaged, and was thrice wounded, and at

Fort Donelson was taken prisoner and confined in Fed-

eral prison for eight months, and upon his release joined

his command and did effective service as an officer, and

manifested his allegiance to the cause he espoused by

four years of active service; upon his return home from

the war he resumed agricultural pursuits, and was married

the following year, Jan., 1866, to Mary Osborne, daughter

of Charles and Melvina (Walton) Osborne; he was born

1808, in Charlotte County, Va.; she, 1810, in Mason

County, Ky.; the parents of Charles were Daniel and

Martha (Morgan) Osborne; the parents of Melvina were

John and Susan (Anderson) Walton; shortly after the

marriage of Mr. Carpenter, he moved to Mason County,

this State, and engaged in farming; remaining here until

March, 1881, when he located on the Douglass Lewis

farm, which he now owns, consisting of 230 acres of

choice land; his residence for location is one of the finest

in the country; of seven children born to him, five are

living, viz: Ida M., Melvina, Judith R., Maude and John

Walton; the father of H. M. was born Sept. 24, 1816, in

Fleming County, Ky.; son of William, who married a

Miss Wilson. William Carpenter was a native of New
York, and of English descent; the mother of our subject,

Mary Martin, was born March 10, 1821, in Nicholas

County; daughter of Edmond and Rebecca (Stitt) Marr

tin; eight children were born to William Carpenter, viz:

William, Sallie, John, Amanda, Julia, J. H., Iflemming

and Jane; Flemming settled in Nodaway County, Mo.,

all others in Nicholas County; J. H. continued a constant

resident in Nicholas County until October 1881, when he

located in Lafayette County, Mo., and is engaged in farm-

ing, and in the occasional practice of his profession ; ten

children were born to him, viz: James A., William,

Laura, James, Edmond, Ella, Sanford, Mattie, Beaure-

gard and H. M.; Mattie married to Conway; William

and James reside in Mason County; Sanford, in Nicho-

las; Edmond, in Florida; H. M. in Bourbon County; the

others are deceased; Mr. and Mrs. Carpenter are mem-
bers of the Christian Church; Mrs. Carpenter's father

was an Elder of that organization for forty years.

COL. E. F. CLAY, farmer and stock-raiser ; P. O.

Paris. The proprietor of Runneymede, was born on the

old homestead, Dec. 1, 1841, youngest child of Brutus J.

and Amelia Field Clay. He was raised upon the home-

stead and began a thorough education, being a student

for sometime, under B. B. Sayre; also attended school at

Harrisburg, with a view to graduation, when the war

broke out ; he cast his lot with the 1st Kentucky Mounted

Riflemen, entering the ranks as private, afterwards chosen

Captain, and rose to Lieutenant Colonel, and had com-

mand of his regiment, and remained with his command

until the close of the war; and in justice to Col. Clay, it

can be truthfully said, that no truer or more valiant sol-

dier entered the Confederate service than he. He was

nine months prisoner on Johnson's Island. Lost his right

eye in an engagement, otherwise came out unscathed.

The year following the close of the war, he married Mary

L. Woodford, daughter of John T. Woodford, of this pre-

cinct ; the year of his marriage located on the farm he

now owns, which contains 425 acres, best known as the

Garrard Place, situated on the Paris Townsend Pike. In

1867, he commenced the breeding of short-horns, which

he continued until 1875. Since that time has been quite
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prominently engaged in the breeding of thoroughbred

race-horses, having a track and stables upon the grounds

upon his premises, for their use and training. Colonel Clay

is fond of the chase, and with his dogs and gun, and in com-

pany with boon companions, he makes frequent trips to

hunting and fishing resorts. In his business relations is

attentive and looks well to his interests, and in all mat-

ters of public interest is ever ready to do his part. Has

five children : Ezekiel, Woodford, Brutus J., Buokner and

Amelia.

MRS. PATSY P. CLAY, farming; P. O. Paris; is the

relict of Wm. Green Clay, who was born in this county

Jan. 1, 1810 ; son of Samuel Clay and Nancy Winn.

The grandfather of Green Clay was Henry, who was

a native of Virginia, and from him have descended a nu-

merous progeny. The above was born on the farm she

now owns, Nov. 26, 1809; she is the second

daughter of Littleberry and Mattie Clay Bedford, Octo-

ber 6, 1829, was the date of the marriage of Wm.
Green Clay to Patsey P. Bedford. They first located

near Paris, where they lived years. After which they lo-

cated in Paris, remaining there about eight years. In

March, 1846, they located on the Bedford homestead,

where Mrs. Clay has since resided. Mr. Clay departed

this life April 17, 1855, since which time she has borne

his name, and conducted the farm in conjuction with

her sons' assistance. Of the children born to Mr. and

Mrs. Clay are Thomas, Maria E., George L., William

G., Virginia, Sidney B. and Mattie V. Thomas E. and

Sidney remain on the homestead with their mother.

Maria E. became the wife of William R. Colcord, and re-

sides in Kansas, having three sons and one daughter,

viz: Charles, William, Harry and Maria L. Mattie V.

married Francis H. Donaldson, who is now railroad offi-

cial in Cambridge, Indiana. They have three children,

viz: Anna M., Francis H. and Elizabeth G. William G.

was among the number who went out to battle for his

principles, and died in the defense of the same, June 7,

1863, in Tazewell Co. Va., while wearing the "gray." He
was a youth of much promise, and bid fair to attain for

himself a bright and promising career had he been spared.

Mrs. Clay, in company with her sons, occupy the home-

stead where she is spending the remainder of her days in

comfort and happiness, with her books and papers, of

which she is a great reader.

J. R. COULTHARD, milling; P. O. Paris; is the

proprietor of one of the oldest mills in. Bourbon County.

He was born March, 1840, in Fleming County, this State;

son of William Coulthard, who was born in England,

1808, son of Robert Coulthard, who emigrated to Canada

with his family in 1817. He was a miller by occupation.

Emigrated to Fleming County, Ky., in 1839, and his son

William married Mary Ann Williams, who bore him two

sons and one daughter. She was born in Mason County,

this State, December, 1813, daughter of Joseph Williams,

who was a native of Culpepper County, Va., and came

to Kentucky in 1797, and settled in Mason County, after-

wards removed to Fleming County. Our subject came

to this county with his father in 1853, and the following

year purchased the property known now as the Coult-

hard mill, and remained here until his death, which oc-

curred 1877. His wife yet survives him. Our subject

remained with his father until twenty-four years of

age, learning milling of him. December, 1864, he mar-

ried Margaret E. Hall, a native of this county, daughter

of Henry and Nancy (Sanders) Hall, of this precinct.

Mr. Coulthard has four children living : William H.,

Mary E., Nannie and Sidney. His father and mother

were both members of the Reformed Church. Mr. Coult-

hard is at present running the mill in company with his

partner, Mr. Honey, Mr. C. being the miller and princi-

pal business man of the firm.

HON. BRUTUS J. CLAY, farmer and stockraiser,

deceased; P.O. Paris; was one of the prominent repre-

sentatives of Bourbon County, and one of its honored

^citizens. He belongs to a numerous family, who trace

their ancestry from Eugland to the Old Dominion, thence

to Kentucky, where the younger members of the family

have became identified. According to an account care-

fully written by Green Clay, the father of the above,

Sept. 13, 1784, is gleaned the following : The family

trace their name to one John Clay, a native of England,

who came to America as a British Grenadier, during Ba-

con's Rebellion; from him have descended all the differ-

ent members of the Clay family. In direct line from '

the above was John, who was born in Virginia, where

he married, and was the father of four sons, one of

whom went North, one South, the others lived and died

in Virginia, to-wit : Henry and Charles Clay, of Amelia

County, Va. In direct line comes Henry, who married

Mary Mitchell; by her had four sons and several daugh-

ters ; the sons were William, Henry, Charles and John,

who was the grandfather of Henry Clay, of Ashland.

Next in order conies Charles, who was born Jan. 31, 1716.

He married Martha Green, who bore him eleven child-

ren : Mrs. Mary Locket, Eliza, Charles, Henry, Thom-
as (who was the grandfather of Senator Thomas T. Mc-

Creery), Eliza (Murray), Lucy (Thaxton), Matt (Con-

gressman from Tennessee), Green Prisoilla, Mary (Lewis).

Green Clay, next in order of descent, was born Aug. 14,

^;
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1757; he married Sallie Lewis; by lier had six children,

viz : Sidney, Brutus J., Cassius M., Betsey (Smith), Pau-
line, Rodes and Sallie Johnson. Brutus J. Clay, who is

next in descent, was born July 1, 1808, in Madison Coun-
tjj Ky.; he graduated at Center College, and in 1837 set-

tled in Bourbon County, where he engaged quite exten-
sively in stock-raising, being at one time one of the most
extensive fine stockraisers in Central Kentucky; 1840, was
elected to the State Legislature, and about the same time
was elected President of the Bourbon County Agricultu-

ral Society, and in 1853 was elected President of the

State Agricultural Society, and was honored with a re-

election, serving in this capacity eight years in all, de-

clining to serve longer. In 1860, was elected to the Leg-
islature; was elected to the Thirty-eighth Congress, serv-

ing as Chairman on the Committee of Agriculture, and as

a member of the Convention on Revolutionary Pensions.

He was a successful farmer, his farm being one of the

best improved in the county. His wife was Anna M.
Field, whose offspring was Cassius M., the present incum-
bent of the homestead. He was born March 30, 1846

;

he married Sue E. Clay, daughter of Samuel Clay; she

died, leaving him four children: Junius B., Samuel H.,

Annie L. and Sue E. Cassius M. represented his county
in the Legislature in 1872, and was re-elected, and like

his father, is a model farmer.

ROBERT CLARK, farmer; P. O. Paris; first saw the

light of day Jan. 5, 1819, on the farm he now owns;
son of Robert Clark, who was born 1780, in Virginia.

His parents were Robert and Elizabeth (Gay) Clark,

which couple emigrated to Kentucky 1784, locating on
the farm now owned by his grandson, Robert; here he re-

mained until his death; his son Robert succeeded him,

and married Elizabeth Walls, by whom he had three

children: Lucinda, .lohn and Robert. The father of our

subject died 1857, on the homestead farm upon which his

successor was raised. His education was such as the

common schools afforded. His time was taken up in the

farm duties when not at school. Dec. 1, 1840, he married

Sarah R. Ward, a native of this county, daughter of

James Ward and Martha Wright—she a daughter of

James Wright, of Virginia. Mrs. Clark died Jan. 17,

1871, leaving three children to mourn her departure.

Martha E. married R. P. Barrett, of this precinct. Feb.

21, 1872, Mr. Clark married Mrs. Elvira Stout, relict of

Jacob. Stout, whose father was Thomas. Jacob Stout

died 1866, leaving one child, Cora J. Mrs. Clark's

maiden name was Morrison, daughter of Hial A. and

Mary A. Morrison. To Robert Clark, the grandfather

of the above, was born ten children, who grew up, of

whom were John and William, who were soldiers in the

war of 1812, both losing their lives in that struggle. Mr.

Clark is not a member of any church organization, but a

member of the Masonic Order, being a Master Mason and

Royal Arch. His farm consists of 600 acres; his home
is called " Springdale," situated on Clark's Branch.

While Mr. Clark has not made a specialty of thor-

ough bred stock, yet keeps nothing but thoroughbred

males, and thus raises a high grade of stock.

M. C. CHAPLINE, dairyman ; P. O. Paris ; was born
in Ohio County, W. Va., Nov. 2, 1828, son of Samuel
H., brother of Gen. Moses Chapline. The Chap-

line family are cotemporaneous with the early history of

Wheeling, as was also Noah Zane, who married in the

Chapline family. The subject of these lines was left

fatherless at an early age ; upon his arriving at manhood,
he engaged in a cotton manufactory at Wheeling; he was
one of the proprietors of the Franklin Cotton Mill, where
he was engaged until 1854, when he went to Philadelphia,

where he engaged in business, and remained there until

1877, when he came to this county, and engaged in the

whisky business. In 1879, he purchased the Lysle farm,

just outside of the limits of Paris, at the Junction of the

Humes and the Lexington and Paris Pike, where he now
resides. His farm cost him $155 per acre. He is en-

gaged in farming and is running the dairy business, hav-

ing about thirty-five cows. In January, 1865, he married

Margaret Lewis, daughter of Douglas Lewis and Eliza-

beth Clay. Douglas Lewis was born Aug. 4, 1804, in

this State. Dec. 23, 1830, he married Elizabeth Payne
Clay, daughter of Colonel Henry Clay, of this county.

Douglas Lewis, was among the prominent citizens of

Bourbon County, and was a Representative in the Legisla-

ture. He died Oct. 26, 1867, having been a man that

was well known throughout the county where he had been

a constant resident. He had several children born him,

which are scattered about in the different parts of the

country. Douglas resides in Covington ; Stephen in Ar-

kansas ; Thomas died in 1881 ; Asa resides at Blue

Springs, in Nicholas County; Frank in this county

;

Howard also in this county. Elizabeth, wife of Mr.

Howard, of Montgomery County, and Margaret Helm,

wife of Mr. Chapline, and Mary E., wife of Frank Arm-
strong, of this county. Mr. Chapline is a member of the

Knights of Honor.

GEN. JOHN T. CROXTON, deceased; lawyer and sol-

dier; P. 0. Paris. Among the citizens of Bourbon County

who are worthy of an honorable mention, is the above

named gentleman, who was born near Paris in 1839; son

of Henry and Ann K. (Redmon) Croxton; Henry was^a
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native of Virginia, and, upon his migration to this State,

located at Houston Dale, on the farm now owned by James
Hall; his son, John T., was educated at Yale College, grad-

uating with honors in 1857; afterwards began the study of

law under James Robinson; after his license was granted

he went South, where he engaged in teaching in Missis-

sippi for a short time, when he returned to Paris, and in

1859 began the practice of his profession; upon the out-

break of the war he raised a regiment of men, known as the

4th Kentucky Infantry, which he commanded; he contin-

ued in service until the close of the war, serving with dis-

tinction, and rose from one rank to another until he was
brevetted Major-General. After the close of the war he

went South and was made Provincial Governor. He
afterwards engaged in the culture of cotton; upon his

return to Bourbon County he engaged in the practice of

his profession and carried on farming; he practiced in

the Federal Courts, and was a successful lawyer; the con-

finement of his office and his close application to his pro-

fession conduced to impair his health, and in order to

recuperate, he accepted the position as Minister to Bolivia,

and removed his family there in 1872, and died the

following year. He was a staunch Republican, and

stood firmly by its principles, and was one of the

pillars of the party in Kentucky, and worthy of any

honor within the gift of the Republican .Commonwealth,

he being possessed of all the qualifications that pertain

to a truly first-class gentleman, and a member of the

Masonic fraternity of high order. In April, 1860, he

married Carrie R. Rogers, daughter of Nathaniel and

Nancy (Moran) Rogers. Mrs. Croxton resides on her

farm near Paris; by Mr. Croxton she had two children:

Henry Rogers and Annie Barres Deguerra.

CAPT. M. M. CLAY, farmer and stockraiser; P. O.,

.Paris; is the twelfth child born to Col. Henry Clay and

Peggie Helm. Col. Henry Clay was one of the leading

and representative men in Bourbon County in his time,

having been associated with the county since its first

organization, he having come to this part of the country

with his father, Henry Clay, when a lad of tender years,

and for some time lived in a stockade which was situated

in the south part of this precinct; he served in the war

of 1813, and was one of the staunch and enterprising

men of the county, and possessed noble qualities of mind

and heart. He died in 1863, in the 84th year of his age.

Three of his sons are yet residents of the county, viz:

Henry Samuel, Francis P., and M. M.; Sallie married

William Buckner; Elizabeth, Douglass P. Lewis. The

subject of these lines was raised upon the homestead, in

his precinct, and has since (with the exception of three

years spent in Arkansas) been a resident of the county.

In 1843 he married Mary, daughter of Judge Asa K.

Lewis, of Clark County, this State; his wife died June,

1879, leaving no issue. In the fall of 1861, Mr. Clay

raised Company C, and went forth with it and joined

the 31st Ky. Infantry; he now owns the Scott farm, adja-

cent to Paris, which is beautiful for situation. Mr. Clay

in years past was interested in short horns; more recent-

ly in trotting horses. He is one of the public spirited

men of the county.

WM.. P. CHAMBERS, merchant; P. O. Paris; was

born June 13, 1843, in Louisville, Ky., and since 1859

has been identified with the business interests of this place.

In December, 1865, he married Kate, daughter of James

and Mary C. (Williams) Duncan. James was a son of Major

.Jerry Duncan, a farmer who was an old resident of the

County of Bourbon. Mary Williams was a daughter of

Major George W. Williams, a lawyer and a man of prom-

inence in his profession. W. P. and Kate Chambers have

one son, James D., born Oct. 38, 1881. W. P. is a son

of J. Sprigg Chambers, born in Mason County, Ky., O.it.

30, 1810; his wife was Martha Phillips, born Deo. 31,

1816; they were married Feb. 6, 1834, at Maysville; she

(Martha), was a daughter of W. B. Phillips, a merchant

and prominent business man of Mason County, Ky.

The paternal grandsire of W. P. was Hon. John Cham-
bers, who was born Oct. 6, 1780, in New Jersey. In

1794 he was brought to Kentucky, and for several

years lived in Washington, Mason Co. He received a

thorough education, completing the same at Transylvania

University, at Lexington. From 1797 to 1800 was a

Deputy in the Court. He begun the practice of his pro-

fession in 1800. In 1813 he served in that war as Major,

and Aide to General Harrison at the battle of the Thames;
was elected to the Legislature in 1813, and re-elected

several times. Was for some time Commonwealth At-

torney; served in Congress from 1838 to 1839, and from

1835 to 1839; was offered a seat in the Court of Appeals
in 1833; in 1835 he accepted an appointment of Associate

Judge of the Coiirt from the Governor, but resigned on

account of ill health. From 1841 to 1845 he served as

Governor of the Territory of Iowa. Gov. Chambers died

in Paris, Ky., Sept. 31, 1853.

GARRETT DAVIS. Among the list of the illustri-

ous dead of Kentucky, no name has passed into history,

bearing with it greater honors as a statesman, a patriot,

and an honest and faithful servant of the cause of liberty,

the Union and his State, than the lamented Garrett

Davis. Living, as he did, from the early morn until the

eventide of the nineteenth century, at a time when the
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nation most needed men of stalwart principle and ster-

ling integrity, Garrett Davis filled the busy years of his

faithful life full of noble deeds and heroic, unfaltering

labor for the nation's good, and that of his native State,

and fearlessly battled for what, in his unprejudiced mind,

seemed right. The following brief statement of facts

concerning his useful and eventful life, are gleaned from

a published volume of Memorial Addresses on his Life

and Character, delivered in the Senate and House of

Representatives of the Forty-second Congress of the

United States, Dec. 18, 1872, upon which occasion

eulogies were delivered by Senators Stevenson of Ken-

tucky, Cameron of Pennsylvania, Thurman of Ohio,

Sumner of Massachusetts, Bayard of Delaware, Trum-

bull of Illinois, and many other noted statesmen. Gar-

rett Davis was a native of Kentucky; he was born at

Mount Sterling, Sept. 10, 1801. His father and mother

emigrated from Montgomery Co., Maryland, to the

county of the same name in Kentucky. His mother was

a Miss Garrett—a family widely known in Maryland, and

it was from her family that he derived his baptismal name.

His father was a man of marked character; to energy and

industry he added strong will and great personal popu-

larity. He was for many years the Sheriff of his adopted

county, and several times represented his district in the

lower branches of the General Assembly of Kentucky.

Garrett Davis was one of three brothers. The brilliant

talents of two of them, also long since departed this life,

are still remembered in Kentucky. Garrett enjoyed the

advantages of what is known in Kentucky as a common

school education. His early years were, however, fraught

with a constant study of books, and he thus acquired a

good English education, and a practical knowledge of the

Latin and Greek languages; at an early age he deter-

mined to study law, and with a view of gaining practical

knowledge, he sought and obtained employment as a

deputy in the Circuit Court Clerk's office of Montgom-

ery County. In 1833, he removed to Bourbon County,

where he continued to prosecute his legal studies, and

where he occupied a clerical position similar to that held

in Montgomery County, ^out the year 1824, he com-

menced the practice of his profession in Paris, and to it

he consecrated the earlier years of his life with enthusias-

tic devotion. His first wife was the daughter of Robert

Trimble, a distinguished Jurist, who became subsequently

a Judge of the Supreme Court of the United States. His

second wife was a Mrs. Elliott, widow of a prominent

lawyer, also of Paris. Mr. Davis was an assiduous law

student, and his industry received its reward. His busi-

ness rapidly increased, and he soon rose to a high posi-

tion at a bar which then numbered some of the most em-

inent lawyers of the Commonwealth. He regarded the

law as the noblest science of intellectual triumph, and

loved the administration of justice. All who have en-

countered him as an opponent in the trial of an impor-

tant cause, will bear willing testimony to his high quali-

ties as an able and strong lawyer. His last argument but

one, in the Supreme Court of the United States, in the

reported case of Missouri vs. Kentucky, is a lasting me-

morial of his legal learning and professional power. Mr.

Davis always took an active and prominent part in

the political contests of Kentucky, from his earliest

manhood—always an ardent Whig, and frequently the

selected standard-bearer of his party. In its most ex-

cited struggles, his clarion voice rang throughout this

Commonwealth in defense of the principles of that patri-

otic and gallant organization. He was the trusted and

true friend of Henry Clay, and enjoyed to a pre-eminent

degree his confidence and regard. He represented Bour-

bon County in the lower branch of the General Assembly

of Kentucky for many years. Always conservative in

his views, he took a prominent and successful part in

shaping the legislation of the State. For eight consecu-

tive years he was chosen over able and distinguished com-

petitors by the electors of the Ashland district, their Rep-

resentative to the House of Representatives of the United

States, and then voluntarily retired. The debates of that

body during that period attests his power and strength

as a ready and skillful debater. He was nominated as

Lieutenant Governor on the Gubernatorial ticket with

John J. Crittenden, but at his earnest request was ex-

cused by the convention. In 1861, amid perils and dan-

gers of a revolutionary struggle, he was elected as an old

line Union Whig, to succeed John C. Breckinridge in

the United States Senate. He was the strongest op-

ponent of secession, and at the period of his election, an

earnest advocate of the rigid prosecution of the war to

restore the Union. The result of the war, so far as it re-

sulted in the overthrow of the rebellion, was as agreeable

to him as to any other union man. But the changes in

tlie form of government, the constitutional amend-

ments, the acts of reconstruction, and other governmen-

tal acts which, by the dominant party, were deemed nec-

essary in order to make the Government conform to the

altered condition of things, were very repulsive to him,

and he opposed them bravely and earnestly, though sus-

tained by a hopeless minority. In 1867, he was re-elected

to the United States Senate, a proud tribute to his fidelity

and zeal in upholding the honor and guarding the inter-

est of his State. For twelve years he occupied his seat
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in the Senate. Constitutional questions, novel and start-

ling in their character, were during his time discussed

and adopted, and Garrett Davis was never silent when

duty prompted him to speak, and he was never known

to quail before the power of an overwhelming political

majority, and amid the bitterest party contests of the

past, his honesty was never impeached or his spotless

purity of character ever questioned. With him as a Rep-

resentative, the conscientious discharge of his duty was

paramount to every other consideration. His actions were

prompted by conviction, and his convictions were the

creations of a well-ordered mind, greatly strengthened

by a pure and manly spirit, and throughout life he main-

tained the same elevated standard. In the death of this

truly great and good man, Kentucky lost one of its most

illustrious sons, his country, one of its purest and ablest

statesmen. Such a man was Garrett Davis, and what

higher praise could human statesmanship deserve? He
died at his home in Paris, upon the 23d of September,

1873, and all that was mortal of the beloved Kentucky

statesman rests beneath the blue grass sod of Bourbon

County, in the Paris cemetery.

C. F. DIDLAKE; P. O. Paris; superintendent of

Paris distillery; was born Oct. 16, 1842, in Clark

County, this State; son of Edmond H. and Mildred

(Woodford) Didlake. Edmond Didlake, the father

of C F., was a native of Virginia, and emigrated to

Kentucky, locating in Clark County at an early day,

where he lived for many years, and was Sheriff of the

county, and prominently connected with its business

interests. In 1851 he removed to McLean County, Illi-

nois, and engaged in farming and commission business,

where he died in 1873. He was a Mason, and a member
of the Reformed Church. His wife survived him until

1876. Our subject removed with his parents to Illinois

when a lad. At the age of eighteen he entered the

Confederate Army as a member of the 1st Battallion of

Kentucky Mounted Rifles. While in Tennessee, after

the battle of Chickamauga, he was captured and remained

a prisoner at Fort Delaware until June, 1865. After his

release he went to Arkansas, and for three years had

charge of his father's plantation. In February, 1869, he

came to Paris, and since that time has been in charge of

Paris distillery. November, 1873, he married Sarah

Goodman, daughter of W. C. Goodman, one of the

pioneers of Bourbon County. He has a snug home on

the outskirts of the city, just inside its limits.

GEORGE W. DAVIS, furniture and undertaking
;

P. O. Paris ; is the oldest furniture dealer in the place;

he was born in this city, Feb. 6, 1827 ; second son of

George M. Davis, who was born in Berkeley County, Va.,

son of Thomas Davis, who settled at Ruddel 's Mills Pre-

cinct in this county at an early time. The mother of our

subject was Mary, daughter of James McClintock, a na-

tive of the Emerald Isle. In 1843, our subject began

learning the cabinetmaker's trade with J. P. Kern, and

continued until he had completed his trade. In 1848, he

began business in this town, in the furniture and under-

taking line, and has since continued. .lune 22, 1851, he

formed a matrimonial alliance with Helena, daughter of

Jacob and Julia (Young) Miller, and by her had eight

children, five living : James K., Nellie, George M., Owen
L. and Rudolph. Mr. Davis is a member of the Presby-

terian Church and Elder of same. Thomas Davis, the

grandfather of our subject, lived for sometime at Rud-

del's Fort, upon his first coming to Kentucky, he mar-

ried Sarah Ruddel, who died at the age of ninety-seven,

in Pike County, Mo., where he removed in 1835 ; eight

children were born to him, of whom was George M., the

father of our subject. George M. served in the war of 1813,

after which he came to Paris, and engaged as a gunsmith

and remained until his death, which oooured in 1833, of

cholera ; of the children born to him were : Sallie, who
died, aged nineteen ; Margaret, wife of W. W. Mitchell;

James T. and George M., of Paris ; Mary, wife of James

Ingels, and Andrew, who died, aged twenty-five.

JOHN H. DEAVER, farmer; P. O. Paris; born March

37, 1833, in Frankfort, this State; son of Richard and

Rachael (Taylor) Deaver; she was a daughter of Joseph

Taylor, of Frankfort; the paternal grandsire of John H.

was James Deaver, a Welchman, a ship-builder by oc-

cupation; he, while in Wales, was a member of the

Highland Whig party, which was overcome by its adver-

saries, and he was compelled to flee for safety to America;

he settled in Baltimore, prior to the Revolution, and es-

tablished a ship yard, and for several years was ship

owner and builder, until hostilities were begun by the

British, when he was burned out; he then moved to Har-

ford County and engaged in farming, where ho remained

until his death; he had six children, viz: George, Joshua,

Aquilla, William, Polly and Richard; about the close of

the war of 1813, Richard and some of his brothers started

to seek their home in the West, his brothers accompany-

ing him as far as the Blue Licks, where they became dis-

heartened and returned; Richard pursued his steps until

he reached Frankfort; his financial circumstances had

become straightened, in consequence of the deprecia-

tion of the Continental money, and he had to begin

anew; while here, he engaged in various kinds of busi-

ness: carried on merchant tailoring, and ran a saw-mill;
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in 1833, he moved to this county, locating in Clinton-

ville, where he carried on his merchant tailoring until

1837, when he removed to Monroe County, Mo., and died

there in 1874; he was twice married; his first wife, Ra-

chel Taylor, who bore four children: Joseph, Francis,

John H. and Rachel; his second wife was a Mrs. Jones,

who bore him six children; our subject remained with

his father until 1841, when he left Monroe County, Mo.,

and came to this county, and for several years was em-

ployed as an overseer; in 1852, he purchased sixty acres

of land, where he now resides, and locating on the same,

has since lived; has added to the same, until he now

has 100 acres which cost him from $55 to $75 per acre

;

Nov. 10, 1849, he married Mary Ann Carter, who was

born on the farm she now lives, in 1831; her parents

were Arthur and Ann (Shores) Carter; he was born near

Hagerstown, Md., Feb. 15, 1787; Ann Shores was born

in Fayette County, July 6, 1790; Mr. Carter came to

this county when small, being about the year 1795 or '6,

locating in this precinct with his parents; to him were

born eleven children; Mr. Carter died Sept. 21, 1872; his

wife, Ann, June 17, 1869; the parents of Arthur were

John Carter and Rachel Smith, both natives of Maryland;

of nine children born Mr. Deaver, six are living, viz:

Fannie, wife of Capt. Langston ; John IT., Carrie, James

W., Joseph L. and 4quila Bedford; Mr. and Mrs. Dea-

vers are members of the Reformed or Christian Church.

DAVID M. DODGE, farmer; P. O. Paris; born Aug.

1, 1832, in North Middletown Precinct, this coun-

ty. His parents were Edwin M. and Elizabeth Sea-

mands, (generally pronounced Siramonds.) The Dodge

family trace their ancestry to one Tristram Dodge, an

Englishman, who came to America and settled Block Is-

land in 1661, and whose grandsons were the earliest

settlers at Cow Neck, Long Island. .The great-grand-

father of our subject was David; according to the best

authority given, he was a son of Jeremiah, who was a

great-grandson of Tristram. The maternal grandfather

of our subject, was Manson Seamands, who was a major

during the war of 1812; he died 1856 aged seventy-five

years. His wife was a Newton, prior to her mar-

riage, and was a native of Virginia, as was the Seamands

also. David Dodge the grandfather of the above, mar-

ried Dorcas Mills, who bore him twelve children, Edwin

M. being among the younger children. David Dodge

removed from Pennsylvania to Clark County, this State,

and there settled; here Edwin M. was born, about the

year 1811, and afterwards located in North Middletown

Precinct when a young man, and there married Miss Sea-

mands. His death occurred about the year 1836. His

widow afterwards married Kinzea Stone, and by him

had seven children. She is yet living and a widow.

David M. was raised by his step-father, with whom he

lived until twenty years old. February, 1852, he mar-

ried Miss Adeline, daughter of Pascal and Maria (Hil-

dreth) Fretwell, both of whom were old Virginia farai-

ilies. Mrs. Dodge died 1860, having borne four children,

of whom William P. and Bettie are living. Mr. Dodge

married his present wife in May, 1861; her maiden name
was Rebecca, born in this precinct, daughter of Victor

M. and Catharine (Rodgers) Kenney, Victor being a son

of James Kenney, who was one of the first settlers. Cath-

arine was a daughter of Thomas and Rebecca (Spahr)

Rodgers. The Rodgers family also being among the

first settlers in this precinct. Mr. Dodge located on this

farm in 1856, and has since been engaged in farming and

stock raising, giving some attention to short horns,

good horses, and the best of Cotswold sheep. His farm

consists of 291 acres; his residence is called "Hill Side."

The place was settled by Zeph Robinette, one part of

the house having been built nearly a century. Mr.

Dodge is a member of S. G. A. Presbyterian Church.

Edwin M., died Dec. 31, 1881; he was a son by his first

wife. The children of his second wife are Mattie V.,

David M., James L. and Victor K.

WILLIAM DAVIE, distiller; P. 0. Paris; is a native

of St. Louis, Mo., where he was born June, 1838; son of

James Davie, who was born in Scotland about 1793, and

came to this country and located in St. Louis in ] 832,

and remaine'd here until his death, which occurred in

1869. The mother of our subject was Ellen Shields,

who was born in Scotland, daughter of James Shields,

who located in St. Louis in 1834; she is yet living. Mr.

Davie is a self-made man; his father was poor and had

nothing in the way of worldly goods to bequeath to his

son, who began upon his own resources, and for five

years engaged in the retail drug business, which he

finally merged into the wholesale trade, continuing in the

same for fifteen years in the city, and did a large and lu-

crative business. In January, 1867, he married Kittie

Ford, a native of Newport, Kentucky, daughter of

Thomas D. Ford and Matilda T. Helm, the latter being

a daughter of Major Francis T. Helm, of Newport. Mr.

Davie came to this county in 1871, and located in Paris,

where he has since resided; during this time he has been

engaged in the wholesale whisky trade. In May, 1881,

he began the erection of his large distillery at Millers-

burg, which was completed in February, 1882, and which

has a capacity of five hundred bushels and is built with

all the modern improvements for the manufacture of
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sour-mash whisky at the lowest possible cost. James

Marshall was a great uncle of Mr. Davie, who came to

Lexington, Ky., in 1798, and settled there, and for sev-

eral years was engaged in farming and distilling, sending

the product of his distillery by flat boat to New Orleans,

and upon one occasion sent a large consignment in this

manner in charge of a man, who was never seen or heard

of afterwards by Mr. Marshall, who became disheartened

and sold his interests there and removed to Beardstown,

Ills., on the Illinois River, where he spent the remainder

of his days. Mr. Davie has three children: Kittle F.,

William F. and James A.

ROBERT P. DOW, grocer; P. O. Paris. Among
the enterprising young business men of this city, who
are doing a thriving business, the result of their own
industry and close application to business, is Mr. Dow,
who was born in 1843, in the Parish of Cathcart, Lan-

castershire, Scotland; son of Andrew Dow, whose wife

was Jane Pollock, a relative of Pollock, the poet. Early

in life Robert was thrown upon his own resources, and

earned money to enable him to embark for this country,

which he did when a lad of fifteen, landing in New York
city, where he worked some time at one dollar per week,

in a cigar shop; afterwards hired to a farmer at $5

per month; then was engaged in a printing office some
time; subsequently he removed to Greene County, Ind.,

where he remained one year and a half, working on a

farm; afterwards went to Cincinnati, where he worked
one year in the plumbing business. At the outbreak of

the war he volunteered his services; enlisted May, 1861,

in the 5th O. V. I., Co. D., and during his term' of service

was engaged in the following battles, viz: Winchester,

Kernstown, Port Republic, Cedar Mountain, 2nd Battle

of Bull Run, Antietam, Chancellorsville, South Moun-
tain, Gettysburg and Wahatchie Valley. Came West
with the 13th Army Corps and participated at Lookout

Mountain, Mission Ridge, Buzzard's Roost, Rssaca and

Dallas, where he was shot in the arm, which resulted in

the loss of the same, and was discharged in August, 1864;

he subsequently graduated at the Commercial College at

Cincinnati. In the spring of 1865, he came to Paris, and

in June of the same year, set up in the grocery line in a

small way, and continued thirteen years in the same

building; in 1878, he removed to the store adjoining,

where he has since continued and has a thriving and

prosperous trade. In 1868 he married Susan H. Rion,

daughter of Stockley T. and Martha U. (Rucker) Rion.

He has three children, viz: Robert, Rion and Ellsworth.

Is a member of the Presbyterian Church.

WILLIAM P. EWALT, farmer; P. O. Paris. The

Ewalt family are among the early settlers in Bourbon

county. The grandfather of the above was Henry Ewalt,

who was the pioneer of the name. He was a native of

Germany, and emigrated to America at the time of

Bacon's Rebellion, and located on Cooper's Run in this

precinct several years prior to 1800, where he purchased

land at $1.66 per acre. He married Elizabeth Fry, and

by her raised a family of children, among whom was

Samuel Ewalt, the father of the above (Samuel), who
was born August 13th, 1793, on the farm his father set-

tled. He married Cynthia Pugh, who was born in

this precinct March .30th, 1795, daughter of .Joseph and

Elizabeth (Hunt) Pugh. He was born June 28th, 1753;

she, Jan. 1st, 1763, near Strode's Station. Samuel

Ewalt served in the war of 1812. He was twice married

-^first to Miss Pugh, who bore him six children, viz:

John H., Wm. P., Elizabeth, Joseph , Mary S. and Sallie

S. His second wife was Eliza Smith, by whom he had

three children: Ann S., Samuel B., and Cynthia P.

Samuel Ewalt, the father of Wm. P., remained on the

farm where he was born until his death, which occurred

Aug. 16, 1878; his wife, 1833. He was a successful business

man, and in all his transactions with his fellowman, acted

the part of an honorable gentleman; not a professed

Christian, yet lived a moral life, was an energetic busi-

ness man and generous in his bequests to benevolent

enterprises, and had many friends, and but few or no

enemies. Of his children who married, were: John H.,

who married Sarah Snell ; by her had four children;

Joggpb, also settled on the homestead; he married

Sophia Spears; his second wife was Henrietta

Hedges ; Elizabeth married Perry Wornall; Mary S
married Harry Bedford; Sallie married Dr. J. J. Adair,

now of Harrison county; Ann S. married .John T. Wor-
nall, of same County; Samuel B. married Nancy Keller,

afterwards Rachel Halleck; Cynthia P. became the wife

of William T. Woodford, of Davis County; Will P, was

born on the homestead Jan. 24th, 1824. He began
farming in 1850, he and Joseph H., which partnership

lasted until his death, July 16th, 1877; Wm. P. has never

married; he has 190 acres of land, and engaged in farm-

ing.

JAMES FEE, grocer; P. O. Paris; represents one of

the self-made business men of Paris, whose first stock

in trade was fifteen dollars when he began in business

here, and from this modest beginning has arrived at his

present surroundings. He was born 1825 on Erin's

Green Isle, in County Galway, son of James and Han-
nah (Davenport) Fee. His father was a farmer and
coast seaman, navigating the waters on the coast of Ire-
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land. In 1846, when he came to the years of manhood,

he longed to cast his fortunes with those of his country-

men who had preceded him. He set sail in Autumn of

that year and after a voyage of six weeks and over, he

arrived at the land of his destination. The first six

years he spent in Maryland and Pennsylvania, and in

1852, came to Kentucky, having nothing but his wife,

whom he married in Maryland; her maiden name was

Bridget Carlos, born in County Roscommon, Ireland,

daughter of John and Peggy Laughlin. When Mr.

Fee first came to Kentucky, he lived in Fayette County

some time, and worked land for Mr. Beck, now Senator.

Afterwards he spent two years and better in Iowa.

Afterwards came to this county, and for nine years he

worked hard for Samuel Clay in this Precinct. In No-

vember, 1861, he was one among the first who volun-

teered to defend the stars and stripes, enlisting in Co. C,

31st Regiment, Capt. M. M. Clay's command, where he

served for sixteen months, when he was discharged on

account of disability. Upon his return home, be began

in selling goods in a small way through the country,

" peddling." Subsequently, he opened up a small store

on Walker Hill, where he staid until 1871, when he

purchased where he now does business; having in the

meantime built up a prosperous business, and is the

owner of his home and business house. He has one son,

Augustus J., now a partner in the business, born 1858,

married May, 1881, to Mary Kraut, daughter of John

Kraut, of Indiana; is a member of the Catholic Church.

JAMES KEITH FORD, hardware and distillery ; P.

O. Paris ; represents one of the old pioneer families of

the iBlue Grass Region. He was born Oct. 33, 1844:, in

this county, being the third son and fourth child to Nich-

olas W. Ford, who was a son of William Ford, who was

once Sheriff of Fayette County; he was a son of Edward,

a native of Fairfax County, Va. Nicholas Ford, the

father of James K., married Martha H. Page, March 11,

1834; she bore him six children. Nicholas W. died Oct.

33, 1844, when James K. was very young. He was raised

to manhood under the care of his mother. When a young

man he began clerking in Paris. In 1863, he went in the

employ of the government, continuing nearly three years,

after which he engaged in business with Mr. W. Taylor,

under firm name of Ford & Taylor, after which he associ-

ated with Mr. Bowen. Prior to this he was for a time

engaged in business with H. 0. Clay & Co., in the whisky

trade. Since he associated with Mr. Bowen, they have

not only carried on their store, but have mjre recently

embarked in the manufacture of Bourbon County Whisky,

brand, " Peacock," at their distillery in Ruddell's Mills

Precinct. Dec. 5, 1865, he married Winifred, second

daughter of James S. and Mary (Williams) Duncan, Mary
being a daughter of Maj. Geo. W. Williams.

WM. H. FISHER, farmer ; born Nov. 13, 1839, in

Ruddel's Mills Precient ; eldest child of Samuel and

Lucinda (Talbott) Fisher. Samuel Fisher was bom in

Lexington, Fayette Co., in 1809 ; son of William ; a

native of Delaware, and came to Kentucky about the

year 1800, locating in Fayette ; afterwards locating in

Ruddel's Mills Precinct about the year 1810, and es-

tablished a woolen factory ; he afterwards engaged in

farming, which he followed until his death, which oc-

curred in 1835. Eight children were born to him, who
grew up : James, Margaret, Samuel, Mrs. Bowman, John,

Amanda, Hannah and Maddox. James and Samuel set-

tled in Bourbon ; Margaret married a Sutton and moved

to Indiana ; John settled in Missouri ; Amanda, Maddox

and Hannah died young; Mrs. Bowman settled in Harri-

son County ; Samuel, the father of our subject, engaged

in farming ; he succeeded his father in the distillery

btlsiness, which he run until 1843, when he located in

Paris Precinct, on the farm owned by William, his son, sit-

uated on the Flat Rock Pike ; the farm is called the Mc-

Clure place ; he died here March 18, 1848—death oc-

casioned by the kick of a mule ; he was a member of the

Reformed Church; his wife, Lucinda Talbott, was a daugh-

ter of Hugh and Elizabeth (Carter) Talbott ; Henry Tal-

bott, the father of Hugh, emigrated from Hanover County,

Va., to Bourbon County, about the year 1789 ; Hugh
was for several years a merchant at Ruddel's Mills ; he

died in 1833. To Samuel Fisher and wife were born two

children : William H., and Susan, who married Charles

Nolcini; she died February, 1860, leaving one child, Wil-

liam ; Wm. H. was raised a farmer ; Dec. 13, 1866, he

married Emily Peck, who was born in Fleming County,

Ky., daughter of William and Louisa (Stevens) Peck
;

Louisa was born Sept. 7, 1813, in Fleming County, on

Locust Creek ; daughter of Joseph and Elizabeth (Wea-

ver) Stevens ; he was born December, 1767, in Loudon

County, Va.; his wife 1769, and were jnarried, 1788, and

removed to Fayette County, where they settled ; Wil-

liam was a son of William Peck, of Mason County, Ky.;

the former died Dec. 10, 1875. The religion of the

Stevens was old Baptist; and the Pecks were Methodists;

both families were Whigs. Mr. Fisher has 330 acres

of land—the farm called Wood Brook ; he has two

children ; Wm. Peck and Nebilla ; he raises short horns
;

is a member of the Presbyterian Church G. S. A.

JAMES W. FERGUSON, farmer and stockraiser.

Prominent among the large land-holders and successful

--V- ^1^
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business men of Bourbon County is Mr. Ferguson, -who

was born Aug. 25, 1830, in Winchester, Clark County;

his parents were Abraham and Mary K. (Matson) Fergu-

son; he was born in Fayette County, Sept. 37, 1803, and

died Aug. 1, 1854; he was a son of Abraham Ferguson,

a native of Fauquier County, Va.; his father, John, was

a native of Scotland, and emigrated to Virginia; his son

Abraham served in the war of the Revolution and in the

war of 1813. The grandfather of our subject emigrated

to Kentucky, locating in what is now Fayette County,

upon lands that he obtained from the government by vir-

tue of his services in the war of the Revolution, upon

which he settled; Indians were plentiful; while working

upon his land his gun was his constant companion for

self-protection. This land is now in the possession of

the family name, in Brier Hill Precinct. Mary K. was

born Feb. 9, 1810, in this county; she died Aug. 3, 1878;

she was a daughter of Thomas and Rebecca (Spears)

Matson, both families from Virginia. To Abraham Fer-

guson and wife were born eight children, five sons and

three daughters; of those living are Robert M., a resi-

dent of Lexington, Ky.; MaryE., wife of James Brown-

ell; Lucy E., wife of James H. Campbell, and James W.,
who remained with his father until he was twenty-six

years of age. In 1840 he moved with his parents to

Brier Hill Precinct, in Fayette County; Aug. 5, 1856, he

married Martha A. Hume, who was born in Clintonville

Precinct, May 7, 1830, daughter of Wm. P., son of John

Hume, of Fauquier County, Va.; March, 1857, after mar-

riage, he moved to this county on the farm adjoining

where he now resides, upon which he lived until 1875,

when he located where he now resides. Mr. Ferguson is

engaged in farming and stock raising, and is a large

dealer in stock, having been for several years a large

shipper, since 1860; he has over 4,000 acres of land, the

greater portion self acquired; his children are William,

P. H., Abram L., Maggie B., Robert H., Lucy E., Vol-^

ney W., Matilda R., and James W.; P. H; resides on the

home farm in Brier Hill, Fayette County.

L N. FRY, farmer; P.O. Paris; the Fry family

came from Virginia and settled in Bourbon Comity

prior to 1800. The parents of the above were Abram
and Nancy (Snell) Fry; both were natives of Kentucky.

The maternal grandfather of I. N. was Lewis Snell, who
was an early settler in Harrison County. Abrara Fry

settled on the farm now owned by his son, I. N., at an

early time, and run a small distillery for several years

on his farm. He died Iti 1843; his wife survived him until

1863, having borne six children, viz: Minerva, Elizabeth,

James, Abram, Lewis and I. N., who was born May

15th, 1824, on the farm he now owns, where he- has

since remained. In July, 1852, he married Enfield Tal-

bott, daughter of Daniel Talbott; has three children,

John, James, and M. T. His farm consists of 240 acres.

JOSEPH FITHIAN, physician; P. O. Paris. The Fith-

ian family trace their ancestry to one William Fithian, a

native of England, whose will bears date Dec. 11, 1678.

According to a family tradition, they came to America,

and were among the little band of refugees who fled

from the religious persecution at that time, and landed in

South Hampton^ Long Island, where they subsequently

settled some time prior to the war of the Revolution;

nearly all the members of the family that were eligible,

served in that struggle; one Phillips was in command of

a body of men who were participants in the " tea party" in

Boston harbor. The first after William was Samuel, who
married Priscilla Burnett. She had several children, among
whom was Josiah, born May 6, 1685; his wife was Sarah

Dennis. From them in direct line came Joseph, born Aug.

12, 1724 ; he married Hannah Viokers, who bore him

Amos, Oct. 11, 1759, who married Rachel Leake; from

this couple descended Joel Ifithian, who was born May 10,

1797, at Cedarville, New Jersey. He is the father of Dr.

Joe Fithian, whose name heads this page, who was born

in Philadelphia, Pa., October, 1 830. His mother's maiden

name was Sarah Sinnockson, born Sept. 14, 1801, in Salem,

New Jersey; she was a daughter of Andrew, who was

born March 2, 1749, and died July 20, 1819. He served

first as Captain, and afterwards promoted to Colonel in

the Colonial war. He was a son of Andrew, whose fath-

er was likewise of same name; his brother Thomas was a

member of the first Continental Congress, and served as

Judge for twenty-two years. The Sinnockson family

were originally from Sweden. The father of our subject

was likewise a physician, and carried on the drug busi-

ness in Philadelphia. His children were as follows, viz:

Elizabeth, Mrs. John M. Peck, of Cincinnati; Dr. Wash-
ington, Dr. Joseph and Fannie; but two now living.

Drs. Joseph and Washington both of Paris, Joseph
graduated in Philadelphia in 1854, soon after came to

Kentucky and engaged in the practice of his profession.

During the entire war he served as surgeon in the Eigh-

teenth Kentucky; after his time had expired he re-

urned. For several years past he has been associated

with his brother, Washington Kthian, in Paris, in the

practice of his profession. He was married to Miss
Emma Owen, a native of this county. Three children

have crowned this union, viz : Frank, a medical student,

Nettie and Georgia. The Doctor is an elder of the Pres-

byterian Church.

"T® 'V
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JOHN GRIFFITH, hotel-keeper; P.O. Paris; the

owner and proprietor of the Thurston House. Mr.

Griffith was born in Scott County, this State, in the year

1813, son of Benfield and Aquilla Truitt Griffith. The

father of our subject was a native of Delaware, and

settled in Scott County in the early part of the present

century ; he was a farmer by occupation, to which voca-

tion our subject was raised, but left home at the age of

seventeen and took to driving stage ; being a lover of

horses, and staging having a peculiar charm for him, he

pursued this exciting and (to him) enjoyable business

for man}' years. There was sharp competition in those

days among the various lines, and trusty and fearless

drivers were in demand. Mr. Griffith being a man of

muscle, and withal a careful and efficient horseman, he

was in demand, and continued as knight of the

" ribbons " until he was thirty-nine years of age. After

he abandoned the stage, he engaged in the livery busi-

ness, which he run a short time, and since the year 1850

he has been in the hotel business at this place, and has

been connected with the Thurston House. Mr. Griffiths

keeps a good hotel, and is kind and obliging to his

guests. He has about twenty-four rooms for the use of

his patrons, besides good sample rooms; also barber shop

and bar attached to the same. Free 'bus runs to all

trains. Upon the whole travelers will find Mr. Griffith

a good man to patronize. February, 1851, he married

Mary Reid, daughter of William Reid.

0. A. GILMAN, merchant, farmer and trader; P. O.

Paris; is a native of New Hampshire; son of Oscar and

Belinda (Fox) Gilman, and a descendant of him who

signed the Declaration of Independence. Our subject

was raised to agricultural pursuits, and received excellent

school advantages. In the Spring of 1863 he entered the

U. S. Service, joining the 11th Massachusetts Battery,

and participated in all the battles of the Army of the

Potomac, and, with the exception of a slight wound re-

ceived at Spottsylvania, he came through the entire strug-

gle unscathed. He came to Kentucky in 1866, locating

in Bourbon County, where he has since been identified

with its business interests; is carrying on farming and

stock raising, being interested in the breeding of fine

stock—horses and cattle, trotting and running stock. In

1869 he married Belle A. Todd, a native of Buffalo, N.

Y. Mr. Gilman is a resident of Paris, and is a large

dealer in grass seed, wool, grain, salt and poultry. He

is a member of the Episcopal Church, and of the several

Masonic organizations, A., F. & A. M., R. A. M., and

Webb Commandery, at Lexington, Ky.

M. M. GASS, farmer; P. O. Paris; whose portrait ap-

pears in this work, was born on the Stoner River in this

precinct, May 29, 1806, son of John Gass and Anna
Anderson. The paternal grandsire of Morris M. was

David Gass, of Scotch-Irish descent, and emigrated

from Virginia to Kentucky at an early time, and for

some time sought protection in the fort at Boonesboro.

He had two daughters that were captured Vjy the Indians.

He afterwards settled in Madison County, where he died.

John Gass was born in the year 1765, and was with his

father in the fort. He grew to manhood, and turned his

attention to farming pursuits, and became prominently

identified with the interests of Madison County, and

served as Sheriff. He removed to Bourbon County in

1793, locating on the Stoner, upon lands now owned by

Geo. M. Bedford, and engaged in farming pursuits, and

remained here until his death, which took place Dec.

34, 1855. He was a man that was esteemed for his

virtues, and was a respected member of the community, _

a member of the Presbyterian Church and an Elder in

the same. The subject of these lines was raised upon

the farm where he was born, and has always been engaged

in farming pursuits. March 27, 1834, he married Mary A.

Goodman, born June 18, 1808, in Albemarle County, Va.

She was a daughter of Nathan and Mildred (Clarkston)

Goodman, who emigrated to this county in 1817. Mr.

Gass located on the farm he now owns in 1872. Said

farm was settled by Nat. Davis. Mrs. Gass died. He
has four children living, viz: Nannie, wife of ,Tohn Wood,

of Audrain County, Mo. ; Mildred married Larken Towles,

also of Missouri; Miss Bettie at home; and Sue, who re-

sides in the Precinct, wife of W. P. Hume. Mr. Hume
had three brothers and four sisters: James, David, John,

Sallie, Betsy, Jane and Polly—Morris now being the sole

survivor of the family. Mr. Gass is not a member of any

church or society, yet is not an enemy to religion or the

bonds of socialism.

W. C. GOODMAN, retired farmer; P. O. Paris;

among the time-honored citizens and pioneer business

men of this precinct, is Willis C. Goodman, who was

born in Albemarle County, Va, Feb. 2, 1799, and

emigrated to this county in the year 1817, Nov. 10, with

his father, Nathan Goodman, who settled near Paris.

He was born in same county and State, in the year 1768.

His wife was Mildred Clarkson, daughter of Manoah

Clarkson. The grandfather of W. C. was Charles

Woodman, a native of Hanover Co., Virginia;

his ancestors came from England, as did the

Clarkson's, making their first settlement on the eastern

shore of Virginia. To Nathan Woodman were born ten

children, eight sons and two daughters: Roland H.,

D
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Willis C, Alexander G., Feilden F., Ansalem, Virginia,

Mary, Nathan, William and Manoah, all of whom, except

Roland, came to Kentucky—he remained in Virginia.

At the time Nathan Goodman came to this precinct

he purchased a small farm ; his " property" was mostly in

negroes, of which he brought with him quite a number.

He died of cancer in 1838. W. C, early in life, turned

his attention to stock trading, which he followed for

several years, dealing in mules, horses, cattle and hogs;

his operations being confined not alone to this locality,

but extended through several of the adjoining States. In

the early part of his trading career, he made his father's

house his home, until February, 1835, when he wedded

Sarah A. Garth, daughter of Jesse and Betsey (Brown)

Garth, both of whom were natives of Albemarle Co.

Virginia. In 1831, Mr. Goodman purchased the farm he

now owns, locating on the same the following year, and

that since made this his constant residence. In his business

relations Mr. Goodman has been successful. His farm of

600 acres he has since divided, having now 300 acres. Is

now nearly eighty-two years of age, and is in the enjoy-

ment of his quiet home, having a good residence on a

beautiful site. Six children have honored his marriage,

of whom are Elizabeth M., who married Green Clay;

Willis, Mary, wife of Judge Matt. Turney; Lewis G.,

John C. and Sarah. Mr. Goodman's brothers nearly all

settled in Missouri, except Feilden, who located in

Fleming county, Virginia; married Joseph Watkins and

located in same State with her brother. Mary became

the wife of Morris M. Gass, and located in Bourbon

County; Manoah was- killed in Paris.

DOUGLAS HOWARD, physician ; P. O. Paris.

Among the rising practitioners of Materia Medica in Bour-

bon County, is Dr. Howard, who was born in Mount

Sterling, this State. He was educated at Louisville, and

received his medical training in that city, graduating Feb.

38, 1876, and served one year in the hospital, after his

graduation, in active practice. In June, 1877, he came to

Paris, and engaged in the practice of his profession, where

he has since remained, and been successful, having a

liberal share of the public patronage. His father was

Henry C. Howard, a farmer and merchant, a native of

Mount Sterling; he was a son of George Howard, one of

the first settlers in that locality when Cincinnati was

not in existence. The mother of Dr. Howard, was Bettie

P. Lewis, born in the county, daughter of Douglas P.

Lewis, who married Elizabeth Clay, sister of Samuel

Clay, sr., of Paris Precinct. The Howard family were

Whigs, and later were Republicans; his father was com-

missioned Colonel, under Federal rule, during the late

war. Was an Episcopalian and had the following chil-

dren : George C, Douglas, Anna M., Henry C. and Mary

B. The doctor is a member of I. O. O. F.

JOSEPH A. HILDRETH, farmer; P. O. Paris.

This gentleman is a descendant of one of the early

families who settled in Bourbon County; he was born

May 25, 1836. The parents of the above were John

and Mary (Findley) Hildreth. The Hildreths were

from Wythe County, Va. The Hildreth family came to

this precinct in the early part of the present century, lo-

cating here, and have since remained. The elder mem-
bers of the family have since passed away, yet several of

the descendants still remain, among whom are: J. A.,

Mrs. C. M. Rogers; Evaline, Mrs. Nat. Rogers; and Mrs.

Caroline Rosebury. In 1854 Joseph A. was united by

marriage to Sallie, daughter of George A. and Elizabeth

(Edwards) Smith; both families from Virginia. To the

above were born six children, now living, viz.: George

W., Mariamne, John, Smith, Caroline B. and Ida. Mr.

Hildreth has 465 acres of land, and is engaged in farming

pursuits.

JAMES HALL, farmer and stock raiser; P. O. Paris;

is the owner and proprietor of "Huston Dale" stock

farm. He is a native of the Blue Grass region, and iden-

tified v.ith its interests since his birth. He first saw the

light of day June 11, 1820, in Cynthiana, Harrison County.

Mr. Hall has been a constant resident of this county since

1854, and during this time has been prominent in advanc-

ing the interests that pertain to short horn cattle, of

which he is a breeder and dealer. His farm is located

on the Houston, one and a half miles from Paris, it being

one among the first settled and well known farms in

Bourbon County. January 1, 1850, he was united by
marriage to Nancy A. Huston, a native of Fayette

County, this State; she was a daughter of John and Eliz-

abeth (Holliday) Huston. The former, native of Vir-

ginia; she of Clark Co., this State. The first year of

Mr. Hall's marriage he located in J;his county, afterwards

removed to Fayette County, where he remained until

1854, when he returned to this county, locating on the

farm he now owns, where he has been engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits. He has but one child, Elizabeth H.,

now the wife of Irwin Taylor, who practiced law success-

fully several years at the bar in this county; now a resi-

dent of Topeka, Kansas, in the practice of his profession.

Mr. Taylor has six children: Huston, Joseph I., Mary B.,

James H., Elizabeth C. and Lucy. Mr. Hall has been a

lifelong Republican, and is a member of the Presbyte-

rian Church North. The father of th^ above was Samuel
Hall, born July 14, 1787, in the Old Dominion, and emi-

~i> \ '



'k.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 469

grated to this country, locating in Harrison County, where

he died in 1835. His wife was Eliza, born .Jan. 39, 1795,

in this county, daughter of William and Ann (Souther-

land) Caldwell. William Caldwell was a native of Ire-

land, and emigrated to Pennsylvania at an early day, and

joined the Colonial Army, where he was wounded, and

died afterwards in consequence of injuries received in

that struggle. He emigrated to Kentucky, arriving about

the time the battle of the Blue Licks was fought, and

located near Paris, on the farm now owned by Mr. Wil-

cox, near the cemetery. He had a family of one son and

five daughters: Samuel, Elizabeth, Mrs. S. Hall; Mar-

garet, wife of W. C. Lysle; Lucretia, wife of Luther

Smith; Sallie, Mrs. Ben. Warfield; Jane, Mrs. Dr. Joseph

Holt.

• FRANCIS HALL, farmer and stock raiser; P. O.

Paris. Born in Hutchinson Precinct, Jan. 21st, 1828;

son of Joseph Hall, who was a native of Yorkshire,

England. He and two brothers came to Virginia, and

there settled. The mother of our subject was Nancy

Hughes, a native of the Old Dominion. She bore her

husband eleven children, but five of the number living

at the present writing, viz.: Joseph, John, David, Francis,

and Mary, and are located as follows: David resides in

Missouri, John in Nicholas county, Joseph and Francis

in Bourbon; Mary, wife of William Hamilton. Francis

was but nine years of age when his father died. He
was then placed under the guardianship of another party,

with whom he remained until 19, when in 1847, he went

to Mexico, and enlisted in the Mexican war, being a

member of Company " H," 3d Regiment of Kentucky

Volunteer Infantry. Upon his return from the war he

came back to this county, where he has since remained.

Jan. 27th, 1865, he married Lou Wheat, daughter of

William, whose' wife was Rebecca Wright, who was a

daughter of Thomas Wright, son of Peter Wright. Mrs.

Hall died, leaving but one child, Willie Wright. Early

in life Mr. Hall learned the saddlery trade, which he

followed but a short time. All he realized of his father's

estate was $15. For several years he was engaged in

driving stock for other parties. Later in life began

farming, making his first purchase of land in Hutchinson

Precinct, afterwards sold same, and purchased the farm

he now owns. The place contains 214 acres called Fair

View Stock Farm, situated on the Maysville and Lexing-

ton Pike, where he has engaged in farming and

stock raising; short horns has recently occu-

pied his attention. He is a Republican in politics; during

the late war he was in command of a Company of State

Militia. He was for several years a Director of the Ag-

ricultural Bank; is a member of Moreland Lodge, No.

124, I. O. O. F., and an officer of the same; and member
of the Antioch Church, which is of the order after Alex-

ander Campbell.

W. P. HUME, farmer ; P. O. Paris; born in Center-

ville Precinct, Jan. 4, 1851 ; son of David J. Hume
and Mary Talbott ; he was brought up on a farm

and raised to farming pursuits; April 18,1873, he mar-

ried Sallie Bacon, born near Paris, Nov. 2, 1853, daugh-

ter of W. A. Bacon and Belle Talbott ; wife died 1878,

leaving two children: David P. and Sallie L.; March 17,

1880, he married Sue Grass, born in this precinct, daugh-

ter of Morris Gass and Marry Goodman ; 1873, he

located on his farm, consisting of 243 acres, which ho

farms ; raising good stock ; is a member of the A. F.

A. M.

D. J. HUME, farmer and stock raiser ; P. O. Paris
;

born Oct. 11, 1824,-near Clintonville, this county; son of

W. P. Hume, who was born in this county, April 7,

1792
1

; he was a son of John Hume, of Fauquier County,

Va., who married Esther Patten, who was also a

Virginian. The great-grandfather of D. J. was Andrew
Hume, a native of Scotland ; some of the family subse-

quently settled in Ireland. John Hume, son of Andrew,

emigrated to this locality about the year 1787, settling

on Strode's Creek, and followed the life of a farmer. To
him six children were born, viz., Wm. P., Matthew D.,

Robert, Sallie (Mrs. Richie), Betsey (Mrs. Hughes),

Julia (who married a McGaughey), of this number Wm.
P., the father of D. J., settled in Bourbon County

;

Nathan D., in Clark ; Sallie, in Mercer ; Julia, in

Christian County. W. P. married Eliza Hutchcraft,

daughter of Thomas, a native of Virginia. After Mr.

Hume's marriage, he located in Clintonville, where he

lived until 1828, when he removed to the precinct, loca-

ting on the farm now owned by J. W. Ferguson, upon

which he remained until his death, which occurred March

18, 1875; his wife five years previous, January, 1870. But

two children were born to W. P. Hume: D. J. and Mary

F. Mr. Hume's second wife was Matilda Renick, Mrs.

J. W. Ferguson being the daughter of this marriage.

David J. was educated at the common schools, remained

with his father until his marriage, which occurred Decem-

ber, 1848, to Martha A. Talbott, born May 1828, in Fayette

County, daughter of Benjamin and Mary (Grimes)

Talbott, Mary being a daughter of Charles Grimes, of

Virginia. Since his marriage D. J. has been an owner

and occupant of the farm he now owns, called "Inwood."

Mr. Humes has about 2,000 acres of land. He has been

engao'ed in, the breeding of short horns since his location



^ <2 !^ 'A

470 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

on this farm. His father and grandfather both were

breeders of fine stock. Mr. Hume has four sons : Wm.
P., Ben T., Orlando V. and Samuel C. John S., now
deceased, was drowned at the age of fourteen.

H. F. HIBLER, farmer; P. 0. Paris; is a grandson of

Joseph Hibler, a native of New Jersey, and one of the

early settlers in Bourbon County. He settled in this

precinct on the farm now owned by H. M. Roseberry.

His wife was Jane Jacoby, who bore him two children,

Adam S. and Emily. Adam S. Hibler, the father

of H. P. was born on this farm in the year 1807, and at

the death of his father succeeded him. His wife was

Lucy Finch, who bore him ten children, among whom
was H. F., whose birth occurred in 1830. Adam S. re-

mained on this farm until 1854, when he removed to

Midway, in Woodford County, this State. His death

occurred at the above place, 1878. Our subject, during

several years of his early manhood, was engaged as a

drover, in charge of stock en route for the Eastern

market. .Jan. 35, 1855, he married Mary E. Brindley,

who was born in Ruddel's Mills Precinct, daughter of

Nicholas and Lucinda (Stivers) Brindley. Mr. Brindley

was a> native of Maryland, born Sept. 8, 1803, and married

May 38, 1833. When he came to this county he was a

poor man, but arose from a small beginning until he be-

came a wealthy man; he was successful in all his busi-

ness associations, which were uniformly crowned with

pleasing results. He was upright and honest in his

dealings, and died a Christian, being a member and

Elder in the Christian Church. His death occurred

1846, Sept. 17; his wife's May 30, 1849. They had

three children who came to maturity: Benjamin P., who
resides in Baltimore, a capitalist; Lucy G., who married

E. B. Bishop, and located in New Haven, Conn. She

died 1874, leaving three children. Of the ten children,

born to Adam S. Hibler, Henry F. was the eldest;

in order of birth were Emily, Cynthia, Sallie, Joseph,

Thomas, Lovenia, Mary E., James, Harry and Lucy, all

of whom grew up. Lucy resides in Midway, wife of

Richard Starks, a druggist; Cynthia married David

Robb, of Versailles; Lovenia married Mr. Richard

Richetts; Emma, Amos Parker; Sallie, ex-Sheriff, ex-

Mayor, B. F. Pullen. Mr. and Mrs. Hibler located on

the farm they now own in March, 1855, and have since

improved the home surroundings to their present beauty;

the farm consists of 338 acres. They have five sons:

William F., James H., Bishop, Edward and Henry.

R. B. HUTCHCRAFT, P. O. Paris ; dealer in

hemp, wool, blue grass, and grain ; was born in Clin-

tonville Precinct; son of Reuben Hutchcraft and Fannie'

Hedges; Reuben was born in Culpepper County, Va.;

son of Thomas, who married a Miss Apperson; Thomas

Hutchcraft served seven years in the Revolutionary war,

after which he settled in Virginia; he afterwards emi-

grated to this State, locating in this county, where he re-

mained until his death; he had five chHdren : John, Reu-

ben, James, Nimrod and Mrs. W. P. Hume, all of whom
were always identified with this county and its interests;

Reuben, the father of R. B., died in 1865; ten children

were born to him that lived to be grown: John H.

Thomas, Lou., '^;4as, Mary E. William, Clay, Ella, Reu-

ben Brent, and Nannie; mother died in 1867; was a

member of the Baptist Church; he was not a member

of any church; was an old line Whig; an upright man,

and one that was highly esteemed by his friends and ac-

quaintances; our subject received good educational ad-

vantages; was raised upon the farm; in 1873, he came to

Paris, and has since been engaged in business, being one

of the largest dealers in his line in the city; he is treas-

urer of the contemplated K. U. R. Road.

W. M. HINTON, jeweler ; P. O. Paris ; is the oldest

jeweller in Paris, where he was born, Sept. 35, 1830, be-

ing the eldest son and third child born to Richard Hin-

ton,, a \vell known resident of this county. In 1844, he

began his trade with B. B. Marsh, of this place, and con-

tinued under his instruction for three years, after which

he, worked seven years in Shelbyville, this State, and in

1854, set up in Paris, where he has since continued, and

by strict attention to business built up an excellent trade,

and accumulated a good home, and a competence by his

own perserverance and industry. He has been thrice

married, first time, Oct. 1, 1857, to S. A. Jones, daughter

of Richard Jones, of Millersburg ; she died Dec. 30,

1860, leaving one child, Anna S. His second wife was

Maggie, sister of first wife, who died about one year after-

wards, leaving one child, since dead. His present wife

was Bettie G., daughter of Gen. John M. Millier, of Rich-

mond, Ky., by her has four children ; W. M., Charles O.,

Bertha G., and Robert R. Mr. Hinton is a member of

the Baptist Church, and trustee of the same.

JAMES HINTON, farmer and horticulturist; P. 0.

Paris; born Oct. 18, 1818, in Baltimore, Md.; son of

John Abijah Hinton, a native of England, who was edu-

cated for the Episcopal Ministry, but afterwards went

abroad upon the high seas and became a sea captain;

but little of him was known afterwards, as he was lost

when our subject was but a babe; consequently but lit-

tle of the early history of his ancestry is known by the

above. The mother of James was .Jane Kennedy, a

native of the Emerald Isle; she bore her husband two

i) \
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children, Isabella and James; Isabella married Harvey

Nash, of New York; she died 1861, leaving four daugh-

ters and three sons. Mr. Hinton emigrated to this State

with his mother, about the year 18;i0, and located in

Paris, where she died of cholera in 1833. Our subject

learned the carpenter's trade, which he followed continu-

ously until 1873, as builder and contractor. Sept. 17,

1816, he married Sarah E. Wheat, daughter of William

and Rebecca (Wright) Wheat; his wife died in January,

1861, leaving three children: Rebecca B., William W.,

and James H. Rebecca B. was first married to Dr. R.

T. Weldon, by whom she had one son, William McLeod;

she now resides in Cincinnati, wife of Thomas Baldwin.

William W. resides in Kansas City, Mo., and James H.,

in Cincinnati. May 1, 1863, he married M>ry A. Sisson,

born in Augusta, Bracken Co. Ky., dau^ter of Lawson

and Matilda (Weldon) Sisson; he was a native of Fau-

quier County, Va.; she, of Bracken County, Ky. Since

1859, Mr. Hinton has been a resident of the farm he now

owns, and since 1874 he has given his -lattentiou to the

culture of fruits and flowers, and nursery stock, making

more of a specialty of flowers, and has been successful

in his business undertakings. Since 1837 he has been a

member of the Baptist Church at Paris. A view of his

place will be found in this work.

SILAS HEDGES, deceased. The Hedges' family

trace their ancestry to Sir Charles Hedges, an English

politician, who graduated at Oxford in 1675 and

died in 1714 ; he had four daughters and one son,

whose name was Joseph, who emigrated to Amer-

ica at an early day, locating in Prince William's

County, Md.; to him were born nine children,

whose names were : Solomon, Charles, Joshua, Jonas,

Joseph, 'Samuel, Catharine, Dorcas, and Ruth ;
Solomon

died in West Virginia in 1797 ; his family consisted of

six children : Rebecca, Joseph, Catharine, Silas, Joshua,

and Rachel; Joseph, mentioned above, emigrated to Ken-

tucky about 1789, locating at Stoney Point, in Bourbon

County : his children were : John, Samuel, James, Jonas,

Charles and three daughters ; John was the father of

Silas, whose name heads this page ;
John married Kate

Troutman, and by-her had the following children, viz :

Peter, Silas, James, Nanny, Fannie, Lucinda, Mary, and

Scytha; all lived to be grown, and settled in this county;

Silas was twice married, first to Frances Branham, who

died leaving one son, Willis W., now living in this coun-

ty; in 1839 he married Elizabeth J. Ewalt, born Jan.

1, 1824, in Paris Precinct, Bourbon Coun^ daughter of

Richard and Maria (Stamps) Ewalt. Mr. Hedgds engaged

in farming and was successful; he was a member

of the Christian Church, and a valued citi^^en ;
his

death occurred June 30, 1880; he had two children

:

Richard and Mollie; the former died, aged seven-

teen ; the latter married William S. Grimes, born

August, 1837, in Clintonville Precinct, this county, son of

John S. and Katie (Scott) Grimes ; John S., was a son of

Sylvester Grimes ; Wm. S. Grimes died May 3, 1881,

leaving two daughters: Lizzie E. and Sallie S.; Mrs. Grimes

resides with her mother in Paris, where they have a

handsome residence and several hundred acres of land

in this county.

CHARLES V. HIGGINS, retired; P. O Paris; was

born Sept. 17, 1807, in Montgomery County, this State;

only son born to James and Mary (Williams) Higgins. The

Higgins family are of Scotch-Irish descent, of whom

William Higgins was the first of whom there is any def-

inite account, he bein^ the great-grandsire of our sub-

ject; he removed from Ireland to the Old Dominion, and

settled prior to the Revolution, and raised a family of sev-

en sons and one daughter; the sons were: William,

Moses, Aaron, Capt. James, John, Joel and Jesse; of the

number Moses was the grandfather of Chas. V.; James

served in the war of the Revolution, commanding a com-

pany. Aaron Higgins was the first one of the name that

came to Kentucky about 1780, and entered 3,000 acres of

land in what is now Montgomery County; upon this land

all of his brothers (above mentioned) settled; Aaron was

killed by the Indians at Sinclair's defeat. Moses Higgins

married Jane Jeter, by whom he had: James, William,

Betsey, Katie, Matilda, Nancy and America; of this

number, James was the father of our subject; he was

born in 1781 in Virginia, and married Mary Williams,

born in 1784, likewise of Virginia birth; she was a

daughter of Raleigh Williams, of English descent. Of

the Higgins brothers above mentioned, William T. was

a physician, and settled in Mississippi, and was drowned

while crossing a river. James Higgins was a farmer

and brick-mason ; he built many of the houses yet

standing in Mt. Sterling, Ky. ; he had five chil-

dren born to him; all died before they grew up ex-

cept Chas. v., who left home and learned the tan and

currier's trade, at Boonesborough and Winchester; Nov.

18, 1828, he married Judith Y. Stone, who was born in

Bourbon County March 8, 1813; she was a daughter of

John and Judith (Parrott) Stone, both natives of Albe-

marle County, Va., and came here to Bourbon County in

1811. Mr. Stone died March 8, 1831; his wife in 1859;

to them were born six children: Elizabeth, Thomas, John,

William, Judith and James M., who resides in Texas; he

and Mrs. Higgins alone survive. After Mr. and Mrs.

^.
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Higgins were married they moved to North Middletown,

where he engaged in the tan and currier business, re-

maining here until 1834; then sold out and moved to

Montgomery County, remaining there until 1837, when
he returned to Middletown; since that time he has been

a constant resident of the county; for several years has

been a resident of Paris, where he now resides. Not-

withstanding he began with nothing, he has by success-

ful management, amassed a good fortune, having a

large amount of land and much valuable town prop-

erty in this city. He has been connected with the

Deposit Bank in this place since its commencement,

first as Director, and since 1867 as President. He
has but one child, Charles V., present Treasurer of

the county. Mr. Higgins is not a member of any

church or society, but not opposed to them or the

principles they espouse.

R. W. HUTCHCRAFT,U. S. store-keeper; P. O. Paris;

born in North Middletown Precinct, July 4, 1832; was

the second child and eldest son of his parents, who were

James and Eliza (Williams) Hutchcraft. James Hutch-

craft was born January, 1800, in Bourbon County, in

North Middletown, and died 1863; son of Thomas Hutch-

craft, a native of Fauquier County, Va. He came to

Kentucky about the year 1798. The mother of our sub-

ject was born 1813, in Montgomery County, Ky., daugh-

ter of Gen. Samuel L. Williams and Fannie Clark, both

families from Virginia. R. W. had but common school

advantages; was raised a farmer. Jan. 13, 1807, he mar-

ried in this county, Susan Croxton, daughter of Henry

Croxton and Ann Redmon; shortly after his marriage, he

removed to Lee County, Iowa, and engaged in farming.

At the outbreak of the war, he " donned the blue," and

enlisted July, 1861, in Co. E, 15th Iowa Infantry, and

was wounded in the battle of Shiloh. After one year of

active service, he was assigned to the Quartermaster's

department, where he remained until the close of the war;

after which he returned to his family in Bourbon County.

In 1867, he moved to ITleming County, this State, re-

maining there three years, in Government employ as

Ganger. Upon his return to this county, he engaged in

farming. Since 1878, he has been in Government em-

ploy—now Storekeeper. His wife died 1863; by her had

four children, viz : Annie, James P., Harry and Davis.

1867, he married Margaret, daughter of Thomas Fleming.

By last wife has one child, Emma. Mr. Hutchcraft has

a snug home, in this precinct; is a warm friend to educa-

tion, and a member of the M. E. Church, of which his

parents were true followers.

J. W. HARMON, farmer; P. 0. Paris. Of the self-

made men that have come up from small beginnings is Mr.

Harmon; he is a native of the Buckeye State; born

November, 1831, in Ashtabula County; son of Norman
and Sallie Weldon Harmon, both natives of Connecti-

cut; he died 1873; she, four years later. J. W. is the

youngest of a family of five children. He was reared

to farming pursuits, but his mind and tastes running in a

different direction, he gave his attention to handling ma-

chinery and running steam engines. In 1848, he left

Ohio and went to New York. In 1854, he came to Ken-

tucky, and has since been identified, first in Clark Coun-

ty, remaining a short time, coming here the following

year. For about seven years he was engaged in running

a mill, having learned the miller's art, five years in Paris

Precinct, on Samuel Clay's farm, and two years in Lexing-

ton. From 1863 to June, 1865, he served in the U. S. ser-

vice in the Quartermaster's department, being located in

the meantime in Arkansas. After abandoning his mill-

ing enterprise he began renting land, and in 1877 he pur-

chased a portion of the Penn farm, consisting of 370

acres, where he has since resided. June 22, 1859, he mar-

ried Jeanie H., born in Cayuga County, N. Y., daughter

of Archibald and Catharine (Hamilton) Burns, both na-

tives of Scotland, to whom eight children were born, Mrs.

Harmon being the seventh; her father died 1865; mother,

1874. Mr. Harmon has but one child, Florence May,

born September, 1870. Mrs. Harmon is a member of the

Presbyterian Church. Of Mr. Harmon's brothers and

sisters are as follows: Miles is a merchant in Ashtabula,

Ohio; Lucius, a master mechanic in Ballston Springs,

Saratoga, N. Y.; Catharine, wife of John Pelham, in

Rockford, Minnesota; Elizabeth resides in Cleveland,

wife of Mr, Williams.

JAMES W. INGELS, retired; P. O. Paris, In the

year 1783, James Ingels, the grandfather of the above,

left Pennsylvania, and, with his family, bent his steps

toward Kentucky; the country^, then, as the reader can

well imagine, was anything but promising or inviting,

but the wayfaring man was seeking a home for himself

and family, and was prepared to meet hardships; in pass-

ing through Maysville, having no gun, he contracted with

a gunsmith there to make him one and take his pay in

bacon when it could be procured; Mr. Ingels came on

with his family, locating at Grant's Station, near Bryant's

Station; Mr. Ingels finally raised the necessary amount

of bacon and sent a hired boy with it to Maysville

to make the exchange; strange to say, the boy, horse

and cart, bacon and gun were never heard from

until several years after, when Mr. Ingels received a let-

ter from the boy, then a grown-up man, saying that he
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had wandered off into Ohio instead of going to Mays-

ville; had bought him a home and was doing well, and if

he (Mr. Ingels) would come there he would pay him for

his bacon, horse and cart, &c.; Mr. Ingels never went.

This old pioneer died on the place he settled in 1803; he

had five sons and four daughters born to him; Joseph,

the eldest, married Mrs. Bryant, a niece of Daniel Boone;

James settled on the homestead; Thomas and John set-

tled in Indiana; Edith married WelsonHunt, and located

in Missouri; Nellie became the wife of Mr. Victor, and

settled in Nicholas County; Boone Ingels, the father of

our subject, was born at Grant's Station, 1784, and raised

a fanner until seventeen, when his father died; in 1808

he came to Paris, where he carried on the hatter's trade

until his death in 1837, when 53 years of age; he raised a

family of nine children, eight sons and one daughter.

Our subject was raised to the business his father prose-

cuted, after going for him to St. Louis to buy furs; in 1833

he went to Jacksonville, Ills., where he spent two years in

business with Forsythe & Butler ; he returned in 1834
;

the year following he married Amanda Crose, a native of

this county, daughter of Levi Crose. Mrs. Ingels died

1855, having borne him nine children ; Benjamin,

Wilson, Boone, Ella, Belle and George were the number

raised. In 1857, Mr. Ingels married Mary Davis, a native

of this place, daughter of George and Mary (McClintock)

Davis, both natives of Virginia; he born 1794, she, two

years later. Mr. and Mrs. Ingels have one daughter,

Lizzie. Mr. Ingels has been a successful man in busi-

ness; he owned 4,000 acres of land at one time, which he

sold at a large advance; for twenty-five years he had

charge of the paupers in this county; Mr. Ingels has

been retired from business several years, and is living in

retirement, and enjoying the fruits of his labor in quiet

and happiness; has been a member of the Christian

Church over forty years.

EDWARD INGELS, retired physician; P. O. Paris;

was born in this city in 1821, and was the seventh son

of Boone and Elizabeth (Reed) Ingels. Edward was

raised in this place and was educated in Lexington, at

the Transylvania University, graduating there in 1841.

Soon after he graduated he began the practice of his

profession in his native town, and continued without

intermission until 1871, since that time he has retired

from active practice, only prescribing and visiting some

of his most intimate friends, who insist upon his still

serving them. In 1853 he was united in wedlock to

Bettie Massie, daughter of Jonathan Massie; Mrs. Ingels

died in 1868, leaving one son, Edward. In 1876 he mar-

ried Ella (Chew) Pinkerton, daughter of Dr. William

and Helen (Ware) Chew. Dr. Chew was a regular grad-

uate in Materia Medica; he was born in Fredericksburg,

Va., 1816; son of Joseph Chew. The wife of Dr. Chew
was born in Frankfort, this State; she was a daughter of

James Ware. Dr. Chew practiced his profession sev-

eral years in Midway, until 1868, when he removed to

Texas where he now resides. To him were born a fam-

ily of four daughters and three sons. Mrs. Ingel's maiden

name, as above stated, was Ella Chew, but at the time

of her marriage she was the relict of W. W. Pinkerton,

a lawyer by profession, a native of Ohio, and son of L.

L. Pinkerton. Boone Ingels, the father of our subject,

was a Whig, and at one time represented his county in

the Legislature.

THOMAS ISGRIG, farmer; P. O. Paris; is a de-

scendant of one of the early pioneers who came to this

county in 1791, at a time when the ground resounded to

the tread of the red-man, and the forests echoed to the

cries of the panther and other denizans of the wildwood.

The subject of these lines was born in 1824, in the edge

of Harrison County, four miles from Cynthiana, being

the third son, and fourth child in order of birth, born to

Daniel and Mary (Current) Isgrig. The grandfather of

our subject was Daniel, who was named for his father.

Lord Isgrig, who was a native of England, and emi-

grated to Baltimore County, Md., where the grand-

father of Thomas was born, Dec. 26th, 1756. The ma-

ternal grandmother of Thomas was Margaret Cole, born

on the sea coming from Scotland, 1751. By this mar-

riage six children were born, whose names were William,

Margaret, Daniel, Michael, Nancy and Hannah; of this

number, Daniel and Michael came to Kentucky, and

here lived and died; William, Margaret and Hannah

located in Fayette County, Ind.; Daniel, above men-

tioned, was born in Baltimore County, Md., on the east-

ern shore, April 3, 1786; his wife, on the opposite

shore, the same month, 26th day, one year later. Daniel,

Jr., removed with his parents to what is now Harrison

County, in 1791. Daniel, Sr., purchased laud soon

after, for which he paid two dollars per acre; a

portion of said land (252) acres, Thomas his

grandson, our subject, purchased in 1870, paying

therefor one hundred and twenty dollars ($120) per

acre. The children born to Daniel Isgrig, Jr., were

William, Catharine, Daniel, Thomas, Margaret and

Mary; William resides in Ruddel's Mills Precinct; Cath-

arine resides in Edgar County, 111.; Daniel in Saline

County, Mo.; Margaret married J. W. Van hook of this

Countv; Mary died, aged sixteen. The parents of our

subject died Feb. 11, 1877, and Feb. 11, 1852, respect-
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ively. They were members of the M. E. Church, as were

their ancestors before them. Politically he was a Whig,

but voted for Andrew Jackson. Thomas remained with

his father until thirty-five years of age; since that time

he has been a resident of this county. Sept. 24, 1868,

he married Ella Saunders, born December, 1835, in

Cadiz, Ohio, daughter of Henry W. Saunders, a native

of the Emerald Isle. Mr. Isgrig has one son who bears

the name of his grandparents on the Isgrig side. Mr.

Isgrig has 353 acres in this precinct, which he rents, and

resides in the city limits. He has twenty-two acres sit-

uated on the east side of the river, which is beautifully

located; he tills the same a? market gardner. Since

1879 he has served as Justice of the Peace in this pre-

cinct.

WILLIAM ISGRIG, Jr., farmer ; P. O. Paris ; was

born in this precinct, June 13, 1843, the eldest of three

sons. His parents were William and Letitia (Reid)

Isgrig ; he was born June 3, 1819, son of Daniel and

Mary (Current) Isgrig; she was born in this precinct, and

a daughter of Thomas Current, who were one of the

early settlers ; he built a still-house near the place

where William Isgrig, jr. now lives. The above was raised

in this precinct, and to farming pursuits. Nov. 5, 1868,

he married Lou C. Reid, a native of this county; she was

a daughter of Greenberry and Amanda (Lancaster)

Reid. Mrs. Isgrig died April 35, 1873. Two children

were born to her, but one now living, Emma Ray.

Oct. 17, 1876, he married Carrie Childriss ; born at

Hutchinson Station, daughter of P. G. and Amanda
(Wheatley) Childriss; he was born in Pendleton County,

Ky., son of John Childriss, of Virginia. Amanda being

a daughter of Daniel Wheatley, of the " Old Dominion."

Mr. Isgrig located where he now resides, in 1873. He
has 300 acres.

THOMAS JONES, retired farmer; P. O. Paris;

one among the oldest ditizens now living in Bourbon

County; is Uncle Thomas Jones, who has lived under

every administration; from Washington down to the pre-

sent ; he was born Jan. 19, 1793, on Baughman's Creek,

near Athens, in Fayette County, this State; his father was

James Jones, who was born about the year 1758, in Spott-

sylvanina County, Va., son of Thomas .lones, a Virginian

;

James Jones was a Revolutionary soldier, also his bro-

ther, William, who was present at the surrender of Corn-

wallis ; he emigrated to Kentucky, locating in Fayette

County, in 1789 ; his wife was Sallie Schooler, also a

native of the Old Dominion ; she had three brothers, who

served in the Continental army, viz : Horton, Benjamin

and William ; the father of our subject was a farmer,

and raised a family of ten children—eleven being born
;

the educational advantages afforded the family were very

poor indeed ; Thomas remained with his father until his

majority, after which he hired to his father for a time,

then volunteered as a soldier in the war of 1813, and was

a member of Colonel Johnson's regiment of cavalry, and

was at the battle of Thames, after which he was dis-

charged and returned home ; Jan. 33, 1814, he was mar-

ried in North Middletown, to Patsey Ashurst, who was

born in 1787, in that precinct ; she was a daughter of

Josiah and Rebecca (Kennedy) Ashurst ; he was a native

of Georgia ; Mr. Jones came to Bourbon County with

his father in 1800 ; after the marriage of our subject, be

located upon a piece of land, which he had leased near

Thomas Station, in Clintonville Precinct ; he had but

little to commence with, his entire property amounting to

about $300 ; he began with his naked hands in the woods

to make his start, and from this small beginning, he after

j'ears of hard toil, accumulated about 1100 acres of

choice land ; being a man of iron constitution, of indomi-

table persevernce and a tireless worker, he made a suc-

cess at last, and accumulated a handsome property ; he

gave his attention strictly to farming pursuits ; in 1833,

he began raising some thoroughbred cattle, of the short

horn class, which he continued in a moderate way, until

he abandoned farming and retired, and removed to Paris

during the war, where he has since resided; his wife died,

leaving him six children, viz: Josiah A., John I., Rebecca

K., Sarah D., Thomas D., and Perlina A.—but three now
living: Rebecca, now Mrs. Hildreth; Thomas D., and John

I. ; Thomas resides in Tennessee ; his present wife was Lucy
A. Monday, a native of Madison County, a daughter of

Edmond and Mollie Monday, both natives of Kentucky
;

he of Madison, she of Clark county; by last wife has one

child, Lillie; he has been a member of the church over

sixty years; in 1819, joined the Old Baptist Church ; later

he joined the Reformed, and now s.tands like a shock of

corn, fully ripe and fit for his Master's use.

J. K. JAMESON, farmer; P. O. Paris; born Nov. 3,

1807, in Harrison County, son of James Jameson, a na-

tive of Virginia, and emigrated to Harrison County, Ky.,

prior' to 1800; his father a native of Ireland. His wife's

maiden name was Elizabeth Snell, daughter of Lewis and

Mollie Snell, whom were natives of Virginia. Ten child-

ren were born to James Jameson, but five of the number
came to maturity, of whom James was one; he remained

with his father until he was married, which was in March
35, 1833, to Mary L. Hutchison. She was a daughter of

James Hutchison and Elizabeth Edwards. Mr. Jameson
located on the farm he now owns in 1833, and since has
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been a constant resident; he has 333 acres of land. His

wife died June 19, 1879, having borne him eleven child-

ren; but three are living, viz : John W., Louisa J. and

Mary. She (Mrs. Jameson) was a member of the Christ-

ian Church, of vphich Mr. Jameson is also a disciple.

Two of his children now deceased lived to be grown, viz:

Belle, who married William Davis; by him had one

daughter, Sallie B., who married Lee Champ; Nannie,

the other grown daughter, married Joseph McClintook,

of Harrison County.

NATHAN KENNEDY, farmer; P. O. Paris; was

born in Bourbon County, May 20, 1793, the youngest

child of his father's family; his father was Joseph, who
died in 1797; his wife was Christina Akers, a daughter

of Joseph Akers, who died aged 104 years. Joseph

Kennedy's ancestors were of Scotch-Irish stock; Joseph

Kennedy was one of the earliest settlers in this county.

The red man had not given up his hunting grounds

here, but was slowly Vi^asting away at the approach of

the enterprising white settler. Joseph had six, children,

four sons and two daughters. The subject of these lines

located on the farm he now owns in 1817, situated on the

Maysville and Lexington Pike, and has since remained;

he purchased his land at$20 per acre of Garret Jones. Mr.

Little was the first settler. Mrs. Kennedy died in 1849;

Mr. Kennedy has two sons in Missouri, Jacob in Monroe

County, Zadock at Pleasant Hill, Cass County. Catha-

rine is the wife of Robert Layson ; and David who

•resides in this precinct, was born 1833, and is the young-

est child of the family. At the age of twenty he left

home to do for himself; for several years he was em-

ployed in stock driving, having in charge mules for the

. distant markets. In September, 1862, he married Anna

Myall, a native of England, who emigrated to this coun-

try when two years of age; her parents were Edward

and Rachel (Lawrence) Myall, who came to Maysville in

1843; Mr. Myall removed to California in 1877; his wife

died in 1864; they had a family of nine children. Mr.

Kennedy located on the farm he now owns in 1866; is

engaged in farming, and gives some attention to raising

fine horses; he has three children: Samuel J., Owen D.,

and Edward B. He is a member of the Presbyterian

Church.

J. B. KENNEDYj farmer and stock raiser ; P. 0.

Paris ; is a descendant of one of the first settlers in

Bourbon County. Our subject was born Dec. 1, 1824,

on the farm now owned by B. F. Bedford. His father

was Captain Washington Kennedy, who was born June

25, 1779, and commanded Company in 1812 ; was son

of John Kennedy, a revolutionary soldier, and native of

Virginia, and emigrated here and settled on Kennedy's

Creek, in 1779. For a further account of the family the

reader is referred to the history of Bourbon County, in

this volume. The mother of John B. was Elizabeth

Bedford, who was born in this precinct, Dec. 7, 1794, on

he farm now owned by Patsey Clay ; she was a daugh-

ter of Littleberry Bedford, the " Pioneer." She died

July 18, 1834. Washington died Aug. 14, 1832, leaving

John B. an orphan at an early age. He went to live

with uncle John Bedford, with whom he lived until he

attained his manhood. November, 1845, he was married

to Mary M. Kennedy, daughter of Jesse and Polly

(Waugh) Kennedy ; he was born in this precinct, Aug.

11, 1787, and died April 3, 1863 ; she born May 11,

1788, and died June 27, 1837. After marriage Mr.

Kennedy purchased the farm he now owns, called the

" Elm Spring Farm," where he has since resided, and

been engaged in agricultural pursuits since 1850; has

been engaged in raising short horns, and for several

years past been engaged in trading in stock and ship-

ping to the Eastern markets. Mrs. Kennedy died Feb.

2, 1871, leaving two children, Sidney B. and Mary J.

Mr. Kennedy's present wife was Mrs. Alice Redmon,

daughter of Greenberry Dorsey, of New Orleans. John

Kennedy, the grandfather of J. B., entered land upon

Kennedy's Creek, which bears his name; he never came

to Kentucky to live. He had two sons Eli and Wash-

ington, who located on the land. Washington finally

purchased his brother s interest, and finally located on

the farm now owned by B. F. Bedford.

JOHN LUCAS, farmer ; P. O. Paris ; born Jan. 18,

1810, at Lucasville, Soiota County, Ohio, son of Samuel

Lucas, of Jefferson County, Va. ; he was a son of William

Lucas, who left Virginia at an early day, and settled in

Soiota County, and the place was named in honor of him

and the family. He had a son, Robert, who became Gov-

ernor of the State. The mother of our subject was Sarah

Carter, a native of Jefferson County, Va., a daughter of

Robert and Elizabeth (Griggs) Carter. Robe rt Carter

located in Fayette County, Ky., about the year 1805. To

Samuel Lucas and wife were born five children, viz :

William, John, Joseph, Joanna and Alice. Our subject

was raised a farmer; his education was limited to that of

common school. His father died in 1813, and he came

to Fayette County with his grandfather, who brought the

family from Ohio. February, 1840, he married Letitia

Hardin, a native of Bourbon County, born 1820, daughter

of Stull Hardin, of Green River Country. Our subject

after his marriage, came to this county; remained about

one year; then removed to Harrison County, where he

y9
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lived until 1843, since then he has been a constant resi-

dent of this county ; he has a farm of 301 acres, situated

in Paris Precinct. Wife died in February, 1864, having

borne him three children : William, Hardin and Mary.

In 1865, he married Mrs. Sophia Moore, born 1830; by her

he has one son, John M. Her maiden name was Morin,

daughter of Joseph and Sophia (Edwards) Morin. Mr.

Lucas has been a resident of the farm he novf^ owns, since

1868; he is the only remaining child of his father's fam-

ily. His brother William taught school and moved to

Harrison County, and engaged in merchandising there,

died in 1840 ; Joseph settled in the same county; was a

farmer; he died 1839; Joanna married Thomas Garth, of

this County; she died 1880 ; Alice married Henry

Calmes, of Clark County. Mr. Lucas for twelve years

was one of the Directors of the Deposit Bank ; he was

appointed executor of the William Garth estate, who had

left his will in care of Mr. Lucas, prior to his starting on

that fated trip. Mr. Lucas is a Democrat, and a member
of the Christian Church.

ROBERT LANGSTON, Sr., deceased; is a de-

scendant of one of the oldest settlers in the County

This gentleman was born November 19, 1807, in

this precinct, on the farm owned by Robert Clark. His

parents were Abraham and Isabella (Clark) Langston.

Jacob, the grandfather of Robert was a Virginian; he em-

igrated with his family to Kentucky, about 1790, locating

on the farm now owned by John B. Kennedy. Jacob

had six children, viz: Abraham, Isaac, Jacob, Obadiah,

Kate and Mary. All of the boys, save Abraham, went

South and settled in Georgia. The children of' Abra-

ham were eleven in number, five daughters and six sons,

viz: William, Jacob, Elizabeth, Mary, Robert, John,

Polly A., Amanda, Isaac, Abe and Jane. William was

born in this precinct, about the year 1797, and resides in

Missouri. Jacob is also a native of Missouri, in Boone

County, and there died. Elizabeth married John Tate,

and settled in Clark County, Ky.; Mary married John

D. Bratton and settled in Calloway County, Mo. John died

a young man. Polly married Johnson Robertson, she

resides in Mo., Lafayette Co.; Amanda married Gran-

berry Raid. Isaac settled in Clay County, Mo.; Abe, in

Clark Co. Jane died young. Mr. Robert Langston

married Sarah Parish, a native of Pendleton Co., Ky,

She died leaving three children, Eliza, Martha and Rob-

ert L. Mr. Langston has been engaged in farming for

several years; run a distillery and a mill, which was one

of the first built in the country; he now is retired from

active life, and resides with his son Robert L., who was

born Jan. 20, 1846. March 27, 1873, he married Fannie

Deavers, daughter of John Dearers of this precinct.

Robert L. has four daughters: Sarah M., Lizzie, Alice

and Elvira. He is engaged in farming, and walnut lum-

ber trade. Rob't Langston died at the residence of his

son, Jan. 24, 1882, of short illness; a man highly respect-

ed in the community.

PROF. W. H. LOCKHART, A. M., was born June 10,

1846, at Lexington, Ky. Henry Lockhart, his father,

was a native of the north of Ireland, near Londonderry;

came to America in 1807, with his father's family, and

located at Newburg, New York, in 1826; he settled in

Fayette County, and lived there as a farmer and trader

until 1866, when he moved to Bourbon, where he has

since resided. His mother, Sarah (Richardson) Lock-

hart, was a native of Fayette County, and daughter- of

Capt. Marquis Richardson and his wife, Henrietta Cat-

lett, originally Virginians. His mother died Feb. 4,

1860, aged seventy-six years. He was raised in Lexing-

ton, attending the best schools of the place, and, finally

completing his education in Transylvania University. In

1861, he wap elected a Professor in Transylvania Univer-

sity, and continued to teach until 1867, when he was

elected Principal of the Paris public school, and was re-

elected for three years. He then opened the Paris

"Classical Institute," of which he has been Principal and

is successfully conducting at the present time. He has

been closely identified with the educational interests of

Bourbon County for fifteen years, having been elected

School Commissioner in 1867, and re-elected since at the,

expiration of each term. He is at the present time serv-

ing as School Commissioner, his term expiring on No-

vember of this year. He has also been active in the edu-

cational work of the State, having served as Vice Presi-

dent and Secretary of the State Teachers' Association

for a number of years, and selected by the committee on

programme to prepare papers and deliver addresses on

different educational subjects.

J. McMillan, dentist; P. O. Paris; the oldest es-

tablished dentist in Paris, is the above, who was born in

this precinct Oct. 12, 1845, son of Robert McMillan.

His mother was Armilda, daughter of Thomas Stark, a

native of Virginia, who emigrated to Kentucky, locating

near Cane Ridge, this county. He was educated at Clay

Seminary, at North Middletown. In 1862 he began

the study of his profession, graduating in 1865, at

the Ohio Medical College, after which he located here

in Paris in the practice of his profession, where he has

since remained. He is also interested in breeding and

handling trotting horses, also farming to some extent,

having about 100 acres, part of which is within the cor-
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porate limits of the town. April, 1871, he was married

to Sallie C, daughter of .John R. L. Williams, of Clark

County, son of Gren. Samuel Williams. He has three

children: Bessie C, Charles A. and Milda; is a member
of the Christian Church and of the Masonic fraternity.

JOSEPH MITCHELL, farmer and stockraiser; P. O.

Paris; was born in Paris, May 24, 1832. He is a grand-

son of William and Mary Wilcox Mitchell, who were

natives of Pennsylvania, and emigrated to this State, lo-

cating near what is now Paris, shortly after the battle of

Blue Licks. He was a tanner by trade, and it is sup-

posed that he worked one of the first tanneries in the

county. The Mitchell family emigrated first from Scot-

land to the north of Ireland, from which place they em-

igrated to America. They belonged to the Old Scotch

Church, what is now demominated as Scotch-Presbyterian,

and were very strict in regard to their religious ideas of

worship. To William Mitchell and wife were born four

children; the eldest was William, who settled in Mason

County ; Thomas was the father of our subject, who

located in Paris; James settled in Indiana; Jane was

the only daughter. She married James Graham, and

settled in Indiana also. William Mitchell lived an hon-

orable and upright life, and died a christian, which life

he lived for many years. Thomas Mitchell, the father of

Joseph, was born in this county, and early in life learned

the blacksmith's trade, but did not follow this vocation

long, but learned the saddler's trade, which business he

followed for many years. He, too, like his father, lived

agreeable to his profession, being a member of the same

church. His death occurred in 1836. His companion

in life survived him until 1849. Theii' union was blessed

with four children, William being the eldest; Joseph,

Mary and Thomas. Of the above, William settled in

Paris, and engaged in the grocery business, where he

lived until removed by death in Dec, 1867. He left a

family of seven children. Mary married George Irvine,

and first settled in Indiana, but finally removed to Kansas,

and there died, leaving three children. Thomas settled

in Lexington, where he now resides. He is cashier in

the S'irst National Bank of that place. Joseph, our sub-

ject, was raised in Paris, and at the age of twelve, he

entered ifne store of N. B. Ryan as clerk; at the age of

twenty-three he became a partner with his employer, in

1845, under the firm name of Ryan & Mitchell, which as-

sociation lasted until" 1861. In 1865 he removed to the

farm he now owns, consisting of 430 acres, situated on

Winchester Pike, near Paris, where he has since been

engaged in farming and stockraising, making a specialty

of short-horns and Cotswold sheep. The farm Mr.

Mitchell owns was settled by the Breckinridges. Since

1865, Mr. Mitchell has been President of the Northern

Bank of Paris, and for many years a member of the Pres-

byterian Church. He has been twice married; first, in

1847, to Sarah M. Ryan, who was born in Paris, daughter

of Newton B, and Ann Grififing. Her family (the Ryans)

were natives of Virginia. Mrs. Mitchell died in 1857,

leaving two children: Newton, and Sarah M., who mar-

ried James L. Gay, of Woodford County. His second

marriage was consummated Oct. 1867, to Elizabeth J.

Brooks, who was born in Clark County, daughter of

Samuel and Polly (Gass) Brooks; both were early and

representative families of this county. One daughter by

last marriage, named Mary.

J. N. MARSH, farmer; P. O. Paris; born in this precinct

March 26, 1845, the eldest son of Benedict Beal Marsh,

born in this precinct 1808, who was the youngest son of

Beal Marsh and Eleanor Corbin, who were natives of Mary-

land. This ancient couple settled here in Bourbon Coun-

ty, in the latter part of the last century. His settlement

was near Paris, on the farm now owned by his grandson,

B. B. Six children were born to Benedict B., the eldest

wasDryden, who was born 1798; then Abram C, Nicho-

las C, Thomas K., Rachel and Benedict B.; all lived to

be grown. The parents of the above died as follows:

Beal, Nov. 5, 1835, his wife Eleanor, May 19, 1810. The

father of Nicholas, our subject, was raised on the farm,

but this not being satisfactory to him as a business, he

went to Philadelphia, where he learned the trade of

silversmith, which he followed several years at Flemings-

burg; then went to Richmond, this State; afterwards re-

moved to Paris, where he associated with his brother,

Thomas K., in the same business, which continued for

several years; he finally located on the homestead owned

and settled by his father. He then engaged in farming,

and continued until his retirement from business. His

death occurred 1875, his wife, four years later.

Four children were born them, viz : J. Nicholas,

Beal G., Thomas K. and Benedict B., also one daugh-

ter, who died aged fifteen. Nicholas, whose name heads

this page, was married May 22, 1866, to Anna Steele,

born in St. Louis, Mo., daughter of Dr. William Steele;

a native of Bourbon County. Soon after the marriage

he removed to the farm he now owns, which is located

on the Maysville Pike. His farm consists of 384 acres,

and well improved, having excellent buildings thereon.

He is engaged in the breeding and raising of short horn

cattle and Cotswold sheep. Six children have been born

to him, whose nAmes are, Eleanor R., Thomas K., Martha

D., Benedict B., William C, Anna F.
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JOSEPH W. McCARNEY, jailor; P. 0. Paris; was

born 1841 in Harrison County, this State; son ot" Thomas

McCarney, a native of Pennsylvania, who came to Ken-

tucky in 183a, and in 1833 married Sally A. Glenn, a^

native of Pendleton County, daughter of James Glenn,

formerly Sheriff of that County. Oar subject came, to

this County in 1851; he is the eldest of a family of four

children, viz: James, Ambrose, and. Ella, who is the wife

of James Menaugh. Thomas M. Carney died in Paris,

May, 1876; his wife survived him four years. Since Sept'

9, 1874, our subject has been jailor of Bourbon

County, and served in this capacity with credit to him-

self and to the satisfaction of the County. In 1876 he

married Martha Horton, daughter of James Horton; by
this marriage he has two children, Iva and John Current.

Mr. McCarney is a member of the I. O. O. F. and Knights

of Pythias.

WM. G. MORRIS, deceased, born May 2, 1834,

in Ruddel's" Mills Precinct ; son of Caleb Morris,

a native of Virginia, and emigrated to Kentucky,

when a young man, and was a participant in the

war of 1812; he died in ]870; his wife in 1826. Caleb

Morris married Eliza Northcutt, daughter of Nancy

(Hutchinson) Northcutt; she bore him two children:

William G. and an infant child who died young. Wil-

liam G. was married to Elizabeth Tucker, March 5, 1846,

a native of Harrison County; born Feb. 25, 1827; daugh-

ter of John B. and Mary (Day) Tucker; he was a native

of Maryland, May 9, 1786; she Fefe. 7, 1793. After Mr.

Morris was married, he located in this precinct; having

308 acres, he followed farming and stock raising, and re-

mained on his farm until his death, Sept. 30, 1881; he

was a member of the M. E. Church, and highly respected

for his virtues, being a kind husband and indulgent fath-

er, and upright in his dealings and business associations

with his fellow men. His wife and eight children sur-

vive him; the children are: Mary B., Belle, John C, W.
F., Carrie, Walter T., K. J. and Ettie; Mary resides in

Cincinnati, wife of W. H. Ashbrook; John C. resides on

the Tucker farm in Harrison County. John B. Tucker

died August 10, 1838; his wife, June 10, 1850, both iii

Harrison County. They raised a family of eight chil-

dren: Maria, she became the wife of Nelson Dills, of

Harrison County; the other children are Wra. G., Sam-

uel, Elizabeth, Caroline, Mary, Frank B., and Joseph, who

resides in this county; Frank B. resides in Boston, Mass.;

Mary in Oynthiana, wife of Dr. Beal. Mrs. Morris re-

mains on the farm, which she carries on, assisted by her

sons.

YOUNG W. MORAN, retired farmer; P. 0. Paris;

born in this precinct April 17, 1823, son of Edward B.

and Letitia (Clay) Moran, who were born March 18,

1786, and Deo. 10, 1792, respectively. The grand parents

of the above were William and Rebecca Birbour Moran,

both natives of Virginia; the former born Nov. 33, 1748;

she February 22, 1748. Edward B. Moran and wife

were married May 10, 1810, which union was blessed

with the following children, who were born and married

as follows, viz: Caroline B., was born Feb. 29, 1812, and

married Benjamin C. Bedford. Nancy Ann was born

Oct. 1, 1813, and married Nathaniel Rogers. Rebecca B-

Aug. 26, 1815, married Samuel Hedges; Elizabeth J.,

Feb. 24, ] 819, married Harvey A. Rogers; Letitia, Feb.

26, 1821; she died young. Next in order came Young

W., as above. Henrietta was born March 28, 1832, but

died before coming to maturity. The parents of the

above died as follows : Edward B., Feb. 5, 1845; Letitia

his wife, Oct. 9, 1857. Our subject was born on the farm

his father located, which was situated on the Stoner; the

land is now owned by Geo. M. Bedford. He was mar-

ried July 6, 1853, to Susan King Bedford, who was born

May 3, 1831, near Clintonville, daughter of .John and

Sallie G. (King) Bedford. She was born Oct. 17, 1803,

in Nelson Co., Ky., daughter of William and Nancy

(Ramey) King, to whom were born Sallie and Susan; the

latter is the wife of Dr. Hillory, of Bloomfield, this State.

Mr. Moran has been a resident of this county all his life,

and has been engaged in farming pursuits; he and Mrs.

Moran have about 1,000 acres of land in the county,

which they have farmed; since 1872 have been resi-

dents of East Paris. Of six children born to them two

are living, Edward B. and Sallie King.

JAMES MILLER, farmer and stock-raiser ; P. O.

Paris ; born May 5, 1817, in Harrison County, this State,

son of Hugh, whose father was likewise named Hugh
Miller, who was a native of Virginia, and emigrated to

this State when the country was new and unsettled, lo-

cating in Harrison County, and was one of the early Judges

in that county. Hugh, his son, was born Nov. 12, 1774.

In 1807, April 6, he married Mary Ewalt, who was born

Aug. 28, 1785, in Bourbon County, daughter of Henry

Ewalt, one of the early settlers in this County. To Hugh
Miller, Jr,. were born seven children ; of this number Hugh
was the elder, born 1808 ; Henry, 1809 ; William H.,

1812 ; Polly, 1814 ; James, 1817 ; Elizabeth, 1819 ; Mar-

garet J., 1822. The sons were never married, except

James, our subject; he was left fatherless at an early age;

his father was killed by a horse, James was raised by

his mother. Jan. 12, 1841, he married Annie F. Boyd,

a native of Harrison County, daughter of Joseph and
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Alice (Withers) Boyd; he was a son of John Boyd and

Katie Montgomery. John Boyd was a native of the

British Isles, and emigrated first to Virginia. Alice was

born in Fauquier County, Va., daughter of Benjamin and

Ann (Markham) Withers ; Benjamin was a soldier in

the Revolution; Joseph, his son, participated in the war

of 1812. Mr. Miller remained on the horns farm until

1873, when he removed to this County, locating on the

farm he now owns, called " Sunnyside," which contains

about 331 acres ; this farm was settled and improved by

Benjamin Rogers. Since 1858, Mr. Miller has been in-

terested in breeding and raising thoroughbred and trot-

ting horses; his stock are well and favorably known in

this arid adjoining counties. He purchased and brought

to this State, Alexander's Abdallah, which has become

famous among lovers of fine horses in Kentucky. Three

children have been born to Mr. Miller, but one now liv-

ing, Mary E., wife of J. Quincy Ward, of Cynthiana.

Alice died Nov. 23, 1853, aged six years ; Fannie died

Jan., 1878; she was the wife of Sidney B. Kennedy. Mr.

Miller has two granchildren : Anna C. and Jay

Quincy, who are the children of Mary E. Mr. Mil-

ler's sisters married and settled as follows, viz : Polly,

married Abe Keller, and settled in Harrison County;

Elizabeth E., H. Cromwell ; Margaret J., James Patter-

son, are settled in Harrison County.

HORACE MILLER, farmer and stock raiser; P. O.

Paris; the owner and proprietor of "New Forest," of

which this volume contains a sketch ; is a descendant of

one of the early pioneer families of this county—^the

only son of Horace Miller—who died of cholera in 1833.

The mother of our subject was Caroline, who was a

daughter of Benjamin and Anna (Turney) Forsythe.

Benjamin Forsythe emigrated to Kentucky from Vir-

ginia at an early day, locating in Bourbon County, where

he purchased large tracts of land in this, and in Kenton

and Champaign Counties, - Ohio. Mr. Forsythe's half-

sister. Miss Timberlake, became the wife of Judge Trim-

ble, of the Supreme Court of the United States; one of

his daughters, married Hon. Garrett Davis; the others

married worthy citizens of this State. Mr. Forsythe at

his death left one son and three daughters: his son, New-

ton, was for several years an active business man in this

county, and finally located in Jacksonville, 111. He had

a son named Benjamin, who graduated at West Point

with distinguished honor; he died at the commencement

of the late war, with the rank of Captain, in the regular

army. This branch of the family have become extinct,

except the wife of Newton, and a grandchild, now resid-

ing in Chicago. His daughter, Susan, married Gov.

James Clark, by whom she had several children, among

whom was Judith, who became the wife of General

Bright, of Fayetteville, Tenn. He was for several years

member of Congress, before and since the late war. His

son, Robert Clark, is now District Judge in California.

Gov. Clark married the second time; his step-daughter.

Miss Thornton, is the wife of Senator James Beck. His

daughter, Mrs. Charlotte (Forsythe) Buckner, now a res-

ident of Winchester, Ky., is the mother of Benjamin

Forsythe Buckner. The remaining members of that

family, are Dr. Garrett Davis Buckner, of Lexington,

and David Turney Buckner, of Winchester. Horace

Miller, whose name heads this sketch, was the only son of

his parents; he was born Oct. 17, 1831, in Millersburg

Precinct; his paternal grandfather was Robert E. Miller,

an early settler in this county, and a large land and slave

owner; our subject was educated at Bethany College,

under the tutorship of Alexander Campbell; Jan. 8, 1852,

he married Miss Susan Bonaparte Dorsey, a native of

New Orleans; since the age of twelve he has been iden-

tified with the Christian Church, of which he is one of

the official members; in politics, democratic, and is one

of the Curators of the University at Lexington; since

1863 he has been a resident of Paris Precinct, and en-

gaged in farming and stock-raising, dealing in short-

horn cattle and Cotswold sheep; for several years he

dealt quite largely in mules, his operations extending

through this and several of the adjoining States; his resi-

dence is called " New Forest;" its location is 2^ miles

from Paris, on the Maysville and Lexington Pike. The

Maysville and Lexington R. R. runs within 200 yards of

his yard gate, where there is a station named "New
Forest," in honor of the farm, which contains 610 acres

of choice land, handsomely located, and nearly in a

square, in plain sight of Paris, and two rail-

roads entering the same. The farm is watered by ponds

and never failing springs, has plenty of timber of the best

quality; there are two orchards on the farm; both contain

the best varieties of fruit, cherries, plums, apricots, etc.,

also a fine vineyard. The residence is a large two-story

brick, with basement of nine rooms; above contains

eight large rooms, besides halls, attics, and double por-

ches on the rear; has a double parlor with folding doors;

the wood work is of solid cherry, all of which was grown

on the farm; the yard contains about ten acres, filled with

evergreen and forest trees of all kinds; its long winding

avenues and drives are lined with trees and shrubs, form-

ing a compact arbor overhead, giving the place a pictur-

esque and romantic appearance.

L. P. MUIR, auctioneer and fine stock raiser ; P. O.

"® v
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Paris ; this well-known gentleman, "whose fame as a suc-

cessful salesman and judge of fine stock, is as wide as

the " Blue Grass Region " itself, was born at Hutchin-

son Station, this county, in the year 1844 ; son of Col.

Samuel and Sena (Dawson) Muir, to whom were born

nine children, six of whom came to the years of matur-

ity—three sons and three daughters; of the sons, L.

P. is the eldest ; John W., James V. are next in

order ; the daughters are Mary, who married Milton

G. Barlow, of Toledo, Ohio ; Alice, married V. Diok-

erson, of Franklin County ; Sena became the wife of

Ralph Nelson, and resides in this county. The fa-

ther of our subiect was a son of Samuel Muir, who was a

native of Scotland. Samuel, Jr., was in command of the

militia for several years, and thus gained the title of

colonel. He died 1854 ; his wife, six years later.

Since attaining his manhood's years, he has been engaged
in the breeding and growing of fine stock, his partiality

being in the direction of short-horns, of which he is an

excellent judge and thoroughly understands the short-

horn family, and is now the proprietor and publisher of

the "Short-Horn Record," which office he t<5ok charge of

in 1880, and since 1873 he has been engaged as sales-

man and auctioneer, having a wide reputation and a

lucrative business in the line of his profession. In 1879,

he married Alice Clark, by whom he has one child :

Lewis C. Mr. Muir is a member of the I. O. O. F., and

of the A. F. & A. M., also of the Royal Arch Chapter.

W. W. MASSIE, retired merchant; P. O. Paris. As one

of the decendants of Bourboun County's early settlers he

is the eldest living child of Jonathan and Mary McCor-

mick Massie, natives of Virginia. The paternal grand-

sire was Thomas Massie, whose ancestors came from the

old country, as did the McCormicks. Jonathan Massie

emigrated to Kentucky from Virginia when young,

riding behind his elder brother on horseback, and located

first in Montgomery County. He afterwards moved to

Bourbon County, where he married, and engaged in tan-

ning—conducting several tanneries, manufacturing, also,

boots and shoes. He owned and operated on Stoner, six

miles from Paris, the flour mill known as Massie's mill.

He was a successful business man, and having accumu-

lated a competency, retired from business in early life.

He was a man highly respected in social life, of regular

and simple habits, never extravagant in his tastes, taking

no special interest in politics, being eminently a peaceful

man and opposed to strife in any form, social, political

or religious, but was a substantial member of the Com-

monwealth. In 1838 he united with the Baptist Church,

under the preaching of Jeremiah Vardeman, but subse-

quently connected himself with the Reformed Christian

Church, remaining a member of the same until the time

of his death. Eight children were born to him; of this

number five reached maturity: two sons and three daugh-

ters. William, whose name heads this page, on reaching

manhood went to Philadelphia, where he learned the

dry-goods business. In 1846 he returned to Paris, en-

gaged in merchandising, which he made a success; in

1871 he retired from active business, having acquired a

handsome competence, and having an elegant and taste-

ful home, he lives in comparative retirement at Hidaway,

using a portion of his capital in commercial pursuits as a

means of investment. In 1857 he married Miss Anna
E. Dougherty, who was born in Bath County, in this

State, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth (Jones) Dough-
erty. Mr. Massie has had two sons born to him: Wal-
lace and William Charlton. Wallace died Feb. 5, 1879,

at Fawkhill Place, Poughkeepsie, N. Y., while attending

Commercial College. He was a bright and promising

youth ; educated at Michigan University, but death

marked him for his own, leaving a grievous wound from

which they cannot recover. Franklin Massie, the second

son, married Lizzie Kenney, only daughter of Silas Ken-
ney, of Fayette, and granddaughter of Robert Clark, of

Bourbon. He settled in Paris, and was for several years

associated with his brother William in business; after a

successful career he moved to a farm near Paris; he made
other changes, and finally died at a farm near Muir's

Station, in 1878. He left two sons: Robert the elder,

now in business in Rich Hill, Mo.; William, the younger, a

student at Center College, both being fine young men of

bright promise. Eliza, the eldest daughter, married Ben-
jamin Ogden, a nephew of Governor Metcalfe, who was
known as the old "Sledge Hammer." Mrs. Ogden has

three sons and two daughters : Virgil, Frank, Harry,

Belle and Bettie. Virgil, the elder son, mirried Miss

Ella Oifutt, of Bourbon County, and lives at present near

Marietta, Ga. Bettie, the second daughter, married to

William Donney, son of Major Donney, former Prose-

cuting Attorney for this district. Bettie Massie, the

second daughter, married Dr. Edward Ingels, of Paris,

who died, leaving one son: EJdward Hodge, now a mer-

chant clerk in Cincinnati. Mary Gates Massie, young-

est daughter of the family, married B. F. Williams, son

of Major G. W. Williams, she also being dead, leaving

two sons : Roger and George, young men of fine busi-

ness and social traits, living now in Lexington, Ky.
PHIL. NIPPERT, baker and confectioner; P. O. Paris.

The ancestors of Mr. Nippert came from the south

of France, at an early time, and their descendants finally

;^
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removed northward to what is now, Alsace, where our sub-

ject "was born, Aug. 21, 1833; he was named for his

father, who was a son of Henry Nippert; his mother was

Elizabeth Herman, who gave birth to eight children, but

two of the number ever came to America. The first ad-

venturer was George M., who came in 1839, and is now
a practicing physician in New Brighton, Penn., of the

Homeopathic school; Philip left the "father-land" in

1850, when a lad of eighteen; came first to Pennsylvania,

where he learned his trade at Pittsburg and New Brigh-

ton; in 1853, he came to Cincinnati, where he remained

until 1860, when he cast his lot with the people of Paris,

and has since remained; he first set up in business oppo-

site the postoffice, next door to the livery stable West,

where he continued until 1868, when he located where

he now resides and carries on his bakery, confectionery

and ice business; he having been the first to inaugurate

the ice trade in the town, which he has conducted since

1867; in 1854, he married Sarah Gallagher, by whom he

has had six children, viz: George, Lizzie (she died aged

sixteen), Henry, Charles E., Philip and May; three of the

above in railroad employ—Henry, Charles and Philip.

JONATHAN OWEN, retired farmer ; P. O. Paris
;

whose portrait appears in this work, is one of the descend-

ants of the earliest and among the most respected fami-

lies in Bourbon County. The subject of these lines first

saw the light of day, in North Middletown Precinct,

April 27, 1811; son of Robert and Nancy (Foster) Owen.

His paternal grandsire was Thomas Owen, a native of

Maryland, of Welch descent, and in the year 1786, he

emigrated to Clark County, this State, where he died.

He raised a family of seven children; the eldest was

Robert, who was born in 1776, and was but ten years of

age when he came to Kentucky, where he was reared to

farming pursuits, and came to Bourbon County in 1798,

locating in North Middletown Precinct, and engaged in

business as a farmer and distiller, and was a valued

member of the community up to his death, which oc-

curred in 1856; his wife preceded him four years. Jona-

than remained on the farm where he was born until twen-

ty-five years of age; Dec. 37, 183(i, he married Cynthia

Scott, who was also a native of Middletown Precinct,

daughter of William and Sallie (Hedges) Scott; after his

marriage, he engaged in farming, which he continued

very successfully until 1875, when he removed to Paris.

His wife died in 1868, having borne him three children;

the eldest was Sarah, now the wife of Edwin P. Bean^

who died, leaving ten children ; Nancy, the second child,

married Watson M. Gay; the youngest child was Robert

both of whom are residents of this county. All of the

above Mr. Owens settled upon farms that he had purchased

and improved, each in turn taking the homestead as they

married and settled down. Mr. Owen, at his father's

death, received a small patrimony, yet he succeeded by

hard labor and great diligence in acquiring about 3,000

acres of land, besides losing a good deal through mis-

placed confidence in others; while he labored to save,

yet he gave liberally of his means for the erection and

establishment of Churches, as well as to encouraging

public improvements, which would tend to be of benefit

to the community and the commonwealth; he never court-

ed the publicity of office, but preferred to live a quiet

and retired life; since 1842, he has been a consistent

member of the M. E. Church, and endeavored to live a

life in harmony with his profession. He now resides in

the suburban part of Paris, where he lives in compara-

tive retirement in the enjoyment of his pleasant home.

In 1870, he married Miss Mary Hutchcraft, who was a

daughter of John and Margaret (Mcllvain) Hutchcraft,

He was born Sept. 22, 1791, in Culpepper County, Va.;

son of Thomas, who married Ellen Apperson; he died

in 1835, aged 66 years. He came to Kentucky in 1803,

locating in Bourbon County with his father, Thomas.

John Hutchcraft was a good farmer and much interested

in blooded horses, and was the first owner of the cele-

brated horse Bertram; he died as he lived—an upright

man, and Mason, June 6, 1868, in Middletown Precinct,

where he settled. His wife, Margaret Long Mcllvain,

was born in Virginia, Dec. 7, 1798, and died May 26,

1842; she was a daughter of Hugh and Mary (Brent)

Mcllvain; he was born in Scotland, Aug. 26, 1767, and

came to Kentucky in 1793, and was a merchant; he died

April 18, 1818, near Paris; his wife, Mary Brent, was

born .luiie 38, the same year as her husband. Hugh Mc-

llvain had four sons and two daughters. John B. resides

in Louisville, and is now the only member of the family

living. When Thomas Hutchcraft died, he left the fol-

lowing children: John, Reuben, James, Richard, Nim-

rod an d Eliza H. He willed that John, James and Reuben

should live for twenty-one years together, or adjoining,

having everything in common, which wish was carried

out to the letter, as they during the time lived in perfect

harmony, which good feeling ever pervaded the familj'

afterwards. Thomas Owen raised a family of seven

children, viz : Robert, John, Jonathan, Samuel, Hester,

Margaret and Elizabeth. Jonathan and Samuel removed

in early life to Indiana; John in after life removed to

Madison County, and there died; Hester married Thom-

as Farmer, and finally located in Missouri; Margaret be-

came the wife of Richard Hukel, and settled in Clark
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County; Rachel settled in same county; she married John

Fanner, brother of Thomas. Jonathan, our subject, is

of a family of eight children; but two are now living,

our subject, and Mrs. G. H. De Jarnett.

HON. CHARLES OFFUTT, lawyer; P.O.Paris; was

bom Oct. 6, 1856, in Scott County, this State; eldest son

of C. L. Offutt and Agnes Jarvis. The subject of these

lines was raised to agricultural pursuits, but his tastes

not leading in that direction, he received a good educa-

tion, graduating at Georgetown College in 1876, with

the degree of Bachelor of Arts. The year previous to

his graduation he began the study of law, graduating in

1877, and immediately began the practice of his profes-

sion, locating in Paris. March 36, 1881, he received the

nomination as representative of Bourbon County, and

was elected August, the same year, and is the youngest

man ever elected to the office in the county. He has a

good practice, and has before him a bright and promising

future. He is a member of the A. F. & A. M., Paris,

Lodge, R. A. Chapter, and Webb Commandery, of Lex-

ington, Ky. C. L. Offutt, the father of our subject, was

born in Harrison County, this State, in 1830; son of N.

E. Offutt and Rebecca Sutfin; the former was born in

Maryland Nov. 9, 1803; son of Archibald and Jane

Offutt, both natives of Maryland. The Offutt fam-

ly are of Welch descent, and came to the United

States about the middle of the eighteenth century. Ag-

nes Jarvis was born in Scott County; daughter of Lewis

.Jarvis, who commanded a company in the war of 1812;

his wife was Alissa Baldwin, both natives of Kentucky,

The grandmother of our subject, Rebecca Sutfin, was a

daughter of Lou and Salbe (Hamilton) Sutfin, natives

of Kentucky. Archibald Offutt came to Scott County,

Ky., with his family, in 1812; there were nine children,

all of whom came to the years of maturity; their names
were: Nathaniel E., Sabert, Lewis, Lemuel, .lane, Clar-

issa, Louisa A., Polly and Mrs. Thompson. To Nathan-

iel Offutt and wife were born ten children; five of the num-

ber came to manhood and womanhood, viz: Richard H.,

William, C. L., Albert M. and Lou Ann. C. L., the

father of our subject, was raised to farming, and has since

been engaged in agricultural pursuits in Scott County,

where he now resides; in 1854, he was married, and

^buried his wife 1870, who bore him four children, viz:

Charles, John L., Willie, now the wife of John Wilmot,

of Clark County, this State; Albert L. is the youngest

child.

R. W. O'CONNOR, government store-keeper; P. O.

Paris; first saw the light of day Jan., 1846, in Roscom-

mon County, Ireland, son of John O'Connor and Mary

Kenney. When two years of age, he emigrated to

America, his father locating in Dryden, Tompkins County,

N. Y., where our subject attained his manhood, having

received the advantages of the village school; he, though

young, had some experience as a teacher. He came to

Kentucky, and arrived in Paris in the spring of 1866, an

entire stranger. He engaged as a clerk for Mr. Nippert,

and remained in his employ for thirteen years, losing

no time, working seven days in the week. He has been

three times elected Councilman, and in 1874, while yet a

clerk, was elected Mayor of Paris, serving four years

with credit to himself, and to the satisfaction of the

citizens. His firmness and decision, as well as his im-

partiality in the discharge of his duties, made him a pop-

ular officer. Since 1879 he has been in Government em-

ploy, as store keeper. By his industry and economy he

has acquired considerable property, which yields him a

reasonable income. He is a member of the Catholic

Church; in politics Republican; is a member of the fire

company, which mainly through his instrumentality, has

been brought to its present excellent condition.

SAMUEL L. PATTERSON, farmer and stock-raiser;

P. O. Paris. The proprietor and owner of " Patterson

Dale Farm," was born Aug. 1, 1819, in Leesburg Pre-

cinct, in Harrison County, son of Joseph, who was born

.July, 1783, in Augusta County, Va.; he married Susan

Smith, a native of Woodford County, this State, she was

born about the year 1793, a daughter of Elijah and Han-
nah (Todd) Smith, both families were natives of Virginia.

The paternal grandfather of our subject was Joseph Pat-

terson, who married a Laird, and emigrated to Fayette

County about 1794, he died 1829, a farmei\by occupation.

The subject of these lines was of a family of twelve chil-

dren, ten of whom came to maturity. He had but com-

mon school advantages, having never attended high

school or college; he was raised to farming pursuits, his

father being a large farmer and successful business man,

and was for many years prominently associated with Harri-

son County, both in a business and legislative manner; he

began public life about the year 1822, and for five terms

represented his county in the Legislature, and in the

Senate four years, and was a prominent member of the

church of which he was elder for years, and was a liberal

man in all his relations with the church and society, and

its demands generally. Samuel L. remained with his

father on the home farm, until he was thirty years of age,

his father having about 1000 acres of land, which they

farmed in common. Jan. 18, 1849, he married Penelope

Stamps Ewalt, who was born May 3, 1829, on Cooper's

Run; she was a daughter of Richard and Maria (Stamps)
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Ewalt, Maria was a daughter of William Stamps and

Jane Shores. After Mr. Patterson's marriage, he re-

mained on the land set off to him from his father's estate,

to which he added more by purchase from lands adjoin-

ing; here he remained until 1866, when he and his brother

Eli dissolved partnership and removed to this county; he

located on the farm he now owns, consisting of 206 acres,

for which he paid $140 per acre. Mr. Patterson is one of

the thorough-going and scientifio farmers in the county.

Since 1852, has been engaged in breeding short-horns,

trotting horses and Cotswold sheep. He is a member
and deacon of the Christian Church, and in politics is

Democratic. Has no children.

IRA J. PENN, farmer, is descended from one Joseph

Penn who was born in Maryland, a descendant of William

Penn, of Pennsylvania. He emigrated to Bourbon

County, Ky., was twice married and had two sets of

children; six by the first wife and eight by the last wife.

His occupation was farming, and he lived to be very old,

and died in Bourbon County, Ky. David Penn, a son by

the last wife, was born in Bourbon County, Ky., March

32, 1798; his mother's maiden name was Charlotte Aker;

was twice married. On the 11th of March, 1819, he was

married to Polly Lyon, daughter of John and Abigail

Lyon; they had seven children, four sons and three

daughters; three are dead, viz.: David, William and Ann

Elizabeth. The names of the others are, Joseph, Jacob,

Charlotte, Mary Ellen. Jacob, the oldest son, married a

Miss Rogers, and lives in Scott County, near Midway;

Joseph married Miss Elizabeth Webb, of Bourbon County,

Ky., and is a farmer, living near Crawfordsville, Ind.;

William died Oct. 20, 1853; David Penn, Jr., married

Catharine Russell, of Montgomery County, Ky. They

had several children, only one of whom is now living, Ira

J. Penn, a farmer, now 34 years of age, and a resident of

Bourbon County. Charlotte, first daughter of David and

Polly Penn, was married to Oliver McLeod, who is a

farmer in Montgomery County, and who lives near

Browns Valley, Ind. Mary Ellen, second daughter, was

married Sept. 3, 1845, to Dr. J. P. Russell, of Montgom-

ery County, near Mt. Sterling. They emigrated to

Waveland, Ind., soon after their marriage, and still re-

side there. The doctor has raised a large family of chil-

dren, two of whom are married. Leonora, the oldest

daughter, married Aquilla Groves, of Park County, Ind.,

and now resides near Crawfordsville. Bessie C, third

daughter, married Ira J. Penn, of Bourbon County, Ky.

Polly Penn, wife of David Penn, Sen., died July 7, 1856.

Some years after her death David was married to Mrs.

Paulina Jones, and removed to Harrison County, in the

Precinct of Cyiithiana, where he now resides. The death

of his second wife, Paulina, occurred in the Fall of 1873.

Although 84 years of age, David Penn is yet an active

old man and is engaged in farming.

B. F. PULLEN, court officer; P. O. Paris. Among
the old and highly respected residents of this city, who

have served as sheriff and mayor several terms, is the

above mentioned gentleman, who was born in this pre-

cinct. May 22, 1825; his parents were James and Agnes

(McClanahan) Pullen, both of whom were natives of Cul-

pepper County, Va.; James was a son of Zedekiah Pul-

len, a Virginian by birth, but of Scotch ancestry; Agnes,

the mother of our subject, was a daughter of William

McClanahan; James Pullen emigrated to this State from

the Old Dominion a short time prior to the war of 1813, in

which he was a participant; in 1837, he located in Boone

County, remaining there until his death, which occurred

about the year 1864; eleven children were born to James

Pullen; among whom were: William, Elizabeth (who be-

came the wife of Edward Prentice), James, died in New
Orleans of yellow fever; Agnes, married James Norman.

The subject of these lines during his early manhood,

learned the trade of plasterer, which vocation he fol-

lowed for several years. He has served the county as

deputy sheriff several terms, and was twice elected sheriff;

in 1861, he was elected mayor of the city, and served

twelve consecutive terms; he is a member of the Inde-

pendent Order of Odd Fellows; in 1877-78, he was Grand

Master of the State of Kentucky; as a Free Mason, he

has passed through the various degrees pertaining to the

Blue Lodge, the Chapter, and taken the orders of Knight-

hood, being a member of Webb Commandery, at Lex-

ington; in rehgious matters, Mr. Pullen has always taken

an active part, both as lay and official member of the

Christian Church of his place; in temporal matters he

has been successful, and at one time possessed consid-

erable property, but through his unbounded liberality

and his kindness to his friends, and his inability to say

no, he has been deprived of the larger portion of his ac-

quired property; yet his honor and integrity as a business

man and christian gentleman have never been questioned;

in 1846, he formed a matrimonial alliance with Elizabeth,

daughter of French Abbott and Elizabeth Prichard, both

of representative families in this county; Mrs. Pullen

died in 1874, having borne him eleven children; in 1876,

Mr. Pullen married Mrs. Sarah (Hibbler) Abbott, daugh-

ter of Styrus Hibbler; no children by. last marriage.

H. M. RUOKER, banker; P. O. Paris. This gentle-

man was born in 1820, in Scott County, Ky., son of

Lewis D. and Margaret (Goddard) Rucker, both natives

^ S
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of Kentucky. The graudsire on his father's side, came

from Virginia, locating in what is now Woodford County,

about the year 1775. The Goddard family are among
the early settlers in Kentucky. Michael Goddard, the

maternal grandsire of Mr. Rucker, was born in the State

as early as 1783, and was from that time forward identi-

fied with the interests of this State; Lewis D. Rucker re-

moved to Scott County shortly after his return from the

war of 1812, remaining there until his death, which oc-

curred in 1867. His wife preceded him in 1836; but

three children were born them, who came to maturity:

H. M., Margaret, and Catharine, who married William J.

Rusk, and settled in Louisiana. The subject of these

lines was early in life placed upon his own resources
;

while a lad of thirteen he began making provision for

himself. By economy and perseverance he saved enough

means to enable him to enter Georgetown College, gradu-

ating there ere he became of age. Soon after his gradu-

ation, he taught four years as Professor of Mathematics,

at Bowling Green, this State, after which he returned to

Georgetowh, where he subsequently engaged in teaching

and merchandising, making this his home until he came

to Paris, in July, 1854, when he entered the Deposit

Bank of Paris as clerk, in which capacity he served until

1857; since has been cashier of the same. He has been

successful in his business relations, having secured a

competency for himself and family, and withal has been

liberal in his contributions to all benevolent enterprises.

Since twelve years of age he has been a member of the

M. E. Church, of which his father was for many years

identified. In 1849 Mr. Rucker was married to Frances

S. Scott, of Jessamine County, daughter of Thomas B.

and Frances (Sappington) Scott. Mr. Scott's father was

a surgeon in the war of the Revolution. Thomas Scott's

mother's maiden name was Dnrbin, prior to her marriage.

Mr. Rucker has two sons, Henry and William. The

former resides in CoiFey Coutity, Kan., attorney-at-law;

William at home with his parents.

Dr. JOHN D. RAY, physician ; P. O. Paris. One

of the prominent physicians of this city, is John D.

Ray, who was born in this county, Aug. 37, 1834,

eldest son of Dr. L. G. Ray, who was one of the

ablest physicians of his time in the county. He
was born in Edgecombe County, N. C, Feb. 14, 1799

;

son of Rev. John Ray, a prominent minister of the

M. E. Church ; his ancestors were of Scotch-Irish

descent. The wife of Dr. L. G. Ray was Elizabeth

Stone ; while the wife of Rev. John, the grandfather of

our subject, was Elizabeth Lewis. Dr. L. G. Ray came

to this county in 1823, and began the practice of his

profession, and ranked high as a practitioner, and died

suddenly of heart disease in 1864, at Goshen, while

on the cars at the time the train was robbed. To him

were born five children, who came to the years of matur-

ity, of whom John D. was the eldest ; the second was

William, who was Adjutant under General Price, and

died at Corinth ; the third is Dr. Edward, now practicing

medicine in Paris ; Charles resides in Chicago; Arabella

is dead. All the children of the grandfather Ray were

ministers, except L. G. In 1846 John D. began reading

medicine, graduating at the University, at New York
;

after which he began the practice of his profession in

Paris, and has been a constant resident since that time.

In 1853 he married Mary E. Hutchcraft, who was born

in this county ; daughter of Reuben and Fannie (Hedges)

Hutchcraft. Mrs. Ray died in 1861, leaving one child,

Warren Sweeney. In 1863 he married Mary B. Ricketts,

of Warrenton, Va., daughter of John and Margaret
(Suddeth) Ricketts. He has one child : Charles A. The
Doctor enjoys a lucrative practice, and is highly esteem-

ed for his virtues as a citizen and a healer.

CAPT. GREENBERRY REID, farmer; P. O. Paris;

born March 1, 1816, on the banks of the Stoner; son of

William S. Reid, who was born in Virginia, 1779; a

farmer by occupation, and emigrated to Kentuci<y in

1804, and the year following he became the husband of

Jemima Hedges, who bore him eleven children, of whom
our subject was the sixth in order of birth. Mr. Reid
died Aug. 31, 1839. Jemima was born in Maryland, 1790,

daughter of Joseph Hedges and Sarah Biggs, who emi-

grated to this country in 1792, locating at Stony Point,

and raised a family of nine children, Jemima being the

eighth. Joseph Hedges was a captain in the war of 1812,

and was a good citizen of the commonwealth. Green-
berry Reid was brought up to farming, remaining at

home until his majority. Aug. 15, 1837, he married

Amanda Langston, who was born May 16, 1815, on the

farm now owned by John B. Kennedy. Her parents

were Abraham and Isabella (Clark) Langston. Mr.

Langston was born about 1779, and emigrated to Ken-
tucky in 1796, and located near where J. B. Kennedy
now lives. He died in 1865—his wife in 1836. They
raised a family of ten children. For four years after Mr.
Reid's marriage he was engaged as Overseer. In 1842
he purchased land near Paris, upon which he resided

until 1856, when he moved to Pleasant View, two miles

north of Paris, having a farm of 108 acres, where he has

since lived. He has two children: George W. and
Amanda. Geo. W. married Mary E. Robison, dauo-hter

of Johnson and Polly (Langston) Robison; he has one
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daughter, Ruth Clark. Amanda is the wife of Frank
Isgrig. Religiously, Mr. Raid is not a member of any
church—but a member of the Masonic Fraternity, Blue
Lodge and Chapter. Has always been Republican in

principle. In November, 1861, he was commissioned U.
S. Deputy Marshall, in which capacity he served until

1863, when he recruited a company of 80 men, Co. H,
40th Reg. Mounted Infantry, and was mustered into ser-

vice Sept. 38, 1863, and served until Dec. 30, 1864; was in

several different engagements. The following year, in
April, he raised a company of State troops, Co. "A,"
and was mustered out in December, same year. Mrs.
Reid died of pneumonia, February 6, 1883.

DANIEL ROCHE, grocer; P. O. Paris. Among the

enterprising young business men of Paris, who contrib-

ute by their business industry to the commercial interest

of Bourbon County, and though commencing less than a

score of years past, and upon his own resources, yet he
has outstripped and surpassed many of the old pioneer

business men of the place that were doing business years

before he was born. The above was born Nov. 36, 1853,
in Millersburg Precinct; the eldest son of a family of

four children ; his parents were Florence and Mary (Stack)

Roche, both natives of Kerry County, Ireland, and emi-
grated to Kentucky about the year 1848. Florence Roche
was a stone cutter by occupation, and plied his vocation

in this and adjoining counties up to the time of his death,

which was about the year 1858; the children born to him
were: Daniel, Thomas, Bettie and Maggie. At the age

of fourteen our subject came to Paris and engaged as a

clerk, in 1865, for Messrs. Hiokey & Dow, remaining

with them two years, at which time Mr. Dow purchased

his partner's interest, and he continued in Mr. Dow's em-
ploy for eleven consecutive years; during this time, by
economy he saved enough money to enable him to em-

bark in business for himself, making his commencement
November, 1878, and has since continued. He keeps a

full line of groceries, queensware, liquors, etc., and has

built up a thriving and prosperous trade. April 36, 1881,

he married Mollie Parker, from Frankfort, Ky., daughter

of Michael and Mary(Flynn) Parker, both natives of the

Emerald Isle. He is a member of the Catholic Church.

HON. WILLIAM E. SIMMS, farmer and general

business ; P. O. Paris ; lawyer, soldier. Congressman,

and Kentucky Senator to the Confederate Congress dur-

ing the Civil War ; was born in Harrison County, Ky.

His father, William M. Simms, was a native of Henry

County, Va., came to Kentucky about the year 1809, first

settled in Harrison County, removed to Bourbon County

in 1838. He was a soldier in the war of 1813 ; served in

Capt. Duvall's Co., under Gen. Harrison, at Fort Meigs;
was engaged in agricultural pursuits during his life, and
died at his home in 1844. He was the son of Ignatius M.
Simras, a Virginia farmer, who was a soldier in the war
of the Revolution, and who lived and died in the " Old
Dominion." The mother of the subject of this notice,

Julia (Shropshire) Simms,was a native of Harrison County,
Ky., and a daughter of James Shropshire, a pioneer farm-
er of that county, from Virginia. She died in the twenty-
first year of her age, leaving two sons, Edward and
William, who continued to reside with their father.

They received a good education in the schools of the
county, and at the age of eighteen, were each well pre-

pared to enter upon the higher professional studies. In
1840, Edward, the elder brother died, and William, the
subject of this sketch, took his brother's place in the

management of their father's business, who was then in

very feeble health. After his father's death, in 1844, he
commenced reading law with Judge Aaron K. Wooley,
of Lexington, Ky.; entered Transylvania University in

1845, in the law department, and graduated with dis-

tinguished honor in his class of 1846. He then com-
menced the practice of law in Paris, Ky., where he now
resides. In 1847, he raised a company for the Third
Kentucky Regiment of Infantry, to serve for and during
the war with Mexico ; was elected Captain, and served

with his command under Gen. Winfield Scott, in Mexico
until the war closed. Returning home, he brought with

him, at his own expense, the remains of those of his com-
pany who had died while in the service of their country.

In 1849, he was elected to represent Bourboa County in

the State Legislature, and served one term. In 1850, he

resumed the practice of his profession with succesf, and
for some years devoted to his professional duties his best

energies and ability. In 1857, he was editor of the Ken-
tucky State Flag, a Democratic newspaper, and advocated

with ability the election of Hon. James B. Clay to Con-
gress. In 1859, he was nominated by the Democratic

Congressional Convention to succeed Hon. James B.

Clfiy. In this race he was elected over his opponent,

Hon. John Harlan. It was during this contest that

the personal diifioulty occurred between him and the Hon.

Garrett Davis, which was, however, honorably adjusted.

In 1861, at the expiration of his term in Congress, he was

renominated by his party, but in this race was defeated

by Hon. John J. Crittenden, upon the Union issue. The
civil war being now inaugurated, and believing the South

to be in the right, he entered the Confederate a' my as a

Colonel, and served under Gen. Humphrey Marshall, until

February, 1863. In the latter part of the year 1861, he
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was chosen Senator to the Confederate Congress, by the

Provisional Legislature in session at Bowling Green, with

Hon. H. C. Burnett his colleague. In 1865, after the

cause was lost and the armies disbanded, he, with other

eminent Kentuckians, resided for some months near Char-

lottesville, Virginia. Subsequently, he removed to Can-

ada, but in January, 1866, returned to his home in Paris,

and has since mainly given his attention to agricultural

pursuits. Col. Simms has filled many positions of the

highest public trust and honor in the gift of the people of

his State. He served with distinction in both the Con-

federate and Federal Congress ; was a gallant soldier, an

able lawyer, a public speaker of rare ability and power,

and possesses in an eminent degree those traits of

character that would make him, at all times, prominent in

any great social or political emergency. In manner and

address, he is plain and unpretending with warm and

earnest friendships. He now resides near Paris, in the

midst of his family and friends, engaged in those duties

and cultivating those virtues which add grace and dig-

nity to a life eventful and historic. He was married Sept.

37, 1866, to Miss Lucy Blythe, daughter of James Blythe,

of Madison County, Ky. The issue of this marriage are

three children, a daughter and two sons. Col. Simms is a

member of the Christian Church at Paris.

REV. J. S. SWEENEY, minister; P. O. Paris. El-

der John S. Sweeney is a native of Kentucky, born of

a family of preachers, and the great-grandson of Moses

Sweeney, who emigrated from Ireland to this State, short-

ly after the advent of Daniel Boone, and settled in

what is now Lincoln County, Kentucky. He was a farmer,

but for several years was engaged in salt manufac-

ture. He raised a family of seven children, six sons

and one daughter. Job, one of his sons, was the grand-

father of our subject; he married Sallie Edwards, who
bore him nine children, among whom was Guirn, the

father of the above, who was one of the pioneer ministers

of the Reformed, or Christian Church; he was born in

Lincoln Co. in 1807, and proclaimed the doctrine em-

braced by the church, almost a score of years before

Alexander Campbell joined its standard. Guirn

Sweeney married Talitha Campbell, daughter of John,

who came from Scotland. Nine children crowned this

union, four of whom are ministers of the same church as

their father. WilHam G. is a minister in Dubuque,

Iowa; George W., pastor at Terre Haute, Indiana; Zach.

T. has charge of a church in Augusta, Georgia. The

Sweeney family are strong and robust in constitution,

and long-lived, some of whom closely verged upon cen-

tenarians. John S. early in life had a desire to attain a

knowledge of the law, and commenced reading at eighV.

een years, which he pursued some length of time. At

the age of twenty-two he entered the ministry, and be-

gan his labors in Greene County, Ills., laboring in that

State about fourteen years; five years he was pastor of

the First Christian Church, on Wabash Avenue, in Chi-

cago. In 1870 he came to this place and had charge of

the church at this place since that period. Elder Swee-

ney is well known as one of the ablest divines and worthy

exponents of the doctrines of his church, in the North

or South, having very ably and most successfully mea-

sured lances on the forum and elsewhere, with the best

talent that could be arrayed against him. He was first

married in 1860 to Mary Coons, daughter of James and

Mary (Cheatham) Coons. Mrs. Sweeney died 1873,

leaving two daughters. Alia and Daisey. His present

wife was Alice Monin, by whom he has three sons: John

M., William E. and babe.

CAPT. E. F. SPEARS, milling; was born 1840 in Paris,

the third son of Abram Spears and Rebecca Ford. At the

age of thirteen he began to do for himself, being early

in life trained to provide for his own necessities. At the

outbreak of the war, he espoused the cause of the South,

and in June volunteered his services in the Second Ken-

tucky Infantry as private, he was, however, soon after

elected First Lieutenant in Co. "G," and for efi^ective

service rendered, he was promoted to a captaincy and led

his company until the close of the war. During this

time he participated in all the heavy battles in which

his command was engaged, except Shiloh, he was three

times wounded, and once taken prisoner, yet through all,

he acquitted himself as a true and gallant soldier; upon

his return to Paris, at the termination to the war, he en-

gaged in the grocery trade for about two years with his

brother Henry; in 1867, he engaged in company with

others in the distillery and mill business, under the firm

name of Woodford, Spears & Clay, which association

lasted about nine years, at which time the firm dissolved,

Mr. Spears purchasing the mill-site, and the warehouse

near by, and engaged in milling exclusively in 1876; his

mill is situated in the southern part of the precinct, on

the Stoner River; under his management the mill is

doing an excellent business; the mill has five run of stone,

and the arrangement of the manufacturing portion was
with a view to make the " New Process " flour. The
mill runs regularly, having steam power attached when
the water is low, and with his grading appliances for his

wheat, he is enabled to make a straight and regular grade

of flour, which is in demand in the market, from the reg-

ularity of the brand; in 1866, he married Sallie Wood
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ford, eldest daughter of John T. Woodford, one of the

prom nent farmers of the precinct. To Mr. Spears have
been born five children, whose names are : Mary, John
W., Lizzie, Cateshy, and Keith Young.
WILLIAM SHAW, Sr., P. O. Paris; the enterprising

miller of Paris, was born February 6, 1814, in Lancaster-

shire, England. His parents were John Shaw and Han-
nah Cox. The paternal grand-parent of our subject was
James Shaw, whose wife's maiden name was Lofton, all

of English birth and parentage. Our subject emigrated
from England to Kentucky with his parents, in 1821, lo-

cating in Paris. His father was thoroughly versed in

the manufacture of cotton and woolen goods, and under-

stood well the management of all the details necessary to

the successful running of the same. Immediately upon
his arrival he took charge of the factory run by Samuel
P.ke; afterwards went to Maysville where he took

charge of a mill for three years; returning then to Paris,

he resumed the superintendence of the factory for his

former employer, remaining with him until the close of

1828, when he built a lot of cotton machinery for Thomas
and Hugh I. Brent, and took charge of same for five

years, when the firm changed hands, he still running the

same for its successors until 1836. He then became a

part owner. His death occurred in August, 1843. He
was a man highly esteemed for his virtues; not a member
of any orthodox church, but a temperance man and a

zealous admirer of Mr. Clay, and a member of the Whig
party. To him were born eleven children, nine of whom
grew to manhood and womanhood, viz : William, Mary,

Elizabeth, Julia, Joseph, Benjamin, John, James and

Louisa. The subject of these lines was the eldest of the

family of children. He learned the business of his father.

In February, 1837, he took charge of the cotton depart-

ment, which he run until the close of 1846, at which

time the care and management of both departments de-

volved upon him, conducting the same until the close-

of 1851. He then embarked in the milling business at

Ruddel's Mills, where he built two saw-mills and carried on

a custom mill also. In 1859, he returned to Paris and

purchased the mill property of Daniel Isgrig, where he

has since remained. Mr. Shaw has since rebuilt and

made several important additions to his mills, and is doing

a thriving and prosperous business, with a capacity of one

hundred barrels per day, which is mainly absorbed by

home consumption. Mr. Shaw deferred his marriage far

into bachelorhood. March, 1867, was wedded to Mrs.

Catharine Dimmitt, daughter of George Dimmitt, for-

merly a native of Maryland. Has always been a Repub-

lican.
*

W. H.-SPEAKES, farmer ; P. O. Paris ; born July 31,

1831, in this county ; son of Hezekiah and Ann
(Garrett) Speakes. The grandfather of the above was
named Hezekiah also ; he was a native of Virginia, and
emigrated to this county with Old Man Kiser, and located

in this county at an early day, at a place since called

Kiser Station. Hezekiah built a still-house here, which

was among the first enterprises of the kind in the coun-

ty, and remained here until his death, which occurred in

1835 ; he married Ellen Tucker, and by her had three

children: John, Hezekiah, and William—called "Jack,"

"Hez," and "Will." But one of these survived—"Hez,"
the father of our subject, who married Ann Garrett, and
by her had also three children, named Jack, Hez, and

Will. The great-grandfather of W. H. was named
Hezekiah ; he had three sons, whom he named " Jack,''

"Hez," and "Will." The one named Hezekiah was the

grandfather of W. H. ; who had three sons, whom he

named " Jack," "Hez," and "Will." Four generations

named Hezekiah, each having three sons, each set

having the same names, with this difference—the first

Hrzekiah down to the third had but three sons, but

raised but one of them, Hezekiah being the surviving

one ; W. Hezekiah, our subject, being the fourth in

regular descent, bot had twelve born, but carried the

family name down, naming three of them "Jack,"

"Hez," and "Will"; but in his case, "Hez" did not

survive. Our subject was left fatherless at the age of

two years ; his father dying of cholera, in 1833. Our

subject began life upon his own resources in his early

manhood, learne 1 the mysteries of distilling, and for

seventeen years had charge of a distillery, and became

proficient in the art. Feb. 10, 1857, he married Nancy
Palmer ; born Oct. 27, 1838 ; daughter of Thomas
Palmer and Judith Collins. The Palmer family are

descendants of one Joseph Palmer, a Revolutionary

soldier of seven years service ; his son, Robert, was

born in Bryant's Station, in 1793, who was the grand-

father of Mrs. Speakes. Mr. Speakes has 300 acres of

land. Children living are : John, Lou, Ellen, William,

Lucy, George, Joseph, Blanton, Odella, and Ora.

JOHN K. SPEARS, deceased; born Deo. 15,

1813, in this precinct; son of Solomon, who was

born March 1, 1790, in this county; he was a son

son of Jacob Spears, a native of Pennsylvania, and em-

igrated to Kentucky, and settled in this precinct at a

very early day, locating on the farm now owned by W.
H. Thomas, and built one of the first still-houses in that

part of the county; Solomon Spears married, Dec. 12, 1811,

Margaret Kerfoot, who was born Sept. 20, 1796, in Vir-
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ginia, daughter of George and Kittie (Sours) Kerfoot;

Solomon Spears died Aug. 31, 1830; his wife, June 30,

1833; he died on the farm his father settled, having suc-

ceeded him in the distillery and farming pursuits; his

children were, John K., Jacob, Noah, Elizabeth, Lydia

A., and Mary E., John K. was married, Jan. 21, 1836, to

Emily Morin, born June 1, 1820, in Harrison County,

Ky., daughter of Joseph, who was born November 1787,

in this precinct, and married Sophia Edvpards, a native of

Virginia; born, July 35, 1793, in Prince William Co.;

Sophia was a daughter of George Edwards, who was a

son of Hayden Edwards, a native of Wales, and emi-

grated from there to Prince William Co. at an early

day; George Edwards married Betsey Monroe, daughter

of James Monroe; he located in this precinct in 1794, on

the farm he lived and died; Joseph Morin was a son of

James, who was likewise one of the early settlers in this

county; he located on the farm owned by Mrs. Silas

Hedges; John K., remained on the farm where born, un-

til 1844, when he moved to the farm now occupied by

his widow; his death occurred April 11, 18.54, leaving at

the time of his death 380 acres of land and the following

children: Margaret, Sophia, Solomon, Joseph, Jacob,

TSToah, Emily, and Catharine K. ; Margaret resides in Har-

rison Co., wife of W. K. Griffith; Solomon, resides in

Kansas City; Joseph, on the homestead; Emily, wife of

W. H. Clay, of Centerville Precinct; Catharine K., wife

of Thomas Wornall, of this precinct; Sophia, married

Joseph Ewalt, and died, leaving no issue; Jacob, died

young; Noah, married Georgia Childs—he died October

10, leaving three children.

JOSEPH W. STIVERS, deceased; was born in

Hutchinson Precinct, Oct. 23, 1830, son of Rozelle P.

Stivers, born in March, 1779, who was a son of Reuben.

Rozelle married Nancy Barger, who was born 1795,

in Culpepper, Va. To them were born the follow-

ing children : .James, John, Elizabeth, Joseph, Sarah,

Samuel, Lou, Rebecca and George. Mr. Stivers was

married Feb. 27, 1861, in Middletown, Ky., to Mary Set-

tles, who was born Sept. 21, 1840. She was a daughter of

John and Polly (Swader) Settles. She died March, 1883.

.John Settles was born Jan. 38, 1806; his wife, Polly,

Jan. 4, 1807, and were married Jan. 4, 1838. Polly was

a daughter of Tobias Swader and Nancy De Hayden.

To John Settles and wife were born seven children, viz:

William H., Benjamin, Elizabeth, Joseph, Franklin, John

T. and Mary, who is the wife of the subject of these lines.

John Settles died April 22, 1843. After the marriage of

Mr. and Mrs. Stivers, they located on Strode's Creek, in

Middletown, and engaged in farming pursuits. In 1873

he removed to this precinct, locating on the farm now occu-

pied and owned by his family. To him nine children were

born, viz: Joseph Hooker, Harvey S., Ella G., James R.,

Rebecca L., Lillie S.,Rufus P., Eva and LizziB. Mr. Stivers

is the inventor and patentee of the noted Blue Grass

Stripper, which is now coming into general use, patented

June 31, 1870. He died January 30, 1881. He was a

soldier in the Mexican war; went at the age of sixteen as

drummer boy, and served over three years in the late

war as a field officer in the 14th Ky. Cavalry.

MAJOR JOHN SHAWHAN, deceased. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born Oct. 3, 1811, in Har-

rison County, Ky. ; was a son of Joseph Shawhan and

Miss Ewalt; Joseph being a son of Daniel Shawhan.

The Shawhans came here from Maryland about the year

1795, and settled near the Harrison and Bourbon County

line. To Daniel Shawhan were born eight children.

Joseph and John settled in this county and w^re large

landholders; Joseph served in the war of 1812; he died

in 1873, in his ninety-third year; he was a farmer and

breeder of thoroughbred horses; his children are as fol-

lows: Betsey, Henry, Daniel, John, Margaret, Rebecca

and William. Betsey, now Mrs. Lail, of Harrison Coun-

ty; Margaret, Mrs. Pugh Miller, also of Harrison County.

Rebecca married Wesley Hoggins, of Bourbon County,

Ky. All his sons settled in this State; Henry, in Cyn-

thiana, Harrison County; Daniel, in Bourbon County;

John, in Harrison County; was a farmer, and served as

Captain of Company D, in the Mexican war; was sheriff

of this county, and represented both houses in the Leg-

islature; run a distillery near Cynthiana; during the late

war, in September, 1861, he raised a company of men
and was promoted to Major of 1st Ky. Battalion; re-

mained until Oct. 3, 1863; was killed by bushwhackers,

in Morgan County, Ky.; his wife, Talitha, daughter of

George and Sallie (Anderson) Ruch, Tennessee. To
John Shawhan and wife were eight children who ar-

rived at maturity: Sarah, Joseph, Maggie, George H.

Helena, John, Daniel, Anna R.; and Joseph, deceased.

Sarah and George H. reside in this county. George H.

married Maggie Redmon, daughter of John T. and Nan-
cy (Speakes) Redmon; is also a resident of Bourbon
County.

A. SHIRE, jeweler; P. O. Paris; is a native to Ger-

many, born in 1842, in Stadt-Langsfeldt, Saxony. He
emigrated to this country when a lad, coming to Cincin-

nati, where he was educated and began learning his trade

at the age of thirteen, continuing until sixteen, at the

completion of which he started in business for himself,

at Cincinnati, and continfted there until 1863, when he
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moved to Western Virginia, and engaged in business

about two years; the war being in progress, the country

in confusion, Mr. Shire resolved to come to Kentucky,

and arrived in March, 1865, and set up business, first on

"Bmk Row,'' where he remained until 1863, when he

located on the South side, where L. Frank now is; re-

mained here until 1877, when he moved to his present

place of business, where he is doing an excellent busi-

ness, keeping everything in his line at prices reasonable.

He is a self-made man, having begun with nothing in the

commencement of his business. March 4, 1873, he mar-

ried Carrie Price, daughter of John S. Price, and Mary

Ann Cohn; has four children: William, Nettie, .lulius

and Samuel. He is a member of the A. F. and A. M.

and of the R. A. Chapter, and Secretary of each since

1876; also President and Secretary of the Gas Company.

JOHN J. SHAW, hardware and house furnishing; P.

O. Paris; represents one of the oldest business houses in his

line in Paris, having been permanently engaged in this line

since 1864, making him the oldest established hardware

house of those now doing business here. He is a native

of Bourbon County; was born July 2, 1833, in Ruddel's

Mills Precinct; the fourth son who came to maturity

born to John Shaw and Hannah Cox. He came to Paris

in 1849, and began learning his trade with H. Wilkins,

remaining with him four years and a half ; in 1854 he re-

turned to Ruddel's Mills, where he engaged in milling

and merchandising, remaining here until October, 1864,

when he came to this place and engaged in his present

business. May 26, 1864, he married Mary E. January,

of Cynthiana; daughter of Ephraim and Mary (Thomp-

son) January; she was a daughter of William Thompson,

one of the early settlers in Harrison County. Mr. Shaw

is doing an excellent business, having a large patronage.

Has three children: William S., Mary L. and John R.

JOHN T. SPEAKES, livery; P. O. Paris; is the senior

proprietor of Speakes' Livery, Feed & Sale Stable, which

he took charge of April 7, 1880, in company with his brother

W. E. The stable is one of the best in town, extends

from Main to Pleasant street, and is built of brick and

covered with a tin roof. They have accommodation for

about 135 horses. They are doing a thriving business in

their line, boarding horses by the day, week and month,

-at reasonable rates, and making a specialty of breaking

young horses to harness. They also buy and sell horses

and mules on commission. John T. was married, Oct.

13, 1881, to Ada Dawson, daughter of L. B. and Hannah

(Hildreth) Dawson. He was born February 6, 1854, in

this precinct; son of William Speakes, of this county.

J. L. TRUNDLE, farmer; P. O. Paris. The Trundle

family are among the early families who settled in Bour-

bon County. J. L. was born in Ruddel's Mills Precinct,

1833; son of Daniel and Elizabeth (Amos) Trundle, whose

parents, on both sides, were the early pioneers of the

Blue Grass Region. Daniel Trundle was born July 9,

1792; his wife, Elizabeth, was born February 27, 1798,

in Ruddel's Mills Precinct; her father was Nicholas

Amos, a native of Virginia; his wife was Nancy Jones,

who also came of one of the early settlers of this country.

Daniel Trundle, the father of the above, was one of the

thrifty and energetic class of men who made the best of

his opportunities and improved his time and his talents

for business, and did his part manfully towards develop-

ing the interests of the country and securing at the same

time a competence for his family. He not only carried

on farming, but was engaged in manufacturing his own
grain, by means of the small copper stills which were prev-

alent at that time. He lived a busy life, and in all his

business transactions maintained the character of an

honorable and upright man and Christian gentleman.

He located on the farm now owned by John L., in 1846,

where he lived until called home to the Better Land,

July 31, 1846. Eight children were left to mourn him.

The eldest was Nicholas, who settled in Jackson County,

Mo.; Rachel Ann, married W. H. Crosthwait, of this

county; Nancy married James Allen; Thomas, William,

John L.; Eliza, married Esquire Taylor, of Dekalb Co.,

111.; and Sarah, who married H. 0. Jackson, of Moniteau

County, Mo. William is a resident of Kansas City, Mo.

In 1861, May 7th, Mr. Trundle became the husband of

Mary Duncan, a native of Bracken County, this State,

daughter of Thornton Duncan and Mary Routt; both

were natives of Virginia, near Culpepper C. H. Both the

Routts and Duncans were early settlers in Kentucky, and

among the first families in their social relations. Thorn-

ton Duncan was born August 4, 1800; Mary, his wife,

in 1802. Mr. Duncan died in 1873. Six children were

born to them, \i^: John, Elias, Joseph, Willis, Mary and

Tabitha. Mr. Trundle has about 350 acres of land, and

is a well-to-do farmer; is a member of the M. E. Church,

of which his father was a long time an adherent. Mr.

Trundle has been a resident of this farm since 1843, and

during this time, in connection with his farming, was for

several years engaged in the mule trade, buying for the

Southern market; has three children: Bettie, Mary E.

and Laura B.

J. L. TAYLOR, merchant ; P. O. Paris ; was born

April 37, 1839, in Cynthiana, Harrison Co. ; son of John

M. Taylor, a native of Prince William County, Va.
;

born Jan. 17, 1778, son of William Taylor, a native of
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Maryland, who afterwards removed to Virginia. John

M. received a collegiate education in Richmond, Va., and

in 1808, he came to Fayette County, Ky., and contracted

for 1,000 acres of land, and returned to Virginia to

receive his inheritance, but his guardian had squan-

dered it, and he was left penniless. He returned to

Kentucky, and engaged in teaching in Fayette County ;

•afterwards came to Bourbon County, where he taught

several years very successfully. In 1840, he was

appointed to take the census of the county ; he located

at Centerville, where he engaged in selling goods, and

was Postmaster at that place. In 1844 he removed to

Millersburg, and while there was elected County Assessor,

being twice re-elected. In 1855 he removed to Wood-

ford County, to live with his son, E. W. Taylor,

where he died the year following. He was a man

highly respected in the community, wherever known,

and will be long remembered for his many virtues and

sterling qualities. In 1808 he was married in Virginia

to Elizabeth Webb, who was born 1785, daughter of

Foster Webb, Prince William County, Va. ; she sur-

vived her husband four years ; to them were born five

sons and one daughter, viz : Richard, Edward W., F. B.,

John M., J. L., and Emily. Richard, F. B., E. W., and

J. L. became merchants ; John M., a farmer. .loseph L.

at the age of fourteen, engaged as a clerk for his

brothers at Millersburg, and afterwards associated with

them in business for a time. June 29, 1853, he married

Miss Batterton, who was born in Millersburg, in 1836
;

daughter of James Batterton and Laura Varnon ; she

died October, 1868 ; she bore him two children, Oscar

R. and Mollie, wife of J_ G. Weatherby, of Paris
;

Oscar R., now of Cincinnati, in com mercial life. After mer-

chandising four years in Millersburg, Mr. Taylor removed

to Versailles, where he engaged in business, remaining

there until 1868, when he afterwards removed to Harri-

son County, and engaged in farming for a time ; after-

wards he removed to Covington, Ky., in 1871, and was

engaged in business at Cincinnati, where he remained

until April, 1880, when he came to Paris, and has since

remained engaged in merchandising, under firm name of

J. L. Taylor & Co., and carries the largest stock of

ready-made clothing in Paris. In March, 1870, he mar-

ried Mrs. Margaret Shawhan, of Harrison County. Mr.

Taylor has been a member of the Christian Church since

1849, his father being a convert under the preaching

of Rev. Barton Stone.

WILLIAM H. THOMAS, farmer and distiller; P. O.

Paris; born in Middletown precinct, Jan. 20, 1818; son

of George Thomas, who was born Aug. 7, 1798, in Bour-

bon County; he was a son of Moses and Elizabeth

(Whaley) Thomas, both of Virginia, to whom were born:

James, Mary, Annie, George, Elizabeth, Robert, Harry

and Sallie, all of wnom lived to be grown. The mother

of W. H. was Susan Strode, born in Middletown, daugh-

ter of James Strode. W. H. was the eldest of his

father's children ; James, Elizabeth, Alfred B. were next

in order; James resides in Saline County, Mo.; is a

farmer; Elizabeth resides in Missouri, wife of F. M.

Hutchinson; Alfred B. married Mattie Talbot, and re-

sides in this county; George W. is a farmer, and resides

in Oregon; W. H. was brought up a farmer; on Dec. li

1838, he married Nancy Keller, born March 5, 1821, in

this precinct; she is a daughter of Captain Abram Kel-

ler, who commanded a company in the war of 1812;

he married Margaret Anderson, daughter of Wil-

liam, who married a daughter of Colonel Hinkson.

Abram Keller was born 1777, in Pennsylvania, son of

Solomon, the Indian fighter. In 1844, Mr. Thomas set-

tled on the James Talbot farm, where he remained until

1849, when he located on the farm he now owns, called

the Jacob Spear's farm. Mr. Thomas began on nothing;

his wife had twenty-five acres of land; he now owns

700 acres and a distillery, which he has been running

since 1851. The house Mr. Thomas resides in^ was

built by Thomas Metcalf, who after became Govern-

or of the State. The father of W. H. died March 22,

1852; he was a race-horse man, and carried on farming;

he at one time owned two of the fastest horses in Ken-

tucky; " Brown Kitty," was one of the most celebrated,-

Mr. Thomas has four children living, viz: Keller, Doni-

phan, Ida G. and George. Margaret died 1858; she was

the wife ofJohn B. Talbott; she left one daughter, Nannie,

who married John C. Morris; Anna deceased, she mar-

ried T. W. Anderson; Clay died at twenty-four years

of age, in 1878.

JAMES H. TALBOT, farmer; P. O. Shawhan Sta-

tion; born May 5, 1830, in Ruddel's Mills Preoinct; eldest

child of Henry Talbot, who was born in Fairfax County,

Va. The grandfather of our subject was Henry Talbot; his

wife was Barbara Whaley prior to her marriage, who
bore him the following children, viz.: Daniel, Reason,

George, Polly Whaley, Nancy McShane, Kittie Whaley,

Henry and Charles, all of whom lived to be grown, and

raised families and lived to advanced years. Henry
Talbott, the grandfather of James H., came to this State

about 1792, locating in Ruddel's Mills Precinct, remain-

ing here until his death. The maternal grandfather of

our subject was James Frazer, whose wife's maiden name
was Catharine Hendricks; to them were born Mary, who

•^ « i "V
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was the mother of James H. The Frazer family came
first to Harrison County, emigrating from Virginia about

the year the Talbots came. Henry Talbot, the father

of James H., succeeded his father on the homestead, re-

maining here until his death in 1840. His wife survived

him until 1868. Amanda was the eldest daughter. She

married Henry Eals. Then came Charles, who was

Justice of the Peace and at one time Sheriff of the county.

Catharine married William Urmston ; Mattie, A. B.

Thomas; James remained at home until he was twenty-

five years of age; was married in 1855 to Mary Smith,

daughter of Michael Smith and Mary Howe, both natives

of Virginia. In 1856 Mr. Talbot located on the farm

he now owns, having 160 acres, which was first settled

by one Tucker, who built a powder mill on the premises

at an early day. Mr. Talbot has given some attention

to breeding short-horns and trotting horses. Has two

children: Harry and Charles S., and is a member of the

Christian Church, of which his ancestors on the Frazer

side were aifiliated; on the Talbot side they were Bap-

tists. His grandmother, Barbara Talbot, was blind for

many years prior to her death; had an excellent memory.

Of twenty grandchildren, she could name one from the

other by the sense of feeling.

DANIEL TURNEY, general business; P. O. Paris.

This gentleman is a native of this county, and is the

second son of Amos and Lucinda Mclntvre; he was

reared to farming pursuits; soon after the outbreak of

the war, he entered the Confederate army, enlisting as a

private in Company G., 2d Kentucky Cavalry, and

served until the close of the same, being promoted at

different times, until he rose to the rank of captain, and

with the exception of a wound received at Dallas, he

escaped unharmed to the last; upon his return to civil

life, he came to Paris, and engaged in the dry goods busi-

ness for three years and a half ; he then engaged in the

stock trade, which business he has since followed

during this time, he has been engaged in the livery and

hotel business, being connected with the Bourbon House

for several years; he is yet engaged in stock trading and

the livery buiiness; he is the owner and proprietor of

"The Arlington," at Blue Lick Springs, in Nicholas

County, of which a full description is given elsewhere in

this work, to which the reader is referred. Mr. Turney

is among the most successful business men in the county,

and has am issed a handsome property for himself and

family; in January, 1867, he married Miss MoUie Mitchell,

daughter of Wm. W. Mitchell, who was one of the highly

respected residents of Bourbon County; he died Decem-

ber, 1867, a man whose memory will be long cherished

in the minds of his friends and acquaintances, for his

many virtues. To Mr. Turney have been born five child-

ren, but three living: Maggie, Lucille, and Nellie; two

sons who died in infancy. Mr. Turney is a member of

the Knights of Honor.

JOHN W. VANHOOK, farmer ; P. 0. Paris ; was

born Oct. 6, 1818, in Harrison County, in Cynthiana Pre-

cinct, the fourth child born to his parents, who were Ab-

ner and Freelove (Hull) Vanhook. The grandfather of

J. W. was a native of Virginia, and emigrated to Ken-

tucky when Indians were plentiful and the settlements

were few and far between, he having to remain at the

station for sometime for protection. He was among the

first white men who came down the Licking river in a

boat. Abner, the father of our subject, began in the

world with nothing, having to make his own commence-

ment in life, having nothing ; he died March, 1853; his

wife survived him two years after. Their children were:

William', Samuel, Archie, Henry, J. W. and Amanda. J.

W. started for himself at his majority. For several years

he hired out by the month. In November, 1844, he mar-

ried Margaret Isgrig, daughter of Daniel Isgrig, who was

an early settler. Mr. Vanhook moved to the farm he

now owns, in 1853; has a good farm and pleasant location

near Paris ; the farm consists of 191|- acres. Their house

was destroyed by fire, but has since been replaced bv a

large and more modern structure, built of brick, in 1867.

Mr. Vanhook is engaged in farming and stock-raising.

Has four children : Mary E., wife of Joseph Honey
;

Lawrence M., Maggie C, wife of Robert Turner, and

John T., who resides in Saline County, Mo.

DR. J. T. VANSANT, physician; P. O. Paris; was

born in Fleming County, this State; son of John K.

and Nancy (Markwell) Vansant, both natives of Ken-

tucky. The subject of these lines was raised on a farm

until seventeen, after which he received a collegiate

course at Danville, Ky., and his medical education at

New York City, graduating in 1877, at the Medical Col-

lege, and engaged in the practice of his profession in the

city where he graduated, remaining here until failing

health induced him to seek another latitude, locating in

Mt. Sterling, where he continued practicing until October,

1880', when he came to Paris and succeeded Dr. 0. H.

Buck, a homeopathic physician, who had an excellent

practice. The Doctor has followed in his wake, and has

been very successful in the healing art, and made many
friends, having established a lucrative practice; is a mem-
ber of the 1st Presbyterian Church, and February, 1883,

finds him a bachelor!
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PERRY WORNALL, farmer; P. 0. Paris. Perry

Wornall, one of the representative farmers of Bourbon

County, residing six miles north-west of Paris, was born

in Clark County, this State, Oct. 13, 1819, son of Col.

Thomas Wornall and Sarah Ryan. Our subject resided

in Clark County until the fall of 1845, when he removed

to Bourbon County, bought a farm on Townsend Creek,

where he lived until 1852, when he exchanged his farm

for the one he now owns. Feb. 25, 18 15, he married

Elizabeth, daughter of Samuel Ewalt, Sen., and Cynthia

Pugh. The fruit of this marriage was two sons: Samuel

E., born March 27, 1845, and Thomas P., born Dec. 13,

1847. Samuel E. resides near Kansas City, Mo.; was

married in Louisville, Ky., Oct. 25, 1877, to Alice Wake-
field, daughter of Dr. .loseph R. and Ann Rowan Bu-

chanan. They have one child. Rowan B. Thos. P., who
lives on the home farm, married Kate K., youngest child

of John K. and Emily (Moran) Spears, Oct. 27, 1877;

they have one son, William P., born March 2, 1879. Col.

Thomas Wornall, the father of our subject, was born of

English parents—Rjby and EJith Wornall, Dec. 13,

1775; and married Sallie, daughter of John B. and

Susan Ryan, in Loudoun County, Va., Jan. 24, 1797.

Shortly afterwards he came to Clark County, Ky., and

settled between Winchester and the Kentucky river, but

soon changed his location to one six miles north-

east of Winchester, one of the most productive spots

in all the Blue Grass region; on this farm he lived

until his death, which occurred Nov. 3, 1838. In 1809-10

he represented his county in the Kentucky Legislature,

and during the war of 1812, commanded a company of

Cavalry; after his return he was made a Colonel in the

Kentucky Militia. He was clerk of his Church, the Reg-

ular Baptist, at Stony Point, in Bourbon County, for

many years, and served in the same capacity for the

Licking Association of Baptists from 1828 to 1834. For

many years previous to his death he officiated as Sheriff,

County Surveyor, and Master Commissioner of Clark

County. He was evidently a man for peace, a man to

whom his neighbors and friends could and did go for ad-

vice in settlement of personal and financial difficulties.

Susan Ryan, his wife, died at F. P. Clay's, in Bourbon

County, Sept. 23, 1854j They had ten children born to

them: John and Keturah died in infancy; Richard settled

in Missouri; had one son, John B., who was elected to

the Legislature and Senate in Missouri ; Thomas settled

in Harrison County, Ky.; Alfred in Bourbon County,

Ky.; Mary married Samuel Clay, of this county; Susan

married Frank P. Clay, brother of Samuel; Eliza married

George Anderson, and resides in Clark County; Jas R.

died in 1879; Perry resides in Paris Precinct, and is the

subject of this sketch.

JOHN T. WOODFORD, farmer and stock raiser; P.

O. Paris. The Woodford family trace their genealogy to

one William Woodford, a native of England; he was a

merchant, and moved to Caroline Co., Virginia, at an

early day. His estate was called Windsor; he was

thrice married. First to a Mrs. Whitaker, daughter of

an East India merchant; his second wife was widow Bat-

taile, both of whom died childless. Sept. 2, 1732, he mar-

ried Ann, daughter of John Coche, Secretary of State,

under the Colonial Government. Her mother's name was

Catesby, sister of Marsh Catesby, a writer on Natural

History. The eldest son of William and Ann Woodford

was William, who was born October 6, 1734; he was an

officer under the Colonial Government, with the rank of

Brigadier-General. He married Mary, daughter

of John and Mildred Thornton. Mildred was a Miss

Gregory, daughter of Mildred Washington, sister of

Augustine Washington, which relation made General

George W. her nephew. Thomas was the second

son of William and Ann; he was educated in Cam-
bridge for the ministry, but afterwards became a sea

Captain, and died childless. Henry also died a sea Cap-

tain. The third generation is John Thornton Woodford
(eldest son of William and Mary Thornton Woodford);

who was born at Windsor, July 29, 1763. In 1786, he mar-

ried Mary Turner Taliaferro, who was born March 13,

1772. The fourth generation was William, who was

born March 25, 1787; he married Ann Maria Archer,

Dec. 1809. She died 1831 ; he. May 18, 1840. They
had the following children: John T., born August, 1812;

Samuel B. A., born 1815, he married Martha HoUiday;

William T., born 1817, he married MaryHalleck; Lucy,

born 1821, married W. T. Buckner; Thomas, born 1823;

Sallie T., born 1826, married William Buckner. The
fifth generation comes John T., who was born August 12,

1812, he married Elizabeth H. Buckner, in Caroline

Co., Va., August, 1812, and emigrated to Kentucky, lo-

cating in Clark County, 1825, and to Bourbon County,

North Middletown, in 1834, where he remained until

1843, when he came to Paris Precinct, and purchased

land, where he now resides, and has since remained. He
has over 800 acres of land, situated in the extreme south

part of the precinct; he has been engaged in farming

and stock raising—raising short horn cattle and Cotswold

sheep. In February, 1840, he married Miss Buckner,

daughter of William Buckner. This union has been
crowned with a family of nine children, viz: Sallie, wife of

Capt. E. F. Spears, Mary L., wife of Col. E. F. Clay, Buck-
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ner, now of Blue Lick, in Fleming County; John T. Jr.,

near Mount Sterling; Henry, Attorney at Law at Mt. Ster-

ling; Benjamin and Catesby of this County, and Maria.

WILLIAM WRIGHT, farmer ; P. O. Paris ; was

born ifeb. 35, 1822, on the farm he now owns ; he is a

son of Colonel William Wright, who was born in Bote-

tourt County, Va., Dec. 15, 1783. The family traces their

name to one Adam Wright, a native of the New England

States ; his son Peter emigrated to Botetourt County, Va.

at an early period, and married Jane Hughard and set-

tled on Jackson River. To them were born thirteen

children, among whom was James, who married Martha

Hamilton, and settled on Pott's creek. He and brother

Thomas emigrated to Kentucky, locating on the Pike,

where Robert Langston lives. James purchased a large

tract of land in 1794, upon which he remained all his

life. To .lames Wright was born ten children, of whom
William, the father of the above, was one of the-number.

He married Ann Jackson, and by her had six children,

among this number was William, whose name heads this,

page, who is a great-great-grandson of Adam Wright, of

the New England States. James Wright and Martha

Hamilton were married Feb. 29, 1776; their children were

Sai-ah, Jane, Andrew,Williara, Mary, John, Isaac, Rebecca

and James R. To William and Ann (Jackson) Wright

were born six children, viz : Edwin, Rebecca, Martha J.,

William, Martha and Mary, but two are living, William

and Edwin, who reside in Coles County, 111. Martha

Hamilton was born in Virginia, Sept. 25, 1787, she was a

daughter of Andrew Hamilton and Isabella Kinkead,

both moved from Virginia and settled in Woodford Coun-

ty, Ky., in 1794. Andrew was a native of Ireland, and

emigrated to Augusta County, Va.; he had eight chil-

dren, among whom was John, who was killed by the In-

dians. Col. William, the father of our subject, was but

eight years of age when he came to this county, he re-

mained here until his death, June 11, 1880, in his ninety-

seventh year. His wife, Eliza Jackson, was born in Mary-

land, daughter of Ur. John Jackson, a native of Ireland, but

but was educated in Edinburg, Scotland, and afterward

grated to Pennsylvania, where he married Ann Davis,

thence to Bourbon County, Ky. Col. William Wright

was a man of more than ordinary ability^ he acquired a

good education and for several years taught school, he

was out in the war of 1812, and commanded a regiment

from Kentucky. In 1854, he represented his Coun-

ty in the Legislature ; he never sought oflBce; he moved

to the place now owned by his son William, in 1814, the

year of his marriage, and remained on the same up to his

death. He was a member of the Presbyterian Church,

and elder of the same, and always sustained the

character of an upright man, and Christian gentleman.

His son William now succeeds him; he was married Nov.

4, 1857, to Georgia A. Rion, daughter of Newton B. Rion.

Mr. Wright has but one child, Anna M.

ANDREW W. WRIGHT, farmer; P. O. Paris; is a

native of this precinct; born on the farm he now owns,

Feb. 18, 1814, being the second son and third child of

John Wright, born in Virginia, March 26, 1786, son of

James, son of Peter, who was a son of Adam Wright, of

Virginia. John Wright, the father of Andrew W., was

born in this precinct, on the farm now owned by Robert

Langston. The mother of Andrew W. was Martha

Kelly, daughter of .lames Kelly, of Scotch descent. To
John Wright and wife were born the following children,

viz.: Amanda J., now of Shelby County, Ky., wife of

Morris Thomas; James W. and Andrew W., in this pre-

cinct; Isaac resides in Missouri; Mary A. and Martha H.

both died young; John N. died after arriving at man-

hood; also Nancy R. Sarah R. married James Robinett,

now of Alabama. Andrew W. was raised to farming; he

had but the advantages afforded at the common schools,

working at home and assisting his father in clearing the

land during the summer, and attending school during the

winter. April 25, 1849, he married Naomi Ruth Ward,

who was born in Harrison County Nov. 27, 1830. Her

parents were John D. and Maria (Hearne) Ward. He was

born May 18, 1808, in Harrison County. Maria was a

daughter of Clement H. and Keziah Cannon, of Mary-

land. Mr. Wright remained with his father until he at-

tained his majority, when he began working out by the

month; afterwards he purchased land and began farming

on his own account. After his marriage he located on

the farm he now owns, which was settled by his father.

He has a farm of 300 acres; has four children, viz.: Maria

Belle, wife of S. S. Gaines, and resides in Centerville
;

John, also of Centerville; Sallie, wife of T. K. Marsh, of

Harrison County; and William B., at home. For forty-

five years Mr. Wright has been a member of the Presby-

terian Church G. S. A., and is one of the Elders of same.

JOHN P. WILSON, physician and farmer; P. O.

Paris; born Sept. the 4th, 1827, in Paris; is the fourth

son and sixth child of a family of nine children. His

parents were Henry F. Wilson and Henrietta Parker.

The paternal grandsire was named Henry Wilson, who

was born March 1, 1754, in Fairfax County, Va., and mar-

ried Frankie Falkner in February, 1782; she bore him

seven sons and five daughters. Henry Wilson emigrated

to this county and settled in Flat Rock Precinct, in 1778,

and remained there until his death, which was in 1848,
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in his ninety-fourth year. His children were: John C,

William, Burr, Lewis, Henry, Joseph, Barton, Betsey,

Frankie, Annie, Mrs. Owens and . Henry F., the

father of our subject, was born in Flat Rock Precinct;

his marriage with Henrietta Parker in was blessed

with the following children: Hiram P., Mary J., Maria,

Henry and Edwin (twins), Henrietta, John P., Georgia

A. and Charles T. All of the above settled in chis coun-

ty, who lived, except Henry and Edwin, who settled and

now remain in Boone County, Mo. Henry F. spent his

early boyhood on the farm where he was born. Upon
attaining his manhood's years he engaged in selling goods,

running a store on his own account near Flat Rock, after-

wards removing to Paris, where he continued merchan-

dizing for several years. He was a member of the Re-

formed Church, as well as his wife; both of them were

pioneer members of the church in Paris. The Doctor

was raised in Paris; at the age of nineteen he began the

study of medicine, and in 1848 he removed to West Lib-

erty, in Morgan Co., Ky., and engaged in the practice of

his profession, returning to this county in 1851, and was

married in July, the same year, to Fannie A. Thomas, who
was born in Flat Rock Precinct, the youngest and only

daughter of David and Lavinia (Simms) Thomas. In

March, 1857, the Doctor located on the farm he now oc-

cupies, where he has been engaged in farming and in the

practice of his profession; has ten children, viz.: David

T., Henry C, Anna M., Mary B., Hiram P., .James Simms,

Henrietta L., John O., Alice S., and Caroline R.

W. T. WOODFORD, farmer and stock raiser; P. O.

Paris; is among the staunch and reliable agriculturists

in Paris Precinct. He was born in Caroline County, Va.,

Feb. 17, 1817; is the third son and fourth child born to

William and Ann M. (Archer) Woodford. Our subject

came to Kentucky with his parents when he was eight

years of age, and located with them in Clark County.

December, 1839, he came to this county, making his first

location in North Middletown, where he engaged as

clerk for Samuel H. Crane, remaining with him until

1846, when he came to Paris, and engaged in the dry-

goods trade, continuing until 1852, when he decided to

abandon merchandising, and engaged in agricultural

pursuits, and with this view purchased 620 acres in the

south part of the precinct, where he has since lived.

This farm was first settled by Thomas C. Woodford, one

of the pioneers of this part of the precinct. Since 1856

he has been interested in raising short horn cattle, and

made a specialty of Cotswold sheep, having one of

the largest and oest flocks in the county. As a horseman

he encourages the raising of the best breeds; the Dio-

mede and Valentine being his choice. In his farming

operations he has been successful. In 1846 he married

Mary Halleck, daughter of Jacoby and Lucinda (Dill)

Halleck, both families being early representatives in the

county as settlers. The Hallecks emigrated from Vir-

ginia, and the latter from Maryland. Of the family born

to Mr. Woodford are the following, viz.: William B.,

Lucinda H., Anna M., Halleck, Mary H. and Clara.

JAMES WILSON WRIGHT, farmer; P. O. Paris;

was born in this precinct, Feb. 12, 1812, being the eldest

son, and second child born to John A. and Martha

(Kelly) Wright. Our subject has always been a resi-

dent of this neighborhood, in which he was born, and is

one of the substantial members of the Commonwealth;

he was raised on the homestead, to farming pursuits;

soon after leaving the parental roof, and while a single

man, he was for several years engaged in selling goods

at Moreland, now Hutchinson Precinct; he has been twice

married; Feb. 11, 1846, to Harriet Thomas, daughter of

Liudsey and Dorcas (Hinton) Thomas; she was born Jan.

30, 1827, in Shelby County, this State; she died May 15,

1866; having borne three children, who came to maturity,

viz.: Laura, now wife of Nathan Bayless, of this county,

and Isaac K., and William L., both residing in Scott

County ; Dec. 21, 1871, Mr. Wright was married to

Cynthia Jones, who was born in Hutchinson Precinct,

daughter of John I. Jones and Mary Swartzwelder, both

natives of Bourbon County ; Mary was a daughter of

Samuel Swartzwelder, a native of Pennsylvania, and em-
igrated to this county at an early day; Mr. Wright set-

tled on the farm he now owns ; March 1, 1847, he put all

the substantial improvements on the place that appears

to-day; the farm was purchased of his uncle, Andrew
Wright; the farm having been in the name of the family

since its first settlement; he has 500 acres in one body,

and has settled his two sons in Scott County; by his last

wife he has three children : Martha Wilson, James W.
jr., and Clarence Jones.

BENJAMIN WOODFORD, farmer; P. O. Paris; is

the seventh child and fifth son born to John T. and E. H.

Woodford; he was born on the homestead farm, Oct. 24,

1856, and was raised to farming pursuits; he received the

advantages of common school, and that afibrded by the

schools at Paris. Oct. 29, 1879, he married Alice Brooks,

born in this precinct, daughter of Samuel and Elvira

(Scott) Brooks. The following year he moved to Flem-

ming County where he purchased a farm, but he has

since sold out and located in this county on the Harrod's

Creek Turnpike, where he purchased a farm, and since

1832 has there resided. Has one child, Elizabeth H.

•i' a
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MILLERSBURC PRECINCT.
JULIAN G. ALLEN, merchant; P. O. Millersburg;

was born Sept. 31, 1843, to Sanford and Susan (Schu-

mate) Allen, she a daughter of Payton and Mary (Adair)

Schumate; Sanford Allen, a native of Bourbon, was a son

of Granville and Jane Brannum, also natives of Bourbon;

the former was a brother to Julian Grosjean, who died

Oct. 17, 1881, having lived a widow since the year

1879; she was the wife of Dr. John C. Gros-

jean, who died at twenty-seven years of age, af-

ter one year of married life; he was young, but a man
of great promise and prominence. Sterling Allen, Esq.,

was a brother; also Francis J. Allen, Esq., a very wealthy

man of Caps Girardeau, Mo., noted for his eccen-

tricities and travel in livery ; and Tandy Allen, a

statesman, a leader and a man of prominence in the

State of Illinois. The father of Granville Allen was the

first Judge of Bourbon County; he had 13 children. The

subject of this sketch is the oldest of seven sons now
living. Three daughters are also living. Three sons

and a daughter, deceased. The family are: Mary, now

a Mrs. Dr. Richart, of Sharpsburg, Bath County, Ky.;

a Mrs. Chesterfield Craoraft, a merchant at Bethel, Bath

County; John Waller, married a Miss Dize Alexander,

he a merchant of Sharpsburg; Eliza D., a Mrs. Rev. J. K.

Nunnelley, a Baptist minister at Sharpsburg; Frank S.,

married Miss Imogene Stoner, he cashier of the Exchange

Bank at Sharpsburg; Charles P. married Miss Bradshaw,

daughter of Capt. Bradshaw, of Paris, Ky., he a mer-

chant at Sharpsburg; Sanford C, with our subject, Henry

T., a cadet at West Point; Thomas J., in the dry goods

business with J. W. Allen, at Sharpsburg. The father

of these was a very prominent man at Sharpsburg, where

he carried on the dry-goods business for 39 years, and

for 15 years before his death he owned and carried on

the Exchange Bmk of that place. He started a poor

boy, working at 25c. per day, finally, accumulating $500,

he engaged in the mercantile business with a Mr. Payne;

this they carried on a few years, then started a branch

store at Sharpsburg, which, in a subsequent dissolution

of the partnership, fell to Mr. Allen; he was enterprising

and energetic, and soon proved himself powerful in busi-

ness circles. He was an extensive slave-holder, an ar-

dent advocate of the Democratic party, and a member of

the Baptist Church. Our subject received a business

education, beginning in 1853 with his father, and there

remaining until in 1865, when he began business at his

present place, continuing until the death of his father,

when he sold out and returned to Sharpsburg, where he

acted as President of the Bank until in September, 18 i 9,

when he again located at Millersburg, where he is doing

an extensive business. He was married Feb. 4, 1868, to

Miss Mattie E. Miller, who was born Feb. 20, 1849, to

Mitchell and Mary (McClelland) Miller; both of whom
were related to the first settlers of Millersburg. By
this marriage there are four children: Mary, born March

3, 1869; I. D. Aug. 13, 1873; Sanford M., Sept. 33,

1875; Susie Lee, Sept. 19, 1877. He and his brother, J.

W., were executors of his father's estate; he is a man of

fine business qualifications and diligence in all matters

of duty; he is a member of the Masonic Order, and with

his family hold a membership in the Baptist Church.

WILLIAM ARDERY, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; son

of .lames H. and Jane (McClure) Ardery, she a daughter

of, John McClure and Betsey (McDaniel) McClure, James

H., son of Alexander and Sarah Moore Ardery, "she a

daughter of John Moore and Mary (Black) Moore, natives

of Virginia, but came to Kentucky, where they pur-

chased a large tract of land at two dollars per acre, in

sight of the home of the subject of this sketch, and en-

dured great privation and suffering among the Indians;

having at one time made the offer of a pound of silver

for a pound of bread or corn. Alexander Ardery was a

son of John Ardery, who, with his brother, were linen

drapers in"Auld Ireland;" emigrated to this country

at an early day and were among the first to settle in

Bourbon County. James H. was born in Harrison Coun-

ty, in Sept. 8, 1809, where he resided until seven years of

age, when his father settled upon the farm where subject

now lives. His father was born March 31, 1783, his

mother in 1785 or 6; the father died in 1838, the mother

in 1848. He was the second of a family of ten children,

two sons only now living. James H. received about two

months schooling in his life, but with the Irish tact and

aptness he has acquired an education, business and social

position equal to that of many who had greatly superior

advantages. He has followed a life of agriculture and

stock raising; has been twice married; first, in 1837, to

Jane McC.ure, by whom he had two children: James D.,

born Oct. 37, 1838; enlisted in July, 1861, under Captain

Hope, Second Regiment, commanded by Colonel Roger

•? (2 ^r^
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Hanson, in which he served gallantly until his sickness

and death at Columbus, Miss., in June, 1862. William,

the second son, born March 26, 1841, lived with his

father, receiving a common school education, and assist-

ing with the farm-work and trading in mules through'the

South after the war. He was married Feb. 22, 1881, to

Emma Davis; born Sept. 28, 1854, to Mrs. Mary (Leeper)

Davis, of Harrison County; her father, William Davis, a

son of James Davis and Lizzie Matthews; she was kid-

napped and brought from London, Eng., to this country

when fourteen years of age and sold for five pounds

sterling; she was subsequently married in Stafford Coun-

ty, Va.

GEORGE W. BRYAN, lawyer and Police Judge of

Millersburg; P. O. Millersburg. The Bryan family, as set-

tlers of Bryan's Station, and from their close connection by

marriage with Daniel Boone, bore no unimportant part in

the early history of Kentucky. Daniel Boone, in 1755,

when about twenty years of age, married Rebecca Bryan,

whose family, as well as Boone's, were living at that

time near Wilkesboro, N. C. On Sept. 25, 1774, Boone

with his family emigrated to the country which he had

previously (in 1769) explored as far as the Kentucky

River, and thither Morgan, James, William and Joseph

Bryan, brothers of Boone's wife, shortly followed with

their families. They shared with the other adventurous

spirits all the dangers and hardships to which they were

subject. In 1779, with emigrants principally from North

Carolina, these four brothers settled the Bryan Station

neighborhood, and built the fort that is now historic. It

would require much space to recount the narrow escapes

of these families from the murderous tomahawks of the

lurking, skulking savages, or the personal deeds of

prowess and heroism and the struggles and privations of

those brave men and women. From Joseph Bryan are

descended the family now residing in Fayette County.

This branch spell their name with a " t," and in this way

Bryan's Station has been and is improperly called

Bryant's Station. From Morgan Bryan are the Bourbon

County family; he was born May 20, 1729, and married

Mary Forbes. From this marriage sprang George Bryan,

sr., who fought in the Revolutionary war, and at the sur-

render of Cornwallis at Yorktown. He emigrated with

bis father from North Carolina, and was married in the

fort at Bryan's Station to Elizabeth Neal Rogers, in May,

1780, being the first marriage solemnized in the State of

Kentucky. Roasted corn was handed around to the wed-

ding guests in lieu of cake, and mush and milk took the

place of ices on this and similar occasions. He was married

a second time fifty years later, to Mrs. Cassandra Miller,

and died upon the 22d day of November, 1845, in Spring-

field, 111. A singular incident concerning Mr. Bryan's

life, is the fact that he suffered from a severe attack of

whooping cough when over eighty years of age. To bis

wife, Mary, was born William S., March 17, 1785, at

Bryan's Station. He was one of the first settlers of the

City of Paris, where he spent the greater part of his life.

He was by occupation a saddler and harness-maker, and

amassed quite a fortune by strict attention to business.

" Uncle Billy," as he was familiarly called by his ac-

quaintances, was always ready to assist a friend in need,

and at his death the majority of his estate had gone to

pay surety debts. He married Judith Field, Jan. 25,

1811, and to them were born three sons: William H.,

Geo. W. and Robt. T., and a daughter, Eliza; Wra.
H., the eldest son, married a Miss Bartlett, of Louisville,

Ky.;byher he had two daughters—Blanche and Flor-

ence. He was a merchant in New York, Millersburg,

Louisville and Chicago, where he now resides with his

family; Eliza became the wife of Frank Tu^-ker, of Bour-

bon County, and died without issue shortly after marriage;

Robt. T., the youngest son, graduated in the classical

department of Bethany College, Va., in 1844, and in the

medical department of the University of New York in

1848. He married a Miss Kenney, of Bourbon County,

in 1849; by her he had one son, Robt. K., a dentist by
profession, in Georgetown; he married a second time in

1853, to a Miss Mary E. Offutt, of Fayette County; by
her he had three children: Frank, who is associated with

his father in the practice of medicine at Georgetown,

Ky.; George and Ella, who married Wm. S. Rogers, of

Fayette County; George W. Bryan, the second son of

Wm. S. Bryan, was born Aug. 23, 1815, and married

Elizabeth A. W. Miller, Jan. 15, 1839; he was a mer-

chant in New York and Millersburg, principally in the

latter place; he identified himself and his interests with

the house of his adoption, and after a useful and an hon-

orable career, died of Asiatic cholera on the 8th of Aug.,

1849. He had three children; the two older diedyouno-;

Geo. W., the youngest, was born July 19, 1848: he grad-

uated in the classical department of the Kentucky Wes-
leyan College, in 1869, and the law department of Co-
lumbia College, New York, in 1872; he is a lawyer by
profession; has been elected Police Judge of his native

town (Millersburg) three consecutive terms. He has

twice traveled over the European countries. He and
family are the only representatives of their branch of the

Bryan family in Bourbon County. He was married to

Miss Mary E. Owens, daughter of Charles and Eliza J.

Owens, on the 13th day of October, 1868.
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JESSE H. BOULDEN, farmer and trader ; P. O.

Millersburg ; one of the best financiers and business

men of Bourbon County ; was born, Aug. 3, 1835, to

Ephraim Boulden. Our subject, the only child by his

first wife, who was a Miss Talbott (for Boulden history

see sketch of Rezin Boulden). Jesse H. resided with

his grandfather, his mother having died when he was

about eight years of age, and at fourteen years of age

was placed by him in the dry goods store of Whaley &
McClure, where he remained for about seven years.

Upon Aug. 13, 1846, he was married to Virrilla Moore,

daughter of Abraham Moore (see F. J. Barbee's hist.); by

her he had nine children, seven are now living, one died

in infancy, and Henry M. was killed at eighteen years of

age ; those living are : Lizzie, now the wife of J. G.

Smedley, whose history appears in this work ; Nannie,

wife of a Mr. Wolfolk, a fruit grower, near Welaka, S.

Fa. ; Fannie, wife of Dr. Hurst, whose history also

appears in this work ; Carrie, wife of .lohn C. Crutchfield,

of the firm of Myers & Crutchfield, prominent dry goods

merchants, of Lexington ; Charlie M. married a Miss

Poor, from near Camp Nelson, where he now resides,

engaged in farming and trading ; Samuel M. and Dick

Gano, residing with their parents. During the first two

years of married life Mr. Boulden was engaged in the

dry goods business with Dr. Noah S. Moore, at the

expiration of which time he sold his interest in the

business to his partner, and engaged in farming and

trading, in which he has since been engaged. During

the late rebellion he espoused the Union cause, and ren-

dered valuable service to the Federal Government, in

large purchases of horses and mules for their armies.

He was a general favorite with the armies of both Gov-

ernments, on account of his uprightness and truthfulness,

and many times was called upon to render service to

both sides ; the many kindnesses to the " Gray Coats,"

being reciprocated in raiding upon him, and entailing

upon him heavy losses. The courage of his noble wife

during those trying times was also remarkable, remain-

ing at home alone and unprotected with a large family

of small children ; she faced danger unflinchingly, and

in numerous instances averted devastation by her

fortitude and unwavering determination. Mr. Boulden is

a man of great energy and business qualifications, having

by his diligence and industry accumulated a large for-

tu le, notwithstanding numerous reverses. He, without

security, at one time in business transactions, overdrew

his account at the Northern Bank of Paris to the extent

of $96,000, which was certainly a display of confidence

in his honor. He and family are members of the

Christian Church, in which he has found a home for more

than forty years, and since 1854 has been a member of

the I. O. O. F's.

JOHN W. BOULDEN, grocer; P. O. Millersburg; of

the firm of Boulden & Bedford. Thomas Boulden visit-

ed Kentucky early in the present century, returned to

the State of Delaware, removed his family to Kentucky,

and settled in Bourbon County, south of Paris ; he sub-

sequently died, as did his wife, in Millersburg. His wife,

Sally Boulden, was his cousin and native of Pennsylvania;

their children were John, Jesse, Ephriam, James, George,

Nathan, Sally, Polly and Cassandra; Sally, eldest daughter

married John West, and died of cholera in 1833, at the

residence of James Nicholas, below Cynthiana, as she

was returning on horseback from Cincinnati; Polly died

young ; Cassandra married P. Hagan, whose' brother. Dr.

Hagan, an editor of a paper, at Natchez, was killed in a

duel, resulting from some article published in his

paper. Hagan removed to St. Charles, Mo^ and was

drowned from a steamboat while on a trip with horses to

Kentucky. His widow returned to Kentucky and after-

ward married John K. Ashurst, of Bourbon. Three of

Thomas Boulden's sons were in the war of 1812 : .lohn,

Jesse and Ephraim; after their return home, John went

to Indiana, married, raised a family and there died ; Jesse

had two children, a son and daughter ; James died a

bachelor ; George married Julia Lee, and had one son

who lived to the age of 33 years ; Nathan married Bet-

sey Young, by whom he had two children, William. T.

and Mattie A. William, commonly called Billy, was a

prominent union man during the rebellion, and was sev-

eral times the Republican candidate for Sheriff of Bour-

bon County, and polled next to Grant, the heaviest Re-

publican vote ever cast in the county. The Bouldens are

related to many of the most prominent families of Bour-

bon County, and are also decendants Powhatan as Col.

Thomas Boulden, came to this country with John Smith,

settled at Jamestown, and married a sister to Pocahon-

tas, (see Emma Willard's history of U. S.) The father of

our subject was apprenticed to Boone Ingels, of Paris,

where he learned the hatter's trade, and engaged in busi-

ness for himself at Millersburg; he was twice married,

first to Nancy, daughter of Reason Talbott, of Bourbon;

by her he had one son, Jesse (see history); the mother

died of cholera in 1833, and in 1837 he married Mary,

daughter of Maj. John Baker, of Mason County, Ky., by

whom he had four children, viz : Rezin B., John W.,

Nannie J., and Holman T. Our subject was born in the

house in which he now lives, on Aug. 31, 1841; he at-

tended school until his fourteenth year, when he began
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clerking in the dry goods store of J. L. Taylor ; in the

capacity of clerk he continued until Sept. 10, 1862, when

he enlisted under Capt. Lawson, Col. W. C. P. Breckin-

ridge, and afterward the 9th Ky. Cavalry, with which he

served faithfully for three years; was taken prisoner near

Bowling Green, Ky., in October; and exchanged in No-

vember, 1862, in time to take part in the " Christmas

Raid," he afterward continued with the Army of the West;

was paroled at Washington, Ga., and returned home

broken down in health, on account of which he was un-

able to engage in business for a few months ; he lived at

Gatlettsburg and Maysville about a year and a half, when
he -returned to Millersburg, and engaged in mercantile

business, where he has since resided. He was married

March 28, 1872, to Mattie, daughter of A. T. Evans (de-

ceased) a business man of Millersburg. He and wife are

members of the M. E. Church South. He is running the

insurance business in connection with his mercantile pur-

suits, is Deputy Clerk of the County, and a member of

the Royal Arch Masons.

I. L. BECRAFT, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; proprie-

tor of Cedar Hill farm; is a son of Aquilla Beoraft, who
Ss a native of Montgomery Cjunty, Md., July 22,

1797, to Peter Becraft, born Nov. 5, 1740; his mother,

Mary Nixon, born May 25, 1750, in Staffordshire, Eng-

land; she a daughter of Jonathan and Mary (Beiitly)

Nixon, natives of Yorkshire; emigrated to America at a

very early date, settling in the State of Maryland, near

Washington City; Peter Becraft died in Maryland, upon
his birthday, in 1806, having held a high position as a

physician in that county; he is a son of Benjamin, a

native of Maryland, where he died; Aquilla came to Mil-

lersburg Precinct in 1817, where, on the 4th of Septem-

ber of the same year, he was married to Ann Maria Letton,

and returned to his native county, where he remained

until 1821, when he again came to Millersburg, bringing

his mother and sister, Mary, who afterwards married

Samuel Hitt, of Bourbon County. Mr. Bdcraft lived a

prominent life in Bourbon County, adding to his posses-

sions, until in 1833, when he removed to Diamond Grove

farm, Morgan County, 111., where he has since resided,

and held a high social and official position among the

citizens of that State. He was elected as County Judge
for a term of four years, and was appointed by the Leg-

islaturj a Trustee of the State Insane Asylum. His first

wife died in 1822, leaving two daughters and a son;

Mary, the eldest daughter, now deceased, married John

Goltra; left three children in Jacksonville, III.: Israel L.,

born Sept. 1, 1818,the only one now living, and subject

of this sketch, returned to the old homestead, where he

now resides, in 1841, from Illinois, whither he had

gone with his parents; he was married Feb. Id, 1843.

Priscilla Parker, daughter of Samuel and Lovina (Hill)

Parker, who came from the Eastern Shore of Maryland

to Bourbon County, in 1805; by this marriage, there

were seven children : Mary, the eldest, now deceased, be-

came the wife of Nicholas Wood, left a family; a son died

in young manhood. Those living are : James, married

Prudence Letton, daughter of John W. Letton, now re-

siding in Millersburg Precinct ; William, married Sarah,

a daughter of Ralph Reynolds, of Jacksonville, he now
residing in Champaign County, III. ; Maria, wife of

William B. Smith, a lumber merchant of Paris ; Charles

and Walker, at home. The mother of this family died

May 25, 1869. The father was re-married Oct. 17, 1877,

o Mahala R. Heathraan, a daughter of Eli Heathman.

Mr. Becraft is one of the substantial men of Bourbon

County, was Magistrate for a term of four years, and with

his family are members of church. His father's second

marriage was to Nancy Hitt, daughter of Jackey Hitt
;

she died March 31, 1880, after a married life of fifty-six

years. Their children reside in Minnesota, Missouri and

Illinois. Mr. Becraft is still a vigorous, bright and very in-

telligent old gentleman of eighty-five years, and a general

favorite with all who come within the sphere of his ac-

quaintance.

FIELDING JOSEPH BARBEE, farmer and stock

raiser; P. O. Paris; proprietor of Glen Echo farm, was

born in Scott County, Sept. 4, 1832, to Nathaniel and

Catharine (Bradford) Barbee ; she a daughter of .ludge

Fielding Bradford, who was Judge of the Court of that

county, and one of the first settlers of the same; from

Virginia; the family is also prominent in the history of

Kentucky. Nathaniel was a son of Joseph Barbee, who
came from Virginia; among the first settlers of Scott

County; he was an industrious and thorough agricultur-

ist; he arose to a considerable degree of prominence in

the early history, and at one time represented the county

in the State Legislature. The subject of this sketch re-

ceived a liberal education, attending for a while the

Western Military Institute, which w^as under the super-

vision of Thornton F. Johnson as President, with a corps

of assistants, such as Profs. Forbes, Nevius, Burchard,

Johnson, James G. Blaine and others. The children of

Nathaniel were: Charles M., engaged in farming in Mis-

souri; Julius, engaged in farming near Nashville, Tenn.;

Emma, now deceased, became the wife of Dr. Barbee;

Geo. L., farming in Fayette County; Sophia C, married

Joshua Arnold, farming near Eminence, Henry County,

Ky.; Alexander died in young manhood of yellow fever
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in New Orleans while on a visit; Sidney B., residing in

Fulton County, Mo., farming; F. J.; Wm. H., farming at

Georgetown, Ky. Our subject was married, April 35,

1861, to Miss Susan E. Moore, daughter of Abraham and

Mrs. Elizabeth (Jameson) (Allen) Moore. Abraham Moore

was a prominent man as a large land-holder, and well

known throughout the South as a trader. The fruits of

the marriage was one child, John Fielding, born Jan. 29,

1862; attending college at Millersburg. Mr. Barbee is

extensively engaged in breeding fancy stock of all kinds;

one fancy team of horses he sold to the Japanese Minis-

ter, Jiro Ogura, to go to Japan; Cotswold sheep, descend-

ants of imported stock; registered Jersey cattle, and the

most popular strains of short-horns, such as the Flora,

Branch of Rose of Sharon, Craggs, Young Phyllis,

Young Mary's, Imp. Jessamine, London Duchess 15, for

which he paid $4,000; Imp. Josephine, Imp. Amelia, and

other popular families. Mr. Barbee is one of the most

important breeders of the "Region;"' his sales, both

public and private, have been very large in numbers,

and have aggregated very many thousand dollars. He was

at one time one of the Directors of the Bourbon County

Agricultural Society; from 1855 to 1860 was engaged in

the dry goods business in Lexington with Elliott & Co.,

and during the war was extensively engaged in shipping

mules to the South.

JOSHUA BARTON, farmer and distiller; P. O. Mil-

lersburg; was born at Black's Cross Roads, March 4,

1835, to Abraham and Catharine (Cumbers) Barton,

both of whom are still living, and were born in 1804.

Abraham is a son of Joshua; a Marylander; Abraham's

family consisted of nine children, four of whom died

in infancy. Nancy C. (deceased) was the wife of Will-

iam P. Knight, by whom she left one child, MoUie H.,

who resides with the subject of this sketch. Those

living are: Mary, the eldest, widow of John W. Bowen,

a resident of Nicholas County; Joshua; Emerine, wife

of Thomas Fisher, of Bourbon County, and Sue, the

wife of Esquire Amos Jameson, near Millersburg. Mr.

Barton assisted his father in farming and the manu-

facture of whisky until his twenty-ninth year, having

in the meantime received a common school education.

In 1862, Nov. 4, he was married to Miss Jessie V. Paul,

of Bourbon County, and daughter of Daniel and Ade-

line (Morgan) Paul, of Mason County; the ancestry of

the former from Virginia; the latter from Maryland. By

this marriage there are five children: William F., born

Aug. 33, 1863; Albert S., Sept. 5, 1865; Orra F., Deo.

33, 1867; Ida B., Jan. 13, 1872, and Virgil L., Sept. 1,

1873. Mr. Barton is now extensively engaged in agri-

culture, distilling and thoroughbred stock-raising. His

horses of the Hambletonian family, principally colts, hav-

ing been engaged in that branch of stack culture but a

short time. He has a short-horn herd of about sixty head,

at the present time, having sold in the year 1881, about

forty head of the most popular strains, among them the

5th Lord of Oxford. The principal families making up

his present herd, are of the Barringtons, Wattertons,

Hilpas, Knightlys, Peris, Princesses, and many others

of the most popular blooded stock. Mr. Barton has long

been one of the foremost short-horn breeders of the Blue

Grass region. He is a member of the Masonic order,

and a prominent business man.

JOHN W. BEDFORD, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

born near Clintonville, Bourbon County, June 30, 1837,

to John and Sally G. (King) Bedford, she a daughter of

William King and Nancy (Reamy) King, who after his

death married Eedmon Thomas, the latter's ancestors, na-

tives of Nelson County ; John, the father of our subject, was

son of old uncle Barry Bedford, who came from Virginia,

settling in Paris Precinct at a very early date; built the

house where Mrs. Patsey Clay now lives; he going to

Lexington to have the nails wrought for use in the build-

ing. John W. received a good education for the early

times, and rendered his father assistance in the business

transactions and labor of the farm. There were Ann
(deceased), became the wife of Mr. Fish Scruggs; six

children were the fruits of this marriage; have settled

throughout the country. L. B. Mosby, living in Paris

Precinct; J. W.; Washington K., who died in young

manhood; Susan R., now a Mrs. Young; W. Moran, also

in Paris Precinct, and Mattie, who died in young wom-

anhood. Mr. Bedford was married Oct. 20, 1853, to Vic-

toria Emeline (Shier), daughter of Charles P. and Mary

S. (Wiggins) Shier, natives of South Carolina, he a lead-

ing business man of Charleston. The fruits of this union

are ten children: Charles, now one of the leading busi-

ness men of Millersburg, of the firm of Bedford &

Hedges, Clothiers. Mary, Susan, John, also engaged in

business in Millersburg, of the firm of Boulden & Bed-

ford; William, Sally, Mattie,George (deceased), Barry and

Edwin. Mr. Bedford, after marriage, engaged in busi-

ness for a time with his father-in-law in Charleston, then

went to Florida, locating on a large cotton plantation,

near the famous "Silver Sprit)gs," where he was very

successful; disposed of his plantation and returned to

Charleston again, engaging in business. In 1859 he

came to Fayette County, where he resided until in 1871,

when he purchased the beautiful home, where he now

resides. He has lived a varied life, meeting with sue-
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cess in each branch. Upon his farm, is the location of

the William Miller Fort, where lived one of the first set-

tlers of the Blue Grass region.

ALEXANDER BUTLER, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

one of the prominent farmers and stock raisers of Mil-

lersburg Precinct; is a native of Jessamine County, and

the youngest of five sons and four daughters; v?as doubly

orphaned at about two years of age by the death of both

parents. Those of the family now living are : James, the

eldest, in his seventy-first year; for many years a prom-

inent merchant at Lexington, where he now resides.

William married a Miss Sarah Hubbard (deceased); is

now engaged in farming in Randolph County, Mo. ; Eva,

wife of W. R. Hervey, who is in the Government employ

at Louisville; Sarah, wife of William Ernst, Prest. of the

National Bank of Kentucky, at Covington ; William, the

second son, died in 1870; was a farmer in Jessamine

County; his wife, Mary A. Settle; Elizabeth, Catharine

and Thomas died young; their parents were Thomas
and Catharine (Catlett) Butler, who came from Virginia

to Kentucky about 1820. The subject of this sketch re-

ceived a common school education until about fifteen

years of age, when he left his native county and went to

Lexington, where he engaged with J. C. Butler & Co.,

afterward Parish & Butler, hardware merchants, with

whom he continued twelve years. He was born Jan. 26,

1832, and after having passed his twenty-seventh year,

he was united in marriage upon the 12th of April, 1859,

to Miss A. J. Miller, youngest child of Alexander

Miller; by this union there have been three children born:

James A., Feb. 12, 1860; William Ernst, Nov. 17, 1861,

and Mattie H., May 31, 1863. Mr. Butler is engaged in

general agriculture, and a man of good business qualifi-

cations. In 1875, he was elected to the office of magis-

trate, the duties of which he performed two terms, re-

ceiving the hearty support of the people of his commu-
nity for his honor and integrity. He and family are

members of the Presbyterian Church, in which he is an

Elder and energetic member, giving liberally of his

means to the support of churches and missionary work.

ISAAC R. BEST, physician ; P. O. Millersburg
;

son of Abner O. and Louisa (Reynolds) Best ; she, a

daughter of Isaac Reynolds, who was born Jan. 1, 1792,

and at an early day one of the most prominent shippers

by flat boat from Augusta, Ky., to New Orleans, the

return trip being made on foot. Abner O. was a son of

James and Sally (Overfield) Best, who were among the

earliest and most prominent families of Mason County
;

they had five sons and one daughter, who is the wife of

Joseph A. Miller (see sketch) ; the sons were Thomas

L., a farmer and tobacco merchant, of Mason County,

the subject of this sketch ; Benj. Desha, a merchant,

resides at Covington ; George R. and William H.,

farmers, in Mason County. Dr. Best was born Jan. 16i

1840; received a classical education, graduating from

Center College, with high honors, in 1860 ; was, while

there, a member of Epsilon Chapter, Beta Theta Phi

fraternity. Soon after receiving his literary education,

he entered the Medical Department of the University of

Pennsylvania, graduating therefrom in 1865, when he

immediately engaged in the practice of his profession, at

Augusta, Ky., thence to Washington, where he remained

until July, 1870, when he sought his present location,

where he has built up a large and lucrative practice by
his diligence and ability in the profession. He was

married to Sally Barbee, daughter of Thomas and Nancy
(Fry) Barbee; she a native of Danville, Ky., and sister to

Gen. Fry, who was prominent in military circles during

the late war. Thomas Barbee, Sr., was an officer in the

Revolutionary war. By this marriage there were five

sons—Thomas R., Arthur S., Spencer B., Isaac D., and

Harry M. The Doctor is a member of the Masonic Order,

and, with his wife, connected with the Church.

R. B. BOULDEN, P. M. and Jeweler; P. O. Millers-

burg; eldest son of Ephraim and hia second wife Mary,

daughter of Major John Baker, of Mason County, was born

May 7, 1838. He began life as a teacher in Dist. No. 1,

in his native county,and afterwards in Bourbon County, for

several years. He went upon the river as clerk of a

steamboat, where he remained for several years, the

prncipal part of the time during the war; he was in the

Government employ, in the transportation of troops and
munitions of war, having for a considerable time

charge of his boat. After the war he engaged for sev-

eral years as clerk in a general store in the country; was
for five months U. S. storekeeper at Clay and Pierce's

Distillery, No. 80, and afterward traveled for that firm

in the State of Mo. He returned to Ky. and engaged
in mercantile business at Cynthiana and Claysville,

Harrison Co.; failing in that business he returned to the

river life, and acted as clerk on a boat plying from
Memphis, Tenn., to Jacksonport, Ark., where he remain-

ed until he received his license as Captain of a boat ply-

ing in the Western rivers; he subsequently returned to

Ky. and engaged as traveling salesman for the wholesale
firm of H. C. Clay & Co.; this position he held until re-

ceiving the appointment of P. M. of Millersburg, Ky.,

Oct, 24, 1876; by a series of blunders he did not receive

his commission until Jan. 25, 1877. He was married
Nov. 20, 1878, to Carrie, eldest daughter of James W.
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and Lovina Conway, of Bourbon County; shea grand-

daughter of James H. Johnson, of Nicholas County. Mr.

Boulden is a cripple, but a man of fine personal, social

and business habits, and a man commanding the highest

respect of the citizens of his community.

CHARLES CLARKE, farmer; P. O. Millersburg

;

proprietor of Forest Grove; was born April 27, 1840.

His father was Charles Clarke, born Oct. 9, 1808, in Ma-
son County,where he was a prominent farmer, and held the

office of Sheriff for eight years. He was a son of Septi-

mus D. Clarke, a native of Northumberland County, Va.;

born Sept. 10, 1781, and died Deo. 39, 1833; his wife

was born in 1783, and died in the fifty-sixth year of her

age. They had seven children : Charles, Oliver P.,

Hiram, Leroy and James; two daughters died unmarried.

All the sons left families in Mason Countv, except Leroy,

whose posterity are in Missouri. Dr. Hiram Clarke, form-

erly of Cincinnati, left an only child; he is now in Chicago.

Charles Clarke, Sr., was married in 1834, to Miss Eliza

Hord. They had six children: John, born in 1836, a

prominent farmer in Mason County; Anna J. became the

wife of E. E. Pearce, a banker in Flemingsburg; she

died Oct. 4, 1878, leaving four children: Charles, the

subject of this sketch; Helen died at eleven years; Sep-

timus at two years; Septimus, the yougest child, born in

1846, engaged in mercantile business at Mayslick. The

first four were born in April, two years elapsing between

each birth; they are respectively, the 17th, 7th, 37th and

11th. Mr. Clark received an academical education, and

engaged in farming. He was married Nov. 30, 1861, to

America J. Nunn, whose birth occurred March 33, 1844,

a daughter of Judge William Nunn (deceased), who was

born in Millersburg on the 23d of February, 1808; was

a son of Ilai Nunn, born Oct. 1, 1758; was twice married:

first, to Jennie Scott, May 37, 1779; second, to Mrs. Je-

mima Watson, in 1805. Ilai Nunn came from the State

of Georgia at a very early date, settling on Cane Ridge.

It was at his cabin that the great camp-meeting of that

day was held. Mr. Clarke, by this marriage, had six

children, two of whom died in infancy; those living are:

Fannie, born July 15, 1864; William N., Oct. 11, 1869;

Lida, March 27, 1871; Charles, April 19, 1873. Mr.

Clarke has traded extensively through the South, and has

built up a reputation as being one of the best farmers in

Bourbon County. He and family are members of church.

William Nunn was a man of prominence in the early

history of Millersburg. He was four times married; all

his children died young, except the wife of our subject,

who was the only child by his third wife, who was Frances,

a daughter of William Miller, he of Major .John Miller.

Mr. Nunn was a man of great liberality, eminent in the

support of Methodism, and took an active interest in ed-

ucation. His ho^se was lavishly furnished, and before

the advent of railroads, was the resting place of the great

Henry Clajr, on his way to and from Maysville to Lex-

ington, and numerous others of the most highly educated

and prominent men of the day. A number of people

who have gone out into the world and held positions of

prominence, were educated by Mr. Nunn, who, as an

officer and Christian gentleman, held the highest position

in the hearts of his fellow citizens. He sought out op-

portunities to help others, and did good in whatever

channel an opportunity was made manifest. Howard
Henderson, late Superintendent of Public Instruction,

received a highly finished education through him, gradu-

ating from the Cincinnati Law School, and from the O. W.
U., at Delaware, 0.; he entered the ministry, and trav-

eled through the South with Bishop Cavanaugh, preach-

ing, and became one of the most prominent divines in

the Conference; he is now located at Hannibal, Mo.

MRS. LIZZIE M. CLAY, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

widow of Greene Clay, who was a son of Sidney P. Clay,

he of General Greene Clay, (see hist.) Deceased went

to Texas very early in life, where he run a large plan-

tation, raising cotton and stock on the San Antonio

river. He returned to Bourbon County, in 1857, where

he was married, June 1, of that year to Miss Lizzie Good-

man, daughter of W. C. Goodman (see hist). After

marriage they returned to their Texan home, where their

two sons were born: Sidney P., on the 11th of June, 1858;

Greene, upon the 20th of May, 1860, the father dying

upon 34th of same month. The widow returned to her

father's house, where she resided for eighteen years,

when she purchased a part of the old Dick Taylor farm,

where she now resides. Mr. Clay was a man of superior

excellence, scrupulously exact in all his business rela-

tions, honorable in all his impulses, kind in all his feel-

ings—he was the embodiment of every excellence in man;

devoted to his family, he was in return the recipient of

their undivided affections ; brave and chivalrous as a

Bayard, loyal to his attachments, benevolent in his ac-

tions, regardful of the opinions of those whose opinions

were entitled to respect, and indulgent to the failings of

his fellow men, he endeared himself to all who came in-

timately within the sphere of his influence. As a good

citizen, he upheld and vindicated the laws—an honest

man, he ever " rendered unto Caesar the things that were

Caesar's;" a firm friend, he would serve to the death all

who had won and who deserved his esteem and confi-

dence; young, wealthy, intelligent and brave, with hopes
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high, and the prosjject of a bright future all before him;

thus ended the life of a great ami good man, and one of

the brightest alumni of Center College,

WILL. F. COLLINS, farmer ; P. 0. Cynthiana ; son

of B. F. and Sally (Turney) Collins, who were married

Dec. 12, 1811 ; they had eight children, viz : Peter T.,

born Feb. 8, 1846 ; Luoinda J., July 7, 1817, Crittenden

T., May 18, 1849 ; William F., .luly 17, 1852 ; Judith A.

Oct. 17, 1854 ; George F., April 11, 1858 ; Lucretia E.,

Feb. 8, 1860 ; Fannie L., Jan. 6, 1863. Deaths : Peter

T., Sept. 3, 1862 ; B. F., the father, March 13, 1867
;

Lucretia E., May 26, 18^9. Marriages : Lucinda J. to J.

T. Talbott, May 17, 1866 ; Judith A. to Willis Boston,

Dec. 5, 1877 ; Lucretia E. to Sidney Dills, Aug. 21, 1878;

C. T. to Frankie Hamilton, Oct. 24, 1878. The parents

of Mrs. Sally Collins were Peter Turney, born July 7, 1781,

to Daniel and Susan Turney. Peter was married Jan. 7,

1808, to Judith, born Jan. 16, 1784, to William and Mar-

tha Collins ; their children were William, born Sept. 25,

1808 ; Whitfield, May 4,1810 ; Felix G., March 23, 1812;

B. Franklin, July 1, 1814 ; Susan, Dec. 19, 1815 ; Lu-

cretia, Nov. 30, 1817 ; Julia Ann, May 5, 1820 ; Sarah,

the mother of our subject, May 16, 1822 ; and Daniel,

March 3, 1825. The parents died—he, June 4, 1835, she,

Nov. 8, 1853.

GEO. T. GOULD, A. M., D. D., Pres. Millersburg Fe-

male College. This gentleman was born in the little

sea-coast town of Beaufort, N. C, Dec. 17, 1842; his edu-

cation was begun in Raleigh, N. C, under that distinguish-

ed teacher of boys, Jeiferson Lovejoy, Esq. It was con-

tinued in Louisville, Ky., in the best public and private

schools of the city; and was concluded in Harrodsburg,

Ky., at the Kentucky University, then located at that

place. In April, 1861, he was licensed to preach by the

Quarterly Conference of the Harrodsburg Methodist

Church, and filled the pulpit of that station for his fath-

er, till the following September. From this time till the

early part of Sept., 1862, he filled likewise for his father,

the pulpit of the Simpsonville Circuit, Shelby County,

Ky. The same month he joined the Kentucky Conference,

then assembled in Flemingsl)urg, and held various ap-

pointments of increasing importance, till in Maysville

in 1872, his throat completely gave down, and he was

compelled to retire from the active work of the ministry.

Then it was he became connected with the Millersburo'o
Female College, as joint proprietor and principal, which

position he still holds, with the exception of now having

undivided control. In 1877, the degree of D. D. was

conferred upon him by the Kentucky Military Institute,

Col. R. A. Allen, Principal. On his father's side Dr.

Gould is related to the large family of the same name

that originally settled in New York, and thence have

spread into almost every other State of the Union. His

mother was an Oliver, a granddaughter of the North Car-

olina Marshalls—the family from which Gen. Braxton

Bragg was directly descended, and which no doubt was

a branch collateral to the Virginia Marshalls, and con-

sequently to those of Kentucky. Dr. Gould, though

somewhat known as a controversial writer, a reviewer

and a platform speaker, has thus far led too active and

busy a life in the ministry, and more especially in the

school room, to produce any thing of a permanent and

extended character. His greatest distinction is having

under adverse circumstances, built up the Millersburg

Female College, from a mere local school with four or

five teachers, and some twenty boarding pupils, to one

of the largest and most celebrated Institutions in the

South and West, presenting a faculty of 18 able and ex-

perienced teachers, and a boarding department of 110

pupils. Dr. Gould is small of statute, but fleshy, weigh-

ing 160 pounds, though less than five feet, six inches in

height. His complexion is dark, hair thin, speech

quick, movements nervous, and manners pleasant. Vim,

enterprise, determination, self-reliance, untiring energy,

rapidly formed conclusions, and willingnesss to assume

risks from which the more timid or less reliant shrink,

seem to be the main ingredients in his character. Hav-

ing not yet reached his fortieth birthday, he is scarcely

in his prime, and may reasonably be expected to accom-

plish even greater things in his chosen field of enterprise.

JOSEPH A. GRIMES, farmer and distiller ; P. O.

Millersburg; a native of Stewart County, Ga., about

forty miles from Columbus, where he was born, Nov. 15,

1844, to .lohn and Eliza (Grimes) Grimes ; she died in

1860, aged about fifty years ; he in 1862, aged fifty-

four years ; they were natives of North Carolina,

settled in Georgia at an early date ; they had three

sons and one daughter—John W., who was assas-

sinated in his own dooryard, in 1865, cause supposed

to have grown out of war troubles ; Julia A., wife of

Henry G. Feagin, a member of one of the wealthy and

prominent families of Alabama, near Midway; he has

held the office of Sheriff of Stewart County two terms,

and is extensively engaged in mercantile and agricul-

tural pursuits ; Robert J. Grimes, engaged largely in

agriculture and milling interests in his native county
;

served during the war in the Virginia Army,- under Gen.

Longstreet ; Joseph A. received a liberal education,

and assisted his father, who was one of the foremost

planters in the county ; he enlisted in 1862, in Captain
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Bill's Company, 55th Georgia Regiment, under Colonel

Haskill, commanded by General Kirby Smith, with whom
he served until the capture of the command at Cumber-

land Gap., when they were sent to Camp Douglas, at

Chicago, where they were held as prisoners until the

close of the war ; he then returned to his native county,

where he engaged in agriculture until his removal to

Bourbon County, in 18G7. He was clerk and proprietor

of the Bourbon House at Paris for a time, before removing

to his present home ; since which time he has been

engaged in agriculture and stock raising, also the manu-

facture of whisky, upon the old copper distilled plan.

He was married May 30y 1871, to Sue C. Mackey, daugh-

ter of John A. and Lucinda (Conner) Mackey, the latter

a native of Nelson County, the former a native of

Louisiana, came to Nelson county when a young man,

and engaged in agriculture and trading ; they now
reside in Warren County,- Ky. Mr. Grimes has by this

marriage five children, viz. : .lohn R., born April 26,

1872 ; Erama L., March 22, 1874 ; Mary T., June 28,

1876 ; William C, July 29, 1878 ; Joseph A., April 13,

1880.

EDWIN P. GAMBLE, farmer and stock breeder; P.

0. Millersburg; was born Dec. 28, 1852, in Cincinnati, to

James and Elizabeth (Norris) Ganjble, both of whom
were of Irish descent; his paternal ancestry wei-e of the

nobility of Scotland, originating from Lord Eglinton, of

Ayrshire. They left Scotland for conscience sake, when

James the Sixth by fraud, craft and corruption, thrust

prelacy upon the church of Scotland. This family was

not, like many others, induced to return, by false promises

of King Charles, but remained in Ireland. Josias Gam-

ble is the first of whom any record is known; his eldest

son was David Gamble, of Graau, near Inniskillen, born

in 1682; his successor (or second son,) was David, of Ra-

tonagh, Ireland; his eldest son was George, of Graan,

near Inniskillen, born in 1772, came to America with his

family about 1819; his eldest son was James, the father of

our svibject, born in 1803 in Graan, Ireland; came to this

country with his father, landing in Cincinnati in Novem-

ber of that year, 1819; he is now of the firm of Proctor &

Gamble, extensive manufacturers of that city. Edwin

P. is his seventh son; he received a liberal education at

Kenyon College, Gambler, Ohio; and at Cornell Univer-

sity; subsequently engaging in agricultural pursuits and

the breeding of blooded stock, such as short horn cattle,

of the most popular strains, Cotswold sheep, and Poland-

China hogs. He came to Bourbon County in the Spring

of 1876, purchasing the beautiful home, Sunning Hill

Farm, where he now resides, taking possession of the same

Jan. 1, 1877. He was marrried April 22, 1880, to Miss

Lilly Lawder, daughter of Launcelot Lawder, a resident

in the neighborhood of Westwood, a suburban village of

Cincinnati; he also a native of Ireland. Mr. Gamble is a

young man of refinement, culture, possessing Christain

graces, and with his estimable wife, connected with the

Methodist Church, at Paris. He is one of the few Repub-

licans of Bourbon County, voting with that party from a

conscientious motive.

SILAS W. HURST, physician; P. O. Millersburg;

is a son of William and Susan J. (Evans) Hurst,

both of whom are now living; she a daughter of Jesse

and Hannah (Pitts) Evans; she of Williarn B. Pitts, and

his wife a Miss Goddard, who was a native of England,

emigrated to Virginia. The Pitts family settled near

Poplar Plains, Fleming County, about fifty years ago.

William Hurst was a son of Fielding J. Hurst, who died

with cholera in 1833, in Fleming County, his wife was a

Miss Hickerson; both were natives of "Virginia; settled

in Fleming County at an early date. The subject of this

sketch was born Oct. 28, 1849, received from his parents

a liberal education, attended the University of Louis-

ville, from which he graduated in March, 1872, subse-

quently locating in Charleston, Miss., where he remained

a few months, then came to Millersburg, where he has

since resided an 1 built up a remunerative practice in

his profession. He possesses natural business tajt, which

he utilizes in speculations, which return him a consider-

able emolument. He was married Oct. 30, 1873, to

Miss Fannie G. Boulden (see Jesse Boulden hist.), by

which marriage two sons have been born: Edgar, May 1,

1876, Jesse Henry, Aug. 5, 1877. Dr. Hurst has been

honored by the people in the various village offices, a

Democrat politically, a highly respected and esteemed

citizen, a member of both the Odd Fellows and Masonic

Orders, and with his family connected with the Baptist

Church, in which he holds the office of Deacon.

HERVEY W. LETTON, farmer; P. O. Millers-

burg; a resident of Pine Grove farm, was born in

the house in which he now lives. May 6, 1809;

a son of Caleb, born Deo. 5, 1768, in Montgomery

County, Md., he of Michael Letton, and a Miss Willett,

both of whom died in Maryland. Caleb was married

to Mary Wilcoxon, Nov. 30, 1790, she was born to John

Wilcoxon, May 24, 1772. They came to Bourbon Coun-

ty in 1795, with the two oldest children of the family:

Martha, born in 1792, Fielder, 1794; the others were

born at the home where Mr. Letton now lives; they were

Caleb, born in 1796; Anna M., 1798; Verlinder, 1800;

Michael, 1802; John W., 1804; James B., 1807; our sub-
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ject ; Mary N., 1811; Melicent C. A., 1814 ; all lived to

maturity, but died in the prime of life; the secondof the

family living to be the oldest, died at sixty-two years of

age; Mr. Letton was married Feb. 28, 1838, to Nancy J.

Parker, daughter of Lemuel Parker; she died March 38,

1870; second marriage, March 3, 1874, to Mrs. Mary J.

(Kincart) Reed, widow of Dr. George Reed, bf Nicholas

County ; by his first wife, he had twelve children :

Samuel P., born Feb. 33, 1839, married and farming in

Bates County, Mo.; Caleb E., Oct. 11, 1831, died in his

twenty-first year; Julian, died in infancy; Sarah A. M.,

born June 13, 1835, married a Mr. Hall and died in 1856;

Mary E., born Oct. 13, 1837, married Dick Robinson, and

died in 1879; John William, born Sept. 36, 1839, living

at home; Brice, born June 10, 1843, married to Sarah J.

Owen, residing in Millersburg Precinct; Lovina P., born

Feb. 5, 1844, wife of Jeff. M. Vincent; Henry S., born

Sept. 4, 1846; James H., Nov. 30, 1848, married Lucy

Daniels, of Texas, farming in this precinct; Reuben S.,

born Dec. 8, 1850, died in 1871; Nancy J., wife of Benja-

man Patton, of Paris. Mr. Letton has devoted his life to

agricultural pursuits and stock trading in the South; has

been a member of the Masonic Order for more than forty

years, was a Whig during Clay's time, afterward a Demo-
crat, espousing the cause of the Confederacy and giving

three sons to service in the cause; Brice, under General

Marshall, who after about two years service, returned

home on account of ill health; John, under General Mor-

gan, was captured and imprisoned at Camp Chase, but

through the influence of a friend—a Confederate General,

was released; Henry S., enlisted at sixteen years of age,

in Company C, 4th Ky. Cavalry, under General Morgan,

was in the advance guard in their raid to the North, and

was captured with a few others, was finally landed in

prison at Fort Delaware, where he was confined until the

close of the war.

JOHN WILL LETTON, farmer ; P. O. Millersburg;

proprietor of Pleasant Hill farm, was born in Montgomery

County, Md., May 33, 1831, to Brice Letton, who was

born in 1780, and the youngest son of Michael Montgom-

ery (see history). His mother was Harrietta E. Moore,

also a native of Montgomery County, Md., and sister to

" Old Zed Moore," who is supposed to have built the first

brick house in Paris, where he kept hotel, afterward built

the Bourbon House, later he went to the Blue Licks,

where he kept the noted summer resort, and died after

many years of service. The children born to Brice Let-

ton were eleven, seven sons and four daughters, two sons

and two daughters deceased. Those living are : Michael

H. in Paris Precinct; Ning W. at Lexington, Mo.;

Reuben P. in Silver City, Col.; John Will, Brice S., at

Paris, Ky.; Harrietta, widow of Dr. James McClannahan,

of Anderson, Ind.; Ann Maria, wife of J. W. Dooley, of

Montgomery County, Md. The father of this family was

a captain at an early date in the terrible contest at Bla-

densburg. He received an injury in Washington, D. C,

when on his way to Kentucky in his old age, from which

he never recovered. Our subject lived with his father

until he was twenty-one years of age, when he came to

Bourbon County, where, in Feb. 6, 1847, he was married

to Mary B. Sandusky, daughter of Jacob and Monan
(Bowler) Sandusky. (For further knowledge of Sandusky

ancestry, see Turner history.) (The issue of this union

was eleven children, ten of whom are living, viz: Ann
M., born Jan. 38, 1848, wife of Louis Gooch, of Jessamine

County ; Prudence H., born April 17, 1849, now wife of

James Becraft ; Harriet E., born April 8, 1851, wife of

Thomas Redmon ; Mary D., born Sept. 27, 1853 ; Jacob

B., July 3, 1855 ; Sandusky, Aug. 33, 1857, died at

seventeen years of age ; Laura S., Feb. 8, 1860, wife of

Charles Geffinger, at Millersburg; Martha, born Feb. 19,

1863 ; John W., May 3, 1864 ; Sally C, Jan. 11, 1867;

Rueben E., Jan. 34, 1869. Mr. Letton, after about a year

of married life, removed with his family to Decatur Coun-

ty, Ind., where he engaged in stock-raising until in 1863,

when he returned to Kentucky and purchased the house

which he now occupies, engaging in a general agriculture

and stock, shipping to the different parts of the country.

He is a member of the Masonic Order at Millersburg.

WILLIAM M. LAYSON, Jr., farmer; P. O. Millers-

burg; son of Zed M., born May 11, 1811, in Bourbon Coun-

ty, to Isaac and Mary (Moore) Layson; she of John Moore

and a Miss Black, natives, the former of Delaware, the

latter of Maryland; came to Fayette County about 17'88.

Isaac Layson, son of John and Margaret (Martin) Layson,

located near where Paris now stands, before the first house

was built at that place. Isaac had eight children: Wm.,
Zed M., Margaret A. Moore, John M., Robert W., America
(Moore), Ardery and Isaac Z.; the four oldest are still

living. The grandparents of our subject were natives

of Bourbon County. The father of bur subject was

twice married; first to Margaret H. Miller, daughter of

William Miller, he a son of Ma,jor John; by this marriage

there were two sons; one of them, Wm. M., born May 6,

1844; his first wife died Dec. 18, 1851." In 1854, he married

Sarah W. Varnon, daughter of Benjamin and Sally Var-

non; by this marriage there were five children, all living:

Margaret H., Edward V., Laura R., Martha M. and Eu-

genia B.; second wife deceased in 1877. On the 37th day

of April, the subject of this sketch left home for the

9
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Confederacy, determined to join the Southern army; af-

terward joined a party of twenty men, camped on the

night of the 5th near Hazel Green; on the following

morning, his eighteenth birthday, they were attacked by

a party of home guards; finally reached Marshall's com-

mand in Virginia, where all of the company enlisted ex-

cept William and two companions who went to Corinth,

Miss., intending to enlist there, but by the advice of

friends went to Chattanooga, Tenn., where they joined

Morgan's Command, serving two years, engaging in

many hard-fought battles, some of which were: Gallatin,

Snowhill, Woodbury, Greasy Creek, Green River Bridge,

and Augusta; was taken prisoner by the Federals, sent

to Louisville, where he remained until Nov. 8, 1863,

when, taking the oath was released and returned home,

engaging in farming and stock trading in the South.

Jan. 35, 1870, was married to Mrs. Maggie (Orr) More-

head, daughter of B. G. Orr, a prominent officer of Nich-

olas County, where he died; she a granddaughter of

.lohn Orr, who served in the war of 1813 under Col.

Johnson. They have had four children, two of whom
died in one night of scarlet fever; those living are

Charles B., born March 31, 1871; Zed Clark, Dec. 39,

1875. They are members of the Presbyterian Church.

ROBERT MILLER McCLELLAND, farmer; P. O.

Millersburg; proprietor of Silver Spring Farm; was born

Sept. 6, 1833. His father was William McClelland, born

Jan. 1, 1800; died June 36, 1864; was the eldest son of

Robert McClelland, who was a son of William McClel-

land, one of the original settlers of Millersburg. Robert

was brought when a child to Kentucky ; married his

cousin, Louisa Miller, daughter of Robert Miller, the

eldest child of John Miller, the founder of of Millersburg.

Robert Miller, born in 1780, is said to be the first male

child born in the State. Mr. McClelland is the eldest of

a large family; his father also, the first of a large family,

by Robert McClelland. He received a very limited ed-

ucation, being started out by his father at thirteen years

of age in the business of trading, which he followed for

eighteen years, driving stock of all kinds to South Caro-

lina and Georgia. May 33, 1849, he was married to

Miss Frances Suggett, a native of Scott County, and

daughter of Louis and Frances (Cason) Suggett, who

were from Virginia, but among the earliest and most

prominent families of Scott County. By this marriage

he had two children, both of whom died in infancy; the

mother died June 9, 1859, in Missouri, where he had

moved in the fall of 1858. In August, after the death of

his wife, he returned to Kentucky, and Nov. 5, 1861,

was married to Fanny Taylor, daughter of Stark and

Elizabeth (MoClane) Taylor, the parents of whom were

among the early settlers of Fayette County, from Vir-

ginia. Mr. McClelland, by this marriage, had nine child-

ren, eight of whom are living; they are: Fatie, born

Sept. 18, 1863; Claude, Jan. 38, 1864; Alice, Feb. 8,

1866; Julia, Dec. 33, 1867; Elisha, Dec. 30, 1868; Fan-

nie, Feb. 11, 1871; Robert, Sept. 1, 1873, died March 10,

1874; Beautie, June 5, 1875; infant, July 15, 1880. Mr.

McClelland is engaged in a general agriculture and stock

raising; is a member of the Baptist Church, in which he

has held the office of Church Clerk for twenty years; is a

liberal giver of his means to the support of schools and

churches, meriting the respect which he has of the people

of his community.

JOSEPH W. MILLER, magistrate in Millersburg
;

P. 0. Millersburg ; was born Dec. 36, 1835, to Joseph

Miller ; who was born Jan. 17, 1788, and was the third

son of Major John Miller, the founder of Millersburg
;

he born Sep. 31, 1753, died Sept. 5, 1815 ; he was born

in Carlisle, Pa., and emigrated to Kentucky and

located the land on which Millersburg now stands ; soon

after he returned to Cumberland County, Pa., and mar-

ried Ann McClintock, and returned with his wife to Ken-

tucky. Beneath the monument in the beautiful cemetery

at Millersburg, repose the remains of both. Joseph

Miller was married Dec. 38, 1809, to Polly McKee ; she

a daughter of Paddy McKee, one of the first merchants

of Millersburg, and died Dec. 18, 1810, without issue.

His second marriage was upon May 33, 1814, to Patsey

O. E. McClelland, who was born Nov. 17, 1793 ; she a

daughter of Col. James McClelland (born in 1775, died

July 7, 1833 ; was six times married, and died a Judge

upon the bench, in Boone County, Mo.); son of William

McClelland, who was a native probably of Virginia, and

came to Kentucky in 1776, landing at Limestone, now

Maysville, soon after coming down the " Old Buffalo

Trace" to the Irish Station. He had eight children, viz:

Elizabeth (see Bryan hist.), James A., Martha Jane, John

M., Mary, Hunt, and Joseph Woodson, who died in in-

fancy, and Joseph W., the subject of this sketch. Only

the oldest and youngest are now living, and with John

M., who has two daughters residing at Caanan, O., are

the only ones who have heirs. Joseph W. in his earlier

life engaged in merchantile business with his father, who

was one of the most energetic and prominent men of

the Blue Grass region at that date, and spent about

thirty-two years of his life in active business ; he died in

1853, at the age of sixty-six years ; his sons, John M.

and Joseph W. took the stock and continued the busi-

ness until the year 1860, when the latter disposed of his
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interest in the concern, and the death of his brother

James, who was a bachelor and owner of what is now
the White Distillery, at Paris, occurring about that time,

he was made administrator of the estate, and was com-

pelled to make numerous trips through the South in the

inte,rest of his brother's estate, during the hottest times

of the Rebellion. He subsequently engaged in farming,

and later in merchandising, until the year 1870, since

which time he has kept a hotel at Maysville, and acted

as agent for the Maysville and Lexington Rail Road,

before the sale of the same to the Kentucky Central

Company. He has been twice elected to a magistracy,

which position he now holds. He is a member of the

Masonic Order. He had five children ; three died in

infancy ; they are William, Jamas A., Lizzie B., Mattie,

and Eiisha.

R. P. MILAM, farmer; Millersburg; son of W. P. and

Charlotte (Cothran) Milam, both natives of South Carolina,

now residents of Cartersville, Ga.; was an extensive cot-

ton planter, and trader in the north before the war; he was

a son of William Milam, an extensive planter in South

Carolina at an early date; both the Milam and Cothran an-

cestry were from Ireland. W. P. by his marriage with

Charlotte Cothran, had two children, Rosa, born Aug. 19,

1840, now the wife of Dr. W. L. Kirkpatrick, of Carters-

ville, Ga.; and R. P,, born Dec. 2, 1844; the mother died

in the fall of 1864, after which the father was married to

Miss Sally Newel, of Harrison County, Ky., in 1866, hav-

ing by her the following children : Hugh N., Willie G.,

Ruby and Pearl twin daughters. The subject of this

sketch entered the State University at Athens, Ga., in

1859, where he remained until in the fall of 1860, when

he enlisted in Company K, 14th Ga. Reg. of Infantry,

under Capt. T. F. Jones, Col. 0. V. Brunby commanding;

here he served for a considerable time. In the spring of

1864 was transferred to the 16th Ga. Reg. Cavalry, Col.

S. J. Winn, of Lawrenceville, Ga., under Gens. Lee and

Jackson, engaging in numerous contests in Virginia; was

wounded at Malvern Hill, after the recovery of which he

was transferred ; engaging in active duty as Quarter-

master of his regiment. At the close of the war he be-

gan publishing the Cartersville Express at that place,

adopting the name of the paper published there before the

war by S. H. Smith, who became the partner of Mr. Mi-

lam. In 1867, Mr. Milam disposed of his interest in the

paper to his partner and came to Bourbon County, where

he married, Nov. 29, of that year, to Sally E. McClintock,

who died the following July. Was married Feb. 16,

1875, to Mattie A. Miller, daughter -of James McClure

Miller. They have two children, Lucille, born March 12,

1876 ; John McClintock, Jan. 27, 188] . They are mem-
bers of the M. E. Church, South.

ROBERT A. MILLER, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

was born Oct. 27, 1827, and is the fifth child of Alexan-

der Miller, (see history of Joi:iph A. Miller). He was

married Sept. 2, 1853, to Aial-i Milone Riymond, born

May 7, 1837, in Liverpool, England, to Maione and Cath-

arine (Holdaway) Raymond; she, the only child of Ed-

ward and Ann (Arnold) Holdaway; Maione Raymond
was a Solicitor, taking upon himself that honor, at the

death of his father, being the oldest son. The Raymond
family were of the nobility of Ireland. Maione (Ray-

mond), the latter name, taken by the father of our sub-

ject's wife, properly Richard Milone, was a cousin to

Lord Sunderland, also a cousin to Edwin Maione, a noted

writer, Shakespearian critic, and English publisher of

Shakespeare's works. Richard Maione was a nephew of

the Right Honorable Anthony Maione, Chancellor of

Ireland. Elliott Warberton, the noted writer, was a cous-

in to Richard Maione; Admiral Hamilton, of the English

Navy, a cousin also, and his niece married a great-grand-

son of the celebrated Earl of Rodney, who was raised to

the peerage in 1782, on account of his distinguished

feats as an Admiral. Maione Raymond and Catharine

(Holdaway) had a family of five daughters, the wife of

out- subject being the youngest; all are married and re-

side in this county. The mother-in-law of Mr. Miller,

from whom this sketch was obtained, came with her

husband to this country in 1849; she is a lady of the

highest culture, and remarkably bright for one of her

extreme age. Mr. Miller has had by this marriage six

children; two died in infancy. Those living are Catha-

rine R., born March 24, 1864; Martha H., Jan. 6, 1867;

Clarence A., March 24, 1868; Robert W., July 22, 1869.

He and family are members of the Presbyterian Church.

Mrs. Miller is instructress in the Art Department at the

K. F. C. at Millersburg, and is a lady of very high social

as well. as artistic culture.

JOSEPH A. MILLER, grocer; P. O. Millersburg; was
born Feb. 19, 1831; he is the youngest son of Alexander

Miller, who was the youngest child of Major .lohn Miller,

the founder of Millersburg; Alexander was the father of

the following children: John, died in the South in his

young manhood; Wm. McClelland, James McClure, Mary
McClure, died in young womanhood; Robert A., Joseph

A., Ann, also died in young womanhood; Martha Harris,

now a Mrs. Judge Wm. H. Savage, residing at Shackel-

ford, Texas; and America J., now a Mrs. Alexander But-

ler. Our subject, in his youth, received all the advanta-

ges of education of his day, attending the Transylvania
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University two years, and one year at the Kentucky
Military Institute. In the Fall of 1861 he enlisted in the

9th Ky. Cavalry, unde.r Gen. Morgan, serving until the

surrender. He was very enthusiastic in the Southern

cause, and took upon himself the perilous duty of furnish-

ing supplies and clothing for their troops, until a reward

of $500 was offered for his body dead or alive; at the

time they made the search for him he enlisted in the ser-

vice, and for a feat of bravery upon the field, in rescuing

a fallen comrade, he received a furlough home. He was

married Dec. 14, 1871, to Miss Sally M. Best, of Mason

County (see hist, of Dr. Best). They have no children,

are members of the M. E. Church South, and he one of

the town, trustees, and a prominent merchant of the vil-

lage, and a highly esteemed gentleman. His father was

born in 1796, and died at 74 years of age; he was twice

married, the second time to Ann C. Pelham, an aunt of

Major Pelham's, who was distinguished in military cir-

cles.

JOHN I. MOORE, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; son of

James B. and America (Layson) Moore, (see Layson

hist.); James B. a son of John and Polly (Wil-

moth) Moore. John I. was the only child of this

family ; he was born upon the farm where he now

lives, March 15, 1844, and received a limited educa-

tion; on account of the death of his father, in 1855, so

that at a very early age he entered a practical business

life, with the care and attention of large farming interests

left by his father, devolving Upon him. By close atten-

tion, and a practical application of business principles,

he has become one of the prominent stock dealers and

farmers of the county. He was married Oct. 18, 1871, to

Miss Jennie Pollock, born May 26, 1846, to Robert and

Amanda (Bailey) Pollock; he is now residing near Jack-

sonville, III., engaged in farming. The wife of our sub-

ject was left an orphan at a tender age, by the death of

her mother; she was then taken by her uncle, Squire W.
A. Moore, of Woodford Co.; she is also a niece ofJudge S.

M. Moore, of Chicago. By this marriage there were five

children: Wm. A., born Oct. 30, 1872; Mary W., May 23,

1876; America, Oct. 25, 1878; a son and daughter, on

Aug. 7, 1880, when the wife died, the children living but

a few months. The mother of our subject died March

22, 1881, in her 66th year.

JOHN G. SMEDLBY, merchant; P. O. Millersburg;

was born Feb. 30, 1836, to Aaron and Catharine (Hughs)

Smedley, she was a daughter of .Jesse and Priseilla (Par-

ker) Hughs, both of whom died in Carlisle, the former in

1863, the latter in 1856; Aaron Smedley was born in

Paris, Ky., July 35, 1794; died Sept. 7, 1863; he was a

son of Aaron, who was born in Pennsylvania, April 4,

1764; died June 31, 1836; his wife was Rebecca Leer;

born Dec. 15, 1765, died July 16, 1838; he built the first

shingle-roof house in Paris. The subject of this sketch

is the oldest of Aaron Smedley, Jr.'s children, who were:

John G., Wm., who was twice married; first to a Miss

Howell, of New York City, afterward to a Miss Burns,

of Leavenworth, Kan., now deceased; he resides in Salt

Lake City, engaged in mining and the insurance business;

Joseph (deceased), married a Miss Jamison, of Paris, and

left two daughters : Broadus, residing with his mother,

near Hutchinson Station; Elizabeth died in childhood;

Aaron, Jr., engaged in mercantile business in St. Louis;

Catharine was a Mrs. Harry Forrester, who is a merchant

in Chicago; John G. remained upon the farm with his

parents until fifteen years of age, when he entered the

store of G. B. & A. Hale, of Lexington, where he con-

tinued until the years 1854-5, when he attended the

Baptist College at Georgetown, during the years 1857-8;

he was engaged in the mercantile business with

Upstill, Pierson & Co., of St. Louis; in February, 1859,

he came to Millersburg and entered into partnership in

the mercantile business with Mr. J. M. Hughs, County

Clerk of Bourbon; this firm still continues, doing the

largest business in the village. Mr. Smedley was mar-

ried Oct. 38, 1863, to Miss Mattie Boulden, daughter of

Nathan Boulden; by this marriage there was a son, who
died in infacy, and a daughter, Maud S., born Oct. 14,

1867; the mother of these died Nov. 33, 1873; he was re-

married March 14, 1877, to Mrs. Lizzie Rains, widow of

Dr. Rains, of Millersburg; this marriage took place at

.Jacksonville, Fla., and after traveling through the

South, he returned to his business; by this marriage there

are two children, viz : Mary, born Dec. 31, 1877; Graham,

born Nov. 10, 1879; the mother is a daughter of Jesse

Boulden (see history). He is a member of the Baptist

Church, she of the Christian; he is a member of the

Knights Templar, an enterprising, energetic, and promi-

nent man in business circles.

HAMLET C. SHARP, ganger; P. O. Millersburg; was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., Dec. 31, 1858, to John W.
and Charity C. (Baskett) Sharp, (see hist.) Hamlet

began his education in the common schools of Nicholas

County, and completed with a three-year's course in the

Wesleyan College at Millersburg. He was appointed

Government storekeeper Jan. 1, 1879, and gauger in

March, 1881, which position he still retains. He was

married in Bourbon County, April 30, 1881, to Miss Belle

G. Greene, who was born June 6, 1863, to Robt. P. and

Molly E. (Current) Greene, both natives of Bourbon
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County, the former born in 1837, the latter in 1847. On
Dec. 1, 1881, Mr. Sharp entered into partnership with

Jas. M. Collier, at Millersburg, and in addition to attend-

ing to the duties of gauger, is now engaged in selling

lumber, coal, salt and lime. Owing to his abilities as a

business man he has assisted in building up a large and

steadily increasing business. He is a very energetic and

enterprising business man, and well worthy of the high

esteem in which he is held by the community. In poli-

tics he is a Republican.

WALLACE SHANNON, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

an enterprising and highly respected young farmer and

stock shipper; resides with his mother at their beau-

tiful home, about two miles above Millersburg, on the

Cynthiana and Indian Creek Pike. The early ancestry

of the family were among the old pioneers of the country,

and highly esteemed for their industry and probity.

JAMES H. THOMPSON, farmer ; P. O. Millersburg;

was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 21, 1833, about three

and a half miles from Millersburg, where he now resides,

to Henry and Mary (Wilson) Thompson ; she born in

Lexington about 1790, to James Wilson and a Miss

Clark, who were very early settlers at that place ; Henry
Thompson, Jr., was born in the Sherman Valley, Pa.,near

Carlisle, in May, 1783, died in February, 1853 ; he was

brought by his parents, Henry and Mary (McClintock)

Thompson, to the farm now owned in part by the subject

of this sketch. Henry Thompson, Sr., was one of the

party of eighteen who settled in the vicinity of Millers-

burg in 1778, his tract of 1300 acres lying in the edge of

Nicholas County. He it seems remained upon his land

the principal part of the time after making the first

settlement, in a rude cabin in the howling wilderness,

being the only settler between Maysville and Lexington,

and during the most troublesome time with the Indians,

and the great massaora at the Blue Licks. In 1783 he

brought his family and remained upon the old homestead

until his death. During his lonely life the Indians sev-

eral times drove him off his land, and drove away his

stock, and after bringing his family, his noble wife would

stand guard while he plowed their little patch of corn,

and did other necessary work. They had five children,

three of whom are living: Daniel, Robert and James H.,

who are the only members of the third generation in

this part of the country. John, the oldest son, died in

1860, leaving children in Nicholas County ; Mary mar-

ried a Mr. McClintock, and died in 1859, leaving two

daughters ; James H. received his education upon the

farm, and in the limited district school of his boyhood

days and remained with his parents until their death,

which occurred on the same day of the month, Feb. 15,

he in 1853, she in 1860. He remained unmarried until

Feb. 11, 1863, when he was married to Miss Marilda

Cheatham ; born Jan. 13, 1846, to Forman and Louisa

(Bradshaw) Cheatham, residents of Montgomery County,

near Mount Sterling. By this marriage there have been

seven children, three of whom died in early childhood.

Those living are: Brownie, born March 34, 1864; Robert,

May 13, 1871 ; Jimmie, Aug. 39, 1875 ; and Elmo, May
3, 1881. Mr. Thompson is a highly respected farmer and

member of the democratic party.

CHARLES R. TURNER, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

born July 15, 1843, to William and Susan A. (Sandusky)

Turner; she, born Dec. 16, 1830, to Andrew and Betsey

(Culver) Sandusky; she, born in 1783, died in 1846, daugh-

ter of Charles and Ellen (Shanks) Culver; he died in Mary-

land; his widow came to Bourbon County with two chil-

dren, at an early date. Andrew Sandusky was born Dec.

5, 1781, to James and Mary (Brown) Sandusky; were

among the very early settlers of Bourbon County. Wil-

liam Turner was born Feb. 17, 1793, in I^exington, in the

fort; his father was William, born Nov. 6, 1753, in

Md. The wife of the latter was Martha Ricards, born

Aug. 19, 1763; William, Jr., was the seventh child of four

sons and seven daughters, the eldest born in 1779, the

youngest in 1803; two only are now living, Charles, the

youngest, a resident of Bourbon County, and Stacy,

a Mrs. Ishmel Daily, residing in- Adams County, 111.

William Turner, the father of our subject, was three times

married; first to a Miss Ricards, who died without is-

sue; second, to Sally Sandusky, who died in 1835; by her

there were three children: Martha, a Mrs. Joseph Mc-
Clelland; Mary Ellen died in childhood; Wra. A., now
residing near Kansas City, Mo. By the third marriage

there were also three children, by Susan A. Sandusky, a

sister to second wife. The children were: Elizabeth,

who became the wife of Isaac Bowen, and died in 1855;

Sally Lee married Harmon Ayres, who is a prominent

stock-dealer and farmer in Saline County, Mo., and the

subject of this sketch, the youngest child of Wm., Jr.,

who died April 13, 1878, and willing the old homestead
to his youngest son, who was married Sept. 10, 1861, to

Sallj- A. Redmon, daughter of Thomas Jefferson and
Amanda (Redmon) Redmon, residents of Paris Precinct;

they have no children. Mr. Turner remained with his

parents engaging in agriculture and mule trading, also

paying some attention to short-horns. His paternal an-

cestry were among the very earliest settlers in the coun-

ty, large land-holders, and stood among the leading men
at that early day. His father was one of the first distil-
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lers in the county, and sold of his first manufacture at

13^ cts. per gallon. They have occupied the same farm

since 179?, and at an early date built a house, putting on

a shingle roof, which it is supposed, was the first of that

style in the county.

ROBT. TARR, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; was born

near Carlisle, May 2, 1828, where his parents removed, a

short time before his birth, from Bourbon County, return-

ing in 1838, and settling the- farm on which Mr. Tarrnow

lives. His father was John B. Tarr, a native of Nicho-

las, born March 4, 1801 ; he of Charles Tarr, born upon

the Eastern Shore of Maryland. The wife of Charles was

Miss Bishop, who, soon after being united in marriage,

came to the western part of Nicholas County, on Hinks-

ton, which was soon after the year 1790, and became one

of the prominent men of the county at that early day. In

about 1831 he moved to Adams County, 111., with all his

family except a daughter, who married Richard Adair,

'' The Tanner," of Nicholas County, and John B., the

father of our subject, who remained in the Blue Grass

region, where he engaged in farming and raised a family

by Milly Turner. (See hist.) The result of this union

was five sons and two daughters: Wm., born June 22,

1825. He began life a poor boy; his first enterprise was

that of raising watermelons, afterward engaged in farm-

ing upon rented land with his brother Robert, when, after

a few years, their labors having been crowned with success,

they dissolved partnership, each beginning business for

himself; Wm. subsequently engaged in distilling, trad-

ing and real estate speculation, through which he has be-

come one of the money kings of the Blue Grass region

;

the second of the family was Charles, born Sept. 15, 1826,

died a young man; the subject of this sketch, who de-

voted his life to agriculture and stock raising; he was

for a number of years a director in the Millersburg Bank,

and at the death of the first president he was elected to

that position; Martha, born Jan. 5, 1830, married Tice

Hutzell, and, after his death, married a Mr. Penn, who is

also deceased; James, born Jan. 21, 1832, married a Miss

Piper and moved to Pettis County, Mo.,where he died; his

wife is now a Mrs. Porter, of Millersburg; John, a resi-

dent of Flat Rock (see hist.); Mary E., born Aug. 30,

1841, became the wife of Col. Sampson D. Archer, of

Keokuk, Iowa, where he died and where his family now

reside. The subject of this sketch was married Sept. 5,

1861, to America Layson, daughter of Robt. Layson (de-

ceased) and Catharine Kennedy. They have three chil-

dren—Anna Lee, wife of Jas. L. Shackelford, of Mays-

ville, Robt. L. and John Bishop.

J. T. TALBOTT, farmer; P. 0. Millersburg; born Aug.

13, 1823, to George and Unity (Smith) Talbott; she a

daughter of Daniel and Nancy (Baker) Smith, who were

natives, the former of Delaware, the latter of Eastern

Shore of Maryland; came early to Bourbon County; Geo.

Talbott was a son of Harry (supposed to have come from

England when a youth to Fredericksburg, Va.,) and

Barbara (Whaley) Talbott; George raised a family of

nine children to maturity, viz.: Daniel, residing at Car-

lisle; Mrs. William Parker, in Nicholas; Preston W., in

Ruddel's Mills; J. T., George H., at Cynthiana; Charles L.,

in Ruddels Mills; Nancy, married John Parker, she died,

leaving heirs at Carlisle; Rezin, married a Miss Elizabeth

A. Bell (he deceased), family in Nicholas; J. T. lived

with his father (receiving a very limited education) until

his marriage, Aug. 27, 1849, to Elizabeth A. Conway,

daughter of Nathaniel S. and Annie C. (Baker) Conway;

Nathaniel S. born May 28, 1798, died Jan. 6, 1879, was

a son of John and Annie (Sutton) Conway, natives of

Virginia; came to Nicholas at an early date; Annie C.

Baker, was born July 7, 1805, died May 3, 1853, was a

daughter of William and Elizabeth (Kimbrough) Baker,

natives of Nicholas. Mr. Talbott by this marriage had

ten children : Annie B., born Oct. 22, 1850, widow of

Hon. Henry 0. Dills, of Falmouth; Mary E., born Dec.

25, 1851, wife of Wm. Durham, a farmer of Nicholas

County; Jennie U., born March 1-3, 1854, wife of John

R. Madison, of Cynthiana; Fannie G., born July 23,

1856 ; Willie W., born July 26, 1858, is in mercantile

business at Millersburg; Nannie P., born July 22, 1860,

wife of Willie McKee, a farmer in Harrison County;

Charles M., born July 3, 1862; John C, born March 17,

1865; Arthur, born April 30, 1867, and Stanley, born

Aug. 24, 1869; he and family are members of the Chris-

tian Church at Indian Creek; a genial wholesouled gen-

tleman, highly respected and esteemed by his neighbors.

DANIEL THOMPSON, farmer; P. O. Millersburg;

was born January 24, 1824 (see James H. Thompson's

history for history of his people), artd spent his early life

on the farm with his father until twenty-six years of age,

having in the meantime received some knowledge of

books under the old select school system, in an old log

building with clapboard roof, puncheon floor and split

logs for seats, which constituted the seat of learning at

that day. In 1850, he was married to Elizabeth J. McClin-

tock, having by her three children, who, with the mother,

are now dead. His second marriage occurred Oct. 4,

1859, to Elizabeth Moore, who was born Deo. 1, 1840, to

James McClure and Margaret (Layson) Moore. By this

marriage there have been nine children born unto them:

Mary A., June 26, 1860; Jas. Mc, Jan. 14, 1862; Marga-
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ret E., March 6, 1864; John W., Feb. 11, 1866; Saml. D.,

March 28, 1868; infant daughter, dead; French Moore,

Nov. 1, 1873; Robert Presley, Oct. 23, 1876; Harry W.,

July 38, 1879. Mr. Thompson is quite extensively en-

gaged in raising thoroughbred shorthorns of the principal

families, all his stock having registered pedigrees. He
is also superintending large farming interests. In the

summer of 1877 he sufiFered the loss of about $8,000 worth

of property in the accidental burning of his dwelling and

its effects. He and his family are members of the Asso-

ciate Reformed Presbyterian Church on Hinkston.

WM. TARR, farmer, speculator and distiller; P. O.,

Paris; proprietor of Park Place (see Robt. Tarr's hist.);

has been twice married: first, to Sarah F. ITisher, daugh-

ter of W. W. and Sarah (Garth) Fisher (see Fisher hist.)

She died in March, 1873, leaving two children, Thomp-
son H., born Oct. 4, 1866, and Fisher, Aug. 11, 1870. His

second marriage was to Miss Mary Fisher, a sister to his

first wife. They were married .Jan. 25, 1876, the result

of the union being three children: James B., born Dec.

24, 1877; Wm. Orr, March 19, 1878, and Mary Best, March

9, 1880. Mr. Tarr has one of the most beautiful homes

in Bourbon County, having provided it with all the mod-

ern conveniences and tasteful designs, and a large and

commodious park well stocked with deer. He is a man of

great business tact and ability, his large and increasing

business interests extending throughout the country.

THE VIMONT FAMILY. In the year 1776, in or

near Paris, France, was born Louis Vimont, Sr., who when

he had arrived at the age of twelve years, started with

his father and a Mr. John Savary to America, being

driven from their sunny land on account of their religious

tenets. After landing in Philadelphia the father of

Louis was stricken down with yellow fever, from which

he soon died, leaving his young orphan son in the care

of his companion, Mr. Savary. They were then two

strangers in a broad and wild land. They however soon

made their way to Gallipolis, O., where they stopped

with the French settlers of that section, who were

holding a land grant from that Government, about

twelve miles from Portsmouth, O. There they resided for

somatime, thence came to Washington, Ky., and proba-

bly l>efore 1795, they settled in Millersburg, where Mr.

Savary engaged in mercantile pursuits as one of the

very first merchants of Bourbon County, assisted by Mr.

Vimont, who was married to Rosanna Rowland, June 1,

1798 ; she a native of North Carolina, and daughter of

.lohn Rowland, who afterwards resided in Harrison

County for many years. By this marriage there were

four sons and three daughters, all of whom were married.

and still living, except one son and one daughter. They

were—.John Savary, born June 10, 1799 ; Jefferson T.,

Sept. 18, 1801 ; Franklin B., Dec. 4, 1803 (deceased)
;

Charlotte, April 7, 1808, married John B. Mcllvain, of

Louisville, by whom she has five children : Verger, born

Nov. 1, 1810, married William Swift, of Lexington, by

whom she had eight children ; both are now deceased ;-

Mary E., born Jan. 5, 1819, widow of Dr. Samuel

Trotter, of Lexington, had four children: Louis C, born

May 2, 1823. Mr. Vimont after living in this country

for a time sent for his only sister. Felicity, who settled

in Maysville, and in 1848 became the wife of M. Girova,

by whom she had one child, a daughter. Mr. Vimont

was for many years the leading merchant in the village

of Millersburg; also a heavy shipper of produce to the

South, and a contractor, in which business his sons

superseded him. John Savary Vimont was a merchant

in Millersburg, where he was born, until about four years

ago. He is still a leading man in the improvement of

the village and all the leading enterprises. He was mar-

ried Sept. 19, 1826, to Ann Russell Throckmorton,

daughter of Thomas and Susan (Morton) Throckmorton,

who resided at the junction of the Johnson and Licking

rivers. By this union there were seven children ;

Thomas T., Louis B., Joseph D. ; Susan, now a Mrs.

Sandusky, of Lexington ; Rosanna, now a Mrs. Dr.

Kenney, of Paris ; Cecil .J., married a Mr. Batterton
;

infant daughter (deceased). Three sons and three daugh-

ters grew to be men and women, and married (except

Louis B.), leaving heirs in the vicinity of Millersburg
;

except Joseph D., only one is now living, Mrs. Sandusky,

of Lexington. The wife of Mr. Vimont died Aug. 21,

1846. The VivBonts are Republican in political senti-

ment. The oldest son of John S. went into the Federal

Army as Captain, afterwards promoted to Lieut-Colonel

;

was shot in cold blood by an officer in the same command.
Louis B. was in the same command with his brother, and

died at Chatanooga. The Vimont family are highly

respected citizens of Millersburg and the community.

Jefferson T. Vimont, second son, received a liberal edu-

cation, and assisted his father in mercantile business

until his marriage, which occurred Sept. 18, 1823, to

Elizabeth Man telle, daughter of William Mantelle, who
was for many years a banker at Lexington. After his

marriage he built the flouring mill, known as the Eliza-

beth Mill, which he run for a number of years ; then

engaged in merchandising in Millersburg, and through

his son at St. Joe, Mo., which he continued for a number
of years ; then engaged in real estate business through-

out the West, until the breaking-out of the Civil War,

^ir
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in 1861. At the death of his father he was made execu-

tor of the .large estate left by him. He had seven

children. Louis died in Chillicothe, on his return trip

from Washington, D. C, where he had held a position as

one of the first clerks in the Treasury Department

for a number of years ; was married to a Miss

Kennair ; left two children ; she is now residing with

her son in Lexington. Charlotte unmarried, living

with her father. Mary, now a Mrs. Dr. Scearce of

Chillicothe ; John, married, and a merchant in St. Louis,

Mo.; Thomas married also in St. Louis; Elizabeth, un-

married, at home ; Maloom M., died in young manhood.

Mr. Vimont lost his wife a number of years ago; he and

family are members of the Presybterian Church; Louis

C. Vimont was married Nov. 21, 1844, to Mary W. Nes-

bit, born May 10, 1827, daughter of Joseph and Mary

(Ammons) Nesbit, natives of Cobumbia, Boone County,

Mo.; he a Baptist minister at an early date; Mr. Vimont,

is related by marriage to Dr. Graham, of Louisville,

father-in-law of Joseph Blackburn, at present one of the

most prominent men of Kentucky. They had seven

daughters and four sons; one of the former died in infancy;

ten are now living : Joseph N., married to Alice Graham

(deceased, Dec. 7, 1868, after less than a year of wed-

ded life); he was located at San Francisco as a member

of the S 00 ; Exchange at that place; now mining at

Tombstone, Arizona; Anna, wife of O. Yi. Brady, of

Nicholas County, married Nov. 28, 1876; Henry S.,

Thomas A., Belle W., Nancy M., Minnie, Virginia B.,

Susan and Banks M. Mr. Vimont lived with his father

until his marriage, when he engaged in mercantile busi-

ness for about ten years, after which, for about the same

length of time he run the Tower Mills; since the Ken-

tucky Central company has had charge of the railroad

through Millersburg, he has acted as General Station

Agent at the above named place; also agent for all main

lines upon coupon tickets; he is a member of the I. O. O.

F., and a prominent citizen; Jeiferson M. Vimont, son of

Franklin B. (deceased), who at eighteen years of age

left his father, Louis, and went to the mouth of Johnson,

where he was extensively engaged in farming, distilling

and mercantile business, sending his merchandise by flat-

boat to New Orleans, at an early day; here he continued

until in 1864, when he removed to the place where his

youngest son now lives, and engaged in farming until

his death, which occurred Aug. 14, 1877; he was married

Nov. 25, 1824, to Susan W., (laughter of Thomas and

Susan (Morton) Throckmorton; Thomas Throckmorton,

Sr., a native of Richmond, Va., came to Kentucky about

1800, settling on the Licking river, about nine miles be-

low the Blue Licks; the sons of this gentleman became

quite prominent in the history of Kentucky; also a son-

in-law of Lewis Arnold, an active worker in the political

field in Nicholas County; Mr. Vimont by this marriage,

had nine children : John S., died at twenty-seven years of

age; Mary, now the wife of W. T. Ingels, of Nicholas

County ; A. T., died at twenty-nine years of age

;

Anna R. died young; Bettie, a maiden lady of high

social culture and fine business qualifications, residing in

Millersburg, superintending her agricultural affairs and

household duties; Sue, wife of J. F. Miller, a farmer in

Nicholas County; Louis T., with a twin brother, who died

in infancy; he married a Miss Whitehead, daughter of

John R. Whitehead, of Harrison County, by whom he

has eight children: Charles W., Frank, Claude, Mattie,

Fannie, Florence, John, and Louis; Jefferson M., the

youngest, born Oct. 27, 1844, and married Oct. 25, 1866, to

MissLovina Letton (see Letton hist.); they have had six

children, three of whom died in infancy; those living

are: Nannie L., A. T. and F. Letton. Mr. Vimont is

engaged in agriculture and raising of thoroughbred

Cotswold sheep and short horn cattle; his sheep are of the

finest in the Blue Grass region, and in demand in a num-

ber of the different States throughout the union.

JAMES WHALEY, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; son of

Leland and Polly (Talbott) Whaley; she a daughter of

Henry and Barbara (Whaley) Talbott, who came from

Loudoun County, Va., to Fayette County, Ky., in 1792,

where they resided two years, then came to Rud-

del's Mills Precinct, settling on Hinkston, where they

died at advanced ages. Leland was a son of John Wha-

ley, of Loudoun County, Va., where he died about 1787;

his wife was Barbara Reamy, who came to Ruddel's Mills

in 1795. , The father of our subject being the young-

est of a large family, was born in 1782, and died

in 1873. He remained with his mother until arriving at

the age of maturity, when he took charge of the farm,

she remaining with him until her death, which occurred

in 1827, having passed her ninetieth year. He was twice

married: first, to Polly Talbott in 1805, having by her

five children: Harriett, born in 1806, married to Bene-

dict Whaley, and died in Missouri in 1863; Evelina,

born in 1809, married to Franklin Van Hook, residing in

Clinton County Mo.; James, born in 1811; Angeline in

1814, married Henry Talbott; died in 1862; Wm. B., a

resident of Paris Precinct. The mother died in 1818.

His second marriage was to Catharine, sister of his first

wife; by her he had six children: Charles H., born in 1820,

residing in Ruddel's Mills Precinct; Mary, born in 1823,

and Sarah, in 1825, both of whom died maidens; B. F.,
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born in 1828, residing in Cynthiana; L.W., in 1830, also

in Cynthiana; Elizabeth, born in 1833, married to Win-

field Hayden, now residing in Marion County, Mo. James,

the subject of this sketch, received a limited common
school education, and has devoted his life to agriculture

and stock raising, with the exception of about five years,

dating from 1835, when he was one of the prominent

merchants of Millersburg. He was four times married:

first, to Tabitha Jameson, in 1837, she dying in 1840; sec-

ond, in 1842 to Mary Ann Hedges, daughter of John

Hedges; by her he had three children: Tabitha, deceased,

wife of John Jameson; Martha (deceased); Fannie, wife

of John H. Shropshire, farmer, near Georgetown, Scott

County, Ky.; his second wife died in 1849; third mar-

riage to Betsey Bowles, in 1850; died in 1875; fourth

marriage to Mrs. Elizabeth Redmon, in 1878. He is a

member of the Christian church and a respected citizen.

^ a #*
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FLAT ROCK PRECINCT.
JUDA A. BANTA; P. O. Cane Ridge; was born Sept.

1, 1799; widow of Peter Banta, who was born Oct. 35,

.1791, ill Bourbon County; he was a soldier in the war of

1813, under Capt. Thomas Morris, of Bourbon; his fa-

ther was Henry Banta, born Jan. 33, 1763, and his wife,

Sa'ly Shook, born Oct. 37, 1761, in Pennsylvania, where

they were married, but came early in life to Kentucky,

living for some time in the forts at Bryant's andHarrod's

Stations; finally settled upon the old Desha farm now
owned by Robt. Hopkins, where they lived for a few

years, then moved to the farm which is now occupied by

the widow of Peter Banta. He by the help of his sons

built the brick house which still stands; he also had every

piece of furniture made to order; an old fashioned clock

still ticking away has stood in one corner of the room

now occupied by Mrs. Banta for more than seventy

years. Henry Banta had six daughters and four sons;

all are now dead but Abram who resides in Nicholas.

(See history.) The eldest, Polly, born March 3, 1785,

married a George Develly; Henry born, Nov. 30, 1786,

married a Miss Jennie Fulton; Margaret, born ,

, was the wife of Gen. Sam Fulton; Andrew, born

Jan. 9, 1790, married Betsy Hayden; Peter, married Juda

A. Zachry, July 36, 1818; she a daughter of Nathan and

Mary (Hughs) Zachry; she a daughter of John Hughs

and Sally Phelps, all of whom were natives of Virginia.

The Zachry family came to Bourbon County in 1806. In

later years he moved to Tennessee, where the father died

and where our subject was married. Rachael, sixth

child, was born Oct. 9, 1793, married James Bryan;

Sally, born April 5, 1796, married Wm. Boardman ; Bet-

sy, born in 1798, married Peter Vanice; Anna, born

1803, Aug. 4, married Reason Brace; and Abram, above

mentioned. The subject of this sketch raised nine chil-

dren to be men and women grown; only two of that

number are now living: Judge Andrew Banta,of Carlisle,

(see hist) and Sally S., born Sept. 14, 1831, widow of Jo-

seph Gibson. She has five children: Mary, a Mrs. D. L.

Robbins; Joseph P. in Mo.; "William, at home; James;

Isabelle J., wife of Lucius Stone, City Marshal of Ne-

\ada. Mo. Mr. Gibson was engaged in the mercantile

business in Flat Rock; he was a good business man and

citizen. While making collections through the country

preparatory to purchasing a new stock of goods, his body

was found in the Hinkston~ river after a re-search; sup-

posed to have been drowned, but with indications of foul

play. Henry P., the eldest son of our subject, was mar-

ried to Elizabeth Fulton, and resided in Nicholas Coun-

ty, where he was engaged in milling, and died from ac-

cidental injuries received in the machinery; Dewitt

Clinton, after marriage, went to Missouri, where he was

killed in felling trees for the construction of a house;

Wm. B. and Peter J. were both killed in the Confeder-

ate army; Margaret C. married Spencer Boyd, of Bath

County; left three sons and three daughters; Leonidas,

after extensive travelling in Texas and California, hav-

ing contracted consumption, went to Honolulu, Sandwich

Islands, where he died at the house of a missionary at

that place ; Mary A. became the wife of Henry McClan-

nahan, a merchant in Nashville, Term., where she went

and soon after died of cholera. Mr. Banta was one of

the most prominent and respectable citizens of Bourbon

County; was a surveyor and school teacher in connection

with his farm life; he was for many years Deputy Clerk,

and held other positions of trust. He accumulated a

large fortune, but on account of his liberality and wil-

lingness to help others, he gave his name upon paper

which proved disastrous to his fortune in the loss of sev-

eral thousand dollars. He was a consistent Christian

gentleman, holding the office of deacon for many years

in the Christian Church, with which his family were also

connected. He was a great and good man, and many

were the lamentations at his death, which occurred when

he was in his 83d year.

MAJOR NATHAN BROWN, P. 0. Cane Ridge;

who resides with his sons at Elm Grove farm, was born

in Montgomery County, Md., Dec. 37, 1797, to John and

Sarah (Holland) Brown ; she was a daughter of William

Holland, who was of English descent and probably from

that country. Maj. Brown is the eldest of three sons and

one daughter ; his education was limited, as he began

learning the saddler's trade at fourteen years of age, in

the county seat of his native county. In 1818, he was

united in marriage to Miss Elizabeth Letton Leach,

daughter of Jesse and Polly (Letton) Leach ; by this

marriage he had four sons and four daughters ; two of

the former and one of the latter died without issue, the

eldest living is Sarah Ann, widow of Cincinnatus Henry,

resides at Sharpsburg; T. E. and C. L., single and owners

of the above-mentioned farm ; Harriet, widow of E. A.
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Horton, and Louisa L., formerly a Mrs. Fowl, now a Mrs.

William H. Reed. Maj. Brown settled in Flat Rock in

the year 1818, soon after marriage, he and wife rode on

horseback, bringing all their earthly possessions in that

manner from their native home to the latter place, soon

after their arrival in Flat Rock one horse died, the

other went blind and was sold for but a few dollars, he

then traded the side saddle for a cow, which also died.

Notwithstanding all the adversity which befell him, he

reared his family to appreciate honor and integrity, and

prospered in life. His wife shared his trials until in

August, ,1879, when she in her eightieth year calmly and

peacefully went to the rest which she so richly deserved.

The sons with whom he resides, started out in life a few

years ago, going in debt for a large farm, which by their

industry and frugal habits have cleared up and now rank

among the best farmers of the precinct. They are engag-

ed in the rearing of thoroughbred Cotswold sheep,

and stand among the first of the county. They are

members of the Christian Church, and are highly esteem-

ed citizens of the community in which they live.

LOT BANTA, farmer; P. 0. Plum Lick; born Jan.

19, 1835, to Andrew and Elizabeth (Playdeii), daughter

of Lot and Mary (Bryan) Hayden; the former natives of

Nicholas, the latter of Bourbon County. Andrew Banta

was a son of Henry and Mary (Shook) Banta, natives of

Virginia, and were engaged in farming, stockraising and

improving the country. He raised a family of nine chil-

dren; seven are still living, three sons and four daugh-

ters, in Bourbon County, except Sallie Ann, a Mrs. Henrv

Arnold, and Eliza Ellen, a Mrs. Barton Graves, who re-

side in Indiana. The subject of this sketch spent his

early life with his father in the improvement of the farm,

the raising of products and stock, receiving but limited

educational advantages. He was married Jan. 29, 1853,

to Mary .Jane Wilson, daughter of Uriah and Elizabeth

(House) Wilson, who were among the pioneers of the

Blue Grass region; by this union there were five chil-

dren: Andrew C. married Dora Hughes, now residing

in Saline County, Mo.; Elizabeth M., now a Mrs. Jonas

Sparks, residents of Nicholas County; .Lot B., Mary

Eliza, a Mrs. William Young, residents of Nicholas, and

James William; they are engaged in a general agricul-

ture.

HENRY BOARDMAN, farmer; P. 0. Plum Lick;

was born Jan. 14, 1831; to Wm. Boardman, born Nov.

23, 1797, died May 16, 1880; he a son of Benj. and Ke-

ziah (Rice) Boardman; he a son of Joseph. The early an-

cestry of our subject came to Kentucky at an early date,

where they engaged in clearing and tilling the soil. The

mother of Henry was Sally Banta, born April 5, 1796,

died June 31, 1860; she a sister to Peter Banta (see hist.)

Mr. Boardman is the only son of the family now living;

one son died in youth, one daughter died a maiden, five

were married: Mrs. Shelton Utterback, who moved with

her husband to Indiana, where she died; Rachel, a Mrs.

Wm. Harvy; Sally, a Mrs. Jos. T. Booth; Elizabeth, a

Mrs. Henry Soper; Keziah, a Mrs. W. W. Northcutt, a

resident of Missouri. The subject of this sketch has al-

ways resided in the vicinity of his present home, where

he was born. He was married Oct. 37, 1857, to Minerva

J.Wilson, daughter of Uriah and Mary (Gillespie) Wilson;

she a daughter of Simon and Elizabeth (Simpson) Gilles-

pie, natives of Virginia. They had seven children: Wm.
M., born .July 38,. 1858; John N., May 30, 1860; Richard

H., Sept. 9, 1863; ,Iohn W., Dec. 39, 1865; Jos. E., April

10, 1868; Mary E., Oct. 1, 1870; Minnie Olive, July 13,

] 873. All are at home except William, who is engaged

in teaching school in Douglas County, 111. The family

are members of the Christian Church at Union, Nicholas

County.

. WM. F. BRYAN, farmer; P. O. Plum Lick; the

youngest of three living children born to Jas. H. and

Amanda (.lohnson) Bryan; she a daughter of one of the ear-

liest settlers on Boone's Creek, and for a number of years

dead; James H., one of the wealthiest farmers of the

county, still living. The early ancestry of this enterpris-

ing young man came from Virginia, among the first set-

tlers of this part of Kentucky, locating in the wilderness

with the wild beast and red man, doing their part toward

the civilization and improvement of this great country.

The subject of this sketch received a very limited educa-

tion, but possessing a high degree of native ability, tact

and energy, he has become one of the prominent and rising

young men of the vicinity in which he lives. He was born

Sept. 3, 1854, and married Oct. 36, 1880, to Miss Florence

Talbott, daughter of Charles and Emma (Rice) Talbott,

who were among the early settlers in the vicinity of North
Middletown. By this marriage there is one child, Emma,
born Aug. 13, 1881.

ANSON P. BRYAN, farmer ; P. O. Plum Lick; son

of James C. and Mary (Noble) Bryan, who were natives

of Nicholas County. Mr. Bryan is the second son and
seventh of a family of eight children, three sons and five

daughters, two of whom only, are now living. He was
iDorn on the farm now owned by his younger brother, Jelf,

Aug, 33, 1832, he was brought up on the farm and receiv-

ed such fvn education as could be acquired at that date ;

he remained with his father until after his death, which
oocured in 1833, subsequently a division of the homestead

:r
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of 230 acres occurred, when the two sons, Anson and Jeff,

purchased from the other heirs their interests in the old

homesteadupon which they lived and did business together

until 1877, when they dissolved partnership, our subject

becoming the possessor of a new and elegant home, and

270 acres of choice land at Plum Lick, where he now re-

sides in bachelorhood.

B. F. CROUCH, farmer; P. 0. Plum Lick. The early

Crouch ancestry of our subject were of English-Welsh

descent; came to this country at a very early date, and

were among the prominent families near Richmond, Va.

His great-grandfather, John Crouch, with his son, John,

and his wife, Sarah (Nelson), she a daughter of Jacob

Nelson of German descent, came to Bryant's Station, in

Fayette County, in 1787, soon afterwards moving to

Nicholas County, on Hinkston. He raised a family of

seven sons and four daughters, Ambrose, the father of

B. F. Crouch, being one of that number, and was early

in life united in marriage to Linchie (Branch), daughter

of Pleasant and Jennie (Hull) Branch. They raised a

f.iraily of eight children— four sons and four daughters

—

all of whom are living, the subject of this sketch being

the second child and born Nov. 4, 1835; the others are

Ambrose D., Thomas Jefferson, Julianna, and Polly, now

a Mrs. Isaac Clinkinbeard, residents of Nicholas County;

Sallie, a Mrs. .lohn Clinkinbeard, residing at Danville,

111.; William B.; Jane, a Mrs. Jack Sharp; and B. F.,

residents of Flat Rock Precinct. Mr. Crouch received

limited educational advantages in his youth, but by the

aid of an energetic and enterprising disposition, he over-

reached others of his companions who had had superior

advantages, and has won for himself a place among the

substantial agriculturists of Bourbon County. He was

married Aug. 1, 1847, to Mary Sharp, daughter of Vincent

Shaip. The fruits of this marriage were five children

—

three sons, and two daughters now deceased; the sons

are Thomas D., who married a Miss Sarah J. Booth, and

resides in Nicholas County; John William and Robert,

residing at home. Mr. Crouch is extensively engaged in

stock raising and shipping the latter, aggregating about

130,000 annually. He and family are members of the

Christian Church at Flat Rock.

WILLIAM B. CROUCH, farmer; near Plum Lick P.

0.; is a sou of John H. Crouch, the second son of Wil-

liam and Mary (Stokes) Crouch, she a daughter of John

Stokes and Ann (Logan), natives of Marylind. John

H. Crouch was one of the substantial fdrmers of Flat

Rock Precinct, who married a Mrs. Cynthia (Hedges)

Kennedy, who had one son, J. N. Kennedy; by this mar-

riage there were seven children, two of w.iom died in

infancy. Those living are Isaac T., partner in agricul-

ture of the enterprising young man the subject of this

sketch; James C; Mary L., now a Mrs. J. C. Talbott;

William B., and Margaret J.

WILLIAM CLARK, farmer ; P. O. Plum Lick; was

born March 3, 1821; his father was Thompson Clark, born

Dec. 3, 1793, in Montgomery County, Ky.; he of Wil-

liam Clark, who was a native of Halifax County, Va.,

but came to the State of Kentucky when a young man
and married in what is now Bourbon County, then Fay-

ette, to a Miss Winifred Nichols; William Clark was ac-

compained to this State by a brother—Joseph, who died

in Montgomery County, and Thompson Clark, who settled

in Fayette County, where he lived and died, having

served in the Revolutionary war; Thompson Clark was a

soldier in the war of 1813, holding the position of

orderly-sergeant under Captain Crawford; regimental

commander. Colonel Samuel Williams; William Clark's

mother was Deborah Wilson, daughter of Nathaniel and

Mary (Jacks) Wilson, who were natives of Kentucky;

the early Wilsons coming from New Jersey; Thompson

Clark had two sons—William, and John eleven years

younger, who resides in Montgomery County, Ky.; Wil-

liam Clark received his early education in a log school

house, under the instruction of a Mr. Samuel Nicholson,

a Pennsylvanian; among his schoolmates, were Colonel

Thomas Johnson and Colonel .John S. Williams, now

United States Senator; he afterward recived instructions

from various sources until about eighteen years of age;

he subsequently engaged in teaching and farm work

until his marriage, which occurred Nov. 33, 1849, to

Eliza Ann Bradley, of Montgomery County, she a daugh-

ter of William and Susan (Mark) Bradley, who were

natives of Montgomery County and among the early and

prominent families of this county ; John Bradley, was the

father of William Bradley, and Susan Mark was a daugh-

ter of Robert Mark, a prominent character of Montgom-

ery County; the result of the marriage of William Clark,

were children as follows : Susan Alice, now Mrs. Calvin

Gillispie, Jr.; Annie B., Mollie B., now Mrs. David T.

Wilson; James B., Emma, now Mrs. James Gillispie, of

Nicholas County; Willa, Frankie, Ida D., Maggie L.,

Eliza E. and Mattie Clyde. He is of a conservative

character, paying but little attention to .affairs not per-

taining to his business, but living a life of devotion to

his family and business; he and family are members of

the Christian Church at Flat Rock, and living lives of de-

votion to their christian faith.

FRANK P. COLCORD, farmer; P. 0. Cane Ridge.

This interesting and gentlemanly proprietor of Burr Oak

^i
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farm, is a son of C. B. Colcord and Louisa Metcalf, who
was a niece of the honored George Metcalf. The father

of our subject settled in 1813, at Middletown, this coun-

ty, from the State of New Hampshire, he being then

about twenty-seven years of age, and soon after engaged

in business at that place with an older brother who ac-

companied him to his new settlement. Their spirit of

business adventure, however, was not to be satisfied in a

village traffic, but they engaged in extensive speculations

which proved remunerative, C. B. Colcord being the first

man who ever took a drove of mules to New Orleans by
land from Bourbon County; he was married to Miss Met-

calf in 1824, and by that union were born six children,

only two of whom grew to maturity, viz: William R.,

born Nov. 26, 1827; married in the vicinity of Middle-

town; now residing in Wachita, Ka., where he is exten-

sively engaged in the' stock business. Our subject was

born Sept. 17, 1829; received a liberal education, attend-

ing the Western Military Institute in 1849 and '50, then

located at Middletown ; one of his preceptors and inti-

mate friends being the Honorable James G. Blaine, Sec-

retary of State. Mr. Colcord is an enterprising, thrifty

farmer, with 432 acres of choice land, about eight miles

from Paris, which he has well stocked, and conducts in a

successful manner. He was never married, but enjoys an

independent life with his pleasant surroundings.

JESSE FISHBACK, farmer ; P. O. Plum Lick ; born

Aug. 15, 1813, in Bourbon County, to Jesse and Jane

(Turley) Fishback, who were natives of Virginia, but

came to Kentucky in 1812 or '1 3. The father was in the six

months' service in 1813, enlisting from Bourbon County;

he was discharged and on his return home was taken sick

and died upon the journey, the same day that our subject

was born. The early Fishback ancestry were from Ger-

many, some of whom attained to a considerable degree of

notoriety at the bar. The later generations have, however,

been principally engaged in agriculture. The subject of

this sketch was the youngest of four sons and one daughter,

two only of whom are now living; Josiah the second son

residing near his brother. Mr. Fishback received his

education in a log school house, along distance from his

cabin-home in Nicholas County. He adopted the avoca-

tion of a farmer's life; remained unmarried and acted the

part of a dutiful son to his widowed mother, who died at

an advanced age twenty-four years ago. His home is

now presided over by a widowed half-sister, Mrs. Sarah

Hughs.

THE HORTOiSr FAMILY. Of this well-known fami-

ly a representative member is William F. tlorton, farmer;

who was born Dec. 12, 1824; he is the eldest of six liv-

ing and five deceased children, by Edward Wakeman
and Matilda (Henry) Horton, who were natives of Bour-

bon County; she a daughter of James and Nancy (Ward)

Henry, one of the early families of Bourbon; he a son

of William and Sally (Fisher) Horton, who were married

Dec. 1, 1785, and came from Virginia, down the river

from Wheeling to Maysville, Bourbon County, in 1790,

settling near North Middletown. Their children were:

Elizabeth, born Dec. 17, 1787, who married James Lin is-

ley; both died, leaving two children; James moved to In-

diana, and Lucinda married Davis Mason, and left two

daughters: Sally, who married a Mr. Hall, residing in

Illinois, and Fanny, who married Erasmus Jones, of Henry
County, Ky.; Susanna, born Aug. 28, 1789; married .John

Clay; left one son, William; Milled, born Jan. 3, on Mon-
day, 1796, married Hamilton Wilson; Mary, born March

7, 1792, died young; E Iward Wakeman, born April 18,

1793; GabrieC born Oct. 16, 1794; William, born March

8, 1796; James, May 10, 1798; married a Miss Luckej',

daughter of Joseph Luckey; left four children: William

D., Joseph L., Sally and Martha; Hiram, born Oct. 24,

1799, married Susan Payne, moved to Tennessee, and

left two daughters: Sarah and Ann; Sarah, born July 8,

1801, married Abner Huston, and moved to Lafayette

County, Mo.; Edward, born May 15, 1803, married Mary
Luckey, and moved to Marion County, Mo.; left one heir:

Hiram, who married a Miss Mason, and left heirs: Wash-
ington, born Jan. 26,1806; Cynthia, born Sept. 7, 1807,

married John Gibson, and moved to Marion County, Mo.;

Cassandra, born Feb. 24, 1809, married Fielding Calmes,

and moved to Colusa County, Cal.; Alexander, born

April 8, 1811. The brothers and sisters of our subject

are Washington and Jackson, twins; Jefferson, Isabel

and Hiram; none are married, and all live in Flat Rock
precinct, except Hiram, who resides in Johnson County,

Mo. The family received limited educational advanta-

ges, but all have acquired a fair knowledge. Two of

the family, Washington and Hiram, were in the Confed-

erate service, the former under General Marshall served

out his time and returned home, taking the oath of alle-

giance; the latter under Gi-neral John Morgan, was cap-

tured at Buffington Island, remained at Camp D,).iglas,

where he remained until near the clo e of the war, when
he was exchanged by General Lee at the final close.

The subject of this sketch resides in a log house built

by Hamilton Wilson, wha married Milled Horton. Mr.

Wilson was born and lived upon the farm eighty -four

years, when he became involved, sold out and moved to

Covington, thence to Newport, where he died May 4,

1880, in the ninetieth year of his age. Thomas Jefferson
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Horton, a surveyor and general farmer; he purchased the

farm upon which he and his sister now live in 1863. T.

J. and William F. are enterprising farmers and stock-

raisers, highly esteemed citizens and prominent men of

the county.

FRANCIS M. HENKLE, farmer ; P. O. Plum Lick;

was born March 23, 1831, to William and Amelia (High-

land) Henkle, who were married Dec. 14, 1836 ; Wm.
Henkle was born Oct. 39, 1801, and died Sep. 14, 1876

;

he was a son of Joseph and Jane (Evermin) Henkle,

natives of Virginia, but came to Bourbon County, 1803;

he was a surveyor and after having lived in Kentucky a

short time, started to his native land on business and was

drowned ; his body was never recovered, but papers

were found establishing the fact. Amelia Highland,

born Dec. 15, 1801, is still living, and her parents were

Denman and Amelia (Johnson) Highland, who were

natives of Maryland, but came to Flat Rock precinct

about the year 1794. A spring which was located

within a few yards of the cabin, was not found for

several months, on account of the density of the cane,

as they had to cut their way through to every point

which they desired to reach. The boys and girls of that

neighborhood in their attendance upon church, would

walk six miles bare-footed, or until they were within a

few yards of the church, when they would stop at a

" branch " and put on their shoes which they had carried

with them ; the carefulness with which they used them,

was because of the limit to one pair annually. The

father of our subject by his marriage had four sons and

six daughters, all of whom grew to maturity ; five are

now living: Marinda J., a Mrs. John H. McGinnis, resid-

ing in Piatt County, 111. ; they have eight sons and two

daughters. W. D., a resident of Bourbon, married Mary

F. Shannon, and has three sons and a daughter; Armiida

P., a Mrs. David Herron, of ' Mason County ; has four

sons and two daughters ; Nancy M., a Mrs. John Black,

of Nicholas ; has four daughters ; Margaret, who died

Oct. 3, 1876, on her forty-fourth birthday, was the wife

of Thomas Shannon, and left six children. Sarah N.,

was the wife of James Alexander Arnold ; both are

deceased, leaving four children. Francis M., never had

children, but has raised several to maturity. William E.

Arnold, his nephew, he is educating at the Millersburg

College. He was married Jan. 3, 1850, to Cassandra

Forgy, the daughter of John and Lavinia (Arrowsmith)

Forgy. Hugh Forgy, the grandfather, came to America

from Ireland about 100 years ago. Mr. Henkle received

a very limited education ; being one of the older mem-

bers of the family he was compelled to assist in clearing

up the land, and raising crops for their sustenance. He
remained with his father until after marriage, when he

came to his present home. He is a man of great natural

ability, of the highest honor and integrity, and a liberal

giver to the cause of religion, the support of missions,

churches, and schools. He has for many years acted as

steward of the church, making up the deficiencies,

which in many cases were the largest part. He is a

thorough christian gentleman, and one of the most

worthy members of the M. E. Church South, at Flat

Rock, and a man highly esteemed by his neighbors and

friends.

JAMES HEDGES, farmer ; P. O. North Middletown;

son of Joseph and Margaret (Goulden) Hedges. He was

a native of Maryland, and related to Joseph Hedges, who
emigrated from England at a very early date ; she a na-

tive of the Blue Grass region ; born May 20, 1778, died

Aug. 10, 1871 ; James was born Dec. 5, 1819, in the

house in which he now lives, and is the next youngest

of a family of seven sons and two daughters, eight of

whom are now living, an elder brother having died when

a young man. The remainder of the family reside in

adjacent counties. James Hedges received a very poor

education, only attending school about two months dur-

ing his life ; but, being possessed of a great deal of en-

ergy and perseverance, he acquired in leisure moments,

under great disadvantages, a practical business educa-

tion, which has borne him successfully through all of his

business transactions. He was married Dec. 30, 1875,

to Fannie Higgins, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth

(House) Higgins, both of whom were natives of Bourbon

County. Only one of their three children now survives

—

James Oscar, born Dec. 7, 1879. He is one of the near

descendants of the Maryland branch of the Hedges fiiin-

ily, to whom is left an estate of great value in London,

England. The formation of his farm is of a singular na-

ture, and one of the most beautiful in the county. The

soil is very fertile, and from some of the highest points

a view can be had of six counties, extending to the fur-

thermost point of observation by the naked eye. A part

of his dwelling is one hundred years old, in which he has

lived since his birth, and he is now the oldest native of

Flat Rock Precinct.

MAJOR ,JAS. MADISON MENG, farmer; P. O.

Cane Ridge; was born in Prince William County, Va.,

Feb. 33, 1813, to Capt.Chas. and Victoria (Tebbs) Meng;

she a daughter of Captain Wm. Tebbs and a Miss Har-

slip. A singular incident relating to the birth of Major

Meng, is the fact that he was born upon the same day of

the month upon which the birth of Geo. Washington oc-
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curred, and that his father, Chas. Meng, and Capt. Wm.
Tebbs, his grandfather, were both Captains under that

illustrious General. Captain Chas. Meng, a son of Chas.,

Sr., who came from Holland to this country at an early

date, settled in Virginia. The father of our subject,

being born in Winchester, where he lived until fifteen

years of age, when they moved to Woodstock, where in

later years he became a merchant of wealth and promi-

nence. Inheriting a great amount of property from his

wife, he moved to Prince William County, the land of

her nativity, where he engaged in farming, and raised a

family of eleven children, five sons and six daughters.

Major Meng is the only one of the sons now living;

Charles, two years older than he, the only one of the de-

ceased sons who left issue, became an attorney of some
note in Louisville, where he resided for a number of

years, subsequently removing to Christian County, Ky.
Two only of the six daughters are living: the widow
Swing and the widow of Jos. Kennedy, of Washington,

D. C. Major Meng came to Nicholas County in .Ian.,

1833, where he engaged in teaching school, in which ca-

pacity he was engaged for some time in Bourbon and Nich-

olas Counties; subsequently learned the moulder's trade

and the business of making plows at Maysville, which he

engaged in at St. Louis, but afterward took up his old oc-

cupation of teaching in the vicinity of his present home.

He was married in Bourbon County to Amanda Malvina

Fitzallen Hall, daughter of Henry and Fannie (Talbott)

Hall, who were among the early settlers of Bourbon
County. They had two sons, Charles and .lames, the

mother of whom died on the 16th of April, 1874. The
Meng ancestry were a long lived people, the father of our

subject sitting as an active magistrate at eighty-two years

of age, having held the position of High Sheriff, having

come into that position as being the oldest magistrate in

the county.

WILLIAM T. PARKER, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle

;

was born near Carlisle in Nicholas County, Feb. 18,

1850, to Robert and Eliza (Donnell) Parker (see Donnell
history). Robert Parker was a native of Nicholas County;
died Jan. 11, 1879, in his seventy-first year, he was a son of

Charles Parker, a native of Maryland ; came to Kentucky
at an early date; he a son of Thomas. The mother of

Robert was Tabitha Johnson; his step-mother was Han-
nah Collins. The subject of this sketch received the

limited advantages of a country school, and remained on
the farm with his father assisting in the farm work, until

about twenty-four years of age, when he purchased the

Fielding Letton farm of 133 acres, where he now resides

and which he has under a high state of cultivation. He

was married July 20, 1871, to Miss Jennie Smith, daugh-

ter of B. W. Smith, whose sketch appears in this work
;

by this marriage there have been two children born

unto them, Sarah Lovina, June 15, 1873; and Robert

Luther, April 23, 1877. Mr. Parker is an enterprising

young man, doing well whatever he undertakes, and

manifesting an interest in the improvment of stock and
farm products.

D. L. ROBBINS, farmer; P. O. Cane Ridge; was born

June 14, 1837, to Laban L. and Nancy (Piper) Robbins;

she a daughter of Samuel and Betsey (Million) Piper,

who were among the early settlers of Kentucky. Laban
L. is a son of John and Millison (Litton) Robbins; she, a

daughter of John Litton. The father of our subject is a

native of Flat Rock village; was born Oct. 15, 1830, and
married in 1844; he had six children, three of whom died

in infancy, and Nancy N. in her seventeenth year, and

Millison J., who became the wife of a Mr. Louderback,

died in 1868, in her thirty-first year. Our subject is the

only surviving member of the family; he was married

Sept. 4, 1879, to Mary C. Gibson, a granddaughter of

Peter Banta (see history). They have one child, Nancy
Belle, born July 5, 1880; he resides with his father, with

whom he is engaged in general agriculture and stock-

raising; they are members of the Christian Church at

Flat Rock, and hold in high esteem by the people of the

community in which they live.

BARTON WARREN SMITH, farmer; P. O. Car-

lisle; a namesake of the great reformer, B. W. Stone,

who, when he came to Bourbon County, resided in the

house in which our subject now lives. Mr. Smith was
born on Cane Ridge, Feb. 7, 1818, to John B. and Sally

(Hand) Smith; she a daughter of Wm. Hand, who was

one of the first settlers of Bourbon, on Hinkston, and
with Barton Stone one of first organizers of the

"Old Cane Ridge Church," and an energetic and
prominent man at an early date; he subsequently

moved to Indiana, where he died soon after. John B.,

born in Virginia, in 1793, was a son of Jacob and Hannah
Smith, who moved to Cane Ridge in 1809, settling on

the waters of Brush Creak; John B. was married in 1813,

and was blessed with three sons and three daughters, all

of whom grew to maturity; only B. W. and a sister, Mrs.

John M. Prather, residing in Clay County, Mo., have had

children. Mr. Smith learned the carpenters' trade, at

which he worked for 18 years. He subsequently pur-

chased property at Jackstown, where he run a grocery,

and a blacksmith and wood shop for eight years, when
he sold out and purchased his present home, in the year

1875. He was married in 1845, Doc. 30, to Sarah St.
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Clair, daughter of James and Lovina (Ruarch) St. Clair, of

Fayotte County. The result of this union was fourteen

children: George, Nancy, Sarah, Thomas, Rebecca,

Walter, Martha, Matilda, Ellen, John and James, twins;

Amanda, and a pair of twins who died at birth; also the

mother at the same time. The above are children of

James St. Clair. Mr. Smith, by his marriage, had ten

children: John, Thomas, Geo. W., James T., Amanda L.,

Nancy, Jane, Walter, Frank and Clay. Two youngest

died in infancy. Clay and John T. are also deceased.

Those living are all married; three sons and one daughter

reside in Bourbon County. The eldest daughter, Mrs.

H. C. Parker, resides in Indianapolis; and Walter at Mt.

Sterling. Mr. Smith in early life received but meagre

educational advantages, attending the country schools

less than six months, but by his studious and industrious

habits he has laid up a store of knowledge which makes

him one of the interesting and intelligent gentlemen of

his neighborhood. He added to the support of his mother

who lived with him until her death, at 86 years; also

supporting an aged sister, and taking upon himself the

support of the family after his father's death. He started

in life without the advantages of fortune, but by dili-

gence he has accumulated a comfortable home, and homes

for his children around him.

BENJ. FRANKLIN SOPER, farmer; P. O. Cane

Ridge ; was born Nov. 5, 1828, upon the farm which

he now owns, and upon which his father was also

born. His mother was Luraner H. Prather, a native of

Montgomery County, Md., and daughter of Walter Prath-

ers and Ann Higgins, who came to Bourbon County,

Ky., from Maryland, in 1806, with a large family of chil-

dren, 14 in number, the mother of our subject being

then 3 years of age. Charles Soper, the grandfather of

our subject, was a native of Montgomery County, Md.,

but migrated to Bourbon County about 1800. The

Sopers and Prathers and Crawfords were from the same

neighborhood in Maryland, and after coming to Ken-

tucky settled upon adjacent farms, the land now being

owned in part by the subject of this sketch, whose an-

cestry were all very enterprising, energetic, farmers and

stock men and raised large families. B. F. Soper re-

ceived but a meager education, being left an orphan at

two years of age by the death of his father. However,

by strict energy and native ability he acquired sufficient

education to enable him to teach school, which he fol-

lowed for some time, subsequently engaging in farming

and stock raising, in which he was very successful. He

was married June 30, 1853, to Miss Dorcas H. Crawford,

a member of the pioneer Crawford family mentioned

above. They had three children, all of whom are now
living, viz : James C, who is connected with the M. K.

& T. R. R. was married Oct. 6, 1881, to a Miss Christy,

a native of Clay County, Mo., near Liberty, and two

daughters, Mary Ellen and Sally Belle, who are living at

'home. Mr. Soper has been quite extensively engaged in

stock traffic, but is now principally engaged in farming

and stock-raising. Has been a life-long democrat, a man
honored and esteemed by the community in which he

lives. He and tamily are members of the M. E. Church

South, in which he has held all the important offices from

a sense of duty which he is always ready to perform.

JOHN W. SKILLMAN, farmer; P. O. North Middle-

town; proprietor of Willow Valley farm, was born Aug.

10, 1811, in Bedford County, Va.; he is the next young-

est of a family of seven children, three sons and four

daughters, by Isaac and Nancy (Whitely) Skillman; all

were natives of Virginia; Isaac came to Bourbon County

and settled near North Middletown, in the fall of 1816;

where he purchased 316 acres of land (partly cleared) on

the line of Bourbon and Clark Counties; his cabin, a

double log one, was one-half in each county; all of his

children grew to maturity, but two sons and two daugh-

ters are now living. Christopher, the youngest of the

family, now resides in Platte County, Mo.; Catharine, a

Mrs. (Allen) Shropshire, residing in Scott County; Har-

riette, a Mrs. Wdmott, of Bourbon; Isaac, died in 1856,

in his eighty-fourth year, his wife in 1831, in her fifty-

fifth year. Our subject received such an education as

could be obtained in the log school house of his youth,

and assisted in the farm work; upon Feb. 3, 1832, he was

married to Adaline Henderson, a resident of Scott Coun-

ty; by her he had seven children, viz: one died in infancy;

Isaac, married Cynthia Hayes and resides in Humbolt

County, Neb.; A. J., whose sketch appears in this work;

John W., married Susan Mark, of Montgomery County,

she died in June 1879; Amanda J., now a Mrs. John T.

McCauley, residing in Harrison County; Nannie A., a

Mrs. George W. Cunningham, who died March 30, 1881,

leaving four children, he resides in Ellis County, Texas;

Charles C, married to Miss Olivia Price, and resides at

Eufaula, Ala.; the wife of Mr. Skillman died in 1848, and

he subsequently married Lydia Chambers, a native of

Scott County, born Feb. 17, 1817, and a daughter of

James and Kittle (Johnson) Chambers, who were natives

of Virginia; by her he had three sons: William G., who

married Miss Dee Rico, and resides in Clark County;

Richard C, and Benjamin F., at home. Mr. Skillman has

devoted his life to farming, stock driving to the extreme

South, and of late years has paid some attention to the
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raising of thoroughbred Cotswold sheep; he is a conser-

vative Democrat, and with his family holds a membership

in the Christian Church.

JOHN SOPER, farmer; P. O. Cane Ridge; born Feb.

26, 1833, to Lawrence Soper, who was born Sep. 10, 1800;

died in Nov., 1877, having raised a familjr of seven sons by
Luraner Soper, his cousin, our subject being the first

born. The Sopers were originally from London, England,

Cornelius Soper coming to this country and settling in

Maryland long before the Revolutionary war. He had

seven sons, six ofwhom espoused the cause of the British,

while the remaining son fought for the rights which we
to-day enjoy, and at the close of the war settled in the

South, and from whom the subject of this sketch derives

his ancestral lineage. The other sons all lived to see the

close of the war, and settled in the North. Our subject

received rather poor educational advantages, but by his

great love for books, he mastered the common branches

and the Latin language, subsequently engaging in teach-

ing, having received an injury to one of his limbs, which

disabled him. He married Oct. 6, 1853, a Mrs. Mary
Jane Champ, we^ Collins, daughterof William Collins, he

of Foster Collins, who was a prominent man in the early

history of the county, having held for several terras the

office of Sherifif of the county. By this marriage there

have been born unto them six children, three of whom
died in infancy; those living are Eugene B., born Jan.

.24, 1857, married to a Miss Rachael Melton Sept. 1, 1880;

L. A., born April 6, 1863, attending college at North

MiddJetou; and John, March 30, 1873. In the spring of

1854 he engaged in farming and stockraising upon 100

acres of land which he purchased, going in debt for a

considerable sum, but by perseverance and energy he has

cleared up the debt and added to his possessions, so that

he now has a beautiful home of 350 acres, with all the

modern improvements. He now holds the position of

Deputy Clerk of Flat Rock Precinct, under J. M. Hughs.

He and family are members of the Christian Church.

THORNTON SEE ; P. O. Plum Lick ; a son of Gao.

See, he of Jacob, who was born on the south branch of

the Potomac, in Virginia. He came to Lexington about

1780, where his son George was born in 1784; died in

his 57th year. Jacob See came to the farm now owned

by Wm. See in about 1786, the farm continuing in that

name until the present time. The mother of Thornton

was a Miss Margaret Thornton, daughter of Thomas

Thornton, who came from near Dublin, Ireland, having

ran away from that country when a boy ; and upon his

arrival in America joined the British army, but before

the war closed united his lot with the Americans. His

wife was Betsey Robinson, a native of South Carolina,

where they were married, thence came to Flat Rock pre-

cinct. Geo. See had a family of six sons and three daugh-

ters. The subject of this sketch was married Feb. 28,

1856, to Mary N. Watkins, daughterof Wra. and Frankie

(Frost) Watkins ; she a daughter of Joshua Frost and a

Miss Phillips, natives of Virginia. By this marriage there

have been eight children: the first a son, died in infancy;

the eldest now living, Preston S., born May 17, 1858;

Geo. D., Nov. 3, 1860; Fanny T., Feb. 3, 1863; Benj.

L., Nov. 19, 1865; Margaret E., Jan. 34, 1869; Mary 13.

April 34, 1872; Tilden, Feb. 10, 1876.

A. J. SKILLMAN, farmer ; P. O. Cane Ridge
;
pro-

prietor of Walnut Grove Farm ; is a son of John W.
Skillman (whose sketch appears in this work) ; born

Nov. 24, 1834, on Cane Ridge, where he has since resi-

ded, coming to his present home in February, 1858. He
received a limited education, then engaged in farm work

with his father, and spent a short time near Decatur, III.,

returning home in July, and on the following Sep. 26,1856,

he was married to Miss Julia Allen, of Harrison County,

and daughter of David and Ellen (Berry) Allen ; he a

native of Bourbon County, where he spent his early man-

hood, then moved to Harrison, where he afterwards

became a prominent farmer and stock raiser of that

county. By this marriage there have been ten children;

a son and daughter died in infancy. Those living are :

John A., born July 17, 1857 ; David Clay, Dec. 8, 1858;

Harvey A., Jan. 33, 1860 ; Charles M., April 23, 1864
;

Benjamin F., Feb. 15, 1866 ; I. B., Jan. 7, 1871 ; Wm.
F., July 1, 1873 ; Hattie S., July 4, 1879. Mr. Skillman

is an industrious and enterprising farmer. A conserva-

tive-democrat politically, and with his wife a member of

the Cane Ridge Church.

JOHN TARR, farmer ; P. O. Cane Ridge ; born in

Nicholas County, Ky., June 18, 1834, to John B. and

Milly (Turner) Tarr (see Robert Tarr's history). John,

the youngest son, received a limited education, but by
his own energy and personal effort, he has acquired a

general knowledge superior to that of the ordinary far-

mer. His ability and energy since attaining to his

majority has been turned in the agricultural channel, in

which his efforts have been crowned with success. He
was not married until he had passed his forty-third year,

when upon Nov. 1, 1877, he was united in marriage to

Miss Sarah Earlywine, a native of Bourbon County, and

daughter of Lewis and Dulcenia (Cannady) Earlywine,

natives of Nicholas County. They have no children. He
is a solid Democrat of the conservative order.

-Jf
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HENRY TODD WILSON, farmer; P. O. Cane

Ridge
;
proprietor of Snow Hill farm ; is a son of Joseph,

he of Henry Wilson, who came at a very early date from

near Culpepper Court House, Va., to Boonesborough,

where he took an active part in the building of that

place. Was also one of the company who built the

block-house and established the fort at " Bryant's Sta-

tion." At an early age he married a Miss Faulkner, who
was a daughter of one of the first settlers at Bryant's

Station, and afterwards one of the most prominent and

wealthy families of Fayette County. Soon after mar-

riage he removed to the neighborhood of Flat Rock,

where he subsequently purchased a 5,000 acre tract of

land which (to induce a settlement), he gave to numer-

ous families. Being impressed by a strong belief that a

salt well could be secured upon his farm, he determined

to make the effort, which required a great amount of

time, labor, and the exhausting of all his means.

His efforts, however (to the surprise of all the set-

tlers), were crowned with success, which made him

the first proprietor of a salt well in Kentucky. The only

salt manufactured in the State before that at his works,

was by Daniel Boone, at the Blue Licks. Joseph Wil-

son was the seventh child of a family of eleven children

—

four sons and two daughters older than himself. He was

born in the year 1800, near Flat Rock, when the country

was yet in its infancy. He received a limited education,

engaging, at an early age, in the capacity of drover,

taking to the eastern markets numerous herds of all

kinds of stock, and after the advent of railroads contin-

ued in the business as an extensive shipper. At twenty-

seven years of age he was married to Nancy McCoy,

daughter of Thomas McCoy, who resided near Chilli-

cothe, Ohio, by whom he had five sons and three daugh-

ters, the subject of this sketch being the second son.

The Wilson family have been noted as a long-lived peo-

ple, of Scotch-Irish descent, the great-grandfather com-

ing with his parents, when an infant, to the city of Phil-

adelphia, in which, without relatives, he was, at the age

of seven years, left an orphan by the death of both par-

ents. The subject of this sketch attended school at Flat

Rock, becoming quite proficient in the common branches

and the Latin language, under the instruction of Prof.

Milligan. After eighteen years of age he engaged in

the stock business with his father. He was married on

the 15th of May, 1855 (at twenty-seven years of age), to

Miss A. E. Young, daughter of Johnson A. Young, a

prominent stock dealer and farmer near Mt. Sterling,

Montgomery County. By this marriage there are four

children : William, a law student at Mt. Sterling

;

Sallie H., Lizzie B. and Mary M. Mr. Wilson spent

eight years in Congress lobbying upon bills for the re-

muneration of his neighbors and himself for the loss of

stock during the war. He is a man of honor and integ-

rity and business ability, and, with his family, belong to

the Christian church.

BENJ. F. WALLS, farmer; P. O. Cane Ridge
;
pro-

prietor of Maple Grove Farm, was born Aug. 12, 1840,

to Zachariah and Tempa (Osbourn) Walls; she a

daughter of William and Keziah Osbourn, who emigrated

from Germany to Clark County, Kentuckv, settling on

Red River, where he raised a large family by two wives.

Zachariah was a son of Thos. Walls, who removed with his

family from Richmond, Va., to Bath County, Ky., at an

early date, he being the youngest of two sons and four

daughters; was born in Kentucky. Thos. Walls was a

soldier, and was badly wounded in the Revolutionary

War. The parents of our subject had ten sons and

seven daughters, viz.: Olmstead, died in the Mexican .

war; Betsy Ann, a Mrs. Myers, died in Illinois, whither

she had gone; William married Eliza Alexander and re-
_

sides in Bates County, Mo.; Reuben, also in Missouri;

Isaac married Mary Simms, and died in Bates County,

Mo.,where his widow now resides; Thomas married Sally

Fulton, and resides in Bates County, Mo.; James mar-

ried Sarah Markwell and resides in Illinois; Kittle A.,

now a Mrs. Anderson, residing in Cass County, Mo.;

Benjamin F., George, deceased; John, married first,

Mary Sharp; second, Annie Fletcher, and resides in

Bates County, Mo.; Malvina, now a Mrs. Mark Kimes,

also in Bates County, Mo.; Violina, a Mrs. Cummins
Kilbe, living in Fleming County, Ky.; Tempa, a Mrs.

William Williams, residing in the State of Illinois; Ke-

ziah, a Mrs. Johnson, in Colorado, and Edgar in Missouri;

Malvina and Violina and Keziah and deceased infant

were twins. The parents of our subject both died while

he was yet young, and being thrown upon his own re-

sources at eighteen years of age, he came to Bourbon

County and worked on a farm one year at $15 per month;

then went to Richmond, Va., where he engaged in the

mule trade for Green & Walker, at $25 per month, con-

tinuing for about two years; he then came to the farm

which is now his present home, where he worked for his

mother-in-law at $15 per month until his marriage, Aug.

21, 1863, to Maria L. Wasson, daughter of Samuel and

Sarah (Martin) Wasson; he a native of Pennsylvania,

she of North Carolina. Maria L. is the youngest of seven

children, two only of whom are now living, the above and

Mrs. Elizabeth Summers, of Nicholas. By this marriage

Mr. Walls had three children: a son, died in infancy;
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Carrie Martin, born June 19, 1866; and Charles Robert,

April 25, 1870. He is engaged in farming stock-raising

and trading. He started in life a poor boy, but by per-

sistent energy he has accumulated property, and has been

liberal in the improvement and education of his children,

who are his highest pride.

THOMAS WOODFORD, farmer; P. O. Cane Ridge;

was born in Virginia, Oct. 3, 1823, to Wm. and Maria

(Archer) Woodford; she a daughter of Dr. Sara. Archer

and a Miss Rotherk, all of whom were natives of Caro-

line County, Va. William Woodford came to Ciark

County, Ky., with his wife and six children : Mary (de-

ceased), John, Samuel, WOliam, Lucy, and Thomas,

after their arrival in Kentucky two others were born,

Sally and Madison. All reside in Bourbon County ex-

cept Samuel, a prominent farmer of Clark County, and

Madison, a prominent physician of Harrison. The two

daughters were married to cousins, William T. . and

William Buckner. The father of our subject was a son

of John T. and Mary (Tolliver) Woodford, who came to

_ Clark County, Ky., in the fall of 1819, where he engaged

in agriculture until his death; The early Woodford an-

cestry were quite noted in military affairs, the great-

grandfather a General in the revolutionary war, and the

grandfather a Colonel in the war of 1812. The subject

of this sketch received a poor education in the pioneer

schools of the day. At the early age of 9 years he was

left an orphan by the death of his father; he remained at

home until sixteen years of age, when he began working

by the month and year, continuing in that capacity until

the year 1855,when he rented a farm; living as a rentor un-

til 1861, when he purchased a 300 acre tract, to which he

has added, being now in possession of several hundred

acres of excellent blue grass land, well stocked, which

makes him a handsome fortune. He is an example of

industry and frugality, starting out in life a poor

boy, but with a determined effort to succeed, he has

gained a position among the wealthiest and most promi-

nent agriculturists and stock-raisers of the county; but

without a " better half" as a sharer of his wealth, "joys

and sorrows," having always lived a bachelor life.

WILLIAM C. WILKERSON, physician ; P, O.

Cane Ridge; was born Feb. 8, 1854, to Thomas J. and

Anna (Grigsby) Wilkerson, who were natives of Mont-

gomery County, Ky. The grand-parents were N. A.

Wilkerson, probably a native of Virginia, his wife former-

ly a Miss Wells. Thomas J. Wilkerson graduated at

the Transylvania University at Lexington, in the year

1848, and immediately began the practice of medicine in

Madison County, Ky., where he remained about two

years, when he removed to his present home at Kidd-

ville, Clark County, Ky., where he is a member of the

County Medical Society, has a very large practice and is a

man of popularity in the community. They have five

children: \Villiam C, Anna M., now a Mrs. E. C. Fox;

Emma, now a Mrs. A. A. Clay, who is a prominent man

of Clark County; Ivan Ora and Mary Eliza at home.

The subject of this sketch received a good education,

graduating at the Commercial College at Louisville, also

received a, diploma from the University of Louisville, on

the 25th day. of Feb., 1881, when he began the practice

of his profession at Flat Rock, having prior to his grad-

uation practiced with his father for about eighteen months.

He was married May 12, 1881, to Olive Robbins, daugh-

ter of Alonzo Robbins, who was for several years a min-

ister of considerable note in the Christian Church; died

about the close of the war. Dr. Wilkerson is a young

man of ability and affable manners, by which he has al-

ready built up an extensive practice.

•<4t5 r- l^
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NORTH MIDDLETOWN PRECINCT.
JOEL S. BERRY, farmer and breeder of Short-horns,

etc. ; P. O. North Middletown ; is a native of Bourbon
County, and was born Feb, 24, 1830. His great-grand

parents were of English birth. His grandfather Bazil

Berry, and his son Benjamin, emigrated from Maryland,

their native state, about the year 1790, and settled in

Bourbon County, Ky. Benjamin was born at Hagers-

town, Maryland, in 1773, and was first married, shortly

after his arrival in Kentucky, to Miss Bowen, a sister of

Benjamin Bowen who is well known in the northern part

of this County. By this marriage there were ten chil-

dren. He next married Elizabeth Gault, of Chambers-

burg, Penn.; the result of this union was two children,

one daughter Amanda, who is now the wife of Dr. N.

Cannon, of Scott County, Ky., and one son, Joel S. who
is the subject of our sketch. He remained at the home-

stead and assisted his father in the duties of the farm

until his father's death, which occurred on the 3rd of

April, 1847. Joel was educated at the country schools in

his immediate neighborhood, and on the 6th of January

1853, was married to S. Kate, daughter of John Butler,

a native of Virginia. This union was blessed with nine

children, two dying in infancy. There are living two

sons, Walter G., and James Patterson, and five daugh-

ters, Alice M., who is now the wife of C. W. Cannon of

Missouri, L. Florence, Carrie W., Sallie K., and Annie L-

On Sept. 10, 1878, Mr. Berry lost his wife, and on Feb.

1, 1881, was again married, to Miss Mary K. "Ware, who
was born in South Carolina, but raised in Atlanta, Ga.,

by an uncle. She was one of the ladies that were sent

from that city by Gen. Sherman in 1864, under his gen-

eral order, that all the women and children should leave

the city, that were able to do so. Mr. Berry has been

speculating in short-horns for twenty-five years, and for

the past few years has been a successful breeder of the

same. He has also been a breeder of trotting and sad-

dle horses and Cotswold sheep for the past twenty-eight

years. Mr. Berry owns 380 acres of land, is one of the

representative farmers of his county; has always been a

very active and energetic man and ever alive to the pro-

gress and advancement of his end of the county. He
was instrumental in building the North Middletown and

Winchester,, and North Middletown and Owingsville

Pikes ; was for fifteen years*. President of the first

named road, and for two years President of the other.

Mr. Berry was also one of the principal laborers in

getting up the stock, and effecting the organization of the

North Middletown Deposit Bank, in 1869 ; he has been

a director of the same since its first organization, and in

January, 1881, was elected President of that institution,

a position he still occupies. He has been a prominent

member of the I. O. 0. F., and was one of the charter

members of Williams Lodge, No. 113, at North Middle-

town, and was the first member to pass through all its

chairs. Mr. and Mrs. Berry and his five eldest children,

are all members of the Christian Church, in which he has

filled the office of Deacon for many years. Politically

he belongs to the dominant party of his State, and is ever

ready, at State or national elections to cast his ballot with

the Democratic party.

GEORGE T. BRADLEY, farmer ; P. O. North Mid-

dletown; son of William and Mahala (Kirkpatriok) Brad-

ley, and was born Aug. 39, 1845; his grandfather, Thomas
Bradley, was a native of Virginia, and was born March

5,1761; when quite young he emigrated to Kentucky,

and was married in Lexington, March 5, 1788, to Phila-

delphia Ficklin; she Avas born Dec. 15, 1768. By this

marriage there were seven sons, viz : Robert, William,

Henry, James, John, Jephtha, and Joseph, and two

daughters, Margaret and Mary. The second son, Wil-

liam Bradley, was bom Feb. 34, 1793, and died Aug. 8,

1861. He was first married in 1818, to Sallie Jenkins
;

she died May 35, 1819, leaving one son, Robert. Wil-

liam was next married on the 18th of Feb., 1826, to Ma-

hala Kirkpatrick. They had born to them two sons,

James W., and George T. (subject), and seven daugh-

ters, viz : Sarah M., Eliza J., Amanda F., Mary A.,

Nancy K., Miranda K., and Mahala F. The mother,

Mahala Bradley, died Oct. 38, 1875. The subject of this

sketch enlisted in the Confederate army, in June, 1863,

under General Morgan. He was in several warm en-

gagements; was wounded three times, once pretty se-

verely; the evidences of which he carries to this day;

he served till the close of hostilities, and then returned

to Bourbon County, Ky., where he was married on the

35th day of June, 1867, to Susie T., daughter of George

L. Redmon. This union has been blessed with two

daughters, viz : Mary M., born April 38, 1868, and

Lutie T., born Sept. 19, 1870. In 1866, George T. en-

gaged in the grocery business at Dover, Mason County,

"711
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Ky., and continued there successfully for two and a half

years. He next went to Paris, Ky., and again engaged

in the mercantile business. After remaining there about

three years, he concluded to remove to the country and

engage in agricultural pursuits, a vocation he still ad-

heres to. Mr. Bradley and wife are members of the

Christian Church, and he is a Democrat in politics.

S. WESTBERRY COLLINS, farmer; P. O. North

Middletown; son of Foster and Elizabeth (Matheney)

Collins, and was born in Bourbon County, Feb. 13th,

1817. Foster Collins emigrated from Orange County,

Va., in the year 1797, and settled temporarily on the

Maysville road in Bourbon County, between Paris and

Millersburg; he afterward bought a farm on Cane Ridge,

at a point about equidistant from the two towns above

mentioned, where he located permanently; he married

Elizabeth Matheney, a native of Maryland, who emigrat-

ed with her father to this State, during the pioneer per-

iod of its history; the result of this marriage was ten

children reared to maturity, five sons and five daughters;

The third son, S. Westberry, who is the subject of our

sketch, was married on the 13th of Sept., 1839, to Eliza-

beth H., daughter of Wm. Hansford,' of Bourbon; this

union was blessed with one child, Mary E., who is now
the wife of Robt. W. Owen, near North Middletown; on

Sept. 13th, 1840, just one year from the date of his mar-

riage, Mr. Collins buried his wife, and from that time

to the present, a space of forty-one years, he has lived a

single life, centering his heart and aifections upon his

only child, with whom he now lives in his old days; he

has retired from an active life and is enjoying some of

the fruits of his past labors. He is a Democrat in

politics.

WILLIAM A. CLINKINBEARD, farmer; P. 0. North

Middletown; was born June 34, 18'iO, and is a son of John

and Sallie (Strode) Clinkinbeard; his grandfather, Wil-

liam Cliiikinbeard, emigrated from Maryland, and was

one of the first settlers of Strode's Station, in Clark

County. He raised two sons and three daughters. The

second son, John Clinkinbeard, was born about the year

1795, and was married in 1819 to Sallie, daughter of John

Strode, whose father was the first settler of Strode's Sta-

tion. By this marriage there were only seventeen chil-

dren, and fifteen of them were raised to maturity. The

oldest son, William A., who is the subject of our sketch,

was married Sept. 3, 1847, to Harriet B., daughter oi

James W. Rice, spoken of elsewhere in this work. Our
subject and Harvey W. Rice were the first importers ot

Cotswold sheep to this State; they purchased them of

Col. Ware, near Winchester, Va., and was the first stock

ever shipped over the Baltimore & Ohio railroad. These

sheep cost them an average of $75 per head. Mr. Clink-

inbeard and wife are members of the Christian Church.

HENSON DAVIS, farmer; P. O. North Middletown;

a native of Montgomery County, and was born Jan.

34, 1817; his grandfather, John Davis, was of Virginia

birth, where he married and raised a family of ten chil-

dren, two sons and eight daughters. He subsequently

emigrated to Ohio, and still later to Missouri, where

he died. He was a soldier in the Revolutionary army,

on account of which he was drawing a pension at

the time of his death. The oldest son, James Davis,

came to Kentucky about the year 1800, and in 1806

was married to Margaret Moore, of Bourbon County.

After living at various places in this State and Ohio, he

finally settled permanently on Aaron's Run, in Mont-

gomery County, Ky., where he spent the remainder of

his life. He was asoldierin the war of 1813, where he

served with credit to himself and his friends. He raised a

family of seven children, three sons and four daughters.

He came to a premature death by being thrown from a

young horse, in Houston Creek, near Paris, about the

year 1831, and was drowned. The third son, Henson
Davis, who is the subject of this -sketch, was married

Sept. 15, 1839, to Catharine, daughter of John Laughlin,

of Bourbon County. By this marriage there were five

children, two sons, viz : John Lucky, who married Ella

Staten, of Illinois, where he now resides, and Thomas I.,

who married Pauline Campbell, of Nicholas County, near

Carlisle. Thomas still lives at the homestead with his

father. There were three daughters, Margaret A., wife

of George W. Sparks; Martha E., wife of Daniel W.
Bayless, and Mary Alice, who married Tilford Caywood.
She died in 1877, leaving one son, Henry Stanton. Mr.

Davis inherited by his wife 100 acres of land in Bourbon
County, where he settled, and by industry and economy
he has added to it fiotii time to time, till he now owns 576

acres, three miles east of North Middletown ; notwith-

standing he has had his residence with nearly all of its con-

tents twice destroyed by fire, during his married life, and
each time caught him without any insurance. He is not

a man that forfeits much of his valuable time on account

of politics, yet he always votes with the Democratic party.

WATSON M. GAY, farmer and horse dealer; P. 0.

North Middletown; son of John D. and Catharine (Gard-

ner) Gay, of Clark County, and was born on the 3nd of

January, 1836; his grandfather, James Gay, was a native

of Virginia, and was among the early emigrants to Ken-
tucky, and settled on the waters of Stoner Creek, in

Clark County, near Sydner's Mill; he raised six sons and
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one dauofhter. John D. Gay, the youngest son, was

born in 1802, and in 1^25 was married to Catharine,

daughter of John Gardner, also of Clark County; by this

marriage there were four sons and three daughters.

Watson M., the youngest son, who is the subject of this

sketch, remained with his father on the homestead and

assisted in the duties of the farm until January the 23nd,

1857, on which day he was united in matrimony with

Nancy, daughter of .Johnathan Owen, of Bourbon Coun-

ty; soon after his marriage he moved on a farm five miles

north of Paris, near Ewalt's X roads; after remaining

here for six years, he purchased a nice farm of 440 acres

lying two miles south of North Middletown on Winches-

ter Pike, where he immediately moved and still resides.

Mr. Gay has six children, one son, James Hodge, and five

daughters, viz: Mary, wife of Jephtha Haggard, of

Clark; Bettie, wife of John Sudduth, of Clark; Cinnie,

Katie Hood, and Callie. Mary and Bettie are both grad-

uates of Sayre Female Institute at Lexington, Ky. Mr.

Gay is one of the representative farmers of the county;

makes a specialty of fine horses, both single and match-

ed teams; is a prominent exhibitor at most of the fairs

throughout the State, and those that have been his rivals

in many of these exhibitions pronounce him quite a for-

midable competitor; he well merits the enviable reputa-

tion he bears of being one of the best and most success-

ful horsemen in central Kentucky; he is a man of very

firm convictions, and is a descendant of a family long

noted for their remarkable unanimity in religious beliefs;

•himself and every member of his family, that is old

enough, are members of the Methodist Church, and as

far back as their ancestry can be traced, without a single

exception, they were all members of this religious de-

nomination. Politically, he is an avowed Democrat.

THOMAS J. GOFF, farmer and breeder of short horns;

P. O. North Middletown; is the son of Elisha and Nancy

(Hedges) Goff, and was born May 9, 1831; his grand-

father, Thomas J. Gofi", was a native of Virginia, and

emigrated to this State in 1790, and settled on Strodes'

Creek, in Clark County; his grandfather on his mother's

side was John Hedges, a native of Maryland, and came

to Kentucky in 1793, and settled in Bourbon County.

Elisha Goff, father of our subject, was born in Clark in

1795, and was married Dec. 35, 1817, to Nancy Hedges;

she was born Nov. 17, 1799. The result of this union

was two sons: John H. and Thomas J., and three daugh-

ters, viz.: Margaret P., Mary Ann, and Catharine T.

Thomas J. remained with his father until his (father's)

death, which occurred March 33, 1831. After this, our

subject, in connection with his brother, continued farm-

ing in Clark County till 1857, at wiiich time he came to

Bourbon and bought his grandfather Hedges' farm, where

he followed his favorite pursuit of farming, stock raising,

etc., until 1861. About this time, becoming a little rest-

less, and desiring a change of business, he removed to

New York City, and engaged in the cattle broker busi-

ness, where he remained till 1870. At this period he

again returned to Kentucky, and settled on a farm near

North Middletown, where he still resides. Mr. Goff was

married Jan. 38, 1859, to Mary E. Stone, of Bourbon;

this union was blessed with three children; two sons,

viz.: John S. and May, and one daughter, Allie. In June,

1881, May Goff graduated at the K. C. & B. College, be-

ing then only seventeen years of age. His sister Allie is

now a student of the same institution. Mr. and Mrs.

Goff now own a nice little home of 140 acres, and he

rents and controls about 1350 acres more. He is a non-

partisan in politics.

THE HOUSTON FAMILY.—Peter and James Hous-

ton were early settlers in Bourbon County. Their father,

Samuel Houston, was Scotch-Irish, and was born in Dub-

lin, Ireland, in 1731 ; he emigrated to America in 1751,

and located in Shenandoah County, Va., where he married

a Miss Hamilton. In 1763 he emigrated to Iredell

County, N. G.., and when war was declared against the

mother country, he enlisted as a soldier, and served to

the end, receiving many wounds, but was never a prison-

er. He lived to be ninety-nine years old, and died leaving

four sons and three daughters, viz : Peter, James, Rob-

ert, Samuel, Prudence, Sarah and Jane. The two last

named daughters, married Clarks, and lived and died in

their native State, leaving children. The other, Pru-

dence, married a Brown, had two sons and died in her

native county, but her sons, Franklin and Houston

Brown, emigrated to Ohio, where they still live. Samuel

married an Alexander, and remained and died at his

father's homestead, aged eighty-eight years ; he left two

sons, Franklin and Samuel, who emigrated to Georgia,

in 1853, and located in Hickory Flat, in Cherokee

County. The latter was a Colonel in the Confederate

army, and after the close of the war, was a delegate to the

convention that framed the new constitution of the

State. Robert emigr'ated to Missouri and was a farmer;

he was killed by the fall of a tree, leaving several chil-

dren; some of his sons have distinguished themselves as

breeders of Durham cattle, in that State and Illinois.

The two remaining brothers of the old family, Peter and

James, emigrated to Bourbon County, Ky., in the spring

of 1786, and located on Cane Ridge in the North Middle-

town Prrcinct; here they battled against canebrakes, for-

ir^
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ests and the privations of life, -which distinguished the

lives of all the pioneers in this famous part of nature's vpil-

derness, and were identified with all the hardships and

privations to which the pioneers of new countries are

always subjected. Peter married Mary Lucky, whose

parents, and her two brothers, .Joseph and Robert, and a

sister who married And, Ireland, from Virginia, had

come from Shenandoah County, Va. The same year, the

Houstons came from " the old North State " and bought

land adjoining them. James returned to his native State,

and married Nancy Alexander, and brought her on

horseback, through the howling wilderness, to his adopted

home. They raised four sons, viz : .lames, Levy, Abner

and Samuel. The first married Rachel Alexander, mov-

ed to Lawrence County, Ind., lived a successful farmer

until he was eighty-five years of age, and died, leaviiig

a large family of children in his adopted county. The

second son married Abbie Kenney, sister of the late Vic-

tor Kenney of Bourbon; he was for many years, a

Magistrate of Bourbon, lived a successful farmer and

merchant, at Ruddel's Mills, and died at eighty years of

age, leaving no children. The third married Sallie Hor-

ton, of Bourbon, emigrated to Cass County, Mo.; was a

well-to-do farmer, died in his eighty-fifth year, leaving

two living children; Arbell and James. The fourth and

last, married Mary Foster, lived on Cane Ridge, until his

sixty-sixth year, a prosperous farmer, and died childless.

Peter Houston, the other pioneer, was a remarkable

man. He was born Nov. 15, 1765 ; and although yet in

his teens, he joined his father in the Revolutionary war,

and did good service during the two last years of that

fearful conflict. He was tall and commanding in person,

was highly endowed and liberally educated. And after

his location in Bourbofl, he devoted all his spare time to

reading and research, especially in matters of religion, be-

ing as was his brother James a devoted Presbyterian. An d

so close was his application, and so vast was his memory,

that at forty years of age he could repeat from memory
almost the entire Bible. And in 1801, when the Reform-

er, Barton Warren Stone, began his great revival

at Cane Ridge he was one of the first to accept the new
doctrine ; he renounced Presbyterianism, and was im-

mersed by Stone, as was his brother James. Thence,

from house to house, he visited and exhorted his fellow-

men to join in the reformation, and thus greatly swelled

the ranks of the reformers ; he was also instrumental in

building the meeting-house, still standing, and called "Old

Cane Ridge," on the spot where the Reformer held his

great revival meeting. He helped to cut, hew, haul and

build the logs used in that far-famed_ edifice. In politics

he was a Whig, and an uncompromising emancipationist,

freeing his own servants, and refusing to receive several

that came to him by inheritance. And when Kentucky

declared in favor of her second constitution, he canvas-

sed the county urging the citizejis to instruct their del-

egates to abolish slavery in their new constitution, and

made hundreds of converts to his policy. But it failed in

the convention. After a long and useful life, he and his

wife died in their ninety-first year ; he never wore spec-

tacles, and, at his death had lost but one tooth, and that

was kicked out when a boy, by firing a musket at a wild

turkey. At his death he left six children, all sons, v.z:

John, Carey, Richard, Harvey, Alford, and Samuel. John

emigrated to Tennessee, married, was a prosperous farmer,

and died in his eightieth year, leaving several children;

Carey married Jane Campbell, emigrated to Monroe

County, Ind., lived the life of a farmer, died at seventy-

five and left several children ; Richard married Rachel

Smith, located in Bloomington, Ind., was a mechanic,

and died at seventy-four, leaving children ; Harvey mar-

ried Ibba Hamilton, located in Monroe County, Ind., was

a successful farmer, and died at seventy-two years of age

leaving three children ; Alford married Jane Smith, was

a farmer in Monroe County, Ind., died at seventy-two,

leaving several children ; Samuel alone, of the six broth-

ers, remained in Bourbon. He was a remarkable man
and widely known. He was born in 1781, March 5 ; he

was tall and dignified, was talented and well educated,

and had a wonderful memory, he could read a page or

hear a speech and repeat, either, from- memory almost

verbatim. His father educated him for the ministry,

and then placed him under the care and tutorage of the

Reformer Barton Stone. But one year of application

convinced him, as well as his tutor, that his tact was not

theological. He possessed wonderful pantomime and

mimic qualities, and his descriptive powers were grand.

These qualities inclined him to the stage, and he was

prevented from adopting the dramatic profession with the

greatest difiiculty by his father. He then married Morn-

ing Adams, daughter of John Adams ; who was an im-

migrant from Maryland, and claimed to be a near relative

of John Adams, the president, for whom he was named.

After his marriage, his father placed him on a small farm,

that he might try his band in agriculture. At this he

labored during cropping seasons, and devoted the remain-

der of his time in executing any and all jobs he could

engage from his neighbors; and so apt was he in architec-

ture that he learned to complete a house in all its parts,

stone work, carpentering, plastering and painting, and
did so complete many ; he helped to build the old Paris
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jail, and the bridge there across the Stoner. Like his fath-

er, he was a Whig and einancipationist, and a member of

the Christian Church. "When the war of 1813 came on,

he volunteered his services, but the day before his com-

pany was to march, a messenger came informing him

that his oldest child was very ill, when he was permitted

to substitute Jerry Terry in his place, and reached home

just in time to see his child die. In 1827, he sold his

farm, with a view to going West, but having ruptured a

blood vessel in his lungs, he remained on rented land,

hoping to recover, but finally died at the age of forty-

seven, leaving nine children ; five sons, and four daugh-

ters, viz : .loanna, Irena, Pattie, Mary, Washingtoi ,

John Q. A., Jefferson P., Clinton M., and Franklin W.
The two first died single, the third married Delany

Yonrk, of Indiana, who is a wealthy farmer in Monroe

County of that State ; Mary married Harrison Parks of

Indiana, who is a farmer in LaSalle County, Ills.; Wash-

ington, married Nancy Parker, of Bourbon ; and John

Q. A., married Rachel Taylor, of Indiana ; and both

these brothers died ministers of the Christian Church in

Illinois ; Jefferson P., married Sarah A. Holtzman, of

Bloomington, Ind., and is now a farmer and a breeder of

short-horn cattle, in Livingston County, Ills.; and Frank-

lin W., married Fannie L. Simpson, whose father, Levi

Simpson, and whose mother Nancy Priest, that was come

to Bourbon from Shenandoah County, Va., in 1780. He

still remains the only Houston in Bourbon of the old

families. Franklin W. was born in 1818, Sept. 22 ; com-

pleted his education at Indiana State University, in

1840, and studied law with a view to its practice, but his

health having failed, he was advised by his physician to

abandon the law and engage in agriculture, which advice

he heeded. And by cultivating the soil and trading large-

ly in mules and cattle, he succeeded in securing a com-

fortable home upon which he now lives, near the home-

stead of his grandfather, the old pioneer. And still, at

the age of sixty-three years, he is devoted to his farm,

and is a breeder of Durham cattle and Cotswold sheep.

He has always been, and still is, with all his family, a

member of the Christian Church, and was for many years,

previous to the war, a regular lecturer to the congrega-

tion of North Middletown. He was eight years one of

the magistrates of the county, and has ever been a devoted

friend of common schools and colleges, and has done

much, and given much, to advance educational interests.

He is also an advocate of internal improvement, and was

chiefly instrumental in having inaugurated the Bourbon

plan of macadamizing public roads, and contributed lib-

erally for that purpose; he has also written considerably

for the press, both political and religious, and on a va-

riety of topics, and in all respects has ever been identi-

fied with the interests of his county and State. Thrice

was he nominated by the Republican party as a candi-

date for the State Legislature, and twice made the

race, but the Democratic party being largely in the ma-

jority he was defeated. Mr. H. has eight children, viz.:

Nannie M., who married Daniel Boone, a farmer of Bed-

ford, Ind., and a near relative of the renowned pioneer;

French W., who married Fannie Wofford, of Tennessee,

and now lives in Lonoke, Ark., trading in cattle and hogs

to Little Rock; Laura E., who married Dr. Albert G.

Craig, of Ghent, Ky., now a physician in Vevay, Ind.;

Fannie L., who married Henry C. Stone, of Bourbon, a

farmer in the Flat Rock Precinct; Richard M., who mar-

ried Ella Young, of Platte City, Mo., and is a merchant

in Humboldt, Kas. ; Jefferson who is single and is

with his father; Quene, who married Joseph Rion, of

Paris, Ky., and lives with her parents; and last is Joseph

Daniel, who is single, and is practicing law in Winfield,

Kan. This is a promising young man; he was educated

at Kentucky University and the Law College of Cin-

cinnati; he is talented and educated, ccmmanding

in person and impressive in manner, and his friends

predict for him a bright future. Already, though

but twenty-three years of age, he has won a wide

notoriety by his eloquent, pointed and successful ad-

vocacy in several important cases at the bar. All of W.
H.'s children are educated, and members of the Christian

Church. In conclusion, Peter Houston is authority for

saying that the name Houston was originally spelled

House-son, and later Houseton, and still later Houston,

and that some branches of the family had, in his day,

still further abridged it to Huston; that other names had

been similarly changed, resulting in some instances in

forfeiture of estates, legatees being unable to reconcile

the spelling of their names with that of the legators.

Such changes should not be made without acts of

legislation, to which posterity can appeal.

JOHN W. JEWELL, iarmcr; P. 0. North Middletown

;

is a native of Bourbon County, and was born 'on the 12lh

of August, 18.30. His father, Ewell Jewell, was born on

Bull Run Creek, in Virginia, on the 1st day of March,

1790, and died the 22nd of February, 1862. He came to

Kentucky in the fall of 1805 and settled at Winchester.

He was a soldier in the war of 1812 and served eighteen

months. Was married first to Elizabeth Couchman, by

whom he raised four children, three sons : Leslie, Fred-

erick, and Benjamin, and one daughter, Cassie. About

the year 1822 he lost his wife, and again married, Augus
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the 1st, 1839, to Lucinda Boggs, whose father and mother

were natives of Ireland. By this marriage there werfe

seven children, four sons : John W., Wm. Allen, Peter

Mason and Evrell, and three daughters, Mary E., Sarah

M., and Armilda. John W., the eldest son by the last wife

who is the subject of this sketch, was married, August

the 13th, 1853, to Amanda White, of Clark County.

This union resulted in nine children, four sons : Peter L.,

James W., David E. and Sherman, and five daughters,

Lucinda, Jane, Frances C, Armilda and Amanda. Mr.

Jewell enlisted, Oct. 3, 1863, in the Federal Army, 36th

Kentucky Reg., Co. A., and served till June the 30th,

1865, at which time he was mustered out at Salisbury,

N. C. He then returned to Kentucky and took his wife

and family and moved to Powell County. From there

he removed to Bourbon County, where he still resides.

Mr. and Mrs. Jewell and one daughter, ITrances C, are

members of the Missionary Baptist Church. He is a

Democrat in politics.

JOSIAH A. JONES, farmer; P. O. North Middletown;

is a native of Bourbon County, and was born March the

16th, 1836. His grandfather, James Jones, was a native

of Virginia, and emigrated at an early day to Ken-
tucky, and settled near Clintonville. William S., his

second son, was born in 1784 and died in 1844. Was
married about the year 1818 to Nancy Ashurst, of Bour-

bon County, by whom he raised four children, one daugh-

ter, Nancy R., who is now the widow of Charles Hower-
ton, and three sons : John W., Benjamin and Josiah A.,

the latter of whom is the subject of this sketch. He was

married April the 15th, 1847, to Leoma Talbott, of Bour-

bon, who was born August the 7th, 1830. This union

was blessed with four children, two sons : Wra. Mason
and Allen Gano, and two daughters, Susan A., wife of

Alex. K. Young, and Mary L., wife of John G. Redmon.
Mr. Jones owns 310 acres of land northwest of North

Middletown, Ky. He and wife, also his two daughters,

are members of the Christian Church. He is a D.ino-

crat in politics.

WILLIAM H. KERR, farmer and breeder of fancy

horses; P.O. North Middletown; was born Feb. 18, 1853,

and is a son of John W. and Elizabeth A. (SeamanJs)

Kerr, who were married on the 33d of July, 1846. The

result of this marriaga was two sons, viz.: John A., who

die^ when eight years of age, and William H. (the sub-

ject of this sketch), born at his grandfather's, Preston J.

Seamands, who is mnitioned elsewhere in this work.

His (subject's) father, died when he was but eight months

old, and he lived with his mother at her father's until the

age of six years, when, on May 16, 1859, his mother was

again married to J. C. Long, a merchant of New York

City. Four years afterwards, subject, with his mother

and her husband, to whom he was greatly attached set-

tled in Brooklyn, where he (subject) was a student at the

Polytechnic Institute for about three years; he then re-

turned to his natfve State and entered the Kentucky

University at Lexington, living in the family of Prof.

Robert Graham for about one year; he then returned and

finished his education at Brooklyn, after which he was

connected with the Brooklyn Gas Company for about one

year; then in the Tribune office for a short time. But his

natural love for the farm, and his interest in fine horses,

brought him back to the home of his childhood, and in

1870 he came back to Kentucky, bringing with him his

half-brother, E. C. Long, then only ten years of age, and

his mother, who was again a widow, followed in a few

months, and has made her home here ever since. With
that natural love for the horse characteristic of the true

Kentuckian, Mr. Kerr at once embarked in the business of

breeding and rearing fine horses; his first venture was the

purchase of "Blue Bird," a roan mare by Kerr's Black

Hawk, and out of a mare by Kerr's Copper Bottom ; he paid

$300 for this mare at a three-year old, and when six years

old he could have" sold her for $3,500. This noted mare

competed at the Paris Fair, in 1874, with eight other speed

mares—the best in the State—for the prize (silver pitcher

and goblets) offered by the Kentucky Live Stock Record^

and was the honored victor, bearing off the palm in the

hotly contested ring. Mr. Kerr next bought the noted

trotting stallion "Driftwood," for which he paid $1,000;

he raised and sold a large number of his colts, besides

buying and handling all his colts raised by other parties

that he could get hold of. In 1880 Mr. Kerr took in his

brother, E. C. Long, as his partner, the style of the firm

being W. n. Kerr & Bro.; the firm now has a fine stable,

47x100 feet, finished off in the most approved style, with

all modern conveniences, and own seventy head of horses,

one of the most noted of which is " Ed. Clark," a black

stallion, by "Driftwood ;" dam by "Mambrino Medley;" this

horse took the premium at the Sharpsburg and Paris

Fairs, when only four years old, against more aged
horses; " Woodbridge Girl" and " Woodbridge Boy "

are both promising young trotters; either of them can

show better records than 3.30. Mr. Kerr owns 315 acres

of fine blue grass land, and controls 750 acres more.

Upon his own farm he has a handsome residence, built

at his 8|jecial orders, and after his own plans and de-

signs, and which is furnished and fitted up with most ex-

cellent taste. He was married, Jan. 13, 1875, to Miss

Fannie L., daughter of William Skinner, of this county.
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She was educated at the schools of the neighborhood,

and at Hooker Female College, Lexington. They

have three children, viz.: Clarence, born Dec. 25, 1875,

and Fred S., and William G. (twins), born Aug. 1, 1877.

Mr. Kerr is an enterprising young man; liberal in every

movement for the good and progress of his neighborhood,

and a Republican in politics.

ED. C. LONG, farmer and horse dealer; P. O. North

Middletown; son of James C. and Elizabeth (Seamands)

Long, and was born Oct. 7, 1861. His father was a Vir-

ginian by birth, and came to Kentucky when quite young

with hisparents, and settled near Danville, Boyle County,

where he remained till he was eighteen years of age; he

was educated at Center College, Danville, and was a

classmate of Gen. John C. Breckinridge. Shortly after

Mr. Long finished his education, we find him in Balti-

more, engaged as salesman in the mercantile business

with his cousin, Ellis B. Long, who was at that time one

of the most prominent and successful merchants' of that

city. After he had become thoroughly conversant with

that branch of business upon which he had embarked,

and being full of ambition, we next find him in the great

city of New York, as junior partner with Lee, Case &

Co., merchants of that city. James 0. was married on the

16th of May, 1859, to Elizabeth A., widow of John W. Kerr,

of Bourbon County, Ky.; the result of this marriage was

four children, three daughters, viz : Mary Bell, who died

in infancy; Fanaie L., who died at the age of eleven years,

and Bessie A., born Sept. 2, 1870, and is now a student

at the K. C. and B. College at North Middletown, and

one son, Ed. C, who is the subject of this sketch. Our

subject was born at his grandfather Seamond's, in Bour-

bon County, Ky., and at the age of two years was taken

by his parents to New York City, where he remained

about ten years, and then returned to Kentucky, accom-

panied by his half-brother, William H. Kerr, with whom

he has since associated himself as partner, the style of the

firm now being William H. Kerr & Bro., horse dealers.

For a more extended notice of this firm, see biography of

William H. Kerr in this work. Our subject, Ed. C, who

is yet quite young, being only twenty years of age, has

been a student of the K. C. & B. College for a year, after

which, through the influence of Prof. L. M. Sniff, ex-

Professor of the above school, he was induced to enter

Northwestern Ohio Normal School, in which institution

Prof. Sniff is very prominently connected, and Ed. C. at

this time one of his favorite pupils. Being a young man

of more than ordinary intelligence, excellent moral char-

acter, of indomitable energy and the importance of busi-

ness indelibly stamped in him, from his earliest recollec-

tions up to the present time, we can but predict for him

a bright and successful future.

PRESTON J. LINDSAY, farmer; P. O. North Mid-

dletown; son of Reuben Lindsay, who was born in Vir-

ginia, and emigrated to this State at an early day and

married Nancy Wells; by this marriage there were three

children: William H., who married Lucy Lockland in

the year 1839; Greenberry, who died at the age of thirty-

three; and Preston J., who is the subject of this sketch

and was born July the 5th, 1817; when only three years

of age he was left an orphan and was taken by his grand-

mother Wells, by whom he was reared and educated;

he received a very liberal education in the old pioneer

school houses of his neighborhood; his favorite study

was mathematics, and in this valuable branch of educa-

tion he had but few equals. After he arrived at the age

of maturity and was thrown upon his own resources for

a livelihood, he turned his attention to agricultural pur-

suits, and to the present time is a tiller of the soil and

enjoying single blessedness. Mr. Lindsay has been

prominently connected with the Masonic order since

1839. For three years he enjoyed the enviable position

of High Priest of Washington Chapter, No. 26, and has

been a Knight Templar and member of Lex. Command-

ery. No. 2, tinse 1870; he is also a straight Democrat in

politics.

LEAH LAMME, farmer; P. O. North Middletown;

Mrs. Lamme is a daughter of James Wells, a native of

Maryland who emigrated to Kentucky at a very early

day and married Katie Owens, a Virginian by birth, and

whose father first settled and named the town of Owings-

ville, in Bath Co., Ky. Mr. Wells died at the age of 82

years, and his wife at the age of 89. Mrs. Wells was the

mother of twelve children, five of whom are now living.

Leah, the oldest daughter now alive, and who is the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born on the 10th of December,

1797, and was married in 1833 to James Lamme, who was

killed with a knife on the 7th of Julj', 1S39, by Peter

Hedges. Mr. Lamme left a farm of 298 acres, where his

widow still lives. She is now 84 years old, and is a mem-

ber of the Dunkard Church.

JAMES S. MOORE, farmer; P. O. North Midd'etown;

son ofElisha and Elizabeth (Money) Moore, and was lorn

Sept. 20th, 1S20, in Montgomery Co. His grandfather

was a native of Scotland, and emigrated to Virginia

prior to the struggle for independence. He was killed

in the revolutionary army under General Washington.

His (subject) grandmother was of English birth. His

father, Elisha Moore, was born in Virginia and came to

Kentucky about 1809. He married Elizabeth Money, of

•^ s~



544 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

Fairfax County,Va., by whom he had seven sons, and three

daughters. The fourth son, James S., who is the subject

of our sketch, was married Feb. 10, 1843, to Martha A.

Bibb of Montgomery. By this marriage there are six

living children. Three sons, viz: George A., who is a

graduate of the Kentucky University at Lexington, and

was honored with the valedictory address on that occa-

sion. He is now a popular teacher at Clin ton ville. James

M., the second son, was obliged to leave the above Uni-

versity, before graduating, on account of failing health.

He subsequently regained his health and married Mag-

gie Frazier, and is now one of the enterprising farmers of

Clark County. The third son,W. L., married Annie King,

of Clark, where he has also engaged in agricultural pur-

suits. There were also three daughters, viz: Matilda

F., wife of J. G. Salmons ; Mary E., wife of Thomas
Hall, and Martha A., wife of Wm. Rion, of Paris. Mar-

tha A. Moore died Aug. 34, 1854. Mr. Moore was next

married to Martha A. Crouch of Bath County, the 38th of

Aug., 1855. This union is blessed with five living chil-

dren, two daughters, viz : Minnie .1., who is a gradu-

ate of the K. C. & B. College, at North Middletown, and

now controls one of the best disciplined schools in Mont-

gomery County, and Rosa E. who is a student at her sister's

school. The eldest son, Sherman B., is now in the Bible

Department of Kentucky University, where he will prob-

al)ly gr:iduate this year; after which, he expects to make
a preacher of the Gospel. Allie R. and Clarence E., the

two youngest sons, are now students of the K. C. & B.

College. Mr. Moore, through the whole course of his

life, has been a very active and industrious man, and al-

ways placed a very high estimate on education as the

above record will testify. He began life in moderate

circumstances, reared and educated a large family, has

contributed liberally to all charitable institutions that

were presented to him, and now owns a nice little farm

of 166 acres. He and his entire family are members of

the Christian Church, and he is a Democrat in politics.

JOHN V. MOORE, farmer and trader ; P. O. North

Middletown; was born on Plum Lick, near the Bourbon

and Montgomery line, on the 14th of February, 1833. His

grandfather was a native of Ireland, and emigrated to

the United States about the year 1770 and settled in

Virginia, where he remained about eighteen years. He
next came to Kentucky and settled near North Middle-

town, in Bourbon County, where he spent the greater

portioii of his after life. He was a prominent member
of the Masonic Order in his day, and organized the first

Masonic Lodge at the above town. He raised three sons

and two daughters, and died at the age of eighty-four years.

His second son, John Moore, was married about 1808 to

Mrs. Mollie (RaceJ Fulton. The result of this union

was seven children—two sons and five daughters. John

Moore was a volunteer in the war of 1813, in Capt.

Combs' Company, Col. Dick Johnson's regiment. Parti-

cipated in the memorable battle of the Thames. Saw
and examined the body of Tecumseh after he was killed.

Immediately after the war he returned to his Kentucky
home, where he passed the remainder of his life with his

family. He was a man, being born in an honest period

of our country's history, was scrupulously exact in all

his dealings and assiduous in the discharge of every duty

devolving upon him. He attached himself to the Chris-

tian Church when about the age of forty-five years, under

the preaching of John T. Johnson. He was a man of

firm convictions, an avowed Democrat through life, and
died at the age of eighty-four. His second son, John V.,

who is the subject of this sketch, was married January

3, 1844, to Phebe A. Combs, by whom he raised three

sons : Richard F., who was killed in the Morgan charge

at Lebanon, Ky., on the 5th of August, 1863; Fulton

R., who died at Camden, Mississippi, in 1870, and Kelly
P., who married Mattie E., daughter of Elder John B.

McGinn, on the December 33d, ] 880, and who still resides

with his father at the homestead. Mr. Moore and family

are all members of the Christian Church, and are Demo-
crats in politics.

KELLY MOORE, farmer; P.O. North Middletown;
is the son of John Moore, and was born in Bourbon
County, Jan. 13, 1837. His father was of Irish descent,

but was born, reared and educated in Kentucky, and was
first married in 1808 to Mrs. Mollie (Race) Fulton, by
whom he raised seven children; his second marriage was
to the widow Shryock; by this marriage there were three

children—two sons and one daughter. The youngest
son, Kelly Moore, who is the subject of this sketch, en-

listed in the Confederate Army, in September, 1863, in

the Eighth Kentucky Cavalry, under Col. Cluke; he was
captured on the Ohio raid with Gen. John Morgan, July
36, 1863, taken to Camp Chas^, where he was kept for

a month, then removed to Camp Douglas, and was
confined in prison till February, 1865 ; he was then
released and permitted to return to his Kentucky home,
where he again resumed his agricultural pursuits, and to

this day he adheres to this, his favorite vocation. On
June 5, 1865, Mr. Moore was united in marriage to Fan-
nie, daughter of Moses S. Thomas, of Scott county;
this union has been blessed with one child: Richard F.
born July 5, 1867; he is now a student of the K. C. & B.
College. Mr. Moore and family are members of the

^1^
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Christian Church. He has a nice home of 170 acres

called " Clover Dale."

ItS'^See sketch of John V. Moore for the early history of this

family.

JOHN B. MITCHELL, farmer; P. 0. North Middle-

town; is a native of Bourbon County, and was born April

11, 1853; his grandfather, William Mitchell was a native of

Virginia, and moved to Kentucky at a very early day, and

settled in Montgomery County, where he raised a family

of seven children—six sons: William, Hawkins, Thomas

J., Strother, James, and Frank, and one daughter, Mar-

garet who married John J. Anderson; she and her mother

were killed by a terrific storm that passed over that

country about the year 1848; the house that was occu-

pied by the family at the time of the catastrophe was

completely demolished. It is remarkable that seven

other members, who were also in the house, miracu-

lously escaped without the slightest injury. Thomas

J. Mitchell, the third son, above spoken of, was first

married to Miss Gaitskill, of Montgomery County; she

only lived about twelve months afer her marriage. He
next married Malinda Thomas, of Bourbon County,

about the year 1849, and moved immediately to that

county; this union was blessed by two children: John

B., who is the subject of this sketch, and Alice, who is

now the wife of Thomas Gaitskill, of North Middletown.

John B. remained at the homestead and assisted in the

duties of the farm up to the time of his father's death,

which occurred April 16, 1863. At the death of his

father, John B. inherited all of the home place, contain-

ing 300 acres, except his mother's dower, which he sub-

sequently purchased. His sister Alice inherited 187

acres of the Warren Rogers place, known as the "Cas-

tle," which was purchased by her guardian about one year

after her father's death; the remainder of the Rogers farm

containing 133 acres, was given to their mother, Mrs.

Mitchell. John B. is now one of the representative

farmers of his county, and is also engaged in breeding

and raising short horn cattle and Cotswold sheep. He is

a member of the Christian Church at North Middletown,

and a Democrat politically.

JOHN W. McCLURE, farmer and trader; P. O.

North Middletown ; is a native of Montgomery County,

son of John and Mahala (Stofer) McClure and was born

January 17, 1842. His great grandfather was a na-

tive of Ireland, and emigrated at an early day to the

United States and stopped for a while in Virginia, and

afterward came to Kentucky, where he died. His grand-

father, Andrew McClure, settled in Montgomery County

where he reared six sons and six daughters. The

second son, John McClure, married Mahala Stofer,

and settled in his native County, where he, like his

father, raised six sons and six daughters. The second

son, John W., our subject, after remaining on the home-

stead till the age of maturity, began business for himself,

and on the 27th of March, 1877, was married to Mary C.

Mark, of Montgomery. This union is blessed with one

child, John Mark. In March, 1880, Mr. McClure moved
to Bourbon County, where he now resides. He is an

enterprising young man, and owns 135 acres of land,

where he im-ms and handles stock. Mr. McClure and

wife are both members of the Christian Church. He is a

Democrat in politics.

MRS. BETTIE OWEN, farmer; P. O. North Middle-

town. Robert Owens was born in Maryland, and emigrat-

ed to Kentucky in 1784, and temporarily settled in Clark

County; he married when twenty-two years of age and

moved to Bourbon, where he reared a family of three sons

and five daughters. Geo. W., the youngest son, was born

on the 4th of April, 1813, and was married Feb. 13, 1839, to

our subject. Miss Bettie, daughter of William Scott, of

this county; by this marriage there wore fourteen chil-

dren, nine daughters, viz: Emma, wife of Dr. Joe Fith-

ian, of Paris, Ky.; Nancy S., wife of Marcus Evans, of

Clark County; Fannie, who married Wm. Boston, of this

county, and died in April, 1881; Sallie, who died in 1867;

Bettie, Cinnie, Mary Lou, Carrie and Dixie, and five

sons: Joseph, who married Alice> Scarce, of this county,

and now resides in Ohio; Wm. R., who married the wid-

ow Peoples, of Bates County, Mo., where he now lives;

Thomas, who is telegraphing in Chicago; George and

John Ed, who are still at the old homestead with their

widowed mother. Nancy S. graduated at Winchester

Female College; Sallie graduated at Oxford, Ohio; Fan-

nie at the Bourbon -Female College; Carrie at the Mil-

lersburg Female College; Dixie and John Ed are now
studen s of the K. C. & B. College. This family are

nearly all Methodists; the sons are Democrats. Mrs.

Owen has 3i0 acres of land.

JOHN R. OWEN, dealer in wines and liquors; P. O.

North Middletown; is a native of Tennessee, and was

born near Rogers ville on the 14th of Feb., 1849; his

father, W. A. Owen, was also of Tennessee birth, and

was married in 1830 to Ellen Moore, by whom he

raised ten children, three sons and seven daughters. The

second son, who is the subject of our sketch, at the age

of thirteen -years, like many other boys of his age, be-

came verj' patriotic, and enlisted in Co. D., Bradford's

regiment, Vaughn's Brigade; hii father was Captain of

the above company; John R., after serving two years in
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the army, came to Kentucky and settled in Bourbon

County, where he has since resided. He was married

the 16th of June, 1877, to Nannie Walters, of this coun-

ty; by this marriage there are two children, Jasper and

Fannie E. Mr. Owen is now a resident of North Mid-

dletown; he is a Democrat in politics.

J. W. PRESCOTT, farmer and short-horn breeder ; P.

O. North Middletown. Subject is a native of Louisiana; was

born in that State in 1833, where he spent the early part

of his life. In 1875, he married Mrs. Mary E. (Bayless)

Grimes, of Bourbon County, Ky., where he has since set-

tled, and is engaged in agricultural pursuits. For the

past two years he has been engaged, on a small scale, in

the short-horn business. Has on hand at the present

time, a small herd, selected with great care from the best

familes this country affords. Col. Prescott is a gentle-

man of rare judgment and good business ability, and is

likely to become a prominent short-horn breeder in the

near future. His wife is a daughter of Nathan Bayless,

who emigrated from Virginia at an early day, and settled

in Bourbon County, where he raised a family of five chil-

dren, one son and four daughters. Mary, the second

daughter of whom we are now writing, was born in 1831;

was educated at North Middletown, Ky., and in 1846 was

married to John S. Grimes, of Clintonville. He died in

1865. Mrs. Grimes, after remaining a widow about ten

years, was next married to Col. Prescott. She now owns

a nice farm, containing about 675 acres of choice land.

Her father, Mr. Bayless, when he first came to North

Middletown, was without any means whatever, and began

in the tailoring business. After getting a little money
ahead, he bought a small piece of land, and began dealing

in mules. Being a good judge of stock and careful in

his purchases, good feeder and an excellent salesman, .he

soon found himself possessed of sufficient means to own
one of the best farms in his county. At the time of his

death he owned 1000 acres of fine Bourbon land.

C. H. RICE, farmer and breeder of short-horns;

P.O. North Middletown; was born in Bourbon Coun-

ty, July 17, 1843, and is a son of James W. and

Patsy (Boyle) Rice; his grandfather, John Rice, emigra-

ted from Virginia to this State at an early day, and set-

tled in Bourbon County, where he raised a family of seven

children, three sons and four dauijhters. The second

son, .lames W., was born Feb. 22, 1804, and was married

Dec. 5, 1822, to Patsy C. Hoyle, and died on the 11th

of May, 1847. James W. ranked among the most prom-

inent men in the county in his day, as was clearly dem-

onstrated by his being twice sent to represent same in

the State Legislature. This important position he filled

to the entire satisfaction of his constituency, and with

honor and credit to himself and family. He raised a

family of eleven children, ten of whom survived him,

four sons and six daughters, the third son living, C.

H., who is our subject, remained on the homestead

till the war broke out between the sections, and in 1862

he enlisted in the Confederate Army, under Col. Cluke
;

was captured with Gen. Morgan in Ohio on the 26th of

July, 1863; was first taken to Camp Chase, and after-

wards to Camp Douglass, where he remained a prisoner

till the close of the war; in 1865 he returned to his Ken-

tucky home, and on the 30th of April, 1867, he was mar-

ried to Sarah E. Sydner, of Platte County, Mo.; by this

marriage there were three sons, two of whom are living,

James W., and John I. The youngest son, Henry S.,

was killed by lightning on the 9th of July, 1879. Mr. Rice

owns a nice little farm of 65 acres, and rents 200 more,

where he breeds and handles short-horns, of which he has

now about thirty head. Mr. and Mrs. Rice and one son

are members of the Christian Church; politically he is a

Democrat.

RICHARD M.RIOE, farmer ; P.O. North Middletown;

son of James W. Rice, and was born near North Middle-

town, Bourbon County, on the 28th of February, 1839.

(For further notice of his parents, see sketch of 0. H Rice

in this work.) He received a good English education at

North Middletown, where he could have graduated in

another term. He began life as a farmer, an occupation

he has never had cause to abandon. On the 21st of

October, 1858, he was married in Nicholas County, to

Jennie E., daughter of Col. I. H. Piper. .lennie E. was

born at Jackstown, Bourbon County, on the 29th of

March, 1838. Her father, Colonel Piper, was a native of

Nicholas, born near Carlisle in 1810, and now lives in

that beautiful little city, where he has retired from busi-

ness. His wife, Parmelia J. Porter, was born in Fleming

County, in 1812. Our subject, Mr. Rice, made the race

in 1880 for the Democratic nomination for Sheriff of Bour-

bon County, but was defeated by a small majority. Mr.

and Mrs. Rice have four children, two sons, Charlton E.

and William P., and two daughters, Ida May and Kate

Pearl. Charlton graduates this term at the K. C. & B.

College. Ida May was also educated at this school. Sub-

ject and wife, and their two eldest children, are members
of the Christian Church. Mr. Rice has always lived a

quiet life. He is a temperate man in all his habits, an 1

endeavors to Uvea consistent Christian. He has the repu-

tation of being sober and industrious, sarupulously exact

in all his dealings, and commands the respect and confi-

dence of the community in which he resides,

:i^
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F. C. RIDDELL, farmer and architect; P. 0. North
Middletown ; is a son of Nathan Riddell, of Fayette Coun-
ty, and after remaining with his father till seventeen years

of age, he went to New Orleans and engaged in stock trad-

ing, a business he followed for five years; he then returned

to Kentucky and settled in Bourbon County, where he re-

mained till the war broke out between the sections; he

espoused the Southern cause and was among the first

men who volunteered from this county in the Confeder-

ate Army; he was captured by the Federals on the 26th

of July, 1863, with Gen. John Morgan on his Ohio raid;

was taken to Camp Chase and confined for two months,

thence to Johnson's Island on Lake Erie, where he re-

mained a prisoner till the close of the war. Mr. Riddell

then returned to Kentucky and engaged in farming in

connection with his trade, which pursuit he still follows.

He was married on the 30th of June, 1859, to Miss La-

vina W. Stewart, of this county; he has superintended

the building of many of the handsome residences and

fine stock barns in the vicinity where he lives. He is a

member of the Christian Church, and a straight Demo-
crat in politics.

H. C. SMITH, farmer and short-horn breeder ; P. 0.

North Middletown ; was born in Bourbon County on the

16th of June, 1848. His grandfather, Weathers Smith,

emigrated from Fairfax C. H., Va., to this State about

the beginning of the present century, and settled on

what is now known as the Duncan Land, which is now
owned by Cassius M. Clay. He married Lydia, sister of

Geo. A. Smith. She died in 1818, leaving an only son,

Algernon Sidney Smith, who was born May the 16th,

1809. Algernon S., after his father's death, which oc-

curred in 1828, came into possession of 779 acres of

land on Paris and Winchester Pike, near Thatcher's

Mill. He was married Oct. 1, 1846, to Amanda F.

Thomas. The result of this union was two sons. Mr.

and Mrs. Smith both died with cholera in 1852, within a

few days of each other. The younger son, Algernon

Sidney, who was named for his father, died at the age of

twenty-two years, leaving a childless widow, who now
lives with her father, John W. Thomas. The elder son,

Henry C. Smith, who is the subject of our sketch, and

also his younger brother above spoken of, were taken

;

after the sudden death of their parents, by their uncle,

Owen B. Thomas, and raised to maturity. Mr. Thomas

now lives in Boone County, Missouri, having moved

there in 1878. Our subject attended school at Stony

Point till he was seventeen years of age. He then

entered Kentucky University at Lexington, where he

was a student for three years, but on account of his

health failing, he was compelled to leave the University

without graduating. He was married on the 21st of

October, 1869, to Nannie C, daughter of Harvey W.Rice,
whose father was one of the first settlers here. This

couple are blessed with two children, Allie Dee, who
was born Jan. 26, 1873, and Henry Stanley, born Sept.

14, 1878. Henry C. bought his first short horns in 1870,

and continued in that business till October, 1876, at which

time he consolidated his herd of twenty-five head with

a herd of seventy head owned by Ed. K. Thomas, which
is spoken of in another part of this work. This consoli-

dation, now known as the " Glenwood Herd," and

owned by Thomas and Smith, numbers at present 120

head, and is considered one of the best herds in the

State. Mr. Smith is one of the representative farmers

of his county, owns 250 acres of land three miles south

of North Middletown, and for the past four years has

been one of the board of directors of the Bourbon

County Agricultural Society.

PRESTON J. SEAMANDS, farmer; P. O. North Mid-

dletown; is a native of Bourbon County, and was born

Aug. 7, 1809; his father. Major Seamands, was born in

Albemarle County, Va., and emigrated to Kentucky

about the year 1800, and settled in Bourbon County.

Major Seamand's commanded a company in the war of

1812, and served with honor and credit to himself,

and after the termination of the war he returned to

Kentucky, and in a short time afterwards bought what

is now known as Seamands' Mill, on Stoner Creek, with

about 100 acres of land attached. He was married in

Virginia in 1797 to Elizabeth Newton; she died at the

old mill place in 1822. By this marriage there were

seven children, five of whom were raised to maturity,

and four of them are still living—three daughters: Ma-

linda, widow of James Lindsay, of Bourbon County;

Elizabeth, widow of Kinzea Stone, also of Bourbon, and

Marilda, widow of John G. Sims, of Jessamine County,

and one son, Preston J., who is the subject of this sketch.

Major Seamands died July 7, 1856, leaving an estate of

650 acres of land, which he divided among his children

by his last will and testament. Pieston J. assisted his

father about the homestead till about twenty years of

age, at which tim3 his father put him in charge of the

mill and farm; he was married April 27, 1830, to Mary

Ann Skinner, who was born in Virginia, but had moved

to Kentucky with her. father about the year 1816. This

union was blessed with four children—two sons: William

H., who died in infancy, and .lames M., who died when

only five years old, and two daughters, Elizabeth A.,

who was born July 24, 1831, and was married July 23,

:rx:
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1846, to John W. Kerr, and Mary F., who was born

April 6, 1843, and was married to Dr. W. R. Davis April

6, 1868. Preston J., in 1861, at an expense of several

thousand, put his mill in first-class repair, which rendered

it in every way worthy of the reputation it had of being

the best mill in the county. He has been very success-

ful in farming also, and now owns 500 acres of land be-

sides his mill, town residence, etc.; he has recently moved
to North Middletown, rented out his farm, and proposes

to retire from active work, and enjoy some of the fruits

of his labor. He and wife, and their two children, and

also two grandchildren, are members of the Christian

Church. He is a Republican in politics.

WILLIAM H. SETTLES, farmer and carriage builder;

P. O. North Middletown; was born on the 11th of July,

1829, in Bourbon County; his grandfather, Joseph Set-

tles, was a native Virginian, and moved to Kentucky at

an early day and settled in Bourbon, where he remained

till about the year 1843, at which time he emigrated to

the State of Missouri, where he spent the remainder of

his days. He was a man of remarkable constitution, and

lived almost an entire century, being ninety-eight years

of age at the time of his death. He raised five sons and

two daughters; his eldest son, John T., was born in Ken-

tucky in 1806, and married, in 1827, Mary Shrader, who
was a second cousin to the old Kentucky pioneer, Daniel

Boone. This union was also blessed with five sons and

two daughters: William H., the eldest son, is the subject

of this sketch. When he was but twelve years of age

his father died, leaving the responsibility of his mother

and six younger children principally upon his hands.

He succeeded, by the assistance of his mother, in giving

the rest of the children a fair education, and to this day

provides for his aged parent, who is now seventy-five

years old. He was married on the 9th of May, 1854, to

Lucinda Gardner, of Bourbon; the result of this mar-

riage is seven children, five sons: Benjamin F., Edward
P., Owen T., William H., and Robert, and two daugh-

ters, Elizabeth, who is the wife of Robert Wright, and

Mary Lou. Mr. Settles owns a small farm of 150 acres,

besides his town property, which consists of a carriage

factory, blacksmith shop, etc. He enjoys the reputation

of being one of the best mechanics in the county. He is

a member of the Good Templar order; he and wife and

married daughter are members of the Christian Church;

in politics he acts with the Democratic party.

JOHN B. STIVERS, Postmaster; P. O. North Middle-

town; is a native of Clay County, and was born June 10,

]8<;l; his great-great-grandfather was a native of Ger-

many; his great-grandfather was also born in Germany,

and emigrated at an early day to the United States, and

settled in the city of New York; his grandfather was

born in that city on the 5th of May, 1759, and at the early

age of fourteen he engaged as drummer boy in the Rev-

olutionary Army, and served till the close of that war.

He married and emigrated to Kentucky about the year

1784, and settled near Lexington, Fayette County, where

R. P. Stivers was born on the 17th of March, 1799. In

the year 1819, R. P. was married to Nancy Barger, a na-

tive of Virginia. They raised to maturity nine children;

the second son, John B., who is the subjectof thissketih,

was brought by his parents when only six months old, to

Bourbon County, where he has ever since claimed as his

home. He volunteered in the Mexican war in 1847, in

the 3rd Reg't of the K. V. I.; he also participated in the

late war between the sections on the Federal side; was a

Lieutenant in the Seventh Regiment of the Kentucky Vol-

unteers. Lieutenant Stivers was in several hot engage-

ments, among them were Arkansas Post, Champion
Hill, and the Siege at Vicksburg; was wounded eleven

times; twice very severely. After the cessation of hos-

tilities, he returned to his native State, where he was mar-

ried on the 5th of September, 1866, to Miss Fannie Judy.

This union resulted in one child, Maud Vernon, who was
born on the 3rd of July, 1867; she is now a student of

the K. C. and B. College, at North Middletown. Her
mother died Aug. 33, 1868. Mr. Stivers was married

again on the 17th of May, 1875, to Miss B. J. Peters.

He has been a member of the Masonic order for more
than thirty years, and is a Republican in politics.

MRS. REBECCA L. SCOTT, farmer and breeder of

short-horns ; P. O. North Middletown, daughter of Henry
and Margaret (Allen) Lander. Her grandfather, Charles

Lander, was a native of Germany, and emigrated to the

United States at an early day, and settled in Bourbon
County, Ky., where he raised a family of seven children,

three sons and four daughters. Mr. Lander was quite a

prominent man in his day, was a Methodist preacher and

farmer, and was elected by a large majority to represent

his county in the Legislature. He and his wife both died

with cholera in 1833. His second son, Henry Lander,

married Margaret Allen, a native of Virginia, by whom
he raised a family consisting of eight children, four of

whom are still living. One son, Franklin, who lives in

Fleming County, and three daughters, viz : Lavinia,

wife of Joseph P. Kenney ; Fannie, widow of Isaac

Skinner, of Clark County ; and Rebecca L., who is the

subject of this sketch.- She was born .Tuly 27, 1827, and

on the 6th day of January, 1848, was married to William

Scott, of Bourbon. He was born in 1827, and died on

^1^
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the 27th of April, 1878. By this marriage there are nine

living children, five daughters, viz: Sarah M., Kate, Alice,

Bettie, and Lutie, and four sons, Joseph F., who married

Miss Thomas, of this county, and now lives in Missouri,

Charles F., Robert Lee, and Isaac S. One daughter,

Fannie, died when only eighteen months old. Mrs. Scott

now owns 348 acres of land on Cane Ridge Pike, one and

a quarter miles north of North Mlddletown. Her son,

Charles, superintends the farm and short-horns, of which

they have a nice herd at this time. The family are Demo-

cratic politically, and Mrs. S. and two daughters are

members of the Methodist Church.

JOSEPH C. SCOTT, farmer; P. 0. North Middle-

town; son of Wm. and Eliza (Sparr) Scott, and was

born Sept. 22, 1838; his grandfather, Wm. Scott, was a

native of Virginia, but emigrated to Kentucky at an ear-

ly day and settled near Clintonville, where he died with

cholera in 1833. His second son, William, married

Eliza Sparr, of Clark County; by this marriage there

were four sons and three daughters. The third son, Jo-

seph C, who is the subject of our sketch, enlisted, in

1863, in the Confederate Army under Col. Cluke; in the

winter of 1862-3 he was captured and taken to Camp

Butler in Illinois, -where he was held a prisoner for two

months and then exchanged; was again captured on the

36th of July, 1863, with Gen. Morgan on his Ohio raid,

and taken to Camp Chase and confined for a month, then

removed to Camp Douglas, where he remained a pris-

oner for seventeen months and was again exchanged;

after the cessation of hostilities he returned from Vir-

ginia to his native State. Joseph C. was married Oct.

37, 1870, to Miss G. A. Yates; the result of this

union is two children, Roy Cluke and Bernice Bell. Mr.

Scott owns a small farm and is an enthusiastic Democrat.

JAMES SCOTT, farmer; P. O. North Middletown; is

a native of Bourbon County, and was born Dec. 17,

1803, on the premises where he now resides; his grand-

father and family, together with twelve other families,

came down the Ohio River from Pennsylvania in the

year 1778, and settled on what was afterward known as

Corn Island, opposite Shippingsport, Ky., (now a part of

Louisville); he built the third cabin in that place in the

fall of that year (1778), but the families composing the

little colony were all driven away by the Indians, and

Mr. Scott and family found refuge in the fort at Harrods-

burg; he afterward located 1,000 acres of land on Flat

Creek, in what is now Bath County, but settled in Bour-

bon County; he raised four children, three sons and one

daughter, and died about the year 1804. His eldest son,

Robert Scott, settled on a part of his father's place in

Bourbon County, built a cabin and afterward married

Miss Ann Galloway, by whom he had eight children, five

boys and three girls. His second son, James Scott, who
is the subject of this sketch, lived upon the old home-

stead until 1853, when, on the 33d of September of

that year, he was married to Emeline P. OfTutt; this union

was blessed with five children, three of whom are living:

Nannie, Emma P., and William Robert. Mr. Scott has

about 570 acres of land well improved; he is a Demo-

crat. His mother-in-law, Mrs. OfFut, lives with him, is

ninety-two years old and remarkably sprightly for one of

her years.

EDWIN K. THOMAS, farmer and breeder of short

horn cattle. Cotswold sheep and saddle horses; P. O.

North Middletown ; a native of Bourbon County and

son of John W. Thomas, whose sketch appears in anoth-

er part of this work. Ed. K. was born August 34, 1840,

and on September 13, following, he was left motherless.

Was then taken to his grandfather, John Thomas, by

whom he was raised. He was educated at the Patterson

Institute at North Middletown. On Sept. 3, 1861, Ed.

K. was married to Caroline S., daughter of Milton Jame-

son of Montgomery County. Caroline, after receiving a

very liberal education in her native county, was, at the

age of fifteen, sent to Daughter's College at Harrodsburg,

where she finished her education. This union was

blessed with three children, one daughter, Eliza Kerr,

who died when only five years of age, and two sons,

Claude M., who was born Feb. 5, 1863, and is now a

student of Princeton College, New Jersey, and Edwin

K., Jr., who was born Dec. 14, 1864, and is now at Cen-

tral University, Richmond, Ky. Mr. Thomas owns 300

acres of land, upon which he has erected one of the most

handsome residences in the county, of modern architect-

ure, and named the place Glenwood. This is in the

same yard where once stood the house in which it is said

that the grandfather of President Lincoln lived. Mr.

Thomas bought his first short horns in 1873, and from

that time has been a successful breeder. Among the

prominent animals bred by him was Airdrie Thorndale,

6100, and Ellen Challenger the Fourth, both of his Young

Mary family. These two noted animals won the cham-

pion prizes for three years in succession at the great fairs

at Paris and Lexington, Ky., an honor that has never

been awarded to any other bull or cow in the United

States. He also bred the celebrated saddle horse " Mont-

rose," who was the recipient of like honors at the Paris

fair. His short horn herd now numbers 120 head, and

for the past five years it has won the aged herd prizes at

Paris and Lexington, and four out of five of the young

>C s r



^ sMl

552 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

herd prizes at each of the above places. Mr. and Mrs.

Thomas are both members of the Christian Church, and
he is a Democrat in politics.

JOHN W. THOMAS, farmer; P. O. North Middle-

i^own; is a native of Bourbon County, and still resides

on the old homestead, where he was born. His grand-

father, William Thomas, was a native of Virginia, and

emigrated to Kentucky in 1796, and settled in Bourbon

County. His father, John Thomas, was born in Virginia

in 17b6, and came to Kentucky when only ten years old.

John Thomas married Susan Thomas, a cousin of his, by
whom he raised eight children; his eldest son, John W.,

who is the subject of this sketch, was married in 1839 to

Eliza Jane, daughter of Harvey Kerr, of Bourbon; she

died Sept. 13, 1840, leaving one son, Edwin K., who was

then only about two weeks old. John W. was again

married in 1842 to Margaret P. Kerr, a cousin of his first

wife. The result of this union was seven children—two

sons: Douglas and William, and five daughters: Mary

E., Emma, Candace, Nannie, and Alma. They are all

married except the youngest daughter. Mr. Thomas
owns 350 acres of land, and is a successful farmer; he

bred and raised the noted trotting horse Kentucky Prince,

who showed the wonderful gait of 2.33 at a three-year

old. As there was no colt of his age that had ever beaten

that time in the State, he was tempted i)y the handsome

oflFer of $10,800 for him, a proposition he very reluctantly

accepted, Mr. Backman, of New York, being the fortu-

nate purchaser. Mr. Backman has since refused $25,000

for him. Mr. Thomas' family are all members of the

Christian Church. He is a Democrat in politics.

LUNCEFORD TALBOTT, farmer; P.O. North Mid-

dletown, son of Mason and Susan (Leach) Talbott, and was

born August 29th, 1824. His father. Mason Talbott, was
born in Loudoun County, Va., on November 13, 1790, and

was brought to Kentucky when about two years old, by
his father, with whom he settled near Stony Point, Bour-

bon County. In 1811, he was married to Susan Leach,

who was also a native of Virginia. She was born January

1, 1789, and died on the 28th of April, 1857. By this

marriage there were three sons, viz : John F., Sanford,

and Lunceford (subject), and four daughters, Lena,

Mary C, Louise and Leoma. All now living, and the

youngest fifty years of age. Mason Talbott died on the

26th of April, 1876, in his eighty-sixth year. His third

son, Lunceford, who is the subject of this sketch, was

married on the 5th of December, 1855, to Mary C, daugh-

of T. P. Young, of Bath County. She was born July 28,

1834. This union is blessed with three sons, John San-
ford, Toliver C, and Mason G. The two younger sons

are at home, assisting their father in the duties of the

farm, while the eldest son is actively engaged in the life

insurance business. Mr. Talbott owns 300 acres of land.

He and his wife are members of the Christian Church.

Politically, Democratic.

HENRY O. THOMAS, farmer; P. O. North Middel-

town; is the son of John Thomas, who is spoken of in

another part of this work. Henry O. is a native of this

county, and was born March 22, 1829, and was married

Jan. 20, 1852, to Annie F. Gaitskill; the result of

this union was eight children, all daughters: Mary H.,

who was educated at Warrendale, Patterson Institute and
Daughters' Collge; Emma S., who was educated at the

first two schools mentioned above; Willie A., Addie E.,

Lillie B., L. G. F., Maggie C, and AUie R., who received

their education at the K. C. & B. College, at North Mid-
dletown, an intistution in which Emma S. Thomas is now
music teacher; Addie E. is also engaged in teaching

near Hutchinson Station, in this county. Mr. Thomas
owns a very nice farm of 190 acres three miles south of

North Middletown, on the Thatcher's Mill Pike, wich

good comfortable improvements, variety of ornamental

trees, etc., and very appropriately named "Woodland."
He is a member of the Masonic order, and a Democrat in

politics.

i, ''y



Ai d>>.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 553

CLINTONVILLE PRECINCT.
A. B. BRECKENRIDGE, farmer; P. O. Paris; is a

scion of the old Breckenridge family, which has been

prominent in the aifairs of Kentucky ever since its ad-

mission to the Federal Union. His grandfather, Alex.

Breckenridge, came from Virginia at quite an early period

and located where "Greybeard," Samuel Clay, now lives.

His son, John Breckenridge, was six years old when the

family came to Kentucky. He married Ann, daughter

of Alex. Brooks, and reared several children, among
whom was Abijah B. Breckenridge, to whom this notice

is paid. He was born Feb. 1, 1839, and was married in

1857 to Miss Amanda Boone, daughter of James Boone,

who has borne him three children, viz.: Jas. B., born

July 34, 1864; George A., born Aug. 19, 1870; and
Abijah, born Dec. 34, 1873. Mr. Breckenridge owns
140 acres of land, upon which he raises the usual variety

of crops; he also pays considerable attention to handling

stock. Mr. Breckenridge was originally a Whig, but

upon the general "break-up" of parties on the eve of

the war, voted the BjU and Everett ticket, since which

time he has been an ardent Democrat. Himself and

wife accept the tenets of the Christian Church as the

rule of their religious practice.

JOHN BUCHANAN, farmer; P. O. Clintonville; was

born the 7th of February, 1854, the year of the remark-

able drought in Kentucky. He is a son of Noah Bu-

chanan, a native of Bourbon County, still living. His

mother was Eliza Rennick, daughter of John Rennick.

Mr. Buchanan is a young farmer, owns 103 acres of

land and raises a general variety of crops, and breeds

a corresponding variety of stock. He has resided in

Bourbon County all his life, and as yet is unmarried.

His political views are in accord with a majority of Ken-

tuckians, being a professor of the Democratic faith.

JOHN CUNNINGHAM, farmer; P. O. Paris. John

Cunningham is of Irish descent. His great-grandfather

came from the Emerald Isle and settled in Virginia some

time in the early part of the last century. He had a son

Robert, who, impressed with the advantages to be found

in a new and rapidly developing country, determined to

try his fortunes in Kentucky, toward which the tide of

emigration was rapidly flowing. Accordingly taking pas-

sage on a flat boat at Wheeling, he set out for " the dark

and bloody ground" for the mastery of which civilization

and savage fury was yet contending. The voyage was a

perlioas one. Simon Girty, with his Indian warriors

kept watch from either bank of the Ohio, and whenever

their frail craft drifted near the shore the sharp report of

a rifle was sure to break in upon the scene. This ne-

cessitated keeping in the middle of the stream. Finally,

after many adventures the boat arrived at Limestone, as

Maysville was then called. From Maysville he went to

Clark County and settled. Here in 1795 was born to him

a son, John Cunningham, who was destined to act a

prominent part in the early days of Bourbon County.

He served for many years as Magistrate, and in 1833 was

elected to the Legislature, and served until 1840—

a

period of seven years. He represented his district in the

State Senate one term, 1851-55. He was a noted turf-

man, and owned among other horses the celebrated Wood-
pecker, who will be recalled in connection with the great

race with Grey Eagle. He married Mary Bean, daugh-

ter of John Bean, of Clark County, who still lives in vig-

orous mind and health at the green old age of eighty-six

years, and sits at the head of the table (beneath the same

roof) where she began house-keeping more than sixty

years ago. She is the mother of six living children :

Robert John, James, Louis, William, George and Naomi.

John Cunningham inherited many of the qualities which

made his father distinguished. He is a man of strong

common sense, keen discrimination and unswerving

honesty. He has served on the Board of Magistrates for

twenty years, and by his vigilant care of the public

money has earned the soubriquet ofthe " Watch Dog of the

Treasury." He was born the 15 th of August, 1830, and

resides with his aged mother in the house where he was

born. He owns 140 acres of land and gives his attention

to farming and breeding short-horn cattle. His herd

which was founded in 1851, now contains about thirty-

five animals at the head of which is the Second Roan

Duke of Oneida; it contains representatives of most of

the popular families. In politics Mr. Cunningham is a

staunch Democrat of the Jackson type.,

JOHN CUNNINGHAM, deceased, whose portrait

appears in this work, may be truthfully saLd to have been

one of the representative men of Bourbon County. He

was born June 15, 1795, in Hardy County, Virginia.

His parents were Robert and Mary Robinson Cunning-

ham, both of whom were natives of the Old Dominion.

Robert was born September 15, 1775. Robert was a son of
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John Cunningham, a native of Ireland, who emigrated to

Virginia prior to the Revolution. Robert was a partici-

pant in the Whisky Rebellion of 1794, and served as

Major; his sword is yet in the hands of grand children

here in Clintonville. He came to Kentucky in 1796, em-

barking at Wheeling in a flat boat, and settled on

Strode's Creek, in Clark County. To him were born

John, Belinda, Jesse, Abner, Lucinda, Isaac, Jemima,
Maria and Mary. John and Abner settled in Bourbon
County; Jesse, Isaac and Maria settled in Clark County;

Maria became the wife of Matthew Hume; Elizabeth,

wife of John Flournoy, of Scott County; Mary, of George

Carlysle, of Woodford County; Isaac became the father

of twenty-three children; but one of the number came to

maturity, Rebecca, who married Isaac Vanmeter, of Clark

County. John Cunningham, the subject of these lines,

was married December 27, 1817, to Mary Bean, a native,

of this State. She was born Sept. 22, 1796, on Strode's

Creek, in Clark County. She is the daughter of John

Bean, and Eva, daughter of Dr. Peter Sensine, a native

of Ireland. Mr. Canniiigham removed to Bourbon

County in 1818, where he spent the greater portion

of his life. He was truly a representative man of his

time. His early advantages for acquiring an education

were very meagre, but he made the best of his advantages

and studied, and read much. Being a close and steady

thinker, a liberal patron of good books, and the public

journals, he became at length a well-informed man of the

locality. He engaged successfully in farming; was a

large land-holder at the time of his death; was very meth-

odical and exact in his, farming operations, building

fence of the most durable character, stone being

his choice, of which he has left many monuments in this

line. He did much to encourage the breeding and growth

of fine stock—horses seemed his favorite class. He gave

especial attention to them, and owned the noted horse

" Woodpecker." He served as a soldier in the war of

1812, and was a warm and ardent admirer of Henry Clay.

From 1833 to 1850 he served as Justice of the Peace;

in 1853 he began handling short horns, and continued in

this interest up to the time of his death. In 1833 he was
chosen to represent his County in the legislature, re-elec-

ted in 1839, and to the Senate in 1851, '2, '3 and '4. In

all matters that pertained to the good of the Common-
wealth, John Cunningham ever bore a prominent part;

he largely encouraged the building of railroads and pikes;

he was free-hearted and unselfish in his aims and pur-

poses, and labored for the good of his county and coun-

try generally, and at his death he was mourned as one

beloved by all; he passed away peacefully, Aug. 17,

1864. His wife yet survives him on the homestead, upon

which lives John and Naomi ; Robert and Lewis on

farms adjoining.

MRS. I. M. CUNNINGHAM, farming; P. O. Clin-

tonville; born, December, 1818, in Sandersville Precinct,

in Fayette County; daughter of James W. Henderson,

son of Thomas, who came from Pennsylvania to Kentucky

in the early part of Fayette County's history. The mother

of our subject was Betsey, daughter of James and Mar-

garet (McCollougli) Hill; both are families of Scotch-Irish

descent. Mrs. Cunningham is now the sole surviving^

member of seven children: John, James, Samuel, William,

Daniel, Sallie and Isabella M. John died when he at-

tained his manhood; William became a physician and

settled in Covington; Samuel removed to Clark County;

the others settled in Fayette County. The parents of

the above were staunch members of the Presbyterian

Church, of old "secular'' stock. January 4th, 1837, she

married Thomas L. Cunningham, who was born, 1810, in

Clark County, this State. After marriage, located in

Fayette County, where they remained until 1842, and

engaged in farming and stock raising—he died in April,

1862; was member and Elder of the Presbyterian Church.

She has six children: Mary, who is the wife of H. C.

Hutchcraft; Margaret married W. O. Shropshire; Amelia,

wife of Wm. Haley, of Fayette; boys are: Isaac, James

and Thoiftas L. Mrs. Cunningham and all her family are

members of the same church as Mr. Cunningham. Her
farm consists of 330 acres, which she still carries on with

the assistance of her sons.

LOUIS CUNNINGHAM, farmer; P. O. Paris; an-

other son of John Cunningham; was born Christmas day,

1831; he is a farmer by occupation; owns 141 acres of

land called " Sulphur Well," from a well of black sul-

phur 147 feet deep, recently bored on the place; he for-

merly made the handling of short-horn cattle a specialty,

but has now abandoned the business, and turned his

attention to breeding saddle-horses and jack stock; he

owns a fine specimen of the Kentucky saddle stallion

—

Jewell—which he prizes greatly on account of his excel-

lent finish and his direct descent from Washington Den-
mark, the progenitor of one of the best family ofsaddle-

horses in America; he also owns a fine jack, for which

he paid $800. Mr. Cunningham is unmarried; he is and
always has been a Democrat.

ROBERT CUNNINGHAM, farmer; P. O. Stony
Point; is another son of John Cunningham, a sketch of

whose family appears in the biography of the younger
John Cunningham in this work. He was born Jan. 13th,

1819. On the 31st of Aug., 1841, he was united in mar-
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riage to Miss Maria Louisa Cutrigiit, daughter of Henry
Outright, and granddaughter of Maj. Samuel Outright,

who settled Outright Station, near Olintonville, in 1779.

Their union has produced four children, viz: Henry, who
is married and resides in Shelby County, Mo.; Rebecca,

who married William 0. Stipp; Sallie, who married Ben.

Stipp; and Ray, who is unmarried and lives with his par-

ents. Mr. and Mrs. Cunningham are both members of the

Christian Church, the former having made his profession

of religion in 1840. He is also a Mason, and a member
of the Mt. Sterling Commandery of Knights Templar.

He owns 123 acres of land, and has been a successful

breeder of short-horn cattle. He was a Whig before the

war, and his views are now in accord with the Democ-

racy.

HENRY CLAY, farmer; P. O. Olintonville; traces

the genealogy of his family back to his grandparents,

Henry Clay and wife, who emigrated from Virginia to

Kentucky at an early day, spending the first year after

their arrival in Bourbon County in a fort located about

five miles above Paris, on the Stoner. Capt. James

Smith of Indian notoriety, was stationed in the fort at

the time. They were married when their united ages

did not exceed thirty years, and lived together as man
and wife for sixty-seven years. Nine daughters and

three sons were born to them ; the fathe^f our subject.

Col. Henry Clay, was one of the youngest of th^se sons.

He was born in 1779, and subsequently married Miss

Peggy Helm, the daughter of Joseph Helm, of Lincoln

County, Ky. Twelve children were born to them, six

sons and six daughters. Our subject was born June 4,

1798, and was married at the age of twenty-three years

to Miss Olivia, daughter of George M. and Henrietta

Bedinger, of Nicholas County, Ky. One child was born

to them, and in 1823 both mother and child died. In

1826 Mr. Clay Vi^as married to Miss Elizabeth, daughter

of Samuel and Elizabeth Scott of Bourbon County.

Five children were born of this union, three of whom

are living, viz: Samuel Scott Clay; Maggie H., mar-

ried a Mr. Kelly, and now resides in Philadelphia; and

Joseph H. Clay. In 1835 Mr. Clay was again a widower

by the death of his second wife. In 1837 he married

Miss Mary, daughter of George and Ellis Ohadwell, of

Jessamine County, Ky. Six children were born of this

union, three now living: George, Letitia and John W.

In 1859 his third wife died, since which time Mr. Clay

has remained unmarried. He is a fine old gentleman,

past eighty-three years of age; has spent his life in

agricultural pursuits, and bears the reputation of an

honest, upright citizen.

THOMAS HENRY CLAY, farmer ; P. O. Olinton-

ville; is a member of that branch of the Clay family which

is descended from Henry Clay, who came from Virginia

in early times, when Indians still roamed the trackless

wastes of Kentucky, and settled in Bourbon County. H s

father is " Greybeard " Samuel Clay, so called to dis-

tinguish him from several other well known gentlemen of

the same name in the County. Our subject was born

July 28th, 1840, and was married in July, 1864, to Miss

Fanny Conn Williams, daughter of Maj. George W.
Williams, who in conjunction with Hon. Garrett Davis,

represented Bourbon County in the convention which

framed the present Constitution of Kentucky. The

couple have four children, viz : Alfred, George W.,

Thomas H., Jr., and Nannie. Mr. Clay owns 3,000 acres

of land, and his place is known as " The Heights." He
possesses the confidence of his neighbors, and is noted for

his energy and thrift.

WM. H. CLARK, farmer; P. O. Olintonville; is a

son of Robert Clark, jr., a prosperous farmer of Bourbon

County, and a grandson of Robert Clark, Sr., who came

from Virginia. His mother was Sarah Ruth Ward, a

woman endowed with many excellent qualities, which

fitted her for the delicate task of rearing a son, and train-

ing his feet to pursue the path which leads to virtue

and happiness. She died in 1870. Wm. H. Clark was

born Oct. 11, 1853, in Bourbon County, where he received

his education. On the 9th of September, 1873, he was

united in marriage to Miss Lulie B. Weathers. Their

union has been blessed with five children: Hattie P.,

John F., Lutie R. (died Sept. 5, 1879), Robert J., and

Lulie B. He is a farmer in a general way, and owns 152

acres of land called " Pine Valley." In religion, himself

and wife are both members of the Baptist Church. Like

most of the young men of Kentucky, Mr. Clark is a Dem-

ocrat in politics.

R. M. HARRIS, farmer; P. O. Stony Point; was born

April 14, 1840, in North Middletown. His family is of

Virginia descent, Elictious Harris, bis grandfather, emi-

grated from that State and settled in Montgomery County.

B. F. Harris, his son, engaged in merchandising in North

Middletown for many years. Served for a number of

years as Magistrate, and is now located in Paris, in the

United States revenue service. His wife, and the mother

of our subject, was Elizabeth Herriott. R. M. Harris

was joined in marriage with Miss Eliza A. daughter of

Reuben Hutchcraft, of Bourbon County, on the 17th of

Nov., 1866. The couple are members of the Methodist

Church. Mr. Harris is a farmer, and owns 272 acres of

good land. Of late years he has paid considerable atten-
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tion to raising Short Horn cattle. He has an excellent

herd of about fifty animals, at the head of which is Sharon

Duke 3d. The herd contains representatives of some of

the best and most popular families. In politics Mr.

Harris followed in the footsteps of his father and is a

pronounced Republican.

WILLIAM L. HUTCHCRAFT, farmer; P. O. Stony

Point; is a son of Reuben Hutchcraft, and a grandson

of Thomas Hutchcraft, who emigrated from Virginia at

an early period and settled in Bourbon County; his

mother's maiden name was Fanny Hedges; he was born

in 1836, and in 1864 was married to Miss Kate Wells, a

daughter of Joshua Wells. The couple have nine chil-

dren: Reuben, Eila, Haliie, Fanny, Ida, EfEe and Nettie

(twins) and Kate Harris. Mr. Hutchcraft is a farmer,

and owns 137 acres of land, upon which he raises the

usual variety of Kentucky crops; he served in the 21st

Kentucky Federal Infantry during the late war, Colonel,

afterwards Gen. S. W. Price, being the commander; he

is a Democrat in his political affiliations.

JACOB LIVAR, farmer; P. O. Clintonville. In

1843, John W. Livar, an orphan boy, without friends or

education, came from Hardy County, Va., and began to

work for Isaac Van Meter, of Clark County. -By indus-

try and perseverance he obtained a start in life, and

with the continued exercise of those good qualifies, he

has amassed a large fortune. Mr. Livar's first wife was
a Tevaugh, and from that union sprung .Jacob Livar, who
was born February 5th, 1846. Receiving a common
English education, he began life as a farmer and stock-

trader, which he has followed with varied success ever

since. He now owns 150 acres of land within a mile of

Clintonville. He was married Dec. 2Qth, 1870, to Miss

Lizzie Guthrie, of Sumner County, Tenn. They have

five children : John G., Anna May, Kate C, Ada C, and

Nettie. Mrs. Livar is a member of the distinguished

Guthrie family, and is an accomplished lady. She be-

longs to the Presbyterian communion. Mr. Livar is a

Democrat in politics.

A. P. LARY, farmer; P. O. Clintonville; is a son of

J. C. Lary, and a grandson of Dennis Lary, who emi-

grated from the Old Dominion at an early day. J. C.

Lary married Mary A., the daughter of Gen. E. Pendle-

ton, of Clark County, who served in the war of 1813,

under Gov. Isaac Shelby. Capt. V. M. Pendleton, of

Co. D, 8th Ky. Confederate Cavalry, who was killed at

Mt. Sterling, was an uncle of our subject. A. P. Lary

was born Aug. 17th, 1856, in Bourbon County; he was
married April 37th, 1881, to Miss Jennie H. Henderson.

Mrs. Lary is a member of the Christian Church. Mr.

Lary owns 175 acres of land near Clintonville, where he

engages in farming and raising short-horn cattle; his

home is known as"Glencoe,'' where he lives in the enjoy-

ment of the confidence and esteem of his neighbors.

GEO. W. MORROW, farmer; P. O. Clintonville;

was born March 14, 1843, in Bourbon County, his parents

being .lames and Louisa (Rennick) Morrow, the daughter

of John Rennick. The Rennicks are of Virginia descent.

Mr. Morrow was married Dec. 7, 1870, to Miss Sallie

Parvin, of Bourbon County. Their union has been pro-

ductive of five children, viz.: Anza, Louisa, Lillie B. and

Mazie. He is a farmer and short-horn breeder, owning

250 acres of land called Grove Hill. Has served four

years as Director of the Bourbon County Fair Associa-

tion, and is at present one of the Magistrates of the

Clintonville Precinct. When the late Civil war broke

out, he espoused the cause of the South, enlisting in

Capt. Pendleton's Company of Col. Cluke's 8th Ky.

Cavalry, he followed the fortunes of the stars and bars

for three years. He was wounded at Horse Shoe Bend,

on the Cumberland River. Mr. Morrow has always.been

a Democrat in politics.

J. WALKER MUIR, salesman; P. O. Paris; born

Dec. 11th, 1848, in Hutchinson; son of Col. Samuel and

Lena S.(Dawson) Muir. He was reared to farming pur-

suits; while y^^fc his teens he entered a store as clerk, and
since 1364 has been employed as salesman in Lexington

and in Paris. August, 1871, he married Nannie W. Turner,

daughter of E. P. Turner and Sallie Bryant. He has no

chiI9iFen; his farm consists of 163 acres; is a member of

the Christian Church.

JAMES M. RUSSELL, farmer; P. O.Paris; was born

Dec. 29, 1847, in Bourbon County, near where he now
resides. He is a son of Robert N. Russell, who was raised

near Russell's Cave, in Fayette County. He was a farmer;

served as Sheriff of the county, and died in 1853, with

cholera. His grandfather was Thomas Russell, a native

of Virginia, who came to Kentucky quite early and set-

tled near the cave which has derived its name from him.

He mingled freely in political life, and was a prominent
man of his time. The mother of our subject was Eliza

Matson, daughter of Jas. S. Matson, of Bourbon. Mr.

Russell graduated from Yale College, in the class of

1870, and soon after went in company with Prof. Marsh,

and others, on a geological and scientific tour on the

plains. He also visited Sitka, Alaska, and returning

through Mexico, was captured by banditti, who did him
and his companions no other injury than depriving them
of their pistols and horses. He returned via. Cuba to

Kentucky, where he settled down to farming. In 1874
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he made the tour of Europe. He is a farmer, owns 612

acres of fine land, upon which he raises the usual crops,

and gives attention to the breeding and rearing of short

horn cattle. Prince Pace, 2d; a Bates bull is at the head,

which contains representatives from most of the popular

families. Mr. Russell is a member of the Christian

church, and is highly esteemed by his neighbors and

friends.

JOHN STIPP, farmer; P. O. Clintonville. The ances-

tors of Mr. Stipp, like those of many others of this sec-

tion of Kentucky, were Virginians. His grandfather was

Michael Stipp ; his father was Frederick Stipp, who

emigrated from Virginia and settled near Strode's Sta-

tion, in Clark County, at quite an early day, where he

married Mary, the daughter of William Clinkinbeard.

On April 22, 1817, their son John was born. Receiv-

ing the rudiments of a cominon education, he began life

' as a farmer, which pursuit he still follows with gratifying

sucess. He now owns 104 acres of good land, having

given to each of his children 70 acres. Mr. Stipp was

united in marriage with Miss Martha Schooler, daughter

of Benj. Schooler, of Clark, in 1834, by whom he has had

four children: Wm. C, Isaac, Benjamin, and Mary C,

now the wife of H. C. Weathers. He is a Deacon and lead-

ing member of the Clintonville Christian Church. In pol-

itics he affiliates with the Democrats.

ISAAC V. STIPP, farmer; P. O. OtLrAville; born

March 2^, 1846, in this precinct, upon the^arm he now

owns; son of John Stipp, a native .of this count/; born

April, 1817; son of Frederick, a native of Virginia, whose

father was Michael Stipp. The Stipp family are amon^
' the pioneer families that came to settle in Kentucky at

an early day, their first arrival to the State being about

the year 1789. The subject of these lines was brought up

to farming, it being the vocation of his progenitors. In

1854 he removed, with his parents, to Clark County, where

he remained until 1876, when he came to Bourbon, where

he has since remained. Feb. 4th, 1880, he married Re-

becca Ella, daughter of Robert A. Hopkins, of this county;

has one child, Lida, born Nov. 15, 1881. His farm

consists of 148 acres. His church membership is with

the Reformed Church at Clintonville.

W. C. STIPP, farmer; P. 0. Clintonville. This gen-

tleman was born in the Precinct where he resides, Feb.

'21, 1841, being the eldest son born to his parents,

viz.: John and Martha (Schroder) Stipp; to whom were

born William C, Isaac V., Benjamin F. and Mrs. Mary

Clay Weathers. Lenora died upon arriving at woman-

hood. With the exception of the years spent in Clark

County he has been a resident of this precinct. April

22, 1868, he was wedded to Rebecca, born 1848, daugh-

ter of Robert and Louisa (Curtright) Cunningham. Four

children have crowned this union: Rebecca, Sallie, Henry

and Ray. He has a small farm upon which he resides?

engaged in farming. Is a member of the Christian

Church at Clintonville.

ROBERT M. TERRELL, farmer; P. 0. Clintonville;

comes of the LInion of two good Kentucky families, in the

persons of John H. Terrell, and Ethe McGill, daughter

of Robert McGill, of Bourbon County. The senior Ter-

rell was born in Virginia, but followed the tide of emi-

gration; came to Kentucky, where, by the exercise of his

manly qualities, amassed a large fortune, and died respec-

ted by the entire community. His son, Robert M., was

born Dec. 3, 1850, and was married, in 1868, to Miss

Alice Weighert. They have three chidren: Sallie, Ed-

ward and Willie. Mrs. Terrell is a member of the Chris-

tian Church. Mr. Terrell is a farmer; owns 300 acres of

good land, upon which he raises the usual variety of

Kentucky crops, and pays some attention to stock; he is

a Turnpike Director, and a staunch Democrat.

S. LETCHER WEATHERS, farmer ; P. O. Clinton-

ville ; is a son of Granville C. and Jane (Scott) Weathers,

daughter of Thomas Scott, of Bourbon County. Gran-

ville C. Weathers, before his removal to Missouri in

1880, was a prominent citizen of Fayette County, having

been the nominee of the Republican partyfor State Sena-

tor, against his successful opponent, Maj. P. P.Johnston.

Letcher, his son, was born in Fayette, Oct. 1st, 1857.

After attending the common schools of the county, he

entered Georgetown College, and would have graduated

in five more months, had not sickness interfered and

forced him to relinquish his studies. He was married

April 4, 1881, to Miss Elizabeth Weathers. He owns

257 acres of land called " Prospect Hill," and devotes his

time and energies to farming and breeding short horns.

He hopes soon to have a fine herd. In politics, Mr.

Weathers clings to the traditions of his fathers, and is an

ardent Republican. Himself and wife, like most of the

family, are communicants of the Baptist Church.

ED. P. WEATHERS, farmer; P. O. Clintonville; one

of the most industrious and thrifty young farmers of the

Clintonville precinct, was born July 15, 1831, in Bour-

bon County. His father, J. T. Weathers, was born in

Fayette County, July 4, 1814; the mother of our sub-

ject was Bettie, the daughter of Ed. Parrish. On the 21st

of Nov., 1877, Mr. Weathers led to the altar Miss I^izzie

Parrish, daughter of John Parrish, by whom he has two

children: Anna, born January 6, 1879, and Thomas J.,

born May 25, 1880. He owns a magnificent farm of

*if a.
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410 acres; is a member of the Baptist Church, like most

of the Weathers' family; he is a director in the Thatch-

er's Mill Turnpike Co., and a Democrat in politics.

H. 0. WEATHERS, farmer; P. O. Clintonville; is a

son of Granville C. Weathers, of Fayette County, a

sketch of whom appears in the notice of S. Letcher

Weathers, a brother of the above named gentleman; he

was born Aug. 10, 1856, received most of his educa-

tion at the common schools of the community, and took

a finishing course under Dr. Hitchcock, at Lexington.

In 1877. Mr. Weathers was united in marriage with Miss

Filey Stipp, daughter of John Stipp, Esq.; their union

has produced two children: Claude, born Aug. 30, 1879,

and a girl, born July 34, 1881; his occupation is farming;

he owns seventy acres of good land; in politics and re-

ligion Mr. Weathers has followed in the parental foot-

steps, being both a Republican and a Baptist.

^ (3 :^



At '>t.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 561

HUTCHINSON PRECINCT.
LLOYD ASHURST, farmer; P. O. Paris; was born

July 13, 1840, in Bourbon County, and is the son of

William and Isabella (Petty) Ashurst; he was a farm-

er, as was his father and grandfather, the former a

native of Bourbon County, and the son of Josiah Ash-

urst, who was born in Virginia. Our subject was mar-

ried in 1863 to Miss Nannie E. Penn, daughter of Jo-

seph Penn, of Bourbon County. They are the parents

of eight children, viz: Anna Bell, Lulu, Willie, Lottie

Maude, Geo. M., Tice and Charles. Mr. Ashurst is the

owner of 175 acres of finely improved land, which he

farms in a general way, besides devoting some of his

time to fine short horn cattle. Politically, he is a Demo-
crat, never having voted any other ticket. He is an El-

der in the Christian Church of which he is a member,

and is a friend to all educational and religious enter-

prises.

O. H. BURBRIDGE, farmer; P. O. Hutchinson; was

born May 9, 1821, in Scott County, Kentucky, and is

the son of Capt. Robert Burbridge, a soldier in the

warof 1812, and grandson of Capt. George Burbridge,

a soldier in the war of the Revolution^ The Blue

Grass region of Kentucky boasts of many old and hon-

ored families, and of the list there are none, perhaps,

more worthy of mention in a history sacred to their mem-
ory, than the Burbridge family, all men of broad view§,

active minds and fine intelligence; they have figured for

many years in the public affairs of the State, and have

left upon record a career worth of emulation. The old

Revolutionary soldier removed to Kentucky during her

early history, bringing a family with him, whom he reared

to honorable man and womanhood. The father of our

subject at that time was but a young boy; he early took

an active interest in the stirring events of the times; be-

came a soldier in the war of 1812, and rose to the rank

of captain. He married Miss Eliza Ann, daughter of

Jno. A. Barnes, of Port Gibson, Mississippi. The three

sons born to them have all been active men. Gen. Ste-

phen G. Burbridge, well known to Kentiickians, Thomas

B., killed in Russellville in 1S67, by guerillas, and our

subject, who has also had an active public career. In

1862, he was Colonel of the 24th Ky. Militia, enrolled

for the defense of the State, receiving his commission

from Gov. Bramlette. In 1859-60, he represented Bour-

bon County in the State legislature, defeating Chas. C.

Lair; he was nominated and elected by the old Whig
or Union party; during 1865-6, he was supervising spe-

cial agent for the treasury department for the District

of Louisiana, Arkansas and Texas; he also held the posi«

tion of Quartermaster Agent, investigating claims in Ten-

nessee; retiring from public life, he devoted his time to

his own private business and to the establishing and col-

lecting of claims; he is largely interested in real estate;

his home in Bourbon County consists of 235 acres of

fine land, besides, which he has over 1600 acres in Texas,

eight acres in the suburban town of Englewood, Chi-

cago, and a fine property in Superior City, Wisconsin.

He has been for some time interested in the breeding of

fine cattle and sheep, and has recently become interested

in the breeding of fine trotting stock. Politically, he is

a Republican, and he and family are members of the

Christian Church. He was married January 8, 1846, to

Miss Rebecca S., daughter of James S. Matson. They
are the parents of eight children, living, viz: Eliza A.,

James M., Robert O., Henry (dead), Lucy M., Mary Lou-

isa, Hattie W., Russell C. and Stephen G.

E. G-. BEDFORD, farmer, P. O. Paris. Prominent

among the beautiful country homes in Bourbon County,

is "Woodland Villa," comprised of 675 acres of fine

Blue Grass land, and the home and pride of its owner,

Mr. E. G. Bedford, who was born August 24, 1814,

in Bourbon County, and is the son of Littleberry and

Mattie Clay Bedford, and grandson of Thomas Bed-

ford, who was born and died in Charlotte County, Vir-

ginia ; Littleberry Bedford being a native of the same

county, but came to Bourbon County when it still con-

tained a fair population of Indians. Mr. Bedford has

been twice^ married, the alliance both times being with

families equal in prominence and reputation. His first

marriage was in 1836, to Miss Margaret T. Garrard,

daughter of General James Garrard, and grand-daughter

of Governor Garrard. His second marriage was to Miss

Lucy D. Reid, on the 13th of Sept. 1870. They have

but one child living, born of their union on Dec. 10, 1873.

For many years Mr. Bedford was counted among the

most prominent and extensive breeders of fine short-

horns, but on Oct. 28, 1874, he sold at public sale most of

his herd, which brought him almost unequaled prices.

His best sale while n the business was a bull at $7,000.

For twenty-five or thirty years he was one of the Direc-

V
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tors of the Bourbon County Fair and Agricultural Asso-

ciation. He was formerly a Whig in politics, but now
claims to be an Independent Democrat. Mrs. Bedford

is a member of the Christian Church, and a lady well

worthy the position she maintains, as the wife of one of

Bourbon county's leading citizens.

JAMES BAGG, Se., farmer ; P. 0. Hutchinson ; was

born in Somersetshire, England, Nov. 17, 1799 ; son

of Thomas and Elizabeth (Harding) Bagg, who came

to America in 1820, and resided in New York until

1840, when they moved to Kentucky. James, our

subject, did not come to America until 1835, how-

ever, when he was engaged in importing stock. He
brought the first Cotswold and Southdown sheep ever

brought to Kentucky and New York. In 1836 he mar-

ried Miss Flora Wait, a native of Somersetshire, England,

and daughter of Samuel Wait. The young lady when a

child, had come over with the family of Mr. Thomas Bagg,

and she has borne her husband the following children :

Mary Emma, born in New York ; Elizabeth, died in

1874; James R.; Hester Wait, now Mrs. Penn ; Anna
F., and Samuel. Mr. Bagg has made fifteen trips across

the Atlantic in the interest of the stock business, having

been engaged largely in the importation of fine stock.

He owns 166 acres of land, and his place is called " Hidden
Home." He and wife are members of the Episcopal

Church ; he is a Democrat.

JOSEPH M. CASE, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson; traces

the genealogy of his family back to his grandfather, Joseph

Case, a native of Maryland, and who was one of the old

pioneers of Bourbon County, J. M. now living upon and

owning the farm where he settled. The old gentleman

was born July 11, 1757, and died Aug. 30, 1809 ; his wife

Delia was born Dec. 25, 1776, and died June 38, 1833.

The parents of our subject were Joseph and Nancy
(Tucker) Case, the daughter of Jonathan Case. He was

born on the farm now Owned by Mr. Case ; spent his

life in the quiet pursuits of farming, and died March 23,

1870, surviving his wife but a short time, her death oc-

curring Feb. 14, 1870. Mr. Case has been twice married.

His first wife was Miss Pamelia Conner, of Boone County,

Ky. Her death occurred Nov. 4, 1871. Three chil-

dren were born of this marriage, viz : John W., Nannie T.,

and May Eliza (deceased). His second wife was Miss May
Carpenter, to whom he was married in 1877. Mr. Case

is proud of the old farm, so long in the hands of his ances-

tors. It consists of 200 acres of fine land, well improved.

He raisf'S a general variety of crops, and pays some atten-

tion to the breeding of fine stock. He is a Democrat, and

his wife and children members of then Christian Church.

MRS. RACHEL CORBIN, P. O. Hutchinson ; was

born in September, 1806, in Bourbon County, Ky.,

daughter of Beal and Ella (Corbin) Marsh, natives

of Maryland. They were married in Baltimore, and

came to Kentucky at a very early period. Our sub-

ject was married in 1828, to Joshua Corbin, of Nicholas

County. He died in 1869, leaving six children : Abram
F., Beal, Nathan M., Joshua M., Sarah Chaney, and Martha

Dryden. Nathan is a farmer in Saline County, Mo., Beal

lives at home, and Joshua M. is County Surveyor of Fay-

ette. Mrs. Corbin owns 118 acres of excellent land,

eight miles from Paris, which she rents, but resides in

her house upon the farm. She is a member of the Pres-

byterian Church.

E. S. DUDLEY, minister; P. O. Hutchinson; was

born Jan. 28, 1811, in Fayette County, Ky.; son of

Gen. James Dudley, who was made a captain in the

war of 1812, but peace was declared before he reached

the front. He came from Virginia with his father

when nine years of age, and settled near Bryant's

Station. The father of our subject was the third born

of fourteen children, the date of which event was May
12, 1777; he died June 16, 1870; the grandfather, about

1826. The mother of our subject was a daughter of

Abraham Ferguson, of Fayette; she died May 22, 1823.

Mr. Dudley received his education in the common schools

of the county, farmed considerable, and was noted as a

mule dealer; he at present owns about three hundred

and fifty acres of land, his place being known as "Or-

chard Grove;" he is a member of the Regular Baptist

Church, as was his father and grandfather; he is a min-

ister; was licensed 25 years ago, and is at present Pastor

of Stony Point Church; he was married, first to Mary
Ann Clay, daughter of Henry Clay, and one child was

the result of the union—Mrs. Mary E. Cunningham.
His wife dying, he married Mrs. Henrietta (Clay) Scott,

sister of his first wife, by whom he had three children

—

Nancy, wife of J. B. McClintock, of Harrison; Rebecca;

J. Ambrose, married and living in the neighborhood.

The second wife dying, he married Hattie Bassett, of

Nicholas County, Ky. He is a Republican.

J. AMBROSE DUDLEY, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson
;

was born Nov. 18, 1847, in Bourbon County ; is a son of

Elder E. S. and Henrietta (Clay) Dudley. He was mar-

ried in 1865 to Miss Lizzie Kenney, daughter of W. B.

Kenney, of Paris, and has two children : E. S., Jr., and
Willie Kenney—E. S. being born March 5, 1876, and
W. K., Oct. 12, 1878. Mr. Dudley owns 100 acres of

excellent land nine miles from Paris, which he farms

successfully, and is a Republican in politics.

9 V
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MRS. AMANDA R. HUTCHINSON, P. 0. Hutchin-

son ; -was born in Bourbon County, Ky., May 4,

1818; daughter of .lacob S. Hitt and Matilda Ja-

cobs, a native of Maryland. The grandfather of Mrs.

Hutchinson was Jesse Hitt, who came from Virginia

when her father was but eighteen years of age. She was

married in 1835 to Martin Hutchinson, after whose family

Hutchinson Station was named, and had twelve children,

four of whom are living: Matilda E., (Mrs. Ashurst);

Mary W. (Mrs. Morrow) ; Joseph B. ; Hattie K. (Mrs.

Harris). Mrs. Hutchinson is the owner of 115 acres of

good land, which she rents, and is a member of the M.

E. Church. Her husb£fnd, Martin Hutchinson, died May
11,1869.

JAMES H. INGELS, farmer and stock raiser; P.

O. Hutchinson; was born July 8, 1835, in Bourbon

County, Ky., in the house where he now lives; son

of James and Polly (Field) Ingels; she, a daughter of

John Field, who came from Culpepper County, Va. The

grandfather of our subject, James Ingels, came from

Pennsylvania 'in 1788, settled and built a stone house

near where James H. now resides; his mother died in

1854, and his father in 1857. Mr. Ingels owns 345 acres

of good land, which he farms, in addition to raising fine

stock; he handles short-horns and has a fine young herd:

2nd Bourbon Prince (34637); 4th Ardrie (647); Rose

of Sharons; Princes; Daisies; Carolines (Golden Drops);

lanthes; Boston Belles; Floras; Isabellas; Marys; Fielis

—42 in his herd. Mr. Ingels is a Democrat.

JAS. .S. JACOBY, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson ; was

born Aug. 35, 1815, in the house where he now re-

sides, and is the son of Jacob and Mary (Stark) Jacoby.

The grandfather of our subject, Francis Jacoby, was

born in Germany, and started for America in 1764, and

upon the same vessel was a maiden named Frederina

Lotspirg, also of German birth. The young emigrants

falling in love, were married in England, where their

vessel touched, and they then proceeded on their journey

to the colonies, settling in Virginia, remaining there till

1785, when they moved to Kentucky, with their family,

including a son, Jacob, the father of our subject, who

was born in 1779. They lived for awhile in a cabin in

the then wilderness of Kentucky, and in 1791 built the

house in which James S. now lives. The grandfather

left a family of twelve children, Jacob being the young-

est save two, and only eight years old at the time of his

father's death, which occurred in 1789. Jacob died Jan.

28, 1843, his wife having passed away March 24, 1829.

Mr. Jacoby, ourjsubject, has resided where he now does,

with the exception of short periods at Georgetown and

Maysville, his entire life. He was married Jan. 7, 1836,

to Miss Mary Headington, of Lexington, who died

without leaving issue, when he married Oct. 11, 1849,

Miss Agnes M. Kenney, by whom he has had the fol-

lowing children : W. B., born Aug. 37, 1850, died July

11, 1876 ; Jacob W., born March 16, 1853 ; James L.,

born Nov. 11, 1854 ; John, born Jan. 15, 1857 ; Ann
Mary, born Feb. 6, 1859 ; M. R., born Feb. 38, 1861.

Mr. Jacoby owns 358 acres of land five and one-half

miles from Paris, and has served for many years as

a Justice of the Peace ; also, as School Trustee for about

twelve years. Is a member of the M. E. Church South,

of Lexington, and has served as Stewart of the same for

many years.

JACOB JACOBY, farmer; P. O. Hutchinson; was

born Oct. 20, 1817, in Bourbon County, Ky., which

has since been his home. His life is an example of

the steady, sober industry to be found in many in-

stances in the Blue Grass country, which is now being

occupied by the second and third generation of descend-

ants of the old pioneers. Six miles from Paris, on the

Paris and Georgetown Pike, he has a nice farm of 157

acres, where his life has been spent; he has taken an ac-

tive interest in church affairs, and has been a liberal giver

in promoting the cause of religion, having been since

1833 a member of the M. E. Church, and an oificer in the

same since 1864; he is also Superintendent of the Sab-

bath School supported by his Church. For eight years

he also held the office of Magistrate. In June, 1844, he

was married to Miss Elizabeth S. Kerr, who bore him

four children before her death, viz: Amanda, born Feb.

35, 1845; Nannie, born June 3, 1847; Mary, Sept. 36,

1849, and James, born March 8, 1853 His second mar-

riage was to Miss Charity E. Haynes, of Fayette County,

on March 3, 1857. The children born of this marriage

are, .lacob S., born Dec. 15, 1857; Jennie, born May 9,

1859; George, born Jan. 14, 1861; Samuel, born Jan. 13,

1863; Lyle, born Aug. 7, 1864; CJiarles, Dec. 13, 1866;

Benjamin, born June 30, 1869, and Joseph, born Feb.

33, 1876.

B. F. JONES, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson ; was born

June 34, 1834, in Bourbon Coanty, Ky.; son of W.
S. and Nancy (Ashurst) Jones ; she is a daughter of

Josiah Ashurst, of Bourbon County. The grandfather

of our subject came from Virginia and settled at

Jones' Cross Roads, near Clintonville. Mr. Jones was

married in 1850 to Miss Amanda Roberts, daughter of

Joseph Roberts, of Bourbon County, which union has re-

sulted in the following children : Belle, Luty, Lillie,

John, Ida, Rosa, Joe, and Frank. He is the owner of
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1:29 acres of excellent farming land, and has resided in

the county bis entire life. He and his wife are members

of the Christian Church. He was a Whig before the war,

and has been a Democrat since.

J. SMITH KENNEY, farmer; P. O. Paris; traces the

genealogy of his family back to his great grandfather,

Robert Kenney, who was a native of Ireland, and em-

igrated to the United States and settled first in Penn-

sylvania, but subsequently removed to Virginia, where

his descendants remained until Matthew Kenney, grand-

father of J. S., in 1796, removed with his family to

Fayette County, Ky. Wm. M. Kenney, then about two

years old, was of that family. He was born in 1794 in

Augusta County, Virginia, and died in Fa,yette Countj' in

1852. He was a leading member of the community and a

prosperous and respected citizen. His wife, the mother of

J. S., was Miss Anna Caldwell Smith, daughter of John

Smith, of Rockingham, and who was a Captain in the Rev-

olutionary war; she died Jan. 38, 1869. J. Smith Kenney
was born in Boutbon County, April 5, 1835, His earlier

years were spent in acquiring an education and in assist-

ing his father. His first marriage was to Miss Priscilla

Wilmott, daughter of Jno. F. Wilmott. Three children

were born to them. Mrs. Kenney died on Feb. 13, 1872.

On Dec. 18, 1878, he married Miss Kate Wilmott, sister

of his fii'st wife. Three children also have been born of

this union. Mr. Kenney ranks among the better class of

farmers of Bourbon County, where his life has been spent,

excepting from 1848 till 1853, when he lived in Scott

County. For many years he was a breeder of fine short

horns, but in 1881 sold his herd. His farm consists of

390 acres of fine land, known as " Stock Place." Both

Mr. and Mrs. Kenney are members of the Methodist

church, and for many years he has held the oiBce of

Magistrate. He is a Democrat in politics, and well

known as an honorable, enterprising and respectable

member of the community,

M. A. KENNEY, farmer ; P. 0. Paris ; was born

March 31, 1836, in Bourbon County, Ky., and is one of

the substantial, well respected farmers of the county.

He was educated in his native county, and brought up a

farmer. He now owns a fine farm of 375 acres, known

as "Locust Grove." He is not a specialist, but grows a

general variety of crops. Politically he is a Democrat,

but has never sought political preferment, choosing

rather to devote his time and attention to improving and

beautifying his home, of which he has every reason to be

proud. July 3, 1867, he was married to Miss Jennie

Brooks, daughter of Dr. John Brooks. They are the pa-

rents of four children. In church and school affairs Mr.

Kenney is a liberal supporter, he and his family being

members of the Presbyterian Church.

MISS MARY KLEISER ; P. O. Hutchinson ; is the

daughter of Joseph Kleiser, who was born in Switz-

erland, and came to America after serving an appren-

ticeship at clock making, settling in Virginia, where

he married Elizabeth Lyter. They came from Virginia

to Kentucky and settled at an early day, and Miss Klei-

ser resides in the house where she was born. She owns

about 100 acres of fine land, calling her place " Elm
Spring." She had managed her farm herself for some

years, but at present rents it. She is a member of the

Presbyterian Church.

JAMES MoLEOD, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson ; was

born Oct. 20, 1819, near where he now lives, in Bour-

bon County ; son of George and Catharine (Miller)

MoLeod. The great-grandfather of our subject came

from the Highlands of Scotland to America during the

Revolutionary War, and settled in Falmouth County, Va.,

opposite Fredericksburg, where the father of James was

born Jan. 13, 1793, and who came to Lexington, Ky.,

when he was eight years of age. He afterward settled

in Bourbon County, and died Aug. 31, 1870. Mr.

McLeod owns 400 acres of land, which he has under the

best state of cultivation, at the same time handling

stock. He was married in 1859 to Miss Mary G. Penn,

daughter of Joseph Penn, of Bourbon County, by whom
he has six children : Delilah, Katie, Emma, John,

George, and James, all unmarried and living at home.

Mr. McLeod is a School Trustee.

THOS. J. NICHOLS, farmer ; P. O. Paris ; was born

Dec. 25, 1837, in Fayette County, Ky., and is the son of

Abram and Mary (Christian) Nichols, the former a na-

tive of Fayette County, and by trade a blacksmith, resid-

ed in that county till his death. The latter was born in

Prince Edward County, Virginia, and died in Dec, 1880.

T. J. was educated in Fayette County, and embarked

in business for himself as a farmer. He was Deputy
SheriflF under C. S. Bodley, and appointed to fill the

vacancy upon the resignation of that gentleman. In

1864, he was a candidate for the office of SheriS" of Fay-

ette County, and was defeated by but twenty-two votes, by

W. W. Dowden. He removed from Fayette to Jessamine

County, Ky., where he was subsequently married

to Miss Juliette, daughter of John Hughes, of that county.

They are the parents of five children, viz : Thomas B.,

John H., Kenney, Susie and William. In 1871, Mr.

Nichols removed to Bourbon County, where he owns a

fine farm of 300 acres of blue grass land. He is known
throughout Bourbon County as a breeder of fine short
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horn cattle and thoroughbred horses. He is a friend to

educational and religious interests, and is at present

Trustee of the school of his district. Mrs. Nichols is a

consistent member of the Christian church. He is a

Democrat, and was with Gen. W. R. Terrell when he

was killed at Perryville. He began life a poor boy, de-

pendent upon his own resources. By industry and good

financiering he has acquired an honorable position

among the leading citizen of Bourbon County.

JOHN J. PIPER, farmer ; P. O. Hutchinson. The

Piper family were identified with the early history of

Nicholas County, being among the early families that

located there during the early part of the present century.

The subject of these lines was born in Nicholas County,

Feb, 17, 1834 ; son of Samuel C. Piper and Eliza Smith.

Samuel was born on the Hinkston, near Millersburg
;

son of Samuel Piper. Eliza Smith was born in this

county; daughter of Alexander Smith. John J. was raised

a farmer, which vocation he has followed since he came

to manhood's years. In 1863 he came to this county,

locating in Hutchinson Precinct, where he purchased a

farm, and has since resided thereon. In 1863 he married

Frances, daughter of Armstrong Dawson ; by her has two

children : William H., and Margaret. His father and

mother were members of the Presbyterian Church.

WEBB ROSS, farmer; P. O. Hutchinson; was born

in Harrison County, Va., March 28, 1807; son of John

Ross, who was born and raised in Pennsylvania, and

served in the Revolutionary war for a short time. The

land owned by him was deeded to him in 1790. The

mother of our subject was Ziporah (Webb) Ross, who

married John in Robertson's Fort, in Virginia, in 1785.

She was a daughter of Jonas Webb. Mr. Webb Ross

married in 1836, Miss Shropshire, daughter of Col. E. N.

Shropshire, of Bourbon County, and they have four chil-

dren: Gabriella, Augusta Georgia, John Hancock, and

Robert Wickliffe. He owns 380 acres of land and his

family belong to the Christian Church; was a Whig be-

fore the war; a Democrat since.

WILLIAM L. SPEARS, farmer ; P. O. Muir, K. C. R.;

among the brave and adventurous spirits who, defying

the privations of the wilderness and the savage ven-

geance of the red men, left their homes and followed in

the wake of Boone and Kenton, to lay low the wilder-

ness and make smooth the road for the advancing tide of

civilization into Kentucky, was John L. Spears, of Vir-

ginia. Arriving at the infant settlements, he offered his

services as a surveyor and school teacher, and they were

eagerly accepted, for few men with such attainments had

as yet visited the dark and bloody ground. He entered

land in the southern part of Fayette County, where he

settled, reared a family, and after attaining the green

old age of ninety-four years, peacefully died. His son,

Lee W. Spears, born in 1804, took possession of the old

homestead, married Miss Frances W. Tapp, and raised a

family of children, consisting of Charles L., George W.,

Luther, Riley F., Sarah (Land), Mildred (Davis), Randa

(Bronaugh), John L., William L., and Chris. The latter

was a private in Co. B, 8th Ky. Cavalry, C. S. A., and

died a prisoner in Camp Douglas. William L. Spears

was born May 22, 1855 ; received a common school edu-

cation, and at the age of nineteen began life for himself.

He removed to Bourbon County in 1878, where he is re-

garded as one of the most industrious and thrifty young

farmers in the county. He was married Oct. 5, 1876,

to Miss Lyda J. Phelps, daughter of William C. Phelps,

of Jessamine County. They have two children, Claude

Wilmore, born Oct. 2, 1877, and Randio Lou, born

March 22, 1881. Mr. Spears and wife are both members

of the Christian Church. In politics his afiiliations are

with the Democracy.

DANIEL STUART, farmer and stockraiser; P. O.

Muir's Station; was born May 6, 1845, in Fleming County,

Ky.; son of James and Sallie (Ficklin) Stuart ; she is a

daughter of Daniel and Delilah (Leonard) Ficklin, who

came from Virginia at an early day. The paternal grand-

father of our subject was William Stuart, who was of

Scotch descent, and came to Kentucky in 1800, settling

in Fleming County. The father of Daniel, who died in

1851, had ten children, our subject being the youngest.

April 15, 1868, Mr. Stuart married Miss Nannie G. Hutch-

craft, daughter of Reuben Hutchcrait, of Bourbon Coun-

ty, and the youngest of ten children born to that gentle-

man. They have five children: Mary Lou, born July

17, 1870; Sallie, born June 15, 1872; Ella, born May 8,

1874; Benjamin, born June 24, 1878; Fanny, born Aug.

14, 1881. Mr. Stuart owns 385 acres of land, and in ad-

dition to running his farm, handles short horn cattle,

having a herd 'of 40, having at the head 10th Boston

Duke, and 4th Ardrie. He and wife are members of the

Christian Church, and Mr. Stuart is a Turnpike Director

and a Republican.

DR. WILLIAM STEELE, retired physician; P. O.,

Hutchinson ; was born Oct. 5, 1808, in Bourbon County,

near Steele's Ford ; son of John and Jane (Cunningham)

Steele ; she being a daughter of Capt. Cunningham. The

father of this subject was born in Rockbridge County,

Va., in 1772, and was a minister in the Reformed Church;

he died in 1832. The grandfather of Dr. Steele was a

native of Ireland, and came to Kentucky iu 1778, dying

•^ i
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in 1828. Dr. Steele was married Nov. 17, 1846, to Miss

Julia F. "Wood, daughter of Nimrod Wood, of Nicholas

County, Ky., by which union there have been born six

children: Anna J. (Mrs. Marsh); Ida (Mrs. Piper); Ella

(Mrs. Norvill) ; John, Julia F., and Maggie W. The doctor

practiced his profession in his early years in Springfield,

Ohio, but retired from active practice 30 years ago. He
owns 172 acres of land, his place being known as "Warb-
lers's Glen," and himself, wife and family, with one ex-

ception, are Presbyterians.

JOHN P. TALBOTT, physician ; P. O. Hutchinson;

the grandfather of our subject, Aquila Talbott, came to

Kentucky at an early day, and located in Paris, where

he carried on carpentering and building, during which

time he built the court house there, the cupola of which

was a piece of architecture greatly admired, even by
foreigners. His son, August Talbott, was born in Paris,

and has been a farmer all his life. He at present resides

in Franklin County. The mother of Dr. Talbott, and wife

of August, was Fanny Pryor, daughter of Dr. John Pry-

or, of this county. Our subject was born June 8, 1836,

in Bourbon County, where he received his early educa-

tion; he attended Transylvania University, where he took

a course in medicine, graduating from that institution

in 1868. He spent a year additional at Jefferson Medi-

cal College, Philadelphia, after which he began practice

at Blue Licks, Nicholas County, where he remained un-

til the war, when he entered the Confederate service as

Surgeon of the First Kentucky Mounted Riflemen, and

remained four years; returning at the close of the war
he located at Hutchinson, where he has a fine practice,

and is highly respected.

THOS. H. WILSON, farmer; P. O. Paris; is descend-

ed from an old and honored English family, and traces

his genealogy back to his grandfather, Isaac Wilson, a

native of England. The courtesy and chivalry of a

Southerner and the honest pride of an Englishman are

still to be traced in his descendants. Thos. H., the subject

of this sketch, was born in Fayette County, Ky., Au<r,

13, 1823, and is the son of Samuel and Rebecca (Layton)

Wilson, daughter of Thos. Layton. The earlier years of

his life were spent in acquiring an education and in as-

sisting his father. Being possessed of a high sense of

honor, and natural financierifig ability, he rapidly acquir-

ed a financial standing in the community. He now owns
580 acres of fine blue grass land, on which he has resided

for many years. He has given much attention to the

growing of hemp, in which all his theories put in prac-

tice have proved a success. He has handled and bred

some fine short horns, though not classed among the ex-

''
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tensive breeders. He was formerly a member of the old

Whig party, but since the war he has been a Democrat.

He was married in 1849 to Miss Margaret, daughter of

Geo. McLeod, of Bourboji County; they have four child-

ren—Fyette, now wife of Dr. Wm. Warren, of Versailles,

Delia, Anna and Kate. He is almost sixty years old. Mr.

Wilson is still a man of vigorous mind and clear judgment.

L FRANK WILLMOTT, farmer ; P. O. Hutchin-

son; was born Sept. 20, 1834, in Bourbon County, Ky.;

son of Fletcher and Harriett (Skillman) Willmott, daugh-

ter of Isaac Skillman, of Bourbon County, but form-

erly of Virginia. The grandfather of our subject was

Robert Willmott, who was Colonel of Artillery dur-

ing the Revolutionary war, having been born Dec. 25,

1757, in Maryland, and coming to Kentucky in 1792, set-

tling in Bourbon, which county he represented in the

General Assembly of the State seven years, and being

one of the framers of the second constitution of Ken-
tucky; dying Aug. 5, 1839. The father of Mr. Will-

mott was born Jan. 13, 1806, and died Aug. 11, 1855.

Mr. I. Frank Willmott was married in September, 1855,

to Miss Nancy J. Tanner, daughter of William Tanner,

of Bourbon County, she dying in 1870, leaving two

children: J. Smith, born April 29, 1858, and William T.,

born March 19, 1861. Jan. 25, 1872, he married Miss

Eliza A. Boone, daughter of Noah Boone, by whom he

has had four children: Kate E., born June 7, 1873; Noah
Boone, born May 28, 1875; Ashby Carlisle, born April

16, 1877; Laura E., Aug. 31, 1879. He owns a farm of

200 acres of good land, is a member of the Christian

Church, as well as his wife, and an Odd Fellow and a

Democrat.

CARLTON WILLETT ; P. O. Hutchinson ; was born

Jan. 20, 1801, in Maryland; son of Edward and Ellen

(Fisher) Willett ; she a daughter of Martin Fisher,

of Virginia, and grand-daughter of one of the Shackel-

fords, of the Old Dominion. The parents of our subject

came to Kentucky, by way of the Ohio river on a flat,

and settled first at Maysville, then bought a place near

Millersburg in Bourbou County, where the father died

in 1842, and the mother in 1848. Mr. Willett was mar-

ried in 1829 to Miss Nancy Coons, daughter of James
Coons, of Bourbon County, which union has been blessed

with thirteen children, three of whom are dead ; those

living are—Mary (Mrs. Larvell), Aquila, John, Ni-

nian. Electa V. (Mrs. Craig), W. H. Harrison, A. Ham-
ilton, Horatio Fisher, Scott, Josephine (Mrs. Bagg). Mr.
Willett owns 185 acres of land ten miles from Paris

which he rents. He and wife are members of the

Cliristian Church ; he is a Democrat.
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CENTERVILLE PRECINCT.

JAMES N. ALLEN, farmer ; P. O. Centerville; was

born Aug. 9, 1823, in Bourbon County, Ky., and is the

son of Adoniram Allen and Polly (Call) Allen, daughter

of Jacob Cail, who came from Virginia; Adoniram Allen

was a native of Georgia, and came to Kentucky with

his father, his mother being dead, and located at Visalia,

on the K. C. R. R., where he owned and operated a mill;

he subsequently removed to Bourbon County and engag-

ed in farming. Mr. Allen was reared to agricultural pur-

suits, and now owns a farm of 154 acres, and has also

given some attention to the stock business; politically he

is a Democrat, and for fifty years has been a member of

the Baptist Church. June 17, 1858, he was married to

Miss May Tyler, daughter of Wm. Tyler, of Harrison

County; she died Oct. 17, 1880; there are four children,

the issue of this marriage, living, and two dead: Wm. A.,

Welburn B. (dead), Albert L., Carrie L., Hugh W.
(dead), and Cora G.

J. T. BARLOW, farmer; P. O. Centerville; was born

Jan. 31, 1834, in Boone County, Mo., but has lived in

Kentucky since 1846, and is the son of Martin B. and

B''anny A. (Cantrill) Barlow. Martin was born in Scott

County, Ky., from where he moved to Missouri, but died

in Illinois in 1875; his wife was born on the farm where

J. T., her son, now lives, and died in 1846; she was a

daughter of Joseph Cantrill, Sr. The grandfather of our

subject came to Kentucky about 1780, and located in

Scott County, entering land and developing the same.

Mr. Barlow was married in 1855 to Miss Annie R. Lydick,

daughter of Jacob Lydick, of Fayette County, and has

five children: Lelia, married to J. B. Ammerman, of

Texas; MoUie, married to J. T. Hill, of Bourbon County,

now of Texas; Bettie, married to John Stamps, of Bour-

bon County, now of Texas; Elia and Frankie. Our sub-

ject resided in Missouri from 1855 to 1863, since which

time he has lived in Kentucky, for a short time in B'ay-

ette, afterward in Bourbon ; he owns 95 acres of good

land, farms in a general way and raises stock; has served

as Justice of the Peace seven years in the Centerville

Precinct, and is a Democrat. Mrs. Barlow is a member

of the Old Union Christian Church, of Fayette County.

MARY J. BATTERTON, farming ; P. 0. Paris
;

is a

representative of one of the old families of Bourbon

County. She was born March 1, 1833, and is the

daughter of Alfred and Elizabeth (Chowning) George,

and the granddaughter of Gabriel George. In 1849 she

was married to Benjamin A. Batterton, who died in 1863.

Three children were born to them : Elizabeth, now wife

of T. J. Shepherd, formerly of Georgetown, Ky., but now
a resident of Chattanooga, Tenn. ; B. Alfred and Mary S.,

both unmarried, and residing with their mother. The

daughters are members of the Christian Church, and the

sons' political views are Democratic. Mrs. Batterton has

resided on her present farm since 1849, which consists of

140 acres of fine land, which by her judicious manage-

ment and the aid of her son, has been and is a comfort-

able, pleasant and well kept home, as well as a valuable

piece of property.

F. P. CLAY, farmer. The Clay family form so import-

ant a part of the history of Bourbon County, and the

name is found interwoven in the history of so many im-

portant events chronicled in this book, that the following

brief biography is confined to the subject only. He was

born Oct. 36, 1819, in Bourbon, and is the son of Henry

and Margaret (Helm) Clay. He was educated in his

native county, and reared a farmer. In October of 1843

he married Miss Susan R. Wornall, daughter of Thomas

Wornall, of Clark County, Ky. They have a family of

four children : William H., Frances P., now Mrs. N.

Buckner, Olive and Perry. Mr. Clay has a fine farm of

639 acres, known as "Castle Comfort," and doas a general

farm business. He and Mrs. Clay are members of the

Baptist Church. Previous to the war he was a member

of the Whig party, but since that event he has been a

Democrat. Hi is a fine representative of so notable a

family, and after having spent over three-score years in

his native county, his name and reputation stands above

reproach.

JOHN N. CRENSHAW, farmer; P. O. Leesburg;

was born July 13, 1834, in Scott County, Ky.; his father,

Joel Crenshaw, was a native of Virginia, and came to

Kentucky durin:^ the early settlemint of Ssott County,

where he located; he engaged in farming, in which he re-

mained intefested until his death, which occurred in 1838.

In 1846 John N. was married to Miss Fanny Crenshaw,

diughter of John Crenshaw, of Harrison C)unty, Ky., of

which he became a resident, and resided there until

1864, when he removed to his present fine farm of 380

acres. Politically, Mr. Crenshaw is a Democrat; he is an

active and respected member of the community in which
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he lives, and has taken a deep interest in religious affairs,

he and bis family being members of the Christian Church.

Their family consists of five children: Joel H., at home;

Mary A., wife of James H. Shropshire, of Harrison

County Ky.; John W., married Miss Fannie K.Thomas,

and now resides in Scott County; Bettie and Lulie, both

at home. Mr. Crenshaw is a deacon in the Leesburg

Church, of which he is a member.

MRS. A. CLAY; P. O. Paris; was born June 14, 1810,

in Bourbon County, daughter of Samuel D. and Eliza-

beth (Cunningham) Scott; he coming at an early day from

Dinwiddle County, Va., and dying in 1813, leaving ten

children, his wife having died sometime previously. Our
subject was married in January, 1832, to Joseph Helm
Clay, by whom she had nine children, only one of whom
is now living, Isaac C. Clay, who was married June 1,

1870, to Miss Lizzie A. Forman, daughter of Thomas M.

Forman, and who has borne him three children; Mary W.,
Sadie M., and Joseph. Mrs. Clay and her son own 307

acres of land, their place being called " Rosedale." Mrs.

Clay is a member of the Baptist Church; Isaac a mem-
ber of the Christian Church and a Democrat; he resided

for two years in Texas.

HUBBELL 0. CHINN, farmer; P. O. Leesburg; was
born Aug. 16, 1843, in Missouri, his parents, Christopher

C. and Nancy (Shropshire) Chinn, having removed to

that State from Kentucky in 1831, but afterward return-

ed to Bourbon County. The father died in 1872, but the

mother is still living; the grandfather of our subject, Jo-

seph Chinn, came from Virginia at an early day, and was

one of those brave and hardy pioneers who helped turn

the then wilderness of Kentucky into the blooming land

it now is. Our subject married, July 9, 1863, Mrs. Lucy
Kendall, and they have one child, Harry Hawkins, born

March 29, 1868; Mr. Chinn owns 170 acres of excellent

land, and handles short-horns in a moderate way; him-

self and wife are members of the Christian Church, and

he is a Democrat.

W. A. FORMAN, farmer; P. O. Leesburg; traces

the genealogy of his family back to his grandfather,

William Forman, who was a Methodist minister, and

settled in an early day in the history of Bourbon County
near North Middletown, where he entered a tract of

government land, which he improved and developed, and

where he resided until his death, which occurred in 1814.

His son, James Forman, and father of our subject, mar-

ried Miss Elizabeth Allen, daughter of David Allen, who
came to Bourbon County from Virginia, of which State

.Tames Forman was a native, and was brought to Ken-

tucky by his parents during his childhood. Wm. A.

was one of a family of seven children, and was born Oct.

17, 1814; he was reared on his father's farm, and has dur-

ing his life been interested and engaged in agricultural

pursuits and at stock raising. Deo. 12, 1839, he was

married to Miss Sarah, daughter of George Chinn, of

Harrison County, Ky. Politically, Mr. Forman's views

are Democratic, and in religious belief he and family,

with one exception, are members of the Christian Church;

he owns a fine farm of 280 acres, located about ten miles

from Paris; seven children have been born to them:

Nancy and George, deceased; James, at home; Sarah,

now Mrs. Nichols—Miriam, now wife of George Clark;

and William, married Miss Lizzie Sudduth, and resides

near the old home.

J. W. FRITTS, M. D. ; P. O. Centerville ; was born

July 6, 1841, in Carlisle, Ky., son of Dr. W. W. and Sarah

(Hamilton) Fritts; he, the father, having been born and

raised in Clark County, Ky., whilst the grandfather of

our subject, Henry Fritts, was a native of, and came from

Pennsylvania to Kentucky in 1801, dying in 1879. Dr.

W. W. Fritts is and has been for the past forty years a

practicing physician in Carlisle. Our subject was

married in 1867 to Miss Alice Stapleton, daughter of

George W. Stapleton, of Clark County, and has seven

children : Frank, Maud, Lizzie, Laura, Willie, May,

and Walter. Dr. Fritts received his literary education

in Georgetown, where he graduated in 1860, afterward

in 1873, receiving his medical education in Louisville,

where he was graduated, and received his diploma, set-

tling down to practice in Winchester, where he remained

till two years ago, when he came to Centreville, and
opened practice, carrying on the grocery business. Dr.

Fritts and wife are members of the Christian Church.

He served in the Hospitals of the Federal army during

the war. He is a Democrat.

REV. JOHN ALLEN GANO, Sr., minister and farm-

er; P. O. Centerville; whose portrait appears in this work;

was born in Georgetown, Scott Co., Ky., July 14, 1805; his

father, Richard M. Gano, was then a merchant in that

place ; his grandfather, John Gano, was a Baptist Minis-
>

ter who served under Gen. Washington as Chaplain in

the Revolution; he was lineally descended from a French

Huguenot of some prominence, who escaped to the Isle

of Guernsey, and sailed to America at the time of the

massacre of St. Bartholomew. The mother of John A.

was formerly Elizabeth Ewing, from Bedford County,

Va., where her parents resided and died; he was the fifth

child and first son of his parents, who only raised anoth-

er son. Dr. Stephen F. Gano, still living near George-

town; he received a tolerable liberal English and clas-
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sical education and studied and commenced the practice

of law; becoming a convert to the Christian faith, he re-

solved with the help and blessing of GoJ to preach the

Gospel of Clirist. The 2nd of Oct., 1827, he married Miss

Catharine Conn, the only child and daughter of Capt.

Wm. Conn, of Bourbon County, Ky., who resided near

the village of Centerville, and gave them the farm near

his own, where his father, Thos. Conn, settled in about

1787, where he lived, and died in 1811; he came from

Culpepper County, Va., and owned a landed estate

around him here of two thousand acres of land. His son,

John M. Conn, came to Kentucky before the family, and

with servants to assist him, prepared the ground and

raised a crop, before the removal of his father's family;

this was a very hazardous undertaking as the Indians

were about, one had to watch with his trusty rifle, while

the others plowed. He removed to the old homestead in

1828 late in the year. Capt. John M. Conn then was liv-

ing on Townsend Creek on a fine farm, a portion of his

father's original survey, where he had long lived and

raised a large and interesting family. The father-in-law

of John A. had a good farm, a part of the same survey

extending up to the village; he had recently purchased

the farm of his brother James, who inherited the old

homestead, and removed to and is now living in Nicholas

County. Col. Thompson Ware, who married Sally Conn,

lived on a good farm immediately south of Capt. Wm.
Conn and on the Lexington road; Mr. David Stonnoy,

who married Miss Cassandra Conn, owned lands imme-

diately west of Col. Ware, all portions of the same sur-

vey, on the headwaters of Townsend. Old Mr. John

Hall lived at the time on a small farm adjoining, and

northwest of them, a part of the Conn survey. The first

child born to them, a son, Wm. Conn Gano, born at his

grandfather's, Sept. 33, 1828; the second, Richard M.

Gano, was born at Springdale, June 18, 1830; Fanny

Conn, March 24, 1832; Robert Ewing, June 1, 1834;

Stephen F., April 25, 1836; Franklin M., Dec. 11, 1839,

Eliza G., Oct. 19, 1811; John Allen, Jr., July 21, 1845;

and Mary Eliza, June 10, 1848; all of whom were born

at Springdale; Rob t., Stephen and Eliza died in early in-

fancy; Mrs. Fanny Conn Spears died at Springdale, Feb.

4, 1850 ; Wm. Conn Gano died at Rural Glen^ July,

1863; Capt. Wm. Conn died at Bellevue, Aug. 7, 1872,

the day he was 88 years old; Mrs. Mary Eliza Buckner died

at Bellevue, Aug. 4, 1877, leaving four children; and

Franklin M. died near Taylor, in Texas, February, 1881,

and left three children; his son. Gen. R. M. Gano, is now

living at Dallas City, Texas, and his youngest son, John.

Allen, jr., is residing near Taylor, Williamson County,

Texas. The father of our subject died in October, 1815,

and his mother died in April, 1813, leaving six children.

WILL A. GAINES, farmer; P. O. Centerville; is a

representative of one of the old and prominent families

of the Blue Grass region; he was born August 9, 1840, in

Fayette County, and is the son of O. W. Gaines and

Amelia (Smith) Gaines, daughter of John Smith, of Clark

County. O. W. Gaines was born in Fayette County,

Jan. 38, 1816, and died Jan. 1, 1847; his wife subse-

quently married W. O. Thompson, of Georgetown. The
grandfather of Will A., F. S. Gaines, was born in Shen-

andoah County, Va., May 31, 1781, and removed to Ken-

tucky in 1802, settling in Fayette County. Will A. owns

a fine farm of 180 acres, and is quite an extensive breeder

of short horns, Poland-China hogs and Southdown sheep;

his herd of short horn cattle consists of twenty-two fe-

males, at the head of which is "Young Mary." In poli-

tics, Mr. Gaines is a Democrat, and during the war he

served in the Ninth Kentucky Cavalry as Sergeant Ma-

jor, with Col. W. C. P. Breckinridge and Capt. F. Gano
Hill. During his service, Mr. Gaines was wounded once,

and twice taken prisoner. Dec. 21, 1865, he married

Miss Bettie Hill, daughter of John Hill, of Bourbon

County. Mr. Gaines has had quite a varied experience

in life, but is now giving his entire attention to his farm

and stock breeding, of which in the latter he already oc-

cupies quite a prominent place in the county.

JOHN T. GARTH, farmer ; P. O. Paris ; was born

Oct. 33, 1843, in Bourbon County, and is the son of

Thomas and Joanna (Lucas) Garth. Thomas Garth came

to Bourbon County when a boy, and during his life en-

gaged in farming. He died on the farm, where John T.

now lives. Mrs. Garth survived her husband for many
years; her death occurred Jan. 17, 1881. Mr. Garth is

the owner of one of Bourbon County's fine farms of

340 acres, and known as "Greenwood." He does a gen-

eral farming business, his principal production being

grains. He is a Democrat in politics, and a member of

the Christian Church. Though still a comparatively

voung man, he is an active member of the community,

and by his honorable and consistent adherence to the

principles of right and justice, he is a respected and

valuable citizen.

F. GANO HILL, farmer and stock breeder ; P. O.

Centerville; well known to the citizens of Bourbon and

adjoining counties as an extensive breeder and dealer

in fine stock; was born July 1, 1843, in Bourbon County.

The old home now owned by him being his birth-place.

He is the son of John and Mary (Edwards) Hill; she the

daughter of Major Geo. Edwards, of Bourbon County.

It^
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John Hill was also a native of Bourbon County, and

his father -was a native of Scotland, but came from

Virginia to Kentucky, settling in Bourbon County dur-

ing its pioneer days. F. Gano finished his education at

Kentucky University, of Danville, in 1861. He then

entered the 9th Kentucky Cavalry, Col. W. C. P. Breck-

inridge commanding. He entered the service as a pri-

vate, and v^as promoted to the rank of Captain, command-

ing Co. A. By the request of Gen. John S. Williams he

was assigned to his staff, and was subsequently made

Inspector-General. While in battle near Columbia,

South Carolina, he was wounded and sent to the hospital,

but was finally taken in an ambulance, and while in this

condition he remained in the service until Gen. Lee's

surrender of the Confederate army. He then came back

to Kentucky and engaged in the breeding of stock, for

which his farm of 360 acres, known as " Hillburn," is

peculiarly adapted. His attention has been given in this

line to the purest breed, imported Cotswold sheep, and

to short horn cattle, though he has also bred some fine

trotting horses, and at one time owned May Queen, whose

record was 3.20. He is one of the directors of the Bour-

bon County Fair Association, and is also identified with

the Georgetown Pike in the same capacity. He also built

what is known as the Gano Hill Pike. In politics he is a

Democrat, and for the legislative session of the fall of

1881 he entered the campaign as a candidate for the

nomination, but was defeated by Mr. Charles Offutt by
but twenty-three votes.

JOSEPH H. HAWKINS, farmer ; P. 0. Centerville
;

was born April 14, 1831, in Bourbon County, Ky.; son

of Harry and Sarah (Chinn) Hawkins. He, the father of

Joseph, was born in Maryland, in 1767, and came to

Kentucky when a mere lad, with the McMillans, a sur-

veying party, and settled in Pendleton County, where he

married a Miss Fugit, but that lady dying, he moved to

Bourbon County, where he married the daughter of Jo-

seph Chinn, from which union resulted three children :

Mary Catharine, wife of Hubbell Chinn ; Joseph H., and

Margaret, wife of William T. Heme, of Fayette County.

The old gentleman died in 1843, after a long and event-

ful life. Our subject was married in 1854, to Miss Nancy
Sparks, daughter of Wesley Sparks, which union was

blessed with one child, J.Wesley. Mrs. Hawkins dying,

Mr. H. took as a second wife Miss Lizzie E. Kendall,

daughter of Alfred Kendall, and from which marriage

have been born six children : Allie K., Joseph L., Mari-

etta, William, Harry, and Sallie. Mr. Hawkins owns

800 acres of land ten miles from Paris, and his mother,

who is eighty-one years of age, lives with him, on the

farm upon which she was born. He farms and handles

stock, paying some attention to short-horns, with the

"Fourth Duke of Ash Glen" at the head. He has about

forty animals. Daisies and Maries being the principal

families represented. Mr, Hawkins has served two

terms as Magistrate of Centerville Precinct; was a Whig
before the war, but is now a Democrat ; he and wife are

members of the Christian Church.

R. A. MOORE, physician; P.O. Centerville; is the

oldest of a family of five children fcorn to James and

Sallie (Allen) Moore, both natives of Scott County, Ky.

;

his grandfather, .James Moore, was a native of Virginia,

and was among the early pioneers of Scott County, Ky.

James, the Doctor's father, was a resident of Scott Coun-

ty during his life, and died there, Oct. 4, 1857, his

mother, who was the daughter of Robert Allen, dying

some time previous to this date. The Doctor received

his education at Georgetown, and then took up the study

of medicine, subsequently graduating from the medical

department of Transylvania University of Lexing-

ton, and also received a degree of M. D. from a medi-

cal college of Louisville, which he attended; he located

first in Trimble County, Ky., where he practiced for five

years; he then removed from there to Scott County, Ky.,

from whence he removed to Jacksonville, Bourbon Co.,

in 1859; he owns a nice farm of 91 acres, which he has

rented. This place, near Jacksonville, is known as

"Alta Monte." The Doctor is a Democrat, and by his

energy and industry has accumulated a competency, and

is still a live, energetic business man, of middle age,

having been born on Oct. 4, 1830. Sept. 35, 1856, he

was married to Miss Sallie Simms, sister of Col. Simms,

of Paris; two daughters were the fruits of this union:

Blanche, and Lulie. In 1867, several years subsequent to

the death of his first wife, the Doctor married Mrs. Sallie

Garrard; six children have been born to them: Duke,

Robbie, Maude, Captain, Colonel, and D. Lary.

AUGUSTUS SHROPSHIRE, farmer ; P. O. Center-

ville; was born July 30, 1836, in Bourbon County, and is

the son of Col. Ben Shropshire of Harrison County. He
was educated at the common country schools, and was

reared a farmer. He now owns a body of 203 acres of

as fine land, and as finely improved, as can be found in Cen-

terville Precinct, and is called " Spring Hill " on account

of a fine spring on the farm. Besides doing a general

farming business, he has given much attention to the

breeding of fine horses and short-horn cattle, and at

present has a fine herd of twenty-five in number, rep-

resenting most of the popular families, Duke of Ashland

being at the head of his herd. Politically, Mr. Shrop-
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shire is a Democrat, and in all affairs pertaining to the

general welfare of the community he lias taken an active

part. For the past seven years he has held the office of

school trustee. He is a member of the Christian Church,

as is also his wife, to whom he was married in February,

1864, and whose maiden name was Fanny Forrester and

daughter of R. H. Forrester of Chicago, 111. They are

the parents of seven children ; Ida, Robert, Benjamin,

Pink, Palmer, Garrett and Fanny.

B. T. SHROPSHIRE, farmer; P. O. Leesburg; was

born April 29, 1825, in Bourbon County, Ky.; he is the

son of Co!. B. N. and Nancy M. (Parrish) Shropshire.

The Shropshire family are of English descent. Our sub-

ject was married Nov. 22, 1846, to Miss Elizabeth Jane,

daughter of George A. Smith, Esq., and from which

union have been born four children: Benjamin F., born

Oct. 11, 1847; he married Miss Mary T. Bryant, and died

Dec. 2,1873, leaving one son, W. B.; George S., born

Aug. 20, 1849; Gabie S., born March 17, 1852; she mar-

ried David R. Saunders, now of Texas, and has one

child, Benjamin E.; Thomas J., born July 8, 1855; he

married Miss Maggie Lonny, of Woodford County. Mr.

Shropshire is a general farmer, and owns 250 acres of

land, his place being known as "Maple Grove;" himself,

wife, and all his children, with one exception, are mem-

bers of the Christian Church; he was a Whig before the

war, but a Democrat since.

JOHN SIMPSON, minister; P. 0. Centerville; was

born April 7, 1841, in Prince Edward's Island, Dominion

of Canada, and is the son of Henry and Jeannette (Ste-

venson) Simpson. Our subject came to Kentucky in

1867, to attend the Bible College ofthe Kentucky Univer-

sity. In November, 1873, he was married to Miss Annie

Hull, and by which union they have had one child: Rob-
ert N. H. Simpson, born Jan. 10, 1875. Mr. Simpson is

a minister of the Christian Church, and owns 360 acres

of land, 160 of which are in this county.

CHAS. TURNER, farmer
; P. O. Centerville; was

born Nov. 16, 1803, in Bourbon County, Ky.; son of

William and Patsey (Richards) Turner, both of whom
were born in Maryland, and came to Kentucky nearly

one hundred years ago; they came down the rivjr to

where Louisville now stands, but before that city was

founded, and from thence to Lexington, which at that

time only contained a few cabins, and remained there

several years. They then bought land two miles from

Millersburg. The old pioneer died Feb. 1, 1835, at the

age of eighty-five years, and his wife followed him eight or

ten years later, at the same age as her husband. While at

Lexington, William was one of the hunters for the settle-

ment inside the fort, and contributed to the sustenance

of the brave little garrison, while the savages roamed

around. He was in Bryant's Station when it was besieged

by Simon Girty and his barbarous allies, and his wife, Pat-

sey, was present and recollected the famous colloquy be-

tween Van Swearengen and Girty. She was also one of the

party who went out of the fort for water, when five hun-

dred Indians were so near that she could see the eyes of

the red devils. Our subject was married in March, 1827,

to Miss Mary Ward, of this County, and has two chil-

dren : John W., and Lucinda. Lucinda married J. J.

Ireland, and has three children : Mary, John, and Frank.

Mr. Turner owns 600 acres of excellent land, six miles

from Paris, and he and wife are members of the Metho-

dist Church. In politics Mr. T. was a Whig before the

war, but since then he has been a Democrat.
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RUDDEL'S MILLS PRECINCT
H. 0. BOWEN, farmer and distiller ; P. O. Ruddel's

Mills. Among the early settlers of Bourbon County was

the Bowen family, which came here from near Baltimore,

Md., and settled upon wild land, following farming.

One of the sons of the first Bowen, Benjamin by name,

was born Oct. 8, 1794, whose father dying, was bound

out to the carpenter's trade in Lexington; but the war

of 1813 coming on he enlisted in the service; but, in

consequence of Kentucky's quoto being complete, he

was not mustered in. He afterward became a contract-

or, during which time he erected many buildings, in-

cluding three churches in Ruddel's Mills. He also

farmed and kept a hotel; he was also engaged in dis-

tilling. He married Miss Mary Current, of this Coun-

ty, by whom, he had six children, H. C, our subject,

being next to the youngest of these children. Benjamin

died Oct. 7, 1881, having held the office of Constable for

many years. Our subject was born Feb. 11, 1842, and

since the age of fifteen years has " paddled his own
canoe," having by industry and perseverance placed

himself in independent circumstances. May 16, 1865,

he was married to Anna E., only child of Benjamin F.

and Miuerva H. Howard, of Bourbon County. She was

born April 30, 1849, and died July 31, 1878, leaving five

children : Lida, Benjamin, Joseph W., Nannie K. and

Hattie. Mr. Bowen' has been engaged in distilling and

farming since he arrived at manhood, and owns a farm of

364 acres, and a copper distillery. He is a Democrat.

WILLIS D. COLLINS, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., March 13, 1810; son

of Foster and Elizabeth (Matheny) Collins ; he being a

son of William Collins, and a native of Virginia ; she a

daughter of David Matheny, of Bourbon County, and

after whom the Matheny Church is named. Foster Col-

lins came to Kentucky in 1797, with his mother and

three sisters ; being a farmer, but a man of more than

ordinary ability, serving as Constable for ten years, as

Magistrate for several years, and as Sheriif two years.

He died Feb. 32, 1847 ; his wife, June 27, 1835. They

raised ten children. Our subject was married Oct. 2,

1834, to Sally Ann, daughter of Robert and Nancy
(Fretwell) Palmer, old settlers of this county, which

union has been blessed with three children: Wm. L. and

Elizabeth living, and Lucinda, dead. Mr. Collins and

wife are members of the Christian church ; he has held

several offices, being Deputy Sheriff under his father, a

Constable for ten years, and a Magistrate for twelve years;

he was at one time guardian for twenty-one children,

with all of whom he has settled fully and honorably

except four, who are not yet of age ; has settled thirty-

three different estates, and done more business of that

character than any man in the county. He is and has

been a Republican since the formation of that party.

JOHN CURRENT, farmer and distiller; P. O. Ruddel's

Mills ; was born in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1838, son of

Jesse Current, who raised a family of nine children, five

sons and four daughters, John being the second son.

Four of these brothers entered the service of the Confeder-

ate States, and served under General Morgan. John, our

subject, was reared on his father's farm, and has through

life been engaged in the same business as his father

—

farming and distilling—paying special attention to the

latter business, and making nothing but the straightest

copper-distilled goods, the demand for which he has been

scarcely able to supply. Feb. 5, 1861, he was married

to Miss Mary Catharine, daughter of Thos. McCarney,
of Bourbon County. She died Oct 24, 1875, leaving

three children : Anna Lee, Lizzie T., and John Mcll-

vain. Mr. Current was again married, Nov. 26, 1878, to

Miss Betty Turney, daughter of Amos T'urney, of this

County. He owns 184 acres of land, is a member of the

ancient and honorable fraternity of Freemasons, and is a

Democrat.

DARWIN D. EADS, physician, Ruddel's Mills; was
born in Harrison County, Ky., May 11, 1836, son of John
and Ellen (McMillan) Eads; he is a native of Spottsylvania

County, Va., coming to Kentucky about 1 810, but having

been married in Virginia, and his wife dying previous to

his leaving that State. Mr. John Eads was a farmer, and
passed the best part of his life in Harrison County, where
he died in 1836, his wife surviving him and marrying, ia

1843, Wm. W. Bowman, of Bourbon County, after-

ward moving to Illinois, where she is still residing. Our
subject remained on the farm until sixteen years of age,

when he entered the Ohio Weslyan University, at Del-

aware, Ohio, which he left while in his junior year. In
the fall of 1857 he entered Jefferson Medical College,

Philadelphia, from which institution he graduated in

1859, and located at Ruddel's Mills, where he has since

had a lucrative practice. Dr. Eads was first married in
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1862, to Miss Jennie, daughter of Thomas Isgrig, of

Harrison County; she died, and Dr. Eads married his

second wife Miss Anna, daughter of Frank Adair, of

this County, who died in 1876, leaving one child, Ben-

jamin Brindly Eads, now eleven years old. For his third

wife. Dr. Eads married Miss Avonia Matheny, daughter

of Dr. Matheny of Louisville. Mr. and Mrs. Eads are

members of the M. E. Church, and he is a Mason and an

Odd Fellow; also a Democrat, but taking no part in pol-

itics

H. C. EALES, farmer ; P. O. Ruddel's Mills ; was

born in this County, April 9, 1818 ; son of James and

Lucy (Wyatt) Eales. James was born in Virginia in

1789, and came to Kentucky with his parents, who set-

tled in Fleming Co., Ky., in 1795. He learned the trade

of blacksmithing in Bourbon County, at which he work-

ed until he got a start in life, when he commenced farm-

ing, which he followed the rest of his life, acquiring a

handsome property, owning about 1,000 acres of land.

His wife came from Virginia with her parents, who set-

tled in Montgomery County. James died in 1853 and

his wife in 1855, leaving a family of six children ; H. C.

being the fourth, who is a farmer; H. C. married

in 1849, Miss Amanda Talbott, of this County,

who bore her husband nine children : Harry, Charles,

Frazer, Lucy, Kate, Ashby, Amanda, Thomas, and Sid-

ney. Mr. and Mrs. Eales both belong to the Christian

Church.

THOMAS M. FISHER, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

was born May 3, 1837, in Bourbon County, Ky., son of

James H. and Sarah J. (Howard) Fisher, and grandson'of

William L., whose father came from Germany. Wil-

liam L. was originally a brickmason, but was afterward a

farmer, and lived to an advanced age, having been

the father of nine children ; his son, James H., died at

the age of thirty-six, having been a farmer, and leaving

two children, Thomas M. being the "oldest. Mrs. Fisher

was afterward married to John Diraitt, of Bourbon Coun-

ty, and is still living. Our subject, during ten years of

his early life, worked at carpentering, but since that time

has been engaged in farming; he was married July 29,

1861, to Miss Emma Barton, of this county, daughter of

Abraham and Catharine (Cumber) Barton, and has five

children jiving: Nannie B., Maude E., James H., Adella

and Edna M., and Lida Lee, dead; he owns 131 acres of

land, and is a Democrat.

JOHN W. FISHER, farmer ; P. O. Ruddel's Mills
;

was born upon the farm where he now lives, in Bourbon

County, May 16, 1830 ; son of James H. Fisher. Our

subject commenced for himself when eighteen years of

age, and for some time was engaged at farming ; then he

taught school one winter, after which he worked at car-

pentering six years, since which time he has followed farm-

ing, owning his father's old homestead, a farm of 115 acres.

Mr. Fisher was married Dec. 11, 1855, to Miss Louisa

Jett, of Harrison County, Ky., which union has been

blessed with seven children, all of whom are living :

Cora, S. Anna, Darwin E., MoUie Lou, John R., Claude

E., and Fred H. He is a member of the I. O. O. F., and

a Democrat.

ELI HOWARD, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills. About

the close of the Revolutionary war, among the emigrants

from Maryland to Kentucky, was James Howard, who
with his family, consisting of wife, three sons, Elij ih,

Paris and Matthew, and one daughter, Hannah, settled on

the Maysville road, between Millersburg and Paris, in

Bourbon County, at a point about three miles from the

last named place, and now owned we believe by Mrs.

Clay. At this place James Howard departed this life

at quite an advanced age, but the exact date of his

death we have been unable to obtain. The second

son, Paris Howard, was born on the eastern shore of

Maryland, Feb. 5, 1777; was brought to Kentucky when

quite young, and after remaining with his father at the

above place till he arrived at the age of maturity, he

ventured out upon his own resources, and about the

year 1800 was married to Catharine Current, who was

also a native of Maryland, and was born April 11,

1783. Paris settled near Ruddel's Mills, where he

secured and developed a large tract of land, some-

thing near 700 acres. The fruits of this marriage were

nine children, six sons and three daughters. This family

has since become noted in the history of Kentucky for

their remarkable height, weight and longevity. Believ-

ing it to be appropriate that a brief but accurate state-

ment of this noted family should be embodied in this

work, we submit the following:

MALES. HEIGHT. WEIGHT.

Father (Paris Howard), 6 ft., 4 ins. 200 lbs.

Thomas C, 6 " 4 « 230 «

James, 6 «
6i « 316 «

John C. (deceased), 6 " 11^ " 366 «

Elijah, 6 « 3 " 210 «

Matthew, 6 " 6^ « 320 «

Eli, 6 « 4f " 198 «

7 males. 45 4i 1,540 lbs.

Average height males, 6 ft., 5f ins. Av. weight, 220 lbs.

FEMALES. HEIGHT. WEIGHT.

Mother (Catharine Howard), 6 ft., ^ in. 285 lbs.
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FEMALES.
Sarah,

Mary (deceased),

Margaret,

HEIGHT
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and subsequently of a mill (both grist and saw), and also

later he became interested in a distillery, for the purpose
of converting the surplus grain of the community into a

more marketable form, by reason of its being less bulky.
There were born to .John and Ursula a family of twelve
children, of whom Allen was the oldest ; he was born
Sept. 6, 1806, and has spent his life in Ruddel's Mills Pre-
cinct

; farming has been his principal occupation, though
he was also in connection with his sons interested in dis-

tilling, in which they failed. Allen was married Jan. 29,

1834, to Susan, daughter of Elias and Catharine (McLair)

Livingstone, who is a native of Maryland, and formerly

resided in Bracken County, Ky. Six children were born

to them, four of whom grew to maturity, viz : Elizabeth,

wife of W. A. Brannock, of Cass County, Mo.; Mary, who
married Thomas McDonald, and dying left one child,

named Raymond ; Josie, now Mrs. Hamilton, of Cynthi-

ana, and Allen M., whose name appears at head of this

sketch. He was born Dec. 26, 1845, and passed his early

life on his father's farm ; in September of 1862, he en-

listed in Co. C, 5th Kentucky Cavalry, under Captain

Bedford. He remained in the service until the close of

the war, during which time he spent some time under

the famous Gen. John A. Morgan, and while with him in

Ohio, he was captured and held a prisoner for eight

months at Camp Douglass, Chicago ; returning to Bour-

bon County, Ky., at the cessation of hostilities, he married,

on June 10, 1867, Miss Minerva, daughter of Saloma

Keller. She died Oct. 25, 1876, leaving three children :

Laura, Elizabeth, and Shelby. Dec. 10, 1879, Mr. Kiser

married Miss Ella Current, daughter of Thomas J. Cur-

rent, one of Gen. Morgan's lieutenants, and who was killed

at Green River Bridge.- Politically, both Mr. Kiser and

his father are Democrats.

JOHN A. KISER, R. R. Agent, P. O. Shawhan, is

the son of John R. Kiser, now a retired farmer, who

was born March 7, 1810; and is the son of John

Kiser, who came from Maryland to Bourbon County

at the date of its earlier history. He was a farmer,

millwright and distiller, and remained a resident of

Bourbon County until his death. John R. has passed

his life in his native county, and spent his early life in

helping his father at his various duties. He was the first

agent for the K. C. R. R. at that point, and discharged

the duties of the office for many years. Recently, how-

ever, he has become so far disabled as to have allowed

the position to be transferred to his son, whose name

heads this sketch. He was married to a lady by the

name of Ann Rebecca Dimitt of Bourbon County. Two
children were born to them; Nannie, and John A. The

latter was born March 1, 1860. He received but a com-

mon school education, but having spent many years in

the ofiice with his father in the discharge of the duties

as R. R. agent, when devolving upon him, were not dif-

ficult. April 12, 1881, he was married to Miss Carrie E.

Goodman, daughter of Mathew and Mollie Goodman of

Bourbon County. Though one of the youngest agents

on the line of the K. C. road, his work is always prompt-

ly and accurately done, and should he desire a change,

his ability has already fitted him for a more responsible

position.

W. J. KISER, farmer; P.O. Shawhan; is a descendent

of one of Bourbon County's early pioneers; his father,

James P. Kiser, is the son of John Kiser. James P.

was born March 18, 1828, and now owns and resides on

the farm of 283 acres, owned by his father and grand-

father; much of his attention has been devoted to the

breeding of fine stock, of which he makes thoroughbred

Southdown -sheep a specialty. June 5, 1852, ho married

Miss Lucetta, daughter of Jesse and Ingbaur Current,

of Bourbon County; six children have been born to them,

of whom W. J. is the oldest. Mr. Kiser is a member of

the order of A. F. & A. M., and a Democrat; his son,

W. J., whose name heads this sketch, was married April

11, 1878, to Miss Nannie K. Remington, daughter of B.

F. Remington, of Paris, Ky.; two children have been

born to them: Frank P. and William S. The Kisers

are well known and respected in Bourbon County as an

enterprising, industrious, and intelligent people; and
although W. J. is still a young man, he has already made
the luost of his opportunities, and is a worthy representa-

tive ')f his ancestors.

DR. A. H. KELLER ; P. O. Ruddel's Mills ; was

born at Beaver Dam Springs, Tenn., Aug. 23, 1858; son

of Dr. Thomas Fairfax Keller, who was a native of Ala-

bama, and studied law, and after practicing three years,

studied medicine, graduating from Bellevue College,

New York, in 1847. He practiced the rest of his life in

the states of Tennessee, Alabama and Arkansas, moving

to North Middletown, Bourbon county, Ky., in 1868, and

dying there the following year. He married Miss Susan

Warren, who was born in Dublin, Ireland, but who came

to this country when nine years of age ; she died in

1866, having given birth to seven children, three only of

whom are now living: Arthur H., Alexander M., and Leila

F. The eldest son, Arthur H., our subject, received a clas-

sical education, graduating from Centre College, Dan-

ville, Ky., in June, 1879 ; then entered the Louisville

Medical College, from which he graduated Feb. 25, 1881,

and commenced practice at Shawhan, but a few months
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later bought the office of Dr. D. D. Eads, at Ruddel's

Mills, where he has already secured a fine practice. He
was married April 30, 1881, to Ida G. Bowen, born Jan.

2, 1863, daughter of Geo. W. Bowen of this County.

The Doctor is a member of the Episcopal Church, and

his wife of the Christian Church. He is an Odd Fellow

and a Democrat.

JACOB C. KELLER, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

traces the geneology of his family back to the early pi-

oneers of Bourbon County; his grandfather, Abraham
Keller, came from Maryland to Kentucky in an early

day, and settled in Bourbon County; his son Solomon,

and father of our subject, was born in 1803 in Ruddel's

Mills Precinct; he followed the business of his father, that

of farming and distilling. Jan. 7, 1840, he was married

to Miss Elizabeth, daughter of John Kiser, of Bourbon

County. Mrs. Keller was born March 8, 1809, and has

during her life been a resident of Bourbon County; pre-

vious to this marriage, however, Mr. Keller had been

married, and had a number of children, three of the sons

being in the Confederate array during the late Civil war;

Jackson S. was killed, George A. returned wounded,

Solomon A. was shutdown in cold blool after his return

from the war, he being at that time but a boy of sixteen

years. By his last marriage Mr. Keller had a family of

twelve children, only four of whom are living, viz.: Isaac,

Mattie B., Jacob C, whose name heads this sketch, and

Rebecca A. Mrs. Keller, the mother of Jacob C, has a

fine farm of 300 acres, which is attended by her sons.

Jacob C. is an enterprising, industrious young man, who
has made the most of his opportunities for self improve-

ment, and is a worthy representative of so hardy a race

of pioneers as were his ancestors.

GRIFFIN KELLY, farmer; P. O. Shawhan; was born

in Clark County, Ky., Jan. 15, 1815; son of Griffin and

Sarah (Sutton) Kelly, both of whom were from near Cul-

pepper Court House, Va.; he, the father, was a stone-

mason by trade, and when the war of 1813 broke out en-

listed in the service of his country and served gallantly

till the end of the struggle, when he removed to Ken-

tucky, where he passed the rest of his life in farming,

raising a family of six children, only one of whom is

now living. Griffin, the youngest, the subject of this

sketch, who at the age of seventeen began doing for

himself, raising hemp on his father's farm, and who has

continued farming ever since; Nov. 34, 1836, he was

married to Miss Mary Cummins, born April 18, 1819,

daughter of Nathaniel and Delilah (Hays) Cummins, of

Bourbon County; the Cummins' family being natives of

Virginia and the Hays of Maryland. Mrs. Hays' father

was an old Revolutionary soldier, and one of the early set-

tlers of Kentucky. Mr. Kelly has six children living:

Sarah, Washington, Silas, William, Elizabeth and Gano;

he lost one son, James N., in the late war, a member of

Captain Bedford's Co., 5th Kentucky Cav. Mr. Kelly

owns over 100 acres of good land, upon which he has

fine buildings, and he and wife are members of the

Christian Church at Mt. Carmel.

CAPTAIN THOS. E. MOORE, farmer and stockrais-

er ; P. O. Shawhan ; was born in Pendleton County,

Ky., Feb. 15, 1831, son of Wm. and Margaret S. (Braun)

Moore, both of whom were natives of Bourbon County,

but whose parents were natives of Virginia. William

Moore held the office of Justice of the Peace, and

served in the war of 1813. He died in 1833, of cholera.

When 16 years old, the subject of this sketch began the

battle of life for himself, he being the youngest of six

children. He first worked at farming, then clerked in a

store, after whieh he attended Bartlett's Commercial Col-

lege at Cincinnati, from which he graduated; served as

Deputy Sheriff under his brother, and was then elected

County Clerk of Pendleton County, which position he

held four years ; was married Sept. 39, 1859, to Miss

Sarah J. Shawhan, daughter of Col. John Shawhan, of

Harrison County, Ky., who served in the Mexican war

under General Taylor, and was wounded at the battle of

Buena Vista, and who served in the late war, but was

shot by a guerilla whom he had parolled, whilst on his

way to Kentucky to raise a regiment. Capt. Moore en-

tered the Confederate servicfe in 1863, as Captam of

Co. D., 4th Kentucky Cavalry, H. L. Giltner, Colonel,

and remained through the struggle, being wounded in

two places' whilst near Nashville. At the close of the

war he engaged in merchandising, and was then elected

Sheriff, serving two terms. He was also engaged in dis-

tilling, and has paid considerable attention to the raising

of fine and trotting stock, short horn cattle, and Cots-

wold and Southdown sheep. He has nine children:

Tabitha, Sterling P., John S., Sallie, Minnie, Thomas E.,

William, Annie S., and George. He owns 300 acres of

fine land. On his farm is the ancient fort, mentioned in

Collins' history, at the junction of the two streams form-

ing the Stoner.

WILLIAM MILLER, farmer, P. O. Ruddel's Mills; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Oct 13, 1843, son of Pugh

and Margaret (Shawhan) Miller; he, born April 13, 1810,

and she Aug. 12, I8l3, and were married April 10, 1834.

Pugh was the son of James and Elizabeth (Pugh) Miller,

and Margaret was the daughter of Joseph and Sally

(Ewalt) Shawhan. Both the Miller and the Shawhan
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families were originally from Pennsylvania. James, the

grandfather of our subject, moved to Missouri about

1829, where ho passed the rest of his days, dying there

in 1835; he took his son Pugh along with him to Missouri,

but the son not liking it there, returned to his native

State where he married and settled down, but died in

1878. He reared one son to maturity, William the sub-

ject of this sketch, who has devoted himself to farming.

At the commencement of the late war, William, entered

the Confederate service, under Capt. Jo. Desha, 1st Ky.

Inf., and served as Sergeant one year, when he was trans-

ferred to Capt. Jo. Hardin's Co., Maj. Shawhan's Cav.

Battalion; was taken prisoner Oct. 7, 1863, and after

enjoying the sweets of prison life at Camp Morton, In-

dianapolis, for over a year, returned home in 1864. Was
married Feb. 8, 1866, to Miss Sarah Rule, of Bourbon

County, who has borne the following children: James R.,

born Deo. 21, 1866; Annie L., Sept. 4, 1869; Willie

Pugh, Nov. 26, 1871; Mattie Bettie, Jan. 26, 1874; Joseph

D., born Aug. 11, 1876. He owns 195 acres of land,

is an Odd Fellow, and a Democrat.

JOHN W. McILVAIN, farmer, and short-horn breeder;

P. O. Ruddel's Mills ; was born July 9, 1849; son of

Moses H. Mcllvain, a farmer of Bourbon County, Ky.,

whose father, William, came froni Virginia at an early

day, and followed farming and distilling, dying in 1853,

his wife following him in 1854. Moses H., born in 1825,

the father of our subject, died May 3, 1864, in the prime

of life, leaving only one child ; his widow afterward mar-

ried J. C. Flowers, but died July 13, 1876. Mr. Mcllvain

is a farmer, and devotes a great deal of his time to the

breeding and handling of short-horn cattle, in which he

has been quite successful ; he owns a farm containing

425 acres of land, on which he resides. He was married

April 16, 1869, to Miss Mattie E., daughter of James

Rule, deceased. She died Nov. 6, 1880, leaving three

children : Hattie May, William James, and Richard

Miller. Mr. Mcllvain is a member of the A. F. and A.

M., and I. O. O. F.; also a Democrat.

CHARLES REDMON, farmer and trader ; P. O.

Paris ; son oif George and Sallie (Hayes) Redmon, and

was born on Flat Run, in Bourbon County, Sept. 13,

1816. His father, George Redmon, was born in Penn-

sylvania in 1781, and when only five years of age he

came down the Ohio River, accompanied by his father,

and settled on Flat Run, Bourbon County, where he was

reared and educated. He began life as a farmer, an ofl-

cupation he followed as long as he lived. In 1806 he

was married to Sallie Hayes, a native of Maryland, who

was born in 1786, and when quite young was brought to

Kentucky by her parents. George Redmon died on his'

farm Aug., ] 844, and his wife followed him in 1851. The

old place is now owned and occupied by Washington

Redmon. This couple had born to them a family of

eleven children, seven sons, viz : Thomas JeEFerson, Wil-

liam T., George L., Charles, John W., Washington, and

Solomon S. ; and four daughters, viz : Mary Ann, who

married Edmund Nunn ; Elizabeth, who married John

K. Ashurst ; Margaret, who married Thomas M. Smith
;

and Sallie, who married John W. Jones. Of this large

family only three are now living, viz : Charles, who is

our subject, Washington, and Mrs. Sallie Jones. Charles,

like many other boys raised at that date of our country's

history, was denied the advantages of a collegiate educa-

tion, but was sufficiently fortunate to procure at least

a respectable knowledge of such branches as were then

taught in our common country schools; he was married

on Feb. 9th, 1845, to Catharine, daughter of Samuel Tal-

bott, of Bourbon; she was born July 13, 1822, and died

Nov. 23, 1853. Mr. Redmon was next married Feb. 5,

1856, to Elizabeth H., daughter of Robert and Susan

(Triplett) Trimble, of Fleming County, Ky. Elizabeth

was born ; her father, Robt. Trimble, was a

native of North Carolina, an'd was born in 1788, and

when only one year old he was taken by his parents to

Tennessee, where he remained five years, at which time

he came to Kentucky, where he spent his after life; his

wife, Susan Triplett, was born in Virginia in 1806, mar-

ried there in 1838, and moved immediately to Kentucky,

where she died in 1869. Our subject, when he began

business for himself, embarked in agricultural pursuits,

and from that period to the present has been a successful

tiller of the soil; by his first wife, he had born to him

three children, two of whom are now living: John W.
and Annie, who is now the wife of Harry James, of Paris.

George died in 1852, at three years of age; by his second

marriage there were also three children, two sons: Charles

R. and Castleman N., and one daughter, Stella, who is

now a student at the Garth Female Institute, at Paris,

Kentucky. Mr. Redmon began life in moderate circum-

stances, and by industry, economy and close attention to

business, has acquired handsome property; he has made

it a rule through life to keep his surplus invested in land,

thus adding year by year to his beautiful home, known

as " Cedar Grove;" his first purchase of land was in

1845, of 106 acres at $40 per acre; in 1849, he bought

fifty acres more, at a cost of $50 per acre ; in 1853, he

added 114 acres more, at an expense of sixty-five dollars

per acre; the following year he increased his farm ten

acres, at $90.05 per acre; the next tract he bought in
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1864, containing fifty-two acres; cost him $111.25 per

acre, and in 1866, he added forty-two and one-4ialf acres

more, at $115 an acre; the next he bought was a small

tract of ten acres in 1871, which cost him the enormous

price of $166.60 per acre; his last purchase was in 1879,

of thirty acres, at $70 per acre; in 1853, to accommodate

his brother, George L., he sold him twenty acres, at $75

per acre; he inherited from his mother's estate twenty-

six acres; altogether, he now owns 430 acres lying six

miles north of Paris, on what is known as the Redmon
Pike. Mr. Redmon has made a specialty of handling

mules and rearing and handling fine horses; besides, he

has kept good grade cattle, sheep, hogs, etc., in fact all

such stock as we find on our model farms of this blue

grass region; he has attained considerable notoriety as a

horseman, generally bearing off his pro rata of the pre-

miums at all the fairs where he has exhibited; he has

never been troubled with any political aspirations, and

consequently never held an office in his life, but in all

political contests we find him very prompt to deposit his

ballot in favor of the Democratic champion.

G. W. RIGHTER, physician and surgeon; P. O. Rud-

del's Mills; was born in Harrison County, Ky., March 16,

1814; son of John B. and Rebecca (Smith) Righter; he

is a native of Clarksburg, Harrison County, Va. ; she of

Harrison County, Ky. John came to Kentucky about

1830, and was a farmer and trader in negroes; he died

May 16, 1881, and his wife is still living, having raised

six children, all of whom are still living. Dr. Righter is

the third in the family and received a collegiate educa-

tion, after which he farmed for a while, but in 1869 yield-

ed to the inclinations of his early life and studied medi-

cine; he entered the Cleveland Homeopathic Medical

College in 1869 and graduated in the spring of 1873; prac-

ticed two years and then took a course in the Pulte Medi-

cal College of Cincinnati, after which he located at Rud-

del's Mills, where he has a large and growing practice;

he was married Nov. 13, 1873, to Miss Mary Miller, of

Harrison County, Ky., daughter of James Miller, and

has two children, T. J. and Bsttie T. Dr. Righter en-

tered the Confederate service in 1863 and served till the

close of the war, having been a member of Capt. Pra-

zer's Co., Breckinridge's Regiment, 3nd Brigade, Mor-

gan's Division, and participated in over thirty engage-

ments; the doctor and wife are members of the Christian

Church, apd he is a Mason and a Democrat.

JOHN REYNOLDS, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

was born May 34, 1837; son of Patrick Reynolds, of

County Roscommon, Ireland, and came to the United

States in 1847, first settling in New York for a short

time; thence to Cincinnati, where he lived four years,

and from there to Fayette County; then to Bourbon. Mr.

Reynolds has been engaged in various work, as con-

tractor, etc., until two years ago, at which time he was

appointed Keeper of the Alms House; he was married

Feb. 5, 1855, to Mary Gannon, who also came from Ire-

land; they have six children: Terrence, Bridget, Joseph,

Mary A., Elizabeth, and Kate. Mr. Reynolds and family

are all members of the Catholic Church.

WILLIAM SKINNER, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

among those who took an active part in the war for In-

dependence, and who was an intimate friend and neigh-

bor of General Washington, was Nathaniel Skinner, who
served through that struggle as Quartermaster, settling

after the war on the now historic Bull Run, in Loudoun
County, where he passed the remainder of his life, and

raising a family, one of whose sons was James, who served

as Captain in the war of 1813, and was the fiither of Wil-

liam, our subject, who was born Nov. 1, 1813. In 1815,

James moved to Bourbon County, Ky., with his wife and

two infant children, and settled upon a farm, at the same

time working at his trade of wagonmaker and black-

smith; he died in Harrison County in his sixty-eighth

year, his wife having preceded him several years; they had

eight children, William being the oldest. Mr. Skinner

has been an energetic business man, and for a number of

years traded largely in mules, his market being Rich-

mond, Va.; also dealt in cattle and hogs. He was married,

Dec. 6, 1853, to Mrs. Lucy J. Fry, whose maiden name
was Eales, and by which union there are two children:

Fanny L., wife of W. H. Kerr, and James W. Mr. and

Mrs. S. are members of the Christian Church. Mr. Skin-

ner has been identified with the unpopular party in Ken-

tucky, but he has many warm friends, and his integrity

as a man is undoubted, he having polled the largest

vote ever given to a Republican in Bourbon County, in

1881, when he made the canvass for the Legislature; he

owns 356 acres of land, and has an elegant home known
as " Forest Hill."

WES. B. SMITH, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana ; was born

in Harrison County, Ky., Dec. 34, 1834 ; son of Robert

and Mary (Snodgrass) Smith. Robert was born in Nicho-

las County, Ky., in 1795 ; Mrs. Smith in'Bourbon County,

in 1795, she being the daughter of Robert and Mary
Snodgrass, who came to Kentucky from Culpepper

County, Va. Robert Smith was reared to farming, which

occupation he followed through life, with the exception

of about nine years, when he was engaged in distilling

in Harrison County, Ky., where he lived during the ac-

tive part of his life. He was married Sept. 36, 1830, and
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died Sept. 6, 1877 ; she died Oot. 14, 1871. They reared

the following family : Wes. B., William, Robert, Co-

lumbus, and Martha. Wes. B., our subject, was the eldest

son, and was raised a farmer, but has paid considerable

attention to the breeding of short-horn cattle and trotting

horses : "Minnie," with a record of 2:22^, was reared by

him. He moved to Bourbon County in 1874, where he

owns 100 acres of land. He was married March 21, 1849,

to Miss Maria Ishmael, daughter of James and Mary
Ishmael. Her parents died when she was an infant, and

was raised by a cousin, Mrs. Trigg. She gave birth to

seven children : Ezekiel R., James W., Columbus Holton,

Eugene W., Lewis L., John Charles, and Mattie Cordelia*

Mr. and Mrs. Smith reared from infancy and educated

John F. Morgan, a lawyer of Cynthiana. Mr. Smith vol-

unteered in the Mexican war, but was discharged on ac-

count of sickness; he is serving as Magistrate of Ruddel's

Mills Precinct. Mr. S. and wife are members of the

Christian Church, and he is a Mason and a Democrat.

T. T. THORNTON, bookkeeper; P. O. Ruddel's Mills.

Among the early settlers of Kentucky was a family by

the name of Thornton, who came to Bourbon County

from Virginia; the head of the family was Anthony

Thornton, a farmer, who reared a large family, but there

are few representatives of the family now living; one of

the sons, however, John Thornton, practiced medicine and

graduated from Transylvania University, and practiced his

profession at Ruddel's Mills. He was married to Miss El-

len Fisher, of Millersburg, and died in 1874; she died

Oct. a, 1881, having borne two children: T. T., the sub-

ject of this sketch, who was born Dae. 11, 1846, and

Mary, who died in infancy. Mr. T. T. Thornton receiv-

ed a common school education, and then entered the Mi-

ami University, where he spent two years, after which he

completed a classical course at Millersburg, and in addi-

tion to which he attended and graduated from a Com-

mercial College in Cincinnati; since which time he has

followed the occupation of book-keeper, being at present

with H. C. Bowon, at Raddel's Mills; he was married

Jan. 10, 1871, to Miss M ittie Stoker, daughter of John

Stoker, of Paris; she died March 4, 1880, having borne

four children : Mag:ji ^, deceased, Lucy W., Eads B. and

M ittie. Mr. Thornton is a Mason and an Odd Fellow.

JACKSON THOMAS, farmer; P. O. Shawhan; was

born in Montgomery County, Ky., March 19, 1816, son

of Robert and Sarah Thomas, both of whom were natives

of Virginia, who came to Kentucky in their childhood.

Robert was a farmer, and also a trader, operating with

flat-boats down the Mississippi River, and dealing chiefly

in flour, whisky and tobacco; he died in New Orleans in

1818, leaving a wife and four children: Eveline, Moses^

Jackson and Robert. Mrs. Thomas removed with her

family to Bourbon County, where she died in 1862. Our
subject, being orphaned by the death of his father, began
life on his own account as soon as he was able to work)

and has ever since been engaged in farming, at present

owning 125 acres ofgood land, upon which he has a pleas-

ant and attractive home; he was married March 6, 1839, to

Miss Elizabeth, daughter of Abraham and Nancy Fry,

whose parents were among the early settlers of Ken-
tucky. Mr. Thomas has been blessed with six children,

three of whom are living: Eveline, Minerva and Eliza,

all being married. Mrs. Thomas and daughters are mem-
bers of the Christian Church, and he is a Mason and a

Democrat.

CHARLES TALBOTT, farmer; P. O. Ruddel's Mills;

traces the genealogy of his family back to his grandfather,

Henry Talbott, who was a native of Loudoun County, Va.,

but migrated to Bourbon County, Ky., as early as 1795
;

his wife was a Miss Barbara Whaley, also a native of

Virginia. Pi ior to his removing to Bourbon County, he

had purchased a tract of forest land, on which he located

and began to improve ; he had a family of five sons and

three daughters, viz : Daniel, Rjason, George, Harry,

Charles, Mary, Nancy, and Catharine. Mr. Talbott died

about 1819, and his wife some years later ; he left a fine

property, and a respected and enterprising family of chil-

dren; of these children Harry, the father of our subject,

secured the old homestead by the purchase of the other

heirships ; he was born Feb. 27, 1789, and was married

in October, of 1828, to Miss Mary Frazer, who was the

daughter of James Frazor and his wife, whose maiden

name was Hendricks; they were of Harrison County,

Ky.; the Prazers formerly of Maryland, and of Scotch de-

scent, and the Hendricks from South Carolina. Securing

the old homestead, Harry Talbott lived but a few years

to enjoy it. He died Oct. 2, 1840, leaving a family of

five children to the care and guidance of their mother.

They werenamed .lames H., Amanda F., Charles, Maiy

C, and Martha H., all of whom are still living but Mary

C. Mrs. Talbott' was born Jan. 22, 1802, and died Nov.

29, 1867. Charles, who was the youngest of the sons,

born Sept. 12, 1834, remained with his mother; and as

the other heirs married and moved away, he, like his

father, purchased their interests until he eventually

owned the farm, that was redeemed from the forest by his

grandfather ; he cared for his aged mother until her

death, in partial payment for her tender care during his

childhood ; in August, 1876, he was elected Sheriff of

Bourbon County, and re-elected to the same office. He
151
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has but recently returned to his farm. June 13, 1878, he

was married to Miss Fanny Glenn, daughter of John M.

Glenn, a prominent citizen of Bourbon County. Two
children have been born to them : Mary, born June 1,

1879, and Anna Lee, born April 11, 1881. Mr. Talbott

is a member of the order of A. F. and A. M., and is a gen-

tleman who, though having gone through two political

campaigns, still maintained the honorable course of a

gentleman, and now has the respect and confidence of

tie most prominent citizens of his native county.

CHAS. L. TALBOTT, farmer and stock dealer, P. O.

C /^nthiana; was born in Bourbon County, Ky., on the farm

hi now owns, Dec. 4, 1831; son of George and Unity

(Smith) Talbott. George came with his parents from

Virginia when a youth, and followed farming in Bour-

bon County till his death, which occurred when he was

sixty-seven years of age; his companion survived him

several years. He acquired a handsome property and

reared a family of nine children, six of whom are living,

the subject of this sketch being the youngest, who com-

menced upon his own responsibility when he was twenty

years of age, and who has been engaged ever since in

farming and dealing in stock, shipping very largly. He
owns about 250 acres ofgood land, besides city property.

He was married in March, 1863, to Susan A. Potts, daugh-

ter of John and Almira Potts, of Nicholas County, Ky.,

by whom he has one child, Orville Lee. Mr. and Mrs.

Talbot are members of the Christian Church, at Indian

Creek Meeting House. He is a Director in the Farmers'

National Bank, at Cynthiana, and a Democrat.

JOHN T. TALBOTT, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; the

name of Talbott is perhaps as familiar to the citizens,of

Bourbon County as that of the posterity of any of the

old pioneers. A tracement of the genealogy of the an-

cestors of John F. being found in the biography of Chas.

Talbott, this sketch is confined more particularly to the

former. Reason Talbott married Miss Jane Whaley, who

was born in the old fort at Maysville, her people being

formerly from Loudoun County, Va.; he died in the spring

of 1863, and his wife in 1870; they reared a family of

four children: Benjamin, Nancy, Emily,' and Henry H.,

the latter being the father of our subject; he was reared

to farming, and married Miss Angelina, daughter of Lee

and Mary Whaley; he died March 5, 1878, and she about

the year 1860; there were born to them three children:

John T., Charles L., and Mary C, now wife of F. M. My-

ers, of Bourbon County. John T. was born in the pre-

cinct where he now lives. May 17, 1866; he married Miss

Lucinda Collins, daughter of B. F. and Sally (Turney)

Collins, of Bourbon County. The ancestors of Mr. Tal-

bott have been an agricultural people, his early life hav-

ing been spent on his father's farm; he also has engaged

in the same business. The Talbott is an extensive

family in the county, and John T. is a worthy represent-

ative of so hardy a pioneer as Henry Talbott.
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SCOTT COUNTY.

GEORGETOWN CITY AND PREGINCT.
WILLIAM WRIGHT ALLEN, P. O. Georgetown;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., October, 1824; his

father, Joseph Allen, was born in Loudoun County, Va., in

1792; in 1812, he removed to Bourbon County, settling

five miles east of Paris; he was a very successful farmer,

and had accumulated about 300 acres of land in Scott

County at the time of his death; he was quite an exten-

sive stock raiser; in 1824 he removed to Scott County,

Oxford Precinct, where he remained until his decease in

1846; he participated in the war of 1812; the grandfather

of our subject was D.ivid Allen, who was also born in

Loudoun County, Va.; he came to Bourbon County with

his wife, five sons and three daughters; the mother of our

subject was Catharine Skilltnan, daughter of Isaac Skill-

man; they were natives of Virginia; she was born in 1800;

came to Bourbon County, in 1816, and mirried in 1818;

she is now living in Oxf )rd Precinct, Scott Couty; she

had eight children, the third of whom was our subject

who was brought by his parents to Scott County when

but three months old; he attended the common schools of

Scott County; in 1849, he commenced business for him-

self, engaging in farming, for which purpose he removed

to Fayette County, where he remained only one year,

then returned to Scott County, where he has since fol-

lowed farming; on Feb. 12, 1848, he married Miss Fran-

ces Skillman, of Fayette County; she was born in 1832,

and died in August, 1849 ; in 1851, he married Keziah

Brand, born in 1828, in Bourbon County ; she was a

daughter of Richard Brand, the son of Dr. Brand, of

Paris, Ky.; Frances Brand was born in 1798, near Stanton,

Va.; she was married there and came to Bourbon County,

Ky., in 1827 ; by his first marriage he has one daughter,

Frances Wright, who is married, and now lives in Scott

County ; by his last marriage he has three daughters:

Mattie C, Anna L., Josie S., living, and one son dead;

the son was James William, who was attending school,

and was accidentlly killed by one of his playmates and

school friends with a gun ; he was hunting birds while

enjoying recess at school. During his life-time Mr. Allen

has accumulated 350 acres of choice land, situated on

the Oxford Pike; he calls his farm " Maple Grove."

R. C. ADAMS, farmer; P. O. Georgetown; was born

in Scott County, Ky., to Jerry and Patsey (Scott)

Adams, Nov. 25, 1818. He was of Scotch descent; born

in Maryland, July 27, 1764, where he learned the trade

of a carpenter; he emigrated to Kentucky in about 1780;

during his life worked at his trade, and also followed the

occupation of farming; he died in 1852. She was of

Irish descent, born in Harrison County, Sept. 25, 1783,

and died in 1874; she was the mother of twelve children,

R. C. Adams being the eighth child and seventh son. He
received his education from the common schools of Scott

County; at the age of twenty-three, left home with only

two dollars and fifty cents in his pocket; with that he

made his start in life, He commenced by trading in

stock in New Orleans—making three trips a year, and

continuing the same for six years; in 1849 he settled

down at farming in Scott County, at which he still contin-

ues upon his handsome farm of 150 acres of well improved

land, most of the improvements having been made by him-

self. In 1849 he was married to Miss Mary J. Moore, who
was born in Scott County and died in May, 1879, aged fif-

ty-one years. Mr. Adams has had four children: Sarah,

Alice, married and living in Lexington; Eliza and Bun-

nie C, at home; Medine, who died in 1861. Mr. Adams
is a man of good habits and has the esteem of all who

know him. He is a member of the A., F. & A. M.,

and with his family unites with the Christian Church.

In politics, he was an old Line Whig, but now is iden-

tified with the Democratic party.

JOHN ANDERSON, P. 0. Georgetown ; was born

in the County of Meath, in the town of Athboy, Ireland,

in June, 1827. He left his native home in 1846, having

received there a good common school education, and hav-

ing learned the requisites of a good farmer. He arrived

at New York City in April, 1847, where he enlisted in

General Worth's regiment, Company K., Div. Eighth

Infantry of the Regular Army, and fought in the battles

of Cerro Gordo an d Chapultepeo and others. In 1848 he

came to Kentucky, locating in Scott County, where he

worked at stone masonry for five years, when he engaged

in gardening and horticulturing, for which he had formed

a taste in his school days, having then in Ireland receiv-

ed some instructions in forestry. In the fall of 1862 he
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enlisted in General Buford's Brigade, Sixth Kentucky-

Infantry, and fought until the battle of Murfreesboro

when he was taken sick and returned home^ By the war

he lost all he had accumulated, and since 1863 he has

had charge of the Cemetery, doing all the landscape gar-

dening in a manner calling forth the admiration of all.

He is engaged in the culture of flowers which abound

in great variety at the Cemetery for decorative purposes.

ELLY BLACKBURN, farmer and stock raiser; P.

O. Great Crossings ; was born in Scott County, Ky., in

1843 ; he is a son of Dr. Churchill .1. Blackburn. He
spent a time in Georgetown College, but finished his

education in the school of B. B. S lyre, at Frankfort.

He enlisted in the 13th Arkansas Infantry in 1862,

but was transferred the following year to the 9 th

Kentucky Cavalry, Col. W. C. P. Breckinridge's regi-

ment ; while in the Infantry he was at Perryville, Ky.,

and Murfreesboro, Tennessee ; he was a member of

Wheeler's Corps, and participated in the numerous

engagements of the army of the Tennessee ; at Jug
Tavern near Athens, Georgia, he was captured, but

soon made his escape ; he served until the close of

the war. In 1866 he married Miss Virginia, daughter of

Alexander D. OflFutt, of this county, and since their union

he has engaged in farming. He has paid considerable

attention to the rearing of short-horn cattle. His pres-

ent place of 371 acres, situated on North Elkhorn, is ap-

propriately named "Elkwood." The father of our sub-

ject was born near White Sulphur, this county, in 1803;

was educated in the schools of the county, and at a

private school in Jefferson County, Ky. ; he studied medi-

cine with his father. Dr. C. J. Blackburn, of Versailles,

Ky., whose name he bears, and attended lectures at the

Transylvania University, at Lexington, in President

Holly's time ; he located for practice near White Sulphur

in about 1830, and practiced for twenty years, with suc-

cess, when he gave it up for farming, at which also he was

very successful, amassing an estate of 500 acres; he was

three times married; successively, first, to Miss Keene, of

Lexington, who bore him one child ; his second wife was

Miss Elly, of Scott County, who bore him the sub-

ject of this sketch, and a third wife was Mrs. Branham, of

Woodford County; his grandfather was Julius Blackburn

a native of Virginia, who fought five years in the Revolu-

tionary war, and came to Kentucky in 1790, first living

in Woodford County, but afterwards moving to this

county.

DR. WILLIAM H. BARLOW; Georgetown; was

born in Scott County, Ky., Sept. 13, 1809. He is of

Virginia parentage. His father, Thomas H. Barlow, was

a substantial farmer. Susannah (Isbel) Barlow was his

mother. His father was a particular Baptist ; his death

occurred in 1825. The subject of this sketch was edu-

cated in the Rittenhouse Academy, which afterwards be-

came the Georgetown College. He began the study of

medicine at the age of sixteen, with Dr. Alexander C.

Keene, of Georgetown, continuing three years. In 1827

he began the practice of his profession in Georgetov^n,

where he has since practiced, in all forty-five years.

During the years 1829-30 he was located at Florence,

Ky., and from 1832 to 1836 was in Williamstown, Ky.

Dr. Brirlow is a vegetarian, not having tasted a particle

of animal food for thirty-seven years, to which fact he

attributes his good health, never having had a headache

in his life, and having been confined but five days in his

life-time. He has practiced fifty-four years in regular

practice, being busy night and day. He never refused

to go on account of poverty of both black and white,

and to the poor gave his medicine. He has been in at-

tendance at foiir thousand births. In 1881 he retired,

feeling that he had done enough actual labor for one life-

time. Dr. Henry Craig was a fellow student of his at

college, and in the office of Dr. Keene ; he was his co-

temporary in practice. Dr. Barlow has made a study of

literature, being familiar with French ; he has a large

collection of medical works in that language. He has

collected a large library of several hundred standard

works, with which he is perfectly familiar. la 1827 he

married Miss Louisa Allgaier, of Cincinnati, Ohio. They
raised nine children, three of whom are still living, viz :

FeresaV., wife of Frank A. Lyon, of Lexington, Capt.

E. C. Barlow, and Ouida, now Mrs. Harry S. Orr, of

Georgetown. Dr. Barlow's father brought the first race-

horse to the county ; it was Lamplighter. He kept a

stallion and bred blooded horses, but was never on the

turf.

CAPT. EDWARD C. BARLOW, jeweler, George-

town; was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1829, and was but

four years old when his parents returned to Georgetown,

Ky., where they had formerly resided; he was educated in

the Georgetown College and the Western Military Insti-

tute, where he was a pupil of James G. Blaine, then a teach-

er for Col. Thornton Johnson. Our subject left school in

1849 to learn the jeweler's trade with T. J. Shepard, and

in 1851 engaged in the jewelry business; he married in

1851 Miss Sarah Rawlins, daughter of Dr. .James Raw-

lins, of this county. Mr. Barlow pursued his calling at

Georgetown until 1863, when he enlisted in the 40th Ky.

Mounted Infantry, in which he first served as Adjutant,

but was promoted to the Captaincy of Co. " B," in 1864.
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He served in the Department of Kentucky, and partici-

pated in several engagements with Gen. Morgan and

Adam Johnson. He was mustered out and honorably-

discharged Dec. 31, 1864; on his retvirn Capt. Barlow en-

gaged in the pursuits of civil life, with little interruption

except three disastrous fires which occurred respectively,

in 1869, 1875 and 1876, destroying his business blocks,

and entailing an aggregate loss of $20,000. In 1875, he

built his present business block in which is located Bar-

low's Hall, at a cost of $16,000. It is the only public

hall in the city, and has a seating capacity of 600. Capt.

Barlow has been a member of the City Council since

1862, except two years. He is the active friend of public

improvements, and a zealous advocate of common schools.

His son, James W., is an active member of the firm of

Barlow & Son, which does an extensive business in jew-

elry, silverware, books and wall-paper.

DUDLEY COOK, farmer; P. O. Dry Run; was born

in Fayette County, Ky., to John and Elizabeth (Din-

gle) Cook, Oct. 11, 1825; he was a farmer, and died in

1862; she was a native of Maryland; camo to Fayette

County when quite young, and died in 1864; was the

mother of nine children, four daughters and five boys,

our subject- being the youngest. He was compelled to

receive his education from the common schools, such as

his country alfo.-ded in that day. In 1846 he began farm-

ing and trading in stock on his own account; in 1857

removed to Boone County, and in 1865 removed to his

present residence, where he has since remained, engag-

ed in farming. He is the owner of 363 acres of well

improved land, situated on the Cincinnati Pike, five

miles from Georgetown. He commenced life a poor boy,

and by his close economy and hard work, succeeded in

gaining a good property. In March, 1857, he was mar-

ried to Miss Eliza Cook, a native of Scott Qounty, born

in 1836. Mr. and Mrs. Cook have had five children,

three of whom are now living, viz : Oscar, Charley

and Warren. Mr. Cook is a gentleman commanding

the respect of all the people of his community. He

has always acted independent of sects or denominations,

yet always favored anything knowr to be right, and is

not in sympathy with any scheme or enterprise that

will not augment the interests of the people at large.

He is no partisan, but a firm and solid Democrat.

ROBERT COOK, Junior; P. 0. Georgetown. The

father of our subject was Robert Cook, Senior ; he was

born in Port Royal, Va., on March 10, 1782, and was a

small boy when he came here with his widowed mother;

her husband, who was a native of England and a carpen-

ter by trads, having died in Virginia. His mother set-

tled within two and a half miles of Georgetown, and, as

she was poor, he worked hard and purchased a tract of

land consisting of one hundred acres, of one Asa Stone,

an old Indian hunter ; this tract was situated on McCon-

nell's Run. He married on Sept. 15, 1810, to Miss Sarah

Curry, a neighbor, who was born Oct. 17, 1791. She

bore him twelve children, ten of whom grew up to ma-

turity. He died in 1873, being in his ninety-second

year ; she followed four years later ; both were members

of the Christian Church. The subject of this sketch was

born in September, 1820, in Scott County, Ky. ; he was

educated in the schools of the neighborhood, and when

grown followed farming, the pursuit his father also had

chosen. He dealt extensively in mules for a period of

twenty years. While his parents lived he lived with them

and cared for them.

HON.WILLIAM S. DARNABY, lawyer; Georgetown;

was born Dec. 20, 1821, in Fayette County, Ky.; his father

James Darnaby, was surveyor of Fayette County for thirty

years; was for a time Deputy Sherifi^; a Kentuckian by

birth, of Virginia parents; his mother was Ellen Sharp,

daughter of Richard Sharp, of Fayette County. Wil-

liam Sharp Darnaby received a good education in the

best private schools of the country; served eight years

as Deputy Surveyor of Fayette County; at the age of

twenty-two, commenced the study of law with Samuel

R. Bullock, of Lexington; attended two. courses of law

lectures at Transylvania University; graduated in 1846;

in the following year entered upon the practice of his

profession, at Georgetown, where he has since resided;

was County Attorney of Scott County for twelve years,

serving two terms before, and one after, the war; was

elected to the State Senate, in 1857; was, from the first,

a strong sympathizer with the cause of the South; ac-

companied Bragg's Army; was appointed aid to Provis-

ional-Governor Harris, with the rank of Colonel; and,

at the close of the war, returned to Georgetown, and re-

sumed the practice of his profession, in which he has

taken a leading rank in central Kentucky. In politics

he is a Democrat, of the States Rights School. Col.

Darnaby was married in 1859, to Miss Fannie H. I;ind-

say, daughter of James M. Lindsay, of Scott County.

In 1872, he was again married, to Miss Lizzie Wheeler,

of Hampton, Virginia.

HON. SAMUEL M. DAVIS, State Senator
;

Georgetown ; is the son of Theophilus Davis, who was a

prominent farmer of his native county of Shelby, and died

in 1845, leaving four sons and three daughters. Of this

number, the oldest brother. Col. John F. Davis, served in

the Confederate army, on the staff of Gen. John C.
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Breckinridge, and during the last year of the war, com-

manded an Alabama regiment, and was elected Clerk of

the Shelby County Court, being also a prominent can-

didate for the Clerk of the Kentucky Court of Appeals,

in the race of 1883. Oar subject, Sirauel M. Davis, was

born in Shelby County, Ky., Aug. 3, 1836. He laid the

foundations for his future usefulness in a good English

education, obtained in the common schools and Shelby

College. On attaining manhood he engaged in farming

and trading in his native county, until 1866, when he re-

moved to Georgetown, and purchased a farm near its

limits, and continued farm operations with increased

success, dealing largely in stock of all kinds, until 1878.

In September, 1878, he formed a partnership with]J. Webb
and conducted a large and successful business in dry

goods in Georgetown, until 1883. In politics, Mr. Davis

has always been a staunch Democrat, and was first elec-

ted to the Georgetown Board of Trustees in 1871, and

served in that body seven years, the last three as its Chair-

man. He was elected Chairman of the County Demo-
cratic Committee in 1879, and discharged its duties with

ability during the campaigns of 1880 and '81. He was

nominated in July, 1880, to fill the unexpired term of Jas.

Blackburn, in the State Senate, from the 33nd Senatorial

District, and elected to the office without opposition.

Mr. Davis is Chairman of the Senate Committee on Sink-

ing Fund, and member of the following committees:

Penitentiary, Bank, and Insurance, Morals of Religion,

and Propositions and Grievances. He was married in

1865, to Miss Alice, daughter of Joseph B. Kenney, of

Georgetown, and has two children living.

NOTLEY ESTES, Circuit Clerk ; Georgetown; was

born in Scott County, Ky., Feb. 19, 1836 ; his father,

Thomas Estes, was born in Spottsylvania County, Va., in

1785; came to Kentucky when a mere boy with his par-

ents, who first settled in Fayette County; he married a

Miss Truitt in 1810, settling in Scott County, where he

lived for half a century ; of his first marriage there are

six children; he was married a second time to a Mrs.

Spencer who bore him one child; he followed the occupa-

tion of farmer with moderate success, and died in Owen
County, in 1863. Our subject is the youngest living son

of Thomas Estes by the first marriage, and was raised on

the farm where he was denied all except the meager

training which the early schools of his neighborhood af-

forded; he began selling goods in 1853, at Eagle Post

Office, and followed it for a time in connection with his

farm; from 1854 to 1874 Mr. Estes dealt in live stock,

driving to the Covington and Louisville markets; he

acted for about twenty years as Deputy Clerk for the

northern part of Scott County; at the August election of

1880, Mr. Estes was elected Clerk of the Circuit Court

by the Democrats of Scott County, the duties of which

he is now discharging; he was married in 1853 to Miss A.

R. Offutt, daughter of Thomas Offutt, of Scott County.

PROF. JONATHAN EVERETT FARNHAM;
Georgetown; is the eldest son of Roger Farnham, a

native of Massachusetts, whose father settled in Connect-

icut prior to the Revolutionary War, and was born Aug.

13, 1809; his father died in 1817; but, leaving the fami-

ly in comfortable circumstances, Prof. Farnham was en-

abled to acquire a good education. He first attended

the common schools, pursued his preparatory studies in

the New Hampshire Classical Institute, in New Hamp-

shire, and then entered Colby University, under the pres-

idency of Dr. Chaplin. In 1833, he graduated, with the

degree of A. B., and for two years was engaged as tutor

in the institute. He then studied law at Providence,

R. I., for three years, and afterwards at Cincinnati. In

1838, he was appointed Professor of Physical Science, at

Georgetown College, which chair he is now filling. Dur.

ing this period of time, he controlled the Georgetown

Female Seminary, the property of which he owned. This

was one of the most flourishing institutions of the West,

receiving, as it did, a very large patronage from the

Southern and Western States; in 1865, he disposed of

his interest. He is a member of the Baptist Churchy and

contributed freely toward its support and advancement.

In 1838, he was married to Miss E. Butler, daughter oi

Rev. John Butler, of Winthrop, Maine, and is the father

of three children, all of whom are still living and mar-

ried. He is a man of great force of character, sociable

in disposition, and agreeable in manners. His success

as a teacher has been eminent.

JAMES L. GRIFFITH, farmer; P. O. Payne's Depot.

The subject of this sketch dates his ancestry to Wil-

liam Griffith, who was born in the year 1760, in the

State of Virginia, and his parents emigrated to that

State from Wales in England, but the exact date is

not certainly known. He came to Kentucky from

Greenbrier County, now West Virginia, and landed

at Louisville on fiat boats, in the year 1787. A con-

siderable company of emigrants accompanied him, the

most of whom found their way with him to Steele's Run,

in Nicholas County, where they settled and where their

descendants live to this day. Among the leading fam-

ilies that accompanied him, and whose descendants are to

be found there, were those of William and Hamlet

Collier, Martin and William Baker, from whom Baker's

school house on said stream was named ; William, John,
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and Nathaniel Conway; the father of the present John

Hardy, and perhaps others. The land where they settled

was then a part of Bourbon County, but was afterwards

made a part of Nicholas County. William Griffith

received a grant of land from the State of Virginia, a

part of which is in the hands of his descendants to this

day, having first passed to his son, Martin Griffith, and

from him to the late William A. Griffith, and is now held

by his children. In person William Griffith was tall and

commanding, his body was strong, vigorous and athletic,

and the strength and manliness of his intellect was fully

in keeping with the vigor of his body. He was active

in all the duties that pertained to the infant settlement,

and his great energy and force of character suited him

for the age in which he lived. He had considerable

knowledge of the civil and common law, and was well

versed in the politics of the day, and the people were

not long in recognizing his worth, and usefulness. He
was first elected one of the Justices of the Peace of

Bourbon County. He was also a member of the Ken-

tucky House of Representatives for the session of 1799.

For some years previous to the said session of the Legis-

lature, the people had been agitating the questions relat-

ing to a new Constitution for the State of Kentucky, in all

of which he took an active interest and a leading part, and

when it was determined to frame a new Constitution,

William Griffith was chosen one of the three delegates

from Bourbon County to frame the Constitution of 1799.

His political knowledge and wisdom was well understood,

and his energy greatly facilitated the formation of that

instrument. His colleagues from Bourbon County in

that work were Nathaniel Rogers und James Dnncan.

After the Constitution had been framed and ratified by

the people, William Griffith was taken sick with a fever,

and died during the year 1800, at the age of forty, at the

very beginning of his usefulness, greatly beloved and

respected. He was buried on his own land, in a family

graveyard, laid out by himself, he being the first to oc-

cupy it. Before leaving Virginia, William Griffith had

married Sally Baker, a sister of Martin and William

Baker, who proved to be more than an ordinary woman,

and whose early life seemed to be a necessity to the early

settlers. At that time doctors were few and liveci a great

way apart. After coming to Kentucky she studied med-

ecine and soon mastered the knowledge of herbs, and

before civilization had cast its mantle over the county,

her practice had extended far and near. She died in the

year 1835, after having spent a life of great usefulness.

For some years after the settlement was first made, In-

dians made frequent raids through the country. On one

occasion they captured and carried off two horses belong-

ing to William Griffith, and at another time they cap-

tured and carried off a negro slave belonging to him,

who had gone fishing at Steele's Ford, on Hinkston.

The negro was never afterwards heard from. The chil-

dren had sometimes to be hid in the cane brakes, and the

men had sometimes to follow the raiding Indians. Wil-

liam Griffith left several sons and daughters whose de-

scendants are now scattered over Kentucky and the

West. The oldest son of William Griffith was Major

William Griffith, who settled in Harrison County, be-

tween Cynthiana and Leesburg, Ky. He showed marked

ability as a financier, and left a handsome estate as the

reward of his industry. He made several successful trips

to New Orleans upon flat boats, to take out the products

of Kentucky's virgin soil before steam boats had become

in use on the Mississippi, and brought his money home

in saddle pockets on horseback. He was a Major in the

State Militia, and was held in high esteem by all who
knew him. He was born in Virginia on the 5th day of

November, 1783, and died July 7, 1843. His grandson,

Wm. K. Griffith, now owns the farm where he lived and

died. The second son of William Griffith was Martin

Griffith. He was born in Greenbriar County, Va., in

1784, and came to Kentucky when three years old. He
lived fifty-one years on the land that had been owned by

his father; he then moved to Calloway County, Mo.,

where he lived for thirty-three years, and died on the 6th

of January, 1868, at the age of eighty-seven years. Pie

was a successful farmer, an active Mason, an Elder in the

Presbyterian Church and a charitable and useful citizen.

He left sons and daughters, all of whom settled in Mis-

souri except the late William A. Griffith, who died upon

the old homestead, June 28, 1879. Samuel Griffith was the

third son of William Griffith. He lived at Scott's Station,

in Harrison County, Ky. He served the people of Harri-

son County one term in the lower branch of the Kentucky

Legislature. He was a faithful Representative, a useful

man and apopular citizen. Thomas Griffith was the fourth

son of William Griffith. He was a soldier of the war of

1812 and acquitted himself honorably in that war; he after-

wards moved to Missouri, where his descendants now live,

John Griffith was the fifth son of William Griffith ; he

lived and died near Millersburg, Ky. He was an excel-

lent citizen; kind and hospitable and charitable to a fault;

he left no children to inherit his excellent traits of char-

acter. The descendants ofWilliam Griffith are now quite

numerous, and many of them have proved themselves

useful, successful and honored citizens. William A.

Griffith, whose death is recorded above, was born Feb. 29,
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1808; his wife, Cynthia Mathers, was born in 1801, and

died in 1841 ; she was the mother of four children, of

whom James L., the subject of this sketch, was the old-

est ; he graduated at the College of Danville, in 1856,

after which he engaged in a merchandising and milling

business at Pleasant Valley, where he remained until

1861, when he obtained a license to practice law and en-

tered upon the practice of that profession in 1862, at

Cynthiana. He filled the offices of City Attorney and

City Assessor in connection with his other professional

duties ; he remained at Cynthiana until 1873, when he

moved to Scott County, and purchased a farm and turn-

ed his attention to farming ; his farm is situated on the

Lexington, Bethel and Moore's Run Pike,and contains 165

acres of choice farm land, which he has placed in a high

state of cultivation, and he is now engaged in growing

the usual farm crops and handling high-grade stock.

During the first year of his farm life he built a fine frame

residence, which was destroyed by fire in the fall of 1879,

and has been replaced by a fine brick edifice, which is

an honor to himself, and is spoken of as one of the finest

residences in the county. He was married near where
he now lives, June 11, 1870, to Miss Adrienne Graves,

who was born May 13, 1846 ; she has borne to him seven

children, viz. : James, born Jan. 17, 1873 ; Mary E.,

born Oct. 18, 1875; her twin died in infancy; James W.,
born Oct. 3, 1877, and died the following year; William

D., born April 5, 1879 ; Warren H., born Oct. 15, 1880.

Mrs. Griffith was a daughter of Jeiferson and Mary
(Dunn) Graves ; he born Aug. 6, 1803, died March 30,

1880 ; she died in 1847. Mr. Griffith is a true gentleman

and a thorough business man, and in him are embodied

all the noble qualities for which his ancestors were noted.

Religiously himself and wife are connected with the

Presbyterian Church. Politically he is Democratic.

HARVEY C. GRAVES, retired; P. 0. Georgetown;

was born in Fayette County, Ky., Feb. 19, 1804. The
Graves family claim a French origin, and, although the

time of their arrival in America is a matter of conjecture,

long before the Revolutionary war they were residents

of Virginia. His father, John Graves, was born in Vir-

ginia, and while quite a young man came to Kentucky,

locating in what was then Fayette County. He after-

wards returned to Virginia, married, and brought his

young wife to his new home in the wilderness, and, in all

the conflicts with the Indians, and the trials and suffer-

ings of the early settlements, he took an active part.

During the war of 1813, he was appointed commander of

a Company of militia, and, in various ways, was an in-

fluential and valuable man in the early history of that

part of the State. Harvey C. Graves was the fourth in a

family of seven children, and, although his father had

acquired some means, and was the owner of a fine tract

of land in the best part of the State, he grew to manhood

on his father's farm without opportunities for more than

ordinary education. He early took an active interest in

public affairs, and being a man of fine natural ability and

superior judgment, he became of great service to his

county, especially in building up of the various interests

of Georgetown, where his counsels have been felt through-

out a long life. He was one of the movers in the estab-

lishment of the Georgetown College, and not only made
a donation for that purpose, but gave his influence to-

ward building it up, and served as one of its trustees for

several years. He was one of the projectors of the

" Farmer's Bank " of Georgetown, and has been a mem-
ber of its directory since its organization. At the organ-

ization of the Warrendale Female Seminary, he was

elected one of the Board of Trustees, and has since held

that position. He has been an extensive farmer and
stock raiser of Scott County, and was for many years the

largest hemp grower in his part of the country. In pol-

itics, he was a member of the Whig party, and stood by
the Union throughout the dark days of the rebellion.

Lately, he has been identified with the Democratic party.

For many years he has been an elder in the Christian

Church, and has, during his entire life, been one of the

most active and valuable men in his community, and, by
an active, successful, public-spirited, unselfish life, he
has made the world better for his having lived in it. Mr.
Graves was married in 1839, to Miss Lucinda Garth,

daughter of John Garth, 'of Scott County; and after her

death, was married again in 1837, to Miss Martha
R. Crockett, daughter of N. Crockett, of Fayette County.
They have two children, Elenora, wife of James H. Ken-
ney, of Georgetown; and Isadora, wife of John W.
Berkley, of Lexington.

JOHN S. GAINES; P. O. Georgetown; was born in

Fayette County, near the Scott County line, on March 38,

1844 ; he attended Georgetown College, leaving in 1861;
in 1863, he enlisted in Colonel W. 0. P. Breckinridge's
regiment, which, under General Morgan, became the 9th

Kentucky Cavalry. He participated in the operations of
Kentucky and Tennessee; he was captured at Glasgow,
Kentucky, where ahorse was shot under him; he was sick

in prison at Louisville, and Mumfordsville, Ky., until

April, 1863, when he was released on oath ; he was but
seventeen when he enlisted, and received a certificate

from his superior officers previous to his capture; in 1863
he returned to Fayette County, and the following year
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went to Missouri, where he remained until the close of

the war ; in the fall of 1869, he came to Georgetown,

and engaged in the livery business until 1872, when he

entered the grocery business, at which he has since con-

tinued, his present grocery being situated on the north

side of Main street; he employs three clerks; he occupies

four stories of the building. No. 14; it is connected with

the elevator, and does a volume of business, reaching to

$50,000 per annum ; his father, O. W. Gaines, born in

Fayette County, Ky., was a farmer, and died in 1847; he

was a son of F. Strother Gaines, who came from Culpep-

per County, Va., and settled near Little Elkhorn, Fay-

ette County, in 1803, and who died in 1860, aged eighty-

three years; his father and grandfather were members of

the Baptist Church.

PROF. R. L. GARRISON; Georgetown; was born

in Boone County, Ky., in 1846, and when a boy moved

to Owen County; he attended Georgetown College

four years, reached the senior year, and left in 1875^

to take charge of the Georgetown Public Schools, since

which time he has retained the office of Principal, being

an earnest and eflBcient worker. The schools were in a

deplorable condition when he took them in charge, but

he commenced at the foundation and renovated the en-

tire system, making and carrying out a good and thorough

course of study; he has three departments and six grades.

When he began he had about sixty pupils, and now en-

rolls 138. His work deserves special commendation, both

as to education and discipline. .,

JOHN DeGARIS, miller and farmer ; P. O. George-

town ; was born Dec. 34, 1807, on the Island of Guernsey.

He received a good education in French, and at sixteen

was apprenticed to learn the carpenter's trade, at which

he worked on his native Island, until 1831, when he came

to America, locating on Cape Breton Island, on the Gulf

of Canso, working at carpentering on the cabins of ves-

sels for two years, when he removed to Philadelphia,

Penn., where he worked in an organ factory for over two

and a half years. Going back to his native home, he re-

mained something over a year. In 1839, he came to Lex-

ington, Ky., where he became a contractor and builder,

remaining about sixteen years. In 1854, he bought the

present mill of Henry Prewitt, and since has run it, giv-

ing some attention to farming in connection therewith.

His mill has two run of buhrs, and does a custom and

merchant business. In 1854, he married Miss Mary E.

Cannon, daughter of Alexander Cannon, of Georgetown.

L. L. HERNDON, faimer; P. O. Great Crossings,

whose portrait appears in this work, was born to John

and Elizabeth Herndon, on March 39, 1811, his birth-

place being three miles from Georgetown, Scott County,

Ky, His parents were married in 1810, and his mother

was a daughter of Major Rodes Thompson, of Scott

County. His father was born in Orange County, Va.,

in 1780, and came to Kentucky about 1S09 ; being an

invalid, and coming with a few servants and but limited

means, it was due alone to his great energy and per-

severance that he achieved pecuniary sucoesi from farm-

ing and the manufacture of hemp, which he began near

Georgetown as early as 1835, being one of the first man-

ufacturers. At the time of his death, which occurred in

1849, he owned several large factories. His wife bore

him eigrht children, four sons and four dauo-hters. Like

him, she was a consistent member of the Christian

Church ; she died in 1832. Three of the sons are resi-

dents of Scott county, and one lives in Henry county.

His father was again married, the lady being Mrs.

Prewitt, of Woodford County ; she bore him two

daughters. L. L. Herndon was educated in the schools

of this county ; at twenty-one he began farming. In

1837 he went to Arkansas, where for a period of two

years he was engaged in cotton raising. In his early life

he,like his father, raised a few thorough-bred horses, but

was never a turfman in the modern sense. He moved

to his present place at the Crossings in 1850 ; this for-

merly was owned by Col. James Johnson. One' day re-

cently, while remodeling a building, a Georgetown news-

paper, published in 1810, was found between the wall

and the fire place mantel, and he sealed it up with others

of later dates, returning them to the same place. Mr.

Herndon has been extensively engaged in buying and

selling real estate, at which he has been very suecess-

ful, his operations proving lucrative. His present large

estate has been acquired largely by his own sturdy

efforts. Under the old constitution he was sheriff of the

county two terms. In 1859, Mr. Herndon made a tour

of continental Europe, in company with A. Keene

Richards and L. L. Johnson, making the trip for pleasure,

and the profit gained by observation.

REV. WM. J. H. HOWE; Georgetown; was born in

Clinton County, Ohio, near Wilmington, in 1843; he

received a thorough academic education at Wilmington,

and attended Butler University, Indiana (then " North

Western "). At the age of fifteen he began speaking in

public on various special subjects. He took an active

part in the Fremont campaign, speaking at mass-meet-

ings at that early age; in the campaign of 1860, for

Lincoln and Hamlin, he took an active interest. He be-

gan the study of law at seventeen, and pursued it for

several years, but never entered regular practice. In
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1873 he withdrew from the Republican party, and was

identified with the rise and organization of the National

Greenback party, being a delegate to the Toledo Con-

vention from the 5th Indiana District in 1875, which or-

ganized that party; in 1878 he withdrew from politics.

He united with the Christian Church at the age of nine-

teen, and in 1865 he began preaching; he was made
State Evangelist under the missionary organization of

the State, and traveled continually for one year. He
then located with the church at Centreville, Ind., of

which for one year he was pastor ; then he accepted a

call to the pastorate of the Christian Church at Corry,

Penn., serving a year, when he accepted a call to the

First Christian Church of New York City, serving a

year. Business matters requiring his attention and

presence in' the West, he severed his connection with

the New York church and located in Wsyne Co., Ind.

He then evangelized for four years in dififerent parts of

the StatCi In 1873 he went to Union City, Indiana, and

filled the pulpit of the Christian Church a year. In

1874 he was called to the First Christian Church of

Chicago, 111., but resigned in a short time on account of

ill health in his family. He returned to Wayne Co.,

Ind., where he evangelized until the close of 1878. In

January, ] 879, he began his labors as pastor of the Christian

Church of Georgetown, Ky., and has since continued.

During his ministry over 4,000 persons have been added

to the church. He refused the nomination of the Na-

tional and Democratic parties for Congress for the Fifth

Indiana Dist., because he felt that his duty lay in follow-

ing the ministry ; this nomination was equal to an elec-

tion. The Christian Church of Georgetown is the

mother of the reformation. In 18G8 he married Miss

Mary Scott, of Wayne Co., Ind.

JESSE HAMBRICK, farmer; P. O. Georgetown; was

born in Scott Oounty, Ky., July 15, 1803, to Jesse and

Liddie (Martin) Hambrick, natives of Virginia, and among
the first to enter upon pioneer life in Kentucky. He died

in 1862 ; she in 1803. Owing to the limited school priv-

ileges, Jesse, our subject, received only such an education

as could be obtained in the common schools at that early

day. He entered upon the battle of life as a farmer, and

has bj' his energy and industry accumulated 300 acres of

choice farm land, which "as a practical farmer " he keeps

in a high state of cultivation. He has always been an

extensive dealer and trader in stock, which he has carried

on in nearly all States. His farm is situated on the Dry

Run road, and the house in which he lives was built of

brick, by Waller Roads, in 1774, and was one of the first

brick residences built in Scott County. Mr. Hambrick

was married in Scott County, Jan. 14, 1837, to Delilah

Parker, who was born to Hutchinson and Sarah (Price)

Parker, natives of Maryland, July 11, 1805. She is the

mother of six children, viz : Santford, Wilford, Jesse,

Parker, Jnjliza Jane and Eve;mont. Mr. Hambrick is a

man of thorough business principles, and has always en-

joyed the highest esteem of the entire community.

Religiously, himself and wife are connected with the Bap-

tist denomination at Dry Run. Politically, his sympa-

thies are with the Democratic party.

J. A. HAMILTON, M. D., Georgetown; was born

Nov. 16, 1833, in West Union, Adams Co., Ohio. The
Hamiltons came from Virginia, and settled in Kentucky
at an early day, his father being the only member of his

branch of the family who settled in Ohio; his father

married Miss Matilda G. Armstrong, and reared two chil-

dren; his parents dying when he was ten years old, his

early education was conducted under the care of his rel-

atives at Midway, Kentucky; he subsequently entered the

Ohio Wesleyan University, where he completed his liter-

ary education, and in 1857 began the study of medicine

in Woodford County, under Dr. John Sutton, graduating

from the medical department of the University of Louis-

ville, in 1861; entered on the practice of his profession

at White Sulphur Springs, in Scott County, in 1870, lo-

cated at Georgetown, in that county, where he has since

resided, closely, actively, and successfully engaged in the

medical practice, associated with Dr. John A. Lewis; he

has written a number ofe valuable papers for the medical

journals, and although devoting himself mainly to the

duties of his profession, he has given a share of his atten-

tion to public interests, having been chairman of the

School Board—several years a member of that board;

President of the Georgetown Gas Company, and actively

connected with other local organization, standing deserv-

edly high among the most useful men of his community,
as well as occupying a prominent position in the medical

profession; he is Elder in the Presbyterian Church; is

Superintendent of its Sunday school; is identified with

every movement looking to the spiritual and temporal
welfare of the town, and is a man of exemplary and up-

right life. Dr. Hamilton was married in 1862, to Miss
Virginia W. Hamilton, daughter of Alexander and Sarah

Hamilton, of Woodford County, Ky.; they have six living

children.

REV. JOHN G. HUNTER, Georgetown ; has been
pastor of the Presbyterian Church of Georgetown, for

eleven years, during which time there have been added
to his church one hundred and fifty persons, and have
been contributed by his church about $30,000. Mr,
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Hunter wai tiura in Miyjville, Mason County, Ky.,

Nov. 13, 1840. His father, Mr. N. D. Hunter, now of

Louisville, is of a family who are the descendants of Sir

Robert Hunter, of Scotland, the second son of Hunter of

Hunterston, who served in the Ens^lish army under the

great Duke of Marlborough, was knighted for gallantry,

and rose to the rank of Major-General ; he was after-

wards appointed Governor-General of New York and

New Jersey, when those States were under the British

crown. SoTne of these Hunters married into the family

of Sir Francis Drake of the English Navy, and some into

the family connected with Sir William Wallace's family

of Scotland. The father and mother of N. D. Hunter,

John Hunter, and Jeanie Wallace, lived in West Chester

County, New York, on the Hudson, and by blood and

marriage were connected with the distinguished Dickin-

son family of New York and New Jersey ; with the

Edwards and Burrs, Presidents of Princeton College ;

with the Garnisses and Chases, both the Bishop and

Chief Justice of the United States Supreme Court. The

mother of J. G. Hunter was the daughter of Mr. George

Herbst, a wealthy banker of Maysville, the son of a Ger-

man nobleman, a burgomaster of Cassel, in Germany.

In 1861, the Rev. J. G. Hunter was graduated from Cen-

ter College, Danville, Kentucky, and began the study of

law, but gave up the profession to enter the service in

the Confederate States Army, and near the close of the

war he was commissioned a Captain while on furlough at

Richmond, by Secretary of War Selden. In 1867 he

was matriculated at Union Theological Seminary, Hamp-

den Sidney, Virginia, and after a three years' course of

study he was licensed to preach the gospel, and entered

upon his life work at Georgetown, where he has achieved

a successful ministry. In 1871 he married Miss Catharine

Breckinridge Waller, daughter of Henry Waller, form-

erly of Mason County, Ky. By this marriage he is con-

nected with the Breckinridges, Paynes, Langhornes,

amongst the most distinguished families in the State.

DR. HENRY C. HERNDON, farmer ; P. O. Great

Crossing ; was born in Scott County, Ky., Jan. 2, 1815,

and educated in Georgetown College, graduating in 1833.

He began the study of medicine with Drs. Ewing and

Gano. He spent two sessions in the Transylvania Uni-

versity. In 1836, he went to Chicot County, Ark., to

practice his profession, remaining eighteen months, when

he left on account of ill health ; he had secured a large

practice. He then located in the northern part of Scott

County, where he practiced three years, when he loca-

ted three miles from Georgetown ; here he engaged in

farming, giving up his practice ; remaining five years.

he left and came to his present place, where he has since

resided, his pursuit being fanning. He (jwms a tract of

275 acres, one half being in grazing, and the rest in cul-

tivatable land. He was married in 1837, to Miss Mary E.

Blackburn, daughter of Thomas Blackburn, of this Coun- _

ty. She died in 1854, leaving two sons and two daugh-

ters, one son having died since.

M. C. HALL, farmer ; P. O. Georgetown ; was born

in Bourbon County, Sept. 2, 1815, to Theophilus and

Mary A. (Heathraan) Hall ; he was a native of England,

and emigrated to America with his father, John Hall, and

settled where now is the city of Louisville, Ky.; he died

in 1850, aged eighty-four years ; she was born in Mary-

land, and died in Woodford County, Ky., in March, 1865,

aged eighty-four years ; they were the parents of eleven

children, M. C. Hall being the seventh child. His com-

mon school education was received in Bourbon County,

and at the age of twenty-one attended the Bacon College,

Georgetown ; he began business for himself by farming

and trading in the South, the former he still continues.

He is one of the largest land owners of Scott County,

having 1,700 acres of land, 1,400 of which border George-

town. Upon his farm he has a fine residence erected by

his own design, situated in sight of Georgetown on the

Lemon's Mill Pike; upon his farm he makes the breed-

ing and raising of "Almont ' horses and short-horns a

specialty. He has been twice married ; in Woodford

County, Aug 10, 1842, he married Mary Ann Sellers, who

died in 1845 ; in Bourbon County, in 1858, he married

a second time, Hannah E. Harris ; she died in 1879. By

his first marriage they had two children, both of whom

are dead ; and by his second marriage five children,

-Joseph M., Mary A., Susie W., John T., and Charley.

Mr. Hall is a man of good moral character, and bears a

name and reputation which is beyond reproach. He is

a member of the order of A. F. & A. M.

T. HOLDING, miller; P. O. Georgetown ; son of

Benjamin and Sarah (Barnett) Holding, was Lorn in

Scott County, Ky., on Jan. 31, 1831 ; his parents were

natives of Virginia, and came to Kentucky in 1805 ; his

father was a farmer; both parents were Methodists, and

with their son, James, were principal contributors to the

building of the brick church at the head waters of Eagle

Creek ; the church was called Mt. Gilead, but more gen-

erally known as Holding's Church. His father died in

1855, in this county, and his mother died in Missouri, in

1879, aged eighty-three. The subject of this sketch was

raised on Eagle Creek, and at the age of eighteen began

to learn mill wrighting, with Thompson & Curry, who

worked successively in Harrison, Scott and Bourbon
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counties. He continued with that firm about five years.

In January, 1855, he became a partner with S. R. Thomp-

son, in the present mill, which they ran three years, when

Mr. Holding removed to Livingston County, Mo., and

there worked at carpentering and other pursuits, until

1863, when he returned and again became the partner of

S. R. Thompson, continuing four years, when he bought

the mill at the Crossings, rebuilt and improved, and

owned it five years^. In 1875, he went to Missouri, and

in 1880, for the third time, canie into the Thompson mill,

as lessee. In the fall of 1881, he introduced the new
process of making flour. There are three run of buhrs,

with a capacity of thirty-five barrels of flour per day.

The mill employs three persons, and does a custom and

merchant business. The water-power is sufBcient for

nine months of the year, and steam is used for the re-

maining three months. They make three brands of choice

flour, which is shipped to various markets. Mr. Holding

has had an experience of thirty-two years in milling busi-

ness. The mill consists of two stories, the lower of stone,

the upper, frame. In addition there are an engine room,

wareroom, and other buildings.

DR. JOHN R. HALL, Georgetown, was born in

Washington County, Ky., and when two years old was

brought to Fayette County, where he grew up and was

educated in Transylvania University, being a pupil of

the renowned Dr. B. W. Dudley ; he graduated in medi-

cine in the spring of 1842, when he went to Vandalia,

111., two years later locating at Georgetown, Ky., where

he became the partner of Dr. John Randolph Desha,

continuing until 1847, having had a large practice. He
moved to Saline County, Mo., in 1855, nine years later

coming back to Scott County, Ky., and has since prac--

ticed here. He suggested the formation of the Scott

County Medical Society, and at his office in 1864 that

organization was formed ; he is president of the society,

an office he has held for a number of years. In 1843 he

married Miss Sarah Anna, daughter of Isaac Van Mister,

of Clark County; she died in_ 1844. In 1847 he married

Miss Julia M. Snell, daughter of Col. R. P. Snell, of

this county ; they have a son and daughter : William E.,

and Mrs. Jesse, of Georgetown. Dr. Hall was raised

near Lexington, and was the personal friend of John C.

Breckinridge; he has always been a Democrat.

GEORGE L. HAVEN, Georgetown, was born in

Kenton County, Ky., in April 1853; his father, Augi^stus

Haven, was born in Pittsburgh, Pa., in February, 1823,

and came to Ohio when a child. He was raised in Cin-

cinnati, and became a stockholder and director in Royer's

Wheel Company in that city. He married Miss Ellen

Longmoor, of Kenton County, Ky. He is the oldest

child of his parents, there being four others living. He
graduated from Chickering Institute in 1871. In Jan-

uary 1872, he began business with Howell, Gano & Co.,

as clerk in their wholesale hardware house, and continued

four years ; in 1876 he became traveling salesman, and

until October, 1881, traveled in Kentucky and Tennes-

see ; then he and his father bought the hardware house

of R. E. Roberts, and now conduct a hardware, stoves,

and queensware establishment on Main Street, under the

firm name of A. Haven & Son.

HON. GEORGE W. JOHNSON, deceased, was born

May 27, 1811, near Georgetown, Ky., and was the son of

Wm. Johnson and grandson of Col. Robert Johnson. He
obtained a fine literary education, graduating at Transyl-

vania University. He studied law and practiced that

profession for some time, but finally turned his attention

to agricultural pursuits ; and, besides his farming in-

terests in Kentucky, conducted cotton planting quite

extensively in Arkansas. In 1838 he was elected to the

Legislature from Scott County ; was always a Democrat;

represented his party on several important occasions
;

made the race for Presidential Elector in 1852 and 1860;

declined repeatedly to be a candidate for Congress

;

acquired great power in his party; was a thorough

student of political science. At the very outbreak of

the civil war, although not a combatant by reason of an

injured arm, he cast his lot with the South, and used

every exertion to induce Kentucky to follow the seceded

States; left his home with Breckinridge and others in

September, 1861; made his way to Virginia, and thence

to Tennessee and to Bowling Green, in his own State
;

set afoot and was largely instrumental in organizing a

provisional government for the State, and at the conven-

tion assembled at Russellville for that purpose, Nov. 18,

1861, he saw his desires carried into effect. A constitu-

tion for the State was adopted, under which Kentucky

was admitted under the Confederacy, and he was chosen

Provisional Governor. When the rapid events of the

war compelled the Confederates to retire from the south-

ern part of the ^tate, he accompanied the army; was a

part of the military family of the commander, Gen. A.

S. Johnston; participated in the councils resulting in

the movement from Corinth to Shiloh; went into that

great battle as aid to Gen. Breckinridge; was afterwards

aid to Col. Trabue, when the Kentucky brigade was

separated from Gen. Breckinridge; his horse was shot

from under him; he then entered the ranks of Capt.

Monroe's company, and fought during the rest of the

day. That night he took the oath of a private, and
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enrolled himself in Company E, Fourth Kentucky

Infantry. On the following day went into battle

and early fell, mortally wounded ; lay on the field

until the afternoon of the 8th, when he was dis-

covered by Gen. McCook and removed to a U. S-

hospital boat, where, receiving every possible care, he

died on the following morning, April 9, 1862. His re-

mains were sent to Louisville by Gen. John M. Harlan

and other Federal officers, and were from thence con-

veyed to his home in Scott County, where amidst a

great display of sympathy and popular regard his body

was interred. He was a brave, generous, noble hearted

man, and was greatly honored and respected in his com-

munity and State. He left a wife and seven children.

HENRY V. JOHNSON, County Attorney; George-

town ; son of George W. Johnson, was born in Scott

County, Ky., in 1853. He was educated at George-

town College, graduating in 1871. He read law with

Johnson & Brown, of Lexington, and graduated from the

Law Department of Kentucky University, in January,

1873. He then went to Louisville, where he read with

General John M. Harlan and Ben. H. Bristow, for a

period of eighteen months, and was admitted to the bar

in the Spring of 1873. He located permanently for prac-

tice in Georgetown in the fall of 1874, in that year be-

coming the partnei of W. S. Darnaby, until he was elected

to fill the unexpired term of Mr. Owens, in 1877. In

August, 1878, he was re-elected County Attorney for

fours years, which office he fills in an acceptable manner.

JOSEPH B. KENNEY. At the close of the Revo-

lutionary War James Kenney, who held the office of Cap-

tain in the army, removed from Virginia, his native State,

and settled on a farm about three miles from what is now

known as Paris, Bourbon County, Ky. He was a success-

ful farmer, raising large crops of hemp, then a compara-

tively new staple in the State ; he was twice married,

the first wife was a Miss Frame, of Virginia, and the sec-

ond wife was Misa Margret Johnson, of Nicholas County,

Ky. He had sixteen children. The twelfth child was

Joseph B. Kenney, the subject of our sketch, who was

born Jan. 19, 1806. On his father's farm he remained

till he reached his majority, when, on March 8, 1837, he

married Miss Lavinia Lander, and with her removed to

the adjoining county of Scott ;
purchasing about 360

acres in the Dry Run neighborhood, where the Burchs,

Burbridges and other influential families were living ; to

these acres he added others, from time to time, till he

possessed 1400 acres, which were all under his personal

successful management ; besides this land he owned a

number of slaves, about forty of whom were set free by

Lincoln's famous Proclamation. Togjthi.'r with the

special farming business, Mr. Kenney engaged largely in

buying and selling hogs, and for about twenty years he

packed hogs with the Messrs. S. Davis & Co., of Cincin-

nati. In 1858 Mr. Kenney gave up his home in the

country and the occupations, which for near half a cen-

tury had interested him, to move into Georgetown, in

order to co-operate with the Pastor of the Presbyterian

Church and others in the establishment of a female Sem-

inary in that city ; but this undertaking, by reason of

circumstances beyond his control, was not permanently

successful ; the Seminary, after doing some good work,

ceased to be one of the Institutions of the place ; still

Mr. Kenney remained in town (where he now resides)

identified with other public interests ; he has been a Di-

rector of the Farmer's Bank, of Ky., President of the

Lexington & Covington Turnp'ke Company, Magistrate

of the county, and Trustee of the town, usefully and

honorably discharging the duties belonging to these sev-

eral positions. In no department of activity has Mr. Ken-

ney's life been more conspicuous than in that connected

with the Church; for fifty years he has been a communicant

in the Presbyterian Church ; for.over forty-five years he

has held office in this church,.and for many years he has

been an efficient Ruling Elder ; his liberality to the

cause, his fidelity to his church, his zeal for its welfare,

none, who knew Mr. Kenney, could for one moment ques-

tion ; he is truly a . pillar in the church ; strong, even

though the weight of years is upon him. Mr. Kenney

has had ten children, six of whom are now living ; they

have married into other good families of the State, mak-

ing the family connection a large one. James H. Ken-

ney, the oldest son, married Miss Elenora W. Graves
;

Margaret married B. C. Glass, Esq. ; Sallie F. married

Joseph Force, Esq. ; Joseph F. married Miss MoUie

Thomas ; Napoleon B. married Miss Lizzie Rankin
;

Charles V. married Miss MoUie Grissim; Alice married

Hon. S. M. Davis, and Victor M. married Miss Agnes

Warren. Greatly blesssd and a blessing, Mr. and Mrs.

Joseph B. Kenney are enjoying a green old age.

SAMUEL Y. KEENE, farmer and breeder of thor-

oughbred horses ; P. O.', Georgetown ; was born in Scott

County, Ky., in 1817. He received his education in the

schools of his native county, and at the age of fifteen

went to Lexington to become a clerk in the store of T.

0. O. Rear ; here he continued for one year and then

went to Frankfort, Ky., where he remained about ten

years, the last five of which he was superintendent of

the inside department of the penitentiary, under his

uncle, who was warden at that time. He returned to
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Georgetown, Ky., in 1849, and engaged in the grocery

business u-rtil 1809, when his premises and stxDck were

destroyed by fire. Subsequent to this he associated him-

self with the late Keene Richards, and did a large busi-

ness in the rearing oil horses and mules for the southern

markets, for three years. He was breeding in connection

with Mr, Richards until 1876, when he separated from

him, taking a fine lot of thoroughbred mares, and the

stallion " Bullion " by " War Dance "; he has bred since

1876 from eight to ten colts annually, which are sold at

annual sales. "War Dance" was considered the best

bred son of Lexington. Mr. Keene is the oldest son of

the family. His father, Greenup Keene, was born in

Scott County, Ky., in 1791 ; his ancestors weie from

England, and settled originally in Maryland. His great-

grandfather, John Keene, came to this county about

1790 ; he was an Episcopal minister, and died here ; his

son, S. Y. Keene, was a physician and farmer, and very

fond of horses ; his wife died here, and he went back to

Maryland about the close of the last century and married

a Miss Goldsborough, remaining there till his death; left

here two daughters and one son, Greenup Keene, father

of our subject, -who died in 1875. He was a merchant

early in life and also engaged in farming. For many
years he lived with our subject, his son. He married

Miss Sallie Hanna, daughter of Roland Hanna, one of

the earliest settlers of Georgetown, and a very success-

ful merchant, of Irish birth. '

THOMAS C. KELLY, Georgetown; was born in

Fauquier County, Va., on Christmas Day, 1799; he was

educated in private schools of Virginia; in the spring of

1823, he came to Kentucky and' stopped in the vicinity

of Georgetown; he was accompanied by his brother,

George P., and a classmate; they came on horse-back,

the journey lasting fourteen days. It was not his inten-

tion to remain here, but the loveliness of the country

induced him to do so; he taught two years in Franklin,

and in 1825 married a Miss Kelly; then he returned to

Virginia, and after a year's stay, came back to George-

town, where he taught school one year. In 1829, he

started to Texas, but his wife took sick at New Orleans

and he returned to Franklin County, Ky., where he farm-

ed and taught school until 1833, when he moved to

Georgetown and closed up the estate of his father-in-law

and bought a farm. In 1844 he settled in Georgetown

and conducted the County Clerk's office for John T.

Johnson until 1852, when he went to New Orleans and

formed a partnership with Preston Thompson in the cot-

ton business, continuing until 1854, in the spring of

which year he went to Covington, Ky., where he con-

ducted the oflioe of Circuit Clerk for Major B irtlett un-

til 1863. He was a Union man. His great-grandfather

came to Virginia about the time of the settlement of

Jamestown, and he and the subject's grandfather were in

the Revolutionary war under General Washington, at the

taking of Cornwallis; his father was a Lieutenant and

his grandfather a Captain in the same war. Mr. Kelly's

health being impaired, he is not now engaged in any

active pursuit; his wi e died in 1840 and left one child,

James Y. Kelly, present cashier of the Deposit Bank, of

Georgetown.

JAMES LONG, breeder of trotting horses ; P. 0.

Georgetown ; was born Nov. 12, 1827, on the place

where he now lives. He was educated in the neighbor-

hood schools. He and his brother for years had the

manaarement of the homestead, and he at last bought it.

About 1870, he began the rearing of trotting horses,

from the sires, "Alraont," " Mambrino," " Patchen," and
*" George Miles." He bred, reared and trained Katie

Jackson, whose public record was 2:2Jr^ at four years,

and whose record at private trial was as low as 2:17. She

was sold in 1878 for $6,300. She was from George

Wilkes and Petoskey. He also reared Gracie Goodwin,

who has a record of 2:30. In addition he raised a goodly

number of trotters which sold young. He has a private

three-quarter mile track on his farm, for the development

of trotters, of which he now has several. When twenty

years old, he began dealing in coach and carriage horses,

and has had singular success. He continues at this oc-

cupation. His breeding farm, called " Carview," consists

of 220 acres, equally divided between grazing land and

cultivation. In June, 1861, he married Miss Susie M.

Peak, daughter of Dudley Peak, of this county. His

father, James Long, was born in this county in 1783. He
was a farmer and served in Col. R. M. Johnson's regi-

ment in the war of 1812. He was also a dealer in fine

horses, and bought the present place in about 1819, it

being then wild land. He married a Miss Bradford, of

South Carolina, whom he met while on a trading tour in

that State. The subject's grandfather, Nicholas Long,

was born in Virginia, and settled in this county about

1783. His father owned over 400 acres of land on which

he lived for over half a century.

A. K. LAIR, Georgetown ; was born in Harrison

County, Kentucky, in April, 1833, and was educated

there. ' He was a farmer and merchant before the war.

In 1861 he enlisted in Col. Hanson's 2d Kentucky Infan-

try, and participated in all the battles of the 1st Ken-

tucky Brigade, except Pittsburg Landing and Mission

Ridge ; he served until the close of the war ; after his
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return in 1866 he bought a mill at Lair's Station, Harri-

son County, Kentucky, and for four years conducted it

with fair success ; he was then engaged in merchandizing

at the same point ; in October, 1877, he came to George-

town and leased the Georgetown Mills, which he has

conducted ever since ; in July, 1880, he bought the

mill and property ; he employs five hands, and does a

custom and merchant business ; there are four run of

buhrs, and the capacity is sixteen bushels of wheat per

hour, patent process ; he makes two brands, the " Pure

Gold " and " Silver Dust ; " the products of the mill are

consumed largely by local demands; he built a stone addi-

tion for the storage of grain, at a cost of $4,000, and

overhauled the entire mill, putting in the patent process

in 1881 ; the new addition is 35x55 feet, and three stories

high ; the mill is run by water and steam, the engine be-

ing eighty-horse power.

JOHN A. MULLEN, proprietor of Central Hotel;

Georgetown ; was born in Switzerland, Ind., Jan. 4,

1841; his father is an old-school Methodist preacher, now

living at Florence, Ind.; he was born in Pennsylvania,

Feb. 22, 1814 ; his wife, Elizabeth Smith, was born in

Indiana, June 15, 1812; she was the mother of eight chil-

dren, of whom, John, the subject of this sketch was the

third; his parents moved to Kentucky when he was six

months old, and his school days were passed in the com-

mon schools of that State; he entered upon his career in

life as a carpenter and joiner; in 1862, he moved to In-

diana, and located at Vevay, where he remained sixteen

years, and assisted in the erection of many of the prom-

inent business blocks and dwelling houses of that places;

he was the originator of the Charter of Vevay,and formed

one of the City Council for a long time ; he was also a

prominent member of the I. O. O. F., of that place for a

number of years; he united with the Methodists when he

was but seventeen years of age, and has filled the posi-

tions of Class Leader and Sunday School Superintendent

several years; at present himself and wife are connected

with the Methodist Church of Georgetown, where he

moved in the year 1878, and followed his trade for several

years, being engaged in erecting some of the finest

blocks in the city;^in October, 1881, he opened the Cen-

tral Hotel, where he is still in business and performs the

duties of "mine host" with courteousness, alacrity and

ability; he was married march 2, 1865, to Louisa Kincaid,

who was born in Virginia, July 13, 1843; she has borne

him six children, viz. : Margaret, Sally, Jennie, Eva,

James, and Emma, the two latter of whom died in in-

fancy. Mrs. Mullen was a daughter of William and

Margaret (Scott) Kincaid, natives of Ireland. He born

in 1792, she in 1802, now living in Vevay, Ind. Mr.

Mullen is an energetic and enterprising man, and possesses

the qualifications necessary in gaining the good will of

all; politically he is a Democrat.

JUDGE JOHN G. MORRISON, coal-deakr; George-

town; was born near West Union, in Adims Coun-

ty, Ohio, October 23, 1810. He was left an orphan

at a very early age, and lived for a time with an uncle,

David Morrison, at Washington, Kentucky; he came to

Kentucky at the age of eight years. He moved to

Maysville in 1822, and thence to Lexington in 1824,

with another uncle, Richieson Morrison, a merchant
;

he was in that city when Lafayette made his visit there,

and remembers well the man whose name is prominent

in history. He lived in Lexington, acting as clerk in

his uncle's dry-goods store until 1830, when he moved

to Frankfort and there opened a like store of his own,

which continued two years. In 1832 he went to Phila-

delphia, Pennsylvania, and was salesman in a wholesale

dry-goods house for two years, when he returned to Lex-

ington again, doing business for himself. In 1836, at

Great Crossings, Scott County, Ky., he married Miss

Nancy B., daughter of Gen. William Johnson, and

the following year went to Phillips County, Ark., to

plant cotton, but was not successful in this new adven-

ture, owing to the overflow at that time. He returned

to Kentucky, living at Great Crossings from 1841 to

1857; from 1842 to 1846 he rode as deputy sheriff of

Scott County; he followed the occupation of farming

and rope-spinning from 1847 to 1816; in 1857 he moved

to Georgetown and has since that year resided in the

house he first made his home. In 1862 he was elected

county judge of Scott County, and served four years, his

election being made by the Union Party and without op-

position. In 1868 he was appointed United States Gang-

er for the 7th District of Kentucky, and for three years

served in that capacity, since which time he has engaged

in the lumber and coal business, his yard being located

on Hamilton street. He is a man who can adapt him-

self to many kinds of business, and as a citizen is much

esteemed. He has four children living and two de-

ceased. He is a Free Maion, and in politics was a Whig
and later a Republican. He has one brother and two

sisters living. His father was born in Ireland, and was

a fanner; he died about 1818.

JAMES F. MUSSELMAN, farmer; P. O. Dry Run;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., Dec. 5, 1838, to Wil-

liam and Martha (White) Musselman, natives of Ken-

tucky ; he born in Harrison County, Nov. 14, 1797;

was a farmer by occupation, and died Feb. 3" 1853 ; she

-^1^



tlSi^

602 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

born in Daviess County, Nov. 28, 1801; died July 30, 1854.

They were married Oct. 10, 1821, in Daviess County.

Their union resulted in three children, who grew to

maturity, viz : Mary Ann, born Oct. 3, 1833, wife of

Samuel Crust,'of Pleasant Hill, Mo.; John W., born Oct.

3, 1838, now living in Cynthiana, Ky.; and James F., the

subject of our sketch. The grandfather of our subject

was Christopher Musselman, who was born in Lancaster

County, Pa. He served in the Revolutionary war, and

settled near Bryant's Station, Ky., at an early day, and

later moved to Harrison County, and raised a family of

four girls and five boys. He died Jan. 39, 1846, at the

age of 90 years. James F., our subject, was married May
33, 1856, in Scott County, to Letha J. Hall, who was born

to William and Malinda (Stone) Hall, of Scott County,

April 19, 1833, and died May 1, 1860. She was the

mother of one child, William S., who died in infancy.

Mr. Musselman' s second marriage occurred in Scott

County, Dec. 6, 1870, to Nippie Burgess, who was born

in Scott County, March 13, 1847. They have' three

children, viz : Myra V., born Nov. 37, 1871 ; Nannie H.,

born Oct. 30, 1873, and Joseph F., born Feb. 4, 1878.

Mrs. Musselman was a daughter of Joseph and Maranda

(Penn) Burgess. He born Feb. 4, 1809, and still living.

She died in 1858. Mr. Musselman is one of the most

prominent farmers in the precinct, and socially ranks

very high in the esteem of the community at large. He
has passed several years of his life on the plains of Mon-
tana and at Salt Lake. He has always been a farmer

and has accumulated a large amount of worldly goods.

He has a farm of 470 acres of choice farm lands, which

as a practical farmer he keeps in a high state of cultiva-

tion. He also owns 160 acres of western land, and town

property at Cynthiana. In addition to growing the usual

farm crops, he is engaged in raising and handling pedi-

greed stock of the Irene, Phyllis a.nd Bates families. He
served one year in the service with Capt. Renick, in the

regiment commanded by Col. Walton. He was origin ally

a Whig, but at present his political sympathies are with

the Democratic party. He has been a member of the

Masonic order for a number of years. Religiously he is

a member of the Presbyterian Church, and his wife is

connected with the Baptist denomination.

J. TAYLOR MOORE, merchant and clergyman;

Georgetown; fourth son of Robert and Ann E. (Pratt)

Moore, was born and raised within four miles of George-

town, Scott County, Ky.; his father was a native of Scott

County, where he grew to manhood; he was a farmer

and died in 1838, leaving five_ sons; J. Taylor Moore

was born in 1835 ; he was educated in the county

schools ; he started in life as a farmer, and at the

age of twenty-one, in 1856, he married Miss Mel-

vina Muir, of Fayette County, Ky.; twelve years later

she died, leaving four children, two of whom are liv-

ing ; he married Sophia Lewis, of Clark County, in

1876, up to which date he had followed farming at his

hrimestead, in this county; he moved to Georgetown, and

in 1878, formed the partnership of Moore & Lemon, since

which time he has conducted a grocery business; at the

age of twenty-two years, he united with the Missionary

Baptist Church, of which he remained a member twelve

years; in 1871, he joined the Particular Baptist Church,

at Georgetown, was licensed to preach in 1873, and

ordained to the ministry in 1875, in which year he be-

came assistant pastor of the church at Georgetown; he is

now the pastor of four churches, viz.: Bryant's Station

Church, in Fayette County ; Elizabeth Church, in Bour-

bon County ; Sardis Church, in Boone County, and that

of Georgetown. Beloved by his pastorate, and re-

cognized by all as a Christian gentleman, is the subject of

these lines.

P. McGULLOUGH, Georgetown, was born in County

Tyrone, Noith Ireland, on March 15, 1851. He was

educated in his native country, and came to the United

States when he was but fifteen years of age ; he located

in New York City and was apprenticed in an omnibus

factory in 1866 to learn carriage making. He served

three years at wood work, then came to Kentucky and

worked as journeyman at Lexington and Versailles,

coming to Georgetown in 1874, where he worked at

journey work for D. H. Hickey for about two years,

and for T. I. Barns one year. In 1877 he bought the

shop of Mr. Burns, which burned in 1879 with total loss

of building, stock, and tools ; there was no insurance.

Ill 1880 he leased the present building of B. D. Best,

and has continued the manufacture of vehicles of all

kinds, employing from ten to fifteen hands, all depart-

ments being represented by skilled workmen in wood
work, painting, smithing, and trimming. He turns out

about forty finished jobs per year, and has a full assort-

ment of attractive styles in his ware-room, which is

connected with the factory. In 1877 he married Miss

Jennie O'Neill, of Georgetown.

JOHN C. MILLER, deceased; was born in Scott

County, Ky., Feb. 7, 1800. His youth was passed on the

farm and in private schools, being the pupil of a man
named Laughlin. He chose the profession of law, and

became a distinguished practitioner of the Georgetown
bar, being often pitted against Governor J. F. Robinson,

whose contemporary he was. After some years of suc-
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cessful practice, Mr. Miller retired from its labors and

went to Mississippi, where he purchased a tract of over

2,000 acres of cotton lands, -which he converted into plant-

ations and owned and worked from 600 to 800 slaves up-

on it. For many years Mr. Miller and his family passed

the winter season in the " Sunny South " and the summer

in Georgetown, Ky. He was a Democrat in politics, and

died May 5, 1840. He was married Dec. x!0, 1831, to

Miss Jane Holmes, of Jb'ayette County, who is still living.

She was born in Lexington, Ky., in 1803, and was edu-

cated in her native city. Her parents moved to Scott

County when she was a girl. Mrs. Miller spent eleven

winters in Mississippi, performing the journey on the

keel and flat boats of a half-century ago, so that at one

time she knew every crook and turn of the Ohio and

Mississippi rivers. Their marriage bore the fruit of three

sons and two daughters, all deceased except one daugh-

ter, Mrs. Warren. Robert H. died of cholera in 1833;

James and John C. died in 1833. Agnes married John

F. Warren, of this County. He became a successful

planter and died in Mississippi, in 1863, leaving no

children. She is still living with her aged mother.

Laura Miller, married Thomas P. Johnson, a son of

Euclid and Maria (Warren) Johnson. His father, Euclid

Johnson is a brother of Major M. C. Johnson, of Lexing-

ington, and like his brother, a distinguished lawyer; he

died at Little Rock, Arkansas. Thomas P. Johnson was

born in Scott County, Ky., in 1839, and finished his educa-

tion in the Military Institute, and went to California in

1849, and spent some years in the mines, and on his return

became a Southern planter. He died at Georgetown,

April 13, 1863, leaving four children. There are but two

sons living, now residents of Georgetown, Ky. His widow,

Laura (Miller) Johnson, was afterward married to Dr.

Paul Rankin, of Georgetown, but died in 1868.

JOHN E. MOORE, deceased, was born in Soott

County. He was quite young when his parents

died ; he was educated in the common schools of Mid-

way, and in Georgetown College, after which he took

a trip to Texas to see the country and get an insight

into business ; after a stay of nine months, returning to

Scott County. He taught school in " Turkey Foot Pre-

cinct" for six months; having inherited a farm, he en-

gaged in tilling the ground, reaping successful harvests
;

he was quite an extensive stock-raiser, dealing mostly in

horses and mules ; his parents were also of Scott County.

In 1859, in Midway, he married ; his death occurred in

the Spring of 1870, aged thirty-five years; his wife

was Miss Mary Harper, a native of Woodford County
;

she was a daughter of William Harper, a native of the

same county, and Anna (Whitley) Harper, a native of Lin-

coln County; her grandfather, Col. William Whitley, was

in the war of 1813, being a volunteer ; he w!is killed in

the same battle as Tecumseh, and it is claimed that he is

the one who killed the Chief ; her grandfather, Adam
Harper was a native of Virginia, and at an early day em-

igrated to Woodford County ; he bought 1,000 acres of

land, it then being worth but a dollar an acre ; it has so

grown in value as now to be worth one hundred dollars

per acre. Her brother, Frank Harper, is the owner of

the prize horses " Tenbroek " and " Longfellow," which

were raised by her uncle, John Harper ;
" Tenbroek "

ran against time at Louisville in 1878, winning a silver

cup valued at a thousand dollars. Mr. Moore, during his

life, accumulated 178 acres of land. Mrs. Moore has six

children living, two sons and four daughters ; the family

worship with the Christian Church ; she owns about 600

acres of land from the old Harper estate.

WM. S. NEALE; retired farmer; P. O. Dry Run; was

born in Scott County, Dec. 30, 1806, to Daniel and Sally

(Shortridge) Neale; his father was born in Fairfax

County, Va., in 1758, and emigrated to Scott County

and settled at the Great Crossings in about the year

1785, being among the early settlers of Scott County;

during his life he followed the occupation of farming;

he died in 1813. His wife was born in Virginia in 1770;

emigrated with her parents to Boonsborough in about

the year 1779, and died in 1875. Wm. S. Neale re-

ceived his education from the common schools of his

native county, and before he was of age began farming

on his own account, which he has since continued in

connection with trading in the South. In 1873 he re-

tired from farming and all active labor, with the excep-

tion of several trading expeditions South. Mr. Neal is

a man possessed with good common sense, and enjoys

the esteem of the citizens of the community in which he

lives. He is a Republican.

COL. E. N. OFFUTT, Sr., retired farmer; P. O.

Georgetown; whose portrait appears in this history, was

born in Montgomery County, Md., Dec. 38, 1806, and was

the seventh child of a family of five sons and three

'daughters, born to his parents, who were Alexander and

Ann (Clegett) Offutt, the former also a native of Mont-

gomery County, Md. He was born Feb. 18, 1767, and

was the son of William Offutt, a native of Maryland,

and born Oct. 6, 1721; the latter was a native of Mary,

land; born in 1768, and died in 1833, surviving her hus-

band ten years, he having died Oct. 31, 1833. Miss Ann

Clegett was the daughter of William Clegett, who died

while a soldier in the Revolutionary war. When our
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subject was about three years old his parents moved to

Scott County, where they arrived in March, 1810. The

tract of lanfl . on which stands the old homestead, still

occupied by the Colonel, was selected as a home, and

there the worthy couple reared a family, and built for

themselves an honorable name and reputation. By the

time he had arrived at man's estate, he had acquired a

fair education and a thorough and practical knowledge

of farming and stock-raising. Making the breeding of

fine stock a specialty, he stood for many years among the

leading stock men of the county; he was a shrewd finan-

cier, and an excellent busirfess manager, at one time own-

ing 800 acres of land; he has, however, disposed of a

part of his real estate, having now but 330 acres. Polit-

ically, Mr. Offutt is a man of firm convictions; though

never an aspirant for ofiice, he many times haying re-

fused to become a candidate for, positions of prominence

when his election would have been a certainty, choosing

rather to remain with his family, and add to the pleasures

and comforts of a home. In March, 1881, the Colonel

rented his farm and gave up the active management and

details of farming. The kitchen portion of Mr. Ofi^utt's

residence is one of the most interesting of pioneer land-

marks; it was built in 1782, by one Mathew Flournoy,

and was the first residence in which window glass was

used in that part of Kentucky, east of the Kentucky

River. Gen. William Henry, commander of the Ken-

tucky volunteer troops for the war of 1812, was married

in this residence. Col. Offutt was married in Scott

County in 1836, to Miss Elizabeth A. Lemon, who was

born in Lexington, Ky., July 20, 1818; she is the daugh^

ter of Joseph I. Lemon, who was born in Georgetown,

July 15, 1793, and died June 17, 1836. He was the son

of James Lemon, a native of Ireland, whose family con-

sisted of nine sons and one daughter; all of the former

were soldiers in the Revolutionary war. The wife of

Joseph I., and mother of Mrs. Offutt, was Miss Margaret

Leathers, a native of Madison County, Virginia; she was

born March 23, 1792, and died Nov. 29, 1868. Eight

children have been born to Mr. and Mrs. Oft'utt, tliree

only of whom are living: Margaret A., wife of Col. Mark

Munday, of Louisville; Laura V., wife of William Mun—
day, of Louisville; and Edmonia, wife of Dr. O. H.

Witherspoon, of Lawrenceburg; Mr. and Mrs. Offutt are

both members of the Presbyterian Church, he joining

in 1833, and she in 1839. They are a worthy couple, and

held in high esteem by all those who know them. Their

lives spent in honest effort to acquire a competency and

rear their family honorably, they now enjoy the fruits of

their early industry and economy.

WILLIAM N. OFFUTT, farmer and short-horn

breeder ; P. O. Georgetown ; was born in Scott County,

in August, 1841. His father, Alexander Offutt, was a

native of Maryland ; born Oct. 10, 1803 ; emigrated to

Scott County with his parents in about 1810 ; during his

life followed the occupation of a farmer, and died in

1873. His mother was Emeline Smith, born in Scott

County in 1824, and died in 1853 ; she was the mother

of five children, William N. Offutt being the oldest child.

He attended the Georgetown College to the opening of

the war, when he enlisted in the Confederate Army, and

served under Morgan to the close of the war ; when he

began farming in his native county, at which he still

continues. In 1868 he began breeding and raising short-

horn cattle, and is at the present time making it a

specialty. In 1868, in Scott County, he married Miss Sue

W. Ford, a native of Scott County ; born to Reuben

and Mary (Webb) Ford in 1850 ; he was born in Scott

County in June, 1819, attended the school at Oxford,

Ohio, and graduated at the Center College when but six-

teen years of age. He attended the Transylvania Law
School , at Lexington, where he graduated with high

honors ; in 1839 was admitted to the bar, and began the

practice of his profession, continuing the same until 1845,

when he gave up his profession and began farming,

which he continued to the time of his death, which

occurred in September, 1856. He was married in Scott

County in 1843, to Miss Mary Webb, a native of Scott

County, born at her present residence to Mitohum and
Susan (Holmes) Webb. Mr. and Mrs. Offutt have had
five children, three of whom are living : Reuben F.,

William N., Jr., and M. Webb. They have the well

improved farm of 900 acres, called " Elmwood."
LEWIS B. OFFUTT, auctioneer; Georgetown; was

born near Georgetown, Scott Co., Ky., in the year 1817;

he received a common-school education and removed
with his parents in 1828 to Harrison County Ky., where
he resided until 1851. In 1841 Mr. Offutt began his

career as auctioneer, first selling stock and farm imple-

ments; he soon won a reputation that brought under his

hammer a large business in both lands and negroes.

About 1855 Mr. Offutt became the principal auctioneer

for the whole northeastern counties of the " Blue Grass

Region," his services commanding as high as $250 per

day. He returned to Scott County in 1851, and since

1864 has been a resident of Georgetown. In politics

Mr. Offutt is a Democrat, and during the late war was
twice taken by the Federal soldiers and escaped, and
was exiled from his home and family for two months,

although he had committed no offense. Mr. Offutt is
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perhaps the oldest auctioneer in the county and still does

a good business as auctioneer and real-estate agent. He
has been married three times : first, to Miss Davis in

1837, and of this marriage there is one son, Capt. Nathan-

iel S. Offutt, of Georgetown, one of the most success-

ful auctioneers in the county; his second wife was Miss

Lucy A. George, of Bourbon County, who died in less

than a year after marriage; he married for his third wife

Mrs. Causey, daughter of John Masterson, one of the

pioneers of this county. After years of hard work Mr.

Offutt secured a competence for his declining years, and

this was largely swept away to the debts of so-called

friends for whom he had become surety, yet he cheer-

fully gave up and paid every dollar even after he was

legally released. His father, Archibald Oifutt, was born

in Maryland, about 1766, and came to Scott County,

Ky., in 1816; he died in Harrison County in the cholera

epidemic of 1833; he was the father of nine children,

five of whom are still living.

B. M. OSBORN, farmer; P. O. Georgetown; is a

native of Scott County, and the son of John and Nancy

(Miller) Osborn; he was born near his present residence,

1816; his father was a native of Abbeville District, South

Carolina, born Sept. 7, 1788; he emigrated to Scott

County in about 1812 ; during his life was a farmer; he

died Nov. 7, 1833 ; his wife, mother of our subject, was

born in Pensylvania, in 1794, and died in Scott County,

Oct. 37, 1878; she was the mother of three children, two

daughters and one son, B. M. Osborn, being the oldest

child ; his early education was limited to such as the

neighborhood schools of Scott County afford; at the death

of his parents he lived with his Uncle Benjamin Osborn,

and assisted him in all of his business operations until he

arrived at the age of twenty-seven years; when he made

several trading expeditions in the South with stock ; in

1846, he bought a small farm in his native county and be-

gan farming and stock raising, at which he still continues,

and now being one of the largest land owners of

Scott County, having 1,500 acres of land, which is some-

what hilly, and particularly adapted to the raising of

sheep, upon which he now has nearly 1,000 of choice

breeds. Mr. Osborn is a man of great force of character,

sociable in disposition, and agreeable in manner, is a very

temperate man, having never tasted intoxicating liquor in

over forty-five years; he has always been a hard-working

man, and now in the later years of his life is surrounded

with those comforts, and enjoying those pleasures that

are ever the result of honesty, industry and economy; he

was married in Scott County, in 1868, to Mrs. Agatha

Osborn, a native of Scott County ; he is a Republican.

HUGH O'NEILL, Georgetown ; was born in County

Derry, Ireland, on New Years' Day, 1 846. When he

was seven months old, his parents came to the United

States, locating at Lexington, where they lived until

1854, and then moved to Scott County, locating on a

farm three miles from Georgetown. The subject of this

sketch attended the county schools of his neighborhood,

until he attained the age of sixteen years, when he

learned the trade of horse-shoeing, with John Jackson,

and Dougherty Bros., of Lexington, serving five years

apprenticeship. In 1866, he located in Georgetown,

opening a business for himself, which he followed until

1881. He was shoer for Colonel R. "West for five years.

Among his customers were Dr. Hurst, of Woodford
County ; H. C. McDowell, of Franklin County ; Keene
Richards, who owned race stables, and James Miller, of

Bourbon County, who owned trotting stables. He has

been a general dealer in horses for fifteen years. In the

fall of 1875, he went into the livery business in George-

town, in the present stables which he owns. He carried

on a successful business there until 1881, except during

a part of 1878, when he was engaged in the same busi-

ness in Lexington. In 1881, he leased the stable to Mr.

Ayres, and established sale stables in Georgetown, doing

a lucrative business in sale and commission. In 1870, he

married Miss Tee Pullen, daughter of James Pullen, of

Georgetown.

HON. WILLIAM C. OWENS, lawyer; Georgetown;

was born in Scott County, Ky., on October 17, 1849. He
was educated in Transylvania University, and at Millers-

burg, and graduated from the Columbia law school in the

spring of 1873 and began to practice in Georgetown, be-

ing admitted to the bar here in March, 1873. The fol-

lowing year he was elected County Attorney but resign-

ed, and was elected to the Legislature in August, 1877;

he was re-elected in 1879 without opposition. In ]881

he was again re-nominated without opposition, and in

November, 1881, at the assembling of the House, he was

elected Speaker, there being four opponents, viz.;

Gov. Merriweather, C. U. McElroy, Jacob Rice, and J.

M. Hendricks. His father, Charles Owens, born in Scott

county in 1805, was a farmer and a thorough business

man. He had one son and daughter by his wife who
was a Miss Tucker of Grant County.

GEORGE E. FREWITT, lawyer ; Georgetown, Ky.;

born in Scott County, Ky., April 14, 1837, near to what is

now Kinkead Station, C. S. R.; is the fourth son of Rob-

ert C. and Elizabeth S. Prewitt, who, in the year 1835,

emigrated to Lincoln County, Mo., where the subject of

our sketch resided until he was twenty-two, receiving his

"^
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education principally in a private school taught by Rev.

Wilson Cunningham, a Presbyterian minister of great

worth and learning. His father, Robert C. Prewitt, was

born in Fayette County, Ky., on a farm, in 1795, and his

mother, whose maiden name was Elgin, in Maryland, in

1793, who, with her parents, emigrated to, and settled in

Scott County, Ky., when she was a child seven years old,

and who is still living in Missouri in the ninetieth year

of her age. His said father, before he had attained his

eighteenth year, in the Fall of 18] 3, joined Capt. John

Edmondson's Company of Kentucky volunteers, and was

present and took part in the disastrous battle of the River

Raisin (or Frenohtown) and was there taken prisoner by

the British and Indians, and suffered many hardships and

indignities before he was exchanged. He was married in

1818, and died in 1850. In 1849 George E. Prewitt

returned to Kentucky, and in 1851 began the study of

law with Richard Apperson, Sr., of Mt. Sterling, but

married and returned to Missouri before completing his

legal studies, and was admitted to the baf in that State

in 1853 ; he came to Georgetown in 1854, and was the

same year admitted to practice in all the courts of this

State, to which he has since devoted his time and talents
;

he served in the capacity of City Judge of Georgetown

for one term, and as Master Commissioner of the Scott

Circuit Court from 1856 to 1863.

H. S. PARKS, farmer; P.O. Georgetown; is a native

of Scott County, and the son of Ebenezer and Elizabeth

(Woodgate) Parks. He was born in 1833. His father

was also a native of Scott County, born in 1797; during

Ills life he followed the occupation of a cabinet-maker.

He died in 1834. He wat- the son of James Parks, a na-

tive of Rockbridge County, Va., who emigrated to Scott

County, and settled in about two-and-a-half miles of

Newtown, in about the year 1790. He died in 1837.

Elizabeth Parks, the mother of our subject, was born in

Fayette County in 1800, and is now living in Scott

County. She is the daughter of Jonathan Woodgate, a

soldier in the war of 1813. Mr. Parks received his edu-

cation from the common schools of his native county,

and in 1841 he began teaching school, following the

same until 1844, when he embarked in the mercantile

business at Newtown; retiring from the same in 1847,

and again resumed teaching for several years, and dur-

ing the time traveled through twenty States of the

Union, trading in stock. In 1854 he commenced farm-

ing and stock-raising in Scott County, which he still

continues upon his well-improved farm of 181 acres.

Upon his farm he has some Short-horns. In politics

he was formerly a Whig, but now is identified with the

Democratic party. In 1858 he was elected County Sur-

veyor, and served eight years. He is a member of the

A., F. & A. M.

JOHN G. PARRISH, farmer; P. O. Georgetown ; was

born in Bourbon County, Ky., Oct. 13, 1836 ; his father,

Henry Parrish, was a native of Virginia, and one of the

early settlers of Bourbon County ; he was a farmer by

occupation, and his death occurred in Missouri, in 1834,

at the age of about forty-five years ; his wife, Sally Bush,

was born in Clark County, and died in 1833, aged about

forty years ; she was the mother of five children, of whom
John G., the subject of these lines, was the fourth. He
was left an orphan at the age of seven years, when he

was cared for by his oldest brother until he was thirteen

years old, and then went to live with his uncle, E. H.

Parrish ; his education was limited to such as could be

obtained in the common schools of Bourbon and Clark

counties ; he entered upon his career in life as a farmer,

and trading in stock. In the Spring of 1848, he moved

to Fayette County, where he remained until the Spring

of 1856, when he removed to Scott County, where he has

since remained engaged in farming and dealing in stock,

trading principally in mules. He has been thrice mar-

ried, his last marriage occurred in 1866, to Miss Patty M.

Peak, who was born in Scott County, Feb. 35, 1847, to

George P. and America (Suggett) Peak ; he was born

March 33, 1833, died March 1, 1865 ; she was born Dec.

1, 1830, now living in Scott County. By his second wife

Mr. Parrish has one daughter living, viz.: Elizabeth, wife

of E. P. Withers. Mr. Parrish holds a prominent posi-

tion among the practical farmers of the county, as an en-

ergetic and enterprising man. Religiously, himself and

wife are connected with the Baptist Church.

GEORGE V. PAYNE, Lawyer, Georgetown; was

born in Howard county. Mo., December 13, 1843, and at

the age of twenty entered Georgetown College, graduat-

ing in the class of 1866. He began the study of law here,

and gaduated from the Louisville law school in the class

of 1867-68. He was admitted to the bar in 1868, since

which time he has been in active practice. In August,

1870, he was elected County Judge, and re-elected in

1874, also in 1878, now serving his third term. By the

Democratic party he was re-nominated for a fourth term,

in 1883. He is a descendant of the old Payne families

of Fayette and Scott Counties.

HON, JAMES FISHER ROBINSON,- lawyer and

farmer and ex-Governor of Kentucky, was born in Scott

County, Kentucky, October 4, 1800. His lather, Jona-

than Robinson, was a native of Pennsylvania, and there

married a daughter of Capt. John Black, and began his
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married life as a farmer in Cumberland County, of that

State, on a tract of land given him by his father and

father-in-law, in the vicinity of their own residence.

Shortly afterward the war of the Revolution commenced,

and during its first year he volunteered ; was commis-

sioned Captain and served until the restoration of peace.

Ill 1785 he visited Kentucky and bought a farm of six

hundred acres in Scott County, upon which he erected

cabins for his residence, and, having returned to Penn-

sylvania in the follovnng spring, removed with his family

to his new home in Kentucky, where he continued to

reside as one of the substantial and influential citizens

until his death, in the eighty-sixth year of his age. Gov.

Robinson came of English and Scotch ancestors ; his

great-grandfather, being a Dissenter, located in Ireland,

and there his grandfather, George Robinson, was born,

and married a Scotch lady. The entire family moved to

America and settled in Pennsylvania, about the middle

of the seventeenth century. His grandfather, many
years after his father, settled in Kentucky, also removed

to this State, where he passed his life on an adjoining

farm in Scott County, and there died at the age of

eighty-seven. He was an ardent Whig during the Revo-

lution, and served some time as a volunteer during that

war. Gov. Robinson's education was commenced under

a private teacher at his father's house, was continued

under the Rev. Robt. Marshall, one of the most scholarly

among the early Presbyterian ministers of Kentucky, and

his academic education was completed at Forest Hill

Academy, under the celebrated Samuel Wilson. He sub-

sequently entered Transylvania University, where he

graduated in 1818. He immediately began the study of

law at Lexington, under Hon. William T. Barry, one of the

ablest men who ever flourished in Kentucky. A few

years afterwards he obtained license and began the law

practice at Georgetown, in his native county, and there

has continued actively engaged in his profession until the

present time, excepting short intervals of political life.

In 1851 he was elected, without opposition, to the Senate

of Kentucky, to represent the district composed of Scott

and Fayette Counties, and served one term. In August,

1861, after a warmly contested canvass, he was again

elected from the same senatorial district, defeating Hon.

James B. Beck. This canvass was made when the clouds

of civil war were gathering over the country, and the

great subjects of vital importance to the people were

discussed : such as the right of secession, the impending

rebellion, the value of the Union, and the proper place to

be occupied by Kentucky in the inevitable conflict. In

1862 Gov. Magoffin, the Governor of Kentucky, resigned

the ofiice of chief executive, and, there being no Lieu-

tenant Governor, he being a member of the Senate, was

immediately elected Speaker, thereby becoming acting

Governor of the State, and as such at once qualified,

and entered upon his duties, serving as Governor until

the end of the term. The period of his administration

was filled with troubles, difficulties and perils known to

no other, before or since. His conduct was in accord

with the administration of the National Government, and

his unflinching devotion to the Union, and his strong,

manly guardianship of the affairs of the State, brought

the best possible good out of the evils of the times.

Doubtless but few men in the State were better suited

to control its affairs at such a time, reared as he had been,

in his school of patriots, and from early life having

espoused the Whig principles of National Government,

possessing eminently the firm, unexplosive and temperate

elements of character and withal being greatly attached

to the best interests of his native State. He has been a

farmer as well as a lawyer for the last twenty-five years,

and now resides at " Cardome " (from cara domus); his

fine farm consisting of 300 acres, and joining George-

town, in a part of that most beautiful region called " Blue

Grass," he has been without political ambition, having

lived too busy a life to give his attention to the higher

aims of the statesman, and being unwilling to become a

mere politician; although importuned to accept public

office at different times, he has usually declined, prefer-

ring to devote himself to his professional and agricultural

interests; as a lawyer, he has taken a place among the

ftiost learned and able in Kentucky. He has been con-

cerned in many of the great law cases of the State, and

so thoroughly did he become identified with the interests

of his clients, that his business grew to great proportions,

and gave him little time to devote to politics, had he

possessed the inclination. Had he given himself to

public affairs with that earnestness, learning and wisdom,

which characterized his professional life, he would have

taken rank among the first statesmen of his day. He
possesses in a high degree, many broad and noble traits,

which not only gave him strength and dignity in the

court and before the jury, but, during his difficult term

of office as Chief Executive of the State, enabled him to

administer its affairs with great impartiality and justice
;

firmly suppressing wrong, and protecting the people,

regardless of their peculiar sympathies, in their just de-

mands as citizens. He is a man of commanding person

and noble presence, and probably no man of the old

school is now living in Kentucky, who would have been

able at any time to add mere dignity and honor to any

j) "V^
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position in the gift of the people. Gov. Robinson is now
living with his third wife, and has eight living children.

JAMES JEFFERSON RUCKER, Professor of Math-

ematics in the College and Principal of the Female

Seminary at Georgetown, Kentucky; was born Jan. 37,

1838, in Randolph County, Mo. He is the son of Rev.

Thornton Rucker, and his wife, Martha, both natives of

Virginia, and married in that State. His father was a

Baptist clergyman, and among the earliest preachers of

that denomination in Missouri. His mother, a sister of

William Snyder, a citizen of prominence in Boone Co.,

Ky., comes from a family having its lineal representa-

tives in this State, Missouri, and Orange County, Va.,

whence it originally sprung. Remotely this family were

by occupation millers, and the Rucker family farmers.

About the year 1830 the parents and grandparents of

Prof. Rucker emigrated from Virginia to Missouri, set-

tling respectively in Howard and Monroe Counties.

In these and Saline and Randolph Counties, Prof.

Rucker passed his childhood and youth, mostly in

assisting his father on the farm. During this period

he received but meager schooling, and at the age of

nineteen found himself possessed of but the merest

rudiments of an English education. Feeling the abso-

lute necessity for a knowledge of arithmetic for ordin iry

business purposes, in the fall of 1847 he entered a coun-

ty school with a view to attain this knowledge. In this

school he continued about a year. It proved the occa-

sion of determining his whole future course of life. His

teacher, observing that his abilities were of more than

usual character, urged upon him the pursuit of a routine

of studies especially calculated to fit him for a profes-

sional career. Adopting these friendly suggestions, in

the fall of 1848 he commenced teaching a country school,

employing his leisure hours in self-culture. In the

winter of 1849-50 he entered Howard High-schcol,

at Fayette, Missouri, remaining, as pupil and assistant

teacher, until June, 1851; in the fall of that year he re-

commenced the duties of a country school teacher; in

the spring of 1853, through the advice, influence, and

financial aid of his friend, E. D. Sappington, of that

county, a gentleman for whom he has ever since cher-

ished the highest esteem, he came to Kentucky and en-

tered Georgetown College to pursue and complete his

studies ; here he remaned a student, teaching at inter-

vals a school in Bourbon County, Ky., until June, 1854,

when, with the honors of his class, he graduated as an

A. B.; after graduating he kept up his school in Bour-

bon County until the fall of 1855, at which time he en-

tered upon the discharge of the duties of principal of

the academy attached to the Georgetown College, to

which position he had been appointed during the sum-

mer of that year. He, however, had scarcely assumed

the discharge of these duties' when, a vacancy occurring

in the chair of mathematics in the Georgetown College,

he was temporarily appointed to the place in the capacity

of a substitute. He took the chair on the 31st of Nov.,

1855, and gave such signal proofs of ability that when

the board of trustees met in the following June they at

once invested him permanently with the office, which he

has ever since continued to fill with honor to himself and

profit to the community. Among his pupils in mathe-

matics may be especially mentioned Dr. J. F. Cook,

President of LaGrange College, Missouri; Dr. Varden,

of Paris; and W. H. Felix, of Covington, Ky. At

the close of the war, in 1865, the building at George-

town, which for twenty years had been occupied by Prof.

Farnham as a female seminary, having burned down, a

void in that department of education was thereby creat-

ed, which for a time was keenly felt by the people, who

put forth many efforts to remedy the evil, but all un-

availingly until Prof. Rucker came to their relief, taking

charge of the school and appropriating to its use his

own private property until better and more commodious

premises could be obtained. Perceiving, however, after

a time, through the indications of failing health, that he

had undertaken too much by assuming the additional

duties of Principal of the Seminary, he sold out prop-

erty and school to Rev. J. B. Thorp, who con-

tinued its management for two years, when the school

was transferred to other quarters and re-organized.

During the summer of 1808, the citizens of Georgetown

projecting a new building for Seminary purposes, Prof.

Rucker became the agent of its Board of Trustees to

solicit funds and to superintend its construction, devoting

much time thereto ; and when in the fall of 1869 it was

completed, again became its Principal, which he yet re-

mains. This institution now occupies a front rank among

all similar ones throughout the State. In 1874 he conceived

the idea of aiding Georgetown College financially by

having a chair endowed with a fund raised from its

former students. The work of canvassing among them

was done by himself during vacations. With some as-

sistance from Rev. R. M. Du.lley, he succeeded in raising

sixteen thousand dollars. This sum being insufficient

for the purpose, he applied to the Legislature for an act

of incorporation for an association, granting them power

to take charge of the fund and increase it. The charter

was obtained during the session of 1875-76, the title of

the corporation being " The Students' Association of

i \ '
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Georgetown College." Thus provided for, the sum has

since become an assured fact. It is now slowly but

steadily increasing, with every prospect of ultimately

attaining an amount sufficient to meet fully the design

of its institution. It is managed and controlled by a board

chosen from the members of the association, of which

at the present time he is the chairman. About the close

of the war, desirous of advancing the moral and re'ligious

good of the people, he called a meeting of Sunday school

workers for the purpose of uniting their efforts in such

a way as to render their labors in the cause of Christian-

ity and Bible truth more efficient. The meeting

turned out a snccess, and resulted in the formation

and establishment of the" Baptist Sunday School Con-

vention of Elk Horn Association," an organization

which was the first of its kind in Kentucky, of which

there are many in the State. For a number of years

Prof. Rucker was the chairman of the " Sunday School

Board of the Baptist General Association of Ken-

tucky," retiring therefrom - only when duties other-

wise pressing and ill health constrained him so to

do; he has been a consistent member of the Baptist

Church since his early youth, having imbibed his religious

principles from his father, who was a constant living ex-

emplification of Christian character. To his father he at-

tributes much of his success in life, having drawn from

him all those habits of correct training and thought which

are so conspicuous in his own daily walk, conversation

and manners, and which have been the true foundation

of his many years of usefulness; besides all these various

occupations heretofore recited, which have engaged his

time and attention, he has been an active member of the

Board of Trustees of Georgetown nearly the whole pe-

riod of his residence there, taking a genuine interest in all

its municipal affairs, and conserving the public good in

every legitimate way possible, to the best of his ability;

this he did without the hope of fee or reward, the ser-

vice being of that class of work which brings no com-

pensation save that of an approving conscience ; to such

men the community really never knows how much they

are indebted, until they have passed from the business

stage of life. Professor Rucker is a man of great public

spirit, enlarged views, sound practical knowledge, inde-

fatigable purpose, untiring energy, and withal, of a

very conscientious, kind and impressible nature; in man-

ners is courteous, unassuming, modest, and prepossessing.

His school, which numbers over one hundred young ladies,

is a model of order, refinement, good government, and

regularity. On Sept. 10, 1855, he was married to Miss

Mary M. Allison, of Bourbon County, Ky.; after mar-

riage they made Georgetown their home, where they have

ever since resided; they have four children—a daughter

and three sons. In his marriage. Professor Rucker has

been extremely fortunate, he having obtained for a life

companion a lady of most exemplary character, pleasing

address, fine sensibilities, and rare good judgment, and
one, withal, of whom it may be truly said, she knows her

every duty, and how best to fulfill it.

HOMER S. RHOTON, Georgetown, and Mrs. George,

of Clay County, Mo., are the only living children of Ben-

jamin W. Rhoton, who was born in Surrey County, North

Carolina, in 1790, and who came to Kentucky in 1811.

He studied medicine and graduated from Transylvania

University; he was the leading physician of Woodford
County, and for many years, the superintending physician

in the Eastern Kentucky Lunatic Asylum, being succeed-

ed by Dr. William Chipley. He was Fellow of the Roy-

al Medical Society. As minister of the gospel, he pre-

sided over the Southern Methodist Episcopal Church.

He resided in Danville, Lancaster, Versailles, Lexing-

ton, and Georgetown, coming to the last named place in

1850; here he died in February, 1863. He was twice

married, his first wife being Miss Jeffries, and his second,

Mrs. Margaret E. Peters, daughter of Frank P. Gaines,

and widow of Aleck Peters, a portrait painter of Wood-
ford County. On June 17, 1840, in Lexington, Ky., was

born Homer S. Rhoton, the subject of this sketch. Ten
years later, he came to Georgetown, and attended the

Georgetown College, continuing until he reached the

senior year. In 1860 he began as teacher in the city

schools, and was Principal of the male department four

years. In 1866 he was elected School Commissioner of

Scott County, by a unanimous vote, serving ten years.

In 1874 he was elected Police Judge of Georgetown,

and re-elected in 1878. In 1879 he was elected Treas-

urer of Scott County, which office he still holds. He is

a member of the Students' Association. In 1866 he be-

gan reading law with M. Polk and Lieutenant Gov. Jas.

E. Cantwell, and was admitted to the Bar in March, 1868,

at Frankfort, Ky.

THOMAS H. ROBERTS, farmer ; P. O. Payne's

Depot ; was born in Scott County, Ky., Oct. 5, 1843
;

his father, Hillery Roberts, was born Dec. 5, 1798, and

died April 35, 1874, and was a son of William Roberts,

a native of Maryland, who came to Kentucky in 1790,

and settled on the place now owned by T. H. Payne.

The mother of our subject, was Lemira Waggoner, a

native of Scott County, born Oct. 7, 1807, and died May
8, 1874 ; she was the mother of two boys, viz : Henry

P., born July 10, 1837, died Oct. 30, 1857 ; and Thomas
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H., the subject of this sketch, who was educated at the

Bethel School House at Payne's Depot, and entered upon

his career in life by taking upon himself the duties of a

farm life, which occupation he still follows, and has by

his energy and industry, accumulated about 260 acres of

choice farm land, situated near Payne's Depot. Mr.

Roberts is a thorough business man and a practical

farmer, and keeps his land in a high state of cultivation,

and stocked with high-grade cattle. He was married

Oct. 13, 1864, to Virginia, daughter of William and

Mary (Carr) Payne, natives of Scott County; she was born

Dec. 31, 1842, and has borne to him six children, viz.:

Henry P., born Oct. 26, 1865 ; William P., born Feb. 1,

1868 ; Mary C, born July 7, 1869 ; Lemira, born May
2, 1871 ; Hillery, born March 26, 1873 ; and Thomas,

born Oct. 18, 1875. Religiously, Mr. and Mrs. Roberts

are connected with the Baptist Church at Mount Vernon.

Politically, Mr. Roberts is identified with the Democratic

party.

B. F. RANDOL, Georgetown ; was born in Scott

County, on Eagle Creek, in 1838, and was raised on a

farm ; at eighteen years of .age he went to Winchester,

Kentucky, where he clerked two years in a hardware and

grocery store. In 1857, he went to Chillicothe, Missouri,

where he worked at the carpenter's trade ; he became

City Marshall of Chillicothe. In June, 1861, he enlisted

in General Price's army, Colonel Slack's regitnent, Com-

pany G., in the State service ; he participated in the bat-

tle of Lexington, Mo. ; at the expiration of one year he

was honorablv discharged from Price's army ; he then

came to Kentucky, and run a flouring mill for S. R.

Thomson, in this county, near Georgetown, as partner

of T. Holding, for four years ; he was next clerk for C.

B. Lewis, agent of Adams Express Company, and after-

ward for Col. R. Snell ; he again run the flouring mill

for two years with T. Holding ; from 1874 to 1876 he

sold liquors. In 1876 he entered the furniture and un-

dertaking business, and has since done a large business

in that line ; in 1878 he was elected Coroner of Scott

County, by the Democrats ; he has always been a Dem-
ocrat. In 1868 he married Miss Alice Soward, of this

county.

JUDGE MILTON STEVENSON, Attorney at Law;
Georgetown ; is the son of Reuben Stevenson, a native

of Maryland, who was born in 1787, and died at George-

town, Ky., in 1833; he was a saddler by trade; during

the war of 1813 he served in Matson's Company of Col.

Johnson's regiment. The subject of this sketch was

born in Germantown, Bracken Co., Ky., Aug. 17, 1814,

and when but three months old, came with his parents to

Georgetown, Scott Co., Ky., where he has since resided;

he was educated in the Rittenhouse Academy, which

afterwards became the preparatory department of George-

town College. At thirteen years of age he left school,

and learned the saddling trade with his uncle. Job Ste-

venson, who carried on an extensive business, employing

over twenty workmen. At his uncle's old stand he car-

ried on business, working twelve hands. At this occu-

pation he continued from 1834 to 1853, after which he

engaged in the dry goods business for about five years;

he was elected Police Judge of Georgetown in 1851,

serving four years during which period he studied law,

and in 1858, was admitted to the bar at Georgetown, where

he has since continued to practice; before the war he was

Assessor of the county, and afterward was Assistant

Revenue Assessor; he was a Henry Clay Whig, and was a

member of the Emancipation Party, which held a con-

vention at Frankfort, in 1848, and he canvassed the

county as candidate for the Legislature on that isuse in

1848 and 1849. When the war came on he was a Union

man, and is now a consistent Republican; during the war

he was School Commissioner of Scott County, and acted

as County Attorney from 1861 to 1865; he earned for

himself his possessions, atid has ever been an energetic,

earnest worker in whatever occupation he has engaged
in. He married Miss Griffith, Scott County, in 1849, and

his family embraces three sons and one daughter.

NOA SPEARS, banker; Georgetown, Ky.; was
born in Bourbon County, ]Lj., on the 7th of March, 1829.

He is the son of Solomon Spears, for many years a farm-

er in that county, a native of Kentucky, descendants of

Virginians. His mother, Margaret Kerfoot, was a native

of the Shenandoah Valley, Virginia, and the mother of six

children, of whom he was the youngest. He received

his early education in the Bourbon County schools, and
finished his literary course at Bethany College, Virginia,

where he graduated in 1848. He then embarked in

mercantile pursuits at Paris, Ky., before he had attained

his majority; after four years he retired from business,

and engaged in farming, in Bourbon County, which he

continued for several years, when, in 1853, he again

established himself in business, opening a store in George-

town, for the sale of dry goods, boots and shoes, etc.,

which he carried on successfully for sometime. In 1860

he was appointed clerk in the Farmer's Bank, at George-

town, and in 1868, he was elected cashier; which posi-

tion he still fills. During the war he felt that it was his

duty to support the Union, but, nevertheless, his sym-
pathies were strongly Southern. Being unable to resist

the natural current of events, however, he took no active

^K*
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part in the struggle, but was afterwards arrested, owing

to an overstrained interpretation of a Federal order, and

lodged in prison; but after a short time, was released

upon the interference and solicitations of friends, who

were both numerous and warm. Mr. Spears is a member

of the Christian Church, and takes a strong and active

interest in all religious matters, doing much by his efforts

and sympathies toward the spread of the Gospel. He

was married to Fannie C. Gano, of Bourbon County, in

1849, who died soon after, leaving him a childless wid-

ower; in 1851, he married his second wife, in the person

of Georgia A. Crockett, of Georgetown, and became the

father of two children; and in 1864, he was again united

in marriage, this time to Mary C. Steffee, also of George-

town, which union was blessed with two children. His

four children are still living. Mr. Spears is a man of

many fine traits of character, and is of a genial nature;

has an integrity that is unquestioned; fond of inno-

cent amusements; obliging and courteous in his man-

ners and domestic in habits.

PROF. THOMAS SMITH, Georgetown ; was born in

King and Queen County, Va., in 1835 ; here he remained

until he was thirty years of age ; he was educated in the

University of Virginia, from which he graduated in an

elective course in 1859; in 1855 he began teaching. He

enlisted in the army of Northern Virginia, in Stonewall

Jackson's Corps, and was afterwards with Gen. A. P.

Hill's Corps, engaging in over forty battles ; he was

wounded in the second battle of Manassas, and a second

time before Petersburg, when the Weldon R. R. was

taken by the Federals ; the first time by shell in the an-

kle, and the second time a section of six inches of the

ulna of the fore-arm was taken out ; he served as Adju-

tant of a regiment in the twenty-second Virginia battal-

ion of infantry; in later years he was Adjutant General

of the well known Field's Brigade, which afterwards,

was known as Walker's Brigade ; he was home on a leave

of absence, from the effects of his wounds, when Lee

surrendered, and was paroled in the spring of 1865
;

Prof. Smith taught in Virginia a year after the war ; he

went to Texas in the fair of 1866, and taught six months

in a private school when he was made Professor of Latin

in Austin College, at Huntsville, Texas; he was there but

a short time when he was taken with yellow fever, being

confined seven months by the disease and its effects. In

January, 1868, he returned to Virginia, and in Novem-

ber of the same year, came to Kentucky, taking charge

of the Central Academy, in Fayette County, where he

taught four years ; at the end of that period establishing

the Winchester High School, where he taught seven

years, in the meantime building up a large school. In

June, 1879, he was elected Professor of Latin in George-

town College, a position he still retains to the satisfaction

of all.

J. NEWTON STONE, grocer ; Georgetown ; was

born in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1837; reared on the

farm, he tilled the soil of his native county until 1875,

and devoted his attention to stock raising. In March,

1875, he removed to Georgetown, Ky., and accepted for

a time a clerkship in the store of W. N. Atkins, whom he

succeeded in business ; in 1876 he formed a partnership

with his brother, K. Stone, and for three years conducted

a large grocery business ; he was next clerk in the

Georgetown tlotel for a year, and subsequently dealt in

mules which he drove South. .lanuary, 1881, Mr. Stone

formed a partnership with L. McConnell, and again em-

barked in the grocery trade, where he is at present con-

ducting a handsome business, at the corner of Main and

Court streets, in groceries, tobaccos and liquors ; he also

formed a partnership with Mr. Pierce, a practical tobac-

conist, for the manufacture of plug and twist tobaccos,

and established Tobacco Factory Number 6, in the 7th

District of Kentucky; it is located on north side of Main

Cross, Georgetown. Mr. Stone was twice married, first

time to Miss Drusilla, daughter of John Smith, of Clark

County, Ky.j in November, 1860 ; she died in June, 1866;

he married a second time. Dee. 20, 1870, to Miss Eliza,

daughter of John Hill, of Bourbon County; she died

Aug. 1, 1874, and left one living son, John Hill Stone.

Of Mr. Stone's ancestry we know that Kinzea Stone, his

grandfather, was born in Virginia, where he married a

Miss Watts, and emigrated to Kentucky in 1808, settling

in Bourbon County, where he resided until his death

which occurred about 1848. He was a successful

farmer, an old line Whig and raised ten children,

two of whom are living. Among his sons, who

were all farmers, was Kinzea Stone, the father of our

subject, and born in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1813 ; he

lived in Bourbon all his life, and was a successful and

systematic farmer, and accumulated a handsome estate

of 530 acres ; he married Elizabeth K., daughter of Man-

son Seamands, of Bourbon County; she was the widow of

the late Edwin Dodge, and has one son of her first mar-

riage, and of the last marriage there are three sons and

four daughters living. Both father and grandfather were

members of the Particular Baptist Church, and the for-

mer, who died Dec. 34, 1879, was for many years an El-

der in the church.

SAMUEL S. SHEPARD
;

jeweler ; Georgetown;

is a grandson of Samuel Shepard, who was born in Ne-

,
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Middlesex County, Mass., in 1765. He emigrated to

Kentucky before she became a State, riding, it is said,

through on horseback. He settled at Georgetown when

there were only a half dozen houses in the place, building

the first tavern ever erected in the place, which was head-

quarters and a rendezous for the pioneer hunters of ter-

ritorial times. He married Miss Frankey Barlow, March

27, 1793, at Georgetown. She was born in 1765 and

this is one of the earliest marriages of which we have

any record. Samuel Shepard was a pioneer lawyer and

surveyor. He was chairman of the Georgetown Board

of Trustees, and represented Scott County in the State

Legislature in 1804. He had four sons and one daugh-

ter. William Tompkins, born March, 1793; Alpheus

Xavier Francis, born October, 1795; Thomas Jefferson,

born Jan. 15, 1801; James Madison, born September,

1802; and one daughter born in 1807, but died when

twelve years old. James M. Shepard never married and

was elected to the State Senate from the Counties of

Scott and Fayette. Thomas Jefferson Shepard, the father

of our subject, was born in Georgetown. He was self-

educated, having spent only three months in school, yet

he became a good scribe and an extensive reader. At
the age of 16 he entered as apprentice in a jewelry house of

his older brother to learn the trade. They manufactured

the early brass wall clocks, which sold at from $120 to

f130,|and it is said that the first clock he ever made is now
inthe possession of a Georgetown lady. He worked here

until 1828, when he went to Louisville, Ky., and worked

there for Beard & Ayres. He returned to Georgetown
in 1831, and bought out the jewelry establishment of

his brother, and conducted the business for fort}'^ years.

He died in February, 1875. He was married the first

time to Miss Amanda Smith, of this County, in Novem-
ber, 1830, and raised three children, of which there is

but one son living, Clifton R. Shepard, a planter at

Laeonia, Arkansas. His second marriage was in 1852,

to Mrs. Eliza Morford, whose maiden name w^as Wood-
ruff. There were two sons born of this marriage, viz.:

Thomas J. Shepard, jeweler, at Chattanooga, Tenn., and

Samuel S., the subject of this sketch, born in George-

town ; started in the jewelry business in 1871, as the

business partner of his brother and conducted business

under the firm name of Shepard Bros, until 1880, when

S. S. became the sole proprietor of a prosperous business.

ROBERT SOPER, merchant, Georgetown ; was born

in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1834. He was edu-

cated at Sharpsburg Academy and Georgetown Col-

lege, which he left in 1854, and taught a country school

until in 1855, and then entered upon a clerkship at Flat

Rock, Bourbon County, which he continued two years. In

1857 he opened a general store at Centreville, Bourbon

County, continuing nine years, after which he spent a

year in Paris, Ky., and in 1867 he came to Georgetown,

where he opened a dry goods store, buying the business

of F. A. Lyon. In 1874, he moved to his present site,

where he made many improvements, and conducted the

business until the fall of 1876, when the building and

part of the stock burned. In June, 1877, he completed

his present three-story iron front building (108x32), which

is fire proof. He occupies the entire building, with his

residence, first floor sales room, and basement carpet

room. He employs in all five gentlemen and one lady,

and conducts a most flourishing business in dry goods,

furnishing goods and carpets, having also a merchant

tailoring department. His business reaches to $75,000

per year. His business rooms are not surpassed by any

in the county, being replete with all modern conveniences,

and as a business manager he has no superior. His

father, Lawrence Soper, was born in Maryland, in 1800,

and came with his parents to Bourbon County in about

1803, settling on Cane Ridge, where he followed farming

until his death, which occurred in 1879. He left six sons,

all but the subject of these lines being farmers.

KINZEA STONE ; Georgetown
;
proprietor of the

Maud S. Tobacco Factory; was born in Bourbon County,

Ky., near Paris, in 1851, and was raised on a farm, being

educated in the neighboring country schools. In 1875,

he entered the grocery business in Lexington, and con-

tinued but one year, when he came to Georgetown and

opened a grocery in his present business house, formerly

occupied by R. P. Snell. Here he has conducted a large

and lucrative business, dealing in groceries, liquors, seeds

and wool. In June, 1880, he opened a tobacco factory,

Maud S., in No. 37. District. He employs twelve hands,

and sells his manufactured goods, consisting of six or eight

good varieties, to the leading wholesale houses in Cincin-

nati, Louisville, Charleston, West Virginia, and Lexing-

ton. His salesroom is located at the corner of Main
street and Main Cross, and four men are employed there.

He is now serving his third term as Trustee of George-

town. On Jan. 22, 1878, he married Miss Sallie B.,

daughter of F. A. Hoover, of Jessamine County, Ky.

JOHN T. SINCLAIR, coal dealer ; Georgetown
;

was born in Scott County, Ky., in the village of Stamp-

ing Ground, Jan. 24, 1839. He was educated at George-

town College; leaving at the age of seventeen; he began

life as a farmer, afterwards becoming a merchant, con-

ducting business in his native village, until the war broke

out, when he enlisted in Morgan's command, Colonel D.
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Howard Smith's regiment, Company B., 5th Kentucky

Cavalry, of which he was elected second lieutenant. He
commanded Company B. on raids in Kentucky, Tennes-

see, Ohio, and Indiana, being captured at Buffington,

Ohio; he was held twenty-three months at Johnson's

Island, Alleghany City Penitentiary, Point Look-out, and

Fort Delaware, as a prisoner of war. At the close of

the war he was paroled, when he returned to his farm in

Scott County. He engaged in merchandising at his

native home for a brief period, and served for two years

as Constable of Stamping Ground. In January, 1871,

he was elected Deputy Sheriff with S. T. Connellee, and

served four years. In 1875 he was elected Sheriff of Scott

County, and served four years ; since which time he has-

been a representative of prominent Fire and Life Insur-

ance Companies. In 1881, under the firm name of Thomp-

son & Sinclair, he established a coal and lumber yard on

Main Street. His parents were natives of this county.

His father, Benjamin W. Sinclair, was a physician, and

practiced at Stamping Ground, until his death, in January,

1846 ; he married Elizabeth M. Burbridge, daughter of

Thomas Burbridge of this county. The great-grand-

parents of our subject were from Virginia, and settled

in this county in very early times. His grandfather,

George Burbridge, was a noted race-horse man.

GREENUP STUCKER, retired ; P. O. Georgetown;

was born and raised in Scott County, Ky. His father,

Jacob Stucker, was a native of Pennsylvania, born

Aug. 11, 1764, and died June 11, 1830. When about

eighteen years old he came with his mother, two bro-

thers and one sister, to this State, which was not then

clear of Indians. They were so plentiful at that time,

and so vicious, that oftentimes on his going to the spring

for water they would shoot at him, sometimes shooting

into the fence so near to him that the splinters struck

him. He was in the fort which stood in sight of the

residence of his son, our subject, on land now owned by

Mr. John Osborn. He became a great Indian hunter,

and was the associate of Vallandingham. He and his

son James were in the war of 1813, in Colonel R. M.

Johnson's regiment. He was Captain of a company

and in all the campaigns. He married Miss Betsey

Rogers, of this County, in about 1788 ;
she bore him

eleven children, all of whom are now deceased, except

our subject. He accumulated an estate of three hundred

acres, and was a successful farmer. Greenup Stucker

was born Sept. 30, 1808, and was raised and educated

in pioneer manner. At the age of fifteen years he

learned blacksmithing with his brother William. He

worked as journeyman a number of years, almost abol-

ishing the pursuit of his trade since the war. He has

never married.

PROF. D. THOMAS, Georgetown; Professor of lan-

guages in Georgetown College; was born Sept. 30, 1817,

in Winthrop, Maine. The family is of English origin;

his grandfather was a clergyman in Maine, and his

father, William Thomas, was a mechanic in comfortable

circumstances. He enjoyed excellent educational ad-

vantages, taking his preparatory course for college at

Kents Hill Seminary, and at Waterville, Maine; in his

seventeenth year he entered Colby University, at Water-

ville, graduating in 1838 with the degree of A. B.

Among the teachers of that time were Prof. Patterson

and Prof. Keeley (both since deceased) and Prof. Loomis,

now of Lewisburg University, Pennsylvania; and one of

his classmates was the notorious Gen. Benjamin Butler.

In 1839 he was appointed tutor in Colby College, and a

year after was called to the position he now occupies,

that of Senior Professor of Ancient Languages and

Literature at Georgetown College, Georgetown, Ky.,

his specialty being ancient languages, but he also

teaches the German classes. In 1876 he received from

Colby University the honorary degree of LL. D., hav-

ing previously received from his Alma Mater the degree

of A. M. He united with the Baptist Church at the age

of fourteen; is an active and consistent member, and is

an earnest, indefatigable worker in the Sabbath-schools

and foreign-mission interests of his church; is liberal in

his donations to the church; prompt and exact in busi-

ness relations; is genial and hospitable, and entertains

his frien ds elegantly. He has long been chairman of the

Baptist Sabbath-school Board for Kentucky. Prof.

Thomas is also a farmer, and devotes his leisure time

with great success to his agricultural interests. He was

married in 1840 to Mrs. Sarah Waller Smith {n^e Burch),

sister to the wife of the late John C. Breckinridge. Of

their four children two are now living.

DR. JOHN C. THOMASSON, Georgetown, was born

in Pendleton County, Ky., April 15, 1857, and was edu-

cated in a private school at Butler, Ky. He began the

study of medicine with Dr. W. H. Yelton, of Fairview,

Ky., in 1879. He attended the Pulte Medical College

at Cincinnati, Ohio, during two sessions, and graduated

in March, 1881, at once locating in Georgetown, where

he has an active practice, being the only practitioner of

the homeopathic school at present in the county. His

father, Julius V. Thomasson, isof Scotch descent, born

March 34,1800, in the State of Kentucky. He follows the

occupation of farming, in Pendleton County, Ky.

' ^ ^
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W. Z. THOMSON, Georgetown; was born in Fayette

County, Ky., in 1848, and lived there until 1874; he

was educated in Georgetown College, and at eighteen

left school to engage in farming in Payette County. In

1873 he joined the Grange, and was elected secretary

of the Lodge. In 1874 he entered the employ of J. Eu-

gene Barnes, of Georgetown, and became an active as-

sistant in the State Secretary's office. The Kentucky Gran-

gers' Mutual Benefit Society was organized in November,
1874, the plans for mutual protection having been pre-

pared by James H. Moore, of Georgetown, and Mr.

Thomson, then in Fayette County. They presented the

matter to the Kentucky State Grange at Louisville, in

1874, and their plans received a hearty endorsement.

The charter was obtained by special act, and an election

of oiEcers took place in December of 1874. Dr. B.

Manly was elected president, W. B. Galloway, vice-pres-

ident, W. Z. Thomson, secretary, and Dr. S. F. Gano,
medical director, James H. Moore being general agent.

The oiEcers remain the same, except those of president

and vice-president, Mr. W. B. Galloway being instead

of Mr. Manly, who resigned in 1876, and Mr. Wm.
H. Warren is general agent. The society has received

recommendations at each annual meeting of the State

Grange. The membership raised the first year was 380;
in 1876 it was 1,100; in 1877, 1,800; in 1878, 2,300; in

1879, 3,500; in 1880, 2,150; in 1881, 2,350. The associa-

tion has a reserve fund of about $25,000; has had 135

deaths and has paid about $375,000 in benefits. There

are eleven directors, representing different parts of the

State. Mr. Thomson was married in 1870 to Miss Nan-
nie, daughter of E. P. Gaines, of Scott county.

LEO T. THOMAS, farmer and breeder of short-horn

cattle; P.O. Georgetown; was born on the homestead, Oct.

7, 1842. He was educated in this county; he inherited a

portion of the homestead, and bought the shares of the

other heirs. In 1873 he began the rearing of short-

horns, and has now a herd of nineteen. His stock farm

comprises 300 acres, about one-third in cultivation, the

remainder in grazing lands. Dec. 14, 1880, he mar-

ried Miss Angle B. Sanders of Gallatin County, Ky.

His father, Preston Thomas, was born in Bourbon Coun-

ty, Ky., on Oct. 7, 1807; he was of Virginia parent-

age; he was educated in Bourbon County, going to

Paris (ten miles) to school on horse-back. He mar-

ried a lady of the same name in 1833, and farmed four

vears in Bourbon County, when he settled on his present

place; he bought 380 acres, and devoted himself to

farming with success, and was aided by a goodly number

of servants. He died April 4, 1875. He was a member

of the Christian Church. He raised three children, all of

whom are residents of this county, viz: John W., Annie,

now Mrs. J. Harvey Moore, and our subject.

COL. PRESTON THOMSON, retired; Georgetown;

was born in Scott County, Ky., in 1815; he is the grand-

son of Rodes Thomson, a Virginian, who came to Ken-

tucky very early. His only son, the father of our subject,

was born at Marysville, then Limestone, Kentucky, in the

year 1788, and shortly after this event the family removed

to this County and settled where Rodes Thomson had en-

tered a large tract of land, on Cane Run; the old man
had a keen sense of the ridiculous, and played many
practical jokes on the early settlers and his servants.

.His son served in the war of 1812, in Capt. Jacob Stuck-

er's Company and Col. R. M. Johnson's Regiment. He
was captured at the battle of the River Raisin and taken

as a prisoner of war to Canada. About 1813, he married

Miss Sallie, daughter of Gen. John and Betsey (Johnson)

Payne. Her mother was a sister of Col. R. M. Johnson,

and as a brave girl, molded bullets for the soldiers in fort

at Bryant's Station. After his marriage to Miss Payne,

settled near Georgetown where he lived and run the

Thomson mill, which was built and moved there by a

man named Pitts. He died in 1853, leaving two sons

and one daughter, as follows: Sidney R., who was born in

1813, and died in 1879, and was a successful farmer and
miller; Mrs. E. P. Worthington, of Mississippi, and our

subject. Col. Preston Thomson, who entered Georgetown
College at its opening, and graduated in 1833, in the

second class sent out. He was appointed County Clerk

by Judge A. K. Wooley, in 1839, and served with dis-

tinction in that office until 1856, and was once elected by
popular vote. He enlisted in 1863, in Gen. Buford's

Brigade where he held the rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

G. B. TUCKER, farnaer; P.O.Georgetown; was born

in Bourbon County, Ky., in 1809, to Alexander and Ellen

(Berry) Tucker; he was a native of Dinwiddle County,

Va.; emigrated to Bourbon County about the year 1780;
during his life followed farming, and died in 1813, aged
sixty years; she was also a native of Dinwiddle County,
Va., and died in 1851, aged sixty-five years; G. B. Tuck-
er was their only child; he came to Scott County in 1817,

where he received such an education as the common
schools of that day afforded. In 1829, he began busi-

ness for himself by merchandizing, following the same
until 1842, when he retired from business, and has since

given his attention principally to farming; he has a well

improved farm of 500 acres, situated on the Lemon's Mill

Pike; upon his farm he has some fine short-horns; in Scott

County, in 1854, he married Miss Ma'ttie Morris, a native

^f^
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of Scott County; she died in 1856, aged twenty-four

years. Mr. Tucker is a prominent citizen of George-

town Precinct, bearing a name and reputation which is

beyond reproach. His only child, Fanny, is now at

home. He is a Democrat.

ELIJAH THORNBERRY, Georgetown; was born

in Mason County Ky., April 7, 1805; when a boy he

came witi^his parents to Scott County, where he received

a good common school education, and learned the black-

smith trade with William Stucker, at Great Crossings.

April 7, 1825, he married Miss Eliza Jones, daughter of

William Jones, one of the early settlers of the county.

After his marriage he rented and located on a farm near

"Dry Run "Baptist Church; here he built a shop and

plied his trade until after the war. In about 1866, he

moved to Georgetown, where he retired from active labor

until his death, in May of 1877. He had six children,

four of whom are living. In politics he was a Whig.

He and his wif6 were members of the Missionary Bap-

tist Church, as were their children, excepting one son.

GEORGE W. VILEY, farmer; P. O. Georgetown;

is a grandson of George Viley, a native of the eastern

shore of Maryland, who came, accompanied by his ser-

vants, to Kentucky, during the latter part of the eight-

eenth century, and purchased a tract of wild land,

where he lived until his death in 1814, his wife dying in

middle life, in 1832; she was a Miss Martha James, also

a native of Maryland, and became his wife in 1785. She

bore him ten children, two of their sons being in the

war of 1812, viz., Warren and Willa. They were in Col.

R. M. Johnson's regiment; Warren died from exposure

incurred during the war, soon after his return. Their

son, Samuel Viley, the father of our subject, was born

in Maryland in 1790, and was a small boy when his pa-

rents brought him to Kentucky. He received a common

school education, and was a farmer near the old home-

stead during his life. He was a successful farmer and

stock raiser; he was particularly fond of fine horses, and

in his later life owned a few thoroughbreds, but was

never a turfmau. He married Miss Mary Suggett, daugh-

ter of John Suggett, of this county; she bore him two

sons and daughters, one daughter dying in infancy. He

died in 1859. The oldest child is our subject, who was

born in this county in 1818, and now resides on the

place where his grandfather settled. His education was

obtained in the schools of this county, and in George-

town College; at the age of twenty-one, he began to read

law in the office of J. H. Davis of Georgetown; he next

attended the Transylvania Law School, from which he

graduated in the session of 1844-5, and was then admit-

ted to the bar at Georgetown, but soon relinquished prac-

tice on account of failing health. Since 1848, he has de-

voted himself to farming. In 1877 he married Miss

Williena Green, of Owen County, Ky.

JOHNM. VILEY, physician and farmer; Georgetown;

was born on the place where he now lives, and which

was the homestead of his father, in the year 1823. He
attended the schools of this vicinity and Georgetown

College, at the age of sixteen, taking charge of the old

homestead. At the age of twenty-three he married, and

the farm then became his own. He began in 1838 the

study of medicine, andwithout direction, pursued it for

two years, and in 1840 began practicing, continuing un-

til 1858 with excellent success, when he gave it up for

twenty years, resuming again some three years since. In

1846, he married Miss Susan A. Long, whose mother,

aged ninety, still lives; her birth-place was Sumpter Dis-

trict, South Carolina, and she came to this State in 1819;

she was a Miss Bradford, and married James Long in

1819, he being a Kentuckian; they settled in Scott

County, Ky.; he died in 1859. Dr. Viley's farm was

called "Cedar Grove" by his father, because of the ave-

nues of cedars in front of the residence. The Dr. has

eight children living. A stream passing through the Vi-

ley estate is called MoClellan's Run, in honor to the man

who made one of the pre-emption rights in Scott

County, and held about 6,000 acres here in a solid body.

In 1869, Dr. Viley built his present distillery, known as

Wilson's Springs Distillery; this has been in operation

ever since, barring a few brief periods. It is located on

MoClellan's Run, and has a capacity of three barrels per

day, employing from three to five hands.

JUDGE JUNE WARD WILLIAMS; farmer; Glas-

gow, Howard Co., Mo. The grandfather of our subject,

Charles Williams, came from Culpepper county, Va., and

was among the first settlers of Kentucky. He loca-

ted near the Great Crossings; he raised a large family

of children, four daughters and five sons, who were among

the most wealthy and prominent citizens of the county
;

one daughter is living, the grandmother of G. V. Payne;

one son, Merritt Williams, the father of our subject, was

born in Scott County, Ky., in about the year 1789. He

was a farmer and trader, owning about 600 acres in this

county; he was an earnest Democrat, but never would

accept an office. He married a Miss Eliza Smith, who

was a granddaughter of the Gold Mine "Billy Smith."

He died in 1855; he raised four boys and two girls: Ann

E., deceased, was the wife of Charles G. McHatton; Arch

P. is a resident of Frankfort; Barnett died in Louisiana;

Sarah was the wife of Dr. Henry Craig, of Georgetown



^^
620 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

and died in December, 1881; Granville is deceased.

June Ward was borif in Scott County, near Georgetown,

in December, 1833; he was educated in the Western

Military Institute, then under Thornton Johnston, and

was a pupil of James G. Blaine ; he went to Missouri in

1854, and settled in Howard County, where he engaged

in farming: here he married Miss Martha Rucker, who
was born in Orange County, Va., in 1834; she was a

niece of Sterling Price. They have nine living children,

four sons and five daughters. Judge Williams is a

Justice of the Peace of Howard County, Mo.

CAPT. J. HENRY WOLFE, county clerk; George-

town ; was born in the free city of Bremen, Germany,

and was there educated in the common schools, after

which he spent two years in a military institute, where

he learned surveying and civil engineering. At the age

of sixteen years he came to the United States, and spent

about eight months in Florida, where he was sent for the

purpose of making a survey from St. Augustine to Fer-

nandino. In May, 1840, he came to Kentucky, locating

at Georgetown, where he has since remained. Here

he engaged in the grocery business until the war broke

out, when he enlisted in General John H. Morgan's com-

mand, in July, 1863 ; in September of the same year he

returned and raised a company, which went out with

General Kirby Smith ; of this company he was elected

captain. His command became Company D., and was

assigned to the 3rd Kentucky Cavalry, under Colonel

Gano. He served in the Ohio and Indiana raids, and

was captured at Middleport, Ohio, four days after the

main army was taken ; he was held seven mouths, when
he was exchanged, at which time he had recovered from

a wound received at BuiBngton, Ohio. About one week
after his" exchange he reported to his old command, un-

der General Duke, after which he was sent to North

Carolina to capture deserters. At that time he had

charge of the cavalry horses for the winter. The sur-

render came in April, after which he returned to George-

town, and was there elected Clerk of Scott County, in

1866 ; that position he has held ever since, having been

four times re-elected, with almost no opposition. His

son assists him, and the manner in which they execute

their work deserves special commendation. Both father

and son excel in penmanship, and all writings included

in their work, are remarkable for the beauty and system

that are embodied in them.

nv^
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WHITE SULPHUR PRECINCT.

J. E. BUTLER, merchant; P. O. White Sulphur; is a

native of this county and was born in 1852; he is a son

of Daniel and Mary M. (Mefford) Butler, both natives of

Scott County; his father was born about the year 1807;

was a wagon-maker by trade, and died about 1875; his

mother was born about 1839. Subject was educated in

the common schools of White Sulphur Precinct, and after

leaving school in 1871, commenced teaching, which vo-

cation he followed until 1874, when he engaged in mer-

chandising, a business he still follows; he was married

April 31st, 1880, in White Sulphur, to Miss Lizzie Glass,

a daughter of J. C. and Ann E. Glass; he was born in

Owen County in 1817, and she in Scott County about

1833; he (subject) is County Surveyor, since 1879, and is

at present a candidate for re-election; he is a Democrat

politically; he is a prosperous merchant of White Sulph-

er, and the only one in the place; keeps a large stock of

goods, and is an enterprising business man.

WM. H. BRANHAM, farmer; P. O. Midway; was born

in this County, Dec. 6, 1839, and is a son of John and

Susan (Quinn) Branham, both natives of Scott County;

he was born in 1797 and died in 1868; she was born in

1804. The subject is the fifth of a family of seven chil-

dren, and was educated in the schools of the neighbor-

hood; he began life as a farmer, and his place is one of

the oldest settled in the County; he purchased it in 1858;

it is situated on the Midway and Scott County Pike, six

miles from Georgetown. He was married in Shelby

County to Miss Anna Myles, a native of that county; he

is a member of the Baptist Church, and belongs to the

Odd Fellows.

A. .1. GANO, physician and farmer; P. O. George-

town ; is a son of Uapt. Daniel Gano, one of the pioneer

settlers of Scott County, and who is frequently and ap-

propriately mentioned elsewhere in this volume. Dr.

Gano, the subject, was born in this County, Feb. 26,

1838, and received his education in the schools and col-

leges of Georgetown. His mother's maiden name was

Jemima Robinson; she was born in Maryland, and came

to Kentucky with her family in earlj' youth. The result

of her marriage with Capt. Gano was eleven children,

of whom the subject is the youngest, and of whom
there are but four now living. Upon starting out in

life, Dr. Gano spent seven years in the drug business,

in the meantime studying medicine, and in 1853, he at-

tended the Louisville Medical College, from which he

graduated in 1854, locating afterward in the lower part

of Scott County; he remained there about one year,

then removed to White Sulphur, where he practiced his

profession until 1874, when he removed to Midway, in

Woodford County, remaining there until 1878, when he

located upon his present place, on the Georgetown and

Frankfort Pike, five miles from Georgetown. He has a

beautiful location and an excellent farm, and is now
making extensive improvements, with the vif^w of en-

gaging in sheep raising on a large scale. He is a mem-
ber of the Christian Church, and of the Masonic Frater-

nity since 1849, and is a Dsmocrat. Dr. Gano was mar-

ried in May, 1854, to Miss Ophelia Lee, a daughter of

Robert and Martha (Powell) Lee. He was a native of

Virginia, where he was born in 1794, came to Kentucky

in an early day, and died in 1879; his wife was born in

Woodford County, in 1804. They had five children, two

boys and three girls.

D. B. GALLOWAY, farmer ; P. O. Georgetown
;

is a native of Scott County, and was educated at

Georgetown. When he was about eighteen months

old his father moved to Missouri, and his grandfa-

ther stole him from his father, and brought him up in

his own family. He (the subject) has always lived

on a farm, and owns a good farm on the Branham
Mill Pike, about three-fourths of a mile from the

Georgetown and Frankfort Pike. It once belonged to

Hon. R. M. Johnson; afterwards to David Thompson,

and was purchased by Mr. Galloway in 1843. He is a

member of the Baptist Church, and of the Masonic

brotherhood; he is a Democrat, a Granger, and a strong

temperance man; he was elected Magistrate in 1845, an

office he still holds. So far he has disregarded the Bibli-

cal injunction, that it "is not well for man to be alone,"

for he is still unmarried.

JOHN Y. KINKEAD, farmer; P. O. Midway; a native

of Woodford County, Ky.; and a son of James and Bet-

sey (White) Kinkead, was born March 1, 1818. His par-

ents were natives of Fredericksburg, Va., and came to

Kentucky in early times; the father was born in 1793,

and died in 1833 ; the mother was born in 1802, and

died in 1840. The subject was educated in the common
schools of Woodford County, and commenced business

as a shoemaker in 1840, but afterwards went into the
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drug business at Stamping Ground, in which he con-

tinued until 1850, when he was married to a young

lady of Shelby County, Ky., who lived only four months

and in 1854, he was again married, to Miss Mary Nel-

son, and removed to Missouri, where she died in

1863 ; she was a daughter of Joseph Nelson, a native of

Scott County, Ky.; and who was born about the year

1800. In 1861, Mr Kinkead enlisted under Gen. Price,

and served as Quartermaster until the close of the war

in 18p5, when he returned to Kentucky, and was married

a third time, to Mrs. Lousia St Clair. They have only one

child, Bettie, who is attending school at Midway, Wood-
ford County. Mr. Kinkead is a member of the Christian

Church, and a Democrat in politics. He is now engaged

in farming and rearing of fine stock, making specialties

of sheep and trotting horses. He owns 225 acres of ex-

cellent land and finely improved. It is located on the

Georgetown and Mi Jway Pike, about two miles from

Midway. It was formerly owned by George Tarleton,

who had a fine race-track on it, upon which Gray Eagle

and Wagner were trained, the training stables of these

noted horses are all gone to decay.

A. M. LYON, farmer; P. O. Midway; is a native of

Scott County, and a son of Nathaniel and Abigail (Mer-

riman) Lyon, both natives of Connecticut, and early set-

tlers in this County; both died in Georgetown; the form-

er in 1823, and the latter in 1858; they had four chil-

dren, two of whom are dead. The subject had few

opportunities for receiving an education, as the death of

his father necessitated his doing something for himself at

an early age; at fourteen he was apprenticed to the sad-

dler's trade, and after serving his time, worked for his

late master for $12 per month and boarded himself; in

1832 he went to Indiana, where he remained a few

mouths, then returned to Kentucky, and in 1833 to

Georgetown; he went into the saddlery business for him-

self in 1835, continuing until 1856, when he engaged in

merchandising, remaining in that business until 1861; he

then bought a farm near Georgetown, on Georgetown

and Midway Pike, upon which he has ever since resid-

ed; he was married to Miss Mary Fenwick in February,

1843; she died in 1848, and he then married Miss Frances

Branham, Oct. 15, 1850, who died in 1857; they had seven

children, three of whom are living. He is a member of

the Baptist Church, and a Democrat in politics; he has

recently divided his farm between his two sons, Henry
and John, two worthy, industrious and honorable young
men.

B. J. LAUGHLIN, farmer; P. 0. White Sulphur; was

born in Ireland and came to this country in 1838, and

settled in Scott County on his present place in 1869,

which is situated about half a mile from the Georgetown

and Frankfort Pike, and in sight of White Sulphur Vil-

lage; it is a beautiful place, consisting of 247 acres, well

improved and in a fine state of cultivation; has a hand-

some brick residence on it, and all out-buildings of like

excellent character. Mr. L. is an enterprising, indus-

trious man, and a successful farmer and stock-raiser.

He married Miss Mary Lee, a daughter of Robert Lee,

who was born in Virginia in 1790, and removed to

Scott County in 1805; of this union eight children have

been born, and are being educated at Visitation Mon-

astery.

VIRGIL McMANUS, farmer ; P. O. White Sulphur
;

was born in Scott County, June 10, 1833, And is a son of

John and Susan (Powell) McManus; the former born in

Ireland, Aug. 16, 1789, and died Dec. 5, 1878, and was a

farmer and distiller; the latter was born in Franklin

County, Ky., Feb. 14, 1806, and died Jan. 7, 1855. They
had six children, of whom the subject was the fifth, and

all of whom received their education in this County.

Subject began life as a farmer, a pursuit he still follows;

he was married Feb. 5, 1861, to Miss Josephine Dough-
erty, a native of Scott County, and born June 14, 1845.

The result of this marriage is seven children, all except

one living. Mrs. McManus is a daughter of John and

Elizabeth (Vance) Dougherty; the former a native of

Bourbon County, and died July 11, 1879; the latter a

native of Fayette County, and died Nov. 10, 1854. Sub-

ject owns 120 acres of very fine land, which is referred

to in the history of this precinct as one of the pioneer

settlements. He is a Democrat in politics, and an ener-

getic, upright, and enterprising citizen; he and his wife

have five grand and great grandfathers and mothers

buried in the cemetery of St. Pius, in this precinct.

GARRETT POWELL, farmer and breeder of fine

horses; P. O. White Sulphur; is a son of Hon. Urias

Powell, a native of Culpepper County, Va., and a

soldier of the war of 1812, and afterward a citizen

of Scott County. He was a carpenter, but finally

bought a farm upon which he lived. He was twice

married, first to Miss Minnie Powell, a native of Vir-

ginia, and after her death married a lady of Scott

County. Subject was born of the last marriage, in 1829;

his early life was spent on a farm, and Deo. 22, 1865, he

was married to Miss Kenney, a daughter of Richard Ken-
ney, of Owen County; her mother was a native of Scott

County. The place now owned by Mr. Powell was orig-

inally settled by a man named Wood, about the year

1800, and was at one time owned by Hon. Dick Johnson;
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it was bought by Mr. Powell in 1863, and by adtlitions

made to it since he purchased it, now comprises 330

acres; it is well improved, and lies on both sides of the

Georgetown and Frankfort Pike. Mr. Powell pays con-

siderable attention to fine horses, and has bred some very

noted ones, among which is " Monroe Chief," whose time

has been 3:18J; he was sold by Mr. Powell at two years old

for $1,500, and has since sold for $17,000; and "D. Mon-

roe " sold for $33,000 in 1874. He sold the dam for $400

at nineteen years of age. He now has two very fine

fillies, two and three years old. He started into the busi-

ness as manager, but by economy and industry, soon ac-

cumulated enough to buy a horse, and has kept on add-

ing to and improving his stock, until he has attained a

good reputation as a horse breeder.

REV. B. T. QUINN, farmer; P. O. Georgetown; is a

son of Richard and Cynthia (Nail) Quinn, and was born

in Scott County, Sept. 15, 1835; his father was born in

Spottsylvania County, Va., Aug. 8, 1787, and was a school

teacher of the early times, but became a farmer after-

ward, and died Mar. 17, 1870. His wife was born in Frank-

lin County, Ky., March 10, 1804, and died in 1837. The

subject was educated in the schools of the time, and in

Georgetown College, which he entered in 1843, and re-

mained until 1844; he then began teaching, and also

preaching; he had charge of several churches—one at

Big Spring, "Woodford Co. Mr. Quinn has been married

three times; his first wife, Miss Sallie A. French, was

born in Franklin County, Ky., and was a daughter of

William French, a native of Virginia; after her death he

married Miss Cerella Stapp, of Madison County, Ind.,

and she dying, he married Miss Wingate, a daughter of

Isaac Wingate, of Franklin County, Ky., who was a na-

tive of Djlaware, and was born April 7, 1791; his wife,

Jane Snead, was born in Virginia, near Richmond, April

15, 1798, and died Deo. 13, 1875. Mr. Quinn is a mem-

ber of the Baptist Church; he is a Democrat and a

Granger; he has two children; he has not preached for

saveral vears on account of asthma, but is engaged in

farming; owns 200 acres of good land on Iron Works.

Road, about five miles from Georgetown.

ALEXANDER THOMAS, farmer; P. O. White Sul-

phur; is the fifth of a family of seven children, and was

born in Bourbon County, April 10, 1813; his parents were

natives of Virginia, and came to Kentucky among the

pioneers; he was educated in Bourbon County, and be-

gan life as a farmer, an avocation he has always followed,

with the exception of a period during the late war; he

removed to Scott County in 1839, and settled on the

Georgetown and Frankfort Pike. He was married to

Miss Eliza D. Lewis in 1838, a daughter of Hiram Lewis,

of Harrison County, Ky. In 1863 he enlisted in the

Fifth Regiment of Cavalry, under General Morgan, and

was Quartermaster and Commissary; he was with Mor-

gan on his ill-fated raid through Indiana and Ohio, and

was taken prisoner at Buffington; he was at John-

son's Island for a few days; he was then removed to

Columbus, O., where he remained for eight months,

when he was transferred to Fort Delaware, and after

twelve months was exchanged. Mr. Thomas' place was

settled by a man named Cason; was purchased after-

wards by Col. Dick Johnson, and remained in the John-

son family until Mr. Thomas bought it. Mr. T. is a Ma-

son, a Democrat, and a prominent farmer and stock-

raiser.

JOHN F. WAITS, farmer; P. O. Midway; was born

in Harrison County, Ky., May 18, 1839, and is a son of

Edward and Elizabeth (Parker) Waits; the former was

also born in Harrison County, vyhere he lived until 1860,

when he moved to Woodford County, and is still a resi-

dent of that County, and follows farming. His father

came from Virginia in an early day. Mrs. Waits (the

mother of subject) was born in Bourbon County about

the year 1830, and died in 1871. Our subject was edu-

cated in the common schools of Harrison County, and is

the third in a family of nine children. He commenced
business for himself as a farmer and stock raiser in Illi-

nois in 1863, which business he followed for about one

year, when he returned to his father's in Woodford

County, remaining there one year, then went to merchan-

dizing, which business he continued until 1871, when he

removed to Scott County, and has been engaged in farm-

ing ever since. He was married Sept. 19, 1865, to Miss

Sallie McConnell, in Midway, Woodford County. Her

father was born in Woodford County, Nov. 10, 1801;

her mother, Charlotte (Calvert) McConnell, was born in

Fayette County, Dec. 15, 1813. They have three chil-

dren; viz: Jesse C, Charlotte E., and Mattie R. Mr.

Waits is a Democrat politically, and both he and his'

wife are members of the Christian Church. He and his

father and brother own a good farm near the George-

town and Frankfort Pike.
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THOS. ATKINS, farmer ; P. 0. Skinnersburg ; Thos.

B., the father of our subject was born in Culpepper Coun-

ty, Va., in 1879, emigrated to Bath County, Ky., in about

1814; in 1837 removed to Nicholas County, and in 1838

removed to Scott County, where he died in 1859. His

wife, the mother of our subject, was previous to her mar-

riage Miss Nancy Shackleford; she was born in Culpep-

per County, Va., in 1806, and died in Lexington, Ky., Jan.

13, 1866. They were the. parents of thirteen children, of

whom was Thomas, our subject ; he was born in Bath

County, Ky., Feb. 3, 1830; his education was limited on

account of his having weak eyes ; was unable to obtain

even such an education as the common schools of his day

afforded. He commenced life a poor man, thrown upon

his own resources at the age of fifteen years ; at the age

of seventeen he removed to Scott County, where he has

since remained engaged in tilling the soil. In 1844 in

Scott County, he married Miss Maria Lucas, a native of

Scott County, and the daughter of Elijah and Margaret

(Moore) Lucas; she was born Jan. 19, 1820. By this

marriage they have had seven children, six of whom are

now living, viz.: Lois, William, Elijah L., Napoleon, Cath-

arine B., and Robert H. He is a Democrat, and with

his wife are members of the Baptist Church.. Mr. Atkins

is a kind hearted and industrious man; he and his faith-

ful wife have won the esteem of all the citizens of the

community of which he is a part.

JOHN L. COTRELL, farmer; P. O. Minorsville.

Thomas, the father of this gentleman, was born in Vir-

ginia, where he received his education; in 1801 he emi-

grated to Greene County, Ohio, and soon afterwards re-

moved to Miami County, where he remained engaged in

the milling business to the time of his death, which oc-

curred in 1840, being sixty years of age. His wife, the

mother of our subject, was born in Culpepper County,

Va., and removed to Greene County, Ohio, about 1800,

where she was married; she died in Miami County in

'1835, aged 35 years. They were the parents of five

children, our subject being the second child. He was
born in Greene County, Ohio, April 3, 1815, where he re-

mained, receiving such an education as the common
schools of that county afforded. In 1835 he removed to

Marion County, Ind., and in 1840 removed to Scott

County, Ky., his present residence. He has during his

life been a hard-working and industrious farmer, and by

STAMPING GROUND PRECINCT.

his honesty, industry and economy has succeeded in ac-

cumulating a good property; he is the owner of 350

acres of land. He is now one of Scott County's magis-

trates, having held the office for eight years, to the entire

satisfaction of all. In 1839, in Scott County, he married

Mrs. Sarah E. Nelson, a native of Fayette County, and

the daughter of John and Lucy (Sinclair) Reding; she

was born in 1822. They have been blessed with fifteen

children, thirteen of whom are now living, viz. : Zerilda,

James, Maria, Thomas, Benjamin F., Alvin, Alice, John

S., Joseph, Stephen D., Willis, Millie A. and Sally.

Mr. Cotrell and family are members of the Christian

Church.

JOHN CALVERT; farmer; P. O. Stamping Ground;

the father of this gentleman, John Calvert, was of English

descent; born in Prince William County, Va., March

25, 1774; emigrated to Scott County, Ky., about the year

1790, and died Oct. 10, 1853. His wife was Miss Sarah

Johnson; born in Fayette County, Ky., Nov. 6, 1775; she

was one of the first two children born in Fayette county,

west of the mountains. They were the parents of nine chil-

dren, six sons and three daughters, of whom was John, our

subject, who was born in Scott County, April 10, 1809. He
received his education from the common schools of his

native county. In 1831 he engaged in the hotel business

in Owen County, where he remained until 1834, when he

returned to his parental home; remained there about six

months, when he removed to Indiana and engaged in

the merchandising business, with his brother. In 1841,

in Indiana, he married Miss Eliza Jane Sharp, who was a

native of Ohio; she died April 6, 1844, aged 23 years.

After his wife's death, Mr. Calvert returned home, and

remained with his parents until 1859, when he removed to

his present residence. He married, a second time, Miss

Elvessa Cannon, who was born in Georgetown, Scott

County, Ky; Feb. 2, 1831; she is the daughter of Wm.
B. and Betsey (Cannon) Cannon. By his second mar-

riage he has had seven children: John W., Edward B.,

Obed, Martha, Jesse Lee, Elizabeth C, and .James Mon-

roe. Mr. Calvert is the owner of 250 acres of land.

Himself and family are members of the Baptist Church.

He is a member of the A., F. & A. M., Scott Lodge

203, at Stamping Ground, and in politics is a Democrat.

WILLIAM O. CALVERT, farmer ; P. O. Stamping

Ground. Obediah, the father of this gentleman, was
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born in Scott County, March 6, 1799 ; during his life he

followed the occupation of farming, and died in 1875.

The mother of our subject, Elizabeth (Lindsey) Calvert,

was the daughter of Anthony Lindsey, the first settler of

Lindsey Station and the third settler of the Stamping

Ground Precinct. She was born in Scott County in

1806 and died in 1878. They were the parents of thirteen

children, of whom was William O., our subject. He was

born in Scott County, March 38, 1845. His early days

were spent in receiving an education from the common
schools of his native county, and assisting in tilling the

soil of his father's farm. In Scott County on December

14, 1866, he married Miss Anna Robinson, a native of

Scott Countj', born July 26, 1846, and the daughter of

Sanford and Elizabeth Johnson. Mr. Calvert is the

owner of 110 acres of land. Himself and wife are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church. They have been blessed

with seven children, six of whom are now living, viz :

Ben. S., Quincy A., Amelia F., Oniska, Lindsey, and an

infant unnamed.

COL. W. P. DUVALL, retired; P. O. Stamping

Ground. Col. John Duvall, the father of this gentleman,

was born in Culpepper County, Va., March 14, 1783 ; in

1791 emigrated to Fayette County, and in 1793 removed

to Scott County, being among the first settlers of Stamp-

ing Ground precinct. He died Sept. 8, 1859. Jane

(Branham) Duvall, his wife, was born in Scott County,

Nov. 6, 1785, and died Dec. 13, 1854. Of the ten children

born to them, W. P. Duvall, our subject, was the fifch

child and fourth son. He was born in Scott County, Jan.

6, 1815; his early life was spent in receiving an educa-

tion and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm,

remaining with his father to the time of his death. In

1848 he was elected to the Legislature for one term; in

1865, was re-elected; in 1867 was elected door-keeper of

the Senate, and in 1871, was elected to the Senate to rep-

resent the counties Scott, Harrison and Robinson. Oc-

tober 4, 1855, in Scott County, he married Miss Caroline

Robinson, who was born June 31, 1837. They are the

parents of two children, one of whom is now living

—

George E. He was born Aug. 31, 1856, and in Septem-

ber, 1877, was married to Miss Lillie Wright. He is at

the present time carrying on a mercantile business at

the " Stamp." Col. John Duvall, the father of our sub'

ject,was a captain in the warof 1813, underCol. Boswell.

DUDLEY H. DAVIS, farmer ; P. 0. Skinnersburg.

His father, Elijah Davis, was born in Fairfax County, Va.,

January, 1777 ; emigrated to Clark County in 1831, and

removed to Scott County in 1833, where he died Oct. 9,

1854. He was a farmer, and a soldier in the war of 1813,

His wife, Margaret (Riley) Davis, the mother of our sub-

ject, was born in Fairfax County, Va., in 1775 ; came to

Scott County with her husband, and died in 1850. They
were the parents of nine children. Dudley H. Davis

was born in Clark County Ky., June 34, 1831, and in

1844, in Harrison County, he married Miss Mary E.

Brockman ; she was born in Harrison County, May 34,

1837. They are the parents of six children, three of

whom are now living, viz : Mandeville, Wm. T. and

Josephine. Mr. Davis commenced life a poor man, and

the first piece of land he owned was only 39 acres. By
his perseverance and hard work he has accumulated 900

acres of land. He and wife are niembt'rs of the Christian

Church. He is a Democrat.

SAMUEL ESTES, farmer; P. O. Stamping Ground
;

is a native of Scott County, and the son of William and

Mary (Hockensniith) Estes. William was born in Vir-

ginia, emigrated to Scott County, where he followed the

occupation of farming, and died in 1855. Mary, the

mother of our subject, was born in Scott County, and

died in October, 1865. They were the parents of thir-

teen children, twelve of whom are still living, of whom
is our subject, who was born Sept. 30, 1830. He received

his education from the common schools of his native

county, and on June 31, 1855, in Franklin County, he

married Miss Letitia Owens, who was born in Franklin

County, April 5, 1836. She is the daughter of William

and Elizabeth (Trout) Owens, who are natives of Ken-

tucky. Mr. Estes has during his life followed the occu-

pation of farming, and is now the owner of 135 acres of

land. By his marriage he has had eleven children, eight

of whom are now liviiig, viz: John W., Thomas H.,

Laura, William D., Catharine, Betsey, Kate and Addie.

Himself and family are members of the Baptist Church.

He is a member of the A., F. and A. M., Scott Lodge

No. 203, at Stamping Ground. He is a Democrat.

JNO. R. FERGUSON, retired farmer ; P. O. Stamp-

ing Ground ; is a native of Scott County, and the son of

James and Lydia (Thompson) Ferguson ; he was born

April 1, 1798 ; his father was born in Virginia, in 1770,

emigrated to Scott County in about 1783 ; was married

in 1796 and died in June, 1833. The mother of our sub-

ject was born in Virginia, March 10, 1773 ; she came to

Kentucky in about the year 1790, and died Oct. 13, 1849.

There were born to them five children, our subject being

the oldest child. He received his education from the

neighborhood school ; arriving at manhood he began

trading in the South, following the same for four years;

since has given his entire attention to farming ;
in 1835,

on Nov. 5th, in Franklin County, he married Miss Maria
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Macklin, who was a native of Franklin County, born

April 21, 1801, and died Oct. 5, 1841 ; she was the

daughter of Hugh Macklin, a native of Ireland. There

were bom to Mr. and Mrs. Ferguson nine children, only-

two of whom are now living, viz.: Alexander and Mar-
tha E. Mr. Ferguson is a member of the Baptist Church.

A remarkable feature in Mr. Ferguson, is being eighty-

four years old and never used a pair of spectacles ; he

has been a hard-working man, and by his studied econo-

my and business habits succeeded in gaining a good

property ; he is now the owner of about 300 acres of well

improved land. There is no flaw in Mr. Ferguson's char-

acter ; it is sterling throughout and sound to the very

core ; his business integrity and purity of his private life

have always been above suspicion.

JOHN A. FLUKE, farmer; P. O. Long Lick; Jacob

Fluke, the father of this gentleman, was born in Mary-

land, Oct. 13, 1800, and was brought to Montgomery
County, Ohio, by his parents in 1805. He received his

ed'ucation in Montgomery County from the common
schools. In 1827 he removed to Scott County, Ky.,

where he has since remained, engaged in tilling the soil.

His wife, the mother of our subject, was a widow, Mrs.

Nancy Owens; she was born in Scott County, March 23,

1793, and died Oct. 17, 1878. They were the parents

of five children, of whom was John A., our subject. He
was born in Georgetown, Scott County, Jan. 25, 1828.

He received his education from the common schools of

his native county, and arriving at manhood began in

agricultural pursuits, which he has since continued to

follow. In Franklin County, on May 4, 1854, he married

Miss Harriet Harvey, who was born in Franklin County,

July 23, 1832, and died in Scott County, Feb. 3, 1864.

In July, 1876, he married a second time Mrs. Sally F.

Roberts, a sister to his first wife. By his first marriage

he had four children, two of whom are living: Arthur B.

and Harriet; and by his second marriage one child,

Nancy Russell. He is the owner of 330 acres of land.

He is a member of the Christian Church. Mr. Fluke, as

a fanner, is practical and prosperous; as a citfzen he is

enterprising and progressive, and, together with his es-

timable wife, are intelligent and esteemed citizens. He
is a Republican.

JOHN H. FORD, retired farmer ; P. O. Minorsville
;

was born in Mason County, Ky., Jan. 28, 1795. He has

during his life followed the trade of bricklayer and also

tliat of farming. His wife, Elizabeth McCoy, was a

native of Georgetown, Ky.; she was born in 1801, and

died in 1880. Mr. Ford is now living with his son, and

enjoying good health for a man of his age. He was in

the war of 1812, under Col. Richard Johnson. His son,

Rev. Hiram Ford, was born in Scott County, Dec. 25,

1830 ; and in Casey County, Ky., Dec. 15, 1856, he mar-

ried Miss Elizabeth Conner, a native of Franklin County;

born in 1843 ; they are the parents of two children: John

F. and James M. He organized the " Pleasant Hill "

(Christian Church) at Minorsville, in 1854, with only

fifteen members, and at the present time there are 300

members at the same church ; he also organized a church

in Owen County. Mr. Ford has been the pastor of six

churches for four years, including the two he organized.

He is a member of the A., F. & A. M., Scott Lodge,

No, 203, at Stamping Ground. He and his father are

worthy citizens of their precinct, and most respected by
those who best know them.

CHURCHILL B. GLASS, farmer; P. O. Georgetown;

His father, James S. Glass, was born in Scott County,

Sept. 12, 1812 ; during his life followed the occupation

of farming, and died Jan. 26, 1865 ; his father, William

Glass, and grandfather of our subject, was born in Vir-

ginia, in 1776, and emigrated to Scott County in 1796
;

he was a soldier in the Revolutionary War. Sally A.

Sinclair, the mother of our subject, was born in Scott

County, April 6, 181ij, and now resides with her son, our

subject ; her father was Armstead Sinclair, born in Scott

County, Feb. 25, 1785, and died Jan. 3, 1824 ; his father

was Robert Sinclair, a native of Virginia. Churchill

B., our subject, was the oldest of six boys ; he was born

in Scott County, Nov. 17, 1838 ; attended the common
schools of his native county, and finished his education

at Georgetown College, in 1860. During the years of

1861-62 he taught school, and since that time has been
engaged in agricultural pursuits. In Scott County, Dae.

19, 1867, he married Miss Mary A. Glinn, a native of

Scott County, and the daughter of William and Eliza-

beth (Moore) Glinn, both natives of Scott County ; she

was born in December, 1847. They are the parents of

two children, one of whom is now living : Anna E.

Himself and wife are members of the Baptist Church,

and in politics has followed the example of his fore-

fathers by uniting with the Democratic party. He is the

owner of 131 acres of land. Mr. Glass is an enterprising

man, industrious and frugal in his habits, pleasing and
courteous in his manner, and highly esteemed by the

people of the community in which he lives.

THOMAS HOOK, farmer; P. O. Stamping Ground.
William Hook, the father of this gentleman, was born

in Nicholas County in 1800; during his life followed the

occupation of farming and blacksmithing; he died in

1869; his father, Thomas Hook, was born in Maryland,
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and emigrated to Nicholas County, being among the early

settlers. The mother of our subject, Susan Ellis, was a

native of Nicholas County, and the daughter of James

Ellis, the founder of Ellisville, Ky.; she was born in

1800, and died in 1832. They were the parents of three

children, of whom was our subject Thomas; he was born

in Nicholas County, Dec. 17, 1827; he attended the som-

mon schools of his native county until he was fifteen

years of age, at that time he was thrown on his own re-

sources. In 1847, he removed to Scott County; in 1868,

he removed to Fayette County; during this period of his

life he was engaged in farming, working mostly as a hired

hand; in 1871, he removed to Frankfort, Kentucky,

where he engaged in the livery business, following the

same until 1878, when he returned to Scott County, where

he has since remained, engaged in agricultural pursuits.

He was married in Scott County, in 1867, to Miss Ange-

line Triplett, a native of Scott County, born in Septem-

ber, 1840; her father, Mr. S. Triplett, was born in Mason

County, 1792, and died in October, 1843; her mother,

Sallie (Thomason) Triplett, was born in Scott County, in

1810, and now resides with our subject. Mr. and Mrs.

Hook have been blessed with two children: Katie, born

Oct. 7, 1874, and Andrew J., born Jan. 7, 1877. Mr.

Hook has, during his life, accumulated a good property,

and is now the owner of 250 acres of land in Stamping

Ground Precinct. He is a popular and deserving citizen,

with progressive business habits.

BARTON W. HOUSE, farmer; P. 0. Stamping

Ground; is a native of Bourbon County, and the son of

John and Nancy (Bramlette) House. The father of this

gentleman was born in Bourbon County, Ky., in March,

1791, and died in 1875. His father was Andrew House,

who was born in Pennsylvania, and emigrated to Bour-

bon County, Ky., in about 1789; he died in Scott County,

at the advanced age of ninety-four yeais. The mother

of our subject was born in Bourbon County, Jan. 24, 1799,

and died in 1846; she was the daughter of Parker and

Nancy Bramlette, who were natives of Virginia, and

emigrated to Bourbon County in a very early day. Of

the eight children born to them. Barton W., our subject,

was the first son. He was born Nov. 22, 1819, and with

his parents in 1830, removed to Scott County, where he

has since remained, engaged in the occupation of farming.

In Scott County, in 1841, he married Miss Catharine

Bramlette, who was born in Owen County, Kentucky,

March 8, 1822, and died in December, 1867; she was the

daughter of Marvin and Permelia (Estes) Bramlette, who

were natives of Virginia. In 1872, in Lexington, he

married a second time Miss Helen S. Rynes, who was

born in Lexington, Jan. 1, 1838. She is the daughter of

Ladson and Eleanor Rynes. He was a native of New-
York city, and she of Fayette County, Ky. By his first

marriage he had two children, one of whom is living,

Hugh B.; and by his second, three, viz.: Ira, and Eva
and Florence, who were twins. Mr. House is the owner

of 210 acres of land, situated on the Lecompte's Run Pike,

near Stamping Ground. Himself and family are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church, and during his life he has

united with the Democratic party.

JAMES. W. HAMILTON, Farmer ; P. O. Minorsville;

a native of Scott County, and the son of Alexander and

Harriet ( Davis ) Hamilton. His father was born in Har-

rison County, Ky., in 1808 ; removed to Scott County in

1833, and died in 1874 ; he was a farmer. His wife, -the

mother of our subject, was born in Virginia in 1812, emi-

grated to Scott County in 1820 and died in August, 1880.

They were the parents of ten children: .James W. Hamil-

ilton was born Sept. 8, 1848. His early days were spent in

receiving an education and assisting in tilling the soil of

his father's farm. In Scott County, in 1867, he married

Miss Frances A. Murphy, who was born in Scott County

in Dec. 1850. They are the parents of six children, four

of whom are now living, viz : John M., Harriet A., Wal-

ter P., and Alonzo. He has, during his life, followed the

occupation of farming, and is how the owner of ninety acres

of land. At the time of the war he enlisted as a private

soldier in 5th K. V., in the company of Capt. Tilford.

Himself and wife are members of the Christian Church.

In politics, he unites with the Democrat party.

ALBERT HOCKENSMITH, farmer; P. O. Stamp-

ing Ground. John S., the father of this gentleman, was

born in Franklin County, Ky., Dec. 14, 1799 ; he was a

farmer, and died Sept. 1, 1880 ; his father, Henry Hock-

ensmith, was a native of Maryland, and emigrated to

Kentucky in about the year 1790. The mother of our

subject, .lulia Gaines, was born in Franklin County, Ky.,

in 1824, and died in 1850; she was the daughter of James

Gaines, a native of Kentucky. Albert Hockonsmith was

born in Franklin County, Jan. 12, 1847; he attended the

common schools of his native county, and began life as a

farmer ; at the age of twenty-one he removed to Scott

County, where he has since remained, engaged in tilling

the soil. In 1879, Jan. 14, he married Miss Bettie Hol-

ton, a native of Franklin County, who was born March

18, 1853; her father, Mr. L. Holton, was born in Frank-

lin County, Nov. 30, 1822 ; l:e' mother, Fannie (Holton),

was also born in Franklin County. Mr. Hockensmith is

the owner of 204 acres of well improved land, upon

which he makes the raising of stock a specialty ; he is a
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Democrat, and, with his wife, are members of the Baptist

Church. They have one child, Daisy, born Dec. 15, 1880.

LEONIDAS L. JOHNSON, farmer ; P. O. George-

town. Robert Johnson, his grandfather, was born in Or-

ange County, Va., in 1759; in 1779, with his youngest

brother, Cave Johnson, and Wm. Tomlinson, set out

upon horseback to make the perilous journey through

the wilderness to Kentucky; after a few days traveling

alone they overtook, at the Cumberland river, a family of

Bryants, with whom they continued to travel till they

came to North Elkhorn ; here they chartered and secur-

ed land from surveys made by John Floyd ; leaving his

brother. Cave Johnson, and "Wm. Tomlinson, Robert re-

turned to Virginia, and in the fall of the same year start-

ed with his family in boats to make the journey by water;

but the river became so low, finally froze up, and he

could go no further than a place now known as Boons-

borough, where he with his family passed the winter. In

the spring, with renewed courage, he started out again,'

continuing down the Ohio river, finally came to the falls

and landed there ; he made a settlement on Beargrass

for the summer; during this time Gen. Clark got up an

expedition against the Indians in the Miami, Robert

Johnson accompanying him. The life of these pioneers

was one of incessant toil, watchfulness and danger, the

country being filled with marauding parties of Indians;

manv incidents of their bravery and endurance might be

told if space permitted. In 1780 he moved from Bear-

grass to Bryant's Station, where he lived until 1783;

while there he went with Gen. Clark upon another expe-

dition against the Indians ; in 1783 was elected a mem-
ber of the General Assembly, and went to Richmond

;

when he returned he took command of a company from

Bryant's Station, and made another expedition with Gen.

Clark to the Miami country against the Indians ; in 1783

he moved his family to the Great Crossings on Elkhorn;

here he continued to live the rest of his life, rearing a

large family; his sons were, William, James, Richard M.,

Henry, .Toel, John and Benjamin, all of them becoming

prominent and distinguished men. Richard M. served in

his State's Legislature many years, was elected to Con-

gress and Senate of the United States, and also Vice

President. James and John T. were elected to Congress.

John T. was a popular and successful politician, but in

the midst of his career was converted to the Christian

religion, as advocated by Alexander Campbell, and spent

the remainder of his days in the service of God, distin-

guished for his piety, zeal and faithfulness. James oc-

cupied the home at Great Crossings during his life,

leaving a large family of sons and daughters ; the

sons, William, Edward, James, Richard, Dannie and Le-

onidas inheriting the force of character and strength of

mind from their father and grandfather, all became prom-

inent men in their community; all of these brothers be-

came identified with the South ; there is but one of them

now living ; Leonidas, our subject; he was born Jan. 27,

1818 ; has during his life principally followed the occu-

pation of farming ; he is one of the most prominent and

leading citizens of Scott County; he is a man of great

public spirit, enlarged views, sound practical knowledge,

indefatigable purpose, untiring energy, and withal, of a

very conscientious, kind and impressible nature ; in man-

ners is courteous, unassuming, modest and prepossessing.

In October, 1843, he married Miss Irene Elley, a native

of Scott County, and of a family who were of great prom-

inence in Kentucky, and were among the early pioneers.

Mr. and Mrs. Johnson have four children. They have

one of the handsomest farms in Scott County, situated on

the Stamping Ground Pike, six miles from Georgetown,

and the fine residence erected by the design of Mr. J.

is spoken of as one of the finest farm residences of the

county; it is appropriately named, "Clifton."

JAMES B. KELLEY, farmer; P.O. Stamping Ground.

James Kelley, the father of our subject, was born in

Pennsylvania in 1780, and with his parents emigrated to

Lexington, Ky., in 1784. He afterwards removed to

Scott County, where he died in 1851. During his early

days he followed blaoksmithing, and previous to his death

gave his attention entirely to farming. He was the son

of John and Eliza Kelley, who were natives of Pennsyl-

vania. The mother of our subject was Ann Officer, who
was born in Scott County in 1800, and died in 1863. She

was the daughter of James and Jane Officer, both

natives of Sherman's Valley, Pa. He was a soldier in

the Revolutionary war. James B. Kelley was born in

Scott County, April 31, 1829. His boyhood days were

spent in receiving an education from the common schools

of his native county, and in tilling the soil of his father's

farm. In 1856, in Scott County, he married Miss Mallie

Ferguson, who was born in Scott County, Sept. 12, 1837,

and died June 23, 1868. In 1870 he married a second

time. Miss Mattie Ferguson, sister to his first wife. She

was born Sept. 16, 18 Jl. In 1851 Mr. Kelley commenced
farming, which he has since continued, making the rais-

ing of stock a specialty. By his first wife he had one

child, Mattie, and by his second wife one child, J. Alex-

ander. He is a member of the order A. F. and A. M.,

Scott Lodge No. 203, at Stamping Ground; is a Demo-
crat, and with his wife are members of the Baptist

Church.
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WILLIAM NEWMAN, farmer; P. O. Stamping

Ground ; John, the father of this gentleman, was born

in Maryland, in 1762, and emigrated to Fayette County

in about the year 1783 ; at that time there were only two

small cabins where the city of Lexington now stands. lu

1785 he removed to Scott County, and settled at the Blue

Springs, where he remained only about one year, when

he removed to Stamping Ground Precinct, and settled on

McConnel's Run, he being among the first settlers of that

Precinct. Soon after he settled in Stamping Ground

Precinct, he, together with Thomas Herndon, built a

fort at McConnel's Run, which was afterwards known

as Herndon's Station. He died in 1822. Peggy, his

wife, and mother of our subject, was born in Culpep-

per County, Va., in 1765, and with her parents emi-

grated to Soott County in about the year 1786. Of

the seven children born to John and Peggy (Smith)

Newman, William was the youngest child. He was

born in Scott County, April 5, 1811, and in 1832 was

married. His wife has now been dead several years. In

1877 he married a second time, Sally Dixon, who was

born in Fayette County, Feb. 15, .1838. John Dixon,

her father, was born in Fayette County, in 1812, and

is now residing in Scott County. Sally (Wallace) Dixon,

her mother, was born in Fayette County in 1809, and

-died in 1864. Mr. Newman has always during his life

followed the occupation of farming, and has by his

studied economy and business habits succeeded in gath-

ering together a farm of 170 acres. Himself and wife are

members of the ^aptist Church. They are the parents

of two children, one of whom is now living, Cora. In

politics he was formerly a Whig, but now unites with the

Democratic party.

ASA H. OWEN, farmer, P. O. Skinnersburg, whose

portrait appears in this work, was born in Scott County,

August 21, 1812, in the same house he now lives in. His

father, Thos. Owen, was a farmer by occupation. He

was born in Virginia, Aug. 6, 1768; he emigrated to

Covington, Kentucky, in the year 1800; in 1801 removed

to Franklin County, and in 1805 removed to Scott

County, and settled on the same farm and in the same

house occupied by our subject, where he died June

7, 1849. His wife, Jane (Nelson), and mother of our

subject, was born in Scott County, May 12, 1787, and

died Feb. 5, 1860. Of the three children born to them,

Asa H., our subject, was the youngest child. His edu-

cation was limited to such as the common schools of his

native county afforded in his day. He first began

merchandising at Skinnersburg, successor to his deceas-

ed brother; he followed the same until 1837, when he,

with bis only brother, managed the farm of their father,

and with his brother accumulated over 600 acres of land;

but since his brother's death, has been selling at differ-

ent times parts of his large tract of land, until now he

has left, only 141 acres ; it being his desire to re-

tire from active labor, and enjoy the fruits of his hard

work. Mr. Owen has always been a man of industrious

habits, and prospered in all his business undertakings;

he has taken an active part in whatever was calculated

to advance the interests of the people at large; has been

a substantial memBer of the community, and liberal in

his contributions to charitable and educational purposes.

He has devoted his life to agricultural pursuits; never

sought office, but acted independent of sect or de-

nomination, yet has favored everything known to be

right, and opposed to wrong; honestly and openly la-

boring to promote good morals and advance the common

interests of all good citizens.

H. CLAY PREWITT, farmer; P. O. Stamping

Ground. Levi Prewitt, the father of our subject, was

born in Fayette County, Ky., Sept. 19, 1799; h's earlier

days were spent in acquiring an education and writing

in the Clerk's office at Georgetown. In 1818, with his

parents, he removed to Georgetown, where he remained

until 1826, when he married Miss Margaret Boyce, who

was born in Fayette County, Jan. 10, 1806. By this

union they had ten children. At the time of his mar-

riage he removed to Montgomery County, where he en-

gao-ed in agricultural pursuits, remaining there until

1829, when he returned to Scott County. H. Clay

Prewitt, our subject, was born in Georgetown, Jan. 10,

1844; he received his education principally from the

Baptist College at Georgetown and the Reform College

at Eminence. In 1865, on April 5, in Scott County, he

married Miss Sally Stone, a native of Montgomery

County. She was born June 37, 1844; she is the daugh-

ter of James M., born in Bourborn County in 1816, and

Nancy (Hearue) Stone, born in Harrison County in 1825.

Mr. Prewitt first commenced farming with his father,

and in 1870 bought a farm in White Sulphur Precinct,

where he remained until 1880, when he sold his farm

and removed to Stamping Ground, having now 165

acres of land. In connection with his farming in 1875

and the two years following, he handled many fine trot-

ting horses, which he afterwards sold at a large profit.

He and his wife have been blessed with six children,

four of whom are now living, viz.: Mattison, Charley,

Lizzie and Carrie. Himself and wife are members of

the Reform Church, and in politics he is a Democrat.
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PHILEMON PLUMMER, farmer; P. 0. Stamping

Ground; was born in Scott County, Sept. 13, 1807. He
is the son of Wm. Plummer, who was a native of Mary-

land; born Jan. 17, 1769, and died March 17, 1855. He
came to Scott County in about the year 1790. He was

the son of Philemon Plummer, a native of Ireland.

Rachel (Hobbs) Plummer, the wife of Wm. Plummer,

was a native of Maryland, and died in 1833. Philemon

Plummer (our subject), has followed the occupation of

his forefathers in his native county, that of farming. He
has been twice married. In 1838, he married Miss

Malinda Chambers, a native of Scott County. She died

Sept. 7, 1843. In 1844, he married a second time,

Martha L. Mayhall, a native of Franklin County, Ky.,

born in April,"^ 1807, and died July 34, 1879. By his

first wife he had ten children, six of whom are living; and

by his second wife, three children, all of whom are living.

Mr. Plummer has fifty grand-children, and three great-

grandchildren. He is the owner of 300 acres of land.

His son, P. M. Plummer, was born in Scott County, Oct,

30, 1845, and married, Nov. 14, 1871, Miss Bettie F. Cox,

a native of Franklin County. She was born Sept. 10,

1850. There were born to them five children, four of

whom are living. He is a farmer; he and his wife are

members of the Christian Church. Wayland Plummer was

born in Scott County, Jan. 16, 1850, and in Owen County,

in 1871, he married Miss Sarah E. Harsy, a native of

Scott County, born Nov., 1851, they are the parents of

five children, all of whom are living. He has during his

life, followed the occupation of farming. He and

wife are members of the Christian Church.

J. T. REYNOLDS, merchant; Stamping Ground; was

born in Jefferson County, Ky., Nov. 6, 1840; his father,

W. W. Reynolds, was born in Orange County, Va., 1817;

emigrated to Jefferson County, Ky., in 1835, and is now
residing near Louisville, Kentucky, being engaged in an

agricultural works as finisher. Mary A. Cardin, his wife,

and mother of our subject, was born in Jefferson County,

Ky., in 1830, and died in September, 1873; she was the

daughter of John Cardin, a native of Virginia. J. T.

Reynolds, out subject, received his education from the

common schools of Shelby County, Ky., and also attend-

ed the Transylvania College, at Lexington. In 1861, he

commenced clerking in a store; in 1867, he commenced
merchandizing on his own account at Minorsville, his

present residence; he sold out his business in 1880, and

is now the proprietor and successful manager of a large

store at Stamping Ground, giving employment to two

clerks; he was married in Scott County, Ky., in 1851, to

Miss Elizabeth F. Ferrell, a native of Jessamine County;

she was born in 1851, and is the daughter of Andrew
and Susan (Blakeman) Ferrell, who were natives of Vir-

ginia. Mr. Reynolds is the owner of 300 acres of land,

which he principally rents. He is a member of the Bap-

tist Church ; his wife is a member of the Christian Church.

Their children are: Herman, Henry G., Susan E., Mary

J. and William.

JAMES TAYLOR, farmer ; P. O. Skinnersburg ; was

born in Scott County, May 15, 1818. John Taylor, his

father was born in Culpepper County, Va., in 1783, and

died in 1823 ; he was a farmer, and first settled in Scott

County in 1805 ; Fanny (Stanton) Taylor was born in

Culpepper County, Va., in 1786; came to Scott County

with her husband, where she died in 1826. They were

the parents of seven children, our subject being the

youngest child. He was thrown upon his own resources

at the age of eight years by the death of his parents ; at

ten years of age he apprenticed himself at the shoema-

ker's trade for five years ; at the expiration of that time

he hired out as a farm hand ; from his small earnings he

succeeded in saving a little sum of money, with which he

bought a small piece of land—and by his studied econo-

my and business has succeeded in adding to it, and is

now the owner of 213 acres. At the lime of the war he

was taken prisoner by the federal army as a citizen ; af-

ter being confined for six months, and being removed
several times to different prisons, was released and allow-

ed to return home ; he has been twice married—the first

time in Scott County, in 1837, to Miss Margaret Stock-

dell, who was born in Scott County, Sept. 36, 1814, and
died March 23, 1855 ; by this marriage he had eight

children, two of whom are now living, viz.: John M. and

Milton M. In 1858 he married a second time, Mrs.

Burrows, a native of Bath County, born May 30, 1814

;

she is the daughter of Robert and Mary (Odell) Whitton,

who are natives of Virginia. Mr. Taylor is united with

the Democratic party, and with his wife, are members of

the Christian Church.

ELIJAH THRELKELD, farmer ; P. O. Stamping

Ground ; is a native of Scott County, and the son of

Moses and Elizabeth (Thoraason) Threlkeld. Moses was

born in Scott County, June 4, 1799 ; during his life he

followed the occupation of farmer and miller, being the

owner of the large flouring mill known as the " Old
Threlkeld Mill"; he died Nov. 3, 1863 ; his parents were

natives of Virginia, and came to Scott County in a very

early day, being among the first settlers. Elizabeth, our

subject's mother, was born in Scott County, July 13,

1810, and died Jan. 35, 1874. Of the five children born

to them, one was our subject, who was born July 29,

e^
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1839. His early days were spent in receiving an educa-

tion and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm.

At the time of the breaking out of the war he enlisted

in the Confederate Army, serving under Geo. Stilford,

of Company B., and was engaged in the battle at Snow
Hill. During his life he has given his attention to farm-

ing, and is now the owner of 300 acres of well-improved

land. He is a member of the Baptist Church ; he is a

Democrat in his political views, and is a quiet, unassum-

ing gentleman, having the good will and friendship of a

large circle of acquaintances.

JOHN H. WASH, farmer ; P. O. Stamping Ground
;

is a native of Scott County, and the son of Lucius and

Betsey (Casy) Wash. His father was a carpenter by

trade; was born in Virginia in 1786 ; emigrated to Scott

County in or about the year 1805, and died in 1857.

His mother was born in Franklin County, Ky., in 1803,

and died April 15, 1856; she was the daughter of Josiah

Casy, a native of Culpepper County, Va, John H.

Wash, our subject, was born Sept. 4, 1831 ; his educa-

tion was very limited, and in fact received the greater

part of it after he became of age. At the age of twelve

years he was bound out as a farm hand, where he re-

mained until he was twenty-one years of age. At that

time he became an apprentice at the carpenter's trade,

working at the same but one year, when he became the

manager of farms for different men, which he followed

until 1854. By his hard work up to this time, he had

saved from his small earnings about $3,000, with which he

bought a farm and made a home for his parents, taking

care of them to the time of their death. In 1854, in

Scott County, he married Miss Mary J. Johnson ; -who

was born in 1831, and died March 36, 1876. At the time

of his marriage he began farming on his own account,

which he has since continued, now having 130 acres of

well improved land. By his marriage he had three

children, two of whom are now living, viz.: John and

Ely. He is a member of the Baptist Church; a Demo-

crat, and a member of the Scott Lodge, No. 203,

A., F. & A. M., at Stamping Ground. By his industry and

economy, he has arisen from poverty to ease and comfort;

a self-made man, respected and enterprising citizen.

JOSEPH J. YATES, farmer; P. O. Stamping Ground;

is a native of Shelby County, Ky., and son of Franklin

T. and Louisa (Mitchell) Yates. Franklin T. Yates was

born in Scott County, in 1805; during his life worked at

his trade of tailor. He died Nov. 4, 1879. Joseph, his

father and grandfather of our subject, was born in

Washington County, Md., July 16, 1763, and emigrated

to Woodford County, Ky., in about 1790. Louisa, the

mother of our subject, is a native of Shelby County, Ky.,

and the daughter of Livingston Mitchell, who was also a

native of Kentucky. She was born in 1815, and now
resides in Ray County, Mo. Of the eight children born

to them is Joseph J., our subject, who was born Nov.

4, 1843, at Shelbyville. He attended the common schools

of Scott County, where he received his education, and at

the age of nineteen removed to Missouri, where he re-

mained until January, 1872, when he returned to Scott

County, where he has since remained engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits. In Ray County, Mo., on Oct. 7, 1 869,

he married Miss Oniska Spurlock, who was born in Ray

County, Mo., Aug. 1, 1859. Her father, M. M. Spurlock,

was born in Virginia, in 1833, and now resides in Ray

County. Her mother, Mary (Bates) Spurlock, was born

in Hart County, in 1833, and died July 30, 1855. Mr.

Yates and his wife are members of the Baptist Church.

They are the parents of four children, three of whom are

now living, viz.: George, born Nov. 29, 1873; Ella, born

July 36, 1876; and Walter, born Aug. 37, 1880. Mr.

Yates has accumulated a good property and is now the

owner of 334 acres of improved land. He is a man of

liberal views, but of strict honesty and integrity in all

business transactions, and having the confidence of the

people who know him.
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LYTLE'S
WILLIAM FISH, farmer; P. O. Sadieville. His

father, Frances Fish, was born in Maryland in 1791;

emigrated to Scott County, in 1803, with his parents; in

1809, removed to Hamilton County, O., where he was

married; in 1826, returned to Scott County, where he

died, in June, 184:0. He was by trade a shoemaker, and

worked at the same during his younger days, but for a

number of years previous to his death, followed the oc-

cupation of farming. He was a soldier in the war of

1812. His wife, Amy (Decker) Fish, and mother of our

subject, was born in Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1800, and died

in Scott County, in 1864. There were born to them nine

children, of whom was William Fish, our subject. He
was born in Ham'lton County, O., Nov., 17, 1821; he re-

ceived his education in his native county; in 1843 com-

menced business on his own account, by trading in the

South. In 1853 he began merchandising in Lytle's

Fork Precinct, and continued the same until 1850, when
he bought the farm upon which he now resides, and con-

tinues the management of the same. In 1850, in Scott

County, he married Miss Elizabeth Griffith, a native of

Scott County, and the daughter of Thomas and Nancy

(Rollins) Griffith. Her father was born in Scott County,

in 1801, and died in 1877. Her mother was born in

Delaware, in 1808, and died in 1877. Mr. Fish has been

a very successful farmer, and is now the owner of a well

improved farm of 190 acres. He is a member ofthe order

of A. F. and A. M. West Union Lodge, No. 165; he is a

Democrat in politics, and was elected constable in 1881.

They have had three children, two of whom are living:

Theodore and Thomas F. Whatever Mr. Fish has at-

tained has been the result of indomitable will and energy,

having taken his beginning in life in very moderate cir-

cumstances. He is one whose progress is sure, and who

strictly adheres to principles of honesty as the best

policy.

[
DAVID K. GORHAM, farmer; P. 0. Long Lick. John

A. Gorhara, the father of this gentleman, was born in

Fayette County Ky., September, 1787, and died in 1853;

the first part of his life was spent in the merchandizing

business, and previous to his death was a farmer; in 1813

he was married to Caroline Kerr, a native of Scott Coun-

ty; born in 1797, and died in the same house she was

born in, 1877 ; they were the parents of ten children :

David K. Gorham, being the fourth child, and the only

FORK PRECINCT.
one now living in Kentucky; he was born in Georgetown,

Ky., April 19, 1832; his early life was spent in re-

ceiving- an education and assisting in tilling the soil of

his father's farm; in 1844, he began farming on his own

account, which he has since continued in connection with

school teaching, which he has done for the last forty

years, principally in the winter season ; in • 1843 he mar-

ried Miss Martha A. Thompson, a native of Scott County,

born in August, 1825; she is the daughter of John K, and

Louisiana (Parish) Thompson, who were natives of Ken-

tucky; at the time of the war, our subject enlisted in the

Coniiederate Army, Co. D., 3d K. V.; he was in the

battle of Chickamauga; in 1866, he was elected to serve

as Constable in his native county, which office he held for

four years ; he is the owner of 300 acres of land in

Lytle's Fork Precinct; his children are George H., David

L., Mary H., Katie P., Robert W., James W., Cornelia

J., Sorenseur, and Virginia; in politics he unites with the

Democratic party.

CHAS. HOLDCRAFT ; farmer ; P. O. Porter; is a

native of Indiana, and the son of Seely and Betsy (Steele)

Holdcraft. He was born Nov. 8, 1815. His father was

of Dutch descent, born in Pennsylvania in 1776 and died

in 1859. He was a farmer and a miller. His wife, our

subject's mother, was of Irish descent, born in Scott

County, in 1791 and died in 1877. They had five child-

ren—Charles, our subject, being the third child. His

early education was very limited, yet at the present time

his education is above the average, having received it

principally after doing a day's work in the field. He has

spent his life at farming in his native county, with the

exception of four years, when he was in Ohio. He was

married in Scott County, in 1842, to Miss Sallie Ann
Parker, a native of Scott County, born Jan. 11, 1820.

Her father, Samuel Parker, was born in Maryland,

Dec. 17, 1793, and died in 1879. Her mother Matilda

(Boyce) Parker was born in Philadelphia, April 7. 1798,

and is now living in Illinois. Mr. Holdcraft is one of the

best read men of his precinct, a man of excellent mem-
ory, generous and benevolent; he is a true gentlemen,

and enjoys the confidence of the community in which

he now lives.

MILTON PENN ; farmer ; P. O. Porter ; is a native

of Scott County and the son of Samuel and Lotta (Can-

non) Penn. He was born Jan. 30, 1814. His father was

IK^



-*—
"K^

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 637

bora in Maryland in 1782; emigrated with his parents to

Scott County in about the year 1792. He was a farmer,

and died in 1854. His wife, the mother of our sub-

ject, was born in Delaware, in 1785, came to Scott
County with ber parents in about the year 1795. She
dipd in 1817. There was born to them eleven children,

of whom was Milton, our subject, he being the third child.

His boyhood days were Spent at home, receiving an edu-

caiion and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm.

In 1836 began farming on his own account, which he

has since continued, being now the owner of 215 acres of

land. In 1862 he was aiBicted with rheumatism, and
since that time has been unable to do much hard work. He
was married in 1836 to Miss Elizabeth Alsop, a native

of Scott County, born in 1836. She is the daughter of

Wm. and Anna (Scott) Alsop. Mr. and Messrs. Penn
are members of the Methodist Church. Their children

are Wm. N., Samuel M., Lourtoutus, Jennie and Maranda.

S. PENN, farmer; P. O. Porter, Ky.; is a native of

Scott County, and the son of Samuel and Lotta (Cannon)

Penn. He was born Dec. 20, 1816. His boyhood days

were spent in receiving an education and assisting in

tilling the soli of his father's farm. In 1835 he began
farming on his own account, which he still continues,

having procured by hard work and studied economy, a

good farm of 120 acres. In 1841, in Scott County, he

married Miss Elizabeth Sinclair, a native of Scott County,

and the daughter of Benjamin and Priscilla Sinclair.

She was born Dec. 5, 1821. Mr. and Mrs. Penn have

had ten children, seven of whom are 'now living, viz:

Seth T., John M., Sarah E., Mary E., Alexander F.,

Martha B. and Luoinda G. He is a member of the Bap-

tist Church; his wife is a member of the Methodist

Church. He is a member of the order of A. F. and A. M.,

at Oxford. In politics he unites with the Republican

party.

R. H. RISK, farmer and distiller ; P. O. Long Lick
;

is a native of Scott County, and is the son of J. and

D. (Ewing) Risk. The father of this gentleman was

born in Scott County, in 1801 ; during his life fol-

lowed the occupation of farming, and died in 1874.

His wife, the mother of our subject, was also born

in Scott County, in 1801, and is now living in Ox-

ford Precinct. Of the nine children born to them, was

R. H. Risk, our subject. He was born May 12, 1831.

His early days were spent in receiving an education and

assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In 1855,

in Harrisburg, he married Miss Maria E. Hinton, a

a native of Scott County, and the daughter of

James and Olla (Wash) Hinton. In 1856 Mr. Risk re-

moved to Missouri, where he bought a farm, remaining

on the same until 1859, when he returned to his native

county, and again engaged in agricultural pursuits ; and
also in connection with his farming in Scott County, he

commenced distilling in Owen County, continuing the

same until 1869, when he sold his distillery, and
commenced distilling at his present residence, where
he has since continued, being a very successful man in

each branch of his business. It may be said, to the creiiit

of Mr. Risk, that he was the builder of the new pike run-

ning through his precinct ; not finding support enough,

he" took the expense of the contract upon himself and
built it, being completed in December, 1881. He is the

owner of 800 acres of land, which is principally in blue

grass. Mr. Risk is one of the substantial men of the pre-

cinct; he has by diligence and economy acquired for him-

self a home and a sufficient competence, he is a very

active and energetic man. Himself and wife have been

blessed with ten children, nine of whom are now living,

viz. : Leander, Virginia, Reverda, Amanda B., Thomas,

Harvey, Mary, Robert and Alexander.

JAMES J. RALSTON, farmer ; P. O. Rock Dale,

Owen Co. ; is a native of Harrison County, Ky., and the

son of David and Sarah (Adkinson) Ralston. He was

born in August, 1812. His father was born in Fayette

County, Ky., in 1793; was removed to Harrison County,

Ky., by his parents in 1796, where he remained engaged

in agricultural pursuits until 1868, when he died en

route to see his daughter in Nicholas County. His wife,

the mother of our subject, was born in Bath County,

Ky., in 1787, and died in 1860. Of the six children born

to them, James J. was the oldest child. He remained

with his parents in Harrison County, receiving an edu-

cation and assisting his father at farming until 1834,

when he went to Georgetown, Ky., and worked at the

carpenters' trade for five years. In 1839 he returned to

his native county and began farming ; following the

same until 1854, when he removed to Scott County,

where he has since remained and followed the occupa-

tion of a farmer. He was married in Georgetown in

1838 to Miss Pernilla Redmon,a native of Spencer County,

who died in 1855. By this marriage he had three children,

two of whom are living, viz: David and Sarah L. In

1857 he married a second time, Miss Nancy Brewer, a

native of Hancock County, Tenn. ; she was born Nov.

13, 1842. By this marriage he had eight children, seven

of whom are living, viz : Mary, James, Jefferson, Lilla

B., Rosa, George and Edward. Mr. Ralston has been a

very successful farmer ; he is now the owner of 215

acres of land.
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JAMES M. WARRING, farmer ; P. O. Porter ; Ed-

ward Warring, the father of this gentleman, was born in

Sussex County, Del., April 29, 1794; in August, 1811, re-

moved to Baltimore, Md., where he worked at shoemak-

ing. Sept 3, 1812, he removed to Lexington, Ky.,

and in 1832 removed to Scott County, where he

has since remained, and been principally engaged in

farming; he has now retired on account of his old age,

and is now enjoying the fruits his hard work in the com-

fortable home of his son, our subject; he was in the war

of 1812, and there saw Tecumseh, after he was killed; in

1818, he married Miss Nancy Rollins, a native of Sussex

County, Del.; she was born in 1797, and died-in 1860;

they are the parents of seven children ; James M., our

subject being the fifth child ; he was born in Fayette

County, Oct. 37, 1828, and in Scott County, Sept. 24,

1856; married Miss Sarah A. Alsop, a native of Scott

County, born in 1837 ; she is the daughter of William

and Corrilla (Hardy) Alsop, who are natives of Scott

County; Mr. Warring has during his life followed the

occupation of farming, and is now the owner of a farm

of 281 acres; he and family are members of the M. E.

Church South; he is a Democrat, and a member of the

order A. F. & A. M. West Union Lodge, No. 165. ,

CARLISLE WARNOCK, farmer'; P. O. Josephine,

Ky.; is a native of Greenup County, Ky., and the son of

George J. and Elizabeth (Foster) Warnock. He was

born in April, 1814; his father was born in Greenup

County, Ky. During his life he was a hunter and

trapper, and previous to his death, was a farmer.

He died in 1833, aged 45 years. His wife, and

mother of our subject, was born in Ireland, and died in

1833, the same year and on the same day of her husband,

aged 43 years. They were the parents of nine children,

Carlisle Warnock being the oldest child. He was

apprenticed at the gunsmith's trade, in Ohio, where he

remained one year, and returned to his native county,

where he finished his trade. In 1836, he removed to

Owen County, and worked at his trade until 1850, when

he removed to Scott County, and has since been farming

and blacksmithing. In 1836, he married Miss Polly Glass;

she was borne in Owen County fn ] 820. By his marriage

he has had ten children, five of whom are living, viz.:

William, Robert M., Garrett D., Sarah C. and Martha.

He and family are members of the Baptist Church. He
is a member of the order A. F. and A. M.

BEN. F. WRIGHT; farmer; P. O. Porter; is a native

of Scott County, and the oldest of fifteen children born

to James and Lucinda (Carr) Wright. He was born

Feb. 1, 1837; his father was born in Scott County,

Jan. 24, 1812, and died Feb. 16, 1875. He was a farmer.

His wife, the mother of our subject, was born in Scott

County in 1814 and is now residing in the county near

Stonewall. Benj. F. Wright was educated in the com-

mon schools of his native county, and in 1858 began

farming on his own account, and is still engaged in the

same occupation, having procured by his hard work and

studied economy a good farm of 153 acres.. In Harrison

County, in 1858, he married Miss Sarah J. Michael, a

native of Harrison County. He and wife are members
of the Christian church; they have two children,

James F. and Millie F.

^ n^
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OXFORD
WILLIAM N. ATKINS, farmer ; P. O. Oxford ; was

born on Dry Run, Scott County, Ky., Sept. 16, 1833; son

of Nash and Nancy (Glass) Atkins ; he, born in Scott

County, May 4, 1807; a farmer and wagon maker by
trade ; she was born in Owen County, July 5, 1808 ; they

had four children. After receiving an ordinary education

our subject began life farming. In 1875 he ran a distil-

lery and engaged in the grocery trade ; at present he is

engaged on his farm, one and a half miles from West
Oxford, and he has his property finely improved, raising

fine stock thereon. Mr. Atkins has been married three

times : first, Dec. 10, 1850 ; second, October 17, 1871
;

third, Jan. 22, 1874 ; he has the following children : Nash,

Lucille, James C, Nannie F., Allie, Lounsford H., Willie,

Blanche and Elizabeth. He is a Knight Templar, and a

Democrat.

F. M. CANNON, physician ; Oxford ; was born in

Scott County, May 20, 1832; his fathor was John J. Can-

non, born in Scott County, June 25, 1793, who was a hat-

ter for many years; then became a farmer, which occupa-

tion he followed until death, which was April 20, 1867.

His mother's maideri name was Hester Ford, who was

born in Scott County, November, 1798, died March 23,

1874 ; his parents had fourteen children, nine sons and
five daughters. He was educated in Scott County, at

Stamping Ground Academy ; began life as a school

teacher, which occupation he followed for four years, then

began the study of medicine in the office of Dr. W. B.

Paxton, with whom he remained two years, then went to

Louisville, and was a student under Dr. Seaton for two
years, and finally graduated at the Kentucky School of

Medicine in that city. He was married in Fayette Coun-

ty, Nov. 12, 1868, the maiden name of his wife being

Mary A. Sideaer, who was born in Fayette County, Feb.

31, 1847 ; wife's father was Jacob Sidener ; her mother,

Mary Agnes Wilson ; he was born in Fayette and she in

Bourbon County, (dates not given.) Been engaged in

the practice of medicine for thirteen years; then, in farm-

ing and practicing also. He has two children, Alonzo,

and Mary Frances; religion, that of the Christian Church.

He is also a member of the Masonic order. Dr. Cannon
occupies a prominent position in his profession, and has

been remarkably successful, and is among the leading

men of his section; is a man of remarkable physique;

PRECINCT.
is the tallest man of the precinct, being six feet and six

inches in height, and weighs two hundred and twenty-

five pounds.

AMBROSE DUDLEY HAMON, farmer; P. O. Ox-
ford; was born in Woodford County, Ky., in 1818; son

of Ezra and Hannah (Farra) Hamoii; he, born in Penn-

sylvania, March 14, 1774, and came to Kentucky about

1795; a farmer and stone mason, dying in 1863; she,

born in Jessamine County, and dying in 1843. They
had twelve children, nine boys and three girls. Our
subject received his education at the schools of his native

county, and began life as a wagon-maker, carrying on

that business and blacksmithing, for about twenty years.

He was married in Fayette County, in 1848, to Eliza

Jane Hardesty, born in Fayette County, Jan. 17, 1835;

daughter of Henry and Sarah (Dikes) Hardesty, by which

union there have been born five children, four of whom
are living: Hannah Lucy, Sally Henry, Fanny Lee,

Mary and Ducker. Although advanced in years, Mr.

Hamon is one of the most energetic of men, and he has

by industry and economy surrounded himself with the

comforts of life, having reared a family of highly culti-

vated children. They are members of the Baptist

Church, and he is a Democrat.

JAMES KIMBROUGH, farmer; P. 0., Oxford; was

born in Harrison County in 1843; the son of Robert Kim-

brough who was born in the same county, and whose oc-

cupation was that of a farmer. The maiden name of his

mother was Elizabeth Frazier, a native of the county of

Harrison. His parents had seven children, five of whom
are living. James Kimbrough was educated in Harri-

son county, and began life in the capacity of a farmer.

He was married in Georgetown, Dec. 22, 1870, to Fannie

W. Allen, the daughter of W. Wright Allen. Her father

having been born in Bourbon County in 1834, and her

mother, Frances Skillman, was born in Fayette County

in 1833. James has, from his early manhood, been en-

gaged in the business of farming. He enlisted in Capt.

Van Hook's Battalion of Cavalry, C. S. A., for one year,

at the expiration of which, he re-enlisted in Co. K, 9th

Kentucky Cavalry, Col. Breckinridge's regiment. His

affiiliation in politics, has always been with the Demo-
cratic party. He is a member of the Masonic fraternity.

el I-
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NEWTOWN PRECINCT.

J. J. R. FLOURNOY, farmer; P. O. Oxrord; was born

at Falmouth, in Pendleton County, Ky., Dec. 17, 1801.

His father's name was Francis Flournoy, who was born

in Culpepper County, Va., Jan. 18, 1773; was a farmer

by occupation, and died Jan. 29, 1835. Maiden name

of his mother was Sallie 0. Goodwin, born in Virginia

Feb. 28, 1785; died June 20, 1858; his parents had thir-

teen children. He was educated at Georgetown under

Burton Stone; began life in the capacity of a school

teacher; was engaged in the business of farming, and

had for many years the position of magistrate in his pre-

cinct. He was a zealous member of the Christian reli-

gion, and an ardent and enthusiastic Democrat. Mr. F.

was one of the early settlers of this section, a man of

fine intellectual attainments, an exceedingly charitable

man ; although having no family of his own, yet he

adopted, raised and educated some of the brightest of

Kentucky's fair daughters.

M. H. KENDALL, farmer ; P. O. Newtown ; was born

in Bourbon County in 1835 ; his father's name was Jas.

Kendall, and he was born in the county of Harrison

June 10, 1797, and was an agriculturist by occupation
;

he died in 1835 ; the maiden name of his mother was

Mary Hutsell, who was born in Bourbon County in 1802,

and died in 1867 ; his parents had seven children ; he

was educated at Bethany College, in Virginia, and began

life as a farmer ; was married in Bourbon County, March

10, 1859 ; the maiden name of his wife was Eliza Lary
;

she was born in Louisiana in 1841, the father of whom
was Dr. Henry B. Lary, born in Bourbon County, 1812

;

her mother, Harriet Boote, was born in Louisiana in

1817 ; he has been engaged in farming, trading and mer-

chandizing ; is now holding the position of Magistrate
;

has nine children, eight of whom are living, viz.: Russell

B., William S., George H., John Milton, Amos J., L. Q.

Lamar, H. D. L. and Chas. T. (Mary R. dead); politics,

Democrat ; is a Knight Templar.

DANIEL LARY, farmer ; P. 0. Newtown ; was born

in Bourbon County, Jan. 13, 1806 ; his father was Den-

nis Lary, who was born in Hardy County, Va., in 1773,

and was by occupation a farmer, and died in Bourbon

County in 1834 ; the maiden name of his mother was

Sarah Curtwright, who was born in Hardy County, Va.,

in 1777; came to Kentucky in 1783 ; died in 1839. His

parents had thirteen children ; he was educated in Bour-

bon County, and began life as a farmer ; was married in

Hancock County, Ga., June, 1835 ;
maiden name of his

wife was Sarah A. Thomas, born in 1815 ; his wife's

father was Fred'k G. Thomas, born in Edg-ecomb County,

N. C, her mother being Rebecca Eskridge, born in

Edgefield District, S. C. He has been engaged in the

business of farming and trading; had two children, both

of whom are dead, named as follows ; Theresa and Sophia.

Politics, Democratic ; member of Grangers' Mutual Ben-

fit Association. Mr. Lary is a man of fine intellectual

attainments, an enterprising citizen, and has been quite

an active man in politics, having filled the position of

Representative, from his county, in the Legislature with

considerable credit to himself and constituency, in 1875

and 1876.

PAYNE McCONNELL, farmer ; P. O. Newtown
;

was born in Woodford County, in 1857; was the son of

James F. McConnell, who was born in Woodford Coun-

tj^, in 1828, and whose occupation was that of a farmer,

and who died in Scott County, in 1868. The maiden

name of his mother was Catharine Payne, born in Scott

County, in 1838 ; his parents having had two children,

he was educated in the primary schools of Scott County,

and began life as a farmer ; was married in Scott Coun-

ty, in 1880; his wife was Rebecca Harp, who was born

in the County of Bourbon, in 1861, the father of whom
was J. H. Harp, who was born in Fayette County, in

1837; her mother was Isabella Harp, born in Fayette

County, in 1839. He has been engaged in the business

of farming and trading; he has one child whose name is

Henry Lewis ; his religion being that of the Christian

Church, and his politics Democratic.

SAMUEL MADDOX, farmer; P. O. Newtown; was
born in St. Mary's County, Md., June 1st, 1817; his

father, Edward Maddox, a farmer by occupation, was

born in Maryland in 1776, and died in 1825. His moth-

er was Mary Calliss, born in Charles County, Md., about

1780, and died in 1823. His parents had five children.

He was educated in Maryland at St. Mary's College,

afterwards called Charlotte Hall, and began life in the

avocation of farming; was married in Scott County; his

wife's maiden name was Sarah A. Keene, who was born

in Scott County, in 1818. His wife's father was Vachel

Keene, born in Maryland about 1775; that of her mother

being Sarah Y. Fontleroy, born in Maryland about 1785.
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Has been engaged in the business of farming. Has two

children; one living, whose name is Eleanora James;

Edward being dead; is an Episcopalian and a Democrat.

JOHN T. NUTTER, farmer; P. O. Georgetown; was

born in Fayette County in 1830. His father's name was

James Nutter, whose occupation was that of a farmer;

born in Fayette County in 1798, and died in 1866. The

maiden name of his mother was Mary Hurst, who was

born in Fayette County in 1801, and died in 1851. His

parents had seven children. He was educated in the

primary schools of Fayette County, and began life as a

farmer; was married in Bourbon in 1857, the maiden

name of his wife being Agnes Pritchell; born in Bourbon

in 1838, and whose father was William Pritchell, born

in Virginia; her mother, Lydia Wilson, born in Fayette

County. He has always been engaged in farming; has

ten children, named as follows: Dora, Bettie, Emma,

Susie, Leah, Maggie, Nannie, Keene, Waller and James;

politics. Democratic.

J. WELLINGTON PROWELL, farmer; P. O. New-
town ; was born in Pennsylvania, May 2, 1818; his

father's name was Samuel, who was born in Pennsylvania

in 1780, and was a farmer, and died in 1863; the maiden

name of his mother was Phcebe Brown, who was of

French extraction, and died in 1828 ; his parents had

fifteen children. He was educated in Pennsylvania.

Through his own exertions he began life in the capacity

of a farmer, and was married in Scott County, Nov. 34,

1868. The maiden name of his wife was Catharine (Lewis)

Payne, who was born in Scott County in 1836; her father

was Colonel Remus Payne, who was born in Fayette

County in 1811 ; the maiden name of her mother was

Mary S. Talbott, born in 1815. He has been engaged in

the practice of medicine, and that of a breeder of fine

stock, and of a general farming interest. He was in the

capacity of Assistant-Surgeon, 5th Company, Washing-

ton Artillery, C. S. A., Captain Slocum. He has four

children, one girl and three boys, as follows : Early

Wellington, Homer Marion, Wade Hampton, and Rosa

Belle. He has always been a zealous Democrat ; and is

a member of the Masonic fraternity. Dr. Prowell is a

man possessing extraordinary energy and fine intellec-

tual attainments ; is an exceedingly liberal man in his

views, and is ever ready to aid in the co-operation of any

enterprise developing the interest of his county or State,

and is among the leading agriculturists of his county.

JOHN C. PAYNE, farmer ; P. O. Newtown ;
was

born in Scott County in June, 1837 ; his father was Col.

Remus Payne, who was born in Fayette County in 1811,

was a farmer by occupation, and died in 1880 in Florida;

the maiden name of his mother was Mary Smith Talbott,

born in Woodford County, May 11, 1815, and died Sept.

4, 1843 ; his parents had seven children, four boys and

three girls. He was educated at Georgetown College,

and began life as a farmer. He was married first in

Fayette County in 1859 ; second in 1868 ; the father of

his first wife was Jacob L. Embrey, who was born in

Madison County, the maiden name of her mother being

Caroline Grimes, born in Fayette County; the father of

his second wife was Isaiah Offutt, born in Maryland in

1808 ; her mother, Rebecca Offutt, born in Scott County

in 1820. He has been engaged in the breeding of short-

horns, Southdown sheep, fine horses, and that of a farm-

ing interest in general. He had five children, one living

and four dead (Mary Smith Payne living). He is a

member of the Christian Church, and is a Democrat.

Mr. Payne is a prosperous farmer, a very prudent and

circumspect man, a prominent breeder of fine stock ; he

is a remarkably liberal man in his views, and is ranked

among the prominent men of his county.

JOSEPH SHROPSHIRE, farmer; P. O. Leesburg;

was born in Bourbon County, March 4th, 1811; his

father was Joseph Shropshire, who was born in Virginia

about 1770; was by occupation a farmer and trader; died

in 1844. The maiden name of his mother was Susan W.
Neal; born in Bourbon County; died in 1836. His pa-

rents had twelve children, five boys and seven girls; he

was educated in Bourbon County; education of a primary

cast; he began life in the busin( ss of farming; was mar-

ried in Bourbon county in 1839; the maiden name of his

wife was Elizabeth Ann Hawkins; born in Bourbon

county in 1822. The name of his wife's father was John

Hawkins; born in Harrison county in 1798, whose wife

was M;iry Haroourt, born in Bourbon county in 1799; has

been eno-aoed in the business of farming; had eight chil-

dren, five of whom are living, as follows: Miry Susan,

Ellen, Ann Frances, Amelia, Elizabeth DanJridge, Eiisa

Margaretta, James Hubbell, Sarah Bowman. He was a

Baptist and a Democrat.

WALTER SHROPSHIRE, farmer; P. 0. Oxford;

was born in Bourbon County, Dec. 27, 1843. His father

was James H. Shropshire; born Aug. 25, 1808; oc-

cupation, a farmer; maiden name of his mother was Ma-

ria L. Harcourt; born in Bourbon county April 27, 1815;

died Deo. 30, 1852;- parents had nine children, eight of

whom are living; was educated in Bourbon count\, and

beo-an life in the business of farming; was married in

Scott county, Nov. 21, 1871; maiden name of his wife

was Rebecca F. Sutphin, born in Baton Rouge, La.,

March 13, 1851. Her father was John T. Sutphin, born
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in Kentucky in 1820, in Scott county; her mother, Ann
L. Flournoy, was born in Fayette County, Feb. 26, 1826.

He has been in the business of farming and breeding fine

cattle and horses. He enlisted in Co. A, Breckinridge's

9th Kentucky Cavalry, commanded by Capt. Lawrence

Jones, p. S. A.; has three children: J. J. R. Earl, Flour-

noy, and Walter H.; is niember of the Christian Church

and a Democrat.

WILLIAM A. SMITH, farmer; P. O. Newtown; was

born in Scott County, Feb. 4, 1815. His father was

Nelson Smith, born in Virginia, Sept. 1781; occupation,

a farmer; died July 1, 1841. Maiden name of his mo-

ther was Sarah Kerr, born in Virginia Nov. 21, 1785,

and died in 1853. His parents had ten children, seven

sons and three daughters; he was educated in country

schools and at Greorgetown College ; began life in the

practice of medicine; was married in Scott County, Oct.

25, 1836. The maiden name of his wife was Julia A.

Coulter, born in Clark'County, Feb. 1, 1818; her father

being Joseph Coulter, was born in Delaware in 1778;

her mother, Elizabeth Harris, was born in Clark County.

He has been engaged principally in farming, and also in

the practice of medicine. He has seven children, four

of whom are dead, the names of the living being: James

D., Jos. C. and N. Rhodes ; dead—Sarah E., Anna A.,

Emma H. and Mary C. Religion, Presbyterian; poli-

tics, Democratic; society. Masonic ; also a Knight

Templar.

NELSON SMITH, farraei' ; P. O. Georgetown ; was

born in Virginia, in 1781; came to Fayette, near Bryant's

Station ; his father was Wm. Smith, born in Virginia,

and was by occupation a farmer ; died in 1824. The

maiden name of his mother was Mary Rodes, born in

Virginia ; died in 1828; his parents had nine children,

five sons and four daughters ; he was educated in Vir-

ginia and began life with farming ; was married in Scott

County, in 1803; the maiden name of his wife was Sarah

Kerr, born in Virginia, in 1785; her father was David

Kerr, born in Virginia, in 1757; her mother being Doro-

thy Rodes, born in Virginia. He was engaged in

the business of farming ; had ten children, as follows:

Garland K., Sidney R., David W., William A., James N.,

Clifton R., D. Howard, Mary A., Elizabeth D., and Eme-
line ; is a Baptist and a Whig.
EDWIN WARD, farmer ; P. O. JSTewtown ; was born

in Scott County, in 1847; is the son of Carey A. Ward,
whose avocation was that of a farmer, and who was born

in Harrison County, in 1806, and died in 186]; maiden

name of his mother being Eliza Jane Risk, born in

Woodford County, in 1809, and died in 1867; his parents

having had six children, three by first marringe and three

by the second ; he was educated at Georgetown College

and began life as a farmer, and was married in the Coun-

ty of Fayette, in 1871; the maiden name of his wife was
Elizabeth Wallis, who was born in Fayette County, in

1849. The father of his wife was Thomas M. Wallis, born

in Culpepper County, Vs., in 1797 ; her mother being

Susan T. Dudley, who was born in Fayette County, in

1828 ; he has been engaged in the business of farming
;

has three children whose names are: Luella Vachti. Sue
Eliza and Edwin Carey. Religion that of Presbyterian

;

politics, Democratic.
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HARRISON COUNTY.

CYNTHIANA CITY AND PRECINCT.

THOMAS V. ASHBROOK, deceased ; was a farmer

and distiller ; born in Harrison County, Ky., Aug. 22^

1828, and died Sep. 30, 1874, son of Aaron and Sallie

(Veach) Ashbrook, who were the parents of seven child-

ren. Thomas V., our subject, was educated in the district

schools of his native county, and was reared to farming,

in which occupation he continued, with the addition of

distilling. He was elected Mayor of Cynthiana several

terms, and was serving in that capacity at the time of his

death. Sept. 3, 1857, he married Artemesia Belles ; bora

in Indianapolis, Feb. 10, 1832; daughter of John J.

Belles and Dorcas Saunders, of Pendleton County, Ky.;

and by which union there were born five children: Felix

S. and T. Earl, sons, and Sallie V., Dorcas S., and Mary

E., daughters. Dorcas Saunders' mother was a Grant,

and her mother was a sister of Daniel Boone, the old

Kentucky pioneer. James Saunders, brother of Dorcas,

was killed at the battle of River Raisin. Mr. Ashbrook

was an oflScer in the Christian Church for several years

before his death ; his widow and oldest children are also

members of the same church. He was a Democrat.

FELIX G. ASHBROOK, distiller ; P. O. Cynthiana;

was born near Cynthiana, April 1, 1824 ; son of Aaron

and Sallie (Veach) Ashbrook. He a native of Virginia,

born in 1794 ; was a farmer and came with his father to

Kentucky at an early day, dying in 1855 ; she, born in

Harrison County, Ky., in 1796, and dying in 1848. They

had seven children, three sons and four daughters, Felix

G. being the oldest son. Aaron, the father of subject,

began life in moderate circumstances, but by industry

and economy acquired a handsome property. He gave

to his children before his death about 450 acres, and di-

vided by will 486 more, in addition to another farm oi

230 acres which was to be sold and proceeds divided

among the childien. Mr. Ashbrook, our subject, began

life as a farmer, and has continued that honorable occu-

pation ever since. In 1871 he was elected Mayor of

Cynthiana, which position he filled acceptably to his fel-

low citizens. Dec. 26, 1848, he married Elizabeth War-

den King, born in Harrison, May 16, 1830, daughter

of George and Sarah B. (Garnett) King. Mr. Ashbrook

and wife are members of the Baptist Church (Mission-

ary), and he is an A., F. & A. M., a Knight Templar, and

a Democrat.

WESLEY AMMERMAN, (deceased); was born

in Bourbon County, Nov. 18, 1825, and died April

8, 1877. He was a son of Joseph Ammerman, who

was born in Virginia, and Rebecca (Reed), who was

born in the same State. He was one of a large

family of twelve children. He received his education at

the country schools of Harrison County, and began life

with agriculture, which pursuit he followed through life.

He was married in Harrison County, in 1849, to Louisa

Bassett, who was born in Harrison County in 1827, and

was the daughter of Jonathan Bassett, who was born in

Bracken County in 1801, and Elizabeth Disher, who was

also born in Bracken County in 1803. Mr. Ammerman
was the fa' her of eight children, five of whom survive

him, viz.: Joe B., .John R., Edward W., Augustus and

Lizzie J. Mrs. Ammerman and family are members of

the Christian Church at Cynthiana, and Mr. Ammerman,
during his life, was a Democrat, and at one time a

Granger. Dying, he left his widow a fine estate of 250

acres, called " Elmwood," four miles from Cynthiana, on

Connersville Turnpike.

RICHARD H. AMMERMAN, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana;

was Lorn in Harison County, Dec. 9, 1850; his father,

William, was born in Bourbon County, Dec. 6, 1820.

He is now farming and living in Harrison County. His

mother was Martha H. Brand, who was born in Harrison

County in 1825, and is still living, and from this union

there are nine children. Our subject received his educa-

tion in Harrison County, and began life with farming,

which he has continued since. He was married in Har-

rison County, Oct. 17, 1878. His wife was Louella Jame-

son, who was born in Harrison County, July 26, 1854,

and was the daughter of Richard Jameson, who was born

in Harrison County in 1821; He died Sept. 19, 1863.

Her mother was Margaret Givens, who was born in Bour-

bon County Jan. 2, 1823. Mr. Ammerman was for some

time Supervisor of one of the county roads, and is the

father of two children, viz: William Sidney and James

C. His wife is a member of the Christian Church at

Cvnthiana, and Mr. A's political afiiliations are with the
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Democracy, and he is a member of the Grangers' Lodge

at (^ynthiana, No. 154, and is the owner of 160 acres of

fine land called "Woodland."

WILLIAM ADDAMS, miller and distiller; P. O.Cyn-

thiana; is a son of John and Lucy (Logan) Addams,

daughter of Abner Logan, of Fleming County. John

Addams was born in Culpepper County, Va., in 1820; he

came to Kentucky and pursued his vocation as a teacher

with marked success; he died in 1861, and was followed

to the grave in a few months by his devoted wife. Thus

Wm. Addams was left an orphan at an early age, and

had to struggle for his prominence in commercial and

social circles. After receiving a meagre education in

the common schools he took a position with C. B. Cook

& Co., and when that firm sold out to Peck and Van
Hook he continued in that relation until 1864, when he

became a partner with C. B. Cook in milling and dis-

tilling. He was married Oct. 8, 1873, to Miss Cora V.

Cook, daughter of his partner. The couple now have

four children, viz: Rilla, Lizzie, Cora and Cyrus. Mr.

Addams is a member of the Christian Church, but his

wife is a communicant of the Episcopal denomination.

Mr. Addams was born Sept. 6, 1850, and is consequently

just 31 years of age. He has been honored by the peo-

ple of Cynthiana with a seat in the City Council for the

last six years, and is recognized as a safe and reliable

business man, a high-toned and afi^able gentleman, and a

useful citizen in every relation both public and private.

He is a Democrat.

W. T. BEASEMAM, Ex-Sheriff; P. O. Cynthiana. W.
T. Beaseman, son of John 0. and Jane (Moore) Beaseman,

was born in Harrison County, March 15, 1826. His grand-

father, John Beaseman, was a native of Maryland, and

emigrated to Kentucky about 1790, and settled in Bour-

bon County, where he married a Miss O wings, after which

family the town of Owingsville was named ; he died in

1792. John O. Beaseman was born about three months

after his father's death (1792.) His educational advan-

tages were quite limited and before he arrived at matur-

ity, he removed to Harrison County. From there he went

to the war of 1812, participated in the battle of the River

Raisin, and after the close of hostilities he returned to

Harrison County to make it his future home. He repre-

sented Harrison County in the House of Representatives

in its sessions of 1827, '28, '29, '34, '35, '37, '42, and was

in the Senate in 1830 '34. Although he was a man des-

titute of even an ordinary English education, yet he pos-

sessed an originality of thought and peculiarity of expres-

sion, equal to any of his coteraporaries. He was elected

by the people of Harrison County to the offices above

named, by greater majorities and for a longer time, (in

the aggregate,) than any other man who ever had a com-

petitor for office in the county in his time, or perhaps

since. This popularity was not based on acquired know-

ledge, nor was it the result of family influence, as his

father-in-law, William Moore, called " Clerk Moore," was

a Whig, and his sons were also Whigs, while Beaseman

was an Andrew Jackson Democrat. His popularity was

the result of his own peculiar natural powers. The peo-

ple loved him and had great confidence in his honesty as a

legislator, and his great ambition seems to have been

either to occupy a prominent place, or to please the peo-

ple, for surely no man ever realized less pecuniary re-

ward for public services. In 1820, he married Miss Jane

Moore, daughter of William Moore, who was the first

Clerk of the Harrison County Court, an office he held dur-

ing his life-time. Mr. Beaseman raised three sons and

seven daughters to maturity ; one son, W. T., our sub-

ject, and five daughters now living. John O. died at his

home in Harr son County in 1848 of paralysis, in his fifty-

sixth year, his widow following hiin in 1860, in her fifty-

eighth year. W. T. Beaseman was brought up on his

father's farm, receiving a good liberal education in the

common schools of his native county. In 1850 he went

to California, gold hunting, where he engaged in mining

till 1853, with fair success. He subsequently returned

to Harrison County, and again resumsd his agricultural

pursuits. In 1860 he was elected Deputy Sheriff of his

county, also served in the capacity in 1871, '72 and again

in '75, '6, '7, '8. He was nominated for Sheriff in 18?1,

but on account of his having held an office in the Confed-

eracy, the committee thought it might cause some dis-

turbance as to bis eligibility and they accordingly chang-

ed him to Deputy. He served a year in the Mexican

War in McKee's Reg. 2nd Ky., in Capt. Cutter's Co.

Participated in the battle of Buena Vista. In 1861, he,

as 1st Lieut, and Capt. McDowell, organized a company
of Harrison boys and joined the Confederate army. In

1863, subject was promoted to Captain of his Company,

McDowell being promoted to Major. He was captured

at Fort Doiielson on Feb. 22, 1862, and was sent to

Johnson's Island, where he was exchanged the following

September, and served till the close of the war. He is

now engaged in settling up his old Sheriff business. He
was married in Plarrison County, Dec. 20, 1881, to

Miss Martha T. Kendall, who' was born in 1842. Her
father, William Kendall, Sr., was born in Fayette County,

Dec. 23, 1794, and died at his home in this county,

on Dec. 14, 1875. He was a farmer by occupation. His

entire life was strictly moral. It is said that he was
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never heard to utter an oath, to speak a falsehood, or to

use language unbecoming a Christian gentleman. He
was not a communicant in the church, but always defend,-

ed the Christian religion, and avowed himself a believer

in the same. On his deathbed, he not only expressed

perfect confidence as to his future happiness, but admon-

ished his family and friends to meet him in heaven. Our

subject, Mr. Beaseman, is favorable to the Methodist

Church, although not a member of any. His wife is a

Presbyterian. He has been prominently connected with

the Masonic fraternity for many years, having taken all

the degrees from E. A. to K. T.

PROF. JAMES A. BROWN, teacher; P. 0. Cyn-

thiana, was born near Millersburg, Bourbon County, Ky.,

Dec. 9, 1843, and is the youngest of four children, born

to Abel and Elizabeth (Pollock) Brown; the former was

born March 2, 1801 ; the latter March 24, 1825 and died Oct.

14, 1847. Mr. Brown removed with his family to Jackson-

ville, 111., in 1851, and there successfully pursued the avo-

cation of farming for many years. Being an advocate of

thorough education, he sent his sons to Illinois State Col-

lege from which James, (the subject), was graduated with

honors, in the class of '65. Soon after graduating he was

elected Principal of the High School at Havana, 111., which

position he satisfactorily filled for four years; having in

the meantime studied law, he was admitted to the bar^

and practiced for one year, but being elected Principal

of the High School at White Hall, III., he gave up his

practice and again entered upon his duties of teaching.

He was married July 29, 1869, to Miss Lizzie Smith, only

daughter of William and Jane (Evans) Smith, of Millers-

burg, Ky. The former was born in Bourbon County,

April 2, 1810, and died March 2, 1858; the latter was

born Feb. 18, 1810, in Maryland, and is still living. The

subject, on the day following his marriage, was tendered

the Presidency of Millersburg Female College,then owned

and controlled by the Kentucky Conference; he accepted

the position and remained in it until the Conference 'dis-

posed of it to Judge William Savage. Professor Brown

now removed with his family to Paris, Ky., and pur-

chased the buildings, which he afterwards chartered as

the " Bourbon Female College." He and his wife opened

this college the week after purchasing it, with only

eleven pupils, having assumed a debt of over $5,000 at

ten per cent, interest; but believing that success would

crown their efforts, they toiled on in their noble profession,

until they built up a school of over one hundred and

twenty-young ladies, and in three years had paid off the

debt. He remained in that college seven years, or until

1878, when he disposed of it to Prof. W. S. Jones, ex-

pecting to go to Mexico, Mo., where he had been offered

the position of Principal of the High School. But the

citizens of Cynthiana, Ky., offered to advance him $2,400

if he would come there and start a female college, a

proposition he acce|)ted. He purchased the beautiful

place known as the "Broad well property," in August,

1878, and in September following opened what is known
as the " Harrison F'emale College." Professor Brown
has proven to be one of the most successful teachers in

Kentucky. He began life with nothing but an educa-

tion, and now has a f lir competency for his old age. He
and his accomplished wife enjoy the confidence of the

people of Kentucky, and are but fair samples of what

can be done with an education. They have a son Willie

A., born May 28, 1870, and a daughter, Jennie Russell,

born Feb. 27, 1870. They have kept their mother, Mrs.

Smith, ever since their marriage, and within the last

three years have given a homo to their father, Abel

Brown, both of whom are now quite stricken in years.

MARCUS L. BROADWELL, deceased; was born

in Cynthiana, Feb. 22, 1829, and died July 4,

1870. His father, Asbury Broadwell, was a native

of Harrison County, and was born May 29, 1791, and

died Dec. 11, 1843. Asbury began merchandising

in Cynthiana when a young man; being started in

business by a gentleman of Lexington, Ky., with the un-^

derstanding that as soon as he made enough in his busi-

ness, he should refund the money advanced bj' his friend.

Mr. Broadwell, by attending closely to his store, soon

built up a good trade, and consequently found himself in

a short time possessed of sufficient surplus to repay his

benefactor, without detriment to his then thriving busi-

ness. As time run on his business continued to grow

until he became one of the leading merchants of Central

Kentucky. While he grew immensely rich for a man in

this country, yet he was a charitable man ; was ever

ready to help anyone that was willing to help themselves,

but was not the friencl of an idler at any time. Asbury

Broadwell married Mary E. McMillen, who was a native

of Harrison County, and was born March 14, 1802, and

died in June 1874. They raised a family of three sons

and one daughter, Marcus L., our subject, being the

second son. He was educated at the old Tiansylvania

University at Lexington, Ky, where he graduated with

honors. He was first married at Georgetown, Ky., in

September, 1848, to Sallie Fennell ; she died in Novem-

ber, 1849. His second marriage was on Oct. 9, 1852, to

Katie E. Dinsmorj, who was born at Warrensburg, E.

Tenn., on May 25, 1835 ; her father, AVilliam Dinsmore,

was born near Carlisle, Ky., and in 1835 was accidentally
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shot by his brother-in-law in Tennessee, while out hunt-

ing, from the effects of which he afterwards died. He
was considered one of the handsomest men in his county.

Mr. Dinsmore married Martha E. Scruggs, who was born

in East Tennessee, in 1814. She is now the wife of

C. A. Webster, of Cynthiana, and is remarkably spright-

ly for one of her age—nearing her three score and ten.

Our subject, " Mark " Broadwell, was County Judge and

County Commissioner for six years. He never joined

the army during the late unpleasantness, but was forced

into the first battle at Cynthiana by the Federal troops.

He left a family of three sons, William, Ewing, and

Fred; and four daughters, Mary, wife of Jack Desha
;

Mattie, wife of John K. Lake ; Bessie and Katie. The
family are all Methodists except the two oldest sons.

They are Democrats in politics. Fred the youngest son

is now proprietor of the leading livery stable in Cynthi-

ana, is courteous and polite to all, deservingly popular,

and is every way worthy of the liberal patronage he has

secured in his line of business.

DR. JOHN D. BATSON; P. O. Oddville; was born

in Millersburg, Bourbon County, Ky., Aug. 5, 1824; son

of John A. and Rachel (Drummoud) Batson. He, born

in Fauquier County, Va., in January, 1787; a farmer,

and son of Mordecai and Elizabeth Batson, who were na-

tives of Virginia. She, born in Virginia Nov. 23, 1793;

daughter of Amos and Rebecca Drummond, of Virginia.

John A. died in Kentucky in 1851, his wife having

preceded him to the Land of Shadows in 1839, leaving

seven children, our subject being the sixth son. Dr.

Batson received his primary education principally in

Bourbon and Harrison Counties, and then took a course

at the Medical College at Cincinnati, graduating from that

institution in 1845, when he commenced the practice of

his profession, at which he has continued ever since.

Jan. 2, 1853, he married, in Harrison County, Miss Susan

C. Crow, born in Harrison County, in October, 1834;

daughter of Rev. J. C. and Nancy W. Crow, from which

union has resulted three children: David W., James R.,

and John B. The first named is President of the Kentucky

Wesleyan College, the second is a physician, and the

third a farmer. The Doctor and his family are members

of the Methodist Church, and he is an A., F. & A. M.,

and a Democrat.

GEORGE W. BUZZARD, Sr., farmer; P. O. Cynthi-

ana. Daniel Buzzard, father of this gentleman, was born

in Germany, in 1786; he was the son of Jacob and Anna
Buzzard, both natives of Germany; Daniel emigrated to

Harrison County, Ky., where he followed the occupation

of farming to the time of his death, which occurred in

1843. His wife was Miss Anna Marshall, a native of Har-

rison County, and daughter of Ralph Marshall, a native

of Virginia. She was born in 1793, and died in 1829.

They were the parents of five children, one of whom was our

subject, George W., who was born May 10, 1818, in Har-

rison County. He spent his earlier days with his parents

in receiving an education and assisting in tilling the soil,

of his father's farm. He began life by tilling the soil,

which he has since followed, now having 230 acres of

well improved land. He is a Democrat and an enter-

prising, public spirited citizen.

E. W. BRAMBLE, distiller ; P. O. Lair's Station
;

was born in Hamilton County, Ohio, Sept. 6, 1842, to A.

L. and Deborah (Stiles) Bramble. His father was born

in Pennsylvania, and floated down the Ohio River in a

flat boat to Hamilton County, O., with his parents, in

1806. He remained with his parents to the age of

twenty-one, when he married, bought a farm of his own,

and with a bare supply of the simplest articles of house-

hold furniture known to early settlers, all of which did

not make a two-horse wagon load, he drove from his pa-

ternal home to a little cabin near where now stands the

fine residence and homestead of our subject. His faith-

ful wife and he entered upon their new life with that

loving courage which could only contemplate a life of

unwearying industry. In looking forward to the success

that, on such occasions, hope alone promises, they could

not dream of the result they afterwards saw and exper-

ienced. There was apparently nothing but work ahead,

and at it they went with a loving faith and earnest will

which became their fixed habit of life, and from which

they never rested. Their earlier labors were in the rude

forms of farming peculiar to that day. The varied pro-

ducts of their farm found their places in markets in the

city, regularly, on the leading market days. While this

part of the work continued so systematically, it did not

by any means take all of Mr. Bramble's time or talents.

From the earliest settlement of the Miami valley the fa-

mous yield of its corn found most steady absorption in

hogs, and commerce in pork was a necessary sequence.

In this Mr. Bramble embarked as soon as the trade

opened. He became not only a great feeder of hogs and

other stock, but also among the earliest of drovers,

slaughterers, packers and dealers. Not confining his

business to local operations, he was constantly handling

stock at other points, buying in and shipping from most

of the great grazing and feeding centers of Ohio, Ken-

tucky and Indiana. Of busy men he became about the

busiest, not for a greed of gain, but because he had an

instinct of activity and a fondness for business. With-

r
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out an interest in the outward forms of religion, he led a

practically good life. His friendships were many, his

acquaintance very large, and his taking away in Febru-

ary, 1875, in the seventy-sixth year of his age, was

widely regretted by all among whom he was known.

E. W. Bramble lived with his parents until he was

twenty-eight years of age, where he received a good ed-

ucation and assisted his father in all of his business. In

1870 embarked on life's rugged pathway by trading in

Kentucky. In 1873 he married Miss Loraine Megibben,

a daughter of Hon. T. J. Megibben, of Harrison County,

and in 1876 became a partner in the firm of Megibben,

Bramble & Co., the largest distillers of Harrison County.

He and wife are members of the Baptist Church. In

politics he is a Democrat.

JAMES A. COOK, deceased, was a distiller in Cyn-

thiana, born in York County, Pa., 1830; son of Stephen

B. and Lydia Cook, who were the parents of four sons

and five daughters. Our subject remained with his pa-

rent^ in Pennsylvania, and emigrated with them to Clark

County, Va., in 1847, continuing with them several years

on their farm, but in 1855 returned to Pennsylvania and

located near Carlisle. In 1861 he came to Kentucky,

and for a short time remained in Lexington, but finally

located in Cynthiana, where he engaged in the distil-

ling business; was also engaged in the manufacture of

woolens, flour, &c. In 1867 he moved to Chicago and

engaged in the real estate business for several years, but

his health failing, he returned to Kentucky, where he

remained until his death, which occurred in June, 1873.

In York, Pa., April 18, 1859, he married Miss Sarah Wol-

ford, daughter of Peter and Mary A. (Carl) Cook, all na-

tives of the Keystone State. Two children have blessed

this union: Charles W. and Mary, who is the wife of

James W. Frazer, of Mt. Sterling. Mr. Cook was, and

his widow is, a Presbyterian; he was a Democrat.

C. B. COOK, Jr., miller and distiller;?. O. Cynthiana;

was born near Richmond, Ky., Feb. 19, 1860, son of C.

B. and Parmelia (Knight.) Cook; he born in Lancaster

County, Pa., March 31, 1833, was a millwright and dis-

tiller by occupation, coming to Kentucky in 1858, served

as Magistrate at Richmond and was Mayor and Council-

man several terms, dying Nov. 16, 1880. His wife was

born in Hagerstown, Md., Dec. 9, 1838, where she was

married in 1844; they had one son and four daughters.

Our subject received his education in Cynthiana. He is

and has been for some time, of the firm of C. B. Cook &

Co., distillers, millers, &c., at Cynthiana. Mr. Cook has

served as Chief of the fire department one term. One of

the sisters of Mr. Cook is Mrs. Laura Musser, another is

Mrs. Cora V. Addams, and the other two, Lillie and

Hattie, are at home. His wife is a member of the Christ-

ian Church, and he is a Democrat.

MRS. MARGARET CRENSHAW; P. O. Cynthi-

ana; is the widow of Henry Crenshaw, who was born in

Virginia in 1803, anddied in 1879. He was the son of

John and Hannah (Madison) Crenshaw, who came to Ken-

tucky, at an early day, from Virginia, he dying in 1855.

They have had five sons and four daughters. Mr. Cren-

shaw, the husband of the lady whose name heads this

sketch, was educated in the district schools of his native

county, and began life in moderate circumstances; was

a carpenter by occupation, but subsequently began

farming, and, at the time of his death, owned nearly four

hundred acres of land. He was a Democrat. June 15,

1854, he married Miss Margaret Allen, who was born in

Woodford County, Ky., Nov. 8, 1813; daughter of John

and Alice (McKay) Allen; he, born in Virginia,

Dec. 17, 1765, and dying Sept. 4, 1847; she, born Feb.

1, 1773, and dying May 3, 1815. Mrs. Crenshaw is a

Presbyterian, and owns a handsome residence in Cynthi-

ana, where she lives.

R. M. COLLIER, County Sheriff; P. O. Cynthiana;

is one of Harrison County's self-made men. He is the

grandson of William Collier, and son of Robert and Cath-

arine (Moore) Collier, the latter daughter of William

Moore, of Harrison County. The father of R. M. was

raised in Nicholas County, Ky., and devoted his life to

farming. He died in Springfield, Ohio, in 1849, leaving

a family of five children, of whom our subject was the

second eldest, and born Oct. 18, 1844. At the age of

sixteen years Mr. Collier entered the Confederate army;

was with Humphrey Marshall and Col. E. F. Clay's regi-

ment; and spent ten months of his service as a prisoner

of war in Camp Morton, Indianapolis, Ind. Returning

from the army, he engaged in farming. In 1870 he was

elected assessor of Harrison County, and in 1878 he was

appointed Deputy Sheriff, held the office until 1880, when

he was elected by the Democratic party to the office of

Sheriff of Harrison County, which office he now holds.

Mr. Collier was married in June of 1874, to Miss Eliza

Ewalt, daughter of John H. Ewalt. Two children have

been born to them: Thomas A. and William M. Mrs.

Collier is a member of the Christian Church, and he is

member of the order of A. F. and A. M., in which order

he is a Sir Knight.

MRS. ADELIA COX, is a daughter of Joseph and

Evaline Wiglesworth, of Virginia, and was married in

Cynthiana in 1848, to Henry Cox, by whom she had

eight sons and one daughter. Henry Cox, the husband
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of our subject, who departed this life Dec. 7, 1880, at

the age of sixty-four years, ten months and eighteen days;

was the son of William and Lucy Cox, who emigrated to

America from a small sea-coast town in England, in No-

vember, 1815, coming to Kentucky from Virginia, where

they sojourned for a short time, and in 1816 Henry was

born. When Henry was only fourteen he connected

himself with the Christian Church, and before he was

twenty-one years of age he setup in the cabinet-making

business, which trade he had learned with his father

He worked at his trade in Cincinnati and Lexington;

he also started business at Centerville, but not finding it

up to his expectations, he was induced to move to Cyn-

thiana and open business. After a few years in the cab-

inet making business with his brother, he sold out and

opened a small grocery store, which he continued with

improving success until 1861, when the war coming on,

he sold out and moved to the country; after a residence

in the country several years, having engaged in the

manufacture of woolen goods, he removed to Cynthiana,

where he dealt largely in the productions of the Cov-

ington factory, in which he had become a partner. He
also bought the house and business of C. G. Land, which

he continued several years, and then sold out and turn-

ed his attention to farming and trading, doing an exten-

sive business. Mr. Cox was a man of marked decision

of character, and possessing more than ordinary ability

and energy. For many years he was the largest buyer

of stock of all kinds in the county; was well posted in

values, of great discrimination, and yet was just in all

his dealings with his fellow man. In his family relations

he was a model, being invariably kind and attentive to

those around him, and to friends always courteous and

considerate. In the death of Mr. Cox, Cynthiana lost a

citizen whose void is difficult to fill.

JAMES W. CROMWELL, farmer; P. 0. Cynthiana;

is a native of Harrison County, and son of H. F. Crom-

well. He was born Aug. 31, 1840, in Cynthiana. The

first seventeen years of his life were spent in attending

and receiving an education from the high school at his

native town. At the expiration of that time he became

apprenticed in his father's machine shop at Cynthiana,

where he remained three years. In 1860 he married

Mary E. Nichols, who has borne him four children, three

of whom are now living, viz.: John M., Lillie L., and

Sally C. In the same year he removed to the farm of

Maj. Ben. Desha, where he remained tilling the soil un-

til 1863, when he removed to the farm of his father-in-

law, Maj. Nichols, where he remained until 1869, when

he bought.the farm upon which he now resides, havinn-

210 acres of land, situated one mile from Cynthiana,

called " Locust Grove." He is the owner of the prize

stallion, "Harrison Chief," and is the owner of the two

stallions, viz.: " Maj. Nichols," and "Abdallah Membri-

no." He was the oWner of the valuable team which

was bought by a gentleman from New York for the late

James A. Garfield. Himself and family are members of

the Christian Church at Cynthiana. He is a Democrat.

THOMAS CURRENT, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; is

a native of Bourbon County, Ky., and the son of John

and Elizabeth (Amos) Current; he was born in 1811; his

father was a native of Bourbon County, and the son

of Thomas and Margaret Current; he followed the

occupation of farmer, and also kept hotel at Ruddel's

Mills. He was a Major in the war of 1813 ; a member
of the Methodist Church and the Masonic Order at

Millersburg. He died Jan. 18, 1837. Thomas, our sub-

ject, lived with his parents in his early life, receiving an

education and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's

farm. He has been twice married; in 1835 he married

Miss Priscilla Fisher ; a native of Bourbon County, and

the daughter of Nathaniel Fisher ; she died Oct. 1,

1S77, aged sixty-three years. In 1879 he married Mary
E. Lindsay, a native of Bourbon County. By his first

marriage he had twelve children, seven of whom are

living, viz.: H. C, Martha H., America E., Jasper N.»

MoUie J., William C, and Mattie. Mr. Current followed

farming in Bourbon County until 1855, when he removed
to Nicholas County, and in 1871 removed to Harrison

County, on the same farm he now resides. He is the

owner of the best farm in Harrison County; it contains

300 acres, and has it appropriately named " Locust

Grove"; it is situated on the Cynthiana and Ruddel's

Mills Pike. Upon his farm he makes the raising of

short-horn stock a specialty. He is a quiet, unassuming
man, and bears a name and reputation which is beyond
reproach

;
previous to the war was a Whig, but now

unites with the Republican party.

SAMUEL CALHOON, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana
;

born in the State of Ohio, in the year 1831 ; his father

was William B. Calhoon, who died in 1833, at the age of

forty-five years; his grandfather, Matthew Calhoon, was
of Scotch-Irish birth ; his mother, Elizabeth Matthews,
was from Pennsylvania. Samuel Calhoon married Miss
Mandy Smith, of Harrison County; daughter of Martin

Smith; and by this marriage he has three children, viz :

Albert Sidney, Arthur Lee, and Mary Eliza. He owns
175 acres, one and three-quarter miles from Cynthiana,
on Cynthiana and Leesburg Pike ; and on this farm he
is breeding a nice lot of short-horns. He is a member

B \i
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of the Oiders of Oddfellows and Working Men, and a

staunch Democrat ; and his wife a member of the

Christian Church at Cynthiana.

DUDLEV B. CONWAY, merchant; P. O. OddviUe.

Miles Conway, father of this gentleman, was born in

Fayette County, near Lexington, in the year 1792; his

father, John Conway, and his mother, Elizabeth, were na-

tives of Virginia. The mother of our subject, Dudley

(B?rry) Conway, was the daughter of Geo. W. Berry, a

native of Virginia; she was born in Kentucky in 1799

and died in 18;23. Miles died in 1864. They were the

parents of three childien, of whom was our subject, Dud-

ley B. He was born in Mason County, Ky., Sept. 26,

1820. At the age of fifteen he commenced business for

himself by farming in his native county, which he con-

tinued until 1839, when he commenced in the milling

business; in 1861 he removed to Harrison County, where

he continued the milling business until 1865, when he

again resumed the occupation of farming, continuing the

s ime until 1878, when he embarked in mercantile bus-

iness, which he still continues at OddviUe. In Harrison

County, Feb. 26, 1861, he married Miss Margaret M. Hav-

iland , the daughter of Robt. S. and Mary C. (Stuart)

Haviland. She was born in Harrison County, April 17,

1835. They are the parents of three children, viz: Robl.

H., Fanny P. and William E. His wife is a member of

the Beaver Baptist Church, and he is an A., F. & A.

M., Thos. Ware Lodge, No. 340, of Claysville, and in

politics is a Republican.

AMERICUS CRAIGMYLE, farmer; P. O. Robertson's

Station; was born in Harrison County, near Cynthiana,

May 19,1816; son of James and Susan (Duley) Craigmyle;

he, born in Pennsylvania, March 10, 1770, a farmer and

cabinet-maker, who came to Kentucky with his father in

1780, settling in Scott County; she, a native of Maryland,

born Oct. 16, 1781. James died in 1844, and his wife in

1842, leaving eleven children. After receiving an ordinary

education in the schools of his native county, he began

farming, which he has continued throughout his life.

He owns a farm of 250 acres of excellent land. April

12, 1838, he married Hannah Newell; born March 4^

1821; daughter of Hugh and Sally (Blair) Newell ; he,

of Bourbon County, born in 1793, and dying in 1875;

she of Harrison County, born in 1795, and dying in

1853. Mrs. Craigmyle died Jan. 26, 1880, leaving four

children: Hugh N., James W., Joseph H., and Sally M.

Mr. Craigmyle is a member of the Baptist Church and a

Democrat.

B. F. COLYIN, farmer ; P. O. OddviUe ; was born

in Pendleton County, Ky., March 29, 1843, son of R. F.

and Sarah W. (Wright) Colvin ; he, born in Pendleton

County, Dec. 24,1811, a farmer, and son of Henry and

Margaret Colvin, who came from Virginia at an early

day ; she, born in Pendleton County, in 1815, daughter

of Lewis and Agnes Wright, natives of Virginia. R. F.

and Sarah had six children, subject being the fourth.

He, R. F., died in 18TG, and his widow still resides in

Pendleton. Mr. Colvin received his education in the

common schools of Pendleton County, and was raised

to the life of a farmer, which occupation he has continued

through life, and which he is atpresent engaged in, own-

ing and cultivating a farm of 100 acres of^land. Nov. 7,

1867, he married Miss Sarah A. Douglas, born in Harris-

on County, Ky., Oct. 3, 1847, daughter of John R. and

Sarah Ann Douglas ; he, a native of Bourbon County,

Ky.; she, of Ireland. Mr. Colvin has been blessed with a

family of three children, viz.: Emma A., Nancy M., and

Carrie. V. He and wife are members of the M. E. Church,

and he is a Republican in politics.

LEONARD DRANE, farmer, P. O. Cynthiana; was

born in Shelby County Ky., May 9, 1835, son of Stephen

T. and Bertha (Ford) Drane, who had five sons and one

daughter. Our subject was educated at Eminence Col

lege, and began life as a farmer, but has been engaged

at various times in hotel keeping and stock -yard busi-

ness at Louisville; has also merchandised and dealt in

wool. Mr. Drane enlisted in the Federal Army—Ninth

Kentucky Cavalry, and served six months, being wounded

in both hands at the battle of Perryville, in consequence

of which he was discharged; was First Sergeant of his

company when he left the service. Oct. 3, 1876, he mar-

ried Anna E. Shawhan, daughter of Henry E. Shawhan,

of this county, which union has been productive of two

children: Henry Shawhan and Maggie Lyne. Himself

and wife are members of the Christian Church, and he

is a Mason and a Jeffersonian Democrat.

CHRISTIAN T. DELLING, clothing and furnishing

goods; P. O. Cynthiana ; was born in Saxony, Oct. 10,

1823, and came to the United States in 1848. He is the

only son of Christian A. and Ernestine W. Schneider,

both natives of Saxony, and both dead. His parents

had one other child : a daughter, Matilda. Our subject

learned the trade of a silk and wool weaver, and after he

came to this country remained one year in Pennsylvania;

then six months in Ohio ; then to Kentucky in 1850,

locating first in Grant, then in Bourbon, and thence

coming to Cynthiana in 1852, where he has resided ever,

since. Sept. 4, 1861, he married Mrs. Louisa (Taber)

Ormsby, principal of the first female school in Cynthiana;

a native of Duchess Countj^, N. Y., born March 30,

^RT
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1833, daughter of Andrew and Louisa (Whitting) Taber;

he a native of Connecticut, and dying in 1838 ; she, still

living, in her ninety-fourth year, at Gallon, Ohio. One
child has been born to our subject : Fannie L., born

Nov. 32, 1865. Himself and wife are members of the

Methodist Church, and the daughter is an Episcopalian
;

he is a Mason and a Republican. During Morgan's raid

in 1863, Mr. Delling met with a loss of about $1,000,

and in 1864, a loss in goods of about $7,000. He is the

oldest Protestant foreigner in Cynthiana, being a Luth-

eran. Mr. Delling is the owner of a fine collection

of mineral and geological specimens, and antiquities.

Among them are old and rare books, viz: 1645 to 1650,

containing full trials of King Charles I, 1648 ; also the

trial of the tw6nty-nine Regicides, which took place

Oct. 13, 1660 ; also trial of William Penn for street

preaching, Sept. 30, 1670, before the Lord Mayor of

London ; and a written manuscript of over 300 pages, by
Jacobi de Paradiso, Tractatus de Erroribus et Moribus

Christianorum. A beautiful written manuscript of the

fifteenth century, 1465 to 1473. One pre-historio Indian

female mold, found a quarter of a mile north of Cynthiana,

at the time the C. &L.R.R. was built; also two coins con-

nected together, a relic from a Catholic French Mission-

ary, who no doubt had been murdered and burned by
the Indians in that part of Cynthiana, now called Wil-

sontown. One of them represents the shape of a heart,

with the holy irftages thereon. The other is oblong and

grants the Missionary 1080 indulgences for truth, fidelity,

and prayer to the Holy Ave Maria. He has also one

large copper coin Atkblits Caesae, Avg., who died,

A. D. 375.

JAMES E. DICKEY, U. S. Store Keeper ; P. O.,

Cynthiana, Ky.; was born in Ohio County, West Va.,

July 38, 1833; and is a son of John G. and Eliza (Ewing)

Dickey. He was born in Pennsylvania in 1788, is a

farmer and merchant by occupation, and is still liv-

ing. His wife was a native of Virginia, and died in

1836. The subject was educated in the public schools

of Virginia, and commenced his career in life as a car-

riage maker. Was for several months census taker, and

served six months in the State service during the war.

In 1871 he was appointed United States Store Keeper,

in which capacity he still serves. Pie was married, June

34, 1849, in Wheeling, West Va., to Miss Sarah J.

Jordan, who was born at Bellaire, Ohio, in 1836.

They have seven children, viz : Mary E., Joseph J.,

Emma, John, George, James and Mattie. Mrs. Dickey

was a daughter of Joseph Jordan. He was a native of

Virginia and died in 1861. His wife, Marian Cordell,

was also a native of Virginia, and died in 1881. Mr. and

Mrs. Dickey are members of the Presbyterian Church at

Cynthiana. He is also a member of the Independent

Order of Odd Fellows ; is an energetic and prosperous

man, and highly respected by all who know him. In

politics he is a Republican.

WILLIAM M. DILLS, farmer ; P. 0. Cynthiana ; is

a native of Harrison County, and son of David and Lydia

(Broadwell) Dills. He was born July 33, 1837. His

grandfather, Abraham Dills, was among the early settlers

of Harrison County ; he died in 1850, aged seventy-seven

years. His father was also a native of Harrison County,

and during his lifetime followed the occupation of farm-

er ; he died in 1877, aged eighty-three years. He was a

member of the Methodist Church. He was politically a

Whig, and was the President of the First Agricultural

Society of Harrison County. His mother was a native of

Harrison County, and daughter of William Broadwell
;

she died in 1873, aged seventy-five years. She was a

member of the Methodist Church. They were the parents

of six children. William, the subject of our sketch, spent

the first thirty years of his life with his parents, the first

fifteen years were spent in receiving such an education

as he could gain from the common schools of his native

county. At the age of fifteen he became the manager of

his father's farm, which he continued for fifteen years. In

1866, he married Miss Rosa Austin, a native of Lexing-
ton, Ky. and who previous to her marriage, was a teacher in

the high schools of Louisville, Ky. They were married

by the Rev. Dr. Craig, at Louisville. They are now the

parents of five children, four of whom are how living,

viz.: Florence, Lena M., Mattie B., and Clara. Three
years previous to his marriage, he bought the farm he now
resides on, having 150 acres of the best land of Harrison
County, called "Glenwood." Upon his farm he makes
the breeding and raising of horses a specialty. He was
the owner of the celebrated stallion, " Indian Chief," and
is now the owner of a fine horse, " Gov. Wilkes," by
"George Wilkes," dam "Daisy Burns," by "Indian
Chief;" he now is under the training of Lee Doble, of
Pittsburgh, Pa. Himself and family are members of the

Episcopal Church. He is a Democrat.

JOHN R. DOUGLAS, farmer ; P. O., Oddville ; was
born in Harrison County, Ky., March 38, 1814 ; son of
Richard and Martha (Ames) Douglas ; he, born near
Fredericksburg, Va., a farmer by occupation, and dyino-

in 1856, aged 76 years ; she, born also in Virginia, and
dying in 1862, aged 76 years. They had sixteen chil-

dren. Our subject received his education in the com-
mon schools of Harrison County, and began life as a
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farmer. Dec. 18, 1843, he married, in Harrison County,

Ky., Miss Sally Ann Lang, born in Ireland, April 16;

1823 ; daughter of William and Sarah (Ross) Lang, both

natives of Ireland, and by which union there are three

children living and two dead. Those living are Sarah

A., Martha and John W. He owns 200 acres of choice

land. Himself and wife are members of the M. E.

Church, and he is a member of the ancient and honor-

able fraternity of Free Masons, and a Democrat.

NOE DILLS, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; was born in

Cynthiana Precinct on the place where he now resides,

and is the son of David and Lydia (Broadwell) Dills; he

born June 25, 1795, in Harrison County, a farmer, and

dying in 1877, aged 82 years; she, born in 1800, and

dying in 1873, being the daughter of Samuel and Anna
Broadwell, of Harrison County. They (David and

Lydia) had six children. Our subject was educated in

the schools of his native county, and began life as a

farmer, which occupation he has followed through life,

at present owning a fine farm of 175 acres of land, his

place being called " Woodland Lawn." He has a very

fine brick residence on his'farm, and his land is under a

high state of cultivation. Stock raising is a specialty

with Mr. Dills, horses and sheep being more especially

attended to, he raising some of the finest animals pro-

duced in the county. Nov. 13, 1873, he married, in

Augusta, Bracken County, Ky., Anna P. Diltz, daugh-

ter of Milton L. Diltz, of Bracken County. Himself and

wife are members of the Methodist Church, and he is a

Democrat.

DR. N. C. DILLE, deceased ; was born in Cuyahoga

County, O., May 31, 1819. He was a son of Calvin

Dille and Naomi Hendershot, both of the State of

Virginia ; the former born April 11, 1785, the latter

August 15, 1784. While still a youth he went to

West Virginia, where he remained several years. He

afterwards entered the High School at Bardstown, Ky.,

to which institution he was indebted for his general edu-

cation. He chose the science of medicine as his profes-

sion, and after receiving his diploma from the University

of Louisville, returned to his home in Harrison County,

where he built up an extensive and lucrative practice.

On the 16th of August, 1849, he married Miss Mildred

F. Varnon, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Williams)

Varnon; the former of Delaware, the latter of Virginia.

Four children were born to them ; one a boy, Lycurgus,

who died, and three daughters, Adelaide, Eugenia and

Elizabeth. The Doctor was a liberal patron of educa-

tion, and his daughters are accomplished and refined.

He represented Harrison County twice in the lower

house of the General Assembly of Kentucky, and ac-

quitted himself in a statesmanlike manner. He was suc-

cessful in business and leaves a very handsome estate of

300 acres, called " Mount Ida." His friends were numer-

ous, and he was noted for his kindness and acts of

charity. On the 2d of January, 1881, he was home
to his final resting place by the Knights Templar of

Cynthiana, he having been a member of the Command-
ery in good standing. His widow is a member of the

Christian Church at Buena Vista.

FREDERICK A. EVELETH, saddler and harness

maker; P. O. Cynthiana; was born in Boston, Dec. 13,

1813; son of Isaac and Alma (Taggert) Eveleth; he, born

in Rhode Island, Aug. 35, 1779; was a book-keeper, and

died April 4, 1858; she, a native of England, born about

1783, and dying in 1836. They had seven children,

three sons ajnd four daughters, all of whom grew to ma-

turity, and all of whom are dead with the exception of

Frederick A., our subject, and two sisters. Mr. Eveleth

received his education at New Harmony, Ind., and early

learned the trade of saddler. As an incident of interest

in the life of our subject, he relates that in 1836, with a

friend, he came near losing his life: He and this friend,

while crossing a river in New Jersey about dusk, were

carried out into the Atlantic by wind and tide, and a

storm coming up suddenly, they were tossed about with-

out much ceremony on the part of Old Neptune, but

were fortunately cast ashore and were rescued, with

what might be termed "fisherman's luck." Mr. Eveleth,

in addition to his regular business of saddle and harness

making, has at times kept a grocery, and a livery stable

awhile. He is a Mason of long standing and has held

the responsible position of Treasurer for twenty-three

years, during which time he has handled thousands of

dollars and never had a discrepancy of a penny. He has

also several times represented his Lodge in the Grand

Lodge. In Ohio, Oct. 33, 1838, he married Miss Hester

Ann Hoffner, born in Hamilton County, Ohio, July 13,

1833, daughter of John Hoffner, a native of Maryland,

of German descent. Ten children have blessed this

union. George, the oldest, was killed in the Confederate

army; Francis died in infancy; those living are: Thomas

W., John A., Alonzo G., Harriet L., Mary S., Alma T.,

Ada and Maggie. Himself and wife are Methodists and

he is a Democrat.

HARRY D. FRISBIE, freight and passenger agent;

P. 0. Cynthiana ; was born in New York, Feb. 38, 1843,

son of H. F. and Statira (Gibbs) Frisbie, both natives of

the Empire State ; they have six children, Harry D.,

being the youngest son. Our subject received his edu-
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cation principally in Chicago. He commenced early in

life railroading, and has also been engaged in merchan-

dising and dealing in horses, coal, etc. He superintended

the building of about 100 miles of telegraph for the

Western Union through West Virginia. Mr. Frisbie,

"when he began his business life was iu very moderate

circumstances, but by good management and industry,

has prospered to a competency. In 1863, he was taken

prisoner by Morgan's men, "while on duty at Cynthiana,

and after being held a short time was released. June 8,

1865, he married Oteria E. Day, born in 1845, daughter

ofJudge Day, by whom he has had four children, three sons

and one daughter, viv.: Harry, Shirley, Raymond and

Hattie. He is an A. F. & A. M., a Knight Templar, and

member of the A. O. U. W. and Knight of Honor. Self

and wife are members of the Methodist Church, South,

and he is a Democrat.

T. T. FORMAN, lawyer; P. O. Cynthiana. The

grandfather of this gentleman was Ezekiel Forman, who
came from New Jersey to Kentucky in 1789, and loca-

ted in Mason County, where he afterward owned an ex-

tensive farm of 1,000 acres or more of land. His son.

Rev. E. Forman, was born in 1819. He is a prominent

minister of the Presbyterian Church, and at present re-

sides in Richmond, Ky. His wife was Miss Ellen,

daughter of David Russell of Danville, Ky. Their son,

T. T. Forman, was born in Richmond, Ky., Dec. ^9,

1853, and is consequently just thirty years of age. He
studied for a while at Centre College, Danville, and af-

terward entered the University of Virginia, where he

graduated with distinction in 1871. After leaving col-

lege he taught school for a year, preparatory to studying

law, which he began and finished iinder the tutelage of

J. Q. Ward, in Cynthiana. Obtaining license from the

Court of Appeals, he began practice in the city of New
Orleans, La., in the winter of 1873-4, but soon returned

to Cynthiana, where he has continued to practice with

gratifying success. Mr. Forman was married in October,

1876, to Miss Lelia Campbell Donoho, daughter of M.

Donoho, of Bardstown, who has borne him two children,

viz.: Russell D., and Thomas V. He is a member of

the Presbyterian Church, a Master Mason, and stands

high in the estimation of the people as a lawyer and a

gentleman. His political views are in accord with the

principles of the Democratic party.

D. A. GIVENS, breeder of Jersey cattle ; P. O., Cyn-

thiana ; was born in Harrison County, Ky., May 18, 1831;

son of Alexander and Mary (Steele) Lamme; he, a farmer

by occupation, a native of Bourbon County, filling the

position of Colonel of Militia of Harrison County for

many years, and dying in August, 1840; she,.a daughter

of Samuel and Nancy A. (Steele) Lamme ; natives of

Virginia, but of Scotch descent. They had ten children.

The grandfather of our subject, Samuel Lamme, came

to Milford, near Cynthiana, about 1783, and was one of

the brave and honored patriots who served in the Revo-

lutionary army. He was one of the first Trustees of the

schools of Cynthiana. January 19, 1855, Mr. Givens, the

subject of this sketch, married Miss Margaret Keller,

born in 1839, in Harrison County ; a daughter of Abra-

ham and Polly A. Keller. One child has blessed their

union—Lamme Steele Givens, born Jan. 14, 1866. Mr.

Givens received his education in the schools and

Academy at Cynthiana, and commenced business in the

mercantile line in 1850, which he followed for many
years, including a term as railroad agent, about 1855, but

is now giving attention to farming and the breeding and

sale of Jersey cattle, being the only breeder in that line

in Harrison County, and his herd of Jersey cattle'^the

only herd of Jersies in his county, about sixty in number,

having at its head the bull Rex Alphea (4509). His

Nelida represents the Niobe (99) family—Favorite of the

Elms, Pierrott, Duke of Darlington, Uproar, Pansey, etc.

Ho owns 175 acres of land, his home consisting of 25

acres, being called "Elmarch." Himself and wife are

members of the Presbyterian Church, and he is a Dem-
ocrat.

HUGH N. GARNETT, farmer; P.O. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Sept. 3, 1850, son of

William and Margaret (Newell) Garnett; he, born in

Harrison County, where he and his wife still reside upon

a large farm upon which he has a fine brick residence.

The grandfather of Mr. Garnett, our subject, Hugh New-
ell, was a very prorament man in his day, he having

represented Harrison County in the Legislature several

terras. Mr. Garnett has been a farmer all his life, he

having been raised one, and to which he naturally in-

clined, after receiving an education in the schools of his

native county. He owns a fine farm of 140 acres of

land, upon which he raises principally corn, wheat and

tobacco. In 1875, in Harrison County, he married Miss

Ada Lancaster, born in Parkersburg, Va., in 1850,

daughter of Ransom and Lucy (Hard) Lancaster. His

wife is a member of the Methodist Church South, and he

is a Democrat.

LARKIN T. GARNETT, farmer and stockraiser; P.

O. Cynthiana; was born in Harrison County, Ky., April

1, 1848, son of William and Margaret (Newell) Garnett,

both natives of Harrison County, who were the parents

of five children. After the ordinary education attainable
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in the schools of his native county, our subject entered

into the life of a farmer, to which he had been reared

and has followed that occupation steadily ever since,

making stock raising for some years past a specialty. He
owns an excellent farm of 300 acres, his place being

known as " Cottage Home." In April, 1881, he married

in Harrison County, Miss Lillie King, born in Harrison,

May 22, 1861, daughter of George Thomas and Susan

(Craigmyle) King, of Harrison County. He is a Demo-

crat.

GEORGE HOWK, grocer ; Cynthiana. George

Howie, Sr., was born in Bracken County in 1832. He
conducted the business of a general grocer for a while,

when he removed to Covington, where he remained for

six years, when he came to Cynthiana in 1865, and opened

a large establishment of the same character. He accumu-

lated a handsome estate, and died in October, 1881. His

wife was Mary Chowning, daughter of John Chowning,

of Harrison County. George Howk, jr., was born in

Kenton County, Oct. 6, 1859. He received his education

in Cynthiana, and upon attaining his majority, entered

the grocery, queensware, and furniture business. He
now has one of the largest and best stores of the kind in

Central Kentucky. He was married in August, 1880, to

Miss Mattie O'Neal, daughter of George O'Neal, of Paris,

Ky. They have one child, George Barrett, born Sept.

23, 1881. In politics Mr. Howk is a Democrat.

THOMAS HINKSON, farmer, distiller and whole-

sale liquor dealer ; P. O. Cynthiana, Ky. Among the

prominent self made men of I-Iarrison County, we would

mention the name of Thomas Hinkson, who was born

in the county on March 12, 1819. His grandparents

were natives of Ireland. His father, Samuel Hinkson,

was born at Bullitt's Lick, and when quite young

moved to Harrison County, and settled near what is now

called Trickum, where he died about 1837. He married

Susan Lyons, of Bourbon County; they had eight chil-

dren born to them, six of whom were raised to maturity,

four sons and two daughters. The fourth son, Thomas,

of whom we write, enjoyed but very limited educational

advantages; to use his own language, when asked where

he was educated, he replied, " I never had any." He

began life as an humble farmer without any means, and

on Aug. 16, 1860, was married to Susan, daughter of

John and Julia (Ecklar) Richardson, of Harrison. This

union has been blessed with four sons, viz.: John, Wm.,

Sterling, and Wyatt, living, and Bennie, who died

Nov. 14, 1877, in his fourth year ; and one daughter,

Oteria. Mrs. Hinkson is a member of the Christian

church. Our subject has never had any political aspira-

tions, and consequently never filled any county office.

He is however a member of the City Council of Cynthi-

ana at this time, and has been affiliated with the Demo-
cratic party since the War. He has ever been an active,

thoroughgoing business man, possessed of indomitable

energy, and is regarded by all who know him as a man
possessed of more than ordinary business capacity. In

his case we have a fine example of what can be accom-

plished by perseverance and economy in a life tiine,

beginning without a dollar, and worse than this, without

educational advantages, and at this date (1883) owns

1200 acres of land in this county, 300 in Kansas, fine

brick residence in Cynthiana; twenty shares of National

Bank Stock, $15,000 or $30,000 worth of whisky distil-

lery property, &c., &c.

CAPTAIN JOHN HAMILTON, farmer; P. O. Cyn-

thiana. Capt. Hamilton was born near Gettysburg, in

York County, Penn., in 1766, and died in 1863. His

father, Wm. Hamilton, was born in County Tyrone Ire-

land, and emigrated to America several years prior to

the Revolution, and settled at the place now called Gin-

ger Hill, in Washington County, Penn. It was then

called a frontier settlement. He married MoUie Bitener,

also of County Tyrone, Ireland. She died about the

year 1814. The fruits of this marriage were eight chil-

dren, but one of which died under eighty years of age.

His educational advantages were very limited, only hav-

ing an opportunity to attend school about three months.

He afterward learned to write his name on the head of a

whisky barrel while distilling. His first business was in

clearing up the forest and watching the Indians. Capt.

H. was married in Bourbon County, in 1795, to Rachel

Cook, who was born in Virginia about 1770, and died in

1813. Her parents were John and Peggy (Blair) Cook,

both of Virginia birth. Subject was a Captain in the

war of 1813. Commanded a company of volunteers,

mounted riflemen, under Gen. Hopkins. His first march

was to Fort Harrison, commanded by Maj. Zachary Tay-

lor. Being but ten years of age when Independence

was declared, he was too young to take any part in the

Revolution, except, toward the close, he carried dis-

patches. He had born to him two sons, ( Septimus, born

1805, and John in 1808 ), and five daughters ( Peggy,

born 1796; Polly, 1798; Sally, 1800; Nancy, 1803; and

Caroline, in 1810). Capt. H. came to Kentucky in 1785,

then in his nineteenth year. He and a few companions

took a large canoe and came down the Ohio River to the

mouth of Limestone Creek, now Maysville; from that

they went to Ruddel's Station by way of the BuiFalo

trace. He remained in Kentucky till the whisky insur-
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rectioa broke out in Western Pennsylvania, at -which

time he returned there by the wilderness route, and, ar-

riving, found an army camped on his brother's farm, to

put dovrn the insurrection. His brother refused to pay

the tax on his still, and hid to prevent being arrested,

and had made up his mind to allov? his still to be

confiscated. At this juncture our subject v?ent after dark,

took the still out of the furnace and carried it to the

Monongahela, w^hich was some three miles distant, con-

cealed it there, returned and secured the cap and worm,

which he took to the same place, until he was ready to

start. A few days later our subject, in company with a

Mr. McCoons, procured a large canoe, loaded their

distilling apparatus and brought the same down the

Ohio to Limestone; they again hid it, and made their way

to Ruddel's Station, where they got an auger and axe and

made a rough log sled, to which they hitched a horse,

and returned to Limestone and hauled their still, etc., to

the Station. The following year they raised some corn

and rye and manufactured the same into whisky, which

was perhaps the first of that article ever made in the

county, although the credit has been claimed by other

parties. He only doubled once a week, and the men
would come in every Saturday from the neighboring

stations and drink as much as they could, and carry the

balance home with them to supply their wants till the

next Saturday. His yield was from six to eight gallons

per week. He voted for George Washington at his

second election to the Presidency of the United States,

and voted at every Presidential election afterwards to

the time of Abraham Lincoln's election. He also voted

for a delegate to represent Kentucky in Virginia.

JAMES M. HODSON, farmer; P. O. Oddville; was

born in Butler County, Ohio, Aug. 10, 1837; son of Joseph

and Mary (Ramey) Hodson ; he, born in Delaware in

1797 ; she, born in Nicholas County, Ky., in 1797; both

now living in Indiana ; they had eight children, James

M. being the third in order of birth. Mr. Hodson re-

ceived his education in the schools of his native county

and at Cincinnati. He began his business life by learn-

ing the painter's trade, at which he worked for some years,

but in 1868 commenced farming. In 1873, he entered

into merchandising at Oddville, which he left in 1878,

and has continued farming since, owning a fine produc-

tive farm of 300 acres. In Cincinnati, Oct. 3, 1849, he

married Elizabeth C. Phillips, born in Bristol, England,

Oct. 1, 1837, daughter of Peregine and Elizabeth (Chap-

man) Phillips ; he, born in Bristol, England, June 30,

1800 ; she, born in London, England, Nov. 35, 1807.

James M., our subject, has been blessed with but one

child, .James P., married and living at Oddville. He and

wife are members of the M. E. Church Souih. He is an

Odd Fellow and an Independent Democrat.

THOS. C. HAYS, deceased ; was born in Bourbon

County, Dec. 13, 1811, and died May 5, 1881 ; son of

Walter and Catharine (Kendall) Hiys ; he, a native of

Maryland and a farmer ; she, of Bourbon County, Ky.

They had nine children. Our subject received his edu-

cation in the schools of Nicholas and Bourbon Counties,

and, wTien a lad, learned the shoemaker's trade, in con-

nection with which occupation he pursued farming until

his death. At Oddville, Harrison Cb., Dec. 6, 1838,

he married Miss Rachel C. Whitaker, born August 24,

1815, at Oddvile, daughter of Joseph and Sukey (Horrey)

Whitaker ; he, born in 1779, in Harrison County ; she, in

1781, in Bourbon County, Ky. Mr. Hays had nine chil-

dren born to him, seven of whom are living : Sudie,

Wm. T., Gusta A., Lucius, Joseph L., Abbott B. and

Eva C. Sudie is the wife of Wm. H. Mathers ; Wra. T.

is married and living at Oddville ; Gusta A. is the wife

of Abraham Lingenfelter ; Joseph also is married. Mrs.

Hays has a fine farm of 110 acres. Mr. Hays was a

member of the Patrons of Husbandry, a Good Templar

and a Democrat. Mrs. Hays and her entire family are

members of the Methodist Church.

BENJAMIN HUMPHREY, farmer; P. O. Robinson

Station; was born in Bourbon County, March 9, 1813;

son of Gilford and Nancy (Martin) Humphrey; he, a

shoemaker by trade; born in Virginia in 1791, and dying

in 1879; she, also a native of Virginia, born in 1791, and

dying in 1873. They had nine children, Benjamin being

the oldest. Mr. Humphrey, the subject of this sketch,

attended school in Bourbon and Harrison Counties, and

then entered into the life of a' farmer, at which occupa-

tion he has continued ever since, at present owning a fine

farm of 133 acres of land. Oct. 17, 1837, in Harrison

County, he married Deborah Brannock, born in that

county, Dec. 7, 1819, daughter of Robert and Elizabeth

(Myers) Brannock; he, born in Delaware in 1773, dying

in 1853; she, born in Maryland in 1789, dying in 1850.

Mr. Humphrey has been blessed with a family of four-

teen children, eight of whom are living: Enoch; Benja-

min Franklin and Deborah, twins; Elizabeth; Sally;

Laura; David A.; and Batson A. The family are mem-
bers of the Methodist Church, South. Mr. Humphrey is

a Democrat.

W. S. HAVILAND, farmer, P. O. Cynthiana. There

are but few families of the Northern belt of the Blue

Grass region who are able to trace the genealogy of

their ancestry back to the seventeenth century; and of
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these few the name of Mr. William S. Haviland is worthy

of more than passing mention in this history. His great

grandfather, James Haviland, was born in New York,

May 25, 1740, and died Nov. 35, 1786. He was a farmer,

and married Miss Ann Hanniwell; seven children were

the issue of their union, of whom was Israel Haviland,

born March 12, 1765, in Harrison Purchase, Westchester

County, N. Y. He was married to Miss Jane Anderson,

Oct. 12, 1788, and ;died Oct. 23, 1819, in New
York City, where for many years he had resided, en-

gaged in the manufacture of boots and shoes. There

were born to them fourteen children, of whom Robert S.,

father of our subject, was the second son; he was born

Nov. 11, 1796, and emigrated to Kentucky in 1818.

April 6, 1820, he married Miss Mary C. Stewart; his

death occurred Aug. 8, 1858, at Havilandsville,^Harrison

County , Ky. He was educated for a sea captain, but

spent most of his life in Kentucky. Of the nine children

born to them, William S., our subject, was the second

son. He was born March 22, 1823, in Harrison County,

and Dec. 30, 1845, he married Mary E. Whitehead,

whose death occurred April 13,1849. He was married

a second time on June 13, 1854, to Miss Mary Ellen

Jones. His children are by his first wife, Mary F., born

Jan. 17, 1847; Bettie, born April 11, 1849, and by his

second wife, Charles B., born April 19, 1855; Robert S.,

born D3C. 23, 1857; Carrie, born June 30, 1863. Mr.

Haviland is one among the best known and prominent

citizens of Harrison County, a native of the county by

birth; he has always taken a very active part in her de-

velopment, aud has assisted largely in those enterprises

which mark the progress of civilization. His early life

was spent in assisting his father to conduct a large mer-

cantile and manufacturing-business in Havilandsville, at

which place he at the age of twenty-one years embarked

in the manufacture and sale of cabinet-ware on his own

account. He continued this business until 1850, when

he engaged in establishing the legalitv and collecting

claims in the United States and foreign countries. He

is the owner of one of the finest houses in Harrison Coun-

ty, located two miles north ofCynthiana on the Cynth-

iana and Falmouth Pike. His farm consists of 200 acres

of choice land, and the brick residence erected by his

design, is spoken of as the finest farm residence in Har-

rison County. He has always been an energetic and en-

terprising citizen, and bears a name and reputation of

which his children may well be proud. Now, in the

latter years of his life he is surrounded with those com-

forts and enjoying those pleasures that are ever the re-

sult of honesty, industry and economy.

J. H. HOLDING, farmer ; P. O. Lair's ; native of

Scott County, born in 1818. His father was James Hold-

ing, who died in 1762, at the age of seventy-five. His

grandfather, William H., was a native of Maryland,

emigrated here early and settled in Soott County, and his

great-grandfather emigrated here from England. His

mother was Nancy Barnett, a daughter of Joseph Bar-

nett, of Harrison County, who came from Virginia, she

died in 1827. He married Mrs. Elizabeth Hill, daughter

of David Jewett, of Bourbon County, and they have two

children, named James David and Lair Belle. His son,

James W., was in Capt. Jim Cantrill's Co. of Gen. John,

H. Morgan's command during the war and returned home
in 1865. Mr. Holding is a breede r of high grade stock,

and belongs to the Masonic fraternity, and a Democrat,

and he and his wife are members of the Methodist Church

at Cynthiana, he being one of the stewards of the

Church ; he was also Lieutenant in Militia.

LEWIS A. JONES, deceased, was a farmer and black-

smith; born in Bourbon County, July 15, 1815, and came

to Cynthiana when twenty-one years old, dying May 12,

1881. He was the second son of a large family born to

Marshall and Cynthia (Reno) Jones, of Bourbon County.

Lewis A. began life by learning the trade of blacksmith,

and, although in very moderate circumstances, by atten-

tion to business soon acquired a good property in Cyn-

thiana, which he sold out and purchased a farm in Nich-

olas County, where he remained some ten years, then

bought at Scott's Station; there selling out, he bought a

snug little farm three miles east of Cynthiana, where he

died. He was a member of the Christian Church and a

Granger. May 3, 1844, he married Sally E. Douglas,

born June 16, 1817; daughter of John and Elizabeth

(Strother) Douglas, both natives of Virginia. Mr. Doug-

las died Sept. 5, 1851, and his wife Feb. 20, 1850. The

union was blessed with three sons and seven daugrhters.

The widow of our subject, Mrs. Sally A. Douglas, and

her daughters are members of the Christian Church.

ELIJAH J. JOHNSON, farmer ; P. O. Oddville; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Oct. 2, 1838, son of David

0. and Polly Ann (Mattox) Johnson ; he, born in Clark

County, Feb. 28, 1815, a farmer, and son of John and

Betsey Johnson, natives of Virginia, who emigrated to

Kentucky at an early day ; she, born in Harrison County,

Ky., in 1822, daughter of Elijah and Martha Mattox, na-

tives of Kentucky. David C. died in March, 186 5, and

his wife, Polly Ann, surviving him until March, 1876
;

they had four children, Elijah J., our subject, being the

oldest. He received his education in the common schools

of his native county, and was raised to farming, which he
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still continues. He was married in Harrison County,

Feb. 22, 1859, to Susan Whalin, born May 30, 1839,

daughter of Stephen and Eliza Whalin, which union has

been productive of seven children, six of whom are liv-

ing, viz.: Daniel R., Annie E., Effie, Crawford, Willie

and John Q. Mr. Johnson has been School Trustee for

a number of years, and Overseer of Roads. He owns a

farm of 120 acres, his place being called "Crow Farm."

Himself and wife are members of the Baptist Church,

and he is a Democrat.

CHARLES R. KIMBROUGH, farmer and stockrais-

er; P. O. Cynthiana; was born near Cynthiana Dec. 7,

1834; son of Mager and Margaret A. (Redmon) Kim-
brough; he, born in Virginia in January, 1800, was a

blacksmith and farmer, and died Feb. 19, 1879; she, born

in Harrison County in 1810, and died in June, 1857; they

had two sons and three daughters, Charles R. being the

oldest child. Mr. Kimbrough, our subject, received his

education in Cynthiana, under the tuition of Prof. Smith
and Rev. Carter Page, and he began life farming, in ad-

dition to which he has made stockraising and stookhand-

ling a specialty. Director and Vice President of the A.

& M. Association, now Agricultural, Mechanical and Live

Slock Association. April 2, 1857, he was married to

Mary A. Roberts, daughter of Benson and Mary (Russell)

Roberts, and four children have blessed the union, two
of whom are now living: John W. and Ida May. Ho is

a Presbyterian and a Democrat; she a Methodist.

PAUL KING, dealer in ice, insurance- agent and
book-keeper Farmers' National Bank ; P.O. Cynthiana;

was born in this county, Dec. 15, 1841, son of Paul and
Sarah B. (Bell) King ; he, a native of Harrison County,

born Aug. 18, 1806 a farmer by occupation, and dying

March 8,1872 ; she, born Jan. 24, 1822, and died Aug.

19, 1859. They had twenty-one children born to them,

of whom seven died; those remaining were seven sons

and seven daughters. Our subject received his education

at the district schools at Mt. Zion, and was raised to

farming. From 1869 to 1871 he was in the grocery busi-

ness, but since the later date he has been engaged in the

ice and insurance business, and has also filled the position

of book-keeper for three years of the Farmers' National

Bank. He resides on Main street, Cynthiana, where he

has a fine two-story brick residence. In 1861 he enlisted

in the Confederate Army, and served three years. Dec.

14, 1865, he married Miss Sallie E. Garnett, born Sept.

29, 1845, daughter of Capt. William and Margaret

(Newell) Garnett, of this county, which union has been

blessed with four children, viz.: Willie G., Lawrence

Erwin, Lizzie Felix, and Gracie Marguerite. Mr. and

Mrs. King are members of the Baptist Church, and he is

a member of the A. O. U. W., and Knights of Honor, and

is a Democrat.

JOHN W. KIMBROUGH, farmer and trader; P. 0.

Cynthiana; was born in Harrison County, Ky., May 30,

1822, son of Mager and Rachel (Kelso) Kimbrough, who
were the parents of three sons and three daughters, John

W. being the oldest. He was educated in the schools of

his native county, and was raised to farming, in which

occupation he is at present engaged, and in trading. In

August, 1847, he was married in Nicholas County, to

Eliza Victor, born in September, 1827, daughter of John

and Eiiz ibeth (Rule) Victor, and from which marriage

there has resulted four daughters: Alice, Evie, Mattie,

and Addie. Plimself, wife and one daughter are Metho-

dists, and two daughters are Baptists; he is a Democrat.

ROBERT KIMBROUGH, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana;

was born in Harrison Count}', Ky., Sept. 25 1809, son of

William and Elizabeth (Walton) Kimbrough; he, born

in 1767, in Louisa County, Va., came to Kentucky in

1783, settling in Nicholas County, a farmer, and dying in

1852, at the age of eighty-six years;she, born in 1778, near

Baltimore, Md., and dying in 1833. They had six children.

The grandfather of our subject, was Samuel Kimbrough,

a native of England, who was brought to Maryland at an

early day, and emigrated to Kentucky in 1783. Mr.

Robert Kimbrough, after attending school the period ordi-

narily given the youth of his day, began farming, in which

occupation he has continued ever since, and now owns
a farm of 190 acres of land. Aug. 27, 1839, our suliject

married in Cynthiana, Miss Elizabeth Frazer, born in Har-

rison County, July 5, 1809, daughter of James and Kate
(Hendricks)- Frazer; he, a native of Pennsylvania, born

1768; she, of North Carolina, born 1780. Eight children

have been born to Mr. Kimbrough; the names of those

living are as follows: Mary, Eliza, James, Joseph, Ellen,

Robert. Self and wife are members of the Reform
Church, and he is a Radical.

POLLY ANN KELLER, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana
;

she is the wife of Abraham Keller, who was born May 4,

1809, and died in 1876 ; ha was the son of Abraham
Keller, who came from Pennsylvania. Mrs. Keller is the

daughter of Hugh and Mary (Ewalt) Miller, and is the

mother of ten living children, viz. : Hugh M., Mar-
garget Givens, of Cynthiana; William Henry, who died

in 1838 ;
Mary, who died in 1843 ; Elizabeth Frazier,

Alice Vanhook, Sarah E. Jones, James M., Abraham,
Noah, Nannie, and Billy. She is the owner of 162 acres

of fine land, two and a half miles from Cynthiana on
the Cynthiana and Lair's Road, called " Pleasant Home,"
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and she is a member of the Christian church at Mount

Carmel.

J. G. KENNARD, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; is a

native of Mason Countjr, Ky., and the son of William

and Jane (Hunter) Kennard ; he was born in December,

1819 ; his father was a native of Northampton Tp.,

Pa., born Jan. 30, 1788 ; he was a farmer ; his wife,

the mother of our subject, was a native of Lexington,

Ky.; born Dec. 7, 1778. They have both been dead

several years. They had eight children, of whom was

our subject, J. Gr. Kennard. He received his education

in Harrison County. In 1856 removed to Cooper Coun-

ty, Mo.; in 1859 returned to Harrison County, where he

has since remained engaged in farming. He has a snug

little farm, called " Locust 'Grove," pleasantly located

on the Oddville and Cynthiana Pike. He was married,

Oct. 30, 1856, to Miss Susan Thompson, a native of Har-

rison County, and the daughter of Robert and Emily

(Lindsey) Thompson ; she was born March 28, 1813.

Mr. and Mrs. Kennard have five children : Laura, born

Sept. 33, 1857 ; Ida, born Oct. 33, 1860 ; Arthur, born

Jan. 11, 1863 ; Nany, born July 13, 1865 ; and Robert,

born Jan. 14, 1871. Mr. Kennard is a Democrat and a

demitted member of the order I. O. O. F. at Cynthiana.

W. W. LONGMOOR, Clerk of the Circuit, Chancery

and Criminal Courts of Harrison County ; was born

June 31, 1840, in Kenton County, Ky., near the city of

Covington. His father, George Longmoor, was a farmer,

born in Bourbon County, but moved to Kenton County,

where he resided till his death, in 1847. His mother,

Amanda Hammett Longmoor, was a native of Mason

County, and daughter of Samuel Hammett, a farmer of

that county. His grandfather, Hugh Longmoor, was

born in Scotland, and in early infancy moved with his

parents to Ireland. Hugh Longmoor always called him-

self an Irishman. In early manhood he emigrated to

America and settled in Bourbon County, Ky. He re-

turned to Ireland once, on business, after he had settled

in this country. He was married in Bourbon County to

Miss Sarah Elizabeth Eaton, who was a native of New

Jersey. He died in 1810, a rigid Puritan. George

Longmoor, father of "WT W. Longmoor, was born in

Bourbon County, Ky., July 30, 1803. He married Miss

Amanda Hammett, daughter of Samuel Hammett, in

Kenton County, then called Campbell County, on the

18th of March, 1830. Samuel Hammett was born in

Virginia ; came to Kentucky when young, and settled in

Mason County ; married Mary Adamson in that county,

where his daughter, Amanda, was born on the 15th of

March, 1813. He subsequently moved to Kenton

County. Mrs. Amanda Hammett Longmoor died in

1856. Mary Adamson, her mother, was also a native of

Mason County, but her last residence was in Kenton

County. W. W. Longmoor, the subject of our sketch,

left the farm in 1854 to attend school in Cincinnati,

where he remained three years, and two more were spent

at the Farmers' College at College Hill, Hamilton

County, Ohio. In 1859 he took a course of instruction at

Bartlett's Business College, in Cincinnati, and afterwards

spent some time in the office of Haven & Co's foundry,

of that city, the senior member of which firm was his

brother-in-law. In 1861 he enlisted in Company H. 3d

Kentucky C. S. Infantry, but remained in the regiment

only three months, being compelled to return home by

injuries received in a fall. After his recovery he assisted

in orgranizinop two comoanies under the command of

Captain Corbin, of Boone County, and accompanied them

as far as Mount Sterlii.g, when they were routed and

several of the number l.illed by the Federals, who were

concealed in the Court House and in the dwellings of

the town. In attempting to escape he was captured by

the Winchester Home Guards and confined in the Clark

County jail ; thence he was sent the next day to Lex-

ington, afterwards to Covington and Cincinnati, and

then removed to Camp Chase, and finally to Johnson's

Island ; a id after several months' imprisonment was ex-

changed, in the fall of 1862, at Vicksburg. He then

made his way to Murfreesboro, Teiin., and reported to

Colonel Hanson, of the old Second Infantry ; thence

proceeded to Alexandria, Tenn., and joined Company B.

Second Cavalry, Colonel Basil Duke commanding, and

remained with that regiment till the l^attle of Cynthiana,

June 11, 1864, when he was permanently disabled. Up

to this time he ha.d participated in all the raids and en-

gagements of the regiment, was captured in the Ohio

raid, and after one month's imprisonment at Camp

Chase, and then three months at Camp Douglas, he made

his escape and joined his regiment at Wytlieville, Vir-

o-inia, after a most dangerous trip through Ohio and

Kentucky. On the 11th of June, 1864, however, at the

battle of Cynthiana, his career as a soldier came to an

end, unless long and severe suffering may be reckoned

a part of the soldier's professional life. He was wounded

in the thigh in such a manner that amputation at the

hip joint became necessary. For about two years he was

unable to leave his bed, and so critical was his condit'on

that the Federal post commander of Cynthiana, by re-

quest of General Morgan a few days after the battle, re-

ceived orders from his superiors at Lexington to permit

Mr. Longmoor to be removed to a private residence at

i) >y



^^ ^
662 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

Cynthiana for more careful treatment. He was taken to

the house of Dr. Abram Addams, then living near the

Methodist Church, and all that skill, kindness, and un-

wearied attention could do was put in requisition.

About four weeks after this arrangement was made a

drunken Federal captain, on his own authority, intruded

upon this private residence, and with a posse of ne-

groes, carried the desperately wounded man, under a

July sun, to the extemporized hospital, situated where

the Christian Church now stands. On learning the facts

of this outrage all parties were indignant, none said to be

more so than the Northern officers themselves. But a

month elapsed before it was thought safe to move the

wounded man back to the hospitable mansion of Dr.

Addams. Six months thereafter he was paroled, through

the influence of Colonel Robert Kelley, now of Louisville,

and removed, still on his back, to the residence of his

brother-in-law, Mr. Augustus Haven, about six miles

from Covington, Ky. Eight or nine months after this

removal it was found unavoidable to amputate the

wounded limb at the hip joint, an ordeal the peril of

which all surgeons well know. The operation was per-

formed by Dr. George C. Blaokman, of Cincinnati, as-

sisted by Dr. John Dulaney, of Kenton County. Four

months after this operation, to the surprise of every-

body, Mr. Longmoor was able to move about on crutches.

At the battle of Cynthiana Mr. Longmoor was the ad-

vanced vidette, and received his injury when in the act

of charging the Rankin House, in which a Federal regi-

ment had taken refuge. The Federal colonel was fatally

wounded, the regiment captured, and the Rankin

House, now the Smith House, was taken. In 1866 Mr.

Longmoor actively engaged in the dry goods business

at Burlington ; after eight months came to Cynthiana and

embarked in the hardware business with his brother
;

and in 1868 he went into the furniture trade, in which he

continued until 1874. In that year he was elected

Clerk of the Circuit and Criminal Courts of Harrison

County, a position which he still holds. Mr. Longmoor

was married on Feb. 5, 1867, to Miss Louisa Ad-

dams, daughter of Dr. Abram Addams, deceased, of

Cynthiana, and granddaughter of Major William K.

Wall. One son, a bright boy, ten or twelve years old,

cheers their pretty residence on Main street.

JOHN K. LAKE, lawyer; P. O. Cynthiana; was born

Nov. 39, 1851, in Harrison County. His parents were

William and Mary (Renaker) Lake; both of whom were

born and raised in this county. Mr. Lake was a pros-

perous and well-to-do farmer. He died in 1855. Mrs.

Lake was a daughter of Jacob Renaker; she died in 1851,

when John K. Lake was an infant. He entered Wesley-

an University at Millersburg, Ky., where he completed

his course and received a diploma in 1871. He gradu-

ated in law from Washington and Lee University, Vir-

ginia, in 1873, and immediately entered upon the practice

of his profession at Cynthiana. He owns 500 acres of

good land, and resides in sight of Cynthiana ; he di-

vides his attention between the farm and the bar.

He has never been an office-seeker, but served

for a time as City Attorney. He was married, April

27th, 1876, to Miss Mattie Broadwell. The union

has produced one child, Dawson. She was born .Jan. 34,

1877. He is a member of the M. E. Church South, and

holds the office of steward. He is a prominent member of

the Masonic Fraternity, and has taken the Commandery
Degree. He holds the office of Grand Sword Bearer to

the Grand Commandery of Kentucky. Mr. Lake adheres

to the tenets of the Democratic faith in polit cs.

W. T. LAFFBRTY, lawyer ; P. O. Cynthiana. This

promising young man was born March 1, 1856, in Harri-

son County. His father, John A. LafFerty, a native of the

county, served as sheriff for six years, besides filling nu-

merous positions of minor importance. His wife the mother

of our subject, was Frances E., daughter of John Henry,

of Harrison. His father, .James Laff.rty, was a Pennsyl-

vanian, and came to the Virgin State of Kentucky about

the year 1802. W. T. LafFerty, after attending the com-

mon schools of the county, entered the A. & M. College

of Kentucky University at Lexington, where he pursued

his studies for a couple of years. His course through col-

lege was marked by plodding industry, and a determina-

tion to make his mark in the world. Returning from

Lexington to Cynthiana, he began reading law with A.

H. & J. Q. Ward. By dint of hard study he was enabled

to pass an examination, and was admitted to the bar,

Dec. 1, 1879. He has now a growing practice, and has

been honored by the Democratic party with the nomina-

tion for County Attorney. He is a member of the Chris-

tain Church and is regarded as a model young man.

REV. RANSOM LANCASTER, minister, M. E.

Church; P. 0. Oddville; was born in Mailisou County,

Ky., April 15, 1818; son of Litfleton and Nancy (Hays)

Lancaster; he a native of Spartansburg, S. C; born in

1794; a farmer by occupation, who came to Kentucky
with his father, Jeremiah Lancaster, in 1798, and died in

1838; she, born in Madison County, Ky., daughter of

Solomon and Nancy Hays; they (Littleton and Nancv)
had 11 children. Our subject received his education in

the common schools of Daviess County, Ky., and began
preaching the Gospel at the age of 31 years, which he has
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since continued, as a minister of the Methodist Church.

He was admitted to the Kentucky Conference in 1843, and

has been stationed in Virginia and Kentucky ever since
;

was Presiding Elder of the Greenbriar District for three

years; on the Falmouth Circuit two years, and at present

is on the Oddville Circuit. Mr. Lancaster was married

in Scioto County, Ohio, May 13, 1845, to Miss Lucy

White Hard, born July 19, 1818; daughter of Jonathan

and Sophronia (White) Hard; he, born in Vermont, in

1791; she, In New Hampshire, in 1798. Five children

have been born to Mr. Lancaster, one of whom, Wm.
Wirt, died at the age of one year; those living are: Wes-

ley A., Edgar B,, Adelaide V., Mary E. He is the owner

of 81 acres of fine land, which lie works himself, his place

being called " Sleepy Hollow." He is a Knight Templar

and a Democrat.

JOSEPH LAKE, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana ; was born in

Pendleton County, Ky., April 13, 1827, son of Joseph

and Mary A. (Smith) Lake, both natives of Scott County,

Ky.; he,' dying in 18;i9, and she in 1843 ; they having

had six children. Mr Lake after receiving an education

in the schools of his native county, continued farming, to

which occupation he was reared, and has continued the

same ever since, owning a farm of forty-one acres of ex-

cellent land. He was a soldier in the Mexican War, and

has filled the position of Justice of the Peace in Pendle-

ton, and is at present (Feb. 14, 1881,) a candidate for the

same position. Dec. 22, 1853, he was married in Harris-

on County, to Miss Hannah A. King, born in 1833, in

Harrison, daughter of George and Sally B. (Garrett)

King ; he, a native of Culpepper County, Va., who came

to Kentucky in 1809, dying in 1874, aged 65 years
; she,

a native of Harrison County, and now living in Cynthi-

ana. In 1865, Mrs. Lake died, having borne her husband

seven children, five of whom are now living, viz.: Sally

G., Felix, Carrie B., Joseph W. and John T. July 25,

1872, Mr. Lake married Josephine King, born April 12,

1838, daughter of John and Mary (Rankin) Keller, by

whom he had two children, Harry H. and Keller. The

father of the present Mrs. Lake, came to Harrison County

in 1809, and settled on what is now known as the Odd-

ville Pike. Self and wife are members of the Methodist

Church, and he is an A. F. & A. M., and a Democrat.

MATTHIAS LAIR, Sr., farmer; P. O. Lair's Station;

is a native of Harrison County, and son of Charles and

Sallie (Anderson) Lair. He was born Sep. 5, 1813. He

lived his earlier life with his parents, receiving his edu-

cation from the common schools of his native county,

and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In

1835 he married Roanna Lair, a native of Harrison Coun-

ty, and daughter of Matthias C. Lair. She has borne

him eleven children, eight of whom are now living, viz :

Charles F., John H., M. L., Matthias, Franklin P., Sally,

Roanna, and Joseph. He is the owner of 122 acres of

choice land, called " Locust Hill," upon which he raises

all the principal crops and all kinds of stock. He is

a member of the Grangers' Lodge, No. 154, at Cynthiana.

He has held the office of Justice of the Peace for four years,

and has been a school trustee for about thirty years. He
is a Democrat. Mr. Lair is a man of good ability and

knowledge, and is most respected by his neighbors,

having taken a great interest in the welfare of his coun-

try as well as that of his fellow men.

JOHN M. LAIR, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; is a

native of Harrison County, Ky., son of Matthias C. and

Jane (Anderson) Lair. He was born on South Licking,

near Lair's Station, Oct. 7, 1830. His grandparents

John A. and Sarah (Custard) Lair, were natives of

Virginia, they emigrated to Kentucky in 1791, and

settled in Harrison County at Houston's Fort. His

father was a native of Harrison County, and during

his life followed the occupation of farmer ; he died in

1860, aged sixty years; he was a Democrat. His mother

was a native of Harrison County, and daughter of

William and Elizabeth (Miller) Anderson ; she was a

member of the Methodist Church ; she died in 1868,

aged eighty-three years. .John M., the subject of this

sketch, received his education from the common schools

of his native county; at the age of eighteen, on account

of his father's failing health, he became the manager of

his farm. In 1869 he bought the old homestead farm,

and remained on the same until 1876, when he sold it

and bought the farm upon which he now resides, of

George Redmon, having 167 acres of choice land, situa-

ted one mile from Cynthiana, on the Cynthiana and Lair's

Station Pike, and is called " Sunnyside." He has been

quite an extensive stock raiser of cattle, mules, sheep,

and hogs. He was married in 1866 to Miss Mary

S. Grimes, daughter of David and Zerilda (Hedges)

Grimes. She has borne him two children; one of whom
is living : Zerilda A. His wife died in 1879, aged

eighty-four years. She was a member of the Christian

Church at Leesburg, Harrison Co. He is a Democrat

and a member of the Grangers' Lodge at Cynthiana.

JOHN LAIR, farmer; P. O. Lair's Station; native of

Harrison County, and son of Charles and Sallie (And r-

son) Lair. He was born in 1825. His father was a na-

tive of Virginia, and son of Matthias and Sallie (Rush)

Lair. He received his education from the common
schools in Virginia. In 1791 he emigrated with his pa-
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rents to Harrison County, Ky. One year after their ar-

rival in Kentucky his father died, leaving the burden of

the family upon him. During his lifetime he followed

the occupation of farming and also carried on a distill-

ing business. He died in 1860, aged 86 years. His wife

and mother of our subject, was a native of Harrison

County, Ky., and daughter of Wm. Anderson; she was

born in 1781 and died in 1860, aged seventy-nine years.

They were the parents of twelve children, living to ar-

rive at man and womanhood. John received his educa-

tion in his native county, living with his parents to the

time of their death, and is now still residing upon the

old homestead. In 1850 he married Emily Redmon, a

native of Clark County, Ky., and daughter of Robert

Redmon. She died in October, 1854, aged twenty-eight

years. By this union they had two children, one of

whom is now living—Robert Wm. She was a member
of the Baptist Church. He was married a second time,

to Miss Maria S. Varnon, a daughter of Benjamin Var-

non, and a native of Bourbon County, Ky., near Millers-

burg. She has borne him four children, two of whom
are now living: Sarah E. and Laura, both living at home.

His family are members of the Methodist Church at Cyn-

thiana. He is the owner of 740 acres of choice land

called " Evergreen Valley." Upon his farm he makes

the raising and breeding of short horn cattle a specialty.

He is a member of the Grangers' Lodge No. 154 at Cyn-

thiana. He is a Democrat.

WILLIAM L. LOWRY, deceased ; was born in

Harrison County, April 17, 1837, and died March

28, 1877. His father, William Lowry, was born in

South Carolina, and died July 4, 1869. His mother

was Rebecca Stevenson, who was born Feb. 19, 1773.

William T/. Lowry was educated in Harrison County,

and began life with farming. He was married in Harris-

on County, Jan. 4, 1871, to Elizabeth Bassett, who was

born Aug. 6, 1829. She is the daughter of Jonathan

Bassett, who was born in 1801, and Elizabeth Disher,

who was born Deo. 13, 1803. He was twice married, and

by first wife he had lour children, viz.: William E., Kate,

Anna and Scott. His surviving wife is a member of the

Baptist Church, and she has a farm of 370 acres of land,

four miles from Cynthiana on Connersviile Pike, called

" Hollow Spring." Mr. L. was in politics a Republi-

can.

HON. T. J. MEGIBBEN, capitalist, P. 0. Cynthiana,

whose portrait and a view of whose residence and dis-

tillery appears in this history, is undoubtedly the most

public-spirited citizen that ever figured in the history

of Harrison County. Kentucky does not present a more

striking exemplification of the old maxim, " Industry

brings its own reward, " than in the life of this gentle-

man, who, by his own efforts has become the most promi-

nent farmer, distiller, thoroughbred stock breeder, etc.,

of Harrison County, and indeed, among the first of Cen-

tral Kentucky. To follow this remarkable man from his

first venture in business upon his own resources, step by

step, along his very successful career, to the present

time (1882) will certainly be full of interest, to the many

enterprising and ambitious young men of the present

generation. He was born March 23, 1831, in Clermont

County, O. His father, William Megibben, was a native

of Pennsylvania, and was born on June 4, 1808, near

Brownsville. Early in life he moved to Clermont Coun-

ty, O.; engaged in farming, and continued the same un-

til his death, which occurred July 1, 1845. He was mar-

ried in Clermont County, to Miss Emily Galvin,. who

was born May 26, 1811, and died Nov. 5, 1857. There

were born to them five sons:. Thomas J., (our subject),

William Jr., John W., Jeremiah and James K., and

three daughters: Martha, Elizabeth, and Eliza J. At an

early age!, the subject of this biography was found

among the pupils of the common schools of Neville, O.,

where he remained until sixteen years old, his attention

then being turned to the more difficult pursuit of mak-

ing his own living. On leaving school in 1847, he first

engaged as a common hand in a distillery, at Neville,

where he remained about two years. On the 6th of Jan-

uary, 1849, he came to Harrison County, Ky., and began

work for the distilling firm of Findley & Foley, near

Broadwell, his position being assistant chief distiller.

After spending one year in this capacity, he took

charge of the establishment as chief distiller, and

operated it for the proprietor until about 1853. In

1854 Mr. Megibben engaged in agricultural pursuits.

This year has since been remembered as the "dry year,''

and on account of the failure of crops there was no distil-

ling done in Harrison County that season. In the Fall

of 1855, in connection with J. L. Shawhan and James

Snell, he leased what was then known as the Brannon &
Shawhan distillery, with 75 acres of land attached, for a

term of three years, which time proved very profitable to

the firm, and before the expiration of said lease Mr. Me-

gibben became the purchaser of the farm and distillery,

and all the appurtenances thereunto belonging, and from

that time to the present has been running the same suc-

cessfully. In 1859 he bought the farm upon which he

now resides, containing about two hundred acres, with

comfortable improvements, and has since added to it

from year to year, until now he owns 2,800 acres; being
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the largest land owner in Harrison County. Diiferent

from most of our land kings, he usually cultivates and

grazes all his lands himself. While he has added to his

possessions in real estate, Mr. Megibben has also gradu-

ally taken a prominent stand as a breeder of fine stock.

He purchased his first short-horns in 1868, and from that

time to the present he has been one of the most success-

ful breeders in the State. Among the most noted ani-

mals purchased by him may be mentioned the " 10th

Earl of Oxford," of Gov. Cornell, of New York, for $10,-

000; " Second Duke of Oneida," at New York Mills sale,

at a cost of $13,000; and at the same sale, he and Mr. E.

G. Bedford, of Bourbon County, bought in partnership

the two-year-old heifer " 4th Ductess of Oneida," at the

enormous price of $25,000. Besides these, he has bought

quite a number from the most celebrated families, at a

cost ranging from $3,000 to $5,000 per head. His herd

now numbers 100 head, selected from the best families

in the country, and has the reputation of being one of

the finest herds in the United States. In 1872 he pur-

chased his first thoroughbred horse, since which time he has

been running and breeding with moderate success. He
now owns 50 head of this class of horses, besides about

100 head of trotters and roadsters. In Cotswold and

South Down sheep Mr. Megibben also ranks among the

leading breeders. He made his first importation of Cots-

wolds in 1854. His interest in breeding has led him to

take an active part in the different associations pertaining

to the development of these interests. He has been

President of the Harrison County Agricultural and Me-

chanical Association for the past ten years. He has also

been Presiden t of the Kentucky Trotting Horse Breeders'

Association, of Lexington, Kentucky, since its organiza-

tion in 1873. Strongly in favor of gravel roads, he agi-

tated this question, and invested in one year $10,000 in

turnpike building. While growing in prominence as a

breeder of fine stock, he has- also become one of

the most liberal and enterprising distillers of the

State, and now owns in whole or in part, and is

operating six" distilleries, among which is the fa-

mous Edgewater distillery, selected as an illustra-

tion for this history. He has at present about 12,000

barrels of whisky on hand. With such a magnitude of

business on hand, it would seem there was but little time

for him to devote to the political issues of the day, yet,

for the past ten or twelve years, his name has been fam-

iliar to the people of Kentucky, as a man possessing un-

usual ability and tact as a politician. He represented

Harrison County in the House of Representatives in the

session of 1871-"72 and 1872-'73, and by being always

vigilant and watchful, regarding the best interests of his

constituency, and singularly prompt in devising measures

best adapted to their wants, he was very justly honored

with a re-election to the same position in the session of

1875-'76 and 1876-'77. In 1879, he was elected to the

State Senate, and served during the sessions of 1879-'80

and 1881-'82, and is at the present time a member of that

honorable body. So extensive is the business of Mr.

Megibben, and so vast his resources, that he has extend-

ed the trade of his liquors to all parts of the United

States, and even largely to Europe ; and has become the

most widely known influential distiller and short-horn

breeder, who has yet lived in Central Kentucky. His

liberality is by no means an uncommon subject of discus-

sion. Those interested in the cause of religion and edu-

cation m Harrison County and vicinity, are largely in-

debted to his generosity. The poor and needy find no

cause for complaint when applying to him. Those, how-

ever, who are probably most largely the recipients of his

favors, are that class of honest young men who may apply

to him for assistance when struggling to establish them-

selves in business. Such men as Mr. Megibben will nat-

urally be one of the marked features of any community,

and his vast business transactions and great success have

given him additional weight and distinction. He has al-

ways been a man of fine personal and business habits,

with a high sense of social and business integrity. His

great fortune is the legitimate result of uncommon busi-

ness ability and judgment. His whole career presents

one -of the finest instances of a successful self made man,

any where to be found in the history of the State. Mr.

Megibben was married in Harrison County, June 23,

1853, to Miss Elizabeth J., daughter of Simon and Nancy
(Brown) David ; the former born in Harrison County in

1811, and died November, 1849 ; eight children have

been born to them, four sons, James W., John T., Perry

R. and David C, and four daughters, Mary L., wife of E.

W. Bramble ; Mattie J., wife of J. M. Kimbrough ; Nan-

nie W. and Birdella. Mrs. Megibben is a lady of most

exemplary character, pleasing address, and good judg-

ment, and weU worthy to be the life companion of one

who is justly entitled to the good will and wishes of all

those who know him—the Hon. Thomas J. Megibben.

JOHN W. MUSSELMAN, farmer, trader and whole-

sale liquor dealer; P. O. Cynthiana, was born in Harri-

son County, Oct. 2, 1838; son of William and Martha

(White) Musselman; he, born in Harrison County, Ky.,

in 1797, a farmer, and dying Feb. 9, 1852; she, born in

Daviess County in 1801, dying July 31, 1853; they had

three children, J. W. being the youngest. Our subject
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began life as a farmer, which occupation he is engaged in

at present, beside dealing in liquor and trading. He
was married March 14, 1861, to Mary Rowland, born in

Harrison, Jan. 10, 184:3, daughter of Harvey and Matilda

(Dills) Rowland, and from which union have resulted

three children: William, Ettie and Maud. Himself and

wife are members of the Christian Church, and he is a

Democrat.

CAPTAIN W. 0. MUSSELMAN, miller and Stamp
deputy ; P. 0. Cynthiana ; was born near Rutland,

Harrison Co., Jan. 29, 1839 ; son of James and Eleanor

(Stewart) Musselman; he, born in Harrison County, in

1799, a farmer, and dying in 1872 ; she, a native of this

county, and dying in 1851. Captain Musselman received

an education in the schools of his native county, and

taught school and merchandised for some time, but

since the war has been engaged in the Revenue service.

In 1866 he ran on the Republican legislative ticket, but

was defeated, as his party was in the minority, although

running ahead of his ticket ; General Green Clay Smith

being his competitor. He enlisted in the Union Army
on Oct. 9, 1861, as a private, and on the organization of

his company was elected first lieutenant; was afterwards

promoted to the captaincy of another company, and

served throughout the war, participating in several hot

engagements, among which may be mentioned Shiloh

Perryville, Wilson's Cross Roads, Atlanta Campaign,

serving on staff duty with General Strickland, and fight-

ing from Chattanooga to the sea ; was captured at

Lebanon and paroled. The Captain is one of the firm

who purchased in January, 1882, the Ijioking Valley

Mills, and are now running the same. Nov. 28, 1868, he

married Kittie Sallie, born in .Tessaraine County, Oct. 7,

1840, daughter of Jacob Price; from which union there

have born two children : Sidney Forrest and Helen.

Captain Musselman and wife are members of the

Baptist (Missionary) Church and he is a Republican.

B. F. MARTIN, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; was born

in tlarrison County, July 20, 1835, son of James H. and

Mary (Vanderen) Martin; he, born Aug. 31, 1803, a farm-

er, and dying in July, 1880; she, a native of this county,

now dead. They had four sons and two daughters. Our
subject received his education at Cynthiana and began

life as a farmer, in which business he has continued in

addition to that of trader. Mdy 9, 1871, he married

Mary E. Victor, born in September, 1839, daughter of

James I. and Margaret B. (Rutter) Victor, which union

has been productive of two daughters: Rillie Lee, and

Flora Rutter. Se'f and wife are members of the Chris-

tian Church, and he is a Democrat.

WM. H. MARTIN, M. D„ farmer; P. O. Poindexter;

was born at Robertson's Station, Harrison' County, Ky.,

April 25, 1830; son of William and Catharine (Perrin)

Martin. He, a native of Maryland, a carpenter and

farmer, dying in 1831; she, born in Harrison County,

and dying in 1865. Our subject, after receiving the ed-

ucation afforded by the schools of his native county,

took a course in Transylvania College, Lexington, and

then a course at Jefferson Medical College, Philadelphia,

from which institution he graduated in 1851, and imme-

diately began the practice of his profession; was at

Claysville in 1857; at Cynthiana in 1858; Robertson's

Station in 1868; when he moved to Poindexter, where

he has remained. In 1853 the Doctor married Mary T.

Whitehead, who died in 1855. In 1867 he married Jen-

nie Garnett, daughter of Thomas T. Garnett, a native of

Virginia. The following children have been born to

Dr. Martin: Harry, Charley, Josephus, and Marian D.

He has a farm of 425 acres of land, upon which he has

erected a fine brick house, after his own designs. He
has paid considerable attention to the breeding of short-

horns. Self, wife and family are members of the Baptist

Church, and he is a Mason and a Democrat.

F. M. MILLER, dentist; P. 0. Cynthiana. Rev. Alex.

Miller, a Presbyterian minister, was born in Antrim, Ire-

land; educated at Edinburgh, Scotland; graduate. He
emigrated and settled in Virginia, and was one of the

].ioneers of the Presbyterian church in this country. He
was lirought to a premature death by being thrown from

his horse. His son JohnM., was born in 1749, in Rock-
ingham County, Va.; moved to Kentucky in about 1807

or, 8. He served 3 years as an officer of the Militia vs.

the British. He married Margaret Hicklin, of Augusta
County, Va., who was of English descent- The result of

this union was eight sons and two daughters. The third

son. Dr. Alex. Miller, was born on the 26th of Novem-
ber, 1782, in Augusta County, Va. He studied medi-

cine with Dr. P. Harrison of Virginia. He left his

home in Virginia for Kentucky, on April 3, 1806, and
opened an office in Richmond, May 15, same year. He
was married Oct. 13, 1807, to Elizabeth, only child of

Col. James Barnett, an officer of the American army in

the war of the Revolution. (See other part of sketch in

1811. After his marriage he was induced by his wife's

parents, to sell out his property in Richmond, and pur-

chased a farm on Silver Creek, where he farmed and
practised his profession for many years. By this mar-
riage there were four sons and one daughter. The young-

est son. Dr. Fayette M. Miller was born, 16th June, 1823,

on Silver Creek. He studied medicine with Drs. Walk-

^< If,
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er & Scott, of Richmond, Ky., and graduated at the

Medical Department, of the old Tiansylvania College, at

Lexington, Kentucky, in 18^6, and afterwards took a

course, and graduated the following year at the Univer-

sity of Pennsylvania, at Philadelphia. He returned to

Richmond and began the practice of his profession in

1848, where he continued about 6 years, and in 1854 he

purchased a farm in Jackson County, near Independence,

Mo., where he immediately moved and continued his

practice in connection with his farm, till the civil war

broke out. He was among the first to enlist in the Con-

federate cause, under Capt. Holloway, a former citizen

of Kentucky, and graduate of West Point. He died of

typhoid fever in the army of Missouri, on April 29,

1863, in his 39th year. He was married on March 31,

1846, to Carrie W. Embry; she was born Deo. 26, 1826,

in Richmond, Ky. By this marriage there were three

sons and two daughters, our subject is the youngest son.

After the death of Dr. Miller, his wife with her five chil-

dren sold their farm, and in October, 1863, again return-

ed to Kentucky, and settled in Richmond, where Mrs.

Miller died on March, 1878, in the same room where she

was born and married. Her father Talton Embry, emi-

igrated from Raleigh, N. C, in Sept. 1781, to Richmond,

Ky., and was one of the companions of Daniel Boone.

Oar subject was born near Independence, Mo., Nov. 27,

1856; came to Richmond, Ky., in 1863; was educated

at Richmond High School under Profs. Chenault and

Breck; after, engaged in the drug business at Richmond,

for several years; abandoned that and studied dentistry,

and graduated at Pennsylvania College, Philadelphia,

Feb., 1880, and located at Cynthiana, the 19th of April,

1880, where he still practices his profession and enjoys

the confidence and respect of his numerous acquaintances

and friends in the county. Col. James Barnett, was one

of the first magistrates of Madison County, in 1786, and

in charge of the spies in 1784-5; he had been a Cap-

tain in the revolutionary war, in the Virginia line, on

the continental establishment, and was Colonel of one of

three regiments, under Gen. Geo. Rogers Clark, on his

last expedition vs. the Indians, which proved abortive.

He was also County Lieut, under the State of Virginia.

He with Col. John Miller, Col. John Snoddy and one Mr.

Adams, held the first court ever held in Madison County,

represented the County in Legislature, and built the first

mill in the County, and died the 27th of August, 1835,

aged 87 years.

J. P. MADISON, physician; P. 0. Cynthiana-; was

born near Cynthiana, Feb. 16, 1821 ; son of Robert

and Rachel (Hayden) Madison; he, born in 1795, in Vir-

ginia, a farmer, was in the war of 1812, came to Ken-

tucky and died in 1800; she, born in Harrison County,

Ky., in 1797, and died in 1840; they had ten children.

Our subject received hisprimary education principally in

Harrison, Ky., after taking a medical course in Botanico-

Medioal College of Ohio, at Cincinnati, graduating from

that institution, Feb. 24, 1843. He began the practice of

his profession shortly after his graduation, in Elmira, Mis-

souri, where he remained until 1848, when he retu.ned

to Kentucky, and practiced in Harrison County, locating

in Cynthiana in 1863. In 1845, in Elmira, Missouri, he

married Miss Eveline Hayden, who was born in 1830,

and died in 1803, having borne her husband four chil-

dren, three of whom are living: John R., Maude and

Willie N. He married, as his second wife, Miss Helen

McShane, born in 1845, a native of Ohio.

LOUIS M. MARTIN, attorney; P. O. Cynthiana.

The ancesters of this gentleman on the maternal side

came from Maryland. His grandfather, William Martin,

reached Harrison County at an early day, and settled

down to farming. His father, M. D. Martin, is also a

substantial and reliable farmer who represented the

county in the Legislature in 1808-9. His mother, Zeril-

da Sellers, daughter of David Sellers, was born and rais-

ed in the county. Louis M. Martin received his educa-

tion in the Harrison Academy, and graduated from the

graded school of the city in 1873. He then entered the

law school of Kentucky University from which he re-

ceived a diploma in 1874. He began the practice of his

chosen profession in Cynthiana soon after his graduation,

and now has a large and growing practice. He is a

member of the Christian Church, and a Democrat in pol-

itics. Mr. Martin is of a modest and retiring disposition,

but studious and energetic, and possessing the confidence

and esteem of the intelligent and appreciative commun-

ity in which he resides; it is safe to predict for him a fu-

ture marked by much that will be gratifying to his

friends.

J. H. McILVAIN, farmer and stock raiser; P. O. Cyn-

thiana; was born in Harrison County, Ky., Sept. 9, 1812;

son of Samuel and Elizabeth (Nesbett) Mcllvain; he, born

in Viro-inia in 1780, a farmer by occupation, and dying

in 1852 ; his wife having preceded him in 1839. They

had five children. After concluding his education in the

common schools of his native county, our subject learned

the trade of cabinet-making, which he followed for many

years, but since 1865 has given his attention to farming,

making a specialty of stock raising. His farm consists

of ninety-nine acres of land. In 1834 he married

Rebecca Humble, of Harrison County ; born in July,
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1814, daughter of Esquire and Katie (Bean) Humble'

Mrs. Mcllvain dying, Mr. Mcllvain married in 1847

Lucinda Buzzard; born in 1811, and who died in 1871.

In 1873 he married Lizzie Walter ; born in 1829, in

Bracken County, Ky. Six children have been born to

Mr. Mcllvain, three of whom are living : Sarah E. Mar-

tin, Lucy A. Dunn, and John W.; the two first by the

first wife, and the last by the second. Himself and wil'e

are members of the Methodist Church at Mount Zion,

and he is an A. P. & A. M., and a Democrat.

J. A. McKEE, farmer and fruit raiser ; P. O. Cynthi-

ana; was born in Bourbon County, Ky., in May 1829;

son of John and Eliza (Wilson) McKee. He, a native of

Bourbon County, Ky., born Feb. 6, 1804; she, born in

Fayette County, March 8, 1807. Mr. McKee, after re-

ceiving a primary education at the schools of his native

county, took a three years' course at College Hill near

Cincinnati, graduating in 1852, when he commenced
farming, making that occupation, in connection with

fruit raising, the business of his life. In fact, fruit rais-

ing is his specialty, he having upon his choice farm of

200 acres, known as " Cynthiana Nursery," 5,000 peach

and 1,000 apple trees, besides sixteen acres in grapes,

and ten acres in strawberries. His fruit is of the best

varieties, having been selected with extreme care, both

in regard to quality and adaptation to soil and climate.

Mr. McKee has also paid some attention to fine stock

raising, but is now devoting himself, as stated above, al-

most entirely to his nursery business. In 1854, he mar-

ried Lydia .1. Beatty, of Butler County, Ohio, who died

in 1870, aged thirty-six years, leaving three children:

John B., Anna E., and Elwood D. Mrs. McKee was the

daughter of David E. Beatty, an advanced agricultur-

ist of Butler County, Ohio. Mr. McKee, in 1874, mar-

ried Mary R. Butler, daughter of Robert and Paulina

(Findley) Butler, of Fleming County, Ky. Himself and

wife are members of the Presbyterian Church, and he is

a member of the Patrons of Husbandry, of Cynthiana,

having been Secretary of the Grange at the point named.

Is a Democrat.

JOSEPH MARTIN, SR., farmer; P.O. Cynthiana;

was born in Harrison County, Sept. 6, 1811, son of Jonah

and Rebecca Martin, both natives of Virginia, and the

parents of eight children. 0-ir subject received a lim-

ited education, after which he went to farming, havincr

been raised to that occupation, and has continued in it

ever since, until at present he owns a farm of 600 acres

of land. In 1834, he married Miss Lucinda Taylor,

born in Harrison County, in 1813, daughter of Tapley

and Lavinia (Duncan) Taylor, natives of Virginia. Oct.

4, 1870, Mrs Martin died, having borne her husband ten

children, eight of whom are living: William F., Lavinia,

Rebecca J., Tapley T., James W., Mary, Sally, Harvey.

Mr. Martin is a Democrat.

WILLIAM MAGEE, deceased; was born in Harrison

County, Ky., Feb. 25, 1812, and died March 33, 1870. He
was a farmer and the son of William Magee, ofVirginia,who

was the father of eleven children. Feb. 39, 1853, Mr. Ma-

gee, our subject, married Miss Margaret Doyle, daughter of

Simon and Eliza Doyle, qf Harrison County, and four

children were born: William S., born Dec. 6, 1853;

Edward L., Jan. 31, 1854; Eliza C, July 8, 1856; John

H., Aug. 5, 1860. Mr. Magee held the position of Magis-

trate for some years, and was a Democrat. Mrs. Magee,

the relict of our subject, received her education at the

Cooper Institute, at Dayton, Ohio. Since the death of

her husband, Mrs. Magee has continued the management
of the farm herself, which is an excellent tract of 200

acres, her place being known as Locust Grove. Her
great grandfather, Edward Doyle, came to Lewis County

at a very early day, and accumulated a very large for-

tune. Her great uncle, John Doyle, was in the Revolu-

tionary war. And died at the age of 116 years. Her
grandfather and grandmother were natives of Harrison

County, and her grandfather was in the Revolution ar3'-

war. Mrs. Magee is a member of the Methodist Church.

Her husband was a Democrat.

JOHN J. McCLINTOCK, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana;

was born July 7, 1826, in Bourbon County, Ky.; son of

Samuel and Elizabeth Martin, a sketch of whose lives,

written by Mrs. Martin, appears in another place in this

section of this work. After receiving his education, our

subject began farming, which he has followed through-

out life. He was married in May, 1866, in Harrison

County, to Nancy Scott, born in Harrison Count}', April

13, 1843, daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth (McShane)
Scott, and four children have been born to them, three of

whom are living, viz.: William T., Effie and Samuel.
Mr. McClintook has a farm of eighty-four acres, and
makes stock raising a speciality. Self and wife are mem-
bers of the Christian Church, and he is a Republican.

JOHN McKEE, retire^ farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana; was
born in Bourbon County, Ky., Feb. 6, 1804, son of John
and Betsey (McClintock) McKee ; he, a native of South
Carolina, born in 1779, came when an infant to Bourbon,
and was the owner of Ruddel's Mills, dying in 1848

;

she, born in Bourbon County in 1783, and dying in 1874.

They had ten children. Our subject received but an
ordinary education, but began when young workino- in

Ruddel's Mills. In 1833 he bought a farm in Harrison
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County, upon which he lived for many years, and in 1875

moved to his residence one mile from Cynthiana, where

he has a farm of 108 acres of land, his place being known

as « Poplar Hill." In 1827 he married Eliza Wilson,

born in Lexington, Ky., March 8, 1807, daughter of

James and Elizabeth Wilson ; he a native of Ireland,

and she of Pennsylvania. Three children were the result

of this marriage, two of whom are living : John A. and

James W. In 1839 Mrs. McKee died,,and in 1841 he

married Nancy Thorn, by whom there has been one

child. Miles S., who is engaged in handling agricultural

implements in Cynthiana, being the largest dealer in that

line in his section. His store is on Main street. Mr.

John McKee has retired from active farm life, but is one

of the leading citizens of the county, as is also his sou.

Miles S. The family are Presbyterians, and Mr. McKee
is a Democrat.

JAMES W. McKEE, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; is

a native of Harrison County, and son of John and Eliza

. (Wilson) McKee. He was born March 36, 1 836, and in

1856 married Miss Jane M.Turuey, a native of Illinois,

and daughter of- William Tuniey, ol' Bourbon County,

Ky. By this union they have had eleven children, ten of

whom are now living, viz.: William T., now living in

B lurbon County ; Eliza W., wife of Joseph A. Thorn, of

Bourbon County ; Chas., Julia, Alice, Lizzie, George,

Frank, .lesse and Turney living at home. His wife died

in 1879, aged thirty-eight years ; she was a member of

the Presbyterian Church at Cynthiana. Mr. McKee at-

tended the common schools of Bourbon County until he

was seventeen years of age, when he attended the Farm-

ers' College on College Hill, near Cincinnati, Ohio, re-

maining there three years. In 1856 Jie began farming

and trading, which he has since followed, now having 580

acres of land upon which he makes the breeding and

raising of sheep and mules a speciality. Hs is a member

of the Presbyterian Church at Cynthiana. He is a Demo-

crat.

DANIEL McSHANE, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana; is a

son of Daniel and Nancy (Talbert) McShane; his father

was a native of New Jersey, and the son of Edward and

Catharine (Dunham) McShane, who emigrated to Vir-

ginia when Daniel was ten years of age, where he remain-

ed with his parents until he was seventeen years old,

when he removed to Harrison County, Ky., in the year

1798, when he commenced business for himself by fol-

lowing the occupation of farming, continuing the same

to the time of his death, which occurred in 1856. In

about the year 1803 he was married to Miss Nancy

Talbert, a native of Virginia, who bore him six children.

of whom was Daniel, our subject. He was born in

Harrison County, Ky., April 19, 1833, and in 1867

married Miss Mary Martin, a native of Harrison County,

and daughter of Edmond and Elizabeth Martin. By this

union they were blessed with one child—Minnie F., now

living at home. His wife died in 1873, aged twenty-four

years. Mr. McShane has always been a hard working

man, and has succeeded in getting a good property. He
is the owner of 385 acres of choice land. He is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian Church, and is a Democrat.

ELIZABETH MARTIN, P. O. Cynthiana. The

grandfather of Elizabeth Martin, Richard Waits, emigrat-

ed from Pennsylvania to Harrison County, Ky., at an early

date, her father, John Waits, born May, 1778, remained

in Harrison County, Ky.;his father, Richard Waits, and

family moved to the State of Ohio. The grandfather on

her mother's side, Edward McShane, emigrated from

Virginia to Harrison County, Ky., 1797 or '98, and died

a few months after; he had bought land with a small im-

provement on it, as was common in that day, small im-

provements and large scopes of timberland between.

This is the same farm her father purchased after his mar-

riage with Mary McShane. It lies five miles east of Cyn-

thiana on the head waters of Indian Creek. Her mother

was born 1778, and married Sept. 27, 1798. Her father

was a farmer, a man of good-habits, good principles, and

good mind ; was a great reader, never better satisfied

than when he had a book in his hand and a pipe in his

mouth; he filled the Magistrate's place over tv?enty years,

which entitled him to a term of Sheriffship according to

the laws of that day; this he had filled by Deputy, as he

did not wish to ride ;' he had never studied surveying, but

to show his ingenuity, he made a compass and chain all

complete, and surveyed with them to the satisfaction of

those who employed him ; they had twelve children, five

of them still living, three sons, Richard Watts, born 1801

;

Edward Waits, born 1810; Charles Waits, born October,

1830; all are farmers and own farms and are men in good

standing, membersof the Christian Church. Mrs. Martin

has one sister living in Indiana, Catharine Stewart, born

Nov. 16, 1804, member of the Christian Church ; her

mother was a pious, good and industrious woman, did

much for the comfort of her family and others, and had

great sympathy for the poor and afflicted. They among

many other good things, taught their children the worth

of truthfulness and honesty, and they did not depart much

from it through life. Her father remained on the farm

where he first settled, till death; died 1855. Her mother

died in 1850, both buried in the church yard at the Indian

Creek Church. Elizabeth Martin grew up with the rest

i) \
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of the family, and was educated in the common schools.

She recollects the cardingof cotton and wool on band cards,

for clothing; this was her first spinning. Her grandmother

carded cotton and she spun. She came through the bulk

of sugar making times; this was a sweet season with

many bitters attached to it, but when she looks back and

think of the children gathered around a sugar kettle, with

a little wooden paddle in one hand and a cup in the other,

making wax balls and eating them, looking like they

never would want anything more to make them happy.

She thinks she would like to be there again. Time

rolled on and brought her to the year 1835; at this time

she was married to Samuel McClintock, in Bourbon

County, near Paris, and remained in Bourbon County till

his death, .July 14, 1837 ; he learned the gunsmith trade

in Paris, followed it till his death ; he left a son, John

James McClintock, born in Bourbon County, 1826, raised

and remains in Harrison County. 1833, she was married

to Edmund Martin, born in Maryland. 1745, emigrated

with his father, Joseph Martin, at an early date to Har-

rison County, Ky.; he settled on the head waters of Indian

Creek, four miles east of Cynthiana, purchased more

land joining, and remained on the same farm till death;

he was a farmer, himself and wife attached themselves to

the Christian Church in Cynthiana in 1840; a short time

after there was a church organized at Indian Creek, and

for convenience they moved their membership there.

They had four daughters, Eliza Jane, born Jan. 31, 1835,

and died in 1850 ; her father followed in 1851 ; they

were buried at Indian Church. She remained on the farm

with her three little girls till they grew up and mar-

ried, and all died in their twenty-second year ; Matilda

Ann, born Feb. 37, 1840, married Dr. William C. Gragg,

left a son, Eugene Walter Gragg ; Nancy Elizabeth,

born May 25, 1845, married James H. Waits ; Molly

Kate was born Oct. 31, 1847, married Daniel McShane,

left a daughter, Minnie Frost McShane ; these three

daughters were members of the Christian Church. It is

often said we have lost our friends, but Mrs. Martin

feels like saying, they are not lost but gone before

—that
" Like the last withered rose,

I must stand here alone ;

Until God my life w ill close,

And I betaken home."

She has remained on the farm thirty years since her hus-

band's death, and had it cultivated to make a support for

herself and family. Mrs. Martin says : " Now as I am

writing these lines, I see I have followed my life down

to my eightieth year."

JAMES K. MEGIBBEN, distiller and farmer ; P. O.

Lair's Station; was born in Clermont County, Ohio, May

15, 1844, to Wm. and Emily (Gelvin) McGibben. His

father died when he was but an infant ; was taken care

of and supported by his older brother. In 1854, at the

age often years, he came to Harrison County and began

to work for himself by doing such work as his strength

and age allowed, principally on a farm ; at the age of

nineteen began working in the distillery of John Shaw-

han, and continued the same until 1866, when he mar-

ried and began farming, in partnership with his brother,

T. J. Megibben ; followed the same for about one year,

when he, with his father-in-law, J. L. Shawhan, bought a

distillery in Scott County, near Stamping Ground. In

1868 he sold out his business in Scott County and be-

came a partner in the distillery business with his brother.

In 1868-9 he built the distillery known as the "Excel-

s'or No. 38." He is now the owner of an interest in two

large distilleries, and is building a large distillery and

flouring-mill at Lair's Station; has a farm of about 350 •

acres of the best land of Harrison County, pleasantly

situated at I^air's Station, on the K. C. Railroad and the

Cynthiana and Lair's Station Pike. Upon his farm he

has a fine brick residence, which is spoken of as one

of the finest residences of Harrison County. In

1866 he married Miss Mary E. Shawhan, a native of Harri-

son County. He is a Democrat. lie has been a prom-

inent member of the order of A., P. & A. M. at Cynthi-

ana for a number of years. He is a thorough and ener-

getic business man, always first in any public enter-

prise, and is well worthy of the high esteem in which he

is held.

G. H. PERRIN, retired physician* P. O. Cynthiana;

whose portrait appears in this book, was born near Crab

Orchard, Lincoln County, Ky., Nov. 9, 1794, and is

the son of Josephus and Elizabeth Perrin. They were

the parents of twelve children, of whom the Dr. was

second eldest. His paternal grandfather, Josephus Per-

rin, Sr., removed from Charlotte County, Va., in 1774,

and with his family settled near the Crab Orchard in

Lincoln County, Ky. This was long before the organi-

zation of the State, and during the most perilous times

of the " Dark and Bloody Ground " and while every

male settler was compelled to act in the double capacity

of farmer and soldier. The mother of Dr. Perrin was

also a Perrin ; her father, George Perrin, having been a

farmer in Charlotte County, Va., and in 1784 removed

with his family and settled in Edgefield district. South

Carolina. He raised a family of eight children of whom
the mother of this subject was the eldest daughter. Both
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these Perrins, togethei- with two other of their brothers,

entered variously into the army during the Revolution,

and were soldiers during the entire war for Independ-

ence. The father of Dr. Perrin, Joseph Perrin, Jr., ac-

companied his father and family to their new home in

Kentucky, and, although young, soon became conspic-

uous among the new settlers for his activity and boldness

in aiding to expel the roving bands of Indians who from

time to time made incursions into the new settle-

ments. After the defeat of Gen. Harmer at the battle

of Chillicothe, he aided in raising a company of volun-

teers, and as first lieutenant, marched with his company

to the aid of Gen. St. Clair, and was actively engaged

in the battle that terminated in his inglorious defeat.

Some years after, having married in March, 1799, he re-

moved with his family to Harrison County and located

on the south fork of the Licking river, about eight miles

below the town of Cynthiana. ~He there cleared and

opened a farm, on which he reared a large family, and

where he resided until his death, in his seventy-third

year. He early took an active part in the political' af-

fairs of his State, and for over twenty years served his

country in the Legislature of the commonwealth hav-

ing been repeatedly elected to the Senate and Lower

House, and took an important part in the proceedings.

G. H. Perrin, the subject of this sketch, remained on his

father's farm until his sixteenth year, in the meantime

having the advantages of the common schools of his

neighbourhood. During 1811 and 1812, he attended a

select school in Scott County, under Rev. Thomas Smith.

In 1813 he entered Transylvania University, at Lexing-

ton, in which institute he remained until he completed

his literary, classical, and medical education. In 1814,

while the war with England was still in progress, he left

the university and volunteered for -a six months tour in

the army; joined the 16th regiment, and marched with

it to join the army of the North-West, at that time com-

manded by General McArthur. He was in no general

engagement, but had frequent encounters with the

Indians. The war with England having terminated in

1815, his military life at once came to a close. On

leaving the army, and when receiving an honorable dis-

charge, he was highly complimented by his commander.

General Gratiot, for the efficient manner in which he

had discharged the very onerous duties of such a cam-

paign. In compensation for military service then ren-

dered, he has long been in reception of a pension from

the Government. In the Spring of 1815, he returned to

his home in Kentucky, and not long after he again

returned to Transylvania University, and there remained

until he had completed his medical education, and the

last year of this term he was a private student of the

professor of anatomy of the institution, the justly cele-

brated Benjamin W. Dudley. Late in the fall of 1817,

by the urgent request of his relatives, he began practice

in Edgefield District, S. Car., remaining there in practice

for eight years. At the end of that time, in consequence

of the climate, and his own health having been com-

pletely broken down, he determined to move back to

Harrison County, in which he had been raised, and set-

tled in Cynthiana. For two years he was unable to

engage in the practice, only to a limited extent. As

soon as his health was restored he gradually acquired a

large and lucrative practice, which he retained until

near 1840, when his health again failed. Having, how-

ever, accumulated a competency for life, he abandoned

forever the practice of medicine. In November, 1819,

he was married to Miss Arabella, daughter of Mr. John

Edwards, of Bourbon County. Her paternal grandfather.

Col. John Edwards, upon the organization of the State, was

elected by the Legislature one of the two senators first

sent by the State to the Congress of the United States.

Her maternal grandfather, Colonel James Garrard,

had fortunately become the possessor of a patent that had

been located on 10,000 acres of tlje richest land in Ken-

tucky, and which secured to him a large fortune for life.

He was eight years Governor of Kentucky. With his

wife, who still remains to him, Dr. Perrin has lived a

happy life of over sixty years ; both of them, long years

ago, became members of the Protestant Episcopal church,

and have ever since remained consistent communicants

of the same, and he, by his extensive charities and large

liberality, was among the most efficient members in orig-

inating and placing on a permanent basis the Church of

the Advent, Cynthiana. Having no taste for it, he nev-

er engaged in politics ; was a Whig, and voted with that

party until its dissolution ; in the late wai' between the

Northern and Southern States he sympathized strongly

with the South, and during the war and since, has voted

uniformly with the Democratic party. His first presiden-

tial vote was for James Monroe. Having hitherto led a

very active life, after his retirement from the practice of

medicine,he engaged actively in agricultural pursuits, and

by his untiring energy soon became one of the model

farmers of the county. He took great delight in raising

fine stock, and was among the first farmers to introduce

into Harrison County the highly prized and valuable

short-horn Durham, which he bred extensively, frequent-

ly competing successfully at the different fairs, with the

most approved breeders of Bourbon and Fayette Coun.

-^K
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ties. For twenty years be enjoyed the pleasures of a

farmer's life, and counts those the happiest years of his

life. But, on the close of the war between the North

and South, he, with a large number of Kentuckians, suf-

fered heavy pecuniary losses by the emancipation of the

negroes ; and, being advanced in life, he determined to

bring to a close his agricultural life as a farmer. He con-

sequently sold his splendid farm of nearly 500 acres, ly-

ing adjoining Cynthiana. Not long afterward he pur-

chased a handsome home within the limits of Cynthiana,

where he now resides, highly esteemed by all who know
him as a gentleman and a Christian.

A. PERRIN, lawyer; P. O. Cynthiana; was born Christ-

mas day 1840, in Harrison County, near Robinson Station,

K. 0. R. He is a son of Josephus and N. E. (Baldwin)

Perrin, daughter of Jonah Baldwin, of Springfield, Ohio.

His father is a native of the county, a prosperous farmer,

who still lives to enjoy the confidence of his neighbors,

and the companionship of his faithful wife. The grand-

father of our sketch.was Josephus Perrin. He attended

the common schools of the county, until he had acquired

the rudiments of a common English education, when he

entered the Kentucky Military Institute, from which he

was graduated in the class of 1861. He then taught

school for a year, wheo, the war breaking out, he enlisted

in Col. E. F. Clay's Battalion of Confederate Cavalry,

and was desperately wounded the very next day, at the

battle of Cynthiana, and was confined to his bed until

the close of the war. He read law with W. W. Trimble,

and was admitted to the bar in 1868. He was elected

County Attorney in August, 1870, and re-elected in 1874.

Served as Master Commissioner of the Harrison Circuit

Court for ten years. In October, 1881, Mr. Perrin re-

newed the publication of the Cynthiana Democrat, which

had been suspended, and of which he is now the editor

and proprietor. He was married in 1868, to Miss Mary E.

Perrin, who died June 2, 1875. He is a member of the

Presbyterian church, and stands high in the estimation

of those who know him.

J. W. PECK, banker ; P. O. Cynthiana ; was born

Nov. 7, 1819, in St. Lawrence County, N. Y., and is the

son of Hiram and Wealthy (Kilburn) Peck. Mr. Peck

came to Cynthiana as a school teacher, and subsequently

engaged in the dry goods business. Time proved him to

be a financier of no mean ability, and in the mercantile

and manufacturing business he has been one of Cynthi-

ana's leading spirits. He has engaged in the whole sale

and retail grocery trade ; distilled for six years, and run

a woolen factory and flouring mill, all of which have been

conducive to the general welfare of the public, in the

disbursement of money to employes. Retiring from

active business, Mr. Peck is enjoying the fruits of his in-

dustry and economy.

O. J. POINDEXTER, farmer ; P, O. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., near Poindexter's Station,

July 16, 1817 ; son of James and Martha (Ammon) Poin-

dexter ; he, born in Louisa County, Va., July 6, 1787, a

miller by occupation, who came to Kentucky when six

years of age, with his parents, and died in 1865 ; she^ born

in Bourbon County, May 11, 1789, and died in 1863.

They had seven children After receiving an education

in the schools of his native county, our subject began

clerking in the store of his father at Poindexter Station.

This was in 1832, but in 1836 he commenced the milling

business, which he continued until 1839, when he re-

moved to Missouri and engaged in farming. In 1841 he

returned to Harrison County and again entered the mill-

ing business. In 1848 he purchased the farm upon

which he now resides, having remained there since its

purchase. His farm comprises 300 acres of choice land,

and he makes a specialty of raising tobacco. Poindexter

Station, on the Kentucky Central Railroad, was named
from the family of our subject. Nov. 5, 1857, Mr. Poin-

dexter married Malinda J. Haviland, born Nov. 17, 1828,

in Harrison County, daughter of Robert S. and Mary C.

(Stewart) Haviland, of Harrison, from wliich union there

have been born six children, five of whom are living:

James R., Mattie E., John W., Henry H., and Maggie E.

Self and wife are members of the Methodist Church. He
is a member of the Grangers' Lodge, Mt. Zion, No. 250,

and a Democrat.

FRANK PARKS, farmer and trader; P. O. Cynthiana
;

born in Harrison County, April 8, 1835; his parents were

from Maryland, and died soon afber emigrating to Ken-

tucky. At the age of fifteen he learned the blacksmith's

trade, having had little opportunity to prosecute his educa-

tion. He has been engaged in farming and trading most of

his life, in which business he has been very successful. On
Nov. 14, 1865, he married Mattie, daughter of James and
Jane (Hamilton) Carroll ; the former of Scott and the

latter of Fayette County. Five children have been born

to them, two lovely little girls, of whom survive, Minnie,

born Aug. 20, 1868, and Jennie, born Feb. 3, 1871. Mr.

Parks is a Democrat in politics. He is a mem-
ber of the Cynthiana Commandery of Knight Tem-
plars. Of late he is paying considerable attention to the

breeding of short-horn cattle. Mr. Parks is in commun-
ion with the Christian Church at Cynthiana. He served

during the late war in the 1st Ky. Mounted Riflemen,

i> "V
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GEORGE REDMON, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana; was

born on the old homestead of the family, March 29, 1816,

son of (Charles and Mary (Reibolt) Redmoii ; he, born

above Pittsburg in 1779, and emigrated with his

parents to Bourbon County, and learned the sad-

dler's trade at Millersburg. Settled oif South Fork

of the Licking, and afterward moved to the farm,

one and a half miles from Cynthiana, where he

died ; his wife was a native of Lexington, born about

1783, and died in 1856 ; they were the parents of eight

children. Our subject was in the clerk's oiSoe for eigh-

teen months, with Samuel Endicott, Clerk of the County,

but has followed farming since 1870, at present owning

183 acres of land, for which he gave $18,300 cash, a nice

residence in Cynthiana, and a vacant lot that cost $4,000.

In 1870, he was elected Police Judge of Cynthiana for

four years, which position he filled creditably, and

to the entire satisfaction of his fellow citizens.

Previous to his removal to his magnificent farm,

Mr. Redmon had sold goods in Cynthiana for about eight

years. Nov. 14, 1839, he married Eliza Lair, bom Oct.

12, 1820, daughter of Charles Lair, a native of Rocking-

ham County, Va., by which union there were two daugh-

ters, one of whom died in 1859, and the other married

Joseph Cosby. Mrs. Redmon dying in 1847. Mr. Red-

mon married, Jan. 2, 1855, Mrs. Ruth T. McGee, danghter

of Henry and Eliza (Miller) Warfield, who died in 1875,

having borne one child, which died in infancy. March

13, 1877, he marrred Miss Mattie E. Martin, daughter of

William and Delilah J. (Brannock) Martin, of Harrison

County. Mrs. Redmon is a member of the Methodist

Church. Mr. Redmon was a Union man during the war,

and he is a Republican.

CAPTAIN B. T. RIGGS, miller and grain dealer
;

P. O. Cynthiana; was born in Paris, Feb. 25, 1839, son

of Benjamin M. and Agnes W. (Wilson) Riggs; he born

in Kentucky, Jan. 6, 1799, and dying in 1839 ; she born

in Falmouth, Jan. 14, 1801 and dying in 1874; they had

three sons and three daughters. Our subject was edu-

cated in Falmouth and was engaged in clerking from

1858 till 1861, when he enlisted in the Federal Army as

a private, from which he was promoted to a second

lieutenancy, then to first lieutenancy, and in 1863 to a

captaincy; the last two months of service being spent on

the staff of General Absalom Baird. Captain Riggs

participated in several warm engagements, among which

may be mentioned Richmond, Ky., Hoover's Gap, and

Chickamauga ; was taken prisoner and confined in

Libby Prison seven months, and other prisons, from

which he escaped and gained the Federal lines at

Savannah, after many hardships and much weary night

travel. From 1869 to December, 1881, he was engaged
in revenue service, having been previously engaged in

merchandising in Williamstowa for about four years
;

was also member of the Council in Williamstown.

April 26, 1866, he was married to Kate M. Kerr; born in

Fayette County, Ky., Oct. 31, 1840 ; daughter of John

and Rachel (Fry) Kerr, both of whom are dead. Two
children have been born to Captain Riggs : Edna W. and

Kerr Tunis. Himself and wife are Presbyterians, and

he is an I. O. O. F., A. Y. & M., and a Republican.

MILTON J. RANKIN ; P. O. Cynthiana ; was bom
in Harrison County, Ky., July 7, 1835 ; son of Samuel

and Miiry , Hamilton) llmikin; he, born in this county,

Dec. 4, 179'i, a fanner and trader by occupation, and

dying in May, 1868; she, also bora in this county, Dec.

2, 1793, and dying March 15, 1857; they had six children.

Our subject married in Harrison County, March 1, 1853,

MissLydia A. Veach, born March 19, 1833 ; daughter of

David and Mary (Broadwell) Veach ; he born Dec. 9j

1792; she, May 22, 1799, all of this county.

JOHN W. RBNAKER, druggist ; P. O. Cynthiana
;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., August 23, 1844, son

of William B. and Martha (Bennett) Ronaker ; he, a

farmer, born in Harrison County, and dying in Cynthi-

ana in 1881, aged 58 years ; she, also of Harrison County
;

they had seven children. Our subject received his edu-

cation at Millersburg College, Ky.; was raised a farmer,

but left that occupation and commenced the drug bus-

iness in 1867. May 14, 1867, Mr. Renaker married Miss

Kate Houston, daughter of Wesley and Matilda Houston,

of Cynthiana, and from which union there have been

born four children, only one of whom is now living

—

Houston, bom August 10, 1878. Mr. Renaker is one of

the firm of Renaker Bros., the leading druggists of Cyn-

thiana, located on Main street. He and wife are mem-

bers of the M. E. Church, South.

WILLIAM T. REDMON, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana;

is a native of Harrison County, and son of Charles and

Mary (Rybolt) Redmon ; he was born June 17, 1805

His father was a native of Pennsylvania, and brought to

Bourbon Counry, Ky., by his parents when he was quite

young, and settled on the place known now as Flat Run,

He remained with his parents to the age of twenty-one,

when he removed to Cipcinnati and engaged in the sad-

dler's business, which he followed for three years, at the

expiration of that time, he returned to Kentucky, settling

in Harrison County, on a farm one and a half miles from

Cynthiana, having 900 acres of land. He was born in

1787, and died in 1851. His wife was born in Lexing_
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ton, Ky., and with her parents settled on Flat Run, Bour-

bon County ; she died in 1856, aged seventy-two years
;

they were the parents of twelve children, eight of whom
living to the age of maturity. William Redmon, the

subject of our sketch, lived his earlier days with his

parents, receiving his education and assisting his father

in tilling the soil of his farm. In 1833, he married Susan

Williams, the oldest daughter of Squire John Williams,

of Harrison County, Ky.; she has borne him four chil-

dren, three of whom are now living, viz.: Sally W.,

Nancy H., and Mary S. His wife died in 1847, aged

thirty years. She was a member of the Christian Church.

In 1851, he married his second wife, Amanda F. Berry,

daughter of John Berry, of Harrison County ; she has

borne him three children, viz.: Eva, William B. and

Fannie P. Mr. Redmon first commenced farming upon

the same farm he now is living on, having seventy acres of

choice land, called " Elm Wood." Self and family are

members of the Christian Church at Cynthiana. He is a

Democrat. He was County Surveyor of Harrison Cou n-

ty for nearly thirty years.

THOS. RORER, deceased ; was born in Philadelphia,

Pa., Jan. 16, 1824, and died Oct. 29, 1878. He was the

son of Thomas Rorer, who was born in Philadelphia in

1796, and died in 1867. His mother was Elizabeth

Caster, born in 1791, in Pennsylvania, and being a third

cousin of General Washington, They had six children.

Our subject received his education in Philadelphia, and

began life by learning the trade of plasterer, after which

he went into merchandising for a while, and then to

farming and running a saw-mill. June 1, 1851, in Har-

rison County, he married Miss Frances McLean, born

March 11, 1826, daughtej; of Robert and Cynthia (Lewis)

McLean ; he, of Mason County, Ky. ; she, of Harrison

County. Mr. Rorer's union with Miss McLean produced

nine children, seven of whom are living : William

Elizabeth, Thomas, Annie, Charley, Francis and Johnny.

Mr. Rorer served in the Federal army as Captain, being

in the 40th Kentucky Regt. The -widow of Mr. Rorer

owns a snug farm of 150 acres of excellent land, the

place being called " The Heights." She and family are

members of the Methodist Church. Mr. Rorer was an

Odd Fellow and a Republican.

MILTON J. RANKIN, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, July 7, 1825. His father,

Samuel, was born in Harrison County, Deo. 4, 1791. He
followed the occupation of farmer and trader in Harrison

County until 1856, when he removed to Bath County, al-

so following farming to the time of his death, which oc-

curred in May, 1826. His wife, and mother to our sub-

ject, was born in Harrison County and died in 1854, aged

fifty-eight years; they were the parents of six children.

Milton J., our subject, lived with his parents his earlier

days, receiving his education and assisting in tilling the

soil of his father's farm. At the age of twenty-one he

began farming on his own account, which he has since

continued to follow. In 1853, in Harrison County,

he married Miss Lydia Veach, a native of Harrison Coun-

ty, and daughter of David and Mary Veach. They are

the parents of three children, two of whom are now liv-

ing, viz: Sally B., wife of Horace Benton, living in Clark

County, Ky., and Comes V., living at home. He is the

owner of a well improved farm of 140 acres of choice

land, called " Walnut Hill," situated three miles east of

Cynthiana, on the Cynthiana and Millersburg Pike. Up-

on his farm he makes stockraising a specialty, as horses^

cattle, sheep and hogs. He was at one time a U. S.

Storekeeper and Ganger. His wife is a member of the

Methodist Church, and in politics he is a Republican.

P. S. REEVES, revenue collector; P. O. Cynthiana;

born in Ross County, Ohio, Dec. 18, 1842 ; his father,

William Reeves, was a native of Ireland, where he was

born in 1799; he married Julia Ann Ryan, who was born

in Scotland in 1800; they emigrated to Ohio in 1840, and

raised a family of twenty-one children; P. S. Reeves

whose name heads this sketch, received his early educa-

tion from the public schools of Kenton County, Ky.; he

afterwards attended the Herald College of Cincinnati,

from which institution he was graduated with honor in

1866; during the "late unpleasantness" he was Captain

of Co. G., 23d Kentucky troops, and served with dis-

tinction during the war; after graduating from college,

he engaged as a clerk in Cincinnati mercantile firm;

Nov. 10, 1880, he married Elizabeth, daughter of Berry and

Isabella (Edwards) Kennedy, of Woodford county; one

childhas been born to them, which died in infancy. Mr.

Reeves is a Republican in politics, and a member of the

Masonic fraternity.

HENRY E. SHAWHAN, deceased. Henry E. Shaw-

han, late president of the National Bank of Cynthiana,

farmer, and prominent business man of Harrison County

was born Nov. 20, 1805, and died at his residence, one

mile west of Cythiana, March 4, 1882. His parents

were Joseph and Sallie (Ewalt) Shawhan. His grand-

fathers, Daniel Shawhan and Henry Ewalt, were both

from Alleghany County, Pa. His father, Joseph Shaw-

han, was born in that County, and emigrated to this

State with his parents in 1788, and settled in Bourbon

County. In 1816 he removed to Harrison, where he

died on Sept. 15, 1871. He was a soldier of the war of
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1813 ; was for several terms a member of the Kentucky
Legislature ; followed agricultural pursuits ; was of

Scotch-Irish extraction ; and was one of the most influ-

ential and valuable men in his county. At the time of

his death he owned and had interest in several of the

largest distilleries in the country, and owned more land

than any man in Harrison County. He was married in

the year 1800 to Sallie, daughter of Henry and Elizabeth

Ewalt, of Bourbon County. The result of this union

was seven children, only one now living, Mrs. Margaret

Miller, who lives with her son, William Miller, in Bour-

bon County. She is well stricken in years. Sallie

Ewalt, our subject's mother, was of Grermaii origin, but

was a Bourbon County Woman by birth, and also belong-

ed to one of the old pioneer families of the State. Her

son, Henry E., of whom we write, was raised on the

farm, his education being confined to the country

schools as organized in his boyhood days. He was

actively engaged on the farm till 1838. In that year he

turned his attention to the making of whisky, and built

a distillery in Harrison County, four miles from Cynthi-

ana ; and from this time till 1869, in connection with

his farming interests, he continued distilling, and buying

and selling whisky of various distillers in the county.

In 1864 he took an interest in the grocery house of

Shawhan & Jewett, of Cynthiana ; the following year

formed a partnership with J. Shawhan in the same busi-

ness; in the following year bought the interest of his

partner, and has since been sole proprietor of one of the

largest grocery businesses in Cynthiana. In 1874 he

became one of a number of capitalists who undertook

to build a narrow gauge railroad from Mount Sterling to

the Mountains, or the coal and iron region of Eastern

Kentucky. Several miles of this road are in actual

operation, and its great local importance is now largely

felt. It is the ultimate purpose of the originators of

this valuable enterprise to terminate the road at Cynthi-

ana. Mr. Shawhan was for several years one of the

directors of this road, and was largely interested in the

stock and the future success of the road. In 1871 he

was elected president of the National Bank of Cynthiana,

which position he ably filled to the time of his death.

He has always been a Democrat, and during the rebel-

lion, his sympathies were strongly with the cause of the

South. He was a man of sterling qualities, unmarred

by deep prejudices ; of plain, unaifected, honest man-

ners ; moved through life without show or pretense
;

was of irreproachable integrity of character ;
and was

a man of great physical endurance. Mr. Shawan was

three times married : Oct. 20, 1835, to Mary Varnon,

daughter of John Varnon, a Bourbon County farmer
;

she died in 1843. Two years afterwards he was married

to Mrs. Sallie Pugh (w/e Cantrili), who died in 1857. In

1859 ha was married to Mrs. Sallie Cult, a native of

Bourbon County, and daughter of John Ravenscraft, a

farmer of that county. He is the father of eight child-

ren by these marriages.

C. M. N. STODDARD, jeweler ; P. O. Cynthiana; was

born in Portage County, Ohio, in December, 1837; son of

Henry and Amelia Stoddard ; he, a native of Connecticut,

and a bridge builder by occupation ; died in 1845 ; she,

a native of New York State. They had seven children.

Our subject received his education in the schools of his

native county, Portage, Ohio, and began life as a farmer,

but in 1881 opene<l in the w.itch and jewelry business in

Circleville, Ohio, where he remained for some years, and

finally, in 1877, removed to Cynthiana, Kentucky, open-

ing in the same business that he conducted in Ohio, and

at once taking the position of the leading jeweler of

Cynthiana. He is one of the best workmen in the State,

or anywhere else, for that matter, and keeps constantly

on hand a fine stock of goods in his line. In 1878, in

Carlisle, Ky., Mr. Stoddard married Miss Lizzie M.

Webb, born in Harrison County, Ky., daughter of Newton

Webb, Esq., by which union there has been one child,

which is now dead. His wife is a member of the Chris-

tian Church, and he is a Democrat.

J. H. SMISER, M. D.;P. O. Cynthiana; was bom in

Harrison County, Ky., July 37, 1638, and is the son of

Denos Smiser,. who was born in Harrison County, July

4, 1814, and is now a farmer in Bates County, Mo.; and

grandson of George Smiser, who was born in Maryland,

and emigrated to Kentucky as early as 1795; the Doctor's

mother was Miss Louisa Smith, daughter of Michael and

Mary Smith, of Harrison County; the Doctor received

his literary education in the common schools of Harrison

County and at Eminence, and graduated as an M. D. in

Missouri, in 1868, beginning practice in Cynthiana the

same year; he began life as a farmer; followed that busi-

ness eight years, but gave it up for the study and prac-

tice of medicine, in which his natural talent and ability

have been proved by his success; in 1870, the Doctor was

married to Miss Mary, daughter of John H. Ewalt, of

Bourbon County; four children have been born to them,

viz: Hunt A., Louisa H., Todd, and Earle. The doctor

is a member of the Christian Church, is a Democrat, and

a Master Mason.

CHARLES W. SHARP, farmer; P. O. Shady Nook;

and son of John W. and Lucy (Collier) Sharp; he was

born July 17, 1844. His father was born March 11,
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1803, in Scott County, Ky., and was brought to Nicholas

County, Ky., when but four years of age. He has lived

in Headquarters Precinct, Nicholas County, for seventy-

four years, and during that time has followed the occu-

pation of farming; he has a farm of 250 acres. In 1834

he was elected member of the Legislature, being the

first one elected in Nicholas County by the Whig party; he

is now a Republican. He was at one time U. S. Ganger

and is now U. S. Deputy Collector. He and his wife

are members of the Christian Church at Indian Creek.

Charles W. lived with his sister in Illinois, where he re-

ceived his education; in 1865 he taught school. In 1866

be bought a farm in Harrison County of 100 acres. In

the same year he married Susan P. Wilson, who has born

him four children, viz: LuliI, Margaret, John M. H., and

Eliza W. In 1871 he commenced merchandising at

Scott Station, which he followed until August, 1873,

when he was appointed U. S. Storekeeper and Ganger.

He now is the owner of 112 acres of land. He is a Re-

publican, and himself and family are members of the

Baptist Church at Indian Creek. He is a member of

the order of A., F. & A. M. at Headquarters, of Nicho-

las County, and of the order of I. 0. O. P. at Ruddel's

Mills.

REV. J. A. SAWYER, P. O. Oddville ; was born in

Norfolk, Va., July 10, 1845, son of Samuel and Elizabeth

(Hastings) Sawyer ; he, a native of England, being killed

on the coast of North Carolina by robbers, in the spring

of 1858 ; she, also, a native of England, and dying in

North Carolina in ] 854 ; they had seven children, J. A.

being the sixth in order of birth. Our subject received

a portion of his education at Georgetown College, Scott

County, Ky., and at West Point military school, Virginia,

and began teaching school near Lexington, Ky., which he

followed for some time, and was afterward a professor in

Laurel Seminary, London, Laurel County, Ky. In 1866

he began preaching as a minister in the M. E. Church,

South, which holy calling he has continued ever since.

May 30, 1867, he married, in Fayette County, Miss

Mattie Horene, daughter of Horatio Nelson, a native of

Meroer County, Ky., which union resulted in two children,

John Horatio and Mattie Horene. His wife dying in

1870, Mr. Sawyer married, in 1877, Sally A. Hardin, a

native of London, Laurel County, Ky., born Oct. 26,

1857, daughter of Mark and Emily Pearl Hardin. Mr.

Sawyer is a Mason, an Odd Fellow, and a Democrat.

WILLIAM N. SCOTT, M. D.; P.O. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., in September, 1840, son

of Francis and Matilda (McClintook) Soott ; he, born in

1804, in Muhlenburg County, Ky., was a blacksmith and

died in Bourbon in 1865 ; she, a native of Bourbon, born

in 1810, and now living with her son, the subject of this

sketch ; they have three children. Dr. Scott received

his primary education in Fayette County, after which he

took a course in medicine and surgery, at Starling Medi-

cal College, Columbus, Ohio, from which institution he

was graduated in 1863, since which time he has practiced

his profession in his native county, being located at Scott

Station, where he has a large and growing practice, and

having a reputation for assiduity and ability which makes

him respected by all. The doctor was married in Pulaski

County, Ky., in November, 1860, to Miss Ellen Gragg,

born in December, 1840, daughter of Hiram and Lucy

Gragg ; he, a native of Virginia, and she of Kentucky,

and three children have been born to them, viz : Maria,

Ella and Otis. Self and family are members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, and he is an A., F. & A. M.

and a Republican.

JOSEPH SHAW, deceased; was b )rn in Paris, Bour-

bon County, Ky., March 22, 1835, son of John and Han-

nah (Cox) Shaw; he, a native of England, a manufacturer

of cotton goods, who emigrated to Kentucky, an an early

day, and settling in Maysville; she, also a native of Eng-

land; they had eight children. Our subject attended

the schools of Bourbon County, after which he went into

the milling business, running a flouring mill for some

time, and then began farming, which he continued until

his death, that event occurring in 1870; in 1853 the de-

ceased married Miss America Jett, born in Bracken-

County Ky., Nov. 25, 1830, daughter of William and

Rachel ( Howard) Jett, both natives of Bourbon County,

and from which union there were born nine children, all

living: William, John T., Edward C, Joseph W., James,

Benjamin F., Hannah J., Albert, and Ira N. Mr. Shaw
was a Republican and a member of the Indepen-

dant Order of Odd Fellows; the family are members of

the Christian Church, and their farm consists of 147 acres

of choice land, the place being known as "Valley

View."

G. R. SHARPS, farmer ; P. O. Lair's Station ; is a

native of Harrison County, and son of George and Eliza-

beth (Ruddel) Bharpe ; he \^as born in 1810. His father

was one of the early settlers of Bourbon County; was born

in Virginia, and at the age of twenty, in the year 1779,

he moved to Bourbon County, Ky., where he remained

till the time of his death, which occurred in 1846. His

wife was the daughter of Arch Ruddel, of Virginia ; she

died in 1840,- aged seventy-seven years ; they were the

parents of nine children, one of whom is our subject, G.
R. He was born and raised in the same house in which he

*i^ S i) ^
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now resides. In 1844, he married Miss Caroline Eeles,

a native of Harrison County, and daughter of James

Eeles; by this union they have had six children, two of

whom are now living, viz : George R. and James E. His

wife is a member of the Christian Church at Ruddel's

Mills. He is the owner of 130 acres of land, called

" Spring Farm." He is a Democrat. He was at one time

a magistrate, and President of the Harrison County Agri-

cultural Society. Mr. Sharpo has alwiys taken a very

active part in the progress of his native county, and to-

day bears a name and reputation which is beyond re-

proach, and is most respected by those who best know
him.

JAMES SIMS, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana ; is a native

of Bourbon County, and son of John and Ellen (McNeer)

Sims. He was born March 19, 1818. His father was

born in Virginia, in the District of Columbia. During

his life he followed the occupation of farming. In 1815,

he removed to Bourbon County, Ky., where he remained

to the time of his death, which occurred in October, 1843,

aged 57 years. His wife, the mother of our subject, was

also a native of Virginia, and daughter of Wm. McNeer.

She was born 1789, and died 1875, aged 86 years. They

were the parents of eleven children. James lived with

his parents to the age of 39 years, receiving an edu-

cation and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's

farm. In 147 he married Miss Louisa Hibler, native of

Bourbon County, and daughter of S. M. and Cynthia

A. Hibler. By this union they have had five children,

three of whom are now living, viz : Caroline F., Mary F.

and John K. In 1847 Mr. Sims began farmng upon the

farm of his father-in-law, near Ruddel's Mills, where he

remained until 1848, when he bought a farm of 100

acres, remaining upon and' working the same until 1858,

when he bought the farm upon which he now resides,

having 313 acres of the choicest land of Harrison County,

called "Ashland," upon which he makes stock raising a

specialty. Himself and family are members of the

Christian Church at Indian Creek. He was at one time

a member of the I. O. O. F. Lodge at Ruddel's Mills
;

resigned from the same at the time of the war. In politics

he is a Democrat.

LEONARD STUMP, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana.

Among the early settlers of Harrison County was

Leonard Stump, father of him whose name heads this

sketch. Born in Maryland in 1769; he emigrated to

Harrison County in 1787, and after being a very useful

man died in 1859. His wife, Sarah Kinston, was also

born in Maryland in 1779; surviving her husband six

years; died in February, 1865. The result of this union

was six children, Leonard being one of them; he was

born in Harrison County, June 9, 1814, receiving his ed-

ucation at the county schools of Harrison County. He
began life with farming, and was married in Harrison

County in 1837 to Susan Crenshaw, who was born in

Harrison County, May 5, 1816, who was the daughter

of John Stump, of Virginia, who died in 1855, at the

age of eighty-seven years; and Hannah Mailison, his

wife, was also born in Virginia, and died in 1833, at the

age of fifty-two years. Mrs. Susan Stump is a member
of the Methodist communion at Cynthiana, and in poli-

tics Mr. Stump is a Democrat. He has a farm of 180

acres of choice land two miles from Cynthiana, on Ash-

brook Pike, called " Locust Grove."

HENRY C. SMITH, miller; P. O. Poindexter; born

in Bourbon County, Nov. 34, 1834; his father was Michael

Smith, who was born in Harrison County in 1805, and

died in 1836 ; his mother, Sallie David, was born in

Bourbon County in 1807, and died in 1835 ; they had

two children. Henry C. Smith received his education

in the county that gave him birth, began business with

farming, which he followed until 1860, when he com-

menced milling, which he has followed ever since. He
was married in Harrison County in 1846 to Miss Mary E.

Boyers, who was born in September, 1826 ; and she, the

daughter of Jacob and Eliza (Smith) Boyers, of Harri-

son County ; by this union they have had five children,

three of whom are now living, Margaret E., Isabella,

and Lee. Mr. Smith and family are members of the

Presbyterian Church ; he is a Democrat in politics. He

has a large milling business at Poindexter Station, and

is making a superior brand of flour.

THOMAS E. SPARKES, farmer ; P. O. Lair's.

Among those who came early from Virginia was James

Sparkes, having a son born in 1811, by name of Silas H.

Sparkes, who married Miss Isabella Givens ; who was

born in 1813, and died in 1863 ; the husband surviving

the wife three years, and dying in 1866, leaving seven

children, viz: Ruth J., Richard C, Sarah C, Martha E.,

Silas G., a resident of Missouri ; Thomas E, whose

name heads this sketch; William W., and Belle. They

are the owners of 194 acres of fertile land a quarter of

a mile south of Lair's Station. Silas Sparkes is a Mason,

and all of the family are members of the Christian

church at Mount Carmel, in Bourbon County, Richard

Sparkes being one of the deacons.

H. H. TEBBS, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; was born

Dec. 31, 1851, son of James J. and Rebecca (Allen)

Tebbs. Our subject received his education in the schools

of his native county, and began life farming, at which he
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nas continued throughout li e, owning at the present time

a fine farm of 148 acres of laud, his place being known as

" Stony Point." Oct. 16, 1877, he married Lizzie G.

Ammerman, born Sept. 33, 1853, daughter of Wesley,

and Louisa (Bassett) Ammerman, all of Harrison Coun-

ty. Mr. Ammerman died in 1877, aged fifty-two years.

Two children have been born to Mr. Tebbs, one of whom
is living, Wesley H., born Dec. 37, 1878. Mrs. Tebbs is

a member of the Christian Church, and he is a Democrat

and a Granger.

JAMES J. TEBBS, farmer and stock-raiser ; P. O.

Cynthiana ; was born in the year 1814; his father, Daniel

Tebbs, who came from Virginia, was born in 1771, and

died in 1846. The grandfather of our subject was also

named Daniel, and spent his life in Virginia. The mother

of James, Alice Taylor, was born in 1790 and died in

1855, and, through her father, Hubbard Taylor, was also

of Virginia ancestry. Our subject married Miss Rebecca

Allen, of Harrison County, daughter of Daniel Ammer-

man, of Harrison County. The names of the children are

as follows : Daniel A., Tabitha Alice, Foushee J., Hul)-

bard H., Joel Philip, Sarah Lizz e, Rebecca Enfield, Lucy

Crittenden, Eusebia Catharine, who died May 37, 1861,

Mary Gour, Ida and H'len. He owns 450 acres of land,

two miles from Cynthiana, on the Cynthiana and Conners-

ville Pike, and his farm is styled " Never P.dling," from

the fict that it has never failed to produce crops. Mr.

Tebbs is a breeder of short-horn cattle, merino slieep,

which he claims are superior to any other breed, while

the rest of his stock are all of high grade; he has had at the

head of his herd. Imported Bullion and Birmingham, who

was also out of imported stock. Mr. Tebbs is a Granger.

His wife is a member of the Christian Church at Cynthiana.

He has resided on his present place ever since 1835.

A. A. TAYLOR, tobacco dealer; P. O. Cynthiana;

was born in Harrison County, Feb. 14, 1833; son of

Hillery and Melinda (Alexander) Taylor; he, b; rn in

Baltimore, Sept. 33, 1793, a wheelwright by trade, dylag

in Robinson County, Ky., Oct. 35, 1881; she, born in

Virginia, Aug. 1, 1874. Hillery and Melinda Taylor

had ten children. Our subject was educated in the com-

mon schools of Harrison County, and commenced life as

a farmer, but at present is dealing in tobacco, buying and

selling quite largely. Oct. 34, 1854, he was married, in

Cincinnati, to Lizzie M. Glenn, born in Harrison County,

Ky., April 17, 1835, daughter of Peter and Sarah (Ash-

craft) Glenn; he died in 1853, aged forty-two, and she in

1841, aged thirty-two. Mrs. Taylor died June 30, 1878,

having borne her husband seven children, four of whom
are living : Wm. F., Laura G., Omer P., and Mary

H. In 1881, Mr. Taylor married Fannie Hickman, a na-

tive of Harrison County, born in 1849; daughter of C.

and Anna Yarnall, of Harrison County. Mrs. Taylor is

a member of the Beaver Baptist Church, and Mr. Taylor

is a Freemason and a Democrat.

T. L. THOMPSON, farmer ; P. 0. Cynthiana ; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., May 8,1850, son of Robert

and Emily (Linsey) Thompson ; he, born in Harrison

County, Sept. 9, 1803, and now in his eightieth year; she,

also a native of Harrison County; they had ten children.

After receiving in the schools of his native county his

education, Mr. Thompson began farming, which occupa-

tion he has followed ever since, owning a farm of seventy-

two acres of choice land. Oct. 5, 1876, in Cynihiani, he

married Miss Lura Violett, born in Texas, May 13, 1S55,

daughter of Dr. George Violett, who was born in Ken-

tucky, and died in 1869, aged thirty-eight years ; her

mother, also born in Kentucky, died in August, 1881, aged

forty-four years. One child, Violett, born Sept. 17, 1879,

has blessed the household of Mr. Thompson. Mrs.

.Thompson is a member of the Episcopal Church, and Mr.

Thompson is a Democrat. The father of Mrs. Thompson

is a Masoi, and in his younger days, was a very active

membsr of the honorable fraternitv.

NEWTON P. TAYLOR, farmer; P. O. Robertson's

Station; was born in Harrison County, Ky., Dec. 31, 1833,

son of Tapley and Lavina (Duncan) Taylor; he, a farmer,

born in Virginia, and dying in 1846, aged fifty-seven year?

his wife having died in 1833. They had fourteen chil-

dren; Mr. Taylor attended the schools of his neighbor-

hood during his youth, after which he began farming,

which he has continued, also, runing a saw mill; he owns

a farm of 450 acres of land, and has been a School Trus-

tee. March 8, 1857, he married Sarah J. Shanks, born

in Bourbon County, Ky., May 37, 1840, daughter of

David and Mary (Brannock) Shanks; h3 a native of the

State of Delaware, and she of Harrison County, Ky.;

Mrs. Taylor bore her husband eight children, seven

of whom are living : James W., born March 11, 1858;

Lorena, born Oct. 8, 1859 ; Frederick D., born Aug. 33

1861; Ida J., born Sept. 7, 1863; Benjamin N., born Aug.

11, 1865 ; Edward W., born Sept. 3, 1867 ; Virginia M.,

born Jan. 19, 1873 ; Gertrude, born Aug. 3, 1875. Mrs.

Taylor is a member of the M. E. Church South, and he

is a Democrat.

WILLIAM M. TAYLOR, farmer ; P. O. Robertson's

Station ; was born in Robertson County, Ky., Jan. 15,

1814, son of Tapley and Lavina (Duncan) Taylor ; he, a

native of Virginia, a farmer by occupation, and dying in

1846, aged fifty-seven years; his wife having preceded
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him in 1832; they had fourteen children. Our subject

received his education in the schools of Harrison County,

and began life as a farmer, in which occupation he has

continued, owning a splendid farm of 290 acres of the

best land of Kentucky. In 1834 he married Nancy
Shanks ; born in Bourbon County in 1810, daughter of

David and Nancy Shanks, natives of Delaware ; and

from this union there were born ten children, seven of

whom are living: Tapley A., Francos A., Elizabeth,

Arbell, David W., Martha, and Susan. Mrs. Taylor

died in 1864, and after remaining, a widower ten years,

Mr. Taylor, in 1874, married Elizabeth King; born March

19, 1844; daughter of Joseph and Catharine King ; and

by this union there have been born two children : Ada
H., and Sally E. Mrs. Taylor is a member of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, and her husband is a

Democrat.

GEO. W. TURNER, farmer and stockraiser; P. O.

Poindexter Station; was born Dec. 31, 1829, in Harrison

County, Ky.; son of Thornton and Elizabeth (Van De-

ren) Turner; he, a farmer, born in Virginia in 1799, and

dying in 1859; she, born in Harrison County, Ky., and

dying at the age of thirty-seven years, in 1841, leaving

seven children. The grandparents of our subject came

to Kentucky at an early day, and were among those

brave and hardy pioneers who helped to turn the wilder-

ness into the garden spot now known as the Blue Grass

region. Mr. Turner, our subject, after receiving a mod-

erate education, began farming, and has continued in

that occupation since. In addition to farming, Mr. Tur-

ner has made a specialty of stockraising, breeding

horses, mules, cattle and hogs, and producing some of

the finest animals raised in the county. He owns a farm

of 160 acres of fine land. In 1861 he married Julia B.

Thompson, born in Harrison County in September, 1840,

daughter of Robert and Emily (Linsey) Thompson, na-

tives of Harrison County, Ky. Mr. Turner and family

are members of the Baptist Church, and he is a D>3mo-

crat.

F. D. TAYLOR, farmer and stock raiser ; P. O. Cyn-

thiana ; was born March 12, 1839, in Harrison County,

Ky.; son of Tapley and Lavina (Duncan) Taylor ; he,

a native of Virginia, a farmer, and dying in 1846, his wife

preceding him in 1832 ; they were the parents of fourteen

children. F. D. received his education in the schools of

Harrison, after which he began farming, and has con-

tinued at the same ever since. He has a farm of two hun-

dred acres, which he cultivates, making stock raising a

speciality. In 1853, he married Mary A., daughter of

Daniel and Ann Buzzard, who died in 1856, when he

married in 1857, Rebecca J., daughter of Wyatt and

Nancy Martin. Eight children have blessed Mr. Taylor's

house; their names are : Preston, Mary D., Nora, J. L.,

John W., Leon'L., William W., Luoinda. Mr. Taylor

and wife are members of the MetHodist Church South,

and he has been a Granger, and is a Democrat.

LUTHER VAN HOOK, banker and distiller; P. O.

Cynthiana ; among the most active and energetic busi-

ness young men of Harrison County; we would mention

the nameof L.Van Hook,whoisnow and has been since its

first organization, in October, 1877, cashier of the Farmers

National Bank, at this place, and also one of its charter

members; he is a native of Harrison County, and was

born July 25, 1840 ; his father, S;imuel Van Hook, was

also a native of this county, and married Elizabeth J.

Veach, by whom he raised two sons, Luther and Lewis,

and one daughter, Serena; Samuel Van Hook followed the

occupations of farming and merchandizing, and died in

1849; Luther was educated at Cynthiana, and began life

as a merchant, which he followed very successfully for

some time ; afterwards engaged in the manufacture of

woolen goods; since that time he has engaged in the

various occupations of milling, distilling, grain, and

stock dealing, etc. He has held several municipal offices,

among them we would mention City Councilman, Vice

President School Board, and is now Notary Public of

Cynthiana; he was married near Cynthiana, Feb. 16, 1865,

to Alice Keller, who was born in Harrison County, in

July, 1844; her father, Abraham Keller, was a native of

Bourbon, but moved to Harrison many years ago, where

he acquired considerable property and prominence. Mr.

Van Hook has an interesting family of six children, three

sons, Keller, Luther, and Roger Peck, and three daugh-

ters, Lyda, Maggie and Serena; his wife is a member of

the Christian Church; he belongs to the Knights of Honor,

and is politically Democratic. Mr. Van Hook is one of

our most thorough going, upright business man, and is

distinguished for his courtesy and politeness towards

those with whom he has had business relations ; he is a

man of rare judgment, excellent business ability, and en-

joys the confidence and respect of his fellow citizens.

ALFRED VAN DEREN, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana;

was born in Harrison County, Dec. 16, 1825, son of James

and Sarah Van Deren; he, born in Virginia, Oct. 7, 1780,

coming to Kentucky with his parents in 1789, a farmer by

occupation, dying Jan. 9, 1867; she, born in New Jersey,

Aug. 10, 1790, now living with our subject ; they had

thirteen children. Mr. Van Deren received his education

in the schools of his native county, and began life as a

farmer, at which he has continued, with the exception of
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three years in the mercantile business, until the present

time. He owns a farm of 175 acres of good land. Mr.

Van Deren is a member of the Baptjist Church, and a

Republican.

JAMES VAN DEREN, farmer; P. 0. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Oct. 18, 1821; son of.

James and Sarah Van Deren; he, born near Winchester,

Va., Oct. 7, 1780, and emigrated with his parents to

Bourbon County, Ky., in 1789; was a farmer, and died

Jan. 9, 1867; she, born in New Jersey, Aug. 10, 1790;

now living with her son Alfred, whose sketch appears in

another portion of this work, and aged ninety-two years;

they had thirteen children. Mr. Van Deren received his

education in the common schools of his native county,

and began life as a farmer, which he has continued

throughout life, owning at the present time 465 acres of

land, known as " Cedar Grove." His grandfather, Bar-

nard Van Deran, was a native of Virginia, and emigrated

to Bourbon County about 1789. May 13, 1856, Mr. Van

Deren married Sarah E. Waits, daughter of Edward and

Elizabeth (Parker) Waits, from which union there have

been born seven children, six of whoni are living: Ed-

ward F., Anna F., James G., Willie S., Harry P., and

Lizzie A. Self and family are members of the Chris-

tian Church, and he is a Republican.

JAMES I. VICTOR, deceased, was born in Nicholas

County, Ky., in 1806, son of William and Ellen (Ingalls)

Victor; he, a native of Virginia,. a farmer, and dying in

in 1845, aged seventy-five years ; she, a native of

Nicholas County, Ky., dying in 1856, aged seventy-

eight years ; they had eight children. Mr. Victor

received his education in the schools of Nicholas

County, after which he began teaching school, which

he followed for some time, and then went to farming,

at which he continued until his death, which occur-

red in 1868, at the age of sixty-two years. The deceased

in 1838, married Margaret Rutter ; born in Harrl^ion

County, Aug. 32, 1818 ; daughter of Alexander Ruttor
;

born in Harrison County, in 1791, and dying in 1855;

and Margaret (Moore) Victor, born in 1793, and dying in

1879. Five children were born to James I. and Mar-

garet Victor : Mary E. (Martin), Rillie T. (Whaloy),

Alexander R., Ellen (Hedges), and J. W. Mrs. Victor's

son, J. W., was the owner of the celebrated stallion

'' Indian Chief," and is now engaged in raising stock of

all kinds. He has produced some of the finest stock

ever bred in the county, and his ability in training

horses is well known and acknowledged far and wide.

Since the death of her husband Mrs. Victor has remained

on the farm, which consists of 250 acres of choice land,

and is managed with ability and care. The family are

members of the Christian Church. Mr. Victor was a

Democrat.

LEWIS VEATCH, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana; whose

portrait appears in this work, was born in Harrison Coun-

ty, Nov. 23, 1804 ; his father, Thomas Veatch, was born

in Pennsylvania, April 19, 1770; emigrated to Kentucky

in about the year 1785, being among the first settlers of

Sellers Run ; he was a farmer ; he died in Sept., 1842.

His wife, Jane Huff, the mother of our subject, was of

German descent, born in Virginia in 1765, and died in

1841 ; they had nine children. Lewis Veatch was born

on the same farm that he now resides, has always been a

hard working man; by his economy and industry, he suc-

ceeded in gaining a good property, and is now the owner

of one of the best farms of Harrison County. Sept. 12,

1881, in Harrison County, he married Mary A. Lewis, a

native of Harrison County, and the daughter of Almon

and Dicy (Dean) Lewis; she was born Feb. 6, 1840. Mr.

Veatch is a strong Republican, and a personal friend and

acquaintance of Gen. U. S. Grant.

RICHARD J. WHITEKER, farmer and trader; P. .

O. Oddville; was born July 14, 1832, son of Peter

and Ann (Dunn) Whiteker ; he, born in Maryland,

in 1793 ; died in Kentucky, in 1856 ; she, born in

Harrison County, in 1798, and died in 1862, having

been the second wife of Peter ; thsy had seven chil-

dren. Our subject was reared to the life of a farmer,

and has followed that principally throughout life, al-

though he was engaged in the mercantile business six

or eight years. He served as Constable five years and

as Magistrate six years, which position he has filled ably

and acceptably. Mr. Whiteker began life without a dol-

lar to his name, but by persistent enonomy and well-

applied industry has acquired a competency for ap-

proaching old age, he owning a fine farm of 150 acres of

land, comfortably improved, and two valuable houses in

Cynthiana. Feb 10, 1851, he married Ruth E. Beckett,

born Nov. 21, 1833, daughter of John and Alice! (Hick-

man) Beckett, of Harrison County. Mr. Whiteker and

wife are members of the Methodist Church South, and he

is a Mason, an Odd Fellow, a Good Templar, and a

Democrat.

JACOB A. WOLFORD, liquor dealer and distiller;

P. O. Cynthiana. Aihong the enterprising young men
of Cynthiana, there are few who surpass the subject of

this sketch, J. A. Wolford, son of Peter and Mary A
(Carl) Wolford; was born in Pennsylvania on the third

day of December, 1841. His parents were both natives

of Pennsylvania, but now live at Minneapolis, Minn,,
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where his father, Peter Wolford, is successfully engaged

as Broker and Banker. Out of a family of five children,

two sons and three daughters, Jacob A. is the elder son.

His younger brother was named William L., and his

sisters were: Sarah, Henrietta and Jennie. Our subject

was educated at Tuscarora, Pa. After leaving school he

accepted a position as clerk in his father's bank. He
next went to Memphis, Tenn, where he engaged in the

mercantile business for a few years. In 1863, he came

to Cynthiana, and commenced the manufacture of woolen

goods. In addition to this in 1864:, he began running a

distillery, and in 1865 he discontinued the manufacturing

business altogether, and devoted his entire attention to

his distillery, which business he has followed very suc-

cessfully ever since. He was married in Harrison

County, Ky., on the 14th of November, 1867, to Miss

Josephine Cook, who was born in Pennsylvania, June 9,

1845. Her father, Stephen B. Cook, was also a native

of Pennsylvania, and was born March 1, 1797, and died

in Kentucky, on the 10th of March, 1874. His widow,

Lydia (Beecher) Cook, was born in Lancaster County,

Pa., June 10, 1805, and now lives quietly in the city

of Cynthiana, near her children. Mr. Wolford's mar-

riage has been blessed with one son, Louie C, and two

daughters, Mary L. and J. Albertie. Mrs. Wolford is a

member of the Episcopal Church. Our subject has no

political aspirations, but always acts with the Democratic

party. He is also a member of the Order K. H. By his

close attention to business he has accumulated sufficient

means to enjoy any reasonable luxury that himself or

family should desire.

JOHN S. WITHERS, banker; P. O. Cynthiana; is

one of Cynthiana's oldest as well as most prominent resi-

dents, being a native of the place, and born Sept. 4,

1830. He is the son of William A. and Eliza (Perrin)

Withers. The former was born in Virginia, subsequent-

ly became a merchant of Cynthiana, and was killed by a

stray shot at the battle of Jacksonville; the latter was

the daughter of Archie Perrin. They were the parents

of three children. John S. was educated in the public

schools of Cynthiana and at the University of Missouri.

Mr. Withers first began business in the mercantile line

with his father. In 1856, he was married to Miss Kate

Remington, daughter of George Remington. Their

union has been blessed with three children, viz.: Ida,

Lizzie and Rodney. In 1853, Mr. Withsrs succeeded

his father in business, he also retiring from the mercan-

tile business in 1856. In 1857, the charter was obtained

for the Deposit bank.

J. Q. WARD, lawyer; P. 0. Cynthiana; was born Aug.

29, 3838 at Oxford, Scotc County, Ky. ; he is a son of

Cary A. Ward, who was born July 5, 1808, in Harrison

County; he was a printer by trade, and was for a while

editor of a paper at Oxford, Ohio, and subsequently en-

gaged in farming and merchandizing; he died April 8.

1861; Joseph Ward, a native of Fauquier County, Va.,

was the grandfather of our subject; he married Margaret

Cotter, and came to Kentucky when a young man; J. Q.

Ward spent his early days upon the farm, and after at-

taining the proper age, entered Georgetown College,

from which he graduated in 1858; the class of 1858 was

composed of men, most of whom have attained promi-

nence, among whom may be mentioned Lt-Gov. James
E. Cantrill, Richard Reed, of Mt. Sterling, and others;

Mr. Ward studied law under the guidance of M. Polk,

of Georgetown, and was admitted to practice in Septem-

ber, 1866; he served in the office of School Commissioner,

for many years, and for four years as County Attorney;

he was elected to the Legislature in 1873-4; he was mar-

ried Nov. 30, 1868, to Miss Mary E. Miller, daughter of

James Miller, of Harrison County; the couple have three

children, viz: Miller, Anna Cary, J. Q.; he is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian Church, a Master Mason, and in

politics is a Democrat. Mr. Ward is regarded as one of

the best lawyers in this section of the State; he is a man
of commanding presence, a forcible speaker and is un-

doubtedly one of the coming men of Kentucky.

ANDREW HARRISON WARD, lawyer; P. O. Cyn-

thiana; was born Jan. 3, 1815, in Harrison County, near

Cynthiana ; his parents were Andrew and Elizabeth

(Haddington) Ward. His father was a Virginian and

came to Kentucky when a boy with his parents, and

settled in Jessamine County ; in 1800 removed to Harri-

son, where he remained until his death in 1843 ; was a

soldier in the war of 1812, and the subsequent Indian

War ; and was a soldier under General Harrison when

"Harry Ward," as he is familiarly called, was born, and

for whom he was named. Both of his grandfathers,

Ward and Heddington, were soldiers in the Rjvolution-

ary War, and among the early and valuable pioneers of

Kentucky. Elizabeth Heddin^t;)n, his mother, was born'

in B:iUimore, and came with her parents at an early day

to Harrison County. Oar subject was brought up on a

farm and usually spent his winters in th'! country schools.

He finished his education at Transylvania University at

Lexington. In 1837 he took a position as clerk on a

steamboat on the Tombigbee River, where he remained

several years. In 1842 he began the study of law, and

prepared for his profession under Mnjor James R. Curry,

of C3mthiana; was admitted to the bar and began prac-

IV
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tice in 1844. He was elected to represent Harrison

County in the Legislature in 1863. In 1865 he was the

Democratic candidate for Congress from the sixth dis-

trict, but was defeated by the Federal soldiers being

allowed to vote. In 1866 however, he was re-nominated

for Congress and elected to fill the vacancy caused by

the resignation of General Clay Smith, to accept the

Governorship of Montana. He served one term in Con-

gress and was distinguished for his opposition to the re-

construction measures of the Republican party. At the

expiration of his term he resumed the practice of his

profession in Cynthiana with Ids usual brilliant success.

His first vote was cast for Henry Clay and his last before

the war for Bell and Everett. During the war he was a

Constitutional Union man; since that time he has been

a Democrat ; he is an able lawyer and an extremely

popular speaker.

JOHN WHITE, farmer and trader ; P. 0. Cynthiana
;

is a son of Nicholas and Frances (Green) White, and

was born in Harrison County, Ky., on Nov. 7, 1829.

His paternal grandfather, Thomas White, was a native

of Georgia, and his maternal grandfather, Martin Green,

was from North Carolina. They emigrated at an early

day, and were among the first settlers of Madison County,

Ky., near Richmond. His ancestors on his father's side,

were principally Baptists, while those on his mother's

side were Methodists, and had a house of worship erected

on their farm, known as "Green Chapel." Nicholas

White (father of our subject) was born in Georgia, in

1789, and when five years of age came to Kentucky with

his parents, and settled in Madison Coaaty. He served

as a soldier in the war of 1813. His wife, Frances

Green, was born in the year 1800, and was married to

Mr. White in 1817. They subsequently settled near

Sharpsburg, in Bath County, where they remained about

two years, but in consequence of a heavy financial loss

Mr. White sustained at this place, by going security, he

sold his farm and purchased a tract of land in the forests

of Harrison County, seven miles northeast of Cynthiana.

Pie and his wife were members of the Baptist church,

but, early in the Reformation, united with the Christian

denomination. He soon became a leading member, and

she, being a truly pious woman, they led a very exem-

plary life. He died in 1858, and his wife followed him

in 1860. They were the parents of nine children, John

being the sixth child. Perhaps there are but few things

more indellibly stamped upon John's memory, than the

rudely constructed benches, made of slabs and without

backs, he found at the first old log school house he at-

tended ; being then only six years old. His opportuni-

ties for attending school were quite limited, as he was

required to assist in clearing the woods and tilling the

land, except on rainy days, and such other time as

his parents thought they could conveniently dis-

pense with his services at home. When John was

seventeen, his father hired a blacksmith to run a shop

on his farm, and John was put to work in the shop to

learn the trade; he made such rapid progress that after

the first year's apprenticeship he was considered com-

petent to take charge of the shop, which he continued to

run for his father about two years, then went to work for

himself; after working as journeyman for one year he

opened a shop of his own, which he run very successfully

until he was twenty-five years of age, at which time he

found, by enonomy and prompt attention to his business,

he had accumulated about $"2,000; in 1854 he married

Nannie A. Cheatham, daughter of .lohn and Harriet

Cheatham, of Nicholas County, Ky. ; he then purchased

100 acres of land near his father's place, where he re-

moved and at once engaged in agricultural pursuits and

dealing in stock, which business he has followed ever

since. After living at this place about two years, he

sold out and moved to a farm of 100 acres on Infdian

Creek, about five miles south-east of Cj'nthiana; he has

added to his farm here from time to time until he now
owns 350 acres, upon which he has erected a commodious

residence, and has his farm otherwise very well improved;

he also possesses other property and means not here

mentioned. Mr. and Mrs. White have an interesting

family; they have had born to them six children, four of

whom are living, viz : Jennie, Evaline, Adelia, and
William A.; the family are all members of the Chris' ian

Church; politically he is Democratic; he has been a

strong advocate through life, for education in its various

departments, and spares no efi"ort or means to give his

children such educational advantages as are within his

reach, thus preparing them for the coming duties of life;

the old adage of " industry brings its own reward " has

been very beautifully exemplified in the case before us,

and should be a source of encouragement to any youno-

man who may chance to read this sketch, especiallv if it

is his lot to venture out upon his own resources without

capital.

JOHN H. WHEELER, tobacco dealer ; P. O. Odd-
villo; was born in North Carolina, Aug. 25, 1825; son of

Ozias and Sarah (Fults) Wheeler; he born in Vermont
a farmer, and dying in 1869, aged sixty -six years ; she,

born in North Carolina, in 1799, and dying in 1867 •

they had seven children, .lohn H. being the oldest. He
received his education in the common schools of Harri-
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SOD County, and commenced farming at the age of

twenty-one years, which he continued until 1864, when
he commenced dealing in tobacco, in which business he
has been quite successful, doing an extensive trade,

handling on the average 100,000 pounds of tobacco

yearly, the amount in 1881 being about 175,000 pounds.

May 14, 1845, he married in Harrison County, Miss
Alcinda Mahoney, born in Harrison, May 9, 1825,

daughter of Henry and Catharine (Corder) Mahoney,
natives of Virginia, and which union resulted in eight

children, six of whom are living : Nancy C, Sarah A.,

Margaret E., Thomas S., Louisa and Mary J. Mr.

Wheeler is the owner of 200 acres of land. Himself and
family are members of the M. E. Church, and Mr.

Wheeler is a Republican.

ASA F. WHITEKER, farmer"; P. O. Oddville ; was
born in Harrison County, Ky., April 16, 1834 ; son of

Peter and Nancy (Dunn) Whiteker ; he, born in Harri-

son County in 1783, was a Methodist minister, and died

Sept. 33, 1856, his parents being John and Nancy
Whiteker, natives of Maryland, who came to Kentucky
at an early day; she, born in Harrison County, and died

in 1862, at the age of sixty years, daughter of Archie

and Elizabeth Dunn, of Maryland. Peter and Nancy
Whiteker had thirteen children. Asa F. received his

education in the schools of his native county, and at the

age of twenty-one years began farming, at the same
time working at the carpenters' trade, which he contin-

ued until 1857, when he engaged in the mercantile

business at Oddville, where he remained until 1869,

when he removed to Cynthiana and also sold goods. In

1877 he returned to Oddville, and again engaged in sell-

ing goods until 1879, since which time he has been

engaged in farmingf, he owning a snug little farm of

sixty acres of choice land. In August, 1844, he married

Frances J. White ; born in Harrison County, Jan. 10,

1825; daughter of Nicholas and Frances White, natives

of Madison County, Ky. Mrs. Whiteker died March

7, 1860. June 10, 1800, Mr. Whiteker married Mary E.

Duncan, daughter of Robert and Cynthia (McLean)

Duncan, of Ohio ; from which union there have been

born three children, two living : Mary L. and Susan J.

Mr. Whiteker has been Postmaster at Oddville for six-

teen years, and was Coroner of the county eight years.

He is a Knight Templar and an Odd Fellow, having

filled all the chairs in the latter ; he is a Derrioorat, and

himself and wife are members of the Methodist Episco-

pal Church South.

JAMES H. WAITS, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., June 30, 1843 ; son of

Richard and Sarah (Van Djren) Waits ; he, a native of

Nicholas County, Ky., born July 12, 1801; she of Harri-

son County, born Jan. 10, 1818. Mr. Waits received

his education in the common schools of his native coun-

ty, and began life as a farmer, which occupation he has

continued throughout life, and now owns a beautiful and
productive farm of 200 acres of land. He was married

in Harrison County, Nov. 29, 1864, to Nancy E. Martin
;

born in Harrison County, May 25, 1845 ; daughter of

Edmond and Elizabeth Martin, both natives of Harrison

County. Mrs. Waits died July 4, 1866. Sept. 16, 1875,

Mr. Waits married Mary Elliott, born Jan. 24, 1844, in

Fayette County, Ky.; daughter of A. Smith Elliott, of

Fayette. Two children have blessed this union: Martha
E., born Aug. 6, 1877 ; and Saliy L., born Oct. 15, 1878.

Mr. Waits is a member of the Christian Church, and his

wife is a Presbyterian. He is a Republican.

JAMES M. WHITE, farmer and blacksmith; P. O.

Cynthiana; was born in Harrison County, Ky., April 21,

1833, son of Nicholas and Frances (Green) Wh t^; he, born

in Georgia, Aug. 7, 1789, a farmer and blacksmith, and
dying in 1861; she, born in Madison County, Ky., in

1800, and dying in 1862; were the parents of nine chil-

dren. Our subject was educated in the schools of his

native county, and when a youth learned the trade of

blacksmithing, at Oddville; and after working at that

business five years began farming, and is at present fol-

lowing both occupations, he having a sung little farm of

fifty-five and one-half acres of good land. In 1855, in

Owen County, Ky., he married Miss Evelina Lucas, born

in Ohio, Marcii 30, 1838, daughter of John B. and Mary
(Robb) Lucas, natives of Pennsylvania, he dying in 1851,

aged forty-four years, and she in 1845, aged thirty-nine

years. Eleven children have gladdened the household of

Mr. White, eight of whom are living: William G., Eliza

E., Laura B., Eveline, Mary F., James E., Adie, Mattie

M. Mr. Whito, wife and entire family are members of

the Methodist Church. He is a member of the Honor-

able Fraternity of Ancient, Free and Accepted Masons,

and a Damocrat.

N. B. WILSON, firmer; P. O. Cynthiana; is a native

of Harrison County, and son of John C. and Corrilla

(Durbin) Wilson
; he was bora January, 1837 ; he lived

with his parents to the age of twenty-one, receiving an

education from the schools of his native county, and also

attended the Farmer's College at Cincinnati, graduating

from the same in 1850 ; after his return from college he

taught school for two terms of nine months each; in

1860 he married Miry E., a native of Harrison Countv,

and daughter of R chard and Sarah (Van Djre.i) Waits;

->K^
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they are the parents of six children : Robert D., Hattie

L., Maggie, Durbin, Sally V., and Richard N.; one year

previous to his marriage, he bought the farm upon which

he now resides, having 163 acres of choice land; himself

and family are members of the Christian Church at In-

dian Creek, he being an elder of the same; he is a mem-
ber of the Grangers Lodge, No. 154-, at Cynthiana, and

now is one of the executive committee of the Kentucky
State Grange; he has been a deputy surveyor and deputy

clerk for several years, and in politics is a Democrat.

JOHN C. WILSON, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; is

the son of Rob't and Sally (Sweeney) Wilson. He was

born in Harrison County, one half mile from his present

residence, in 1810. He spent his earlier days with his

parents in receiving a limited common school education,

and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In

1835 he married Miss Corrilla Durbin, a native of Har-

rison County, and the daughter of Daniel and Betsey

Durbin. She was born in 1813 and died in 1845. By
this union they were blessed with four children, one of

whom still living, viz. : N. B. Wilson. In 1850 he mar-

ried a second time to Miss Jane Trimble, a native of

Harrison County and daughter of John Trimble. She

was born in the year 1800 and died in 1854. In 1807 he

married his third wife, Mary L. Hamilton, the daughter

of Samuel and Mary Veach. Mr. Wilson has followed

the occupation of farming during his life, and is now the

owner of 350 acres of choice land, called " Cedar

Avenue." He is an enterprising citizen of his native

county, and bears a name and reputation which is be-

yond reproach; now in the later years of his life he is

surrounded with those comforts and enjoying those pleas-

ures that are ever the result of honesty, industry and

economy. He and his wife are members of the Christian

church at Indian Creek, and in polities he is united with

the Democratic party.

J. W. WORNALL, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; born

in Harrison County, December, 1834; is a son of Thomas

Wornall, of Clark County, and a grandson of Thomas

Wornall, Sr., a native of Virginia. Thomas Wornall,

Jr., married Rebecca Bean, daughter of John and Eva

Bean, of Virginia, by whom he had three children. J.

W. Wornall, the subject of this notice, received his edu-

cation from the common schools of Harrison County,

spending his early life upon the farm. On April 31,

1857, he married, in Bourbon County, Sophia M., daughter

of Major John and Elizabeth (Keller) Edwards. A more

complete sketch of Major John Edwards will be found in

the history of Bourbon County. Mr. Wornall was for two

years engaged in the distilling business, but has returned

to farming, wbich he prosecutes with success. He is a

Democrat in politics. Mrs. Wornall is a member of the

Presbyterian Church.

RICHARD WAITS, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana ; was

born in Nicholas County, July 13, 1801. He is the son

of John Waits (see sketch of Elizabeth Martin. He re-

ceived his education from the common schools of Harri-

son County. At the age of 31, began farming on his own

account, which he still continues. He has been twice

married ; in Bourbon County, Nov. 4, 1830, to Miss Mary
Parker, of Bourbon County, born in 1811, and died in

Aug. 10, 1833 ; in 1839, in Harrison County, he married

Miss Sarah Van Deren, a native of Harrison County, born

Jan. 10, 1818. They have five children: Mary E., James

H., John L., Maggie and Alfred V. He and family are

members of the Christian church. He is a Republican.

Mr. Waits is a man of sterling qualities, which has en-

deared him to the community, of which he has been a

member so long. He has always been a hard-working

man ; now in the later years of his life he is surrounded

with those comforts, and enjoying those pleasures, that

are ever the result of honesty, industry and economy.
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SYLVAN DELL PRECINCT.

SAMUEL W. CRACRAFT, farmer; P. O. Sylvan

Dell; born in Mason County, March 11, 1818; his grand-

father, Thomas Cracraft, came from Ireland and settled

in Virginia; removed to Kentucky very early, when the

Indians were still troublesome; died in Kentucky up-

wards of four score years of age; his father, Joseph Cra-

craft, came from Virginia; he was a cooper by trade as

well as farmer; died in Robertson County, aged about 84

years. Our subject, Samuel W. Cracraft, was raised a farm-

er; he also now deals pretty extensively in leaf tobacco; in

the year 1843 he married Elizabeth, daughter of Wm.
and Fannie (Griffin) Smith, of Bourbon County; he is

the father of seven children, six of whom are living, viz:

Mary Ellen, married first to Wash Taylor, and now to

James Smith, of Nicholas County; Sarah, married to

Ja ). McGuire, of Robertson County; "William, living in

Texas; Thomas, married to Frances Minor; and Fannie,

married to John Argo; both himself and wife' are mem-

bers of the Irvinsville Baptist Church; enlisted in the

Southern army in the fall of 1861, under Capt. Cameron,

1st batallion of Kentucky Cavalry, Humphrey Marshall's

Division. Was in the two engagements at Middle Cut

and Princeton, Va.; at this time, being over age, he got

discharged and returned home; is a Democrat, a member

of Fair Play Grange, and a demitted member of the Mt.

Olivet Masonic Lodge.

LAFAYETTE J. DAVIS, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana;

born in Harrison County, Sept. 15, 1834; his grandfather,

James Davis, came from Virginia or Pennsylvania when

quite small; he died March 1, 1857, aged seventy-one; he

was a member of the Christian Church for forty-five

years, being one of the first to embrace the doctrine of

that sect. William Mo. Davis, father of our subject, was

born Dec. 26, 1811, and was raised as a farmer and cooper;

he served as Magistrate of Sylvan Dell Precinct from

1858 to 1863; he held a responsible office in the State

militia; he died July 3, 1874. L. J. Davis was married

Oct. 1858, to Mary E., daughter of Peter and Agnes

(Beaton) Pope, and granddaughter of John Beaton, all

of Harrison County; four children have blessed their

union, all of whom still live, named and aged respect-

ively: John W., born Oct. 17, 1859; Sarah A., Feb.

18, 1861 ; Wright, March 17, 1865 ;
Mary A., May

23, 1867. Mr. Davis now holds the positions of Dea-

con and Clerk of the Republican Christian Church, of

which his wife and daughter are likewise members; he

is now Chaplain of Fair Play Grange; he was appointed

to fill out the unexpired term in the magistracy of N. 0.

Marsh, who was elected in 1874, and resigned in 1876;

his suffrage has always been exercised in aid of the

Democratic, party.

GREEN D. EVANS, farmer ; P. O. Sylvan Dell; was

born in the house where he now resides, April 10, 1826.

His grandfather, Walter Evans, came from Maryland,

and settled at Summit Station, in Nicholas County, whore

it was not safe for settlers to reside except when banded

together for mutual protection. When the Indians made

an attack upon Summit Station, Walter Evans was one

of the party who followed them to the Ohio River, where

they discovered them in the act of crossing the river in

their canoes. He died in Harrison, June 20, 1846, aged

eighty years. David Evans, father of our subject, was

born in Nicholas County, in 1795. He was serving ap-

prenticeship as blacksmith in Cynthiana at time of war

of 1812-15. He stood three drafts, and drew clear each

time. He died in 1865. G. D. Evans was raised as a

farmer. On Dec. 13, 1855, he married Emeline, daugh-

ter of James and Elizabeth (Lennox) Davis, of Hanisou,

County, who has borne him eight children, five of whom

are living; James D., Sallie K., David, Elizabeth, and Lu-

ther Greeu. Mr. and Mrs. Davis are members of the Re-

publican Christain Church. He is now Treasurer of Fair

Play Lodge of the Order of Patrons of Husbandry. In

politics, he is a Democrat.

HENRY H. HARDING, farmer; P. O. Shady Nook;

born in Harrison Ooumy, Jan. 31, 1831; his grandfather,

Thomas Harding, came from North Carolii.a at an early

day, and settled in Nicholas County, near Hooktown,

where he resided till he fell a victim in 1833 to that

dreaded scourge, the cholera; his father, Wm. Harding,

survived the year of the great epidemic, and was carried

ofi" in 1835 by consumption. Henry H. Harding was

raised on a farm and acquired the trade of cooper before

he reached his majority; he married first Nancy E.,

daughter of William and Mary (Maffit) Bishop, of Har-

rison County; four children were born to them, two of

whom, Napoleon B. and Samantha Ann, are living; he

next married Elizabeth, daughter of Jno. and Visa (Fri-

man) Florence, of Harrison County; they have eight

children, all living, named and aged respectively: Thom-
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as McF. 20; Berry M. 18; Jno. W. 15; Visa W. 13; Ira

Ecty 12; Luther 7; Nannie M. 5; Henry N. 2; self and

wife members of Republican Christian Church. Mr.

Harding is a member of the Orient (Masonic) Lodge, of

Nicholas County, in which Lodge he now holds the ofRce

of .Junior Warden; in 1861 he was elected Constable by

the Republican party and served for five ye.irs.

JOSEPH MUNTZ, Jr., farmer, P. O. Oddville

;

born in Harrison County, Oct. 1, 1812. His grand-

father, Jacob Muntz, was a native of Prussia, and serv-

ed in the Austrian Lancers against Napoleon. His

father, Joseph Muntz, Sr., is a native of Baden, Ger-

many, where he was born .June 21, 1809 ; came to New
Orleans in 1836, and married Lavinia Davis, of Penn-

sylvania. Volunteered for the Mexican war in 1846, but

as the troops were all cavalry and he had never ridden

a horse, he could not go. He and his wife are still living

with their son. Joseph Muntz, Jr., of whom we write,

enlisted in the Union Army, July 12, 1862, under Capt.

Wm. Bradley, Co. D. 7th, Ky. Cavalry. Six days after,

and before he had been sworn in, he was taken prisoner

at the first Battle of Cyntiiiana, by Morgan's men and

paroled ; was afterward sent to Camp Chase, Ohio, for

exchange, but returned eighteen days after, walking the

entire distance home. Remained in Harrison County

till June, 1863, when he left to join his regiment. He
was regularly mustered into service in October 1863, in the

same company in which he enlisted at Nashville, Tenn.

Was in several engagements in East Tennessee, among

them Mossy Creek, Beaver Dam and others; was in Res-

aca, Ga., when Hood attacked the place. At Chat-

tanooga, Ga., had his feet badly burned while asleep be-

fore the fire, having them encased in a gum blanket.

After remaining in the hospital ten days, he again join-

ed his company at Nashville, Tenn., came to Louisville

with them, where they were re-equipped with horses and

sent back to Nashville. He remained in the South till

the close of the war, was in many skirmishes, endured

several forced marches, in one of which they covered three

hundred miles in six days. Was in Forsythe, Ga., with

a scouting party of eighteen when a special train arrived

bearing Gen. Cobb and staff, with flag of truce indicative

of the surrender of the Southern Army. Was after-

wards among the party detailed for the purpose of cap-

turing Jeiferson Davis. Returned home and was mus-

tered out July 10, 1865. In May, 1867, he married

Armilla White, daughter of James and Elizabeth (Lenox)

Davis, who had two children at the time of her marriage,

Wm. Yaucy, and Mary J. By her he is the father of

six children, all of whom are living; Joseph A., born

Aug. 21, 1868; James Louie, April 29, 1871; Laura E.,

Oct. 9, 1872; Roy Harlan, June 18, 1874; Geo. Nicholas,

Feb. 20, 1878; Walter F., Jan. 23, 1880. His wife

died Oct. 2, 1881, and was a member of Salem Christian

Church. Although opposed to secession, he has always

been a Democrat in principle. He now holds several

.important positions of honor and trust, among which is

the presidency of the Oddville and Beaver Baptist

Church Turnpike Company. He is a member of the Fair

Play Grange.

NICHOLAS C. MARSH, farmer; P. O. Oddville; was

born in Harrison County, Aug. 4, 1833; his grandfather,

Thomas Marsh, came from Maryland, near Baltimore, in

the latter part of the eighteenth century, and settled in

Bourbon County ; afterwards moved to Nicholas,

thence to Harrison, where he died at the advanced age

of eighty-four. Nathan 0. Marsh, father of our sub-

ject, was born in Bourbon County, April 22, 1808;

was elected Magistrate of Harrison, under the old

Constitution, about 1849; he is still living, now a res-

ident of Bracken County. Nicholas C. Marsh married,

April 22, 1856, Mary G., daughter of Augustus F. and

Sally Ann (Browning) Holton; they have five living

children, named and aged as follows: Augustus F., born

May 5, 1862; Matilda F., April 39, 1865; Thomas,

July 8, 1870; John D., Dec. 1, 1872; James H., July

34, 1879; himself and wife are members of the Re-

publican Christian Church; he is a member of the Blue

Lodge (Masonic) at Cynthiana, and is also a Royal

Arch Mason in the Chapter Lodge at the same place

;

was appointed by the Governor to fill out the unexpired

term of Squire Whittaker's magistracy; at the expiration

of this time he was elected by the people to the office

for four years; served two years and resigned; he has

also filled the local ofiices of School Trustee, etc.; he votes

the Democratic ticket.

DAVID H. RAYMOND, farmer ; P. O. Oddville; was

born in Harrison County, Aug. 18, 1818 ; his grandfather

Raymond came from England and settled in Virginia;

his father came from Culpepper County, Va., and settled

in Mason County, Ky.; he served five years in the Revo-

lutionary war for the Independence of the United States;

lie was at the battle of Yorktown, and witnessed the sur-

render of Cornwallis; he served as Magistrate for several

years, and had four sons that held the same office; he re-

ceived the office of Sheriff under the old constitution, being

the oldest Magistrate in the county; on his farm, now occu-

pied by his son David H., there are apple trees still bearing

which were set out before he moved to the place, ninety

years ago. David H. Raymond, the subject of this sketch,

1.
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was raised a farmer, which occupation he still follows; he

married, Sept. 34, 1840, Mary Ann, daughter of Martin

and Sallia (Hardin) Van Hook, of Harrison County, by

whom he had eight children, five of whom survive: Sa-

rah, Charles M., Amanda F., John D., and Annie D. B.;

his wife died March 35, 1881; she was a member of the

Repub'icui Christian Church, while he is in communion
with the Beaver Greek Baptist Church. His career as a

servant of the people began in 1840, when he was elected

Constable; he served one year and resigned on account

of other business; in 1851 he was elected as Magistrate

in his own precinct over several opponents; this was the

first election under the new constitution; he was elected

by the Kiiow-Nothing party to represent Harrison Coun-

ty in the Legislature; he was a candidate for the same

honor against Dr. Beale, but was defeated; he was a can-

didate for Deputy Sheriff in 1854 with George Lemon,

and carried the east side of the river by about 300 ma-

joritv; he sutfdred defeat, however, his opponent, John

B3rry, carrying the west side by perhaps six hundred

vjtes. In politics, he is Democratic.

DAVID ROSS, farmer; P. 0. Shady Nook; is a na-

tive of Harrison County, where he was born Dec. 5, 1833;

his grandfather, James Ross, was a native of Ireland,

whence he emigrated about 1787, and settled in Harrison

County; he was one of its first settlers; his father, David

Ross, Sr., was but two and a half years old when he came

to Kentucky'; being in the vigor of manhood when the

war of 1813-15 broke out, he was among the first to en-

list from Harrison County; he escaped unhurt, and lived

till 1853. David Ross, Jr., was raised on a farm; he

learned the carpenter's and cooper's trades; he gained a

common school education by his own industry; on the

3nd of Oct., 1851, he married Dulcena, daughter of

Thomas and Margaret (Orr) Paxton, and granddaughter

of Jno. Orr, Esq., of Nicholas County; he has five living

children: Mary, born June 33, 1853, and married to W.
H.Pope; Jno. T., Sept. 10, 1854; Granville, May 3, 1857;

Wm. Yancey, April 10, 1863; Victor, Nov. 30, 1869. In

1846, Mr. Ross enlisted in the Mexican war, under Capt.

Jno. Shawhan, Col. Humphrey Marshall's 1st Kentucky

Cavalry, and served twelve months; he was in the battle

of Buena Vista, under Gen. Taylor and acted principally

as scout and guard; in 1878, he was elected to the Mag-

istracy of Sylvan Dell Precinct, over Lafayette Davis,

which office he now holds; he is a member of the Repub-

lican Christian Church; politics. Democrat.

JACOB TAYLOR, farmer; P. 0. Oddville; was born

in Harrison County, June 15, 1818; his grandfather, Ja-

cob Maybrier, was a foreigner, and weaver by trade; he

came to Kentucky very early, and enlisted while here in

the war of 1813-15; he was in one engagement. His

father, Jacob Taylor, came to Kentucky from Ohio, and

died in Harrison County in 1818,. aged about thirty-five;

his son Jacob, whose sketch is here recorded, passed his

youth as a farmer's boy; he married Elizabeth, daughter

of Benjamin and Rebecca (Padgett) Allen, of Mason
County, by whom he was the father of six children, four

of whom are living: '^Benjamin, aged forty-two; Wil-

liam, forty ; John, thirty-three ; Rebecca Ellen, thir-

ty-five; he has fourteen living grandchildren. Mr. Tay-

lor has been a widower since Feb. 18, 1848; is.amem-

ber of Salem Christian Church and Democratic in politics.

About the year 1840 he was thrown from a horse and

suffered a fracture of the left thigh bone, which, from

having been improperly set by the attending physician,

has never united, and now presents the peculiar feature

of a joint between the knee and hip; being unable to

sustain his weight upon that limb it has rendered him a

cripple for life. During the war he was arrested for the

crime of being a Southern sympathizer. Two of his

sons were in the Confederate army; one returned, the

other died at Harper's Ferry of small-pox, near the begin-

ning of the war.

P. P. WYLES, farmer, P. O. Oddville; lorn in

Mecklenburg County, Va., April 7, 1844. His grand-

father Hebbon Wyles, was Scotch-Irish descent and mar-

ried an English lady. His maternal grandfather, Peter

Puryear for whom our subject was named, was a na-

tive of France, whence he emigrated after the French

Revolution and married a Virginia lady; he took an

active part in the war of 1813-15. His father, Leroy B.

Wyles, was a native Virginian; was in the Confederate

army in the late war; had also three sons in the same

army, of whom P. P. was the youngest; had command
of a wagon train; was killed by a falling tree about 1875.

P. P. Wyles, the subject of this sketch was raised on his

father's farm, receiving the rudiments of an education

from the common schools. When the war broke out in

1861 he was among the first to enlist in the cause of the

South, being at that time but little over sixteen years of

age. His company, the Clarksville Blues, was the first

southern troops that went from Mecklenburg County,

and was commanded by Capt. George Hedges. They

were placed in the 14th Virginia Regiment, under Col.

Hodges, Armstead's Brigade, Pickett's Division of Lee's

army of Northern Virginia. They were in several s'dr-

mishes, and fought their first regular battle at Seven

Pines. At the battle of Malvern Hill, thirty days after,

our hero lost his right arm by a shell. He was conveyed
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to the rear in an ambulance, but could not get his arm

amputated until twenty-four hours after. He remained

in the hospital at the Old Union Hotel in Richmond, for

two weeks, when he went home on an indefinite furlough,

and was never iu active service again, though he visited

his old regiment on several occasions. He was present

when Dahlgren and Kilpatrick attempted to liberate

the prisoners at Richmond. After the war he began to feel

the neccesity of an education and to perfect it he enter-

ed Randolph Mason College, of his native County, which

he attended for two and one-half years, defraying his

expenses by teaching in the prepartory department. At
the end of the two and a-half years, the site of the col-

lege was moved from his county, and not having the nec-

essary means to follow it, he was obliged to give up

school. About this time he came to Kentucky, in answer

to an advertisement for a teacher at Lair's Station in

Harrison County. He secured the position and has been

engaged in teaching every year since up to 1879. In

1878 he was elected School Commissioner of Harrison

County, which office he now fills. In 1870 he married

Meribah daughter of Joseph and Charlotte (McCauley)

Sipe, of Harrison County. Five children have been

born to them, the dates of whose births are as follows :

Herbert, Oct. 35, 1871; Leroy, Sept. 30, 1873; Joseph

W., Feb. 11, 1876; Emma A., March 6, 1878; Jno. P.,

Feb. 15, 1881. Himself and wife are members of Beaver

Baptist Church. He is also a member of Beaver Lodge

of Good Templars. Politics, Democrat.

^
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RICHLAND PRECINCT.

SMITH ARNOLD, farmer; P. O. Oddville; is a native

of Harrison County, Ky., and the son of Wm. and Polly

Arnold. He was born Dec. 15, 18b6. His father is a na-

tive of Virginia. He was born in 1807. In 1815 he re-

moved to Harrison County, Ky., with his parents, where

Qe received his education. In 1834 he married Polly A.

King, who has borne him twelve children, eleven of

whom are living. He is now living upon his farm. Smith

Arnold lived with his parents until he was 18 years of age,

when he married Nancy Whalin, who has borne him

seven children, six of whom are living, viz.: Joseph,

Polly A., William, Clarinda F., Emma, and Nancy S.

The first three years of his married life were spent upon

a rented farm. In 1858 he bought a farm of 52 acres,

and has since added to it, now having 610 acres. Upon
his farm he makes stock raising a specialty. In connec-

tion with his farm he carried on mercantile business for

four years. He spends part of his time in buying and

selling leaf tobacco. In the year 1880 he bought and

sold over 325,000 pounds, for which he paid about $32,-

000. He is a Democrat. His wife is a member of the

Methodist church. He commenced life a poor man
;

when he first bought his farm, he was compelled to give

nis only horse and hog to get possession, and to work

one day himself, to gain the use of a horse for one day in

clearing his premises. By his hard work, and studied

economy he has gained a good property, and a name and

reputation which is beyond reproach.

WILLIAM B. ARNOLD, miller; P. O. Havilands-

ville; is a native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of

Eli'ah and Anna (Hickman) Arnold. He was born in

1837, and in 1853 married Miss Anna M. Henry, a na-

tive of Bourbon County, Ky. They are the parents of

eight children: Lulu L., John P., Amanda, Ida, Sarah,

Elijah, Henry and Betty. The first seventeen years of

our subject's life was spent in receiving an education

and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm; in

1854 he commenced farming, whieh he followed for about

nine years, when he purchased the steam grist mill and

wool factory at Havilandsville, which he continues to be

the successful manager of, employing a number of men

and doing a large business; his wife died in 1879, and

his father died when he was quite young, leaving him de-

pendant upon his own resources, and by his studied econ-

omy and business habits he has succeeded in gaining a

good property, and a name and reputation which is be-

yond reproach. Now, in the later years of his life, he is

surrounded with those comforts and enjoying those pleas-

ures that are ever the result of honesty, industry and

economy.

JOHN ASBURY, farmer ; P. O. Antioch Mills ; is a

native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of Clayton and

Nancy (Mattox) Asbury. He was born Jan. 13, 1845.

He lived with his parents up to the time of the war,

when he enlisted in the 40th Regt., Co. G, K. Vs, of the

Confederate Army. In 18C5 he followed the occupation

of farming upon a rented farm. In 1867 he bought twenty

acres of land, which he tilled until 1869. At that time

he married Nancy E. Whitteker, who has borne him six

children: Minnie E., Robert E., Anna J., John W., Emma
F., and Benton S. He spent the first year of his married

life upon his father-in-law's farm. In 1871 he bought

150 acres of land, and in 1880 added to it 187 acres, now
having 337 acres, upon which he now resides. Upon his

farm he raises all of the principal crops, and is making

stock-raising a specialty, his attention in this depart-

partment being turned principally to the thoroughbred

"short horn." He is a Republican, and cast his first

presidential vote for James A. G-arfield. He is a member

of the Christian Church at Antioch. His wife is a mem-
ber of the Methodist Church at Mt. Vernon.

ALFRED BARLOW, farmer; P. O. Oddville; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Oct. 30, 1815, and is the

son of Eliphalet and Mildred (Barlow) Barlow. His fa-

ther was born in Virginia June 1, 1777, and raised in

Wilkes County, N. C. In the year 1800 he became a

resident of Scott County, Ky., and in the year 1801

was married to the lady named. Nine children were

born to them, four of whom are now living : Lewis,

Tompkins, Elizabeth and Alfred. Mr. Barlow followed

farming and carpentering in Scott County for 2 years, and

then removed to Nicholas County, and there engaged in

farming until 1807, when he removed to Harrison Coun-

ty, where he resided until his death, which occurred in

1868, on March 20. His mother was a native of Virgin-

ia; she became a resident of Nicholas County by the

removal of her parents to Kentucky, and died in Harri-

son county in 1863. The early life of Alfred was spent

on his father's farm. Jan. 22, 1839, he married America

Barnes, But two of the five children of this union are
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now living, viz: Tompkins and Lauretta. In 1849, his

wife died. In 1850, he married a sister to his first wife,

Miss Nancy A. Barnes. Six children were the fruits of

this marriage, four of whom are now living, viz: Stephen

E., Henry B., America F., and Maria E. Mr. Barlow

has been a farmer by occupation, and now owns a farm

of 170 acres. Himself and family are members of the

Methodist church, and he is a member of Lodge No.

199, of the Grange organization. In politics he is a

Democrat, and he has held the office of Justice of the

Peace foreleven consecutive years. The church of which

he and family are members, is known as the Barlow

Church, and the school in his district also bears his name.

He is an active, public spirited man, and much of the

improvement in his neighborhood is due to his enterprise

and liberality.

D. F. BRANNOCK, M. D., farmer ; P. O. Antioch

Mills ; is a native of Harrison County, Ky., son of James
and Elizabeth (Shanks) Brannock. He was born Feb. 21,

1823. His father, James Brannock, was also a native of

Hariison County. He was born 1796. During his earlier

days worked at the trade of stone mason, and afterward

followed farming until the time of his death, which occur-

red in 1871, aged seventy-five years. His wife was born

December, 1800, in Bourbon County, Ky.; is now living in

Missouri. His father, Robert, was one of the first set-

tlers of Harrison County. He was born in 1770, and

died in 1850. D. F. Brannock lived with his parents in

Harrison County till the age of twenty-two, going to

school and assisting his father in farming. In 1844 he

was married to Susan K. Ginn. He then commenced
studying medicine and attending lectures at the Transyl-

vania University, Lexington, Ky. Since His graduation

he has practiced medicine until 1876, when he gave his

attention to his farm of 385 acres, upon which he now re-

sides. He is a Damocrat; himself and family are mem-
bers of the Methodist Church. His wife has borne him

six children, five of whom are now living : James L.,

married and living in Brown County, O.; William H., M.

D., married and living in Brooksville, Ky.; Benjamin B.,

M. D., married and living in Washington County, Ind.;

George and David N., now residing at home with their

parents.

GEO. CUMMINGS, farmer ; P. O. Antioch Mills ; is

a native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of Joseph and

Lydia (Fleming) Cummings. He was born Aug. 8,

1810. His father was a native of Maryland. When
quite young he moved with his parents to Bourbon

County, Ky., who were among the earlier settlers. He
was then married to Lydia Fleming, who bore him thirteen

children, all of whom are now living, and having large

families of their own. He followed farming to the time

of his death, which occurred in 1833, aged eighty-

seven years. His wife died in 1824, aged fifty years.

Geo. Cummings lived his earlier life with his parents,

working on the farm and hunting. In 1831 he married

Sarah Adams, who was a native of Harrison County,

Ky. She was born in 1808 and died in 1866. She bore

him thirteen children, seven of whom are living, viz :

Joseph F., Catharine E., Lydia M., Sarah J., John, Rob-

ert and Thomas. He bought his farm in 1835, still con-

tinuing the management of it. In 1875 he again mar-

ked, to Sarah McLaughlin, who has borne him one child,

Anna W. He has a farm of 343 acres, raising all the

principal crops, making tobacco a specialty. During

his younger days he took great delight and made great

success in hunting ; he is a member of the Christian

Church ; he is a Democrat.

JOHN CRISWELL, farmer ; P. O. Richland ; was

born Nov. 17, 1826, in Henry County, Ky., and is the son

of William and Catharine (Lurrson) Criswell, the former

born in Scott County, Ky., in 1802, and has followed

farming during his life. He now resides in Harrison

County, and with his wife, they make their home with

their sons, John and David. John resided with his pa-

rents until 1844, when he left home and began work by
the month, on a farm in Harrison County. In 1849 he

bought a farm of 300 acres, which he worked until 1858,

when he removed to Illinois, but in 1859 returned to

Harrison County, where he bought a farm of 167 acres,

which he at once began improving, and to which he has

since added, until he now has 638 acres. In 1848 he mar-

ried Miss Lucinda Rankin. Eleven children have been
born to them, nine of which are living, as follows :

Willis, Nancy R., Sarah C, James W., David A., Henry
N., John T., Robert L., George N., beside their adopted

child, Lucy N. Lawson. Politically, Mr. Criswell is a

Democrat, and has taken quite an active part in political

affairs. Himself and family are members of the Metho-
dist Church. When first becoming a resident of Harrison

County, Mr. Criswell was a poor man, but by his studied

economy and excellent business habits, coupled with a

firm determination to succeed, he has accumulated a fine

property, and has won the esteem of the community
where he resides.

DAVID CRISWELL, farmer; P. O. Richland; was
born Jan. 27, 1827, in Henry County, Ky., and is the son

of William and Catharine (Lawson) Criswell; his father

was born in Scott County, Ky., in 1802; he subsequently

moved to Harrison County. His mother was born in
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Henry County, Ky., in 1802. The old people are still

living, and make their home with Joseph and his brother

John. In 1856 Joseph was married to Miss Polly Right,

who bore him six children, four of whom are living:

William T., John L., Lucinda A. and Luther. Mr. C.

has a farm of 375 acres, and makes the growing of to-

bacco a specialty. Himself and family are members of

the M. E. Church, and in politics he is a Democrat.

They trace their genealogy back to the old pioneers of

Kentucky, and stand in the community now, as they did

then, honorable, industrious and respected people.

WM. T. CASEY, farmer; P. O. Havilandsville; is a na-

tive of Harrison County, Ky., and son of Wm. H. and

Nancy (King) Casey. He was born in 1839; his father

was a native of Harrison county, Ky. ; he was always a

farmer; he died in 1868, being 73 years of age; his

wife was also a native of Harrison County; she bore him

13 children, all of whom are living; she died in 1849,

aged 58 years. Mr. Casey spent his boyhood days upon

his father's farm, receiving his education and assisting

in tilling the soil. In 1860 he married Anna F. Black-

burn, who has borne him nine children, eight of whom
are living, viz: James T., John H., William S., Mildred,

David, Sidney J., Adia, and Joseph D. In I860 he

bought a farm of 160 acres, upon which he raises all of

the principal crops, making tobacco a specialty. Him-

self and family are members of the Baptist Church; he

is a member of the order of A., F. & A. M. of Claysville

Lodge; he is a Democrat.

DAVID H. COLVILL, farmer; P. 0. Havilandsville;

a native of Bourbon County, Ky., and son of William

and Mary (Hunter) Colvill; was born Feb. 39, 1833.

William, his father, was born in Pennsylvania, and in

1790, being three years of age, moved with his parents to

Harrison County, Ky., who followed farming until the

time of their death. He died in 1855, aged 59 years;

his wife died in 1871, aged 60 years. His father was one

of the early settlers of Harrison County. David received

his education in Mason County, and until he was twenty-

four years of age assisted his father in farming. In 1857

was married to Lydia F. Miller; he bought a farm of 141

acres, upon whieh he is now living, and continues the

management of the same. Having no children of their

own, they have adopted and raised six orphan children.

He is a Democrat. His wife is a member of the Meth-

odist Church near Havilandsville.

HENRY ECKLER, farmer ; P. 0. Richland ; was

born Feb. 5, 1830, in Harrison County, Ky., and is the

son of John and Elizabeth (Macneese) Eckler. He lived

with his parents until the age of 31, when he began

working on a farm by the month, at which he continued

until 1843 ; then rented a farm till 1847, when he bought

a farm, selling the same in 1849. In 1857 he repur-

chased his farm by reason of failure of the buyer to pay

for it. In 1858 he married Mrs. Elizabeth Hodges, who
has borne him one child, John R. In 1860 he bought a

farm of Wm. Warner and lived on the same until 1874.

In 1876 he bought the farm of 184 acres, where he now
lives. His principal productions are wheat, rye and to-

bacco. Himself and family are members of the Baptist

Church, and he at one time was a member of the Granger

organization. Politically, he is a Democrat. Mrs. Eck-

ler was formerlv Miss Elizabeth Arnold, daughter of

Samuel and Rebecca (Hetch) Arnold. She is a native

of Harrison County, and was bora March 31, 1833, and

was married to Thomas Hodges, who died in 1853, and

in 1858 she married Mr. Ejkler, as above stated.

W. D. HICKMAN, merchant; P. O. Havilandsville; is

a native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of J. B. and

Susan Hickman. He was born in November, 1843. His

boyhood days were spent at home, receiving an educa-

tion and assisting his father in the duties of his farm.

In 1863 he married Jane D. Garrett, and commenced

work for himself by teaming and farming. In 1871 he

commenced mercantile business in Havilandsville, where

he now lives, and continues his business in the store.

He is politically a radical. His wife is a member of the

Methodist Church. They are the parents of seven

children, viz: Nora, Jesse, Wm. G., Susie, Lotta, Wal-

ter and Mattie. Mr. Hickman has, by his business hab-

its and fair dealing, established a trade and a reputation

which is an honor to himself and to the citizens in the

community of which he is a part.

JAMES A. HAVILAND, farmer ; P. O. Havilands-

ville ; was born in Harrison County, Ky., May 6, 1831
;

son of R. S. and Mary C. (Stewart) Haviland. He is a

native of New York State; removed to Harrison County,

Ky., in 1818, and taught school for about ten years,

when he removed to Lexington, and then back to Har-

rison County, and followed, many years previous to his

death, the woolen manufacturing business and merchand-

ising, dying at Havilandsville, Aug. 8, 1858. He had^

eight children. The grandfather, Israel Haviland, and

great-grandfather, James Haviland, were both natives of

New York ; the first a dealer and manufacturer in boots

and shoes, and the latter a farmer. James A., after re-

ceiving his education, became superintendent of his

father's manufacturing business, and followed farming

for twenty years. Our subject is a brother of W. S. Hav-

iland, whose sketch appears in the Cynthiana sketches.
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PAUL C. KING, farmer; P. O. Antiooh Mills; is a

native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of Joshua and

Elizabeth King; he was born March 3, 1830; he lived

with his parents until he was twenty-three years of age,

receiving an education and assisting in tilling the soil of

his father's farm. In 1854, he married Miss Mary Simp-

son, who has borne him seven children, viz: John A.,

Washington, Paul, James W., Cordelia A., Ella and

Elizabeth. His wife died in 1872, aged 35 years. In

1878, he married a second time. Miss Elizabeth Owens;

since 1854 he has followed the occupation of farming,

and is now the owner of 143 acres of land. Himself

and family are members of the Reformed Church, and is

politically a R:pub!ioan. Though not so old a resident

of Richland Precinct as some of his neighbors, there is

little doubt of Mr. King's being one of the leading spirits

in that part of Harrison County.

LUCINDA MATTOX, farmer; P. O. Havilandsville;

daughter of James and Elizabeth Meek; was born in

Carroll County, Ky., in 1815. Her parents also natives

of Kentucky, were of pioneer families of Scott County.

Lucinda was left motherless at the age of five years; her

father, a farmer, died in 1833, aged 52 years. The
daughter married, in 1833, Tobias Mattox, a farmer, own-
er of 60 acres of land, who died in 1871, aged 60 years,

a member of the Methodist Church, to which his widow-

also belongs. Her son, Oscar M., born Nov. 11, 1851, in

Harrison County, has always lived on the home farm, re-

ceiving a good education; marrying in 1872 Mattie S.

Rankin, and taking charge of his mother's farm. He,

too, is a Methodist, a member of Lodge 317 A., F. & A.

M., and a Democrat. He has two children, Carrie W.
and Claude B.

J. WARREN SMITH, farmer ; P. 0. Antiooh Mills
;

is a native of Clark County, Ky. He was born July

24, 1821, and is the son of Patterson and Jane (Darnel)

Smith. His father was born in Montgomery County,

Ky., in Dec. 1793, and died in 1853. His business had

besn farming until fifteen years previous to his death,

when he began preaching. He was a soldier in the war

of 1812, and a man highly respected by his fellow citi-

zens. His mother was also a native of Montgomery
County. She was born in 1798, and was the daughter

of Smith Darnel. She died in 1836. The early life of

J. Warren was spent at hard work ; he remained with his

parents until he was twenty-one years old, and then be-

gan work for himself by hiring out as a farm hand. In

1844 he was married to Miss Amanda Rankin, who bore

him three children, but one of whom is living, viz.,

Thomas Jefferson. His wife died in 1851, and in 1852

he was married to Miss Hester Mitchell. Four children

were born of this union, three of whom are now living:

Joseph W., Mary J., and John W. His second wife

died in 1859, and in 1861 he married Miss Martha Mat-

tox. Six children are the result of this marriage: Elza,

Anson, Sadie, Anna, Edward, and Euphrasia. Mr. Smith

and family are members of the Methodist Church, and

politically he is a Democrat. He owns a farm of 150

acres, and has been an honest, upright citizen. His rep-

utation is that of a man whose honesty and industry are

not questioned, and his word or promise once pledged is

as good as many a richer man's bond.

A. SELLARS, miller ; P. 0. Antioch Mills ; is a na-

tive of Harrison County, and son of John and Lucinda

(Craig) Sellars. He is descended from a family who traces

their genealogy back to the early settlement of Harrison

County. His father was a native of the county, born in

1835 ; spent his life at farming, and died in 1864. Our

subject was born in 1850 ; received his education and

assisted his father while he remained a resident of the old

home. In 1871 he left home and began as salesman in a

dry goods store. In 1875, he was married to Miss Katie

Jones, who has borne him two children. About this date

he also engaged in business on his own account, by pur-

chasing a partnership with his old employer, Mr. E. W.
Martin. In 1876, he bought a flouring mill, and run the

same until 187-8, when it was destroyed by fire. He then

bought his partner's interest in the mercantile business,

and has since conducted it alone. He is an enterprising,

energetic young man, and is following in the footsteps of

the wealthiest men of Harrison County, viz : depending

upon his own industry, economy, and good financiering to

accumulate a fortune, and establish a good business.

L. F. STRUVE, merchant; P. O. Richland; was born

April 14, 1832, in Germany, and is the son of .lohn H.

Struvp. In 1835 he was brought to the United States

by his parents, who settled in Clermont County, O.,

There he grew to manhood, assisted his father at farming

and received his education. In 1853 he embarked in the

mercantile business in East Liberty, O., and in 1855 re-

moved to Pleasant Corners, O., but left there in the fall

of the same year, and removed to Pendleton County,

Ky., and there engaged in business also. In 1858 he re-

moved to Harrison County, Ky, and began at selling

goods. He has also purchased land in different parts

of the county, and at present owns 613 acres. He is

a Democrat and a Knight Templar of the order of A.,

F. and A. M. Lodge, No. 16, of Cynthiana. He is a thor-

ough-going business man, and has taken an active part in

all things pertaining to the general welfare of the com-

^
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munity where he resides. In 1852 he married Miss Julia

A. Carpenter, who has borne him eleven children, six of

whom are living : John M., Lewis D., F. Kirby, Maggie

N., Calviu and Leon.

GEORGE L.TRUAX, physician; P. O.Antioch Mills;

is a native of Virginia, and son of John and Mary (Gal-

breith) Truax; he was born in 1841; his father, John

Truax, is of German descent, and a native of Vermont;

he was born in 1780; when quite a young man he moved

with his parents to Virginia, and in 1843 to Toronto, Ca.,

where he died in 1877; he was in the war of 1813. George

L., when a child moved with parents to Toronto, Ca.,

there attending school until 1857, when he went to the

Victoria College, studying medicine, and graduated in

1861; he then located in Lexington, Mich., and began

the practice of medicine; in 1863 he enlisted in the Con-

federate army, and acted as Assistant Surgeon. At the

close of the war he moved to Harrison County, Ky., and

married Lucinda Craig; they have two adopted children:

Wm. Truax and Minnie Hutchinson. He still follows

the practice of medicine, in which he has been very suc-

cessful; he is a Democrat.

JOHN WOOLERY, farmer ; P. O. Antioch Mills
;

is a native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of Joseph

and Elizabeth (Stump) Woolery. He was born Jan. 3,

1823. His father, Joseph, was born in Bourbon County,

Ky., in 1793. He was always a farmer. He died in

1838. Elizabeth, his wife, was born in Pennsylvania
;

died aged seventy-three years. John "Woolery lived

with his parents, receiving his education until twenty-

one years of age. In 1843 he married Fannie Scott,

who has borne him ten children, viz.: Robert S., James,

Mary F., John T., Bettie, Henry J., William A., Annie

E., Joseph F., and Joseph, the eldest, who at the age of

nineteen enlisted in the Confederate army, holding the

ofHce of Sergeant. He was killed at the battle of Chick-

aniauga. John Woolery, by the death of his parents, in-

herited sixty acres of land, and since has added to it,

now having 140 acres. He was born on the farm on which

he now lives. He is a Democrat ; has always taken an

active part in politics ; at one time held the office of Jus-

tice of the Peace, and now is deputy County Clerk,

which office he has held for twenty-five years. Himself

and family are members of the Christian Church at An-

tioch.

JOHN T. WYATT, farmer ; P. O. Havilandsville, is a

native of Pendleton County, Ky., and son of John and

Delia (McKinney) Wyatt. He was born June 39, 1836.

His father is a native of Pendleton County, Ky.; was born

in 1813. He is following the occupation of farmer in his

native county. He is a Democrat. His wife is a native

of Clark County, Ky.; she was born in 1813. Mr. Wyatt

spent his earlier days with his parents, in receiving an

education and assisting his father in farming ; in 1857

he married Frances Lennox, who bore him four children,

three of whom are living, viz : James R., William O.,

and George M. His wife died in 1869, aged thirty-three

vears. In 1859 he bought a farm of sixty acres in Pendle-

ton County, Ky., which he improved and afterward sold.

In 1865 he moved to Harrison County, and bought farm

of 145 acres, upon which he now resides. In 1870 he

married Anna E. Lennox, own sister of h's first wife, who

has borne him five children, viz : Sidney W., Emma F.,

John F., Lizzie B., and Carrie H. His wife is a member
of the Christian Church. He is a Democrat ; he now
holds the office of Constable ; he has always taken a very

active part in politics.
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BERRY'S STATION PRECINCT.

M. BASKETT, farmer; is a native of Nicholas

County, Ky., and the son of Jesse S. and Edy (Victor)

Baskett. He was born in December, 1843. His people

were among the early settlers of Nicholas County, his

father having been born there in 1802. He was a trader

before his marriage, after which he engaged in farming,

and continued the same until his death, which occurred

in 1877, when he was 75 years of age. His mother was

born in Nicholas County in 1816; she is still living, and

makes her home with her son, the subject of this sketch.

A. M., was four years of age when his parents moved to

Harrison County. He has spent his life at farming, and

now has a farm of 124 acres. In 1873 he was married to

Miss Minerva Stanley; one child has been born to them,

Jesse S. His wife and mother are members of the Bap-

tist Church, and in politics he is a Democrat. Though a

comparatively young man, Mr. Baskett, by his energy

and good business habits, has acquired a fair property

and he is a man of good name and reputation in the

community.

J. B. CROUCH, merchant; P. O. Berry; is a descend-

ant of Harrison County's old pioneers. He being of the

third generation of his people wbo have been residents

of the county. He was born Sept. 20, 1829, and is the

son of Wm. and Nancy (B.wlow) Crouch; the former, a na-

tive of Harrison County, and son of John Crouch, the pio-

neer. William was born in 1803; received his education

in his native county, and spent his life in the occupation of

farming; he died June 17, 1873. The mother of J. B. died

in 1834, aged twenty-five years. The early years of Mr.

Crouch's life were spent with his parents, where he receiv-

ed his education, and assisted his father in the duties of

farming. In 1850, he married Miss Mary Crouch, who

bore him five children, four of whom are living, viz:

Martha, Nancy, Samuel, and Louisa. His wife died in

1868, and in 1871 he was married to Mrs. Eveline G.

Dills, daughter of Thomas A. Rankin. One child has

been born to them. Being raised on a farm, Mr. Crouch

in 1850 began farming on his own account, owning and

working a farm of 140 acres; in 1865, however, he en-

gaged in the mercantile business, to which he has since

devoted his time; he began in Colmansville, as successor

to L. M. Hume, and in 1866 removed to Berry's Station,

remaining, however, but six months, and then he return-

ed to Colmansville and engaged in business in the Ma-

sonic Hall building, which burned in 1869; he fortunate

ly saved his goods, and removed to the building where he

first entered trade; in 1878 he again removed to Berry's

Station and engaged in business with a vigor, honesty,

and determination that has won him success. He now

carries a stock of about $10,000, and does an annual bus-

iness of about $25,000. His store is 100 feet deep by

20 feet frontage; the first floor is occupied as a general

salesroom, and the second is given up to boots and shoes,

hats q,nd caps, ready made clothing, &o. In all respects

Mr. Crouch's place of business would do credit to many

of the larger cities of the Blue Grass region. Political-

ly, Mr. Crouch is a Democrat, and himself and family

are members of the Baptist Church, in which he is a

deacon; he is a member of Taylor Lodge No. 164, A., F.

& A. M., in which he is at present acting as W. M.

E. C. CRENSHAW, farmer; P. O. Berry; was born

in Scott County, Ky., July 7, 1805, and is the son of Joel

and Millicent (Sutton) Crenshaw, both natives of Vir-

ginia and brought by their parents to Scott County when

children; he was born in 1780; was a soldier in the war

of 1812, and died in 1838. Mrs. Crenshaw died in 1869,

aged seventy-six years. E. C. remained with his par-

ents until thirty years of age; he received his educa-

tion in Scott County, and spent the early years of his

manhood assisting his father at farming; in 1835 he was

married to Miss Lizzie Goddard, who has borne him four

children, two of whom are living: Mary E., now wife of

I. N. Walker, and George, who married Miss Keturah

Walker, and who now resides with his parents. In 1835

Mr. Crenshaw began farming on his own account in Scott

County, and in 1836 also run a brickyard near George-

town. In 1837, he removed to-Fayette County; he farmed

there for two years, and then returned to Scott County;

in 1842, he removed to Harrison County; bought a farm

of 260 acres, and has since been engaged in agricultural

pursuits and stock raising, and has added to his farm un-

til he now ownes 510 acres. He is considered one of the

substantial thorough -going men of the county, and is in

every way worthy of the good name and reputation he

bears.

Y. H. DOAN, farmer; P. O. Berry; was born in Har-

rison County, Ky., Dec. 19, 1812, and is the son of Ben-

jamin and Mary (Burks) Doan. They were among the

old pioneers of Harrison County; he was a native of North

«? <• If
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Carolina, and she was bom in Virginia; he was a farmer

by occupation, and at the age of nineteen years became

a resident of Fleming County, Ky., but subsequently

moved to Harrison County, where he died in 1852, aged

eighty-four years. His wife survived him but two years,

she dying in 1854, aged seventy-eight years. Mr. Doan

lived with his parents until their death, having for ten

years previous to their death cared for and supported

them. In 1832 he was married to Miss Nancy Henry;

thirteen children have been born to them, six of whom
are living, viz.: William B., John B., Elizabeth J., Lu-

cretia R., Nancy M., and Margaret A.; his family are

members of the Christian Church. Mr. Doan has spent

his life in Harrison County, engaged in farming; he has a

farm of 230 acres, and is considered one of the substan-

tial, enterprising citizens of the community in which he

resides.

A. J. HICKS, farmer; P. O. Robinson; was born in

Harrison County, .Ian. 28, 1820, and is the son of James

and Millie (Adams) Hicks, who were among the early pi-

oneers of Harrison County. The former was a native of

South Carolina, and born in 1785; he removed to Wayne
County, Ky., after having arrived at manhood, and sub-

sequently to Harrison County, where he died in his sev-

enty-eighth year. The mother of A. J. was born in Vir-

ginia, and died shortly after they became residents of

Harrison County, her death occurring in 1815, in her twen-

ty-second year. A. J. was thrown upon his own re-

sources at the early age of ten years, and as is usual in

many similar instances, his success in life seems to have

been increased by his early hardships. In 1838 he mar-

ried Miss Polly Ashbrook. Six children were born of this

marriage, three of whom are now living: Anna E., James

J., and George. In September, 1852, his wife died; his

second marriage was to Miss Elizabeth Craig, and of the

eleven children born of this marr'age six are now living,

viz.: Edward, Hugh, Alvln, Doctor, Jacob, and Clark P.

About the time of his first marriage Mr. Hicks bought his

present farm of 154 acres, since which his time and labor

have been spent in its improvement and cultivation.

Mrs. Hicks is a member of the Christian Church, and in

his political views, is a Democrat.

W. B. HILDRETH, blacksmith; P. O. Berry; was

born in Bourbon County, Ky., and is the son of Jona-

than and Ann (Crutchfield) Hildreth. His father was a

native of Virginia, and was brought to Bourbon County

by his parents when but a child. He followed farming

as a business, and moved to Harrison County during his

early manhood, where he resided until his death. W. B.

became a resident of Harrison County at the time of his

parents' removal from Bourbon County. He followed

farming during his early manhood, but at thirty-five years

of age he began work at blacksmithing, which he has

since continued. In 1846 he married Miss Martha M.

Penn, who has borne him six children, only two of whom
are now living: Margaret, now wife of T. B. Stone, and

Mary B., who still resides with her parents. Mr. Hil-

dreth is a Democrat, and a member of Taylor Lodge No.

164, A., F. & A. M., of Berry's Station. He is an lionest,

hard working man, who bears a worthy name and repu-

tation.

J. L. JUETT, hotel; P. 0. Berry; was born in Harri-

son County, Ky., Jan. 1, 1847, and is the son of Adam
and Elizabeth (Reneker) Juett. The former is a native

of Grant County, Ky. ; he has followed farming, and is

now a resident of Harrison County. The mother of J. L.

died in 1852, aged thirty-two years. J .L. lived with his

parents until he was eighteen years old, when he entered

the Confederate army, enlisting in the 6th Kentucky Cav-

alry, in which he served two years and four months; he

was wounded three times, from the effects of which he

has never recovered; after leaving the army, he spent

about two years at his old home, and shortly after bought

a farm of 100 acres, which he conducted successfully

until 1880, when he sold his farm and moved to Berry's

Station and engaged in keeping hotel; he has the only

pul)lio place of entertainment of the place. By careful

management and a study of the needs of the traveling

public, he is making.a success of this business; in 1867,

he was married to Miss Susan E. King. Five children

have been the issue of this union, three of whom now

are living, viz: Millie C, Nancy S. and Howard. Mr.

Juett is a Democrat, and he and Mrs. Juett are members

of the Baptist Church; he is a stirring, energetic man,

who has been careful to dabble in no business to bring

his name into disrepute, and as a consequence he enjoys

an honorable name and reputation.

CHARLES LAIL, farmer; P. 0. Berry; was born in

Harrison County, Ky., Nov. 28, 1846, and is the son of

Charles and Louisa (Douglas) Lail. He is descended

from one of Harrison County's old pioneers. His grand-

father, John Lail, was born while his parents were en

route from Pennsylvania to Kentucky. They settled in

Harrison County, where John Lail subsequently married

Miss Mary Williams, who bore him ten children, among

whom was Charles Lail, the father of our subject. Ho

was born in Harrison County in 1805, and followed farm-

ing as a business; he married Louisa Douglas as above

stated, who bore him eight children, all sons, and six of

whom are still living. He died in 1861, and his wife.

1^
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who was born in 1814, died in 1880. Charles Lail, whose

name heads this sketch, spent his early life with his pa-

rents; received his education while with them, and as-

sisted his father at farming. In 1869 he was married to

Miss Anna Clifford ; but three children of the seven born

to them are now living: Evelyn, Edgar, and Leslie. In

1880 Mr. Lail bought a farm of seventy-five acres. He
is a Democrat, and his wife is a member of the Baptist

Church; he is also holding the office of Justice of the

Peace. Daniel Boone was great uncle to his mother, and

his great grandfather, Capt. Bryant, was the settler and

founder of Bryant's' Station, the place which figured so

conspicuously in the early Indian wars of the blue grass

region.

WILLIAM McMURTRY, farmer; P. O. Robinson;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., in 1812, and is the son

of James and Nancy (Bryan) McMurtry. His father

was a native of Virginia, and at the age of eight years

was brought by bis parents to Mercer County, Ky. There

he grew to man's estate, and became the owner and man-

ager of a tannery, and continued this business for forty

years, being at the same time interested in farming; he

was the father of eleven children; a member of the Bap-

tist Church, and in his political views a Whig. His death

occurred in 1853, his wife having died as early as 1832.

William lived with his parents until he was grown

to manhood. In 1852 he married Miss Anna Robertson,

who has borne him six children, five of whom are living,

viz.: James, Frank, Sally, William, and Susan. Mr.

McMurtry became the manager of his father's tannery,

conducting the same until 1855; in 1859 he removed to

his present home, where he has a farm of 400 acres; he

is doing a general farm business, though his specialty is

breeding fine stock; he and his family are members of

the Christian Church, and in politics he is a Democrat.

JAMES M. ROLLINS, farmer; P. 0. Boyd; is a

Virginian by birth, and son of John and Polly (Monroe)

Rollins; he was born March 25, 1817; his parents were

also natives of Virginia; his father was a farmer, and re-

moved from his native State to Logan County, O., to

carry on this business; he remained a resident of that

county until his death, which occurred at the ripe old age

of eighty-six years. His mother died in Virginia as early

as 1810. At the age of fifteen years James M. left his

home and became a resident of G-uernsey County, O.;

he remained there about eighteen months, and then re-

moved to Nicholas" County, Ky., where he remained un-

til 1837, engaged in repairing the Maysville and Lexing-

ton Pike; he subsequently became a resident of Council

Point, Ark., where, on account of sickness, he remained

about eighteen months; in the spring of 1845 he returned

to Nicholas County, Ky., and took charge of the farm of

Mr. John Holliday; in 1846 he married Miss Elizabeth J.

Summitte, who bore him two children: Mary L. and Fran-

ces A. About the time of his marriage he removed to

Schuj'ler County, 111., where he began farming; he re-

mained there, however, but one season, and then returned

to Kentucky and settled in Harrison County, buying the

farm where he now resides, whiijh now consists of 250

acres. In January of 1852 his wife died, aged twenty-six

years, and in 1853 he married Miss Mary J. Swinford, by

whom he had six children, viz.: AUie E., Addie, Agnes,

Mary L., James W., and Charles. Mr. Rollins and family

are members of the Christian Church, and in politics he

is a Democrat.

B. M. SWINFORD, farmer; P. O. Berry; was born in

Harrison County, Ky., June 7, 1815, and is the son of H.

H. and Mickie (Perrin) Swinford. His father was a na-

tive of Harrison County, and born in 1789; he worked

for many years at the blacksmithing business, and then

engaged in farming, in which he was interested at the

time of his death, which occurred in 1840; politically he

was a Democrat. The mother of B. M. died in 1847;

both his parents were members of the Christian Church;

Mr. Swinford lived with his parents until he was 20

years of age, and then learned the trade of a carpenter

and millwright; he followed this business until 1848, and

then began farming on Sycamore Creek, near Cynthiana;

he remained there until 1853, and then removed to

Lair's Station, where he resumed farm business, and con-

tinued the same for two years, when he removed to Cov-

ington, Ky.; there he began merchandising and did

some carpenter work; he continued a resident of Covincr-

ton until 1859, and then returned to Harrison County;

resumed mill building, which he followed until 1862. He
then went to Bourbon County for three years, and then

became a resident of Cynthiana for about seven years;

in 1871 he made his final move, and settled on the farm he

now owns of 140 acres. In 1845, Mr. Swinford was mar-

ried to Miss Polly Young, who bore him six children, one

of whom now lives, James H.; his wife died in 1851, aged

thirty-nine years, and in 1871 he married a Mrs. Emily
Blair, who was the mother of two living children by
her former husband, viz: Joseph and Edward. Both the

parents and children are members of the Christian

Church, and Mr. Swinford is a Democrat.
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RUTLAND PRECINCT.
THOMAS F. BUTLER, farmer; P. O. Hinton, Scott

Co.; born in Scott County, at Muddy Ford, on the South

fork of Eagle Creek, Oct. 4, 1808; his grandfather, James

Butler, was an Englishman hy birth, and in company with

his two brothers, Pierce and Charles, was brought to

America by his parents in 1734; they settled in Culpepper

County, Va., and all three of the brothers were soldiers in

the Revolutionary war; James was killed in a duel while in

the array; the circumstances which brought about this un-

fortunate affair were as follows: he received word tiiat his

voungest son, James, had been drowned in James River;

he procured a limited furlough and went home to attend

the funeral; he overstayed his time three or four days, and

upon his return was accused of cowardice by one of his

comrades; he immediately challenged him and received

a wound which proved mortal. Cornelius Butler, the fa-

ther of our subject, was born iu Culpepper County, Va.,

June 17, 1772, and in company with his brother Charles,

his mother, and three step-brothers (one of whom, Wui.

Brissy, is still living in Owenton, aged 93), came to Ken-

tucky in 1792 and settled on Stoner Creek, near Paris;

Corneliua worked on a farm, also worked in distillery of

Col. Robt. Russell, at Russell's Cave, in Fayette County,

from 1801 till 1804; he moved to Muddy Ford, in Scott

County, in 1806, where he lived until his death, in 1850.

Thos. F. Bu ler, of whom we write, led a roving life till

he was thirty-three years of age, having traveled in thir-

teen States, Mexico, and the province of Texas, where he

found himself located at the time it declared its inde-

pendence. During his travels he had frequent encounters

with wild beasts; upon one occasion, while in Mississippi

in 1839, overseeing a plantation for a man by the name

of Bookout, he was followed by a panther; the animal

followed him until they came to a small opening, upon

which six oxen were grazing; he attacked one of the ox-

en, lacerating its haunches terribly with its sharp claws;

Butler, though armed, was unable to get a shot for fear

of killing one of the oxen, but he was spared the trouble

of shooting the panther, for the other five oxen rushed

upon the savage brute and literally gored him to death.

During the same year, while the hands were burning

cotton stalks, Bookout, fearing that the gin might be in

danger of catching fire, came down about dusk, and was

standing by one of the fires, when a panther appeared on

the opposite side of the fire; he was apparently ainn-

ing to catch a dog that was in the company, and being

intent upon prey, he seized Bookout, when they both

rolled over in the fire, and both came out badly burned;

Butler shot at the panther twice, but in the uncertain

light did not kill him. On June 8, 1843, he married Har-

riett, daughter of Thomas and Betsey (Wickhoff) Riley,

both of Culpepper County, Va. ; his wife died about six

months after their marriage of consumption; on the first

of May, 1845, he married his present wife, Melvina,

daughter of Asher and Nancy (Mitchell) Hinton, of Vir-

ginia, by whom he is the father of four children, all

boys, three of whom are living. The oldest, Benjamin

T., born Oct. 10, 1846, and married, first Frances Havi-

cus, second Kate Patterson, and third Adelaine Beatty,

of Atlanta, Ga.; this son entered the Southern army

when only sixteen, and served throughout the war under

Caantrill, Buford and Morgan; he was captured while with

Morgan in his Ohio raid, and put into Camp Douglass,

where he remained for sixteen months; he was released

upon a special order of President Lincoln, obtained by

his father in a personal interview. About this time, the

Federal troops threatened to hang Mr. Butler, whereup-

on he fled to Richmond, Va., where he had the privilege

of shaking hands with the President of the Southern

Confederacy, whom he had formerly known in Mississip-

pi; his second son, George Braxton, married Mary

Fightmaster, and is now residing at Hinton Station, in

Scott County; his third son, Mitchell F., seems to inherit

the wandering disposition that characterized his father's

boyhood, having traveled through nearly all the Gulf and

Atlantic states. Both Mr. and Mrs. Butler are members

of Mt. Olivet Christian Church in Scott County.

P. S. BROOKS, farmer; P. O. Hinton, Scott Co.; is a na-

tive of Harrison County, where he was born Oct. 8,1837;

his great-grandfather, Wm. Brooks, was a soldier of the

Revolution ; his grandfather, Wm. Brooks, and his father,

James Brooks, emigrated from Tazewell County, Va., in

1815, and settled in Fleming County; he removed to Har-

rison in 1816, and settled near the head waters of Raven.

Creek, James Br6oks is still living with his son, P. S.

Brooks, the subject of this sketch. P. S. Brooks and

Mary Brooks, his first cousin, daughter of Colby and Any

(Henry) Brooks, were married in 1860; they have eight

children, all of whom are living: James C, born Oct. 12,

1861; Mary J., born March 16, 1864; Julia Ann, born
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Oct. 16, 1865; Rhoda, born July 17,1866; Wm. P., Jno.

A., born May 20, 1875; Henrietta, born Dec. 13, 1876;

Alice, born Feb. 13, 1879. Mr. Brooks joined the order

of Free Masons in 1865, first uniting with the MuUin
Lodge at Rutland, where he remained till the organiza-

tion of the Raven Creek Lodge, in 1875; since that time

his membership has been with the latter body, and he has

filled the several offices pertaining to that institution with

credit; he is now Senior Warden; in politics his sympa-
thies ar,^ witli the Republican party.

LEWIS COLLINS, farmer; P. O. Rutland; is a na-

tive of .Jessamine County, Ky., where he was born Oct.

16, 1826, near Keene, on Sinking Creek; his grandfather,

John Collins, was born in Orange County, Va., and in

company with Mr. Allen, the maternal grandfather of

our subject, was in the battle of Bunker's Hill, where

both were wounded; he was also at the surrender of Corn-

wallis, at Yorktown, having served through the entire

war; he often related to his family the joke that a darkey

passed on the noted English commander at the time of

the surrender. Upon being told that Cornwallis had sur-

rendered, he replied: "He no more Cornwallis, Massa;

he Cob-wallis now." After the Revolutionary war he

came to Kentucky, passing over the Alleghanies, and con-

tinuing his journey down the Ohio River in a flat boat;

he landed at May's Lick; came through to Central Ken-
tucky; their party camped at the Lower Blue Licks two or

three days after the battle at that place, which decided the

fate of so many of the Kentucky brave pioneers. He and
his son William were detailed as a guard at this place while

the others slept; they passed through Lexington when it

consisted of only a few log cabins, and settled on South
Elkhorn, in Fayette County; he leased 200 acres of land

from Col. Bowman, and was offered a title to it for a wagon
and team, but refused; he worked it during his lifetime,

and had it in good condition, but his lease expiring with

his life, his family could reap no benefit from his labor;

he died in Fayette County in the sixty-sixth year of his

age, and was buried in the graveyard of the old Baptist

Church, at South Elkhorn. Whitfield Collins, son of John
and father of Lewis, was born in Orange County, Va.,

April 16, 1782; he was about six years old when his father

moved to Kentucky. When a small boy, he and his

brother wenttoRyman's Mill; being compelled to remain
over night, their horses were placed in a lotadjoinino- the

mill, while they stood guard from the mill window.
When about twenty-four years of age he entered the min-

istry of the old style Baptist Church, in which he labored

until his death, Feb. 18, 1871. His career as a minister

was a noted one, extending for a period of sixty-four

*^j

years, having as his associates Ambrose Dudley and his

son Thomas P., Matthias Gossett, William Conrad, and

others. Like most of the pioneer preachers of his time,

his work was scattered over a large territory, embracing

churches in most of the counties of Central Kentucky.

On the 1st of February, 1804, he married Sarah, daughter

of David Allen, of Pennsylvania, by whom he had thir-

teen children, and with whom he lived for more than sixty

years, she dying Jan. 5, 1865, in the eighty-second year

of her age. Lewis Collins, the subject of this sketch,

came to Harrison County with his father when three years

of age, and settled at Rutland, where he now resides.

His brother, Meredith Collins, twenty-one years his sen-

ior, was the first resident of Rutland. Lewis worked

with his father till he was twenty-seven years old, when

he married Martha Ann, daughter of Samuel and Rachel

(Beyers) Eckler, receiving from his father at that time

thirty-seven acres of land, apart of his present farm; his

early education was quite limited, and after his marriage,

while erecting the house in which he now lives, he was

taught at night by Joseph Miller, the stonemason who as-

sisted him in his work; he has a family of seven children,

the oldest, Samuel, born July 31, 1854, an active mem-
ber of the Cynthiana Commandery of Knights Templar;

his second child, Sarah, has been aiBicted since her elev-

enth year, and is now confined to her bed all the time, and

has not spoken a word for three years; Eliza, born Dec. 17,

1857, married to William Hannah; Mary Elizabeth, Jan.

19, 1859; Lewis W., Dec. 15, 1861; Alice G., July 1,

1864, and Martha Ann, April 38, 1870. He stood three

drafts for the late war; was ordered into the ranks by

Col. Landrum during the first battle of Cynthiana. Him-

self and wife are both members of the Mill Creek Ba^jtist

Church; in politics he is a Republican.

WM. P. CROSTHWAIT, farmer; P. O. Rutland; was

born in Harrison County, Oct. 20, 1814; his grandfather

died in Virginia under the old British law, hence all the

property was inherited by his oldest brother, Shelton.

This brother was a wholesale merchant, and very wealthy;

upon one occasion he gave a dinner to some of his friends,

and was accidentally shot by one of his guests. Wm-
Crosthwait, the father of our subject, was born in Vir-

ginia, and came to Kentucky about 1793, being then

about twenty-one years of age; he settled on Mill Creek,

about two and one-half miles west of Cynthiana, where

he engaged in farming and working at the carpenter's

trade; he was a soldier of the war of 1813-15; he died

in 1833, aged about sixty years. W. P. Crosthwait, for

whom this sketch was prepared, married first, Jane, daugh-

ter of Thomas and Ellen (Robinson) Faulconer, of Har-

-



tht^

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 709

rison County, -whose birth occurred the same date of his

own; they had four children, named respectively, Louisa,

Mary E., Wm. T. and Susan; his wife died April 24,

1843, and July 7 of the same year, he was married to

Emily, daughter of John and Elizabeth (Rodgers) Hutch-

erson, of Harrison County; by this wife he had six chil-

dren, named, respectively: Sarah, Elizabeth, Lizaett, Jno.

P., James M., Henry F. On the 9th of April, 1860, he

was afflicted with the loss of his second wife, and on the

3rd of Oct. of the same year, he married Maria Trimble,

of Virginia, who bore him two children: Louisa E. and

Maggie M.; he is now a widower for the third time; he

has had thirty-nine grandchildren, thirty-six of whom are

living; he was elected to the Magistracy of his precinct

in 1859; he resigned in 1861; he is a Democrat, also a

member of the Baird Presbyterian Church, of Scott

County.

THOMAS S. FAULCONER, farmer; P. O. Hinton,

Scott Co. ; was born in Harrison County, Jan. 31, 1883.

His grandfather, Reuben Faulconer, came from Culpepper

County, Va., in 1810, and settled on Raven Creek. His

life was devoted to teaching ; he was noted for his piety.

When a small boy he was bitten by a mad dog, and in his

declining years was subject to spasms, which probably

caused his death in June, 1845, at the advanced age of

fourscore. Edmund Faulconer, father of our subject,

was born in Virginia in March, 1798, and was consequent-

ly twelve years of age when he came to Kentucky. He
married Elizabeth, daughter of Jonathan Hedger, who
was a soldier of the war of 1813, and Mary Caplinger.

He died Jan. 7, 1875. T. S. Faulconer received his ed-

ucation as a farmer from the excellent precepts of his

father. He married Jane Faulconer, daughter of Jno.

and Melissa (Faulconer) Jones, and relict of W. N. Faul-

soner, all of Harrison County. She had three children

when married the second time, viz : Jno. C, Annie M.,

and Nathaniel. T. S. Faulconer has six children : Sarah

E., married to Jno. Matthews ; James E. ; Susan E., mar-

ried to Spencer Faulconer of Kenton County ; Thomas G.

and Lucy. Mr. Faulconer has been a member of the Mul-

lin (Masonic) Lodge, at Rutland, since its organization ; is

a thorough Democrat, and much devoted to field sports.

He has traveled from Canada to Georgia, on account of

his delicate health.

EDMUND P. FAULCONER, farmer; born in Harri-

son County, on the south fork of Raven Creek, Oct. 7,

1834; his two grandfathers, Richard Faulconer and

Edmund Pollard, both came from Culpepper County,

Va., while the prowling Indian still roamed this delightful

bunting ground. Richard Faulconer was a farmer by

occupation; he died in Harrison County, aged seven-

ty. Benjamin Faulconer, father of our subject, was born
in Harrison County; was a farmer; married first Emily
Pollard, by whom he had nine boys ; he then mar-

ried Nancy Hawkins, of Scott County; his third wife

was Mary J. Skinner, of Harrison, by whom he had three

children; he died in Harrison in July, 1859. Edmund P.

Faulconer was raised a farmer; he married Lucy Faul-

coner, daughter of Nathaniel Faulconer, who was an old

soldier of the war of 1813, and whose father was one of

the first settlers of Shelby County, having built the first

mill that was ever built on South Elkhorn; he married

Mary Straughan; four children were born to them; Robert
H, April 15, 1867; Emily F., Nov. 36, 1870; Mary W.,
June 38, 1873 ; Sallie J., Nov. 19, 1879. His right of

suffrage has always been exercised for the furthering of

the interests of the Democratic party.

JNO. K. GRAY, farmer ; P. O. Broadwell ; his grand-

father, Wm. Gray, came from Pennsylvania at an early

day and settled in Harrison County, near Cynthiana,

giving name to the stream known as Gray's Run, which

rises near Lsesburg and flows into South Licking, at

Cynthiana. Having been an extensive trader in hogs

and cattle, he was known very familiarly over the greater

part of central Kentucky. His son, James Gray, the

father of Jno. K., is still living at his home near Broad-

well, in the enjoyment of a ripe old age (see Biog). On
the 15th Nov., 1860, when in his twenty-fourth year, Jno.

K. Gray was united in marriage to Marietta, daughter of

James and Susan (Dewett) Henry, of Harrison County.

Their union has been blessed with three children

:

James H., born Oct. 38, 1861 ; Mary S., born Aug. 6,

1863 ; Margaret Ann, born Jan. 14, 1868. Their home
was invaded May 13, 1875, by the stern messenger of

death, who bore away their youngest. Mr. and Mrs.

Gray have for many years been in communion with the

Silas Baptist Church, of Bourbon County. Both the

children are also members of the same denomination—the

daughter at Silas and the son at Friendship, on Raven
Creek. Mr. Gray devotes his entire attention to farm-

ing and stock raising, being the owner of about 260

acres of good blue grass land. During the progress of the

Grange Lodge at Broadwell, he was one of the leading

members. His suffrage has always been exercised for

the support of the Democratic party.

WM. T. GOODMAN, farmer; born in Pendleton

County, June 11, 1833. Grandfather Zaohariah Good-

man came from Virginia, about 1800, and settled in Pen-

dleton County, where he died at an advanced age. La-

fayette Goodman, father of our subject, was born in Pen-

s ^
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dleton County about 1801. He followed farming, and

died in 1841. Wm. T. was raised a farmer ; married

Elizabetb, daughter of James and Anna (Dewett) Redd,

of Harrison County. They have had ten cljildren, seven

of whom are living, the dates of whose births are as fol-

lows : Jmo. J., Deo. 6, 1858 ; Allen B., Sept. 13, 1861 ;

Anna, April 34, 1863 ; Zaohariah, July 13, 1865 ; Wil-

liam, Sept. 37, 1868; Effie, Feb. 38, 1871 ; Mattie, June

34, 1874; politics, Democrat. Mrs. Goodman is a mem-
ber of the Christain Church at Stringtown, in Grant

County.

THOMAS W. HARDY, farmer ; P. O. Rutland ; born

in Greenup County, July 15, 1837. His grandfather,

Thomas Hardy, was a native of Scotland, whence he em-

igrated and settled in Virginia ; he was a soldier of the

war of 1813-15, at the close of which he moved from Vir-

ginia and settled near Chillicothe, Ohio, where he died.

Rev. John 0. Hardy, father of our subject, was born at

Chillicothe, and was educated for the Methodist ministry.

At the age of twenty-one he was stationed on the Greenup

Circuit. He is still living in Lewis County, but owing

to an affection of his throat he is compelled to desist from

his ministerial labors. When quite young, he was a sol-

dier of the war of 181 3, but never engaged in any regular

oattles. T. W. Hardy was taken by his father to Mason

County, where he was raised. In 1859 he came to

Harrison and settled near White Oak Meeting House.

He married Sarah F., daughter of James W. and Sarah

(Lair) Berry, by whom he has four children, aged as

follows : Lena T., thirteen ; Charles M., twelve ; Al-

bert B., ten; Julia E., seven. Mr. Hardy was the first

Master of Raven Creek (Masonic) Lodge, having taken

an active part in securing the dispensation for said Lodge;

he is also a Knight Templar of the Cynthiana Command-

ery, and now holds the position of Junior Warden in the

same. Himself and wife are members of the Methodist

Church at Mt. Zion ; he was elected a delegate to rep-

resent the Kentucky Conference in the general confer-

ence which met at Louisville in 1877. In August, 1880,

Mr. Hardy was elected Magistrate of the Rutland Pre-

cinct as the regular nominee of the Democratic party. In

September, 18G3, he enlisted in the Southern army under

Humphrey Marshall. Wlien Marshall left Kentucky he

ncldthooifioe of Captain; he aft'^rwards acted as Adjutant

and scout under Forrest ; he served throughout the war
;

was in several engagements; atthe battl-e of Chickamauga

he was wounded ; afterward taken with small-pox at

Louisville, where he remained till close of the war, liter-

ally wearing out the disease by his strong constitution.

G. W. HINTON, farmer; P. 0. Hinton; was born

in Scott County, Aug. 39, 1839; his grandfather, Wm.
Hinton, came from Culpepper Court House, Va., in

1794j and settled at Turkey Foot, in Scott County,

taking up one thousand acres of land; his family and

effects were transported from Virginia in wagons;

he was one of the first settlers of Turkey Foot, which

takes its name from the fact that three streams unite at

that point, forming a figure which bears some resemblance

to the shape of the foot of that remarkable Western

bird. During those early days they were much troub-

led with Indians and wild beasts, and had to keep their

sheep and cattle in pens to protect them from the ravages

of wolves and panthers. The father of our subject was

born in Virginia in 1784, and was ten j'-ears old when

the family moved to Kentucky. G. W. Hinton lived

with his father till twenty-two years of age, wlfen he re-

moved to Harrison County and run a sawmill, in partner-

ship with his brother-in-law, T. F. Butler; Sept. 6, 1857,

he married Millie, daughter of Capt. John and Catharine

(Lemon) Rennaker, of Harrison County; he is the father

of three children, namely: Jno. T., born Oct. 6, 1858,

married to Miss Jeffers, of Grant County; Mary E., born

Feb. 7, 1860, married to J. T. Stone, of Scott County;

and Wm. A., born Feb. 3, 1873; was elected Magistrate

of Rutland precinct in 1865 and served four years; was
re-elected in 1869, receiving at this time the largest vote

that has ever been given to any man in Rutland Precinct.

Mr. Hinton has devoted his life to farming and trading;

he is the owner of 375 acres of land lying in Harrison

and Scott Counties, and is a prudent and successful bus-

iness man; himself and wife are members of the Chris-

tian Church at Mt. Olivet, in Scott County, where he has

been an Elder since the organization of the church, in

1868 ; he votes with the Democratic party.

NEWTON HENRY, farmer ; was born in Harrison
County, Nov. 5, 1833; his grandfather, Thomas Henry,
came from Virginia very early, and settled on the

middle fork of Raven Creek ; his life was spent in pur-
suing the peaceful avocation of husbandman; his

death occurred about the year 1830. James Henry,
father of Newton, was born in Virginia, and came out
with his father, settling near him in the same part of
Harrison County. He bore an honorable part in the war
of 1813-15, but was spared to his family for more than
half a century after its close. He died in the county,
where most of his life had been spent, Nov. 3, 1866.
Newton Henry spent his boyhood upon his father's farm,
receiving what education could be gleaned from the
country schools of that day. He married Elizabeth, dauo-h-

ter of Pollard and Louisa (Crosthwait) McKenney, of

iw
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Harrison County, by whom he had three children ; the only

surviving one, James, was born Aug. 15, 1846. Mr. Henry

has always been an ardent Republican. During the year

1864 he enlisted under Capt. Thomas Musselman, of the

Harrison County Home Guards.

GEORGE HAMPTON, farmer ; P. O. Corinth; his

grandfather, Andrew Hampton, paternal uncle of Gen.

Wade Hampton, of South Carolina, came to Kentucky

about the year 1790, and settled on the middle fork of

Raven Creek. He engaged in farming, and through

a long and useful life commanded the esteem of his fel-

low men. His remains repose in the old burying ground

of Raven Creek. Thomas Hampton, the father of our

subject, was born in Kentucky, about the time or shortly

after his^ father's settlement. Besides farming, he ac-

quired the trade of gunsmith, which he carried on with

success for several years. He died at his home in Har-

rison County, May 9, 1837. Geo. Hampton was born

Feb. 18, 1833, and received his early training upon his

father's farm. In the year 1857, he married Paulina,

daughter of Crockett Evans, of Wales, Great Britain, by

whom he has four children, named and aged respective-

ly : Asa, 17 ; Lucy, 15 ; Lena, G ; Gen. Wade, 5. In

politics, Mr. Hampton is a staunch Democrat. Mrs.

Hampton is a member of the Methodist Church, at La-

ton's Chapel, in Grant County, Ky.

HENRY HILES, farmer; was born in Scott County,

-Jan. 32, 1825; his grandfather, Christopher Hiles, was a

native of Germany; he emigrated to Kentucky, and set-

tled on Eagle Creek, in Scott County; he was a soldier

of the war of 1813-15; he died about 1833. Jno. C.

Hiles, father of our subject, was born in Scott County in

1799; he served several days in his father's stead in the

war of 1813, not being old enough to enlist regularly,

he was a farmer; he married Ruth, daughter of Henry

Chappell; he died March, 1877. Henry Hiles was raised

in Scott County, and married Ellen, daughter of Ed-

mund and Elizabeth (Hedger) Faulooner, of Harrison;

he moved to Harrison and settled where ho now lives, in

1853; he was one of the first members of the Raven

Creek Lodge, assisting in its erection. Mrs. Hiles is a

member of the Methodist Church at Mt. Zion.

LEWIS M. HENRY, farmer; born in Harrison Coun-

ty about the year 1816. His grandfather, John Henry,

came from Virginia very early and settled on the Middle

Fork of Raven Creek, where he died about the year 1820.

Jas. Henry, father of Lewis, came out from Virginia when

quite small; he followed farming for an occupation; he was

in the war of 1813-15; he died at home, aged sixty-five.

Lewis M. Henry married Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas

andLucy (Matthews) Hampton, of Harrison; had nine chil-

dren, eight of whom are living: Nellie J., James T., Rich-

ard H., George, Andrew, John, Lewis, and Allen. Mr.

Henry is a member of the Friendship Baptist Church;

his right of suffrage has always been exercised in the in-

terest of the Democratic party.

GREENBERRY KINMAN, farmer; P. O. Hinton;

his grandfather, William Kinman, came from Pennsyl-

vania about 1800, and settled on the South fork of Ra-

ven, where he had two small distilleries for peach and ap-

ple brandy; he took great delight in hunting, and a relic

of one of his expeditions is still preserved by his grand-

son in the shape of an elk horn. David Kinman, the

father of our subject, was but nine years old when his fa-

ther came from Pennsylvania; he engaged chiefly in farm-

ing and transporting merchandise from the Ohio River to

the interior of Kentucky; he died June, 1855, aged six-

tv-three years. Greenberry, when only seven years of

age, went with his father and several others to the town

of Augusta, and brought back salt on horseback; this

was before a wagon road had been cut to that place

from Cynthiana. On Sept. 4, 1843, he married Eliza,

daughter of Edmund and Betsy (Hedger) Faulconer, by

whom he had no children; on June 13, 1871, he married

Elizabeth, daughter of Richard and Phoebe (Hedger)

McKenney, of Harrison County. Himself and wife are

members of the Methodist Church at Buyer's Chapel; in

politics Mr. Kinman was formerly a Whig, but since the

disruption of the Know-nothing party he has cast his lot

with the Democrats.

.lAMES S. KINMAN, farmer ; born in Pike County,

Indiana, April 33, 1834; his grandfather, James Kinman,

came from Georgia and settled in Indiana very early
;

Elijah Kinman, father of our subject, came from Georgia,

and with his father, settled in Indiana, where he died in

1837, aged about fifty years. James S. Kinman, of whom

we now write, came to Kentucky with his mother when

about six years old, and settled on the middle fork of

Raven Creek. He married Elizabeth, daughter of Alex,

and Delilah (Fightmaster) Dungan, of Harrison County.

He was elected Constable of Rutland Precinct in 1853,

and served nine months; in 1864 he was appointed by the

county court to fill out the unexpired term of W. N. Mat-

thews, and elected to same in 1865; he served two years.

Mrs. Kinman is a member of the Raven Creek Baptist

Church. In politics Mr. Kinman is a Democrat.

C. P. KINMAN, farmer ; was born in Indiana, Oct.

30, 1837. (For history of ancestry, see biography of

his brother, James S. Kinman.) He married Louisa,

daughter of Thos. and Lucy (Matthews) Hampton, of

w



^1 ?kl>.

7ia BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

Harrison County, by whom he has had seven children,

five of whom survive, viz : Jesse, born March 3, 18G1
;

Elijah, born May 1, 1863; Mary A., born July 31, 1866
;

Elizabeth, born Jan. 18, 1872 ; Daniel M., born Aug.

23, 187ft. Mrs. Kinman is a member of the Raven

Creek Baptist Church. Politically, Mr. Kinman is a

Democrat; was for a number of years an active member
of the Raven Creek order of Patrons of Husbandry.

W. N. MATTHEWS, farmer ; P. O. Hinton ; was

horn in Harrison County, June 22, 1837; his grandfather,

Richard Matthews, came from Virginia at an early day,

and settled in Harrison County, where he engaged in

farming; also had copper distillery on his place, in which

he worked up the produce of his own and adjoining farms.

He died at an advanced age, and is buried on the farm

now occupied by his grandson. The father of our subject

is still living, in the eighty-eighth year of his age, stout

and active. W. N. Matthews was raised as a farmer,

which occupation he has successfully prosecuted, being

the owner of 325 acres of good land, lying on the middle

fork of Raven Creek. On the 30th of September, 1858,

ho married Eunice, daughter of Isaac and Eunice (Coul-

ston) Raraey, of Harrison County, by whom he has eight

children, four boys and four girls, named respectively :

Mary E., Lucy E., Alfred R., Robert B., George C, Eva
J., Flora B., and James T. In 1863 he was elected Con-

stable of Rutland Precinct, but resigned in 1864, to enlist

in the Federal army ; he was elected Captain of Co. I, 1st

Kentucky State Guards, under Col. E. P. Hawkins, and

Lieut. Col. J. J. Craddock ; he served till the close of the

war, receiving his discharge in 1865. After the war he

was nominated by the Republican party for the office of

Magistrate, but was defeated by John Burgess, the Dem-
ocratic nominee. In 1869 he was elected Magistrate as

an Independent candidate, over A. J. Perkins, the cham-

pion of the Democratic party ; was elected to the same

office again in 1879, as an Independent candidate, over

John Burgess, his first opponent ; is a member of Raven

Creek (Masonic) Lodge; has filled every office in it, from

Tyler to Master ; is Treasurer at the presei t time. Till

the outbreak of the war he was a Drmocrat ; his opposi-

tion to secession accounts for his present political views.

RICHARD MATTHEWS, farmer; P. O. Hinton; was

born in Harrison County, Feb. 25, 1839; his grandfather,

Richard Matthews, came from Virginia at an early day,

and settled in Harrison County; he married Susan, sister

of Whitfield Collins; he died in Harrison County in 1837,

upwards of three score and ten years of age. Lewis

Matthews, father of our subject, was born in Harrison

Countv, in 1817; he was a farmer; he married Jane,

daughter of Thomas and Betsey (Kendall) Redd; he was

noted for his fondness for hunting, and other out-door

sports; he perhaps killed more deer than any other man

of his day; he was an exceptionally good marksman, and

at the outbreak of the Mexican war he was Captain of a

rifle company. Richard Matthews spent his early life

upon his father's farm; when nineteen years of age he

married Fannie J., daughter of Colby and Ann (Henry)

Brooks, by whom he had six children, four of whom are

living, aged as follows: Annie S., twenty-one; Thomas,

eighteen; Jane, sixteen; Ollie, thirteen; his wife died

Feb. 21, 1870; he next married Rosa, daughter of John

F. and Mary (Woollums) Linn, by whom he is the father

of four children, three of whom survive, viz: Mary E.,

aged nine; Levie, six; Effie, four, and Maggie, two; he is

a member of Friendship Baptist Church; politics. Dem-
ocrat.

LORENZO McKENNEY, farmer; he was a native of

Harrison County, where he was born Oct. 28, 1842. His

grandfather. Traverse McKenney, of Virginia, was one

of the early settlers of Harrison County. Pollard Mc-

Kenney, father of our subject, was twelve years of age

when he accompanied his father. Traverse, to the then

unsettled wilds of Kentucky. A quarter of a century

ago he was familiarly known in Scott, Harrison and Owen
counties, where he carried on an extensive and lucrative

trade in Rattle and hogs; he died in 1876, aged sixty-

eight. Lorenzo McKenny, his son, and the subject of

this sketch, spent his early life upon his father's farm.

On the 3d of Sept. 1863, he married.Louisa, eldest daugh-

ter of William P. and Jane (Faulconer) Crosthwait, of

Harrison County, who has borne him seven children, the

dates of whose births are as follows: Martha E., Dec.

24, 1875 ; Louisa, Oct. 11, 1867 ; Wra. P. Aug. 2, 1869

;

Thos. N., Sept. 28, 1871; Mary E., June 13, 1874;
Richard F., April 26, 1877 ; Maggie E., April 17, 1880.

For sev eral years both himself and wife have been in

communion with the Methodist Church, South, holding

their membership at Boyer's Chapel. In politics Mr.

McKenney has always identified himself with the Demo-
cratic party.

W. H. MARTIN, Je., farmer ; P. O. Corinth ; born in

Harrison County, April 28, 1826, being the oldest of nine

children. The longevity of his family is rather remarka-

ble; his grandfather, Benjamin Martin, being over one

hundred years of age at the time of his death, and all of

his children being still alive but one. Benjamin Martin

was among the first of those who left the soil of Old Vir-

ginia and sought a home in the land of cane. He made
his first settlement in Bourbon County, and took an active
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part in those early struggles which fell to the lot of every

frontiersman, and served with honor throughout the war

of 1813. In company with his family, among whom was

William Martin, Sr., the father of our subject, he moved

to Harrison County about the year 1825, and settled near

where Casey's mill now stands, on Raven Creek. W. H.

Martin, Jr., of whom we write, was raised a farmer, and

notwithstanding his limited education, has managed his

affairs with economy and foresight ; he finds himself now

in possession of a good farm of 140 acres, which he is con-

stantly improving and enlarging. His staple crop is to-

bacco, the handling of which he understands to advantage.

He married Zerelda, daughter of Richard and Elizabeth

(.Johnson) Johnson, of Clark County, Ky., by whom he

has had eleven children, seven of whom are living : John

"William, aged 34; Mary Ann, 33; Edward and Almi, 32;

Martha, 19; Ida, 17; Andrew, 13. Mrs. Martin is a mem-

ber of the Crooked Creek Baptist Church, of Grant

County. In politics Mr. Martin is a Democrat.

JACOB PERKINS, farmer; P. O. Hiuton; was born

in Harrison County, Ky., April 15, 1848; is the son of

Eli Perkins, and the grandson of John Perkins, both

natives of Harrison County; his father has been engaged

in farming all his life, and is still living in Scott County,

aged about sixty years. In 1867 Jacob Perkins was mar-

ried to Cannarissa, daughter of Calton and Margaret

(Hinton) Bailey, of Scott County; five children have been

born to them, four of whom still survive: George W.,

born April 17, 1869; Mary E., born Feb. 36, 1871; Josie

A., born March 30, 1873; Leathy, born Sept. 5, 1879.

Himself and wife hold their church membership at Byer's

Chapel; politically, he has always been identified with

the Democratic party.

JNO. S. SCOTT, farmer; was born in Sussex County,

Del., May 8, 1831; his grandfather, William Scott, was

one of five brothers who emigrated from Ireland and set-

tled in Virginia; in 1781, he came from Virginia and set-

tled on Boyd's Run, near Newtown, in what is now Bour-

bon County; he took an active part in the early struggles

with the Indians; he was Captain of a scouting party,

and one of the number who followed to the Ohio River

the murderers of the Shanks family; about 1794 he

moved to Harrison County and settled on Gray's Run,

near Cynthiana, where he died in 1831, aged eighty-six.

Jno. Scott, fathor of Jno. S., was born in Virginia, Sept.

1, 1773, and was hence eight years old when his father

came to Kentucky; went with his father in pursuit of

Indians who killed Shanks' family; in 1808, he freed

about thirty of his slaves; in 1806, he married Lavina

Stafford, of Harrison County, by whom he had one child.

James, who afterwards took a boat load of whisky and

flour to New Orleans, and was murdered there; in 1808,

he moved to Delaware, where he married Annie Handy,

of Delaware, his first wife having died in childbirth; in

1813, he enlisted in the war, during which he rendered

some valuable services; in 1814 he took the first ship

load of lumber to Washington, to be used in the erection

of the Capitol Building; he returned to Kentucky in

1836, living one year each in Pittsburg and Cincinnati,

on his way back; upon his arrival in Kentucky he set-

tled at Leesburg and started a store; in 1830, he moved

to Leeslick; in 1841, he moved to Raven Creek and

bought a farm; in 1850, he went to Grant County; thence

to Leeslick in 1853, engaging in merchandising in both

places; in 1855, he came to live with his son, Jno. S.,

where he continued to sell goods till his death, which

occurred Oct. 11, 1860, he then being in his eighty-eighth

year. Jno. S. Scott came to Kentucky with his father,

and lived with him till he was twenty-four years old;

March 7, 1844, he married Sarah, daughter of Captain

James and Annie (Webber) Burgess; they have eight liv-

ing children: JamesT.jbornDec. 35, 1844; Wm. W.,June

8, 1846; Jno. B., April 10, 1848; Sarah, March 10, 1854;

Louisa, April 9, 1856; Effie J., Sept. 34, 1860; Henry,

May 17, 1863; Charles, June 15, 1865. Mr. Scott was

one of the first members of Mullin (Masonic) Lodge, at

Rutland, now a member of Raven Gr^ek, which lodge

was dedicated by him; in 1854, he was elected Magistrate

and served four years; since 1858, he has been Deputy

County Clerk, except the seven years that he sold goods;

has been a farmer all his life; owns 330 acres of land on

Raven Creek; in the way of curiosities, he has now in

his possession a quilt which was pieced by his mother in

1813; the calico was bought while the embargo act was

in force, and cost from seventy-five cents to one dollar

per yard. Mr. Scott is a member of the Methodist

Church at Mt. Zion; in politics he is a thorough Demo-

crat.

JOHN SWINFORD, farmer ; P. O. Rutland; was a

native of Harrison County, where he was born March 17,

1837. His grandfather, John Swinford, came from North

Carolina very early and settled in Harrison Couniy ; he

died at advanced age of seventy years. His grandfather

on mother's side, Edmund Pollard, was a soldier in the

Revolutionary war. His father, Matthew Swinford, was

born in Harrison County, in the year 1800 ; he was a

cooper by trade, but farming was his principal occupa-

tion ; he died in native County, aged seventy years.

John Swinford, the subject of this sketch, was early

trained to till the soil. He married Nancy, daughter of

ifT'
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Thomas and Caroline (Garnett) Rose, of Harrison Coun-

ty
; has four children, named and aged respectively :

Thos. N., eleven ; James D., eight; CoraF., six ; Edmund
F., three. Both himself and wife are members of. the

Methodist Church at Boyer's Chapel. Politically he is

a Democrat.

HON. W. A. WEBBER, farmer; P. O. Rutland; whose
portrait appears in this work, is a native of Jessamine

County, Ky., where he was born March 4, 1817; his paternal

grandfather came from Virginia to this State about 1795,

and settled in Jessamine County, where he resided up to

the time of his death, which occurred about 1815. His

widow, Sarah (Anderson) Webber, removed with her fam-

ily, consisting of five daughters, one son, and .grandson

(subject) to Harrison County, in 1817; Annie W., the eld-

est, and widowed daughter, who was mother of our sub-

ject, after coming to Harrison County, married James
Burgess, bv whom she raised three sons and three dauo-h-

ters, and died in 1834; her son, W. A. Webber, like

many other young men of that early day, enjoyed but

limited facilities for an education; being the eldest son,

he was compelled to remain at home the greater portion

of his time, and attend to the duties of the farm, such as

going to mill, caring for the stock, &c., &c.; when but

fourteen years of age, he relinquished the idea entirely

of securing even a fair education, and at once turned his

attention to making a living for himself ; his first venture

was to hire out to a neighbor by the month, for which

service he received the very limited salary of $3,50.

However, by carefully saving this paltry sum, and adding

to it little by little, in a few years he found himself pos-

sessed of sufficient means to purchase and pay for a small

tract of ten acres of land. About this time he had a dissi-

pated neighbor, who owned about 100 acres of land, and

who was accustomed to sell from five to ten acres annually

for the purpose of defraying his expenses, and our subject

by industry and economy managed to save money enough

yearly to buy these small strips, and in a few years he

possessed the entire farm. In 1841 Mr. Webber had in-

creased his farm to 150 acres, and on Dec. 21 of this year,

he was married to Lucinda Jane, daughter of James and

Nancy (Blair) Baird, and to the help and counsel of this

most estimable wife and companion, Mr. Webber at-

tributes much of his future success. This union was

blessed with one son, James Henry, who was born on

the 29th of .January, 1843; when in his twentieth year

this only son left his parental roof and started to join the

Southern army, but being of a very delicate constitution,

he was taken sick a few days afterward at Lexington,

Ky.; his parents hearing of this, they at once sent and

had him brought home, where he died on the 16th of

January, 1863. In 1853 Mr. Webber sold his entire farm,

then containing 300 acres, and removed to Rutland, where

he engaged in the mercantile business for twelve months,

in partnership with John Mullin; at the end of this year

they sold their store to William Laughlin, and our sub-

ject exchanged his other Rutland property for 200 acres

of land lying about one mile west of that place, where he

moved in 1855, and again engaged in agricultural pur-

suits; in .1860 he again sold out and bought an undi-

vided one-half interest in what was then known as the

Kendall farm, and upon which he still resides; this farm

contained 845 acres. At the close of the third year on

this place he purchased the other half; in 1870 he added

170 acres more to his farm, which made him one of

the largest land owners in his end of the county; be-

sides this he owns good property at Williamstown, Grant

Co. and also at Glencoe, on the Short Line Railroad;

300 shares in the Farmers' National Bank of Cynthiana,

and much more than this amount loaned out to his neigh-

bors and friends; thus showing to the rising young men
of his county what can be accomplished by industry,

economy, and close application to business;, he is a Direc-

tor of the Harrison County Agricultural Association, also

of the Farmers' National Bank of Cynthiana, dating his

connection -with both corporations from their foundation.

In 1877 Mr. Webber was elected by the Democratic party

to represent his county in the Lower House of the Leg-

islature, which office he filled with credit to himself and
entire satisfaction to his constituency. He and his wife,

who is now an invalid, have been prominently connected

with the Methodist Church for many years.

e;
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UNITY PRECINCT.

SAMUEL J. ASHBROOK, farmer and distiller; P.O.

Cynthiana; was born in Harrison County, Ky., Jan. 13,

1831; son of Aaron Ashbrook, who bad seven children.

Our subject received what education the pioneer log'school

houses afforded in the early times, and, being raised a far-

mer, has followed that occupation in addition to distilling.

He began life in moderate circumstances, but by economy

and industry has acquired a competency, he owning at

the present time 400 acres of land, and a half interest

ill a distillery. Mr. Ashbrook has been a director of the

Harrison (Dounty Agricultural and Mechanical Association

for twenty years; a director of Farmers' National Bank

since its organization; President and Treasurer of Ash-

brook Mills Road; also Treasurer Trickura Road, and

School Trustee in District No. 7, for several years. May

8, 1856, he married, in this county, Susan R. Robertson,

born near Cynthiana, in August, 1835, daughter of James

Robertson, and from that union there have been born

three children: Aaron, George and Minnie. Self and

family are members of the Christian Church, and he is

a Democrat.

COL. THOMAS T. GARNETT, farmer and trader;

P. O. Cynthiana. Among the early emigrants to Ken-

tucky was Larkin Garnett, who was born in Virginia about

1782, and came to this State in 1807 and settled near Cyn-

thiana, Harrison County, where he spent the remainder of

his days. He married Elizabeth Bell, also of Virginia

birth, by whom he raised six sons and six daughters.

He was a farmer and mechanic, and by close application

to business he managed to accumulate considerable

property. He ranked among the prominent men of his

day, and died in October, 1856, respected by all who

knew him. His eldest son, Thomas T., who is the sub-

ject of this sketch, was born in Virginia, on the 15th of

May, 1808, and when only about one year old was

brought by his parents to Harrison County, Ky., where

he was reared and educated,-and where he still resides.

When he arrived at the age of maturity his father gave

him a good horse, with which he ventured out upon his

own resources, full of energy and ambition. On the 4th

of Oct., 1840, Col. Garnett was married to Louisa Wig-

lesworth, who was bo.n in the county in 1819, and was

the daughter of John and Jane (Bush) Wiglesworth,

who were also residents of Harrison County. In the

early days of .this county's history our subject was elect-

ed Captain of a militia company, and subsequently pro-

moted to major and colonel, which latter title he still

bears. He was also elected justice of the peace in

his district, an office he filled very acceptably. He has

had born to him two daughters, both of whom are now

married and settled in life. His elder daughter, Jane

E., is the wife of Dr. "W. H. Martin, and Mary F. the

wife of Col. William Moore. Col. Garnett has been a

very " wide-awake " buiiness man through the early part

of his life, being possessed of rare judgment and quick

to see a bargain; he has succeeded in acquiring hand-

some property, consisting of about 1,000 acres of land,

upon' which he has erected, according to his own plans

and designs, one of the best residences in the county (a

view of which graces the pages of this work), fronting

the K. C. R. R. at Garnett Station, which station was

named in honor of our subject. He and his family are

all members of the Baptist Church, and he is a straight

Democrat in politics.

JNO. A. LAFFERTY, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana; was

born in Harrison County, Ky., Feb. 13, 1832, and is the

son of James and Susan (Smith) Lafferty, the former a

native of Pennsylvania, born Jan. 7, 1790, and died July

15, 1866, and the latter born in Bourbon County, Ky.,

April 8, 1801, and died Sept. 5, 1838. James Lafferty

was a farmer, which business he continued till his death,

and at which he learned Jno. A. the duties of self sup-

port. Our subject received a common school education,

and on May 23, 1855, he married Miss Fanny E., daugh-

ter of John and Elizabeth Henry, both natives of Vir-

ginia. They have a family of eleven children: W. T.,

D. N., Tera, Susan E.-, James F., Francis E., Minnie,

Mary E., Purlie, Meddie and Jno. A. Politically Mr.

Lafferty has taken quite an active part in the home con-

tests of Harrison County; he filled the office of Constable

in Unity Precinct, in 1867-'68, and was elected Sheriff of

Harrison County in 1870, and was honored by being re-

elected, in 1874, and again in 1876, each term being for

two years of service. During the war be enlisted in Jno.

Shawhan's Battalion, C. S. A., at Prestonburg, Ky., in

1861, and did not return home until 1865; he is a Demo-

crat, a Granger, and a member of the order of A. F. & A.

M. Quite an exciting episode in the life of our subject

occurred in 1849, while he and his father were on their

way to Cincinnati with a team and wagon. When with-
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in about twenty miles of the city they were, while eating

their dinner by the roadside, set upon by two robbers. In

the early part of the conflict his father was hit upon the

head and partially disabled, and though Jno. A. at that

date, was but a boy, he fought with the coolness of an old

trooper and the fierceness of a tiger. The result of the

fi^ht was the death of one of the robbers and the flight

of the other. He now enjoys the respect and confidence

oi the community in which he resides.

GEO. V. NORTHCUTT, farmer and tobacco dealer;

P. O. Trickum; was born in Harrison County, Ky., near

Rutland, June 5, 1837; son of John and Agnes (Knox)

Northcutt; he, bom in 1806, in Harrison County, a farmer

and son of John Northcutt, who came from Virginia;

she, born in Virginia, and came to Kentucky when seven

years of age, dying in 1876. They have four sons, and

six daughters, our subject being the eldest. George V.

received his education in the schools of his native county,

and began life as a farmer, continuing at the same voca-

tion till the present time. He began life in moderate

circumstances, and by industry and economy has acquir-

ed a competency, owning a fine farm of 153 acres of land.

He has been a successful producer of tobacco and dealer

in the same for eighteen years. Feb. 3, 1859, he mar-

ried, on Twin Creek, Millia Catharine Juett, born in

Harrison County, in January, 1843, daughter of Adam
and Susan (Renaker) Juett, and by this union there were

born four sons and five daughters: Lewis, George T.,

Adam, James H., Agnes E., Susan A., Cordelia, Cath-

arine and Alice. Mr. Northcutt and wife are members of

the Baptist Church, and he is a Democrat.

K-
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LEESBURC
THOS. fi. ARNETT, farmer; P. O. Connersvillc.

Born in Bourbon County in 1825; his father, James Ar-

nett, came from Virginia, and died young, being only

forty-seven years old. His grandfather was Zachariah

Arnett, a soldier in the war of 1813. His mother, Sarah

Woodgate, is still living at the advanced age of eighty-

two; she was the daughter of Jonathan and Sarah

Woods, of Fayette County. Mr. Arnett has been twice

married; first, in 1848, to Miss Susan McDaniel, a daugh-

ter of George McDaniel, of Harrison County; she died

iu 1855, leaving two living children, viz: Sarah L. Math-

ews and Eliza Jane Cason, and Wm. B. died in 1871;

then in 1867, he married Miss Maria McDaniel, sister

of the first wife. He owns twenty-two acres of land

one mile from Broadwell, but lives one-half mile south of

Leeslick. He and wife are consistent members of the

Christian Church at Leesburg, he being an Elder, arid a

member of the Masonic fraternity; he is a Democrat,

and was first elected a Justice of the Peace in 1866 and

has been three times elected to the same office from

Leesburg Precinct; he had, prior to this time, served

nine years as Constable of the same precinct. He has

one thing to be proud of: having never offered for an of-

fice without being endorsed by the people of his pre-

cinct. In 1881, he offered for the nomination of County

Judge against two popular and well known gentlemen,

yet he was endorsed by the people of Leesburg Precinct

by a large majority.

DAVID ALLEN, farmer; P. O. Oynthiana; in the

primitive days of our Commonwealth, there came many

families from Virginia and other States, to occupy some

of the fine country of Central Kentucky; among that

number were Divid Allen and Elizabeth "Wright, who

came when quite young with their parents. Settling

near each other they grew up together, loved each other

and were married. Among the children of that mar-

riage was David, whose name heads this s'<etch, being

born in Bourbon County in the year 1805. He has been

three times married; first to Miss Emily Talbott;

diughter of Samuel Talbott, she dying without chil-

dren. Was married second time to Miss Ellen Berry,

daughter of Banjarain Berry; by this wife he has nine

living children, named Joseph, Bushrod, Julia Ann,

Sarah, Mary, David, Columbus, Martha and Clara. The

second wife dying, he was married the last time to Mrs.

PRECINCT.

Maria Way ; by this union he has no children. He is

owner of 300 acres of good land eight miles from Cyn-

thiana, near Cynthiana and Leesburg Turnpike, and a

member of the Methodist Church at,Pleasant Green.

CORNELIUS AMMERMAN, farmer; P. O. Cynthi-

ana. Among the early pioneers to Bourbon County was

Philip Ammerman, from Maryland. His son, Daniel

Ammerman, married a Miss Reed, daughter of Jona-

than Reed, of Bourbon, who died in 1864. Philip Am-
merman died in 1844. Cornelius Ammerman was born

in Bourbon County in 1817, and was married to Miss

E.izabeth Renaker, daughter of Jacob and Francis

(Bennet) Renaker. By this union they have seven chil-

dren, named Sarah F. Lydick, Martha Ellen Henry, wife

of Thos. Henry, Daniel, Loulie Forsythe of Mercer

County, Jacob H., Lizzie W., James L. He is the

owner of 307 acres of land five and one-half miles

from Cynthiana, near Lexington and Covington roads.

He is a Granger, and he and wife are among the leading

members of the Methodist Church at Mt. Hope; and he

is a good solid citizen.

LUKE ADAMS, farmer; P. O. Oonnersville; a native of

Bourbon County, born in 1816. His father was Francis

Adams, who came from North Carolina. His mother was

America Brennen, daughter of Mr. T. Brennen, who

died in Georgetown. Mr. Adams has been three times

married, first to Miss Frances Jane Furnish, in 1844. She

died in 1857, leaving six children, viz: Wm. F., America

Courtney, T. L., Rebecca E., who died in 1875, Anna

and McKenny. Then in 186.3, he married Emily Court-

ney. She died in 1865, and in 1866 he married Mrs.

Elizabeth Goodnight, of Harrison. He is the owner of

235 acres of land two miles west of Connersville. He is

a member and ruling Elder in the Presbyterian Church

at Beards, in Scott County, and his wife is a member

of the Methodist Church at White Oaks, in Harrison

County.

BUSHROD TEMPLE BOSWELL, P. O. Leesburg
;

farmer and stock raiser ; was born Jan. 14, 1811." His

father was William Elliott Boswell, born Jan. 8, 1772, and

died May 22, 1828. His grandfather was George Boswell,

who died near David's Fork in 181 7. His mother was Han-

nah Hardage Smith, daughter of Temple Smith, of Harri-

son, she being born Aug. 5, 1781, and died Feb. 12, 1863.

The father and mother were married in 1810. Our sub-
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ject was married in 1844, to Miss Susan Smith, by whom
he had one child, which died in infancy. Mrs. Boswell

dying in 1846, Mr. Boswell, in 1853, married Miss Susan

Penn, of Scott County, by whom he has had eight chil-

dren : William Gustaviis, James Lane, Joseph, Sallie

Hunter, Lizzie Hardage, Mollie, .lohn. Temple. Mr.

Boswell followed farming until 1 839, when he commenced
selling goods at Leesburg, which he continued until

1861, since which time he has been engaged in farming,

owning at the present time 215 acres of land half mile

from Leesburg, where, in addition to general farming he

rais3s a high grade of stock. Mr. Boswell volunteered

for the Sabine War in 1833, and was Lieutenant of Cap-

tain Coleman's company, but was disbanded by procla-

mation of President Jackson before marching: to the front.

From 1846 to 1848 he was General of Militia. His father

and a brother were in the war of 1812-14. The father

of Mr. Boswell came to Kentucky in 1790, from Loudoun

County, Va., and was a member of the first Legislature

from Harrison County in 1793, serving in the same capac-

ity till 1806 ; was also a member of the Constitutional

Convention in 1799. He commanded a regiment in the

war of 1812, and was in the battle of Port Meigs, in 1813.

His wife and two of his children, James and Sallie, are

members of the Baptist Church at Silas, and he is a

Democrat.

JOSEPH BARKLY, M. D.; P. O. Leesburg. Matthew

Barkly, a native of the " Emerald Isle," came to Wood-
ford County at so early a period that the few scattering

settlers of the surrounding country had often to take ref-

uge in the fort at Lexington to escape being massacred

by the Indians. On one occasion, Mr. Barkly and his

family fled to Lexington, and the fort being so crowded

with the panic-stricken pioneers that there were no ac-

comodations for them inside the cabins, he and his

family had to stand all night against the wall of the fort

in a heavy falFing rain. They had a son, Robert, who
was born soon after their arrival in Woodford County;

he grew up to man's estate, married Mary Cooper, lived

a long and exemplary life, and died in 1858. Of this

union co.njs he whose name heads this sketch; he was

born in Scott County in 1820, and inherited from his an-

cestry those qualities which adorn, and give tone and

strjngth to life. His grandfather, on the maternal side,

was Samuel Cooper, an Englishman by birth, who came

to America and settled in Maryland, where he married

Jane McClure. The young couple soon after emigrated

to Kentucky, settled in Lexington, and helped to build

the first frame house in that place. Dr. Barkly was mar-

ried to Miss Mary E. Kirabrough, of Harrison County,

who has borne him the following children: Mary Owings,

Ann Eliza, Rachael Cooper, Lizzie, Paul, Martha and Mi-

nerva (twins), Charles M. and Robert M. He was graduat-

ed from Transylvania University at Lexington, in 1847,

and soon thereafter began the practice of medicine at

Roanoke, Mo. Here he remained not quite a year, yielding

to his inclinations to make the State which gave him birth

the theater of his future career; he returned to Kentucky

and began the practice of his profession at Leesburg,

Harrison Co., where he still remains, enjoying a remuner-

ative practice, and the partiality of a large circle of

friends. Dr. Barkly is a member of the Masonic frater-

nity; himself and wife are communicants of the Metho-

dist Church. In politics he is in accord with the domi-

nant party of the State—the Democracy.

JAMES T. BROCK, farmer; P. O. Leesburg, is des-

cended from good old Virginia stock. His grandfather,

Joseph Brock, came from the " Old Dominion " at an early

period of Kentucky's history, where he remained for some

time, but longing for the scenes of his boyhood, he returned

to Virginia, where in due course of time he was gathered to

his father's, full of honors and of years. His son, James

Brook, continued to reside in the State. He married Miss

Nancy Anderson, daughter of Reuben Anderson,

who was a faithful and loving companion to

him until his death in 1840. She survived him until 1873,

when she died at an advanced age. Our subject, a scion

of this union, was born in 1832, and is consequently fifty

years old. He chose as his partner in the joys and cares

of life. Miss Susie Bars, daughter of J. V. Bars, of Boone
County, Ky. In 1862, Mr. Brock, catching the spirit

of the times, enlisted like thousands of other young Ken-
tuckians, in the Confederate service, and remained until

the close of the war, without even returning home during

the time. He first entered Co. I., of Col. Basil W.
Duke's Regiment, of Gen. John H. Morgan's command,
which was subsequently transferred to Col. W. C. P.

Breckinridge, to form the nucleus of his Battalion, which

was afterwards known as the 9th Kentucky Cavalry.

When Lee surrendered at Appomattox, and the stars

and bars went down to rise no more, Mr. Brock returned

to Harrison County, and began farming on the Leesburg

Pike, eight miles from Cynthiana, where he now owns
104 acres of land. Himself and wife are both communi-

cants of the Baptist faith, being members of the Silas

Church, Bourbon County. His political affiliations are

with the Democracy.

J. M. BOYER, farmer; P. O. Connersville. Among
the early settlers of Harrison County was Jacob Boyer.

He was a man of great usefulness in his day, and dyino-

^f-
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left a son named John, who married, and the union pro-

ducing J. M. Buyer, the subject of this sl<etch. in 1845. His

parents dying when he was five years old, he underwent
an orph nage, and has had to struggle for a place in life.

How well he has succeeded will be understood when we
tell that he is now the owner of 337 acres of land two
and one-half miles northeast of Conner^ville, handsome-
ly improved, and fine productive soil. He married Miss

Surah E. Allen, daughter of D.ivid Allen, of Harrison

County. By this union they have eight living children,

viz: Mary E., Johnnie, Alice C, Perry David, Jacob,

Emma; Mattie died in 1877; Allen and Sarah E. He
and his wife are worthy and consistent members of the

Christian Church at Leesburg. He affiliates with the

Democratic party, and as an evidence of the confidence

and esteem in which he is held by his neighbors, he was

made, and served in the olEoe of Treasurer, of the

Grange of which he was a member for a long time.

RICHARD BRAND, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana. About
1780, Richard Brand, grandfather of our subject, emi-

grated from Scotland and settled in Bourbon County,

where he was a practicing physician. His son Richard

bought a farm in Harrisoa County, and married Miss

Fannie Brand, daughter of David Brand, of Staunton,

Va.' Of this union Richard Brand was born in

1833. In 1865 his father died, and the son has been

living on the same place since. It is situated seven

miles from Cynthiaina, on the Cynthiana and Leesburg

Turnpike, and contains 180 acres of land, which he calls

" Locust Grove." He is a member of the Methodist

Church Soul^h, at Pheasant Green, in Bourbon County,

and his wife a member of Silas Baptist Church, Bourbon

County. She was Miss Fannie Hendricks, a daughter

of Enquire Hendricks and Sarah (Falconer) Hendricks;

by this union they have five children, named Fannie

Dills, wife of Sidnay D.lls, near Cynthiana, Kentucky.

Robert, who is at present at Georgetown Baptist College,

Kellar, E Iward and Leslie. He is a Democrat and an

honorable, upright citizen.

THOMAS D. BASSETT, farmer ; P. O., Cynthiana
;

is a native of Bracken County, having been born there

in the year 1837 ; the son of Jonathan S. Bassett, who

was a native of Harrison County, who emigrated to

Bracken and died in the year 1803. His grandfather

was Amos Bassett, who came from New Jersey to Harri-

son County at an early day. His mother was Elizabeth

Disher, who was of German ancestry. He married Miss

Sallie Stockton, daughter of Preston and Mary (Hardin)

Stockton, of Franklin County, Ky. By this marriage

they have four children living, named Bessie, Harry P.,

Katie L., and an infant unnamed. He is owner of 133

acres of fine land, five miles from Cynthiana, along the

Turnpike that leads from Cynthiana to Connersville, and

in this Pike Mr. Bassett holds stock and is one of its

directors. He votes the straight Democratic ticket, and

his wife is a member of the Free Will Baptist Church.

JOHN CRAIG, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; is a native

of Harrison County, having been born in 1803. His

father, John Craig, emigrated here at an early day, being

among the early settlers of Harrison County, coming

from North Carolina, he underwent many of the hard-

ships of the early pioneers to the " dark and bloody

ground." After living to a ripe old age he died in 1841.

His mother was Miss Nancy Patterson, of Tennessee

birth, who survived the husband just ten years, dying

in 1851. When twenty-nine years old, Mr. Craig mar-

ried MissIsabellaGray, and for fifty-two years they have

enjoyed the joys and divided the sorrows of life togeth-

er. By this union they have three living children,

named Francis, James and William ; is the owner of

300 acres of fine blue grass land situated five miles from

Cynthiana, on the Leeslick dirt road. He votes always

the Democrat ticket and is a good, solid citizen.

JOHN L. CONNER, farmer; P. 0. Connersville; was

born in Harrison in 1827. His father was John Conner,

who died in 1864. His grandfather was a Baptist

preacher of the old school; coming from Virginia he set-

tled near where Mr. John L. Conner now lives. His

name also was John; having preached for twenty years;

he died of cancer in the full assurance of faith. John

L. Conner's mother was Mahala (Haden) Conner, daugh-

ter of Jerry Haden, of Harrison County. He married

Miss Emily Penn, of Scott County, in 1852, and by this

union they have no children. He owns 120 acres of

land one mile southeast of Connersville. He is a mem-
ber of the Presbyterian Church, at Beards, Scott County,

and his wife is a member of the Methodist Communion,

at Mt. Gilead, Scott Co., Ky. Mr. Conner is a man
of even habits and is well thought of by his neighbors.

LEWIS L. CONNER, farmer; P. O. Connersville.

Among the early settlers of Harrison County, was Rev.

John Conner, who emigrated here from Virginia, bring-

ing with him his son Lewis, who, growing to manhood's

estate, took as his wife Miss Elizabeth Falconer,

daughter of Joseph Falconer, of near Lexington,

Kentucky, and she died in 1859, her husband having

died just died just ten years preceding her in 1849.

Lewis L. Conner married Miss Rebecca Furnish, daugh-

ter of William Furnish, of Harrison County, in 1836;

have three living children, viz: Eliza Jane, Alpheus,

Vl^
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Sarah Elizabeth. He is owner of 350 acres of land one-

fourth mile southeast of Coiinsrsville. Ho is the breed-

er of all kinds of high grade stock. Both he and wife

are members of the Presbyterian Church at Beards,

Scott County, in which Church he is a Ruling Elder.

W. K. GRIFFITH, farmer; P. 0. Cynthiana; is a na-

tive of Harrison County, where he was born at his pres-

ent residence in 1838. His grandfather, William Grif-

fith, was a native of Virginia, whence he emigrated at an

early day, and figured conspicuously in those pioneer

struggles which were the common lot of all of Kentucky's

early settlers. He was noted for his uprightness and

candor, and soon became possessed of the confidence and

esteem of his fellow men, having been elected as a dele-

gate to the convention which met at Danville in April,

1793, to frame the first constitution of Kentucky. The

father of our subject, Burrell Griffith, married Harriet

King, daughter of John King, of Bourbon County, Ky.

After a brief period of wedded life the connubial tie was

severed by the death of the wife in 1839. The husband

survived her eight years, dying in 1837. W. K. Grif-

fith married Miss Margaret Spears, daughter of John K.

and Emily Spears, of Bourbon, and is th^ father of four

children: Wm. B., Emma H., Hubert F. and John K.

He is the owner of a very fine estate of 1,360 acres of

superior bine grass land, located on Cynthiana and Lees-

burg Pike, five miles from Cynthiana, and called "Silver

Lake" from a very fine lake which covers an area of

about two acres and adjoins his residence. Mr. Griffith

lias for scvural years past. been a successful breeder of

short-horn cattle and Ootswold sheep, having at the head

of his herd "Victor 3nd," by Duke of Broomfield.

(American Short Horn Register, Vol. 19, No. 37,193.)

His politics are identified with the Democratic party, of

which he is a warm and valiant supporter. Mrs. G. is a

member of the Christian Church at Leesburg.

JAMES GRAY, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana; a naiive

of Harrison County, born in the year of 1804; his father,

William Gray, came from Pennsylvania in 1797 and lo-

cated in Harrison County, near where his son, James,

now lives; his grandfather was also named William; his

mother was Jane Craig, daughter of .Iiimes and Haniah

(McCoy) Craig. In 1838 he married Miss Jane McCory,

daughter of James MoCory, of Bourbon County, Ky.;

she died in 1831, leaving one child, now" Sarah ,i. Lail.

In 1833, he married Miss Mary Keiser,of Bourb m Coun-

ty, and daughter of John Keiser; she died in 1869, leav-

ing ton children, viz: Susan R., who is dead; Elizabeth,

now the wife of Mr. Animermm, of Harrison County;

John K., Margaret, now the wife of Mr. Megibbeu, of

Harrison County] Nancy Umston, Martha Gray, Menory

Tucker, Letitia Gray, Addie and Fannie. He is the

owner of 350 acres of land five miles from Cynthiana

along the line of the Cynthiana and Leesburg Pike. He
is the breeder of a high grade of stock. He is a mem-

ber of the Presbyterian Church of Mt. Pleasant, and by

honest toil he has amassed a handsome fortune.

JOHN W. GALBREATH, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana.

Benjamin Galbreath and Miss Clara Hall, a daughter of

Daniel Hall, of Harrison County, were united in the holy

bonds of matrimony; by this union they have a son JohnW.

Galbreath, who was born in Bourbon County, Sept. 33,

1836. His grandfather was John W. Galbreath, who was

a Revolutionary soldier, and was killed in the battle of

River Raisin. John W., who heads this sketch, married

Miss Mary E. Fry, a daughter of William and America

Fry, and by this marriage, they have six children, named:

Mary Alice, George William, Rosa Lee, Mildred Ann,

James Woodford, and Melinda Belle. He is the breeder

of high grade stock, and a Democrat in politics.

W, C. HOBSON, farmer ; P. O. Connersville; he

was born in Clermont County, Ohio, in 1834; his father

was William Hobson, who was born in Ireland, and died

in Ohio in 1860. His mother, Mary N., was the daughter

of Coving'on Nehon, of Virginia. She died in 1850. -He

married Miss Wiley, of Hirrison County, daughter

of B. B. Wiley, who died of cholera in 1850. By
this union they have five living children, viz : Emer-

ald W., John B., Lulu A., William A., and Nelson L.

He is the owner of ninety-two acres of land, situated some

seven miles from Cynthiana on the Cynthiana and George-

town road. He is a member of the fraternity of A., F.

& A. M. His wife is a member of the Christian Church.

He is a Republican.

G. T. JOHNSON, farmer; P. O. Connersville; native

of Scott County, having been born in that County in

1846; his father, Garland Johnson, died in 1878; his

mother, Thirzah (Payne) Johnson, is still living at the

advanced age of seventy-four; his grandfather, John R.

Johnson, emigrated to this country from Ireland. G. T.

Johnson married Miss Amanda Coppage in 1869, daugh-

ter of Wesley and Lucinda (Carter) Coppage, of Harri-

son County; by this union there are five children viz:

Ada, Garland, Mollie T., James T. and Asa. He owns

135 acres of land known as he " Minteer " farm, one and

a-half miles from Leeslick in a northeast direction, and on

the Leeslick and Scott County road. He and wife are

members of the Christian Church at Turkey Foot, Scott

County, and he is a member of Gilead Grange in Scott

County, and an active and uncompromising Democrat.

^1^
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J. L. LOGAN, farmer; P. O. Coimersvillc; was born

in Harrison County in .the year 1849; his father, James

F. Logan, is still livinir, at the apje of seventy-nine years,

having been born in 1802; his grandfather, James Lo-

gan, came from Pennsylvania; his mother was Catharine

(Thompson) Logan, who d.ed in 1849. J. L. Logan mar-

ried Misd Mary E. Carter, of Harrison, daughter of John

and AJelmeCirter, and has six childreii, named: Catha-

rine, Charley W., Ora, James F., Ernest and .loseph E.

He is owner of 635 acres of fine land eight miles from

Cynthiana, in sight of Leeslick, handsomely improved

and well stocked. He is a Mason, belonging to the Com-

mandery at Cynthiana, also a Granger, belonging to Gil-

ead Lodge, Scott County, Ky. He and his wife belong

to the Presbyterian Church at Beards, in Scott County,

he being a Ruling Elder. He aflSIiates with the Demo-
cratic party, and iu all the walks of life is regarded as an

honorable, upright citizen.

E. D. McADAMS, farmer ; Cynthiana. The subject

of this sketcli was born in Fleming County, Kentucky, in

1814 ; a son of Armstrong McAdams, who died in 1857,

and grandson of John McAdams, who was of Scotch birth.

His mother was Nancy Puree! 1, who died of cholera dur-

ing the fearful rage of that fell destroyer in 1833, she was

the daughter ofW illiam Purcell, an Englishman by birth

who emigrated to this country and resided for a long

while in Bourbon County. "When advanced in years he

moved to Harrison County, and after living alife of great

usefulness, he died in 1826. In 1849, E. D. McAdams

and Miss Rebecca Ann Ammerman, a daughter of Joseph

and Rebecca Ammerman, of Harrison County, were

united in the holy ties of matrimony. By this marriage

they have five children, numed : Joseph A., James W.,

JohnW., Franklin R., and Hettie A. By honest toil and

close attention to business, he is now the owner of a nice

tract of good land, containing 115 acres, three miles from

Cynthiana, lying immediately along the Cynthiana and

Leesburg Turnpike, which he calls Sugar Grove. Father,

wife, and son Joseph, are members of the Christian

Church at Cynthiana.

JAMES L. PATTERSON, farmer ; P. O. Cynthiana.

Among the leading and successful farmers of Leesburg

Precinct, none are better or more popularly known than

him whose name heads this sketch. He was born in

Harrison County, in the year 1815. His father was

Joseph Patterson, who was brought from Virginia when

an infa,nt,by his parents, and died in the year 1849. His

mother was Susan Smith, a daughter of Eliza Smith, from

Pennsylvania, who died in the same year of her husband,

being in 1849. James L. Patterson married Miss Mar-

garet J. Miller, of Harrison County, in the year 1841, just

forty-one years ago, a daughter ofHugh and Mary (Ewalt)

Miller. Her father died in 1831, and her mother in 1866.

By this marriage they have no children. He is the owner

of a magnificent body of land, containing in all 1460

acres. His home tract is situated in the fertile valleys of

Silas Creek, seven miles from Cynthiana, near the Bour-

bon line, and he has given it the appropriate name of

'' Rural Choice," upon this farm he has fine stock of every

description, such as short-horn cattle, Cotswold sheep, etc.

He is the owner of twenty-eight brood mares, from which

he raises principally mules, which he generally sells at

one year old. In politics, he is identified with the Demo-
cratic party, and he and his wife are consistent members

of the Christian Church at Mount Carmel. Beginning

life poor, and by patient industry and economy, he has

amassed a handsome estate, and to which we can point

the ambitious young man of the present day, as an ex-

ample-worthy of imitation.

HIGGINS C. SMITH, M. D.; P. O. Leesburg; son

of F. C. and Agnes (Chinn) Smith, born in 1847. His

father, Francis C; was born in 1814, and he and wife

are still living. She being the daughter of John Chinn

and Mildred (Higgins) Chinn; the former was born Au-

gust 3, 1766, and died March 8, 1839, and the latter was

born July 34, 1776, and died July 30, 1819. His grand-

father, John Smith, was one of the most prominent citi-

zens of Harrison County in his day; filling at one time

the office of .Justice of the Peace, and for several years

Sheriff of Harrison County. Dr. H. C. Smith was a stu-

dent at the colleges of Georgetown and Harrodsburg in

this State, and graduated in medicine in the class of

1869, at Bellevue Hospital, New York. In 1870 he be-

gan the practice of his profession at Georgetown, Ken-

tucky; remainod there one year, then located at Lees-

burg, where he has since been in active practice, and is

regarded by his neighbors as a physician of ability. His

father resides eight miles from Cynthiana on the Lexing-

ton and Cynthiana Pike, and is engaged in farming,

beino- the breeder of short horn cattle and Cotswold

sheep. Dr. Smith has four living brothers. Samuel L.

is a broker at No. 40, Wall Street, New York. Francis

B. is a farmer of Harrison and is interested in fine stock.

Marcus A. is a practicing attorney at Tombstone, Ari-

zona Territory, and James J. is in Colorado. Mother and

all of her sons are members of the Christian, Church at

Leesburg.

JAMES H. SHROPSHIRE, Jr., farmer; P. O. Lees-

burg; a native of Bourbon; having been born in that

County in the year 1850. His father, James H. Shrop-
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shire, Sr., is an active and energetic farmer of Bourbon,

and his grandfather was Abner Shropshire. His mother

was Miss Maria Louisa Harcourt. Mr. Shropshire mar-

ried Miss Mary A. Crenshaw, of Bourbon County, and

by this union they have two children, named Fannie

Pearl and .Jessie. Both he and wife are leading and con-

sistent members of the Christian Church at Leesburg, tak-

ing part in every good work that tends to elevate and

ennoble mankind. He has become an active and leading

member of the Good Templars at Leesburg. In politics

he is identified with Democracy.

THOMAS D. URMSTON, farmer; P. O. Cynthiana;

born in the State of Ohio on the 12th of February 1801.

His father, Benjamin Urraston, was one of the founders

of the now thriving city of Chillicothe, Ohio. He spent

his life in doing good deeds and died ir^ 1820. His

mother was Miss Ann Magee. He was twice married,

first in 1825 to Miss Eliza Harcourt, who died in 1855,

leaving two children, Wm. D., who lives near Lair's

Depot, and John W. is farming seven miles from Cynth-

iana on the Cynthiana and Leesburg Turnpike. Then in

1856 he was married again to Miss Ann G. Hurst, who

died in 1878, leaving no children. Mr. Urmston has

been a man of considerable enterprise, running at one

time a tannery and currying shop; attached also is a coun-

try store which he is now carrying on. In addition to

this he is running his farm of 140 acres of good land

seven miles from Cynthiana on the Cynthiana and Lex-

ington road, which is well stocked with all kinds of high-

grade animals, and is known as Union Villa. He is a

Democrat and a prominent member of the Presbyterian

Church at Mt. Pleasant, located at Broadwell; having

been a member of the Presbyterian Church for sixty-

four years and an elder in the same church for fifty years.

Growing old, yet with his faith unshaken in the friend of

man, he has asked the church to excuse him from the

eldership, and looking back upon a life well spent with

a ripe old age upon him he only awaits the call of his

blessed Master to go hence.

JAMES W. WREGG, farmer; P. O. Leesburg; was

born in Scott County, September 20, 1818. His father,

Samuel Ray, an Englishman by birth, came to America

when eleven years old. Both of his parents died six

months after he came to Kentucky. Himself and broth-

ers were " bound out" until he was twenty-one years of

age when he began life for himself as a blacksmith. He
died in Mississippi in 1870, aged ninety-seven years.

His wife was Mary E. McKenzie, daughter of Reuben

and Susan McKenzie. Reuben McKenzie assisted in

building the fort at Lexington. He participated in the

battle of Blue Licks, and though desperately wounded,

escaped with his life. Mr. Wregg married Miss Angela

Price, daughter of Isaiah Price, who served through the

war of 1812. They have seven children, viz: Mrs. MaryE.

Carroll, Samuel I., Hulda A., Kelly B., Susan E., Fanny

and Lena. He owns 166 acres of land three-fourths of a

mile west of Leesburg where he breeds high-grade

stock and farms in a general way. He is a Mason, and

he and his wife are members of the Christian Church

at Leesburg. He is a Democrat in politics.
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CLAYSVILLE PRECINCT.
W. T. ASBURY, farmer and merchant; P. O. Clays-

ville; son of Obannan Asbury, a native of Nicholas

County, Ky.; was born in Robinson County, Ky., in

1832, where he received his education ^nd then com-

menced his work in life by assisting in tilling the soil of

his father's farm. In 1861 he was married to Anna M.

Hatch, who has borne him two children, the oldest,

Maria N., now the wife of H. C. Fightmaster, of Cyn-

thiana, and Obannan N., now eight years of age. In

1862, Mr. Asbury moved to Mason County, Ky., and in

1863 removed to Harrison County, and there buying a

farm of 150 acres and also starting in the mercantile

business, which, at the present time is the principal one

of Claysville; he is politically a Radical, and has held

the office of Magistrate for nine consecutive years. Mr.

Asbury has been dependent on his own resources, and

by his studied economy and industry has accumulated a

good property, and his name arid reputation is above

reproach.

T. S. BECKETT, farmer; P. O. Claysville; a native

of Harrison County, Ky., and son of John and Jane

(Fleming) Beckett. He was born in 1818. His father

was born in Maryland, and removed to Virginia with his

parents; afterward removed to Harrison County, Ky.,

where he died, aged seventy-six years. His mother was

born in Virginia. T. S., our subject, is one of Clays-

ville's most respected men; he is a temperate man, and

has been a member of the Methodist Church for thirty

years. In 1838, he married Miss America Scott. They

were the parents of eleven children, viz.: Robert, Me-

lissa, Jane, John, Frances, Thomas, Joseph, America,

James, Lucy and Mary. He is the owner of 311 acres

of land, upon which he makes hog-raising a specialty.

His family are members of the Christian Church.

STEPHEN W. BARNES, farmer; P. O. Claysville;

is a native of Harrison County, Ky., and son of John

and Polly (Godman) Barries; he was born Aug. 26th,

1817. In 1845, he married Miss Frances Quigley, a na-

tive of Ohio; she died May J7, 1879. They are the

parents of nine children: Wm. PI., Sarah, Elizabpth,

Mary, Emily, Stephen, Anna, Ellen and John. He is

the owner of 200 acres of land, upon which he still re-

sides; he is a member of the Christian Church. His fa-

ther was born in Bourbon County, Ky., and at the age

of five years was brought to Harrison County by his pa-

rents, where he remained, following the occupation of

farmer and cooper; he died aged eighty-four years. His

mother was a native of Harrison County.

DAVID DUCKWORTH, farmer; P. O. Claysville; is

a native of Montgomery County, Ky., and son of William

and Susan (Legget) Duckworth; he was born April 34,

183'i; his father was born near Charlotte, Mecklenburg

County, N. C. When but four years of age he emigrat-

ed to Montgomery County, Ky., with his parents, where

he remained and received his education and following

the occupation of farming during his life; in 1828 he

married Miss Susan Leggett; they were the parents of

seven children. The mother of our subject was born and

raised in Montgomery County, Ky. David, our subject,

lived his earlier life with his parents, receiving an educa-

tion and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm;

in 1849 he removed to Harrison County, where he has

since remained, following the occupation of farming.

Dec. 11, 1873, he married Miss Sarah J. Stewart, who

bore him one child, George B., now eight years old. His

wife died April 12, 1881. He is the owner of 336 acres of

land, principally located in Harrison County; he is a mem-

ber of the A., F. & A. M., Lodge No. 243, at Claysville;

a member of the Christian Church and a Republican.

LOUISA FLETCHER, farmer; P. O. Claysville; a

native of Harrison County, Ky., in which she now lives,

was born in 1838, and was married to B. F. Fletcher in

1857. Five children were born to them, viz.: Oliver,

Jefferson, John, Henry and Arthur. B. F. Fletcher was

first married to Elzira Dicky, who bore him six children:

Anna, Robert, Carolina, Vishti, Frances and Dora. Mr.

F. lived about thirty years in Harrison County, and was

always a hard-working man, and by so doing succeeded

in getting a farm of 130 acres. He was a soldier in the

Confederate Array for three years, and died soon after his

return home from the war. Mrs. F. has lived to witness

many of the changes in the development and improve-

ment of the country surrounding her home, and has

reared a family of children, whose promise of honorable

man and womanhood is an honor to her in her old age.

WILLIAM HUNT, farmer; P. O. Smitsonville; is a

son of H. D. and Charlotte Hunt, both natives of Ken-

tucky, and traces the genealogy of his family backtooi\e

of the first settlers of Kentucky; his grandfather, Mr.

Robertson Hunt, came to Kentucky with Daniel Boone,

~a) \



@ l_ !l^.

728 BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

where he remained a resident until his death, which

occurred at the extreme old age of one hundred and

four years. William was born in Montgomery Coun-

ty, Ky., in 1843, and at the age of six years, his pa-

rents moved to Harrison County, Ky., where he re-

ceived his education. In 1859, the family removed to

Texas, settling in Harrison County of that State; there

William engaged in work at the trade of carpenter and

at carrying the United States mail from Marshall, Tex.,

to Keatchie, La. Within one year after the arrival of the

family in Texas, his father and mother died, leaving

three children younger than himself to his care. In

1860, he returned to Harrison County, and settled on the

farm he now owns. In 1861, he enlisted in the Confed-

erate Army, and at the close of the war, on his way home,

he walked from Abingdon, Va., to Mt. Sterling, a dis-

tance of two hundred miles, in five days. Upon his re-

turn he at once engaged in agricultural pursuits, which

he has since followed, in connection with which he runs,

during the winter season, a saw mill, owned by him, and

built in 1810, by one Miller. Here, by his own en-

ergy and industry, he has built for himself a comfortable

and pleasant home, his house being at the time of its

erection, the finest between Augusta, Bracken County,

Ky., and Cynthiana. In 1870, T\Ir. Hunt was married to

Miss Lizzie Botts; they are the parents of six children:

Hattie, Annie, Amanda, Sidney, Nettie, and Mamie. In

religious faith he is a Baptist, he and family being mem-
bers of the Beaver Church; he is also a Democrat, as was

also his father, and although a young man, he has al-

ready a good business, and a worthy name and reputa-

tion in the community where he resides.

SUSAN HICKMAN, farming; was born in Nicholas

County (Ky.), February 18, 1817. She lived with her

parents, in Nicholas County, to the time of their death.

Her father died when she was but six weeks old, and her

mother when she was 17 years old. After the death of

her parents she lived with her relatives until she was 23

years of age. In 1840 she was married to Jesse Hick-

man and removed to Harrison County, where they spent

nearly 40 years of happiness together. Mr. Hickman

died in 1878, aged 67 years; he was a man of good morals

and a christian. The community in which he lived

mourns the loss of such a good citizen. There was

born to them 10 children, seven of whom are living,

viz.: David, Benjamin, John, Mary, Henry, Amanda and

Nany. Mrs. Hickman's grandfathers were both minis-

ters of the Gospel. She is a woman of indomitable

energyand perseverance, and enjoys the highest esteem

of the community in which she lives.

BEN. C. HICKMAN, farmer; is a native of Harrison

County, and the son of Jesse and Susan Hickman. He
was born in 1844. His early life was spent in receiving

an education and assisting in the tilling of the soil of his

father's farm. In 1865 he embarked in business for him-

self by carrying on a mercantile business at Havilands-

ville with his brother, W. D. Hickman. In 1878 he sold

his interest in the business at Havilandsville to his

brother ; bought a farm of 170 acres, and began

farming, which business he still continues. In 1878 he

married Miss Emma Casey, a native of Harrison County.

Although a young man, he has, by his honesty, economy

and industry, succeeded in gaining a good property and

a name and reputation which is beyond reproach. He is a

Republican, a member of the order I. O. 0. F. Lodge No.

191, at Cynthiana, and, with his wife, united with the

Baptist Church.

JOHN HULS, firmer; P. O. Claysville; he was born

in Montgomery County, Ky., in 1803, June 30; he re-

ceived his education from the common schools of his na-

tive county, and at the age of twenty-one began farming,

which he followed in Montgomery County until 1849,

when he removed to Harrison County, Ky., where he has

since remained and followed the occupation of farming

and working some at the trade of shoemaking. In 1837,

September 18, he married Miss Louisiana Fletcher, who

has borne him thirteen children, eleven of whom are still

living, viz: Garrett F., Pleasant, Andrew J., Achilles,

Jerusha, Winifred, Sally, John, Nimrod, Elizabeth, and

Naomi. He had held the office of Magistrate for four

years; he is a member of the Christian Church, and is a

Democrat. Mr. Huls is one of the oldest citizens of

Claysville Precinct, and bears a name and reputation

of which his children may well be proud.

• J. M. HOBDAY, farmer; P. O. Claysville; a native of

Gordonsville, Virginia, and son of Edward and Sarah

P. Hobday; he was born in 1825; his father was born in

Virginia, and removed to Pendleton County, Ky., where

he followed the occupation of farming; he died aged

eighty-five years. His mother was born in Charlottes-

ville, Va., in 1796, and is now residing in Harrison

County, Ky. J. M., the subject of our sketch, received

his education in Pendleton County, Ky., and at the age of

twenty left home and began first by teaching school in

Harrison County, which he followed for eighteen years,

during that time he bought a farm and managed it. In

1873, he married Rebecca M. Jackson; she was born in

Bracken County, in 1843. His children by his first wife

are James H., and by his present wife Charles B.,

Thomas M., and Howe. He is the owner of 600 acres of
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land ; he is a member of the Masonic Order, Taylor Lodge,

No. 164, at Berry's, Ky.

WINDER KINNEY, farmer; P. 0. ClaysviUe; is a

native of Harrison County, and son of Isaac and Rutha

(Fields) Kinney; he was born in 1839; his father was

born in Bracken County, in 1813, and now resides in Illi-

nois, following the occupation of farming. His mother

was also born in Bracken County, and died at the early

age of twenty-three years. Winder, our subject, lived

his earlier life with his uncle, W. Kinney, where he re-

ceived his education. In 1865 he married Frances Beck-

ett, who has borne him six children, viz : Joel, Susan

J., Melissa, Thomas S., William, and James A., named
from our assassinated President, James A. Garfield. In

1865, he bought a farm of sixty acres, which he continues

to till, raising all the principal crops. He enlisted in the

Federal Army, 20th Reg't, Co. I, K. V., as a private,

and returned as First Lieutenant. He is a Republican.

T. J. LANGLBY, farmer; P. O. Claysville; was born in

Harrison County, Ky., February, 1834, and, is the son of

Abraham and Anna (Scott) Langley. He is descended

from one of Harrison County's old pioneers. His grand-

father, Isaac, was born in Virginia, and in crossing the Dix

river en route for Kentucky, was drowned; his wife, with

her one child, Abraham, father of our subject, continued

their journey alone, and settled on Beaver creek in about

the year 1798, and in 1815 Abraham married Miss Anna

Scott, who bore him twelve children, of whom was T. J.

Langley, the subject of our sketch. He spent his earlier

days with his parents in receiving an education and as-

sisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In 1855,

he married Miss Melissa Beckett, a native of Harrison

County, Ky., and daughter of T. S. and America (Scott)

Beckett. They are the parents of eight children, five of

whom are now living, viz : Corrllla, Maggie, Abraham,

Ida and Artinsa. Mr. Langley has always resided at his

present residence, having 238 acres of land. The Chris-

tian Church in his neighborhood was founded and named

from the family; also the school which is called Langley

School. His family are members of the Langley Chris-

tian Church.

CORNELIUS McLEOD, farmer; P. O. Claysville; is

a native of North Carolina, and son of Duncan and Bar-

bara McLeod. He was born June 12, 1821, in Moore

County; his grandparents were both natives of Scotland,

and emigrated to North Carolina before the Revolution-

ary War. The father of our subject was born in North

Carolina in 1799, and in 1826 removed to Knox County,

Ky., where he followed the occupation of farming to the

time of his death, which occurred in December, 1861.

Cornelius, our subject, spent his earlier days with his

parents in Knox County, Ky., where he received his ed-

ucation, and assisted in tilling the soil of his father's

farm. In 1842, he removed to Estill County, where he

engaged in the manufacture of salt until 1844, when he

removed to Harrison County, where he took contracts

for sinking wells for salt. In 1846, he engaged in the

lumber business, buying and shipping to Cincinnati. In

1847, he married Miss Martha J. Kinney, a native of Har-

rison County, and daughter of Wyander and Sarah Kin-

ney. In the same year, he removed to Clay County,

where he followed the occupation of farming. In 1852,

he removed to Harrison County, again farming until 1861,

when he enlisted in the Federal Army, 20th Reg., Co. I,

K. V. He was discharged from the army Jan. 17, 1865,

when ho returned home to Harrison County, and engaged

in the mercantile business at Claysville, which he con-

tinued until 1867, when he kept hotel, remaining in the

same until 1873, when he was appointed by IJ. S. Com-
missioner of Internal Revenue as U. S. Gauger, which

office he held until 1878, when he again resumed farm-

ing, and has since followed it. He has the following

children, viz: John, Mary M., William A., Belle, Harry

and Winder. He is a Republican.

ELIJAH MOORE, farmer and miller; P. O. Claysville;

a native of Bracken County, Ky.; was born 1809. His

father, Levi Moore, was born in Pennsylvania; he

was a farmer, and died aged eighty-two years; he

was a Whig, and in his life-time held the offices

of Constable and Magistrate for several years. His

wife, Jane Truax, was a native of Pennsylvania; she

died aged forty years. The subject of our sketch

is among the most prominent men of his precinct;

he is the owner of 600 acres of land, upon which

he raises all the principal crops, making tobacco and

stockraising a specialty; he also is the owner and mana-

ger of a grist-mill; in 1870 he married Miss Parmelia

Jackson. He is the father of ten children, viz: Nimrod,

Ann S., Levi H., Susan H., Isaac C, John, Elijah,

Stilwell S., Artinsia and Mary. Mr. Moore has by his

studied economy and business habits, succeeded in gain-

ing a good prooerty, and bears a name and reputation

which is beyond reproach.

THOS. A. MONTGOMERY, farmor; P. O. Claysville;

was born Feb. 15, 1850, and is the sot of James Mont-

gomery, a native of Dauphin County, Pa., who was the

owner and successful manager of a leading woolen-mill;

he was born in 1806, living to the age of fifty-six years.

One year after his death his son, Th is. A., moved to Har-

rison County, Ky., and there studied for an education
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until 1871, when he bought a farm of 177 acres upon

which he raises the principal produce's as corn, wheat,

rye and tobacco, and at one time made the breeding of

hogs a specialty. In 1877 he was married to Fannie

Curran, who has borne him two children ; James M., now

being three years old, and Thomas W., two years old.

Mr. M. is a Democrat; he is a member of the Masonic

Lodge of Claysville, No. 243, and is now holding the of-

fice of Secretary. Though a young man, he has taken

more than an active part in the local affairs, and, by his

business habits and integrity, is one esteemed by the cit-

izens in this community.

ROBERT F. MILLER, farmervP. O. Claysville; is a

native of Wabash County, Ind., and son of Adam S.

Miller; he was born in 1849. His father was born in In-

diana in 1830; he was always a farmer to the time of his

death, which occurred in 1864. Robert lived with his

parents to the age of twenty-one, receiving an education

and assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In

1870, he removed to Harrison County, buying a farm, of

118 acres, upon which he now resides. In 1871, he mar-

ried Miss Celia A. Miller, a native of Harrison County,

and daughter of James H. Miller; she was born Feb. 16,

1851. Her father was born April 7, 1818, in Harrison

County. She is a member of the Methodist Church.

He is a Democrat. They are the parents of five chil-

dren, viz.: John J., George L., Willie A., Bruce A., and

Charlie H.

T. A. ROBERTSON, farmer; P. O. Smitsonville; is

the son of Richard H., and Mary T. (Samuels) Robert-

son, and was born June 9, 1833, in Shelby County, Ky.;

his father was a native of near Richmond, Va., and came

to Kentucky about the year 1803, a young man of twenty-

three years of age; he settled first in Garrard County, and

-then removed to Shelby, and subsequently to Harrison;

he was a Democrat and a man possessed of a high

sense of honor, and though he died in November, 1858, he

predicted with wonderful accuracv. as subsequent events

proved, the near approach ofthe late civil war. The mother

of T. A. died when he was a child. Arriving at man's es-

tate, Mr. Robertson, in 1854, was married to Miss Lucy

A. Hickman, a native of Harrison County. For about

three years following this event he was engaged in buy-

ing, selling and shipping stock; quitting the business at

the close of this period a poorer, and perhaps a wiser

man, he moved to Cincinnati, where he spent the two suc-

ceeding years. Returning again to the old homestead, he

spent about two years at farming and milling, and then

purchased his present farm of 175 acres, located on the ex-

tension nf the Cynthiana and Claysville Pike. In 1867 his

brother was elected Sheriff of Harrison County, holding

the office until 1870. In 1873 and 1874 he filled the

same responsible position, and during his whole term of

service T. A. acted as his deputy, and though a Demo-

crat, and his long service as deputy thoroughly fitting

him for the office, he sought no political preferment at

the hands of the people. In 1879 he began agitating

the question of the extension of the Cynthiana and Clays-

ville Pike, from its terminus (Oddville) to Claysville.

Succeeding in securing the granting of a new charter for

the extension, he was made the first President, but ac-

cepting a contract in the building of the road, in which

he is the heaviest stockholder, he resigned his office.

Though not so old a' resident of Claysville Precinct as

many of his neighbors, there is but little doubt of Mr. Rob-

ertson's being one of the leading spirits in that part of

Harrison County. When he was twenty-two years of

age he joined St. Andrews' Lodge A. F. & A. M.; subse-

quently he was diraitted and became one of the charter

members of Thomas Ware Lodge No. 340, of Claysville,

which he represented at the Grand Lodge four times as

W. M. of Thomas Ware Lodge, and once by proxy. His

wife, oldest daughter, and himself, are members of the

Christian Church. Ten children have been born to Mr.

and Mrs. Robertson, eight of whom are living, viz.:

Richard Henry, Fannie, now wife of W. H. Zilor; two

deceased, Frank W., Laura, Cora, Hattie, Blanche, and

Stella.

WILLIAM H. ROUTT, farmer ; P. O. Claysville ; is

a native of Bracken County, Kv.. and son of Nitnrod and

Elizabeth (Howard) Routt. He was born Dec. 10, 1817.

His father was born in Virginia, in 1786, and died in

1860, aged seventy-four years. His mother was born in

Maryland in 179.3, and died in 1865, aged seventy-two

years. William, our subject, lived with his parents to

the age of twenty-four ; receiving an education and

assisting in tilling the soil of his father's farm. In 1841

he married Miss Jane Moore, a native of Bracken County,

Ky.; by this union they had nine children, eight of whom
are still living, viz : Maria, Clara, Lucius, Temple, .John,

Fannie, Ada and Willie. In 1863, he removed to Har-

rison County ; buying a farm near Claysville, where he

remained three years, he then returned to the old home-

stead, which was willed to hiiu by his father, remaining

there until 1867, when he returned to Harrison County,

and since remained there, following the occupation of

farming. He is the owner of 141 acres of land. His family

are members of the Baptist Church. He is a Democrat, and

for a number of years in Bracken County, he has held the

office of Justice of the Peace.
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NICHOLAS COUNTY.

CARLISLE CITY AND PRECINCT.
G. W. ADAIR ; D. D. S., Carlisle ; son of Rich-

ard and Mary (Tarr) Adair, (see Robert Tarr's history,

in Millersburg Precinct), the paternal ancestry of Scotch-

Irish descent, but a native of Maryland, emigrated to

Nicholas County about 1815, where he resided the prin-

cipal part of the time until his death. His occupation

was that of tanning, which he followed during his life-

time, in connection with agricultural pursuits. He died

at 77 years of age, leaving a large family of which our

subject was the youngest, and an estimable wife, who
followed him to the grave in the winter of 1875, aged

81 years. Three sons of the family have received a de-

gree of notoriety in the dental and medical professions.

R. M. Adair, now of Mt. Sterling, one of the first dentists

of the blue grass region, a graduate of the Baltimore

Dental College; J. J., now deceased, also a graduate of

the Baltimore College, and of the Louisville Medical Col-

lege. Our subject was born Aug. 16, 1838; received a

common school education, and remained on the farm

until about the age of twenty years, when he began the

study of dentistry with his brother R. M., at Mt. Sterling;

thence to Cincinnati with Dr. J. Taft, one of the pro-

fessors in the Cincinnati Dental College ; here he re-

mained a short time, subsequently returning to Mt.

Sterling. He began the practice of his chosen profes-

sion in 1858, locating a short time subsequent in Car-

lisle, where he has since been doing a large business.

He was married Oct. 29, 1861, to Miss Mary H. Henry,

daughter of Richard Henry, and his wife, a Miss Hen-

shaw, both of Harrison County, By this marriage there

have been two daughters—Sally B. and Lucy, O. He

has held for a number of years the office of town trus-

tees, is- a member of the Masonic Order and Knights

Templar, now filling the position of Commander of

Carlisle Commandery, No. 18, and an esteemed and an

honored citizen, and with his family belongs to the Bap-

tict Church.

W. B. ALLEN, merchant, Carlisle ; son of F. W.
Allen, he a brother to J. Banks Allen (see Allen's his-

tory under the head of Millersburg Precinct, Bourbon

County), F.W. Allen, cashier of the banking firm of Allen,

Harbeson & Co., of Augusta, Ky .; was sheriffof Bath Coun-

ty for eight years, then started the banking house of Smith,

Wilson & Co., at Flemingsburg, where thay carried on

business successfully for a number of years, then to his

present business. He was married to Maria Herndon, a

native of Kenton County, Ky., by whom he had four

children (two daughters died in infancy). The two sons

novr living, Thomas M., the eldest, engaged in business

with his father, and the subject of this sketch, who de-

voted himself to study in the common schools, until lo

years of age, when his passion for an active business life

led him, first, to engage in the drug business with Dr.

Benj. Derrett, at Flemingsburg ; after which he entered

the dry goods store of Geo. V. Morris. Subsequently he

engaged in trading and various business speculations,

the last of which resulted disastrously ; but with that

firm determination (characteristic of his people), he began

again, and soon made for himself a place among the

foremost business men of his community. Sept. 1, 1878,

he came to Carlisle, where he engaged in the clothing

business, at the head of which branch he stands first in

Nicholas County. He was married May 27, 1875, to an

estimable young lady. Miss Julia F. Wood, daughter of

Bela Wood and a Miss Royce, both of which are among

the first families of Nicholas County. They have one

child, Ida Belle. He is a member of the Masonic order,

and one of the enterprising men of Carlisle.

A. W. ALLEN, farmer ; P. 0. Moorefield ; son of

David and Susanna Thompson, who were married Nov.

20, 1833; she a daughter of David Thompson. David

Allen was born in Loudon County, Va., Oct. 5, 1791,

and the fourth of ten children, eight sons and two

daughters, the eldest of whom was born in 1788 ; four

are now living: James, Joseph and Louisa, widow of

James Boardman, residing in the State of Indiana, and

Douglas, in Iowa. The father of our subject, who is still

living, is a scm of Joseph and Fannie (Wright) Allen, who

came to Bourbon County, settling near North Middletown,

in the year 1799, subsequently resided in Clark and Scott

Counties, thence removed to Bath County, where they

both died. David lived with his parents until his first

marriao-e, when he engaged in business for himself. This

union was blessed with five children, two of whom are
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now living : our subject, and Martha A., wife of John

"W. Brown, who reside in Saline County, Mo., Henry,

deceased, married and left heirs in Nicholas County. His

second marriage was to Lucretia Neff, deceased, Oct. 10,

1833, by whom he had also five children, of which num-

ber four daughters are living : Louisa C, wife of Charles

Potts, residing in Boone County, Mo. The others are in

Nicholas; Elizabeth, unmarried; Amanda, wife of Wm.
Caldwell, and Adeline, wife of Joseph Wilson. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born Dec. 18, 1835, and has

always been engaged in farming, with his father. He
was married, Dec. 13, 1877, to Rosa Cook, who was born

in Helena, Mison County, Ky., April 38, 1846, to John

and Margaret (Weaver) Cook ; he a native of Nicholas,

where he died while on a visit to his daughter, in May,

1878 ; she still living. By this marriage, there has been

born to them one child, John D., Nov. 39, 1878. He is

in politics a Democrat, and, with his family, are connected

with the Presbyterian Church at Moorefield.

JUDG-E A. J. BANTA, Judge of the County and

Quarterly Courts ; P. O. Carlisle ; was born in Bourbon

County, Aug. 3, 1834 (see Peter Banta's history); he

received a common school education, assisting his father

until the year 1843, when he engaged in farming on his

own account, removing to Nicholas County in February,

1846. He was married on Oct. 5, 1846, in Flat Rock, to

Elizabeth Johnson, of Bourbon County, where she was

born in November, 1834, to John and Lettie (Call)

Johnson, natives of Bourbon. Her parents both died in

1833 of cholera. By this union there have been four

children, two of whom died in their infancy ; those

living are : Letitia J., wife of M. A. Glenn, a farmer, of

Nicholas; and John P., farming in Bates County, Mo.

Mr. Banta and family are of the Christian faith, religiously,

and Democratic politically. He was Sheriff of the county

at the breaking out of the late war, but was compelled

by order of the Federal troops to relinquish his office,

which proved disastrously to him in a financial point of

view. He espoused the cause of the Confederacy,

enlisting in 1863 in the 9th Kentucky Regiment, was

made First Lieutenant of Company B., but on account of

bad health was appointed to the commissary department

for general supplies for the Southern Army, in which he

served until the close of the war, when he returned

home and engaged in farming and distilling. He is

now engaged in various other pursuits besides his judicial

duties.

ABRAM BANTA, farmer, P. O. Carlisle; youngest

son of Henry Banta's (see Peter Banta's history); he was

born April 18, 1805, and attended school about three

months, during which time he received his theoretical

education. He remained with his parents until in the

year 1839, when he came to the farm upon which he now

resides. He was mai-ried in 1838, to Miss Dorcas

Hedges,' born July 28, 1806, to James and Annie (For-

man) Hedges, who were heirs in the famous " Hedges

Estate." The Bantas and Hedges are among the early

settlers in the " Region," and noted for their longevity.

Mr. Banta is the father of eight children, all of whom
grew to maturity. They were: Scythia A., born Dec.

34, 1839, was wife of Samuel Fulton, and James H.,

born Aug. 14, 1831; both are residing at Ridge Farm,

Vermillion County, 111.; Margaret L., born May 38, 1833,

wife of Thomas Campbell, residing in Headquarters Pre-

cinct; Andrew J. died a prisoner at Camp Morton, Aug.

30, 1864, aged twenty-nine years; Sarah F., born April

4, 1839, died March 19, 1877, leaving one child, Nannie;

J. M., the father, Edwin Collins, engag^ in business at

Carlisle; William F., born May 38, 1841; farming in

Edgar County, 111.; Elizabeth, a twin sister to William

F., wife of Lon Campbell, of Carlisle; Amie Maria, born

Aug. 9, 1847, wife of Henry Bogart, of Vermillion Coun-

ty, Ind. The parents are vigorous old people, highly

esteemed citizens of the community in which they live,,

and with their family belong to the Christian Church.

DR. H. C. BURROUGHS; P. O. Carlisle; is a native

of Nicholas County, and a son of Alexander and Betsy

(Hutchings) Burroughs, who came from Virginia very

early in the history of the State; he is one of twelve

children, ten of whom are living, namely : George W.,

Molly P., wife, James W. Dalzell; Eliza J., wife of Wil-

liam Norton; William M., Susan A., Elizabeth F., wife

of William Spencer ; Keder D., Dr. H. C, Mattie L.,

wife of James Ringo, and Nannie R. Dr. Burroughs re-

ceived a limited education, his father dying in 1865,

when he was only thirteen years of age; on Jan. 1, 1869,

he engaged as a clerk in the mercantile firm of Adair &
Bro., where he remained until the fall of 1873, at which

time he entered the College at Millersburg; being com-

pelled to retire from this institution on account of failing

health, he engaged in January, 1874, with J. J. Taylor, of

Millersburg in the merchandising; in the fall of 1875 he

entered the University of Jjouisville having prepared

himself for that institution by private reading during his'

spare hours; after being graduated in 1877, he located in

Carlisle, and commenced the practice of his profession,

which he continued with success until March, 1881, at

which time he formed a partnership with Mr. Adair, pur-

chasing the half interest of Mr. Brewington ; on Aug. 6,

1878, he married Miss Lizzie, daughter of John ahd

x^
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Cynthia (Gardner) Dallas, of Nicholas County; two chil-

dren have been born to them, only one of whom, John Bell,

survives ; himself, wife, father, mother, and all of his

brothers and sisters were identified with the Christian

Church, in which society he holds the office of Deacon.

WM. H. BROWN, deputy sheriff; P. O. Carlisle;

was born near Mt. Olivet, in what was then Nicholas

County (now Robertson), April 4, 1844. His father,

John Brown, was a native of Pennsylvania, and came

to Nicholas County about 1830, where he followed farm-

ing and oarpenting until his death in 1848. The moth-

er, Mary Tatman, was a native of Bracken County, Ky.,

and a daughter of Vincent and Sarah (Williams) Tat-

man. Her death occurred in 1860 at about the age of

forty-seven years. She had by her first marriage two

sons and one daughter, all of whom are now living:

James E., farming at Mt. Olivet; Bettie, wife of Dr.

Riley Wells, who is practicing his profession at Mt.

Olivet; and the subject of this sketch. Her second

marriage was to Mathew Throckmorton, also deceased.

By this marriage there were three children: George and

La Fayette, in Mt. Olivet, and Mathew, in Nicholas

County. Mr. Brown received a district school education,

and has, since his boyhood, devoted the principal part

of his life to farming. His marriage occurred in 1865 to

Matilda J. Linville, who was born in Bracken, May 25,

1850, to John R. and Mary (Cooper) Linville, both of whom
were natives of Bracken County; he born in 1809; she

in 1830; both are now living in Nicholas County. Upon

the 10th of October, 1862, he enlisted in Company A,

1st Kentucky Mounted Riflemen, under Capt. Joe Har-

din, Col. Zeke Clay, and Major John B. Holliday. He

was engaged in several closely contested battles, among

them those of Murfreesboro, McMinnville, Jonesboro, and

Farmington, where he was captured and sent to Camp

Morton, where he remained for fifteen months, when he

took the oath of allegiance, and returned home in Janu-

ary, 1865. A short time after entering the service, he

was captured at Owingsville, Ky., but was soon after ex-

changed, and returned to his command at Abingdon, Va.

In the summer of 1863 he was transferred to Wheeler

and Forrest's Cavalry; was in the forty days' forced

march from Knoxville, through Tennessee and Georgia,

also in the seven days' skirmish at Cleveland, Tenn.

By his marriage he has five children : Nannie, born

March 7, 1866; John, Jan. 20, 1869; James F., Oct. 16,

1871; Hattie L., Sept. 5, 1875; and Millie, Jan. 5, 1878.

They are members of the Christian Church, and in poli-

tics he is Democratic.

EDWARD B. BOYD, merchant, Carlisle ; was born

in Greenfield, Highland County, O., May 10, 1834,

to John and Mary R. (Bryan) Boyd; he, a native of

Pennsylvania, died in 1868 ; she, born in Bourbon Coun-

ty, Ky., in 1813, and is still living ; they had six children,

of whom, Edward, our subject, was the second. He re-

ceived his education in Ohio, and entered upon his ca-

reer in life as a clerk in a dry goods store, atChillicothe,

O. Later, he entered into the employ of the Adams Ex-

press Company, as express messenger, and ran on the

Fort Wayne and Chicago Railroad six months ; on

the Pan Handle, from Pittsburg to Cincinnati, one

year, when he became bill clerk in the office at Colum-

bus, O., where he remained one year. He followed the

fortunes of war during the Rebellion, from the beginning

to its close, and filled the position of A. Q. M. at Mobile,

Ala., for one year after the close of the war. He enter-

ed the service as private in the 63d O. V. I., and became

Quartermaster, then a Captain of same. He was also

A. Q. M. in the 1st Division of the 17th Army Corps,

under Gen. Frank P. Blair, and eventually was commis-

sioned Major in A. Q. M., and was mustered out as such

in July, 1865. He was married at Zenia, Greene' Coun-

ty, O., in 1871, to Miss Annie E. Trader, a native of that

place, and who died in 1872. She was the mother of one

child, a boy, which lived to be four months old. Mr.

Boyd's second marriage occurred in Highland County, O.,

April 16, 1875, to Miss Emma Guthrie, who was born in

Leesburg, O., September, 1831, and was a daughter of

Capt. L. C. and Elizabeth (Boran) Guthrie, natives of

Ohio. In the year 1874, Mr. Boyd moved to Carlisle,

and became one of the firm in the New York Cash Store,

known as Boyd & Co., and later Boyd & Beck. He is

now a silent partner in the dry goods business with J. W.
B. Lee. He is an energetic and enterprising business

man ; began life a poor boy, and the first money he ever

earned for himself was by driving cattle from Bainbridge,

O., to Philadelphia, Pa., for Chas. Robbins, of Ross

County, O. ; was about eight months on the road, and

returned by canal. He is a man of generous disposition,

obliging manners, and merits the high esteem in which

he is held. Himself and wife are members of the M. E.

Church at Carlisle. Politically, he is a Republican.

ALEXANDER W. BLAIR; farmer; P. O. Carlisle;

was born at the " Valley Mills " in Nicholas County,

Dec. 28, 1818. His father, Wm. Blair, died upon that

farm formerly owned by the son, Dec. 24, 1822, aged

thirty-four years; he was born in Jessamine County, near

Versailles; was a son of Alexander Blair, who was born

in the County Derry, Ireland; died Jan. 8, 1847, aged

eighty-four years. He was a son of Thomas Blair, who

—sf^*"
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came with his family to this country in the year 1777,

settling in Pennsylvania, where he died. He was com-

pelled on account of poverty to sell his older children (of

which Alexander was one), to pay their passage across the

ocean. His children were John, William, unmarried,

drowned in the Mississippi river at an early date; Thomas,

Alexander and James. Mary was the wife of a Mr.

Clark, and Hannah wife of Elijah Adams, and Nancy,

wife of Moses Scott. He settled in Pennsylvania^

where he resided till about 1784, when he came to

Boone Licks, where he worked at salt making, sub-

S3quently renting the works and carrying on the busi-

ness for himself. About 1790 he went to 'Jessamine

County, where he was married to Mary Black, a native of

Pennsylvania. He engaged extensively in stock raising,

and came at an early date to Cane Ridge, Bourbon

County, because of the unlimited stock forage of young-

cane; he subsequently came to Nicholas County, where

he engaged in milling, which proved disastrous to his

fortune, but by persistent energy he was enabled, after

years of hard labor and anxiety, to pay all honorable

claims against him. He served two terms in the Ken-

tucky Legislature from Nicholas County; also held the

office of High Sheriff, receiving the position through the

magistracy. He was in his religious belief, a Presbyter-

ian, of the strictest sect; he attended school 14 days dur-

ing his lifetime, and from the lowest depths of poverty,

without advantages for accumulating knowledge or prop-

erty, he started out with a mattock and axe and a deter-

mination to succeed, and brought himself to the high

position which he afterward held in the county. Our

subject received moderate educational advantages in his

youth, one year being spent at Hanover college. In the

year 1841, August 5th, he was married to Miss Mattie

Moore, a native of Nicholas County and daughter of

John A., and Nancy (Berry) Moore, she a daughter of

" old Col. Berry," of Indian fame. John A. Moore was

a native of Georgetown, and son of Samuel and Mary

(Archer) Moore, he from North Carolina; her family^ from

Virginia. Mr. Blair by this marriage had nine children

—^William, a member of Company H., 18th Kentucky

Federal troops, died at Cynthiana, Feb. 23, 1862; John

G. (see history); James was also in Federal service; was

assassinated upon the 4th of July, 1876, in Carlisle, and

died upon the day following; Harlan A. married Lou

T. Champ, of Millersburg, Dec.ll, 1873. She died May

8, 1875, leaving one child; Willie A. Parks, a lawyer at

Carlisle; died Jan. 13, 1879. Joseph, Martha A., wife of

James T. Clay (see hist.); Robert A., married June 20,

1878, Miss Annie E. Arrowsmith, died Aug. 22, 1879; and

Wallace M. Mr. Blair in ]862 enlisted in the 18th Ken-
tucky Federal Regiment, in which he held the office of

Quartermaster under Col. Metcalf, and in 1863 he went
into the 7th- Cavalry, in which he was made Quarter-

master; was taken prisoner upon .luly 16, same year, at

Cynthiana; was exchanged in the fall and left the service.

He was Sheriff of Nicholas County from 1863 to 1867,

inclusive, and in 1868 was appointed by the government
as Gauger, afterwards Store-keeper, and in 1878 was made
Store-keeper and Gauger, which position he now holds at

Oakland Mills. He is a strong Republican, and meniber

of the Presbyterian Church.

MRS. MARY C. BELL, proprietress of Kimbrough
House, Carlisle ; was born in Bourbon County, Ky.,

Feb. 1, 1839, to Benjamin and Mary (Current) Bow-
en

; he was born in Bourbon County, Oct. 7, 1794,

and died Oct. 6, 1881; his. father was a native of Vir-

ginia; his mother of Maryland, and they were among
the first to enter upon pioneer life in Kentucky. Mary
Bowen, the mother of our subject, was born in Bourbon
County in 1808, and is still living ; she was the mother
of six children, of whom Mary, the subject, was the

fourth. She was educated in a private school in Bour-

bon County, and was married in the same county, Nov.

20, 1855, to Mr. Joshua Kimbrough, who was born in

Harrison County, Sept. 15, 1821, to William and Eliza-

beth Kimbrough (see history). During the Rebellion

Mr. Kimbrough entered the service, and eventually

became attached to the 25th City Battalion of Richmond.
While there he was taken sick, and at the time Rich-

mond was evacuated, he was conveyed to Amelia Court
House, Virginia, where his death took place, April 12,

1865. He_ was the father of two children, viz : Luella,

born May 14, 1857, wife of Oscar Ham (see history)
;

and Henry Clay, born Jan. 25, 1860, an energetic and
enterprising young man, of fine social and business qual-

ities. During the year 1869, Mrs. Kimbrough bought
the hotel known as " The Nicholas Exchange," of Car-
lisle

; had the same repaired and enlarged, an"3 changed
the name to that of " Kimbrough House," in which she

acted in the capacity of proprietress. Her second mar-
riage occurred June 16, 1870, to Dr. William H. Bell

;

born to Hosea and Malinda (Davis) Bell^ Jan. 21, 1841,
and who died July 25, 1871, leaving her a second time a
widow. She is a lady of indomitable energy and per-

severance, kind and generous, with tact and forethought

in business principles, and possessing the highest of
womanly graces. Religiously, she and family are con-
nected with the Christian Church at Carlisle.

f
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E. M. BUNTIN, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was born

near his present home, Nov. 27, 1843, to John J. and

Theresa A. (McDaniel) Buntin, who were married in

March, 1837; she was a daughter of John McDaniel, a

very early settler in Nicholas County ; John J. had by her

three children, viz.: the first died in infancy; John W. re-

siding in Union precinct, and E. M.; the mother died

April 32, 1846; the father remarried Elizabeth A. West,

March, 11, 1847, who is still living, and a daughter of

Adam and Mary (Wills) West, she a daughter of David

and Margaret (Goram) Wills, who were natives, the father

a native of Ireland; the West family were from the State

of Delaware, the Wills from Pennsylvania, and both

were very early settlers in the State of Kentucky; Adam
West was a son of Isaac and Njincy (Heney) West; by

this second marriage there was one child : Margaret S., a

maiden lady; Mr. Buntin died Feb. 30, 1880; was born

Jan. 6, 1813; John J. Bur.tin was a son of William Bun-

tin, who was three times married, first to a Miss Hill,

second to a Mrs. Howard, from whom sprang this branch

of the family; their children were John J., Susan, who

married Joshua Dale and settled in Missouri, where

they left a familj'; Henry, residing in Boone County, Ind.,

and Byers, in Nicholas County ; the third marriage was

to Susan Grimes, by whom he had three children, the first

died young ; Margaret and Elizabeth married brothers,

John and James Darrow, at the same place and under the

same ceremony, and reside in Boone County, Ind.; Wil-

liam Buntin was a native of Nicholas County; was a son

of William, who, with his family was the second settler at

the town of Harrodsburg, Ky.; he was a brother-in-law

of Major McGeary, who was killed at the battle of the

Blue Licks; William was also killed by the Indians; the

subject of this sketch is engaged with his step-mother in

general agriculture and stock raising business; they are

members of the M. E. Church; he is a member of the

Masonic order; in September, 1863, he enlisted in Com-

pany B., 9th Ky. Cavalry, under General Morgan, and

served gallantly as a soldier until in 1864, when he re-

turned home.

JOHN G. BLAIR, farmer, P. 0. Carlisle ; was born

upon the homestead in 1843, Aug. 30th, to Alexander W.

Blair (see history); he received a common school educa-

tion with the additional attendance upon the Springfield^

Ohio, high school during the winters of 1859-60, when,

at the outbreak of the Rebellion he was compelled to re-

main at home to render assistance to the family, while his

father and older brother united their fortunes with the

Federal forces ; and in June, 1864, he too entered the

service, connecting himself with Comp. I, 1st Ky. I; he

served until the end of the struggle, when he received his

discharge, and was immediately appointed by the gov-

ernment as Assistant Assessor of the 7th Dist., having

charge of Nicholas and Robertson, and later Clark coun-

ties ; this position he held for a number of years, or until

the law, requiring that office, was repealed. He then

went to Kansas, where he engaged in real estate busi-

ness until the spring of 1874, returning each winter and

engaging in trading through the South. In 1875, May
6th, he was married to Miss Lydia A. Thomas, born Oct.

30th, 1853, in Nicholas Co., and daughter of Daniel R.

and Rachael A (Bryan) Thomas ; she a daughter of Jas.

Bryan and a wife of Nobel ; lie a son of Erasmus and

Lydia (Fishback) Thomas. They have had 2 children:

Marion Custer, born Nov. 19, 1877 ; Gertrude Thomas,

March 13, 1880. He and family are members of the

Christian Church ; a Republican politically, and member
of the I. O. O. F. He is the possessor of 206 acres of

land, which, with his beautiful residence, makes one of the

finest and most valuable farms in the county. In 1875

he made the race in Nicholas and Robinson Counties for

the Legislature against John D. Durham and Wesley

Robins; he left his own county with 170 odd majority and

reduced the popular majority of 800 to about 300. In 1878

he made the race for County Judge, with Judge Banta,

cutting a 500 majority down to about 300. He is an en-

ergetic and enterprising young business man.

JESSE T. BERRY, clerk ; P. O. Carlisle ; was born

in Bath County, Ky., March 28, 1851, to Samuel and

Elizabeth (Rennick) Berry ; he was born in Nicholas

County, Ky.; is a farmer by occupation, and still living.

She was born in Bourbon County, and is still living; they

have six children, of whom Jesse, our subject, is next to

the oldest. He received a common school education, and

assisted his father in the livery business, and stage driv-

ing for a number of years, when he became clerk in a

hotel, and is now engaged at the Kimbrough House in

Carlisle ; he is a man of generous disposition and obliging

manners, and merits the esteem in which he is held. He

was married at Aberdeen, Ohio, Feb. 8, 1877, to Miss

Annie E. Call, who was born in Nicholas County, Dec.

11, 1857; they have one son, Harry Foster, born May

27, 1880. Mrs. Berry was a daughter of Henry and Mary

E. (Ralls) Call. He was born in Virginia, and died in

September, 1867 ; she was also born in Virginia, and is

still living. Owing to his industry and economy, Mr.

Berry is now the owner of a pleasant home in Carlisle,

the house having been constructed on a plan of his own

desio-n. His political sympathies are with the Demo-

cratic party.
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JOHN A. CAMPBELL, County Clerk, Carlisle;

was born in Lewis County, Ky., July 13, 1837, near

Flemingsburg. His father, Edward Campbell, was of

Scotch origin, and a native of Mason County, where he

was born May 22, 1801. After marriage he lived in

Lewis County until the death of his wife in 1837. After

his second marriage he went to Fleming County, and

died in Mason County in 1844. The mother, Mary Lewis,

of Welsh extraction, was born in Lewis County in 1803,

and died in 1837; her parents were Stephen and Julia

(Griffith) Lewis. The parents of John A. had seven chil-

dren; four are now living: Our subject; S. R., of Flem-

ing County; Lee L., in Jefferson County, 111., farming;

Ribecca, wife of a Baptist minister, in Jefferson County,

III. Mr. Campbell worked on the farm until seventeen

years of age, when he began learning the trade of wagon

making, which he finished with a Mr. Miley at Murphys-

ville. Mason County, Ky. ; then came to Carlisle, where

he carried on a shop for eleven years. At the time of

beginning his trade he could not write his own name,

having attended school but about six weeks during his

life. He perfected his education by diligent study during

his apprenticeship, thus fitting himself for the responsible

position he now occupies. He is a remarkably fine pen-

man, having acquired the art by copying letters from

printed matter, and his books are marvels of neatness,

beauty and accuracy. He was elected to his present po-

sition in 1858, which position he has held since, with the

exception of a few months in the year 1862, when he was

displaced by the soldiery. He was married March 2,

1847, in Fleming County, to Miss Malinda J. Story, a na-

tive of Fleming County, where she was born Feb. 22,

1825. Her parents were James E. and Rebecca (Sum-

mitt) Story. By this marriage there were seven children,

viz: Silas W., a farmer in Nicholas; Mary J., wife of

George "W. Moore, of Mt. Sterling; James B., an artist

and merchant, Carlisle; John M., Deputy Clerk; Virgie,

Ida and Annie. He is a Democrat politically, and a

member of the Odd Fellows' fraternity.

JAMES A. CHAPPELL; Carlisle. The sub-

ject of this sketch was born near Carlisle, within one

mile of Old Concord Church, on the 11th day of Sept.,

1823. He was named James Augustus, in honor

of his grandfather James, and uncle Augustus W. Chap-

pell. Received a fair English education, under such

excellent teachers as his father. Elder John Rogers,

and one or two others. At the close of the year 1837,

James entered the dry goods store of John McMahan,

upon the modest salary of 115.00 per year. If this sum

should seem small, let it be borne in mind that the sales

of his employers did not reacli $5,000 per annum. In

this service he remained during the years 1838 and '39.

At the close- of '39, he was succeeded by Willis Sims,

and .Tames A. went home to again enter school. But on

the first day of April, 1840, he again left home, and for

the last time, and took position with Mr. J. F. Tureman,

the leading dry goods merchant of Carlisle, at a salary

of $100 per annum. In this position he remained until

July 1, 1845, when through the kindness of his employer,

and Mr. Wiliis L. Parker, of Philadelphia, a clerkship

was secured for him in the wholesale dry goods house of

Sparing, Good & Co., 138 Market Street, Philadelphia,

at a salary of $600 per annum. This situation was held

but a few months, for on returning to Carlisle on the 9th

of November, same year, to travel in the interest of his

house, he was offered a partnership by his old friend and

employer, Mr. Tureman, which he accepted at once.

January 1, 1846, a partnership was formed with Mr.

Tureman, J. A. Chappell and Joseph M. Tureman, son of

the former, under the firm name of Jas. H. Chappell & Co.

This firm continued in business during the years 1846, "7

and '8. At the beginning of 1849, the elder Mr. Ture-

man retired, and the firm became Chappell & Turemiin

(Jas. A. Chappell and Jos. M. Tureman). The sales of

this firm rose rapidly in succession, from less than $9,000

in 1848, to over $27,000 in 1854. On the ninth of Oct.,

1848, Mr. Chappell was married to Miss Ellen Bruce,

daughter of Mr. Geo. S. Bruce, of Fleming County. By
this marriage he had two children born : Henry Bruce

Chappell, Aug. 28, 1849, and Ellen N. Holt, now Mrs. Wm.
S. Spencer, Sept. 18, 1850. On the morning of Feb. 1,

1851, the faithful and beloved wife died after a lingering

attack of typhoid fever. Feb. 8, 1853, he married Lucy P.

Bruce, sister of his first wife, a lovely, beautiful, young

girl, then only a little over seventeen. Five children

were the fruits of this marriage : Ada Lena, born Dec. 7,

1853, died of scarlet fever, in Carlisle, Dec. 23, 1862;

the second, Sabina B., now Mrs. P. B. Powers, of Au-

gusta, Ky., on the 7th of May, 1855 ; the third, Thomas

Taylor, born May 26, 1858, and died July 17, 1858 ; the

fourth, Sallie Thomas, born April 27, 1864, died in Car-

lisle, June 29, 1865; the fifth, Lillian, born Nov. 14,

1869. On the 1st of Jan., 1855, the firm of Chappell &
Tureman was dissolved, J. A. Chappell retiring, Mr. J. M.
Tureman continuing with Mr. Chas. W. Mclntyre, as J. M.
Tureman & Co. It was during this year that Mr. Chap-

pell edited the Carlisle American ^ but in September of

that year he and his brother-in-law, William P. Bruce,

opened a new dry goods house on Front street, under the

firm name of Chappell & Bruce. July 1, 1856, Mr. J. M.

-,w*
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Tureman sold out to Chappell & Bruce, and they, togeth-

er with Mr. Charles W. Mclntyre, formed a copartnership

under the firm name of Chappell, Bruce & Molntyre.

This new combination proved to be the most successful

firm which ever did business in Carlisle, their sales reach-

ing in 1864, to nearly $60,000, and returning a net profit

of near $6,000 each year of its continuance. On the 1st

of January, 1865, the members of the firm having sold

their stock of goods and s tore house to B. F. Adair, E.

M. Ewing and S. M. Waugh, and retained an interest

themselves, J. A. Chappell, C. W. Mclntyre and Mr.

Geo. S. Bruce, moved to the cit y of Cincinnati, leaving

Mr. Wm. P. Bruce in Carlisle to superintend their inter-

est in the new firm of W. P. Bruce & Co. The new and

handsome store room. No. 144 West Fourth street, Cin-

cinnati, was secured, at an annual rental of $4,200. Here

a wholesale dry goods house was opened with J. A.

Chappell, W. P. Bruce, Geo. S. Bruce, Chas. W. Mcln-

tyre, Stephen G. Chapman and Robert T. Armstrong, as

partners, under the firm name of Chapman, Bruce & Co.,

with a cash capital of $100,000. But scarcely had Mr.

Chappell began purchases in New York for his firm,

when news came that Mr. S. G. Chapman was found to

be a confirmed inebriate ! This of course would never

do, and Mr. Chapman was summarily ejected from the

firm, and the name of Mr. Chappell placed at the head.

The firm of Chappell, Bruce & Co. at once took high

rank among the jobbing houses of the city, their sales

for the first year reaching $1,250,000. On the 1st of

.January, 1866, the firm was augmented by the addition

of Eli M. Bruce, Esq., and the name changed to Chap-

pell, Bruce & Mclntyre. Heavy losses on stock and ru-

inous losses by bad debts in the South, melted away the

capital of the partners like dew before the morning sun.

To add to their calamities, Mr. B. M. Bruce died of heart

disease, sitting in his chair at the Southern Hotel in New

York in the Spring of 1867. This last sad event was the

" coup de grace " to the firm ; they paid one hundred

cents to the dollar on their liabilities but nothing was

left of their capital. January 1, 1868, James A. Chap-

pell and John T. Allen organized upon the ruins of the

former house, Mrs. E. M. Bruce having kindly loaned the

firm $25,000 of the stock held by her as principal cred-

itor of the house of C, B. & M. Mr. Allen having a like

sum, a firm was opened as Chappell, Allen & Co. But

within two months after, the firm of Embry & Fisher

was consolidated with that of Chappell, Allen & Co.,

and the new firm became Chappell, Fisher & Allen.

This firm, with a nominal capital of $100,000, opened

out at 116, West Third Street, Cincinnati. The first

six months' business of the new firm seemed to indicate

a prosperous career, but it was not long after the July

statement was made, before it was discovered that the

senior partner, W. W. Embry, Esq., was seriously in-

volved. This was a stunning blow to the firm, and

especially to Mr. Chappell, who felt that under the new
regime—having already passed through one ordeal, the

result of the collapse which followed the close of the

war—he had now hoped that the storm was over, and

that a more auspicious day was dawning upon his for-

tunes, which had met with such cruel reverses since

leaving his native town, Carlisle. But the die was cast;

under the severe financial storm, deserted by the captain

of the vessel, Mr. Embry, there was no help for the

firm but to strike their colors and succumb to destiny-

The firm of Chappell, Fisher & Allen were compelled to

close and seek a compromise with their creditors.

Chappell and Allen essayed to hoist the flag once more,

but the force of the tide was too strong ; thoroughly

disheartened with his city venture, with the loss of

everything but honor, integrity, and energy, Chappell

determined to return to his native town, and cast in his

lot with the people among whom he had been so long

identified. Resolving to take nothing with him, but to

leave all behind him, he wrote to his former friend, F. E.

Congleton, cashier of the Deposit Bank at Carlisle, to

loan him one hundred dollars, upon which to move

his family back to Carlisle. Mr. Congleton with that

liberal kindness which has always distinguished him,

very promptly sent his check for the amount, and upon

Aug. 14, 1869, James A. Chappell with his wife and two

daughters, returned to Carlisle after an absence of near-

ly five years. Without capital, with nothing in fact but

hope left, he opened a dry goods store, backed by the

kindness of his old friend H. M. Stitt. Through the

years 1870 and '71, he managed to pull through with the

additional help of his old friends, John Clay, Col. Robert

Sims, and E. M. Ewing, until Jan. 1, 1872, when his

brother-in-law, F. M. Peale, moved to Carlisle, and took

the financial helm with J. A. Chappell, under the firm

name of F. M. Peale & Co. But the trials of the Chap-

pell family were no yet ended ; on the morning of Jan.

5, 1873, the store occupied by F. M. Peale & Co.

was burned to the ground, with a net loss of

nearly ten thousand dollars, and not a dollar of in-

surance. It now seemed as if it was almost useless

to struggle with adverse fortune ; but the firm of

Peale & Co. met with much kindness and encourage-

ment, and so the partners, Peale & Chappell, once

more flung their war-worn banner to the breeze
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and opened out, February, 1873, in the new and handsome

three story frame, built near the K. C. R. R. depot.

Fortune once more for a while smiled upon the Chappeli

star. Business, which at first was slow and fitful, grad-

ually increased until towards the middle of May, the

sales of the house rose to $300 and $250 per day. But
the force of misfortune was not yet fully spent. On the

morning of the 28th of May, less than five months from

the preceding fire, the firm were burnt out again. This

time they were insured for $6,000, but their loss on

stock, loss of time, and other sources, could not have

been short of $3,000. Amidst all these losses, enough
to have discouraged many better men, the firm still prj-

seiited a bold front, resolved still to conquer or perish in

the attempt. The firm held bravely on its way, until

Jan. 1, 1882, when the firm name was changed to Peale

& Chappeli, with every indication of a safe, if humble,

career before them. In the year 1874, Chappeli wrote a

short story for his friend, John B. Scudder, and published

in the Carlisle Mercury, entitled the "Lady in Black."

This little romance of five chapters was dedicated to

Mrs. .Julia Neal, of Carlisle, and was quite favorably

received. Having for some years been painfully

afflicted with hemorrhoids, and not knowing when he

might be compelled to give up the active and onerous

duties of the mercantile business, Mr. Chappeli felt that

the time might come when he should have to resort to

his pen for the means of a livelihood for himself and

those whom he so devotedly loved. Accordingly the

" Lady in Black " was soon followed by a more elaborate

work, of twenty-five chapters, entitled " The New Over-

seer." This met with indifferent success from the pub-

lic. The following year another story from his pen fol-

lowed, entitled "Addie Raymond, or Love in a Street

Car," and the next year, that which proved his best and
most successful one, entitled " Lucy Walton, a Romance
of the Blue Lick Springs." In closing this article, we
may say that the religious element has always predomi-

nated in the life of Mr. Chappeli. He was converted

when but a mere child, but never joined the church un-

til February, 1861. He has been a deacon in the Bap-

tist church nearly twenty years; has held the office of

President of the Nicholas County Sunday School Union

for several years, and at this writing bids fair for several

more years of active and, we trust, useful and honorable

life.

NANCY COLVILLE, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; wife of

Daniel Colville, deceased, who was born in Bourbon

County, Ky., July 17, 1828, to John and Martha (Sum-

mers) Colville. He was born in Virginia, Aug. 27, 1778,

and came to Bourbon County, in 1800; was a farmer by
occupation, and died May 28, 1835. His wife, Martha,

was born near Washington, Pa., Jan. 20, 1794, and died

June 26, 1853. The result of their union was three sons,

viz.: Sanders, Daniel and Samuel. Daniel, the second

son, was married Sept. 4, 1851, to Nancy McClure, the

subject of this sketch, who was born in Bourbon Coun-

ty, April 8, 1831. The husband of our subject died

March 39, 1866, leaving to her care three children, viz.:

John S., born June 18, 1863; William M., Jan. 39, 1861,

and Mrtrtha Ann, Jan. 17, 1865. Mrs. Colville was a

daughter of William and Elizabeth McClure. He was

born in Bourbon County, in the year 1807, and died

Fob. 33, 1847. Plis wife, Elizabeth, was born in Mont-

gomery County, June 9, 1809, and died June 8, 1844.

They had four children, viz: James, Nancy, Sarah and

Elizabeth. Nancy, our subject, received her education

in the common schools of Montgomery County; she is a

member of the Christian Church, at Carlisle, and is a

'

lady of intelligence and highly respected by all who
know her. She has a farm containing 175 acres of

choice farm land, which is kept in a high state of culti-

vation by her sons. Samue! Colville, a widower and

brother of Daniel Colville, deceased, resides with the

family. He was born in Bourbon County, July 30,1833,

and on May 35, 1858; was married to Sarah McClure,

the sister of our subject, who was born Aug. 31, 1834,

and died Sept. 13, 1866. Mr. Colville is at present a

Democrat, and for twelve years filled the office of Coun-

ty Assessor. He has supported himself since he was
eight years of age, when he became a farm hand and
worked his way up in the world, by his own energy and
industry. On the 11th of May, 1848, by the accidental

discharge of a gun, while climbing a fence, he was

wounded in the leg, which injury resulted in amputation.

He is a very energetic and enterprising man, and highly

esteemed by all.

JOHN W. CAMPBELL, merchant, Carlisle ; was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., Aug. 4, 1822, to Hugh
and Elizabeth (Waugh) Campbell; he was born in Vir-

ginia, 1776, came to Kentucky, and settled in Fayette

County, in 1790 ; he was a farmer by occupation, and
died July 3, 1843; she was a native of Nicholas County;

died July 20, 1843 ; the result of their union was five

children, viz.: Luther C, died at the age of seventeen
;

John W., Mary Ann, died at the age of ten ; James B.,

and Leonidas B. ; John W., the subject of this sketch, is

the oldest child now living. His educational privileges

were limited to the common schools of the county. He
entered upon his career in life by taking upon himself

5
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the duties of a farm life, and dealing in stock. He was

married in Nicholas County, May 3, 1843, to Miss Eliza-

beth Myers, daughter of Jacob and Priscilla (Adair)

Myers ; she was born in July, 1834, and died in January,

1870; she was the mother of eight children, viz. : Pris-

cilla, wife of George W. Roberts ; Jacob H., Elizabeth,

wife of J. W. Swartz ; Luther W., William T., Mary,

John F., and Hallie ; the latter died at the age of five

and a half years. Mr. Campbell was married again to

Miss Emma Swinney, who was born in Bath County, in

May, 1836, and daughter of John and Minnie (Metier)

Swinney, natives of Bath County. She has borne to him

two children, viz: Minnie and Walter ; the latter died

when two years old. Mr. Campbell has served the coun-

ty in different capacities for a number of years, having

been Constable one year, Sheriif four years, and has rep-

resented the Republican party in the Legislature two

terras, the duties of which position he performed with

marked zeal and ability. During the Rebellion he

served five months as first quartermaster in the 7th Ken-

tucky Cavalry, when he was promoted to the rank of

Major, which position he subsequently resigned to take

his seat in the Legislature. He has engaged at different

times in several different enterprises, and commenced

merchandising At Carlisle, where he is still en-

gaged in business. His wife is a member of the Pres-

byterian Church ; himself a Methodist. He has been a

prominent member of the Masonic order at Carlisle, and

has attained the Royal Arch and Council degrees
;

politically he is a Republican.

G. W. CLARK, farmer; P. 0. Moorefield; was born

upon the 14th of Jan., 18;22, in Nicholas County, on the

south fork of Somerset Creek, upon the site of the

birth of his father, Thomas Clark, who was born Aug. 3,

1797; also an older brother at the same place in 1793, and

all other members of the family born at same place.

The Clarks were among the earliest settlers in Nicholas

County, and the ancestry of Thomas Clark came to

America at a very early date from England. The father

of Thomas Clark had six children: Samuel, who settled

in Mason County, Ky.; Jack, who was an aid-de-camp to

Gen. Harrison, went to the West; Thomas remained at

the old homestead; Prudence went to Indiana, where she

married; Nancy married David Grimes, and settled in

Putman County, Ind.; and Herman, who settled in Boone

County, Ind. Thomas Clark married Polly Grimes, and

died upon the old homestead May 15, 1875 ; was the

father of twelve children, four of whom died young;

the others grew to maturity: Aaron, residing in Wood-

ford County; George W.; Zerilda, wife of George Grimes,

living upon the old homestead; John, in Nicholas; El-

giva, deceased, wife of David Barnes, who resides in

Boone County, Ind.; Jerry (deceased), left family in

Nicholas; Sarah, wife of Geo. Shrout; and Mi ry, un-

married, residing in Union Precinct. The subject of

this sketch remained with his father until his marriage,

which occurred Sept. 4, 1843, to Sally A. Forgy, daugh-

ter of John Forgy, of Nicholas County; she a native of

Bourbon Coun'y. By her there were six children: a

daughter died at the age of fifteen years; William A.,

in Montgomery County, Ind.; Mary, wife of James

Ralls, in Henry County, Mo.; Margaret, wife of Geo.

Ison, in Montgomery County, Ind.; Thomas, in Nicholas;

Lizzie, wife of Allen Boys, of Fleming County. The

mother of the above died Oct. 37, 1859. Mr. Clark was

remarried Dec. 35, 1863, to Mrs. Louisa (Higginbotham)

Green, widow of R. B. Green; by him she had three

children, only one of whom is now living, Mrs. Margaret

Davis. By the second marriage there were four chil-

dren: a son died in infancy; John, Joseph and T-ulu, all

at home. Mr. Clark served in the 1st Kentucky Reg.

Mounted Cavalry, under Capt. Thomas and Col. Bradly,

commanding. He enlisted in 1861, remaining until near

the close of the war in the Western Department, com-

manded by Gen. Marshall. After about fifteen months'

active service, he was stationed at Lberty Hill in charge

of wagon repairing; he and wife are members of the

M. E. Church.

THOMAS C. COLLIVER, farmer; P. O. Millers"-

burg; was born in Montgomery County, Ky., July 13,

1843, and is a son of Presley O. and Elizabeth (Congle-

toii) CoUiver. He was born in Montgomery County Jan.

19, 1821; was a school teacher by profession. He was

married in 1843, to Elizabeth Congleton, who was born

April 3, 1830, and died Feb. 10, 1875, (see hist. F. E.

Congleton.) They had two children, viz.: William, de-

ceased, and Thomas, our subject; he attended the com-

mon schools of Montgomery County for several years,

and completed his education at the Millersburg College;

after which he commenced merchandising at Weston,

where he remained until 1869, when he bought a farm

and turned his attention to farming; he was married

April 13, 1871, to Mary Bell Hutchins, who was born

Auo-. 26, 1852, to Dimiel J. and Julia A. (Hall) Hutch-

ins native of Nicholas County; he born Jan. 23, 1831,

and still living; she died April 2, 1860. Mr. CoUiver is

a very energetic and enterprising business man, and a

practical farmer; he owns a fine farm containing 23S

acres of choice farm land. In addition to growing the

usual farm crops, he deals extensively in high grade stock,
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his specialties being Cotswold sheep and Poland China

hogs; he is a prominent member of the Baptist Church

and society, and enjoys the highest esteem of the commu-
nity at large; politically he is a Democrat.

F. P. CLARY, telegraph operator and station agent,

P. O. Carlisle ; was born in Mason County, Ky., June

18, 1854, and is a son of Joshua and Eliza (Prather)

Clary. He was born in Fleming County, Ky., in Dec,
1818. He is a blacksmith by trade, and is still living; has

been married three times. He was married the first

time in Mason County, in March, 1843, to Miss Eliza

Prather, the mother of our subject. She died in Oct.,

1859. His second marriage occurred in Illinois, in Nov.

1865, to Mary Y. Hamson, who died in Oct. 1867. In

1869 he married Rebecca Anna March, in Orangeburg,

Mason County, Ky. He is the father of 13 children, of

whom F. P. the subject of this sketch, was the 7th.

He received a common school education, and in 1874

began the study of telegraphy at Cynthiana, where, by
his energy and strict attention to business he soon be-

came proficient in that, and two years later took charge

of the Station and Telegraph office at Carlisle. He was

married in Carlisle Oct. 4, 1881, to Miss Fannie Conway,

who was born in Pike County, Ky., May 30, 1861, and

was a daughter of Washington and Rhoda L. (Piper)

Conway, both natives of Nicholas County. He born Aug.

37, 1833 ; she, April 17, 1839. Mr. Clary is a man of

fine personal, social and business habits, and one of the

most substantial young men of the town. Politically, he

is identified with the Democratic party.

GREENBERRY CHEATHAM, Hotel Keeper, P. 0.

Carlisle ; born in Nicholas County, December 5, 1833
;

his grandfather, John Cheatham, and wife, Elizabeth

Harper, came from Culpepper County, Va., very early,

and settled in Montgomery County, whence they after-

wards moved to Nicholas County. He started life as a

very poor boy, but by industry and frugality acquired a

position of independence. John Cheatham, Jr., the fa-

ther of Greenberry, married Harriet Garrett, of Montgom-

ery County, of a family noted for its longevity, a member

of it having attained the age of 117 years. He had sev-

en children, five sons and two daughter, viz : William,

(deceased); Richard, now in southern California; Green-

berry, Nancy A., married John White, of Harrison
;

John, now in Missouri ; Boone, and Armilda, married to

James Long. Our subject received a limited education,

remaining with his father till twenty-one years of age.

In 1863 he engaged in distilling, which he followed for

ten years, when he resumed farming. In 1881 he built in

Carlisle the large and commodious hotel which he now

occupies and manages in an energetic and business-like

manner, for the entertainment of the traveling public.

In 1852 he married Melvina Stoker, daughter of Thomas

Stoker, by whom he had five children : Emma, married

to James Turley ; William F., Harvey, Annie, wife of

Martin Brayfield, of Carlisle, and Dixie. In 1863 he

married his present wife, Miss Melvin Mann, daughter

of Col. David Mann, of Nicholas County. Three chil-

dren have blessed their union: Lucian, Ora and Herman.

JOHN W. CLAY, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ; was born

near Carlisle, February 35, 1840, to John and Mary (Ar-

nold) Clay ; she a daughter of Lewis and Mary (Throck-

morton) Arnold. John Clay, is a son of Isaac Clay, dis-

tant connection of the Clays of Bourbon County. The
father of our subject died November 37, 1876, in his

sixty-eighth year ; the mother, August 6, 1869, in her

sixtieth year. They had ten chilflren, eight of whom
are now living : Joseph, Mary, wife of Benjamin Sta-

ples, in Shelby County, Ky. ; Maria, wife of Robert Rog-
ers, residing in Henry county, Mo. ; Matthew, John W.,
James T., Sally, a maiden lady, and Samnel C. ; all are in

Nicholas County, except the two daughters as above

mentioned. Mr. Clay is engaged in general agriculture;

is a member of the Masonic order, and also a member of

the Baptist church ; is a young man, interested in the

welfare of his community, in public improvements, the

advancement of schools and churches, and of the farm-

ing interest of the county.

F. E. CONGLETON, banker ; P. O. Carlisle ; is a

member of a family of eight children ; his father was
William Congleton, a farmer of Bourbon County ; his

mother, Mary Rule, also of Bourbon. The Congleton
family are decendants of the Old Holland Dutch, and
heirs to the famous "Anneke Jans" estate. Mr. Congle-

ton was born Sept. 9, 1839, in the above named county.

He began life as a merchant, arid was married at Sharps-

burg, Ky., Dec. 16, 1852, to Hannah C. Cummings, of

Mercer County, Ky. He was made cashier of the De-
posit Bank of Carlisle, at its organization in August,

1869, which position he has since held. In his political

tenets, he is a Democrat ; he is a prominent member of

the Masonic Order at Carlisle. By his marriage he had
two children; one only of that number survives ; she, a

Mrs. Horace M. Taylor. The family are connected with

the Presbyterian Church.

JAMES T. CLAY, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle; was born
near Carlisle, Nov. 16, 1846, to John Clay (see hist) ; he

lived with his father until attaining his majority, securing

in the meantime the advantages of a common school ed-

ucation, and rendering what assistance he was able on the
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farm; he then engaged in farming, and from the years

1874 to 1879, was engaged with his brother in horse and

mule trading during the winter season in the Southern

States; his marriage occurred Nov. 10, 1880, to Miss

Martha A. Blair (see hist, of A. W. Blair), after which

he located at his present home, where he is engaged in

a general agriculture and stock raising; he has acted as

adminstrator for several estates, and in the discharge of

his duties has won the confidence of the citizens of the

community in which he lives; he is an energetic and en-

terprising young man, a Democrat politically, and highly

esteemed by his fellow men.

THOMAS A. DORSET, lumber merchant, contractor

and builder ; P. O. Carlisle ; was born near Flemings-

burg, Jan. 5, 1838 ; his father, John I. Dorsey, was an

extensive farmer, and born in Maryland, near Hagers-

town, in 1873, and died in Nicholas County in 1846 ; his

parents were Leakin and Mary (Ingram) Dorsey, who

came in 1879 to Stockton's Station; their children were

Sally, wife of Thomas Wallace ; Rachel, wife of Charles

Anderson; Edward, John I., Joseph and Amelia, wife of

Thomas Andrews ; the youngest of the family was born

in Fleming County, the others in Maryland; all are now

deceased. Edward was a prominent physician in Flem-

ing County. The mother of Thomas A., was Nancy

Spiers, a native of Maryland, settled at Bryan's Station

with her parents, Greene and Mary Spiers, who were of

German descent ; she died in 1871, aged seventy-six

years, leaving a family of ten children, six of whom are

now living, four sons and two daughters, two of the

former in Missouri and one in Indianapolis; a sister, Mrs.

David Stewart, of Maysville; and Mrs. Martha McClure,

of Paris; a sister, now deceased, was the wife of Col. T.

S. Parks. Thomas A. received a very good education in

the Flemingsburg schools, and at about twenty years, or

at his father's death, engaged in the avocation of farming

in Nicholas County, in which capacity he continued until

the year 1868, when he became one of a firm which had

taken the contract to build the Ky. C. R. R., from the

Licking River to Paris, finishing the same in the year

1871, since which time, by the assistance of other parties,

he has built the mill at Parks' Ferry, of which he

is superintendent, in connection with his contracting

and other business. He was married Feb. 15, 1855, in

Nicholas County, to Miss Maggie Griffith, born Dec. 20,

1833, in Nicholas County, and a member of one of its

early families; her parents were William A. and Cynthia

(Mathers) Griffith, she a daughter of William Mathers;

by this marriage there have been eight children, four of

whom died in childhood. Those living are : Willie,

Nannie, wife of N.W. Yelton, freight agent at Crittenden

Station, on the Cincinnati Southern R. R.; the youngest

are Mattie and Eddie. The family are members of the

M. E. Church. He was formerly an old live Whig, now

a member of the Democratic party, and a member of the

Masonic order.

MALCOLM DILLS, physician ; P. O. Carlisle ; born

in Harrison County, Sept. 9, 1849 ; he is a son of B. F.

Dills and S. M. Bradley, daughter of William Bradley,

who came to Harrison County from Virginia very eariy.

William Bradley married a daughter of George Kirkpat-

riok, a native of Ireland. B. F. Dills was a son of David

and Lydia (Broadwell) Dills—the Broad wells being

among the earliest and most wealthy settlers of Harrison

County. The subject of this sketch was the eldest of

four children, three surviving his sister Nora, who is un-

married, and his brother Sydney being a prominent farm-

er of Harrison County. Dr. Dills received a liberal edu-

cation, graduating from the Miami University at Oxford,

Ohio, before he was nineteen years of age. In the fall of

1869, he entered the Ohio Medical College of Cincinnati,

taking a three years course. He was graduated in March,

1871, and after spending a short time in Bath County,

located in Carlisle the same year, where by his superior

ability and affable manners he has won for himself an

extensive and lucrative practice. On Oct. 1, 1872, he

married Miss Allen Mann, daughter of James Mann, of

Carlisle. He is a member of the Carlisle Commandery

of Knights Templar, and with his wife is a member of the

M. E. Church South. He has made homcepathy a study,

and makes a partial use of it in his practice. He is the

possessor of an extensive miscellaneous library.

MRS. MARGARET DONNELL, farmer; P. O.

(Jarlisle ; widow of Samuel M. Donnell, who died in

June, 1878, in his 70th year. He was born in Bourbon

County, upon the farm which is now occupied by his son,

James L. His parents were James and Mary (Quilt)

Donnell, who came to Nicholas County, which was then

Bourbon, in the year 1791. His father was a native of

Ireland, but came to America at an early date. The

mother of our subject was a daughter of James and

Catharine (Wasson) Quilt, who were at an early day res-

idents of Pennsylvania. The families above mentioned,

were among the early settlers of this section of Ken-

tucky, and were people held in high esteem and having

the respect of the best families throughout the difierent

generations. Mrs. Donnell, since the death of her hus-

band, has continued the farming, with the assistance in

part of her family. By her marriage with Mr. Donnell,

there were four sons and four daughters born to them.
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Three of the sous and one daughter are still living. She

is a lady of intelligence, and held in the highest esteem

by her neighbors.

MISS SARAH DINSMORE, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle
;

was born on the place where she now lives, April 9, 1810;

her father was John Dinsmore, who was of Irish descent,

a native of Westmoreland County, Pa., and a farmer by

occupation ; he was a son of Samuel and Margaret (Yost)

Dinsmore. John came very early to Nicholas, where he

died about 1838, aged about 70 years. His wife was

Catharine Van Meter, also a native of Westmoreland

County ; died in 1856, aged 94 years. She was a

daughter of Capt. John Van Meter, who served in the

revolutionary war. Mr. Dinsmore was married, and had

three children before coming to Kentucky, in 1793. He
settled near Paris, then became one of the earlier settlers

of Nicholas. They had, in all, eleven children, five sons

and six daughters, viz : Henry, Elizabeth, Margaret,

John, Samuel, Jane, Mary, James, Catharine, William,

and Sarah, the latter the only one living. Four of the

daughters were unmarried, the others left heirs in Ohio,

Illinois, Missouri, Indiana and Kentucky. Miss Dins-

more has been carrying on farming for many years,

although a cripple for eleven years, by an accident. Her

nephew, Thomas Dinsmore, is residing with her, lending

his assistance in farming. She is a member of the Chris-

tian Church.

DR. WM. W. FRITTS, druggist; Carlisle; is a son

of Henrj"- and Lucy (Adams) Fritts, she a native of

Spottsylvania County, Va., but came to Clark County,

N. Y., with her parents, when about five years of age,

or in the year 1805. The Adams family is related to the

illustrious statesmen, John and Samuel Adams of Vir-

ginia. Henry Fritts, (originally Fri z), was a native of

Pennsylvania, born in 1797, to Valentine Fritts, a na-

tive of Germany, but came to Pennsylvania at an early

date, thence to Southern Ohio. Henry served his time

at the hatters trade, in Winchester, Kentucky, where he

became acquainted with and married his wife, by whom
he had five children, two of whom died in infancy. Our

subject, the only son and eldest of the family, was born

Oct. 38, 1816; two daughters, Catharine, wid )\v of Wm.
Oo'den (a nephew of Gov. Metcalf) emigrated to northern

Iowa, where she now resides; Sarah, now the wife of

Wm. P. Harris, a jesidcnt near Waverly, Iowa. The

mother died in 1844. The father again uniting himself

in marriage to a Miss Edward, who now resides in Indi-

ana with her only child, Volney O. Fritts, an eminent

minister in the Baptist church. Our subject received

very limited educational advantages, learning at an early

age the hatters' trade with his father. He came to Car-

lisle in 1836, where he plied his trade and studied, with

his open books upon the bench, and attendance upon

night schools, he acquired an ordinary education. In

1843, in connection with J. F. Tureman, he opened a

drug store and studied medicine with Dr. John F. Mc-

Millan, a very talented preceptor In 1848, he entered

the University of Louisville, taking an advanced course

and graduating therefrom in 1853. He and one other

member of a class of eighty received the honors in the

publication of their thesis. He then formed a partnership

with his former preceptor with whom he continued until

1870, when, on account of ill-health, be was conipelled

to give up the practice of his profession. In 1871, in

company with his eldest son, he opened the large and

commodious drug store, which they now occupy. He
was married April 11, 1837, to Miss Sarah Hamilton,

daughter of John and Catharine (Rule) Hamilton, which

family was quite prominent in Virginia, and among the

early settlers of Bourbon County. By this marriage

there were six children, three of whom died in infancy.

Those living are William H., who was married to Miss

Sue Clark (now deceased), of Bourbon County; left one

son, Edward C. Fritts ; John R., a practicing physician

of Centreville, Bourbon County ; and Martha Alice, at

home. They are staunch Republicans, both sons serving

in thg Federal army. William H. holds the position of

Postmaster of Carlisle. Dr. Fritts and family are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church, in which he has for many
years held the office of Deacon and Superintendent of

the Sunday School. He is one of the school of self-made

men, and holds a position of love and honor in the hearts

of his fellow citizens.

ELIJAH D. FOSTER, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was

born in Nicholas County, Jan. 1, 1836, and is a son of

George R. and Harriet M. (Daisey) Foster; he was born

in Virginia, Nov. 10, 1801; a tailor by trade and farmer

by occupation; died Feb. 36, 1875. His wife, Harriet,

was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 11, 1805, and died

Nov. 10, 1877. The result of their union was three chil-

dren, viz.: Millia, deceased wife of James E. Secrest,

Elijah D. and Jeremiah P. The subject of this sketch

was educated in the common schools of Nicholas County,

and commenced his career in life as a farmer; he was

married in Bourbon County, Jan. 16, 1856, to Miss Jane

E. Sanders, who was born in Bourbon County, Nov. 5,

1833, and died Jan. 31, 1875; four children were born to

them, viz.: Hattie A., George R., James S., and Jeremiah

C, one of whom, James S., died when six years of age.

Mrs. Foster was a daughter of James R. and Martha

t^
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(Smith) Sanders; the former was born Oct. 1, 1779, and

died April 18,1871; his -wife was bom Oct. 26, 1814, and

died Aug. 1, 1864. Mr. Foster is an energetic and pros-

perous farmer, having by his industry acodmulated a

large property, and at the present time owns a farm con-

taining 255 acres of choice farm land, well stocked with

high grade and thoroughbred stock. He is a member of

the Christian Church at Millersburg, and also a prominent

member of the Masonic order at Carlisle. In politics

he is a Republican.

ISAAC FEEBACK, farmer; P. O. Oakland Mills ; was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., Oct. 26, 1842, son of John

T. and Rachael (McDaniel) Feeback ; he a farmer, born

in Nicholas and still living ; she also a native of Nicho-

las. They had six children. Our subject received a

common school education, and early began the life of a

farmer, in which occupation he has continued since, at

present owning 260 acres of choice land, in one of the

best sections of the best land on this continent—the fa-

mous " Blue-Grass region." May 9, 1862, he married

Miss Minerva Smith, daughter of Jesse and Martha

Smith, all of this county, and from which union has

sprung the following children, living : Jesse, Bettie and

Rosa. The grandfather of Mr. Feeback was in the war

of 1812, and he himself was the first Postmaster of Buf-

falo Trace. Self and wife are Methodists ; he, a Repub-
lican. ^

JOHN T. FEEBACK, farmer; P. O. Bartersville; was

born in Nicholas County, Aug. 3, 1829 ; his father, Gil-

bert Feeback, was born in Nicholas County, in 1802,

and died in 1878; he was in the war of 1812, and his

brother, Mathew, in the Mexican war; the mother of John

T. Feeback was Millie Richey, born in Nicholas County,

in 1807, and died March, 1879 ; she was the mother of

fourteen children, the subject being the third son; he

was educated in the common schools of Nicholas County,

and is a farmer; he was married Aug. 2, 1848, to Rachel

Baker, who was born in Nicholas County, Sept. 3, 1833;

she was the daughter of John Baker, of Bourbon, and

Lucy McDaniel, of Nicholas County; they have five chil-

dren : Isaac, Mary J., James, Green, and Lucy; they are

both members of the Methodist Church; he is a Mason

at Carlisle, and a Republican.

MITCHELL GRIMES, retired farmer; P. O. Carlisle;

was born at Poplar Plains, Fleming County, Ky., Feb,

22, 1827; his father was Dr. Avery Grimes, who was

born near Clintonville, Bourbon County, about 1790, and

expired in 1868, after having lived along and useful life,

serving in the war of 1812, and practicing in Esculapian

arts for over forty years, or until a few years before his

death, when he engaged in farming; he, a son of Avery,

Sr., who came to Bourbon County from the South branch

of the Potomac, in about 1782, and by persistent effort

secured a home for himself and family, after having paid

for the same three times, through false titles and un-

principled agents. The mother of our subject was

Maria Mitchell, who was born in Georgetown, D. C, and

at a tender age was left an orphan by the death of her

father, when she was taken and raised by her uncle,

Richard Butler, of Mason County, the wife of whom was

a Lovejoy, and sister to the mother of Maria Mitchell.

Dr. Avery Grimes by his marriage had seven children,

four of whom are living: James, in Fleming County,

Mrs. T. D. Byram, of Nicholas, and the wife of Rev. John

T. Enan, of Fleming County. Mr. Grimes received a

common school education, and read law two years with

Judge Andrews, of Fiemingsburg, studying also the

Latin language, in which he became quite proficient
;

he was a young man of energy and industry in his stud-

ies, through which he acquired a valuable education.

He began life as a farmer and trader, shipping exten-

sively to all parts of the country, having several droves

of stock of different kinds on the road at the same time;

in this business he continued more than forty years. He
was married Jan. 22, 1850, in Montgomery County, near

Mt. Sterling, to Elizabeth Prances Smith, who was born

near Mt. Sterling, Dec. 22, 1830, to Enoch Smith, Jr.,

who was born near Mt. Sterling, in September, 1793; he,

the only son now living of Enoch Smith, Sr., who came

from Virginia at a very early date, settling at Mt. Ster-

ling, surveying and laying out the town. He settled

about 4,000 acres at that place, many acres of which he

gave to families who would come in and improve the

country with him; his wife was Frances Wren; Enoch,

Jr.'s wife was Sally Grimes, daughter of James Grimes,

and Sally Bryant, who was a niece of Daniel

Boone's. They had twelve children, eight daughters

and four sons; seven are now living: Dr. Thomas J.,

in Fayette, County, Mo.; Amelia, wife of Rev. Joslin, of

Linn County, Mo.; Anna E., wife of a Mr. Carter, of

Lafayette County, Mo.; the wife of our subject, Mrs. Dr.

J. C. Waugh, of Fleming County, the widow of Birton

W. Stone, Jr.; Mattie B., wife of Silas Marshall, of

Kansas City, Mo.; Loretta, wife of George Whiting,

who reside at the old homestead, near Mt. Sterling, and

Virginia C, wife of Roy Stone, of Bath County. Mr.

Grimes by his marriage had two children, one of whom
died at two years, the other at twenty-one years of age.

Mr. Grimes is in political ideas. Democratic, and a mem-

ber of the Masonic order.
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second marriage to Mary Crenshaw, of Harrison County,
and Henry Crenshavy. By her he had one child, Mary,
born Aug. 39, 1843, now wife of Dr. G. W. Adair (see

history). Mr. Henry received a limited education in the
early Carlisle schools, and began life in 1855, in the fur-

niture and undertaking business, in which he continued

about ten years, then engaged in farming and trading,

on account of his health, dealing largely in real estate

and various other enterprises. On the 8th of Nov., 1855,

in Nicholas County, he was married to Nancy T. Hall,

who was born in Carlisle May 36, 183^. Her father, Rob-
ert C. Hall, was born in Virginia in 1783, and came with

his father, Caleb Hall, to Bourbon County in 1793; after

arriving at maturity, his opinions became of importance

in the affairs of Nicholas County, on account of which he

was made Judge; also represented the same in the State

Legislature. Hjs wife was Prances Banton, of Garrard

County, Ky., daughter of John Banton, also a native of

Virginian. Mr. Henry by this marriage had two daugh-

ters: Lizzie, who died at twenty-three years of age, and

Fannie, now the wife of Hon. Thomas A. Webster, of

Carlisle ; he a son of Dr. Thomas A., of Green County,

Ky. Our subject has been among the prominent men ^of

the village and county, and during the late war was made
Provost Marshal of Nicholas County, ill health keeping

him from active duty at the front. He is a Republican

in political faith, and with his family belong to the Pres-

byterian Church.

JOHN HAMILTON HAM, dealer in real estate,

Carlisle, was born in MoBride's Run, Nicholas Coun-

ty, Ky., Dec. 33, 1821, to Samuel and Elizabeth

(Hamilton) Ham ; he died in April, 1837, at the age of

fifty (see history of M. K. Ham) ; she was a daughter of

John and Elizabeth Hamilton, and died at the age of

fifty, in 1853 ; she was the mother of five children, viz :

Leann, wife of Thomas M. Mathews, residing in Orange

County, Ind. ; John H., William W., Jacob A., married,

died and left a wife and three children (two sons and a

daughter,) in Orange County, Ind. ; and Samuel W.,

also deceased ; John H., the third child and subject of

this sketch, began his career in life as a farmer, and fol-

lowed the same until a few years since, when he engaged

in the real estate business. He was married in Carlisle,

Nov. 9, 1848, to Elizabeth McCune, born in Nich-

olas County, July 15, 1830, to John and Elizabeth

(Mathers) McCune, natives of Nicholas County ; he born

in 1796, she in 1806, to Thomas Mathers, born in 1759,

and Elizabeth, his wife, born in 1768 ; John McCune, a

son of John, born in 1763. Mr. Ham, by this marriage

had three children, viz : R. Edgar, born Nov. 17,

1849 ; Oscar, born Sept. 6, 1853, and Elizabeth, died
in infancy. Mr. and Mrs. Ham are members of the

Church at Carlisle, of which he served as Deacon seve-

ral years ; he is neutral in politics. His youngest son,

Oscar, was married Oct. 38, 1879, to Miss Luella

Kimbrough (horn to Joshua and Mary (Bowen) Kim-
brough) May 14, 1857 (see history of Mrs. M. C. Bell).

After marriage he engaged in business with his brother-

in-law, Mr. H. C. Kimbrough, at the hotel, and continued
his stock interests and trading. They are the owners of

the famous trotting horse, "Pegasus." In business,

they are enterprising, energetic, and are highly esteem-
ed by the people of the county.

WILLIAM SMITH HOWSE, farmer ; P.O. Millers-

burg, proprietor of Rising Sun farm, was born near
Rockviile, Montgomery County, Md., Sept. 19, 1814; he

came with his parents to Nioliolas County, in 1818, set-

tling about three miles from where he now lives ; his

parents were John and Elizabeth (Smith) Howse ; she, a
daughter of Daniel and Anna (Holland) Smith. The lat-

ter named people were prominent in the local politics of

Montgomery County, Md., and among the early settlers

of Kentucky; John Howse, a son of John, Sr., the sub-
ject of this sketch is the eldest son and third child of four

daughters and three sons, and the only one of the sons

now living. Two daughters younger than himself are

still living : Sarah, widow of (John Letton), (Thomas
Blaokamore), and (Joseph Winfrey) ; and Loraday, wife

of William H. Gage, a farmer in Missouri. Mr.
Ilowse received a limited education ; worked with
his father on the farm until his death, which occurred in

1835 ; he then engaged in driving stock for a number of

years. In July, 1844, he was married to Eleanor D.
Willett, a native of Bourbon County, and daughter of

Silas and Barbara (Fisher) Willett ; she, a daughter of

William Fisher ; by her- he had two sons, Edwin R.,

married and farming in Nicholas County ; Silas L. died
April 10, 1873, in his twenty-third year, married Dec. 5,

1872, to Miss Molly Bryan, a native of Hancock County,
Ind., was brought by her parents at a very early age to

Nicholas, thence to Bourbon ; she the only daughter of

Henry Bryan, near Plum Lick, and niece of Anson P.

Bryan. Mr. Howse is an intelligent, social gentleman,

having acquired a practical education by his extensive

travel. His wife died April 5, 1869. He possesses good
business qualifications, is a solid Democrat and an esteem-

ed citizen.

MICHAEL K. HAM, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was born

on the old homestead near where he now lives, Feb. 14,

1823, to John Ham the second, who was born on the line
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of Berkeley and Loudoun Counties, Va., June 13, 1783,

and died May 17, 1867; he was a farmer by occupation,

and came to the farm now owned by Robert Letton, in

1794; he a son of Jacob and Catharine (Kime) Ham, the

latter a native of Pennsylvania; Jacob, a son of Jacob and

Barbara (TuU) Ham ; the two latter gentlemen were also

natives of Virginia, and served with transportation

wagons in the Revolutionary war; the mother of our sub-

ject was Chloe T. Jones, born in Maryland, Jan. 36, 1785,

married in, 1806, on Cane Ridge, Bourbon County; by
Barton W. Stone, died Oct. 19, 1860; she a daughter of

John and Johanna (Richards) Jones, who came to Cane

Ridge in about 1796 ; Johanna, a daughter of William

Richards and a Miss Letton; John Ham by his marriage

had eleven children, all of whom grew to maturity; the

youngest of three deceased, Caleb, Jacob, and William

R.; the family of first two in Nicholas, the latter in Mor-

gan County, 111., lived to be fifty-six years of age; they

were: J. J. and Berfcon R., in Clay County, Mo.; Willis

C, in Morgan County, 111.; Sarah, wife of John T. John-

son, in the same county; Solomon W., Michael K., Brice

W., and Johanna K., wife of Jonathan Johnson; all are in

Nicholas, except as above mentioned; Michael K. after

receiving a limited education, engaged in farming in

which he has continued all his life; he has been twice

married, first Aug. 35, 1843, to Elizabeth Miller, who
died June 31, 1853, she a daughter of Henry and Mary

(Johnson) Miller, who were natives of Nicholas; by her

he had five children, two of whom died in infancy, and

Mary E., deceased, wife of John Hamilton ; Henry, at

home and Monroe in 111.; second marriage, Jan. 10, 1856, to

IsabellaHamilton, a native of Nicholas, and daughter of

John Hamilton; by her there were three children: Tabitha,

a wife of Brice Ham; Emerine, and Willis. Mr. Ham
in politicnl sentiment is Democratic.

W. T. INGELS, farmer; P: O. Millersburg; proprie-

tor of Mt. Pleasant farm, is a Parisian by birth, being

born in the Metropolis of Bourbon County, July 13, 1819.

His father was Boone Ingels, who was born in 1784 in

what was then Fayette County, now upon the line of

Bourbon. His grandfather was the owner of a small

tract of land in Philadelphia, which he leased for a giv-

en time before coming to Kentucky. The land subse-

quently became very valuable, but the records having

been lost, the rightful heirs were kept from the posses-

sion of their property. The wife of Boone Ingels was

Elizabeth Reed, a native of Lexington and a member of

one of the oldest families of that place. They had nine

children; five sons only are living: James, in Paris;

Thomas, farming near Pleasant Hill, Mo.; W. T., Dr.

Edward, and George, in Cincinnati. The Ingels were

related to Daniel Boone, hence the name Boone in the

family. The father of our subject was a hatter by trade

and an extensive manufacturer in his business in Paris.

He was an early settler in the place; carried on his busi-

ness till near his death, amassing quite a fortune. The

subject of this sketch received the advantages of a sub-

scription school until fifteen years of age, when he was

engaged in the dry goods store of Hugh Brent, in Paris,

for one year, thence to Lexington, where he engaged in

merchandising until 1854. From 1848 until the close of

his mercantile career he was in partnership in the hard-

ware business with his brother Boone (deceased). Since

1854 he has been engaged in agriculture and the raising

of thoroughbred Cotswold sheep in Bourbon and Nicho-

las Counties. In 1873 he received the appointment as

Storekeeper for the Government; afterward held the dif-

ferent offices of Special Deputy, Storekeeper and Ganger,

which offices he held for a number of years. He was

married, Dec. 3, 1846, to Mary R. Vimont, daughter of

B. F. Vimont (see hist.). They had nine children; two

died in infancy. Those living are: F. B., at home; Ger-

trude, wife of Thomas Savage, of Millersburg; Sue B.,

widow of F. R. Jaynes, of Paris, who was burned to

death while impersonating "Santa Claus" at a Christ-

mas tree, Dec. 35, 1879; Alice, wife of Will Judy, of

Millersburg; John V. and Edward, clerking in Millers-

burg; and Owen W., at home. Mr. Ingels is a staunch

Republican, and with his family are members of the

Christian Church.

WILLIAM MASON JOHNSON, farmer ; P. O.

Millersburg; was born in the room in which he now lives,

was the youngest child of Jonathan and Rachael (Dills)

Johnson ; she, a daughter of Isaac Dills, of Harrison

County. Jonathan Johnson was a native of Pennsyl-

vania, born in May, 1780, and was brought by his parents

to " Irish Station " when eight years of age; his father,

Laban, was the earliest settler in the section where sub-

ject now lives. Jonathan was for a time a resident of

Scott County; was married and moved at a very early

date to the farm where William M. now resides. He
had three sons and two daughters, John C, born Oct. 14,

1804 ; he was twice married—first to Aby Tennants, of

Mason County, second to Sally Victor ; he had seven

children who resides in Bourbon, viz.: Nancy, born Nov.

35, 1806, married Elijah Summit ; left eight children,

those living are in Nicholas County; Betsey, born March

8, 1810, married Rolland Steers ; they had four children,

one son, William, in Missouri, and one daughter in Har-

rison County, now living ; Harmon D., born Deo. 13,

'3 .

i) fy



A__^ .>

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 751

1811, residing in Missouri ; and William Mason, born

June 1, 1834, who when eighteen years of age, with his

brothers, sisters and parents, seven persons in all, aggre-

gated 1,477 lbs., or an average of 311 lbs. each ; only the

two youngest of that number are now living. Mr. John-

son was married Nov. 37, 1845, to Martha Victor, daugh-

ter of John and Betsey (Rule) Victor, who were residents

of Nicholas County ; they had five sons, viz.: Bruce, born

Sept. 37, 1846, farming near Carlisle ; Charley M., born

May 36, 1851 ; Victor, born Jan. 14, 1853, died Aug. 31,

1809 ; Stewart, born Nov. 34, 1855 ; and Oscar M., born

Aug. 17, 1858 ; all are farming in Carlisle Precinct. His

wife died May 8, 1873. Mr. Johnson is a man of thorough

business habits, and honorable in all his dealings ; he

lived fifty-two years without giving a note or running an

account of any kind. He is strictly temperate and highly

respected by the citizens of the county in which he

lives.

THOMAS KEHOE, editor of the Carlisle Mercury,

pulalished at Carlisle, Nicholas County, Ky., was born in

the city of Cincinnati, Ohio, May 1, 1850, and removed

from that city to Lewis County, Ky., with his parents, at

the age of two years, since which time he has continued

to make his permanent home within the borders of the

State of Kentucky. His early boyhood days were une-

ventful, and were spent with his parents upon a modest

farm in the vicinity of the famous Esculapia Springs, in

Lewis County, where the family continued to reside until

Thomas had reached the age of nine years. The educa-

tional facilities of Lewis County in those days were ex-

tremely meager, and in 1859, his parents, finding their

children growing up around them without the advantages

of schooling, sold their home in Lewis and removed to a

farm in Mason County, in the immediate vicinity of the

city of Maysville, where he attended school a part of the

time. In 1861 the family removed to Maysville, and he

continued to attend school. In 1863 the unaccountable

course of human events left him without a father's care,

and left his mother with a family of eight children, and

without means for their support. He had now attended

school altogether about one year, and could read and

write. The unfavorable turn of events compelled him to

quit school, and, together with those of his brothers who

were old enough, to go to work for the support of the family.

Possessing a desire for knowledge, he continued to apply

himself in his leisure moments to reading and other

studies, and each succeeding space of time brought

with it its reward of useful knowledge gained.

June 13, 1863, at the age of thirteen years he enlisted in

Captain F. H. Bierbower's Company A., of the 40th regi-

ment of Kentucky volunteers, being probably the young-

est soldier ever regularly mustered into the army of the

United States; the regiment was organized at Falmouth,

Ky., and participated in numerous scouts and skirmishes

in Kentucky, Tennessee and Virginia, and was the lead-

ing regiment in the battle with the famous John Morgan
at Mt. Sterling, Ky., June 7, 1864, and again it led

in the battle of Cynthiana, which, though lasting but a

few hours, was one of the severest battles of the war: in

the fall of 1864, the 40th regiment participated in the

battle of Canton, on the Cumberland River; later in the

same year the regiment participated in the battles of

Abingdon and Saltville, Virginia, and in Decmber of the

same year was mustered out of the service; its time hav-

ing long since expired; at this time Thomas had served

eighteen months in the army, and was yet but little over

fourteen years of age. During his service in the array he

had applied himself to study and returned home

with his education much improved. Business at

this time was in a very precarious condition, and

not being able to find remunerative employment,

and having cultivated a taste for adventure he again

joined the army, enlisting in Company I, Fifty-fifth Regi-

ment, Kentucky volunteers, at Covington, Ky., on March

8, 1865, before he was fifteen years of age, and was

elected an officer of the company. The Fifty-fifth Regi-

ment served to the close of the war, but was not engaged in

battle during its term of service, and was mustered out

at Louisville, Ky., Sept. 37, 1865. April 5, 1806, at the

acre of sixteen years, he began the trade of a marble cut-

ter, in Maysville, Ky., at which he served an apprentice-

ship of three years. He worked at his trade in various

parts of the country, his skill as a workman commanding

ready employment and the highest wages. In 1870 he

went to Helena, Ark., where he secured a situation in an

engineer corps then being organized for the purpose of

surveying the Heleija and Iron Mountain Railroad. In

April, 1871, he resigned his position in the engineer

corps and went to St. Louis, much improved in health.

From St. Louis he went to Kansas City, returning to St.

Louis in a short time, and from that city went to Owens-

boro, Ky., where he accepted a situation as foreman

of the Owensboro Marble Works, which position he held

for three years, during which time he executed in Italian

marble a monument, the design of which took the prize

offered at Chicago in 1873 for the best design produced

by any American or Canadian Sculptor. In 1873 he en-

gaged in the marble business at Owensboro on his own

account. In 1875, on July 5, he was married to Miss

Fannie Maddox, daughter of B. F. and Mary L. Mad-
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dox, of Daviess County. Mr. Kehoe continued in the

marble business in Owensboro until November, 1879,

when, finding his health again impaired, he sold out his

business and traveled for some time in Colorado.

In August, 1881, in connection with his younger

brother, Dr. H. C. Kehoe, he assumed editorial

control of the Carlisle Mercury—the latter retiring

shortly after to enter the practice of medicine. He
is the eldest of six brothers and the second of a fam-

ily of eight—the children of James and Nora Kehoe.

In regard to the brothers and sisters of Mr. Kehoe, we
will make brief reference in the order of their ages.

Mary, the eldest, was born in New Orleans, La., and

was raised in Kentucky. In 1866 she was married at

Nashville, Tenn., to Captain James T. Harahan, who is

at this writing President of the Ponchartrain Railroad

and Superintendent of the Louisville and Nashville Rail-

road, and resides in New Orleans. Wm. J. Kehoe, sten-

ographer and editor, was born in Lewis County, and

raised in Mason County, Ky. ; learned the printing

business, and for several years was a compositor in the

office of the Cincinnati Commercial. In 1877, he formed

a partnership with Prof. T. C. H. Vance, and purchased

the Carlisle Mercury., Mr. Vance shortly after retiring.

Mr. Kehoe continued its publication and under his man-

agement it became the boldest Democratic journal in

Eastern Kentucky. He was a warm friend of Judge

Thomas F. Hargis, and was instrumental in nominating

him for Criminal Judge of the district of which Nicholas

County was a part, and through the columns of the Mer-

cury., was first to mention that gentleman for the office of

Judge of the Court of Appeals. He took a leading part

in the Owingsville Convention, in which Judge Hargis

was nominated for Appellate Judge, and was Chair-

man of the District Convention at Flemingsburg.

In August 1881, he retired from the Mercury

to accept a lucrative position q,p stenographer in

the offices of the Louisville & Nashville Railroad

Company, at New Orleans. J. D. Kehoe, printer, editor

and statesman was born in Lewis County, and raised in

Mason County, Ky.; he began the printing business in

Maysville, Ky., at the age of ten years and soon devel-

oped a remarkable talent as a fine job printer; went to

Cincinnati when about twelve or thirteen years of age and

became foreman of a printing establishment and after-

ward returned to Maysville where he became foreman of

the office of the Maysville Republican., which position

he continued to hold for a considerable length of time;

resigning his position in the Republican he opened an

office in the city of Maysville on his own account; was

elected and served as Clerk of the City of Maysville; at

the age of twenty-four he received the unanimous^ nomi-

nation of the Democratic party, for the office of Repre-

sentative. In 1881 he again received the unanimous

nomination of the Democratic party for Representative,

and was elected without opposition. In 1882, while a

member of the Kentucky Legislature he was nominated

for the office of Public Printer of Kentucky, by Hon.

W. J. Hendrick, of Fleming County, and received a

strong vote but withdrew on the second or third ballot.

Mr. Kehoe is at this writing a leading member of the

Kentucky Legislature, and is Chairman of the Committee

on Printing, a member of the Committee on Military Af-

airs and represents the 10th District of Ky. in the Commit-

tee on Apportionment. MarkF. Kehoe, cigar manufact-

urer and merchant, was born in Lewis County, Ky., and

raised in Mason County ; learned the business of cigar-mak-

ing at an early age, and at the expiration of his apprentice-

ship, established himself in business at Union City, Ind.,

from which place he removed to Owensboro, Ky., and

afterward to Maysville, Ky., where he has carried on the

business of a cigar manufaotui-er for a number of years.

He is a high-toned gentleman of refinement and good

education, and is strictly a self-made man. H. C. Kehoe,

editor and physician ; was born in Lewis County, and

was raised in Mason County, Ky. Learned the printing

business at an early age, and developed superior skill as

a printer, and in 1877 became foreman and manager of

the mechanical department of the Carlisle Mercury office,

which position he held until 1881, when he became a

partner in the business of the office, and editor of the

paper in connection with his brother, W. J. Kehoe, and

afterward his brother Thomas. During his connection

with the Mercury, his leisure time had been devoted to

his self education, and to reading medicine in the office

ofDr.M. Dills, of Carlisle. When the town of Carlisle

received a city charter, he was elected first City Clerk, and

was elected Collector of City Taxes. In 1881, he retired

from the Mercury and attended medical lectures at Pulte

Medical College in Cincinnati, Ohio, and is at this writ-

ing, just entering upon the practice of medicine, at the

age of twenty-three years. Jennie M. Kehoe, was born

in Mason County, Ky., and was raised in the City of

Maysville, where at this writing, she resides with her

mother; she was educated at the Academy of the Visita-

tion in that city. James N. Kehoe, printer ; was born

in the City of Maysville, Ky.; learned the printing busi-

ness under his brother, Hon. J. D. Kehoe, and is a work
man of superior genius. At the age of seventeen he be-

came foreman and manager of the office of the Clark

-^
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County Democrat, published at Winchester, Ky., but re-

turning to Maysville, he is at this writing manager of the

business of J. D. Kehoe, printer and publisher of jKeAoe's

Annual. He is the youngest of the Kehoe family, and is

endowed with rare mental abilities, which give promise

of a brilliant future. Mrs. Nora Kehoe, the mother of this

family of self-made men, is a native of Queen's County,

Ireland, and is closely related to the ancient patriotic

families of Moores and Lalors, of Ireland ; she was mar-

ried to James Kehoe, of Wioklow County, Ireland,

in 1847, and came to America in 1848, with her

husband, at the age of eighteen years, with whom
she shared the joys and sorrows of life, until

1863. She is an intelligent lady of strong religious

principles and is strictly conscientious. She is at pres-

ent a resident of the city of Maysville, Ky., where she

has lived for twenty-two years, and where she reared

her large family of children, bringing them up to maturi-

ty, in honor, and with credit to herself. Mrs. Mary Con-

roy, the mother of Mrs. Kehoe, was born in Ireland, in

1798, and now resides at Connersville, Ind., with her

daughter, at the age of eighty-five years. She is the

seventh daughter of Colonel Dooney, a Commander of

the Irish Patriots in the rebellion of 1798. He was

killed in the massacre, on the Curragh, Kildare,. Ireland,

in the rebellion of '98, under the following circumstan-

ces: It was the custom of the brutal British to murder

their Irish prisoners, and a surrender of the patriots

having been agreed upon, under conditions of immunity

from death, a large number of the Irish patriot force had

preceded his command, surrendering their arms and

marching into an enclosure, but none of those going in

had come out. When it came his turn to enter he re-

fused to do so until he understood what was to be the

fate of those entering. His refusal was immediately fol-

lowed by the British opening fire upon his command

anfl upon the unarmed prisoners inside the enclosure,

and the massacre was one of the most terrible in history,

all or nearly all the prisoners inside being butchered. A
great number of his command escaped, but he was killed

early in the massacre. Of the paternal ancestors of the

Kehoe family, it may be said that the name has been as-

sociated with the efforts for Irish liberty from the days

of " Strong Bow " to " Buckshot " Forester. It is one of

the oldest Irish names, tnd some one bearing it has

figured on every battlefield from the Boyne to Vinegar

Hill, and down to the present day, they are found among

the 600 " Suspects, " who are now languishing in British

dungeons for daring to advocate the cause of liberty.

JUDGE JAMES MADISON KENNEY, retired

farmer, P. O' Carlisle; was born near Paris, on the Stoner,

April 5, 1810. His father was James, born at same place.

His mother was Edith Johnson, born upon the south

branch of the Potomac, but at a very early age came with

her father Andrew and her mother, who was before mar-

riage, a Miss Gregg, and made their settlement upon

Green Creek. The parents of our subject had nine children

all of whom grew to maturity : Mrs. Alexander Robin-

son, of Seymour, Ind., and James M., the only two now
living. He received but about two weeks' schooling on

account of the death of his father, the duty of supporting

a large family and widowed mother then falling heavily

upon him. According to his statement " he got his edu-

cation a-running." At twenty-five years of age he could

not write his own name, but by persistent energy he ac-

quired a good education, being thus enabled to fill some

of the most responsible positions of the county in later

years. He began life as a farmer in which he has con-

tinued, adding to his possessions from year to year.

Was twice married : in September, 1833, to Mary Par-

ish, who died May 4, 1848 ; was a daughter of Nathaniel

Parish; his second marriage occurred Feb. 8, 1849, to

Harriet B. Dunnington, born in Charles County, Md.,

June 2, 1819 ; came to Nicholas County in 1838. Her

father was James Dunnington, born in Charles County,

Md., March 39, 1781, died May 31, 1853. Her mother

was Sally Payne, born in Fairfax County, Va., March 18,

1786, died April 1.7, 1865. The Paynes related to the

one who had a difficulty with Gen. Washington, also, to

the Brents, who claim a relationship to Pocahontas. Mr.

Keijney served as constable eleven years, from 1840. In

1856 was elected magistrate, serving twelve years, and in

1873 was elected County Judge, filling the unexpired

term caused by the resignation of Judge Hargis, after

which he was elected for four years to fill the office of

Public Administrator. He had by his second marriage

five children : William, James M., Ella and Hattie. The

fourth child, a daughter, died in young-womanhood. His

wife and others of the family are members of the Baptist

Church, he of the Presbyterian Church, a christian gentle-

man, a highly esteemed citizen, and " born a Democrat."

ROBERT KINCART; jailer; Carlisle; was born

in Carlisle, Ky., Jan. 14, 1835, and at the present time,

there is but one person now living in Carlisle that

was born at that place, older than himself. The father

of our subject was born in Washington County, Va., in

the year 1783; came to Kentucky in 1807; and at one

time owned all the land where Carlisle now stands. His

father was buried in the now Court House yard. He

was married in 1817, to Miss Isabella Packston, who was
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born in Carlisle in 1780, and died in 1869; and her hus-

band followed her two years later, Jan. 18, 1871. The
result of their union was nine children, of whom Robert,

the subject of this sketch, was the third. He never

attended school to exceed ten days, and got his education

by his own industry and by observation. He entered

upon his career in life as a farmer and machinist. He
has always been a prominent Democrat, and, in 1874,

the Democratic party substantiated their appreciation of

him by electing him Jailer, which position he still retains.

During the rebellion he held the position of 2nd Lieu-

tenant, in Co. JS-, of the 5th Kentucky Mounted Rifle-

men, with Capt. John Holliday. He remained in the

service four years. He was married in Nicholas County,

Oct. 7, 1847, to Miss Elizabeth Ishmael, who was born

in Nicholas County, Jan. 24, 1823. They have four

children, viz.: Nancy, George, Maria, and Harrison.

Mr. Kincart is a very energetic and enterprising man;

owns a farm of 156 acres, and devotes his time to its

cultivation in connection with his duties as jailer. In

connection with his wife, he is a member of the Christian

Church at Carlisle. He has also been a prominent mem-
ber of the Masonic Order, at the same place, since the

year 1863.

WILLIAM J. KENNEDY, farmer and tobacco dealer;

Carlisle; was born Feb. 12, 1843, to Alfred J. and

Sally Ann (Hillock) Kennedy (see hist). Our subject

received his education in the common schools of Nicholas

County, and commenced his career in life at merchandiz-

ing at Headquarters, where he remained sixteen years,

and during the last half of that period dealt largely in

tobacco. In 1882 he bought 200 acres of land of A. W.
Blair, and turned his attention to farming in connection

with his tobacco business. He was married in Nicholas

County, Nov. 21, 1865, to Miss Eliza J. Smith, who was

born April 10, 1845. They have six children, viz.: Esle

H., James S., Claudia, William E., Harvey M. and War-
ren R. Mrs. Kennedy was a daughter of Samuel and

Annie (Cook) Smith (see hist, of Granville C. Smith).

Mr. Kennedy is a member of the Masonic Order at Head-

quarters, and Chapter at Carlisle. He is a thorough busi-

ness man, and highly esteemed by the community, and

is always first in any public enterprise. He is a good

neighbor, a kind husband and an indulgent father. In

addition to his other enterprises, he deals extensively in

stock of all kinds. In his political ideas he is Demo-

cratic.

JUDGE CHARLES LYTLE, youngest son of Robert

and Rebecca Maranda Lytle, was born in the city of Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, Sept. 26, 1847, during a temporary resi-

dence of his parents at that place. Robert Lytle, the

father of the subject of this sketch, was the oldest son of

William Lytle, who emigrated from the Highlands of

Scotland and settled in Pennsylvania. There he met

and married Lydia Thompson, only child of John and

Lydia Thompson, who emigrated from Londonderry,

Ireland, when Lydia was only twelve years of age.

They afterwards located in Kentucky, near the mouth

of Bracken Creek, in what is now Bracken Coun-

ty. There Robert Lytle, the father of Judge Lytle,

was born, raised and married to Rebecca Maranda,

the oldest daughter of Samuel and Polly Maranda, who
had emigrated from the eastern -shore of Maryland, and

located in Ohio, on the river, one mile west of where the

town of Higginsport now stands. Samuel Miranda, the

maternal, and William Lytle, the paternal grandfather

of Judge Lytle, were soldiers in the war of 1812, and

also in the Mexican war, and both were gun and lock-

smiths, by trade. Robert Lytle's early life was spent

in flat and steamboating on the Ohio river. He was the

pilot of the first regular packet that ran between Mays-

ville and Cincinnati. He was a thrifty river trader in

the early days of flat and steamboating, but in 1845 had

the misfortune to wreck three boats, on that terrible

wrecker of fortune the Ohio river falls. After tins he

quit the river and went into the milling business, at

Augusta, Ky., where he still resides, and within two and

one-half miles of the place where he was born, married

and has lived all his life. The only education Judge
Lytle received, was such as could be obtained at the

common public schools in the town of Augusta (which

were not so well organized as at present,) and one term
at the Augusta College. He hired out and worked on a

farm during the summer months, and attended school

during the winter. He studied law in Augusta, Ky.,

with the late lamented Judge .loseph Doniphan, and
Francis L. Cleveland, who were partners at that tirae;*he

would read and recite to these gentlemen during the

summer months, and in the winter taught a district

school; after obtaining his license to practice in March,

1872, he spent the summer in the office of Hon. John B.

Clark, late Congressman froni the 10th Congressional Dis-

trict, at Brookville, Bracken County; the following fall

he taught a district school in the southern portion of

Bracken County, and in March, 1873, located in Mt.

Olivet, Ky., the county seat of Robertson County, where
he began to practice law in earnest; here he succeeded

well, and soon built up a lucrative practice, and by his

honest and straightforward manner of doing business,

gathered around him a host of staunch friends, and in a
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very short time obtained the confidence of the people to

such an extent that he was twice appointed to the office

of County Court Judge over a very worthy competitor;

he was married to Flora B. Wilson, youngest daughter

of Henry L. and Nancy Wilson, of Mt. Olivet, in May,

1875, who died of consumption in June, 1880 ; he was a

candidate for re-election to the Judgeship in 1876, at a

time when Grangerism was on the boom, and at its most

formidable period in Kentucky ; his opponent was a

wealthy farmer, and a master of one of the strongest

Granges in the county, and with the combined agencies

of money, and the organized strength of the Grangers

throughout the county, he was only defeated by one

vote, and that being his own; he voted for his opponent,

and his opponent failed to vote for him; as a judge, per-

haps the youngest in the State, he was regarded able and

impartial, and managed the finances of the county with

great success; Mt. Olivet being a small town, he sought a

broader field for work, and located in Carlisle in 1878,

where he practiced his profession alone until July, 1880;

he formed a partnership with Judge W. P. Rose, one of

the oldest and most experienced attorneys in that section

of the State; he was married again in 1881, to Fannie P.

Nichols, an adopted daughter of Dr. R. J. R. and Anna

E. Tilton; he still retains a lucrative practice in Robert-

son County, where he is deservedly popular; he is quite a

young man yet, and his friends predict for him a suc-

cessful and brilliant future.

JOHN LONG, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was born in

what is now Nicholas County, near Millersburg, in the

year 1800, Nov. 28. He has always lived in the county

and been identified with its interests. His parents were

Eliakim and Jemima (Victor) Long, natives of Mary-

land, near Snow Hill, where he learned the trade of

shoemaking; she was a daughter of John Victor, who

died in Maryland; his wife, Hannah (Brewington) Victor,

came to Nicholas County in 1790 with four sons and

three daughters, all of whom married and settled in the

county; Eliakim is a son of Delves Long, who only had

two sons and a daughter, who married John McCauley,

and finally moved to Kentucky; they had two sons, both

of whom left children in Ohio. Wm. Long, an uncle to

our subject, was killed by a horse; he had two daugh-

ters, who married and located in the West, and a son,

who went to sea and was not heard from. The father

of John was married about 1796, and had eleven chil-

dren, the oldest born in 1798; there were nine sons and

two daughters; all had children but two sons. William,

deceased, settled in Harrison County; Polly, now the

widow of Parish Jones, residing in Vermillion, 111.;

James, deceased, settled in same county; Nancy, deceas-

ed, wife of John C. Cassidy, left children in Missouri;

Levi, residing in Vermillion County, 111.; Littleton (see

hist.) Eliakim, in Putman County, Ind.; Samuel, in Kan-

sas. The subject of this sketch received a very limited

education, and worked on the farm with his father until

of age. In 1835, he was married to Nancy Young,

whom he buried after eight weeks of married life. On
the 6th of Sept., 1837, he was again married, to Nancy
Nesbit, who was born upon the farm where they now re-

side, April 36, 1800; she a daughter of Nathan and Sa-

rah (Huston), who were natives of Pennsylvania, near

Carlisle, but settled in Bourbon County in 1788; some

of the family were among the original settlers of Bour-

bon; Sarah was a daughter of Joseph, who was a promi-

nent man in Pennsylvania; Nathan was a son of John. By
this marriage Mr. Long had two children: Sarah J., born

Sept. 4, 1837, now the wife of Charles Wise; John W.,

May 9, 18-11, married Elizabeth F. Victor, Dec. 30,

1866; she born Aug. 33, 1845, an only child, who lived

to maturity, of George and Sarah (Hedges) Victor, who
were natives of Kentucky. They have one child, George

Victor, a daughter, born June 28, 1869. They are de-

voted to a general agriculture and stockraising; relig-

iously, they are connected with the Presbyterian Church.

WILLIAM W. LETTON, farmer, P. O. Carlisle
;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., November 35, 1809,

to Michael and Isabel C. (Jones) Letton ; he was born in

Maryland, and was one of the early settlers of Bourbon

County ; he died June 39, 1839 ; his wife Isabel, was

born Feb. 7, 1773, and died Feb. 7, 1853 ; the result of

their union was seven children, of whom, William, our

subject, was next to the youngest. His education was

limited to such as could be obtained in the common
schools of that early day. He commenced his career in

life as a farmer ; was married in Bourbon County, Octo-

ber 17, 1833, to Miss Lucy Ann Williams, who was born

May 1, 1809, and died December 19, 1863 ; she was the

mother of six children, viz : Burton R., Martha I., Mary

E., Laura W., Elton R. and Tabitha A. ; Mrs. Letton

was a daughter of Joseph and Elizabeth L. (Jones) Will-

iams. Mr. Letton has served the county as Constable

for a number of years ; he is a practical farmer and has

135 acres of land which he keeps in a high state of cul-

tivation ; he has been a member of the Masonic order at

Carlisle for several years ; his political sentiments are

with the Democratic party.

COL. DAVID MANN, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ; was

born March 14, 1809, in the house in which he now lives,

to Peter and Barbara (Jones) Mann ; she a daughter of
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Jacob and Susie (Earlywine) Jones ; the two latter fam-

ilies were among the earliest settlers of what was then

Bourbon, now Nicholas County ; Peter was a son of Geo.

and Elizabeth Mann, who came from Rockingham Co.,

Va., to Nicholas County about 1790, and purchased 500

acres of land, being in part, the home where Col. Mann
now lives; he had seven sons and one daughter ; George,

the eldest, died in the Revolutionary war ; Jacob settled

in Clinton County, Ohio; John, died inNicholas County;

Peter, accidentally killed by the fall of a tree in the year

1852, in his eightieth year ; Henry, settled in Greene

County, Ohio; Charles, David, and the daughter, who mar-

ried Adam Shillenger, also settled in the above county.

The parents of our subject had Six sons and one daugh-

ter, four of the former ; Jacob left a large family, who

are scattered throughout the country ; Elizabeth, wife of

David Trimble, both of whom are deceased ; William

and family, all deceased but one son, LaFayette, residing

in Nicholas ; David, and Amos, residents of Nicholas
;

Emanuel, near Millersburg, and Peter J. in Cooper Coun-

ty, Mo. The subject of this sketch received a limited

education, and spent his life working on the farm and at

different trades, until 1845, since which time he has been

engaged in farming. Upon Jan. 26, 1833, he was mar-

ried to Olive Stoker, daughter of Edward and Elizabeth

(Currant) Stoker ; he a son of Edward, or "Old Stoker,"

as he was commonly called ; one of the first settlers of

Nicholas County and a Revolutionary soldier ; he, by this

marriage, had eight children, three of whom died with-

out issue. Those living are, Melvina, wife of G. Cheat-

ham (see history) ; Lucian; Maria A., wife of Solomon

Robertson, of Nicholas ; Pickett T.,, wife of Joseph Mays,

in Nicholas ; Rozella, wife of Winfield Buckler, a lawyer

at Mt. Olivet, Ky. ; they are all members of the Chris-

tian Church; Lucian enlisted in October, 1862, in Co. B.,

9th, Ky. Mounted Riflemen, under Capt. J. G. Neal, Col.

Breckinridge and Gen'l Morgan, subsequnetly under

Gen. Wheeler and Cols. Grigsby and J. S. Williams
;

the principal contests in which he was engaged were at

Hartsville, the raid on the Louisville and Nashville R. R.,

raid through Kentucky, Dug's Gap, Atlanta, and in

the long Skirmish with Gen. Sherman ; at the close of

the war he returned home, and on November 28, he was

married to Miss Emma Layson, daughter of Martin Lay-

son, of Millersburg ; by her he has four children : Carrie

Lee, Minnie Noble, Robert T. and David L. ; he is a

member of the K. T.; for several years a tradesman in

Carlisle ; was in the Rocky Mountains engaged in

mining ; also, in Illinois, farming ; he was one of the

soldiers who assisted in guarding the much-talked-of

treasure held by Jeff Davis, at one time during the war.

NELSON H. McNEW, physician; Carlisle; was

born near Knoxville, Tenn., Sept. 11,1840; he is of

Scotch-Irish descent; his father, Isaac McNew, having

emfgrated from Washington County, Va., to Tennessee,

about 1820; his mother, whose maiden name was Par-

melia Halffinger, was a native Virginia lady; she died in

Tennessee in 1842, her husband having died ten years

previous; the doctor is the eighth of nine children, seven

of whom are still living; when only two years of age, he

lost his mother, but received a good education, his father

having married twice; the second time to Mary Arnwine,

a sister of. his oldest daughter's first husband ; he taught

school for several years, devoting his spare time

to the study of medicine; in 1858, he entered the Univer-

sity of Nashville, taking a medical course ; upon being

graduated by that institution in 1861, he immediately

entered the Confederate service under Captain Churchill,

of the 1st Arkansas Mounted Riflemen; he remained in

private service till after the battle of Pea Ridge, when

he was promoted to the post of Assistant Surgeon of his

regiment, which position he filled till the close of the

war in 1865; in May, 1864, he married Miss Jerusha

Yeary, daughter of Henry Yeary, a prominent farmer of

Tennessee; she died in 1874, having borne him four chil-

dren, two of whom, Nannie Lee and Carrie, are still liv-

ing; after the war he located in Sherburn, Fleming Coun-

ty, where he soon acquired the esteem and confidence of

the people; he was favorably mentioned by the people of

that county for the Legislature just before his departure

in 1874; in 1876, he removed to Carlisle, where he is

highly esteemed as an able and careful physician; he is

a member of the Masonic fraternity, having held all the

principal offices, and is a correspondent of several of the

most prominent newspapers of the Southwest.

FITCH MUNGER (deceased); died March 26, 1866,

in the forty-ninth year of his age; he was no ordinary

character, but the highest type of a gentleman of the old

school, with the energy of the new. Mr. Munger re-

moved from Lewis County, N. Y., the place of his nativ-

ity, to Kentucky, upon his arrival at the years of man-

hood, without means, a stranger in the midst of strangers,

unaided, save by his own indomitable energy, and irre-

proachable morals and habits. From the humble though

honorable calling of school teacher, he soon joined the

ranks of the legal profession, and settled at Carlisle; his

integrity and sense of honor were of the highest type;

he laid contributions on and brought to the aid of an un-

flagging industry the most rigid rules of punctuality,

system and order. Before these fine qualities, his native
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strength of intellect and the best social qualities, all dif-

ficulties and obstacles in the way of his progress vanished.

Honored by the citizens of Mason and Nicholas Counties

with a seat in the Kentucky Senate, his usefulness took a

more exalted and general range, and the inestimable

qualities mentioned made him one of the best of legisla-

tors. His services reflected high credit upon his constit-

uency, the general good was advanced, and his right to

public favor and esteem fully assured. He was a son of

Roswell and Marvin (Palmer) Munger, natives of Copen-
hagen, N. Y.; she a daughter of John Palmer and a Miss

Usher. He was married Feb. 7, 1844, to Miss Mary
Summers, who was born in Montgomery County, Feb. 8,

1820, to Archibald and Margaret (Payne) Summers, na-

tives of Fairfax County, Ta.; shea daughter of Benjamin

C. and Jane (Campbell) Payne, she a native of Scotland,

he of Virginia. Mr. Munger by this marriage had two

sons: Charles W. (see history), and Harry, born Oct. 13,

1857; he was married May 8, 1880, to Miss Carrie Nich-

ols, a native of York State, and daughter of Rev. W. B.

and Harriet (Munger) Nichols; he a prominent divine

in the M. E. Church of that State. He and his mother

are carrying on a general farming and stock raising at

their beautiful home in the suburbs of Carlisle. They
are a family highly respected by the citizens of their

community.

REV. MILTON MANN, farmer; P. O. Carlisle;'

proprietor of Sumach Grove Farm; was born upon the

farm which is his present home, Nov. 25, 1828; he is a

grandson of .John Matin, and the youngest of three child-

ren: James, a local preacher in theM. E. Church, South;

Fanny, deceased, wife of John Shaw, who still resides in

Nicholas County, and the subject of this sketch, who re-

ceived very few advantages in early life, but worked hard

upon the farm until the fall of 1851, when he entered As-

bury University, where he remained four years, then re-

tuined home and entered the ministry, froin which time it is

said, he has raised more money for the Bible cause, built

more churches, and taken more people into the church,

than any other man in the Kentucky Conference; his

itinerancy continued until 1876, since which time his life

has been principally devoted to farming. He has been

four times married; first upon the 31st of May, 1855, to

Margaret Ricketts, daughter of- Wm. Ricketts, of Nicho-

las; by her he had three children, only one of whom are

living: Fletcher, who married Mary Jones of Carlisle, by

whom he has three children: Horde W., James M., and

Bruce; first wife died May 36, 1863, at Mt. Olivet, Ky.;

second marriage to Jenny Ricketts, a sister to his first

wife, July 15, 1862; by her he had two children: E. G. B.,

and L. E.; the mother died June 23, 1867; third mar-

riage Dec. 4, 1867, to Louisa E. Williams, daughter of

Byrd Williams, of Nicholas; by her he had five children,

the two eldest died in infancy; those living are: Pearly

H., Allie and Lumie U.; Avife died July 9, 1877; fourth

marriage Feb. 12, 1878, to Elvira Hughs, daughter of

Esq. Grason Hughs, of Nicholas. He has been especially

favored in being called upon to perform marriage cere-

monies, uniting as many as five couples in one day, and

two and three couples under one ceremony; he deserves

much credit for the education of himself under adverse

circumstances, and the amount of good he has done for

the promotion of Christianity, the improvement of stock,

sheep, cattle and horses, owning some very fine animals

of each kind. He bred and now owns the famous Mam-
brino Le Grand stallion, who took twelve premiums in the

fall of 1881, and for beauty stands next to the Mambrino

King, said to be the finest horse in the world. Mr. Mann
is a prominent man in his community, interested in public

improvements, and is treasurer of the Board of Directors

of the Forest Retreat and Panther Creek Turnpike.

CHARLES M. MAY; teacher; P. O. Carlisle; was

born in Vermont, Aug. 13, 1833, to Gen. Benjamin and

Jerusha (Gilbert) May. He was a merchant by occupa-

tion; was born in Vermont, in 1799, and died in 1838.

She was also born in Vermont, in 1805, and is now living

in Washington, D. C. The result of their union was

four children, viz.: Daniel, Louis, Mary, and Charles,

our subject. He was educated at the Middlebury Col-

lege, Vermont, where he graduated in 1853, and three

years later, was made A. M., since which time he has

been engaged in teaching school. He was principal of

the school at May's Licks, for several years, and then

took charge of the Minerva Seminary, in Mason County,

where he remained four years. He also had charge of a

school at Flemingsburg, and was connected with the

Augusta College three years, and after severing his con-

nection with the latter institution, he removed to Car-

lisle, and is now engaged in teaching a private, high

grade school, which numbers about forty students, mem-

bers of the best families of Carlisle. He was married at

Minerva, Ky., Aug. 29, 1874, to Miss Asenath Dinwiddle

Mclntire, who was born to James and Miss (Hunt) Mc-

Intire, in Oct. 1838, and died Oct. 18, 1878, without

issue. Mr. May is a thoroughly educated man, and ranks

high in his profession, and socially enjoys the highest

esteem of the whole community. Although a strict and

thorough teacher, he possesses the faculty of obtaining

the love and respect of all his students. Politically, he

is a Republiean.
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COL. R. E. MANN, grocer, Carlisle ; is a son

of James and Bettie (Stoker) Mann, both from Virginia,

and early settlers of Nicholas County. He was born near

Forest Retreat, Nicholas Co., July 21, 1846; is one

of eight children, four of whom are now living: Leonidas,

R. E., Alice, and Sherman. Col. Mann received his

education in the town of Carlisle. He was appointed by

the Legislature upon the staff of Governor Leslie, and in

,the same year was appointed by the Governor as one of

the four commissioners from Kentucky to the Vienna

Exposition. On account of the death of his sister, about

the time of starting, he was compelled to decline the ap-

pointment. In 1876 he started the only wholesale gro-

cery in Carlisle, which he is now running in connection

with eight other stores in different counties. On the 29th

of .Tune, 1876, Col. Mann married Miss Phcebe, daughter

of Dr. J. J. and Pickett (Metcalf) Taylor, of Lexington,

Mrs. Taylor being a neice of Governor Metcalf, and a

sister-in-law of James Metcalf, who was Secretary of

State under Governor Powell, and represented Nicholas

County in the Legislature two terms. Colonel Mann has

two children: Horace and Madge H.

CHARLES W. HUNGER, lawyer, Carlisle ; was

born in Carlisle, April 9, 1849, son of Fitch Munger,

deceased (see hist.) The subject of this brief sketch

received a liberal education, attending the school at Lex-

ington, Va., under the preceptorship of Robert E. Lee;

also spent two years at the University at Lexington, Ky.,

graduating from the law department of that institution

in February, 1871, when he began the practice of his

chosen profession in the city of his present location. He
was married Oct. 19, 1869, in Newport, Ky., to Miss

Virginia Stiff, a native of New Orleans, daughter of Dr,

Richard Stiff, deceased, a prominent physician of New
Orleans and Newport. His wife was Cassandra Pauline,

of Mercer County, now the wife of Richard Taliaferro,

of Newport. Mr. Munger was elected to the office of

Mayor, of Carlisle, in June, 1880, being the first to re-

ceive that honor under the new constitution. By his

marriage there are three children, as follows: Fitch,

Ida, and Ada, twin daughters. He is a Democrat,

politically, and a member of the Grand Encampment

L 0. 0: F.

JOSEPH NORVELL, Ex-Circuit Clerk, Carlisle;

was born in Carlisle, Nov. 13, 1843 (see J. P. Nor-

vell's history); he received a liberal education, attended

the preparatory school, taught by Rev. James Hendricks,

where he studied the Latin and Greek languages, pre-

paratory to entering the College at Danville, Ky.; he
' subsequently studied law with his father, but before being

admitted to the bar, he enlisted in Company A, of the

original squadron under Gen. Morgan, in which he served

until that command was cut to pieces at Lebanon, Tenn.;

subsequently, in the re-organization, he served for a short

time as a private, in Co. B, 9th Ky., under Col. Brecken-

ridge,he was there promoted to the position of Second Lieu.

tenant; subsequently, by a special order from the war de-

partment, that officers should be examined in military

tactics, by a special board appointed for that purpose ; he

received the appointment as Captain of the company,

which position he held until the close of the war. The
captaincy of the company was made vacant by the resig-

nation of Captain Neal, and Mr. Norvell's promotion over

a superior officer, was on account of proficiency in mili-

tary tactics. He served in all the principal contests with

his command, some of which were those of Shiloh, Stone

River, Chickamauga, Stony Fork, Resaca, Peach Tree

Creek, the salt work? of Virginia, and skirmishes in front

and rear of Sherman's march to the sea. He was four

times a prisoner ; the first time he was captured he es-

caped from Camp Morton; the second he leaped from (he

car window while being transported from Louisville to

Camp Douglas; the third, while under guard in the woods

in Tennessee. The longest that he was away from his

command was four months, when he was imprisoned at

Johnson's Island. From 1865 till the spring of 1868, he

was engaged in the mercantile business in Cincinnati

with Chappell, Bruce & Mclntyre. In 1868 he was
elected to the office of Circuit Clerk, which position he

held until in August, 1874, where for a considerable time

he was engaged in the Kimbroughand St. Cloud Hotels.'

He was married Oct. 18, 1869, in Sharpsburg, to Miss

Belle Wilson, who was a native of Fleming County, and

a daughter of Harvey T. Wilson, Past Grand Master of

the Masonic Order for that State of Kentucky. He is a

native of Fleming County ; was an extensive pork packer

in Covington, Ky., during the war. He now resides in

Kenton County. His wife, Margaret (Serency) Wilson,

also a native of Fleming County. Mr. Norvell, by this

marriage has had five children, four of whom are now
living, viz.: Alva, Annie, Lucy and Mary. He is a

Democrat and a Master Mason.

WILLIAM NORTON, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ; was
born a tthe old homestead, near Hinkston River, Jan. 11,

1828; his father, Hiram Norton, was born m Bourbon
County in 1797, and there resided until in 1823, when
he came to the house now occupied by his widow ; he

was a great business man at the time in which he lived;

raised a large family, and died in 1871. His wife, who
is still living, was Nancy Spencer ; born Jan. 19, 1803
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'in Clark County (see Spencer history). The grandfather

of our subject was John Norton, one of the early settlers

from Virginia to Bourbon County, and died at rather an

early age, leaving the care of the family upon the eldest,

Hiram. William Norton received an education such as

could be obtained in the early common schools of Nicho-

las County, then engaged in farming, remaining with his

father until in 1847, when he purchased ninety acres of

land, a part of the Old Ham farm, to which he has added

since that time, and is now the possessor of over 300

acres of choice land, and a beautiful home. His first

marriage occurred in 1847, to Nancy A. Squires, who

died in February, 1873 ; she was the mother of eight

children, five of whom died young; those living are :

Jesse, Willie, and Charley. His second marriage was to

Eliza J. Burroughs, Aug. 13, 1875 ; she, a sister to Dr_

Burroughs ; by her he has a pair of twins, Harry and

Harvey. Mr. Norton is a Republican in politics, and

with his family connected with the Christian Church at

Carlisle; has been a member of the Masonic order since

1848, and is now connected with the Commandery at

Carlisle ; is liberal in public improvements, religious,

and educational matters, and commands the high esteem

of the citizens of the community in which he lives.

JOHN P. NORVELL, attorney, Carlisle ; was born

in Carlisle, Dec. 31, 1830 ; his father, William Nor-

vell, was born in Garrard County, Ky., Nov. 10,

1803; died Sept. 5, 1875; he was one of the best and

most prominent men of Carlisle, where he was an attor-

ney for nearly fifty years. The mother was Emily G.

Summers, still living, who was born in Montgomery

County, in 1823, and married in 1836; she was a daugh-

ter of Archibald Summers, a prominent citizen of Mont-

gomery and Nicholas Counties. They had thirteen

children, six of whom are now living, viz. : Mary, wi''e

of William George, D.D., one of Kentucky's favorite

divines, now located in the State of Texas ; Joseph (see

history), Lucy A., wife of Judge Hargis, Judge of Court

of Appeals ; John P., Jennie, and Alice. The others

died unmarried, except Orra, who was the wife of Wm.
P. Bruce, formerly a prominent merchant of Carlisle,

later of Cincinnati, now of Glendale, O. The father of

these was a representative from Nicholas County to the

Kentucky Legislature for two terms; also held the posi-

tion of County Judge and Master Commissioner of the

Circuit Court. The subject of this sketch received a

common school education, and studied law with Judge

Hargis, and was admitted to the practice of the profes-

sion in April, 1871, by a special act of the Legislature,

being then under 31 years of age ; he immediately

entered into partnership with Judge Hargis, continuing

until the year 1878, when the Judge was elected to his

present posilion. Mr. Norvell is now of the firm of

Norvell & Tureraan. He was married in Paris, Jan. 14,

1879, to Ella M. Steele, a native of Bourbon County,

and daughter of Dr. William and Julia (Wood) Steele,

both of whom are now living near Hutchinson Station,

Bourbon County.

FRANK M. PEALE, merchant; P. O. Carlisle; a na-

tive of Highland County, Ohio; by the removal of his

parents to Cincinnati in 1844, while he was two years of

age, he became early in life a resident of that city,where

he enjoyed the advantages of the primary and high

schools, graduating from the latter in 1860. He then be-

came a teacher in the first intermediate school, retaining

that position until in 1864; he was then made principal

of the Eighth District,where he remained until 1868,when

he resigned to accept the junior partnership in the hat

and fur house of C. B. Camp, where he remained until in

1872, when he came to Carlisle and engaged in merchan-

dising. The firmnowofPeale &Chappell, the largest dry

goods and carpet house in Nicholas County. He is a

gentleman of pleasing addressvand marked ability, and

has been thoroughly identified with the business inter-

ests of State and County. He was married in 1870 to

Miss Mattie L. Bruce, daughter of George S. Bruce and

Sabina Metcalf, a niece of Governor Metcalf. By this

union there has been one child, Ada B. He is a mem-

ber of the Baptist Church, also of the order of Masons,

K. T. and Odd Fellows. During the summer and fall of

1864 he was a non-commissioned officer of Gen. Butler's

Division, in and around Petersburg and Richmond. His

father was Samuel Peale, a native of Pennsylvania, near

Harrisburg; the paternal grandparent a native of the

central portion of England, and came at an early date to

Pennsylvania. The wife of Samuel Peale was Margc<ret

Crissey, a native of Cincinnati in its early history; her

father was a native of Scotland, was married in Connecti-

cut, and immediately removed to a place then near Cin-

cinnati. By this marriage there were nine children, seven

of whom are still living—four sons and three daugh*rers:

T. P., William C, F. M., T. F., M. Etta, Sally C, wife of

D . George Cheesman, of Slate Lick, near Pittsburg; Ar-

zelia, wife of Charles Liddell, a manuf'cturer of fancy

soaps and perfumes in Cincinnati; T. F., engaged in a

general merchandising at New Vienna, Ohio. The two

eldest sons engaged in mercantile business on Central

avenue, Cincinnati, after the retirement of their father,

who was for many years a prominent wholesale merchant

on Main street, Cincinnati.
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JOSEPH S. PARKS, (deceased), an older brother to

Col. T. S. Parks, see history by Col. Parks. He was mar-

ried in Bath County, Ky., in the year 1835, to Elizabeth

Grordon Frank, who was born in Fayette County, Ky., in

1810, to John and Nancy (Smith) Frank ; she a daughter

of Gideon and Jemima (Shelton) Smith. The mother of

Gideon Smith was Elizabeth Powell, of noble birth and

a descendant of the Rollins family, of England. John

Frank was born in Fayette County, to Robert and Eliza-

beth (Gordon) Frank. These families were among the

early and prominent families in Fayette County, from Va.

Mr. Parks, by his marriage, had 10 children, two of whom
died in infancy. Those living are, John, .1. B., a widow-

er engaged in business with the Sheppard Book Pub-

lishing House, of New York City; James E., married and

in business at Carlisle ; Richard M., married, formerly

Freight Agent and a prominent business man of Carlisle;

W. E. W., engaged in farming; Mattie, Katie and Belle.

The mother of these died March 5, 1880; the father, April

26, 1868, in the 73d year of his age. Mr. Parks, although

a cripple, was a man of indomitable will and energy,

trusted and honored by the citizens of his county, on ac-

count of his integrity, energy, kindness and superior

knowledge, which was a source of pleasure and instruc-

tion to his neighbors. He was instrumental in the con-

struction of the prosperous school wh4ch still stands, and

designated as "Harmony Seminary." Honesty was the

ruling principle of his life, and by that he was impelled

to take upon himself a debt of the family, which led him

through many trials and reverses ; all of which he con-

quered. He held positions of honor and trust, meriting

the highest confidence of the people and many were the

heartfelt regrets at his death. W. E. W. Parks is en-

gaged in raising thoroughbred short-horns, of the princi-

pal families, such as Cambrias, Bates and Hilhurths ; also

horses of the Abdallah and Joe Downing strains. He is

the owner of "Downing Abdallah," bred by James Tal-

bott, of Bourbon County ; a fine horse and sire of Lady

Martin, a famous trotter in the East, and others of noto-

riety.

ZACH. TAYLOR PIPER ; farmer ; P. O. Carlisle;

was born in Nicholas Co., Ky., Mirch 27, 1848, and is a

son of Samuel and Elizabeth (Smith) Piper. He was

born in Nicholas Co., Sept. 6, 1806 ; was a farmer by oc-

cupation, and died Aug. 31, 1876; his wife, Eliza, was

born in Bourbon Co., May 6, 1807, and died May 22,

1866. They had ten children, of whom Zach., the sub-

iect of our sketch, was next to the youngest. He ob-

tained his education in the common schools of Nicholas

Co., and at the Wesleyan College at Millersburg. He

has followed farming and trading all his life with the ex-

ception of two years, when he was engaged in merchan-

dising at Carlisle. He was married in Bourbon Co.,

Feb. 22, 18 ?2, to Miss Ida Steele," who was born in

Bourbon Co., April 5, 1849 ; they have two children,

viz.: Samuel and Steele; Mrs. Piper was daughter of

William and Julia (Wood) Steele. He was born in

Bourbon Co., in Oct., 1808, and died Jan. 15, 1882. Ju-

lia, his wife, was born in Nicholas Co., in 1828, and is

still living. Mr. Piper is a model farmer, and one of the

most enterprising men in the county ; he is liberal in all

public improvements and enterprises. In connection

with his wife he is a member of the Presbyterian

Church at Carlisle. He owns 200 acres of choice farm

land and deals in all kinds of stock. In politics he is a

Democrat.

BENJAMIN W. PRATHER, farmer; P. O. Carlisle;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Nov. 25, 1815, to

Benjamin and Priscilla (Willet) Prather, natives of Mary-

land. He was born in 1783, died in April 1868. She

was born in 1788, died 1863. They were among the

early settlers of Bourbon County. The result of their

union was ten children, ofwhom the subject of this sketch

was the oldest. He received a common school education

in Nicholas County, and commenced his career in life as

a farmer. He was married Dec. 20, 1838, to Miss Sarah

E. Edwards, who was born to Robert and Frankie

(Marshall) Edwards, in September, 1820. They have

two living children, viz. : Ann, born April 23, 1855,

wife of John H. Renn, of Bourbon County ; Mary E.,

born Oct. 25, 1860, wife of R. McClure; also, Priscilla

and William, deceased. Mr. Prather is one of the most

energetic and enterprising farmers in the County. He
has a farm of 210 acres of choice farm land, which, "as a

practical farmer," he keeps in a high state of cultivation,

and in addition to growing the usual farm crops, makes

a specialty of breeding high grade cattle. In 1879, he

erected a large and beautiful residence, after his own
design, and one of which he may well feel proud. Re-

ligiously, himself and family are connected with the

Baptist Church. His political sympathies are with the

Democratic party.

ROBERT W. POTTS, farmer and trader; P. O. Car-

lisle; is a son of William Potts, who was born in Nicho-

las County, Sept. 5, 1800; he of William, Sr., born June

27, 1763, and died Oct. 27, 1828; he came to Nicholas

County with his goods on jack horses, about the year

1795, from Iredell County, N. 0. He had the follow-

ing children: Priscilla, born May 15, 1788, married John
Sweeney; remained in Nicholas, where she died of the
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" cold plague, " March 19, 1813 ; Henry, born Sept. 6,

1790; Sarah, Jan. 1, 1793, married a Mr. Hall, and went to

Indiana; James, born July 15, 1795; Margaret, Feb. 14,

1798, died without issue; William as above, and Jesse,

June 36, 1803, died when a boy, of the " cold plague."

The mother of these was Margaret Purviance, born Feb.

17, 1768, and died about two years after her husband.

The mothei of our subject was Palmyra Hall, daughter

of Robert, he of James Hall, who was one of the first

settlers of Nicholas County. She had nine children:

Robert W., Jesse, who died in infancy; Mary, wife of

George Talbott, of Cynthiana, no children; Sarah, wife of

S. F. Stores, near Moorefield, (see hist.); Margaret, wife

of J. H. Blair, of Fleming County, no children; Walter

S. and Henry T. (see histories); Sue, wife of Charles

Talbott, of Bourbon County (see hist.), and Cynthia A.,

wife of Garrett Allen, of Elizaville. Mr. Potts was born

Feb. 15, 1830, in the same house of the father, and being

the eldest of a large family, was deprived of even mod-

erate educational advantages; he remained with his

father until twenty-five years of age, when ;he was mar-

ried to Miss Grizzell Burns, daughter of Wesley Burns;

by her he had a son and a daughter, both of whom died

in infancy, the mother following them to her final resting

place, in 1880. Mr. Potts was sheriff of the county dur-

ing the years 1867 and '68. He has been for many years

one of the leading stock shippers of the county, a promi-

nent Democrat, and among the first in the enterprises of

the county, and in the hearts of his fellow men.

LEE T. POTTS, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was born

Nov., 4, 1847, to Henry T. and Lorana (Alexan'der)

Potts (see hist, of Jesse Potts of Union Precinct, also

that of Robert W. Potts, of Carlisle). He was the sixth

of nine children, and received the advantages of a com-

mon school education. He remained at home until about

twenty-three years of age, when he was married upon

the 5th of May, 1870, to Tabitha Donnell, daughter of

Milton and Margaret (Parker) Donnell (see hist.). They

have had three children: Henry M., born March, 1871;

Edna Louisa, Oct. 3, 1875, an infant deceased. Mr.

Potts came to his present home in February, 1876, where

he has since been engaged in a general agriculture,

tobacco raising, and the breeding of short hOrns, to a

limited extent, of some of the most popular strains, such

as Imported Elizabeths, Bates, etc., also Cotswold sheep

and Berkshire hogs. He and family are members of the

Christian Church, an industrious, enterprising young man,

and a prominent citizen of the county.

WALTER S. POTTS, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was

was born March 9, 1840, upon the old homestead, and

shared the fate of the older members of the family in ed-

ucational advantages. He engaged in farming with his

father until his marriage, which occurred Feb. 20, 1866,

to Miss Mary A. Herndon, daughter of Dr. J. C. Herndon

(see hist.). After his marriage he immediately settled

upon the farm which is his present home, and a part of

the lands settled by his grandfather upon coming to this

county at a very early date, and where he endured all

the trials of early pioneer life, in the dense cane brake

and heavy timber. Our subject, since removing to his

farm has carried on a general farm life in connection

with extensive trading through the Southern States.

Like the other members of the family he enjoys the pro-

founilest respect and esteem of the citizens of the com-

munity in which he lives. He and wife are members of

the Christian Church, at Carlisle.

HENRY T. POTTS, farmer and trader; P. O. Car-

lisle; was born Feb. 15, 1843; staid with his father until

his death in 1873, assisting in the business upon the farm,

and receiving, in the meantime, very poor educational

advantages. His marriage occurred upon the 35th of

November, 1875, to Miss Kitty Metcalf, daughter of Col.

Leonidas and Sarah (Victor) Metcalf; she a daughter of

Ambrose and Eiiza (Sturgis) Victor. By this marriage

they have had two children: Ada, born May 27, 1877,

and Lillian, born June 22, 1880. Mi-. Potts is engaged in

a general farming, and is extensively engaged in shipping

horses and mules to the Southern markets. He is one

of the most enterprising and energetic men of the county,

in which he is held in the highest esteem on account of

his hospitable and affable manners. He is a member of

the Masonic Ordpr, and, with his estimable wife, belongs

to the Christian Church.

JUDGE WILLIAM P. ROSS, a prominent lawyer

and banker of Carlisle, is a son of Greenberry and Mar-

tha (Parks) Ross (see Parks' hist). He was born Aug. 11,

1825, at Carlisle. His father was a native of Bourbon

County, but settled in Nicholas 1818,where he lived until

his death, March 29, 1859. He was a tailor by trade;

subsequently a farmer. The grandfather of the Judge

was Sa iiuel Ro3s, a Pennsylvaiiianof English extraction,

who settled in Bourbon County at an early date. The

subject of this sketch attended the best schools of the

county, and worked upon the farm a considerable portion

of the time until his twenty-first year, when he turned

his attention to teaching. During the same year, 1846,

he began reading law, and prepared for the legal profes-

sion at Carlisle under Fitch Munger, a prominent lawyer

of the town. In 1848 he was admitted to the bar and

entered upon the practice of his profession at Carlisle,
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where he has since resided. He established a large and

successful practice, taking a foremost position at the bar,

and became one of the most valuable business men of the

county. In 1851 he was elected the first Judge of Nich-

olas County under the workings of the new Constitution;

he also held the office of Master Commissioner for a num-
ber of years, but has never held a political office, strictly

speaking. He is a stockholder in the Deposit Bank of

Carlisle, of which he has been president since the year

1870. He belonged to the old Whig party of the State

until its dissolution, since which time he has been inde-

pendent in politics. During the Rebellion he was an

ardent Union man. Religiously, he is connected with

the Presbyterians, is an elder, in that denomination, and

a prominent man in the affairs of the church. He is a man
of fine personal, professional and social habits, of great in-

tegrity of character, and is one of the most substantial and

useful men in his community. Mr. Ross has been twice

married; in February, 1853, to Miss Columbia Neal, daugh-

ter of John Neal, of Nicholas County. She died Jan. 29,

1857, leaving one child, .John N., born Nov. 28, 1853; was

married Nov. 28, 1876, to Miss Ida Adair. He is a member
of the large grocery house of Adair & Son. In 1862 he was

again married to Miss Elizabeth Davis, a native of Wood-
ford County, and daughter of John W. Davis and Amer-

ica Gaines. By her he has six children: Columbia T.,

born June 6, 1863; Henry E. and Mary E., Oct. 5, 1864;

William P., .Jr., Jan. 9, 1867; James B., July 27, 1871;

Mattie, Sept. 28, 1874.

SOLOMON ROBERTSON, merchant and tobacco-

dealer; P. O., Carlisle; was born in Bourbon County;

Ky., Dec. 26, 1843, and is a son of William and Maria

(Nevins) Robertson; he was born in 1803, and is now
living in Illinois. His wife, Maria, was born in New
York, in 1809, and died Sept. 11, ]878. She was the

mother of thirteen children, of whom Solomon, the sub-

ject of this sketch, was the i ighth. He received his

education in the common schools of Indiana, where his

parents removed when he was a small child ; as soon as

his school days were over he learned the trade of a plas-

ter mason, and followed the same about fifteen years,

when he began merchandising near Blue Licks, but

afterward sold his stock of goods to his brother and a Mr.

Overby, and engaged in dealing in tobacco, which busi-

ness he still follows. He was married March 4, 1869, to

Maria Ann Mann, who was born in 1844. They have

two children living, viz.: Nettie Mayand^Olie Frank,

and Daisie, who died at the age of three years. Mrs.

Robertson was a daughter of Col. David and Olie (Stok-

er) Mann. (See hist.) Mr. Robertson is an energetic and

thorough business man, and ranks high in the esteem of

the community. He has served the people of Carlisle

several years as councilman, and is the present post-

master of EUisville. Religiously, himself and wife are

members of the Christian Church of Carlisle. He is

also a prominent member of the Masonic order at the

same place. Politically, he is a Democrat.

B. H. ROBINSON, County Attorney ; P. O. Carlisle
;

a native of Carlisle, and son of James R. Robinson, who
died in Georgia in 1876, to which place he had gone with

stock, having been engaged in that capacity through the

South for over thirty years. He was a son of William

Robinson, a native of Maryland, but who settled in Pen-

dleton County, Ky., at an early date ; there the father

of our subject was born, in 1809. His early life was

spent in Lexington, serving an apprenticeship and work-

ing at the trade of carding. He subsequently engaged

in trading, in which he suffered heavy losses during the

war. His wife was Adeline Hughs, a native of Nicholas

County, and daughter of Jesse Hughs ; she a sister to J.

M. Hughs, of Paris. They had nine children : Thomas
(deceased), Mary J., wife of David Hughs, of St. Joseph,

Mo., Carrie Lou, Georgia (deceased), wife of Capt. John

H. Seeley, of the Federal army, Robert H., of Carlisle,

Aggie, wife of Dr. X. M. Sayre, of Lexington, B. H., and

Eva. The subject of this sketch received the advan-

tages of the Carlisle schools, with a short time at Han-
over College. In 1873, at twenty-one years of age, he

began the study of law with Judge Thomas F. Hargis

and J. P. Norvell. He was admitted to the practice of

his chosen profession in September, 1875. By the death

of his father soon after, and -leaving the family in desti-

tute circumstances, he engaged in teaching, that he

might obtain subsistence for himself, unmarried sisters

and deceased sisters' children. In April, 1878, he re-

ceived the nomination for County Attorney, at the Demo-
cratic primary convention, held in that month, and was
elected to the office the following August. In October

of the same year, he was elected to the office of School

Commissioner for two years, and at the expiration of the

terms of each office he was re-elected, the people of the

County showing in that an appreciation of his talents,

which may in the future be of valuable service to the

people of his County and State.

HENRY CLAY REED, farmer and stock raiser ; P.

O. Carlisle; was born near CUntonville, Bourbon County,

upon the 20th day of March, 1848, came to Nicholas

County in 1854, and in 1858 to his present home. His

father was Wra. Reed, who was born in Bourbon County,

March 18, 1816, and died Sept. 9, 1871 ; he was a farmer
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by occupation, and a son of John and Catharine (Starr)

Reed ; John a son of George Reed, a native of France

and an exile from that country; his wife was a Rennig.

The mother of our subject was Sarah J. Dawson, born

near Clintonville, also, and daughter of Armstrong and

Sarah (McKinney) Dawson ; she a daughter of John

McKinney, of Lexington, of wild-cat fame. Wm. Reed had

two children, our subject and Katie, who died without is-

sue, at about twenty-two years of .age, having been mar-

ried about one year. Henry C. received a liberal educa-

tion in the schools adjacent to his home and at Carlisle
;

he studied surveying, and subsequently spent three

years in the study of medicine, and attended one course

of lectures at the University of Louisville, but on ac-

count of the death of his father, he was compelled to re-

turn to the farm and take upon himself the duties of the

father, which deprived him of the completion of his med-

ical education. He was married upon the 13th of Nov.,

1874, near Mt. Sterling, the native place of his wife,

Emma Dooley, who is the daughter of Jabez and Rebecca

(Scobee) Dooley ; by this marriage there are three chil-

dren: Wm. H., Nannie Maud and Mary Kate. Mr. Reed

is a farmer and stock raiser of considerable note, owning a

half interest in one of the finest bred colts of that re-

gion, " Abdallah Chief." He was elected as one of the

magistrates of the county in 1879, which position he now

holds. He is a member of the Christian Church and one

of the trustees of " Old Concord," and a member of the

Carlisle Commandary ; he is interested in public im-

provements, the advancement of education and religion,

and is a highly respected citizen of the county.

JEROME B. SANFORD, farmer; P. O. Carlisle; was

born in Sumner County, Tenn., Feb. 36, 1826, and is a

son of Muse and Elizabeth (Scott) Sanford. He was born

in Orange County, Va., March 15, 1780; was a farmer by

occupation, and died Dec. 9, 1863. His wife was also

born in Orange County, Va., Jan. 1, 1770, and died March

31, 1868. They lived in Tennessee for a few years, and

in 1839 moved to Kentucky, and settled near Lexington.

They raised a family of twelve children, of whom Jerome,

our subject, was the ninth. Owing to the limited school

privileges at that early day, his education was confined

to what he could obtain in the common schools. In 1852

he purchased property in Bethel, Bath Co., with a view

to keeping a hotel, but the house and contents were

burned down on the sixth day after he took possession.

He tHen turned his attention to farming—first in Rowen

County, where he remained one year, and then moved

to the place he now owns. He was married in Bour-

bon County, near Ruddel's Mills, July 33, 1853, to Miss

Elizabeth Knight, who was born in Bourbon County,

Dec. 23, 1833. The result of their union is twelve chil-

dren, viz.: William M., Mary Ida, Maud, Paris, Beaure-

gard, Jerome, Kate, Mark and Mettie, twins, the latter of

whom died in infancy; Charles, Lizzie and Bessie, the lat-

ter of whom also died in infancy. ' Mrs. Sanford was a

daughter of Isaac and Mary (Howard) Knight, both natives

of Kentucky. Mr. Sanford is a man of noble impulses, a

generous disposition, and noted for his hospitality. He is

an enterprising and prosperous farmer, and owns 116 acres

of choice farm land. He has been a prominent member of

the Masonic order at Carlisle for a number of years. Po-

litically he is a Democrat.

THOMAS H. SAMMONS, City Marshal; P. O. Car-

lisle; was born in Genevieve, New York, Feb. 32, 1853,

and is a son of Patrick and Mary (McGuinnis) Sammons.

He was born in Ireland, and went to Cape of Good Hope,

Africa,^ where he held a Government station three years;

he emigrated to America in 1850, and lived nine years

in Kentucky. During the war he entered the service,

and was captured at the battle of Chickamauga, and died

in Libby prison, in 1863. His wife, Mary, was born in

Ireland, in 1826, and is still living. They had five chil-

dren, of whom Thomas, our subject, was the second. He
was educated in the schools of Cleveland, Ohio, and Car-

lisle, Kentucky. He learnt the saddler's trade, in Mt.

Sterling, Kentucky., and in 1877, located at Carlisle;

three years later he took into partnership Augustus Laub-

ley, with whom he is now engaged in business. He was

married in Bourbon County, May 15, 1872, to Miss Liz-

zie Fallon, who was born in Bourbon County, July 29,

1857. They have one girl, Mary H., born July 29, 1880.

Mrs. Sammons was a daughter of Patrick and Mary (Mal-

lon) Fallon, both natives of Ireland. Mr. Sammons is an

energetic and enterprising man, and highly respected by

all who knew him. Jan. 6, 1882, he was appointed by

the town Council of Carlisle as City Marshal, which po-

sition he still retains. On the death of his father, the

duties of supporting his widowed mother and his younger

brothers and sisters devolved upon himself and older

brother, and which duties they have faithfully fulfilled to

the present. Himself and wife are members of the Catho-

lic Church, at Carlisle. His political sympathies are with

the Democratic part}'.

HENRY STEWART, farmer; P. 0., Carlisle; was

born Feb. 23, 1830, to Wm. and Olivia (Ogden) Stewart;

she a daughter of Henry and Lucy (Metcalf) Ogden, a

niece of Gov. Metcalf. The Stewart and Ogden fami-

lies were from Virginia; Henry is the only son, and the

only one of the family now living ; three daughters

r^
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grew to womanhood, but died without heirs in perpetua-

tion. Mr. Stewart received a common-school education

;

was brought up in a blacksmith shop, where he learned the

trade with his father, at which he worked about twenty-

five years. At seventeen years of age he enlisted in

Capt. Metcalfs company, under Col. M. V. Thompson,

for the Mexican war ; being under age he was removed

after a short service. In the spring of 1848 he assist-

ed in taking a drove of cattle to New York City,

walking all the way, spending 67 days on the road. In

the spring of 1849 he started for California; was se-

verely wounded iij the hip by a half-ounce rifle-ball ac-

cidentally discharged from a gun in the hands of a com-

rade. The wound was received 140 miles from Fort

Laramie; he was hauled to that place in an ox-wagon,

where he remained more than two months, when he re-

turned home. In the years 1856 and '7 he made two

trips to Minnesota, where he settled land-claims near

St. Peter. Subsequently he returned home, remaining

until October, 1861, when he enlisted in J. B. Holliday's

company, under Gen. Williams' and Gen. Morgan's com-

mand ; was at the battle of Shiloh, but on account of

health he connected himself with Kirby Smith's division

in 1863, and went to Texas and Mexico, where he re-

mained until the close of the war; when he returned

home and was married Sept. 35, 1863, to Mrs. Sarah

(McCormick) Robinson, by whom he has two sons and

two daughters, viz.: Minnie, Robert, Lin dsey (deceased),

Berry and Nellie. He followed smithing until the year

1880, when he engaged in farming. He is a member of

the L O. O. F.; a Democrat politically, and member of

the Christian Church. His father is one of the oldest,

rtiost prominent, honorable, and highly esteemed citizens

of the county.

JAMES SPENCER, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ;. first saw

the light of this world at Stony Point Church, Bourbon

County, Nov. 10, 1799. His father, William Spencer, a

native of Maryland, settled at the above named place at

a very early date. His mother was Mary Tellett, a Vir-

ginian, who gave birth to six children, three sons and

three daughters: William H., in Fort Scott, Kansas; Mrs.

Nancy Norton, of Nicholas, and the subject of our sketch,

are living. Mr. Spencer received a very limited educa-

tion, walking a long way through the woods to accept

the very meager advantages which surrounded him at

that early day. He staid with his father, working on the

farm, until about thirty years of age. On Nov. 10, 1830,

in Clark County, Ky., (where his parents had lived for

many years,) he was united in marriage to Miss Eliza-

beth Chevis, who was born in Caroline County, Va., July

31, 1811, to Henry and Patsey (Minor) Chevis of that

State. Soon after marriage, or in May, 1831, Mr. Spen-

cer came to his present home, where he has since re-

sided, engaged in general farming and stock raising.

By his marriage there were thirteen children born : Laura

died at twenty- three years of age; William in Bourbon

County; Patsey, wife of Benjamin I. Taul, residing in

ClayConty, Mo.; Mary, wife of James Terry in Nicholas;

Sarah, wife of Burton Terry, at Flat Rock; Nancy, wife

of Robert Hamilton in Clay County, Mo.; John, in Nich-

olas, married Prather; Louisa, widow of James H. Bur-

roughs, had one child; Maud A.; Betsey, and Kate, at

home; Rhoda, wife of James Donnell, of Bourbon; Alice

wife of Joseph Huffstetter, of Nicholas; Jennie, wife of

Frank Huffstetter, on Cane Ridge. Twelve children

and parents members of the Christian Church at Carlisle.

Democratic, politically ; interested In education, ad-

vancement of religion, and public improvements.

WILLIAM n! SANFORD, farmer and high-grade

stock-raiser; P. 0. Carlisle; was born in Rowan County,

Ky., Nov. 37, 1853, and was brought by his parents,

when about six weeks old, to the County of Nicholas

(see history of Jerome Sanford). The subject of

this sketch was the eldest of twelve children, in

consequence of which his education was very limited.

He applied himself closely to study, and at an early

age was enabled to enter upon life as a teacher,

the remuneration for which he applied to the advance-

ment of his education. He was married, in Lexington,

on March 6, 1879, to Miss Ella D. Wood, of Nicholas

County, and sister to the wife of W. B. Allen (see his-

tory). By this marriage there has been born to them

two children, the eldest of whom died in infancy ; the

younger, Roy Lee, born Sept. 7, 1881. In political sen-

timent he is Democratic. He is a member of the Ma-

sonic Lodge at Carlisle, is a young man of practical com-

mon sense, interested in public improvements and the

advancement of education, religion and Sunday-School

work ; a highly respected and esteemed citizen of his

community, and with his estimable wife belong to the

Christian Church at Carlisle.

HEZEKIAH SMART, farmer; P. O. Carlisle. Born

in Nicholas County, April 11, 1833; is a son of Polly

Myers and Humphrey Smart, a Pennsylvanian by birth,

and who was a soldier of the war of 1813 from Ken-

tucky, having come to that State at a very early day; he

was a farmer and trader; died in October, 1869." Our

subject was one of eleven children; received his educa-

tion from the common schools of Nicholas County,

spending most of his time upon his father's farm. On the

r?ta TV
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36th of April, 1855, he married Catharine, daughter of

Harry Foster, of Nicholas County. Three children have

been born to them: Sarah Catharine, Luvina M. and
Hezekiah T. Himself, wife and both daughters are mem-
bers of the Methodist Church at Carlisle; for several

years he has been connected with the Masonic Lodge at

Carlisle and during its progress was also identified with

the Patrons of Husbandry at that place; in politics he is

an unswerving Democrat.

JOSEPH SMART, farmer; P. 0. Black Hawk ; born

in Nicholas County, April 11, 1819; is a son of Wm.
Smart and Sarah Myers, both natives of Nicholas Coun-

ty. Wm. Smart was a soldier in the war of 1813, and an

early settler and highly respected farmer of Nicholas

County; he died about the year 1839. Joseph Smart,

whose name heads this sketch, was married, March 16,

1851, to Matilda, daughter of David and Betty (Trahune)

Mclntire, of Nicholas County. They have had three

children, all of whom are living: Francis, John and

David B. Mr. Smart has been a widower since April

11, 1869; is a member of the Christian Church, and a

sterling Democrat. He enlisted in the Mexican war un-

der Col. Metcalf, and accompanied that distinguished

leader to the city of Mexico, arriving, however, after its

capture.

P. T. THROOP, lawyer, Carlisle ; was born in

Carlisle, Oct. 19, ISSi. His father was Phares Throop,

born in Alexandria,Va., in the year 1809; died in March,

1860 ; he was a son of Rev. Phares Throop a native of the

above named place, and for long years a prominent divine

in the States of Kentucky and Virginia. The children of

Rev. Phares Throop were: Susie wife of Judge R. H. Stan-

ton, of Maysviile; Mary, deceased wife of Hon. Thomas

P. Throop, of Covington ; Hannah, wife of Hon. D.

K. Weis, of Ashland, Ky., Hon. Thomas Throop,

of Flemingsburg, who died ten days before the

election for Representative to Congress, for which he

was making the race; Judge French, who was nominated

in his stead, being overwhelmingly elected on tea days'

notice by the popularity of Mr. Throop; Dr. Benjamin

T., who died in Texas soon after the war; Joseph, a mer-

chant at Poplar Plains, Fleming Co., Ky., and the father

of our subject, who came to Flemingsburg in 1833,where

he engaged in mercantile business; subsequently studied

medicine, and graduated at the medical college in Cin-

cinnati, about 1835. While there he was married and

had five children, all of whom died in infancy. After

graduation he located at Mays Lick, where he plied his

profession for several years. His second marriage occur-

red in Missouri to Arabella Williams, daughter of Thad-

deus Williams, a brother of General Samuel and Dr.

Charles Williams, two prominent men in the country.

She died in 1856 at the age of about 30 years, being the

mother of seven children, three of whom are now living:

Abbie T., wife of Judge A. E. Cole, Circuit Judge of

the 14th Dist.; Mary A., a maiden; and the subject of

this sketch. Phares Throop, Sr., located in Carlisle in

about 1843, where he plied his profession until in 1857,

when he located at North Middletown, where occurred his

third marriage to Amanda Harris, daughter of Chafles

Harris, of Bourborn. By her he had one child, Myrtle

v., who resides with her mother, now a Mrs. W. R.

Gorham; he a merchant of Louisville. The Throops are

descendants of one Earl Adrian Soroope, one of the

Regicides, who came to this country and changed his

name to Throop. The subject of this sketch was raised

by his uncle, Joseph, until about 13 years of age, when
he went to live with his sister, Mrs. Cole. In 1869 he

entered the Kentucky University, where he remained

until March, 1873, when he (without seeking it) received

the appointment from the lOth Congressional Dist. as

a cadet to West Point, but was rejected in the examina-

tion on account of physical debility. He then engaged

in teaching, at which he continued until in April, 1881.

During that time he acted as School Commissioner of

Fleming Co. for three years, and read law with Judge

Cole and was admitted to the practice of the profession

at Maysviile, Jan. 14, 1881 ; he located at Carlisle in

Oct. of the same year. He was married Nov. 6, 1875,

to Miss Maria B. Kenner, of Flemingsburg, daughter of

L. W. and Mary H. (Bell) Kenner; by her he has one

child, Abbie Holten, born May 5, 1880. He is a mem-
ber of the I. O. O. F. at Flemingsburg, and of the Grand

Lodge of the State. He and wife are members of the

M. E. Chiirch.

WILLIAM W. TUTTLE, carpenter ; P. O. Carlisle
;

is a native of Moore field, where he was born Jan. 31,

1833, to Peter and Elizabeth (Calvert) Tuttle ; she a

daughter of Jesse Calvert, who was a native of Virginia,

but came at an early date to Mason County. Peter Tut-

tle was a cabinet maker, and ^lied his trade in Mason

County and at Moorefield. He died in 1859, at the age

of seventy-seven years, in Johnson County, Mo., whither

he had gone in 1851 ; his wife died in the year 1880, at

the extreme age of ninety-six years. He was a son of

John, who died in Virginia. Peter was the father of ten

children : Ambrose D., in Nevada, California ; Saphro-

nia and James, died unmarried ; Eliza J., deceased, wife

of Leroy Day, left family in Mercer County, Mo. ; Ange-

line, wife of James M. Myers, residing in Johnson Coun-
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ty, Mo. ; Harriette N., wife of Isaac Wallen residing in

Platte County, Mo. ; William W., Nancy, wife of John

Roberts, in Johnson County, Mo. ; Preston M. S., in Oma-

ha, Neb. ; Helen M., wife of Samuel Grinstead in John-

son County, Mo. Mr. Tuttle learned the trade with his

father, when a boy, and received but very limited educa-

tional advantages ; his life has been devoted to mechan-

ics, mercantile business and farming. He was married

in 1847 to Nancy A. Roberts, a native of Nicholas Coun-

ty, and daughter of Col. Henry and Susan (Daugherty)

Roberts ; he a native of Virginia, she of Maryland. He
held the offices of Lieutenant and Captain in the war

of 1812, and was afterward made Colonel in the Ken-

tucky Militia. Ha also represented Nicholas County in

the Legislature ; was Sheriff of the county many years,

and held various other offices. Mr. Tuttle, by his mar-

riage, has two children, Susan E. and Helen J. who are

teachers of high standing. He is a member of the Ma-

sonic order at Carlisle, and member of the Baptist

Church, in which he holds the office of Moderator.

ELIJAH WEST, who died June 3, 1877, was born in

the year 1804, upon the farm where the family now re-

side ; his father was Amos West, a native of North Car-

olina; subsequently removed to Maryland, where he was

married to -Elizabeth Robbins, and came to Nicholas

County before 1800 ; they had ten children, of which

number the subject was the fourth ; he was married to

Maria B. Smoot, a daughter of one of the first merchants

of Millersburg ; she died in 1863, at fifty-two years of

age ; her children were thirteen in number, six of whom
died childless ; those living are : Sarah A., widow of Col.

R. A. Stewart, residing at Orange Lake, Fla. ; William

H. at the old homestead ; Mary G., wife of John W.
Parker, in Vermillion County, 111.; Lizzie A., wife of

Rev. Henry W. Abbott, of Monmouth, Kan.; George B.

at Wichita, Kan.; Laura T. and Emma R. unmarried.

Mr. West was again married in 1863, to Mrs. Rosanna

Hughes, widow of Jesse Hughes. He began life as a

merchant, learned the carpenter's trade, and carried on

farming. He was a Magistrate in the county for many

years, also held the position of County Judge for a con-

siderable period. Mrs. Sarah A. M. Blackford, widow of

Merritt Blackford; is the daughter or Mary W., eldest

daughter of Amos West; she married Enoch Conyers, and

in 1833, moved to Quincy, 111., where both died ; they

had eight children, three of whom are now living, viz.:

Millicent A. P., a twin sister to the above, married Will-

iam P. Burns, at Portland, Or.; and Enoch W., re siding

in Columbia County, Ore. Mr. Blackford was born Oct.

33, 1831, at Lebanon, Ohio, to Allen and Nancy (Merritt)

Blackford. He was married Oct. 9, 1854, in Quincy, 111.,

to Sarah A. M. Conyers, by whom he had five children :

Emma A., has been thrice married; first, to Horace Lud-

wig, by whom he had three children; Oscar, Willie, and

John, the two eldest in Missouri; her second marriage to

Lou B. Hamilton ; third, to William West, who resides

near Carlisle. The second child of Merritt Blackford, is

John M., married, and living in Pike County, 111.; Enoch

C, married, and living in Princeton, 111.; Allen W. and

George L. B., single. Mr. Blackford enlisted in October,

1861, in Company D., 50th Illinois Infantry; he was made

Second Lieutenant, and died July 15, 1863, after three

days sickness; he was in the Army of the Cumberland

under Col. Dr. Bain, of Payson, 111.; he was a good

soldier, and gallant leader during his short military

career. Before entering the service, he was a mechanic

of considerable note, and a worthy and highly esteemed

citizen.

S. M. WAUGH, dry goods merchant, Carlisle ; born

Nov. 38, 1838; his father was Archer S. Waugh, bom in

Nicholas county in the year 1801, and died Jan. 5, 1871;

he was a man held in high esteem by the citizens of the

county, which was manifested by conferring upon him

the honors connected with the offices of Sheriff, Coroner,

Constable, and other positions of trust, all of which he

held about thirty years. The mother of our subject, who
is still living, was, as maiden lady. Miss Matilda Piper,

born in Nicholas County in September, 1803, to James

R. Piper, Sr., an early and prominent farmer of said

county. Archer S. Waugh by this marriage had eight

children, who grew to maturity ; four are now living, viz.:

Eliza, wife of John Wright, of Nicholas County ; Wm.
H. (see history), James H., a banker, in Columbia, Mo.

;

Samuel who received a limited district school educa-

tion, beginning ' n the mercantile business early in life as

a clerk in the ary goods house of Chappell, Bruce &
Mclntyre, where he remained four years ; he then formed

a partnership in business under the firm name of Camp-

bell, Waugh & Metcalf, thw^ce into the firm of W. P.

Bruce & Co. ; then became a member of the firm of

Adair, Waugh & Ewing, from which he returned to the

firm of Chappell & Co., now with the business house of

Peale & Chappell. He is Democratic, politically, and a

member of the Presbyterian Church.

WILLIAM H. WAUGH, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ; a

native of Nicholas County, where his birth occurred in

1835, a son of Archer S. (see history of S. M.) Waugh
;

he began life as a farmer, in which he has always been

engaged ; in the year 1856 he was married, in Nicholas

County, to Mary Tune, also a native, where she was born

•cW T?
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in 1833, to Samuel T. and Mary (Hutson) Tune, who
were natives of Virginia. Mr. Waugh was drafted dur-

ing the late war but took no part in the service. They

are members of the Presbyterian Church at Carlisle ; he

is independent in political matters, believing in the pol-

icy of voting for the best men to fill the responsible po-

sitions in office. He is a member of the Masonic order,

a highly esteemed citizen of the community in which he

lives, and an energetic and enterprising business man,

having by his own industry and frugality accumulated a

good farm of 145 acres, upon which he is engaged in

general farming and high grade stock raising of all

kinds.

THOMAS WADE, farmer; P. O. Millersburg; born

Jan. 30, 1850, to John Wade, near Carlisle. He received

a limited education, working upon his father's farm until

twenty-three years of age, when he was married Nov. 7,

1873, to Molly Anderson, daughter of Hugh and Louvisa

(Miller) Anderson; -she a daughter of John Miller, of

Lancaster, Ky.; her parents are now residing in Mt. Ster-

ling; the father a saddler by trade; some of the Ander-

sons also reside in Cynthiana and vicinity. Mrs. Wade
is the eldest of four daughters and three sons, all of whom
are living. By this union there are six children: Henry,

Emma L., Benjamin F., John, Hugh M. and Anna L.

He came to his present home, " Bowden Farm," in the

fall of 1878, purchasing 140 acres of choice land, upon

which he is engaged in stock breeding and agriculture.

He is Democratic politically, and with his family mem-
bers of the M. E. Church at Carlisle.

"a) \
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LOWER BLUE LI

LINCOLN ABNEE, miller and mill-wright; P. 0.

Blue Licks; was born in Clay County, Ky., May 10, 1826,

and is a son of John and Pamelia (Watts) Abnee. He
was born in Clay County; died in 1852; she a native of

Perry County, Ky.; died in 1844. She was the mother

of six boys and three girls. Lincoln, the subject of

this sketch was the oldest boy. He was educated in the

common schools of Clay County, and commenced his ca-

reer in life as a farmer, but a few years later he turned

his attention to milling, which business he still follows at

Blue Licks in a mill built on Licking river. He was

married in Fleming County, Oct. 3, 1853, to Miss Mar-

garet Evans, who was born in Fleming County, Sept. 19,

1836. They have had ten children, viz: Serilda, Rob-

ert, John M., Francis, William H., James, Charles, EfiSe,

Clarence and Lee; the latter died when four years of

age. Mrs. Abnee was a daughter of Rafe R. and Ma-

haley (Bartlett) Evans; he a native of Montgomery Coun-

ty, still living; she a native of Nicholas County, deceas-

ed. Mr. Abnee is a prominent man in the precinct, and

has served the people several years as Magistrate. He is

energetic and enterprising in business, and well worthy

of the high esteem in which he is held. In connection

with his milling interests he is interested in a merchandis-

ing store with his sons. Politically he is a Democrat.

GEORGE D. BRIGGS, teacher; P. O. Pleasant Val-

ley; was born in Bennington County, Vt., Sept. 20, 1842,

to Nelson and Jane (Seeley) Briggs; both still living in

Michigan. He, born in 1811; she, born in Erie County,

Pa., in 1808. They have six children, of whom George,

our subject, is the third. He was educated at Hiram,

Portage County, O., and entered upon his career in life

as a farmer. During the rebellion he entered the ser-

. vice in Co. A, of the 42d O. V. I. with Capt. J. S. Ross,

under Gen. Jas. A. Garfield, and remained in the service

four years, and in 1868 removed to Kentucky and en-

gaged in teaching school; 2 years later, on April 23d,

he was married to Miss Annie Rowe, who was born to

Cornelius M. and Emeline (Stanfield) Rowe, July 11, 1852.

They have five children, viz: Eva J,, Hoy, Norton, Web-
ster, Clay, Irena Bell, and Elberon Garfield. Mr. Briggs

possesses the qualifications necessary in gaining the good

will of all, and socially ranks very high in the esteem of

all who know him. Religiously, himself and wife are

connected with the Christian Church.

ICKS PRECINCT.
, WM. A. FOWLE, farmer; P. 0. tower Blue Licks;

a nativ^of Bourbon County and the youngest of a fam-

ily of 13 children; was born July 20, 1832. His father

Isaac Fowle, a native of Vermont, where he was born

March 24, 1791, was a hntter by trade, and came to Bour-

bon County in 1816, having served in the war of 1812;

he died Deo. 30, 1879. His wife, Caroline Green, was

born in Virginia, March 25, 1793, and died Sept. 20, 1879.

The subject of this sketch began life as a farmer, and

was married in Nicholas Cou[\ty, July 25, 1852, to Susan

Robertson, who was born in Bourbon, March 8, 1834, and

died March 14, 1869; she was a daughter ot William Rob-

ertson. By this marriage there were the following chil-

dren: Rufus, June 5, 1853; died July 10, 1854; Sarah

Eliza, born Sept. 9, 1854; now the wife of Dr. Wells (see

hist.); Wm. Isaac, June 26, 1856, graduated at Bible Col-

lege, Lexington, and upon that occasion delivered the

valedictory; he is now preaching at Chaplin, Nelson

County, Ky.; Nathaniel W., born Sept. 12, 1858. Mary
E., Sept. 28, 1860. In June, 1867, Mr. Fowle was again

married to Cassandra (Maston) Kenton, widow of Wm.
Kenton, and daughter of Caleb and Hannah (Ellis) Mas-

ton). They are members of the Christian Church at

Blue Licks. He is, in political faith, a Democrat. In

agriculture he raises the usual crops, and is considered

one of the substantial men of the precinct.

SIMON KENTON, farmer; P. O. Blue Licks, was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., Sept. 16, 1817, to William

and Jane (Burden) Kenton, natives of Kentucky. She

died in 1855; he in 1857; he was a son of Mark Kenton,

brother to Simon Kenton, the noted Indian fighter.

Simon the subject of this sketch was the second of a

family of ten children. His education was limited to

such as could be obtained in the common schools at that

early day. He entered upon the battle of life, by taking

upon himself the duties of a farm life, which he has

always followed, with the addition of trading extensively

in mules and horses, and later, shipping tobacco. He is

one of the most prominent and enterprising farmers in

the precinct, and owns 500 acres of choice farmland, situ-

ated on the banks of Licking river. He was married in

Nicholas County, Jan. 26, 1841, to Hannah Bishop, who
was born in Harrison County, in Sept. 1820, to Josiah and
Elizabeth (Watton) Bishop, natives of Maryland. By this

marriage he is the father of eight children, viz., William

«^ is" t^
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J., Nancy J., Eldridge, Elizabeth, Mahulda, Thomas B.,

Lafayette and Simeon B. Mr. Kenton is a member of

the pioneer association of the county, and was one of the

committee to represent that association before the Legis-

lature at Frankfort, in the interest of the monument
about to be erected in commemoration of the battle at

Blue Licks. Religiously, himself and family are con-

nected with the Methodist Church at Blue Licks. He is

also a member of the Masonic Order of that place. Politi-

cally he is a Republican.

GEORGE M. LINVILLE, farmer ; P. O. Blue Licks;

was born in Mason County, Ky., Aug. 4, 1835, to John

R. and Matilda (Galbraith) Linville; he was born in

Bracken County, Aug. 37, 1809, is a farmer by occupa-

tion, and still living; she was born in Mason County, and

died in 1842. George, the subject of this sketch, was

the oldest of a family of four children; he obtained his

education in the common schools of Bracken County, and

commenced his career in life, by taking upon himself the

duties of a farm life, and which he still follows, and has,

by his industry and energy, accumulated a large amount

of this world's goods, and now owns a farm containing

300 acres of choice farm land, well stocked and well

cultivated; he was married in Nicholas County, Jan. 11,

1857, to Mary Ann Ashpaw, who was born in Nicholas

County, Nov. 36, 1843; the result of their union was

twelve children, viz : J. Horace, Thomas, Helen, Joseph,

Charles, William, Jacob, Albert, Matilda, Faney, Jessie,

and Solomon. Mrs. Linville was a daughter of Joseph

and Effie (Rankin) Ashpaw; he a native of Harrison

County, she of Nicholas County, and both living. Mr.

Linville is one of the most prominent farmers in the

precinct, and is held in the highest esteem by all who

know him, and in connection with his wife, is a member

of the Christian Church; his political sympathies are with

the Democratic party.

JOHN LAREN, landlord; P. O. Lower Blue Licks,

proprietor of the " Laren House " at the famous summer

resort, " The Blue Licks, " was born in Mason County,

Ky., Feb. 18, 1830. His father, a millwright and farmer,

was born in Virginia upon the 19th of February, 1780,

and came to Bracken County, Ky., among its earliest

settlers; his death occurred in October, 1846; his wife

was Elizabeth Robinson, a native of Maryland, who died

in 1863. By these parents there were five children, of

which number our subject was the youngest, and re-

ceived his education at Lewisburg, Kentucky. At

the latter place he began life as a merchant, where he

continued about three years, then located at Mayslick,

remaining five years, thence to the Blue Licks, where

he continued about two years, then turned the mercan-

tile business over to his sons and took charge of the

hotel which he is now running. His marriage occurred

Sept. 30, 1846, in Mason County, to Miss Corrilla Humph-
reys, a native of Mason County, born June 35, 1836; she

was a daughter of Robert and Harriet (Waters) Humph-
reys, natives of Mason County. By the above marriage

there are seven children : Hattie, wife of George Preston

of Covington; Charles C, John A., Frank W., Tillie,

Elizabeth and Alice. They are members of the Baptist

Church, at Lewisburg. Mr. Laren is a Democrat politi-

cally, and a man of prominence in business circles. He
was postmaster at North Fork, Lewisburg, six years.

He is running a livery stable in connection with his

hotel, the latter having a capacity of 100 guests.

JEREMIAH PRATHER, farmer; P. O. Pleasant Val-

ley ; was born in Fleming County, Ky., Oct. 37, 1837, to

James and Nancy (Casiday) Prather, natives of Fleming

County ; he, born Nov. 4, 1811, and is still living ; she,

born in May, 1814, died May 35, 1870. Jeremiah, the

subject of this sketch, was the second in a family of seven

children. His education was limited to such as could be

obtained in the common schools* of the county. He
entered upon his career in life as a farmer, and in con-

nection with the duties of a farm life, he also worked at

blacksmithing. He was married in Fleming County,

June 4, 1857, to Sarah J. Collins, who was born to J. Rus-

sell and Miss (McCrackin) Collins, natives of Fleming

County, July 15, 1837, and died-Oct. 14, 1870, leaving a

family of six children, viz : Nancy M., Charles M.,

William A., Jeremiah M., Barbara L. and James R. Mr.

Prather's second marriage occured Aug. 7, 1873, to Mary

J. Bentley, daughter of George B. and Sarah Jane

(Graves) Bentley, she was born in Fleming County, Nov.

9, 1854, by this marriage he has three children, viz : R.

B., Allie B. and Joseph. Mr. Prather is a very energetic

and enterprising man, and one of the most prominent

farmers in the precinct, and is well worthy of the high

esteem in which he is held by the community. He owns

a fine farm called " Pleasant Hill," containing 160 acres

of choice farm land, which, " as a practical farmer," he

keeps in a high state of cultivation. Himself and wife

are connected with the Pleasant Valley Christian Church.

Politically he is a Democrat.

HENRY BISHOP SAMPSON, farmer; P. O. Blue

Licks; was born in Fleming County, Ky., March 33,

1834, to Abraham and Mary (Warren) Sampson, natives

of Fleming County; he died in 1863; she in 1866.

Henry, the subject of this sketch, was the oldest of a

family of eight children. His educational privileges

s,|*^
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were limited to the common schools of Nicholas and

Fleming Counties. He commenced his career in life as

a farmer, and removed to Missouri, where he remained

two years and returned to Kentucky. He was married

in Nicholas County, in Sept., 1853, to Miss Eliza McCabe,

who was born in 1830, and died in Jan., 1857, without

issue. She was a daughter of Josiah and Miss (Bartlett)

McCabe, natives of Nicholas County. Mr. Sampson's

second marriage occurred Dec. 35, 1867, to Miss Armilda

M. Allison, who was born in Nicholas County, Feb. 8,

1840. By her he has four children, viz: Edward R., born

July 25, 1870; George B., born Sept. 12, 1874; R.

M., born June 28, 1872; Irwin Garfield, June 29, 1880.

Mrs. Sampson was a daughter of David G. and Sally

Allison, natives of Nicholas County; he was born

in 1813; died in 1870; she was born in 1809; died in

1850. Mr. Sampson is an energetic and enterprising

farmer, and aside from raising the usual farm crops and

tobacco, is a breeder of high grade sheep, and tra les in

stock of all kinds. He owns a fine farm containing 244

acres, situated on Licking River. His house is built on

an eminence overlooking the surrounding country with a

commanding view. Himself and wife are members of the

Christian Church at Blue Licks; he is also a member of the

Masonic Order at that place. In politics he is a Democrat.

JAMES A. SPARKS, farmer; P. O. Blue Licks;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., May 12, 1847, to

Charles and Mary A. (Barnett) Sparks. He was born

in Nicholas County, Dec. 25, 1817, and is the present

toll-gate keeper at Blue Licks, on Maysville and Lex-

ington Pike. She was born in Bourbon County, Jan.

15, 1819. They have seven children, of whom James, the

subject of this sketch, was the fifth. He obtained his

education in the common schools of the County, and en-

tered upon a farm life. He was married in Nicholas Coun-

ty, to Miss Martha J. Bowen, who, was born July 1, 1848,

to W. P. and E. J. Bowen. He was born Feb. 23, 1825; she,

Jan. 9, 1823. By this marriage, Mr. Sparks has six children,

viz.: Jennie L., Charles D., Bettie F., Walter W., Lulie B.

and Mattie R. Mr. Sparks is an energetic and enter-

prising man, and, socially, ranks high in the esteem of

the community. He has served the people, since 1878,

as Constable, and performed the duties of the office with

zeal and integrity. Religiously, himself and family are

connected with the Christian Church. He is also a mem-

ber of the Masonic Fraternity at Blue Licks. In politics

he is a Democrat.

ELIAS WESTFALL, farmer; P. O. Blue Licks; was

born in Prussia, March 8, 1844, to Philip and Eliza-

beth Westfall, natives of Prussia. He was born

in 1812, died Aug. 11, 1872; she was born in 1814, died

Aug. 13, 1874. They emigrated to America in Novem-
ber, 1856, and settled in Nicholas County. They had

thirteen children, of v^hom Elias, the subject of this

sketch was the youngest. He received a common school

education and learned the trade of a shoemaker, which

he worked at for a number of years, and eventually

turned his attention to farming, and which occupation he

still follows. He was married in Nicholas County, Dec.

27, 1865, to Miss Sarah Harney, who was born Feb. 1,

1846. Their union resulted in seven children, viz:

Phillip, Nicholas, George, Charles, Perlie, Daniel and
Lizzie, the latter died in infancy. Mrs. Westfall was a

daughter of Willoughby and Mahaley (Harrington) Har-

ney, natives of Nicholas County. Mr. Westfall is an en-

ergetic and enterprising man, and a practical farmer, and

one well worthy of the high esteem in which he is held.

He has filled the office and performed the duties of Depu-
ty Clerk for a number of years. He owns a farm con-

taining 200 acres of land, and in addition to growing the

usual farm crops, makes the raising of tobacco his

specialty. He is a prominent member of the Masonic
fraternity, at Blue Lick's. In politics he is a Democrat.

JOHN M. WELLS, physician; P. 0. Blue Licks ; the

youngest son of a family of four sons and three daugh-

ters, is extensively engaged "in tobacco raising upon his

well kept farm of 140 acres, and in connection with his

agricultural pursuits has a large and lucrative practice

in his profession; he attended the common schools of his

neighborhood and the high school at Carlisle, he subse-

quently attended the medical department of the Univer-

sity of Louisville, and received his diploma upon March
1, 1876. He was born in Nicholas County, Jan. 4, 1854,

and married Sarah Fowle in the County of Nicholas, Oct.

31, 1878 ; she born in the above county, Sept. 9, 1854,

to William and Susan (Robinson) Fowle (see history.)

The result of this union is two sons, Herman L. and
Leslie T. His father who is still living and a prominent
agriculturist, was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 27,

1811. His mother, Lucinda Collins, was born in the same
county, in the year 1816, and died in 1862. Dr. Wells is

a Republican of prominence in his county, and with his

family is connected with the Christian Church.



^lA

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 777

HEADQUARTERS PRECINCT.
MARQUIS D. L. BURRIS, store keeper and gauger

;

P. O., Headquarters ; was born in Fleming County, Ky.,

Nov. 33, 1846, to Hiram and Elizabeth (Biddle) Burris.

He was born in Fleming County, May 3, 1799, and died

Nov. 13, 1854. His wife, Elizabeth, was also a native

of Fleming County, born Feb. 1, 1807, and died Nov. 18,

1864. The result of their union was ten children. Mar-

quis, our subject, was next to the youngest. He was ed-

ucated in the common schools of Nicholas County, and

entered upon a clerkship in a store at Headquarters.

Two years later he turned his attention to farming. In

1869 he was appointed U. S. G-auger, and is now serving

the government as gauger and store-keeper. Was also

postmaster at Headquarters a short time. He wis

married in Nicholas County, June 6, 1873, to Miss Eliza-

beth Brooks, who was born in Nicholas County, Jan. 18,

1851. They have three children, viz : William H.,

Harry E. and Robert B. Mrs. Burris was a daughter of

Anderson and Susan (Evans) Brooks. (See hist.)

During the war Mr. Burris enlisted in Co. A. of the

145th Illinois regiment, under Captain Chapman, but re-

mained in the service only five months. In connection

with his wife he is a member of the Methodist church at

Headquarters. He has also been a prominent member

of the Masonic order at Headquarters for a number of

years. He is a very energetic and enterprising business

man, and socially ranks very high in the esteem of the

community. In politics he is a Republioan.

ANDERSON BROOKS, farmer; P. O. Headquarters;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Feb. 18, 1815, and is

a son of Zachariah and Frances (Overby) Brooks, who

were among the first settlers in Nicholas County, Ky.;

he was born in Virginia, in 1767; was a farmer by oc-

cupation, and died Jan. 3, 1857; his wife, Frances, was

also a native of Virginia, born in 1797, and died Sept.

14, 1839; there was born to them eight children, of whom
Anderson, our subject, was next to the youngest; his ed-

ucation was limited to the common schools of the county;

he commenced his career in life as a farmer, was married

in Nicholas County, Nov. 3, 1843, to Miss Susan Evans,

daughter of Gillead and Anna (Trigg) Evans. (See hist.)

Mrs. Brooks was born in Nicholas County, Sept. 18, 1836;

the result of their union is ten children, viz : Nathan 0.,

Eveline, William F., Sarah E., Mary L., Albert, Carrie,

Ann Eliza, Gillead F., and Elmira, the three latter of

whom are dead. Mr. and Mrs. Brooks are both members

of the Mt. Carmel Methodist Church ; in his political

ideas, he is unsettled, and, as he expresses it, votes for

the best man; he is a very energetic and enterprising

man, and a prosperous farmer; owns 336 acres of choice

farm land, and, besides raising the usual farm crops,

deals largely in high grade stock of all kinds.

R. H. COLLIER, farmer; P. O. Morning Glory; was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., March 17, 1831 ; his father,

C. A. Collier, was a native of Virginia, and was born

about 1790; he was a farmer by occupation, and emi-

grated to Kentucky some time prior to the war of 1813,

and settled in Nicholas County; he was a soldier in the

1813 war, and was captain of a company; was taken

prisoner at the battle of the River Raisin; after the war

closed, he returned to Nicholas County, Ky., where he

died in 1855; his wife was Catharine Howerton, also a

native of Virginia, born about 1806, and died in 1866.

They raised two sons, viz: Robert H. (subject) and Wil-

liam J.; his sons received a moderate education in the

country schools of Nicholas County; Robert H. was

married in Nicholas, in 1849, to Eliza Peterson, a daugh-

ter of Henry and Annie Peterson; his wife, Eliza, was

born in 1833; they have three sons : Coleman A., Samuel

R., and William H. Mr. Collier has always been a

farmer since he was large enough to work; he however

run a mill about six years in connection with his farm; in

1879, he was elected Magistrate of his precinct for a

term of four years, an office he holds at this time; he was

a soldier in the Federal army about two years, belonging

to the 18th Kentucky regiment; he has also been a mem-
ber of the M J sonic order for twenty-nine years, and him-

self and wife are members of the Baptist Church; politi-

cally, he is a Democrat; like many others he began life

without any means whatever, but by industrious habits

and close application to his business, he is now in very

comfortable circumstances.

GILLEAD EVANS, farmer ; P. O. Headquarters
;

was born in Delaware, July 4, 1794, and is a son of John

and Rachael (Taylor) Evans, who were among the first

to enter upon pioneer life in Kentucky ; the former was

born in Delaware in 1774, and died 1809. His wife,

Rachael, was also born in Delaware in 1774, and died in

1835. Gillead, our subject, was their only child, and

his opportunities for receiving an education was very
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limited, there being very few schools at that early day.

Early in life he entered upon a farmer's life; served six

months in the war of 1813 ; was married March 9, 1817,

to Miss Anna Trigg, who was born in Virginia, Jan. 10,

1794, and died in Sept., 1864, leaving to his care two

children, viz.: Susan, wife of Anderson Brooks (See

Hist.), and Elizabeth, the wife of Oscar Orr, and now
living in Missouri. Mr. Evans was married again July 6,

1873, to Mrs. Rose Ann Sanders, widow of James

Sanders, and daughter of John and Rose (Mitchell) Cook.

Mr. Evans has always been an enterprising farmer and

a thorough business man, is a member of the Methodist

Church; in politics he is a Democrat.

SAMUEL R. FISHER, physician; P. O. Headquar-

ters; was born in Sharpsburg, Bath County, Ky.,Dec. 13,

1853, and is a son of Ambrose and Susan F. (Rogers)

Fisher; he was born in Bourbon County Dec. 34, 1834,

to Thomas and Terrioia (Ruddle) Fisher. He was born

in Bourbon County, in 1795, and died Sept. 1, 1865; she

born in Bourbon County in 1799, and died in February,

1867. They had five children, of whom the father ot

our subject was the third. He was married in Aberdeen,

Ohio, July 10, 1850, to Miss Susan F. Rogers, who was

born April 34, 1830. The result of their union was eight

children, viz: Samuel R., Mary E., John Q., J. William-

son, Lucinda J., Lydia M., Clifton H. and Lottie L.; the

latter died Aug. 13, 1880, at the age of fourteen. Mrs.

Fisher was a daughter of Samuel and Elizabeth (Irvin)

Rogers. He was born in Virginia Nov. 6, 1789; died

June 3a, 1877; she was born July 8, 1793; died in March,

1868. Samuel R., the subject of this sketch, was edu-

cated at Carlisle, and attended the Medical College at

Louisville, Ky., one year; he also attended the Ohio

Medical College at Cincinnati two years, and received

his diploma at the latter place in March, 1876. He lo-

cated at Headquarters, and began the practice of his

profession the same year, and has, by the thorough

knowledge of his business and strict attention to his

calling, built up a large and steadily increasing practice.

He was married in Harrison County, Oct. 16, 1877, to

Miss Laura Kinnard,»who was born in Missouri, Sept. 33,

1857. One child, Irene Thompson, is the result of their

union. Mrs. Fisher was a daughter of Garrison and Su-

san (Thompson) Kinnard; he a native of Mason County;

she a native of Harrison County. Mr. Fisher is a man

of energy and enterprise, and possesses all the social

qualifications necessary in gaining the good will of all

with whom he associates. He is a prominent member

of the Masonic order at Headquarters and of the I. O.

O. F. at Carlisle.

ALFRED J. KENNEDY, farmer; P. O. Headquar-

ters; was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Dec. 36, 1831,

to William and Nancy (Brooks) Kennedy; he was born

Nicholas County, September 6, 1797; was a farmer and

stone mason by occupation; and died Dec. 11, 1831.

His wife, Nancy, was born in Nicholas County, Aug.

15, 1805, and is still living. Alfred, our subject, is the

oldest of six children. He repeived a common school

education, and commenced the battle of life as a farmer.

He was married in Nicholas County, Dec. 33, 1841, to

Miss Sally Ann Hillock, who was born in Nicholas

County, Jan. 3, 1823. She is the mother of six children,

viz.: William J., Mary S., (deceased), Betty F., John F.,

Winfield S., and Harvey M., (deceased). Mrs. Kennedy
was a daughter of James and Susie (Snapp) Hillock.

Mr. Kennedy served the County as Constable six years.

He is an energetic and enterprising farmer, and, socially,

ranks high in the esteem of the community. He has al-

ways been a prominent Republican, and is a member of

the Methodist Church at Headquarters.

LITTLETON LQNG, farmer ; P. O. Shady Nook
;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky, Jan. 35, 1813, to

Eliakim and Jemima (Victor) Long, natives of Mary-

land, near Snow Hill. Littleton, our subject, was the

seventh of nine children. He received a common school

education, and commenced the battle of life as a farmer.

He was married in Harrison County, Feb. 18, 1840, to

Miss Nancy Maffett ; who was born in Harrison County,

Dec. 33, 1831. They had two children, viz : Marion

and James R. (see history). Mrs. Long was a daughter

of William and Nancy (Killum) Maffett (see history of

John H. Maffett). Mr. Long is a man of noble impulses

and a generous spirit, and is well worthy of the high

esteem in which he is held by the community. He is a

very energetic and enterprising farmer, and a thorough

business man. He commenced life a poor boy, but by
making good use of his abilities has accumulated a good
property. He now owns a farm of 130 acres of choice

farm land. In connection with his wife he is a member
of the Christian Church at Indian Creek. Politically he

is a Democrat.

JAMES R. LONG, farmer ; P. 0. Headquarters

;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., May 13, 1848, to Lit-

tleton and Nancy (Maffett) Long. (See hist.) James is

the youngest child. He received his education in the

common schools of Harrison County, and began his ca-

reer in life as a farmer. He was married in Nicholas

County, Feb. 13, 1868, to Miss Armilda Cheatham, who
was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 7, 1850. They have

three children, viz : Floyd, Carl and Eva. Mrs.J Long

l^
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was a daughter of John and Harriet (Garrett), Cheatham.

He was born Nov. 2, 1804, and died Sept. 14, 1857. His

wife Harriet was born in August, 1808, and is still living.

Mr. Long is a member of the Christian Church at Indian

Creek. Mrs. Long is a member of the Baptist Church

at Irvinsville. Mr. Long has also been a prominent

member of the Masonic Order at Headquarters for a

number of years. He is an energetic and enterprising

farmer and business man ; owns 75 acres of choice

farm land, which, " as a practical farmer," he keeps in a

high state of cultivation. He is also a dealer in high

grade stock, and has in his possession a very fine horse

named Chief Justice. In politics he is a Democrat.

MARION LONG, farmer; P. 0. Shady Nook, was

born in Nicholas County, July 26, 1825, to Littleton and

Nancy (Maffett) Long. (See His.) Marion the subject

of this sketch received a common school education in

Harrison County, and began life as a farmer. He was

married in Harrison County, March 11, 1866 to Miss

Sarah M. Ravenscraft, who was born April 6, 1846.

They have four children, viz., Lena M., Ada M., William

L. and Ila M. Mrs. Long was a daughter of William

and Margaret (Anderson) Ravenscraft, both now living

in Bourbon County. Mr. Long is highly esteemed by

all who know him. He is a very energetic farmer and

business man, and liberal in all public enterprises. He
owns a farm of eighty acres which is well cultivated, and

on which he raises the usual farm crops and tobacco. In

connection with his wife he is a member of the Christian

Church at Indian Creek. He is also a member of the

Masonic Order at Headquarters. In politics he is a

Democrat.
JOHN H. MAFFETT, farmer ; P. O. Headquarters;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., March 8, 1824, and is

a son of William and Nancy (Killum) MaiFett. He was

born in Pennsylvania in 1781 ; was a farmer and shoe-

maker by occupation, and died in April, 1853. His wife

Nancy was a native ofMaryland and died in August, 1852;

they had eleven children, of whom John, our subject, was

the eighth. He received his education in the common

schools of Harrison County and then took upon himself the

duties of a farm life. He was married in Nicholas Coun-

ty, Dec. 18, 1851, to Miss Hepsey A. Turley, who was

born in Nicholas County, in 1830, and died Oct. 6, 1863,

leaving to his care five children, viz : LaFayette, John

W., Susan A., Jane A. and Hamlet F. Mrs. Maffett was

a daughter of John and Susan (Griffith) Turley. Mr.

Maffett was married again Nov. 9, 1865, to Miss Elizabeth

A. Gaffin, who was born in Nicholas County, June 1,

1824, and was a daughter of Otho and Anna (Munford)

Gaffin. The former was born April 17, 1785, and died

June 6, 1858 ; the latter was born Jan. 11, 1789, and died

April 14, 1863. During the war, Mr. Maffett was drafted

into the service, but being a widower with five small

children, he hired a substitute. He ii a member of the

Christian Church at Indian Creek. Is an energetic and

enterprising farmer and business man. In politics is a

Republican.

JOHN A. PORTER, merchant; P. O. Barterville;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., May 23, 1847, to

Henry and Elizabeth (Brady) Porter (see hist.). John

A. is the oldest child. He was educated in the common
schools of Nicholas Cottnty, and commenced his career

in life in a saw and grist mill, at Shakerag, (now EUis-

ville), where he remained six years. In 1880, he erected

a building at Helena, and opened a general merchandis-

ing store, where, by his pleasing manners and kind at-

tentions to his customers, he has built up a large and

rapidly increasing trade. He was appointed Post Mas-

ter at Barterville, (Helena), Dec. 13, 1880. He was

married in Nicholas County, July 6, 1869, to Miss Char-

lotte Q. Burnett, who was born Oct. 22, 1848. They

have three children, viz.: Lulie E., James H., and Bet-

tie F. Mrs. Porter was a daughter of James A. and

Elizabeth (Glasscock) Barnett. He was born in Nicho-

las County, July 14, 1809, and died May 4, 1879. His

wife, Elizabeth, was born Sept. 15, 1806, and is still liv-

ing. Duriug the war Mr. Porter served thirteen months

in the service, in Co. B, of the 14th Ky. Cavalry, under

the command of Col. H. C. Lilly, with Capt. W. D.

Craig. He is a thorough business man, and highly re

spected by all who know him. He is a prominent mem-

ber of the Masonic Order at Greenbush. Politically, he

is a Republican.

JAMES RANKIN, merchant ; P. O. Morning Glory
;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Deo. 6, 1847, to

Nicholas and Elizabeth (Fryman) Rankin ; he is a native

of Nicholas County, she of Harrison, and their parents

were among the early settlers of Nicholas County. The

result of their union was eight children, of whom James,

the subject of this sketch, was the second. He was edu-

cated in Nicholas County, and entered upon his career

in life as a school teacher, which occupation he followed

four years, when he began merchandising at Irvinsville,

in partnership with his brother Oscar, and later with his

father. He is still engaged in the business, and by his

promptness in business relations, and kindly attention to

his customers, he has built up a large and steadily in-

creasing trade. He was married in Nicholas County,

Nov. 20, 1878, to Miss Emma Lawson, a native of Nicho-
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las County, born in 1859. By this marriage they have

two daughters, viz : Maud and Blanche. He is highly

respected as a citizen, and in connection with his wife is

a member of the Baptist Church at Irvinsville. His

political sympathies are with the Democratic party.

JOHN W. SHARP, farmer; P. O. Headquarters;

was born in Fayette County, March 11, 1803, and is a

son of John T. and Sophia (Nicholson) Sharp, both na-

tives of Sussex Co., Del. The former was born March

36, 1773. His wife, Sophia, was born Jan. 6, 1774.

They were among the first to enter upon pioneer life in

Kentucky, and settled in Fayette in 1801, where they re-

mained six years, then moved ia Nicholas County and

were the first settlers on the farm now owned by Ben-

jamin Thomas. A few years later they again sought a

new home, this time in St. Louis County, Mo. where Mr.

Sharp died, Aug. 8d, 1840. His wife survived him six

years and died Nov. 4th, 1847. The result of their union

was nine children, of whom John W. our subject, was the

fifth, and is now the only one living. He was left in

Kentucky by his parents without a relative or friend,

and nothing but his hands with which to enter upon the

battle of life. His education was very limited, he never

having the opportunity to attend school to exceed six

months, but being, possessed with a stout heart and an

energetic spirit, he determined to make his own way in

the world. He engaged with Mr. Daniel Thompson as a

farm hand, receiving a compensation of ten dollars per

month. His persistent energy and strict performance of

his duties won him many friends, and when but 19 years

of age he was elected to a captaincy in the State Militia.

He was married in Nicholas County, March 39, 1833, to

Miss Lucy F. Collier, who was born in Charlotte County,

Virginia, May 30, 1811. She bore him six children, viz :

Elizabeth M. born Dec. 35, 1833. She now lives in Vir-

den. 111. She was married Feb. 13, 1850, to Willis Sims,

who died in 1880. Ann E. was born Nov. 1, 1834, and

married in 1854 to Lafayette Rollen, now living in Vir-

den, 111. John W., born May 38, 1839, died Oct. 30,

1861. Thomas M. born Jan. 5, 1843 ; a farmer ; now
living in Nicholas County. He has held the offices of

Constable and Magistrate for a number of years. He was

married Sept. 15, 1868, to Miss Louisa E. Smith, who
was born Feb. 3d, 1844. They have two children, viz :

Carrie and Maud. Charles W., born July 17, 1844. (See

history.) Ellen M., born Sept. 3, 1848, and died Nov.

17, 1850. Mrs. Sharp died June 30, 1851. She was a

daughter of William and Elizabeth (Williams) Collier,

both natives of Charlotte County, Virginia. Mr. Sharp

was married again Dec. 1, 1857, to Miss Charity C. Ba3-

kett, who was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 11, 1837.

They have three children, viz : Hamlet C, born Dec.

31, 1858. (See history.) Lucy F., born May 36, 1860.

She is a lady of marked ability as a scholar and in art,

having produced several works deserving of merit.

James Mc, born August 13, 1864. He is still at

home, assisting his father on the farm. Mrs.

Sharp was a daughter of Jesse and Charlotte

(Williams) Baskett. He was bo;n in Virginia, March 30,

1768 and died in March 1833. His wife, Charlotte, was

born in Maryland, July 38, 1785, and died Oct. 30, 1881.

Mr. Sharp soon after his first marriage, moved upon the

farm he now owns, and a part of which he purchased in

1840, since which time he has continued to add to his

possessions, until he now owns a farm containing 331

acres, which, " as a practical farmer," he keeps in a high

state of cultivation. He has served the county for a

number of years in different offices, viz.. Constable,

Magistrate, Coroner and County Commissioner, and was

appointed by the Government as Ganger and Store-

keeper, which he subsequently resigned in favor of his

son. In 1838, the Whig party substantiated their appre-

ciation of his abilities, and the high esteem in which he

was regarded by the people, by electing him to a seat in

the Legislature, the duties of which he performed with

marked ability, zeal and integrity. On account of his

business qualifications, he has been employed numerous

times, by large stock dealers to make shipments for

them to different parts of the country. He is a man of

noble impulses, generous spirit, and noted for his hospit-

ality; is a prominent member of the Masonic Order, and

a charter member of the Orient Lodge at Headquar-

ters. He has always been a prominent Republican

and the proudest feature of his political career, is the

fact that he never asked for an office without receiving

it.

GRANVILLE C. SMITH, farmer; P.O. Headquarters;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Feb. 10, 1843,

and is a son of Samuel and Annie (Cook) Smith; he

was born in Madison County, Ky., June 30, 1809, is a

farmer by occupation, and is still living; his wife, Annie,

was a native of North Carolina ; they had ten children,

of whom Granville, our subject, was next to the young-

est; he received his education in the common schools of

Nicholas County, and at the Wesleyan College, at Millers-

burg; he commenced his career in life, as a clerk in a

general merchandise store, at Headquarters, but tiring

of that, he turned his attention to farming; he was mar-

ried in Nicholas County, Jan. 13, 1870, to Miss Eva
Brooks, who was born in Nicholas County, Nov. 11, 1848;

^1^
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they have four children, viz : Charlie, Roy, Addie, and
Rainie. Mrs. Smith was a daughter of Anderson and

Susan (Evans) Brooks, (see hist). Mr. Smith served the

county as deputy sheriff and constable, tvco years each; in

connection with his wife, he is a member of the Methodist

Church at Mt. Carmel; he is also a prominent member of

the Masonic Order at Headquarters; he is one of the most

enterprising and energetic men of the county, and held

in the highest esteem by the community on account of his

hospitable and affable manners; he commenced life a poor

man, but owing to his natural business ability and strict

attendance to business, has continued to add to his posses-

sions until he now owns a farm containing 340 acres, and

keeps the same in a high state of cultivation and well

stocked. His political sympathies are with the Demo-
crats.

JAMES A. SMITH, farmer; P. O. Headquarters;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Jan. 35, 1831, and is

a son of William and Jane (McNear) Smith. He was

born in Virginia, Sept. 8, 1804, was a farmer by occupa-

tion; died April 27,1871. His wife .Jane, was also born

in Virginia, Feb. 11, 1803, and is still living. The re-

sult of their union was nine children, of whom James

\sfas the third. He obtained his education in the com-

mon schools of Bourbon County, and commenced his

career in life as a farmer. He was married in Nicholas

County, Oct. 29, 1873, to Mary S. Kennedy, who was

born Oct 9, 1845, and died March 9, 1879, leaving to his

care three children, viz: Anna May, Luella and James

Kennedy. Mrs. Smith vi^as a daughter of Alfred and

Sally (Hillock) Kennedy, (see hist.) Mr. Smith was mar-

riedagain Nov. 25, 1879, to Mrs. Mary E. (Craycraft)

Taylor, who was born in April, 1845. By her first hus-

band she had one child: George W., and has borne to

Mr. Smith one son: Thomas M. Mrs. Smith was a

daughter of Samuel and Mary (Smith) Craycraft, both

natives of Kentucky; subject and wife are members of

the Christian Church; he is also a member of the Ma-

sonic Order of Headquarters. Mr. Smith is an enter-

prising farmer, and by the close application of his busi-

ness abilities, has continued to add to his possessions till

he now owns 210 acres of choice farm land. In addi-

tion to his farm duties, he is engaged extensively in rais-

ing stock and trading. He is a good neighbor, a kind

husband and indulgent father. He is a Republican.

STILES STIRMAN, farmer; P. 0. Headquarters;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., Feb. 19, 1841, and is

a son of Silas and Nancy (Dills) Stirman. He was born

in Nicholas County, Sept. 1, 1809; was a farmer by oc-

cupation, and died June 5, 1874. His wife, Nancy,

was born in Harrison County, March 1, 1819, and is still

living. The result of their union was ten children, of

whom Stiles, our subject was the oldest. He attended

the common schools of Harrison County, and completed

his education in the college at Jacksonville, 111., where

he took upon himself the duties of a farm life. He was

married in Harrison County, Dec. 13, 1864, to Miss

Mary J. Kennard, wha» was born near Lexington, La
Fayette County, Mo., Feb. 9, 1843. They have four

children, viz.: Eliza E., Addie P., Anna P., and Walter

B. Mrs. Stirman was a daughter of Hartwell B. and

Eliza A. (Brown ) Kennard. He was born in Mason
County, Ky., March 5, 1816. His wife, Eliza, was born

in Harrison County, April 4, 1830; both still living. Mr.

Stirman is a thorough business man, an energetic and

enterprising farmer, and, socially, ranks very high in the

community. He owns eighty-five acres of choice farm

land, on the Headquarters and Steel Run Pike. He
has been a prominent member of the Masonic Order at

Headquarters. His political ideas are Democratic.

WILLIAM S. SMITH, farmer ; P. O. Morning Glory;

was born to Paterson and Jane (Darn all) Smith, natives

of Montgomery County, Ky., Nov. 3, 1816, and was the

oldest of ten children. He received a common school

education, and in 1838 bought land and entered upon

the duties of a farm life. He was married in Nicholas

County, Aug. 14, 1845, to Elizabeth Ann, daughter of

Thomas and Elizabeth Ann (Collier) Blackmore. Mr.

Smith is one of the most prominent farmers in the pre-

cinct, and owns a farm containing 140 acres of choice

farm land, which he keeps in a high state of cultivation.

He was in the employ of the Government two years as

Storekeeper, and has also served the county as Magis-

trate. Although not regularly enlisted into the service,

he was connected with the Federal Army in the battle

at Cynthiana. He is an energetic and enterprising man,

and socially enjoys the esteem of the entire community.

In connection with his wife he is a member of the Bap-

tist Church at Irvinsville. Politically he is a Repub-

lican.
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ELLISVILLE PRECINCT.
B. T. ASBURY, farmer; P. O. Oakland Mills ; was

born in Harrison County in 1842. His father, Frank-

lin, was born in Nicholas in 1820; he was a farmer, and
died Aug. 29, 1862. The maiden name of his mother

was Lucinda Mattox, who was born in Nicholas in 1828,

and died Oct. 3, 1859; they were the parents of nine

children. Our subject was educated in Harrison County
and began farming in the fall of 1865; he was married

in Nicholas County, Sept. 28, 1865, to Miss Roda
J. Mann, who was born May 14, 1848, and was the

daughter of John Mann, who died in 1869. At the be-

ginning of the civil war in August, 1861, Mr. Asbury

enlisted in company K, Fourth Ky. V. I., U. S. A., and
went all through the engagements of the Array of the

Cumberland until the close of the war, in 1865. He is

the father of eight children, seven of whom are living,

viz.: Martha, Ellen, Mary, Thomas, "William, Elizabeth,

and Minnie. His wife is a member of the Methodist

Church at Bald Hill, and in politics he is a Republican

and a Mason, being a member of Blue Lick Lodge, No.

495. He is the owner of seventy-three acres of land, on

which he produces tobacco, wheat and corn, chiefly.

ABRAHAM S. BARR, farmer ; P. O. EUisville
;

was born in 1819, son of Robert and Polly Belle Barr
;

he, a native of Maryland, born April 1, 178 1, a farmer,

and dying Oct. 10, 1869 ; she, born August 14, 1790,

dying Dec. 8, 1872. They had ten children. Our sub-

ject was raised to farming, and is engaged in that oc-

cupation at the present time, owning 97 acres of land. He
raises some fine trotting stock, in addition to doing gen-

eral farming. Mr. Barr is an Elder in the Christian

Church at Stony Creek, and was liscensed to marry and

exhort. He has been a Justice of the Peace since 1866,

except about six years, and is at present filling that office.

In 1841, in Nicholas County, he married Catharine Sears,

born in 1820. Eleven children have been born to Mr.

Barr, six of whom are living, viz : Robert, Elizabeth,

John J., Mary R., Julia Ann, George W. Mrs. Barr

dying in 1855, Mr. Barr married Susan P. Alexander,

daughter of George and Mollie Alexander. The last two
children named are by the present wife; are members of

the Christian Church, and he is a Democrat.

GILBERT FEEBACK, farmer; P. O. Oakland Mills.

Among the old and prominent citizens of EUisville, pre-

cint, none stand higher than Mr. Feeback. He was born

in Nicholas County, Nov. 11, 1813. His father was

of Virginia birth, following the occupation of a farmer all

his life, and died in 1872 ; the maiden name of his mother

was Elizabeth Earlywine who died in August, 1862. They

were the parents of nine children. Our subject was edu-

cated in Nicholas County, and began life with farming,

and was married in Nicholas County, Feb. 26, 1835,

to Miss Elizabeth Dewitt, who was born May 26, 1812
;

she being the daughter of Jacob Dewitt, who was born

in Pennsylvania, and Elizabeth Mann, who was born in

Nicholas County. They have been the parents of nine

children, five of whom are still living, viz : Mary, Ma-

linda, Sarah, Margaret and Jonathan. He and his wife

are both consistent members of the Baptist Church at

Bald Hill, and in politics he is a Republican. He is the

owner of 170 acres of fertile land, seven miles from Car-

lisle, on Cynthiana and EUisville road.

MRS. HANNORA HOLLAND, farmer; P. O. EUis-

ville ; was of Irish birth, being born in Ireland in 1887.

Her father was John Holland, who was born in Ireland

and died in 1879. Her mother was Mary Burgoin, who
was born in Queens County, Ireland, and died in 1875.

They were the parents of nine children. She was married

in Mason County, Ky., in 1855 ; and her husband began

life working on public works. The maiden name of Mrs.

Holland was Delauey. She is the mother of ten children,

seven of whom are living, viz : Michael, John, Mary,

Annie, Joseph, Lucy, Serrilda. She is a member of the

Catholic Church at Carlisle. She is the owner of 180

acres of land, ten miles from Carlisle, near Cynthiana and
EUisville road.

RALPH LAWRENCE, farmer; P. O. Oakland
Mills ; was born in Nicholas County, March 10, 1851

;

son of John andJFidella (Caldwell) Lawrence ; he a na-

tive of Mason County and she of Nicholas ; they had
eight children. Our subject, as was his father, was
raised to the life of farming, and has continued in that

occupation throughout life. He received his education

in the schools of his native county, and commenced the

battle of life at an early age. He is a member of the

Christian Church at Stony Creek; is a democrat, and a
member of Blue Lick Lodge.

D. T. MORRIS, Miller ; P. O. EUisville; was born in

Bourbon County, Ky., in 1844, son of Captain .John and
Catharine (Turney) Morris ; he, born in Bourbon County
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in 1793, a farmer, and dying in 1871; she also a native of

Bourbon, born in 1803 and still living ; they were the

parents of fourteen children. Our subject, after receiv-

ing an education, began farming in 1868; he owns forty-

five acres of land six and one-half miles from Carlisle,

on the Maysville Pike, where he raises high-grade stock.

He is engaged extensively in milling, running the grist,

saw, and shingle mill, built by John Porter in 1876. Mr.

Morris is an energetic business man, and a citizen that is

highly respected. September 10, 1868, he married, in

Nicholas County, Miss Sarah Anderson, daughter of

William and Sarah (Kelley) Anderson, natives of Ire-

land, and four children have blessed his union: W. A.,

Sarah Catharine, Rebecca Anderson, and James Robin-

son. Mr. Morris entered the service of the Confederate

States, and served as a member of Giltner's regiment,

Morgan's command. Is a member of the Christian

Church at Blue Licks; is a Mason and a Democrat.

HENRY HARRISON PORTER, farmer ; P. O.

Oakland Mills; was born in Maysville, Dec. 1st, 1813;

his father, Wm. Porter was born May 10, 1784. He
was a merchant, and died in Carlisle May 27, 1837.

His mother was Hannah Martin ; she was born in

Virginia August 24, 1791, and died Aug. 10, 1851.

They had ten children, only one of whom is now living.

Henry Harrison Porter was educated in Nicholas, and was

by Occupation a farmer. He was married in Mason

County, Nov. 5,1835, to Margaret Davis Mason, who

was born Oct 21, 1813; she was the daughter of Samuel

Davis, and Nancy; unto the marriage was born three chil-

dren, all of whom are dead. On June 25, 1846, the sub-

ject was united in marriage to Elizabeth Brady, daughter

of Patrick Brady. They had two children, named John

A. and Henry E. Mr. Porter is identified with the Republi-

can party. Himselfand wife are both members of the Chris-

tian Church, himself holding the office of Elder. He owns

fifty acres of land, six and one-half miles from Carlisle,

on Maysville Pike.

F. M. RANKIN, general farmer; P. O. Oakland Mills;

was born where he at present resides, June 29, 1848, and

is the youngest child born to John and Nancy (McMa-

hill) Rankin. John Rankin, the father of our subject,

was born in Lewis County, Ky., May 4, 1804, and was

an extensive farmer; he also kept a hotel on the Mays-

ville Pike, for the accommodation of stage travel; he

was a highly respected citizen and a member of the Car-

lisle Lodge of Free Masons; he died July 19, 1870; his

wife, Nancy McMahill, was born Aug. 26, 1809, daughter

of "William and Polly (Curtis) McMahill, all natives of

Kentucky. John and Nancy were the parents of eight

children. Our subject received a liberal education for

the time at Carlisle, and began life as a farmer, follow-

ing the same to the present time, having a farm of 300

acres well stocked and improved; Dec. 30, 1880, he mar-

ried Miss Mattie Armstrong, born in Fayette County,

June 26, 1855, daughter of .Tames and Elizabeth (Mc-

Daniel) Armstrong, natives of Nicholas County; one

child has blessed this union, James Wady, born Oct. 30,

1881. Mr. Rankin is a Democrat.

G. W. SIBERT, wagonmaker; P. O. Oakland Mills;

was born in Clay County, Ky., Feb. 10, 1823; son of

Daniel and Sally Sibert; he, a native of Virginia, who

followed boating on the Kentucky river; and she a native

of Kentucky; they were the parents of nine children.

Our subject received an ordinary education in his native

county, and began at an early age to learn the coopering

trade. He owns three acres of land, six and one-half

miles from Carlisle, on which he has a cooper shop. He
has served as Constable for several years. July 27, 1848,

he married Mary A. Sadler, born in 1829, daughter of

Jessie Sadler, of Bourbon County, and eight children

have been born to them, five of whom are living: Johnnie,

Sallie, Julia, Mollie and Bobbie. Those dead are Jennie,

Joseph aud Mary. Mrs. Sibert is a member of the

Baptist Church at Ellisville, and he is a Republican.

THOMAS VAUGHN, farmer ; P. O. Blue Licks
;

was born in Lewis County, Ky., November 10, 1823, son

of Thomas and Elizabeth (McDaniel) Vaughn. Thomas

Vaughn, senior, came from Pennsylvania at an early day

and settled in Lewis County, Ky., where he passed

through all the hardships incident to the life of the early

pioneer, and where he prospered and died. He was the

father of ten children, eight of whom are living. Our

subject received the educaton afforded by the

schools of his native county, and began life as a farmer,

in which occupation he is engaged at present, owning a

snug farm of ninety-eight a(;res. April 2, 1846, he was

married in Nicholas County, to Elizabeth Wilson, born

in March, 1838, daughter of Thomas and Catharine (Croce)

Wilson, of Virginia. His wife is a member of the Chris-

tain Church at Stony Creek, and he is a Republican, and

a member of Blue Lick Lodge.

JAMES VAUGHN, farmer ; P. O. Oakland Mills
;

was born in Lewis County, Ky., April 33, 1835, son of

Thomas apd Elizabeth (McDaniel) Vaughn, additional

notes of whose life appear in the sketch of Thomas

Vaughn, the brother of our subject. Mr. Vaughn began

life as a farmer and has so continued throughout life. In

1851, he married in Nicholas County, Miss Mary A.

Campbell, daughter of David and Matilda (Wills) Camp-
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bell. Mr. Vaughn and wife are members of the Methodist

Church, and he is a Republican.

S. G. WASSON, farmer ; P. O. Carlisle ; was born

in Nicholas County, Ky., April 17, 1837, son of Charles

J. and Nancy (Waugh) Wasson ; he, a farmer and car-

penter, dying in 1866, aged sixty-six ; she, a native of

Nicholas County ; they were the parents of seven chil-

dren. Our subject began life as a farmer, in which he

has continued ; has served as School Trustee. Sept. 6,

1871, in Carlisle, Mr. Wasson married Miss Pencila Mc-

Cuan, daughter of Robert and Rachel (Campbell) Mc-

Cuan ; five children have blessed this union, viz: MoUie

P., Thomas M., Annie M., Eliza B. and Nancy Ange.

Self and wife are members of the Christian Church, and

he is a Democrat.
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UNION PRECINCT.
WILLIAM S. ATKINSON, farmer; P. O. Moorefield;

was born in Nicholas County, Ky,, Aug. 2, 1858, and is

a son of Albert and Maria (Templeman) Atkinson. He
was born in Nicholas County March 12, 1834; was a

farmer by occupation, and died April 30, 1864. His wife

was born in Bath County Oct. 35, 1840, and is still living.

The result of their union was three children, of whom our

subject was the eldest. He was educated in the com-
mon schools of Nicholas County, and commenced his

career in life as a farmer. He was married in Aberdeen,

0., Dec. 39, 1877, to Miss Florence Stephenson, who was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., Oct. 16, 1857. They have

two children, viz: Charles A. and Katie M. Mrs. Atkin-

son was a daughter of David and Nancy (Bradshaw)

Stephenson. He is a native of Nicholas County, and

was born Aug. 8, 1837, and is still living. His wife,

Nancy, is a native of Bath County, Ky., and was born

Oct. 9, 1833. Mr. and Mrs. Atkinson are members of

the Christian Church. He is the owner of some fine

stock, including some choice grades of sheep. He is an

ambitious and enterprising young man, and bids fair to

win a high rank in life's race. In politics he is a Demo-

crat.

MINERVA ADAMS, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield,

was born on the place where she now lives, in

Nicholas County, Ky., July 30, 1818, and is a daugh-

ter of John and Elizabeth (Kincade) Banister; Mr. Ban-

ister the father of our subject, was born in Virginia, June

30, 1791, and died Sept. 23, 1864; his wife was born in

Garrett County, Ky., in 1792. The subject of this sketch

received a common school education in Nicholas County;

was married in Bath County, April 27, 1841, to Samuel

Adams, who was born in Nicholas County, Oct. 18, 1818,

and died March 38, 1878, leaving to her care four chil-

dren, viz : Elizabeth, Nancy, Millard and Statire. Mr.

Adams was a son of John and Mary (Pinter) Adams, both

natives of Nicholas County, Ky. Mrs. Adams is a mem-

ber of the Presbyterian Church at Moorefield; owns

ninety-nine acres of land, which is tilled after her direc-

tions; she is a woman of intelligence and well worthy of

the high esteem in which she is held by the community

in which she lives.

MILFORD BERRY, farmer; Moorefield, was born

in Bath County, Ky., near old Springfield Church,

Oct. 30, 1817, and is a son of John and Polly

(Coons) Berry; he was born in Tennessee, in 1796

was a farmer by occupation, and died April 15, 1867; he

was brought to Kentucky by his parents in 1804; his wife

Polly, was born in Montgomery County, Ky., in 1799,

and died Jan. 15, 1845; the result of their union was

nine children, of whom Milford, our subject, was one; he

received a common school education in Montgomery
County, and commenced his career in life as a farmer;

he was married in Montgomery County, March 30, 1839,

to Miss Elizabeth Howard, who was born in Montgomery

County, in 1833, and died July 15, 1840, she was a

daughter of John and Elizabeth (Anderson) Howard,

both natives of Montgomery County Ky. Mr. Berry was
married again July 7, 1843, to Miss Frances Ann Hen-
dricks, who died July 15, 1851, leaving to his care two

children, viz : Mary Frances and Lucy Harriett. Mrs.

Berry was a daughter of Levi and Rebecca (Hart) Hen-
dricks, natives of Bath County, Ky. On Aug. 28, 1855,

Mr. Berry was married to Eliza Ann Robertson, widow of

William Edward Robertson, and daughter of John and

Susan (Burroughs) Judy; she was born in Clark County,

Dec. 35, 1833; they have three children, viz : James W.,
Ida and Elizabeth; Mr. Berry is a member of the Chris-

tian Church at Bethel, and is also a prominent member
of the Masonic fraternity at Carlisle. By his industry

and persistant energy, he has accumulated a large prop-

erty and now has in his posession 360 acres of land,

which, being a practical farmer, he keeps in a high state

of cultivation, and well stocked; he is highly esteemed

by the community, and is a warm advocate of the Demo-
crat party.

ALVIN BRANCH, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was born

in Bath County, Ky., May 33, 1840, to James R. and

Sarah (Whaley) Branch. He was born in Bath County

June 16, 1816; is a farmer by occupation, and is still liv-

ing. His wife, Sarah, is also a native of Bath County,

born in May, 1819, and is still living. She has borne to

him eight children, of whom Alvin, our subject is the

second. He received his education in the common
schools of Nicholas County, and commenced his career

in life as a dry goods clerk at Bethel, where he remained

for a period of seven years. He was married in Nicho-

las County, Sept. 11, 1861, to Miss Lizzie Adams, who

was born in Nicholas County July 1, 1843. They have

four children, viz: Eliza, Maggie, James and Millard.
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Mrs. Branch was a daughter of Samuel and Minerva

(Banister) Adams (See history). In 1867, Mr. Branch

purchased 100 acres of land, and entered upon the life

of a farmer, at which he still continues. He also owns

five acres of village property, containing the house in

which he now lives. Owing to his persistent energy and

careful attention to business, he has gained the good

will of the community at large, and has served the people

as DejDuty County Clerk and Examiner for fifteen years,

which position he still holds, conforming to the du-

ties of the office to the full satisfaction of the pub-

lic with accuracy and dispatch, exhibiting that honor

and integrity characteristic of the highest type of man-

hood. In his political belief, he is a Democrat, and is

also a prominent member of the Masonic Order.

SAMUEL HOWE DALZELL, farmer; P. O. Moore

-

field; was born in Nicholas County, Ky., near where he

now lives, May 1, 1837. His father, Robert Dalzell,

was born in Nicholas County, in 1798, was a farmer by

occupation, and died in 1876. His wife, Catharine Rob-

erts, was born in Montgomery County, Ky., April 4,

1810, and is still living. They had eight children, of

whom, Samuel our subject, was the third. He received

a common school education, and remained on the home-

stead with his parents until he was twenty-four years of

age, when he commenced farming: on his own account.

He was married in Nicholas County, Nov. 37, 1860, to

Miss Laura A. Wasson, who was born in Nicholas Coun
ty, May 10, 1844. They have eleven children, viz :

Harriett C., Clifton H., Robert W., Cora M., Benjamin

F., Jessie N., Joseph W., Anna R., Ettie, Fred and Hol-

lis. Cora died when twelve years of age. Mrs. Dalzell

was a daughter of William and Harrie t (Stoakes) Was-
son. He was born in Bourbon County Ky., May 6, 1804,

and died .Ian. 2, 1853. His wife, Harriett, was born in

Nicholas County, Jan. 39, 1830, and is still living. In

October, 1863, Mr. Dalzell enlisted in the Ninth Ken-

tucky Cavalry, under Morgan, and remained in the ser-

vice till the close of the war. He is an enterprising and

energetic business man and a practical farmer; is a mem-
ber of the Christian Church at East Union. In politics,

he is a Democrat.

JOHN B. DURHAM, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was

born in Boyle County, Ky., March 9, 1818, to Benjamin

and Margaret (Robertson) Durham. Mr. Durham, Sr., was

a native of Virginia, a farmer and blacksmith by occu-

pation, an(J died in 1847. His wife, Margaret, was also

a native of Virginia, and died Feb. 36, 1855. She was

the mother of ton children, of whom John B., our subject,

was the eighth. He received a common school educa-

tion in Boyle County, and entered upon the life of a far-

mer. He was married in Nicholas County Dec. 7, 1840j

to Miss Jane Wilson,' who was born in the same county,

March 37, 1830; she has borne to him three children, viz:

Charles W., William A. and Emma W. Mr. and Mrs.

Durham are members of the Methodist Church. He is

a member of the Masonic Order at Bethel. By his per-

sistent energy he has amassed a goodly amount of this

world's goods, and now owns 385 acres of choice farm

land, to which he has given the name of Cedar Grove.

He is an ambitious and prosperous farmer, always first

in every public enterprise, fair and honorable in all his

dealings with his fellow men, and prominent for his ster-

ling business qualifications. His political sympathies are

Democratic.

JAMES A. DUNCAN, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield, was

born in Montgomery County, Ky., Feb. 1, 1819, and

is a son of Traverse and Lucy (Rogers) Duncan.

He was born in Virginia, and died Nov. 36, 1846.

Was a farmer by occupation. His wife Lucy was

born in Fayette County, Ky., Nov. 36, 1796, and died

July 33, 1873. The result of their union was seven chil-

dren, of which our subject was the second. He received

his education in the common schools of Montgomery
County, and commenced business for himself as a farmer.

On the 17th of July, 1843, he led to the altar Mary Ann
Wilson, who was born in Montgomery County, June 13,

1830. They have eight children, viz: Joseph, William,

David, John, Granville, George, Susan and Elizabeth.

Mrs. Duncan was a daughter of David and Elizabeth

(JohnsonJ Wilson, both natives of Montgomery County.

The former died April 29, 1871 ; the latter, Feb. 8, 1879.

Mr. and Mrs. Duncan are members of the Christian

Church. He is also a member of the Masonic Order at

East Union. He is an energetic and enterprising man
and a prosperous farmer, owner of 100 acres of good

farm land. In politics is a Democrat.

GEORGE W. GRIMES, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield,

was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Aug. 30, 1815,

to David and Nancy (Clark) Grimes ; he was a

native of North Carolina, a farmer by occupation, and
died in 1833; his wife, Nancy, was born in Nicholas

County, Ky., and died in 1864; they reared a family of

eight children, of whom our subject was the second; he

was educated in the common schools of Nicholas Coun-

ty, Ky., and in the State of Indiana; he commenced his

career in life in a saw and grist mill, where he remained

eight years, and then turned his attention to farming,

which he still follows; he was married in Nicholas Coun-
ty, Ky., May 10, 1 843, to Miss Serelda Clark, who was

T'
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born in Nicholas County, June 3, 1837; by this marriage

they have had the following children : Nancy, Thomas,

John, Laura, Jerry, William, George, Warner, David,

Francis, and Sarah, six of whom are still living. Mr.

and Mrs. Grimes are both members of a church, but of

different denominations; he is a Presbyterian, she a

Methodist; he has thirty-four acres of land, on which he

grows the usual farm crops; he is a man, never weary in

well doing, looking to the interests of those around him,

as well as his own, and is universally held in high esteem

by all who know him; in his political ideas he is Demo-

cratic.

HUGH GILVIN, farmer; P. O. Mooreiield; was born

in Virginia March 35, 1810, and is a son of Hugh and

Sally (Scott) Gilvin. Mr. Gilvin, the father of our sub-

ject, was born in Virginia, and died March 19, 1858; his

wife, Sally,was also a native of Virginia, and died in 1853.

They emigrated to Adair County, Ky., when our subject

was five years of age. He received a common school ed-

ucation, and commenced his career in life as a farmer

and teamster; was married Aug. 3, 1840, to Miss Sally

Dallas, who was born in Bourbon County, Ky., March 35,

1807. They have one child, Fannie. Mrs. Gilvin was a

daughter of William and Elizabeth^^Harris) Dallas. He

was born in New .Jersey, July 11, 1780, and died March

19, 1849. His wife Elizabeth was born in Princeton, N.

J., July 6, 1779, and died Dec. 18, 1848. Subject owns

139 acres of land, on which he has lived forty-two years;

is highly esteemed by all who know him; is an energetic

and enterprising farmer; in politics he is a Democrat.

MRS. SUSAN A. GRAVES, farmer; P. O. Moorefield;

was born in Virginia, Nov. 17, 1793, and is a daughter of

John and Margaret (Helvy) Breckenridge. Mr. Brecken-

ridge is supposed to have been born in Ireland, and died

Aug. 37, 1834; his wife, Margaret, was born in Pennsyl-

vania, and died May 5, 1835. Our subject was educated

in the common schools of Kentucky, and was married

Sept. 1, 1806, to David A. Graves, who was born in Vir-

ginia, Sept. 9, 1781, and died June 6, 1831. They had

throe children, viz.: Barton, John and Louisa. Mr.

Graves was a son of Richard and Sarah (Arnett) Graves,

both natives of Virginia. Subject is a member of the

Christian Church, owns eighty acres of land, on which she

now lives in her declining days, receiving the kindly at-

tentions she merits from her children. Having been a

woman of persistent energy, and a life-long Christian, she

richly deserves the high esteem in which she is held.

ROBERT T. HILL, physician; P. O. Moorefield, was

born in Wilson County, Tenn., Feb. 5, 1838, to Robert

and Eliza (Harrison) Hill. Mr. Hill senior, was born in

Virginia in 1778, and died in 1850. His wife was born in

Wilson County, Tenn., Nov. 39, 1813, and is still living.

Of the eight children born to them, Robert, our subject,

was the third. He received his education at Lebanon,

Tenn., and attended lectures at the Medical University

at Nashville, Tenn., during the winter of '59 and '60, and

graduated in the hospital service in connection with Gen-

eral Bragg's army, during the late rebellion. He re-

eived his diploma from the Jefferson Medical College,

of Philadelphia, Pa., in 1865, and began the practice of

medicine at Howard's Mills, Montgomery County, Ky-j

the same year, where his thorough knowledge and strict

attention to his profession was the foundation of a large

practice. He was married in Montgomery County, June

33, 1869, to Miss Mary B. Berry, who was born in the

same county, April 7, 1854; she has borne to him five

children, viz: Louisa, Mary E., John B., Robert W.,

and William P. Mrs. Hill was a daughter of John F.

and Mary E. (Phelps) Berry. He was born in Mont-

gomery County, Nov. 36, 1833, and is still living. His

wife, Mary, was also a native of Montgomery County,

born in 1830, and died July 30, 1863. In August, 1873,

our subject purchased a house and lot in Moorefield,

Nicholas County, where he moved with his family, and

is still devoting his time to the duties of his calling in

that locality. Outside of his profession he is a man of

prominence, and was acting Deputy Clerk of the county for

one year. In connection with his wife, he is a member

of the Christian Church, at Bethel. He is also a promi-

nent member of the Masonic Order. In politics he is a

Democrat.

WILLIAM H. HOWE, merchant; P. 0. Moorefield; is

a son of Dun lop and Antha (Hall) Howe. He was born

in Fleming County, Ky., in January, 1801; was a mer-

chant by occupation, and died June 30, 1852. His wife,

Antha, was born in Bourbon County, Ky., and died Aug.

15, 1875. The result of their union was five children, of

whom William H., our subject was one. He was born

in Nicholas County, Ky., May 14, 1843, received his ed-

ucation at Millersburg, Ky., and commenced his career

in life as a merchant at Moorefield, Ky., where he still

remains in the business. His pleasing manners, kind at-

tention to customers, and natural business qualifications,

have been the means of building up a large and steadily

increasing trade. In addition to merchandising, he also

deals largely in seeds, general produce and wool, and is

post master at Moorefield, which position he has held sev-

eral years. He was married Dec. 4, 1863, to Miss Mary

F. Robertson, who was born Sept. 2, 1844. They have

two children, viz: Edna and William D. Mrs. Howe
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was a daughter of "William Edward and Eliza N. (Judy)

Robertson. The former was born in Bath County, Ky.,

March, 1817, and died July 13, 1851. His wife, Eliza,

was born Dec. 25, 1824, is still living, and is now the

wife of Milford Berry (See Hist.) Mr. and Mrs. Howe
are members of the Christian Church at Bethel, Bath

County, Ky. Mr. Howe is an energetic and enterpris-

ing business man; is a man of noble impulses, generous

spirit, and always first in any public enterprises. His

political ideas are Democratic.

WILLIAM E. HERNDON, physician ; P. O. Moore-

field, Nicholas County; was born at Weston, Nicholas

County, Ky., Feb. 31, 1856, to Thomas C. anfl Miranda

J. (Craycraft) Herndon, (see history.) William E., our

subject, received a common school education in Bourbon

and Nicholas Counties, and in 1876 entered upon a three

years course in the Medical University at Louisville, Ky.,

where his diligence and close attentions to his studies,

soon made him a general favorite and placed him at the

head of his class, which position he maintained through-

out the course, and at the time of receiving his diploma,

March 1, 1879, he was one of the number called upon for

the honors of the class, which numbered 350. In May of

the samejyear, he located at Moorefield, and entered upon

the duties of his profession with the same zeal that char-

acterized all his efforts, and soon gained a position that

can only be attained by a thorough knowledge and strict

attention to his calling. He has gradually grown in the

favor of the community, and now has an extensive prac-

tice, the duties of which would fall heavily upon the

shoulders of a man many years his senior. During three

years practice, he has lost but two patients. He was mar-

ried Dec. 18, 1879, to Miss Edna A. Howe, who was born

in Moorefield, Nicholas County, Ky., Sept. 7, 1863, to

William H. and Mary F. (Robertson) Howe, (see his-

tory.) Our subject owns the house and lot in Moorefield

where he resides. He is a very energetic and enterpris-

ing man, and possesses all the natural qualifications nec-

essary in gaining the good will of all. His political

ideas are Democratic.

MRS. MARY E. HOWE, farmer; P. O. Moorefield,

Nicholas County; was born in Nicholas County, Ky.,

April 31, 1835, and is a daughter of James and Nancy

(Hayden) Thomas; Mr. Thomas was born in Virginia,

Nov. 12, 1799, was a farmer by occupation and died June

15, 1873; his wife, Nancy, was born in Nicholas County,

Ky., .Ian. 6, 1804, and died June 16, 1877. Our subject

is the youngest of eight children, she received her educa-

tion in Nicholas County, was married in the same county.

May 16, 1855, to Mr. William W. Howe, who was born

in Nicholas County, Jan. 31, 1819, was a farmer by oc-

cupation; died Aug. 1, 1871 ; the result of their union

was three children, viz: Thomas E., James M. and Wil-

liam R. Mr. Howe, the husband of our subject, was a

son of Ezra and Anna (Dalzell) Howe; he was bom in

Nicholas County, Oct. 7, 1785, was a farmer and school

teacher, and died Sept. 26, 1820; his wife Anna, was

born Sept. 19, 1792, and died Sept. 6, 1853. The subject of

this sketch owns a house and lot in Moorefield, also 253

acres of land situated in Union Precinct, which is culti-

vated under her own management; she is a member of

the Presbyterian Church at Moorefield, is a woman of in-

telligence, and ranks high in the esteem of the com-

munity where she lives.

GEORGE D. KNOX, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was

born in Bourbon County, Ky., Sept. 29, 1831, to David

and Rebecca (Baxter) Knox. He was born in Bourbon

County, Feb. 13, 1804,was a farmerby occupation, and died

Sept. 27, 1879. He was a son of Samuel and Margaret

(Donnell) Knox, both natives of Pennsylvania. The former

was a pioneer preacher, born in 1775, died in 1865, and

a son of David and Hannah (Wasson) Knox, natives of

Dublin, Ireland. Rebecca (Baxter) Knox, the mother

of our subject, was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Feb.

13, 1804; died Feb. 26, 1848, and was a daughter of Ed-

ward and Rebecca (Davis) Baxter. He was born in

Maryland, Dec. 5, 1750, and died April 2, 1826. His

wife, Rebecca, was born July 12, 1767, and died Jan. 10,

1818. The subject of this sketch was the oldest of seven

children; he received a common school education in

Nicholas County, and tUen took upon himself the duties

of a farm life. He was married in Nicholas County,

Nov. 5, 1856, to Miss Amanda Boardman, who was born

in Nicholas County, Sept. 12, 1831. The result of their

union was five children, four of whom died while young,

and are buried in the old family graveyard, situated on

the farm now owned by Abner Boardman. Their only

living child is a daughter, Nancy L. Mrs. Knox was a

daughter of Abner and Mary (Crose) Boardman. He was
born in Bourbon County, April 16, 1801, and died Aug.
29, 1875. His wife, Mary, was also a native of Bourbon
County, born Jan. 3, 1 806, and died Jan. 30,1878. In

connection with his family, Mr. Knox is a member of the

Christian Church at East Union. He has a farm of 186

acres of choice farm land, and devotes his time to grow-
ing the usual farm crops and breeding fine stock. He is

an energetic and enterprising farmer, prominent in the

community for fair and honorable dealings with his fel-

low men, a kind father and devoted husband. In poli-

tics he is a Democrat.



^l ^K.
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 791

ALLEN MOLLER, farmer; P. O. Sharpsburg

;

was born on the farm where he now lives, Jan.

27, 1818, and is a son of Joseph and Elizabeth

(Welty) Moller. He was born in Georgia, in 1780, and
was one of the early settlers in Kentucky, where he died
in 1825. His wife, Elizabeth, was born in North Caroli-

na, in 1783, and died in 1870. The result of their union

was eleven children. Allen, our subject, was educated
in the common schools of Nicholas County, and entered

upon his career in life as a farmer. He was married in

Bourbon County, Oct. 17, 1867, to Mrs. Matilda Bramb-
lett, widow of Henry Bramblett, and daughter of Cov-
ington and Sarah ( Crouse ) Utterbach. He was born in

Virginia, and died July 20, 1864. His wife was born in

Bourbon County, and died Jan. 15, 1879. Mrs. Moller

was born in Bourbon County, Aug. 19, 1830. Mr. Mol-

ler is a member of the Christian Church at Sharpsburg;

has also been a prominent member of the Masonic order

for a number of years. He owns a farm of seventy-five

acres, and is an energetic and enterprising farmer. He
is a Republican.

JESSE B. POTTS, farmer; P. O. Moorefield, Nicholas

County ; was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Aug. 30,

1839, and is a son of Henry and Lorana (Alexander)

Potts. The father of our subject was born in North

Carolina, Sept. 6, 1790 ; was a farmer by occupation,

and died Dec. 24, 1873. For further information see

history of Robert W. Potts. _ His wife, Lorana, is a na-

tive of Nicholas County, Ky., born in January, 1813, and

is still living. The subject of this sketch was educated

in Nicholas County, and commenced his career in life as

a school teacher, and later turned his attention to farm-

ing. He was married Dec. 22, 1874, to Miss Ellen Fer-

guson, who was born in Lewis County, Ky., Feb. 24,

1854. They have two children, viz : Roger E\ and Nim-

rod S. Mrs. Potts was a daughter of Birthod and Eliza

(Crosby) Ferguson. He was born in Montgomery

County, Ky., June 11, 1814, and is still living. His wife,

Eliza, was-born in Ripley, Ohio, and died in 1861. In 1879

Mr. Potts was elected Assessor in Nicholas County, which

office he still holds. In connection with his wife he is a

member of the Christian Church. His farm contains

ninety acres of good farm land, and in addition to rais-

ing general farm crops, he breeds a choice grade of

sheep. The appearance of his farm and stock indicates

the careful attention they receive, proving him to be a

man of energy and enterprise, and well worthy of the

high esteem in which he is held. He is a Democrat.

His brother, Nelson F. Potts, is also a prominent young

farmer. He was born in Nicholas County, Oct. 39, 1852.

In order to add to the stock of knowledge he obtained in

the common schools of Nicholas County, he also at-

tended Center College, at Danville, Boyle County, Ky.,

after which he took upon himself the duties of a farm
life on the old homestead, and the support of his wid-

owed mother. He has a farm of 70 acres ; he is ambi-

tious and industrious, and socially, ranks very high. In

politics he is a Democrat.

CALEB RATLIFF, Jr., farmer; P. O. Moorefield;

was born in Caldwell County, Ky., Feb. 25, 1818, and is

a son of Joseph and Keziah (Stone) RatliiF. Mr. RatliiF,

the father of our subject, was born in Virginia, Nov. 23,

1783; was a carpenter and farmer by occupation, and
died Oct. 5, 1827, and was a son of Zephaniah and Phil-

adelphia (Stone) Ratliff, the former supposed to have

been born in England, Feb. 25, 1753, and died June 8,

1831; the latter born in Virginia. The mother of our

subject was born at Boonesboro, Ky., and died in 1862,

leaving a family of 11 children, of which our subject was

the sixth; received his education in the common schools

of Bath County, Ky.; at the age of fourteen he hired out

as a farm hand, and continued in that manner for ten

years, when he purchased 48 acres of land in Bath County
of James Moffet, on the condition that he should pay
for the same in hemp, at the rate of 800 lbs to the acre,

which he succeeded in doing in the specified time. On
Feb. 2d, 1842, he was married to Miss Elizabeth Whaley,

who was born in Bath County, Ky., April 7, 1835, and

died Sept. 20, 1846, leaving to his care two children, viz.:

Mary L. and Enos B., the latter of whom died fifteen

months after birth. Mrs. Ratliff was a daughter of James

and Margaret (Cannon) Whaley; the former a native of

Virginia, the latter of Kentucky, and both still living.

Mr. Ratliff was again married on July 2, 1847, to Miss

Elizabeth Baird, who was born on Bethel Ridge, Bath

County, Ky., Jan. 31, 1830. They have had nine chil-

dren, viz.: Samuel J., Arrilla, Henry C, Leander C,
Wallace B., John W., Charles, Eldred D., Kate and

Caleb C. Samuel, the eldest, died at the age of 16. Mrs.

Ratliff was a daughter of . Ratliff and Sally (Harden)

Baird. He is a native of Bath County, and still living.

His wife Sally was born in Virginia, and died in Septem-

ber, 1859; Mr. Ratliff is entirely a self-made man, having

by his energy and industry, accumulated 400 acres of

land, originally known as " Old John Carter's store

stand," which has been in his possession 32 years. He
is now engaged in farming and handling mules, the lat-

ter in partnership with two of his sons. He is a member

of the Baptist Church, at Poplar Grove, Bath County.

His wife is also a member of the same church. Mr. Rat-

-^ ^
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liff is an enterprising and prosperous farmer, and is held

in high esteem by all who know him. He is a Democrat

in politics.

JOHN NEWTON REED, farmer; P. O. Moorefield ;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Oct. 25, 1834, to

George and Livinia (Dean) Reed; he was born in Bourbon

County, Nov. 5, 1804, and died March 7, 1868; was a phy-

sician by profession ; he was married in Clark County,

Nov. 32, 1836, to Miss Livinia Dean, who was born Feb.

18,1805, died June 30, 1835 ; she was the mother of five

children, of whom the subject of this sketch was the young-

est. He obtained his education in the common schools

of Bath and Nicholas Counties, and entered upon his

career in life as a farmer. During the Rebellion he

served two years in the Confederate service with Capt.

Neal, under John Morgan's command. He was married

in Hendricks County, Ind., Sep. 33, 1857, to Miss Asen-

ath C. Wilson ;_ who was born in Montgomery County,

Ky., March 3, 1836. The result of their union is ten

children, viz : Mary E., George, Livinia U., Kate, John

W., Henry, Belle, Josiah, Elizabeth, and Emma. Mrs.

Reid was a daughter of Uriah and Mary (Gillespie)

Wilson ; he was born in Bath County, in September,

1804, died in October, 1838 ; she was born in Montgom-
ery County, Dec. 11, 1813, and is still living. Mr. Reed
ranks high among the prominent farmers of the county,

and enjoys the esteem of the entire community. He is

a thorough business man and a practical farmer, and

owns a fine farm of 307 acres, near East Union, on Sum-

merset Creek. Himself and wife are members of the

Christian Church at East Union. He is also a prominent

member of the Masonic Order of the same place. Politi-

cally he is a Democrat.

WALLACE B. RATLIFP, Merchant; P. O. Moorefield,

Nicholas Co., was born in Bethel, Bath County, Ky., Feb.

6, 1855, and is a son of Caleb and Ellen (Baird) Ratliflf.

(See Hist.) Aside from his common school education, our

subject attended school two years at Lebanon, Ind. In

February, 1875, he opened a general merchandising store

at Moorefield, where his natural business ability, strict

attention to business, and his courteous and obliging

treatment of customers, soon won him the highest esteem

of the community, which is now manifested by his

largely increasing trade. He was married in Moorefield,

Sept. 31, 1876, to Miss Amanda B. Howe, who was born

in E'lemingsburg, Nov. 9, 1858, and died Jan. 18, 1880,

leaving to his care their only child, Amanda B. Subject

is a member of the Christian Church at Bethel, and is

also a member of the Masonic Order at East Union. He
is an energetic and enterprising business man, and well

worthy of the high esteem in which he is held. His

political ideas are Democratic.

S. F. STONE, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield ; born in

Bourbon County, Jan. 6, 1833. His grandfather, James

Stone, was raised probably in Jessamine County, and mar-

ried in Bourbon County, Annie Talbert. His maternal

grandfather, Hugh Forgey, of Ireland, came very early to

Bourbon County, and settled near North Middletown,

where he engaged in farming. Asa L. Stone, the father

of our subject, was a native of Bourbon County, where he

died in 1853, after a useful and well spent life ; he had

been married twice, the first time to Elizabeth Forgey,

who died in 1836, and the second time to her sister, Ludioe

Forgey. Our subject was raised on the farm, receiving

a common school education. On Jan. 9, 1834, he mar-

ried Sarah J. Potts, daughter of William and Elmira

(Hall) Potts, of Nicholas County. They have had seven

children, six of whom are living : Robert married Ida

Barry ; Fannie married John McCray, of Bourbon
;

Charlie, Lulie, Gano, Walter, William died in infancy.

Mr. and Mrs. Stone are both members of the Christian

Church at Bethel in Bath County. In politics he was a

whig till the outbreak of the Civil War, since which time

he has been a Democrat. He has been a farmer and

trader for twenty years in cattle and hogs, and is a part-

ner of J. R. MoVey in the horse and mule trade.

ANDREW THOMPSON, blacksmith; P. O. Moore-

field; was born in Nicholas County, Ky., Feb.

9, 1846, to Pierson M. and Cynthia Ann (Grass)

Thompson. He was born in Ohio, March 36,

1811; was a blacksmith by occupation; and died May
26, 1867. His wife, Cynthia, was born in Virginia, Feb.

14, 1815, and is still living. The fruits of their union

were eleven children, of whom our subject was the fourth.

He was educated at Mt. Olivet, Robinson County, Ky.

He commenced the battle of life in a saw and grist mill,

where he continued six years; he then turned his atten-

tion to farming, and followed the same three years, when
he followed in his father's footsteps, and took up the

trade of -JL)!acksmithing and carriage-making. His per-

sistent energy, careful attention to business, and superior

workmanship, soon won him scores of friends, and was
the means of building up a large business, at which he

still continues, and now owns a house and lot, and a

large shop, situated in Moorefield. He was married in

Bath County, Ky., March 30, 1871, to Mary Ann Purvis,

who was born in Ireland, Feb. 17, 1854. She has borne

him four children, viz.: John B., Mary, Lela and Leno-

ra. Mrs. Thompson was a daughter of John and Mary
Ann (Holland) Purvis. He was a native of England;

^'
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his wife was born in Ireland, and is still living. During

the late rebellion, Mr. Thompson joined Company E,

10th Ky. Cavalry, in Morgan's division, and remained in

the service three years. He is a member of the Chris-

tian Church, at Bethel, Bath County, and is also a mem-
ber of the Masonic Order at the same place. He is an

enterprising business man, a skillful mechanic, and is

highly esteemed by the community at large. He is a

Democrat.

ERASMUS THOMAS, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was

born in Nicholas County, Ky., May 18, 1836, to James

and Nancy (Hayden) Thomas; he to Erasmus and Lydia

(Fishback) Thomas, in Virginia, Nov. 13, 1799, and died

Jan. 5, 1873. Nancy, his wife, was born in Bourbon

County, Jan. 6, 1804, and died June 16, 1877. She was

the mother of seven children, of whom Erasmus, our sub-

ject, was the oldest. His education was limited to such

as could be obtained in the common schools of that early

day. He began his career in life as a farm hand, and by

his energy and economy earned and saved money, with

which he purchased fifty acres of land, which he sold two

years later and bought 130 acres. He traded extensively

in young cattle, and, as he expresses it, made the most

of his property by the use of blue grass. He was married

in Nicholas County, Jan. 34, 1850, to Miss Elizabeth

Boardman, who was born in Nicholas County, Sept. 13,

1838. They have six children, viz: Mary L.; Nancy L.,

wife of William Gore; Amanda F., wife of E. Ralls;

James A., William and Erasmus. Mrs. Thomas was a

daughter of Abner and Mary (Crose) Boardman, natives

of Bourbon County. He was born April 16, 1801; died

Aug. 39, 1875. She was born Jan. 3, 1806; died Jan. 30,

1878. Mr. Thomas is one of the most prominent and

enterprising farmers in the precinct, and owns 500 acres

of choice farm land, which, as a practical farmer, he

keeps in a high state of cultivation, well stocked and

well seeded with blue grass, which his father was the

first to bring into notice and use, in the region of Sum-

merset Creek, in the year 1838. Mr. Thomas was at one

time a prominent member of the Grange. Politically he

is a Republican.

i> "V
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UPPER BLUE LICKS PRECINCT.
M. R. CLAY, farmer; P.O. Moorefield; bom in Nich-

olas County, Sept. 20, 1838. His maternal grandfather,

Lewis Arnold, served as Circuit Clerk for about twenty-

five years under the old constitution ; died about 1850

having attained a good old age. John Clay, father of

M. R., was born in Fayette County, near Boonesborough

;

was a successful farmer and trader ; came to Nicholas

when about twenty-two years of age, and married Mary,

daughter of Lewis Arnold. Served as Sheriff of Nicholas

County for a number of years under the old constitution
;

was elected the first Sheriff of the county under the new
constitution, and served two years as Deputy for an ad-

ditional term. He died in November, 1875; aged about

sixty-nine. M. R. Clay, whose sketch is here recorded,

was raised a farmer. He married first Mary, daughter

of Greorge Campbell, of Fleming County, by whom he

had seven children, six of whom survive, viz: John W.,
aged fifteen ; Charles, fourteen ; Matthew, ten ; Silas,

eight; Virgil, seven; Lizzie, six. He married the second

time Lizzie, daughter of Andrew and Sallie (Highland)

Shrout, of Nicholas. Has one child, Oliver S., aged three

years. Mr. Clay is a dimitted member of Daugherty

(Masonic) Lodge at Carlisle, and a thorough Democrat.

Mrs. Clay is a member of the Christian Church at Mt. Zion.

R. J. COLLIVER, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield; born in

Nicholas County, Ky., May 1, 1855. His grandfather,

James Colliver, came from Pennsylvania at an early day

and settled in Montgomery County. His father, Elijah

Colliver, was born in Montgomery County ; farmer
;

moved to Nicholas after his marriage with Nancy

Johnson ; died in Nicholas aged sixty-three. R. J.

Colliver was raised in Nicholas ; farmer ; married

Fannie, daughter of Edwin Nichols of same county.

Has one child, Eddie B., born Jan. 19, 1880. Mr. Colli-

ver has been a member of Fitohmonger (Masonic)

Lodge for four years. Himself and wife are members

of the Christian Church at Mt. Zion. In politics he is a

Democrat.

G. C. FARIS, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; is a native of

Madison County, Ky., where he was born Oct. 13, 1837.

His ancestors were of Scotch-Irish descent, emigrating

to Virginia very early in the history of that State. In

1780 his grandfather, Michael Faris, came to Kentucky

and settled on the waters of Silver Creek in Madison

County, where he engaged in farming, dying at an

early age. Michael Faris, Jr., the father of our subject,

was bom in Madison County in 1789 ; was a soldier of

the war of 1813, was in the battle of Dudley's Defeat

;

had two brothers in same war, Isaac and Dudley, the

latter captain of a company. In 1815 Michael Faris

married Lucy, daughter of John Herndon of Madison.

His death occurred at the age of sixty-eight. G. C.

Faris was raised in Madison County upon his father's

farm, beginning his medical education in his brother's

ofiice. In 1848 he moved to Bath County, and there on

the 16th of May of that year he married Nancy L.,

daughter of Dewey B. and Lydia (Jones) Boyd, who
died childless. In 1851 he moved to Nicholas County

;

attended two courses of lectures at the Cincinnati Med-
ical Institute in 1853-55

;
practiced medicine for one

year, and then went to farming, which he has followed

to the present time. On the 30th of May, 1868, he mar-

ried Elizabeth J., daughter of Wm. B. and Elizabeth

P. (Whisner) Hopkins, of Nicholas County. In 1855 he

was elected on the American ticket to represent Nich-

olas County in the Legislature, and served one term.

Mr. Faris has been a member of the Masonic Order

since coming of age, and for twenty-five years has been a

member of R. A. Chapter at Carlisle. Politically he is

a warm supporter of the Democratic party.

JAMES GARRETT, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was

born in Montgomery County, May 18, 1832; his grand-

father of same name was a native of Virginia, whence he

emigrated very early, being one of the first settlers of

Montgomery County. He was a soldier in the Revolu-

tionary war for Independence, and lived to the advanced

age of one hundred and ten years, a lease of life seldom

enjoyed by men of the present day. Sanford Garrett,

father of our subject, was also a native of Virginia, hav-

ing been born in that State in 1795. He married Nancy
Reed, of Kentucky, who is still living in her seventy-

eighth year. They raised ten children, all of whom ob-

tained their majority. James Garrett married in Mont-

gomery County, Jan. 17, 1855, Miss Mary Call, daughter

of William Call and Mary Beckett, of Bourbon County,

Six children have been born to them, named respectively:

Eliza B., Nannie J., Horace B., Sarah, Joseph, and

Eudora. Mr. and Mrs. Garrett are members of the Bap-

tist Church at Poplar Plains, in Bath County; in politics

he is a Democrat.
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JOHN HEREIN, High Sheriff of County, and farmer;

P. O Carlisle; was born near North Middletown, Bour-

bon County, March 20, 1836. His father was Thomas

Herrin, who was born in Virginia, in 1793, and at an

early day settled in Bourbon County; he was a'farraer

by occupation, and died in 1853. The mother was a

Miss Sarah Douglas, a native of Tennessee, where she

was born, in 1795; her death occurred at about 70 years

of age, having been the mother of 11 children, two sons

and two daughters, who are now living. Mr. Herrin re-

ceived his education at the primitive log school house of

that day, upon the subscription plan ; the time, however,

of his attendance upon even those meagre facilities, was

about ten months. After arriving at maturity he attended

school for a short time, and utilized his spare moments in

study, which yielded him a practical education. He
started in life a poor boy, choosing agriculture as his life

avocation, and by energy and industry he has made for

himself a home, and has won the esteem and confidence

of the men of his county, who in 1876 elected him to

the office of Deputy Sheriff, which he held two terms; his

first election was by one majority over a large number of

candidates; the second election by 450 majority. In

1880 he was a candidate for High Sheriff, and receiving

a majority of 44 votes, was declared elected. He was

married September 13, 1853, in Nichoks County, to

Amanda J. Blount, who was born in Nicholas County in

August, 1835, to Wm. and Lucinda (West) Blount, who

were very early settlers at Lexington, and the Blounts

old residents of Nicholas County. By this marriage

there are 8 children:—Sarah A., wife of John C. Blount;

Lucinda F., wife of R. B. McVey; Margaret, wife of Wm.
H. Bevard; Wm. T., James S., Mary E., Daniel and

Leora. He is a member of the Grange, a Democrat pol-

itically, and with his family, is connected with the Chris-

tian Church.

PRESTON KENDALL, farmer; P. O. Blackhawk;

was born in Bath County, April 17, 1841. His ancestors

originally came from England. Sandford Kendall, his

father, was a native of Culpepper County, Va., whence

he emigrated to North Carolina, thence to Bath County,

Ky., where he died in June, 1878. Our subject was one

of ten children, and received a limited education. On

the 20th of December, 1873, he married Miranda Swart,

daughter of Amos and Sarah Swart, by whom he has one

child, Lettie, a bright girl of six summers. At the

outbreak of the civil war, then in his twentieth year, he

enlisted in the United States army, under Col. Grigsby;

he was in the several engagements .of Pittsburg Landing,

Shiloh, Knoxville, Resaoa, Perryville, etc. At Knoxville

he was wounded in the shoulder. He is a Republican in

politics. His wife is a member of Humphrey's Chapel,

on Cassidy Creek.

J. R. McVEY, farmer ; P. O. Moorefield ; bom in

Nicholas County Nov. 9, 1829. His ancestors origin-

ally came from Scotland ; his grandfather died in

Virginia. John McVey, the father of our subject, was

born in Virginia, and when quite a small boy came out

to Kentucky, traveling most of the way on a pack-horse;

he settled in Nicholas County, where he married Sallie

Perrin; they raised a family of nine children. His broth-

er, James McVey, was a soldier of the war of 1812,

and is now living in Indianapolis. J. R. McVey was the

seventh child of his parents, and spent his early life upon

a farm, where he also engaged to some extent in trading.

On the 12th of October, 1854, he married Lydia McClary,

daughter of Robert and Fannie (Summers) McOlary, of

Mason County. Four children have been born to them;

Charles (deceased) married Miss Fannie Hawkins; Robert

married Miss Willie Conway ; Sallie married Charles M.

Hopkins, of Bourbon County, who died June, 1877; and

Fannie. Mr. McVey is a member of the Masonic Lodge

at Carlisle, and himself and family are members of the

Christian Church at Mt. Zion. Till the war he was a sup-

porter of the Whig party, and his suffrage is now exer-

cised in the interest of the Democrats. For many years

he has engaged in trading South, and by industry and

diligent attention to business has acquired quite a hand-

some property. His early education was of the most

limited character, having learned to read and write from

his wife and children. His father before him was a

trader and stock driver, having piloted 1,600 head of

stock to Mexico during the Mexican war.

CHARLES T. NEAL, farmer; P. O. Davidson; was

born in Nicholas County, Dec. 9, 1836. His grandfather,

John Neal, came from Virginia about 1820, and settled in

Bath County, as a farmer; he died in Nicholas about 1845,

aged eighty. Henry Neal, father of Charles T., came

from Virginia when sixteen years of age ; married

Martha Powell, now living in Nicholas, aged sev-

enty-eight. Charles T. Neal married, Oct. 24, 1861,

Helen C., daughter of Thomas and Kitty (Wilson)

Vaughan; he has four children: Pickett B., aged seven;

Nora v., five; James W., three, and Addie H., one. He
served one month with John Morgan in the late war; he

is a member of Fitohmonger (Masonic) Lodge, in which

organization he holds the position of Secretary, Him-

self and wife are members of the Christian Church

at Mt. Zion, and politically he is a Democrat.

THOMPSON S. PARKS, farmer. The history of Nich-
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olas County would be incomplete withouta sketch of this,

the oldest resident representative of a family that has

figured in the history of the county for nearly a century.

His grandfather, John Parks, came to Pennsylvania from

the North of Ireland, about the year 1740, being at that

time about seven years of age ; he married a Miss Gal-

breath, who was of Scotch birth, and who bore him six

children, five sons and one daughter. He was a tailor by

trade ; served throughout the Revolutionary War
;

came to Kentucky in 1788, and settled at the mouth of

Steele's Run, near Millersburg. James Parks, the father

of our subject, was born in Pennsylvania, May 6, 1763 ;

came to Kentucky in 1788, having married in Pennsyl-

vania, Miss Jane Entrikin, of a very old and noted Scotch

family. Before he became of age, he was sent to carry

some clothing to his father in the Revolutionary war,

and did not return till the close of the war. Upon his

arrival in Kentucky, he settled at the mouth of Steele's

Run, where he remained for a short time. Moved to Car-

lisle in 1800, and engaged in farming and distilling
;

removed to Licking River in 1804, locating at what is

now termed Park's Ferry, where he engaged in milling,

pork packing and general merchandising (see history of

Fleming Creek and Cassidy Creek Mills). He was a

man of remarkable business capacity, and did more per-

haps, than any other man of his day in developing the

natural resources of his county. He was not without po-

litical honor, having been elected by the people of Bour-

bon County, to the Lower House of the General Assem-

bly, in 1798. He was in the Senate from Fleming County

continually, from 1806 to 1833, and was once afterward

in the Legislature from Nicholas, and once in the Senate

from Nicholas and Bracken. He died May 6, 1836, aged

exactly seventy-three years. T. S. Parks, whose portrait

appears in this work, was born and raised where he now

resides, at Park's Ferry. Received his early education

at the academy in Paris, under the instruction of Ebene-

zer Sharp; was a fair English, and at that day considered

a good Latin scholar. Upon leaving the academy, he

taught school for a couple of years. In 1828, he hired

himself to George Robinson, to manage a drove of hogs

to Richmond. In 1831, in connection with John N.

Congleton, he purchased a half interest in the store of his

brother-in-law, John Carter, at Gill's Mills, in Bath

County ; he afterwards located at his present farm, a

magnificent estate of some 300 acres. In his seventy-

seventh year, as President of the Washington Manufactur-

ing and Mining Company, he assumes a great part of the

labor in managing their extensive business. Our subject

was the eighth son and eleventh of fourteen children. On

the 11th of January, 1838, he married Elizabeth Ingram

Dorsey, daughter of John and Nancy Spires Dorsey, of

Fleming County. They have four children, all living,

viz : Nancy Jane, Nancy Pickett, married Rev. Joseph

M. Scott, from Virginia, now living in Waverly, Missouri;

Cora B. married James T. Layman, prominent hardware

merchant of Indianapolis, Jnd., of the firm of Layman &
Cary ; John Steele married Elizabeth Howell, of Carlisle.

Col. Parks represented Nicholas and Fleming Counties

in the Legislature, in 1851 and 1853 ; elected again in

1867, and served two years, at which time he secured an

appropriation of $75,000, to pay for and remove the dams
' from Licking River, and thus cleared it for navigation.

Had his views upon this subject been carried out, it would
no doubt have been of great benefit to the counties lying

adjacent to that stream. Mr. Parks is a thorough Demo-
crat. He claims the Presbyterian Church as his choice,

in which his father held the office of elder for forty years,

and of which all his family are members.

JOHN B. SHANNON, farmer; P.O. Blackhawk; was
born in Nicholas County, Nov. 27, 1827; he is a son of

Rob t. Shannon, who was raised in Kentucky; was farmer,

trader, and merchant, and died Oct. 4, 1877, and Frances

Berry, daughter of Col. Robert Berry, who took an ac-

tive part in the early struggles with the Indian s. John

B. Shannon was one of ten children; he received a lim-

ited education in Nicholas County, and up to the pres-

ent time has devoted his attention to farming. He mar-

ried, Feb. 2, 1851, Elmira Campbell, daughter of Joseph

and Elizabeth (Robinson) Campbell, of Nicholas Coun-

ty. They have had ten children, six of whom survive:

Robert, Emerson W., John W., Samuel, Thomas J., and

Mary F. Mr. Shannon is a Republican in politics, and

his wife is a member of the Christian Church at Mt. Zion.

T. M. TOUT, farmer ; P. O. Davidson ; born in Hen-
dricks County, Ind., Dec. 4, 1833. His great-grandfather

was an Irishman, and marrying an English lady, they came
to Kentucky and settled in Fleming County. Basil Tout,

grandfather of T. M., was born in Fleming County, and

was a soldier of the war of 1812. His son, Abram Tout,

was also in that war. Basil Tout was a bricklayer and

farmer ; moved to Indiana in 1833, and died in that

State about 1854. Andrew Tout, father of our subject,

was born in Fleming County ; married Rebecca Powell
;

sold out in 1833 and moved to Indiana. -Taught school

for several years; served for several years as Constable,

and afterwards elected Sheriff of Hendricks County.

He also served as Assessor of same County from 1854

till the war ; elected Captain of aMilitia Company, and

died in Indiana, 1880, aged seventy. T. M. Tout

^;
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was raised in Indiana as a farmer, also learning the trade

of engineer and surveyor. He came to Kentucky in 1858
and ran a sawmill in Fleming County. Came to the

Upper Blue Licks in 1858, and in Sept., 1859, married
Martha Ann, daughter of Elijah Colliver of Montgomery
County. Has nine children, all of whom are living

;

named respectfully, Nannie R., John T., Andrew E.,

Sarah E., George, Hattie L., Mary A., Fannie R., and
Willie A. He had four brothers in the late war, three

of whom were in the Union army arid one, John L., in

the Southern army under Humphrey Marshall. Mr. Tout
has been a member of Fitchmonger (Masonic) Lodge
for nine years. Both himself and wife are members of

the Christian Church at Mt. Zion. Politically he is a

Democrat.

H. C. THROCKMORTON, farmer ; P. O. Pleasant

Valley Mills ; born in Nicholas County, Dec. 21, 1830.

His great grandfather came from Virginia and settled

on Johnson Creek. His grandfather, John I. Throck-
morton, came also from Virginia when quite a youth.

The father of our subject, also named Jno. I., was raised

in Nicholas County, farmer, died in May. 1853; his wife,

Lucy Holladay, survived him two years. H. C. Throck-
morton received most of his education from the academy
at Miliersburg, under the tutorage of Richard Todd and
other teachers of that day. March 11, 1853, he married

in Nicholas County Parmelia, daughter of Grayson and
and Ellen (Cook) Hughes of Nicholas County. They
have two children, EUmore and Robert. Mr. Throck-

morton, has devoted his life to agricultural pursuits and

by industry and economy has acquired quite a handsome

estate ; his farm contains some 400 acres in Nicholas

County, most of it located in Pleasant Valley, and unex-

celled in point of fertility. He is an ardent Democrat

;

his wife is a member of the Christian Church at Stony

Creek.

T. W. VAUGHAN, farmer; P. O. Davidson; born in

Fleming County, April 14, 1848. His grandfather,

James Vaughan, was raised in Nicholas County ; farmer,

died about 1830. Thomas Vaughan, father of T. W.,

born and raised near the Upper Blue Licks ; farmer, died

June 30, 1873. T. W. Vaughan married Feb. 3, 1873,

Fanny, daughter of John and Lucinda (Chrisman) Clark,

of Fleming County. He is the father of two children,

one of whom, Willie T., died in infancy, the other is still

living, a bright boy of two summers. Mr. Vaughan is

part owner of the Upper Blue Licks Mill, a history of

which appears elsewhere. He is a member of Fitchmon-

ger (Masonic) Ijodge. Himself and wife are members of

the Christian Church at Mt. Zion. Politics, Democrat.

WM. S. WILLS, farmer ; P. O., Moorefield; born in

Montgomery County, Oct. 31, 1834. His grandfather,

Wm. Wills, came from Virginia about the year 1800, and
settled on the waters of Slate Creek in what is now Meni-

fee County, where he devoted his attention to farming.

He was a man quite noted in military history, though his

humbler positions have made him less famous than many
whose deeds are no more worthy of record. He began
his soldier life under Gen. Braddock when only thirteen

years of age, and was a witness of the disastrous failure

of that haughty commander. He bore an honorable part

in the war of the Revolution, and when we were involved

with England a second time in 1812, he did not consider

himself too old to render all assistance in his power

—

serving under Gen. St. Clair, of whom he was an ardent

admirer. He died in Menifee County about 1836. Wm.
S. Wills, the subject of this sketch, was the oldest of

seven children. His opportunities for obtaining an edu-

cation in youth were very limited, having been compelled

to work to support himself and mother till he was twenty-

six years of age. In 1850 he married Eliza, daughter of

Robert and Sarah (Whaley) Stone, of Bath County, by
whom he has seven children, all living, namely : J. C,
John S., Albert M., Louisa, Leroy, Laura and L. W. At
the tim.e of his marriage, according to his own statement,

he had but fifteen cents left after paying his fee. He
bought 500 acres of land on Slate Creek for $900, and by
almost superhuman exertion, managed to pay for the

same within four years, teaching school and working for

wages during the day and working on his house at night.

At the outbreak of the Civil war, he was led into a debate

with a Methodist preacher upon the subject of slavery,

from which time he was marked as a rebel. His location

between the Union troops and the lawless raiders who
took refuge in the mountains of Kentucky, was an un-

fortunate one for him. He was elected Captain of a com-

pany, but was soon captured by order of Col. Wm. Craig

and thrown into prison at Mt. Sterling. He took the

oath and endeavored to live a citizen, but his well known
political principles made him a target for those in power.

His thrilling adventures and hair-breadth escapes during

that four years would fill a volume in itself, and need not

be detailed here. In June, 1863, he bought the store and

stock of goods of L. M. Stone, at Bald Eagle, in Bath

County, tor $3,500, and carried on a good trade for a

while. In 1863 the store was robbed and he moved to

Little Flat, in Bath County, on Licking river. In the

course of three or four years he accumulated sufficient to

purchase his present farm of 120 acres, where he has re-

sided since. In 1869, he was elected Magistrate of his

^rv*'
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precinct, and served four years, refusing a re-election.

He is a member of the Chapter (Masonic) I^odge at Car-

lisle, was also elected President of the Grange Council

during its existence. He is a sterling Democrat, and

with his wife is in communion with the Christian Church

at Mt. Zion.

JOSEPH B. WOODS, farmer; P. O. Moorefield; was

born in Nicholas County, Dec. 6, 1835; his great grand-

father probably came from Ireland to Virginia, thence to

Kentucky, before the Revolutionary war, and entered

land in Mercer and Jessamine Counties; returned to Vir-

ginia and died. Thomas Woods, grandfather of Joseph

B., came to Kentucky in 1784, and settled in Jessamine

County, living for a time in Wilson's Station. He served

as an independent scout in the Revolution for five years;

died in 1845, aged eighty-four. Joseph Woods, father

of our subject, was born in Wilson's Station, July 7,

1784; moved to Nicholas County in 1815; married, the

second time, Dorcas Buokhanan, daughter of George

Buckhanan; he left nine children, three of whom are

living. Joseph B. Woods, of whom we write, was raised

a farmer. On Sept. 12, 1868, he married Margaret,

daughter of L. A. and Elizabeth (Huddleson) Brown, of

Bath County; has no children; he served during the late

war as an independent skirmisher, principally to suppress

horse thieving; is a member of the Presbyterian Church

at Moorfield, in which he has served as Elder since 1870;

has been President of the Moorfield and Upper Blue

Licks Turnpike Company since its organization in 1866.

In politics he was an old-line Whig till the Rebellion,

since which time he has been in sympathy with the Re-

publican party.

DAVID WILSON, farmer; P. 0. Davidson; born

near Lexington, Ky., Nov. 19, 1790. His father, Jere-

miah Wilson, and his mother, Katie Cooper, were both

from the State of New Jersey. They -v^ere among the

first to brave the dangers of the Western wilderness,

taking their share of the hardships common to the early

pioneers of this land of cane. David Wilson was

reared on a farm. He suffered in his youth an attack of

the white swelling, which made him a cripple for life.

His education, like that of most of his contemporaries,

was of a very limited character. He married, in Bour-

bon County, in 1815, Sarah, daughter of William and

Cassander (Tippet) Newman; has eight living children:

William, Matilda, Abbie, Ephraim, Sophia, Joseph,

David and Kitty Ann. Mr. Wilson is now the oldest

man in this precinct, and has for many years filled the

eldership of Mt. Zion Christian Church. His political

sufi^rage is exercised in behalf of the Democratic party.

- IS
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ADDENDA.
Biographies too Late for Insertion in Proper Place.

PARIS—Bourbon County.

HENRY CLAY, deceased, whose name stands among
the list of the first pioneers of Bourborn County, and

whose portrait appears in this history, was born in Vir-

ginia, Sept. 14, 1779, and was the son of Henry and Ra-

chael Clay. He came to Kentucky in 1787 with his

parents, who settled in Bourbon County. He spent his

early youth on his father's farm, and acquired such edu-

cation as the school system of the time afforded. He
engaged in business for himself at the age of eighteen

years at growing tobacco. He was a very successful

financier and energetic worker, and left at his death a

farm to each of his eleven children. He was also ex-

tensively engaged in the stock business. He was a man

of strong mind, and took more or less an active part in

the political issues of the day, and was honored by being

elected a member of the State Senate of Kentucky.

During the war of 1812 he served under Gen. Harrison

as a second lieutenant. When eighteen years of age he

was married to Miss Peggy Helm, of Lincoln County,

Ky., who was the daughter of Joseph Helm, who, with a

party of settlers, came to Kentucky in an early day, and

on their way were attacked by a band of Indians and

nearly all killed. Twelve children were born to them,

one of whom died in infancy, viz.: Henry, John, Sally,

Joseph H., Letitia, HenriettajjRebecca (died in infancy)!^

Elizabeth, Samuel, Mary, Francis and Matt. Henry Clay

was a man of religious principles and a member of the

Primitive Baptist Church for many years. His death oc-

curred in his 84th year.

JOHN GIVENS CRADDOCK, was born in Harrison

County, near the Bourbon line, and about nine miles from

Paris ; during his boyhood his father resided part of the

time in Bourbon and part in Harrison, without changing

neighborhood. His father, Richard Clough Craddock,

was a Virginian, born in Amelia County; his mother,

Ruth Givens, was born in Mecklenburg County, N. C.
;

his father lived to be called, as he was, an old bachelor be-

fore marrying ; while traveling from his Virginia home to

some lands owned by him in the Green river country.

Ky., he stopped for the night with an old Virginia friend

near the Bourbon and Harrison County line, who said to

him " Craddock, why don't you marry ? The best wo-

man I ever knew in my life lives just over the way; she

is of a highly respected family, her husband, Maj. John
Givens, having died while a member of the Legislature,

and although she has six children, there is an ample
estate to take care of them." The old bachelor so little

thought of ever marrying that he had given a great part

of his estate to his widowed sister and her children ; es-

pecially did he feel that he would as soon think of sui-

ciding as marrying a widow with six children ; he had
his horse caught to pursue his journey, when a storm

came up and prevented his leaving, causing him to stay

over ; that afternoon he met the widow, and at once sur-

rendered ; he felt that she was the woman that the Lord
intended him to marry ; had there been sixteen children

instead of six, it would have made no difference. They
married, and had two children born to them; the first one
a daughter, Anna Craddock, died a young lady ; the sec-

ond, John G., resides in Paris, Ky., and is editor and pro-

prietor of the Paris True Keiituckian. His father died

suddenly, at the homestead, March 4, 1849, aged seventy-

two years ; his mother died in Paris, in 1853. In relig-

ious faith she was Presbyterian, but followed her husband
into the Methodist Church, caring little for sects, but

cherishing the spirit of Christianity to the end of life.

John G. Craddock was educated chiefly in the schools

and academies in his vicinity, and commenced the study

of medicine in conjunction with a favorite friend, John
Sidney Smith, born in the same neighborhood, on the

same night as himself, and by agreement of parents were

both named John, and pledged as friends for life ; while

attending lectures at the medical college in Lexington, the

second call for volunteers for the war with Mexico, was
published ; he at once volunteered, and was made an offi-

cer in a company organized by the then Lieutenant Jno.

H. Morgan, who at a later day became the famed Gener-

al Morgan ; but the company, in the lottery by which
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companies were drawn for service, failed to win a place.

He then came to Paris and was mustered into Capt. W.
E. Simms' company of volunteers ; went with it to Mex-

ico, served through his time and was safely returned
;

taking up his residence in Paris shortly afterwards, and

having a decided predilection for journalism; he passed

several years in reading, and making voluntary contribu-

tions to the papers of the day. In 1857 he was associa-

ted with Col. W. E. Simms in conducting and publish-

ing the Kentucky State Flag, at Paris. The paper was

discontinued at the commencement of the late civil war;

after the termination of that unhappy conflict, and the

minds of the people began to settle into business chan-

nels, Mr. C. established the Paris True Kentuckian, the

first number of which was issued Feb. 22, 1866 ; he has

been editor and proprietor from its commencement, and

has secured for it a circulation and influence far surpass-

ing any other county newspaper ever published in the

State. He has never been connected with any church

organization, though a friend and patron of every denom-

ination. At the late meetings of Rev. Geo. O. Barnes,

held in Paris, he was the first person to advance and

make confession, and is an enthusiastic admirer of the

great evangelist.

JOHN T. HINTON, furniture dealer and undertaker,

of Paris, is descended from an old and well respected

family, who trace their genealogy back to English ances-

try. Three brothers, William, Spencer and Henry, emi-

grated from the " mother country "and settled in Lancas-

ter County, Va., shortly after the war of the Revolution.

Of these, William was the great-grandfather of John T.

Two sons were born to William, viz: Richard and John;

the former was the grandfather of our subject; he mar-

ried Miss Mary Ingram, and to them were born five sons

and four daughters; of the former, Richard E. was the

father of John T. His parents dying about the vear

J Sl'-i, he was left dependent upon his own resources; he

came West in 1817, and first located in Jessamine Coun-

tv, Ky., but soon changed his home to Danville, Ken-

tucky, where he learned the trade of a hatter; he re-

mained in Danville about five years, and then removed

to Paris, Bourbon County, arriving in August, 1822;

he was born April 10, 179/', and is yet well preserved,

for one of his years. In October, 1823, he was married

to Miss Betsey Maston, who was born and raised in Bal-

timore, Md.; she was the daughter of John Maston, a

sea captain, who was lost at sea. To Richard E. Hinton

were born eleven children, viz: Richard, Joseph, Wil-

liam, James, John (deceased infant), John T., Loretta,

George, Mary, Charles and Taylor. Of these George and

Joseph died while in the Confederate Army. There are

now living of the eleven only William and John T. The
latter was born in Paris, Jan. 29, 1837, and has since been
a resident of his native place. He received a good busi-

ness education, and in 1860 embarked in the furniture

trade and undertaking business, which he has since con-

tinued with marked success. Though in 1863 he lost

everything by fire, he immediately rebuilt and continued

the business. Gradually climbing to the position of one

of the leading business men of the town, he was for a

number of years a member of the City Council, and in

1880 he was honored by being elected Mayor of the city

of Paris, and re-elected in 1881. He has also taken an
active interest and been a member of the Board of the

Agricultural and Mechanical Association. April 10,

1860, Mr. Hinton was married to Miss Elmetia, daughter

of Henry Hamilton. She died Jan. 24, 1874, leaving

four children: W. O., Edward, Albert and. John T. His
present wife is the daughter of Elishaand Kittle (Thom-
as) Brown. Mr. and Mrs. Hinton are members of the

Christian Church. He is a member of the community
whose loss would be deeply felt, and is now enjoying the

fruits of a well established business, which is wholly the

result of his own energy, industry and good financiering.

WILLIAM KELLY, merchant and banker ; was
a leading citizen of Paris in the early years of the town.

He was born at High Park Lodge, County Galway,
Ireland; and when about sixteen years of age, lost an eye
from the kick of a colt. Being of a very sensitive na-

ture, his mortification at this disfigurement made him
resolve to leave home, and he ran away and came to Amer-
ica ;

first stopping in the West Indies, and finally land-

ing on the quay, in Philadelphia, with only a few shillings

in his pocket. Mr. Kelly, a prominent merchant of that

city, attracted by his appearance, questioned him, took
him to his home and wrote to his parents. The lad re-

fusing ever to return home, Mr. Kelly was requested to

take charge of him, and money was sent for his expenses.

He entered upon a mercantile career, and soon after the

town of Paris was established, about 1791 or '92, he
came to Kentucky and settled there as a merchant. He
made numerous trips to Philadelphia for goods, bringing

them over the Alleghanies on pack-mules, and from the

Ohio to Limestone, now Maysville, on flat boats, about
six months being required for the whole journey. He
was first associated with the firm of Owings, Langhorne
& Co., and afterwards formed a partnership with Hugh
Brent. The firm of Kelly & Brent was, up to the time
of his death, one of the most considerable mercantile es-

tablishments in that part of the State, and did the first
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banking business in Paris. After some years residence

in Paris, he married Anna Maria Webb, born Smith,

widow of Dr. Edward Webb ; there were born to them
three children, Thomas, William and Helen ; Helen died

in childhood, William in 1839, and Thomas in 1863. Mr.

Kelly took an active interest in the public affairs of

the town ; he was a member of the first board of

Trustees, organized the first Friday in March, ] 797 ; was

one of the first Trustees of the Bourbon Academy, es-

tablished by special act of the legislature, Dec. 33, 1798
;

a member of the first board of Directors of the Pablio

Library in 1808, and a member of the first Fire Company
which was organized in 1810. He was the owner of the

first brick house erected in Paris, and died in 1813, in the

50th year of his age, in the house now occupied by the

Citizens' Bank, which belonged to him. He was an

acute and enterprising business man, and left what was a

large fortune for those days. His widow subsequently

married Hugh Brent, his partner. Mr. Kelly was of

medium height, of very dignified manner and courteous

bearing, and noted for extreme neatness and precision

in dress. He was fond of literature, a great reader, and

an energetic friend of education ; he had great force

of character, and left a decided impress upon the society

and business of the town.

THOMAS KELLY, was a merchant and banker of

Paris, the son of William and Anna Maria Kelly, born

Feb. 30, 1803, and died March 38, 1863. His father died

when he was little over ten years of age, and he was rear

ed in the family of his stepfather, Hugh Brent. He was

educated at the Bjurbon Academy, of which his father

was one of the founders, and at Transylvania University,

Lexington, Ky., where he graduated in 1830 or 1831.

Dec. 34, 1834, he married Cordelia Morrow, daughter of

Col. Robert Morrow, of Bath County, and his wife, Mar-

garet Trimble Morrow. He was in early life actively

engaged in mercantile affairs, carrying on mercantile

establishments at Paris, Mt. Sterling and Owingsville, a

woolen mill at Paris and a furnace in Bath County. He
met with heavy financial reverses in the troublous times

of 1843, and devoted his life to securing an honorable

extrication from them. He became connected with the

branch of the Northern Bank of Kentucky, at Paris, on

its first organization, and was for many years, and at the

time of its death, its cashier. He was a man of the

kindliest disposition, of the strictest honor, and the

staunchest devotion to his principles and his friends, and

few men had more or better friends. He was a firm

friend of the Union, and the outbreak of the civil war

was a groat grief to him. Five of his sons served in the

Union army, and in attendance upon the death bed of

one of them, Lieut. Nicholas M. Kelly, 4th Kentucky
Infantry, he contracted the disease of which he died.

His widow survived hira only a few years, dying Oct. 31,

1864.

JUDGE MATT TURNEY, attorney; Paris; is de-

scended from one of Bourbon County's early pioneers

named Daniel Turney, who moved from the Shenandoah

Valley, of Virginia, to Bourbon County, Ky., when but

one house was standing on the ground where now stands

the city of Paris ; he engaged in farming in Bourbon

County and continued the same.until his death ; among
the children born to him in Bourbon County, was the

father of Judge Amos Turney, who also spent his

life in agricultural pursuits ; he married Miss Lucinda

Mclntyre, whose people were also early settlers of Bour-

bon County, though her grandparents first settled in

Nicholas County. The early life of the Judge was spent

on his father's farm ; he is one of a family of eight chil-

dren, most of whom are well known to the people of

Bourbon County; he began the study of law when he

was twenty-one years old, with General Croxton, of

Paris ; he then attended law school in Cincinnati, where

he graduated in April, 1861 ; he began practicing in

Paris, directly after quitting college, where his success

has been of a nature sufficiently inducing to keep him
from seeking a new location ; he has been, for many
years, prominently identified with the political history of

his native county ; in 1866 he was elected by the Demo-
cratic party, with which party, since becoming a man, he

has affiliated, to the office of County Attorney, for a four

years' term ; in 1877 he was elected to fill the unexpired

term of Judge R. Hawes, as County Judge of Bourbon
County ; at (he end of his services, he was re-elected to

the same office for four years, and is at present engaged
in the discharge of his duties ; he is now the nominee of

the Democratic party for re-election. Judge Turney was

married in 1867, to Miss Mary L. Goodman, of Bourbon
County ; they have but one child living, who bears the

name of his father. Matt ; their oldest child, a boy, was
burned to death, on Nov. 30, 1873, by his clothing acoi-

dently catching on fire. To whatever height Judge Tur-

ney may have climbed in the estimation of the citizens

of Bourbon County, is due to his own energy and hard

study ; his position of honor and trust before the public,

for so many years, is the best of evidence of the justice

of his verdicts, and the careful observance of his duties.

J. M. THOMAS, dealer in lumber and general mer-

chandise, Paris; was born at Flat Rock, Bourbon Coun-

ty, Ky., Sept. 5, 1833. He was named James after his
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maternal grandfather, and Mason after the family of his

maternal grandmother. The father of our subject,

Esquire David Thomas, died when J. M. was but fourteen

years old, and the lad being delicate, he was not forced

in his studies, but had a natural fondness for books. He
received the rudiments of his educational training under

Hugh B. Todd at his academy in Mt. Sterling. He be-

gan housekeeping before he was eighteen years of age,

and joined the Christian Church about the same time.

In July, 1853, he married Annie E. Rogers, the youngest

child and only daughter of Esquire William Rogers, of

Cambridge, and settled at Cambridge where he lived as

a farmer until the war, when, his sympathies being with

the South, he raised a company and entered the service

of the Confederate States. He and company were un-

der Generals Humphrey Marshall and John S. Williams

until they were mustered out, some two years after en-

tering the service; was in several engagements in Ken-
tucky and Virginia. After being mustered out in 1862

and returning home, he went to Canada, where his family

joined him; remained in Canada in the lumber business,

in Windsor, until 1866, when he returned to Paris, where
he has continued in the lumber, general merchandising,

and manufacturing and building interests. Mr. Thomas
has always thrown his influence on the side of religion,

education and the material interests of his native county.

He has five children living : William Rogers, Richard

Philemon, Robert Lee, Mary Windsor and Baby Tom.
Mr. Thomas is an elder of the qhurch of which he is a

member, superintendent of the Sunday-school, and
chairman of the city Board of Education.

RUDDEL'S MILLS PREC
F. E. BAIRD, farmer, life insurance agent, &o.; P. O.

Cynthiana. Among the pioneer farmers of Harrison

County, was James Baird, a native of New Jersey, born

Sept. 5, 1788, and when seven years old was brought to

Kentucky, by an uncle, who placed him in the family of

David Ellis, a Bourbon County farmer; with him he

remained till he arrived at manhood. James then

left the home of his adoption and came to Harrison

County, where he married Nancy Blair, daughter of

Samuel and Polly (Russell) Blair, who lived on Twin
Creek, in this county. Soon after his marriage he bought

and settled on a small farm on Raven Creek. His wife

was born June 9, 1791, and died March 31, 1839. This

union resulted in ten children, three sons and seven

daughters; eight of the children are still living and are

all married, and with one exception they all reside in

their native county. They rank among the leading and

most prominent families of their part of the county.

James Baird's second marriage was to Mrs. Nancy Gar-

nett, who survived him but a few years. He lived to see

all his childien married, after which he expressed himself

as being then ready to die, having been spared long

enough to see his large family all settled in life. He died

Dec. 25, 1857, aged sixty-nine years. Perhaps there was

no man in the county held in higher esteem, or was more

popular among his fellow men and neighbors. His whole

career through life was characterized by honesty and

undoubted veracity and integrity. Notwithstanding he

was abundantly supplied with the necessaries of life, yet

INCT—Bourbon County.

he never cherished any disposition to accumulate prop-

perty or wealth, and consequently died, comparatively

speaking, a poor man, leaving but little to hand down to

his children, save the rich legacy of an untarnished name
and an unimpeachable character. Samuel Baird, the

eldest son of the above family, was born July 14, 1817.

The early part of his life was spent upon his father's

farm. Owing to the very poor educational facilities in

his vicinity in those early times, he was obliged to

commence his career in life with but a very limited store

of knowledge. His learning, therefore, was necessarily

confined to the plain rudimentary branches, and the

study of these could only be pursued in the spare time
snatched from the more pressing duties of the farm.

When twenty-one years of age, with no capital whatever,

save a strong constitution and a willing mind, he deter-

mined to venture upon his own resources and endeavor
to make a living for himself. His first effort was to pur-

chase a small tract of land, all in woods, on one of the

tributaries of Twin Creek, and by his own labor the same
was developed. From time to time he has added to his

original purchase, till he now owns about 200 acres com-
fortably improved, and some surplus otherwise invested.

Through the early part of his life, he was a very indus-

trious, hard-working man, and what possessions he now
enjoys are the true reward of industry and and economy.
Samuel Baird has been thrice married. His first union
was with Emmaline, daughter of Franqis and Sarah
(Hutchinson) Edwards, of Harrison County. This mar-
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riage occurred on Oct. 38, 1838. She was, born Feb. 17,

1821, and died Sept. 18, 1848. His second marriage

was on June 13, 1849, to Eleanor Edwards, sister to his

first wife; she was born Oct. 13, 1818, and died June 1,

1865. His third marriage was to Leah Conrad, who was

born in 1824, and is the daughter of Benjamin Conrad,

a native of Virginia, and one of the early settlers of Har-

rison County. Samuel Baird has five living children.

By the first wife there are two sons, James T. and Fran-

cis E.; by the second wife there are two sons, Samuel

P., and Russell B., and one daughter, Sallie Ellis.

Francis E., who is the subject of this sketch, was born

in Harrison County, Oct. 16, 1846. His boyhood days

were spent about the homestead, working on the farm

and attending the district schools, where he acquired a

good practical knowledge of such branches as are usually

taught in our common schools. When about nineteen

years of age his father sent him to the Kentucky Wes-
leyan College, at Millersburg, Bourbon County, where he

finished his education. He left school without any means,

and at once began teaching for a livelihood, a profession

he followed about three years, during which time he

ranked among the leading and most popular teachers in

Harrison and Bourbon Counties. His last school was a

ten month's term at Kiser's Station, 4 miles north of

Paris, on the K. C. R. R. Discovering that the confine-

ment to which a teacher is necessarily subjected, was

seriously affecting his health, he heeded the counsel of a

medical friend, in whose ability and judgment he had

implicit confidence, and at once quit the school room to

embark in some branch of business that would admit of

more freedom and recreation, if not prove more remun-

erative. For some time after this, our subject, engaged

in various kinds of traveling business; and in the spring

of 1872, bought a small store in Ruddel's Mills, Bourbon

County, where he engaged in merchandizing. On Oct.

10th, 1872, he was married to Miss Maggie F. Howard,

only daughter of Eli Howard, a prominent farmer of

Bourbon County. Maggie F. was born Jan. 25, 1856.

The spring following his marriage, Francis E. sold out

his store and engaged in agricultural pursuits. In the

fall of 1876, he bought a little place of 124 acres, on the

Colville Pike, in Bourbon County, known as the Alex.

Patton farm, and moved to the same in March, 1877.

After devoting his entire attention to farming here for

two years, he was induced to engage in the life insurance

business, in which he was very successful. In 1880, he

was promoted to the position of State Agent for one of

his companies, and was given exclusive control of Ten-

nessee, where he succeeded in establishing the merits of

his Company upon such a basis as to attract the attention

of all similar institutions trying to operate in that

State. In the spring of 1881, he bought what was known
as the Dr. Bright place, located on the same pike and

less than a mile of his other place, where he immediately

moved and continued farming in connection with his

other business. In the fall of 1881, when a corps of his-

torical writers were induced to undertake the publication

of a history of several Counties of the famous blue grass

region of Kentucky, our subject was recommended to the

managers of the enterprise as a man every way suitable

and competent for the various and difficult duties con-

nected with a work of that character. In this new field

of labor he began with that same zeal and energy that

has characterized his successful career thus far in lif
,

and to-diiy it is universally conceded by his co-laborers,,

that he ranks anK.ngthe most careful and elficient writers

belonging to the force. He has been prominently con-

nected with the the Masonic Order since he was old

enough to become a member; has filled all its offices;

has been Master of his lodge, and its honored delegate to

the Grand Lodge foi- six or seven consecutive years, and

is thoroughly conversant with the esoteric work and

masonic jurisprudence. He and his estimable wife are

connected with the M. E. Church South, and in politics

he is a Democrat. In his marriage, Mr. Baird realizes

that he has been extremely fortunate, having obtained

for a life companion a lady of most exemplary character,

pleasing address, and rare good judgment, and one,

withal, of whom it may be truly said, she knows her

every duty and. how best to fulfil it.

GEORGE W. BOWEN, farmer and distiller ; P. O.

Shawhan ; was born Oct. 18, 1828, near Ruddel's Mills,

Bourbon County ; he is the son of Benjamin and Mary
(Current) Bowen, both natives of Bourbon County; two

sons and three daughters were born to them, of whom
George W. was the oldest son. He received a fair edu-

cation at the district schools near Ruddel's Mills, and

remained with his father until he had grown to man's

estate. From 1852 to 1856 he was engaged in the mer.

cantile business in Ruddel's Mills, and then fitted up and
*

run the old Spear's Cotton and Woolen Factory as a

flouring mill, which he run about one year, and then con-

verted the same into a distillery, and has since been opera-

ting it successfully. He entered the Confederate Army
in 1862, and was First Lieutenant of Company C, of H.

Smith's Regiment, and Buford's Brigade. On the Ohio

raid in July,1863, he was taken prisoner; he was first taken

to Johnson Island,where he was held about four weeks, and

then sent to Allegheny City, Pa., and there placed with
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115 others in the State Penitentiary, remaining in con-

finement about eight months ; orders were then received

for all oflBcers ranking from lieutenant and higher, to be

removed to Camp Chase, Ohio; there he was also con-

fined for eight months, and was then released through

the influence of friends. Mr. Bowen now has 670 acres

of fine land, well improved, and for the past five years

he has devoted much time and study to the breeding of

thoroughbred horses, of which he now owns about eighty

head. Notable among sales made by him, may be men-

tioned : Runymede, two years old, bred upon his farm,

and sold in 1881 for $10,000 ; Wallenstein, sold for

69,000
;
Quito and Elias Lawrence, the two for $5,000.

Mr. Bowen now has on hand ten or twelve fine two-year

olds, and thirty-seven brood mares. His progress and

judgment in breeding have brought him rapidly to the

front in this industry. About 1875 he engaged in the

hardware trade in Paris, Ky., under the firm name of Ford

& Bowen. In addition to the above, Mr. Bowen owns

one-twentieth of a tract of 500,000 acres of mountain

land, rich in timber, coal, and iron ore. In the legi-

timate acquirement of^ the property mentioned, Mr.

Bowen has been entirely dependent upon his own re-

sources; his career only shows what can be attained by
well directed diligence, good judgment and economy.

His beautiful residence, a view of which appears in this

history, was designed by himself, and built according to

his plans. He was married March 33, 1852, near his

home, to Miss Lucy J. Wyatt, a native of the same place,

and born Feb. 19, 1833, her parents being Fleming R.

and Martha (Rogers) Wyatt. They have one son and

three daughters living : Warren W., and Callie, now
wife of Alexander Keller ; G. Ida, now wife of Dr.

Arthur Keller ; and Miss Belle M. There eldest son,

John T., was killed by the cars in 1880.

LARKIN MONSON, farmer; P. O., Ruddel's Mills; is

a son of Moss and Susan (Sims) Monson, and was born

near Robinson Station, Harrison County, Jan. 31, 1843.

Moss Monson is also a native of Harrison, and was born

near Indian Creek in 1809; about the year 1830 he was

married to Susan Sims, and in 1847 moved to the place

upon which he now resides, near Robinson Station, con-

taining about 130 acres, with good, comfortable improve-

ments. He reared a family of six sons and one daugh-

ter; this daughter died when twenty-two years of age,

and the eldest son is also dead. Their fifth son, Larkin

Monson, who is the subject of this sketch, received a

limited education in the common schools of his county,

and after remaining with his father at the old homestead

till he arrived at his maturity, .where he received a good

practical knowledge of general agriculture, he ventured

out upon his own resources without any capital what-

ever. In 1864 subject was married to Nancy J. Brown,

daughter of John and Mary Brown, of Harrison County.

His wife was born on the 13th of May, 1845, and died

May 3, 1870, leaving one daughter, Mary Susan, born

the 4th of March, 1866. On the 5th of February, 1874,

our subject again married, this time to Evaline, daughter

of George Million, of Harrison County. The result of

his second marriage was two children; one died in in-

fancy; the second child, Elbert Elwoodie, was born on

the 17th of March, 1879. Mr. Monson, as above stated,

began life without a dollar, and by industry and econo-

my managed to get a few hundred dollars surplus, when
affliction and death visited his family and took away his

wife, and again almost reduced him to the point from

which he started. But possessing indomitable energy

and perseverance he soon was on foot again, and to-day

he owns a good comfortable little home in Bourbon

County, where he is considered one of the best tillers of

the soil in his neighborhood. He and wife and daughter

are members of the Christian Church; politically he is

a Republican.

BERRY PRECINCT
MRS. SARAH K. ALLEN, farmer ; P. O. Berry's

Station ; was born Feb. 38, 1833, and is a daughter of

William and Frances (Falconer) Kendall. Mr. Kendall

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Dec. 33, 1796 ; was

a farmer by occupation, and died Dec. 13, 1875. His

wife, Frances, was born in Orange County, Va., Sept. 18,

1801, and died Jan 16, 1863. The subject of this sketch

was educated at the Methodist Institute, at Cincinnati,

-Harrison County.

O. She was married in Harrison County, -Oct 11, 1861,

to Joseph Ingels, who was born in Harrison County in

April, 1835, and died soon after his marriage. He was

a son of James and Mary Ingels, both natives of Bourbon
County, Ky. Our subject was again married Nov. 6,

1865, to Rev. W. H. Forsythe, of Mercer County, who
died Sept. 33, 1868. On May 6, 1875, she was again

married, to A. J. Allen, of Bourbon County, who died

r
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Aug. 22, 1878, leaving her once more alone. From her

last husband she inherited 200 acres of land, on which

she still lives, and portions of which rents out, the bal-

ance being cultivated under her management. She is a

member of the Christian Church at Lexington, Ky.; is a

woman of rare intelligence, and is highly esteemed by
all who know her.

JAMES S. BARNES, stone mason, P. O. Berry's Sta-

tion ; was born in Bourbon County, Ky., April 26, 1827,

and is a son of Daniel and Mary (Hubbard) Barnes.

Mr. Barnes, senior, was born in Virginia, June 2, 1792
;

was a stone mason by occupation, and died Jan. 22, 1862.

His wife, Mary, was also a native of Virginia, born May
12, 1790, and died July 27, 1862. James, our subject,

received his education in the common schools of Missouri,

into which State his parents had moved when he was
nine years of age. He followed in his father's footsteps

and learned the trade of a stone mason; also held the

position of clerk in a grocery store for three years; was
married in St. Louis, Oct. 27, 1862, to Miss Mary Frances

Bxrnos, who was born in Harrison County, Ky., July 12,

1844. They have five children, viz.: William T., James
M., John K., Elizabeth J., and Arthur B. Mrs. Barnes

was a daughter of W. B. and Eliza (Redd) Barnes. He
was born in Harrison County, Ky., July 12, 1818, and is

still living. His wife, Eliza, was also born in Harrison

County, in 1816, and is still living. In 1850, Mr. Barnes

emigrated to California, where he remained nine years,

engaged in mining for gold, and teaming. He eventually

returned to Harrison County, and again took up his

trade as stone mason, and by his energy and industry has

purchased a house and lot, located at Berry's Station, Ky.

He is a member of the Masonic order. In politics he is

a Democrat.

FRANCIS G. CRAIG, distiller; P.O. Berry's Station

;

was born in Harrison County, Ky., June 2, 1838, and is a

son of John and Isabella (Gray) Craig ; he was born in

Harrison County, Ky., Feb. 22, 1803; is a farmer by occu-

pation, and is still living ; his wife, also a native of Har-

rison County, was born in 1813, and is still living. The

subject of this sketch was educated principally in the

public schools of Woodford and Harrison Counties, al-

though he attended school for a short time at Versailles,

Ky. Early in life he commenced trading in stock, in

which business he remained until the year 1861, when, in

company with his' uncle, H. Gray, he started a copper

still in Harrison County ; he remained in partnership

twelve years, when he again commenced business for

himself at Lair's ; in 1880 he moved to Berry's Station,

where he now is conducting a large distillery. He was

married Nov. 15, 1868, to Miss Kate Sparks, a native of

Harrison County, Ky., who was born Sept. 25, 1848.

They have three children, viz.: Annie Isabella, George,

Francis and Dille. Mrs. Craig was a daughter of Wes-
ley Sparks ; he was born Oct. 4, 1805, in Bourbon Coun-

ty, Ky., and died March 3, 1873 ; his wife, Jane Gib-

bings, also a native of Bourbon County, was born May
20, 1809, and died Aug. 1, 1858. Mr. Craigis a member
of the Masonic Fraternity, at Cynthiana, and is also a

Knight Templar ; he is a man of prominence in his pre-

cinct, and is energetic and enterprising in business. He
is a Democrat in politics.

JAMES D. DUDLEY, farmer; P. O. Berry's Station
;

was born in Bourbon County, Ky., Jan. 22, 1819, and

is a son of Robert and Margaret (McClanahan) Dudley
;

he was a native of' Virginia, one of the early settlers in

Bourbon County, a farmer by occupation, and died in

January, 1843 ; his wife was also a native of Virginia,

and died in September, 1847. Mr. Dudley (the subject)

was educated in the public schools of Bourbon and Har-

rison Counties, and began his career in life as a farmer,

which he still follows ; he was married May 7, 1852, to

Miss Ann Pulnm, a native of Harrison County, Ky.,

who was born Feb. 9, 1830 ; they have six children, viz.:

Margaret, Mary, James, Robert, Liddie and Albert. Mrs.

Dudley was a daughter of Abel and Liddie (Rallen) Pul-

um, both natives of Harrison County, Ky. Subject owns

fifty-two acres of land, and is an energetic farmer and

business man ; he is a Democrat in politics.

THOMAS J. DUNAWAY, farmer and stock-raiser

;

P. O. Berry's Station ; was born in Bourbon County, Ky.,

July 8, 1821, and is a son of James and Rebecca (Kenne-

dy) Dunaway ; he was born in Virginia in 1788, and died

May 17, 1879 ; his wife was born Feb. 14, 1799, and is

still living. Mr. Dunaway (the subject) was educated in

Harrison County, and began his career in life in a saw and

grist mill, where he continued for four years ; since then

he has been engaged in trading, merchandizing, farmino-

and stock-raising—the two latter of which he now follows.

He was married April 19, 1852, to Miss Amanda C. Bag-

ley, a native of Kenton County, Ky., who was born ^g.
5, 1832 ; they have eleven children, viz : Madison G., Al-

bert, Rufus, Mary, Ida, Ella, Hattie, Edon, Eva, Susie

and Robert ; Mrs. Dunaway was a daughter of Robert

Bagley, who was born Ang. 1, 1 790, and died Nov. 14,

1839 ; his wife, Mary E. Hansford, was born Feb. 16,

1799, and died Nov. 11, 1881. Subject owns 400 acres

of land, and is an energetic and prosperous farmer and

business man. He is a Republican in politics.

.PT
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MORTIMER D. MARTIN, farmer; P.O. Robertson's

Station; was born on the farm where he now lives Deo.

5, 1822, and is a son of Willi 'm and Catharine (Perrin)

Martin. He was born near Hagerstown, Maryland, .Jan.

4, 1790; was a farmer and carpenter by occupation, and

died in September, 1831. He was married March 7, 1 822,

to Miss Catharine C. Perrin, who was born April 5, 1802,

in Harrison County, and died June 10, 1865, leaving a

family of six children, of which Mortimer D., our sub-

ject, is one. He received his education in the common
schools of the county ; began his career in life as a

farmer, but has at intervals during his life engaged in

merchandising and school teaching. He was married

Nov. 16, 1843, to Miss Terrilda Ann Sellers, who was

born Dec. 26, 1825, in Harrison County, and was a

daughter of David and Susannah (Ehlat) Sellers. He
was born in Harrison County, Oct. 23, 1799, and is still

living; his wife, Susannah, is also a native of Harrison

County, and was born .Jan. 7, 1805, and is still living.

Mr. Martin is the father of ten children, viz.: Edwin
W. U., Ellen, David A., Lou's M., William J., Katha-

rine C, George P., Sue, Emma and Belle. He is a mem-
ber of the Christian Church, and helped to organize the

Christian Church at Robertson's Station. Mr. Martin is a

member of the Grange, and has also been a member of

the Masonic fraternity for a number of years; was an

old Whig until 1861, when his sympathies were with the

South ; took no part in the war other than what he

could do to relieve the Southern soldiers in prison and for

the relief of their families. Is a man of prominence in

his precinct, having served as Justice of the Peace for a

term of nine years. In 1867 was elected by the Demo-
cratic party of Harrison County to the lower branch of the

Legislature, where he remained one term. Mr. Martin is

a very energetic man, always first in any public enter-

prise, and is a model farmer. In politics he is a Democrat.

MRS. MARY A. RANKIN, farmer ; P. O. Berry's

Station ; was born at Cynthiana, Harrison County, Ivy.,

March 21, 1819, and is a daughter of Martin and Sarah

(Spears) Smith ; he was borii in Pennsylvania, Aug. 29,

1787, was a farmer by occupation, and died Sept. 21,

1871 ; his wife, Sarah Spears, was born in Bourbon Coun-

ty, Ky., May 25, 1791, and died Aug. 3, 1854 ; she was

the mother of nine children, of which the subject of this

sketch is one; she was married in 1837 to Jonas Lyter,

who was born Nov. 26, 1814, in Bourbon> County, Kv.,

and son of Henry and Barbara Lyter. Mr. Lyter, the

husband of our subject, died Aug. 14, 1846, leaving to

her care three. children, viz.: John M., A. D. and J. 0.

Lyter, the result of their union ; she was again married

Feb. 11, 1851, to Thomas A. Rankin, son of Robert and

Jane Rankin, natives of Harrison County, Ky. Mr. Ran-

kin was a miller by trade, and owner of a saw and grist

mill, which was a few years later destroyed by water;

when he turned his attention to farming, purchasing a

farm containing 176 acres of land, on which is situated

the " Old Elm Spring," by tradition a favorite camping

ground for the Indians at an early day. Death again en-

tered her home circle, leaving her once more a widow,

with the addition of six children, viz.: Sarah J., Thomas

H., Mary E., Henry Clay, Robert McLellan, and Ann M.

To add to her misfortune, her house was consumed by the

flames, on Feb. 5, 1866 ; being a woman of energy and

ambition, however, she did not give up to despair, and on

April 17, of the same year, moved into a new house

erected by her own design, where she still resides in her

declining years, surrounded by a large family of children

;

she is a lady of intelligence, highly esteemed by the com-

munity where she lives, and is, with several of her chil-

dren, connected with the Christian Church, at Colemans-

ville.

CYNTHIANA PRECII

T. WIGLESWORTH, farmer ; P. O. Poindexter; was
born near Poindexter Station, Harrison County, Oct. 10,

1830. His father John Wiglesworth, was born in Spot-

sylvania County, Va.; was by occupation a farmer, and

died in 1846, at the age of 64. His mother, Jane Bush,

was born March 16, 1792, in Clark County, Ky., and died

in Harrison County, Jan. 21, 1851, aged 58 years. Our
subject, who was one of thirteen children, received his

education in the common schools of his county, and be-

gan life for himself as a farmer. He has since engaged

NCT—Harrison County.

in the distilling business, and is now running a large

distillery, with Wiglesworth Bros. He was married in

Harrison County, Dec. 21, 1870, to Ella Martin, who was
born in the same county, Aug. 31, 1846. They have the

following children : John, Katie, Tandy, Anna Dell and
Louise. Mrs. Wiglesworth belongs to the Christian

Church. Her husband is a Democrat, and possesses 360

acres of land and a fine brick residence, and his is one of

the finest farms in this county.

;r
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CEORCEVOWN
BEERI CHRISTY GLASS, Farmer and Capitalist,

was born December 4, 1804, six miles from Georgetown,

in Scott County, Kentucky, and died at his home in

Georgetown, June 30, 1874. His father, William Glass,

was a native of Pennsylvania, emigrated to Kentucky at

an early day, and became one of the most substantial and

successful farmers of Scott County. Beeri 0. Glass

received a good education in the best schools and acade-

mies then existing in his native county, and made his

first step in life as a teacher ; and although he probably

taught school at intervals for several years, it does not

appear that he had any design of pursuing that avoca-

tion as a profession. , January 20, 1846, he was appointed

agent of the McCracken Fund. He resided on his father's

farm until 1847, and was actively engaged with him in

the various interests of the place. Under the old State

Constitution, he was several years Sheriff of Scott County,

but had little desire for political position. In 1847 he

removed to Georgetown, where he continued to reside

during his life. May 17, 1 848, he was appointed one of

the commissioners to lay out Scott County into eight

election precincts. November 19, 1849, he was appointed

County Treasurer. He was one of the founders of the

Farmers' Bank of Georgetown, and remained in its di-

rectory until his death. He had accumulated consider-

able means, having been remarkably successful in every-

thing he undertook with earnestness, before settling

in Georgetown, and mainly occupied his time for

years in loaning and speculating on his capital. His

name was associated with all the important interests of

his community. He contributed largely to the organiz-

ation and building of Georgetown College, and was one

of its most active managing trustees; and was connected

with the Board of Trustees during his life. He was a

leader in every movement of advantage to the town, and

was one of its most active, influential, and successful busi-

ness men. In politics, he was always a Democrat ; had

strong convictions and adhered to them at all hazard, but

was courteous and deferential when any personal feeling

or principle of individual honor was involved. When

-Scott County.

the civil war broke out, he espoused the cause of the

South, and, had his health and age permitted, would

have entered the army in defense of his principles. In

1852 he united with the Baptist Church, and, until his

health and hearing failed, he was one of its most active

and valuable members. On November 15, 1858, he re-

signed both the agency of the McCracken Fund and the

office of County Treasurer. He was one of the Trustees

of Georgetown for several years, and held various posi-

tions of trust in the community ; lived an exemplary,

active life; was open-hearted and charitable; started out

in life as a poor boy, and, by superior judgment, business

ability, and unyielding perseverance, succeeded, mainly

unaided, in accumulating a fortune. He was a man of

fine habits; of strong, sympathetic nature; was strongly

devoted to his family; was a man of fine sentiment and

feeling, which he displayed liberally in his home and in

his personal friendships; and died universally regretted

and respected, leaving the world better by his having

lived in it. Mr. Glass was married in 1847, to Miss

Margaret A. Kenney, daughter of Joseph B. Kenney, a

prominent citizen of Georgetown, a lady of great personal

and social worth, who still survives him. Their only

child, Victor Kenney Glass, married Miss Bettie Force,

of Georgetown, and resides in that place.

VICTOR KENNEY GLASS, Farmer, P. O. George-

town; son of B. C. Glass, Esq., whose life is sketched in the

preceding biography, was born July 18, 1848, near the city

of Georgetown, Ky. He received a collegiate education;

began life as a farmer; was married January 24, 1867, to

Bettie Force, who was born in Scott County, Ky., in

1849, daughter of A. W. Force, of Henry County, Ky.,

and Martha (Beaty) Force, who was born in Scott Coun-

ty. Mr. and Mrs. Glass have been blessed with four

children—J. Force, George, Augustine and Bettie. Mr.

Glass continues to engage' in farming, and has held no

political offices, though taking an active part in politics.

He is a member of the Presbyterian Church, a Free-

mason and a Democrat.

-—
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J. T. JOHNSON, physician ; P. O. Oxford ; was born

in Scott County, Feb. 8, 1836. His father was Garland

W. Johnson, whose occupation was that of a farmer, and

who was born in Rockingham County, Va., in 1805, and

died in 1878, having cotne to the State of Kentucky at

the age of four years. The maiden name of his mother

was Thirzah Payne, who was born in Woodford County

in 1811. His parents had ten children. He was educated

in Georgetown, at the Burton Stone Academy, and began

life in the capacity of a school teacher ; was married in

Georgetown, Scott County, Dec. 1, 1868 ; maiden name
of his wife was Nannie M. MRllory, born in Scott County

in 1845. His wife's father was G. S. Mallory, who was

born in Scott County in 1816. Her mother being Mary

E. Emison, born in Scott County in 1823. He has been

engaged in the practice of medicine. In 1868 he re-

BIC EAGLE PRECINCT-Scott Caunty.

moved to Liberty, Mo., and there practiced medicine

for ten years, returned to Kentucky and remained but a

short period, when he removed to Hot Springs, Ark.; re-

turned again to Kentucky in 1879, and resumed the

practice. He has two children, whose names are Lucien

McAfee and Garland Savage. He is a member of the

Christian Church
;
politics. Democratic; belongs to the

Masonic fraternity, and is a member of the State Medical

Association of Missouri. Dr. Johnson, after several

years of practice in this State, removed to Missouri,

locating in Claj' County. He acquired a very extensive

practice there, and ranked among the leading physicians

of that State. It was during his practice there that he

made the treatment of hemorrhoids and fistula a special-

ity, and is now considered the most eminently successful

physician in the State, in this branch of the profession.

PARIS—Bourbon County.

FRANCIS LEWIS McCHESNEY, editor of the

Weslern Citizen^ was born in Georgetown, District of

Columbia, December 7, 1829. His father, David

McChesney, was a native of New Jersey, and came from

an old Revolutionary stock. His great-grandfather was

born in Edinburgh, Scotland; when four years old he

was brought to America by his parents; attended Prince-

ton College; was elected to the Continental Congress,

but died on his way to take his seat, and, it is said, his

property was confiscated by the British Government.

David McChesney, the father of the subject of this

sketch, was a soldier of the War of 1813, and, we are in-

formed, was on shipboard with Francis Barton Key,

when he wrote the " Star-Spangled Banner." A few

years after the war he was married in Georgetown, D. C,

to Ann Wise Webster, of Prince George's County, Md.

Her great-grandmother, whose name was Stephens, was,

with her children exiled from Holland, after the behead-

ing of her husband. Her mother's maiden name was

Lynn, and the family came to Maryland among the

early settlers with Lord Baltimore. Among the near

relatives on the mother's side was General George W.
Childs, who was a conspicuous soldier in the war with

Mexico, and for many years a prominent oflScer in the

regular army. In 1832, the family came to Kentucky,

and located at the Grand Crossings, in Scott County.

Here they remained until 1837, when they moved to

Frankfort. David McChesney died August 24, 1839,

aged about fourty-four years, his wife surviving with six

children, of whom Lewis (the subject) was the youngest.

Left at the age of less than ten an orphan, he was depriv-

ed of the advantages of an early education, and he does

not know when or where' he learned to read or write.

He was never taught either of them in any school, but

somehow or other he picked them up. In 1841, he en-

tered the Presbyterian Sunday School 'ftt Frankfort, and

each year, for three years, bore oflf the highest prize

among the boys for reciting the largest number of verses

from the Bible. From 1841 to the anniversary in 1842,

he recited 2,953 verses; from 1842 to 1843, 2,600 verses;

and from 1843 to 1844, 2,650 verses. The last two years

the scholars' lessons were limited to fifty verses each

Sunday, and during that time young McChesney was

not absent a single Sabbath. He learned during these

three years the New Testament by heart, and also a por-

tion of the Old Testament, and this, he believes, was the

foundation of all his after education. He was in the habit

of sleeping with the New Testament under his pillow, and

r
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each morning before rising he would read over the next

- Sunday's lesson ten times. As early as in 1840 he took

a deep interest in political matters, and the next year,

being only eleven years old, made an arrangement with

a neighbor, Orlando Brown, Esq., son of U. S. Senator

Brown, to go to the post office each day for the Louisville

Journal, the agreement being that he should first read

the paper, and then take it to Mr. Brown. Of course

this was an invaluable source of political information.

In 1845, Mr. Brown also befriended him, not only in

proffering the use of his splendid library, but also in ad-

vising him as to the proper course of reading he should

pursue, and for several years he availed himself of these

great advantages. By the time he was fifteen years

old, he became a Sunday School teacher, and to this

time, after the lapse of thirty-seven years, he still retains

a class. He was a member of debating societies with

Justice John M. Harlan, now of the Supreme Bench,

Senator George Vest, of Missouri, Judge James Harlan, of

Louisville, Col. S. I. M. Major, now of the Yeoman,

Col. Thomas B. Monroe, Jr., the eAxiov oi the Lexington

Statesman before the war, and who was killed at the Bat-

tle of Shiloh. In 1846, he was elected first Presiding

Brother of an organization called the Younger Brothers

of Temperance. His successor was James Harlan; he

was succeeded by John M. Harlan, he by Edward H.

Taylor, Jr., now Mayor of Frankfort, and E. L. Samuel,

now Cashier of the Bank of Kentucky at the same place.

In 1847, the lodge had a public celebration, with pro-

cession, music, etc., and on this occasion he was the ora-

tor of the day, and made his .first public address, being

then about eighteen years of age. He subsequently at-

tended, for a short time, Mr. B. B. Sayre's Classic School,

and afterward the school taught by Rev. Jno. R. Hen-

drick, recently deceased. In 1851, he entered the Jun-

ior Class of Centre College, Danville, then under the

Presidency of Rev. Dr. John C. Young. Here he was

gaining some reputation as a speaker, winning every

question he discussed, when he was stricken down by

a severe sickness, which lasted nine months, and which

completely broke him down, and he was forced to aban-

don his studies. W.ien less than fourteen years of age,

in 1843, for nine months, he had worked at the case in

the Yeoman printing ofiBce, Frankfort, and after the

failure of his health at college, in 1853, he went to Louis-

ville, and became a compositor in the office of the Daily

Times, then conducted by William Tanner and Cols.

J. T. Pickett, Theodore O'Hara and W. W. Stapp. He

afterward worked at Hull & Brothers, and also at the

Democrat office. In 1855, he was elected President of

the Louisville Typographical Union. In 1856, he went

to Cynthiana, where he became one of the publishers of

the Age, then edited by Jabez H. Johnson, afterward

well known as "Yuba Dam." In 1857, he .was chosen

as Mr. .lohnson's successor as editor of the Age. In

January, 1858, he married Miss Eliza Belle Remington,

of Cynthiana, youngest daughter of Mr. Greenup Rem-
ington, the oldest citizen of that place. In December
of the same year he went to Washington City as the

correspondent of the Louisville Daily Courier, and re-

mained there for several months. In April, 1859, he

purchased an interest in that paper and moved to Louis-

ville, and in a short time became its political editor. His

connection with the Courier was severed in 1860. As
a part of the political history of that day, it may be

stated that Mr. McChesney was the first editor in the

State to take position in favor of the protection of slave

property in the Territories. This position he first

took in the Cynthiana Age, and, subsequently, n the

Louisville Courier. It is proper also in this connection

to state, that the Louisville Journal, then edited by the

able journalist, George D. Prentice, advocated the same
doctrine with equal zeal, and with great ability ; and also

that Justice John M. Harlan, and others equally promi-

nent, also were conspicuous in their extreme pro slavery

views at that time, and on this question "out-Heroded

Herod." In 1861, the civil war began, and Mr. Mc-

Chesney was known as a sympathizer with the South in its

unequal struggle. He had been educated to believe in

the right of secession, and he aimed always to follow his

principles wherever they might lead. As far back as

1853, when no one dreamed of a dissolution of the Union,

in Chamberlain Society, at Centre College, he had made
his first speech, in debate, in favor of the right of seces-

sion, and, when the proposition was submitted to a vote

of the members of the society, his side won the question.

Immediately afterward, however, when the question was

debated as to whether the citizens of Lexington were

justifiable in the suppression of Cassius M. Clay's Aboli-

tion paper, the l^rue American, he took ground against

their action, and so earnest and vigorous was his efi'ort on

this occasion, that at one time his remarks would be re-

ceived with hisses, followed by wild applause, and on

this question, too, he carried the day. In September,

1861, he abandoned his home at Cynthiana, to which he

had returned ; but being assured, that he would not be

molested, he again returned. But, in a very short time,

a squad of Federal soldiers came to his home, and he

was marched through the streets by a file of soldiers and

taken to Camp Frazier. He met there W. W. Oleary,

^Pv
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Esq., then a member of the Legislature, who had also

been arrested for disloyalty. These arrests caused much

excitement, and large numbers of citizens were starting

off, intending to go to the South, fearing that, if they xe-

mained, they would be sent to Camp Chase, or to some

other Northern prison. The Federal authorities soon

discovered that they had made a mistake, and, in order

to quiet the fears of the people, through the influence of

Judge W. W. Trimble and J. W. Peck, two prominent

Union citizens of Cynthiana, both Cleary and McChesney
were unconditionally released, and their release caused

universal rejoicing. For several months he was left un-

disturbed. But, in the following June (1863), he was

again placed under arrest, and made his escape, going

at once to Canada. He remained a few weeks at Toronto,

and, being without means, it became necessary for him

to obtain some employment. A position was secured on

the Montreal D.iily Advertiser^ as local editor, which he

held for about one year. In August, 1863, at the solici-

tation of leading Southerners in Canada, he went to

Richmond, Virginia, going overland through the Federal

lines. The object of his mission was to induce the Con-

federate Government to organize an expedition for the

release of the prisoners on Johnson's Island. He pre-

sented this subject to the Government, and the proposi-

tion met their approval, and an expedition was

organized to accomplish this purpose, under command of

Lieutenant Wilkinson, of the Confederate Navy, and

the sum of -^100,000 was appropriated to carry out the

project. The men placed in charge of the expedition

were among the flower of the Confederate Navy, including

Lieutenant Bradford, and others. Owing to the

treachery of some one, after the party started, the attempt

was a failure. A similar enterpris3 met with a like fate

the next year. In October, Mr. McChesnev returned

from Richmond, crossing the Potomac River at Britain's

Bay, and taking the public conveyance to Washington

City, passing the Federal pickets at the Navy Yard

Bridge, and escaped without being arrested. Had the

object of his mission become known, and had he been

arrested on his way from Richmond to Canada, it is not

unlikely that his life would have paid the forfeit for his

devotion to the Confederate cause-. But he had counted

the cost, and willingly and cheerfully took his life in his

h '.nds, trusting that thereby the release of the prisoners

at Johnson's Island might be effected. In October, 1864,

at the r "quest of Mr. John Porterfield, then of Montreal,

before the war a prominent banker at Nashville, Tenn.,

Mr. McChesney went to Toronto, and met Hon. Jacob

Thompson, the Confederate Commissioner to Canada.

The object of his mission was to ask Mr. Thompson to

entrust to Mr. Porterfield, without security, the sum of

$100,000, the latter agreeing to go to the city of New
York, and with that sum purchase gold for shipment

abroad, with a view of breaking down the price of green-

backs, and thereby injuring the credit of the Government.

To some extent, the effort was successful. The money

was given to Mr. Porterfield; he went to New York, and

early in November, 1864, as can be seen by reference to

the New York papers at that time, several million

dollars of gold was exported, and gold advanced from

thirty to forty cents within the same time. General B.

F. Butler was then commander in that city, and several

bankers were arr jsted, but the true party was not dis-

covered. It required the expenditure of less than ten

thousand dollars to produce the large advance in gold

from 315 to 354. The balance of the $100,000 was re-

turned to the Confederate Commissioner. In assisting

escaped prisoners, in visiting the sick, Mr. McChesney,

although without means himself, was alwaj^s successful;

and among the mementoes of the past which he retains,

and will hand down to those who come after him, is a

splendid gold watch, the gift of twenty-one young men
(Confederates), in recognition of his services in their be-

half. In other matters in Canada he tt^ok an important,

but not conspicuous part. His labors, however, were

none the less effective; and of all his friends at this time,

those who stick closer to him than a brother, are those

who were in trouble in Canada. To illustrate : early last

year, he met one of these friends, of whom he had never

asked a favor, and after the usual greetings were over,

his friend told him that he had thought much of him during

the last few years, and then he asked him how he was

getting along in the world. He had been greatly bless-

ed, "and you," he said, addressing McChesney, "were
a friend to me when I needed a friend, and now I

authorize you whenever you need any money to draw

on me at sight, I am rich,—I will never feel it."

And then he continued, "Perhaps you may need some-

thing at this time," and with that he wrote out a check

for $500 and handed it to him, saying, " you can't con-

ceive the pleasure it gives me to hand you that check.

I am willing to divide my last crumb with you." Sub-

sequently he furnished a larger amount, and within a

few months, unsolicited, offered to guarantee that Mr.

McChesney, if elected to the position of State Printer,

should have all the means necessary to carry on the

work, and this guarantee involved the advance of not

less than $30,000. This is given as an illustration of

the appreciation of Mr. MoChesney's services by those

^^
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who knew him best in times of darkness and of trial.

Mr. McChesney has been a consistent Democrat all his

life. His first vote was cast in 1851, Lazarus W. Pow-

ell for Governor, and .lohn C. Breckenridgje for Con-

gress. In 1855, on " Bloody Monday," in Louisville, he

was one of the fourteen hundred who voted the Demo
cratio ticket against the Know Nothings. In 1856, he

made the opening speech in the canvass in Harrison

county against the Know Nothings. In 1866, he re-

turned from Canada to Kentucky, and became connected

with the True Kentuckian office at Paris. While con-

nected with that paper he conducted an animated con-

troversy on the subject of " Woman's Rights," with El-

der David Walk, a minister of the Christian Church of

some note. The discussion excited much interest at the

time. Mr. McChesney, in the preparation of these arti-

cles, prepared them while at the case, without writing

them, in that way combining the mental with the me-

chanical in their composition. And this he does very

frequently, and thinks the articles he prepares in this

way are usually his best productions. He remained with

the True Kentuckian until the first of February, 1868,

when, with L. T. Fisher, he became one of the publish-

ers and editor of the Western Citizen. His connection

with this paper has been continued more than fourteen

years. During this period important questions have

arisen, upon all of which he has taken position. Under

his control the Citizen has advocated every measure be-

lieved to be for the interest of the people and the de-

velopment of the resources of the State. He has also

spoken a good deal upon questions of public interest.

But at best, the life of a country editor is not attractive

or desirable. The press is regarded almost as common

property, to be used by the aspiring to promote their

individual aims; to be the party organ; to make great

men out of small material; to labor unceasingly for par-

ty, and to receive no reward, except in the consciousness

of duty faithfully performed and principles conscien-

tiously adhered to. Of him it may be said, as it has

been of the literary man, "That he is like the candle

wliich, in illuminating others, consumes itself." At the

age of fifty-two Mr. McChesney is still in the editorial

harness, and still writes about as well as at any period

of his life. He is a ready writer, an easy, off-hand speak-

er, and has made addresses to the people on very fre-

quent occasions. As age advances on him he loses very

little of the buoyancy of his younger days. He frequent-

ly, in the social circle and in literary societies, and

sometimes on public occasions, gives readings, being

equally at home in the rendition of selections from

Shakespeare as in imitation of the Dutch and Negro dia-

lects. He has only one son, James R. McChesney, born

in 1863, who is associated with him in the publication of

the Citiziiin.
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Haviland 651,659,67$
Hawes 448,451,803
HAWKINS 572
Hawkins 450,641,709,797
Hayden 492,523,524,669,790,793
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527, 529, 530,
588, 589, 593,
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KELLY 580, 600, 802, 803
Kelly 499, 500
Keleo 660
KENDALL 640,7^7
Kendall 570, 572, 644, 658,
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King 4-:.8, 449, 480,
643, 657, 653, 683,
703, 722
Kinkaid 499
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Lennox 691, 701
Lenci: 592
Leonard 5%*ll

LETTON 511, 512, 757
Letton 504, 512, 521, 523, 530
747, 750
Levvis 453, 454, 457, 458, 468,
488, 594, 502, 512, 523, 341,
678, 684, 738
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POWELL 622, 634
Powell 621, 622, 761, 797, 798,
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QUINN 623
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547, 591, 517, 730
700, 004, GOO

Rodger s 451, 709
Rollen 780
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Scearce 521
Schneider 651
Schooler 474, 559
Schroder 559
Schumate 501
Sco1?ee 767
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SHANNON 518, 798
Shannon 529
SHARP 517, 679, 780

. Shsrp 518, 527, 533, 5G9, 624, 798
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